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(Exchequer Court of Canaba
RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

BRITISH COLUMBIA ADMIRALTY DISTRICT ^~~i
Endorsement 

—————————— on Writ.
April 4, 1927.

BETWEEN:

THE BURRARD INLET TUNNEL AND BRIDGE
COMPANY,

Plaintiff,
AND

THE S. S. "EURANA"
Defendant.

10 PART I.

No. 1

ENDORSEMENT ON WRIT

The plaintiff, as owner of the bridge crossing the Second 
Narrows of Burrard Inlet, claims damages against the ship "Eur- 
ana" occasioned by a collision which took place at the Second 
Narrows of Burrard Inlet on the 10th day of March, 1927, and 
for costs.



RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

No7~2
Statement of 
Claim. 
Sept. 16, 1927.

No. 2 

STATEMENT OF CLAIM

Writ issued April 4th, 1927.

1. The plaintiff is a body corporate under the laws of the 
Dominion of Canada having its registered office in the City of 
North Vancouver, in the Province of British Columbia, and is 
the owner of a joint railway and traffic bridge crossing the Sec­ 
ond Narrows of Burrard Inlet, in the Province of British Co­ 
lumbia.

2. Shortly after 6 p.m. on the 10th March, 1927, the S.S. 10 
"Eurana," outward bound from Barnet, approached the bridge 
crossing the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet above described 
and gave the required signal for the bascule span of the said 
bridge to be raised so as to permit the passage of the said ship 
through the bridge. The operator in charge of the said bridge im­ 
mediately displayed the red light required by the regulations of 
the Department of Marine and Fisheries governing the operation 
of the bridge and proceeded forthwith to raise the said span. 
About six minutes after the first signal was received from the 
"Eurana" the bascule span was completely raised, thus permit- 20 
ting the uninterrupted passage of the "Eurana" through the 
bridge, and the operator displayed a green signal, the indication 
that the passage was clear.

3. A few minutes later the "Eurana" crashed head-on into 
the bridge, striking the east side of the 300 foot span and causing 
considerable damage to the said bridge.

4. At the time of the said collision the tide was on the ebb 
nearly slack.

5. The said collision, and the damages and losses consequent 
thereon, were occasioned by the negligent or improper navigation 30 
of those on board the "Eurana."



6. The plaintiff has suffered damage as a result of the said RECORD collision, particulars of which are as follows:— British Columbia
Admiralty Dist.Structural and repair work........™......._................._.....$7,000.00 —

Consulting engineer's fees on above..___.._„....._. 350.00 Staten^t2 0fExtra materials supplied by plaintiff during pro- aaim
gress of work......................................................................_..... 34.30 Sept. 16,1927.

Brass ruby navigation lamp........................_........_......._ 35.00 (Contd.)
Painting of hand railing...............™......_.___..___ 10.00
Extra labor directing traffic along single road- 

10 way ........................................................__...._........_.__...... 127.75
Estimated loss of revenue.........................................._............ 330.00

$7,887.05

7. The plaintiff claims:
1. A declaration that it is entitled to the damage pro­ 

ceeded for.
2. The condemnation of the defendant in such damage 

and in costs.
20 3. Such further or other relief as the nature of the case 

may require.

DATED at Vancouver, B. C., this 16th day of September, 
A.D. 1927.

"Knox Walkem," 
Solicitor for the Plaintiff.

To the Defendant:
And to W. Martin Griffin, Esq., 

Its Solicitor.



RECORD N0t 3
British ColumbiaAJmiraityj)isi. September 23rd, 1927.

No. 3
Demand for DEMAND FOR PARTICULARS 
Particulars. -p- 
Sept. 23, 1927. •"-

Messrs. Burns & Walkem, 
Barristers, etc. 
Standard Bank Building, 
Vancouver, B. C.
Dear Sirs:—

Re Burrard v "Eurana." 10
We should be glad if you would let us have particu­ 

lars of the statement of claim as follows:—
Paragraph 1 of Statement of Claim: Particulars 

of the Act under which this company is incorporated.
Par. I: Particulars of what title you claim to the 

bridge.
Yours truly, 

GRIFFIN, MONTGOMERY & SMITH,

No. 4 No. 4 
Particulars of
Statement of PARTICULARS OF STATEMENT OF CLAIM 20
Claim.

' ' In answer to the defendant's demand for particulars herein 
the plaintiff says:

1. The Plaintiff is incorporated under Chapter 74, Statutes 
of Canada, 1910.

3. The plaintiff's title to the bridge is derived from Order 
No. 33962 of the Board of Railway Commissioners of Canada 
dated the 31st day of July, 1923, and from a certain conveyance 
from His Majesty the King in the right of the Dominion of Can­ 
ada dated the 9th day of May, 1924.

DATED this 3rd day of February, A. D. 1928. 30
"Knox Walkem," 

Solicitor for the Plaintiff.



No. 5

STATEMENT OF DEFENCE OF PLANET LINE INC., 
OWNERS OF S. S. "EURANA."

1. The defendant admits that the plaintiff is a body cor­ 
porate incorporated on 4th May, 1910, by Chapter 74 of the Stat­ 
ute of Canada passed in the year 1910.

2. In and by said Statute the plaintiff acquired the capacity,
status and power to build and to build only such a bridge over
the Second Narrows as would not interfere with navigation and

10 plaintiff has the capacity, status and power to build, own and
maintain only such a bridge as will not interfere with navigation.

3. The bridge referred to in the statement of claim inter­ 
fere with the navigation of the Second Narrows and the plaintiff 
never had and has not now the capacity or status or power either 
to build, own or maintain it or to maintain any action in respect 
of it or to recover damages in respect of injury sustained by it, 
or to apply for or accept the grant from His Majesty the King 
hereinafter mentioned or to make any application to or receive 
any permissions from any government or authority under the 

20 Navigable Waters Protection Act or any other Act or otherwise 
in respect of such a bridge, and the defendant denies that the 
plaintiff is the owner of the said bridge as alleged in paragraph 
1 of the statement of claim.

4. In the alternative and as a further defence the defendant 
says that the said bridge is a work within the meaning of Part I 
of the Navigable Waters Protection Act of Canada and is built 
across a navigable water and the site was not, before the building 
of the said bridge, or at all, approved by the Governor General 
of Canada in Council in accordance with the said Act nor was 

30 said bridge built or placed, nor at the time of the collision referred 
to in the statement of claim was it being maintained in accordance 
with plans and regulations approved or made under or pursuant 
to said Act, by the Governor General of Canada in Council.

5. In consequence of the site of said bridge not having been 
approved in accordance with said Act and in consequence of the 
fact that it was not built, placed and maintained in accordance 
with plans and regulations as set out in the preceding paragraph 
hereof the said bridge was an unlawful and illegal obstruction

RECORD
British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

No. 5
Defence and 
Counterclaim. 
Apr. 13, 1928.



RECORD_ to public and private right of navigation and the plaintiff is not 
British coiumbi* entitled to recover damages resulting from injury sustained by 
Admirabyj>ht. sajci bridge in consequence of collisions with vessels legally navi-

No. 5 gating the Second Narrows and is therefore not entitled to recover 
Defence and damages in respect of the collision in question.
Counterclaim.
Apr. 13,1928. g jjj or(jer ^0 obtain the site upon which certain portions of 

(Contd.) ga^ bridge are constructed the plaintiff applied to His Majesty 
the King in right of the Dominion of Canada for a grant of cer­ 
tain portions of the bed of the Harbour of Vancouver and ob­ 
tained a conditional grant of certain lands from His Majesty the 10 
King on the express condition that no work within the meaning 
of Part I of the Navigable Waters Protection Act should be under­ 
taken or constructed on the said lands or any of them by the 
plaintiff or should be suffered or allowed by the plaintiff to be 
constructed thereon until the provisions of said Part I of said 
Act should have been fully complied with by the plaintiff and the 
free use, passage and enjoyment of all navigable waters flowing 
over or upon said lands was expressly excepted and reserved from 
said grant.

7. The said bridge is a work within the meaning of said 20 
Part I of said Act and the plaintiff has not complied with said 
Act and therefore the said grant did not operate to vest any title 
to said lands in the plaintiff, or alternatively, upon the commence­ 
ment of the construction of said bridge by the plaintiff the said 
grant was avoided and became null and the bridge was not and is 
not the property of the plaintiff but on the contrary is an illegal 
obstruction to navigation of the said Second Narrows and the 
plaintiff has no right to recover damages in respect to any injury 
to said bridge.

8. In the alternative the defendant says that if the afore- 30 
said statute under which the plaintiff company was incorporated 
did confer on the plaintiff company the capacity, status and 
power to build a bridge which impedes or interferes with the 
navigation of the Second Narrows (all of which is denied) the 
said statute imposed on the plaintiff the duty to build with all 
necessary skill and care a bridge of such design and constructed 
in such manner as would impede said navigation to the smallest 
extent compatible with the exercise of said statutory power and the 
defendant says that the plaintiff in breach of the said duty negli­ 
gently and wrongfully constructed a badly designed bridge which 40 
impedes and interferes with the navigation of said Second Nar­ 
rows to a greater extent than is necessary for the proper exercise 
of the plaintiff's said statutory powers and the defendant says 
that the collision between the S. S. "Eurana" and the said bridge 
was occasioned by the fact that the said bridge was badly designed



(Contd.)

and constructed and impedes and interferes with the navigation RECORD 
of said Second Narrows to a greater extent than is necessary to British Columbia 
enable the plaintiff to exercise its said statutory powers and that Admiralty Dist- 
therefore the plaintiff is not entitled to recover damages in respect NO. 5 Of Said Collision. Defence and

Counterclaim.
9. The defendant admits that on the 10th March, 1927, the 

S. S. "Eurana" outward bound from Barnet approached the said 
bridge and gave the required signal for the bascule span of the 
said bridge to be raised so as to permit the passage of the said 

10 ship through the bridge. The defendant does not admit that it was 
shortly after 6 p.m. Save as aforesaid the defendant denies each 
and every allegation of fact contained in paragraph 2 of the state­ 
ment of claim.

10. The defendant admits that the S. S. "Eurana" was in 
collision with the east side of the bridge but save as aforesaid 
denies each and every allegation of fact contained in paragraph 
3 of the statement of claim.

11. The defendant denies the allegation in paragraph 4 of 
the statement of claim.

20 12. The defendant denies that those on board the "Eurana" 
navigated her either negligently or improperly as alleged in para­ 
graph 5 of the statement of claim.

13. Alternatively the defendant says that if those on board 
the "Eurana" did navigate her either improperly or negligently 
the collision was not occasioned thereby.

14. Alternatively the said collision was the result of cir­ 
cumstances of wind and current over which those in control of 
the "Eurana" had no control and which they could not anticipate 
or guard against and the collision was an inevitable accident for 

30 which the defendant is not responsible.

COUNTERCLAIM.

15. The defendant is the owner of the S.S. "Eurana."

16. The plaintiff is an incorporated company incorporated 
by Chapter 74 of the Statutes of Canada of the year 1910.

17. The plaintiff wrongfully and illegally erected in navi­ 
gable waters, to wit, the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet, part 
of the Harbour of Vancouver, an obstruction, to wit; a bridge
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(Contd.)

which is a public and private nuisance and which interferes with 
and impedes the free and convenient navigation of the said Second 
Narrows by ships having lawful occasion to navigate said waters.

18. On or about 10th March, 1927 the defendant's ship 
"Eurana" was lawfully navigating the said Second Narrows on 
a voyage from Barnet, B. C., to ports abroad and in proceeding on 
her said voyage and while endeavoring to proceed past or through 
said obstruction without colliding with it the said S.S. "Eurana" 
struck against said obstruction and was seriously injured whereby 
the defendant sustained damage. 10

19. The damage suffered by the defendant in consequence of 
said collision was as follows:—

(Left out as irrelevant to this appeal).

WHEREFORE the defendant counterclaims against the 
plaintiff for the sum of $77,089.25.

"W. Martin Griffin," 
Solicitor for Defendant.

DELIVERED this 13th day of April, 1928.



No. 6 RECORD
British Columbia

DEMAND FOR PARTICULARS OF DEFENCE M™*j_Dia.
No. 6

TAKE NOTICE that the plaintiff requires to defendant to ?aSlrsfor 
furnish within five days from the date hereof further and better Of Defence. 
particulars of the allegations contained in the statement of de- June 6, 1928. 
fence and counterclaim delivered the 13th day of April, 1928, as 
follows:—

1. Particulars of the manner in which the bridge crossing 
the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet interferes with the naviga- 

10 tion of the said Second Narrows as alleged in paragraph 3 of the 
statement of defence.

2. Particulars showing:
(a) In what respects the said bridge was negli­ 

gently constructed;
(b) In what respects the said bridge is badly de­ 

signed.
(c) In what respects the said bridge impedes navi­ 

gation,
as alleged in paragraph 8 of the statement of defence.

20 3. Particulars of the circumstances of wind and current re­ 
ferred to in paragraph 14 of the statement of defence.

4. Particulars of the allegations in paragraph 17 of the 
counterclaim, setting out how, and in what manner and in what 
respects the said bridge is a public and private nuisance and par­ 
ticulars showing in what respects it interferes with and impedes 
the free and convenient navigation of the said Second Narrows.

DATED at Vancouver, B. C., this 6th day of June, 1928.

"Knox Walkem," 
Plaintiff's Solicitor.

30 To W. Martin Griffin, Esq.,
Solicitor for the defendant.
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RECORD Jf0> 7

British Columbia
Adm.rahyjxst. PARTICULARS OF DEFENCE AND COUNTERCLAIM

No. 7 
Particulars of

PARAGRAPHS:
Aug. 14, 1928. rpne gg|£ bridge crosses the Second Narrows from shore to 

shore and is built on piers and piles driven into the bottom from 
shore to shore and is not high enough to enable ships to pass be­ 
neath it and said piers and piles and the superstructure impede 
ships in the unfettered use of said navigable water.

PARAGRAPH 8:
The said bridge was badly designed and negligently con- 10 

structed in the following respects : —
(1) It is not high enough for ships to pass beneath it.
(2) The opening span in it is not in the middle of the 

channel or fairway.
(3) The opening in it is too small.
(4) The bridge is built of a greater number of short 

spans with a consequently greater number of piers and piles 
than was necessary.

(5) The flow of water is impeded by a rock fill on the 
south shore and by a pile structure having innumerable piles 20 
on the tide flats on the north shore.

Said bridge impedes ships in the unfettered use of the whole 
stretch of navigable water between the north and south shore or 
alternatively impedes ships in the use of the navigable water be­ 
tween the north and south shore more than would have been the 
case if the flow of water had not been impeded by fills and if the 
bridge had been designed and constructed with the least possible 
number of piers and piles of the narrowest possible dimensions and 
if it had had a wider opening placed in the middle of the channel.

PARAGRAPH 14: 30
The tide turned and began to flood earlier than the hour fixed 

by the tide table and the northerly set of the tide was of abnormal 
force.

PARAGRAPH 17:
The said bridge impedes the navigation of the Second Nar­ 

rows (as more fully set out above) and said Second Narrows is a
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navigable water in which the defendant has a legal right to pass 
and repass in the exercise of the right of navigation and the illegal 
obstruction of which is wrongful and constitutes a public and a 
private nuisance.

"W. Martin Griffin, 
Solicitor for the Defendant.

DELIVERED this 14th day of August, 1928.
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British Columbia 
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Particulars of 
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Counterclaim. 
Aug. 14, 1928. 

(Contd.)

No. 8 

REPLY AND DEFENCE TO COUNTERCLAIM.

10 The plaintiff says that:
1. The bridge crossing the Second Narrows of Burrard In­ 

let was constructed under the powers contained in the Act of In­ 
corporation of the plaintiff, namely Chapter 74 of the Statutes 
of Canada, 1910, and in the "Railway Act," being Chapter 68 
of the Statutes of Canada, 1919. Before the said bridge was 
constructed a plan and description of the proposed site and a gen­ 
eral plan of the bridge were first submitted to the Minister of 
Public Works for the Dominion of Canada and upon the recom- 
endation of the said Minister, were approved by the Governor- 

20 in-Council by Order-in-Council No. P.O. 718 dated April 25th, 
1923, pursuant to Section 248 of the said "Railway Act." An 
application was thereupon made to the Board of Railway Com­ 
missioners for an Order authorizing the construction of the said 
bridge, which application was accompanied by a certified copy of 
the said Order-in-Council and of the plan and description ap­ 
proved thereby, together with detail plans, profile and book of 
reference of the proposed bridge, and on the 24th day of July, 
1923 an Order was made by the said Board numbered 33948 ap­ 
proving the general location of the proposed bridge and ap- 

30 proaches, and on the 30th day of July, 1923 an Order was made 
by the said Board numbered 33950 approving the plan, profile, 
and book of reference above referred to under sections 167 and 
168 respectively of the said "Railway Act" and on the 31st day 
of July, 1923 an Order was duly made by the Board of Railway 
Commissioners numbered 33962 authorizing the construction of 
the said bridge pursuant to the said section, and detail plans of 
the sub-structure and superstructure of the said bridge were sub­ 
sequently filed with and approved by an engineer of the said 
Board of Railway Commissioners. On the 6th day of March,

No. 8 
Reply and 
Defence to 
Counterclaim. 
June 12, 1928.
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British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

No7~8 
Reply and 
Defence to 
Counterclaim. 
June 12, 1928. 

(Contd.)

1925, an Order was made by the said Board numbered 36137 auth­ 
orizing certain changes in the construction of the said bridge and 
on the 31st day of October, 1925 an order was made by the said 
Board numbered 36996 authorizing the plaintiff to use and oper­ 
ate the said bridge.

2. The Navigable Waters Protection Act of Canada does 
not apply to the said bridge, nor to the construction thereof.

3. In reply to paragraph 3 of the Statement of Defence 
herein the plaintiff says that the said bridge does not interfere 
with the navigation of the Second Narrows, and the plaintiff 10 
has had at all times, and has now, the capacity and status and 
power to build, own and maintain the said bridge, and to main­ 
tain any action in respect of it and to recover damages in respect 
of injury sustained by it, and to apply for and accept the grant 
from His Majesty the King referred to in said paragraph 3 and 
to make application to and receive any permissions from any gov­ 
ernment or authority under any act or otherwise in respect of such 
bridge.

4. In reply to paragraph 5 of the said statement of defence 
the plaintiff denies that the said bridge was an unlawful and il- '20 
legal obstruction to public and private right of navigation and 
that the plaintiff is not entitled to recover damages resulting from 
injury sustained by said bridge in consequence of collisions with 
vessels legally navigating the Second Narrows and that it is not 
therefore entitled to damages in respect of the collision in ques­ 
tion.

5. In reply to paragraph 6 of the said statement of defence 
the plaintiff denies that it obtained a conditional grant of certain 
lands from His Majesty the King on the express condition that 
no work within the meaning of Part I of the Navigable Waters 30 
Protection Act should be undertaken or constructed on the said 
lands or any of them by the plaintiff or should be suffered or 
allowed by the plaintiff to be constructed thereon until the pro­ 
visions of said Part I of said Act should have been fully complied 
with by the plaintiff.

6. In reply to paragraph 7 of the said statement of defence 
the plaintiff denies that the bridge is a work within the meaning 
of Part I of the Navigable Waters Protection Act and that the 
said grant did not operate to vest any title to said lands in the 
plaintiff, and that upon the commencement of the construction of 40 
said bridge by the plaintiff the said grant was avoided and be­ 
came null and that the bridge is not the property of the plaintiff
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and that the bridge is an illegal obstruction to the navigation of RECORD 
the said Second Narrows and that the plaintiff has no right to British Columbia 
recover damages in respect to any injury to the said bridge. Admiralty Din.

7. In reply to paragraph 8 of the said statement of defence, R ,No-1 
the plaintiff denies that the statute under which the plaintiff was Defence? to 
incorporated imposed on the plaintiff the duty to build with all Counterclaim. 
necessary skill and care a bridge of such design and constructed June 12, 1928. 
in such a manner as would impede said navigation to the smallest (Contd.) 
extent compatible with the excercise of said statutory power and

K) that the plaintiff in breach of such alleged duty negligently and 
wrongfully constructed a badly designed bridge which impedes and 
interferes with the navigation of said Second Narrows to a greater 
extent than is necessary for the proper exercise of the plaintiff's 
alleged statutory powers, and that the collision between the S.S. 
"Eurana" and the said bridge was occasioned by the fact that 
the said bridge was badly designed and constructed and impedes 
and interferes with the navigation of said Second Narrows to a 
greater extent than is necessary to enable the plaintiff to exercise 
its alleged statutory powers and that the plaintiff is not therefore

20 entitled to recover damages in respect of said collision.
8. In further reply to paragraph 8 of the said statement of 

defence the plaintiff says that if the said bridge was badly de­ 
signed and constructed, which fact the plaintiff does not admit 
but denies, the collision between the S.S. "Eurana" and the said 
bridge was not occasioned by the fact that the said bridge was so 
designed and constructed.

9. In reply to paragraph 13 of the said statement of defence 
the plaintiff denies that if those on board the "Eurana" did navi­ 
gate her either improperly or negligently the collision was not 

30 occasioned thereby.
10. In reply to paragraph 14 of the said statement of defence 

the plaintiff denies that the said collision was the result of circum­ 
stances of wind and current over which those in control of the 
"Eurana" had no control and which they could not anticipate 
or guard against, and that the collision was an inevitable accident 
for which the defendant is not responsible.

11. As to the remainder of the said statement of defence the 
plaintiff joins issue.

DEFENCE TO COUNTERCLAIM
40 1. The plaintiff admits the allegation contained in para­ 

graph 15 of the counterclaim herein.
2. The plaintiff admits the allegations contained in para­ 

graph 16 of the said counterclaim.
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3. In answer to paragraph 17 of the said counterclaim, the 
plaintiff admits that it erected a bridge in navigable waters at the 
Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet but denies that it wrongfully 
or illegally erected the said bridge; and denies that the bridge is 
a public or private nuisance or an obstruction; and denies that 
the bridge interferes with or impedes the navigation of the Second 
Narrows.

4. In further answer to paragraph 17 of the said counter­ 
claim the plaintiff repeats paragraph 1 of the Reply herein.

5. The plaintiff denies each and every allegation of fact 
contained in paragraph 18 of the said counterclaim save and ex­ 
cept the allegation that the "Eurana" was in collision with the 
said bridge crossing the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet.

6. The plaintiff denies each and every allegation of fact con­ 
tained in paragraph 19 of the said counterclaim and denies that 
the defendant suffered damage in the sum of $77,064.25 or in any 
sum whatsoever.

7. The plaintiff says that the said collision was caused solely 
by the negligent and improper navigation or those in charge of 
the "Eurana."

DATED at Vancouver, B. C., this 12th day of June, 1928.

"Knox Walkem," 
Plaintiff's Solicitor.

10

20

DELIVERED this 12th day of June, 1928,
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No. 9
British Columbia

DEMAND FOB PARTICULARS OF REPLY. M
No. 9

The Defendant requires further and better particulars of 
the reply as follows: — Repi7.

Sept. 11, 1928.
PARAGRAPH 1 : Particulars of the application made by 

the Plaintiff to the Board of Railway Commissioners stating the 
date thereof and if same was in writing a copy thereof.

DATED at Vancouver, B. C., this llth day of September, 
1928.

10 "W. Martin Griffin,"
Defendant's Solicitor.

No. 10 No. 10
Particulars of

PARTICULARS OF REPLY. jJfP1^ 192g
PARAGRAPH 1: The application was made verbally on or 

about the 24th day of July, 1923.

"Knox Walkem," 
Solicitor for the Plaintiff.

DELIVERED this 17th day of September, 1928.
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British Columbia

AdmhAjDut. INTERROGATORIES ON BEHALF OF THE
interrogatories DEFENDANT TO BE ANSWERED BY AN
on behalf of OFFICER OF PLAINTIFF COMPANY.
Defendant. 
Sept. 12, 1928.

1. Is the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet a navigable 
water in which the tide ebbs and flows ?

2. Is it not a fact that that portion of Burrard Inlet which 
lies East of the Second Narrows bridge is a navigable water to 
which ships have been and are in the habit of resorting ?

* * 10
10. Did the Plaintiff at any time prepare or have prepared 

plans of a bridge having a clearance of approximately 60 feet over 
water.

11. If so please produce the plans.
12. If so why was not such a bridge constructed?
13. Have there been instances (other than in the case of 

the "Eurana") in which ships or tugs or booms or other vessels 
have been in collision with the bridge ?

* # *
15. Did the Plaintiff in or about the month of April, 1923, 20 

(or at all) cause a plan of the proposed bridge and description 
of the proposed site of the bridge to be deposited with the Min­ 
ister of Public Works of Canada under Section 7 of the Navigable 
Waters Protection Act of Canada and apply for the approval 
thereof?

16. Did the Plaintiff on or about 4th April, 1923, (or at all) 
cause a duplicate of the plan and description referred to in the 
preceding interrogatory to be deposited (as No. 250 with details 
numbered 251 to 255) with the Registrar of Deeds of the County, 
in which said bridge was proposed to be constructed, to wit, the 30 
District Registrar at Vancouver, B. C., under Section 7 of the 
Navigable Waters Protection Act of Canada?

17. Did the Plaintiff give one month's notice by advertise­ 
ment in the Canada Gazette in two newspapers published in the 
locality where said bridge was proposed to be constructed of the 
said application and deposit of plans ? If so, kindly particular­ 
ize the date of the notice and the names of the newspapers.

18. Did the Plaintiff obtain the approval of the site of said 
bridge and of the said plans by order of the Governor-General-in-
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Council under Sec. 4 of the Navigable "Waters Protection Act ? If RECORD 
so give date and number of the said Order-in-Council and supply British Columbia
COpy thereof. Admiralty Dist.

19. At what date was the construction of the bridge begun? . No- n .0 ° Interrogatories
20. At what date was the first erection made in navigable °n behalf of 

water (i.e., meaning for this interrogatory any portion of the Defendant. 
Second Narrows in which ships of any size could navigate). pt' 12>

21. At what date was the first portion of the floor or deck 
of the bridge completed over any portion of the navigable water 

10 (as defined in last interrogator) ?
22. At what date was the 300 ft. fixed span which the "Eu- 

rana" struck first put in place?
* * *

31. At what hour did the "Eurana" give said signal ?
32. At what hour did the operator begin to raise the bascule 

span?
33. At what hour was the span completely raised ?
34. At what hour did the "Eurana" strike the bridge?

* * *
20 37. Was the bridge constructed in exact accordance with plan 

1815 referred to in Order-in-Council 718 of 25th April, 1923? 
Please answer this yes or no.

38. If not, in what respects does the bridge as constructed 
differ from a bridge constructed in exact accordance with Plan 
1815?

DATED at Vancouver, B. C., this 12th day of September, 
1928.

"W.M. Griffin," 
Defendant's Solicitor. 

30 To the Plaintiff,
And to Messrs. Burns & Walkem, 

its Solicitors.
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RECORD X 0. 12
British Columbia
MmitJtyjtoa. THE ^gwERg OF THE PLAINTIFF TO THE

No. 12
Answers of INTERROGATORIES FILED BY THE DEFENDANT
Plaintiff to 
Interrogatories
Sept. 22, 1928. In answer to the said interrogatories I, Percy Ward, Secre­ 

tary of the above named Plaintiff MAKE OATH AND SAY AS 
FOLLOWS:

1. Yes.
2. Yes.

* « *
10. Plans were prepared of a bridge having a clearance of 10 

45 feet
11. See answer to number 10. Plans may be inspected in 

office of Plaintiff's Solicitors.
12. Because the bids exceeded the Engineer's estimates by 

an amount beyond the ability of the Company to finance.
13. Yes.

» * *
15. No.
16. No. There was a plan of the bridge and a description 

of the proposed site deposited on the 4th day of April, 1923 with 20 
the District Registrar of Vancouver, B. C. preparatory to an ap­ 
plication under section 7 of the "Navigable Waters Protection 
Act." No such application however was ever made.

17. No.
18. No.
19. 12th September, 1923.
20. 24th February, 1924.
21. 6th March, 1925.
22. 9th April, 1925.

* * * 30
31. 6.03P.M.
32. Not recorded.
33. 6.09 P.M.
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34. 6.15 P.M. approximately.

No.

RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

No. 12
37.
38. Generally; 5 feet more head room under span and two Answers of 

150 feet span substituted for part of trestle at north end, rock Plaintiff to
fill at south end.
On the 22nd day of September, 
1928, the said Percy Ward was 
duly sworn to the truth of this 
affidavit at the City of Van­ 
couver, in the Province of British 
Columbia, before me,

Interrogatories 
Sept. 22, 1928.

'P. Ward,"

"H. Brown" 

A Commissioner for taking affidavits in Admiralty.
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RECORD exchequer Court of CanabaBritish Columbia
Admiralty Dist, _

~ BRITISH COLUMBIA ADMIRALTY DISTRICT
Proceedings at
Sept.'26,1928. (Before The Honourable Mr. Justice Martin)

6/27. Vancouver, B. C.,
September 26th, 1928.

BETWEEN :

BURRARD INLET TUNNEL & BRIDGE COMPANY,
Plaintiff, 

AND
THE S. S. "EURANA" 10

Defendant.

PROCEEDINGS AT TRIAL.

D. DONAGHY, ESQ., K. C. and
W. E. BURNS, ESQ., K. C.,

appearing for the Plaintiff. 
W. MARTIN GRIFFIN, ESQ., KG.
and SIDNEY SMITH, ESQ.,

appearing for the Defendant.
Mr. Donaghy: I am appearing, my lord, with Mr. Burns, 

for the Plaintiff. 20
Mr. Griffin: I appear, my lord, on behalf of the owners of 

the vessel, with Mr. Smith.
(Opening statement by Mr. Burns)

Mr. Burns: I propose to put in formally particulars with 
reference to the bridge in the first place, and the first thing I will 
call your lordship's attention to is the charter of the company. 
That is to be found at Chapter 74 of 9 and 10—

The Court: You are, of course, referring to this Act of Par­ 
liament.

Mr. Burns: The Act of Parliament, yes, my lord, which is 30 
the charter of the company.
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The Court: Yes. RECORD
Mr. Burns: IX and X, Edward VII, particularly Section BritisiTcdumbia 

8 of the charter which bases the capacity to build the bridge. Admiralty Dis>- 
(Beading). Proceedings at

Then I would refer your lordship in passing to Section 16 of Trial. 
the Act, stating that the Railway Act shall apply to the company (Contd.) 
and its undertakings. Now, I don't know whether my friend will 
desire me to have your lordship note the various extensions of 
this charter, because the charter is shown in 74 as limited in time. 

10 Mr. Griffin: No, no special point, my lord, is being raised.
The Court: I did not quite catch what you said, Mr. Burns.
Mr. Burns: The charter, my lord, is limited in time in the 

first instance, and then by a series of subsequent acts was ex­ 
tended to cover the time period of construction. I understand my 
friend does not—

The Court: Yes, your learned friend admits that.
Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord. Now, the procedure followed in 

connection with the construction of the bridge was under the Rail­ 
way Act, by reason of the fact that the Railway Act applied, and I 

20 now present a certified copy of Order-in-Council 718, dated 25th 
April, 1923.

The Court: What is the date 1
Mr. Burns: The 25th April, 1923, and in that connection I 

might state that this Order-in-Council was passed under Section 
248 of the Railway Act, 1919. By the way, I might pass up to 
your lordship the Railway Act because there will be certain things 
—as a matter of fact the Sections in the revised Statute are the 
same as in 1919, your lordship, so I am using 1919, because that 
is the Act under which it was constructed, but the numbers are 

30 identical. This Order-in-Council reads as follows: (Reading).
The Court: I think we will put that in, that Order-in- 

Council, as Exhibit 1.
Mr. Burns: Yes, I will have that marked.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 1)
Mr. Griffin: Does it contain plans referred to in it ?
Mr. Burns: Well, my purpose in this proceeding, my lord, 

is to file the Orders-in-Council and the orders of the Railway 
Board and then the plans that are referred to—file them subse­ 
quently to the reading of these orders.

40 Mr. Griffin: Well, my lord, I just want to see—the Order- 
in-Council speaks of an attached plan, and therefore I expect 
unless the plan is identified and put in—I want to be sure, of 
course, that the plan is the correct plan.

The Court: You will undertake to do that ?
Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord, I have them here. (Reading 

Order-in-Council).
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Proceedings at 
Trial. 

(Contd.)

RECORD Now, that Order-in-Council refers to a previous one in re- 
Columbia spect of which the Order-in-Council I have just read is an amend- 

ment. That previous one is also attached, it is dated 10th June, 
1913 and reads as follows —

Mr. Griffin : I am not aware of any such Order-in-Council — 
I am not aware of a previous one. My friend has not shown that 
to us as far as I know.

Mr. Burns : It is referred to in the Order-in-Council I have 
just read. The Order-in-Council was passed on June 10th, 1913 
approving, under Section 232 of the Railway Act, etc. You see, 
my lord, this Order-in-Council I have just read is an amendment 
of the 10th of June, 1913 Order-in-Council, and refers to it, and 
we have it here certified.

Mr. Griffin : If my friend pleases we would like to have been 
allowed to see that. My friend's clients have made an affidavit 
of documents in which no reference is made to that Order-in- 
Council, and I personally do not see what it contains, and I can't 
say that it is said to be an amendment — the Order-in-Council now 
put in. There is an Order-in-Council which was passed on the 
10th of June, 1913, approving of a bridge, and with that the 
bridge has not been built. That does not suggest that the new one 
is in any way an amendment of the old.

The Court: Just let me see that, Mr. Registrar. As Mr. 
Burns reads it, it says that it recites that prior Order-in-Council.

Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord.
Mr. Griffin: It does not cite it as being amended. It cites 

it merely as a matter of fact.
Mr. Burns 

plan.
Mr. Griffin 

of perusing it.
The Court : Yes, I think the difficulty is not over yet. Just 

look at it and see.

10

20

Yes, then it follows, it says attached amended 

Well, your lordship, I haven't had any chance 30

Mr. Burns: I might say that it is not in the affidavit of 
production, which is a mere oversight. It just simply came along 
with the certified copy of the 718 Order.

Mr. Griffin: It is not in the affidavit, no doubt, but this is 
the way it reads: "On an amendment of the 15th June, etc., the 
Tunnel Company has applied under Section 233 for approval of 
the annexed plans of a bridge which it is proposed to construct 40 
across the Second Narrows, and the District Engineer has recom­ 
mended that these plans be approved. Now, I should make no 
objection to the introduction of this Order-in-Council if the plans 
therein referred to were part of it, and to which the original is 
annexed and here produced with it, but I should not think it 
would be proper to put in the order without the plan that is 
therein referred to and made part thereof.
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Mr. Burns: We have no objection at all to that except we RECORD 
haven't got that plan. We are following it down in order to make British Columbia 
the 718 order complete in placing it before this court. Admiralty mst.

The Court: If Mr. Griffin is correct it would be more desir- Proceedings at 
able to have that plan here because it may be a matter of some im- Trial, portance. (Comd.)

Mr. Griffin: For instance, my lord, if you refer to that 
Order-in-Council does it not say—some language like this "And 
the Minister has recommended that this plan be approved as the 

10 interests of navigation will be sufficiently safeguarded."
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Well, I would like to know what were the safe­ 

guards which appeared therein.
The Court: You are quite right, Mr. Griffin, it is not in the 

affidavit properly, and Mr. Burns undertakes that he will pro­ 
duce the plans.

Mr. Burns: I am willing—there is no question about being 
able to produce them because they are on record in Ottawa.

The Court: You have not got them here.
20 Mr. Burns: No, my lord. As a matter of fact we are simply 

amplifying the 718 Order in putting that in, because 718 referred 
to it.

The Court: Yes, but as Mr. Griffin says, out of abundance 
of caution—he is quite right—had you not better telegraph for 
them.

Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord, I will get that away at the earliest 
possible moment.

Mr. Griffin: In the meantime the introduction of this docu­ 
ment will be postponed.

30 The Court: No, I will put it in in this way, Mr. Griffin, upon 
Mr. Burns undertaking to get that, and if it is not there, then 
you can reject it.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, that will be quite satisfactory.
Mr. Burns: I think my friend read that Order-in-Council 

of June 10th, 1913 in full, did you not?
Mr. Griffin: I did not fully, no, but very near it.
Mr. Burns: Well, I would like to get these matters covered. 

"On an amendment dated 15th June, 1913 (Reading)—That 
might go in as one exhibit, my lord. 

40 The Court: Oh, yes, because it comes as one exhibit.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, it would be hard to distinguish the 

plans—
The Court: I beg your pardon?
Mr. Griffin: Will it not be hard to distinguish the plans— 

it would be therefore more convenient to have them separate 
numbers, applying to the Order-in-Council accompanying it.



RECORD Mr. Burns: Well, I wasn't putting the plans in as part of 
British Columbia this exhibit, I was putting them in as a subsequent number.
Admiralty Dist.

Proceedings at 
Trial.

(Contd.)

The Court: As it comes in that shape from the proper official 
quarter, I think we had better let it stand, Mr. Griffin. It is only 
one exhibit really. The question of the extent of it is another 
thing. Your objection is preserved.

Mr. Burns: Now, I present, my lord, the plan which is re­ 
ferred to in the Order-in-Council number 718, as certified by the 
Clerk of the Privy Council in respect of that order.

The Court: Now, this is the final amended plan as approved, 10 
and the date of it—is the date on it ? Well, do not trouble about 
that, Mr. Burns. It is sometimes hard to find it in these large 
plans.

Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord. Here is the date-y-
The Court: Well, the importance of that is that it shows 

the date to which the extent of their knowledge proceeded, you see.
Mr. Burns: The date, my lord, in the certificate of the Clerk, 

is the 25th of April, 1923.
The Court: Oh, yes, the 25th of April, 1923.
Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord. My friend suggests that this 20 

plan, being numbered here on the drawing number E.1815, might 
be termed that on this trial.

Mr. Griffin: It is referred to in the Order-in-Council under 
that number, that is why I called attention to it.

The Court: Exhibit 2, then, Mr. Registrar.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 2)
The Court: You have a copy of that. Of course that is a 

duplicate for me, I suppose.
Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord. If it be more convenient, my 

lord, we might reserve an exhibit number later for the plan that 30 
my friend has referred to.

The Court: This is 2 that we have now, the Registrar has 
marked it. You have Number 3, have you?

Mr. Burns: No, I was suggesting we might reserve number 
3 for the plans that I will obtain from Ottawa in compliance with 
my friend's request.

The Court: Oh, I see.
Mr. Burns: Whether that is convenient or not—
The Court: That will be all the same. I would simply mark 

it as "1-A." It all goes in as 1. 40
Mr. Burns: That would go in then as '' 2-B.''
The Court: Yes, this plan is Exhibit 2, and another that 

comes from Ottawa can be attached.
Mr. Burns: I next present the order of the Board of Rail­ 

way Commissioners for Canada, number 33948.
The Court: Exhibits.
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(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 3)
Mr. Griffin: I wish to make an observation on that, that 

that Order-in-Council, 33948 is only an authorization of the con­ 
struction so far as it is a railway, and has therefore no applicabil- Proceedings

RECORD
British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

ity to the matters in question in this action. It does not relate 
to the locus in quo, any my submission is, it is irrelevant.

The Court: What do you say, Mr. Burns ?
Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord, it is under Section 248.
Mr. Griffin: No, if it were I would not have raised the ob- 

10 jection. My friend is in error, I am sure. The order is before 
me and says distinctly "on the matter of the application of the 
Burrard Inlet Tunnel & Bridge Company" (Reading). That is 
a statement, but Section 167 is the Section, not 248. 167 relates 
solely to Railways, and this is a combination railway and bridge, 
so that therefore does not extend to this point.

Mr. Burns: I was in error when I said 248, my lord; it is 
167,1 see, reading the context. We plead it, my lord, in our reply, 
and rely upon that order of the Railway Board with these attached 
plans. 

20 The Court: Well, you do not insist upon that Number 3
Mr. Burns: Oh, yes, my lord, we do, we plead it and desire 

to present it to the court in connection with our case.
The Court: Well, for the moment, put it in, as to what its 

value is, probably as a matter of argument.
Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord, surely.
The Court: Yes, that is right. What is the date of it ?
The Registrar: July 24th, 1923, my lord.
Mr. Burns: It is entitled "In the matter of the application 

of the Burrard Inlet Tunnel & Bridge Company." (Reading). 
30 It is certified to by the Secretary of the Board, and signed by the 

Assistant-Chief Commissioner.
Mr. Griffin: My lord, is my friend putting this plan in with 

it.
Mr. Burns: Yes, I am putting in everything I have got. 

Then, my lord, I present the plan that is referred to in that last 
mentioned order, signed by the Chief Commissioner of the Rail­ 
way Board and certified to by the Secretary.

The Court: Exhibit 3-A.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 3-A)
40 Mr. Burns: Then I present the Board of Railway Commis­ 

sioner's order number 33950 dated 30th July, 1923. That is under 
Sections 168 and 172 of the Railway Act. 

The Court: 168 and 172? 
Mr. Burns: And 172. 
Mr. Griffin; I don't see any reference to 172.

(Contd.)



RECORD Mr. Burns: Well, 172 is the filing with the Registrar of 
British Columbia Titles, but I refer it to these two sections in placing it before the
Admiralty Dist. cOUrt.

Proceedings at The Court: You say this was another order of the Board? 
Trial. Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord.

(Contd.) Mr. Griffin : Before that is read, my lord, I make the same 
objection I made to the preceding order of the Railway Board. 
This one is made under Section 168 of the Railway Act. My 
friend is in error in saying that there is any reference in it to 
Section 172. We might as well be clear on it. It only refers to 10 
the one section. Section 168 has nothing whatever to do with 
bridges. It relates to plans, profiles, truck roads of the surround­ 
ing property so far as the enterprise is a railway. I submit, 
therefore, it is inapplicable to the matters in question in this 
action and not receivable.

Mr. Burns: I have referred to 172 Section, (because there 
is a certificate upon the plans attached to this Board's order of the 
Registrar of Titles, which is referred to in Section 172, and com­ 
bines them both : "In the matter of the application of the Bur- 
rard Inlet Tunnel & Bridge Company. (Reading). Then on the 20 
plan, my lord, is a certificate by the Registrar of Titles under 
Section 172 of the Railway Act. That will be Exhibit-

The Court: Exhibit4.
Mr. Burns : In this case, my lord, the plans were attached in 

Ottawa to the Board's Order. Whether it would be well under 
these circumstances, to call it four and 4- A, the same as we have 
been doing, I don't know.

The Court : Well, you suggest that the plans should be 4- A.
Mr. Burns : On that basis of keeping the symmetry of it 1
The Court : Yes, I think so. 30

(DOCUMENTS MARKED RESPECTIVELY 
EXHIBITS 4 and 4-A)

Mr. Griffin: My lord, I didn't know there were any plans 
attached to this order. My friend did not refer to them.

The Court : Yes, take your time, Mr. Griffin.
Mr. Griffin : Yes, they are not referred to, but they are certi­ 

fied.
Mr. Burns : Then the order of the Board, my lord, number 

33962, dated 31st July, 1923.
The Court: 21st.
Mr. Burns: 31st July, 1923.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 5) 
Mr. Burns: This order, my lord, is under Section 248 of 

the Railway Act. I am only giving your lordship these numbers

40
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for convenience. "In the matter of the application of the Bur- RECORD
rard Inlet Tunnel & Bridge Company." (Reading). British Columbia

Mr. Griffin: Has my friend got the plan therein referred to ? Adm-nity Di,t.
Mr. Burns: Well— Proceedings at
The Court: It says plan—what is approved is what is shown Trial. 

on the plan on file with the Board under File 15732-4. (Contd.)
Mr. Burns: This plan is already in. They are all under 

that same one.
Mr. Griffin: I would like to see that. 

10 Mr. Burns: It is under 718.
The Court: You say that is in—what exhibit is that in? 

You say that plan therein referred to is Exhibit what ? Then Mr. 
Griffin can accept your statement of what you say.

Mr. Burns: I am not sure of the number, whether it is 2 or 
3.

The Court: Just look.
Mr. Burns: It is the first plan we put in—that large one.
The Court: Yes, I think the first exhibit is the Order-in- 

Council, and then there is a large plan.
20 Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord, it goes in with the Order-in- 

Council.
The Court: Exactly.
Mr. Burns: And that is the plan referred to.
The Court: Will that be satisfactory to you?
Mr. Griffin: Well, my lord, we will see if my friend is cor­ 

rect, because if so, we will be able to find it from the document.
The Court: Yes, quite right. Be sure we have all the plans, 

because I can see how important this question is. We will clear 
these matters up now and then we will have no trouble afterwards. 

30 Mr. Griffin: Now, unless it is on the back, which I need not 
for the moment look at—there is no certificate or any thing to 
identify this as being on file with the Board of Railway Commis­ 
sioners under File 15732-4.

Mr. Burns: But this order, my lord, is made pursuant to the 
Order-in-Council 718, which is dated April 25th, 1923, approving 
the said plan, and this is the said plan that is referred to in 718, 
and is called said plan throughout this order.

The Court: That would look very definite, would it not, Mr. 
Griffin? 

40 Mr. Griffin: It may not be on file with the Board at all.
The Court: Well, it does not necessarily say that it should 

be on file.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, it has to be filed, the Statute requires it, 

and the Order so states that it is; but if my friend is wrong in 
this, let us be sure it is the same one. What is proved is what is 
shown on said plan on file with the Board. Now, we must be sure 
they are here, because the Order would have no weight if that were 
not done.
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RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Proceedings at 
Trial.

(Contd.)

The Court: Yes, but what is the said plan?
Mr. Griffin: Oh, undoubtedly it is referred to as being the 

same one in P. C. 718, but we must be sure that that was actually 
filed.

The Court: But he further recites, you see, that it is the 
said plan that is on file. I do not think there is much difficulty. 
There is no fear of a new plan being sprung on you. That identi­ 
fies it, you see, that 718.

Mr. Griffin: Your lordship will note my objection that I 
make.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Burns: Then I present the order of the Board of Rail­ 

way Commissioners number 36137.
The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 
Mr. Griffin:

10

Just give me these numbers very distinctly.
36137.
That is another Order of the Board ?
Yes, my lord.
That will be Exhibit 6, Mr. Registrar.
Dated 6th March, 1925.
If my friend will kindly read that, then I wish 20 

to make an objection, my lord.
Mr. Burns: In the matter of the application of the Bur- 

rard Inlet Tunnel & Bridge Company. (Reading). Now, at­ 
tached to this Order are two of the plans mentioned in the Order. 
The two that are attached are V-148 and V-149, they being also 
certified by the Secretary of the Board. Then the third plan men­ 
tioned in the Order is certified to by the Secretary of the Board 
separately, which is V-147.

Mr. Griffin: Now, if your lordship pleases, my objection to* 
the introduction of that is one of which there seems to be no reas- 30 
onable doubt. If your lordship will turn to the Railway Act and 
look at Section 251, you will find it stated that that Section is as 
follows: (Reading). Now, that relates, and relates solely to 
those bridges which are either in cities or are over highways. The 
whole subject of bridges over navigable water is dealt with in the 
preceding Section, 248, which is in more or less, if not identical, 
language. The two subjects are dealt with in the clearest way in 
separate Sections. I would ask your lordship to go back to 248 
first as being the logical way to discuss it. If you take 248, it 
provides that where a company is proposing the construction of a 40 
railway bridge or tunnel or other structure in, upon, over, under, 
through or across any navigable water or canal or open ditch, etc., 
the company, before the commencement of such work, in the case of 
a navigable water, or a canal, shall submit to the Minister of 
Public Works for approval by the Governor-in-Council, a plan 
and description of the proposed site, and a general plan of the 
work to be constructed to the satisfaction of such Minister. That
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is the first step. "And upon approval by the G-overnor-in-Council, RECORD 
apply to the Board for an Order authorizing the construction of British Columbia the work, (Beading). Mm**, Dht.

Now, turn to Sub-section 2—these are the steps with regard Proceedings at 
to navigable waters: First an Order-in-Council, second the Bail- Trial, 
way Board. (Beading). (Contd.)

Three—So far as the Board are satisfied, they are in Sub­ 
section 3.

Now, if you turn back, my lord, to Section 251, and compare
10 them. You see we have no Privy Council involved at all, "The

Company shall not within the limits (Beading). And the proviso
does not matter: "Upon application to the Board for such leave
(Beading).

Now, your lordship sees this Order which is now brought be­ 
fore you and offered in evidence is made under Section 251, and 
only under Section 251. It does not authorize or permit anything 
to be done in or over navigable waters. It is restricted in the 
clearest manner to the locus in quo, to which Section 251 applies. 
There is no suggestion that this place where this bridge was built 

20 is in the City of Vancouver, and at least not a highway out over 
any water, so that we are clearly shown that Section 251 could 
not and does not apply. And this is not an objection of any tech­ 
nical nature, because if it could be attempted to be supported under 
the correct Section 248, it falls to the ground, because the author­ 
ity of the Privy Council would have to be obtained, as sub-Section 
2 distinctly provides that no deviation from said plan approved 
by the Governor-General shall take place without his consent. 
There is no suggestion of any such consent having been obtained. 
So that my objection is that, that order having been obtained under 

30 the wrong Section, which addresses itself to the Board under a 
totally different order to 248, it does not indicate to the Board 
in the slightest degree that what they are being asked to do deals 
with the crossing of navigable water. I say the plan may be, 
but the section that they apply under is the vital and governing 
situation. Your lordship, I suppose, is fully aware of the fact 
that under the regulation of the Bailway Board the Section must 
always be named in the application. You must in every case, when 
you apply for the mandate of the authority to which you address 
yourself, and it is the invariable practice of the Board to always 

40 introduce some Section number into their orders to show where 
they derive the jurisdiction which they purport to exercise. My 
submission therefore is that that document cannot be received.

Mr. Burns: I suggest, my lord, that the exhibit be received 
subject to the objection of my friend. It is a matter that requires 
some argument.

The Court: Well, it is a practice I do not like to give effect 
to, Mr. Burns, unless, of course, there is some really very grave
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RECORD doubt about it. I would prefer, you see, not to admit it in at 
British Columbia present, and give you leave to move to do so afterwards, because 
Admiraity^pist. unless you can show me now that this really is a matter affecting 
Proceedings at navigable waters, I would say at first blush I can hardly see the 
Trial. relevancy of this order.

(Contd.) Mr. Burns: Well, if your lordship pleases I would rather 
follow that course.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Burns: Because my friend Mr. Donaghy and I are div­ 

iding this case. 10
The Court: Quite so, and you will look that up, Mr. Burns ? 

Then we will not mark this document, and this is reserved, Mr. 
Registrar. It would be together, would it not ?

The Registrar: Yes, my lord, I think there are three plans.
The Court: Yes, do not mark it—that is, the order of the 

Board. This stands, you see, for further consideration.
Mr. Burns: Then the order of the Board, 36996, my lord.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Burns: Dated 31st October, 1925.
Mr. Griffin: The same point arises there, my lord. It pur- '20 

ports to have been made under Section 251 and 276.
The Court: Does it recite it is under the same Section, Mr. 

Burns'?
Mr. Burns: Sections 251 and 276.
The Court: Under 251. Now does 276 get over Mr. Griffin's 

objection ?
Mr. Griffin: No, my lord, it does not. It provided no rail­ 

way shall be opened for traffic, etc., until a certain order.
Mr. Burns: 276 has to do with the permission for the use 

of the railway. 30
The Court: It is hardly apparent why that is—then that is 

a direct controversy, is it?
Mr. Burns: Well, if your lordship pleases, that might be 

put in the same category for the time being.
The Court: Yes, you tender it, and the same action taken on 

that, Mr. Burns. Yes.
Mr. Burns: Then I present the grant by way of quit-claim 

from His Majesty the King to the Company to certain parcels 
of land in the bed of the public harbour of Vancouver, Second 
Narrows, (Reading)—they being the pier sites. 40

The Court: Is this covering the ground of the pier sites?
Mr. Burns: Yes.
The Court: There is no question about this, Mr. Griffin ?
Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, the most vital question in it.
The Court: Oh, I see.
Mr. Griffin: The grant reads as follows—
The Court: Pardon me for a moment. Let Mr. Burns con-
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tinue so I will know exactly. You tender them, Mr. Burns— RECORD
What is it ? British Columbia

Mr. Burns: I was just getting the deed—the grant from the Admiralty Dist-
Crown to the Company. Proceedings at

The Court: That is from the National Government or the Trial.
Provincial Government? (Comd.) 

Mr. Burns: In right of the Dominion, my lord. 
The Court: Yes, the National Government. Yes? 
Mr. Burns: Dated 9th May, 1924 

10 The Court: 9th May, 1924, yes.
Mr. Burns: The grant being of certain parcels of land in the

bed of the Second Narrows, which are the pier sites of the bridge. 
The Court: On both sides, Mr. Burns, or just the pier sites

—are they on the north or south side of the inlet ? 
Mr. Burns: Well, right in the inlet, my lord. 
The Court: Right in the middle of it, it is. 
Mr. Burns: Yes, in the bed of the inlet. 
The Court: In the bed of the stream? 
Mr. Burns: Yes.

20 The Court: In the channel? 
Mr. Burns: In the channel. 
The Court: The pier sites in the channel, yes. 
Mr. Griffin: Then, my lord, the nature of the objection is

this, that the grant contains the following express and explicit
provision:

"To have and to hold the said lands unto the grantee, its 
successors and assigns forever. Provided that nothing in 
these presents shall be held to absolve the grantee, its succes^- 
sors and assigns, or any of them, from fulfilling in all respects 

30 the requirements of Part I of the Navigable Waters' Pro­ 
tection Act, Chapter 115, Revised Statutes, 1906; and it is an 
express condition of this grant that no 'work' within the 
meaning of said Part I shall be undertaken or constructed on 
the said lands by the grantee, its successors or assigns, or any 
of them, or shall be suffered or allowed by them or any of 
them, to be constructed thereon until as regards such work 
the provisions of said Part I shall have been fully complied 
with."
The Court: Yes, but while I can see your point, Mr. Griffin, it 

40 will do no harm at all to put the document in. It is a question of
legal construction.

Mr. Griffin: But that is an express condition, and it is ad­ 
mitted, my lord, in the pleadings that no such permission was
obtained.

The Court: I quite see that, Mr. Griffin.
Mr. Griffin: And therefore my submission is that the grant

cannot be received in evidence.



32

RECORD The Court: I would not say that. I think it can go in 
British Columbia evidence for what it is worth. It is simply a question of its 

consideration.^
Proceedings at Mr. Griffin : There is only another objection — it is to the
Trial. same effect: It also provides in this conveying of this grant,

(Contd.) as a condition of the grant that the grantee, its successors or
assigns, shall construct on the said lands a railway and traffic
bridge to the satisfaction of the Minister of Marine and Fisheries
within five years from the date hereof. (Reading.)

Now, there is no suggestion that it ever was obtained before 10 
the five years expired, while up to this date no such permission 
has been obtained from the Minister of Marine and Fisheries. So 
on these two grounds my submission is the grant cannot be re­ 
ceived.

The Court: The objection, of course, if valid, would go to 
really, I might say, the inoperative effect of the grant, not to its 
reception just now. It will go in as an exhibit now for what it 
is worth.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 6.)
Mr. Burns : I thought at this stage, my lord, I would put the 20 

Admiralty chart in, which will be used on the trial. 
The Court: Exhibit?.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 7.)
The Court: Has the work of the Admiralty — their sound­ 

ings, has it been supplemented by our own Department, Mr. 
Burns?

Mr. Burns : The Harbour Board, my lord.
The Court : The surveys of our own Department of Marine 

and Fisheries, they have a series of very admirable charts. I do 
not know whether these would come under their investigation. 30

Mr. Griffin : My lord, I have a chart in case your lordship 
would like it, made by Mr. Pariseau.

The Court : That is what I mean, because the charts of Mr. 
Parizeau are really an ornament to the country — very fine indeed. 
They are also more modern — printed in two colours which renders 
them more easy to read. Do not trouble with it now.

Mr. Burns : I thought I had the Harbour Board map now, 
which gives all this. I have sent for it, my lord, and if my friend 
has one it will be all right. This chart, my lord, is the same 
plan that I have referred to — the Harbour Board. 40

The Court: The Harbour Board Plan?
Mr. Burns : Yes, my lord.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT No. 8.)
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Mr. Burns: This plan, my lord, is dated May 8th, 1925, RECORD 
made by the Chief Engineer of the Harbour Board, Mr. Frith, British Columbia 
and on it is annexed the soundings checked, dated the 1st of May, Admiralty Dist- 
1926 by Commander Reed, the Harbour Master. Plaintiff's

Mr. Griffin: Mr. Burns, I suggest for convenience sake put- Case _ 
ting one of these in, which shows the layout of the Harbour—it F G.~Tennant 
is only a general plan we have. Direct.

Mr. Burns: I will call Mr. Tennant, bridge operator.
FREDERICK GEORGE TENNANT, a witness caUed on behalf 

10 of the Plaintiff, being first duly sworn, testified as follows:
Mr. Burns: My lord, I am sorry, but I sent—thinking that 

was the only way I could get these plans, I sent a witness of ours, 
Captain Jones, for the plans. He said he would be back in five 
minutes. He is a witness I desire to hear the evidence of this 
witness and he will be back in a few minutes.

The Court: Oh, yes, adopt your own course, Mr. Burns. 
That will be quite satisfactory. Do you want to ask any questions ?

Mr. Burns: I desire to have Captain Jones listen to the 
evidence of this witness and he will be back here in just a minute.

go The Court: Oh, I beg your pardon, I did not quite under­ 
stand you.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
Q. You are one of the bridge operators—of the Second 

Narrows Bridge operators ? A. Yes, sir, I am one of the bridge 
operators.

Q. How long have you been engaged in that? A. I have 
been there since the bridge was opened.

Q. And how long is that ? A. Two years.
Q. Were you on duty at the time of the Eurana accident? 

30 A. I was on duty that time.
Q. When was that? A. That was March the 10th, 1927.
Q. Will you just give your evidence as to what occurred?
A. I suppose I am allowed to refer to my report.
Q. What have you got there ? A. My report—copy.
Q. Your report—just a minute, witness. Did you make a 

report of the occurrence after it happened? A. I always put 
my tides down as soon as I go on duty, and then as soon as the 
boat blows why I put the time down.

Q. Yes? A. Then give the red signal, and when the 
40 bridge is opened I always give the green.
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RECORD Q. Yes, I understand that, but did you make a report as 
British Columbia to this ? A. Yes, immediately I got the bridge opened and saw 
AJmiraity^Dist. the accident happened I started to write out my report. 
Plaintiff's Q- To whom did you give your report ? A. I turned it in 
Case to Mr. Ward—into the office of the manager. 
., ~~^T" The Court: I did not hear Tiim gay—I cannot hear you, what iSc Tennant didyousay? 

(Contd.) Mr. Burns: Turn around so his lordship can hear.
The Court: Q: What did you say you gave to whom? 

A. I turned it in— 10
Q. Speak up and speak clearly ? A. I turned it in to the 

office, to my manager, Mr. Ward.
Q. Ward? A. Yes.
Mr. Burns: Q: He is the manager of the company, wit­ 

ness, is he? A. Yes, sir.
Q. Well, have you got the report that you made? A. I 

have got the report here, yes.
Mr. Griffin: That is not the original.
Mr. Burns: No, but you have seen it.
Mr. Griffin: Oh, yes, but that is not the original. He didn't 20 

type it then.
Mr. Burns: Oh, no.
Q. Well, have you got the original? A No, I didn't—the 

report is turned in to the office. We have no access to the office 
to take that report around with us.

Mr. Griffin: That is the point.
Mr. Burns: Q: Where is that report ? A. Why, it would 

be on file with the office.
Q. Apart from your report, what is your recollection as 

to what happened? A. The actual accident? 30
Q. Yes. A. Well—
Q. Just describe the occurrence. A. Do you mean the 

time from the boat blew?
Q. Yes, just describe the occurrence. A. The boat blew 

6:03.
The Court: Q. Now, start at the beginning, start with the 

time and the tide and the state of the weather and that sort of 
thing? A. March 10th.

Q. Yes, but that is not the time of the day, that is the time 
of the month. You heard what I said? A. Do you want the 40 
time that the boat blew?

The Court: Do you not know what time of the day is? 
A. Well, 6:03.

Q. Why did you not say so ? A. Well, the time of the day 
was 6:03 that the boat blew.

Q. That is 6:03, go on now, and tell counsel the state of the
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weather, the visibility and that sort of thing? 
was good.

Q. How was the weather?

A. The visibility RECORD
Mr Burns: 

was fine.
The Court: 
Mr. Burns:

A. The weather
Q. This was in the evening, was it, Mr. Burns ? 
The evening, yes, my lord.

Q. How was the tide ? A. The tide was running out.
Q. And what you say at 6:03 p.m.— A. Yes, the boat blew.
Q. That is, you mean the'' Eurana'' blew ? A. Yes, he gave 

10 me the signals for the bridge.
Q. Where was she at that time, approximately? A. Well, 

I would say about a mile to the east of the bridge.
Q. Then what occurred? A. Well, I opened the bridge, 

after giving the proper signals, at 6:09 the bridge was open and I 
gave the green signal to come ahead.

Q. In the meantime what had he done ? A. Well, he was 
coming on very slowly. As far as I could see he was making a 
fair passage for the span; if anything, he was a little to the south 
shore.

20 Q. What do you mean by a little to the south ? A. Well 
I would say off—she was a little nearer to the south than ordinary.

The Court: Just let me see that plan. Is that the big blue 
print—perhaps I can follow this better. Is that the one you are 
talking of, exhibit 2?

Mr. Burns: Pardon me, my lord.
The Court: Are you asking now the state of affairs on ex­ 

hibit 2, are you following exhibit 2 ?
Mr. Burns: Well, I didn't have particular reference in my 

mind to exhibit 2, I don't just remember—this Harbour Board 
30 plan would possibly—

The Court: Well, which ever you like, Mr. Burns.
Mr. Burns: It would be more convenient, I think, although 

I see it is cut off a bit there.
The Court: Yes, I am looking at exhibit 8 now.
Mr. Burns: I think possibly the Harbour Board plan in 

conjunction with the chart might—because I see that the Harbour 
Board plan is cut off there east of the bridge.

The Court: Well, we go on the chart now. Now, looking at 
exhibit 7—the chart.

40 Mr. Burns: Q. Now, then, when the bridge was opened— 
that is, when the span was open—

The Court: Just a moment, Mr. Burns, he might just tell 
us as far as he knows the state of the tide.

Mr. Burns: Q. Yes, well, what was the state of the tide? 
You say it was running out ? A. It was running out—it was 
geting near low tide.

Q. From your observations subsequently that day—during
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RECORD the time of the collision and so on, how long was it running out 
British Columbia afterwards, until when ? A. You mean after the accident ? 
Admirdtyjjia. Q. yes—well, until when was it running out, when did it 
Plaintiff's stop running 1? A. I presume she ran out pretty near half an 
Case hour after the boat hit the bridge.
F G^Tennant Q* Well, did you observe ? A. I did. I was watching the 
Direct. action of the water on the pier, which we always do. 

(Contd.) Q. What particular tide was that, was it a long run out or a 
short run out ? A. Well, I just forget now. It was a fair run 
out, I think, as near as I can remember. 10

Q. Well, we will cover that later. Then by the time the 
bridge was opened, at nine minutes past six, as you have said, 
how far off was the Eurana—approximately? A. When—do 
you mean when I first noticed there was anything wrong with the 
boat?

Q. No, no, when the bascule span was open and the bridge 
completely open ? A. Well, she was—I would say perhaps about 
half to three-quarters of a mile away.

Q. And how was she then, I mean,—
Q. And how was she then, I mean,— A. Well, she was 20 

coming very slowly. I could barely see her moving.
Q. Now, you said before that she was a little bit to the south 

of the ordinary route of ships? A, Yes, she was a little closer, 
I think, to the south shore than usual.

Q. Well, then, what occurred? A. Well, when she was 
about—as near as I can recollect about 250 yards off of the bridge 
I distinctly heard the command to lower away the anchors, which 
I took particular notice they lowered away.

Q. And did you see her anchors and so on—were you observ­ 
ing the ship ? A. I was watching her with a pair of glasses in 30 
the bascule.

Q. What anchors were lowered? A. Both anchors were 
lowered, the starboard and port anchors.

The Court: Wait now. Do you say you distinctly heard 
the order from the bridge ? A. From the bridge, to lower away 
the anchors.

Q. Yes, you told Mr. Burns, then what ? A. I noticed the 
starboard anchor carried away, as near as I could see. The port 
anchor held; at least—

Q. Did you say anchor or anchors? You speak in such an 40 
indefinite way it is hard to make out. Try and speak clearly be­ 
cause it is important. You spoke about anchor first, and now 
you are talking about anchors, that is, is it singular or plural now ? 
A. Well, I distinctly heard the command to lower away the an­ 
chors.

Q. Anchors ? A. Both anchors.
Q. Anchors? A. Yes.
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20

30

Mr. Burns: Q. Then what did you see after you heard that 
command? A. Well, I—

The Court: Pardon me now, he noticed—well, was he on the 
other side that he saw—which anchor was it now you saw? 
A. The starboard anchor.

Q. The starboard anchor? A. The starboard anchor 
held; the port anchor carried away.

Q. You see you have not told us yet. Did you see the 
anchors lowered? A. I saw both anchors go down into the 
water.

Q. Go down into the water, consecutively—you say the order 
was given and you saw the anchors being lowered? A. No, I 
heard the order—

Q. I mean you heard the order and you saw both anchors 
go down ? A. I saw both anchors were lowered.

Q. You saw both anchors were lowered, now just tell us, and 
your learned counsel, tell him what happened then.

Mr. Burns: Q. Did you see anything else in connection with 
the lowering of the anchors? A. Well, I noticed she sheered 
to the north right away.

Q. Well, I mean in connection with the anchors ? A. No, 
except I thought—as near as I could see the port chain or cable 
slackened up and jerked off, so I figured the port anchor carried 
away;

Q. But the starboard held ? A. The starboard anchor held 
turning the boat to the north—sheering off, like.

Q. And you say the ship was how far from the bridge at 
that time—about ? A. 250 yards, I should say.

Q. Then what occurred after that ? A. Well, she plough­ 
ed into the 300 foot span.

Q. That is to the north of the bascule? A. To the north 
of the bascule.

Q. How far north of the bascule could you say approximate­ 
ly in feet? A. Well, the bascule is 185 feet, and that goes on 
to the pier that reaches on the north side, it gives a 300 foot span, 
I would say about 350 feet from the bascule—or 400 feet, I 
wouldn't like to—

The Court: You see you had better get these measurements 
exactly.

RECORD

40 Mr. Burns: 
The Witness: 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns:

Yes, my lord.
I wouldn't like to put myself down into feet. 

Just repeat that.
Q. Just approximately? A. Well, I would 

say about 400 feet, I guess, north of the bascule.
The Court: Now, would you get where he was standing ? 
Mr. Burns: Q. Whereabouts were you standing ? 
The Court: That is important you see—on this plan. A. I 

was standing on the east side—
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RECORD Q. just look at that, witness, now. That is the Harbour 
British Columbia Board plan Exhibit 8. Now, just tell the learned counsel where 

yOU were standing? A. I was standing on the bascule on the 
east side with a pair of glasses.

Mr. Burns: Q. Now, when you say on the bascule, that is 
the south end— A. That is the south end—

Q. —of the bascule span? A. Of the bascule span.
Q. You were standing on the bascule, on the east side of 

the bascule ? A. On the east side.
The Court: Wait until I get this, Mr. Burns—you are so 10 

familiar with this, you see.
Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord.
The Court: Q. I see this bascule span is marked 150 feet 

in the clear, and it goes from pier number 3 on the south to pier 
number 2 on the north ? A. Yes, my lord.

Q. Now, you wish us to understand that you were standing 
on pier three, practically ? A. Yes.

The Court: Yes, on pier 3.
Mr. Burns: Q. No, on the southern pier? A. On the 

southern pier, rather, I should say. 20
Q. Is that right?
The Court: That would be right, yes, the north is 2. He was 

standing on the southern pier 3, which is the opening of the bascule 
span, which is 150 feet clear.

Q. That is right, is it? A. Yes.
Mr. Burns: Q. Then you say that the "Eurana" went into 

the bridge approximately 400 feet or so from where you were 
standing, is that it? A. About that, yes. I am not sure of 
that measurement, you know.

Q. No, no, approximately. Were you standing on the pier 30 
or—oh, yes, it would be the bottom of the bascule lift itself? 
A. Our bascule is up, you know, quite a distance, I was on it— 
we never leave the bascule.

Q. Oh, you were right up at the top? A. Right up half 
way where her operating table is.

Q. About half way up ? A. Yes.
Q. Well, then, just how did she engage with the bridge? 

A. Well, she ploughed into the east roadway, picked it up, threw 
it to one side, pulled up against one of the I-beams, then began 
to clear things off the bridge, pretty well cut it down to the smoke- 40 
stack, the smokestack pulled up almost—

The Court: You must turn around.
Mr. Burns: Q. Yes, speak louder and slower? A. She 

ploughed into the east—
The Court: You have a way of mumbling and it is most im­ 

portant that everyone should hear what you say, as the acoustics 
of this room are very bad, and everybody must understand these 
questions.



A. The "Eurana" ploughed into the east roadway, tearing 
up the roadway, and pulled up against one of the I-beams.

Q. Now, I do not understand what roadway— A. 
the east roadway of the bridge.

Mr. Burns: Q. Explain to his lordship, the east roadway? 
A. My lord, this is the roadway on the east side of the bridge. 
This is the first thing that the boat would strike, the sidewalk first 
and then the roadway.

The Court: Yes, I see it is marked on the plan "roadway", 
10 yes.

Mr. Burns: Q. Her stem went right under the bridge, did 
it ? A. The stern went right under—

Q. The stem? A. The bow.
Q. The bow, yes 1 A. Yes, went right under the bridge.
Q. Almost up to the smokestack? A. Right up to the 

smokestack, pulled up against what I would call a I-beam, one 
of the heavy beams underneath the railroad track.

Q. The roadway being broken and being carried away? 
A. Carried away and carried away a terrible lot of iron too on 

20 there—it was the big I-beam that stopped her.
Q. Well, then when was the bascule let down? A. Well, 

I didn't let the bascule down till I heard from Mr. Ward, our 
manager, that was about 9:00 p.m.

Q. Not until 9:00 p.m. ? A. Yes.
Q. Then how long did the "Eurana" stay under the bridge ?
A. Well, as near as I can recollect it would be an hour and 

a half or two hours.
Q. How was she taken out, or how did she get out ? A. Well, 

she—then I rang for the wrecking tugs. First I rang my manager, 
30 and I couldn't get the connection, so in the meantime I rang up the 

Salvage Company to have the tugs there, and the tugs got along­ 
side of her, and I figure that it must been open—

Q. No, but did you see? A I didn't see nothing. I 
couldn't see nothing after that.

Q. Well, don't give any evidence. A. Well, the tugs went 
to her assistance—I could see the tugs going to her assistance.

Q. You didn't see her get out from the bridge? A. Yes, 
I saw her backing away from the bridge.

Q. How did she do that, or how was that done ? A. Well, 
4o the tugs got on her, and I suppose she used her own power too— 

small tugs.
Q. How was she after she got into the bridge, how was she 

engaged under the bridge. Was she stuck there or not? 
A. She was certainly stuck there— stuck fast.

Mr. Griffin: I think you should lead him on this as far as 
that is concerned.

Mr. Burns: I just want to get it as properly as I can.

RECORD
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RECORD Q. Then as a matter of fact the tugs pulled her back?
British Columbia -^- iCS.
Admiraityj>ist. Q. N0w, do you remember any particular time—the latest
Plaintiff's time that you observed the tide running out? A. Well, 6:30 as
Case near as I can remember, running out very slowly, but it was run-

Direct. Cnnan Q- Well, how was it running out when the "Eurana" was 
(Contd.) coming on to the bridge—slowly or not? A. It was running out 

slowly—very slow.
Q. Could you gauge the speed of the "Eurana" with refer- 10 

ence to the tide, as to whether she was going slowly or fast? 
A. The boat herself?

Q. Yes, the boat? A. The boat was going very slowly, 
that is all I could say—barely moving.

Q. You couldn't see, could you—or could you see to what 
extent she was southerly—or more south than the ordinary route 
taken by boats of her kind? A. No, it looked that way to me, 
but—

Q. It looked what way to you? A. That she was a little 
to the south more than usual—than the ordinary course of boats. 20

Q. You made a report to the manager, as I understand?
A. Yes.
Mr. Burns: We have a copy of that report, my lord. The 

original is not in court, but will be brought here this afternoon, 
if my friend desires to make use of this.

Mr. Griffin: Oh, no.
Mr. Burns: Which I will undertake is a copy. You have 

seen this ?
Mr. Griffin: Oh, no.
Mr. Burns: All right. 30

F. G. Tennant CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN
Cross-exam. Q. Witness, just a few questions I want to ask, not a very 

great deal. When you spoke of the anchors being lowered, could 
you tell me now what you did actually hear? A. Well, I 
couldn't tell you word for word. I heard the command to lower 
away the anchors.

Q. Do you say you ever heard the words "lower away"? 
A. Well, I wouldn't like to say that was the exact word, but I 
heard that command given.

Q. You are not yourself a navigator, are you ? A. No, sir. 40
Q. So that you really are not sure what you did actually 

hear at all ? A. I heard the command to lower away the anchors.
Q. But you don't know what the command was—the exact 

wording of it? A. No.
Q. Now, when you spoke of anchors carrying away, I don't 

know exactly what you meant by that. Did you mean that you
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(Comd.)

thought they had broken away from their cable when you spoke RECORD 
of the anchor carrying away, did you mean that it had broken British~c^iumbia 
loose ? A. The port anchor had, yes. Admiralty

Q. You thought it had, I mean? A. Well, I couldn't see Plaintiff's 
down in the water, but there was the line of the cable there. Case

Q. No, I mean—all I want is to know what you meant by 
that. You thought the port anchor had broken loose from its 
chain? A. Most assuredly.

Q. Now, referring a moment to the starboard anchor, you 
10 thought it had not broken loose from its chain ? A. Yes.

Q. And you thought it had, as you say, caught? A. That 
is the way it looked to me.

Q. And did it catch in the place—that is in the place where 
you thought it was in, did it remain, as far as you know ? A. No.

Q. What happened to it? A. It dragged along.
Q. But you saw that, didn't you? A. Well, that is the 

idea I would form from the way it came along.
Q. I am speaking now of the starboard anchor, you know, 

the one that you say held? A. Yes.
20 Q- Did that hold steady, or did that move after it went down ? 

A. It held steady for a second or two.
Q. Then you say it moved on, did you? A, I didn't see it, 

no, I couldn't see down in the water.
Q. Well, no, I don't want to press you on that absurdity. 

Did you see any movement in the chain that indicated that the 
anchor had moved? A. Yes, it slacked up, and the bow came 
along, it went to the north.

Q. What chain slacked up—the starboard one ? A. Yes— 
it seemed to, a little. 

30 Mr. Smith: All right, thank you.
Mr. Burns: One question, my lord, I would desire to ask, 

which I did not cover, subject to my friend's asking anything 
with reference to it.

Q. You said, witness, that the bridge was open at nine min­ 
utes past six; then subsequently you heard this order, lower away 
the anchors. Could you say how long after the bridge was open 
you heard that order? A. Oh, I wouldn't like to say that. I 
guess—

Q. Approximately? A. Approximately about— 
40 The Court. Q. Speak out, now? A. Four or five minutes.

Q. Four or five minutes after the bridge was completely 
open you heard this order? A. Yes.

(Witness aside).
Mr. Burns. Captain Jones.

HARRY ROBSON JONES, a witness called on behalf of the 
Plaintiff, being first duly sworn, testified as follows:
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DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
Q. Captain, you are an extra master mariner ? A. Yes, sir.
Q. For how long ? A. My extra master certificate is dated 

at London, January '85, issued by the British Board of Trade— 
April '85.

Q. Then would you give the court the data with reference 
to your qualifications as a mariner—navigator? A. Yes, what 
particularly interests you is my experience in piloting matters?

Q. Yes ? A. I was over a quarter of a century Vancouver 
pilot. 10

Q. Elsewhere—will you just give running data? A. Yes, I 
have had a good deal of experience of piloting before I came here. 
I commanded and piloted my own steamer on the Hoogly River, 
Calcutta, and was Government pilot at Colombo in Ceylon. So 
that for a deep water man, before I came here I had rather unusual 
pilotage experience in narrow waters.

Q. Well, what was the nature of the piloting done by you 
here—while you were here? A. Piloting everything that came 
along from the year 1891 to 1917—the early Empresses, and I was 
the first one to go out and attend the "Abyssinia"—the "Abys- 20 
sinia," "Bertha" and "Cappadocia" came here early, and the 
early Empresses. I was the first one to go off—rather curious, 
the outer wharf was not considered safe or big enough for the 
"Abyssinia," they pulled in there with me afterwards.

Q. While you were engaged in piloting, were you regularly 
engaged, that is to say—A. Oh, yes, steady at it day and night, 
Sunday and holidays, over a quarter of a century.

Q. Now, are you familiar with the conditions surrounding 
the Second Narrows water, Captain? A. Oh, yes. The bridge 
was built after I stopped piloting in 1917. I am very familiar 30 
with the Second Narrows from the early days—almost I might say 
from '86 - '87.

Q. Navigating those waters? A. Oh, yes, yes. Before— 
this would be rather interesting to your lordship—before piloting 
—starting in '91,1 had been up on the west coast with my boat in 
'88, and everyone gradually came up here that way so that I had 
very early experience—early for this new country—I had much 
experience.

Q. Have you investigated the Second Narrows bridge with 
reference to the navigation of it and so on? A. I have very 40 
closely, since, as my attention has been drawn to this case, and 
have carefully watched from the bridge the action of the tides 
there so as to be able to compare the action of the tide on the 10th 
of March, when this accident happened.

Q. Assuming the accident to have happened approximately 
at ten minutes past six on the 10th of March? A. Yes.
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Q. What was the condition of tide there? A. The tide on RECORD 
that day was practically an eight hour ebb.

Mr. Griffin: Is my friend asking the witness to give us facts 
from the tide book, for that is all he could give, and that would be 
a matter of record.

Mr. Burns: Well, I was going to suggest when we came to 
that—

The Court: I assume he is basing that statement on the tide 
book.

The Witness: Oh, certainly, your lordship.
Mr. Burns: Yes, it is merely the ground work for the further 

questions I desire to ask the witness.
Q. And at what stage was it, so far as—
Mr. Griffin: Well, now, I submit my friend—your lordship, 

I think will agree—that will be a matter of record, what stage the 
tide would be at, as per the tide book, and the witness was not 
there personally.

The Court: No, I understand that is what he said to me, that 
he was basing these statements—these preparatory statements up­ 
on an examination of the tide book as applicable to the Narrows 
Bridge.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, well my objection is to him stating that at 
all. They are a matter of record, and we can refer to them. My 
friend can't put that in as a part of the evidence.

The Court: I don't think you caught his question, maybe. 
I asked him that, I said "You admit you are basing it on the tide 
book;" he said "Oh, yes."

Mr. Griffin: Well, that ought to end it.
The Witness: The remarkable thing about that tide on the 

10th of March, 1927, with the exception of six tides in the 31 days 
of that month, it was the longest run out. We judge the force of 
a tide by the amount of the drop of the tide. That tide dropped 
8.7 feet, and there is only six similar tides in that month—

The Court: Q. How many feet did you say ? A. 8.7.
Q. A little closer, if you please ? A. Yes.
Q. You said it was what, just— A. 8.7 feet.
Q. 8.7, yes"? A. Yes, your lordship.
Q. And an 8 hours run out, you said? A. Yes.
Q. Yes ? A. And the tide reaches generally its maximum 

force somewhere between two thirds to three fourths of that tide— 
ebb. and flood, therefore on the last half hour of a considerable 
tide of that description the maximum force on that day, according 
to the records on the bridge would be about nine and a quarter— 
about five and a quarter miles, which reduced to knots would be 
about four and a half knots. Then that would reach its maximum 
about two thirds or three fourths—about two hours and a half be­ 
fore low water. Then the last half hour is—which is the one that
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interests you here in the collision of the "Eurana" with the pier— 
it would probably be running about one and three quarter knots— 
from 1| to 2 knots, which is considerable, when you have to consid­ 
er the speed of your vessel, either through the water or over the 
ground.

Mr. Burns: Now, have you heard all the evidence of Mr. 
Tennant, the last witness, with reference to the accident ? A. Yes, 
and I don't think it was very clearly understood what a splendid 
position the bascule bridge is for observing what is taking place. 
From the bridge you mount up a series of steps to the platform 10 
where this tremendous weight—this bascule is worked. There is 
a little bridge where the engineer walks each side, and can see all 
over, you have got a regular bird's-eye view of everything. The 
bridge, of course, is considerably high above the water, and then 
you mount up 20 or 30 feet into this splendid platform where the 
engineer works the bascule, and you get a remarkable view from 
there of everything taking place, so that they have a most excellent 
opportunity of seeing what is taking place.

Mr. Griffin: You don't want me to interrupt—it doesn't 
seem to be applicable, but I don't want to interrupt your witness. %Q

Mr. Burns: Q. What do you say as to the "Eurana" pass­ 
ing through that bridge under these circumstances, or in this 
condition, with safety if properly navigated 1 A. Well, she had 
a following tide, and a following tide is not so safe as slack water, 
or a little tide against you, because with the following tide neces­ 
sarily in approaching an opening like the bridge the pilot or navi­ 
gator looks upon it very much the same as approaching a wharf, 
and you approach it cautiously, of course. If you have a follow­ 
ing tide in addition to the speed of your vessel, you have to put 
on the speed of your vessel—suppose you are going five knots, if 30 
there is a two knot tide, there is six knots—then you are going 
seven knots over the ground. But if you have that two knots 
against you you take two from five and you are only going three 
over the ground. You see the difference, your lordship. It is a 
very important point.

Q. Well, then, in that connection, on the matter of coming 
down to negotiate the navigation of that bridge on a following 
tide, that is in a different position than if it is slack water or a 
little tide against ? A. It would not be so safe with a following 
tide as at slack water, or with a tide a little against you. 40

Q. Why? A. Because the speed is increased when you 
have it with you, you have—we will say you are approaching very 
cautiously four or five knots to keep good steerage way on your 
vessel, that is with your steamer if you have a tide with you, that 
is increased—that increases the steering capacity of the ship. It 
is increased another two knots so instead of going four or five
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you are going six or seven. Whereas if it is slack water, of course 
you would not be affected that way.

Mr. Burns: I desired, my lord, before I called this witness, 
to put two interrogatories in their answers on the size of the ship. 
I should have done that. I would like to ask the privilege of doing 
that now, because I desire to ask a question of this witness on 
them. They are questions four or five of the interrogatories de­ 
livered on behalf of the Plaintiff to be answered by the Defendant.

The Court: Now, you are drawing his attention to interroga-

RECORD

30

40

tories 4 and 5 ? 
Mr. Burns: 
The Court : 
Mr. Burns: 
The Court : 
Mr. Burns:

4 and 5, yes. 
Yes, I understand. 
4 is the length.
One minute, if you please—4 and 5, yes. 
4 is: "Give the length, beam, draft, light and 

loaded tonnage and horsepower of the 'Eurana'. That is a de­ 
scription of the 'Eurana' and the other is 5: "Was the 'Eurana' 
loaded with cargo at the time of the collision, if so, to what extent ?''

The Court: Now, you had better give the witness these, of 
course, then follow on with the other.

Mr. Burns: Yes.
The Court: 4 and 5, yes.
Mr. Burns: The answers are: '' Steamship ' Eurana' length 

399.7 feet, beam 56.21 feet, draft light 10.6 inches.
The Court: Yes, laden?
Mr. Burns: "Fully loaded 26.7 inches (Summer) ; tonnage, 

3516 net register; gross, approximately 5,688; horsepower of 
engines 2500; deadweight tonnage 9600."

The Court: Wait, now, 9600, yes.
Mr. Burns: General Electric turbine, the engine. The an­ 

swer to 5, which gives her load at the time when she was passing, 
attempted to pass the bridge, she was laden with 4,200,000 feet of 
lumber approximately.

The Court: She was laden with what?
Mr. Burns: 4,200,000 feet of lumber.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Bums: Approximately 6,300 tons, 

three quarters laden.
The Witness: Sir?
Q. She would be about three quarters laden, would she? 

A. 6000 tons—oh, I should think she was pretty well loaded with 
that load, a vessel of that size, 3000 register.

Q. 3500 register? A. Yes.
Q. 56 gross ? A. Fairly well loaded I should think; I don't 

know. It doesn't mention the draft she was at the time, 26 is the 
maximum draft—26 feet.

Q. Yes, fully loaded 26.7? A. Yes.

She would be about

plaintffs 
Case

Direct. 
(Contd.)



RECORD

Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiff's 
Case

H. R. Jones 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

_ Q. Now, you have said that if properly navigated in these 
British Columbia conditions she could safely pass the bridge ? A. The bridge— 

the opening of the bridge is perfectly safe under proper manage­ 
ment at the proper stages of tide.

Q. Then what do you mean by that, Captain ? A. If you 
don't begin at the proper stage of tide, of course there is necessar­ 
ily a little risk attached to it with a large vessel, of course.

Q. What is the opening of the span ? A. About—from all 
I can guess about 175 clear through there. It is very similar to 
the opening between Johnson's docks and the wharf where I have 10 
seen two large steamers lay, one at one wharf and one at the other, 
that is why I used that simile about the bridge opening very much 
the same as you would a dock. Then when you get her pointed all 
right, of course coming down from the east with such a ship as the 
"Eurana", one would go cautiously up to the bridge and then use 
the engines to stop her way a little and point her straight, because 
right handed propeller engines when going astern has the same 
effect as the port helm, it twists the vessel, and it is an ideal posi­ 
tion coming down from the eastward with a single screw vessel, 
much better than coming from the westward, because in going 2<> 
down you are able, using your right handed propeller, it helps you 
to straighten up the vessel and then you go straight through.

Q. She is a single screw, is she ? A. That is a single screw 
boat, yes.

Q. Well, having in view the evidence of the witness Tennant, 
the bridge operator—A. Yes?

Q. —would you say that she was properly navigated? 
A. Well, I gathered from the report there is—

Mr. Griffin: Wait before you answer that. May I have that 
question read. I did not catch what my friend said, and I want 30 
to hear it.

(Question read as follows: "Well, having in view the evi­ 
dence of the witness Tennant, the bridge operator, would you say 
that she was properly navigated" 1?)

Mr. Griffin: I submit that is a matter for your lordship, not 
a matter for a witness to say, whether the vessel was properly 
navigated.

Mr. Burns: Well, possibly I might put it this way.
Q. Can you point to any particular in which it was not 

properly navigated ? A. Yes, I noticed that— 40
Mr. Griffin: Wait- 
Mr: Burns: Well, that is a matter of navigation.
Mr. Griffin: Wait now, witness, please. That, I submit again, 

my lord, is not a proper question. The witness was not there, it 
is not a permissible statement for him to take the evidence of the 
witness Tennant and comment upon that and then offer your 
lordship a statement that she was improperly navigated. That is
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for your lordship to decide on the evidence of Mr. Tennant that RECORD 
you heard.

The Court: The only point of it, you see, Mr. Griffin, what Adm"^y 
is proper in the due and safe course of navigation.

Mr. Griffin: Yes.
The Court: Well, surely the court should not be denied the 

assistance of skilful navigators of experience—presumably so, 
of course until such is displaced—as to whether or no there was 
anything that was deficient in the navigation at that moment. 

10 You see where Assessors sit in Admiralty Courts (there are no 
assessors today) that evidence is not allowed—a question of that 
kind is not allowed to be asked because the Court, of course, is 
self-inf ormed; but when I am without that assistance, as in this 
case, surely it would not be right to refuse to have anything indi­ 
cated, which would of course apply to witnesses on both sides.

Mr. Griffin: Well, my submission was a narrow one, it was 
only meant that the witness could undoubtedly give evidence as 
to her manner of going through the bridge, then if your lordship 
should consider that that was an incorrect approach in the navi- 

20 gation of the "Eurana" your lordship would draw the inference, 
but I don't think he is entitled to put himself in the position of the 
court and having heard the evidence of the other witness, offer 
evidence, as you might say, summarizing it into a finding. I am 
quite content that he should give his opinion as to how it should 
be navigated.

The Court: Oh, no, you are right, of course, in this, Mr. 
Griffin, but for the moment I only want the witness to explain, for 
the information of the court. I did not understand Mr. Burns 
is intending to do that, but his object is to show, for the guidance 

30 of the court, that there was something that was deficient from the 
ordinary course of proper navigation.

Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord, in fact the question will bear that 
out—

The Court: Viewing the question in that way, I think it is 
not objectionable. You understand, witness, of course.

Mr. Burns: I might put the question in this way: Would 
you point out, witness, the defects that are apparent from a navi­ 
gating point of view that occurred?

Mr. Griffin: I would not object to that if he had seen it, but
40 he did not. Now you are asking him to draw from the evidence

of one eye-witness and comment on that and say if the vessel was
run that way then she was improperly navigated. That, I submit,
is for your lordship.

The Court: Well, I think this matter has been before me— 
this very point has been before me very often in regard to this 
very thing, with regard to the Westminster Bridge not long ago 
and also with regard to the other bridges, and I have always ruled
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in that way, that it is quite open to presumably competent and 
British~c^iumbia skilf ul navigators to indicate to the court anything that they think 

that has occurred that they would in their opinion say was absence 
of taking proper precautions. Now, in that way, then, witness, 
you will understand your evidence is being accepted. I do not 
think Mr. Burns intends anything more than that.

Mr. Burns: It was proffered only on that basis and nothing 
else, my lord.

The Court: Yes.
The Witness: The question is—
Mr. Burns: Q. In what respects, in your opinion, in view 

of the evidence you have heard, if any, was the "Eurana" im­ 
properly navigated in passing the bridge—attempting to pass ?

A. There is one very essential fact that the engineer men­ 
tioned, and the two days I spent on the bridge examining the tidal 
conditions and general working of the bridge quite recently, I 
found out that what the engineer said was endorsed by others—

The Court: Wait now, do not get into that, you know—not 
what the engineer told you.

Mr. Burns: Q. No, it is your own observation.
The Court: Other than what you have heard here, not what 

others have said. Just apply your own judgment.
A. For a vessel of this—
The Court: Q. Apply your own judgment to your own 

observation in answering the counsel's questions, your own obser­ 
vation plus what Tennant has stated in the box, just before you 
came in ? A. East of the bridge is a point that makes out a little 
—there is a real narrow part of the Narrows.

Mr. Burns: Q. How far east is that? A. About—oh, 
somewhere about 1500 feet or so; and from that point—

The Court: Now, you see, Mr. Burns, that is rather im­ 
portant, if you look at Exhibit 8, and point out what point he 
means.

Mr. Burns: Q. North or south shore, Captain ? A. On the 
south shore.

Q. Is that near Berry Point ? A. No, no, Berry Point is a 
mile farther eastward.

The Court: Q. Is that Harbour Plan big enough for your 
purpose, witness, or do you wish the Admiralty chart? A. I 
think it shows a little more clearly on the chart, your lordship.

Q. You are looking now at Exhibit 7, and you refer to a 
point on Exhibit 7 on the south shore? A. This is the point I 
refer to—

Q. Just one moment, now, this is not plan 7 you are looking 
at—Exhibit 7, but Exhibit 8, is it?

Mr. Burns: 8, my lord.

10

20

30
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No, it is not, my lord. _ 
There is another exhibit you want to put in, plaintiff's

Case
The Witness: That is a larger scale.
Mr. Burns: This is a larger scale.
The Witness: Yes, this is—
Mr. Burns: We will put that in.
The Witness: I can mark on this to show the point more 

clearly.
The Court: That is another exhibit then. Exhibit 9 is a 

small scale harbour plan, is it ?
Mr. Burns: Yes, it is the Harbour Board plan.

(PLAN MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 9)
The Witness: 

ond Narrows.
Vancouver Harbour, between First and Sec-

The Court: August 1922.
Q. Now you are looking at Exhibit 9 and not 7, witness, and 

20 you say what—that there is a point on the south shore on the east 
of the bridge? A. Yes, I have marked it there, yes, my lord.

Q. Yes, will you mark that point with the letter "A" in red 
pencil. Mark that point letter "A" in red pencil? A. (Indi­ 
cating).

Q. Now, just let me see that. That is just at the foot of 
Ingleton Avenue? A. The peculiarity about that point is—the 
land does not fall away from it very much, but it is a very danger­ 
ous and important factor.

Mr. Burns: Q. What are your remarks with reference to 
30 that, Captain? A. It is about 15 or 16 or 1700 feet east of the 

bridge. Now, on the ebb tide there is shoal land there, and there 
is a glide around that point, there is no mention on the chart, but 
I have indicated where it is, but it is about the narrowest part of 
the Narrows, a glide runs round there. Now, from the eastermost 
point of the bridge there is quite a bit of shoal on the four or five 
fathom line, there is quite a little distance off that. In coming 
down—in taking the Narrows in the ordinary way, before the 
bridge was there, we had to guard against that. Now, coming 
down to the bridge if a steamer happens to be farther south of 

40 mid stream and comes near that four or five fathom line she is 
going to—well, what term shall I use—she is going to ricochet off.

Q. Will you explain that? A. Well, there is dead water 
there—can be seen very clearly at any time. The tide may not 
amount to considerable force mid stream, but this point being to 
leeward so that on the ebb tide there is dead water—slack water
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Barnet if she is down in the stream — if she goes too far down on 
the south shore and strikes that point there she is going to come 
round quick — she is going to cushion — ricochet off. It is all like 
running waters, if you approach the point with small or large 
craft there is a cushion of water formed and you are going to be 
cushioned off. All river men know that very well, even big or 
small boats or ships, it applies, the same thing. And that is what 
you want, the simile of —

Q. Yes, I want you to proceed, Captain ?
A. Yes. Well, that is what I imagine from the evidence I 

gathered and from the report of the Eurana, that she was farther 
down on the south side, instead of being in the fair stream she was 
well to the southward of the centre of the stream and she cush­ 
ioned off there, and there was a flood tide coming in, and she cer­ 
tainly could not possibly be half an hour before that beginning of 
ebb, because from my experience of the tide tables in these waters 
they are exceedingly accurate — very accurate indeed. Speaking 
of the tide table, that is an interesting question — it will interest 
your lordship. Up to about twenty years ago we navigators of 
B. C. waters used to use particular terms in tide tables —

The Court: Perhaps you do not need to bother to go into 
this.

Mr. Burns: No, that is not in this case.
The Witness: I wanted just to show you the reading of 

these tables.
The Court : That is sufficient, we are told from your exper­ 

ience that they are very accurate.
The Witness: Exceedingly; all nautical men will endorse 

that.
The Court: That will be sufficient.
The Witness : I mean narrow waters like the Second Nar­ 

rows or First Narrows anywhere, for the flood tide to come in 
half an hour before the run out like that would be — it wouldn't 
be. So that I maintain — I fancy cushioning off that shoal, off 
the four or five fathom line, those in charge of the boat imagined 
it was the flood tide coming in and turned them round, and it was 
not. It is impossible to be that tide.

Q. Now, are there any other points that you would call atten­ 
tion to? A. Well, I don't see why, if your anchors were let go, 
promptly dropping the port anchor would reinforce the starboard 
helm and bring her right straight up from the bridge — might or 
might not ; instead of which they dropped both to stop her way, 
and then the ebb tide following after would bring her stern round, 
put her in a very awkward position — instead of starboarding and 
so bring her more to starboard.

20

30

40
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Q. More to starboard? A. Yes. RECORD
Mr. Griffin: What is my friend aiming at here ?
Mr. Burns: I am just simply following down that question. _
Mr. Griffin: What question? Plaintiff's
Mr. Burns: The question that the witness has been referring Case 

to and which we were discussing.
The Court: What is your objection, Mr. Griffin?
Mr. Griffin: I do not see that this leads to anything. There 

is no suggestion of wrongdoing in any of these matters, I can't 
10 find anything to address it to, you see, I have nothing to address 

it to.
The Court: Well, if there is no harm being done, Mr. Grif­ 

fin?
Mr. Griffin: No, no harm.
The Court: There is no objection to Mr. Burns proceeding 

because of course it is his case and I do not like to interrupt if he 
is basing it on something.

Mr. Burns: Q. There were certain statements made by the 
witness Tennant, and these statements have been made use of by 

20 this witness in connection with his answer to that question.
The Witness: It is a question of seamanship and nautical 

manouvering I am trying to explain.
Q. Now, would you explain, Captain, how you would navi­ 

gate that bridge under those conditions? A. Under the condi­ 
tions that the "Eurana" was in?

Q. Yes? A. Well, in the first place I shouldn't have been 
there at that tune, I should have been very decidedly later, not 
half an hour before the tide turned. If I happened to be there 
I should wait a bit, unless things were very favourable; but you 

30 see with a following tide you are taking—it is not so safe as with 
slack water, it stands to reason.

The Court: Q. Now, I do not quite understand. What is 
it you say witness ? You said to the counsel in the first place that 
if you were navigating through that bridge you would not be there 
at that time ? A. No.

Q. Then you went on to say that if you got there, what ?
A. Supposing I happened to be there under—some way or 

other there, I should wait a bit for the tide to turn—to slacken up.
Q. Yes I A. Before I got too close, the other side of Berry

40 Point, I would have left Barnet—I would have left Barnet later.
The time that steamer left Barnet, it was within the last hour of
the ebb—one hour, so of course she was down there in about
twenty minutes before she gave the signal—pretty close.

Mr. Burns: Q. Then assuming that you were where she 
was when she gave the signal how would you navigate the open­ 
ing of the bridge? A. Unless I had a very small handy ship, I
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should not be as far as that, I should wait the other side of Berry 
Point until the tide slacked a bit.

The Court: Q. You should wait the other side of a point ? 
A. No, Berry Point.

Q. Bay Boint? A. Berry Point, is it not?
Q. Well, I do not know that. A. The admiralty chart there.
Mr. Burns: Q. Indicate Berry Point to his lordship, would 

you, Captain, please ?
The Court: Berry Point you call it, do you ? I am not fam­ 

iliar with the names. 10
Mr. Burns: That is some distance from the bridge east.
The Court: It is a big point to the eastward, yes, I see that.
The Witness: Berry Point may be considered the eastern 

end of the Second Narrows.
Q. Oh, yes, I see that now. A. And the tide must be set 

strong—the ebb tide there. It gets the whole force of the ebb 
from the North Arm to Port Moody, you see.

The Court: Yes.
The Witness: The point I wanted to emphasize about the 

questions I have been asked is this, that the proper time to take 20 
that opening is at slack water, or near slack water; and if you 
can get a little tide against you, so much the better. That is the 
proper time to take this bridge—any expert nautical man that is 
used to there will endorse that.

Mr. Burns: All right.
The Court: I shall not trouble you now, Mr. Griffin. A 

quarter after two, Mr. Registrar.

(1 P.M. COURT ADJOURNED UNTIL 2:15 P.M.)

(2:15 P.M. COURT RESUMED PURSUANT TO
ADJOURNMENT) 30

HARRY ROBSON JONES, resumed the stand. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Q. Witness, I don't know that I got correctly what was the 

last occasion on which you took a vessel through the Second Nar­ 
rows ? A. Oh, probably the early part of '17.

Q. 1917? A. Yes.
The Court: I beg your pardon, Mr. Griffin, I did not quite 

catch that.
Mr. Griffin: The last occasion upon which this witness took 

a vessel through the Second Narrows was in the year 1917. *o
The Court: One minute, if you please.
Mr. Griffin: Q. And that vessel was what ?
A. Oh, I have taken so many through between '91 and '17,
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The Court: 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Witness: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin:

that I really forget the names of the vessels—probably took an oil 
tanker up to loco.

Q. So far as you remember it was an oil tanker, was it? 
A. Yes.

Q. And that is the last one. Then since the bridge, clearly, 
was built you have taken nothing up ? A. No.

The Court: I understood you to say, Mr. Griffin, that since 
'91 he didn't take a vessel.

Mr. Griffin: Since 1917.
1917, thank you. 
Never took a vessel up.

'91 to '17. 
Q. '91 to '17, yes. 
1891 to 1917. 

Yes.
Q. Now, you spoke of having made investiga­ 

tions of conditions at the Second Narrows. When were those in­ 
vestigations made ? A. I spent Sunday, where there was a very 
slack tide over the—

Q. Just give the dates ? A. Last Sunday.
Q. Any other day? A. I think the previous day was the 

Friday before—last Sunday and last Friday.
Q. So what you have given here today so far is based upon 

your own observations, is based upon those of two days, last Fri­ 
day and last Sunday? A. Actually on the bridge watching the 
states of the tide and learning things in general—a great deal.

Q. Then as far as your estimate is based upon what you 
learned from others— A. In the time I was there I had to be 
careful of certain places and so on and so on.

Q. Now, I have just a short point there, that your investiga­ 
tions that you have made you would see with your own eyes in 
those two days, and the rest consists of information from other 
people ? A. Yes.

Q. And those other people were Tennant, I suppose, the 
bridge tender, who gave evidence— A. Yes.

Q. —and Mr. Ward, the manager of the bridge company? 
A. Yes.

Q. And who else? A. No one else.
Q. So that really it comes down to this, that when you speak 

of having gathered—the evidence that you have gathered, and 
from reports, you mean reports and information you had gathered 
from the bridge tender and the manager of the plaintiff company? 
A. Yes, You will understand—

Q. Please answer that question. Is that true—correct? 
A. Such evidence I got was from the servants of the bridge.

Q. Well, but I want to know if there were any others. You 
have given me two names ? A. No.

RECORD
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A. But they were all pertaining

Q. Just those two? A. 
eral.

Q. Give me the names? 
to this—

Q. Then you did converse with several people?
A. What?
Q. You did converse with several people? A. Oh, yes.
Q. Then give their names, if any, of them? A. Major 

Ward, and one of the three engineers that tends the lift at the 
gate—name of Watson, and a Mr. Holland. Those are the only 10 
ones I recollect.

Q. All right? A There were several others.
Q. All right, Watson, Holland and Tennant and others that 

you don't remember. A. Yes.
Q. I see. A. I don't recollect their names.
Q. That is all then. And your evidence as to tides, as you 

said, was based upon the book and your two days' observation? 
A As affecting the bridge.

Q. Yes ? A. But as affecting the Narrows generally I had 
a very long experience. 20

Q. Yes. Now, just verify for me that time—quoting from 
the report of the engineers who made the investigations of the 
bridge in 1924 they say, "Range of tide varies from 2 feet to 13." 
Do vou verify that? Is that correct? A. There is a diagram 
made up by the engineers there showing the force of the tide, I 
have seen that, I think it is—we have it in our possession.

Q. Well, if you wouldn't mind answering my question. Is 
that statement then of the variation in tides in the Second Nar­ 
rows from 2 feet to 13 feet of a rise and fall—have you any diffi­ 
culty with that question? A. I don't think there is any—in that 30 
diagram no such force as 13 feet mentioned.

Q. No fall of 13 feet? A. No force.
Q. Fall? A. Oh, faU.
Q. That is it, rise and fall ? A. Oh, well, the tide—
Q. From a maximum of 13 feet to a minimum of about 2 

feet ? A. Something like that. The tide tables show that.
Q. Then you don't know that? A. My reference to the 

tide table, yes.
Q. From memory you don't know? A. Well, what partic­ 

ular occasion are you speaking of ? 40
Q. I am taking during the whole course of the year, the 

variation in tide level or tide rise in the Second Narrows is from 
a minimum of about two feet to a maximum of 13 feet ? A. Some­ 
thing like that.

Q. Then you do agree with me? A. I think it is—I think 
you might say fourteen would be more correct, but I won't be 
quite sure. A reference to the table will show it to you.
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Q. And you understood me? A. When you want to get Plaintiff's 
at that you look at your tide table. Case

Q. I see. Now the commissioners in that same report say H 
the conditions—listen to this: Cross-exam 

"The conditions of rise and fall vary from the case where (Contd.j
two tides of almost equal magnitude occur in twenty-four 

10 hours to that where the difference is most pronounced."
Is that correct ? A. I don't quite follow that.
Q. If you like I will read it to you again, Captain. I am 

quoting from this same report, conditions—
A. What report is that ?
Q. It is a report of the engineers who made the investigation 

into the bridge at the Public Inquiry in November, 1924. You 
have heard of that? A. I have, yes, but I don't know what—I 
can't criticize an engineer's report.

Q. I am not asking you to, I am asking you if it is correct 
20 in the Second Narrows that,

"Conditions of rise and fall vary from the case where
two tides of almost equal magnitude occur in twenty-four
hours to that where the difference is most pronounced"— 

meaning between two tides in twenty-four hours. Is that a cor­ 
rect statement 1 A. The tide tables are remarkably correct.

Q. Oh, please answer my question. Is that a correct state­ 
ment of the facts in the Second Narrows? A. Whether there 
is any variation in tides?

Q. No, no, that conditions are such that sometimes—have I 
30 got to translate it as I should read it—that in some cases there 

will be in twenty-four hours two tides of almost equal magnitude ? 
A. Yes.

Q. Whereas in other twenty-four hours there may be two 
tides so different that the difference between them is most pro­ 
nounced? A. Exactly.

Q. Very well, then, you agree with me ? A. There are many 
of these tides in a year, yes.

Q. That is what I asked. I take it then that the average 
range of tide would be about 7J feet ? A. You mean through the 

40 whole year?
Q. Yes ? A. I must say I have never calculated that.
Q. Oh, but if the maximum is 14 that would be about right, 

wouldn't it? A. I daresay. I can't say.
Q. Well, wouldn't you, as a mere matter of expert obvious­ 

ness agree that that is correct so that I can base further questions 
on it? A. I think probably the motion would be somewhere 
about that, but I don't know.
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year?
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin:

1927, my lord.
1927.
Yes.

The one which was in force then.

10

_ Then if that is so—if that is so then a tide of 8.7 would
British Columbia be very nearly average ? A. Oh, no, it is considerably above the
Admiralty Dist. average, certainly.

Q. Well, above the average as the difference is between 8.7 
and 7.5, is it not ? A. No, that is presuming 7 is the average. I 
am not sure, I don't know whether it is or not.

Q. I see. A. I should say to get that average you would 
have to go through the 365 days in the tide tables and it would be 
a long operation.

Q. Yes, but that was— A. To strike the average.
Q. If you say that fourteen—that the range is from 2 to 14, 

then you would get the range by adding the two together, wouldn't 
you, and dividing by two—the average range ? A. Yes, it seems 
reasonable.

Q. Well, that makes an average of 8 then, doesn't it? A. I 
don't know.

Q. What ? A. To get at the average of the tides you would 
have your work cut out. You would have to add up the whole 365 
days to get the average. You are asking me a question what is 
the average, I am sure I never went through that arithmetical 20 
calculation.

Q. But if the average range is got at by adding the minimum 
and maximum together and dividing by two, then 8 is the result, 
is it not? A. Yes, but there are so many tides, for example, 
these minus tides, as well as plus tides, which is important—I 
can't tell you what is the average tide. I doubt if any man who 
is using the tide tables generally—he couldn't tell you offhand 
what the average mean is.

Q. All right, I will leave that, witness, and get on to other 
things? A. But 8.7 is a large average for it, that is very certain 
—a strong tide.

Q. Well, we will leave that. I am reading from the tide 
table of 1927,1 begin on page 30—

The Court: You had better put that in—exhibit 10 ? What

30

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 10)
Q. Where it is stated as follows: "In making use of the 40 

tables it is important to have the time correctly. This is especi­ 
ally necessary in the case of slack water which may last only for 
a few minutes." Is that statement, that the slack water may last 
only for a few minutes correct? A. Everything is correct in 
that table, yes.

Q. No, but I mean is it correct as to the Second Narrows?
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20

30

40

A. Certainly. The Second Narrows and any other narrows be­ 
sides them.

Q. Oh, yes, but I am only concerned with one for the mom­ 
ent. I read from page 67—

The Court: 57 or 67?
Mr. Griffin: 67, my lord.
Q. The statement is there contained:
"The duration of slack water is quite short in a number of 

narrows here given, of which the Second Narrows is one, except in 
the Sansome Narrows where the strength is less. Is it correct 
that in the Second Narrows as it says the duration of slack water 
is quite short ? A. That question depends upon the tide. There 
are some tides may last the whole day where the difference be­ 
tween high and low water is very small, those are called slack 
tides; and there are medium slack, you see; but on the tides of 
any importance, the large tides the periods of slack is very short.

Q. Now, I am reading from this book whose accuracy you 
strongly press, and I don't find these qualifications there. Do you 
dispute the accuracy of the statement in the manner in which it 
is given in the tide table? A. I don't dispute anything that is 
in the tide table. The tide table is absolutely correct. I have 
seen many tide tables round the world, but none more correct than 
those.

Q. I then read from page 72 as follows:
"Slack water is thus the time at which the horizontal

motion is reversed, just as high water and low water are the
times at which the vertical motion is reversed; it must not be
supposed that these coincide in time, however, as practically
speaking they never do. There are some conditions indeed
which make slack water occur near half tide or midway in
time between high water and low water." Do you concur in 

that statement ? A. Let me read that.
Q. The last paragraph. (Handing book to witness). 

A. Where is it—the last paragraph ?
Q. The last paragraph there. (Indicating to witness). Do 

you understand what vertical motion means? A. I don't under­ 
stand that.

Q. I just want to know if you concur in that paragraph. If 
you don't understand it then probably you will not be able to 
agree with it? A. I am trying to understand it. Yes, yes, I 
understand it. That is all right.

Q. Then do you concur in it? A. Yes.
Q. Do those conditions prevail in the Second Narrows ? A. 

Oh, yes, yes, all over the harbour—the First Narrows as well and 
all the other narrows.

Q. Now, I take it that you as a navigator will agree that 
the happening of an accident does not prove in itself careless navi­ 
gation, does it? A. Not necessarily.
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RECORD Q. Now, take, for example, to be frank about it, this bridge 
British Columbia has had a great many accidents as you well know ? A. No, very 

few> There have only been about—I understand there have been 
about 3,000 ships pass through there and only two major accidents. 
The one that you are interested in is one.

Q. I know, there will be evidence showing 60 or 70 accidents ? 
A. There may be small ones.

Q. Suppose therefore—if you will take that from me for 
the moment—if such be the case, is it not correct that the mere 
happening of an accident does not of itself prove bad navigation. 10 
Does it? A. Well, there is no accident where if you had done 
something else it would not have occurred.

Q. Please be frank, witness. You came here to be an expert, 
didn't you? A. Yes.

Q. And you have been a navigator? A. I beg your pardon ?
Q. And you have been a navigator ? A. Yes, all my life.
Q. And you have had accidents? A. Well—
Q. Just answer that yes or no: Have you or haven't you? 

A. For thirty-seven years no, and then I had a nervous break­ 
down and I had two or three slight ones, yes. 20

Q. Yes, then, I am only putting it to you to see if you will 
be fair to other navigators except yourself that the happening of 
an accident does not prove bad navigation, does it? A. It is 
difficult to say; I should want to know the conditions before I 
could answer that question.

Q. No, I ask you that, you have nothing before you but the 
fact that a navigator had an accident. That does not prove he 
was careless, does it ? A Well, in case—there are so many acci­ 
dents in cases of collision, one is wrong where the other is right.

Q. There might be neither of them in the wrong, might they 30 
not? A. Hardly.

Q. But it can happen ? A. Possibly.
Did you conceive that you were at fault in your acci- 
A. As a rule an accident is caused by an error of judg-

Q.
dents? 
ment.

Q. 
A.

An error of judgment, but that is not negligence, is it?
No.
Q. Well, that is what I mean—that is what I asked you. 

Then you do agree with me that the happening of a marine acci­ 
dent does not prove negligence, does it ? A. That again depends 40 
—a man may be inefficient, and may be sick and might be drunk.

Q. Yes, all of those might occur, and some may show negli­ 
gence and some may not, isn't that right? A. Yes.

Q. Then I take it the major proposition I put to you is clear, 
that you agree that the mere happening of a marine casualty does 
not prove anybody was negligent? A. In most cases I think, 
yes; maybe a few cases where it does not.
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Q. Well, you answer the question I put to you, don't fence RECORD 
with me, answer it yes or no. It does not necessarily prove it, British Columbia 
does it? A. Accidents generally are caused by some error of Admiraity £>"*• 
judgment unquestionably. Plaintiffs

Q. And sometimes they are not ? A. Very rarely. Case
Q. And you know there are cases of errors of judgment „ R~T~ 

which are not negligence, isn't that true? A. I suppose. Cross-exam 5
Q. Now, as a matter of fact, you yourself had several acci- 

dents, hadn't you? A. For thirty-seven years I never touched 
10 bottom, never had an accident.

Q. All right, I will read them to you ? A. In the last years 
of piloting I had a few slight accidents, yes—none of them major 
ones. I had a nervous breakdown.

Q. You had an accident with a ship called the "Barrister?" 
A. Yes, in the pass—the other side of the pass.

Q. Active Pass? A. And if I hadn't been very careful 
with her she would have been a total loss, instead of which you 
went down to Seattle. It was in the early days when—and in six 
days she had loaded her full cargo for the United Kingdom. 

20 Q- You had an accident between Evans, Coleman & Evans 
and the Johnson Wharf and broke a ship's propellor, didn't you? 
A. I don't recollect that.

Q. Do you deny it? A. I don't recollect it.
Q. Will you deny it? A. I simply say I don't recollect. 

For twenty-five and a half years I was piloting; I may have had 
some slight accidents.

Q. I understand these were in your last years of piloting? 
A. Last years' piloting was the only one where I met several 
minor accidents owing to a nervous breakdown.

30 Q. Then you had a Japanese ship which went ashore on the 
Sandheads in 1915 or 1916? A. That is right, yes.

Q. Then you had the Makura— A. The boat was un­ 
damaged.

Q. Did you have the Makura ashore on the North Shore? 
Didn't you? Answer the question yes or no, please? A. In 
answering that question—

Q. Please answer it first, yes or no? A. In answering 
that question I am going to answer it this way—

Q. Please answer it my way first, yes or no, and I will give 
40 you a chance— A. I struck bottom—it is a very different thing, 

the running aground of the Makura. Was it the Makura—yes.
Q. All right, I just asked you a short question to get rid of 

it— A. The first time I ever touched bottom navigating these 
Narrows in five and thirty years.

Q. Isn't it a fact that in consequence of that you were de­ 
moted from your position as a pilot and made a junior pilot? 
A. No.
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RECORD Q. Well, what was it in consequence of then ? A. I was not 
British Columbia made a junior pilot, I was dismissed from the service.

Q. Well, that is even worse—I didn't know it was as bad 
as that; and it was in consequence of that accident? A. To 
explain the dismissal, I would say railroaded out.

Q. Yes, by whom? If you go that far? A. The parties 
that were personally antagonistic to me.

Q. And the ground alleged against you, that these accidents 
were not— A. Yes.

Q. And you have never since done any piloting? A. Oh, 10 
yes.

Q. WeU, when? Not from 1917, you admitted it?
A. After that I was appointed as lieutenant in command at 

Sidney, Nova Scotia, where there were thirty-two pilots, who were 
under the C. E. O., Chief Examining Officer. I was chief examin­ 
ing Officer. There were a great many very important ships came 
in there with American troops, and although I was comparatively 
strange to the waters, they would not trust the pilots there and 
I had to pilot those ships. So strange to say, I found myself pilot­ 
ing in Sidney very important ships in waters that I had no great 2° 
familiarity with, so that I was piloting after it in very important 
cases.

Q. That is what year? A. 1918.
Q. 1918, but never on this west coast ? A. No.
Q. Never on this west coast since these accidents ? A. Oh, 

I have been running small crafts—not piloting, no.
Q. And have you not in fact offered your services to steam­ 

ship interests as pilot since that date ? A. I believe I have once 
or twice.

Q. And haven't you uniformly been refused? A. I have 30 
been told they had their own special pilots and they didn't want 
anybody else. The whole pilotage system is very disorganized as 
you know.

Q. And that is the party whose navigation was concerned in 
the marine case which sat with assessors, the case of the 
"Barrister?" A. I didn't catch that

Q. In the case of the "Barrister," didn't the court sit with 
nautical assessors? A. I don't know.

Q. In the investigation. There was an investigation with 
nautical assessor as officers—or on the bench? A. Oh, yes, a 40 
marine court of inquiry.

Q. Marine court of inquiry? A. Yes.
Q. And your conduct was censured, was it not? A. I 

really forget.
Q. You forget that? A. Yes.
Q. Is it not a fact that Captain Wingate— A. I was 

wrong. I was wrong, I had—I committed an error of judgment. 
It was very thick weather—couldn't see the bow from the bridge.
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30

Q. And I don't assume that you call that negligence, do you ? RECORD 
A. Oh, dear no. BrithbcMumb

Q. Oh, dear no. And wasn't Captain Wingate, who was the Mmir«ity Put. 
pilot of the "Eurana" on the occasion mentioned in this cause, was plaintiff's 
he not one of the nautical assessors? A. I think he was. I 
really forget. I think that is the first time I met him. That was 
down in Victoria, was it not?

Q. What time were you there last Sunday looking at these 
tides? A, Half past five in the morning.

Q. How long did you stay there? A. I beg your pardon?
Q. How long did you remain? A. Until—half past five 

a.m. to half past one p.m.
Q. That is all? A. Yes, on Sunday.
Q. And on Friday how long? A. Several hours, I don't 

know exactly how long.
Mr. Griffin: All right, thank you, that is all.

Case

H. R. Jones 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS
Q. On those two occasions, Captain, were they or were they 

not the same conditions—tide conditions about the time of the 
'' Eurana'' accident—and weather conditions ? A. On Sunday— 
on Sunday, yes.

Q. Tide and weather? A. Yes. It is rather curious— I 
wish to present this to the court: I have been questioned about 
piloting—I happened to have a certificate from the pilotage 
authorities—authorities that do not exist today—under the old 
licensing system,

Mr. Burns: I think I will put this to the court.
The Witness: My friend here has been trying to throw as­ 

persions on my nautical ability. That answers it pretty well.
Mr. Burns: Well, that is the usual course. I present this 

to your lordship.
The Court: Let me see what it is, Mr. Burns.
The Witness: That is issued by the Secretary-Treasurer and 

Manager of the old Vancouver Pilotage Authorities, Gardner 
Johnson.

The Court: Have you seen it, Mr. Griffin?
Mr. Griffin: No, my lord.
The Court: You might just show it to Mr. Griffin.
The Witness: I have many others superior to that, if your 

40 lordship would like to see them. I had a nervous breakdown after 
twenty-five years—had same slight accidents.

Mr. Burns: I don't know whether I should file it or not, my 
lord.

The Court: I do not know if Mr. Griffin has any objection 
to it. As I understand, you tender it as a certificate of the old 
pilotage board—for how many years was it 1

H. R. Jones 
Re-direct
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Mr. Burns: Twenty-four years.
The Court: Twenty-four years, and had not the slightest 

accident, is that it ?
Mr. Burns: Slightest mishap or accident to any vessel in 

his charge in all weathers and all times of the year.
The Court: Of course, the witness has stated that.
Mr. Burns: He has stated it.
The Court: It is uncontradicted. It is not strictly speaking 

evidence. I do not know whether Mr. Griffin objects to it or not.
Mr. Griffin: I have really no objection to his having the 10 

advantage of it, but as I say it is not evidence.
The Court: He has no objection, you may file it.
Mr. Burns: Yes, I will file it. It is something volunteered 

by the witness that I think I should file it, my lord.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 11)
(Witness aside)

Mr. Burns: With reference to exhibit 5, my lord, this is the 
order of the Board of Railway Commissioners, No. 33962 dated 
the 31st day of July, 1923,—

The Court: Exhibit 5. 20
Mr. Burns: Exhibit 5.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Burns: I note that, that this order—
The Court: 31st July of 1923.
Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Burns: That is the order authorizing the construction of 

the proposed bridge, and I note at the end of it it states, "Detailed 
plans of the said structure and superstructure of the said pro­ 
posed bridge to be filed for the approval of an engineer of the 30 
Board.'' Now, as a matter of fact, following out that order there 
were innumerable detailed plans of various parts of the bridge 
which were filed for approval—

Mr. Griffin: Well—
Mr. Burns: I am making a statement.
Mr. Griffin: He can't make statements as counsel, for he 

must be able to prove them and if he can't—in only a matter that 
he may be a party to, but he might submit this to be proved—

Mr. Burns: I am just leading up to this statement, my lord, 
that innumerable of these plans—these detail plans, which are 40 
working plans as your lordship well knows—were filed for ap­ 
proval by the engineer of the Board and duly signed by him. We 
have two or three of them here—we have a whole chest full as a 
matter of fact in connection with the construction of the bridge. 
I only mentioned two because I propose to put in one of them that 
we have here indicating this position—at least, indicating the
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nature of the plans—the detail plans which are approved, and offer RECORD 
to the court all the others. I do not know any reason particularly British Columbia 
for filing them and incumbering the record with them, but I state Adm>rai'y £>»*• 
that they are available if required. Proceedings at

The Court: It conies to this that there are certain plans Trial, there— (Comd.)
Mr. Burns: Yes.
The Court: A number of which you have which are open to 

the inspection of your learned friend, but you do not wish to put 
10 them in now.

Mr. Burns: Well, I think if I put them in, there are so 
many of them I thought of following the same course and pro­ 
posing to put one in.

The Court: Well, we will test it on that, do not put in any­ 
thing more than is really necessary.

Mr. Burns: And I have all the rest ready to put in if they 
are desired. I think that statement covers the situation. This 
one I am putting in is a detailed plan of sections of piers Nos. 3 
and 4.

20 Mr. Griffin: If your lordship pleases, I would like to enter 
objection to that, for the following reasons—

The Court: You see now, I just want to see, Mr. Griffin, he 
details the detail plans of—

Mr. Burns: Of sections of piers 3 and 4.
The Court: Sections of piers—
Mr. Burns: "No." I suppose that is for north 3 and 4, no, 

"Number."
The Court: '' Number'', yes.
Mr. Burns: Piers No. 3 and 4.

30 The Court: What is the object of them, Mr. Burns? Will 
that help us at all supposing it is in.

Mr. Burns: Well, the only thing is—
The Court: It is only a question of actual construction, 

is it not ?
Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord, detailed plans of construction.
The Court: Well, that is what I mean. What I mean, that 

is probably construction, that does not mean so to speak the laying 
out of the locus at all, does it 1

Mr. Burns: No, my lord. 
40 The Court: Well, you do not want that really.

Mr. Burns: Well, you don't need it—except the question in 
my mind is this, my lord, as to whether the filing of these detailed 
plans for the approval of the engineer of the board is a condition 
to the order, that is the only thing that is in my mind and I want 
to cover the point.

The Court: I see.
Mr. Burns: I will read the order—



RECORD The Court: Yes, let me have the order. What you are now 
British Columbia really doing is this, is it not, that you tender these plans to show 
Admiraityj3ist. that you complied with this order I
Proceedings at Mr. Burns; Yes, with the last paragraph of the last portion 
Trial. of that order.

(Coned.) The Court: In case it should be said that it is a condition 
precedent that detailed plans of the said structure and super­ 
structure are required, in order to validate your proceedings you 
say you have them here now and tender them.

Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord, and I was suggesting to put one in 10 
simply as a sample, as a matter of fact, but I am taking that 
position as counsel—

The Court: It does not prove anything.
Mr. Griffin: Not a thing my lord, but I might arrange with 

my friend—not encumbering the record, if my objection is sustain­ 
ed. Those plans are and could only be filed under sub-section " B " 
of section 248 which provides as follows: (Reading.) Now, my 
lord, these have to be presented to the Board of Railway Commis­ 
sioners with the application. They must precede the application, 
they must be before the Board before it acts upon them and your 20 
lordship has before you the fact that the order of the Board is 
dated 31st July, 1923, and the plans that my friend tenders is 
dated the 2nd August, 1923; therefore, it was not before the Rail­ 
way Commissioners when they made their order and could not 
legally be filed afterwards, so that my submission is that it should 
not be received.

The Court: Well, let me see that again, Mr. Registrar. You 
see, Mr. Griffin, it says these detailed plans are to be filed. That 
is a term in futuro.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, I concede the order would indicate 30 
filing in future, but the statute would not permit such. The 
order so far as would indicate futurity is without the statute. 
The Board must have it before them before they make the order 
of approval. In other words, to put the point another way, the 
Board are not entitled to give their approval of a general plan 
unless at the same time they file details before that.

The Court: That is what I thought you would come to ?
Mr. Griffin: Yes.
The Court: In other words, it is beyond the power of the 

Board to give an order of this description 1?
Mr. Griffin: Yes.
The Court: Now, what do you say as to that I
Mr. Burns: I say with reference to that, my lord, that I am 

submitting this—or tendering these detailed plans as compliance 
with the order of the Board. Whether that is a proper procedure 
or not is a matter of argument, that is, it is part of my case.

40
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The Court : Your position is this, the order they had juris- RECORD
diction Upon —— British Columbia

Mr. Burns : That is what was done. Admiralty
The Court : You wish to show as a matter of precaution that Proceedings at 

you conformed to it anyway. Trial.
Mr. Burns : Yes, my lord. (Contd.)
The Court : And if they had no power to make it, why, then, 

of course, it is a thing of no consequence at all, but if they had 
you are showing you complied with the conditions. 

10 Mr. Burns: Yes. In other words, I am really following 
out de facto procedure to show what we did.

The Court : Well, it seems to me from that point of view, Mr. 
Griffin, there can not really be any objection. It is a question as 
to whether — as you say — really whether the Board's order is simp­ 
ly a nullity; that he was not bound to conform to it is another 
thing. It will go in for that purpose.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 12.)
Mr. Donaghy: My lord, there remains the proof to be 

brought forward that this bridge has been constructed in ac- 
20 cordance with these plans and so on. That I had proposed to prove 

by the evidence of Mr. Swan. I shall not attempt to have any 
other engineer go over it, because it would be a very lengthy and 
expensive matter of course to follow that out and show in a way the 
detail had been followed.

The Court : I understand then what you mean is that — what 
we will call the evidence, the facts, apart from the actual manner 
in which the bridge was constructed, is concluded.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes.
The Court : You now propose to show that you did perform 

SO — you did erect this bridge in conformity to the plan.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, and the engineer is the one who can do 

that.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy : Now, there is one other thing, my lord, that 

I wish to mention and reserve. —
The Court: A little louder.
Mr. Donaghy: I wish to have your lordship's leave to re­ 

serve the bringing of proof of another matter. There is a question 
as to whether the authority which we have produced in the form 

40 of an order of the Board of Railway Commissioners authorizing 
the raising of the bridge five feet is made under the proper section. 
It says, and it is professed it is made under Section 251. There is 
a further question as to whether or not an order in council had 
been passed authorizing the raising of the bridge five feet. Now, 
we are having further inquiry made, my lord, in regard to that. 
That has to be made in the Department at Ottawa, in the Privy-
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Council records. I am asking leave to bring that in if it is found. 
Neither of these matters will interfere with the course of the 
evidence for the defence.

The Court: What orders-in-cpuneil—-or what formal orders 
are those, or documents that you wish to fortify later as you sug­ 
gest, that would be what—which section?

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, I wish to have the opportunity of ascer­ 
taining if an order by the Governor-in-Council was made under 
section 248 authorizing the raising of the bridge five feet.

The Court: Order No. 248? 10
Mr. Donaghy: Yes.
The Court: And raising the bridge five feet, in the other 

respect. What you have now is what, Mr. Donaghy?
Mr. Donaghy: What I have now is an order contained in ex­ 

hibit- 
The Court: Of the commissioners.
Mr. Donaghy: Of the Board.
The Court: Of the Railway Board, yes.
Mr. Donaghy: An order of the Railway Board.
The Court: Of the Railway Commissioners, yes. What you 20 

have now is—
Mr. Donaghy: Order of the Railway Board authorizing the 

alteration—the raising of the five feet. That is all, my lord. 
That closes our case, my lord.

I should say this in explanation—it has not been mentioned 
—if your lordship will agree, counsel have agreed that the assess­ 
ment of damages should be a matter of a reference.

The Court: Oh, that always is in admiralty, when you prove 
they are as substantial as they are now, it goes to the Registrar, 
so you need not trouble about that. It is admitted it is substantial 30 
here. What do you say now, Mr. Griffin?

Mr. Griffin: Of course, I should not—as far as I can see I 
should not be asked to go on now. My friend in other words wants 
to close his case as far as he has gone, and then open it all up again 
later. That could never be in the interests of the defence.

The Court: No, but the matter is simplified largely in this 
way, is it not, Mr. Griffin, would there be any—wouldn't you like 
to—I mean from this point of view, wouldn't you like to—wouldn't 
you prefer proceeding with the evidence as to—he has closed his 
case on what we will call seamanship, you see. There are two 40 
distinct branches to this case. There is one, of course, as to 
whether or no they have in any event conformed with the proper 
construction in accordance with the Act of Parliament—that is 
one thing. The other thing then is an entirely different thing, as 
to whether or no in the circumstances however they arise, that it 
could be said that you were guilty of bad navigation. Well, I 
understood you yesterday to say on that part of it that you had 
witnesses that you would like to go on with.
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Mr. Griffin: Oh, yes, I planned to go on with it at that time RECORD 
I understand that my friend has closed his case, and that all he British Columbia 
would do would be when the point arises, that if he found that he Mmiraity DJSI. 
wanted Mr. Swan, and if he could induce your lordship or con- Proceedings at 
vince your lordship that he had a right to adjourn to get him, Trial, 
that then he would get him; but that his whole other case was to (Contd.) 
be closed. Now, on the note here that I have, "His lordship 
suggested that Mr. Donaghy proceed as far as he may, starting 
tomorrow, and directed that the trial proceed accordingly, and if 
in the course of same it appeared that it would be an injustice 
to plaintiff to continue in the absence of a material witness, plain­ 
tiff could renew his motion for adjournment.

The Court: Yes, that is right.
Mr. Griffin: That is the note taken by the Registrar.
The Court: Yes, that is just what I have got here.
Mr. Griffin: He therefore has proceeded with all the evidence 

that he has on all points, reserving the liberty that your lordship 
gave him to apply for the adjournment that he thought fit later 
on; but in the meantime he has to give all his evidence.

The Court: Wait now. We will just see. Have you any 
other evidence, Mr. Donaghy, now? Have you any evidence ex­ 
cept Mr. Swan's that you wish to bring?

Mr. Donaghy: No other witness.
The Court: That is what I meant.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, that is right.
The Court: Now, Mr. Griffin, that simplifies it a great deal.
Mr. Donaghy: The only other witness.
Mr. Griffin: The only other witness?
Mr. Donaghy: Yes.
The Court: That simplifies it a great deal, and it does seem 

—I think we have got this far in this matter—of really very great 
importance as it is to the public and the bar, it is a really very 
important case, and one wishes to proceed cautiously and with 
patience, because I do not wish, in court like this, to take the 
thing hurriedly.

Mr. Griffin: Very well, my lord.
The Court: So it does seem to me, that having had that state­ 

ment from Mr. Donaghy—a very frank statement, I cannot quite 
see now why there is anything in your part, you see, to meet the 
other.

Mr. Griffin: Well, I might ask your lordship to give me fif­ 
teen minutes to confer with my clients and my friend who is with 
me and decide on that; but I have got it clearly in mind that there 
will be no witness but Swan to be attempted to be called later. 
Secondly, I would like your lordship to decide whether my friend 
is to have liberty to find the order-in-council or not. I submit that 
now he has made production of documents with great care and they
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RECORD have been inspected, and we have even made enquiries in Ottawa 
British Columbia and no such order-in-council appears there as far as I know and 

j submit that he should have no such right to reserve time to fish 
in the files of the Public Departments — no more than I would 
have. I would have felt very cautious about asking your lordship 
to allow me to submit my evidence in that way, and therefore I 
ask your lordship to refuse that request, and leave it to the other 
one, and then I will consider a few moments and probably accept.

The Court: Well, there would not be any objection surely, 
would there, to this, Mr. Griffin, supposing, for instance, from 10 
enquiry — supposing, for instance, that they telegraphed, as I pre­ 
sume they have, to Ottawa, and from making investigation in the 
Department there, if by any chance there is anything else it is only 
reasonable — you would not suggest that should not be laid before 
the court, would you?

Mr. Griffin: I would suggest adjourning until tomorrow 
morning and let my friend decide tomorrow morning and then I 
might proceed.

The Court : What time is it now ?
Mr. Donaghy : In Ottawa, that is the trouble — day time. 20
The Court: Yes, and the Departments are shut now.
Mr. Griffin : Then I would be content with this, your lord­ 

ship, that my friend should file that evidence later on — tomorrow, 
if at all. You see I can't leave it open for him to search for weeks. 
That would be unfair to me.

The Court: But what I cannot understand, Mr. Griffin, — 
you are quite right in being cautious, of course, in maintaining 
your position. You do not want anything to be sprung on you.

Mr. Griffin: No.
The Court : You are quite right, but let me see your distinc- 30 

tion there, because I do not wish to have anything sprung on you in 
a case of this kind. It is a very bad thing if there were some 
documents we should have in, because in the Privy Council the 
Lord Chancellor found there was such a case, and it might be that 
that spectacle would be just as annoying to this court as to the 
Privy Council, to make such a frightful blunder. So I do not wish 
any documents brought in here, so that it would look as though this 
court was in the dark and gave a very erroneous decision, but your 
objection, it seems a very important one, as I realize, that this is 
really the wrong tribunal, you will say, to have made this order. 40 
Now, surely, that is a matter of public consequence, that time 
should be given to fully advise the court on that point.

Mr. Griffin: Well, my lord, may I put it this way, there is 
one document — the order-in-council is one document my friend 
has referred to. I don't want to have it extended beyond that, 
that is one thing, whether the orders-in-council are under section 
248, my friend can find out by telegraphing tonight and have it
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tomorrow; and if your lordship will limit, him then to anything RECORD 
he can advise your lordship of in the morning of Friday, then j. 
think I would accept that, too. That would give him the whole day
to Search. Procedings at

The Court: Well, you see, Mr. Griffin, do you not see this Trial. 
point — I cannot quite see how you are at all prejudiced, why you (Contd.) 
wish, so to speak, tie him down to such a very short time, because 
you will have a number of witnesses on this point of navigation.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, I have.
10 The Court : Well, it would be this way, I only suppose you 

will have quite a number, as I have generally found in cases of 
this description, that there are quite a number coming forward 
to give the court the benefit of their experience. Now, such being 
the case, we will very probably pass all tomorrow. Why should 
not your opponents have the opportunity while this case is in pro­ 
gress before the argument closes, of finding out if there is anything 
of that kind.

Mr. Griffin: Because it affects my judgment of what I put 
in.

20 The Court: I do not wish you to be too precipitate. You 
would not be hurt ; supposing you were continuing with your ar­ 
gument, a telegram came from Ottawa to the effect that they had 
discovered something. Very well, then, you see what would hap­ 
pen, what would have to happen. That would have to be submitted 
to you and then you would be entitled to present such further ar­ 
gument on it as you thought in that case and in the circumstances 
would be permitted. So you may rest assured that every op­ 
portunity shall be given to you, Mr. Griffin, of entering any objec­ 
tion to any document that may be produced. Such being the case 

30 I do not see how you are at all damnified.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, my suggestion is that the whole 

case stand over until Monday, by which time my friend can ab­ 
solutely find out if that order-in-council exists. I am practically 
satisfied it does not.

The Court : You can see at once that would not do, because 
the Court of Appeal begins on Tuesday. You would throw that 
right into the Court of Appeal, in this very room. I cannot hold 
this thing that way. I came over here especially, you know, you 
understand, for the purpose of trying to elucidate this matter as 

40 much as possible. It would never do to lose three days. I cannot 
see how you are in the slightest degree prejudiced, because cer­ 
tainly the learned counsel was very frank, I must say that, in say­ 
ing it was the only witness, and the others are documents of state.

Mr. Griffin : Yes, I could put it in this way — in other words, 
I might file documentary evidence which might be inadvisable if 
that order-in-council were in, and yet advisable if it were not in, 
or the reverse. I do not wish to file my documentary evidence, 
particularly until I find that out.
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RECORD The Court: Well, possibly there is this solution of it, it is 
British Columbia only documentary evidence, any witness or witnesses is not open 
Admirdt^Diit. to them at all. Well, you will proceed with that. Your friends, 
Proceedings at I am sure, will undertake—have you telegraphed already? 
Trial. Mr. Donaghy: No, we figured on telegraphing. 

(Contd.) The Court: Now, you will undertake—
Mr. Donaghy: No, my lord—
The Court: To inform Mr. Griffin immediately.
Mr. Donaghy: We are sending a night lettergram, my lord, 

because it is long. 10
The Court: I see.
Mr. Griffin: If your lordship would give me an indication of 

some limited time, I would apply later on—
The Court: Limited time, I would give you the privilege of 

argument on this before it is concluded. They must advise you 
on that.

Mr. Griffin: Surely, my lord, you will support me in this, 
that my friend should offer that, if at all, before they ask me to 
embark upon a discussion of the documentary evidence and put 
mine in. 20

The Court: They might, that sounds very plausible.
Mr. Griffin: It is reasonable enough.
The Court: In other words, you would not wish to argue 

that branch of the case.
Mr. Griffin: No.
The Court: Because that is all documentary.
Mr. Griffin: That is so.
The Court: You would not wish to argue the case until they 

can say that the case is closed upon documents as well as upon 
testimony? > 30

Mr. Griffin: That is it, my lord. In other words, as soon 
as I am through with my evidence on seamanship, I will say now 
I am through on that branch, now, you must make up your minds 
whether you found your order-in-council.

The Court: Yes, that is fair.
Mr. Griffin: Would your lordship allow me an adjournment.
The Court: Would fifteen minutes be plenty of time.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, fifteen minutes would be ample.
The Court: I don't want you to be too precipitate in this 

matter. 40

(RECESS FROM 3:20 TO 3:30 P.M.)
Mr. Griffin: My lord, I have decided to accept the suggestion 

made and to proceed on the basis indicated by your lordship. 
Mr. Smith: Captain Wingate.
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__ British Columbia
WALTER WINGATE, a witness called on behalf of the Def en- Mm**, £>»/. 

dant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows: Defendant's
Case

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH OT —-
W. Wingate

Q. Captain Wingate, you live in the City of Vancouver? Direct. 
You live in Vancouver? A. Not now, I don't.

Q. Well, where do you live ? A. Victoria.
Q. Victoria; and you are a pilot by occupation ? A. I am.
Q. What experience have you had at sea ? A. I have been 

10 to sea for thirty years—held a master's certificate for twenty-two.
Q. Twenty-two; and what experience have you had in com­ 

mand of B. C. vessels ? A. I have been seven years in command 
of deep sea vessels.

Q. How long have you been a pilot? A. I have been pilot­ 
ing now for a little over two and a half years—about two and a 
half years.

Q. And your experience as a pilot has been on the British 
Columbia coast ? A. Entirely, almost entirely.

Q. You are familiar with the Second Narrows ? A. I am. 
20 Q- How many times approximately have you piloted vessels, 

and by that I mean deep sea vessels, through the Second Narrows 
since the bridge was built ? A. Up to the present date, approxi­ 
mately fifty.

Q. Approximately fifty. Do you remember going through 
the Narrows with the "Eurana" on the 10th of March A. I do.

Q. Do you remember the time that you had gone through 
previous to the "Eurana" time? A. I do.

Q. Do you remember on that occasion noticing anything par­ 
ticular about the tides ? A. That they are irregular as regards 

30 high and low slack.
Q. On the occasion that you piloted a vessel down previous 

to the "Eurana," how did the tides behave in comparison with the 
tide book ? A. About half an hour early, the tide.

Q. Yes, just explain that, what was half an hour earlier? 
A. The slack water.

Q. Low water slack, was it? A Low water slack.
Q. Yes, then on the occasion previous to the "Eurana" you 

found that the low water slack occurred half an hour earlier than 
the time given in the tide tables? 

40 A. The tide tables.
Q. Yes?
The Court: How long did he say that previous time was be­ 

fore, Mr. Smith?
Mr. Smith: I don't believe he said that, your lordship. I 

will ask him that.



Defendant's 
Case

W. Wingate 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

RECORD Q. How long previous to the "Eurana" time was this time 
British Columbia you mention now ? A. I think it was about a week.

Q. About a week. What is your experience of the tides in 
the Second Narrows ? A. In what respect ?

Q. Well, take two respects : Firstly, with respect to whether 
or not the tide turned at the time given in the tide table ? A. I 
have found the tide absolutely right with the tide table, I have 
found it as much as nearly an hour out from the tide tables.

Q. Yes ? Are you speaking now with reference in particu­ 
lar to low water slack? A. Both.

Q. Both high and low water slack ? A. Both high and low 
slack.

Q. Yes, then, what is your experience with the tides in the 
Narrows with reference to the period of time when the water is 
actually slack? A. With the big tides, practically no slack. 
Small tides, quite a long period of slack.

Q. What would you consider the tide that existed on this 
day, on the 10th of March, 1927, when you were at the Second 
Narrows Bridge, a big tide or a small tide ? A. Fairly big tide — 
above average.

Q. About the average at that time 1 A. Above the average.
Mr. Donaghy: Above.
Mr. Smith: Q. Oh, you said above the average? A. A 

little above the average.
Q. A little above the average, yes. Have you ever found that 

the tide turned later than the time given in the tide tables ? A. I 
have.

Q. How much ? A. The last occasion I came through the 
bridge it was half an hour.

Q. The tide was half an hour later than the time given in the 
tide tables ? A. Later, yes.

Q. In the case of an average run out, what is your experience 
of the length of time actually occupied by slack water? A. I 
don't think it would be more than a few minutes.

Q. Can you give some description of the manner in which 
the tides run through the Narrows? A. The first of the flood 
coming up comes up underneath before you can see it actually on 
the surface, and crosses the south shore, and is deflected by the 
filling — the fill on the south side of the bridge — deflected right 
across the opening of the bridge.

Q. You are speaking about the first of the flood ? A. First 
of the flood.

Q. And at that time that you mention how does the surface of 
the water appear? A. It may be absolutely slack.

Q. Whilst this flood tide is running underneath ? A. Run­ 
ning underneath.

The Court : What did he say his conception of the tide at the 
moment was, Mr. Smith — did he tell you?

10

20

30
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Mr. Smith: No, he is just speaking generally of his experi­ 
ence of the tides in the Narrows, my lord.

The Court: Oh, yes.
Mr. Smith: Q. Then your experience is that the flood tide 

flows underneath and is deflected from the south shore across the 
opening of the draw ? A. Yes.

Q. And that it might be quite slack water on the surface. 
A. Yes.

Q. Then what happens after that? A. The tide will begin 
to make and just—and the direction will—at first it will go right 
across the bridge practically.

Q. Yes? A. As the tide begins to make and the surface 
current is showing the tide will straighten up a little more, but 
still set off the south shore towards the north shore.

Q. Yes, and then in time the surface current will do what ? 
A. Well, when it is running full strength at the last of the flood it 
will run perfectly straight.

Q. Perfectly straight; so that in time you have a full current 
rushing through the Narrows ? A. What ?

Q. In course of time you have full current rushing through 
the Narrows ? A. Yes.

Mr. Smith: I am showing the witness a plan, my lord, which 
has not yet been put in, but I propose to prove it tomorrow morn­ 
ing. It is a plan that your lordship has, simply with a little addi­ 
tion added.

It is the same as exhibit 8 that I have got, is thatThe Court: 
it, Mr. Smith? 

Mr. Smith: 
The Court: 
Mr. Smith: 
The Court:

That is it, my lord.
Only you have got exhibit 8 with an addition. 
With an addition, yes. 

We will call this exhibit 13.
(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 13.)

Mr. Smith: Q. Will you point out to his lordship the fill on 
the south shore which you say deflects the first of the flood tide 
across the draw of the bridge. Perhaps you had better make it 
with a cross.

The Court: Q. Mark it in red, "D"? A. "D".
Q. That is the fill? A. The fill.
The Court: Which affects the tide.
Mr. Smith: Perhaps you had better outline it in red.
The Court: Yes, and keep the red line—draw the red line 

showing the deflection.
Mr. Smith: Yes, my lord.
A. (Indicating).
The Court: That is the flood tide, Mr. Smith, you mean, the 

flood tide.
Mr. Smith: The first of the flood, my lord.

RECORD
British Columbia 
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Defendant's 
Case

W. Wingate 
Direct. 

(Contd.)
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The Court: Deflected with the first of the flood.
Mr. Smith: The first of the flood.
Q. Now, perhaps, witness you would put a blue mark right 

round the fill—as showing with the red line the deflection of the 
tide at the first of the flood—you might outline in blue the fill itself.

The Court: Outline the fill in blue, yes.
A. (Indicating.)
The Court: Show that to Mr. Donaghy.
Mr. Smith: In blue is the fill in, and the red is the direction 

of the current (showing map to counsel.) to
Q. Now, have you previously, when going through the Second 

Narrows Bridge—
The Court: Just one moment. How long did I understand 

you to wish me to understand that this deflection shown by the red 
arrows continues 1?

Mr. Smith: I don't know if I asked the witness that very 
clearly, my lord. I will ask him—

The Court: Yes, better clear it up if you can.
Mr. Smith: Q. How long does the deflection as shown by 

the red arrows on the chart continue ? A. Probably the first ten 20 
minutes of the flood underneath, gradually changing its direction 
toward the east.

The Court: Yes, thank you.
Mr. Smith: Q: Had you on previous occasions had any ex­ 

perience in the set of the tide at the draw of the bridge ? 
A. Several occasions.

Q. And that set was in what direction? A. Across the 
bridge towards the north shore.

Q. Towards the north shore; and at what stage of the tide 
did you more particularly experience this set? A. The very 30 
first of the flood.

Q. Yes, at low water slack? A. Low water slack.
Q. Now, that being so, have you any particular procedure 

which you followed with regard to the time of arriving at the 
Second Narrows Bridge, always bound west ? A I'd sooner be 
late than early.

Q. Sooner be late than early? A. Sooner be early than 
late.

Q. Yes, you would try to arrive there in good time ? 
A. Good time. 40

• Q. And your reasons for arriving early were what ? A. My 
reasons for arriving late ?

Q. No, early, why did you desire to be there in good time? 
A. I would leave to go down, if I found the tide was late I would 
wait before approaching the bridge. If I got down too late and 
found the tide making I would not be able to make the bridge.

Q. Have you any other reason? A. No, I think that is 
ample.
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Q. That is to get therein time? A. To get there in time. RECORD
Q. From getting there early did you avoid anything 1? A. I British Columbia 

avoid being too late. Admiralty Put.
Q. Yes, and did you avoid any eddy or undercurrent ? A. I Defendant's 

beg your pardon? Case
Q. Did you find any eddy or undercurrent? A. I had been ^r- 

through the bridge previous to that occasion four times at low Di'rect mgate 
water slack. (Comd.)

Q. Yes ? A. I had felt the set to the north shore, but not 
10 with any great strength.

Q. I see ? A. I have gone through and not felt it.
Q. Yes, and the times when you went through and did not 

feel it, were these the times when you were early or late ? A. That 
was the tune I was early.

Q. Yes. How long before the time given in the tide tables 
as slack water did you use to try to arrive at the bridge ? A. I 
tried to arrive at the bridge at slack water.

Q. Yes? A. And determined that by how I find the tide 
at Berry point.

20 Q. Yes, well, just explain that? A. If on getting to Berry 
Point I find the tide slack—at low water slack, I don't wish to lose 
any time getting to the bridge; but I find the tide still ebbing at 
Berry Point I get the ship stopped and wait for the slack.

Q. Have you any method of determining at Berry Point 
whether the tide is ebbing or not? A. You can see the tide on 
the surface.

Q. On the surface, can you see it on anything in the water ? 
A. At the buoy ahead.

Q. There is a buoy at Berry Point? A. No, the buoy is 
30 half a mile west of Berry Point.

Q. On the north shore? A. On the north shore.
Q. And does the buoy give you indication of how the tide 

is running? A. It does, a very good indication when you are 
close to the buoy.

Q. And the buoy is how far above the bridge ? A. A little 
over a mile.

Q. In coming down on this trip in question with the "Eu- 
rana,'' you left Barnet on that day at what hour ? A. 5:25.

Q. The "Eurana" was lying alongside of Barnet, was she? 
40 A. She was.

Q. Yes, was headed in what general direction? A. Her 
head was to the eastward.

Q. To the eastward? A. Yes.
Q. You left the wharf and straightened her out ? A. Back­ 

ed away from the wharf, and we squared away to midchannel at 
5:35.

Q. 5:35, and the general direction of the ship's head then— 
A. West-southwest.
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Q. West-southwest, and your course with reference to the 
Narrows was where? A. Midchannel.

Q. Midchannel. The weather was how ? A. Fine, clear.
Q. Can you say roughly when you were abeam of Boche 

Point? A. About 5:53.
Q. And when were you abeam of Berry Point? A. I beg 

your pardon, I was thinking of Berry Point when you said—the 
time that we were abeam of Roche Point, I didn't—

Q. You didn't keep that? A. I didn't keep that.
Q. Did you get the time when you were abeam of Berry 10 

Point? A. Abeam of Berry Point, 5:53.
Q. 5:53, and your course then was roughly how? A. At 

Berry Point I held to the southward, probably about southwest 
a half west.

Q. How was the tide when you had arrived at Berry Point ? 
A. At Berry Point, every appearance of slack.

Q. And how did you judge that ? A. No eddies showing at 
all on the surface, ship steering absolutely perfect.

Q. And did you see the buoy that you spoke to me about a 
moment ago? A. I did. 20

Q. And how did the tide appear at the buoy? A. As we 
arrived close on the buoy there was no tide apparent at all at the 
buoy.

Q. What conclusion did you come to when you saw that the 
tide was slack at the buoy? A. That the time was right to go 
through the bridge.

Q. And did you come to any conclusion then as to whether 
the tide had turned earlier or not that day ? A. No, no sign of 
tide at that time.

Q. Yes, but did you decide then that the tide had turned 30 
earlier or not? A. Unquestionably earlier.

Q. Unquestionably. Earlier than the time given in the tide 
tables? A. Yes.

Q. That is what you mean, is it? A. Yes.
Q. Now, up to that time—of the movement until you reached 

Berry Point—what in your opinion was the speed of the vessel ? 
A. From full away I imagine we gathered a speed of about nine 
knots.

Q. At Berry Point then you thought— A. Berry Point.
Q. You gathered a speed of nine knots? A. About nine 40 

knots.
Q. At what rate of speed did you desire to approach the 

bridge? A. At about—
Q. To go through the bridge? A. At about four.
Q. Is that the usual speed that you go through at ? A. The 

speed varies a good deal, but that is the speed I try to arrive at, 
approaching the bridge.
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Q. What then did you do at Berry Point with a view to RECORD 
arriving at the bridge with a speed of four knots? A. Slowed British Columbia
down. Admiralty Dist.

Q. At what hour did you slow down ? A. 5 :54. Defendant's
Q. And what was the next thing that you did? A. 5:54 Case 

we slowed and signalled for the bridge. w _r—
Q. Do you remember — can you remember how long it was Direct m8ate 

after you went slow that you signalled for the bridge? A. Very (Contd.) 
shortly afterwards.

10 Q- Well, about what? A. It might have been a min­ 
ute — half a minute.

Q. Yes. And how far at that time were you from the bridge ? 
A. A mile and a third — a mile — fully a mile and a third from the 
bridge.

Q. Yes, and when you were in that position how long did 
you estimate it would take you to get to the bridge ? A. About 
fifteen minutes.

Q. Now, from Berry Point, will you just describe the navi­ 
gation of the "Eurana," commencing from the time, for instance, 

20 when you rang down slow ahead? A. Steered about southwest 
a half west from midchannel for the buoy.

Q. Yes? A. A little if anything to the north side of the 
channel.

Q. Yes? A. From the buoy set a course about direct for 
the north pier of the bascule draw. On passing the Knuckle, 
which is about sixteen — seventeen hundred feet east of the draw, 
hauled ship 's head over towards south pier.

The Court: What is that point you say, on passing what? 
A. What I call the Knuckle, your lordship. 

30 Q. Yes? A. That is a shoal point to the eastward of the 
bridge.

Q. Is that the other witness referred to at the point "A"?
A. Yes, my lord.
Q. You call that the Knuckle ? A. Yes, my lord.
Q. Just repeat that, when you got off the Knuckle ? A. Off 

the Knuckle —
Q. Abreast of the Knuckle now? A. Abreast of the 

Knuckle.
Q. Yes? A. Headed the ship—

40 Q. Abreast of the Knuckle, that is the point "A"? A. Yes, 
approximately off the south pier of the draw.

Q. Off the south pier of the draw ? A. Yes. When clear 
of the Knuckle —

The Court: What distance do you make that, Mr. Smith, 
from the Knuckle?

Mr. Smith: Oh, I think he gives that about — perhaps you 
can determine it more accurately with reference to the water 
mains, Captain.
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The Witness: Yes—it is about the first water main—the 
most easterly water main.

The Court: Q. How far is that from the bridge 1 A. 1700 
feet, I think, approximately.

Q. That is what the other witness gave. You think that 
is about right? A. I beg your pardon ?

Q. That is what the prior witness, Captain Jones gave. 
You think he is about right ? A. About right, yes. When about 
1200 feet from the bridge I headed her square for the middle of 
the draw. That would be at a small angle to the line of the bridge. 10 
The ship up to that time steering perfectly, no sign of tide at all, 
and the conditions apparently perfect for going into the bridge, 
or through the draw. When close to the bridge—about a thousand 
feet from the bridge, we gave her half speed on the engine to in­ 
crease her steering ability. At that time, having in mind the only 
possibility of anything that could happen then would be this 
undertow or undercurrent setting across the bridge, I gave the 
ship a little starboard helm—ordered a little starboard helm. 
With the starboard helm on she still maintained a perfectly even 
course for the centre of the draw, showing that some undercurrent 20 
was there. I then ordered more starboard helm given, and order­ 
ed the engine set full ahead for further increasing her steering 
ability, at same time ship started—ship's head started to swing off 
to northward, swinging very sharply with increasing momentum. 
We gave—allowed a short pause to see whether the ship would not 
answer her helm, and as the ship's bow headed past the north pier 
it was perfectly evident she would not make the bridge.

The Court: Now, what does he mean by the north pier—the 
whole of the bridge or bascule pier.

The Witness: The north pier of the bascule draw, sir. 30
The Court: Q. The north bascule pier? Yes? A. I 

ordered then both anchors let go, and the engines full speed astern 
to avoid if possible hitting the bridge, or at least to minimize the 
impact of collision. Both anchors were let go promptly. The 
port anchor very evidently held, as they were unable to hold the 
chain with the brake—sparks flying from the wildcat, showing the 
momentum of the chain going out and the pressure from the brake. 
Starboard anchor when let go, and the brake was put on, brake im­ 
mediately checked cable and the anchor dredged through the bot­ 
tom. The ship ultimately brought up in the bridge, 75 fathoms of 40 
chain on the port anchor and 45 fathoms on the starboard. The 
ship—

Q. Wait now, let me get that. You say one or both anchors 
held? A. One anchor dredged, sir, and the other anchor took 
hold of probably some unevenness on the bottom.

Q. I see, the port anchor dragged, you said ? A. The star­ 
board anchor dragged and the port anchor held.
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Q. The starboard, yes, so that when you brought up against RECORD the bridge you had how much out ? A. Seventy-five fathoms— British Columbia
Q. You had seventy-five fathoms out on your— A. Port anchor.
Q. On your port, yes, and forty on your starboard? A. Forty-five.
Q. Forty-five? A. On the starboard.
Q. Yes ? A. The ship struck the bridge with a momentum 

of approximately one knot; finally brought up in the bridge at an 10 angle of about forty-five degrees with the bridge and approxi­ 
mately 120 feet of the ship under the bridge.

Mr. Smith: Q. Was the ship substantially damaged? 
A. The foremast was taken out by hitting the forestay, pulled the 
top mast down, and then the superstructure struck the main mast 
and bent it aft.

Q. So that she was—I just want to have it on record—she 
was damaged? A. The bridge, wheelhouse and chart room were 
wrecked.

Q. At what time do you consider that you struck the bridge ? 20 A. 6:10p.m.
Q. And how long were the engines going full speed ahead 

before you struck ? A. Not more than a minute, I think.
Q. Now, I think I am confusing you there. When you 

struck the engines were going full astern, were they? A. Full 
astern.

Q. Well, how long were they going full astern before you 
struck? A. I don't think more than a minute.

Q. And how long were they going full ahead before you put 
them full astern ? A. About a minute. 

30 Q. About a minute? A. A little—perhaps two minutes.
Q. And roughly what position was the vessel in when you 

placed your engines full ahead? A. About 500 feet from the bridge—600 feet from the bridge.
Q. Yes, and what position were you in—
The Court: Did I understand you, Mr. Smith, to give that— 

she was about five hundred feet from the bridge when he went full 
speed astern?

No, full speed ahead, my lord, when the drawMr. Smith 
was—

The Court:
Mr. Smith: 

imately.
Q. And what was the purpose of going full ahead ? 

crease the helm power.
Q. And your helm was at that time how ? A. Hard astar- 

board.
Q. And did the helm remain hard astarboard until after the 

collision? A. I believe it did.

Yes.
That is correct, is it not, witness ? A. Approx-

A. In-
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Q. Well, are you not sure ? A. The man was sent off the 
bridge as the collision became imminent.

Q. Yes. A. And whether he actually put the helm amid­ 
ships when he did leave the bridge, I couldn't say.

Q. Up until that moment ? A, Until that moment.
Q. The helm was hard astarboard? A. The helm had been 

hard astarboard.
Q. After you had collided with the bridge did you notice 

the tide? A. I did.
Q. What state was it in then ? A. It was—at the north pier 10 

of the draw there was a slight—very slight surface current to 
the eastward. At the pier on the starboard side of the vessel there 
was a slight drain to the westward.

§. You are referring to the two piers of the fixed span? 
f the fixed span.

Q. Immediately to the northward of the bascule draw? 
A. The first pier I mentioned is the north pier of the draw.

Q. Yes. A. And was then on the port side of the vessel.
Q. Yes ? A. The second pier is the north pier of the fixed 

span. 20
Q. Yes? A. On the starboard side of the vessel.
Q. That is right. Did you see any effect on the tide of the 

piers themselves ? A. That is the effect which I mentioned.
CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
Q. You say, Captain, that you have gone through the bridge 

about fifty times approximately 1 A. Approximately fifty times.
Q. That is as a pilot ? A. As a pilot.
Q. Since you have been acting as a pilot ? A. 

been acting as a pilot.
Q. I suppose always on deep sea vessels? A. 

vessels.
Q. The fifty times was all on deep sea vessels ? 

sea vessels.
Q. Then, have you gone through the Second Narrows on 

deep sea vessels previous to the bridge being there? A. I did 
not.

Q. Never have done that ? A. Never have done so.
Q. What would you say was the proportion of that fifty 

times that you have gone through the Second Narrows say previous 40 
to the "Eurana" accident? A. The "Eurana" accident, say 
maybe 25 trips through the bridge.

Q. Twenty-five; and your observations in connection with 
the tides, I take it, are what gave you this knowledge that you 
speak of previous to the "Eurana" trip? A. Twenty-five trips.

Q. Yes, so that the time you were piloting the "Eurana" 
you had all this information that you have given the court as to 
the tide currents ? A. To some extent my latest experience had 
but confirmed the knowledge which I had then.

Since I have 

On deep sea 30 

A. On deep
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Q. Well, then, you haven't—I will take that this way that RECORD 
so far as your experience since the "Eurana" accident is concern- 
ed there is nothing occurred to do anything but confirm what you Adm>ralty 
knew at the time of the "Eurana "accident? A. Except that the Defendant's 
"Eurana" accident was the first time when I gathered the experi­ 
ence that that undercurrent could have such strength.

Q. I see. You mean you saw no evidences of this so-called 
undercurrent previous to the "Eurana"? A. Yes, but not of 
such weight.

10 Q. Would you make that a little more definite, Captain, as 
to what degree or character of strength? A. Well, I have gone 
through the narrows at low water slack on five previous occasions, 
and I think on three of them that I had to use very considerable 
starboard helm to make the bridge, but the ship answered and 
showed her manoeuvring—or manageability with her helm on 
those three previous occasions when I felt that set.

Q. Give me the particulars of those three previous occasions, 
please? What ships? A. Why, offhand, I couldn't do that.

Q. Was any of them the "Eurana" A. No. 
20 Q. Have you got any definite recollection of those ships other 

than the impression that you have got? A. At the time of the 
accident—immediately afterwards I reviewed my various trips 
that I had been through the bridge and the set of the tide at those 
different times, and I found that I had taken five vessels through 
at low water slack—not a high low slack, but an ordinary low water 
slack.

Q. And from your experience you gathered the information 
that you have given us ? A. I have.

Q. That there was a so-called undertow under the surface ? 
30 A. I have. I have also from other pilots—discussing the 

navigation of the bridge with other pilots corroborated my experi­ 
ence—

Q. Never mind that, I am speaking as to your own experi­ 
ence. A. My experience is such.

Q. That you knew at the time. And you met with this 
undertow that you speak of to such an extent that you had to star­ 
board your helm against it ? A. Yes.

Q. On three of the five occasions ? A. On three of the pre­ 
vious occasions.

40 The Court: I did not quite catch that, Mr. Burns. Would 
you mind repeating that.

Mr. Burns: The witness says that he met with this under­ 
tow that he speaks of on three of these five different occasions, the 
effect of it being that he had to starboard his helm.

The Court: Yes, I understand that, but he as I understood 
hun to say—correct me if I am wrong—still she answered her 
helm in the draw.
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Mr. Burns: 
The Court: 

before.
Mr. Burns: 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns:

Yes.
But your point is that he met those three times

Yes, my lord. 
Yes.
Q. Did you have any difficulty at all before ? 

A. No, the ship answered her helm apparently.
Q. Yes, am I correct in this deduction, that the "Eurana" 

time was something extraordinary entirely. Is that what you are 10 
seeking to convey ? A. I believe that I struck it at an exception­ 
al time when that undertow was probably at its strongest with a 
ship heavier possibly than any ship I had taken west through the 
bridge before at low water slack.

Q. What would be her draft at that occasion ? A. Twenty- 
five feet six I think approximately.

Q. Do you remember the draft of the other ships that you 
took through? A. They were none of them as deep as that at 
low water slack.

Q. Well, I mean the depth of her draft—at least, her draft 20 
would depend upon her load? A. Yes.

Mr. Smith. He means the ones that you took through.
Mr. Burns: Yes, that is what I am speaking of, I am not 

speaking of anything else. I say what I mean.
Q. Well, how near would that draft be on those other ships 

to the draft of the "Eurana" at this time? A. Two feet more.
Q. What ? A. Two feet more—two feet more.
Q. That is there would be less draft by two or three feet? 

A. Yes.
Q And the "Eurana "was two or three feet more? A. Yes. 30
Q. Have you checked up times—certain times as compared 

with the tide table times of the tides that you took these other ships 
through ? A. I did check up—

Q. That is to say, how much before low slack according to 
the tide table would these other trips be ? A. The greatest differ­ 
ence I have found—that, of course, is an estimate and an approxi­ 
mation only, as I use no instruments. It was only by vision and 
the action of the ship, that I can judge—and close on one hour is 
the greatest difference I have found between the time in the tide 
table and the time in my experience. 40

Q. Well, what do you mean by that, Captain. You say that 
you have found a difference of an hour in the tide tables with re­ 
ference to the turn of the tide at the Second Narrows ? A. Pretty 
close to an hour, sir.

Q. When did you find that? A. Very definitely with the 
"Eurana".

Q. On this particular occasion? A. On this particular 
trip.
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Q. Well, the ship was anchored aft after hitting the bridge, RECORD 
with three tugs attending her alongside, and the anchors were British Columbia 
ordered shortened in an hour and a half before high water slack, Admiralty Din. 
and the "Eurana" swung to the ebb tide fifty minutes before high Defendant's 
water slack. Case

Q. That is after she disengaged from the bridge? A. Aft- ^i— 
er she had disengaged, the ship. Cross-eX°

Q. Then the ship swung fifty minutes before? A. Fifty (Contd.j 
minutes before, the ship swung to the ebb tide. 

10 Q. Yes? A. Before I could get the anchors up.
Q. Any other time? A. Several times. The next time I 

came down through the bridge, I found the tide over half an hour 
ahead.

Q. Any other time ? A. Several times, one being—I can't 
be specific.

Q. Could you say when your next time was? A. The 
"Robin Hood" was the next time.

Q. What date was that ? A. I have it in my little book.
Q. Well, could you just look at it? A. March the 30th, 

20 1927.
Q. What time ? A. The afternoon, about—I went through 

the bridge shortly after twelve.
Q. Noon? A. Noon.
Q. Which way? A. Bound west.
Q. Bound west ? A. Yes.
Q. Could you say how soon after noon—at least, when you 

observed this? A. Within the first twenty minutes after noon.
Q. Twelve twenty ? A. About twelve twenty.
Q. And you say at that time the flood came in how many— 

30 thirty minutes sooner? A. That was high water slack.
Q. Oh, that was— A. The ebb tide was running when I 

went through the bridge.
Q. And it was thirty minutes earlier than the tide table ? A. 

I can refer to the tide table. I can't just remember now offhand 
what time the tide was.

Q. Well, have you got that? Was that 1927—just find out 
(Handing table to witness) ?

A. Thank you. It was 14.59.
Q. What is that? A. It says 14.59—at 2.59. 

40 Q. 2.59? A. It may have been twenty minutes late, I don't 
remember, but—

Q. That is— A. That is high slack—that ship was out 
through the bridge over half an hour before high slack with the 
tide running strong.

Q. So that your statement—I just want to get this definitely, 
Captain, your statement is that on March 30th with the "Robin 
Hood" you passed through the bridge— A. Yes.
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Q. —half an hour before high slack, going west? A. Yes.
Q. What was the ebbing strength? A. The tide was run­ 

ning ebb, we say.
Q. Where were you coming from then? A. Barnet.
Q. Now, any other occasion where you figured that the tide 

tables were inaccurate? A. My last trip with the "Forth 
Bridge."

Q. What ? A. The last time I came through the bridge.
Q. When was that? A. Not very long ago. The llth of 

September. 10
Q. What is the ship? A. The "Forth Bridge."
Q. Oh, the "Forth Bridge," that is where I misunderstood 

you. Explain that situation? A. Supposed to be high water 
slack at 5:16. At 5:161 was in the middle of the draw, the tide was 
still flooding. The tide in this case was late, not early.

Q. Would you say how long it flooded after that—or at least 
how much before you were there? A. Half an hour. The 
"Park Bridge" belonging to the same company passed through the 
bridge half an hour later and the pilot found the tide was slack.

Q. Never mind now giving anything that some person else 20 
saw.

Mr. Griffin: He can say it if you ask his reason.
Mr. Burns: I didn't ask him that.
Mr. Griffin: You asked him how he knew.
Mr. Burns: I asked the witness for his own experience in 

connection with the matter and I don't want any hearsay. I didn 't 
realize that he was trying to get something.

The Court: I did not quite catch what he said, Mr. Burns. 
He said, it was supposed to be high water slack when we were 
there. What did he tell you was the actual state ? 30

Mr. Burns: At 5.16 supposed to be high water slack.
The Court: Yes.
The Witness: The tide was still flooding, sir.
Q. High water slack ? A. Still flooding.
Q. To what extent? A. So strong that I would not come 

near the bridge from the buoy.
Mr. Burns: I think you said, Captain, that you went through 

the bridge at 5:16 ? A. I went through the bridge at 5:16.
Q. Supposed to be high— A. High water slack.
Q. High water slack, and it was still flooding ? A. It was 40 

still flooding.
Q. And you say that you sized it up that she would be flood­ 

ing for another half hour, that it was half an hour ahead of the 
time table ? A. Half an hour ahead.

Q. Of the tide table, according to your statement. Now, 
what other occasion? A. The "Robin Adair"—I can't say the 
date—the "Robin Adair," it was quite late.
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Q. Can't you turn your book up and see it? A. I am very RECORD 
much afraid that that date is gone.

Q. Were you going west? A. Westbound. Admiralty
Q. Yes? A. It is in this — it is obliterated, in my pencil. Defendant's
Q. What is that? A. I won't be absolute on that occasion Case 

of the date. It is rather obliterated by my thumb.
Q. Well, could you give me approximately the date, because 

we have a record of every ship. What is the entry just before 
and the one just after, wouldn't that give you something to go on ? 

10 A. Yes. It is between December 8, and January 24.
Q. And January 24 of this year? A. December 8, 1926, 

and January 24 of 1927.
Q. Well, that is a year ago — a year last December ? A. Yes.
Q. Now, then, what do you say with reference to that? A. 

The tide was flooding — I came down a little ahead of time and 
found the tide flooding so strongly I had to wait off Berry Point 
till the tide should be easy enough for the ship to be manageable.

Q. And that was in comparison to the time of the tide table ? 
A. A good half hour.

20 Q. Half an hour before what? A. The tide half an hour 
late.

Q. The tide was half an hour late, that was in connection 
with high water slack ? A. High water slack.

Q. High water slack. Any other occasion of this kind? 
A. I don't remember specifically.

. Q. Now, this one you spoke of is the only one that occurred 
previous to the "Eurana" accident, that is so, is it not? This last 
occasion you spoke of — the "Robin Adair" was it? A. Yes.

Q. Is the only one that was previous in time to the ' ' Eurana ' '
30 accident? A. No, I had — knew of my own experience that the

tide varies as much as half an hour before the "Eurana" accident.
Q. Well, then, what experience is that based on ? A. Twenty- 

five trips through the bridge, sometimes I found the tide slack, 
sometimes I didn't.

Q. Well, what incidents can you give me ? A. I can't offer 
— at this date and my memory, without looking up the records of 
the bridge I could not tell you specifically.

Q. Now, by looking at your book can you give me the name 
of those five ships that you spoke of previously? A. Two, I 

40 can't.
Q. Well, give me three, then. Give me what you can — that 

you came through in low slack, you said ? A. I will have to have 
the tide book.

Q. Isn't your entry there with the name of the ship and the 
time you passed the bridge ? A. Not always in my book.

The Court: Perhaps, Mr. Burns, it is so near the hour of 
adjournment you might just indicate to this witness anything that 
you would like him to look up and he would be prepared.
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20

(COURT ADJOURNED AT 4:30 P.M. UNTIL THURS­ 
DAY, SEPTEMBER 27TH, 1928, AT 10:30 A.M.)

Thursday, September 27th, 1928,10:30 a.m. 

(COURT RESUMED PURSUANT TO ADJOURNMENT) 

WALTER WINGATE, resumes the stand: 10

CROSS-EXAMINATION CONTINUED BY MR. BURNS:
Q. Now, Captain, when we adjourned yesterday I was talk- 

about the different occasions when you noticed the difference be­ 
tween the tide and the time of the tide tables. You gave me three 
instances, the "Robin Hood," the "Forth Bridge" and the "Robin 
Adair." That is when you were going through? A. Yes.

Q. Have you ever noticed any other occasion? A. I have 
several, there is a list I have—I have looked them up, and my 
notes of the occasions, some of them are quite definite in regard 
to time.

Q. Well, that is what I want to get ? A. First, the '' Robin 
Hood," I confused the time with the question of the "Robin Good- 
fellow. '' The essential facts are right, the high tide was the great­ 
est variation that I had before found in the "Robin Hood" on the 
30th of March.

Q. Give me that time? A. The ship passed through the 
bridge some time after two, with the slack round three.

The Court: Q. Now, wait a minute, that is very confusing 
for my notes, that change you are making. You told us yesterday 
—what was this ? A. The '' Robin Hood.''

Q. The "Robin Hood, "yes, and that date was what? A. The 
30th of March.

Q. Did you mention the "Robin Adair "as well? A. Later 
on I did.

Q. Later on, yes, now, wait. It is very confusing—you 
should be more careful? A. The date is the same, sir.

Q. Now, the change you wish to make is what ? A. From 
12:20—

Q. Speak slowly now and let me get that because that is 
important ? A. From something after twelve p.m.— 40

Q. And the date? A. On the 30th of March.
Q. What year? A. 1927.

30
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day.
Q. Yes, proceed? A. To something after 2 p.m. that same RECORD

Q. That does not show the change exactly you wish to make 
you see ? A. I made the remark of passing through the bridge 
at 12 :20 p.m.

Q. On the 30th of March in the "Robin Hood?" A. Yes.
Q. The facts are now— A. That it was around 2 :20 p.m.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Burns : Q. What about the tide, just explain that. You 

10 had better explain it all over again? A. The tide was nearly 
an hour earlier I assumed by the strength of the tide.

The Court: Q. The tide you found there on the spot was 
an hour earlier than it was reported to be in the tide table, is that 
what you mean ? A. That was my estimate.

Mr. Burns : Q. Now, how did you check this and bring this 
different information this morning as against what you said yes 
terday? A. I found the note of the "Robin Goodf ellow. "

Q. Of the which? A. The "Robin Goodf ellow."
Q. You found a note on the" Robin Goodf ellow?" A. The 

20 "Robin Goodf ellow."
Q. Is that — A. A sister ship to that ship.
Q. Well, how does that affect it? A. She passed through 

the bridge at 12 :20.
Q. Well, did you have any charge of the "Robin Good- 

fellow?" A. Also, on a different date.
Q. No, but not on that date? A. Not on that date.
Q. Well, how did the "Robin Goodf ellow" have anything to 

do with it? A. You asked me to explain the confusion of my 
tune which I gave you yesterday from memory. 

30 Q. I see. Then you got that from some person else, is that 
it? A. I did.

Q. So it was entirely hearsay? A. No, from my own rec­ 
ords.

Q. Now, you say you got it from your records, but just a 
minute ago you said that you got it from some person else. Now, 
explain that, witness, please. Well, how did you get the informa­ 
tion you are giving us now as against the information you gave us 
yesterday ? A. I looked up my records. Yesterday I gave you 
it entirely from memory.

40 Q. Well, you say now that you looked up your records, but 
just a minute ago you said you found it out by reason of the ' ' Good- 
fellow, ' ' I understood you to say ?. A. I confused the occasion of 
the time of the "Robin Goodf ellow" — the same name and the same 
ship at a different date going through at that hour.

Q. Oh, I see, then what I understand is that you looked up 
the record.

Q. That you didn't have — records of your own ? A. Of my 
own.

British Columbia

Defendant's 
Case

(Contd.)
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Q. And your mistake yesterday was caused by thinking of 
the "Robin Goodfellow" instead of the "Robin Hood," was it? 
A. The "Robin Hood."

Q. Yes, pardon me, and it is in order to get these matters 
right. Have you got your records there I A. I have.

Q. Let us see what you looked up? A. Extracts from my 
records. I would like to give you four concrete instances of which 
I have records.

Q. Well, have you got your record there that you—or is that 
just simply a copy from it ? A. It is extracted from it. 10

Q. Where is your record? A. The records are composed 
of my pilot's reports, my note book. The pilot's reports are in— 
some of them are in the pilotage office. Other records are in my 
note book.

Q. Well, then, give me that information now ? A. Yes.
Q. Give his lordship this information? A. The 23rd of 

July, 1926, ship "L. A. Christensen," eastbound, passed through 
the bridge shortly after 11 a.m.; ship late on the tide, but tide quite 
slack apparently.

Q. Now, what do you mean by that, Captain, ship late on 20 
the tide and tide quite slack. Can't you give that—with reference 
to your note, give your evidence in such way so we can understand 
it.

Mr. Smith: Give the time of the tide, Captain f
Mr. Burns: Q. Just as if I knew nothing about it, I would 

like to get it. Can I put it this way, Captain, because that is all 
the information I want really to bring before the court: Was 
there a difference between the actual tide and the time of the tide 
as shown in the tide tables on this particular occasion, if so, what ? 
A. The tide was late. 30

Q. Well, to what extent? A. Probably fifteen minutes.
Q. You say probably fifteen minutes, do you mean approxi­ 

mately? A. Approximately.
Q. What was the stage of the tide ? A. Low water, a very 

low low water; records, 0.5.
Q. Practically slack, was it, or was it slack? A. It was 

slack—quite slack.
Q. And it was slack later by fifteen minutes approximately 

than the tide tables showed ? A. Than the tide tables showed.
Q. Yes, and what others, and give it in that way? A. The 40 

8th of August.
Q. The year? A. 1926. Steamship "Circunus" passed 

through the bridge 11:45 a.m., westbound.
Q. Now, was there any difference in the time of the tide and 

the time as shown in the tide tables in this instance? A. Low 
water slack by the tide table was ten minutes past twelve.

Q. Yes? A. Tide apparently quite slack, but evidence of



first of flood making underneath; high tide 2:05; 11 foot rise; ship 
drawing twenty-four feet.

Q. Was the tide later or earlier than the time of the tide 
shown in the tide tables ? A. At least twenty-five minutes early.

Q. Earlier? A. Earlier.
Q. According to your observations ? A. Yes.
Q. Any other? A. "Golden Gate," llth of August, 1926.
The Court: Q. Proceed. Do not take so long, you know. 

A. Time of tide 2:38 p.m.
10 Mr. Griffin: May I interrupt, Captain. Just give what Mr. 

Burns wants—give the difference in time, whether late or early, 
that is all he wants.

A. Tide, about twenty minutes early.
Mr. Burns: Q. Any others? A. 5th of September.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Year? A. 1926.
Mr. Burns: Q. Time ? A. A.M. tide—ten something.
Q. I didn't say time. Well, give the name of the ship first ? 

A. "Poljana," westbound.
Q. And what time were you there ? A. Right on time with 

20 the tide. Tide right.
Q. What time was it? A. I have just O.K. in my book. 

The time of the tide was in the book. 11:14 a.m.
Q. And how was the tide? A. Right.
Q. Right? A. Yes.
Q. You mean— A. Agreed with the book.
Q. Agreed with the book, well, why are you giving me that ? 

A. You asked if I had ever found an instance when the tide 
agreed with the book as well as others.

Q. I didn't ask you any such thing, witness, and it would 
30 be absurd if I had asked you. Your intelligence ought to have 

shown you that, even if you thought I had said it. I am not ask­ 
ing you instances where the tide agrees with the tide table, I am 
asking you for those that don't agree, according to your evidence 
and nothing else? A. llth January, 1927, Steamer "Robin 
Goodfellow."

Q. What time were you there ? A. About 12:20 p.m.
Q. And how was the tide? A. The tide—
Q. As compared with— A. Half an hour early.
Q. Half an hour early. Any others? A. I have no exact 

40 data on the others.
Q. Now, what about the '' Robin Adair ? " A. The '' Robin 

Adair" on the 9th August—
Mr. Griffin: Q. Year? A. 1926.
Mr. Burns: Q. Time? A. I havn't a record of the time.
Q. Well, what about the "Robin Adair" with reference to 

the point we are discussing with you ? A. The tide was so much 
out that I had to let go the anchors after passing Berry Point.
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Q. In what way was it out ? A. I don't remember whether 
it was early or late, but I couldn't approach the bridge at the 
stage of the tide, although I left in the right time for making the 
bridge.

Q. What was the stage of the tide? A. I don't remember. 
I can't check up whether it was p.m. or a.m.r,except that it was 
daylight.

Q. Well, was it low water slack or high water slack ? A. I 
think it was high water slack.

Q. Now, you said yesterday that the "Robin Adair" was an 10 
instance between December 8th, 1926, and January 24th, 1927, do 
you remember, you read off your book ? A. Yes.

Q. And the entry was smeared in some way because of the 
lead pencil? A. Yes.

Q. You gave those outside dates and said within those dates 
the'' Robin Adair'' instance ? A. Well, I did handle the '' Robin 
Adair" in those dates but that wasn't the occasion which really had 
forced itself on my mind, because the "Robin Adair" on the 20th 
November was not a loaded ship, and it was when she was a loaded 
ship that I had difficulty; and on the 9th of August she was a 20 
loaded ship.

Q. And the entry that you were looking at when you gave 
your evidence yesterday was an entry of the "Robin Adair" when 
she was light and not loaded, was that it? A. The—

Q. That is between December 8th, 1926, and 24th January, 
1927, she went through light and not loaded, and you have cor­ 
rected it now and found that the occasion in question was when 
she was loaded? A. When she was loaded.

Q. So this was when she was light— A. On November 
20th. 30

Q. What is that? A. On November 20th.
Q. On November 20th? A. Yes.
Q. Then the dates yesterday, between December 8th, 1926, 

and January 24th, 1927, they were erroneous? A. Those were 
the pages which were missing from my book, and I didn't look 
farther back to November to see.

Q. Now, you have looked up to give every instance you can 
as I understand you? A. I have.

Q. Of where you claim that the tide tables were inaccurate ? 
A. I have. ±0

Q. You would agree with me, Captain, would you, that 
tides out an hour, half an hour and so on, as you have testified 
that any table made up of that kind of figures could not be called 
highly accurate, could it? A. In water such as we have here 
you don't expect a tide to be—any tide table to be absolutely ac­ 
curate within half an hour.

Q. Will you answer my question, please, now. I ask you,
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in view of your testimony as to these various occasions where you 
found the tide table times out half an hour or an hour— A. Yes.

Q. —on those different occasions, whether you could as a 
seaman say that such tide tables could be properly stated to be 
highly accurate? A. No, I couldn't say so.

Q. In other words, in view of your evidence, any statement to 
the effect that the tide tables are highly accurate would be erron­ 
eous, wouldn't it? A. It would.

Q. Now, the tide tables of the Pacific Coast for 1928, you 
10 recognize that. (Showing book to witness) ? A. Yes.

Q. Captain F. Anderson, hydrographer—
Mr. Burns: I will put this in, my lord. The page I am re-

20

ferring to— 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 
The Court:

30

These tables now are not the ones in already.
No, my lord, 1927 went in yesterday.
You are putting in the tables for 1927.
No, 1927 went in yesterday, my lord.
Oh, yes.
These are the tables for 1928.
1928, exhibit 14.

The Court 
Mr. Burns: 

is four.
The Court: 
Mr. Burns:

Oh, yes.
It really should be three, because the next page

I see, yes, page three.
"As the accuracy of tide tables is represented 

by the length of the tidal observations on which they are based, 
those for all the six principal ports, mentioned above, are now 
highly accurate. In making use of the tables, it is important 
to have the time correctly." And so on. 
Now, Captain, in view of what you have just said, that is a 

misstatement in your opinion—erroneous? A. I beg to differ, 
sir.

Q. Well, explain it ? A. These tide tables that you base as 
being highly accurate are applied to the Port of Vancouver. The 
difference of the tide between the Port of Vancouver and the 
Second Narrows Bridge, the observations have not been carried
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(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 14)
Mr. Burns: Q. I refer to the page following the contents, 

and the statement with reference to the tide table made above the 
name of Captain F. Anderson, hydrographer—the last paragraph: 
"Accuracy of tide tables and correct time." "As the accuracy of 
tide tables is represented—" now, you might follow me so there 
will be no question—

The Court: What page, Mr. Burns ?
Mr. Burns: It is not a numbered page, my lord, but it is 

the page following the contents.
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on to that extent referred to in the book, as far as I have been 
able to gather from the tidal surveyor at Vancouver.

Q. So that is how you deal with it. Now, Captain, you said 
there were five occasions upon which you went through the bridge 
at the same stage of tide as that which existed at the time of the 
"Eurana." Have you any particulars of them? A. I have got 
four instances, referring to the ship " L. A. Christensen,'' the'' Cir- 
cunus," the "Golden Gate," the "Poljana."

Q. So that four of those five occasions that you mention are 
four of the ships that you mentioned this morning ? A. Yes, sir. 10

Q. And what about the fifth, or is there a fifth? I mean 
going through on the same stage of tide as you went through on 
the "Eurana"? A. I have not been able to check up the fifth 
ship, and the reason I gave five ships was that on the "Eurana," 
on the day following the accident I checked up and made a note 
then that I had been through the bridge five times at similar 
stage of tide, but the five ships at this date I can't check up defi­ 
nitely.

Q. All right. Then were you going west on all these times ? 
A. One occasion I was bound east. 20

Q. One east and three west? A. Three west, of those.
Q. You said that on three of the five occasions you noticed 

this, what you term undertow ? A. The ship " Christensen," ship 
'' Circunus,'' and the '' Golden Gate.''

Q. Were you bound west on all of these occasions? A. I 
was bound east in the case of the "Christensen."

Q. Now, just the first one, because I want particulars of 
these. What was the first in point of time of those three ? A. The 
"Christensen."

Q. When was that? A. The 23rd July. 30
Q. And you were going east ? A. Bound east.
Q. At what stage of the tide ? A. Low water slack.
Q. Low water slack. Where did you feel this undertow. 

Explain that to us ? A. When the ship was fully three-quarters 
of the way through the bridge, she set strong over to the north 
shore.

Q. How soon was the first of the flood? A. I estimated 
then I think about fifteen minutes early.

Q. I know, but I mean how soon—
A. No, late. 40
Q. Had it started when this set occurred that you speak of ? 

A. No appearance of tide at the bridge—pasing through the 
bridge.

Q. That is to say the water was absolutely slack? A. Ap­ 
parently absolutely slack.

Q. And you say there was a set while she was still in the 
bridge ? A. When she was practically through the bridge—three-
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quarters of the way through the bridge she started over to the 
north shore strong.

Q. Without any indication of that set or anything of that 
kind on the surf ace ? A. On the surf ace.

Q. Did you go back to look or did you— A. I had to stay 
with the ship.

Q. What is that 1 A. I had to stay with the ship.
Q. Yes, I understand, but if I said go aft, possibly you 

would understand me ? A. No, sir, I can't leave the bridge. 
10 Q. I see. So that you observed that from the bridge? A. 

From the bridge.
Q. Now, what was the other—the next one? A. The 

"Circunus."
Q. And that was August 8th, 1926? A. 8th, 1926.
Q. You were going west ? A. Bound west.
Q. Low slack? A. Low slack.
Q. Tide apparently quite slack—I am just reading what you 

gave, so we will understand it ? A. Yes.
Q. And evidence of first of flood underneath. Now, where 

20 were you—where was your ship when you received this evidence 
of the first of flood ? A. Probably about 400 feet from the bridge 
—from the bridge opening.

Q. What is that? A. Probably about 400 feet from the 
bridge opening.

Q. That is before you got to the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. And will you just explain the effect? A. I had to use 

a little starboard helm to make the middle of the bridge, and keep 
the starboard helm on the ship.

Q. Are you accurate in your distance, Captain, with refer-
30 ence to that 400 feet. I want to get your evidence as definitely as

possible on this point? A. Ship moving, at this stage of time,
I might be 200 feet one way, but not closer. I might have been
200 feet farther from the bridge, but not nearer.

Q. I see. So that that 400 feet from the bridge might have 
been 600. A. Might have been 600.

Q. I see. When you say 600 is that the extreme limit, or 
would it be 700. Might it be 700? A. I don't think so. I don't 
think so.

Q. Well, you would not be surprised, I suppose, whether it
40 was 600 or 700. Or would you be surprised if it were 700—I

mean as a matter of fact. Remembering of course. Captain, to
give as definite as you can. I realize— A. As definitely as I can
give you, it was between 600 and 400 feet from the bridge.

Q. Now, the next one was which—the "Golden G-ate?" 
A. "Golden Gate."

Q. August llth, 1926? A. Yes, sir.
Q. You were going west with her? A. Yes, sir.
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Q. And you say you felt this undertow on that occasion? 
A. Yes.

Q. Where was your ship when you felt that? A. Oh, I 
should say 600 feet from the bridge in this case.

Q. That is, your minimum of 400 would be in this case a 
minimum of— A. 600.

Q. 600, and just how much latitude would you give the other 
way? A. 900.

Q. It might be anywhere from 600 to 900 feet ? A, Yes.
Q. And just explain what happened ? A. Ship felt set and 10 

had to keep starboard helm—keep certain amount of starboard 
helm on to make the middle of the bridge.

Q. No indication of this at all on the surface ? A. Yes, the 
tide was showing on this occasion.

Q. What is that ? A. The tide was showing on this occas­ 
ion.

Q. The tide was showing— A. On the surface.
Q. That is, the flood had started ? A. The flood had started.
Q. In that case you say the flood was earlier than— A. Yes.
Q. —than the tide table. So the moving surface showed the 20 

incoming tide? A. Yes.
Q. And you were meeting it ? A. Yes, sir, so much so that 

it is very definitely fixed, that a scow coming down for the ship 
left Dollarton before the ship, passed by the ship and went right 
up to the bridge, she could not get through, the tide was running 
so strong, and the ship lost the tide by having to wait for the scow.

Q. And that would be surface effect, wouldn't it, so far as 
the water was concerned ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. So that the tide was then pretty strong flood ? A. Yes, 
sir. 30

Q. When your ship was between this 600 and 900 feet. And 
would you say that there was any difference in the water, that is 
between the surface and underneath as to its set or current ?

A. I wouldn't say in this case—I couldn't say.
Q. That there was any eddy? A. I couldn't say in that 

case there was any eddy.
Q. So this is not the case of an eddy at all— A. Set.
Q. Well, set—incoming tide? A. Yes.
Q. And you were meeting it, it was earlier and that is why. 

you were meeting it? A. It may have been running stronger 40 
underneath, I couldn't—impossible to tell.

Q. So we can score that out as far as undertow matter is 
concerned. How was the surface, in what direction was the cur­ 
rent of the incoming flood in this case we are speaking of? A. 
Apparently setting a little to the north shore.

Q. What was a little on the north shore, what do you mean
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by that? A. Well, at an angle with the course of the ship to RECORD 
the bridge. British Columbia

Q. Well, I mean, what do you mean by a little. I want that 
explained a little more definitely. You say the current was setting Defendant's 
a little to the north shore ? A. It might have been five degrees, Case 
might have been fifteen degrees.

Q. Not more ? A. At this stage I would not commit myself 
to anything further. (Contd.

Q. I see, so that your little means anywhere from five to 
10 fifteen degrees ? A. Fifteen degrees as regards the tide.

Q. So that as far as this undertow is concerned, apart from 
the "Eurana" case, these two instances you give are the "Circun- 
us ' ' and the ' ' Christensen ? " A. Yes.

Q. Now, in the "Christensen" case and the "Circunus" case 
do I understand that the surface water, according to your testi­ 
mony — A. Yes, sir.

Q. — was quiet? A. Apparently absolutely slack.
Q. Absolutely slack, and that you claim that there was an 

undertow effect beneath ? A. Yes, sir. 
20 Q. Any idea of how far down ? A. No.

Q. In the "Eurana" case with the same conditions actually 
occurring, that is the surface absolutely slack and the so-called 
undertow beneath? A. Yes, sir.

Q. So that those three instances were absolutely identical? 
A. No, sir.

Q. What do you say? A. No.
Q. What is that? A. No.
Q. Well, you see the point I am speaking of. Mind you I

am not saying that as a statement, T am just saying it so that you
30 may confirm it for some other question. A. In the "Eurana"

case the surface was absolutely — apparently absolutely slack, but
the strength of the undertow was —

Q. Stronger? A. Tremendously stronger.
Q. Well, apart from strength — I am not attempting to get 

anything more than information from you, Captain, at present. 
Apart from the strength — the relative strength of the undertow, 
those three instances were absolutely identical. Is that a fair 
statement? A. Comparatively so.

Q. Yes? It is not a case of the surface water going one 
40 way and the undertow going the opposite way? A. No.

Q. No. Well, now, then, from your observations, Captain, 
would you say that that was a usual thing there or not on certain 
tides — on the same tides? A. From my observations I would 
gather that on large tides those conditions exist at low water slack.

Q. That is to say — well, I presume this only needs to be 
mentioned to be agreed to, that a tide always does practically 
the same thing in the same conditions — meeting the same con­ 
ditions. That is a truism, is it not ? A. Some cases —
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Q. That is, let me put it this way, the same height of tide, or 
the same force of tide meeting the same conditions would act in the 
same way, wouldn't it? A. With the variations which are due 
to certain surges in the tide.

Q. Well, then,—
Mr. Griffin: Let him finish, please. You are really arguing 

that, so let him argue it.
Mr. Burns: I didn't mean to argue.
Mr. Griffin: Go on, finish it, Captain.
The Witness: Variations that are due to practically any tide 10 

which has certain surges, and a tide that you get on a similar foot 
tide and the next tide on the same footage, you might not get the 
same eddy or the same undercurrent.

Mr. Burns: Q. That is largely applicable to the slack or 
near slack water ? A. Close to the slack water.

Q. But take the same kind of tide at that point, for instance, 
you would naturally look, because of the tide's operations, for the 
same results ? A. I would look for the existence of that under­ 
current.

Q. Now, did you put this down to this fill, do I understand 20 
you 1? A. It is the logical cause of that eddy.

Q. By the way, I didn't get—at least, I haven't got in my 
mind the position you were in in the "Eurana" when you met 
this condition, that is the distance from the bridge. I think I 
have a note of it somewhere. Just under a thousand feet, wasn't 
it in that case. Yes, you said when you were about 1,000 feet from 
the bridge you gave her half speed to increase the helm, and then 
you gave a starboard helm, and showed undercurrent. Now, how 
soon after you gave her half speed ahead—you gave her half 
speed to increase—to aid the helm, did you feel this undercurrent ? 30 
A. Probably about 900 feet from the bridge.

Q. About 900 feet?
The Court: What order did he give them? I was looking 

at the exhibit for a moment.
Mr. Burns: Well, it could be taken this way, my lord, that 

in the "Eurana" case he felt this undercurrent when he was about 
900 feet from the bridge.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Burns: Q. When you say 900 feet I suppose you mean 

there would be some leeway both ways ? A. There would be lee- *0 
way both ways.

Q. Yes, that thousand feet might be 1200 feet—well, it 
couldn't be under 900 feet—we will put that minimum. A. I 
don't think it was over a thousand feet before she showed a sign 
of it.

Q. Well, we will say 900 to 1000 feet, would that be right? 
A. I think so.
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Q. Now, you spoke of this Knuckle, Captain.
The Court: That is exhibit 8, is it ?
Mr. Burns: Pardon me, my lord.
The Court: Is that exhibit 8 you are looking at?
Mr. Burns: Exhibit 8, my lord.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Burns: Q. You spoke of this Knuckle—
The Court: At point" A ".
Mr. Burns: Q. At point "A", just note that. In your 

opinion, has that Knuckle got any bearing on the tide affecting 
the tidal current or currents ? A. Some amount.

Q. On an ebb tide there is a certain amount of back eddy, 
dead water there, is there not—under the Knuckle? A. On the 
last of the ebb tide.

Q. Wait, I will come to the last of the ebb tide. I am 
speaking of the ebb tide that always set—or at least I mean to 
say the flowing ebb tide, there is a certain amount of back eddy, 
dead water through "A". A. I have never been close enough 
in to the Knuckle to see whether it was dead water as regards the 

20 ship or not
Q. Then you couldn't say from your observations as to 

whether there occurs or exists dead water or back eddy under 
the Knuckle. When I say under the Knuckle to the west of the 
Knuckle when you are going west. Is that right ? A. You would 
have to be pretty close in.

Q. Well, that may be so, I am asking you whether you say 
that you don't know from your observations whether that water 
that I speak of exists or not. Is that right? A Not where I 
have the ship.

30 Q. What is that? A. Not where I have taken the ship is 
there any back eddy.

Q. That again is not an answer to my question, Captain, I 
am asking you a simple question: You don't know from any 
observation you have made whether there exists dead water or 
back eddy under the Knuckle, meaning westward of the Knuckle 
on the flowing ebb tide—that is on an ebb tide. A. Between the 
Knuckle and the bridge, close in shore, yes, I have seen an eddy 
of slack water in shore.

Q. I see. Well, now, just show on the map where you did 
40 see that? A. Right about there. (Indicating.)

Q. Approximately? A. Yes.
Q. You might mark that. Mind you the evidence will show 

this. A. (Indicating.)
Q. To what extent would that be—I mean eastwardly or 

westwardly? A. None to effect the ship.
Q. I am not asking you that again, Captain. If you would 

— A. Well, sir, I have not studied the thing except—the
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tide, as to how it would affect the ship, you are asking to answer 
questions now which—to consider things—from memory, things 
which I never considered before, or had need to consider.

Q. Well, if you didn't need to consider it then there is no 
aspersion to be cast upon you if you didn't do it. All I want is 
a reply to my question, that is, a reply directed to my question, 
and that his lordship will tell you I am entitled to have. You 
can make any explanation you like, but we can't get along unless 
you apply yourself to that feature of the matter.

I was asking you to what extent—if you knew to what extent 10 
eastwardly or westwardly that dead water or back eddy that we 
have been speaking about is? A. Close in shore in—very close 
inshore for perhaps 1200 feet.

Q. 1200 feet east of the bridge? A. East of the bridge.
Q. Would you say that it goes right up to the line of the 

bridge, westwardly? A. Just back of the fill.
Q. Mind you, I am talking about an ebb tide ? A. Yes, sir, 

You didn't say which state of the ebb tide.
Q. No, no, but at some time during the ebb tide ? A. Yes.
Q. And how much—up to what point, or approximately what 20 

point eastwardly—within two or three hundred feet of the 
Knuckle? A. Well, the Knuckle is 1600 feet from the bridge 
and I said 1200.

Q. Well, it would be about 400 feet from the Knuckle ap­ 
proximately ? A. Approximately.

Q. From your observations could you say how far out that 
dead water or back eddy extends, that is, out into the stream—or 
how far out does it affect the water? A. Not farther I should 
assume then twenty-five feet draft or twenty-foot draft, depth 
of water. 30

Q. That is, there would be no effect according to your idea 
as far as this back eddy or dead water is concerned outside of 
twenty feet in depth? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And do you know how far that is from the shore ? A. It 
varies, the contour of the shore is very irregular from the bridge 
to the Knuckle.

Q. Now, Captain, on this trip down, you slowed down, you 
say at 5:54—I am directing your attention now to your trip on 
the '' Eurana ? " A. Yes, sir.

Q. Approaching the bridge at 5:54, and you signalled for 40 
the bridge very shortly after that? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Can you describe or fix the position of the ship at that 
time with reference to the land ? A. Close round the buoy.

Q. Closer to the buoy than the land ? A. Yes, sir.
Q. And what would you say, that you were midway—at 

least, between the buoy and the land, directly out—now, I am 
speaking approximately: if I want anything definite from you
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I will ask you a definite question, but I just want your approxima- RECORD 
tion—your idea approximately where you were ? BritisiTc^iumbia

Mr. Griffin: Mr. Burns, you have not given him which shore 
you are speaking of?

Mr. Burns: Well— Case
Mr. Griffin: He would have to be between the buoy and one „„ -— 

shore. SosIS6
Mr. Burns: Yes, but if my friend desires to be definite in

that respect, of course, I will, but no person would imagine for
10 a minute that he would be between the buoy and the north shore.

Q. I am showing exhibit 7 the admiralty chart, can you show 
me on this chart where the buoy it ? A. About there. (Indicat­ 
ing.)

Mr. Griffin: Mr. Burns, that is not really fair to us, it is 
not relevant—

Mr. Burns: Well, I don't want anything of the kind—it is 
better to have these things on the soundings, I think, but I want 
to have this marked if I can have it.

Q. Would you mark that—what do you say, in blue pencil— 
20 the buoy ? A. That is marked as the buoy there.

Q. Oh, is it—I see. Well, that is all right.
The CourtT Q. Is that on the east of Berry Point? 

A. East of Berry Point, sir, on the north shore.
Mr. Burns: Q. Your counsel would have you between the 

buoy and the north shore—he would have you in a great fix? 
A. Yes, but you ask me between the buoy and the shore.

Q. The buoy is as a matter of fact to the north and west of 
Berry Point, is it not ? A. North and west of Berry Point.

Q. Yes, north-east. Now, would you show me as nearly as 
30 you can while you were in there—at this point, 5:54 when you in­ 

creased your speed—when you slowed down?
The Court: Put the letter"C". That scale is pretty small, 

is it not? A. Very small, to judge distances.
The Court: Yes, it is.
Mr. Burns: Possibly we might use this other map. My friend 

suggests that this map is a little larger scale, I was wondering—I 
think it is.

Q. That would be more effective for our purposes, Captain. 
A. I think so. 

40 The Court: That is exhibit 15.

(PLAN MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 15.)
The Court: What do you call this, Mr. Burns?
Mr. Burns: It is Vancouver Harbour, British Columbia, 

1928. It has got the signature of the Vancouver Harbour Com­ 
missioners on it—the Chief engineer.

The Court: We will call it Vancouver Harbour map.
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The Witness: It is numbered 31952.
Mr. Burns: Oh, it is numbered, my lord, 31952—
Q. Well, on this map, then, Captain, you might fix if you 

could with pencil ? A, Yes.
Q. Fix first of all the buoy. Put that in red, will you, because 

the other is blue. A. (Indicating.) It can be only approximate.
Q. Yes, well, that is the understanding? A, I will call it 

"B", buoy?
The Court: Q. No, call it'' C ", because you have " B" al­ 

ready on the chart. Oh, pardon me, that is a different chart; put 10 
it "A". When I come to think of it, Mr. Burns, that may be con­ 
fusing, we have one " A " on another. Better mark that " C " now. 
A. (Indicating.)

Mr. Burns: Q. Now, you might fix approximately where 
your ship was 1 A. 5:54.

Q. 5:54, when you slowed down.
The Court: Mark that '' D ".
Mr. Burns: Mark it "D". A, (Indicating.) ShaUImake

it—
The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns:

20
A. (Indicating.)

"D".
Q. Mark it "D". 
Let me see that.
If the Registrar will mark that, I want the wit­ 

ness to make some additions to it.
Q. You signalled for the bridge, you say, very shortly after­ 

wards? A. Yes, sir.
Q. Well, what would you say?
The Court: You might have another copy of that for me 

during the intermission.
Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord. I am sorry that I haven't had this 30 

up better.
The Court: Oh, no, it is no inconvenience now.
Mr. Burns. I didn't realize that a large scale map would 

be more convenient for the court.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Burns: Q. Very shortly afterwards—you say one 

minute or half a minute—half a minute to one minute? 
A. Within the minute.

Q. Within the minute ? A. Within the minute.
Q. You signalled for the bridge, and you were fully a mile 40 

and a third from the bridge? A. Yes, sir.
Q. And would you figure under the circumstances, every­ 

thing going all right that it would take you about fifteen minutes to 
get to the bridge. That is your evidence, I take it? A. Yes, sir.

Q. When did you lay the course to the north pier, that is the 
north pier of the bascule? A. When off the buoy.

Q. That is when you got off the buoy? A. Yes, sir.
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The ship had a speed of about 

The ship had a speed of about nine

Q. You laid the course then on the north pier of the bascule, 
and carried that course until you got to the Knuckle ? A. Yes.

Q. Until you were abeam of the Knuckle or— A. Abeam 
of the Knuckle.

Q. And then you changed the course to the south pier? 
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, you say that the Knuckle is about 1600 to 1700 feet, 
could you establish that more or less on the plan ? A. You might 
establish that by the most easterly of the water mains shown 

10 there.
Q. You would say then the Knuckle was just at the point of 

the most easterly— A. Most easterly water main.
Q. Water main, that is shown on this map, exhibit 15. Now, 

when you were abreast of the Knuckle, could you say what time 
that was? A. I didn't take notes of times.

Q. I know you didn't. A. And check up—I would have to 
just figure by the distance.

Q. If you can't, just say so. I simply want to know what 
information I can get? A. No, not definite for the moment. 

20 Q- When you slowed down,jyou slowed down to a speed of 
nine knots, I understand? A. " 
nine knots.

Q. What is that? A. 
knots.

Q. Yes; and at 5:54 you rang her down with the idea of 
getting her— A. Slow. .

Q. What—what next? A. Getting her down to approach 
the bridge at about four knots.

Q. When you say approach the bridge, could you say what 
30 point in distance from the bridge you would be approaching? 

A. 500 feet from the bridge.
Q. 500 feet. Your idea then was to get her down from nine 

knots to four knots by the time you got 500 feet from the bridge ? 
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Then under those circumstances—we have fixed the 
Knuckle, what time would you say you were abreast of the Knuckle 
approximately? A. Approximately it would be about 6:03.

Q. 6:03, you say you were abreast of the Knuckle. And 
how far off the Knuckle were you? A. At the Knuckle the ship 

40 would be almost in midchannel, that is, midway between the five 
fathom contour lines.

Q. Well, now, then, would you fix your ship there at the 
Knuckle? A. Any particular marks to put on it?

Q. What? A. Do you wish me to mark this?
Q. Yes, mark it? Have you got a pencil? A. No. 

(Pencil handed to witness.)
Mr. Griffin: I might interpose to say that I think it would
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be impossible for any witness on that exhibit without the five 
fathom line to make any progress with the question, but here is 
the map that his lordship has referred to made by Mr. H. D. Pari- 
zeau, which does show the five fathom line on both sides. 

The Court: I would like to see that.
I wish you had mentioned it before.
I did mention it yesterday. (Handing map to

Mr. Burns:
Mr. Griffin: 

court.)
Mr. Burns: 

fault.
The Court:

Well, I didn't realize it. I am sorry, it is my

Yes, I think this is much better. This really 
is a proper chart.

Mr. Burns : Yes, it is a help, my lord, I didn't realize it.
The Court: Yes, I think it is the one we want.
Mr. Burns: Well, the only thing with reference to this is, 

my lord, that I can bring the witness from this last map on to this 
when he gets this point.

The Court : Yes, quite so. That will be exhibit 16. That is 
a Canadian chart, you see.

(CHART MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 16.)

Mr. Burns: Q. Now, you understand, Captain, that the 
next point that I want you to give us an approximate fix for, I 
might take you to exhibit 16 — plan exhibit 16 as that shows — it 
shows the pipe lines that you have been speaking of — the water 
mains and the bridge on a larger scale. A. Yes.

Q. Now, could you give me that? A. Yes —
Q. Better put it in blue.
The Court: Yes, "E" in blue, that carries on. We had "D", 

now, this is "E" on 16. A. (Indicating.)
Mr. Burns : Q. That would be about how far off the point 

— the Knuckle? A. That is a little over 500 feet off the shore 
line — 600 feet off the shore line approximately.

Q. Then you stated that when you were about 500 feet from 
the bridge you had to square for the middle of the draw, that is 
change in your course ? A. At that point I hauled over for the 
north pier, then I said, when past the Knuckle I hauled over on to 
the south pier.

Q. Yes, I understand that. Well, then, you say at about 
1200 feet — when you got to about 1200 feet from the bridge you 
then changed your course to the middle draw of the span? 
A. Square for the draw.

Q. Square for the draw ; at that time there was no sign of 
tide, you say ? A. No sign of tide then.

Q. That is to say, absolute slack? A. The ship — absolute 
slack.

10

2o

30
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Q. And you gave her half speed at that point? A. A little RECORD 
before then, I think.

Q. Oh, well— A. Just simply to increase her helm power.
Q. I know, I understand the reason, you gave the reason 

for the increased speed, was to increase the helm power; but where 
was the point that you did increase that speed to half? A. I 
think it was right—just after passing the most easterly water 
mains.

Q. Well, would you say just after passing the most easter­ 
ly water mains—I see you give these water mains—you gave her 
increased speed, and it was then, was it not, that the undercurrent 
showed? A. Not there.

Q. Oh, well, then, where? I am just trying to cover your 
ground ? A. When the ship was 'within a thousand feet of the 
bridge was the first sign of it.

Q. Oh, I see, then— A Between 1200 and 1,000 feet 
was the very first sign.

Q. When you increased the speed you were a greater distance 
than 1200 feet from the bridge, were you? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Well, would you say 13—14? A. 1500.
Q. 15—1500 feet? A. 1500 feet.
Q. And it was when you got to 1,000 feet aproximately, that 

you felt this undertow ? A. The first sign of the undertow.
Q. Now, do you know the time. I suppose the way you felt 

the undertow was the swinging of your ship? A. The first 
suspicion was, having given the ship a little starboard helm, she 
didn't answer that helm, she kept absolutely plumb.

Q. Well, then, when did she take this sheer that you speak 
of? A. Not till she was 600 feet—600 feet from the bridge she 
started to sheer.

Q. 600 feet? A. 600.
Q. By the way, there is one question I want to ask you with 

reference to that buoy: could you give the distance approximately 
that you were from the buoy when you passed ? A. Might have 
been 300 feet, might have been only 200.

Q. Not more than 300? A. I don't think it was more than 
300, but I have no—I could check that up from the chart better 
than I can by memory.

Mr. Griffin: What distance was that, Mr. Burns, please. I 
didn't catch the question.

Mr. Burns: The distance he left the buoy on his starboard.
Q. From the chart, which chart—the admiralty chart? 

A. From the admiralty chart.
Q. Well, you have it there ? A. This chart would be about 

600.
Q. That is, you had passed the buoy about 600 feet from it 

—600 feet to the south of it? A. Yes.



104

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

W. Wingate 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)

20

RECORD Q. Now, then, we are here, Captain, at 1,000 feet, you felt 
the effect of the undertow to the extent of having put on some 

_ starboard helm, and that carried along until she was about 600 
Defendant's feet from the bridge when you felt this sheer. Is that so? 
Case A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was anything done so far as the engines were concerned 
in that period ? A. The engines were put full ahead.

Q. When were they put full ahead ? A. I think it was 6:05.
Q. And where were you when they were put full ahead? 

A. About 800 feet from the bridge. 10
Q. About 800 feet. So that you increased the speed to full 

at 800 feet from the bridge 1 A. 800 feet from the bridge.
Q. And you say you did that to help the helm, did you? 

A. To help the helm.
Q. And did it help the helm? A. It did not.
Q. It did not help it? A. It helped the helm, but it wasn't 

sufficient to save the ship.
Q. Well, you see, you haven't got near the point yet that 

you are addressing your mind to, witness, I think. I am referring 
to the time the engines were put to full? A. Yes, sir.

Q. About 800 feet? A. From the bridge.
Q. Yes, before you had made this sheer we speak of? 

A. Yes.
Q. That is right, is it not, or is that—were the engines put 

full ahead in order to counteract this sheer. Is that right? 
A. She was feeling the undercurrent.

Q. Yes, oh, I understand that. Well, you felt this under­ 
current— or this undertow from a thousand feet down to 600 feet, 
did you get as strong a sheer at 600 feet, it was a strong undertow ? A. 'Yes— 30

Q. Am I right in that?
The Court: Excuse me, Mr. Burns, I notice the witness was 

using the same expression here, underflow or undertow.
Mr. Burns: Undertow, yes.
The Court: That is quite a different thing. Underflow you 

said.
The Witness: Undercurrent, sir.
The Court: That is what I mean, because undertow is a back 

flow, you see.
Mr. Burns: Yes, I quite understand, and as a matter of fact 40 

I remarked it myself—at least, I thought it was a misuse of the 
word.

The Court: Yes, I was just wondering whether I heard you 
or the witness correctly.

Mr. Burns: Well, undertow has been used by both of us, my 
lord, and I have accepted it, although I am critical of it, because 
it was used by the witness.
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The Court : Q. You had better explain to the learned coun- RECORD 
sel what exactly you mean, you see, as undertow ordinarily speak- British Columbia 
ing is not of course — is a flow backwards. You do not mean that, Admiralty Dht. 
do you? A. I have spoken of the direction, my lord, as being Defendant's
across the bridge to the north.

Q. Well, that is what I mean ? A. Yes.
Q. But now get your mind in touch with the learned coun- 

sel. He is using the term that as I say — and you have used it, 
that is what I don 't know whether you really mean what you say 

10 here, just define it. You talk about undertow as a backward flow. 
Now, I understand what you mean is that this was an under­ 
current, that is a forward or across flow. A. Across channel, sir.

The Court : That is it, that is not undertow, you know. That 
is undercurrent or underflow, but not tow.

Mr. Burns: Quite true, my lord. I noted the difference 
when the Captain was using that.

The Court: Oh, yes, it is not your fault, Mr. Burns, not at 
all. I do not mean it is anybody's fault, but I want to know 
exactly what he means.

20 Mr. Burns. I quite agree and I would suggest that he settle 
it now.

The Court : Yes, just get it definite now. You get the definite 
— just the exact expression which will illustrate his meaning.

Mr. Burns: You suggest undercurrent? A. Yes, sir.
The Court : That is the idea.
Mr. Burns : We will speak of undercurrent then.
The Court: Yes: that is better, I do not think I will mis­ 

understand it now.
Mr. Burns: If I used undertow different times I followed 

30 it by using undercurrent, because I didn't like the word.
The Court : Yes, I know, Mr. Burns. You see my observa­ 

tions are no reflection at all upon your words, but I just thought 
at the time, this case is very important, it might go further, and 
it might be — there is an important word, it was not as correct, that 
is what I had in view, that it was an antagonistic expression which 
might convey a false impression of the racing, so to speak, of the 
current backwards through the bridge instead of forward.

Mr. Burns : Q. Now, Captain, in order to correct the notes 
of your evidence and so on along this line, the understanding is 

40 that where the word "undertow" has been used, "undercurrent' 
was meant? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Then the question of direction and that sort of thing 
could be settled, depending — in each particular case.

Now, then, I understand you to say — mind you these distances 
are approximate — certainly I don't suggest a foot in 600 feet, I 
don't mean that, but we are just trying to get an approximation 
to understand the situation. But you say from 1000 feet to 600

Case

(Contd.
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feet you felt this undercurrent that has been described, but that 
at 600 feet it became so strong—or at least it gave the ship a 
sudden sheer, that is, I think, the expression you used? A. Yes, 
sir.

Q. Now, between 1000 feet and 600 feet—approximately 
800 feet, you gave the engines full ahead? A. Yes, sir.

Q. At that time did the order have the effect of keeping 
her straight—help the helm to the extent of keeping her straight ? 
A. Momentarily.

Q. When you say momentarily, what do you mean ? A. On 10 
the completion of the order the ship's head was still holding her 
own.

Q. Holding her own, on her own course ? A. On her own 
course.

Q. But as you say only that helped—the starboard helm 
and the engines full ahead, is that right 1 A. Yes.

Q. And for how long did that occur—or continue, rather. 
A. Perhaps a little over a minute—not over a minute. Within 
the two minutes the ship showed so strong a sheer that we did not 
expect her—could not expect her— 20

The Court: Do not drop your voice, you know, at the most 
crucial part. You said for a minute the ship had—repeat that— 
the ship had shown so strong a sheer, that what? A. That it 
didn't seem possible she could recover sufficiently to go through 
the bridge.

Q. Now, just exactly—I don't know whether you gave it 
to the learned counsel, I did not catch it exactly, how far would 
you be from the bridge when that occurred? A. At the be­ 
ginning, about 800 feet, and at the end, perhaps 500 feet.

Mr. Burns: Q. So that we have this picture, Captain, now, 30 
haven't we, that you commenced to think that she showed when 
you were about 800 feet from the bridge, first ? A. At 800 feet, 
I had no cause to believe that the ship would not go through the 
bridge as I had taken others before.

Q. Well, then, when was it, or what distance were you from 
the bridge when you came to the other conclusion? A. About 
500 feet.

Q. After this sudden sheer? A. Yes, sir.
Q. You said it was 600 before, but that is approximate? 

A. Well— 40
Q. Now, between 1,000 feet and 600 feet you had got an 

effect I am assuming, from this undercurrent to such an extent 
as first of all you had to give her starboard helm definitely— 
A. Very little.

Q. To counteract it? A. At first.
Q. Well, increasingly, well I put it that way, increasingly 

giving her starboard helm? A. Yes, sir.
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Q. And that is correct, is it, Captain, that from the time you RECORD 
first felt this undercurrent you applied the well known act of BritisiTc^iumbi 
giving her starboard helm to counteract—helping her to steer? Admiralty Din. 
A. Yes, sir. Defeat's

Q. And so far as that operation was concerned, as the ship Case 
went on that was increasingly necessary; in other words, to give —
her more starboard helm to keep her straight, is that right ? r' WmSateA XT L j. j. j_ J.-T jj i °7 e Cross-exam.A. Not to any extent until suddenly. (Contd.)

Q. That is to say so far as the starboard helm is concerned, 
10 could you say how much starboard you gave her 1 A. I expected 

her to swing before—possibly five degrees of helm. The order I 
gave was a little starboard helm.

Q. I see, so that the result of that would be approximately 
five degrees. Did you increase that in orders from that time until 
the sudden sheer? A. Yes, sir, on giving the order full ahead— 
about the same time as full speed ahead.

Q. Now, let me see, is this right: You gave her a little 
starboard helm at 1,000 feet; you gave the order full ahead at 800 
feet, then at 800 feet you also increased the starboard helm? 

20 A. Yes, sir.
Q. Is that right? A. Yes, sir.
Q. With what result, from between 800 feet and 600 feet? 

A. The ship began to come against her helm.
Q. What is that? A. The ship began to come against her 

helm.
Q. In spite of it? A. In spite of it.
Q. Did that show immediately, or approximately immediate­ 

ly? A. Gradually, I think, rapidly.
Q. Until finally at 600 feet or approximately between 500 

30 and 600 feet, say, you say you had this sudden sheer? A. Yes, 
sir.

Q. And then it was that you ordered to let go the anchors ? 
A. After the ship's bow had passed the direction of the north 
pier.

Q. Yes, but previous to that, when you were 800 feet away, 
you gave the order more starboard helm and full speed ahead, 
you figured that that would counteract— A. Get her clear—

Q. Yes, naturally, because those were the orders you gave, 
and you saw then that that was not sufficient. You realized that 

40 was not sufficient, for instance, for the sudden sheer? A. No. 
sir.

Q. Was she holding then? A. How could I tell?
Q. Well, mind you, just say no if you want to? A. No,

sir.
Q. So far as the distance she went between the time you 

gave full ahead and more starboard helm and the sudden sheer, 
you figured that she would be all right, did you? A. I didn't 
just get that clearly.
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Q. I say up to the time of the sudden sheer did you figure 
that those things that you had done would be sufficient ? A. Yes, 
sir.

Q. And it was not until the sudden sheer came that you 
realized it was not. Now, this sudden sheer, Captain, was that 
a matter of a gradually increasing force, or was it a sudden 
application of force? A. It must have been a fairly sudden 
application.

Q. I couldn't imagine you giving any other answer in view 
of what has been stated. In other words, at 600 feet or ap- 
proximately 600 feet there must have been some force applied of 
a definite nature? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And then quite strongly, on that line of demarcation 
plain between that force and the force that you had been counter­ 
acting in the way you have described. That is right, is it not? 
A. Yes, sir.

Q. And as a result of that when you met this force and 
the ship took that sudden sheer, then there was no question in 
your mind at once that you could not make that bridge ? A. Yes, 
sir.

Q. And the only thing you could think of then was to save 
the ship? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Or make the impact as light as possible. Now, then, could 
you place on that last map, exhibit 16 — just point where you were 
when you made this sudden sheer. I mean, when I say this point 
again, it is only approximate, of course? A. Blue?

Q. Yes, you can mark it blue ? A. (Indicating.)
Q. That would be "F"? A. (Indicating.)
The Court : Yes, that is right.
Mr. Burns : Q. Now, in marking that point, Captain — does 

your lordship want to see this ?
The Court : Yes, thanks.
Mr. Burns: Q. In marking that point, witness, you have 

used a ruler and dividers, and have you marked it out from some 
figures or facts in your mind? Could you explain to me just 
what you did? A. I measured 800 feet from the bridge. You 
asked me to mark the point.

Q. Mind you I just merely want to get an understanding 
of this as we go along ? A. I measured 800 feet from the bridge 
and made a mark on the chart.

Q. That is it, then, did you measure from the shore, too? 
A. I did.

Q. What measurement was that? A. About 150 feet off 
the 25-fathom line.

Mr. Griffin: The 5-fathom line. A. The 30-fathom line.
Mr. Burns: Q. Which? A. The 30-fathom line.

.10

20

30
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Mr. Griffin: Q. What is that? A. Th$ 30-foot line, I RECORD 
mean.

Mr. Burns:
The Court:
Mr. Burns:
Mr. Griffin: 

it right.
M.T. Burns: 

ing with him.
Q. So that you understand, witness, I am simply seeking 

information, and it is not that I am casting any aspersions on 
you at all, I want to know now how you get the 30 foot line by 
using the dividers from the shore as you did. Isn't the 30 feet 
shown in the chart"? A. It is shown on the chart, yes.

The Court: Yes, that is right, Mr. Burns, the Canadian 
charts are shown in feet, the admiralty charts are shown in fa­ 
thoms.

Mr. Burns: Q. Yes, so that thirty-foot line is shown on this 
chart? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What operation were you doing there ? What operation 
of your using the dividers from the fix of your ship to the shore— 
or to get the fix of your ship from the shore ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What operation were you doing there ? What operation 
were you doing there? A. Measuring the distance from the 
shore.

Q. Oh, well, what was the distance from the shore. A. Ap­ 
proximately 150 feet from the thirty-foot line.

Q. Oh, I see. Approximately 150 feet from the thirty-foot 
line? A. From the thirty-foot line.

Q. I see; and that is the point where you made this sudden 
sheer ? A. That is where it really began.

Q. And you realize that you could not make the gate? 
A. Maybe realized, and maybe a little after that.

Q. Well, how long after? A. A minute,
Q. And how far had you gone ? A. 400 feet.
Q. What? A. 400'feet to 350 feet.
Q. That is bringing it down to 450 to 400 feet from the 

bridge? A. Yes.
Q. Before you said it was 5 to 600 feet? A. Well, each 

of those measurements I understand you asked me are agreed on 
as approximate.

Q. Absolutely, absolutely, but the only reason I spoke of 
it is because you used the other amount—the other figure before, 
and I want to keep you using the same figures or know the reason 
why you change, that is all. A. Yes.

Q. Although they are all approximate. Can you answer 
this question again: When did you realize, or where were you
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from this fixed point "F" when you realized you could not make 
the opening ? A. During the next minute.

Q. I said where were you in relation to this fixed point'' F " ? 
A. Well, I have already said, 600 feet from the bridge.

Q. 600 feet from the bridge? A. From the bridge.
Q. Yes, using the same class of figures, you had gone 500 

feet from this point? A. Well—
Q. That is right? A. It looks like it.
Q. And you didn't come to any realization of that kind 

between this point" F" and the 200 feet when you hit the sudden 10 
sheer. It was only when that sudden sheer—at least, the sudden 
undercurrent gave you the sudden sheer that you realized that. Is 
that correctly put? Or did you have a suspicion of it before? 
A. It is very difficult to explain to you, sir, that ship—I had 
given the ship full ahead and the helm.

Q. Yes? A. And all those orders have to go through 
different channels. They are performed by other people, and you 
must allow a little tune for your orders to have some effect.

Q. Yes? A. And that you can't come, on a ship, to any 
very sudden decisions, or are you thinking this one moment and 2° 
another thing the next moment.

Q. Well, then, that— A. But approximately one minute 
after the ship's engines had been given full ahead I realized that 
the ship would not make the bridge. There was imminent danger 
then of collision.

Q. Yes, and that was because, you say, of this sudden sheer ? 
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, then, did you come to this point in your mind, that 
after you had given the order full ahead and more starboard helm, 
that that seemed to be enough for the time being. You say that it 30 
takes time for orders to get down. A. Yes, sir.

Q. A certain short time must elapse ? A. Yes.
Q. Until you get the effect of the orders ? A. Yes.
Q. Now, when you get the effect of these orders, which you 

must have done in the distance— A. Yes, sir.
Q. And time, did you figure that as enough? A. I figured 

that was the proper things to have done.
Q. I am not quarrelling with what you did, but I am asking 

you now as to whether you thought at the time that was enough, 
when you had got the effect of these orders on the ship. Was 40 
that sufficient in your mind at that particular time ? A. It was.

Q. It was; and was sufficient in your mind up to the point 
of this sudden sheer, is that right? A. It was.

Q. Can you give any evidence or data as to the extent of the 
direction of your ship this sudden sheer was responsible for, that 
is, how far did it swing your bow, for instance ? A. In how long ? 
If I may put the question.
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Q. Well, answer it your own way? A. She swung from a RECORD 

course plumb for the middle of the draw and she never stopped British~c^iumbia 
swinging till she was headed right into the middle of the fixed

Very fast as her head passedQ. Did she swing fast? A. 
the north pier of the bascule span.

Q. Well, I mean, did she swing fast at the first? A. She 
must begin, sir, and in the beginning the motion has to start 
slowly.

10 Q. Yes, in a big ship like that, I understand that. Con­ 
sidering the ship and considering the way she answers her helm 
and all that sort of thing, her conditions, would you say that she 
swung fast ? A. I would.

Q. I don't mean as fast as a launch or anything? A. I 
would.

Q. But she immediately swung fast, comparatively speak­ 
ing ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. When was the point that you came to the conclusion that 
she could not make the opening? You didn't come to that con- 

20 elusion right at the start when she started to swing, did you? 
A. No.

Q. Well, then, I suppose, some little time elapsed between ? 
A. I have answered that question.

Q. Well, answer it again, then? A. About 500 feet from 
the bridge.

Q. Well, I am speaking of tune now, you see ? A. About 
6:07.

Q. What is that ? A. About approximately seven minutes 
past six.

30 Q- Well, could you say this, how long in time, even in se­ 
conds, I don't care within a few seconds or minutes, about how 
long after she had started swinging in the way you have described 
had she got to such a point that you concluded you could not correct 
her. A. About twenty seconds.

Q. About twenty seconds. It was then that you ordered the 
anchors lowered, was it? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Would this be fair, put it this way, that as soon as she 
started to swing you gave up ? A. Almost immediately.

Q. Almost immediately? A. Yes.
40 Q. So that this force that hit her was so abnormal that as 

soon as it hither you practically gave up? A. Yes, sir.
Q. Of course, the natural thing, in navigating in the situation 

you were in there, would be to help your helm, wouldn't it, if you 
could. It wouldn't have been a bad idea, I am just suggesting 
that — A. No, sir, I do think I know what you are driving at —

Q. Well, I am going to ask you, wouldn't the natural thing 
be for you to have dropped your port anchor? A. Not under 
those circumstances.

Defendant's 
Case

W. Wingate 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)
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Q. Why? A. Because I think that the immediate result 
would have been a crash on the north pier of the draw.

The Court: Q. Would have been what ? A. Crash on the 
north pier of the draw.

Mr. Burns: Q. As a matter of fact, that is a regular pro­ 
cedure, is it not, where a ship is not obeying her helm? A. I 
often do it, sir, but not under those circumstances.

Q. When making a wharf or any difficult position?
A. Yes, I have often done it.
Q. But you figured you were going to hit the bridge anyway, 10 

didn't you? A. There was a chance if the holding ground was 
good that the ship might not hit the bridge, or might hit it so 
easily that the damage would be minor.

Q. There was a chance and a good one, wasn't there, Captain 
—A. Yes, sir.

Q. —if you dropped your port anchor and added to the help 
you had given your helm ? A. Never made the bridge, sir.

Q. I suggest to you that is the usual thing to be done in 
circumstances of that kind? A. Not in similar circumstances.

Q. Would you say the point where you felt this under- 20 
current and it gave you the sheer would be just approximately the 
same distance from the shore as your fix "F". A. I think the 
fix "F" is where I felt the undercurrent.

Q. Well, that is where you hit it ? A. Yes, that is where I 
hit it.

Q. Where she hit it? A. Where I felt it.
Q. What speed would you say the ship was going at when 

this undercurrent hit her, that is, when the strong undercurrent 
hit her? A. Four—four and a half knots.

Q. Would the undercurrent that you had been meeting pre- 30 
vious to the strong one—I am using strong in contradistinction 
to the undercurrent that you had been meeting up to that point— 
A. Yes.

Q. Would the undercurrent that you had been meeting pre­ 
vious to the strong one have the effect of retarding the way of the 
ship ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And the strong undercurrent would have the same effect, 
would it—whatever effect on the way of a ship is concerned, it 
would be retarding, would it? A. The first current, I think 
might have been a little more northeasterly. The second current 40 
would be more northerly and wouldn't have the same effect of 
retarding the way of the ship, as being diagonally across the line 
of the ship.

Q. You figured that you were going down against this one 
undercurrent which was northeasterly, and then you hit another 
current entirely— A. It gradually changed its direction to a 
more northerly direction.
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Q. Well, if it gradually changed then it was the same current RECORD 
—the same undercurrent, was it? A. The same salt water within BritisiTc^iumbi
800 feet. Admiralty Disl.

Q. But an added force, is that it? A. Yes, sir. Defendant's 
Q. Now, you let go both anchors as soon as she sheered, did Case 

you, practically? A. Yes, sir, as soon as the ship sheered past ^ T— 
the pier. wmgate

Q. How much cable or chain did you give her—give the port, (Contd.j 
for instance ? A. 75 fathom chain when she was brought up on 

10 the port anchor.
Q. I know that. You have given that evidence. I am asking 

you your order to lower the anchors, what chain did you give the 
port anchor? A. Shortly after the anchors were let go orders 
were given to check cables.

Q. Yes, but the idea of giving her all the chain you could, 
if you would answer me that question without— A. No, sir, I 
couldn't.

Q. Well, then, the order was given to check ? A. Yes, sir.
Q. Cables, with the idea of— A. Stopping the ship. 

20 Q. Of stopping the length of the cable given to the anchor, 
was it not? A. No, stopping the ship. The anchors were let 
go for that, sir, not with any—it might have taken a hundred 
fathoms chain, it might have—45 fathoms might have been suffi­ 
cient.

Q. Let us see if I can make myself clear, witness. You gave 
the order that the anchor should be let go? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Then subsequently you gave the order to check them? 
A. Yes.

Q. Check the chain? A. Yes, sir.
30 Q. That was with the idea that enough chain had got out, 

was it not, that there had been enough chain given ? A. No, sir.
Q. Well, what was the idea of checking the chain ? A. Put­ 

ting the weight on it, sir, immediately, as soon as the anchor has 
a chance to get a fair grip of the bottom, you then put weight on 
the chain.

Q. All right. Then, what length of chain can you say had 
been given her at that point. That is my question in the first 
place ? A. I think 30 fathoms of chain.

Q. You think thirty fathoms of chain, that is the port? 
40 A. Before she felt the weight of the brakes.

Q. That is the port, is it ? A. Port and starboard.
Q. Both? A. Yes, sir.
Q. What was the depth of water you calculated ? A. Fifty 

feet, first—fifty to sixty—fifty feet of water.
Q. And you let more out on the port as you went on—on the 

port anchor, let more chain out ? A. No, sir, that is not the pro­ 
per answer.
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The Court: 
Mr. Griffin 

my lord.
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin:

What is it called—let me see that big blue print. 
If your lordship pleases, may I interrupt my 

friend to suggest this that for graphic reference there is a splendid 
photograph of the bridge.

20

Q. Well, give the proper answer. I am trying to help out— 
A. The anchors were checked; starboard cable, we succeeded in 
braking her at 45 fathoms.

The Court: Q. What? A. In braking the cable at 45 
fathoms. There was so much weight on the port anchor that they 
could not stop that chain going until 75 fathoms of chain went put.

Mr. Burns: Q. So that 75 fathoms was given her right 
away practically under those circumstances, is that so ? A. That 
lead gives a wrong impression, sir.

Q. Well, then, correct it, I don't want anything more than 10 
information, but give it to me, if you see what I want, answer it. 
A. The impression is that the port cable was doing its work in 
pulling up the ship.

Q. Yes ? A. But the starboard chain had not got the same 
grip on the bottom, it was dragging—was dredging.

Q. Well, did the port anchor then have any effect on the 
bow of the ship—on her direction? A. A little at the end.

Q. That is after she got a firm hold ? A. When her nose— 
when the ship's nose was just going under the bridge she ceased 
then to swing.

Q. She went under the bridge at an angle of forty-five de­ 
grees? A. Yes, sir.

Q. That is, the steam was northwesterly and the stern south­ 
easterly? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Approximately. Now, then, what did you do when the 
vessel struck—I mean I suppose you were getting out of the way, 
or something ? A. I got off the bridge before the bridge was hit.

Q. Yes. Well, then, when was it that you took note of the 
tide—how long after the ship hit? A. As soon as I got on the 
main deck off the bridge.

Q. And what did you see then as to the tide ? A. There 
was a slight sign of flood on the north pier of the bascule draw. 
There was a slight sign of ebb tide on the north pier of the fixed 
span.

The Court: Repeat that again, I did not get that. You said 
first you noticed a slight sign of flood where? A. On the north 
pier of the bascule draw.

Q. Yes, and— A. A slight sign of ebb on the north pier of 
the fixed span.

Q. Give me that? A. That will be the next pier to the 
north, my lord.

I beg your pardon?
That would be just the next pier to the north,

30

40
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The Court: 
thank you.

Mr. Griffin: 
book.

The Court:

I was just wondering if there was one. Yes, 

You might put that in and take it out of the

RECORD

Q. Now, look at exhibit 8, witness, and just 
repeat what you said with reference to that. You see the bascule 
marked in red there? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Yes, well, then, just give me the numbers of the piers 
according to that exhibit 8, you see. When you struck you got off 

10 the bridge and you noticed some sign of flood on the north pier 
of the bascule draw. A. Pier No. 2. 

Q. What? A. Pier No. 2.
Pier No. 2, yes? A. And a slight sign of ebb on Pier

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Defendant's 
Case

Yes, on or off? A. On—against the pile—against the

Q.
No. 1.

Q.
pier, sir.

The Court: Yes, now, let me see that. Yes, Mr. Burns excuse 
me for interrupting.

Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord, that just gives the information I 
20 desire to get.

Q. So far as the north pier—that is the north to the star­ 
board of the ship ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. You describe that as a slight drain to westward? A. 
Yes, sir.

Q. You did that yesterday, I wanted to check that up. How 
soon after the accident would you say that you observed this? 
A. Within a minute after the engines was stopped—within the 
next minute.

Q. When did the engines stop with reference to hitting the 
30 bridge, or can you say how soon after hitting the bridge ? A. Stop­ 

ped immediately after the ship was brought up.
Q. Well, how soon after hitting the bridge did you make 

this observation with reference to the tide ? A. Within the next 
minute.

Q. But you say that the engines stopped immediately the 
ship— A. Brought up.

Q. Hit the bridge? A. No, sir, the engines were going— 
kept going astern until the ship was finally stopped.

Q. Stopped by going into the bridge ? A. And the anchors. 
40 Q. All right; then the engines stopped? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Then you say that you observed the tide about a minute 
after the engines stopped ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And then subsequently you say that you observed the 
tide about a minute after the vessel hit the bridge. Now, I want 
to get the time after the vessel hit the bridge, about how long after 
the vessel hit the bridge? A. I suppose about three minutes 
after she first hit the bridge.

W. Wingate 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)
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Q. About three minutes and you say that there was definite 
evidence of the tide flooding at the north pier of the bascule ? A. 
Yes, sir.

Q. You could see the current going 1? A. Yes, sir—you 
could just see it by being close to the water. If I had been on top 
of the bridge I don't think I could have detected that movement. 
The ship's rail then was quite close to the water.

Mr. Burns: That is all, thank you.
Mr. Smith: If your lordship pleases, there are two questions 

I forgot to ask the witness. I would like to ask him now. 10
Q. Witness, is the bridge an impediment to navigation ? A. 

Yes, sir.
Q. Is it a menace to navigation?
Mr. Burns: That is a question that has to be decided in 

this case if at all.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Smith: Well, I just desire to have it on record pro forma 

for what it may be worth, my lord, and that is the witness' opin­ 
ion, it is in fact an impediment to navigation.

Mr. Burns: Well, I submit that all this witness could give 2° 
amounts to his experience.

The Court: It is rather a peculiar question, Mr. Smith, I 
am debating—I mean I am wondering if there is really any ob­ 
jection to it. Of course, I have really to decide, you know, be­ 
cause that is for me to determine.

Mr. Smith: Well, there are, of course, my lord, instances 
where bridges are built—

The Court: I do not wish to say, you know, from that aspect 
you might not ask it, because, of course, you are bearing in mind 
Section 8 of the Charter—I think you used the expression obstruc- 30 
tion to navigation.

Mr. Smith: Yes, my lord.
The Court: But in that limited way, I dp not know, Mr. 

Burns, that it would be proper to reject it, but just exactly what 
is the weight I cannot say unless it is borne out by the facts in 
detail, I must say I do not see; but it is purely an expression of 
his opinion. I do not think the question is really technically ob­ 
jectionable, so I will allow it. You might frame it again. What 
do you wish now exactly to ask him, just reframe that.

Mr. Smith: Well, I shall reframe it in this way: Whether 40 
in the opinion of the witness this bridge is an obstruction to navi­ 
gation.

Q. Will you answer it, witness ? A. Yes, sir.
Mr. Smith: That is all.
The Court: Now, Mr. Burns, of course, you can ask him if 

you wish any question on that.
Mr. Burns: Pardon me, my lord.
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The Court: You may ask him if you wish any question on RECORD 

that because it is an indulgence that Mr. Smith asks, that he over- British Columbia 
looked. It is open to you now if you see fit to cross-examine on Mmiralty Dist- 
that. Defendant's

Mr. Burns: No questions, my lord. Case
The Court: Q. Just one moment. Now, these other ships ™ _^— 

that you have mentioned, witness, when you were on board, when in cross-exam^ 
charge of them you noticed there was this undercurrent, were any (Contd.j 
of them of a size approaching this vessel? A. In tonnage the 

10 "Circunus," very closely approximate.
Q. What do you mean by that? A. Her net tonnage is 

very much the same.
Q. Yes? A. The "Golden Gate" would be about 500 tons 

less net tonnage. The "L. A. Christensen" and the "Poljana," 
about the same as the "Golden Gate."

Q. Now, then, as to their length? A. The "Circunus" 
would be about the same length, or perhaps a little longer.

Q. And the other two? A. A little—a little shorter, not 
more than ten or fifteen feet.

20 Q. How much water do they draw as compared to this ves­ 
sel? Were they laden at the time? A. The draft—I gave in 
the instance of the "Circunus," it was drawing 24 feet.

Q. Yes, I remember that? A. The "Golden Gate" was 
drawing 22 feet 6.

Q. Wait a moment. Yes. A. The "Pol j ana "was drawing 
19 feet.

Q. Yes ? A. I haven't a record of the " L. A. Christensen,'' 
but I should say it was about 17 feet 6.

Q. Is that L. A. or Ella? A. No, L. A., initials. 
30 The Court: L. A., yes. That is all, thank you.

(Witness aside).
Mr. Smith: My lord, we have one very short witness we 

might take now, Mr. Hermon—about five minutes only.

JAMES WILLIAM HERMON, a witness called on behalf of J-W. Hermon 
the Defendant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:
This is a copy of ex-Q. You are familiar with this chart, 

hibit 8 which I have here.
The Court: Let me look at exhibit 8.

Q. Yes, this is exhibit 8. You are familiar
(Handing chart to witness). A. Yes.
Where does he live and what is his occupation ?
Q. Yes, what is your occupation, Mr. Hermon ? 

British Columbia Land Surveyor. 
Q. And where do you live ? A. Vancouver, office 429 Ham­ 

ilton Street.

Mr. Smith: 
with that chart. 

The Court: 
Mr. Smith: 

A.
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Q. And how long have you carried out the profession of sur- 
Columbia veyor? A. Oh, for—since 1919, about 9 years—10 years. 

Q. Speak up, witness ? A. Nine or ten years. 
Q. And in the course of your professional duties have you 

made surveys at the localities of the Second Narrows Bridge ? A. 
I have.

Q. You are familiar with this plan, exhibit 8 ? A. Yes. 
Q. And did you in company with a Mr. Cameron make sound­ 

ings on the east of the Second Narrows Bridge at the location 
where it is shown as marked there ? A. Yes.

Q. Is this the plan that you agreed upon with Mr. Cameron 
as being the correct plan of the soundings at that time ? A. Yes, 
sir, that is the plan.

The Court: Q. Who is the man he made that with ? 
Mr. Donald Cameron. 
How do you spell that. 
Donald Cameron, my lord. I think my friend

Mr. Smith: 
The Court: 
Mr. Smith: 

will admit this. 
Mr. Burns 
Mr. Smith:

10

Oh, yes.
There is no question about that, so that I tender 

this plan showing the contour of the land referred to by your 
lordship—the 30 foot contour line, as exhibit 17,1 think.

(PLAN MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 17)
Q. And did you in February, 1925, survey the bridge in its 

then site? A. Yes.
Q. Is this a correct plan of the site of the building of the 

bridge then, with more particular reference to the south shore 
and the fill in at the south shore ? A. Yes, it is.

Q. And is the filling in today exactly as it is shown on that 
plan? A. No, there is a little more fill today than there was 
then.

Q. But otherwise is it the same? A. Otherwise it is the 
same.

Mr. Burns: What is the date ?
Mr. Smith: February, 1925. Exhibit 18.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 18)
Q. Now, did you take the harbour plan, which is exhibit 8, 

and upon that plan plot firstly the soundings on the east of the 
bridge, and secondly, the fill in which I referred to on the last 
exhibit, to the south of the bridge ? A. Yes, I did.

Q. Is this the result then of having these two things trans­ 
planted? A. Yes.

Q. So that this plan then which I am now tendering as an ex­ 
hibit is simply the harbour plan, exhibit 8, plus the contour line

30
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showing the soundings at the shoal, plus the fill in at the south end RECORD 
of the bridge? A. Yes. Brhh

Mr. Smith: I show that to your lordship—just for the pur- Admiralty Dht. 
pose of handy reference, my lord. Defendant's

The Court: Yes, very good. Case
Mr. Smith: I tender that as the next exhibit. T m—]. W. Hermon

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 19) ^(Qmtd.)
Mr. Burns: No questions, my lord. 
(Witness aside).

10 The Court: Have you any other short witness, Mr. Smith? 
Mr. Smith: No, my lord.
The Court: I think you said no cross-examination, I think, 

Mr. Burns.
Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord.
The Court: We will adjourn then, Mr. Registrar.

(COURT ADJOURNED AT 12:55 P.M. UNTIL 2:15 P.M. 
OF THE SAME DAY.)

Vancouver, B. C., September 27, 1928, 2:15 p.m. 

(COURT RESUMED PURSUANT TO ADJOURNMENT) 

20 Mr. Griffin: Mr. Cleveland.

ERNEST ALBERT CLEVELAND, a witness called on behalf E.A.Cleveland 
of the Defendant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows: Direct.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Q. Mr. Cleveland, you are a civil engineer and formerly 

practised your profession in the City of Vancouver ? A. Yes.
Q. And your firm when you were in business was Cleveland 

& Cameron? A: Yes.
Q. Of which Mr. Donald Cameron was the other member? 

A. Yes. 
30 Q. You are not now practising your profession ? A. No.

Q. But in the year 1912 you prepared, your firm of Cleveland 
& Cameron prepared in conjunction with Sir John Wolfe Barry 
and partners plans of a bridge across the Second Narrows? 
A. Yes.

The Court: 1912?
Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord.
Mr. Burns: I am very sorry, they are in the office. How­ 

ever, I am quite satisfied. You can use these—
Mr. Griffin: Well, I think they are common ground. My
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learned friend is undertaking to produce them. I have not them 
and I do not think it will be necessary to do more than identify 
them. I will do that when they arrive.

Q. Just to put it on record, those plans provide for a centre 
span, two centre spans, each having — no, I amend that again, one 
centre span, but having two openings of 225 feet each on each side 
of the centre or fender pile ? A. That is so.

Q. The general height of the bridge, what height ? A. 45 
feet above ordinary high water.

Q. The one I am showing you is not the same one, but will 
serve for the purpose of illustration —

The Registrar: Shall I mark the plan, exhibit 20, when it 
comes, my lord. I will reserve it.

Mr. Griffin : May I put this on the Bench.
The Court: Yes, please.
Mr. Griffin : Q. The one which I show you until the arrival 

of the real one is one made by the Canadian Bridge Company 
Limited of Ontario, but possibly your memory will enable you to 
say that is substantially the same ? A. Yes, it is substantially the 
same. The length of the centre span over all is —

Q. Not identical, but very similar? A. Approximately the 
same. The two openings are the same.

Q. Now, the effect of that is to make the more northerly of 
the two openings very considerably to the north of that shown in 
the plan of the existing bridge, is it not. This is the opening? 
A. I have not seen the plan of the existing bridge.

Q. Then I will take exhibit No. 8. If you will just take No. 
8 and give me a general answer as to whether — A. I find it 
very difficult to find some common point on which to work on. 
High and low water marks are shown on the other plan, but high 
and low water marks are not shown on the northerly side of the 
southerly end of exhibit No. 8.

Q. Doesn't the inspection of them enable you to answer that 
general question, though? A. The northerly end of the swing 
span in exhibit No. — on the plan.

Q. Exhibit 20, call it 20.
A. Of exhibit No. 20 is approximately 470 feet southerly 

from the low water mark on the north shore of the harbour. The 
northerly end of the bascule span on exhibit No. 8 is approximately 
600 feet according to the plan from low water mark on the north
shore.

Q. Making a difference in the two northerly limits of those 
channels of about — A. Of about 130 feet according to the plans.

Q. I just wanted it generally. I ask to put that plan in of 
the Canadian Bridge Company as exhibit No. 20.

Mr. Burns : Pardon me. The originals will be here.
Mr. Griffin : I intend to put in both.

10

20

30



121

(PLAN REFERRED TO MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 20) RECORD
Q. As a preliminary to the preparation of the plans which HAdmM°y HDhla 

you prepared, which have not yet arrived, did you make personal — 
observations of conditions at the Second Narrows? A. Yes, I Defendant's 
did, quite a considerable amount of work at the Second Narrows _ 
and among other things took readings of the current velocity in E.A.Cleveland 
the Narrows over a period of about twenty-five hours continuously. Direct.

Q. And those were taken with the aid of an instrument called (Contd.) 
a tide meter? A. A current meter.

10 Q. Yes, from a boat? A. Yes, from a tug boat anchored 
in mid stream.

Q. In the process of those investigations did you find where 
the volume of the greatest velocity of the tide is relatively to the 
surface ? A. I found that the maximum tidal velocity according 
to the current meter readings was about 20 feet beneath the sur­ 
face of the water.

Q. You are, of course, familiar with the configurations of 
the Narrows and the contours of the channels on both sides of 
the present bridge? A. Yes.

20 Q. Can you state as to the effect that those configurations and 
those contours create in respect to the tidal currents east and west 
of the bridge? A. At the time those observations were made 
there was of course no bridge at that site, and I had observed that 
the tidal velocity, where greatest, followed very closely the maxi­ 
mum depth of the channel and that along the sides there were 
eddies and confused currents.

Q. I think his lordship would like to know at what distance
east and west of the site of the present bridge those eddies and
confusion of currents occur ? A. I am not informed as to where

30 the site of the present bridge is precisely, the site of that on which
this design was based, the design exhibit No. 20.

Q. The only way I can inform you of that is to show you 
more plans. I suppose you are familiar with the actual site of 
the bridge from personal observations on the ground ? A. Yes.

Q. Then I think if you would state the distance where you 
found those eddies and confusion of current east or west of the 
site of the actual bridge ? A. On both sides of the centre line of 
the bridge, that is to say, east and west on both shores.

Q. But how far east and west? Say on the south shore, to 
40 fix the point as near as possible ? A. The south shore—the con­ 

figuration of the south shore is such that there is a bay some little 
distance west of the south end of the bridge, a rather short dis­ 
tance. The bay begins as a matter of fact I should judge within 
100 feet or so of the southerly end of the bridge, this bay lying 
to the west of the bridge, and at that point there is—there was 
quite strong tidal currents, confused currents. Those eddies and



122

RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dili.

Defendant's 
Case

E. A. Cleveland 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)

turbulences extend along the southerly shore for some little dis­ 
tance. I could not say how far.

Q. And then east of the bridge? A. Along east of the 
bridge on the southerly shore for some little distance.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY:
Q. Mr. Cleveland, did you make any written data on your 

observations? A. The observations were recorded and there 
were doubtless communications to the office of Sir John Wolfe 
Barry and partners concerning the result of the observations.

Q. Have you any of that data? A. I have not any of it nor 10 
have I any access to it unfortunately.

Q. Can you, speaking from memory, give the rate of the 
velocity you found in different places ? A. I could not. I recall 
quite well that the maximum velocity that I got during those 24 
or 25 hours of continuous reading—the maximum velocity was 
somewhat less than what I had been led to believe by the notations 
on the chart, how much less I do not recall.

Q. Well, then, was your examination confined to a day or 
two days' operation by you? A. Yes, one continuous period of 
25 hours so as to get the whole tidal cycle within that particular 20 
period.

Q. And you had a tug with you? A. Yes.
Q. Which was anchored? A. Yes. Pour anchors, as I 

remember out in midstream.
Q. Did you shift the tug? A. No.
The Court: Did you say yes or no? A. No.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Just one more question. You say the 

tug was anchored in the middle of the channel ? A. Midchannel.
Mr. Griffin: The documents showing the plans prepared by 

your firm and Sir John Wolfe Barry have now been produced. 30 
Is that it? A. Yes.

(PLAN FILED AS EXHIBIT NO. 21)
Mr. Griffin: Q. This may be new. My learned friend will 

probably not object. Was a contract let for that construction 
work? A. No contract was let.

Mr. Donaghy: Well, would he know ?
Mr. Griffin: I will ask him his authority.
The Witness: No contract was let.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Was any contract let of any kind in con­ 

nection with it. Some sort of contract I am informed had been 40 
made.

Mr. Donaghy: I do not see, my lord, where it becomes rele­ 
vant. There may have been a contract. Assuming there was a 
contract to prepare the plans there was no contract let for con-
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struction. I think ray learned friend should be more particular 
in his questions so I can judge whether it is a proper question or 
not.

Mr. Griffin: Q. I will ask the question in an alternative 
form, whether a contract was let for construction? A. No con­ 
tract was let for the construction.

Q. Was any contract made with regard to the preparation 
of the plans ? A. Yes, there was a contract.

Mr. Griffin: Thank you. I do not need to press that.
(Witness aside).
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JOHN F. BRUCE, a witness called on behalf of the Defendant, J. F. Brace 
being first duly sworn, testified as follows: Direct.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:
Q. Where do you live, Mr. Bruce ? A. At 1510 llth Ave­ 

nue East, City.
Q. In the City of Vancouver ? A. The City of Vancouver.
Q. And you are a diver ? A. A diver and rigger.
Q. What experience have you had as a diver? A. Well, 

I have had thirteen years in the navy, the British navy, as a diver, 
20 and about ten years since I left the navy.

Q. That is a total of twenty-three years diving experience ? 
A. Yes, that is off and on.

Q. Where have you done your diving for the last ten years 
since you left the navy ? A. In North Russia for sixteen months 
and for the Northern Construction Company and the Ballantyne 
Pier, No. 2 elevator, on the Vancouver Sewers for the Sewerage 
Board, the City Water mains and the Greater Vancouver Water 
District.

Q. And am I right in saying with the exception of one and 
30 a half years diving in Russia the balance of the last ten years you 

have been diving in and around the harbour of Vancouver? A. 
Yes, the balance of the ten years; no, it would not be the balance 
of ten years, it would be about eight years I have been diving in 
Vancouver.

Q. About eight years you have been diving in Vancouver? 
A. Yes.

Q. Have you done any diving at the Second Narrows? A. 
Yes, I have done considerable diving there.

Q. When was the first time you did any diving at the Second 
40 Narrows? A. 1924, the early part of 1924.

Q. You did the diving then as I understand it for the Nor­ 
thern Construction Company and who else? A. The Northern 
Construction Company and the City of Vancouver and the Greater 
Vancouver Water District.

Q. What was the Northern Construction Company doing at
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RECORD that time? A. They were laying the cylinders in the Second 
British Columbia Narrows Bridge in the Second Narrows.

Q. And from that time in 1924 your principal diving has 
been done where ? A. The First and Second Narrows.

Q. In connection with what ? A. The City Water Mains.
Q. Now, has it been necessary for you to make any special 

study of the tides in the Second Narrows ? A. Yes.
Q. Why? A. Well, I found on starting in that the tide 

book was just something to go by. It was not accurate in any 
sense at all, and the tides varied so much as forty-five minutes on 
the flood tide to fifteen and twenty minutes or half an hour at the 
low water.

Q. And had you to do your diving at any particular stage 
of the tide? A. I could only do diving at approximately slack 
water which would be the slackest water you could get at the time. 
Really there was no slack water, only at the centre of the channel 
you would practically get no slack water at all.

Q. That would be both high and low water slack ? A. High 
and low.

Q. Before the bridge was built how did the tide flow through 
the Narrows ? A. Well, the tide apparently flowed from my ob­ 
servations there and I put in about six or eight weeks there both 
nights and days and all stages of the tide and the tide always ap­ 
parently flowed east and west through the shores of the Narrows.

Q. The bridge we know was built in 1923 and '24 ? How has 
its construction altered the course of the tide? A. Well, the 
obstructions there, that is the cylinders and casings and also the 
fill—

Q. Start away from one end of the bridge. Suppose we 
start from the south shore and state how the construction of the 
bridge has altered the tides? A. On the south shore there is a 
fill put in there which runs out for 150 feet to the cylinders, the 
first two cylinders. That is No. 5, is it, No. 5 pier.

Q. No. 5 pier ? A. Yes, they run there under water. They 
run out—they run out for a distance of 25 feet.

Q. Just wait a moment.
Mr. Griffin: May I suggest my learned friends put in for 

convenience a side elevation of the bridge as actually constructed. 
Your lordship has before you many plans, but not the side eleva­ 
tion and it would be a great convenience. I have one before me 
with the piers all marked. That, of course, has my notes upon it, 
but you can put in a clear copy. Would your lordship give a num­ 
ber to this and my learned friend would put a clear copy, this one 
having notes upon it.

(PLAN REFERRED TO MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 22)
Mr. Smith: Q. You said, witness, at the south end of the

10

30

40
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bridge there was a rock fill extending to Pier No. 5 ? A. Yes, I RECORD 
am continuing out under low water for about twenty-five feet.

Q. Twenty-five feet further ? A. Further out in low water Admiralty 
which is not dry. It is not dry, it is low water, but the foot of it Defendant's 
extends out. Case

Q. Do you mean by that it extends out beyond Pier No. 5 ? 
A. Beyond Pier 5, that is, to the north of Pier 5.

Q. What effect has that fill of rock upon the tide ? A. Well, 
on the south-west of the pier on the south shore there is a big bay 
there and before the bridge was built this bay existed and after 
this rock fill had been placed there with the turn of the tide this 
fill had a tendency to set the water off at an angle on the incoming 
tide or the flood tide, set it off at an angle in a northeasterly direc­ 
tion across the front of the bascule span and struck it about 150 
to 250 feet from the centre of the span; that is, east of the span.

Q. What would it strike east of the span about 150 feet? 
A. It would strike—there the current would be practically lost, 
that is the surface current.

Q. In the event of any ship then proceeding west through 
20 the Narrows where would it meet this deflected current you speak 

about ? A. It would meet the ship on the port bow.
Q. At what distance from the bridge ? A. At approximately 

150 feet from the bridge due east.
Q. Does the rock fill not catch and deflect the ebb tide in 

the same way? A. No, not to that extent, because there is very 
little of the ebb tide there that is really—some hours before the 
ebb there is very little tide flowing close to that fill there, so that 
it does not affect the outgoing tide very much.

Q. So that the real effect of the fill is to catch the flood tide ? 
A. It catches the flood tide.

Q. Now, do you know anything about any dredging that was 
done at one time on the north shore ?

A. There was some dredging done on the north shore over 
not being able to get the piles in there. They were washing out 
and I believe they decided to take the piles out and put in two 
extra spans and also to reduce the current through the casings and 
that being placed there—to dredge there.

Q. Where was the dredging done ? A. It was done north of 
No. 1 Pier.

Q. In line of the bridge ? A. In line of the bridge.
Q. Extending east or west? A. Extended east and west, 

but I am not sure of the distance, how far it was, but it was not 
to no great extent that would really make much effect upon the 
tide.

Q. Are you referring now to west of the bridge ? A. I am 
referring now to both sides of the bridge.

Q. Can you give an idea how far it extended easterly? A. 
It extended easterly for approximately 200 feet.
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Q. Where would that be with reference for instance to the 
western side of the water mains ? A. That would be about 700 
feet west of the city water mains. There is shallow water then. 
Then there was dredging done the other side of it.

Q. I am afraid I don't quite follow you. The dredging was 
done in line of the bridge—in the line of the bridge? A. In 
line with—well, to the east of the bridge.

Q. To the east of the bridge and— A. Also underneath the 
bridge.

Q. How far to the eastward of the bridge would the dredging 10 
go 1? A. It extended as I say approximately 300 feet and then 
skipped a part there and that is where the B. C. Telegraph or 
B. C. power lines were situated there. They went beyond that and 
done some more dredging there up to approximately 50 or 75 feet 
of the water mains.

Q. What was the result of that dredging. A. The result 
of the dredging is in one way, the effect actually on the bridge 
itself as regards the tide there is very little; the tide passes through 
there where the dredging was done on account of it being just like 
a basin, but they did not carry the dredging right through and 20 
therefore it was not really affected.

Q. Was there any arm of any kind left, any shoal arm? A. 
About 950 feet to the east there was an arm left there which run 
out to approximately 100 to 250 feet under water.

Q. I wonder if you would mark that arm you speak about 
on exhibit 19. Mark it with a blue pencil. Just show it to his lord­ 
ship? A. (Witness marks plan.)

Q. How does that arm affect the flood tide? A. Well, it 
affects it that in a southeasterly direction it would strike almost 
the centre of the Narrows about 1500 feet due east of the bridge. 30 
That is just by the Seymour, would make greater volume.

Q. Just deal with that point now, Seymour Creek; in what 
way does Seymour Creek affect the tide? A. Seymour Creek 
really only runs with a flood tide, at the highest stage of the tide. 
Otherwise it flows in a southeasterly direction until it strikes the 
force of the tide whichever way it is running in. Then of course 
it gets deflected with the tide to a certain extent, excepting at low 
water or nearly slack water when it runs to the top of the salt 
water, in some cases due south, but mostly in an easterly direction. 
On account of the shallow water being at the mouth of the Seymour «> 
it either to go east or a southeasterly direction.

Q. That is the flow of the water from Seymour Creek down 
across the Narrows and I notice that Seymour Creek is marked 
on the plan as you no doubt see. A. Yes.

Q. You said a few moments ago that the presence of the 
piers in the Narrows had some effect upon the tides. Deal with 
that point now? A. Well, it is bound to create eddies and one



thing and another by being placed there and also it takes up a 
good bit of room, the size of them.

Q. You are referring now to the piers ? A. I am referring—
Q. To the piers and cylinders? A. The piers and the 

cylinders.
Q. Yes, and you say that they create eddies, do they? A. 

They create eddies.
Q. Now, could you just give us a brief description of the 

construction of the bridge. How does it run for instance; north 
10 and south there ? A. No, it runs the least little northerly off an 

angle. It is not at right angles to the Narrows.
Q. Does it run east or west of north. A. It runs east of 

north, that is like to the north.
Q. To what of south, west of south ? A. To west of south.
Q. Now, start from the north shore, the bridge consists of 

what. What is the first thing in connection with it? A. The 
first thing it consists of a fill there to the bridge.

Q. The bridge is built on what? A. The bridge is, the 
road bridge, is built on piles.

20 Q. Now, if you follow along the bridge you come to Pier No. ? 
A. 00.

Q. And that consists of what ? A. Four cylinders.
Q. With what on top ? A. With a concrete slab on top.
Q. And after that pier you come to what ? A No. 0 pier.
Q. And between the two piers there is a fixed span ? A. 150 

feet in length.
Q. Is the bottom of this fixed span covered at low water ? A. 

Yes.
Q. Do ships ever pass through this particular fixed span?
No.
Q. Then what is the next thing you come to ? A. The next 

you come to is another cylinder pier.
Q. That is Pier No.— A. Composed of six cylinders.
Q. With anything on top ? A. With a slab on top.
Q. And anything else ? A. Two cones about five feet high 

to give the bridge an additional five feet.
Q. And after Pier 0 you come to what ? A. Then you come 

to another 150 foot span.
Q. Is there any water there at low water? A. Yes, there 

40 is deep water there. This is where the dredging was done between 
00 and No. 1.

Q. And do ships ever pass through there ? A. No, sir.
Q. And after that you come to another pier, do you, pier No. 

1? A. To pier No. 1.
Q. What does it consist of? A. There are eight cylinders 

there.

30 A.
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to?

Q. On top of the slab? A. Yes.
Q. Then after passing that Pier No. 1 where do you come
A. We have then the 300 foot span.

Q. A 300 foot fixed span? A. 300 feet fixed span.
Q. What is that used for? A. Mostly for small boats and 

booms of logs going through.
Q. That is what one might call the working span for small 

boats, is it? A. Yes.
Q. And then after that what do you come to? A. Then 

we have pier No. 2.
Q. Pier No. 2? A. Which was—
Q. That is the Pier immediately to the north of the bascule 

span is it not ? A. Yes, it is what the bascule comes down and 
rests on.

Q. What does Pier No. 2 consist of ? A. That originally was 
a caisson. It is a solid pier of masonry or was. The caisson was 
approximately 45 long and about 25 feet wide.

Q. When you say 45 feet long you mean in an easterly and 
westerly direction ? A. East and west.

Q. And approximately how wide? A. Well, the height I 
am not sure of. The depth of water around there was—the sound­ 
ing was 91 feet.

Q. And then after that pier what do you come to? A. 
Then we have the draw or bascule span.

Q. How wide is that? A. Well, it is 150 feet.
Q. Then after passing the bascule span you arrive at Pier?
Pier No. 3.
Q. What does that consist of? A. This also consists of a 

caisson.
Q. The same as Pier No. 2 ? A. The same as Pier No. 2, only 

not such a great depth, not such a height.
Q. Because the water presumably is shoaling there ? A. The 

water is shallower there.
Q. Then after passing Pier No. 3 what have you? A. There 

is an arm going to Pier No. 4.
Q. Yes? A. Pier No. 4 also consists of a casing similar 

to 3, and—
Q. And 2? A. 3 and 2.
Q. How much space is there betweeen No. 3 and 4? A. 

About 25 feet.
Q. And do ships ever pass through that space ? A. Noth­ 

ing passes.
Q. After that what do you come to? A. Then we have 

another two cylinders which is connected up by cement arms to 
Pier No. 4.

A.

10

20

30
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Q. And do you know the space between those cylinders of 
Pier No. 4 and Pier No. 4-A? A, Yes, Pier No. 4-A.

Q. What is the space between those two cylinders? A. I 
am not sure of that, about 15 or 20 feet, I think it is.

Q. What does Pier No. 4 consist of ? A. Pier No. 4; that Case 
is Pier No. 4, not No. 4-A.

Q. Yes? A. A casing.
Q. The same as No. 3. You told me that before, I think, is 

that right? A. Yes, that is a casing, No. 4 is a casing. 
10 Q. What is No. 4-A? A. No. 4-A is two cylinders.

Q. Then after you pass No. 4-A what do you come to ? A. 
You have another fixed span of 150 feet long.

Q. Is that span the same as the other spans? A. There is 
approximately two feet greater height from the water; that is 
from underneath the bridge to the water than what the other 
spans are.

Q. Is it covered at low water ? A. The bottom is covered, 
yes.

Q. Is it used by small craft ? A. Yes, well, it is used quite 
20 frequently by small crafts.

Q. Then after passing that span what is the next part of the 
bridge? A. Then we have Pier 5 two cylinders.

Q. And beyond Pier No. 5 we have what? A. There is 
another cross arm, two cross arms running to another cylinder.

Q. That is at Pier No. 5 ? A. Running from Pier No. 5.
Q. Between Pier No. 5 and the shore line there is the fill in 

you have already spoken of ? A. There is a fill and a pile bridge 
and also some piling resting upon sills, just resting upon sills there.

Q. Now, can you give me some idea of the surroundings of the 
30 bridge. For instance, take the west first, is it clear or otherwise 

to the west from the point of view of obstructions? A. West 
is apparently all clear.

Q. Dealing with the east and taking the south shore, what is 
there to the east of the bridge ? A. Within a certain radius of 
the water mains there is a shallow water running out approximate­ 
ly 325 or 350 feet from the railway line, from the railway embank­ 
ment there.

Q. You are measuring that distance along what ? A. Over 
a matter of a thousand feet.

40 Q. But what are you measuring it along? You say it juts 
out 325 feet from where? A. From the railway embankment. 
The chart I was going by there, they had no low water mark upon 
it, so you could not check it up upon that.

Q. How wide is this shoal ? How far does it extend easterly ? 
A. It extends easterly for approximately, from my observations 
that is diving on the water mains about 1600 to 1700 feet.

Q. From the bridge? A. From the bridge.
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_ Q. Where is that with reference to the water mains you are 
British Columbia speaking about? A. It would be 150 feet east of the No. 10 

water main.
Q. And where is No. 10? Is that the most easterly? A. 

That is the most easterly water main,
Q. And the shoal there extends 150 feet from there to the 

eastward ? A. That is as far as I have been in that direction.
Q. Does it extend right to the bridge on the west side ? A. 

Well, as far as my observation has been it has been for about the 
same distance to the west of No. 1 main. It would be about 150 to 10 
200 feet.

Q. Can you give me the depth of the water on the shoal, the 
distance you mentioned of 325 feet from the south shore; how 
much water is there at low water on the south shore? A. Ap­ 
proximately 27 to 30 feet. Of course, it varies along there. In 
some places it may be a little more or a little higher that I have 
not been over.

The Court: Where is that exactly, Mr. Smith?
Mr. Smith: It extends 325 feet from the shore, my lord, 

north of the shore, of course. It is at the depth of 27 to 30 feet, 20 
did you say? No, I don't want you to mark anything. Now, 
where is the outer edge of the shoal with reference to the bridge.

The Witness: Almost in a line with the Pier No. 3.
Q. Yes, Pier 3 being the pier? A. That the bascule rests 

on.
Q. At the south end of the bascule draw ? A. Yes, at the 

south end of the bascule draw.
Q. Now, can you describe where the City water mains are 

to the eastward of the bridge ? A. The first two mains, that is 
1 and 2, they are 1,000 feet due east of the bridge.

Q. And they are known as No. 1 and 2? A. They are 
known as No. 1 and 2, 18 inch submerged mains.

Q. 18 being the diameter? A. The inside diameter.
Q. What is the maximum outside diameter ? A. 34 inches, 

that is over the valve.
Q. Where are the next mains ? A. The next is No. 3, 4, 5, 

and 6, due east of them, approximately 140—450 feet due east 
from them.

Q. Are they the same size? A. They are the same size.
Q. Where are the next mains? A. The next are running 40 

on an angle of about 75 feet on the north shore at low water due 
east to about 150 feet on the south shore due east of No. 6 main.

Q. And they are numbered? A. They are numbered 7, 8, 
9 and 10.

Q. These are the most easterly water mains ? A. They are 
the most easterly ones.

Q. Are they of the same size as the others ? A. The same

30
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size. Well, the outside diameter is a quarter of an inch bigger RECORD 
than the others. British Columbia

Q. But are those most easterly mains laid on the bottom, or Mi"ir^'y *>>*>• 
are they protected in some way? A. On the south shore there Defendant's 
has been dredging done there, dredging done to a depth of 15 Case 
feet to lay these water mains in out to a distance of 275 feet.

Q. Yes, then those water mains lie in a trench, do they ? A. 
They lie in a trench.

Q. And does this trench you speak of lead over the shoal 
10 you have referred to? A. This trench is cut through the shoal.

Q. I mean that it is cut through the shoal ? A. Cut through 
the shoal.

Q. When were those most easterly water mains laid? A. 
They were laid in 1925 and '26.

Q. Were they the ones last laid? A. They were the last 
mains laid.

Q. Will you deal now with the north shore ? Are there any 
obstructions there other than the one which you have spoken about, 
namely, the arm? A. Well, to the west of the bridge dredging 

20 was done close to the bridge, but not carried right through and 
kind of left a shallow arm there which would obstruct the low 
water to some extent on the inflowing current.

Q. Where do you say this was, to the west? A. This is 
to the west of the bridge. When they dredged there they did not 
dredge right through and take the whole arm off. They just 
dredged like a pot hole there and then go through under the bridge 
to approximately 300 feet east of the bridge.

Q. What is there east of the bridge then ? A. Then there 
is shallow water there at the mouth of the Seymour Creek which 

30 extends over, runs out from approximately 125 feet from the 
mouth of the creek and about 75 feet wide, that is east and west.

Q. And where is that shallow water with reference to the 
westerly water mains? A. When the dredging was done to the 
west of the water mains they dredged up to what was convenient 
to be close to the water mains and kind of left an arm under the 
water which ran out for approximately 150 to 200 feet at low 
water.

Q. Is it an arm over the top of the westerly water mains ? 
A. That arm is apparently what the two water mains rest on. 

40 Q. And that arm juts out how far at low water? A. Ap­ 
proximately 150 feet to 200 feet

Q. At low water? A. From low water.
Q. Can you obtain any idea from the present state of the 

water pipes and the water mains as to the direction and the flow 
of the currents? A. At 450 feet out from the south shore that is 
referring to low water the mains are worn through for a distance 
—approximately four mains, four pieces nine feet long; it would 
be about 36 feet, the mains are very badly worn.
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Q. That is at a distance of 450 feet from the south shore? 
A. 450 feet from the south shore.

Q. They are worn for a length of about 36 feet ? A. Worn 
for a length of 36 feet.

Q. And the mains are from one to— A. 1 to 10.
Q. What does that indicate ? A. It indicates that there is 

a very strong current along the bottom of that part of the Narrows.
Q. Is there any indication along the bottom itself ? A. The 10 

bottom in that area is free from all growth which shows there is 
quite a bit of movement on the bottom and this extends for quite 
a distance east and west of the mains.

Q. When was this marking of the pipes caused? A. Be­ 
fore the bridge was actually built I was diving there for the City 
on account of the mains being broken. Two of the pipes were 
broken there and I had to repair the both in this vicinity and then 
after that a matter of in November, I think it was, of the same 
year I examined the pipes. I did an examination of the pipes both 
in the First and Second Narrows and the wear on the pipes a- 20 
round that vicinity then was practically none at all. There was 
no visible wear.

Q. So that the wear was caused when with reference to the 
building of the bridge ? A. The wear has been caused since the 
construction of the bridge to a depth on one pipe I measured of 
an inch and three sixteenths.

Q. When were the mains laid other than the easterly mains 
which you say were laid in 1925 ? A. Those mains were laid in 
1907.

Q. And according to your observation there was no wear 30 
on those mains until after the bridge was built ? A. No visible 
signs of wear.

Q. Are the mains marked on the west side and also on the 
east side or on one side only or how ? A. The scouring is very 
noticeable on the west side and top, very little on the east.

Q. What does the bottom of the Narrows there consist of 
A. It consists of rubble, sand and gravel and rubble, that is small 
boulders; a few boulders there, but a very few.

Q. And is there any growth on the bottom ? A. No growth 
at all in that area. 40

Q. Not in that area? And the pipes were marked in what 
way, do you say? A. They are marked through the current 
carrying gravel and that up against the pipes and so wearing 
them, the front and back of the bell on the spigot.

Q. Can you give any idea of the amount of wear upon the 
pipes? A. The pipe I measured the other day—some varies 
more than others; the one I followed the other day, the total thick-
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ness of the walls of the pipe is an inch and a half and the wear has 
been one inch and three-sixteenths.

Q. In what length of time 1 A. In approximately Novem­ 
ber, 1924, I went over the pipes and surveyed them.

Q. To the present day? A. To the present day.
Q. So that is roughly four years? A. Roughly four years.
The Court: Did you say one and one-sixteenth? A. And 

three-sixteenths.
Q. In what time? A. In approximately four years, from 

November, 1924, to the present time.
Mr. Smith: Q. You say new pipes were laid in 1925 and 

'26? A. Yes, that is 7, 8, 9 and 10.
Q. The most easterly mains? A. Yes.
Q. Do they show signs of wear? A. They also show signs 

of wear very noticeably in the same area approximately 450 feet 
from the south shore and for the same distance about 36 feet, say 
36 or 40 feet along the pipes.

Q. Is it a usual thing to expect pipes to wear in that way ? 
A. Well, they have never had any trouble before up to—very 

20 little trouble in the Narrows before by the wearing of pipes. It 
has been mostly in the First Narrows.

Q. You say little trouble before ? A. They have never had 
no trouble before with those conditions of the pipes wearing.

Q. Then this trouble has only happened since when? A. 
Well, the first time it was noticed was about two years, approxi­ 
mately two years ago when I surveyed the mains for the Greater 
Vancouver Water District when they took over.

Q. Now, is there any other marking on any of the other pipes 
that you have seen ? A. On No. 1—No. 2 pipe about 75 feet east 
from low water on the north shore to a distance of 100 feet there 
is quite a bit of scouring on the west and tops of the pipes there. 
Twelve length of the pipe, it would be 108 feet.

Q. Then this marking is over a length of 108 feet ? A. 108 
feet.

Q. On the north shore a distance of 75 feet from low water 
mark? A. From low water mark.

Q. Is there any marking on the bottom in that area? A. 
The bottom there is scoured very bad, but not to the extent that 
it is in the other area.

Q. What do these markings on the north shore indicate? 
A. It indicates that the current—there is quite a current flows 
to a southeasterly direction as the other pipes, the other two series 
of pipes show no marking at all in that area.

Q. The second marking that you mentioned is simply on the 
most westerly mains ? A. On the westerly mains.

Q. The other mains do not show it at all? A. The other 
mains do not show it at all

30

40
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20

Q. Therefore it indicates in your opinion a current flowing 
British Columbia in what direction ? A. Flowing in a southeasterly direction.

Q. That would be commencing from where? A. Well, it 
would be from where? In relation to what do you mean?

Q. In relation, for instance, to Seymour Creek ? A. Well, 
it is flowing in a southeasterly direction yes in that line.

Q. Now, is that current caused by the flow from Seymour 
Creek? A. Well, it is a caused to a certain extent and also 
caused by this arm which I consider—this arm which is lying 
under water there at shallow water, because Seymour Creek 
is mostly fresh water and it will run on top and don't mix with 
salt water very good for some considerable time.

Q. Then this second current you speak about is caused as I 
understand it by the flood tide being deflected from an arm left 
under water on the north shore ? A. Yes.

Q. In a southeasterly direction? A. In a southeasterly 
direction.

Q. To some extent by Seymour Creek? A. By Seymour 
Creek.

Q. Have you considered the actual stages of the tide with 
reference to the times given in the tide tables? A. Can I have 
that again ?

Q. Yes, have you considered the accuracy of the tide tables ? 
A. Yes, I have had quite a difficulty in following the tide tables 
at times, as I find it in Vancouver in the First and Second Nar­ 
rows. It has been always advisable to be on the diving ground 
at least an hour before the actual tide time given in the tide book.

Q. Dealing now with the Second Narrows, to what extent 
have you found the tides of high and low water vary from the 
times given in the tide tables? A. They vary from 45 minutes 30 
at high water to approximately half an hour at low water.

Q. What different factors if any affect the tide and cause 
that difference? A. Well, my experience in diving there is— 
can I have that again?

Q. What different factors affect the tide? A. What dif­ 
ferent factors ?

Q. Yes? A. Well, the tide in the First Narrows at low 
water; take the tide at low water in the First Narrows it turns 
approximately thirteen minutes or around that—it turns in any 
case at low water before the tide turns in the Second Narrows 40 
and therefore there is a great volume of water set up somewhere 
between the First and Second Narrows. If it cannot stay up in 
the harbour it must come back through the Second Narrows, if it 
cannot come out through the First and it goes to show that from— 
while working there with the Northern Construction Company 
we had a hole knocked in the cylinder at approximately low water 
at the time and knocked a hole through with a cedar log and we
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had to be down patching that hole at least one hour and fifteen RECORD 
minutes before actual low water and before it was time in the tide British Columbia 
book, as shown in the tide book, the water had risen again to an Mmiraity Dht. 
extent that we could not work any longer upon this fracture and Defendant's 
the tide then, the surface tide then, to all appearances the tide was Case 
still running out, that is, still ebbing. —

Q. You might give me that again. You say you saw a hole Direct mce 
knocked in one of the cylinders ? A. A hole was knocked in one (Comd.) 
of the cylinders on No. 1 Pier. 

10 Q. At low water? A. At low water.
Q. And to repair that hole you had to do so at low water? 

A. We had to do it at low water.
Q. And when you got down there to repair it at low water 

you found what? A. We got there at low water. We did not 
get there at low water because we found out by waiting until low 
water the water had risen again to such an extent we could not do 
anything to it, although it was actually not the time on the tide book 
for low water.

Q. From your experience, therefore, there it was that low
20 water actually took place some considerable time before the time

mentioned for low water in the tide book ? A. It took place at
least sometime, at least half an hour before the time in the tide
book generally.

Q. Therefore you went down there half an hour before low 
water in the tide book ? A. An hour and fifteen minutes before 
the actual low water as shown in the tide book.

Q. How did you find the tide then 1 A. The tide then was 
still ebbing and dropping.

Q. And did it continue to ebb from that hour? A. It did 
30 up to when we had been working for three-quarters of an hour.

Q. During that three-quarters of an hour what was the water 
actually doing? A. It was ebbing and also— ebbing on the sur­ 
face and also dropping at the cylinder, that is, getting lower at 
the cylinder, so that we could work at this fracture.

Q. I think you have got that reversed, if you will just con­ 
sider that again. I am afraid I — I don't know if I am putting it 
very clearly to you, but at low water when patching the hole you 
went down an hour before the time given in the tide table? A. 
Yes.

40 Q. And you found then that the water was ebbing? A. The 
water was ebbing.

Q. And did you work on the hole then? A. We started 
work on the hole then.

Q. And you continued to work upon it until when? A. 
Until half an hour before the actual time shown on the tide book.

Q. And that period was what, an hour, did you say? A. 
That period was three-quarters of an hour.
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RECORD Q AI^ during that three-quarters of an hour the water 
British Columbia was running out on the surface ? A. The water was running 

out on the surface.
Q. But what was it doing vertically on the cylinder? A. 

It was dropping on the cylinder up until that period. It was 
dropping on the cylinder.

Q. Then after dropping on the cylinder, did you continue 
to work on the cylinder? A. From then on until the actual 
time of the tide, which was half an hour later, the tide was rising 
although it was ebbing on the surface.

Q. Now, I have got it, so that the conclusion you draw from 
that is what? A. That the tide or the water must be backing 
up somewhere. If it was not visible on the surface it must have 
been backing up underneath.

Q. By backing up you mean it must have been rising ver­ 
tically? A. Rising vertically.

Q. On the cylinder? A. Yes.
Q. For what period of time before low water given in the 

tide table? A. At least half an hour.
Q. And during that half hour what was the surface current 20 

doing ? A. It was continuing to ebb.
Q. So that the effect of that is this, is it not, that during 

the last half hour although the water was ebbing it was in fact 
actually rising vertically on this cylinder? A. That is quite 
correct.

Q. During that time that is to say when you were working 
on the cylinder and the water was rising vertically half an hour, 
was there an undercurrent? A. Well, from where we was we 
could only see the ebb tide flowing on the surface.

Q. What conclusion did you draw if any as to whether there 30 
was an undercurrent ? A. That there must have been an under­ 
current or really this could not have happened.

Q. And the undercurrent would be running— A. That 
would be on the flood.

Q. It would be on the flood, in other words, running easter­ 
ly ? A. Running easterly.

Q. Do these conditions also prevail in the First Narrows, 
that is, you may have a surface current flowing in one direction 
and the undercurrents flowing in the opposite direction? A. 
The same thing prevails there. 40

Q. The same thing prevails in the First Narrows ? A. Yes.
Q. You said something about the tide book, that it was slack 

water in the First Narrows before it was slack water in the Se­ 
cond Narrows. Will you make it a little clearer to me. Take the 
day in question, the 10th of March, 1927, and show me what you 
mean? A. The 10th of March, Thursday.
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Q. First of all, take the Second Narrows?
got the Sandheads there.

A. You have MCORD
British ColumbiaQ. What time on that day was it low water slack at the Mmtreity Dist. 

Second Narrows. Take the Second Narrows first ? A. 18:20; Defendant's 
First Narrows low water slack, First Narrows. Case

Q. No, take the Second Narrows first ? A. Well, all right, 
we will take the Second Narrows. You have got to get the First 
Narrows before you get the second. That is, get the height from (Comd.) 
that, you see. I will explain it in a minute. The Second Narrows 

10 low water slack; add 13 minutes to Vancouver Harbour.
Q. Do that ? And tell me the time of low water slack ? A. 

You get Vancouver Harbour first, the First Narrows. You take 
that tide at March the 10th, 18.20; that is 6:20. We turn to Van­ 
couver Harbour on March 10th and it is 18.22 for the Second 
Narrows, add 13, which will bring it 18:35, which was approxi­ 
mately 13 minutes later at the Second Narrows than at the First.

Q. See if I have got you now. On the 10th of March, 1927, 
low water slack at the Second Narrows at 6:35 p.m. A. At 6:35 
p.m. according to the tide table.

20 Q. And on the same date it was slack water at the First 
Narrows at 6:20 p.m. ? A. That is correct

Q. Which shows that it was slack water at low water slack 
at the First Narrows before it was low water slack at the Second 
Narrows and that indicates what ? A. That indicates that the water 
passing through the Narrows was filling up in the Harbour some­ 
where for that thirteen minutes. If not, it must be ebbing back 
or flooding through an undercurrent to some extent.

Q. What in your opinion is the hour when the flood tide 
flows the strongest ? A. The first hour after the ebb tide is the 

30 strongest tide in the Second Narrows.
Q. How do you come to that conclusion ? A. All the piles 

and one thing and another which were washed out in the Second 
Narrows at different stages of operation there, they were all wash­ 
ed out in the incoming tide.

Q. And during what hour of that tide? A. The first hour 
of the incoming tide, approximately the first hour.

Q. Is there any way of determining the directional force of 
the tides at the Second Narrows beforehand at low water ? A. At 
low water; will you give me that again ?

40 Q. Is there any way of determining beforehand the direction­ 
al force of the tides at low water? A. Only by the surf ace—not 
by surface observation.

Q. Can you do it from the tide book ? A. You cannot do it 
from the tide book. You can only get an approximate guide by 
the tide book. It is not accurate to that extent.

Q. How far with regard to the tide have you found the tide 
tables to be inaccurate at low water slack? A. At least thirty 
minutes.
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Q. Is that before or after, or both ways ? A. That is after 
the tide.

Q. After the tide? A. Yes.
Q. Is it ever inaccurate in any other way, namely, before the 

tide ? A. On several instances it is, according to the weather; a 
westerly wind outside and also freshets and rain and snow and one 
thing and another has quite an effect upon the tides.

Q. What has been your experience in finding out the actual 
time of low water as compared with the tide book? A. My ex­ 
perience has been the ebb tide where the scene of the diving opera- 10 
tions is at least one hour before slack water as shown in the tide 
book.

Q. How do you proceed then ? What do you do? A. Then 
we have to wait, wait around until our mooring buoy shows up 
which consists of a rope made fast to the work down below, what­ 
ever you are working up against, or whatever it is. You have a 
buoy rope and on this is a ceder buoy which as the tide slacks up 
this comes to the surface and until the tide slacks up it is kept 
under water by the current.

Q. Yes? A. And this very often shows up sometimes at 20 
low water. It has more often than not; it is fifteen; thirty or 
fifteen to twenty-five minutes after the tide, after slack water is 
shown in the tide book. On going down below in a good many 
instances, I have gone down below and the tide has been running 
that strong at the bottom that I have only been able to work there 
a matter of eight minutes and I have been driven off the bottom 
by the incoming tide.

Q. And when you were driven off the bottom as you say 
what was the surface water like ? A. The surface water was still 
ebbing. 30

Q. Was still ebbing, so that you had gone down there with 
the surface water ebbing and found an undercurrent flowing east ? 
A. Flowing east.

Q. And have you ever gone down and found an undercurrent 
flowing east with the surface water doing anything else but ebbing ? 
A. When the tide has been too strong for me, when I am down 
below for any length and it may be sometimes I go down for an 
hour or an hour and twenty minutes in that depth of water, but 
it all depends on how long I am down that I have to take time to 
come up and I have set stages which is to work off the C.O.T. in 40 
the system. I have to stop at 30, 20 and 10 feet from the surface 
and the undercurrent there in some cases has been affecting it at 
that depth, flowing east, while still ebbing on the surface.

Q. And have you ever gone down when it was slack water 
on the surface and found an undercurrent? A. Yes, I have 
gone down when it has been slack water, apparently slack water, 
no movement on the surface, and gone down and found it too
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Direct. 
(Contd.)

strong to be able to work. I could not leave the line. I had to hold RECORD
on to the line to prevent being swept off the bottom. British Columbia

Q. Although it was slack on the surface? A. Although Admiralty DJSI.
Slack on the top. Defendant's

Q. As I understand it when you go down you have no way Case 
of knowing beforehand what current you will experience under- 
neath ? A. None whatever. Also when I am on the bottom my 
bubbles, that is air coming from my helmet has been going over 
300 feet—

10 Mr. Burns: Well, do you know this. I would like to ask 
the witness a question before he answers that. It seems to me 
he must have heard this from some person else as he is down be­ 
low? A. Well, I was asking my—it is an illustration. It is there 
for anybody to see what my meaning is.

The Court: How would he know that the bubbles would go 
that far?

Mr. Smith: I was just going to ask him that.
Q. How do you know the bubbles rose so far away, did you 

see them yourself ? A. Well, my observation there when I have 
20 been diving there.

Q. Can you when you are diving see the bubbles as they go 
to the surface ? A. No, I cannot.

Q. Then how can you tell of your own knowledge they came 
up ? A. This is what I have heard from the crew.

Q. We don't want anything you have heard. It is just your 
own personal experience. Is there any way of telling how the 
tide runs by your line ? A. Well, the lines, you can see the lines 
in certain stages of the year when you get pretty fine weather 
and not much fresh water. You can see your lines for quite a 

30 distance and I have been on the bottom when my line is almost 
taking an "S". By looking over my head I can see the lines trail­ 
ing along the bottom, flowing in on the bottom and almost coming 
in straight above my head; just a matter of ten or twelve feet from 
the bottom the line would be going straight and yet flowing in 
with quite a bend in it below that and the first section of the line is 
a floating hose which would account for the line floating about 
so.

Q. Then from your observation of your line which you have
told us about, what do you conclude as to the manner in which the

40 currents are running ? A. I conclude that the current is running
there some considerable time before the time actually shown in the
tide book at low water. It is still flooding in on the bottom.

Q. Flooding in on the bottom ? A. Or under the surface.
Q. Whilst on the surface it may be doing what? A. On 

the surface in nearly all cases it is ebbing after I come up.
Q. After you come up ? A. That is at low water.
Q. Now, are those conditions which you have described to
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Q. Yes 1 A. Them conditions as regards to the tides turn­ 
ing quicker and the likes of that as to the tide book not being 
accurate. The whole of my experience there of diving is that 
the tide book has never been really accurate.

Q. That is at the Second Narrows? A. At the Second 
Narrows.

Q. And the experience which you have been relating are 
those usually found, and not something exceptional? A. No, 10 
that is as I found them day to day, but some days they vary more 
than others, according to the stages of the tide. Of course, if deep 
tides, when there is a little run out, not much run out, you don't 
actually get a slack water then, there is always a current either 
at the surface or at the bottom.

Q. Are those the conditions which prevail at the very site 
of the bridge 1 A. Well, in one instance, that is in regards to the 
tide rising there, but other than this I am talking of 800 feet east 
of the bridge and of a distance of about 1800 feet.

Q. What are the tidal conditions right at the site of the 20 
bridge, are they different or are they the same as those you have 
been describing? A. Well, apparently from the distance to the 
bridge there must be the undercurrent going past there.

Q. Going past where? A. Going past the bridge.
Q. Have you had any experience of that undercurrent pass­ 

ing the bridge ? A. The experience is not actually at the bridge.
Q. Did you ever take soundings at the bridge? A. Well, 

as regards to that, yes, if you are talking of the bridge, and as 
regards the soundings is before the bridge.

Q. But I am speaking of the site of the present bridge, 30 
whether before the bridge was built or not. I am speaking of 
the area the bridge crosses, have ever taken soundings? A. 
Yes, for seven days before the bridge was built, I was asked to 
assist two surveyors there; Mr. Ray was the name of one and the 
other surveyor, I have not got it, but they could not seem to get 
the soundings there. They had great difficulty in getting the 
soundings.

Q. Why? A. On account of getting slack water.
Q. They were trying to sound at low water slack? A. They 

were trying to sound at low water slack. 40
Q. What was the result of that? A. Very erratic read­ 

ings. They never corresponded from day to day. They never 
corresponded. One day they would get quite a difference on the 
same mark as they were the day before.

Q. Why was this ? A. It was caused by the undercurrent 
carrying the line in an easterly or a westerly direction.

Q. What was done in order to get the soundings? A.
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Well, I conceived the idea of starting out a matter of 45 minutes RECORD 
before slack water, and pulling up against the tide, and one of British Columbia 
the surveyors would be on the shore on the C.P.R. tracks and he ^"^v Dist- 
would signal to us when to take the soundings, and we would Defendant's 
have this lead plumb up and down from the boat and we would Case 
drift with the tide and just keep feeling the bottom with the -r— 
lead, and whenever he signalled we was in line with the two ^irect mce 
stakes he had on shore, whenever he signalled for us to take the (Contd.) 
soundings; then we took the soundings, and we carried on like that 

10 for seven days and our soundings, from what I overheard from the 
surveyors talking, our soundings corresponded very satisfactory 
from day to day.

Q. What do you conclude from all that with regard to the 
manner in which the tide was running at slack water ? A. What 
did I conclude.

Q. Yes, in other words, when it was slack water on the
surface, how did you find the tide running underneath? A.
Well, with slack water on the surface, it was impossible to take
soundings with the tide as it was, as there was a strong flow under-

20 neath.
Q. To the eastward? A. Yes.
Q. And that carried your sounding line to the eastward? 

A. Yes.
Q. Made it impossible to take the soundings? A. Made it 

impossible to take accurate soundings.
Q. So actually your experience was when it was slack water 

on the surface there was an undercurrent flowing east underneath ? 
A. That is quite right.

Q. That is correct, is it? A. Yes.
30 Q. Have you had any experience whereby you have found 

that there might be surface currents flowing in different directions 
at the same time? A Yes, there is. Sometimes for approxi­ 
mately an hour to an hour and 15 minutes before slack water— 
low water—there is a tide flowed close to the south shore, flooded 
along the south shore and this is most noticeable under the sur­ 
face.

Q. But it is also noticeable to some extent, I understand on 
the surface ? A. Yes, but I say it is more noticeable under the 
surface and when I have been examining the mains there, that is 

40 for the location of breaks, I always start out from the south shore 
on account of that shore being the most dangerous on account of 
it being nearer to the shipping and that and irregular bottom, 
and we, almost every time we examine there, it is at low water, 
and I have noticed I have always got to start put at low water 
at least from an hour to an hour and fifteen minutes before the 
tide book, as there is a strong flood in and after I get out a matter 
of 150 feet from the shore tide is running, still ebbing.
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RECORD Q. Just one question more. Do you remember speaking 
British Columbia about the rock fill at the end of the bridge. Where the end of the 
Admiraity^Dist. rock fill now is, how much used there to be at low water? A. 
Defendant's There used to be from 15 to 20 feet. 
Case Q. At low water? A. At low water, approximately 15 to 20.
J. F. Bruce 
Cross-exam. CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:

Q. How do you know that, Mr. Bruce? A. Well, from 
soundings around that area, and the soundings they have taken a- 
round there.

Q. Soundings some other person has taken ? A. Our own 10 
soundings which we took ourselves.

Q. Did you take any yourself? A. I took soundings myself 
when working for the Northern Construction Company.

Q. And you say as a result of what you did yourself there 
was 15 feet of water at low water over the ground now covered by 
the fill or part of it ? A. No, I am not saying that.

Q. What are you saying? A. I said out from the fill 
well, there is quite a bit of difference at low water and under the 
fill to what it is out from the fill. I am speaking about the foot 
of the fill which extends out for 15 to 20 feet from the cylinders. 20

Q. Do you mean that part of ground which is now covered 
by the fill, any part of that ground, was there 15 feet of water upon 
it before the fill ? A. What I am referring to is at the edge of 
the fill, under water.

Q. You mean at the outside edge of the fill? A. At the 
outside edge of the fill.

Q. There is 15 feet of water at low water? A. 15 feet of 
water at low water.

Q. And there is today? A. By all appearance, unless a 
certain amount of that fill they put in has sloughed in. and no 30 
doubt the water would be less there.

Q. When did you do those soundings? A. In 1923, the 
winter of 1923 and 1924.

Q. Who worked with you ? A. Well, I was working for the 
Northern Construction Company and as far as I know the only 
man that I know was Mr. Ray at the time and I believe since then 
I have heard that he is dead. He was a surveyor at that time for 
the Northern Construction Company.

Q. There were just the two of you? A. No, there was the 
other man in the boat there as well, and another surveyor, but his 40 
name or where he is I have no idea.

Q. But this was in March, 1923? A. No, I don't say it 
is in March.

Q. It is 1923? A. No, it could not be March, 1923. It 
was the winter of 1923 and '24.

Q. Would you be surprised to know that at the extreme
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edge of the fill where the fill now stands, where the fill now is, RECORD 
there were three or four feet at low tide ? A. Well, that greatly 
surprises me, because it is only a matter of a day or two ago when ^mindly 
I looked there myself at low water, and there was considerably
more water than that there.

Q. What would you say as to that being a true profile or 
section of that fill ? You see the cylinders.

The Court: What plan are you looking at, is this a new one ?
Mr. Burns: I am referring, my lord, to the plan accompany- 

10 ing the application for an overhead crossing and approach to the 
Second Narrows Bridge filed with the Railway Board.

The Court: What exhibit is this?
Mr. Griffin: I would like to see that before my learned 

friend tenders it. I never heard of it before. I would like an 
opportunity of perusing that before it is discussed.

Mr. Burns: I may ask this witness, may I not, my lord, 
whether he agrees with the dilineation of the fill ?

The Court: You can only do it if you prove it by some per­ 
son.

20 Mr. Burns: I will undertake to produce it. As a matter of 
fact it is to be produced by one of our witnesses.

The Court: It would have to be proved like any other plan 
unless Mr. Griffin agrees to it.

Mr. Griffin: It was not produced on the affidavit. It is 
brand new. I have certainly never seen it.

Mr. Burns: I will supply you with copies of that later on. 
I may bring that up subsequently, my lord.

Q. You would be surprised, you say, if at the outer end of
the fill there were only four feet, three to four feet of water

30 within a short distance, five or six feet on the level—at least
any extent of water at low water before the fill was there? A.
I would be surprised, yes.

Q. Have you noticed the effect of the flood tide against 
the fill, for instance ? A. Yes, I have noticed it at several stages 
of the tide.

Q. Say right at the start of the tide, the start of the flood ? 
A. At the start of the flood it is very noticeable there as under­ 
neath the span there some time before actual slack water it is 
either an eddy or a slack right on top of the water. 

40 The Court: You will have to turn around. If I may suggest, 
if you could speak to him from just at the head of the table it 
would make him turn more towards me. It is rather hard upon 
him having to turn to you in one way and endeavour to do the 
same thing for me.

Mr. Burns: Q. What were you saying, witness ? A. The 
tide, sometime before slack water, approximately 45 minutes be­ 
fore slack water, that is, at the ebb tide, there is practically no 
flood and no ebb at all underneath that span.
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Q. Which span are you referring to ? A. That is between 
No. 4-A to No. 5 Piers. That is the southern span and then after 
that there is quite a noticeable eddy or a flood coming in before 
actual slack water takes place; that is, flowing in along that shore 
and shooting in a northeasterly direction across the span.

Q. Across that span you have just spoken of or under­ 
neath? A. Underneath that span.

Q. Meeting the ebb tide going out? A. Meeting the ebb 
tide going out.

Q. That is all surface indication, I suppose? A. That is 10 
all surface indication.

Q. Well, it meets the ebb tide going out. What happens? 
A. It meets the ebb tide at different stages of the tide. As it 
gets weaker it extends there, but in any case it does not appear 
to extend further than the centre of the bascule span.

Q. The centre of the what ? A. The centre.
Q. Of this bascule span? A. This bascule span.
Q. That is this eddy ? A. This eddy, this eddy, this cross­ 

current.
Q. You say that occurs at the first stage of the flood? A. 20 

No, before actual slack water.
Q. Before actual slack water? A. Before actual slack wa­ 

ter on the tide table.
Q. It would be the first stage of the tide as far as the flood 

is concerned ? A. Although the tide is ebbing for the remainder.
Q. But it is the flood meeting the ebb in cases where the 

slackwater does not exist for any great length of time, I presume ? 
A. Yes.

Q. That would occur, I presume, or am I right in cases of 
higher tides, greater tides ? A. No, low tides. 30

Q. What I mean by that— A. Well, the lower the tide of 
course, the later that would be corresponding to the book, the neap 
tides—

Q. I mean higher than the average tide ? A. Well, it would 
not be any earlier there. It would be nearer to the actual time in 
the book.

Q. I was not speaking of the actual time in the book, but 
I was trying to get from you whether this you speak of would not 
occur at a time when there is a greater fall in the tide? A. It 
would occur at the earlier. 40

Q. And if there was not such a great fall, less than the aver­ 
age fall, it would be liable not to occur? A. It would be liable 
not.

Q. Have you observed it sufficiently to be able to state that 
incoming flood as you have termed it is really back water? A. 
Well, from my observation there it is a surface eddy.

Q. It is a surf ace eddy really ? A. A surface eddy.
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A. Yes.
Q. And has quite a big eddy in it? A. There is quite an Case 

eddy.
Q. Because the force of the flood tide comes really from 

the north, doesn't it, the force of the flood? A. Well, as re­ 
gards to the west of the bridge, I don't know anything about it. 

10 Q. You won't disagree with me in my suggestion that this 
water which you speak of coming up in that way might be a back 
eddy of the bay ? A. Well, as regards to that, no doubt that has 
got something to do with it, but it is only noticeable when the tide 
begins to slack up; that is a matter of forty-five minutes before 
slack water. It is not noticeably so much in that vicinity—what 
I am talking about is through the span.

Q. Am I right in this that the last forty-five minutes or 
thirty minutes of an ebb tide has less strength on the current than 
the first part ? A. Yes, sure.

20 Q. So that may be the reason and quite properly be the rea­ 
son for this back eddy existing at that stage of the tide and not in 
the early part of it, is that not so ? A. Yes, no doubt that would 
occur there.

Q. Now, you speak of the outer edge; I am referring now to 
this shoal you speak of to the east of the bridge on the south side ? 
A. Yes.

Q. You speak of the outer edge of that shoal which is what 
depth would you .put it to be, 25 feet about ? A. From 25 or 27 
feet, 27 feet to 35. 

30 Q. To 35? A. Yes.
Q. Did you say that before ? You said 25 feet before I am so 

advised by my learned friend ? A. It varies considerably around 
there; 25 feet would be no doubt—it would be less than 25 feet if 
you take the top of the pipe.

Q. Top of which ? A. From the top of the pipe.
Q. I am talking about the outer edge of this shoal which ex­ 

tends easterly from this bridge on the south shore. Leave the pipe 
alone ? A. Well, that gives you less water through the pipe being 
there.

40 Q. I see. You mean the twenty-five feet you used before 
was only at that point where the pipe crosses? A. Where the 
pipes were.

Q. You were not speaking of the depth except with respect 
to any place than where the pipe was ? A. Where the pipe was.

Q. That is all you know of? A. I have examined other 
parts, but not as regards depth of water.

Q. Well, then, having that knowledge and in answer to my
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Q. No, extending 1,000 feet. There was shoal water, you 
said 325 to 350 feet, from the railway line; I presume you mean 
the shore, high water mark ? A. You see the chart I was looking 
at, it had no low water mark upon it. I just went by the railway 
embankment.

Q. Are you speaking now of working this out on a chart or 
from your personal experience on the ground? A. No, it was 
in relation to my experience there, but I kind of placed it on the 10 
chart, too, as an illustration.

Q. Well, then, am I right in this, that your evidence is to the 
effect that shoal water; that is, I made a note myself, 27 to 30 
feet at low water; the shoal water extends out from the shore or 
from the railway ? A. From the railway embankment.

Q. 325 to 350 feet extending about 1,000 feet easterly from 
the bridge? A. No, I did not make that expression. What I 
said was that it was approximately 150 to 200 feet each side of 
the east and west mains.

Q. Each side of the east and west mains ? A. East and west 20 
of the east and west mains.

Q. How many feet does that make it ? A. Well, the mains 
are 900 feet on the outside, that is taking 200 feet on each side.

Q. That would be a thousand feet ? A. No, it is 900 feet.
Q. That extends over about 900 feet ? A. That extends over 

about 900 feet.
Q. A depth of 27 to 30 feet at low water and that shoal, the 

outer edge of the shoal is in line with Pier 3 of the bridge ? A. Yes, 
Pier 3. I just wanted to cheek it over in my own mind.

Q. Now, having this plan to look at which has been agreed 30 
to between both parties here, could you maintain that statement. 
Both sides have agreed that those are the depths, you see. Here are 
the water mains.

The Court: What are you looking at.
Mr. Burns: 17, my lord.
Q. Which is Pier 3? This is Pier 3, my lord. A. It is the 

southern pier.
Q. Just mark it in red? A. I was referring to Pier No. 3; 

no, this wrong one is marked.
Q. No, just look at the map I show you. Never mind the 40 

other. Witness, I am asking you to confine yourself to the map 
I put in your hand.

The Court: Counsel wishes you to put it on exhibit No. 17.
Mr. Burns: If you have any trouble about it you can ask 

for time. A. What I was referring to—I thought I mentioned— 
I got mixed up with the span, with No. 4, the one that the bascule 
rests on.
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.. Yes, that is right. 

Yes, that is the one I

Q. Do you wish to discard that? . 
That is the one.

Q. Pier 3, that is the same one ? A. 
refer to. That is the one.

Q. So that you are not changing this? A. No, I am not 
changing it.

Q. Why were you in difficulties about it. As a matter of 
fact you are here giving details of these piers calling them by 
numbers and everything else and when I showed you this plan 

10 didn't you recognize it at once, or what was the difficulty? A. 
Well, I looked at the other plan there and it did not seem to cor­ 
respond with this and there is nothing here to give me the scale of 
this, or anything else to go by.

Q. Yes, but surely knowing that is the bridge, the relative 
positions of those piers and so on, would you not know that at 
once, with your familiarity with this bridge and the piers? A. 
Yes, but of course I am allowed to look at any other plans of the 
bridge if I want to find my bearings. I am not going back on my 
word.

20 Q I don't mean to say that, but it is a funny thing which I 
am going to comment upon that these soundings—you noticed these 
soundings ? A. Yes.

Q. That this pier which you marked, this pier which is 
marked No. 4 on this map brings you practically to the line you 
were talking about, 27 or 28 feet, doesn 't it ? Pier 3 is in line with 
the depth of 53, 52, 47, 41 feet, 45 feet. That is so, is it not ? A. 
Well, of course, with regards to the fill and the likes of that along 
there, it is the depths according to the readings from the diving 
box.

30 Q. I am asking you to assume which is a fact that for the 
purposes of this trial, these figures, these soundings are absolute­ 
ly correct. At least, they are accepted as being correct soundings 
by both parties now? A. Well—

Q. Draw a line from Pier 3, will you; that is the line; a 
straight line. Will you check it up so there will be no question 
about it being accurate. Now, you have drawn a line to 58, 53, 
47, 52, 45, 38 and so on. Was your idea in stating that the 27 to 
30 feet soundings were in line with Pier 3 to show any difficulty 
connected with the navigation of the bridge by reason of that ? A. 

40 Well, it would mean to show that if there was shoal water there 
naturally enough the ship would—the captain or whoever was 
in charge of the ship would naturally give it a wide berth.

Mr. Burns: I would like, my lord, to have that map proven 
to pursue it right on this point with this witness, the map which 
I got from a witness of mine in connection with the fill and in 
these circumstances I suggest if your lordship pleases an adjourn­ 
ment may be had now.
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The Court: Oh, quite so. We will adjourn then, Mr. Regis 
trar.

Mr. Burns. There is a slight error. We will bring to your 
lordship's attention tomorrow morning.

The Court: There is something you wish to say now ?
Mr. Burns: No, tomorrow morning will do. I was figuring 

it was close to the time. I do not want to take up some other topic.
The Court: Certainly, Mr. Burns, it is not worth while. 

The court will adjourn.

(COURT ADJOURNED AT 4:25 P.M. UNTIL 10:30 A.M. 10 
SEPTEMBER 28th, 1928.)

(Vancouver, B. C., September 28th, 1928, 10:30 a.m.)

(COURT RESUMED PURSUANT TO ADJOURN­ 
MENT.)

J. F. BRUCE, resumes stand.
Mr. Burns: At adjournment, my lord, I was discussing with 

this witness a matter of the depths and the line from the pier. 
I made a mistake in reading that plan. The figures really indicate 
fathoms, but they look like feet and so I do not wish to press that 
point and wish to make that explanation, so that the court will 
not misunderstand me. I would like to refer though to the plan, 
so your lordship will see how easily that mistake could have 
occurred. My friend corrected me.

Q. Now, with reference to this fill, Bruce, did you see the 
shore on any day previous to the fill being made, being filled in? 
A. There was a rowing boat but no actual diving there.

Q. Well, you would be diving? A. Well I mean to say I 
am referring to underneath as regards low water and the matter 
of as far out as I could see. I am referring to a row boat.

Q. Were you familiar with it? A. Well, I was. I worked 
there for several months and so on from that shore.

Q. What difference to the low water mark or what difference 
was made by the fill to the shore ? A. Well, the fill projected out 
beyond the low water mark.

Q. How far? A. Well, approximately thirty to thirty-five 
feet.

Q. From low water mark, are you positive about that? A. 
Well, I guess it would be more.

Q. Then you were positive the fill projected? A. I am 
positive it was more than thirty-five feet.

Q. I am taking your statement it was more than thirty-five 
feet that the fill projected out from the low water mark? A. 
From the low water mark to the foot of the fill.

20

30
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I mean the foot of the fill as it slopes. It has to have a fill. It has British Columbia 
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Q. What distance would there be if you had a line along Case 
from the low water mark as it was horizontally to the point on the T F ĉe 
fill which would be the edge ? A. Approximately thirty-five feet. cross-exam.

Q. You are not now talking of the bottom ? A. That would (Contd.j 
be going to the foot of the fill straight up and drawing the angle 

10 that way.
Q. I mean on the slope of the fill where the water would meet 

it? A. Well, it slopes back from the low water, but it projects 
out under the water. I do not quite grasp your meaning.

Q. If as a matter of fact you take a line from the previous 
low water mark? A. Yes.

Q. And projected it out horizontally until you met the fill 
what distance would those lines be, at least that line be from the 
edge of the fill at that horizontal point and the former low water 
mark ? A. Approximately thirty-five feet as I said before. 

20 Q. What is the slope of the fill ? A. I don't know the grade 
of the slope at all, just what grade it is now.

Q. What size would you say the fill is? A. Well, it is 
approximately 20 feet high at the low water mark.

Q. 20 feet high at low water mark, that is present low water 
mark? A. The present low water mark.

Q. And the edge being of a sloping nature? A. And the 
edge being of a sloping nature.

Q. Is that south or where is it in relation to Pier 5? A. 
Well, that would be the back of Pier 5.

30 Q. That is to the south of Pier 5? A. To the south of 
Pier 5.

Q. As a matter of fact the fill is between Pier 5 and the 
south shore? A. There is pier 5 and then there is another sup­ 
port at the back of that and the fill starts to slope away from that 
one in the rear of the Pier 5.

Q. Well, what do you call that one in the rear, is it a pier ? 
A. That is connected to Pier 5, but there is a matter of 12 to 14 
feet there from it. You see, I think it shows it on the plan.

Q. Would you say that this is a good picture of the fill. I 
40 am referring to plan 22, exhibit 22 ? A. This is the one I am re­ 

ferring to. It slopes from the back of that, or slopes from the 
front of that.

Q. The witness is pointing to the pier to the south of Pier 
5 and the edge of the fill slopes from that pier? A. From the 
front of that?

Q. From the front of that pier? A. Right from here.
Q. To where? A. To out here. It is not at that angle, 

though, it is a longer slope than that.
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20

Q. You would say it is not an accurate picture of it? A. 
No, I would not say it is accurate, not at the present time, because 
this foot has come out more than it originally was.

Q. Slipped out, is that it? A. Yes, they have had to do 
some protection work underneath this sill here.

Q. You mean the pier to the south of Pier 5. A. Yes, they 
had to do some protection work there because the ground was 
giving way underneath and they had to keep the whole thing from 
slipping down.

Q. Would you say there is any part of that fill to the north 1() 
of Pier 5 ? A. Any part of this fill ?

Q. Any part of this fill, any part of this fill at all to the 
north of Pier 5? A. Yes.

Q. What part? A. As shown like that in a sloping posi­ 
tion. I am referring to under water.

Q. I understand that. We won't refer to this plan because 
you say to your mind that is not accurate at the present time. 
Now, explain verbally or describe it yourself, you say that there 
is a certain portion of this fill at the present time that lies to the 
north of Pier 5? A. Yes.

Q. Now, I want you to describe what portion? A. Well, 
the foot of that fill.

Q. When you say the foot of the fill, what do you mean, how 
much of it? A. The north end of the fill.

Q. Well, then, how much of that foot? A. Well, that is 
very hard to judge. I have not been down there to take any meas­ 
urements regarding that.

Q. That part is under water? A. It is under water.
Q. That is the bottom of the slope ? A. The bottom of the 

slope.
Q. Of the sloped edge of the fill? A. Everything to the 

north of that cylinder is under water.
Q. What I am trying to get from you is what is to the north 

of that cylinder according to your view ? A. It is part of that 
fill.

Q. Well, let me put it this way, am I correct in stating that 
the bottom of the slope of the edge of that fill, that is the bottom 
of the sloped edge of the fill is north of Pier 5 ? A. Yes.

Q. How much of that bottom would it be which was under ? 
A. Approximately about 15 or 20 feet.

Q. That is 15 or 20 feet of the sloped edge of the fill, you say, 
is north of Pier 5, is that right ? A. To the foot; that is—well, 
that would be the edge, the outer edge, would naturally be there 
at the foot of the fill.

Q. Do you say, witness, that there are fifteen or twenty feet 
of the bottom of the sloped edge of that fill north of Pier 5? A. 
Approximately 15 or 20 feet.

30
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Is there not one of those plans referring to the Adm"dty Din.
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In the estimation, your lordship, of the witness Qoss-exam
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Q.
you mean.

The Court: 
toe?

Mr. Griffin:
The Court:
Mr. Griffin:

who is there who said that plan had been made by him he said 
the toe extends five feet further out than is shown on that plan. 

1C The Court: Yes, I think the engineer used the expression, 
"The toe of the fill." I would like to see if that is what he means 
when he talks about the foot, or the edge and that sort of thing, 
so we will know we are discussing the same thing.

Mr. Burns: Q. Do you understand, witness, when you 
speak of the bottom of that sloped edge of the fill that you are re­ 
ferring to the toe of it ? A. Yes, that is the most northerly point 
of that slope.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Burns: Of course, that is the most northerly, but what 

20 you were referring to is the toe of the fill.
The Witness: Naturally.
Q. Look at this plan, exhibit 18, are you in a position to say 

whether that is accurate or not, or whether that is a fair repre­ 
sentation of that ? A. It appears to me to come more to a point 
than that.

The Court: What is the date of that plan, Mr. Burns ?
Mr. Burns: This plan, my lord—
The Court: If it is several years ago it might have some 

effect. What is the date, did you say? 
30 Mr. Burns: February 12th, 1925.

The Court: Oh, yes.
Mr. Burns: Q. Well, in that case, what do you say as to the 

representation of the fill ? A. It appears to come more to a point 
here out from the cylinders.

Q. Do you take it those two cylinders shown inside of the 
curved edge of the fill comprise Pier 5 ? A. Comprise Pier 5.

Q. Are they Pier 5? A. Yes.
Q. And you say that delineation of the edge of that fill is 

too rounded ? A. It is at the present time. It appears to be too 
40 rounded to what conditions are at the present time.

Q. Would you take a pencil and draw, impose upon this 
what you think would be a better representation of that line. With 
a black lead pencil, my lord, the witness has indicated it, the wit­ 
ness has drawn this.

The Court: Yes, thank you.
Mr. Burns: Q. Now, when you draw that line, witness, 

outside the line that is on the plan you do not know as a matter

Defendant's 
Case
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of fact whether it is outside or not? A. No, I don't as regards 
the scale. I am just as I pictured it to the eye.

Q. Then so far as the relation of that fill to the low water 
mark is concerned where do you say the low water mark is shown 
on the outside edge of the fill, I mean where would it be ?

The Court: Keep to that expression, the toe, if you do not 
mind, because that is what the engineers are referring to there.

The Witness: The low water mark to the toe of the fill ap­ 
proximately in line 35 feet as I said before.

Q. Yes, I know, but how far up the toe? A. Well, I am 10 
talking about as regards—

Q. There is some part of the toe of the fill exposed at low 
water? A. Well, where I am getting low water is from the 
shore.

Q. I mean at the present time with the fill there now, there 
is some part of the toe of the fill exposed at low water 1 A. It is 
under water.

Q. That is all under water ? A. That is the part that pro­ 
jects out is under water. You mean the— The whole of the fill 
would? 20

Q. No, the whole of the edge of the fill. A. Oh, certainly, 
there is quite a bit of that shows at low water.

Q. Give me some idea, at least, your idea of where that low 
water shows on the toe of the fill. To what extent is the toe of 
the fill exposed at low water. You understand that, don't you, 
what proportion? A. Well, there is really none exposed above 
water of the toe of the fill.

Q. Well, then, the outer edge of the fill is all covered at all 
times ? A. That is the toe of it is all covered.

Q. What part is not? A. Well, the highest part of it, fur- 30 
ther back, that is, coming up from the toe, that is naturally that 
part would not be covered.

Q. It is on the same slope as the toe ? A. Yes.
Q. Then you are speaking of the toe as being the bottom of 

that slope ? A. I am talking of the bottom of the slope.
Q. I am referring to it as the outer edge of the fill and from 

that point of view how far down the outer edge does low water 
mark show. At least, what proportion of that outer edge would 
be exposed at low water mark ?

Mr. Griffin: Would my learned friend accept the suggestion 40 
that he calls it the northern slope, because that is what it is. It 
is the slope of the northern face.

The Court: The toe technically, Mr. Burns, is the extreme 
outer edge which he says is always under water. Then he says 
coming inshore from that as you go up the slope there is a certain 
amount which is exposed. I understand you to mean that.

The Witness: Yes.
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The Court : And what you wish to get is at low water how far RECORD 
would it be from the toe that the exposure begins. BritisiTc^iumbi

Mr. Burns : Yes, from the top. Admiralty DJSI.
The Witness : Approximately fifteen or twenty feet, that is Defendant's 

what I said just now. That would be about between the two cyl- Case 
inders.

Q. That is between the two cylinders, between the cylinders 
to the rear and Pier 5? A. Yes.

Q. Does the ebb tide run over the fill with any force? A. 
The ebb tide runs over the fill up to within about an hour or an 
hour and a half before slack water.

Q. But when it is running over the fill does it run over it 
with any force 1 A. It runs over with quite a force.

Q. The ebb tide? A. Yes.
Q. What speed do you say? A. Well, anywhere from five 

to six knots.
Q. From five to six knots, that is, a regular proposition? 

A. That is with a long run out.
Q. Now, then, in the flood tide, the turn of the flood, you say 

that fill causes a deflection of the current northeasterly, is that 
right? A. Yes, quite correct.

Q. Then does it form a back water behind it or a big eddy ? 
A. Yes, there is a big eddy that comes in around in line just in 
line with those cylinders, that is No. 5 Pier. There is a big eddy 
sets up there.

Q. Then to what extent does this fill deflect the current 
northeasterly, is it an acute angle ? A. Well, it appears to come 
right from the foot of the pier, or the foot of the fill across and 
just misses the other cylinders on the other pier; what is that 
number? It goes just east of that pier.

Q. Which pier? I show you this exhibit? A. This pier 
here, that is the one here.

Q. You mean the cylinders being part of 4-A? A. The 
cylinders are a part of 4-A.

The Court : Between 5 which he is speaking about and 4-A 
there is a fixed span of 150 feet.

Mr. Burns : Q. Now looking at this map will you draw with 
this pencil the line that you would say that current would deflect 
to.

The Court : You are still on 22, Mr. Burns.
Mr. Burns : Yes, still on 22, my lord.
Q. That, I presume, is an approximate line? A. An ap­ 

proximate line, yes.
The Court : Just let me see it.
Mr. Burns: Q. It may be nearer the cylinders or it may 

be further away? A. No, I don't think it would be any nearer 
the cylinders than what I have drawed there.
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Q. It may be further away? A. It may be further away.
Q. You figure that is pretty accurate? A. It may be fur­ 

ther away. It would not be nearer the cylinders, though.
Mr. Smith: Excuse me, I think that is exhibit 18.
Mr. Burns: I have made a mistake there, my lord. It is 

exhibit 18.
Q. Now, is that line you have drawn the extent of this cur­ 

rent, or would it extend any further? A. Well, the current is 
noticeable further than that.

Q. How far would you put that? A. (Witness indicates). 10
Q. Now, you have added to this line going the extent the 

distance to which this current could go ? A. There it is practi­ 
cally lost, the surface indications lost in the ebb tide.

Q. In the flood? A. Well, it is absorbed with the flood 
there.

Q. We are talking about the flood tide, I presume, because 
it could not occur except in the flood, could it ? A. No.

Q. Well, then, what distance would you say that would be 
from the bascule of the span ? A. What distance from the—

Q. That is as far as you would take this current altogether ? 20 
A. That would be approximately 150 to 200 feet.

Q. You said 150 feet before? A. No, that was referring 
to—

Q. East of the bridge? A. That was referring to the ebb 
tide I mentioned.

Q. No, you said would meet a ship 150 feet east of the 
bridge at flood tide. I think you said that, but I just want what 
you are willing to say? A. We was talking—I could not meet 
a ship on the port bow.

Q. I am not talking about the port bow, we are talking about 30 
that current. You were being examined about the current. The 
note we have is that speaking of this current at flood tide you 
said it would meet the ship 150 feet east of the bridge? On the 
ebb tide it does not affect the outgoing tide, because it would not 
affect the outgoing tide.

A. That appears to me to be wrong to the evidence I gave. 
I referred to ship—as striking the ship and Mr. Smith there 
asked me the question where would—what part of the ship did 
this strike and I referred to it as the port bow which would be 
impossible on a flood tide. 40

Q. Well, the notes will show what you said, but we will 
take your statement now and now you can make the statement, 
if you like. I will ask it this way. You have an idea; you have 
been giving this impression of yours as to these currents; you 
have an idea about the distance that this current as you have 
drawn it would go east of the bridge before it is absorbed in the 
flood tide? A. Yes.
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Q. Well, then, what is your idea? 
does get absorbed.

Q. I know it does get absorbed ? A.

A. Well, the current RECORD
British ColumbiaAnd it runs in approx- Admiralty Dist. 

imately that direction, but not so much as it would before the Defendant's
turn of the ebb.

Q. I am not talking about the stage of the tide now. But I 
will draw your attention to the stage of the tide; where this cur­ 
rent is more noticeable than any other time which I presume 
would be on the strength of the flood? A. Well, it is noticeable 

10 on the first hour of the flood; it is most noticeable then.
Q. Well, when it is most noticeable and it is longest accord­ 

ing to your observations how far would you put it east of the 
bridge before it is absorbed in the tide; in other words, how far 
could you see it east of the bridge ? A. Approximately 150 feet.

Q. Well, that is what you said before, and you are saying 
it now, although you wanted to change it to 200 feet or something? 
A. No, sir.

Q. You say 150 feet when this current is at its strongest, 
such as its strength may be, but when it is noticeable the extent 

20 of it going east of the bridge or being sent east of the bridge is 
approximately 150 feet ? A. Approximately 150 feet.

Q. At what stage of the tide would that be, at what stage of 
the flood tide ? A. Approximately about an hour after the turn 
of the tide.

Q. About an hour after the turn of the tide is the strongest 
part of the tide ? A. Yes.

Q. And would last for how long? A. Well, I am not sure 
about how long it would last.

Q. Take an average run out? A. I have noticed it there 
30 quite often.

Q. You have not observed how long it would be ? A. I have 
not observed how long it would be.

Q. But you have noticed it of any strength or length at 
about an hour after the turn of the flood ? A. At about an hour 
after the turn of the flood.

Q. And that is when the flood tide is the strongest at its 
strongest force 1 A. That is when the flood tide is strongest.

Q. Then you would say— A. That would be up to that 
time. That would be up to an hour. The tide would flood in that 

40 direction. I have noticed it up to that time from low water— 
from the turn of the tide up to an hour afterwards.

Q. It would be lost entirely after an hour? A. No, just 
my observation is up to approximately an hour or an hour after 
that the tide has turned.

Q. Then you would mean from low water to— A. From 
low water to an hour after the turn of the tide.

Q. Do I understand when it is longest and shows that it

Case

T. F. Bruce
Cross-exam.

(Contd.)
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goes furthest that is about an hour after the flood tide? A. No, 
it is most noticeable at the turn of the tide.

Q. What do you mean at the turn of the tide? A. At low 
water from ebb, that is after the turn of the tide.

Q. That is from low slack? A. Yes.
Q. You mean at the first of the flood? A. It is noticeable 

then.
Q. To the extent that you speak of? A. Not out so far.
Q. No, I presume you would say that. It is not out so far 

until it feels the full strength of the tide? A. Until the full 10 
strength of the tide.

Q. On the first part just at the turn it may be indicated, 
but it would not be very extensive, would it ? A. No, it would 
not be very extensive.

Q. And is gradually, as you say? A. Getting stronger up 
to approximately an hour after the tide had turned.

Q. You don't know whether it continues after that hour or 
not, because you say you have not observed? A. I have not ob­ 
served after that hour.

Q. Would you say it would be lost in the flood altogether 20 
after that? A. They don't appear to be so much, such a strong 
current there at high water as at low, so naturally I do not 
think it would be so strong.

Q. Now, you figure then that this deflection, or the creation 
of this current by the fill extends what distance, altogether. We 
have got it out about 150 feet east of the bridge? Within what 
distance altogether would that be ? A. I really could not say to 
what distance.

Q. Approximately? A. I was just taking observations 150 
feet from the bridge. 30

Q. Work that out approximately? A That would be about 
200 or 225 feet approximately.

Q. Why do you say it is 200 or 225 feet? A. I am not 
sure. I may say I really did not take the distance of the tide or 
the likes of that. I was just going by where the tide was absorbed 
here by the incoming tide.

Q. Look at this picture and you know it is the bridge and 
you gave evidence yesterday about the distance in feet between 
the spans. Then you know the distance between Span 4-A and 
5? A. Yes. 40

Q. What is that? A. 4-A and 5,150 feet.
Q. And that is on the horizontal ? A. Yes.
Q. At least, in a straight line? Your eye ought to have 

shown you? A. Well, I am giving you the approximate dis­ 
tance. I am not a sealer. I am not a draftsman. It is only just 
judging what the distance is there. I never done any drafting 
work or charts or the likes of that.
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Q. All right, you have given your evidence with reference RECORD 
to this current as the result of observations you have made not Brais 
in this particular case, but you being around there, is that right ? Admiralty

A. Yes, I spent quite a bit of time at that part of the bridge Defendant's 
on account of diving operations. I go down there and wait around Case 
until the boat comes around before slack water, and I pick up :r— 
the boat there and go back and when I get through with the diving Qoss-exam 
they land me back and naturally enough I spend quite a bit of (Contd.j 
time there and notice different things.

10 Q. So that you picked this information up or your ideas or 
theories of this matter or your facts in that way, just simply be­ 
cause you were around there. It was not your job to make this 
particular—

A. No, nothing whatever to do with me.
Q. Did you make any investigation or observation about 

this current for a definite or specific purpose at any time? A. 
None whatever.

Q. Did you make any observations for the purposes of this 
trial in any way? A. None whatever. 

20 Q. You did not go out and check it in any way ? A. No.
Q. So what you are giving here in evidence is simply what 

you have gathered in the way of information because of being 
around there diving? A. Being around there as you might call 
it as an amateur and noticing things going on and just comment­ 
ing on things I have noticed while I have been there.

Q. When you gave the distances I asked you for did you 
give them as a result of having arrived at that conclusion of dis­ 
tance at the time of your observation or just from your impres­ 
sion? A. Just from my impression of the distance. Just the 

30 same as I might say it is about 14 feet across to that corner there. 
I never measured it off.

Q. What I want to make you understand is this: Do you 
recollect that you did at any time size that current up on the 
ground while you were there and check it in your mind as to how 
long that was and that the evidence you gave about 150 feet is 
a recollection of that conclusion or are you just working it out 
now? A. That is the only time—that is the only thing I am 
pretty accurate on was approximately that 150 feet east of the 
bridge where the tide meets there.

40 Q. Did you figure on that before or figure on your recollec­ 
tion? A. No, I have studied it quite a bit on account of boats 
coming down there, and I was always of that impression. I gave 
Mr. Brakenridge the same impression before this trial came along 
and my idea was why a ship should sheer off on this other span 
was on account of striking an incoming tide or something there 
and Seymour Creek striking her stern would naturally put her 
in that direction.
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Q. You are not giving these distances just from your im­ 
pression. You are giving it from what conclusion you arrived 
at before? A. What I arrived at before.

Q. When did you settle in your mind that 150 feet you have 
spoken of? A. That was quite a while ago, probably over a year 
ago. I was speaking to Mr. Brakenridge about it.

Q. Did you settle it on the ground when looking at the cur­ 
rent or work it out yourself? A. No, I did not work it out at 
all. I was just standing there from the pier and estimating what 
I thought was 150 feet. 10

Q. Now, then, you would not say that this current would 
come nearer the bascule than you have drawn it, would you? A. 
No, I would not say that it would.

Q. You say it would not? A No, I don't think it would. 
It would naturally—it would not go exactly straight like that on 
account of—-take the case—

Q. But the mean of its direction would be? A. As it 
would meet it would gradually go from the east to the west.

Q. And it would not be through the bascule at all? A. No, 
no. 20

Q. Now, the only observations you made were surface ob­ 
servations? A. Surface observations.

Q. That is all you know about this? A. That is all I 
know about this.

Q. And so that we will be absolutely certain about this, the 
strength of this current, this northeasterly direction current is 
on towards an hour after the flood started? A, From low water 
to approximately an hour after the turn.

Q. And you agree with me that the full strength or the 
greatest strength would be on towards an hour after the flood 30 
started? A. Yes, quite correct.

Q. That would be natural Now, what diving have you done 
at the Second Narrows. I want some line on that? A. The 
diving I have done there I worked 1924 approximately there for 
seven or eight months constant diving.

Q. Where would you be diving during that time? A. At 
that time I was diving at a thousand feet east of the bridge—in 
450 feet out from the shore, from the south shore.

Q. What depth? A. Well, on my pump it registered 93 
feet. . 40

Q. What particular job were you doing there? A. There 
were two pipes broken there. There was No. 1 pipe broken there 
and No. 4 pipe further on and that would be 450 feet east of that 
another pipe was broken.

Q. The first pipe broken that you were working on was 450 
feet north of the south shore? A. 450 feet north of the south 
shore.
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Q. And the other job was on a pipe broken about 450 feet RECORD 
north of that again ? A. No, the other pipe was broken 450 feet British Columbia 
east of that, on No. 4 pipe, but on the same line 450 feet out from
the Shore.

Q. How long did that job take ? A. That job took approxi- 
mately, I started on the 14th of February and it was November, 
I think, when I finished. It was a very arduous job. At times 
I could only stop 8 minutes on the bottom and my average time 
working was 35. 74 hours the total job took.

Q. Never mind the details unless you want to give them in 
explanation? A. Why I am explaining that is why there was 
such a time taken in doing the work.

Q. I have no doubt that is perfectly proper. In that time— 
at least, was that the first diving you did in the Second Narrows ? 
A. Yes, that was the first diving I done there.

Q. That was in 1924? A. Yes.
Q. Then where next? A. Well, I dived in False Creek.
Q. No, where next in the Second Narrows. I am only in­ 

terested in the Second Narrows. A. Well, on them two breaks 
and I have also dived, well, in fact, all depths there on all the 
pipes. I have walked the bottom there twenty times or more from 
shore to shore. There is in one tide and sometimes I take three 
or four tides to do it.

Q. That was after those two jobs you speak of? A. After 
them two jobs.

Q. And when was it? A. When?
Q. Yes, when? A. Well, from that November up to the 

present day. I am working there now at the present day, at the 
same place, that first place referred to. There is a break there 
now.

Q. Before you come to the break you are working on now, 
the nature of the work you did after this first job you told me was 
walking the mains, is that it? A. Yes, I examined the mains 
for the city in 19—I am not sure about that date, but I examined 
the mains sometime after that. There was a break occurred in 
the First Narrows and I had to go down there and it was some­ 
time afterwards before I went over the mains.

Q. Well, you went over the mains ? A. Yes.
Q. Once or twice or how many times ? A. I went over and 

took an examination of them twice, once for the City and once 
for the Water Board.

Q. Did that consist of a trip across for each main or a trip 
across for all the mains ? A. That consisted of a trip across for 
each main.

Q. And you have done that twice. Now, what other diving 
have you done in the Second Narrows? A. Well, I have done 
that; that would be twice. Well, I have examined them mains
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RECORD twice and I have also examined the new mains; I surveyed the 
British Columbia bottoms for boulders or obstructions and one. thing and another 

before pulling the mains.
Q. How do you find the bottom? A. I find the bottom, 

well, it is a pretty fair bottom. There is nothing—no abrupt drop 
or anything like that like it is in the First Narrows. It is a fairly 
even bottom. It runs at a bit of a shelf on the south shore and 
then drops away to the centre, take a rise and then drops a little, 
and then takes a rise to the North Shore.

Q. Any irregularities which made your work more impor- 10 
tant? A. Well, there were several boulders and one thing and 
another in the soap stone. There is a kind of soap stone in the 
bottom and those boulders get imbedded in it. And the pipe gets 
up against it and breaks which it did.

Q. There is a certain amount of irregularity in the bottom ? 
A. There is.

Q. What other diving did you do at the Second Narrows? 
A. Well, I examined there; after they dug the trench for to pull 
those pipes through, I examined and reported to Mr. Brakenridge.

Q. Never mind what you reported. This work was in and 20 
about the water mains ? A. Yes.

Q. Which as I understand it runs from 1000 to 1600 feet, is 
it, from the bridge, east of the bridge, or how is it ? A. My ob­ 
servation is 150 to 200 feet west of the water mains and 150 to 200 
feet east of the water mains. Outside of that I don't know any­ 
thing about the diving, about the bottom. The obstruction I was 
going to speak about there was where this trench was drilled out 
and dug out to a depth of approximately 15 feet, a lot of the bigger 
boulders and sandstone and the dredge could not take them up 
and they naturally pushed them over the bank and on one side 30 
they cover all the water mains there at a depth of five feet.

Q. Made quite a bit of irregularity to the flow ? A. There 
is quite a boil there, especially about an hour before low water, 
very noticeable on the surface.

Q. And has that been fixed up since ? A. It has never been 
fixed up. Both east and west of the trench there is quite a few. 
There are some there weighing seven or eight tons.

Q. So that creates ? A. Creates that eddy there, a boil effect, 
especially when it is getting low, when the tide is getting low.

Q. So you would say as far as the bottom is concerned around 40 
that point it is fairly irregular, having quite an effect upon the 
water ? A. It is fairly irregular.

Q. Very irregular, having quite a considerable effect upon 
the water? A. Yes.

Q. Now, your depths of diving varied, of course? A. Nat­ 
urally.

Q. You speak of—before I ask you that you have come to
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a conclusion, I understand from listening to your evidence, as far RECORD 
as the tide tables are concerned they are practically never accur- British Columbia ate? A. Never accurate. Admiralty Dist.

Q. Never accurate? A. I have never known them to be Defendant's 
accurate yet, not in the Second Narrows. The only case would be Case 
a long slack and then of course you still get a current then even, , p
so when there is a long slack there is a certain amount of current cross-exam 
there then and you cannot work on the bottom. (Contd.)

Q. I am talking of the time as shown in the tide tables ? A. 
10 Yes.

Q. In your experience and observation you are ready to 
make the statement and have made the statement that the tide 
tables as far as the Second Narrows are concerned are never ac­ 
curate? A. Never accurate as regards the diving when I have 
been doing the diving.

Q. Now, wait a moment. I was not talking about diving. I 
was starting first of all with this general statement. You are 
qualifying the statement by saying, "Never as regards to diving." 
What has the diving got to do with the tide tables ? A. What I 

20 mean is this, that from surface indications they might appear 
accurate, but from experience in the diving they never are accu­ 
rate. There is quite a difference in the current from the top of 
those Narrows to what it is in the bottom.

Q. Yes, I am now going to discuss the matter of those cur­ 
rents with you. Now, your statement means this as I understand 
it that you are not proposing to criticise the tide tables with ref­ 
erence to surface indications? A. Yes, I will do that, I will go 
to the extent of that.

Q. I want to get the extent you will go. So that now you 
30 know what I want you might tell me ? A. They are not accurate 

as regards surface indications.
Q. To what extent? A. On the flood tide the tides are 

early to what they are in the book and on the ebb tides they are 
late to what they are in the book.

Q. Now, let us feel our way a bit. That is perfectly satis­ 
factory to you, that statement; you accept that? A. Yes, that 
is the surface indications.

Q. Surface indications on the flood they are early ? A. On 
the flood they are early.

40 Q. And on the ebb they are low? A. On the ebb they are 
low, except with wind or the likes of that.

Q. Leave out wind and weather, because there is no wind 
and weather in this case.

Mr. Griffin : My learned friend can hardly state that. The 
weather does affect it.

Mr. Burns: The wind?
Mr. Griffin : If you ask the witness to exclude them you get 

at cross purposes.
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RECORD Mr. Burns: It is not my idea to get him to say anything but 
British Columbia what he wants to say. He is evidently ready to say it. 
"-'--'- n;" Q. The reason I said, "Never mind the wind and weather," 

Bruce, was that I want to your evidence as to the general proposi­ 
tion the action of the tides in the Second Narrows as compared 
to the tide tables'? A. Yes.

Q. Wind and weather might make the tide late or early, but 
that discussion is not one that would help us at all. May I put 
it that you say generally speaking even so far as the surface indi­ 
cations are concerned or the surface effects, the flood tide is early 10 
and the ebb tide is late 1 A. In almost every case in the Second 
Narrows.

Q. In almost every case in the Second Narrows ? A. Yes.
Q. And you see we are leaving out wind and weather? A. 

Yes, I want to understand as long as you will excuse me and not 
bring that up against me afterwards.

Q. I am not going to bring anything against you afterward, 
except it is on a pretty sound basis. My idea of excluding wind 
and weather is that we are not bothered with abnormal or extra­ 
ordinary conditions. What I want to discuss with you is the gen- 20 
eral normal position of the tide at the Second Narrows as against 
the tide tables. That is what we are discussing now. A. Yes, 
that is quite correct.

Q. To what extent would you say—we are speaking now 
about the surface—would you say that the flood is early and the 
ebb is late as a general rule 1 A. Well, the ebb has been to the 
extent of 25 minutes late, yes, 25 minutes late or more and the 
flood has been at least 35 minutes.

Q. Early? A. Early, that would be on the long run out 
and the long run in. 30

Q. For this purpose— A. That is the extreme that I should 
like to give it as the extreme, thirty-five minutes early for the 
flood and twenty-five minutes late for the low slack.

Q. Would that be unusual, or is that more or less usual? 
A. That is almost more or less—that is almost the average when 
the floods are at that stage.

Q. So it is twenty-five or thirty-five minutes when the tides 
are at those stages ? The flood will run about thirty-five minutes 
early and the ebb will run about twenty-five minutes late? A. 
That is quite correct. 40

Q. So as a matter of fact that would be a pretty constant 
proposition as far as you are concerned? A. Well, it would be 
at that stage of the tide.

Q. And that is the surface we are talking about ? A. Sur­ 
face indications.

Q. So you think you have given this sufficient observation to 
come to the conclusion and give it as solemn evidence here that it
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is a regular thing that the flood is thirty-five minutes earlier and RECORD 
the ebb is twenty-five minutes later on certain stages of the tide ? BrmsiTc^iumbi
A. YeS. Admiralty Dist.

Q. When I say cerain stages of the tide that is the stage of Defendant's 
the tide that occurs regularly? A. That would run in from low Case 
tide up to approximately twelve or thirteen feet.

Q. That is a big tide ? A. That would be a big tide.
Q. This evidence you have given has reference particularly 

to big tides ? A. Has reference to big tides.
Q. What length of tides would you include as acting in 

this way? A. What length?
Q. To what extent, an eight feet or nine feet tide ? A. No, 

I refer to one or two foot slacks. That is the low water to approxi­ 
mately a twelve or thirteen feet rise.

Q. Well, then, it would be about a nine or ten or eleven foot 
tide, the difference ? A. Well, yes.

Q. And the same thing would apply in the big drop? A. 
Or a zero or below zero. It would have naturally enough more 
effect.

Q. Then with some other kind of tide is there the same con­ 
dition occurring, but not so great in the way of being early and 
late, do you see what I mean. This thirty-five minutes and twenty- 
five minutes flood and ebb occurs as a constant observation with 
reference to those tides. Now, take the average tide. Would the 
flood be early but a less amount of time? A. The flood would 
naturally be a little early.

Q. Well, you say naturally a little early? A. Well, it 
would be a little early.

Q. When you say naturally you mean your proposition is 
that those tides are early in the case of the flood and late in the 
case of the ebb and that the time that they are early or late will 
go up or down according to the bigness or smallness of the tide, is 
that a fair proposition? A. The times I am referring to is the 
tune of the tide of slack water at high and low water.

Q. That is where you find those differences in time you 
are speaking of? A. Yes.

Q. And you find the big difference in time where that low 
slack if it is a low slack has resulted from a big drop ? A. A big 
drop.

Q. And where high slack, if it is a slack, where it is a high 
slack has resulted from a big flood ? A. A big flood.

Q. And you found those big differences in time. Suppos­ 
ing vou have no such big tide, but half that tide, say, seven or 
eight feet of a flood, and you are on high slack. Now, I presume 
what you mean by 'naturally' is that the flood would be early, but 
so early as the thirty-five minutes you speak of in the big cases ? 
A. Yes, it would be early, but not to the extend of the long run.



164

RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Defendant's 
Case

J. F. Bruce
Cross-exam.

(Contd.)

Q. And the same thing would apply in the ebb cases? A. 
Yes.

Q. So that when you say naturally I take it to mean— A. 
It varies, though.

Q. That the proposition is that the tide tables are late or 
early as the case may be according to your evidence as a constant 
proposition ? A. Yes.

Q. Varying in point of time according to the largeness or 
smallness of the tide ? A. Yes.

Q. And I suppose not to a great amount of time, but still 10 
there would be a difference in quite a small tide ? A. Well, yes.

Q. I mean some difference ? A. Yes, there is a difference. 
Of course, observations as regards to the slack water there I have 
been down below, you see, when it has been actual slack water 
on top.

Q. I am coming to that. I am only discussing this one point ? 
A. Although the actual time as given in the time table, the water 
has been still flooding above.

Q. That is—
Mr. Griffin: Let him finish. 20
Mr. Burns: I was going to help you.
The Witness: When the water has been flooding and I will 

go down when the tide is on the flood, you see, and in some cases 
in most all cases I am up again before the tide turns.

Q. At any rate, that is how you have come to your con­ 
clusion on observation in connection with your work? A. And 
I have been at the surface there when the tide is actually turning 
after me coming up from below, and could not work on account 
of the strong current.

Q. What we were discussing was the matter of your asser- 30 
tion that the tide books were so far out? A. Yes.

Q. Have you ever thought of taking it up with the authori­ 
ties? A. No.

Q. You did not bother at all? Would it not have helped 
you in your work if you had a more accurate table to go by ? A. 
While we are coming to it one day the tide might be far more 
early one day than it is another, although it is only a matter of a 
foot or six inches of a drop or rise. There would be quite a dif­ 
ference in the tide. And there is a difference each day.

Q. In relation to wind and weather as regards to altering 40 
the book or getting the different schedules put on the book, it 
would not help you very much. Have you ever seen them making 
tidal observations in the Second Narrows ? A. There was a man 
there for about twelve months, but what he did as regards taking 
observations of the tides I don't know.

Q. You did not even ask him? A. No, the only thing I 
could see was that he took observations from drift wood floating 
about.
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Q. But you did not discuss it with him? A. I did not dis- RECORD 
cuss it with him. He used to walk down to the bridge, but that is 
as far as I know.

Q. What was that. A. That was the latter part of 1926. Defendant's
Q. Did you tell him that these tide tables were no good ? A. Case 

No, I never spoke to the man about the tide tables at all.
Q. But you knew he was right there on that job? A. Yes, 

he was right over on top of the 4, 5 and 6 mains over the railway 
embankment.

10 Q. You said at one time when fixing a hole in the cylinder— 
that is working for the Northern Construction ? A. Yes.

Q. That the tide commenced to rise sooner-— A. Yes.
Q. Than you expected and it was still ebbing on the surface ? 

A. Yes.
Q. I suppose you mean the surface of the channel? A. I 

am referring to the surface where we was working, that was from 
No. 1 pier, I think it is.

Q. Well, the hole in the cylinder was not under water ? A. 
The hole in the cylinder was not under water. We were working 

20 from the surface.
Q. You were working on the surface ? A. On the surface 

in a dug out there.
Q. And your observations with regard to the surface water 

is that it was ebbing right at the place you were working ? A. It 
was ebbing right there.

Q. And yet the tide was rising to prevent you doing your 
work on the hole ? A. After we had worked at it for approxi­ 
mately half to three-quarters of an hour we were driven out on 
account of the tide rising to where we could not do any more of 

30 that particular work.
Q. Where was that, No. 1 cylinder? A. No. 1 cylinder or 

No. 1 pier, rather, I don't know exactly which cylinder it was.
Q. No. 1 pier. I just want to identify it ? A. No. 1 pier.
Q. And the water was rising on the pier or on the cylinder 

and yet going out. A. The water was rising after about half 
an hour before slack water by the book; the water was actually 
rising and by slack water as shown on the book it would be half 
an hour later than that again. It was impossible to do anything 
more. The water had rose to the extent of approximately five 

40 or six inches.
Q. Will you see if I can put that, because I don't want any 

misapprehension about it, Bruce. You were fixing a hole in the 
cylinder at No. 1 pier and went at the job in order to do it when 
the hole was above water? A. Yes.

Q. The only time you could do it. You worked for about 
three-quarters of an hour as I understand your evidence? A. 
Yes.
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Q. And within the next half hour you thought you could 
still work. During that next half hour the water rose, so that you 
could not work ? A. The water rose to interfere with the frac­ 
ture, with the work so that we could not work.

Q. The water came up in the cylinder, so you could not fix 
this hole? A. Yes.

Q. But that water which came up in the cylinder was actual­ 
ly on the surface ebbing ? A. Actually ebbing on the surface.

Q. Who were working with you ? A. Well, I am not sure 
who was working. Of course, we was on different jobs there and 10 
at times we could not work on account of when the tide was running 
pretty swift we did not work at all. I worked with different men, 
I could not say exactly.

Q. You don't know and you might have told me that, like 
that. A. I like to explain it.

Q. Never mind. If you are in difficulties I will allow you 
to explain, but you don't need to do that. When was that? A. 
That was the early part of 1924.

Q. Was it an important break; was it a bad break? A. No, 
it was not a bad break. I never seen the log that done it, but they 20 
told me a cedar log came down and broke it.

Q. Never mind that again. It is not necessary to take time 
up talking about some log, something like that, because it is not 
on the point. I will ask you this: Was that break of such im­ 
portance as it would be identified or could it be identified in the 
records of the contractors, the Northern Construction people ? A. 
No doubt it would be.

Q. And as to who worked upon it ? A. Well, the main su­ 
perintendent, that end of it, was Mr. Leighton.

Q. He would know all about it? A. He would know all 30 
about it.

Q. Would he know about this proposition in connection with 
the tide? A. Well, I don't know that he would know about that, 
because we had to take the stages of the tide that he would not be 
there.

Q. But he would know the men that worked with you? A. 
They can find that out in the office.

Q. How many men were working with you? A. It would 
depend at different times there were about three or four men at 
the most, but down there there would be only two men. The re- 40 
mainder would be at the top.

Q. There would be just you and another? A. Me and 
another, or perhaps another two men would be down there, and 
I would not be down there.

Q. Did the other man see this, too, or did you talk it over 
with him? A. Well, we all passed remarks upon it and they 
have been working—had actually done work upon it before I did
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and they said they must get down there at least an hour and a 
quarter to start in on it.

Q. I am not talking about the difference in tide ? A. I say 
they must have known about it to mention it to me. That is the 
way I am trying to explain it. They explained it to me before I 
noticed it myself.

Q. You mean this condition on the top of the water? A. 
This condition as they were actually working there before I went 
down myself.

Q. But you didn't go down? A. No, I am referring to 
going down to help them.

Q. How near is that to Seymour Creek? A. That is ap­ 
proximately 350 feet due east.

Q. Seymour Creek is? A. Seymour Creek.
The Court: You said east, you mean west. A. Seymour 

Creek, east of the bridge.
The Court:

bridge.
Mr. Burns: 
The Court:

Yes.
The Court: 
Mr. Burns:

The point we are speaking of is west. 
Q. The creek is east of your cylinder? A.

RECORD

British Columbia 
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Oh, you are right, the Seymour is east of the

Q. Yes, he is right.
Q. At that time this dredging had not occur­ 

red. A. No, that dredging had not occurred then.
Q. Seymour Creek as she existed previously to the dredging ? 

A. Yes.
Q. You say that was in March, 1924. Now, what is the date 

of that? A. March what?
Q. The date of this cylinder episode? A. I did not say 

the date. I said the early part of 1924.
Q. Now, "you also say at different times you have also felt 

the undercurrent at a depth—that is the undercurrent against the 
conditions above. Now, I am asking you about it. Describe the 
experience, that is to say as I understand you you said that when 
you were down you felt, say, an incoming flood, or I suppose an 
outgoing ebb, whichever it might be, and then when you got to the 
surface you would find it going the other way, is that right ? A. 
In several cases at different stages of the tide, of course, it acts 
different so that you can never tell what you are going up against.

Q. We understand that, but I want to discuss with you for 
a moment this that as a matter of fact you say that you have at 
the bottom for instance experienced a certain current going a cer­ 
tain way. Take it as if it were a flood tide, you felt that and 
coming up to the surface you felt it ebbing on the surface, is that 
right? A. Yes.

Q. That is right? A. That is quite correct.
Q. Is it also right to say that you have at the bottom felt
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Q. I mean just the reverse of the other? A. Felt an ebb 
tide, but what is the stage of the tide.

Q. I mean under the same conditions or any time ? A. Yes, 
well, at the flood of the tide you would naturally or you would 
very often get the undercurrent or the flood, the flood running on 
the surface. It would be flooding on the surface and ebbing 
underneath.

Q. That is just the reverse of the other, and you have ex- 10 
perienced that ? A. I have experienced that on several occasions.

Q. That is in both ways? A. In reverse; as regards low 
water the tide has been ebbing on the surface, but apparently 
flooding below.

Q. What would you say in your experience which you have 
experienced the most ? A. I have experienced it most as regards 
to the low tide.

Q. But I mean— A. At what depth, you mean?
Q. No, I am not bothering about the stage now. I am talk­ 

ing about the instances where you found a certain tide or current 20 
below and found the reverse when you got up on the top, would the 
more cases you found be where it is an ebb tide underneath, or a 
flood tide underneath? A. When there is an ebb tide under­ 
neath.

Q. It is least usual— A. Not an ebb tide underneath but 
a flood tide underneath and I am referring to the low water, the 
tide running out and flooding underneath.

Q. That would be the more usual? A. That would be the 
most noticeable.

Q. The more often occurring? A. The more often occur- 30 
ring.

Q. Than an ebb tide running underneath and the tide still 
flooding above ? A. Yes, excuse me. Where I am working now 
I have not been down there when the tide has been ebbing there at 
that particular spot. I have not been there at low water when it 
is ebbing on the bottom.

Q. I was not asking about any particular case. In your ex­ 
perience at the bottom the reverse occurs to the first statement. 
That is right? A. Yes.

Q. You said that as you come up from a depth you come to 40 
a certain point and stay there to get some of the gases— A. To 
get rid of the C. O. T. gas. That is the foul air you breath out.

Q. All right, that is the reason of it and you stop there at 
thirty feet? A. It will take you thirty-two minutes after being 
down there an hour to get to the surface.

Q. What stops do you make ? A. I make a stop at 30 feet, 
and 20 feet and 10 feet.
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Q. From the surface ? A. From the surface. RECORD
Q. And you said on one occasion that you could even feel British~c^iumbia 

the undertow at the last stop ? A. I could feel it there about Admiralty 
thirty feet below the surface.

Q. Oh, thirty feet below the surface ? A. Yes.
Q. As you got up from thirty feet below the surface you 

would not be likely to feel it 1 A. I would not—when I got to ten 
it would be the other case; the tide would be—

Q. You would have the same flow as you have on the surface ? 
10 A. Yes.

Q. At ten feet ? A. Just the reverse of what it was, but at 
ten feet—

Q. That is to say, you often felt it at thirty feet ? A. Yes.
Q. On one occasion you said ? A. On several occasions.
Q. On several occasions. You even felt the undercurrent 

that you speak of at thirty feet. Then as you went up from 
thirty that disappeared and the other would appear? A. Yes, 
you would gradually get out of that and you would get into the 
flood.

20 Q. And it was a matter of comment or remark, I suppose, 
to you that you were feeling the undertow or undercurrent of 
thirty feet, because you were getting on towards the surface? 
A. Yes.

Q. And when you got up to twenty feet the effect of it 
would practically disappear ? A. At twenty feet it would hard­ 
ly be noticeable.

Q. Of course, that is natural if that statement is correct— 
I am not stating it is not at the present time—if your satement 
is correct an undercurrent of any strength would have some ap- 

30 pearance on the surface and when it does not it must be lost down 
below, is that not right? A. Naturally enough it would be lost 
as it went down and left the other current.

Q. So as I gather it from you there are two currents going 
in absolutely opposite directions? A. Yes.

Q. That is practically east and west? A. Yes.
Q. I presume if the ebb had finished and you came to slack 

water on the surface, in those circumstances tell me, Bruce, could 
there be much slack water where you have a strong flood coming 
in or an undercurrent coming in and an ebb going out; there would 

40 not be in those circumstances much slack water? A. No, there 
would not be really any slack water. As you went down, natural­ 
ly the deeper you went the stronger it would be and as you reach­ 
ed the surface the weaker it would be.

Q. But what I mean is, am I right in this assumption if 
that occurs or when it occurs it is a case of the flood trying to get 
in, so that it is not going to stand for much slack water, because 
it is going ahead? A. That is right.
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_ Q. And when the effect of the tide is felt on the surface it 
British Columbia becomes the flood tide completely, is that it 1 A. Yes.

Mr. Burns: That is all
Mr. Smith: All right, thank you.
The Court: It just occurred to me, Mr. Smith, that with re­ 

gard to these witnesses very possibly your case in view of the 
position taken by your learned friends, that having regard to the 
particulars you would not be calling as many of the ship's wit­ 
nesses as might otherwise have been necessary.

Mr. Smith: No. 10
The Court: I make that suggestion, not a suggestion, but I 

draw your attention to it, because having regard to the time the 
case is likely to occupy and time well employed because this is a 
very important matter which will necessitate in the public interest 
a very patient and painstaking investigation—if you have any 
of the ship's witnesses or the ship is desirous of getting away, it 
would be well to have them—

Mr. Smith: Yes, in fact, my learned senior intended to ad­ 
dress you on that point.

The Court: Then I am very glad indeed. 20
Mr. Griffin: What we were planning to do if possible was to 

ask your lordship to indicate whether you would sit tomorrow and 
if necessary on Monday, and subject to what your lordship may 
say in that regard, we planned in any event to finish by Monday 
noon and we are proposing to consider the list of witnesses and 
eliminate as many as possible. We will likely not call more than 
one witness from the vessel.

The Court: Of the ship's witnesses.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, the captain.
The Court: You see it is not my intention to sit tomorrow 30 

I may say I had to forego any Saturday afternoons for three weeks 
and for more than ten days in Victoria I have not left my chambers 
until seven o'clock. We have a number of important judgments 
and I had to make a very special effort to try and finish my work. 
For that reason I intend to give myself once in three weeks, a 
little holiday tomorrow. I feel perhaps the necessity of a little 
exercise, and so it is not my intention to sit tomorrow. I shall 
sit on Monday. I am perfectly free and I shall be glad to sit a 
little earlier or a little later.

Mr. Griffin: We will make an effort then to eliminate some 40 
of our witnesses.

The Court: Yes, there will be no trouble about your ship's 
witnesses getting away, if you have any of them that you wish 
to call. When does your ship sail?

Mr. Griffin: She is not in yet. She has engine trouble.
The Court: You can at least count on all of Monday. Do 

not understand I am trying to expedite you or Mr. Burns, because
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JOHN FRANCIS PAYNE, a witness called on behalf of the De- Case 
f endant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows: T „ r—J. F. Payne

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH: Dkect'
Q. You are Captain Payne. You are now the captain of the 

tug "Farquhar?" A. Yes.
Q. And on March 10th, 1927, you were captain of the "B.C. 

10 Boy?" A. Yes.
The Court: Is he a master mariner ?
Mr. Smith: Yes.
Q. You are a tug boat captain ? A. Yes.
Q. What experience have you had tug boating on this coast ? 

A. Five years.
Q. Now, on the 10th of March, 1927, you were proceeding 

easterly through the Second Narrows towing a boom of logs ? A. 
Yes.

Q. And that boom, I believe, contained 16 sections'? A. 
20 Yes.

Q. Being made up of two sections, two eight-section booms 
lashed side by side? A. Yes.

Q. And about the hour of 6 p.m. you were approaching the 
Second Narrows Bridge ? A. I was.

The Court: Did I understand you to say about six booms 
roughly speaking?

Mr. Smith: It was sixteen sections of logs, my lord.
The Court: One boom ?
Mr. Smith: Two eight-section booms lashed side by side. 

30 The Court: Yes, I have it now, thank you.
Mr. Smith: Q. Your intention was to arrive at the Second 

Narrows Bridge when? A. Well, as near as I could to slack 
water or what we call slack water.

Q. Now, do you remember when slack water was that day? 
A. Well, I never arrived at the bridge, of course, because of the 
ship being underneath it, but I was figuring on it being slack 
water soon after six o'clock.

Q. But you went to get there before slack water? A. Yes, 
I wanted to get there before slack water, if I could. 

40 Q. Why? A. Well, the tide changes so quickly that really 
there is no slack water underneath the bridge at all, except for a 
very few minutes.

Q. Now, as you approached the bridge from the west do 
you remember seeing the "Eurana"? A. I approached the 
bridge from the east—I was going east.
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A. That must have been

Q. You were going east? A. 
when she came around Berry Point.

Q. What time would that be! 
just about six o'clock.

Q. You remember the bridge being opened? A. Yes.
Q. And did you see the "Eurana" approach the bridge? 

A. Yes, sir, I was watching her all the time.
Q. Was the navigation, was the manner of her approach to 10 

the bridge such as usually employed by ships passing through 
the bridge ? A. Yes, I have seen a good many ships come down 
and she came the same way as any other as far as I know.

Q. Do you remember when she was in a position of say 1,000 
feet east of the bridge? A. Yes.

Q. How was she headed then? A. When she was about 
1,000 feet of the bridge, that is a little west this side of the water 
mains, I figured she started to take a sheer, I could see her swing­ 
ing, I was watching very closely.

The Court: Q. Where exactly would he be, exactly, Mr. 20 
Smith?

Mr. Smith: Q. Where were you at that time you saw her 
take the sheer? A. At that time I was—well, I was about 600 
feet from the big span of the bridge.

Q. That is to say you were 600 feet west of the bridge? A. 
Yes, I was 600 feet west of the bridge.

Q. Where was the "Eurana"?
The Court: Pardon me. He said the big span.
The Witness: The fixed span.
The Court: You see there are several fixed spans, which 30 

does he mean?
Mr. Smith: The 300-foot span.
The Court: Because on this plan exhibit 8 there are no less 

than four fixed spans. I wish to be precise. Now, the fixed span 
is the large 300-foot one?

Mr. Smith: Yes, the one between Pier 1 and Pier 2.
The Court: Yes, that would be the large fixed span.
Mr. Smith: Yes.
The Court: There is only one span of 300 feet, so he was 

about 600 feet west of the large fixed span, is that it, Mr. Smith ? 40
Mr. Smith: Yes, my lord.
Q. It was your intention to go through the large fixed span, 

was it not? A. It was.
Q. At that time where was the'' Eurana ? " A. The '' Eur­ 

ana" was about 1,000 feet away from the draw, as far as I could
judge.

Q. And you saw her you said suddenly sheer to starboard ?
A. Yes.
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Q. What happened then? A. As soon as she took this RECORD 
sheer, I was watching and wondering whether she would make British Columbia 
the draw and I seen that she was sheering more and more all the Admir«ity £>«/. 
tune and then I saw the port anchor let go.

Q. Did you see the starboard anchor let go? A. No, I 
could not actually see the anchor at the time.

Q. Why not ? A. Because she had her port bow to me.
Q. She was at that time sheering and had her port bow to 

you? A. Yes, she did.
Q. Did you hear the rattle of the starboard anchor let go ? 

A. Yes, I could see the splash of the anchor when it hit the water.
Q. What happened after that ? A. Well, by that time she 

kept swinging slowly. Well, I did not, I seen her go under the 
bridge, but at that time I was busy letting go my boom.

Q. When she actually struck the bridge what was the posi­ 
tion of your tug ? A. Well, I was about, as near as I could judge, 
I must have been about less than 600 feet from the bridge.

Q. Then at that moment when the "Eurana" struck the 
bridge what was the condition of the tide? A. Well, the tide 
was absolutely, was practically slack where I was and I could see 
the tide on the south shore beginning to run in, it was flooding at 
that time.

Q. On the south shore ? A. On the south shore, and it was 
practically slack on the north shore.

Q. By the way, just what did you do after the "Eurana" 
blocked up the span which you intended to go through ? A. Well, 
I happened to have a gas boat with me and I let go my boom and 
the only thing I could do was to shove it in on the flats in compara­ 
tive safety.

Q. About that time did you feel any effect of any flood tide ? 
A. Yes, the flood tide was just coming up. Well, it was on the 
turn.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
Q. When you say that the flood tide was on the turn, you 

are speaking about your position 600 feet west of the bridge? 
A. Yes.

Q. Where were you with reference to the north and south 
shores, in mid channel ? A. Well, I was lined up square to the 
middle of the 300-foot span. I had it right square in line.

Q. When did you say that you saw or felt the flood making 
the turn? A. Well, just about—well, the flood was making 
just about the same time as the ''Eurana" hit, starting to make 
where I was, although it was flooding strong on the south shore as 
it always does.

Q. What do you mean always does? A. The flood tide

J. F. Payne 
Cross-exam.
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Q. Right in that particular place ? A. No, right under the 
bridge, or any place around the bridge.

Q. Any place. Oh, the flood tide changes about forty-five 
minutes? A. I would not state any regular time because you 
never can rely upon it. There is no such thing as relying upon 
the tide.

Q. About forty-five minutes. I am using your own state­ 
ment? A. Yes, about forty-five minutes. 10

Q. That the flood tide changes earlier on the south shore 
than on the north, is that right ? A. Yes, it is no more than that.

Q. No more than that ? A. No.
Q. And it may be a little less ? A. It may be a-way less.
Q. How far? A, It may only change fifteen minutes.
Q. Why didn 't you tell me that instead of saying forty-five ? 

A. On the big tides, on the south shore it changes away earlier 
than on the small tides.

Q. But why was it you did not give me the full information 
when answering me rather than giving me the maximum against 20 
me and in favour of the case you have been called for ? A. Well, 
I gave you considering the tide when the "Eurana" struck was 
a fairly big tide.

Q. So you give 45 minutes as indicating the difference in 
time between the north and south shore of the flood tide on that 
occasion ? A. Yes.

Q. So that you are holding to that forty-five ? A. Yes, ap­ 
proximately forty-five minutes, it may have been five minutes less.

Q. But that is as far as you have heard. I don't know what 
tide that was. It was about eight feet seven. A. Well, it was 30 
very low that day, and the lower the tide is the more velocity you 
will have on the first of the flood. Eight feet is not a big tide, but 
it is an average tide in the Second Narrows.

Q. It is better than the average ? A. I little bit.
Q. And you give that about forty-five minutes ? A. Well, 

yes, I would give that. It was very low that day. It went down 
to I think one foot.

Q. Two feet six 1? A. Well, that is a terribly low tide and 
the low tides will do that on the south shore.

Q. But there is always the same difference in time. A. 40 
Yes, I have seen it that the flood does not make on the south shore 
on the small tide of a foot or two feet of a flood; I have seen the 
tide does not do that. It starts to flood and floods right to the 
bridge straight.

Q. When you say make on the south shore what do you 
mean, the movement of the tide along the south shore, is that what 
you mean 1 A. Yes, it is flooding through the 150-foot span on
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the south shore. It is flooding there while it is still ebbing some on RECORD 
the north shore; that is the 150-foot span. British~c^iumbi*

Q. Yes, I know, what you mean, before coming to the bas- Adm'ralti £>"'• 
cule? A. Yes. That is, I won't say it always does that, but it Defendant's 
does do that. Case

Q. And that you give us from your observations on the sur­ 
face ? A. Yes, you have to observe the tide pretty close.

Q. You have been up and down there quite a lot? A. I 
certainly have in the last two years.

Q. Am I stating it then properly when I say that the flood 
tide on the surface is all that is coming in at the first of the flood ? 
A. Yes.

Q. When it is still ebbing strongly? A. On the north shore.
Q. On the north shore? A. Yes, you would be standing 

still with a boom and another boat can go by with a boom at the 
150-foot span, while we cannot get through and be through long 
before we do although she will stick at the water mains.

The Court: What? A. She will stick or stop when she 
strikes the ebb tide at the water mains.

Mr. Burns: Q. That is to say the south shore flood will come 
along and meet the ebbing tide going down at the water mains? 
A. Yes, it will meet the ebb just this side of the water mains and 
then it slowly works over to the north shore. As the ebb gets less 
the flood tide works slowly across the front of the bridge, and by 
the time we get through with a double boom we have to use the 
300-foot span and that tide is sometimes running straight across 
the front of the bridge.

Q. How far east would that be? A. East of the bridge 
how far do you feel that cross current ?

Q. What you are speaking of? A. Pretty near until you 
get to the mouth of Seymour Creek, and then strikes Seymour 
Creek. It affects our boom as it is on the top of the water. It 
will shoot us down to the south shore again.

The Court: Turn this way. Speak a little more plainly, and 
not speak so fast.

The Witness: We will feel the northeasterly set until we 
are pretty near the mouth of Seymour Creek and owing to Sey­ 
mour Creek the water from Seymour Creek sets in southeasterly 
direction and that will throw us down on the south shore again.

Mr. Burns: Q. When you see this flood tide making on the 
south shore you figure that is the first of the flood? A. When 
I see that flood tide making on the south shore I know by the time 
I get to the bridge the tide will be flowing across the bridge, setting 
across the front. If I don't see the tide making on the south shore 
I know I will have a fairly good passage through the bridge.

Q. Leave your boat for a minute. When you see the tide 
making on the south shore that you take to be the first of the 
flood? A. Yes.
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RECORD Q. When did you see before or after the accident the flood 
British Columbia making on the south shore ? A. Oh, before. 
Admiralty Dht. Q. How long before ? A. I could not exactly give the time 

because I was not watching the time.
Q. Now, let me take you up this way, because I wish you to 

be very careful about this, that is pretty serious. A. Yes.
Q. You were making for the bridge ? A. I was practical­ 

ly standing still.
Q. Well, your idea was to make the bridge to get what slack 

water there might be, if you could? A. Yes. 10
Q. And you figured on slack water occurring soon after six ? 

A. Yes.
Q. That is your statement? A. 6:30.
Q. 6:35 to be exact, according to the tide tables ? A. Yes.
Q. So as a matter of fact you were a bit ahead of time. You 

had time on your hands? A. Well, I always have lots of time 
for the Second Narrows. Usually I give myself an hour to go 
and come on.

Q. Enough for you to do it properly? You had on this 
occasion sufficient time on your hands ? A. Of course, I cannot 20 
tell you because I did not go through the bridge.

Q. But you felt that way that you had time enough because 
you stood there watching the "Eurana"? A. Yes, I was watch­ 
ing the "Eurana," in fact, at that time I thought I was going to 
be there about right. Of course, I could not tell until I was under 
the bridge, whether I was right or not.

The Court: Do you mind, Mr. Burns, speaking to him from 
there. It is just that he is so anxious properly to answer your 
questions, but his voice is deflected in your direction.

Mr. Burns: Q. Then you were just practically idling up to 30 
take the bridge on what you figured the proper time ? A. Yes.

Q. And when was it then that you saw the flood tide making 
on the south shore ? A. Well, it is pretty hard to give you that 
correct time.

Q. I mean approximately? A. Well, it was, let me see now. 
I should say I seen that flood tide making on that south shore 
around six o'clock. That would be—oh, it was a little before six, 
I think.

Q. Approximately six o'clock you saw her start to make? 
A. Yes, she was making then. I don't know how far up to tht 40 
bridge it was.

Q. I know, I was going to ask where you were then? A. 
I was bucking the ebb tide on the north shore, not on the north 
shore, but I had the middle of the 300-foot span lined up.

Q. And you were going ahead? A. I was moving ahead 
very slowly.

Q. How far were you from the south shore ? A. From the 
south shore, I don't know.
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Q. Approximately? A. Well, I can tell you with a chart, 
but I would not say. I don't know how far it is, because I never 
bothered.

Q. Were you quite a distance from there? A. I tell you 
I had—

Q. Put it that way and I can work it put. You were lined 
up with the— A. There are two beams in the middle of the 
300-foot span and going up there to take a boom through the 
bridge I keep those two beams right in line with this where I 

10 was, a thousand feet or so west of the bridge, with those two beams 
in line.

Q. You have given me that figure, 1,000 feet from the bridge. 
You have given a figure before of 600 feet from the bridge ? A. 
That was before the "Eurana" struck. I am talking about some­ 
thing else now.

Q. You have given 1,000 feet and 600 feet from the bridge. 
Now, why can't you tell what distance you were from the south 
shore ? A. Do you want me to give you a guess ?

Q. Are these others guesses ? A. No, this is what I can see 
20 ahead of me.

Q. Cannot you judge the distance from the south shore? 
A. I will say 2,000 feet.

Q. Will you say at the least two thousand feet? A. Yes, 
it must have been at least two thousand feet. I don't know.

Q. Of course, this is not accurate. If I want an accurate 
statement I will ask you for it. A. I can give it to you correctly 
with a chart.

Q. But that will do for my purpose and where did you see 
the flood making ? A. Well, the flood tide makes in that big bay 

30 there. It acts something like a back eddy, no back eddy could go 
through the bridge; it comes along the south shore about 200 feet. 
wide at the first and slowly works over until it takes in the whole 
bridge and shoves the ebb tide over on to the north shore.

Q. Now, get back to my question. Are you a captain ? A. I 
am.

Q. What experience—what certificates have you got? A. 
I have a tug boat master's.

Q. How long have you been a captain? A. Two years in 
the harbour.

40 Q- Would you mind paying attention to my question. If 
you want to get this in, your counsel is the one to get it in. I asked 
you where you saw the flood making on the south shore, that is a 
simple question and why were you telling me all about the way it 
goes through the bridge ? A. I thought I told you where I seen 
it?

Q. No, you just wanted to tell me— A. I saw the flood 
making along the south shore.
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Q. Whereabouts on the south shore? A. It was making 
all along in that way and up to the bridge.

Q. And up to the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. That is, you saw the flood start to make? A. Yes.
Q. That is your expression ? A. Yes.
Q. And that was the first of the flood tide? A. It was.
Q. Then I suppose you saw later it go on and go through the 

bridge? A. I don't exactly say it did do it that day, because I was 
not there to see it, because after the "Eurana" struck I was busy.

Q. After the "Eurana" hit it may have gone through the 10 
bridge in the regular way? A. Yes, it might.

Q. But the point you observed was it was making on the 
south shore up to the bridge? A. Yes.

Q. But not at that time going through the bridge ? A. It 
was going through the bridge at the south shore no doubt of that. 
I could not swear to that. It was not going through the draw.

Q. No, that is all right, I understand that, but let me get set 
right in this for you have been telling me that in these circum­ 
stances you noticed the start of the make or the flood on the south 
shore? A. Yes. 20

Q. And that was along that south shore, along the bay there 
some place? A. Yes.

Q. Now, that was the start of it. By that tune it hadn't got 
to the bridge ? A. As I told you it gets to the bridge as much as 
forty-five minutes before—

Q. That is not what I am asking, but your observation that 
day. Surely you can understand me ? A. Yes, that day at six 
o'clock; that was half an hour before—yes, it was up to the bridge 
then.

Q. At six o'clock? A. It was flooding on the south shore 30 
through the bridge.

Q. Now, you have got it and you work it out because you 
remember working it out by the tune, is that it? A. Well, yes, 
I know the time.

Q. But you told me a minute ago that you did not see it going 
through the bridge at that time A. No, I could not see the other 
side, I don't know how far the other side of the bridge.

Q. You don't have to see the other side of the bridge to see 
the current going through ? A. No, I can see it hit this side, to 
the west side of the bridge. 40

Q. You said you saw the flood tide making on the south shore 
up to the bridge, but you didn't see it going through the bridge. 
That is what you said? A. Yes.

Q. Now, you say it was going through the bridge? A. I 
can see it. If the tide is striking on the west side of the bridge it 
surely must be going through I suppose I can assume.

Q. You don't know whether it was going through at that
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time. We are talking of the start of the flood tide ? A. Yes, we RECORD 
are talking of the starting of the flood tide. _ ~~7

Q. Yes, talking of the start of the flood tide and the flood Admiralty 
time comes up from the west? A. Yes. Defendant's

Q. And gradually goes on and on until it comes up this bay Case 
and then goes on until it goes through the bridge and goes on, is 
that not so? A. Yes.

Q. Let us see if we cannot get down to the first principles of 
this thing, and you saw in the bay on the south shore the start of 

10 the flood tide. That is, the flood tide had got up to you on the 
south side? A. Yes.

Q. When you say the start of the flood tide, you mean the 
start of the flood tide, I presume, and you saw it start to come in 
that bay ? A. I seen the drift wood.

Q. It was later than that, was it, you saw it come up to the 
bridge? A. Oh, I don't remember what time it started.

Q. It was later on in point of time? A. Oh, yes, it was 
later on in point of time.

Q. And the utmost you saw then of that flood then as far as 
20 the bridge was concerned was that it came up to that point? 

A. It came up to the bridge.
Q. And did you figure; you are working out that it went 

through? A. Well—
Q. But whatever it was it was the first or make of the flood, 

was it not? A. It was, yes.
Q. And the start of the flood in the day was about six o 'clock 

and it worked up and went through the bridge, is that right? 
A. Yes, it went through the bridge.

Q. So that before that make there was no flood tide, was 
30 there ? A. Well, not on the surface that I could see.

Q. Well, where did you figure anywhere else that the flood 
tide would be, where you were? A. Well,—

Q. You are not going to tell us, are you, that the flood tide 
out in the outer harbour, apart altogether from the Second Nar­ 
rows, makes underneath first ? A. I don't know.

Q. But you would know that to be absurd? A. Well, I 
am not saying that. All I am talking about is the surface current.

Q. And with your knowledge and experience that surface 
current indicates the commencement of the tide ? A. Yes. 

40 Q. When you saw—pay attention to me; don't smile about it 
—when you saw the make of that flood tide in the day that was 
the first of the flood tide, was it not? A. Well—

Q. Are you going to change it? A. No, that was the first 
of the flood tide.

Q. And that was around about six o'clock? A. Yes, I 
think that.
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RECORD Q. And was on the south shore in spite of the fact that on the 
British Columbia north shore it was ebbing strong ? A. Yes.

Q. Is that so? A. Yes.
Q. Of course it was ebbing strong and it was ebbing strong 

for a considerable time afterwards, was it not ? A. Well, I think 
when the ship hit it was slack then.

Q. Where were you then? A. I was about 600 feet from 
the bridge.

Q. You were not at the bridge? A. No, I was not at the 
bridge.

Q. How do you get that it was slack then when the ship hit? 
A. I was going ahead quite fast when she hit. I knew that I 
did not have any ebb tide, it must have been slack right then.

Q. That is how you sized it up? A. Yes, I might have had 
a little ebb tide, but I was moving ahead fairly fast.

Mr. Burns: That is all.
(Witness aside).

w. Tamburino WILLIAM TAMBURINO, a witness caUed on behalf of the 
Direct. Defendant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH: 20
Q. Mr. Tamburino, you live in Vancouver? A. Yes, sir.
Q. Now, speak as loud as you can, because I do not hear you ? 

A. Yes, sir.
Q. What is your occupation ? A. My occupation was run­ 

ning one-man boats.
Q. You are both captain and engineer of a one-man boat? 

A. Yes.
Q. On the 10th of March, 1927, you were on a little boat 

called the "Harris No. 2." A. Yes, that is right.
Q. And you were lying alongside the tug boat called the 30 

"B.C. Boy?" A. Yes.
Q. That is the tug boat of which the former witness was cap­ 

tain? A. Yes.
Q. You were approaching the Second Narrows Bridge about 

6 p.m. ? A. Somewheres about 6 p.m.
Q. And did you see the "Eurana?" coming down on the east­ 

ward of the bridge? A. I seen the "Eurana" approaching off 
Berry Point, around a few minutes before 6.

Q. Where would you be on your tug then ? A. Over in the 
neighbourhood of anywheres from 700 to 1,000 feet west of the 40 
bridge in line with the centre of the 300-foot span.

Q. Did you see the "Eurana" approach the bridge? A. 
Yes, I seen the "Eurana" approach the bridge right from Berry 
Point. I watched it very close.

Q. Did she approach the bridge in the ordinary usual way?
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A. As far as I could see he approached it as all other ships that 
I have seen pass through.

Q. When she was in position of about 1,000 feet east of the 
bridge how was she heading ? A. "When he was about 1,000 feet Defendant's 
east of the bridge he seemed to be heading for the centre of the 
span, but immediately he started to sheer off to starboard.

Q. What happened then? A. Well, as far as I could see 
he kept on sheering to starboard more and more all the time, and 
then after a minute or so I saw him drop his port anchor. I could 
not see his starboard anchor because it was on the offside of the 
ship and I saw him crash.

Q. Did you see him crash into the bridge ? A. I did a few 
minutes after he dropped his anchors. I saw him crash into the 
bridge.

Q. Where were you and your tug then, how far west of the 
bridge were you? A. Oh, 500 to 650 feet or so.

Q. West of the bridge ? A. West of the bridge.
Q. And at that time what was the state of the tide under­ 

neath the bridge? A, Well, I cannot state the stage of the tide 
underneath the bridge, but I could state the stage of the tide in the 
position I was in.

Q. What was it doing there? A. The tide apparently look­ 
ed to be slack, because the "B. C. Boy" was doing a little better 
than holding his own with his boom. If the tide had been ebbing 
he could not put his boom against any such tide.

w. Tamburino
Cross-exam.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
s\ T u j. J.T- j *• -j. • •Q. I suppose you could not gather any definite impression as

regards the speed of the "Eurana?" A. No, I could not. From 
the position I was in the ship was coming ahead in to me and I 
could not tell.

Q. I imagine that. And this last witness what is the name ? 
A. Captain Payne.

Q. He would be in the same position as you ? A. He was in 
the same position, yes.

(Witness aside).

MRS. JENNIE TAYLOR, a witness called on behalf of the Mrs. j. Taylor 
Defendant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows : Direct.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:
Q. I know you can speak loudly, Mrs. Taylor, so please do 

so because I am a long way from you. You live in the City of 
Vancouver, Mrs. Taylor? A. I do.

Q. And you live in a house which overlooks the Second Nar­ 
rows Bridge? A. I do.
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Q. And from the windows of your house you can look right 
down on top of the bridge ? A. I can.

Q. And you see the area of water between the bridge and 
the city water mains ? A. I do.

Q. Your house being on the south shore ? A. It is.
Q. To the eastward of the bridge ? A. It is slightly.
Q. It is almost in fact at the end of the bridge, I suppose? 

A. Yes, slightly to the east.
Q. Do you remember the 10th of March, 1927? A. I do.
Q. And the collision of the steamer "Eurana" with the 

bridge ? A, I do.
Q. Did you hear the steamer whistle for the bridge ? A. I 

did.
Q. And did that cause you to look out of your door? A. 

No, I did not look out when she whistled.
Q. When did you look out? A. A few minutes afterward 

about the time I thought I should see her.
Q. Did you see her? A. I did.
Q. Where was she then? A. Almost over the most easterly 

water mains.
Q. How was she heading? A. Heading directly for the 

open draw.
Q. Did you see her approach the open draw ? A. I saw her 

come down heading apparently for the open draw. When she 
was almost very slightly west of the most westerly water mains 
she commenced to sheer.

Q. Yes ? A. Slowly at first. Then to me it appeared to be 
quite quickly, afterwards continuing to sheer towards the north 
shore.

Q. Did you see her drop her anchors? A. I did.
Q. Could you form an idea how far she was from the bridge 

when she dropped her anchors ? A. I think without actual meas­ 
urements which of course I have no means of taking about 400 
feet ; 450 feet maybe, but I should say 400 feet.

Q. And by that time was heading presumably — had swung 
to starboard considerably? A. Starboard is the right side, is it 
not?

Q. Yes, starboard, yes, to the right, to the north? A. Yes, 
yes.

Q. Did you see the ship collide with the bridge ? A. I did.

?. Do you remember noticing the surface water at the time ? 
did.

Q. Is it a usual thing for you to take note of the tides as 
they ebb and flood under the bridge? A. It is.

Q. Have you and your family — do you frequently go on the 
water there and navigate boats ? A. We do with small boats. 

Q. What was the state of the surface then at the time of the

10

20

30



183

collision ? A. I particularly noticed that it appeared to be slack, 
but a few minutes after the boat collided we looked up the tide 
table and it should not have been slack, although it appeared to 
be slack.

Q. Did this surprise you to find that it was slack, although ac­ 
cording to the tide tables it should have been still ebbing ? A. No.

Q. Why not ? A. Because we have found from observation 
that often it is slack water or apparently slack water at a different 
time to what the tide table shows.

10 Q- Were you living in this position before the bridge was 
built? A. We were.

Q. Have you formed any opinion as to whether the building 
of the bridge has affected the tides in any way ? A. I have.

Q. What is your opinion ? A. The currents and the tides 
on the south shore are very much stronger than they were before 
the bridge was built. That is, to the eye. What they are by actual 
measurement I cannot say.

Q. Have you noticed the result or any difference in the cur­ 
rent due to the flow from Seymour Creek? A. Most decidedly. 

20 Q. What is that difference? A. The current now from 
Seymour Creek comes very much more over toward the south 
shore than it used to do, more especially this last year. This last 
early spring I noticed when the rains were heavy how very much 
further it is coming than it has done before.

Q. How do you account for that ? A. Well, I think partly 
because the Seymour Creek is much deeper now in the channel, 
on the bed than it used to be, also since the dredging of the mouth 
of the creek there is an arm which extends out; it is quite visible 
at low water and that I should think catches the flood water from 

30 the Seymour Creek and deflects it in a southerly direction towards 
the south shore.

Q. Have you ever seen the surface currents running in op­ 
posite directions at the same time ? A. I have.

Q. When does that occur ? A. I have seen the current run­ 
ning up one side and down the other at the beginning of the flood 
and the end of the ebb.

Q. And that happens at one time? A. I have seen that 
happen several times.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY:
Q. You keep a tide table at the house ? A.
Q. What is your husband's occupation? A. 

a builder.
Q. And are you on the water a great deal? A. I am not 

now. I used to be. My husband and my son are on the water a 
great deal. We have two boats.

Q. Did you get a tide table each year? A. Yes.
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Q. For what purpose ? A. So as to know the tides about go­ 
ing out in the boat.

Q. You have a boat? A. We have two boats, a row boat 
and a sail boat.

Q. Where do you keep the sailboat 1? A. We keep the sail 
boat up—I think the boat house is almost at the foot of Gilmour 
Avenue, to the east of Gilmour Avenue slightly.

Q. Where is that with reference to the Second Narrows. Is 
it in that vicinity? A. Yes, to the east, more easterly than the 
water mains. 10

The Court: What street is that, Mr. Donaghy 1
Mr. Donaghy: Gilmour Avenue.
The Witness: That is where the boat house is.
The Court: Does you plan show that, Mr. Donaghy?
The Witness: My lord, Gilmour Avenue is the avenue be­ 

yond Ingleton Avenue. If the plan shows Ingleton it is the one 
east of Ingleton.

Mr. Smith: Yes, Ingleton is marked, my lord.
The Court: Yes, Ingleton is marked, thank you. Have you 

got a plan there which has anything between Boundary Road and 20 
Ingleton?

Mr. Smith: No, it is all blank there.
The Court: Perhaps this lady can just mark here where 

she thinks it would be on exhibit 8 with a lead pencil. Mark it 
with a "T" where the house would be.

The Witness: Our own house or the boat house ?
The Court: Your own house first. Now, take your time and 

show it with a red "T." Have you got another plan there which 
shows the same streets?

Mr. Smith: Exhibit 19 I think is the best one. 30
The Witness: This is fallen away in a bend down here. Now, 

the boat house where we keep our boats—Ingleton is somewhere 
about there.

The Court: Mark that'' T-2.''
The Witness: I do not know whether that is the accurate 

position, but it is in the neighborhood there.
Mr. Griffin: This plan shows Gilmour Street, my lord. May 

I make a note upon it; where I have just put the cross?
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, when did you begin to reside in 

this house ? A. In this particular house we have lived for four 40 
years.

Q. And prior to that where did you live ? A. Slightly to the 
west of that house, slightly to the southwest

Q. How far away from it ? A. Half a block.
Q. How many years did you live there ? A. Three.
Q. You have been in that neighborhood seven years? A. 

Yes, been right in that particular neighborhood seven years.
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Q. Have you been accustomed to rowing along the shore RECORD 
where the Second Narrows is located? A. Yes. Brith

Q. The south shore ? A. Yes, sir. Admiralty
Q. During all those years? A. Yes, for eight years we Defendant's 

have gone up and down; one more year. Case
Q. And about how much rowing did you do past this place y^ 

where the bridge is ? A. We have done a very great deal in that cross exam 
direction, because we used to fish off the mouth of the Seymour, ' (Comd.j 
had a great deal of fishing off there, not very much the last two 

10 years. The fishing is very poor now.
Q. How long have you had a boat house at its present lo­ 

cation ? A. About eight years.
Q. About eight years? A. Yes.
Q. To get from this boat house to the mouth of the Seymour 

to fish I suppose you took out the row boat? A. Certainly.
Q. That did not bring you at all across the location of the 

Second Narrows Bridge making that trip. You were crossing 
from the south shore where the boat house is to the mouth of the 
Seymour to fish ? A. Yes.

20 Q. That is, you were crossing the inlet a considerable dis­ 
tance east of the Second Narrows Bridge ? A. Yes.

Q. Now, you gave that to me as the reason why you were 
rowing in the vicinity of the Second Narrows Bridge. Now, that 
does not seem to lead to that conclusion, you see. A. No, but we 
have very frequently; in fishing you do not usually stay in one 
place. You go down. You drift around. You fish all over from 
the south shore to the north shore and up and down east and west. 
The fish unfortunately won't stay in one place.

Q. But you thought the mouth of the Seymour was a good 
30 place to catch them just the same? A. Undoubtedly.

Q. And did you think that down at the south end of the Sec­ 
ond Narrows Bridge was any place to catch fish? Did you try 
there ? A. You do catch fish there.

Q. Did you try there ? A. We have fished there.
Q. Very much ? A. Not very much.
Q. In fact I am told that is rather a poor place to fish, but 

you think yourself—do you think so ? A. I used to think so, but 
I have changed my mind. I have seen quite a few fish there, 
caught there the last few weeks.

40 Q. But I am talking about these previous years ? A. Yes, 
it was not considered good.

Q. Then why should you resort there to catch fish if it was 
not considered good ? A. Because if you are out to fish and you 
do not catch the fish one place, the Narrows are not very wide and 
you naturally go all over.

Q. Apparently you are rather an expert in regard to what 
these currents have been doing around there ? A. Not at all.
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Q. I suppose your occupation since you went to live in that 
vicinity has been looking after your home? A. It certainly has.

Q. Doing the house work and cooking and going over your 
house ? A. Yes.

Q. And you have no particular nautical experience ? A. No, 
I have not.

Q. Except rowing in this boat fishing, is that it? A That 
is all. I have no particular experience beyond the fact that all 10 
my life I have lived by the sea.

Q. Quite so. What do you know about the currents of the 
Seymour, where they enter the sea? A. I know nothing about 
the currents to give absolutely expert knowledge. I say what I 
see. What appears to the eye. I make no claim to give expert 
knowledge.

Q. From what point do you make observations of this cur­ 
rent of the Seymour in the Narrows ? A. From my porch and 
from my windows.

Q. From your windows? A Yes. 20
Q. And you think that at the present time the Seymour pene­ 

trates much more southerly into the inlet than it formerly did? 
A. I do.

Q. You have given some scientific reasons for that. First 
of all, you say the channel of the Seymour has been deepened. Is 
that true ? A. Well, how can all that gravel be taken out of the 
Seymour that has been taken out without deepening the channel ?

Q. I am not arguing with you, but you say it is true that 
the channel of the Seymour has been deepened? A. Well, it 
stands to reason if you remove— 30

Q. I am not standing to reason. I am only standing to facts. 
A. Well, it stands to fact that if you make the channel deeper—

Q. It must be deeper? A. If you take stuff out of the bed 
it must be deeper.

Q. No question. A. Unless it slipped back again.
Q. I won't argue; I do not like to argue with you. Your 

position is the bed of the Seymour has been deepened, consequently 
the current is greater now and penetrates further southerly ? A. 
That is my inference.

Q. You also gave another scientific reason why the current 40 
of the Seymour penetrated more southerly into the sea. What is 
your other reason? A. I said that now since the dredging has 
been done there is an arm of sand extending out to the west of 
the most westerly water main and I think that deflects the water 
out as it comes out from the Seymour. It deflects it more to a 
southerly direction across the Inlet, that is my opinion.

Q. Yes, I see. You mean the gravel bank, don't you? Is
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that the arm you are talking about. You said an arm of water? 
A. Well, I mean an arm; it is not an arm of water; it is a shallow 
bank, of dirt, what that dirt is composed of I could not say. It is Admir^'y 
just dirt as it was dredged out of the water.

Q. When do you say that this bank of dirt made it appear­ 
ance? A. It came with the dredging.

Q. When did the dredging come? A. I am not prepared to 
say. '

Q. How many years ago ? A. I am not prepared to say.
Q. That is not very enlightening ? A. No. I am not sure. 

It is a matter of record. It can be looked up. I am not going to 
say.

Q. Very good. So this bank of mud or dirt deflects the cur­ 
rent of the Seymour so as to cause it to direct more southerly than 
it formerly did ? A. To all appearances it does.

Q. And it also has the appearance of making it deflect fur­ 
ther out into the arm of Burrard Inlet, is that a fact? A. It 
goes in a more southerly direction than it used to.

Q. And as the result of that the Seymour waters to the eye 
penetrate consequently further south into the arm of the sea than 
they did before? A. Yes.

Q. You observed that too? A. Yes.
Q. And you think that is caused by this bar as well; the 

extra penetration is also caused by the bar ? A. Yes, I do.
Q. How far from the north shore do the Seymour waters 

penetrate into the sea, from your observation ? A. I will not 
answer that question, because from my observations if you cannot 
go—I am not qualified to give the approximate distance. It re­ 
quires a very skilled person to estimate the distance of a large 
body of land or water. Therefore, I beg, my lord, that I may not 
have to answer that.

Q. That is quite all right with me. I am satisfied. How­ 
ever, you have made a comparison. You say that formerly the 
waters of the Seymour did not penetrate as far into the arm of 
the sea as they do now. What is the difference? You must have 
some opinion of that? A. I do.

Q. What ? A. From what I have seen they have come very 
much further over this spring than they have ever done before.

Q. What about a year ago this spring? A. Not so far as 
they were this spring.

Q. And you don't know how far they came into the arm of 
the sea a year ago this spring. You have no idea? A. A year 
ago this spring they did not go nearly so far as they came this 
spring.

Q. I take it you understand the tide tables, of course? A. 
I do.

Q. How do you find the tide in the Second Narrows in the
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tide table? A. Well, you compute it from the First Narrows. 
I wish to state now I really do not do the tide table myself. My 
husband and son—there is not a day but what they consult the 
tide tables, not one day year in and year out but what we consult 
the tide tables. Every time we see what we think is going to be a 
crash or a near crash at the bridge we immediately look to see 
how the tide is, whether they will make it or what they will do. 
There is no book more used in our house than the tide table.

Q. You are rather busy there? A. We are. We certainly 
have a great deal to look at. 10

Q. Is it your time that is taken up with this constant watch­ 
ing or your husband's tune? A. I principally watch—my bed­ 
room window looks out; my kitchen window looks out. My living 
room window looks out. All I have to do is to raise my eyes and 
look out to see what is going on.

Q. However, you have time to attend to the housework just 
the same ? A. I do.

Q. Can you tell me from the time tables if I show them to 
you the time of the low tide between—

A. I might be able to do it correctly, but I would not dream 20 
of doing it myself. I would ask my husband or—

Q. He is always there on the change of the tide ? A. He is 
more often at home than not at home.

Q. I suggest he does not come home for the change of the 
tide ? A. No. I suggest to you that I said my husband is more 
often at home than not at home. My husband does not do very 
much work.

Q. Do you agree to accept the opportunity of telling from 
the tide book what time the tide changes today? A. Yes, I think 
I can do it. 30

Q. Very good, at the Second Narrows ? A. May I get my 
glasses ?

Q. Of course? A. I have not got my glasses with me, but 
I will see if I can do it without.

The Court: Take your tune, witness. If you find you cannot 
get on, cannot do yourself justice without your glasses do not at­ 
tempt it.

The Witness: I am afraid, my lord, I cannot distinguish the 
figures.

Mr. Donaghy: Never mind. 40
A. I cannot distinguish the figures.
Q. And your husband, your husband or son usually do the 

calculating? A. My son or husband do it. I have done it, but 
as a general rule they do the calculating of the tide tables.

Mr. Donaghy: Very .good.
The Court: You have no more questions to ask this witness. 

We will adjourn, if you please, Mr. Registrar.
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British Columbia

(2:15 P.M. COURT RESUMED PURSUANT TO ADJOURN- MmMt, DJO.
MENT.) Defendant's

Case
Mr. Griffin : I will call Captain Reed. A ~

ARCHIBALD HEURTLEY REED, a witness called on behalf Direct< 
of the Defendant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows :

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Q. You are a master mariner ? A Yes, sir.
Q. And have been so for how many years ? A Since 1898. 

10 Q. And is your experience mostly with deep sea vessels ? A. 
Yes, sir.

Q. You have commanded vessels between here and the Ori­ 
ent? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And during the war you were in command of what kind of 
vessel? A I had two commands in the war. One was an aux­ 
iliary — they were auxiliary cruisers, both of them. One was a 
disguised ship, one operating in the north part of the Atlantic 
and in the second command I was operating practically all over 
the east and west coast of Europe and the approaches to the Med- 

20 iterranean.
Q. Then your last sea experience was when ? A. During the 

war.
Q. You now are harbour master of Vancouver? A Yes, 

sir.
Q. And you are also a member of the Royal Naval Reserve ? 

A. Yes, sir.
Q. I see your name on exhibit No. 13, which is the Vancouver 

Harbour Commissioners' plan as showing the neighborhood sur­ 
rounding the Second Narrows Bridge. Did you have personal 

30 work there in connection with the soundings ? A I have checked 
over the soundings there but looking at them from here I cannot 
say that those are the ones. I do not remember them. I have 
checked them, yes.

Q. Now, I give you the exhibit. You can refer to that ex­ 
hibit 13. Nothing turns upon the soundings. I just wish to re­ 
mind you that is your name ? A. That is my name.

Q. And you did this work in connection with the soundings ? 
A. Yes.

Q. And checked them over? A. Yes.
40 Q. Those are soundings largely to the east of the bridge and 

on the south shore ? A. Quite.
Q. In connection with that work did you personally attend 

to the Second Narrows and what opportunity did you have of
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Columbia mencing during the construction of the bridge? 
Admiralty out. Q. Yes, give us some idea? A. The first occasion I had to 

take serious notice was during the construction of the bridge. The 
channel was considerably restricted by means of the crafts, scows 
and otherwise which were used for boring and sinking the piers 
for the bridge and it was necessary at that time to mark a clear 
channel for ships to pass through east and west without interfer­ 
ing with the men working below and causing damage or loss of 
life. The first step I took was to get four spar buoys in order to \o 
mark the channel. It was a suggestion of mine that we should 
have two spar buoys to port and two to starboard and the Depart­ 
ment at Victoria furnished the buoys and we proceeded to lay 
them out in what is now the 300 foot span. Shall I mark this 
chart ?

Q. Oh, just the description? A. The intention was to lay 
down two red spar buoys to mark the starboard side of the chan­ 
nel, one to the westward of the bridge and the other to the east­ 
ward and two black spar buoys marking the port hand of the 
channel and an equal distance apart and parallel. In order to 20 
lay those buoys down I got the — I think it was the lighthouse 
tender up from Victoria with the buoys.

Q. A tug? A. She is the tender that goes around fixing 
aids to navigation. We took our position off the position where . 
the span will go in order to lay this buoy down and I waited for 
slack water. Whilst waiting for the slack water — we wanted to 
get slack water so as to get a straight up and down cast of the 
lead to make sure of the water. We had a fair strong tide. It was 
one of the days when there was a big turnover and a long run out 
followed by a quick run in. It was considerably past the time by 30 
the tide book when the tide should have turned and I was rather 
remarking it, because I had not found the tide book very much 
wrong. The time came on until twenty-five minutes past the time 
for the turn of the tide and I expressed by extreme surprise that 
there was a considerable ebb stream against us and one of the 
men I had with me remarked —

Q. Never mind what he said? A. Leave that part out. 
Whilst doing that I noticed — he called my attention that logs and 
other drift wood were passing up the Narrows to the eastward 
when the stream we were in was still running down to the west- 40 
ward. That was the first time I showed any marked — any marked 
interest in the matter of the tides.

Q. The tide was on that occasion flowing east on which side 
of the Narrows? A. Toward the eastward on the south side of 
the Narrows. It was flowing westward on the north side of the 
Narrows. It was the last of the ebb.

Q. How many days' experience did you have in the work
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you had to do in that place? A. Well, in that particular in- RECORD 
stance we found the tides were so strong that the spar buoys would ~ 
not stand; the strength of the tide towed them under, so that they 
were worse than useless and eventually we put up transit marks Defendant's 
on Berry Point. But following that I was up there every day or Case 
several times a week. I did not know what more could be done to . H~~jT d 
make matters safe for the men working below the surface. Direct ^

Q. I want to get the total number of days you were there (Contd.) 
to show what opportunity you had to observe conditions? A. 

10 The days I have been there trying to observe conditions have run 
into more than I can count, 200, perhaps 300.

Q. That is what I want. Now, I want to direct your atten­ 
tion to the fill on the south shore which you see marked on exhibit 
13 with the letter—surrounded in blue ? A. Yes.

Q. Are you personally acquainted with that fill? A. Yes, 
fairly well acquainted with it.

Q. What is the effect upon the current? A. Unquestion­ 
ably it helps to deflect the current across the Narrows in a north­ 
erly direction.

20 Q. Have you observed that to be the case ? A. I certainly 
have.

Q. At what time if any is it more pronounced. When is it 
felt most? A. At the commencement of the flood, but more 
particularly in the commencement of what we term the long run 
in.

Q. Could you indicate to his lordship how far out into the 
channel the effect of that cross-current is felt ? A. No, not with 
any certainty. I have tried to find that out. As a matter of fact, 
I am trying to find it out now. There is a strong set to the north- 

30 east which can be best seen if you look at the plan as a whole. 
You see where the tide comes in; it is deflected from there, this 
shoulder here towards the northeast.

Q. When you speak of this shoulder, you mean that fill? 
A. Yes. Whether the line is close to the bridge or further up 
I cannot say. My impression is that there is a point here some 
200 or 300 feet from the bridge where it is strongest and further 
away it is getting weaker, but the influence of it is felt for a very 
considerable distance from the bridge.

Q. You are speaking of the distance east and west ? A. Yes. 
40 Q. Then I turn your attention to the distance north and 

south. How far out in the current northerly is that influence felt? 
A. I have actually seen that demonstrated. As this current is 
deflected to the northeast where it meets the current flowing to 
the westward which may be somewhere about half way across it 
resolves itself into a series of circular eddies which may be seen 
any time.

Q. Address yourself to Pier No. 2 where in relation to the
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British Columbia to the northwest of that pier; you can stand on the piles and make 
your observations any time. I think they are often further than 
that. There is no regularity. It is not as though marked in dif­ 
ferent colours. You just have to see the drift wood drifting 
around and figure out where they are.

Q. And have you any thing to say as to the effect, if any, 
of the waters of Seymour Creek upon the conditions of naviga­ 
tion ? A. I have heard a great deal, but I do not know a great 
deal about it myself, for this reason; the water of Seymour Creek 10 
varies greatly. At times there is such a trickle down a child could 
walk across. On other occasions I don't think there is any ap­ 
preciable effect.

Q. On other occasions ? A. On other occasions when there 
is a freshet there is no doubt you can get a set. Over here I have 
been badly set.

Q. Over here? A. To the south.
Q. Are you aware of the existence of a point of sand or 

gravel said to exist on or about the two more westerly submerged 
mains ? A. No, I have not made any precise observations of that 20

Q. What effects if any would the waters of Seymour Creek 
have if they happened to be in a reasonable volume; what effect 
have they at slack water, if any? A. At slack water undoubtedly 
they would penetrate further to the southward than they would 
when the tide was running stronger. The strongest tide would 
gain the mastery, in other words.

Q. Are you familiar with the shoal which is said to exist at 
about the point where the easterly mains exist? A. I am not 
familiar with it. There is a shoal there. I have observed it as 
far as it goes on extreme low tides, zero. You can see the boulders, 30 
but I have never made any precise soundings to see where it drops 
off.

Q. What effect, if any, on the waters passing under the 
bridge is created by the presence of the piers themselves? A. 
They set up circular eddies, but I think one neutralizes another 
very much.

Q. The eddy from one side of the pier to the other ? A. Yes.
Q. Could you give any result of your experience in connec­ 

tion with the possibility of the tide flooding in one direction on 
the surface and in a contrary direction beneath the surface? A. 40 
No, I have no knowledge beneath the surface, but there are a very 
large number of conflicting tides and currents going along on the 
surface which give rise in my opinion to a lot of totally erroneous 
opinions about the time of the tide.

Q. You spoke of the tide table. I would like to know to 
what extent, if at all you found where it was possible to gauge in 
advance the actual period of slack water from the times given in
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the tide book? A. Yes, I can explain that, I think. There are RECORD 
two methods of making up the tide book. There is the principle Britisb~c7iumbia 
of a tide book for a coast which is made up largely from the phen- 
omena of the sun and moon and working it out as a mathematical 
problem. The time of the tides in inland waters like these are 
largely the result of experience taken from an actual gauge which 
records the time of the tide and is not left to opinion. The tide 
table here, I understand, is made up from those records extending 
over many years and taking several hundred actual tides.

Q. What I am aiming at is this. Did your observation en­ 
able you to say whether or no the times given in the tide book 
for the Second Narrows are in practice found to be accurate ? A. 
One's observation is I don't think any good at all. The only ac­ 
curate record is the record shown by the gauge which gives the pre­ 
cise thing and puts it beyond all opinion.

Q. You have no observation with regard to that? A. No.
Q. I want you to address yourself to the navigation of a 

loaded cargo vessel drawing substantially twenty-five feet, navi­ 
gating westward through the draw at low water slack. What in 
your opinion should be his proper course and manoeuvres.

Mr. Donaghy : Better give his experience in navigating first.
Mr. Griffin : I have.
Q. You have had no experience in navigating the Narrows 

since the bridge was built ? A. Not in deep water ships.
Q. You have been in small vessels ? A. Continually.
Q. I want your opinion of the proper manner of passing 

through the bascule span with a ship of the kind I have mentioned 
at the stage of the tide I have mentioned? A. To commence 
with, at the time of the change of the tide I don't think is the 
best time to go through. I would prefer to wait until the tide was 
establishing itself and was running with a more even velocity than 
going through with a series of eddies.

Q. The question was —
Mr. Burns : Let him answer.
A. At the time of going through at low water, at slack water, 

the water slack, I would bring the ship up and anticipate a strong 
set to the northward, By that I would be prepared with all the 
aids at my disposal to overcome the set to the northward and 
bringing the ship to the southward.

Mr. Griffin : Q. You would expect that set to the north to be 
from what ? A. From the young flood coming in and driving the 
bow of the ship over. The bow of the ship would meet it first, 
going westward.

Q. But you would be prepared to meet a northerly set as 
you approached the opening of the draw? A. Yes, but it would 
be my opinion from what I know that I would not succeed. I 
don't think the helm of the ship is sufficient to overcome that un-
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less the ship were going at such a high rate of speed that it would 
be reckless navigation to attempt it.

Q. What do you say as to the difficulties that confront a navi­ 
gator going west in approaching the draw and manoeuvring a 
ship to pass through it 1 A. Bound to the westward ?

Q. Yes, going out? A. With a flood tide?
Q. No, I am speaking—the question was I want what diffi­ 

culties of navigation would confront a navigator when taking a 
ship out, that is, west at low water slack and with the ground and 
conditions you see before you? A. To commence with there is a 10 
shallow spit that runs over here.

Q. Don't say here? A. To the southward.
Q. About the water mains? A. About the water mains. 

The ship could not get as far to the southward as that and to get— 
in order to line himself up with the draw span which is here—in 
other words, he is getting dangerously close to this shoal to line 
himself up for the draw span when he is at that distance from the 
bridge. That is one danger. The next danger, having passed that, 
there is the danger of the set to the northward.

Q. Then what would be the course which a prudent naviga- 20 
tor would take to effect his object? A. Get as much in line as 
one can and trust in providence that you can carry out what you 
hope to do.

Q. That is keep as close to the southern shore as you can? 
A. Keep as close to the southern shore as you can and hope you 
can stay there.

Q. Does that involve a helm movement? A. Oh, yes, it 
would unquestionably, a helm movement. You could not hope to 
do that without a steady helm.

Mr. Griffin: Your witness. 30

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS
Q. That is to say, Captain, as I understand it that the young 

flood as you call it— A. Yes, the commencement of the flood.
Q. —is there as a regular thing? And that is— A. Is a 

regular thing.
Q. Wait. I will qualify it. In a case of say more than an 

average tide or—
The Court: Jut one moment. Would you please stand back 

a little closer to me because you keep your voice directed towards 
counsel. It is difficult, not that you do not speak clearly. 40

Mr. Burns: Q. With a stronger than ordinary tide? A. 
Yes, the commencement of the flood, especially with the strong 
tides begins on the south side of the Narrows.

Q. And that, as you say, develops into a set to the north? 
A. Yes.

Q. That is northerly? A. Northeasterly.
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Q. Until such time as the tide has become strong enough RECORD 
to make a more east and west course? A. Yes, there is still— Brithbc^iumbi 
whilst, you must understand this, the last of the tide is flooding Admiralty Din. 
strongly there is always a certain amount of time for the eddies to Defendant's 
create in the middle of the channel and as the tide becomes more Case 
established the stronger waters push those eddies back. H~RI~I

Q. So that at the commencement of a heavy flood or strong cross-exam 
flood there is that situation in connection with the waters of the (Comd.j 
Second Narrows east of the bridge 1 A. Yes.

10 Q. Namely, that there is a strong set to the north of this 
young flood ? A. Yes.

Q. Which would make it quite a difficult thing for a ship to 
keep her course for the bridge, for the opening ? A. Distinctly, 
yes.

Q. And your own impression is that you would not succeed 
if you tried? A. No, I don't say that. I would have difficulty. 
Some ships would succeed. It is one of the things you can never 
be certain of. A ship that is deep loaded or steering poorer than 
others, there is a risk in it. 

20 Q. Were you speaking generally? A. Yes.
Q. And with reference to general knowledge would you say 

that condition of the water is a matter of general knowledge ? A. 
Yes.

Q. Would not the more you kept to the south make that a 
stronger effect upon his bow? A. Not necessarily, because to 
come in there to the south he would ground; he could not go any 
further south.

Q. You have not understood me, I think, Captain. I am not 
considering going so much south as to the fear of grounding, but 

30 as a course before you get to where this force of the young tide is 
to be encountered if he was over say as much south as he could 
be without grounding and then made it would not his ship be in a 
position where the strength of that young flood would have greater 
effect upon the bow than the opposite, than the alternative 
which would be where he was most to the north ? A. That is not 
my opinion.

Q. Explain that to me. A. For this reason that if you are 
closer to the bank where the tide rebounds as it comes along. I 
am using the word rebound.

40 Q. Cushions off? A. Cushions off, naturally the effect 
of the cushioning is stronger, the more closer to the impact point 
than you are where it is dissipating itself further out in the stream.

Q. I thought that would bear out what I suggested. Sup­ 
posing—well, it might do, but assuming what you say to be correct, 
namely, and I am now indicating on exhibit 13 that the young flood 
is coming in here on the south— A. Yes.

Q. And is setting northeasterly? A. Yes.
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Q. j suppose f rom this Knuckle here ? A. Largely it starts 
here ; all the way along here you see the eddies setting out.

Q > Then it is turning as I understand your evidence in a 
northeasterly direction here ? A. Yes.

Q. Or some place east of the bridge. Now, if a ship were 
more to the north and heading for the bridge would not that ship 
be in a better position to meet that course being more to the north 
than to the south, where the force would hit her bow to a greater 
extent? A. Yes, she would be in a better position to overcome 
that, but she would be putting herself in an almost impossible posi- 10 
tion to make the draw. You see a ship must line herself up for the 
draw some distance away, so as if possible to go through without 
having to heave the helm port and starboard all the time.

Q. Is this correct, a ship would have to line herself up be­ 
fore this force would be met with ? A. That is almost invariably 
the case.

Q. All right. Then the better course, as far as I can see, 
I am suggesting this, would be over here altogether that is to get 
as much north as she can but still make the line up. Would that 
doit? A. I don't think that is in practical seamanship. 20

Q. Then in your idea he should be as near that shoal as he 
can be ? A. In order to make the draw.

Q. Without grounding? A. In order to make the draw.
Q. There is a certain amount of cushioning off from that 

shoal ? A. The shoal you are referring to here ?
Q. Up here. A. I have never examined it out as far to the 

eastward as that. There must be a little.
The Court : You are talking about the shoal and it has been 

called different things, the Knuckle and Point "A". Do you 
mean that? 30

Mr. Burns: It is around there, my lord.
The Witness : Is this the point you are referring to ? This 

place ?
Mr. Burns: Point "A" would be about here on the shore, 

some place around the mains.
The Court: The shoal is something we understand of con­ 

siderable extent, but you apply your own knowledge to it and let 
us know exactly what you mean by the shoal, because you might 
not agree.

The Witness : I would refer to it as a spit rather than a shoal 40 
running out in this position. There is a spit.

The Court : Is that what they call the Knuckle ? A. I think 
it is where you have your hand there, my lord.

The Court: That is* 'A". It is called the Knuckle here. A. 
Yes, that is the place.

The Court : We will continue to call it a Knuckle.
Mr. Burns : Q. Then, Captain, there is a certain amount of
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cushioning as far as that Knuckle is concerned ? A. That is my RECORD 
impression. In fact I have taken observations of it.

Q. And if a ship came in too near there apart from ground- 
ing she would feel the effect of that cushioning? A. I think so.

Q. And that would have the effect of throwing her bow off?
A. iCS.

. And if that happened then the force of this tide would- _* •*•accentuate that? A. Yes.
Q. Just in that position? A, Yes.

10 Q- Now, this set that you speak of is quite observable ? A. 
Which set are you referring to, the set to the northeast ?

Q. Yes? A. Oh, yes, it is distinctly noticeable.
Q. You can see it right on the surface and when you speak of 

this as being a set we understand or do I understand rightly that 
is the tide really flooding ? A. The tide flooding. You see ; strik­ 
ing the point here; I don't know whether that is described; it is 
marked "B" here, it is deflected across the Narrows in a north­ 
easterly direction in a series of circular eddies.

Q. And that is a coming in tide? A. That is a coming in 
20 tide.

Q. As the flood grows that disappears ? A. Yes, to a large 
extent.

Q. To an extent. I was going to say to a degree. The ten­ 
dency is for the disappearance of that, because of the full force of 
the tide coming up? A. Yes.

Q. Or getting in such shape as it is coming up in the regular 
way and that in your judgment is the safest way to take that 
gate ? A. I would not say that is the safest time of all.

Q. What is the safest time of all? A. If I had a choice of 
30 time and one was able to make a choice I would make it high water 

slack.
Q. Well, eliminate high water slack and confine your con­ 

sideration to low water slack ? That would be then the safest time 
in that time? A. Yes, I would sooner wait until the tide had 
established itself.

Q. The tide had established itself and you would not then be 
met with this set to the northeast to the extent that it would em­ 
barrass you? A. Yes, it would be less.

Q. I just want to get a more definite understanding of those
40 buoys that you placed down? A. They were not placed down,

sir. We intended to place them and the tide was so strong that
they were useless. We got two placed and they were towed under.
They seemed to be useless before we got them actually in work.

Q. Where was it you attempted it ? Could you put it on this 
— A. Yes, at that time they were sinking this pier here.

Mr. Burns : That is Pier No. 2, my lord.
The Witness : And the tune when I told you I took the sound-
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any means of taking any sextant angle to get the exact height, but 
I lined myself up by getting a cable to the westward. The inten­ 
tion was to be off a cable to the westward and to the eastward, so 
as to mark the channel through the construction.

Q. And you found the tide there was such that they would 
not suit your purpose? A. No, the strength of the tide towed 
the buoy under. 10

Q. Flattened it down ? A. Took it out of sight.
Q. And you didn't attempt any other buoys 1 A. No, when 

we found those buoys would not stand we did not go on with the 
scheme.

Q. Now, it was at that time you observed the tide flooding 
in the east and ebbing in the west ? A. That was the first tune. 
That was what first called my attention to the flood on the south 
side and the ebb on the north side.

Q. Would you describe that for me ? A. Yes, we were in 
the position indicated in line with the westward of Pier No. 1 20 
and there the tide was ebbing quite strongly. Now, the exact a- 
mount I cannot tell you. I can only estimate it.

Q. Can you judge about what stage of the ebb tide? A. 
Oh, that was the last of the ebb.

Q. But how long would it continue 1 Can you judge that ? 
A. It continued in this case about twenty-five minutes after the 
time of the change of the tide according to the tide table and it 
was that which called my attention to it, because I never had 
found the tide tables out that much.

Q. But at the same time it was flooding on the south side? 30 
A. It had started flooding ; at what time I don't know, but several 
minutes before apparently, because we were having to steam ahead 
to keep up with the set to the westward here, meaning there was a 
considerable stream against us; logs unaided were drifting by 
merrily.

Q. How big a tide was that? A. That was a big tide that 
day. I think about a 12 foot 6 rise.

Q. Have you made any observations as to whether that same 
condition occurs at a later date ? A. Oh, yes, I was so interested 
in that I made quite a large number of observations and the con- 40 
dition exists more or less all the time, but the difficulty in making 
any precise data is this, that as we all know no two consecutive 
tides are the same either in tune or run in or height, so that it 
is very very difficult to make any direct statements about the 
strength and so on.

Q. But I take it your impression is that as a general proposi­ 
tion the lesser degree as the tide is less ? A. Yes, sir.
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Q. Did you observe when that was the case which you spoke RECORD 
of as to whether that ebb went right on? A. It goes down to ~
the Westward. Admiralty Dist.

Q. Did you observe as far as the south side was concerned Defendant's 
to what extent the flood was appearing east of the bridge ? A. On Case 
that account I could not, because all those craft were in the way, —— 
but I have made observations since and I have found out that logs £• H- Reed 
and even a boat under way will go along drifting, well away, a 
long way past the bridge while the stream is still running down 

1° this way.
Q. That is to say, I understand your evidence to be that at 

certain stages, say, on average or better than average tides ? A. 
Yes, a little bit worse than average.

Q. And then on that it happens east of the bridge there 
would be two lines of tide? A. Yes.

Q. One ebbing and the other flooding? A. Yes, more or 
less clearly defined according to the strength of the tide.

Q. With circular eddies in between? A. Yes, the circular 
eddies might be met with anywhere across; sometimes probably 

20 half way across will show the water slack and then suddenly come 
into a swirl.

Q. But if it were to any extent I am suggesting that it would 
be practically in between those two streams? A. As a rule, 
although along the south shore here there is scarcely any spot that 
is not simply one mass of swirling eddies according to the strength 
of the tide. This south shore is particularly bad for eddies with a 
flood tide.

Q. When you say eddies you mean— A. Circular move­ 
ments.

30 Q. Not currents? A. No, circular movements. It is the 
current going around in a circular direction instead of the through 
direction.

Q. Well, have you made observations showing you how far 
this flood is going by while still ebbing? A. Not to the point 
where it actually ceases to exist. It was a little while ago, about 
a year ago I took several days observations here. On one occa­ 
sion we drifted, I should think, very near as far as abreast of the 
Black Can Buoy—that is not shown on this plan—while we were 
seeing drift going by on the other side, but not having two obser- 

40 vers in two different boats we only had to use all the observations 
from one boat.

Q. How far up is the Black Can Buoy ? A. If you have an 
admiralty chart I can show you exactly.

Q. Approximately? A. Approximately it is two-thirds of 
a mile from the bridge.

Q. It is shown in the chart? A. Shown in the chart or 
any of these plans. That top one in your hand. That is not a
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navigating chart, but it will serve the purpose. Here you are, sir, 
that is the position of the buoy about there.

Q. You mean— A. The Black Can Buoy marking the 
shoal bank there.

Q. That is the buoy that has been already in evidence here ? 
A. Well, I have not been in.

Q. Nearly opposite Berry Point ? A. Yes.
Q. There are not two buoys there ? A. No, no.
Q. And on this occasion say that you drifted by almost up 

to this Black Can Buoy? A. Very nearly. I forget the exact 10 
bearing.

Q. That Black Can Buoy is across the stream 1? A. Yes, 
there is a slight set to the northeast where we were, but it was 
still there.

Q. And was it still ebbing below that, to westward of that ? 
A. Where it was abreast of us, but further back I cannot tell. 
We only had one observer. To get the statement you want it 
would be necessary to have two observers working together in 
different boats.

Q. Then your evidence cannot help us on that point? A. 20 
No.

Q. I thought when you got up to the Black Can Buoy you 
were still having— A. A set to the northeast. Was still observ­ 
able then. Whether the ebb had ceased then as far back as the 
bridge I cannot say.

Q. What would you say then, that that is the general con­ 
dition, Commander ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. That on tides better than average to worse the tide action 
in the Second Narrows at the points we are discussing shows as a 
regular thing an ebb on the north shore and a flood on the south 1 
A. At the commencement of the flood, yes, sir.

Q. Until the flood has really established itself? A. What 
has really happened, sir, as you realize there is a large body of 
water coming down from the North Arm, Port Moody and it meets 
another body of water coming from the ocean. Well, when those 
two bodies meet they cross one another in the form of eddies. Any 
thing in the form of an obstruction will deflect one into the other 
and set up the eddies.

Q. That is the explanation of it? A. Yes.
Q. I am really applying myself to the facts of the conditions. 40 

And although those streams are in evidence upon the surface ? A. 
Quite.

Q. Do you know anything to the westward of the bridge 
hi connection with the tidal movements ? A. Yes, sir, in fact all 
over the harbour it is my job to find out as much as I can about 
them.

Q. I should not have asked you, Commander. I am sorry.

30
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I take it for granted then. How is your idea of the flood tide com- RECORD 
ing up the harbour? What is its course? A. On those plans I Britis 
can show you better because that is so restricted. If you have an Mm 
admiralty chart, that is better. Defendant's

Q. It may not be advisable to mark it, exhibit 7. A. I think Case 
I can explain to his lordship without actually marking it. The A H~^T A 
flood tide runs striking in here. Cross-exam

Q. When you say in here ? A. Coming in to the eastward (Comd.j 
past Prospect Point through the First Narrows across, straight 

10 across here to this point just at the corner where the Second Nar­ 
rows—we will call that the south side of the Second Narrows.

Q. A straight line from the First Narrows 1 A. It practic­ 
ally runs in a straight line into this bight here.

Q. That is following that line and possibly it would be more 
accurate to say it would strike the easterly shoulder of that bight ? 
A. Pretty nearly. If you lay a ruler down you will see the way 
it will go. Then after the tide passes Prospect Point or Burnaby 
shoal one portion eddies around here and you have a set running in 
filling in Coal Harbour. Obviously that coming in off the main 

20 stream you will have a circular movement around Burnaby shoal, 
that can be seen, my lord. If you moor an ordinary rowing boat 
up to Burnaby shoal you will find you will take two or three com­ 
plete turns around the shoal with your painter through the move­ 
ment of the tide coming in. Then it proceeds along here. At that 
time it is practically slack water in these waters on this side.

Q. That is the north side? A. Yes, the north side is well 
sheltered and the young flood does not seem to affect those pro­ 
perties at all.

Q. As a matter of fact its direction is a little south of east ? 
30 A. Yes, well, then, by magnetic compass it is not far off east, a 

little bit south of east.
Q. A little bit south of the direct channel ? A. Yes.
Q. Is it not natural or what do you say as to it meeting this; 

what would you call that ? A. That is where the Terminal wharf 
is built now, the Terminal properties. It does. It flows past.

Q. Does it not hit them? A. It flows past. Yes, it hits 
them. They do not seem to be as affected as this property further 
on.

Mr. Griffin: That is the Columbia Elevator. A. The Co- 
40 lumbia Elevator is not so very much affected. It is, of course, 

affected but you do not get as great strength off the Columbia Ele­ 
vator and Terminal Wharf as you do right down in this corner 
here. Perhaps it is that the pipe is narrow and you notice it more.

Q. Of course in the first place at the start, the actual start, 
the absolute start, the flood is not of great strength; I mean it does 
not come along like a wall ? A. Oh, no, no.

Q. It gathers strength? A. It gathers strength.
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20

Q. During the first period? A. Yes.
Q. And I suppose would be strongest in its appearance in the 

way you have explained about; how long after the start of the 
flood, half an hour or three-quarters? A. I would say three- 
quarters of an hour for this reason again, as the young flood comes 
in especially after a long run out when it is following a very low 
water, the pipe is narrow through these tide flats being dry. As 
these become covered the water is able to flow over those; the pipe 
is being wider and you don't notice the tide so strongly, but the 
first hour on a new flood would I think attain the greatest velocity.

Q. And of that it would be towards the end of that hour? 
A. Yes.

Q. The first would be a gradual start? A. Yes.
Q. And when you speak of being surprised at seeing an ap­ 

parent error of the tide table it was on account of this condition 
you speak about? A. Yes.

Q. And according to the tide tables would you infer or ga­ 
ther that the flood tide did not arrive until later, but it showed 
that way because of this peculiarity? A. Prom the position 
where I was in the boat I was under the impression that the tide 
had not turned and the tide book was that much in error. Further 
to the southward the tide had turned. So that we would have, 
if somebody else had been there contradict the opinions both tel- 
ing the truth as they saw it.

Q. One point, Captain, I would like to ask about. You are 
certain, or are you certain that that set you speak of is the incom­ 
ing tide and not more or less a back eddy under the Knuckle or the 
spit ? A. It is obviously the incoming tide. I have been so care­ 
ful to prove or disprove my original ideas that I have been there 
so many times looking out for that, that you can see the logs and 
other bits of wood moving up there to the eastward while you are 
still having to steam slowly ahead to keep pace with the ebb to the 
northerly. It is such a well understood position I am afraid there 
is no possibility of denying it. I have been out so many times to 
check it.

Q. I don't want you to deny it, but to be so sure, there is no 
question it is so well understood that every person ought to know 
it. A. I thought so. It is an usual condition perhaps, but you 
will check it and find it so every time you make an observation.

Q. Refer to the larger plan. How about the proposition of 40 
the flood coming in here and being set at a northeasterly direction 
by the Knuckle or that part of the land around and under the 
Knuckle ? A. Some of it is, I should think. You see the tide is 
not running in a straight line. A great portion of it strikes this
"B".

Mr. Griffin: That is the fill.
The Witness: That is the fill. That amount of water which

30
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is to the northward obviously meets that fill, cannons off the wall 
here. It is not as if the tide was restricted to a narrow line.

Mr. Burns: Q. That is why I asked you that question. And 
as a matter of fact some of the tides would hit the shoulder of the 
land before you come to the westward of the fill ? A. Some would, 
yes.

Q. As you explained on the other map, the shoulder of that 
bight? A. Yes.

Q. The easterly shoulder of that bight you have referred to ? 
10 A. Yes.

Q. In other words, am I right in saying that you have said 
this that the incoming tide comes in a southeasterly direction a- 
gainst the south shore generally speaking and some of it hits the 
shoulder of this bight, some of it hits the point you speak of the 
fill, and some of it hits the Knuckle and the shore between the 
Knuckle and the Bridge and all of it giving the tide off to the 
northeast. A. That is partly correct in a qualified way. The tide 
you see, sets in this bay; it is not named as a bay, just to the east­ 
ward of the bridge—the westward of the bridge. That is where 

20 the main body of water flows in there. Some of it undoubtedly does 
strike up as far as this; some of it will undoubtedly strike in as 
far as that, but the water that is in there goes out there, I suppose.

Q. Come back to exhibit 13 which is the larger and for that 
reason I am using it. I think I can use it for this purpose. Any 
of the water of this tide which hits the shoulder of the bight or 
this fill and so on would be deflected more northerly than northeast, 
would it not; that is more northerly than the part of the tide that 
is deflected further east by this Knuckle and so on, is that not so ? 
A. It would appear so, but I made no such definite—I have no 

30 knowledge of that.
Q. It would appear so? A. It would appear so. My ex­ 

perience is that the water seems to strike off from the bank strong­ 
est from a point a little to the eastward of this.

Mr. Griffin: Q. The fill? A. Yes.
Mr. Burns: Follow me. I don't want to stop you.
The Witness: And then continues in a lesser degree as you 

proceed to the eastward.
Q. Follow me then and see if I have your idea and if I have 

not your idea follow me to see if what I am stating is correct in 
40 your opinion. That any of the flood which strikes on the fill, let 

us say, or that point where the fill is the deflection by reason of the 
contour of it would be more northerly than eastward, than further 
down east, would it not ? A. Yes, I think it would.

Q. Yes, any of that water that struck there. When I am 
saying, "There,," I mean the westward part of that west shoulder 
of the fill.

The Court: It is hard for me to hear you. You have your 
hand over the side of your face.
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Mr. Burns: I was getting so interested in this problem, my 
lord.

Q. Any of the water, Commander, of the young flood which 
we are discussing that hits the shoulder of this fill and is deflected 
thereby would be deflected in a more northerly direction than the 
water which goes through and is deflected by the Knuckle or the 
intermediate part of the shore? A. Yes, but that is slightly 
overcome in this way, that as that water is deflected to the north­ 
ward it is being pushed straight along.

Q. I am coming to that. I am trying to enunciate this pro- 10 
position and see if I am right. Then that deflection therefore that 
deflection might be great or less as immediately affected by the 
incoming flood tide ? ? A. Yes.

Q. And the tendency therefore, of course, is to straighten it 
out and hitting against, having the general bearing of the tide in 
mind, against the south shore, and the Knuckle as we have dis­ 
cussed ? A. I cannot say that I have seen that.

Q. Would that not be the tendency? A. Whether it is 
the tendency or not I cannot say. I can only say in practice that 
all the way along here you will see and can see those eddies running 20 
off from the shore in a northeasterly direction. I don't mean by 
that strictly northeast; in a northeasterly direction.

Q. By that you have the inference that the tide bearing down 
on the south shore— A. Yes.

Q. Is deflected in some direction northeasterly ? A. Yes.
Q. More easterly than north, say? A. Yes.
Q. At the Knuckle and intermediate parts ? A. Yes.
Q. And at the fill the deflection, if any, must naturally be 

more northerly than east ? A. Quite so, yes.
Q. And if it were continued, when meeting another force 30 

that is the incoming flood it would continue right across the chan­ 
nel ? A. Well, the ebb is still running this way. The ebb would 
turn it into a series of eddies and that is what actually takes place.

Q. So far as its directional force is concerned it would be 
more northerly than east? A. Yes.

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Q. You were asked about some observations you took and 

you said they were when they were erecting piers 2 and 1. Could 
you give the year if possible and the month when that took place ? 
A. Not without referring back to my books. I have no doubt it 40 
was in my diary at the time.

Q. Could you give even the year? A. I cannot with any 
certainty, no.

Mr. Griffin: That is all, thank you.
(Witness aside)
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Mr. Smith: I will call Captain Guns.

THOMAS SALTER GUNS, a witness caUed on behalf of the de­ 
fence, being first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:
Q. You live in Vancouver, witness ? A. Yes, sir.
Q. And you are a pilot ? A. Yes, sir.
Q. What has been your experience as a seaman? A. At 

15 I went to sea in sail. After that I did a little coasting on the 
English coast and in '88, the Pall of '88,1 came to British Colum­ 
bia and in service with the C. P. N. Company and the C. P. R. My 
first command in the C. P. N. Company in 1896 was command of 
the West Coast Packet "Maud" about 100 tons. After 1916 I re­ 
signed to take a position under the Vancouver Pilotage Board. I 
have been a pilot since, nearly 13 years.

Q. The steamer'' Maud'' you referred to, is that the same one 
referred to by Captain Jones ? A. Yes, that is the same vessel.

Q. Can you state the number of times you passed through the 
Second Narrows before the bridge was built, approximately ? A. 
Before the bridge was built; I can tell you exactly. I passed 
through 54 times before construction was started.

Q. And after construction, how many times have you passed 
through? A. During construction I passed through 21 times.

Q. And after construction—
The Court: Q. During construction ? A. 21 times, sir.
Q. Passed the bridge 54 times before construction? 

Passed the Narrows.
Q. That is what I mean to say, passed the Narrows? A. 

With all classes of vessels, many large tankers, fully loaded.
Mr. Smith: Q. After construction of the bridge how many 

times?
The Court: During construction, 21 times? A. 21 times, 

your lordship, and since the bridge was put into operation, the bas­ 
cule, 62 times, up to the 24th of April. Since that time, ten times.

Mr. Smith: Q. That is, altogether? A. 147 trips, either 
up or down.

Q. Now, what is the proper stage of the tide at which to pass 
through the bascule span with a loaded ship ? A. At slack water.

Q. What is the position of the bascule span with reference
to the fairway up and down the Narrows ? A. It is not quite at

40 right angles. The bridge has a direction to the northeast and
southwest, of something like five degrees from a right angle with
the channel.

The Court: Q. Did he say that he preferred it low slack 
water or high?

Mr. Smith: He simply said at slack water, my lord.
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Q. The bridge is not right across the Narrows, but runs at 
an angle ? A. Slight angles.

Q. Where is the bascule of the bridge with reference to the 
fairway of the Second Narrows ? A. It is entirely away. It lead 
a man directly in to the south shore.

Q. Is it to the north or south of the fairway that was used 
by vessels navigating the Narrows before the bridge was built ? A. 
On the south side.

Q. Where was the fairway before the bridge was built ? A. 
In the centre of the channel. 10

Q. And the bascule is to the south of the centre of the 
channel ? A. Is to the south of the centre of the channel.

Q. Is there deep water all around the span? A. The bas­ 
cule—there is sufficient water for all ships that use it at present, 
right in the span, but less than a ship's length east of the span there 
is not sufficient water for a thirty-feet ship, if she should get on 
the northerly side of that fairway—the southerly side, I mean to 
say.

Q. Now, Captain, would you mark on this chart; draw lines 
showing the continuation eastward of the bascule span. 20

The Court: Q. What is that, a new plan ?
Mr. Smith: No, Exhibit No. 17, my lord.
Q. Use a red pencil? A. I have a green pencil, which I 

think would be better.
Q. No, I think the red would be better? A. All right.
(Witness marks chart.)
Q. You have drawn two lines from the piers of the bascule 

span at right angles to the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. Following along a line at right angles to the bridge, 

passing through the south pier, how far away is it that a vessel 30 
proceeding along that line would get into shallow water to the east­ 
ward? A. A vessel drawing between 27 and 30 feet as a fully 
loaded tanker would do, at low water would do, at low water she 
would touch within that channel within half a length.

Q. Develop that a little more. Put that into feet. How far 
away from the bridge would she touch? A. About 300 feet.

Q. Then about 300 feet from the bridge along that line, 
passing through the south pier, there is a depth of how much ? A. 
18 feet.

Q. What? A. No, I beg pardon, about 24 feet; 18 feet is 40 
600 feet further on.

Q. 24 feet at 300 feet? A. Yes.
Q. And at 600 feet, 18 feet? A. 18 feet, on that line.
Q. That line being a line passing through the south pier? 

A. The south pier.
The Court: That is, extending those parallel lines in red and 

your point, Mr. Smith, is that in the extension of those parallel 
lines with the bascule span, at a distance to the east of how much?
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In the first place, at a distance of 300 feet. 
Wait a moment, at a distance of 300 feet in the

Then at 600

A.

A.

Mr. Smith:
The Court: 

extended area.
The Witness: There is only 24 feet of water, 

feet, 18 feet of water.
The Court: Q. First, at 300, you say how much water ? 

24 feet, 4 fathoms. At 600 feet.—
Q. Wait, now. Yes, 600, how much? A. 18 feet.
Q. Now, that is at the average low water, did you say ? 

id Yes, that is the soundings given on those charts.
Mr. Smith: Q. What is the effect of that shoal being there.
The Court: Wait a moment, before you go on. Yes, you said, 

Mr. Smith, "What is the effect—"
Mr. Smith: I said, "What is the effect of that shoal being 

there, from the point of view of vessels navigating through the 
bridge ? A. That it makes it very dangerous with a deep-load­ 
ed ship, at low water.

Q. Now, you just explain where the difficulties arise, Cap­ 
tain 1? A. Well, I speak now, of a deep-loaded ship. I refer to 

20 a tanker going eastward, to begin with, and in the first place I 
know from experience, as I approach the bridge there is practically 
always a set to the north, as I am getting close to the draw. Con­ 
sequently, I approach that bridge practically at right angles, head­ 
ing for the south pier, No. 3 pier. I find I have difficulty in mak­ 
ing that course, for the simple reason that the men who are steer­ 
ing the ship seem to think I am going to hit it. They all want to 
edge away from it and I have to keep on telling them, "Keep that 
pier ahead.''

Q. You are dealing with a ship going east ? A. Yes, prob- 
30 ably loaded. As I get near that pier I very seldom have to star­ 

board to clear it: the deflection there is so great that you will be 
carried in to the span without my using much, if any, helm. If I 
do require to use the helm as I get near it, I give her some helm. 
That helm is to my advantage. I am putting the ship through the 
draw at an angle so as to get away from the shoal on the other side 
and also keep my stern up against that current, but I am taking a 
big risk. I am heading for the pier in the first place and put­ 
ting her through at an angle, reducing the width of the draw and if 
I don't do that what has happened, I have found, with experience, 

40 is if I try to line up with the draw in the first place, as I get near 
to it I will set over so much, we will probably have to give a port 
helm, to avoid hitting pier 2, with the result that as I go through 
the draw I am running my head into shallow water, the bow of 
the ship into shallow water on the south side of the channel. I 
try to counteract that. I must not try too much with starboard 
helm or I might hit No. 3 pier. If I manage to get through, having 
tried this, that is, we enter it straight and port it, to clear the No. 2
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pier? i am now m a position, practically straight for the bridge — 
British Columbia at right angles to the bridge ; I cannot proceed any further than 

the length of my ship where I now am, without getting my bow 
away from the shore. To do that I must starboard my helm, with 
the result I am going to throw the stern of my ship into shallow 
water, probably wipe off a propeller right on the line of pier 3. 
I am speaking of a deep-draft ship.

The Court: Q. What length? A. From 300 to 400 feet, 
practically prohibiting the use of that channel to such a ship at low 
water. 10

Mr. Smith: Q. You take the same ship and go west, with 
the same stage of the tide ? A. There are two ways of approach­ 
ing the bridge. I have tried both. Some pilots keep down, as I 
have done, to the centre of the channel until, oh, anywhere from 
1500 to 2000 feet from the bridge. Then they will direct their 
course to the south, probably at an angle southwest and as they 
open the draw of the bridge sufficiently they port again and try 
and go through the bridge straight. I have tried that. I do not 
find it a successful way, for the simple reason that when I first 
make that big change from centre channel to southwest I have to 20 
give the ship considerable helm and I am going at such an angle I 
have to give considerable helm to bring her back to the line of the 
draw, which is a bad thing to be doing with any ship when ap­ 
proaching such a narrow entrance. The less helm you can be giv­ 
ing them at the time, the more control you have of the ship. So 
I find it better to come to a position near that shoal, about 2000 
feet from the bridge, where I can make one course past the shoal 
into the draw but to do that I must have my ship heading to the 
south of the south pier, at least on the south pier. Then I barely 
clear the shoal. In doing so I find two difficulties immediately con- 30 
fronting me. First, as I approach the shoal that shoal, as one 
gentleman remarked in this court, has a bench out to about 18 or 
21 feet. It gradually slopes. Then it drops quicker and as your 
ship — I am speaking now of a loaded ship coming down ; she may 
have loaded lumber at one of the mills, as you approach that bench 
the ship does not float on the top of the water; she displaces her 
own bulk and part to each side and part underneath her. As she 
approaches the bench she is squeezing part of the water up against 
the bench until it sets the ship away.

Q. You let your voice drop at the end of the sentence ? A. 40 
Excuse me. As she gets closer to the bridge, she is getting into 
shallower water underneath all the time. Her own displacement 
cannot escape away from her so freely underneath her. It must 
go to the sides. Consequently that water on the port side, she piles 
it up against the beach, not necessarily visible, but it is there. It 
has an effect which cushions the ship away. Now, I have had an 
accurate demonstration of that in the case of the "Norwich City,"
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the 24th of April, 1928, coming westward on almost a zero tide, a 
tide of six inches at low water. I tried to come down in the manner 
I have last described. From Berry Point I steer a course between 
the Point and the buoy about southwest. When I was probably 
2,000 feet, or a little more, from the bridge I changed my course 
until the ship headed for the south pier. At that time the masonry 
of Pier No. 2 was open on the north side. That is how I can define 
my position. If I can see the masonry on the north side of that 
pier, which is pointing at me, I must be to the north side of the 

10 line. I know I am not too near the shore. I put the ship's head—, 
I don't look at the compass—it was not necessary—to be able to 
clear it, but she was heading on pier 3, or possibly a little south. 
The Third Officer was at the wheel and I steadied the ship and she 
steadied all right. I may say I have taken that same ship through 
the bridge before nearly loaded.

Mr. Burns: Q. Pardon me, when you say, witness, Pier 3, 
do you mean the south pier *? A. I mean the south pier.

Mr. Burns: Then we had better check that up, because on 
these piers it is just the reverse. It is the north pier that is pier 3. 

20 Mr. Griffin: No, my learned friend is wrong.
The Court: No, that is right; the south pier of the bascule 

is 3.
The Witness: The Third Officer, quite a capable young man, 

was at the wheel and I stood alongside of him and an open bridge 
with an indicator of the amount of helm.

Mr. Smith: I cannot hear you. A. I stood alongside of the 
officer. There was an indicator, giving the amount of helm. The 
man stood immediately at my left hand. The ship was pointing 
steadily, as I have described. I noticed her begin to slide sideways. 
Her head did not pay off, but I could see it was going to the right. 
I said to the man—I used my hand, as I mostly do in narrow waters 
—'' Starboard, starboard, keep her up.'' Eventually I noticed the 
indicator was hard starboard and still the vessel is sliding away. 
I am passing that shoal now, 1,200 feet or less. I remarked to the 
Captain, "Look at that—"

The Court: Never mind.
The Witness: At the hard starboard I thought she would 

still make the bridge. I am going full speed at that ime. First of 
all, I slowed for the bridge until the bridge lifted. When I see the 

40 bridge lifted I put her at full speed. We started away four or 
five knots. I would hardly be going seven yet. I fully expected to 
see that ship come as she got to the bridge where she would be 
further away from cushioning. It did not appear to come. It still 
kept sliding sideways. At 600 feet from the bridge I ordered the 
port anchor let go, a very risky thing to do with the speed I had on 
the ship. It might have hurt somebody or done damage, but it was 
the only thing to do. At this time we were heading for pier 2. It

30
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RECORD took no notice of that anchor. It still kept sliding and we saw then 
British Columbia it was a question whether we were going to hit pier 2 or not. The 
Aimiraityj>ist. Captain and I both used the same words, "Full speed astern." 

She just cleared pier 2. We dropped the starboard anchor, to try 
and check it and she went through the bridge with both anchors 
out. On the port anchor, before they could hold it, there were 75 
fathoms of chain out. There was a condition there—

Mr. Smith: Q. Explain what she did, where did she go? 
A. She went to the north side of the pier 2 and right under the 
bridge; that is, at this stage of the tide the bridge was high enough 10 
above the superstructure only to catch the masts and the funnel.

Q. So it carried away the masts and the funnels. A Yes.
Q. Therefore, the accident you have described, is identical 

with that that happened to the "Eurana"? A. Very similar.
Q. And in the same span ? A. In the same span.
Q. Well, what stage of the tide was it when the "Norwich 

City" went through. A. It was supposed to be low water, by the 
book. There had been a great deal of rain for a few days previous 
and I made it particularly late. It was really after low water, 
by the book, because my experience was, on the ebb tides—I am 20 
speaking of the surface currents, what I can see, it always ap­ 
peared to be running out after low water by the book, and in 
accordance with the practice of seamen and my own experience, I 
thought it was better to be a little late and possibly meet the in­ 
coming tide than to be early and not have such good control of my 
vessel. Today I am absolutely convinced that is a mistake.

Q. What is your opinion of it; today? A. My opinion to­ 
day is that a man first of all should not be there with a loaded ship 
at low water, and if the ship is not so deep and he would try it, he 
had better be there a little early. 30

Q. Better go through with a little of the ebb tide behind 
him ? A. For the simple reason you are not going through with 
the ebb tide that you think you are. There is a tide working up 
from underneath, which is probably making it slack when it still 
shows ebb on the surface.

The Court: Q. What was the name of this ship, and the 
date, you are giving us your experience with ? A. The'' Norwich 
City'', on the 24th of April, 1928.

Mr. Smith: Q. Is there any way of telling beforehand when 
it will be actually slack water at the Second Narrows ? A. No, 40 
sir.

Q. What have you to say about the tide tables in that respect ? 
A. The tide tables are only a guide. One must use the tide tables 
and make the best of it, that is all. Myself, I think at low water, 
with large vessels—I am only interested in large vessels and deep 
—they are influenced much more by the contour of the shore than 
the actual tide, than with the conditions of tide we have there,



211

particularly with that undercurrent working up at low water, it RECORD
makes it WOrSe. British Columbia

Q. How can you ascertain, if at all, the period of slack water Admiralty £>"'•
at the Second Narrows ; that is, the actual period of time during Defendant's
which one can expect to have actual slack water? A. On the Case
high tide it might be quite appreciable. I cannot say because I T s ~
never sailed my ship through to say I have gone through when it Direct 
appeared actual slack water, but on the low tides, especially on (Contd.) 
the big runs out, I am satisfied there is no slack. When it slacks 

10 up one way it is already working up the other.
Q. When it slacks up on the surface? A. It is already 

working underneath. I am speaking of the south shore.
Q. You have not yet dealt with the currents. What currents 

may be expected to be found around the bridge at low water slack ? 
A. The direction of the current when it appears low water slack 
— that is, the surface current has almost stopped running, there 
is something there, some current pushing the vessel off. It may be 
visible ; there may be dirt showing on top, but at the same time 
may not be visible. Sometimes it happens that the harbour is so 

20 clear that you —
Q. All right. You say that there is some current pushing 

your vessel off, what? A. Off the south shore, always in the 
direction of the north shore.

The Court : Q. Off the Knuckle or between the Knuckle and 
the bridge? A. I don't know which is called the Knuckle, your 
lordship.

Q. The Knuckle is the second group of water mains. You 
see it marked there. Now, look. A. You say the second group 
of water mains. I understand.

30 Q. You are looking at Exhibit 8 and you see the Knuckle 
marked there? A. Yes, that is what I call the centre of the 
shoal.

Q. So many have called it the Knuckle, and if you keep to 
that we will know what you are referring to ? A. Yes, your lord­ 
ship.

Q. You say there is always some current there ? A. I am 
speaking now of being closer in the draw, past the Knuckle.

Mr. Smith : Q. To make it clear to me at all events, witness, 
deal with the exact position of the bridge as if a vessel were going 

40 through the bascule span at low water slack. What currents may 
be experienced there?

The Court : Which way ?
Mr. Smith: Westward.
The Witness: Going west, if it appears low water, if the 

current on the surface is slack, particularly on a big tide, she is 
going to feel a big move out from the south shore northwards.
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RECORD How much that current runs one side of the pier or the other, I
British Columbia don't know, but I do know it is all I can do to keep my ships off theAdmiralty Dist. north pier.
Defendant's Q- What causes that current? A. The flood below; the
Case flood making up in the lower harbour below the bridge sweeps into
T s Guns ^ kaj on the south side and conies up, flows to the south end of the
Direct. UnS bridge and while the current is still ebbing strong there is an eddy

(Comd.) there, but as the ebb current weakens that flood supersedes the eddy
and works up under the bridge.

Q. And it is deflected from what? A. I beg pardon? 10
Q. How is it deflected? A. It is deflected off shore to the 

northward and eastward.
Q. Now, can you say anything about the current coming 

from Seymour Creek? A. I have observed a strong current 
there and know that it affects the steering of the ship as you are 
approaching the bridge. It will cause a ship to wobble, more or 
less, as you go through that current, but whether it has any par­ 
ticular action upon the position of the ship—I don't think so. But 
it does affect the steering very materially when you want the steer­ 
ing very steady. 20

Q. Has the building of the bridge affected the current you 
have been describing? A. I should say it has, for the simple 
reason that during construction I took the same ships fully loaded 
up through and the channel was narrower in construction days, ow­ 
ing to lighters and other things, but I had no difficulty in the centre 
of the channel, no great difficulty. I had to be careful at low 
water, but no great difficulty. With the same ships today I have 
great difficulty in keeping them clear of pier 2.

Q. And you account for that difficulty in what way? A. I 
beg pardon. 30

Q. How do you account for the difficulty you have today? A. 
Owing to the fairway being made over on the beach instead of in 
the middle of the channel, where it should be.

Q. Do those currents, in your opinion, run stronger now than 
they did before the bridge was built? A. I think some of the 
currents off the south shore are stronger in places, through being 
deflected by construction.

Q. Have you had any experience of surface currents running 
in opposite directions? A. Only what I have noticed in that 
bridge, the current appears to be running down on the last of an 40 
ebb tide with a deep ship, which is affected by other currents than 
what I see, feels something else.

Q. Is it ever possible to estimate beforehand the strength of 
the currents ? A. At the Second Narrows ?

Q. Yes, I am dealing with the Second Narrows only. A. 
To estimate the current at slack water?
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Q. Yes ? A. On high slack, yes, I should say yes, one may RECORD 
expect a comparative slack, but at low slack now, you don't know British Columbia 
what you are going to get. If there has been a strong westerly Mmindtj pist. 
wind in the Gulf it backs the water up in the harbour and affects Defendant's 
the time of the tide in the book, which the Hydrographic office is Case 
not responsible for at all. _ ^T—

Q. What were the currents like in the Narrows before the Direct uns 
fill-in was made on the south shore—of the bridge, at the south end (Contd.) 
of the bridge ? A. You say the currents in the Narrows; do you 

K> mean in the bridge draw?
Q. Yes ? A. I cannot say what difference I have noticed, 

because I have always felt that difficulty there. It may be intensi­ 
fied today, but it is still bad or perhaps worse, but how much worse 
I am not prepared to say. It has been always there, but any filling 
was only intensifying a danger that was already there.

Q. Now, in your opinion, was the bridge an obstruction to 
navigation ? A. I do consider so as it is built today.

Q. You do consider so. Then, in your opinion, is it a menace 
to navigation, do you consider? A. I do.

20 Q. Did you hear the evidence given by Captain Wingate on 
Wednesday? A. I did.

Q. In your opinion, was the navigation carried out by Cap­ 
tain Wingate on the "Eurana" proper navigation? A. As far 
as I can make out. I don't know what else he could have done.

Mr. Smith: Thank you.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY: T. s. Guns
Cross-exam. 

Q. Captain, will you give the dimensions and draught of the
"Norwich City" on the trip you spoke of? A. The draught of 
the "Norwich City" on the 24th of April was 22 feet four inches 

30 forward and 24 feet some inches—I am not quite sure whether it 
is 2 or 4 —aft. The pencil mark is rather obliterated.

Q. And the beam? A. The beam of the "Norwich City" 
would be in the neighbourhood of 55 or 60 feet.

Q. And the length? A. Not less than 400 feet.
Q. And the propellers ? A. The propeller of the '' Norwich 

City"—
Q. One or two ? A. A single-propeller ship.
Q. One propeller? A. One propeller.
Q. And the horse-power of the engines ? A. I don't know. 

40 She is the ordinary tramp, the ordinary nine in a tramp ship; 
what they call nine knots, they very seldom have it.

Q. Have you a note of the tune that you opened up the bridge 
on that trip out ? A. What do you mean by opening it ?

Q. The hour and the minute when you opened up the bridge ? 
A. What do you mean by opening up the bridge?
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RECORD Q. That is a well-known navigation term? A. When I
British Columbia opened the draw?
MmirrtyDist. Q. yes? A. She was almost in line with the draw.
Defendant's Q- The hour and minute ? A Yes, that would be about 3:46
Case p.m.; 15:46.
T s Guns 9' Were you then about 1,500 feet east of the bridge? A.
Cross-exam. ^o, sir- I did n°t °Pen it up at that distance.

(Contd.) Q. How far east were you then? A. Oh, not a thousand 
feet when I had it fairly open.

Q. And your speed at that time was what ? A. It was in- to 
creasing. It may have been anywhere between six and seven 
knots.

Q. Now, tell us what you did in regard to speed? As you 
approached from that point forward to the bridge? A. I kept 
her at the full speed, in the hopes that she would answer her helm.

Q. Full speed ahead? A. Yes.
Q. From that point on ? A. Until I saw it was inevitable 

that she would hit Pier 2, and I don't know whether it was myself 
or the captain, but we were both of the same mind, "Go full speed 
astern." 20

Q. How far east of the bridge did you put the boat at full 
speed ahead ? A. At full speed ahead, something like 2,000 feet 
or a little more, half a mile.

Q. Now, I think you said that it was supposed to be low water 
when you were approaching the bridge, or a little after low? 
A. Yes.

Q. That is what you thought at that time? A. Yes.
Q. Is it true now that your expert opinion is that a navigator 

going out should arrive at the bridge prior to the time indicated 
in the time table as low water, if he is going out at low water? A. 30 
I can only—I can only qualify that answer; if it was extreme 
low water, and a loaded ship, he should not be there at all.

Q. Why; is it dangerous? A. Because it is dangerous, 
owing to the contour of the ground and the nature of the bottom 
and the shallowness for an ordinary tramp steamer fully loaded.

Q. It is dangerous. All right. Then give the other condi­ 
tions now ? A. When the tide would not be so low. That we call 
half tides—

Q. How many feet of a rise ? A. It may be anything from 
four or five feet upwards, according to the draught of your ship. 40 
You must take the two together. If your shop was only half 
loaded, and drawing perhaps 15 to 20 feet, you could take less 
water.

Q. Supposing it were a ship like the "Eurana" at the time 
she met her accident. You know that ship ? A. Yes.

Q. And she was drawing 27 feet.
Mr. Griffin: No, no; 25.
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Mr. Donaghy: Q. Take it 25. Kindly give us the condi­ 
tion ? A. I don't know the stage of the tide that day.

Q. Don't worry about that. You see, I am just giving you 
the boat, you make the tide yourself? A. The "Eurana" draw­ 
ing 25 feet at extreme low water, with my experience with the 
"Norwich City," which is since the "Eurana," I would not be 
there at all. I would not take her through for anything.

Q. You would think it was dangerous? A. I would think 
it was dangerous. On a high tide, I would.

10 Q. Now, a boat like the "Eurana" drawing 25 feet of water 
and going out, tell when you think she should be taken out and 
under what conditions of tide, in order to be reasonably safe ? A. 
From what I know today, it should not go out at low water, if the 
tide is below three feet or four feet

Q. That is not what I am asking you. It is the very reverse. 
Did you hear what I said ? A. Will you please repeat the ques­ 
tion?

Q. I will, with pleasure. Take the "Eurana" drawing 25
feet and going out, what condition of tide would it be reasonably

20 safe to take her out on ? A. It would be reasonably safe to take
her out on a high tide or a low tide that showed six feet at low
water. That is from my experience—

Q. How long—?
Mr. Griffin: Let him finish.
The Witness: That is from my late experience with the 

"Norwich City." Perhaps I would have said different a year or 
two ago. I mean to say, I had that difficulty with the "Norwich 
City" myself.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, are you through? A. I am 
30 through, sir.

Q. How long have you had the knowledge that the time 
tables are erroneous in regard to when the tide turns ? A. At the 
Second Narrows?

Q. Yes? A. Ever since I have been running through the 
bridge.

Q. That is how many years? A. Since the bridge has been
opened.

Q. You are quite satisfied you have had that knowledge all 
those years? A. Yes, I am.

40 Q. In fact, you could not help but have it. Neither could 
any other capable pilot doing the same work as you help but have 
that knowledge? A. No.

Q. Quite so. In addition to the "Norwich City," what other 
craft have you been in the habit of taking through the bascule ? 
A. There is a list of every ship I have taken through the Second 
Narrows, the largest tankers carrying 11,000 tons of oil, to smaller 
craft.
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Q. I just want to get a general idea, you see. Some larger 
than the "Norwich City"? A. Some larger than the "Norwich 
City."

Q. And carrying or having deeper draught? A. Having 
deeper draught anyhow.

Q. Outbound? A. I don't know whether I have had any­ 
thing outbound. It has been only lumber ships or—

Q. Was it mostly oil tankers within the last few years? A. 
It has been mostly oil tankers going through. I have taken my 
share.

Q. And the others would be tramp steamers carrying loads 
from the port ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And coming in light? A. Yes, sir.
Mr. Griffin: Before my learned friend goes on, will my 

learned friend put that book in ?
Mr. Donaghy: No. If I wanted to put it in, I would put it 

in. My learned friend may wish to put it in. I think it only en­ 
cumbers the record.

The Court: Why put it in?
Mr. Griffin: He asked—
The Court: He did not ask for the list. The witness said, 

"I have the list here," and offered it to learned counsel.
Mr. Griffin: Learned counsel took it. Are they not bound, 

then?
The Court: That is not quite the position. He has asked him 

nothing upon it. The witness simply handed it to him. Of course 
he has not used it yet. The minute he uses it, it is in. The witness 
said, "There is a list of all the vessels," and that covers 127 ships.

The Witness: 147 ships.
The Court: You offered that to counsel and he makes no 

use of it.
Mr. Donaghy: I have no objection to my learned friend put­ 

ting it in in reply, but I am not doing it, because it only encumbers 
the record.

The Court: I am only ruling on this point, that it is not in 
on cross-examination.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. During all those years you have been 
navigating this bridge, how many accidents have you had in con­ 
nection with the bridge? A. I have never had an accident at all. 
I have had two experiences, though.

Q. I am not asking you for that. You are a very willing 
witness. You heard what I asked you? A. How many accidents?

Q. And you said you had none at all, except for the one you 
told us of ? A.. That is all.

Q. That is all I have asked you. Do you base the statement 
that you made a while ago, namely, the statement that the bridge 
is a menace to navigation, upon the knowledge gained by your ex-

10

20

30
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perience as you have related it here in court today ? A. And my RECORD 
other experience. That was my other experience. ' British Columbia

Q. We will deal with it. You base it partly upon your ex- Mm'raity Dilt- 
perience in navigating the bridge ? A. Yes. Defendant's

Q. And what is the other experience that would have any Case 
bearing on the subject. A. Many near-accidents. I have only just T c ~~

• A • o.i i • j_ • o. vr
Shaved it. Cross-exam.

Q. That is your experience in navigating the bridge? A. (Contd.) 
Yes.

10 Q. Now, I am asking if you base it upon any other experi­ 
ence than navigating the bridge, this opinion that you gave; I 
would not suppose that you did, but if you did, it is all right to 
say it. A. No, I would not.

Q. Are you prepared to say that the fill at the south end of 
the bridge has had any appreciable affect at all upon diverting 
the current towards the northeast? A. I am not prepared to 
say anything about that fill, because it has always been so bad I 
have always had my ships in such a position, expecting that set, 
that whether that fill was there or not, I would be prepared for it. 

20 The fill would only intensify what is already bad.
Q. Are you prepared to say it does ? A. I am prepared to 

say it does.
Q. Do you know how deep the fill stands at its north end in 

the water at low tide? A. I know nothing about it, but I am 
satisfied that the least fill at all would do damage.

Q. Assuming that it stood two feet in the water at low tide, 
would it affect the flood? A. It would. It would be two feet 
too much.

Q. You don't mean to say, as a navigator, that would affect 
30 the current so you could appreciate it, and that is what I am speak­ 

ing of, as you know ? A. Had it been slack, always slack, prev­ 
ious to the fill, it would be easy to answer. Because there was al­ 
ways this bad set there, it is impossible to answer the question how 
much worse it has made it.

Q. To your own knowledge, you cannot say that it has made 
it any worse, that you have observed, particularly at low tide ? A. 
I would not say that. It is bad and it is so bad I cannot answer 
that.

Q. You mean it is so bad without the fill ? A. It is so bad 
40 without the fill.

Q. Now, having in mind that at low tide the current, the 
tide is running out on the north shore longer than it is running out 
on the south shore, do you say that under those conditions Sey­ 
mour Creek has any effect upon the navigation of a vessel going 
out through the bridge ? A. Seymour Creek has this effect upon 
all vessels going through.

Q. At that stage of the tide ? A. At any stage of the tide.
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Q. I am not dealing with any stage, but with one stage at 
a time. You will listen to the stage. At low tide, which, accord­ 
ing to the witness, continues to run out on the north shore, after 
it has turned and is flooding on the south shore, now, with the tides 
in that condition, running out on the north shore, and running in 
on the south shore, do you say at that particular time Seymour 
Creek had any effect upon the navigation of a vessel that is going 
out through the bridge ? A. I do.

Q. What ? A. Because the current from Seymour Creek is 
deflected more or less across the channel and it affects the steering 10 
of the ship. The ship starts wiggling before she gets to the bridge. 
We always had that before there was a bridge. We had to con­ 
sider Seymour Creek.

Q. You mean to say Seymour Creek reached the channel you 
were navigating in before the bridge was built 1 A. I do.

Q. How much more north of the present channel was that 
one, and how much closer to Seymour Creek now ? A. The main 
channel is no more closer to Seymour Creek now than it was then.

Q. I did not ask you that. I asked you about navigating the 
channel, which you understood very clearly? A. Which channel ? 20

Q. The channel which you line up with to get through the 
bascule span? A. A vessel going through the bascule span is 
further away.

Q. Now? A. Yes.
Q. Since the bridge was built? A. Since the bridge was 

built.
Q. Then your experience of the effect of Seymour Creek 

before the bridge was built and when you ran in the channel closer 
to her are not what is guiding your opinion now ? A. It is prac­ 
tically the same. The stream from Seymour Creek, running across 
the channel, causes a ship to swerve one way or another, first on 
her bow and then on her stern.

Q. What you mean to say is, the effect of the Seymour is to 
penetrate across the arm of the sea sufficiently south to hit a ship 
that is heading for the bridge? A. Yes.

Q. That is what you mean to say? A. Yes.
Q. Then you see where that leads. You have two conflicting 

forces, a tide north-easterly off the south shore and a current com­ 
ing southerly from the north shore, is that the condition you want 
us to understand you navigate in at the present day? A. Yes, 40 
but they are two very different conditions. The current from the 
south shore is solid salt water, a huge quantity of it; we don't 
know how much. The current from Seymour Creek is a little 
superficial fresh water on the top of the channel, which just causes 
a ship to wobble a little, but may not affect the body of the ship 
at all.

30
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Q. It is really a matter you are not much concerned with ? RECORD
A- No. British Columbia

Q. Well, let us forget it. A, No, we must have it in con- Mmiraityjiist.
sideration. If there is a lot of rain, I am going to consider Sey- Defendant's
mour Creek affecting my steering very much. Case

Q. Then we had better not forget it 1? A. We had better _ c --
not forget it. Cross

Q. Then it is a matter of some concern after all? A. In (Contd.) 
some circumstances.

10 Q. You would have to withdraw the remark you made a little 
while ago, tighten up a little on it. It is muddy water, is it not, 
when Seymour Creek is flooding that you observe coming into the 
seal A. More or less; but the whole North Arm is so muddy 
you cannot distinguish it much.

Q. You cannot distinguish it? A. No.
Q. I thought perhaps you could. The lady who was here this

morning can tell it by muddy colour ? A. Perhaps at a height on
the land where she lives. Looking from an airplane, you might
see the colour much more definitely than if only a few feet above

20 it.
Q. However, you say it has a superficial surface effect ? A. 

Yes.
Q. That, perhaps, describes it, a superficial surface effect, 

and would be taken up considerably by the ebbing tide, I take it. 
Would that not be correct? A. In the middle of the ebb, yes, 
when the ships are not using the bridge it would, but at slack water 
it would not.

Q. Well, that would depend ; there is slack water on the south
shore. I have got you definitely there, you know. It is slack water

30 on the south shore which you are speaking of and the ship is navi­
gating in. And another witness tells us that is an ebb tide on the
north shore? A. Yes.

Q. So that is not slack water. That is the point I am making. 
You see the point. Slack water on the ship that is navigating the 
bascule. It is in conjunction with an ebb tide on the north shore, 
according to the evidence we have here, and that would have the 
effect of counteracting considerably the superficial current of the 
Seymour, would it not? A. Yes.

Q. No question about it, and at any rate the current of the 
4o Seymour is really not noticeable during the summer time? A. 

No, not in dry weather.
Q. It is only in freshet times ? A. Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Will your lordship take one more witness to­ 

night?
The Court : If you have a short witness.
Mr. Griffin : He is a captain of one of the oil tankers.
The Court: Q. Well, pardon me, witness. Just one ques-
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RECORD tion. I want to see if I have you correctly. You spoke of taking 
British Columbia a vessel out drawing 25 feet, and it would be reasonably safe to take 
Admiraity^pist. her out at high tide, or on a tide that showed how many feet at low 

water? A. Not less than six.
The Court: I have got that; thank you.
Mr. Smith: Q. When did you form the conclusion it was 

not safe to take a loaded ship out with the tide at low water slack? 
A. After my experience with the "Norwich City."

Q. That was subsequent to the'' Eurana'' collision ? A. Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: That is something new. 10
Mr. Smith: No, you brought it out.
Mr. Donaghy: May I examine upon that, if not strictly with­ 

in my rights.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Was your experience with the "Norwich 

City", outside of what actually happened, you see, such as to in­ 
dicate that different conditions existed on that trip of the "Nor­ 
wich City" than what you had ever found in the previous years 
you have navigated this bridge ? A. For a very peculiar reason. 
It was the first time I had ever come to the bridge at such a low 20 
tide. My experience—

The Court: Now, just speak a little plainer.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. You had better repeat that answer? A. 

For a peculiar reason, that it was my first experience going out 
with a loaded ship at such a low tide.

Q. Have you any doubt whatever that if you had previously 
come out with a ship loaded like that was, at the same state of the 
low tide, that you would have found the same difficulty. Have you 
any doubt you would have found it? A. No doubt at all. I 
would not have come with the "Norwich City' if I had had that 30 
experience previously.

Q. Have you any doubt that any capable pilot who had pre­ 
viously come out with a loaded ship like the "Norwich City," or 
even more loaded, at a similar state of the tide, would have found 
out the danger, if he had been a capable navigator ? A. I cannot 
tell what another man would find out.

Q. If he had been a capable navigator, I said? A. Would 
he have found that same experience ?

Q. If he had been a capable navigator, like you were? 
A. Yes. 40

Mr. Donaghy: All right.
(Witness aside)

JAMES BROWN, a witness called on behalf of the Defendant, 
being first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH: 
Q. Captain, you live in Vancouver? A. I do.

J. Brown 
Direct.
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Q. And you are a master mariner? A. I am.
Q. And briefly what sea experience have you had? A. I 

went to sea first in 1913 and with the exception of the period of the 
war I followed the sea ever since.

Q. And you are now in command of the steamer what ? A. 
The "Ontario Light." Pardon me, I am on my vacation at the 
present time. I just left that command.

Q. You are now on vacation ? A. Yes.
Q. What trade were you on in the "Ontario Light' A. I 

10 was trading up to loco.
Q. That is through the Second Narrows ? A. Through the 

Second Narrows.
Q. Under the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. Did you pass east with loaded vessels? A. Pass east,

RECORD

yes.

20

oil.

Q. Loaded? A. Sure.
Q. What does the '' Ontario Light' carry? A. Oil, crude

Q. To loco? A. Yes.
Q. You would pass loaded— A. And I have also passed 

loaded too when I was in the "Mina Brae;" that was my previous 
command.

Q. You have passed west with a loaded vessel ? A. Yes, I 
have passed both east and west.

Q. How many times have you passed through the Second 
Narrows since the bridge was built? A. Since the bridge was 
built—let me see—at least twenty times.

Q. Of those times how many times were on loaded vessels? 
A. Well, every time, you would say—half of that, you would say. 

30 Q. Half of that would be with loaded ships ? A. Yes.
Q. What would they be drawing? A. The "Mina Brae" 

would be drawing about twenty-five feet and the "Ontario Light" 
her deepest draft would be about twenty-eight feet.

Q. You were on the "Mina Brae," were you, before you 
joined the "Ontario Light?" A. Yes.

Q. What position is the bascule span of the bridge with re­ 
ference to the fairway through the Narrows ? A. Well, I don't 
consider it is in the fairway at all. The proper fairway for deep 
loaded ships has been closed up. I traded through the Narrows 

40 before the bridge was built. I always had control of my vessel 
and on the 22nd of April, 1925, there was a 300 foot span of navi­ 
gable channel and I had to go through that bascule span.

Q. You will have to speak a little more slowly so we may 
understand you? A. Well, on the 22nd of April, 1925, I came 
into Vancouver with the "Mina Brae" and I found that the middle 
span had a 300 foot bridge across it.

Q. You found the ordinary fairway up the channel was clos­ 
ed? A. Was closed.
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Q. By the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. And there was a fixed span built over the fairway? A. 

Yes, exactly, and I had to go through the bascule span to the south 
of it.

Q. And you say that the bascule span is not in the fairway ? 
A. It certainly is not in the fairway for deep sea ships.

Q. Is it in a proper position or improper? A. An abso­ 
lutely improper position.

Mr. Burns: I think this witness evidently is going to take 
some time. He said he was on vacation. I understood he wanted 10 
to get back to his ship.

Mr. Smith: I can be through with this witness, my lord, in 
seven minutes from now.

Mr. Donaghy: We cannot.
The Court: Do you think you can finish in twenty-five *? It 

all depends, you know. We will get on and see how long you take.
Mr. Smith: Q. What conditions do you find at the bridge 

at slack water, at low water slack with reference to the tides and 
the currents that may run there? A. Before the bridge was 
there there certainly was a condition of slack water, but my ex- 20 
perience is there is no such thing as slack water since that bascule 
bridge has been there.

Q. Speak slowly? A. I cannot say I have ever found slack 
water at that place.

Q. Well, say you were coming down with a loaded ship 
going west? A. Going west?

Q. At low water slack, what current would you experience ? 
A. Low water slack?

Q. Yes? A. Well, coming down at low water slack I would 
come to Berry Point; I have found that from the span at Berry 30 
Point, I have always found a northeasterly current at low water 
slack. That is the result of the flood tide coming in on the south 
shore. That is the conclusion I have come to.

Q. As you approach the bridge what dp you find ? A. It is 
an even more forcible set right across the bridge span there.

Q. That would be in what direction? A. At the bridge 
span there, at low water; you find a very strong force setting a- 
cross the narrows there.

Q. What compass directions? A. It would be northeaster­ 
ly. 40

Q. What effect has the shoal upon the south shore just to 
the east of the bridge? A. That is very bad. That is the reason 
I do not consider that a navigable channel. No seaman would at­ 
tempt to take a ship close to a shoal spot like that who has had 
any experience with handling a deep-sea ship. I5

Q. Is it necessary to take a ship close to that shoal in order 
to get through the bascule span ? A. Yes, you have got to. There 
is no option.
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Q. Now, you have had considerable experience taking ships 
through the draw ? A. I should think I have.

Q. Have you had any accidents or near accidents ? A. Well, 
I have had quite a few thrills and I have a few what I call serious 
accidents.

Q. Would you describe them ? A. Yes, on the 9th of Jan­ 
uary, 1926,1 was in the "Mina Brae." I was coming in. It was 
high water slack at 10 p.m. and approaching the bridge I signalled 
for the bridge to open. The bridge opened; it was misty weather 

10 or hazy.
Mr. Griffin: I cannot hear a word.
The Court: You speak very indistinctly, witness, and then 

you speak in addition to that very quickly and between the two 
it is difficult to understand.

The Witness: I will speak slower, my lord.
The Court: There is difficulty in following you.
The Witness: Well, I approached the bridge on January— 

have you got that date?
Mr. Smith: Never mind. A. I gave the signal for the 

20 bridge to open and the bridge opened almost immediately and the 
ship was going half speed and as I got near the bridge we noticed, 
well, within about half a mile a red light was against us. Then 
we had a ship coming on the other side, so I ran the ship ashore 
to the southward to avoid a collision with this ship. At the same 
tune there was a gas boat taking a tow through the centre span. 
That was my first accident there.

Q. Now, what was the next accident you had? A. On the 
25th of February, 1926,1 came in—

Q. Is that the same ship? A. The "Mina Brae." I came 
30 into Vancouver Harbour at 11:30 p.m. at night and I proceeded to­ 

wards the bridge and gave the signal for the bridge to open, but 
there was a delay in opening the bridge of about twelve minutes. 
As a result, I had to stop my engine and the ship lost steerage way. 
I was headed towards the south shore. I was headed towards the 
south shore into the bay there. When the bridge commenced to 
open I gave her slow ahead and I headed her up the bridge and 
got her in position and then I found that she kept going towards 
the north span of the bridge, the bascule span, so I put the helm 
hard aport to get her centred for the draw, but it had no effect 

40 upon her, so I just kept gradually going towards the north but­ 
tress, so I saw then the position I was in, getting so close to the 
bridge; it was impossible to get through the draw, so I let go my 
anchors, rang full speed astern on my engines and the ship canted 
all right. She canted square for the draw and then an eddy caught 
her with quite a force and the anchors dragged. I immediately 
rang the engines full speed ahead again and my helm was still hard 
aport. I could see that the stern of the ship was not going to foul
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the north buttress, so I thought I had better make the helm hard 
Columbia starboard and her stern missed the north buttress of the bascule 

Admiralty Dist. Span and her stern passed under the draw and we came up against 
the south buttress of the bascule span and the main mast fractured 
and I also received indents to the shell plates.

Q. Well, now, Captain, I will repeat that. I will interpret 
that for you and see if I have it right. This was the second acci­ 
dent you had with the '' Mina Brae ? " A. Yes.

Q. You said that the delay in opening the bridge caused 
your ship to lose her steerage way? A. Yes. 10

Q. Then you said there was a failure to open for some time 
after you had given the signal ? A. Yes.

Q. And it was low water slack and what were you drawing 
at the time? A. Twenty-five feet.

Q. The ship lost steerage way ? A. Yes.
Q. And you were thrown against the south pier ? A. Yes.
Q. Did you hit the north pier first ? A. No, I cleared the 

north pier.
Q. You had been trying to clear the north pier and your 

stern swung around and you struck the south pier? A. Yes. 20
Q. And you did damage to the plates of the ship ? A. Yes.
Q. Had you any other accidents or near accidents. Before 

leaving that second accident, by the way, what caused it? A. 
Well, the undercurrent. There was quite a flow of water and the 
ship would not answer her helm. It is a fine steering ship, and 
I was not going to take my vessel through full ahead. I knew from 
my knowledge of the ship if she did not answer half ahead—

Q. You are going too quickly. Try to keep yourself in hand. 
The trouble was caused by the undercurrent ? A. Yes.

Q. This undercurent was carrying from where? A. From 
the south shore.

Q. From the south shore? A. Yes.
Q. Was it striking against anything? A. No. Well it 

must have been on the ship. It was carrying the ship along with 
it.

Q. It was carrying the ship in a northerly direction? A: 
Yes, she passed you know the centre of the draw and kept east­ 
ward gradually pointing to the north buttress.

Q. Was that current you referred to the first of the flood 
tide? A. Yes. 40

Q. That is what it was? A, Yes.
Mr. Burns: You had better ask him what the stage of the 

tide was.
The Witness: Low water slack.
Mr. Smith: Q. What other accidents have you had? A. I 

have had many narrow escapes. On the 27th of February I wit­ 
nessed an accident to the bridge.

30
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Q. Well, you have not had any other major accidents to your RECORD
Ship? A. NO. British ColHm

Q. You have had many near accidents ? A. Exactly. Admiralty
Q. Do you know the fill in at the south end of the bridge? Defendant's 

A. Yes.
Q. What effect has that fill in on the tide? A. It deflects 

it across the bridge in a northeasterly direction.
Q. Take the flood tide, what effect has it upon the flood tide ? 

A. The flood tide coming up strikes that fill and shoots it across 
10 the bridge, the bridge opening.

Q. When you were proceeding east on a loaded ship what 
experience have you had of the manner of steering your ship ? A. 
I have often found after I get the ship through the bridge I have 
to put my engines full ahead, and I have had to put my helm hard 
aport to keep her from sheering over to the north shore and I have 
seen it as far as Berry Point.

Q. What causes it ? A. An undercurrent northeast.
Q. Being deflected from the fill in ? A. Exactly, yes.
Q. Have you experience of the same set going westerly ? A. 

20 Yes, I have experienced the same set, yes.
Q. In your opinion is the bridge an obstruction to naviga­ 

tion ? A. Yes, I have always been of that opinion.
Q. Is it a menace to navigation ? A. Absolutely a menace.
The Court: Would you like to adjourn?
Mr. Burns: I would like to take this witness over these acci­ 

dents. I think it will take some time.
The Court: I think perhaps, then, we had better adjourn. 

It will take too long. Adjourn then until Monday, a quarter after 
ten.

30 (COURT ADJOURNED AT 4:40 P.M. UNTIL 10:15 A.M. 
OCTOBER 1,1928.)

October 1,1928. 
10:30 a.m.

(COURT RESUMED pursuant to adjournment). 
MERVYN S. BRYAN, Sworn as Stenographer. 
JAMES BROWN, Resumes the Stand.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS: (Cont'd.)
Q. Now, Captain, you were on the "Mina Brae," Captain of 

the '' Mina Brae ? " A. I was, yes.
40 Q. For some tune? How long? A From April, 1924, un­ 

til June, 1926, and from October, 1926, until November, 1927.
Q. And then you changed and you are now with the "On- 

tariolite?" A. Yes.

J. Brown 
Cross-exam.
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A. 460 feet.

'Ontario." It

Q. How long is it? A. 460 feet.
The other is 360 feet, the "Mina Brae".

A. 63 feet.

Q. Beam? A.
Q. How big a ship is the "Ontariolite"? 

I have photos if you wish to see them.
The Court: What is the name ?
Mr. Burns: "Ontariolite". "Lite" follows 

is a peculiar combination.
The Court: Yes, a strange compound word. I was not sure 

that I had it. 10
Mr. Burns
The Court 

exactly, yes.
Q. Yes, the beam is what ?
Mr. Burns: 63 feet.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Burns: Q. Now, have you—did you go up through the 

Narrows before the bridge was there, on the "Mina Brae?" A. 
While the bridge was being built I went.

Q. But not before? A. No, I went through on another 20 
ship.

Q. I am talking about the "Mina Brae" now? A. Yes.
Q. Did you go through the Second Narrows on any other 

ship before the bridge was there ? A. Yes.
Q. What ship? A. The S. S. "Albertalite."
Q. That is '' Lite'' added to '' Alberta'', the name of the Pro­ 

vince ? A. Exactly.
Q. How many times ? A. Ten.
Q. What was that? A. Ten.

Previous to the bridge there ? A. Yes. 30 
That is ten trips? A. Ten trips; that would be five

Q. 
Q.

trips.
Q. 
Q.

A. She would be 400 feet in 
beam, slightly smaller than the

Any other ships ? A. Not before the bridge was there. 
What is the size of the "Albertalite"? A. I can only 

give it approximately now.
Q. Well, approximately? 

length, and I suppose 63 foot 
"Ontariolite."

Q. Are they the only ships that you have taken up there? 
A. No, I have taken the "Imperial" up there.

Q. When was that ? A. After the bridge was built.
Q. The only one before was the "Ontariolite"? A. Yes, I 

was not the master, I was Chief Officer.
Q. I was going to ask you that. You were Chief Officer?

A. Yes.
Q. You have not taken a ship up there as Master previous 

to the bridge being built? A. No.
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Q. You were Master when the ship went up, that you went 
up on, during the construction, or were you Chief Officer ? A. I 
was master of the "Mina Brae."

Q. Of the "Mina Brae"? A. Exactly.
Q. So you only went up once during construction? A. 

Once during construction.
Q. Yes? A. No, I went up many times during construc­ 

tion.
Q. On the "Mina Brae"? A. On the "Mina Brae." 

10 Q- Now, on the 9th of January, 1926, you spoke of having 
this difficulty at the bridge ? A. Yes.

Q. With the "Mina Brae"? A. No.
Q. What is that? A. Yes, with the "Mina Brae."
Q. The 9th of January, 1926? A. Yes.
Q. Were you in charge of the "Mina Brae"? A. Yes.
Q. There was not a pilot aboard, you were handling the ship 

yourself? A. With the pilot's assistance.
Q. There was a pilot aboard? A. Yes.
Q. And you signalled for the bridge, did you ? A. Exactly, 

20 yes.
Q. Before you signalled for the bridge—how did you signal ? 

A. Gave the usual three blasts.
Q. Before you gave those three blasts, had you heard any 

other signalling or blasts? A. No.
Q. How far were you from the bridge when you gave the 

signal? A. We would be about half a mile.
Q. And then you kept on ? A. Yes.
The Court: Q. Coming out to the west, I suppose ? A. No, 

going from the west to the east.
30 Mr. Burns: Q. Going from the harbour through the Second 

Narrows ? A. Yes.
Q. How was the visibility? A. Above the bridge only one 

mile. When we came through the Narrows it was quite foggy.
Q. You mean the First Narrows? A. Yes, the First Nar­ 

rows it was quite foggy there, and when the fog cleared away we 
could see six miles astern, but above the bridge we could only see 
one mile.

Q. You were about a mile from the bridge, and you gave 
the signal and you could see one mile east of the bridge from there ? 

40 A. Yes, no more.
Q. That is about two miles ? A. Yes.
Q. This would be about 1:10 p.m. ? A. Yes.
Q. High water slack? A. Yes.
Q. Did you get any signal from the bridge in answer to your 

signal? A. Yes, we saw a red light.
Q. What does that mean ? A. That means that your signal 

has been received.
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Q. That your signal has been received? A. Yes.
Q. Then you saw the bascule open? A. Yes, almost im­ 

mediately.
Q. Were you not surprised at how quick that leaf went up? 

A. Yes, it was most unusual.
Q. It went up most unusually quick, so far as the relation 

to your signal was concerned? A. Yes.
Q. Very quick? A. Yes.
Q. Then did you get any further signal from the bridge? 

A. No, no further signal.
Q. You could see the red light, the accepting light in the 

first place? A. Yes.
He said 1:10 p.m. Does he mean p.m. or a.m. ?
Day time.
The hoister displays the red light in the day

10

The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 
The Court: 

time as well? 
Mr. Burns: Yes.
Q. They use the red and green lights during the daytime as 

well on the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. You got the answering red light ? A. Yes.
Q. And kept on? A. Yes. 20
Q. Did you get any other light? A. No.
Q. You saw the leaf go up and the bridge opening, did you ? 

A. Yes.
Q. Why didn't you pay attention to the proposition of get­ 

ting another signal from the bridge? A. I certainly did pay at­ 
tention. They should have kept flickering the light off and on to 
inform me to keep away from the bridge, which was never done.

Q. Did you see a green light after the red? A. No, I saw 
no green light.

Q. And a green light is necessary before you can go on, isn't 30 
it, after you get the red accepting light ? A. Yes.

Q. He says "Your signal is received," that is what the red 
light means? A. Yes.

Q. Then you wait for the green light before going through ? 
A. There is no such thing as waiting, you couldn't wait there.

Q. The green light, the second signal from the bridge, is to 
show you that everything is in order and to make your passage ? 
A. Yes.

Q. If you don't see the green light there is something wrong ? 
A. How long are they going to take before the changing of the 40 
lights.

Q. Never mind that. There is something wrong if you do 
not see the green light? A. Not necessarily.

Q. The man must be asleep on the bascule, because he was 
not giving a light that you would expect to see ? A. That is quite 
probable.
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Q. You did not see any green light and you kept on. Now 
do you say that the red light was not flashed to prevent you coming 
on? A. Exactly.

Q. You have said that? A. Yes.
Q. Beyond any question ? A. Yes.
Q. When you got the red light was it just steady? A. 

Steady, yes.
Q. And kept steady? A. Kept steady.
Q. No flickering or flashing? A. No flashing, going out 

10 and on.
Q. I suppose the leaf was up when you were how far away 

from the bridge ? A. I should say about six tenths of a mile, six 
cables.

Q. You gave a signal about ten cables or a mile away? A. 
Yes.

Q. And the leaf was up when you were about six tenths of 
a mile away, or would you be seven tenths? A. No, I said six 
tenths.

Q. Or five tenths ? A. No, I said six cables.
20 Q. I am putting this to you, Captain, on the statement from 

me that evidence will be given with reference to it that a series of 
flashes on the red signal lamp were given, continuing two minutes 
against your boat which you did not acknowledge and still came on 
and after a short pause again continued flashing the red signal 
lamp and the boat still continued to approach. You say that did 
not occur? A. Positively.

Q. There is no question about it ? A. There is no question. 
It is impossible for a man from that stand to see that light as to 
whether it is flashing or not.

30 Q. What is that? A. I don't see how a man on the span 
could see the light, from where we were.

Q. What do you mean? A. He could not see the way the 
light was flashing to us. It is impossible for a man to see whether 
it is flashing or not up on top of that bascule.

Q. He would not know whether the light was flashing or not ? 
A. He has no guarantee that we are seeing the light.

Q. That has no bearing on it, Captain ? A. He might have 
been pressing a button, but he does not know whether that light 
is showing to me, or not. 

40 Q. Therefore you think that he is mistaken ? A. Exactly.
Q. At any rate, so far as you are concerned, it was not flash­ 

ing. All you got was a steady red signal? A. Yes.
Q. Then you got up and you found out what the trouble was. 

The bridge had opened for a ship coming west on a bit of a flood 
tide. The tide was with the ship coming west? A. Yes, I had 
the tide coming with me.

RECORD
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Case

J. Brown 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)
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Q. High water slack, just running out a bit? A. No, it 
was not. The flood was with me, the last of the flood.

Q. There again, if it is stated it was running out, that is a 
mistake so far as you are concerned? A. Certainly, from where 
I was, yes.

Q. At any rate, there was a ship coming out, the "Harold 
Shang". You know the ship ? A. Yes.

Q. The bridge opened for her, and you were being flashed 
away. That is the evidence that is going to be given ? A. Yes.

Q. That is all wrong so far as you are concerned ? A. Yes. 10
Q. And then when you saw this boat coming through you 

beached your boat. That is the only thing you could do, I suppose, 
then ? A. Yes.

Q. What distance was the "Harold Shang" from the bridge 
when you first saw her ? A. She could not have been any more 
than a mile above the bridge.

Q. When you first saw her? A. Yes, that is the furthest 
distance it could have been.

Q. You must have been a mile below the bridge ? A. Less 
than a mile. 20

Q. How much less? A. When I heard her whistle I would 
be about four tenths of a mile away.

Q. Four tenths of a mile? A. Yes.
Q. And you could see her a mile above the bridge 1 A. No, 

I said I heard her whistle. I heard her whistle first and I took 
action then. When I did see her masts she would be a mile away.

Q. Now on the 25th of February, 1926, you gave another in­ 
stance of difficulties with the bridge on the "Mina Brae"? A. 
Yes.

Q. Were you in charge? A. The same ship, yes. 30
The Court: Yes, this is—
Mr. Burns: 1926, the 25th of February, 1926.
Q. That was about 11:30 p.m. at night ? A. Exactly.
Q. You were going east, that is, you were going up the nar­ 

rows ? A. Yes.
The Court: What ship is this ?
Mr. Burns: The "Mina Brae", the same ship, my lord.
Q. When did you signal, that time, for the bridge. Where 

were you ? I am given to understand you were just past the eleva­ 
tor dock. Would that be about right ? A. Will you repeat that 40 
question, please.

Q. Where was your ship when you signalled for the bridge 
on this occasion ? A. About at the Terminal Dock.

Q. Just about abeam the Terminal Dock? A. Yes.
Q. Can you show me on this map about where you were, 

Exhibits? A. Have you an admiralty chart. I prefer an Ad­ 
miralty Chart.
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The Registrar: Exhibit 7 is the Admiralty Chart. RECORD 
Mr. Burns: Q. Come to a point where you think you were 

and give it in evidence. You can give it to me approximately any- Mmir«ity 
way? A. Not more than a mile. That would be about there Defendant's 
where I would be.

Q. Will you make a mark there, on Exhibit 7? A. Yes. 
(Indicates).

Mark it "B," a black "B." 
Mark it "B," my lord? 
Yes.
Q. Now, where is the Terminal Dock from 

Terminal Dock is here somewhere?

The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 

there? A. The

Case

J. Brown 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)

Q. Ashore from there ? A. Yes.
Q. That is about a mile from the bridge 1 A. Yes.
Q. You gave the signal ? A. Yes.
Q. And what did you get back? A. Got the red light.
Q. And then, did you get anything else? A. No.
Q. Didn't you get the green light? A. No, I signalled a- 

gain for the bridge. I signalled twice.
Q. Where were you when you signalled the second time ? A. 

We should be, the second time probably we had gone half a mile 
further on and we signalled again.

Q. Half a mile further on you signalled again? A. Yes.
Q. Did you get any signal from the bridge? A. The red 

light was showing and cars were running over the bridge.
Q. Did you get any green light at all? A. No, no green 

light at all.
Q. No answering signal except the red light from the bridge ? 

A. Yes.
Q. Was there any movement to open the span ? A. No, my 

engines were stopped.
Q. There wasn't an attempt to open the bridge at all? A. 

No, no attempt.
Q. So, you could not go through. What did you do, go 

ashore ? A. No, I did not.
The Court: Speak up, you drop your voice.
Mr. Burns: Q. What did you do ? A. I kept drifting up 

towards the bridge.
Q. What happened? A. After the second signal the bridge 

commenced to open.
Q. And you say you were about half a mile from the bridge 

at that time, were you? A. Yes.
Q. And did the bridge completely open? A. Yes, contin­ 

ued to open.
Q. Did it become completely open? A. Yes.
Q. How near were you to the bridge when it opened com­ 

pletely ? A. I should say about four tenths of a mile.
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_ Q. On looking back at that instance, Captain, would you 
British Columbia agree that you were pretty close to the south shore and were mak­ 

ing that passage closer to the south than ordinarily? A. Not 
necessarily, no.

Q. Would you agree to that? A. No.
Q. If anything, you were pretty close to the south as com­ 

pared with your ordinary— A. Not at all.
Q. Exactly the same, was it? A. Exactly the same.
Q. Then of course you would say it was absolutely a mistake 

—any evidence to the effect that the bridge was completely open 10 
when you were a mile away? A. Exactly, that is a mistake.

Q. That could not be ? A. No, that could not be.
Q. When was it you gave up the command of the "Mina 

Brae" ? A. November, 1927.
Q. She has gone through that bridge a lot of times since 

then? A. Exactly.
Q. Without any difficulty at all ? A. No, not without diffi­ 

culty.
Q. Has there been any accident or difficulties? A. Fortun­ 

ately no accidents but plenty of difficulty. 20
Mr. Griffin: I cannot hear you, Captain.
Mr. Smith: I cannot.
Mr. Griffin: You might as well be in the next room for all 

I can hear. A. The "Mina Brae" has gone through many 
times with difficulty, but fortunately there were no accidents.

Mr. Burns: Q. Now you say the result of the bridge being 
put across the Second Narrows has brought about a condition 
where there is absolutely no slack water left? A. That is my 
contention.

Q. That is, before the bridge there was slack water at various 30 
times in the Second Narrows, but now that the bridge is there 
there is no such thing as slack water? A. Yes.

Q. Ever since ? A. That is my contention.
Q. That is your statement. It is facts that we want from 

you? A. Yes, that is my experience at the draw, that there is 
no slack water.

Q. When you use the word'' contention'', is that because you 
have the contentions of different people, because of these difficul­ 
ties and accidents ? A. Not at all. It is my own experience going 
through. *°

Q. You have come to the conclusion that there is no slack 
water there at all. It is all gone ? A. Yes.

Q. And you also have stated in the box here that the bridge 
is right across the fairway, that there is no fairway there now? 
A. No fairway for deep sea vessels.

Q. That is to say, the ordinary fairway that existed before 
the bridge for deepsea vessels does not exist any more. It is clos­ 
ed up with the fixed span? A. Exactly, yes.
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Q. Those two statements, you have nothing to discount about RECORD
them? A. No. British Columbia

Q. The fairway is gone, and all slack water is gone as a re- Atfmiraity Diit- 
suit of the bridge ? A. Exactly, yes. Defendant's

Q. Before there was a bridge, do you know from your ex- Case 
perience, did they go at all stages of the tide up the Second Nar- T Br ~^~ 
rows? A. Yes, the ships I was on. We went through at any cross°aam. 
time before the bridge was there. (Contd.)

Q. I am asking the stages of the tide? A. Yes, any stage 
10 of the tide.

Q. Any stage of the tide? A. Yes, while the bridge was 
being built I took the "Mina Brae" through practically any stage 
of the tide.

Q. Leaving out the question of when the bridge was being 
built, before the bridge was built, deepsea vessels would go up 
there at any stage of the tide, that is so ? A. From my experi­ 
ence, yes.

Q. I know, I am trying to test your experience a little bit. 
There is going to be some unpleasant evidence with reference to 

20 these statements you are making now. At all stages, deepsea ves­ 
sels, from your experience, could use the Second Narrows, up and 
down? A. I know from the ships I went through. I don't know 
any other ships.

Q. You went through all stages of the tide? A. Yes.
Q. Another statement, as to this undercurrent—you say that 

the undercurrent exists as far as Berry Point. In the first place, 
when does it exist? A. I have experienced that current on the 
ebb tide when it is supposed to be low water slack by the table, I 
have experienced that current.

30 Q. As far up as Berry Point? A. I have experienced it 
there.

Q. From the bridge to Berry Point? A. Exactly, yes.
Q. And where would it be ebbing when you experienced this 

current ? A. Generally it ebbs on the north side.
Q. It would be ebbing on the north side ? A. That is what 

happened at low water.
Q. Ebbing on the north side and a current on the south side ? 

A. Yes.
Q. Would that give a surface current, or an undercurrent, 

40 or a whole current ? A. I should say it is a whole current under­ 
neath.

Q. What is there on top, any evidence of the current on top ? 
A. Yes, you always find eddies around there at low water.

Q. Do I understand you right when you say it is ebbing on 
the north shore after low water slack, but flooding on the south 
shore ? A. Yes, I have found that there.

Q. And the flood consists of a general set of the tide which
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RECORD includes all the parts of the water on the south side? A. Not 
British Columbia necessarily. You cannot say with any degree of certainty. 
Adm,rait]^Dtst. Q Isn't this so, if it does not show on the surface, this cur- 
Defendant's rent going with the flood, or which is a flood, it won't be very 

strong unless it shows on the surface, isn't that so? A. Not nec­ 
essarily.

Q. It does not need to show on the surface and yet be strong ? 
A. Yes.

Q. As a definite current? A. As a definite set in a certain 
direction.

Q. You say that occurs all the way up to Berry Point? A. 
Yes.

Q. Then if that is so it is simply a current setting in from 
the south shore all along ? A. It is a flood tide.

Q. Setting in from the south shore all along? A. Exactly.
Q. That is all.
Mr. Smith: May I ask one question, my lord.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Smith: Q. Captain Brown, you were in court when 

Captain Wingate gave evidence? A. I was.
The Court: Who?
Mr. Smith: Captain Wingate, the pilot on the "Eurana."
Q. Did you hear his description of the navigation of the 

"Eurana"? A. Yes.
Q. In your opinion, was that navigation proper? A. Yes, 

quite proper.
Q. How could the present bridge be made reasonably safe 

for navigation ? A. If they shifted the bascule span and widen­ 
ed it.

Mr. Burns: This is new evidence. I did not deal with this.
Mr. Smith: I admit that it is a question I intended to ask 

on my examination in chief, and I ask the court's indulgence now.
The Court: You wish to ask him what, Mr. Smith ?
Mr. Smith: How the present bridge could be made reason­ 

ably safe for navigation.
The Court: Are we really concerned with that ?
Mr. Smith: I will put it in another way.
The Court: Yes, that looks as if you were going into some­ 

thing beyond that. That is a tremendous thing. That might be 
done in another way. We might arrive at perfection.

Mr. Smith: I could ask the witness in what way does the 
present bridge obstruct navigation.

A. Well, from my study of the water and the effect of tidal 
currents, I fairly expected there would be different conditions 
there when that bridge was built. The result has been that the 
flood tide comes in and strikes against the south end of the bridge. 
It has increased the velocity of the current there and has also set

10

20

30

40
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the tidal current across the bridge, so in that respect it has made 
the tide and current much stronger on the south shore where the British 
draw span is. There is a far stronger current there than there 
ever was before the bridge was there.

Q. In what other way does it impede navigation? A. In 
what other way does it impede navigation ?

Q. Yes, in reference to the position of the span? A. Ships 
have got to approach the south shore too close.

Q. Then, you say the present span is improper in what way ? 
A. Large ships go through, going through are never under con­ 
trol.

Q. How could that be overcome? A. If they made a 300 
foot fixed span. If they made it a draw span or bascule span 
there would be no difficulty. I went through many times before 
the bridge was there at full speed.

Q. If they make the present 300 foot span into a bascule 
span the bridge then will be more or less satisfactory ? A. Yes, 
the difficulties of navigation would not be so bad.

Mr. Smith : All right, thank you.
(Witness aside).
Mr. Smith : May it please your lordship, Captain Guns, who 

was the last witness on Friday afternoon, and who preceded the 
present witness, wishes to make a statement if your lordship 
wishes to hear it.

RECORD

Dist-
Defendant's 
Case
J. Brown 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)

THOMAS SALTER GUNS, recalled, testified further as follows:
The Registrar: You are still under oath.
The Witness : Yes. Your lordship, I was laboring under a 

mistake in my evidence on Friday afternoon. I was of the belief 
or impression which was further impressed on me by the way the 
questions were put that this fill referred to was put in at a much 
later date than the construction of the bridge, and my evidence 
was more or less along that line. Now, I wish to explain that mis­ 
take. I don't wish to withdraw any words, only that when I re­ 
ferred to construction I was referring to what they call the fill. I 
thought they were referring to a later fill. I think my evidence 
will fall in with that, that the construction did divert that current 
in a north-easterly direction.

The Court : You say that you wish to correct your evidence 
to have it read on the understanding that when you spoke of con­ 
struction you meant what ? A. The fill.

Q. What fill now, exactly, and when made ? A. Made with 
the bridge, as part of the bridge ; the fill this gentleman asked me 
about.

Mr. Smith: Q. You mean the fill at the south end of the 
bridge? A. Yes.

The Court : Q. Look at Exhibit 8 and say what you mean, 
so that there will be no mistake? A. I referred to the fill here.

T. S. Guns 
Direct.
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T. S. Guns 
Cross-exam.

Q. Do not say "here." You have a large number of piers 
with numbers on them. Just look and say what you mean and 
give the number of the pier ? A. I refer to the fill in the neigh­ 
borhood of pier 5. What I wish to clear up—I was under the im­ 
pression that a fill was put in at a much later date from the ques­ 
tions asked me, and my evidence was on that line. I think my 
evidence will bear me out. It is the construction of that fill—I 
did not call it the fill, but I said through the construction the cur­ 
rent was diverted.

Q. You thought that fill or construction as you called it was 
put in at a much later time ? A. Yes.

Q. What do you mean by that ? A. I know when the bridge 
was built but I never had any information when the fill was put 
in, and from the questions put to me I was of the impression that 
the filling was a much later date than when the bridge was first 
constructed.

Q. You thought then, after the bridge was open for naviga­ 
tion and it was supposed to be completed, you thought then when 
giving your evidence that nevertheless a further fill had been made 
after it had been open for navigation ? A. Exactly.

The Court: Do either of you gentlemen want to ask any 
questions on that?

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
A.

10

20

Q. When did you get that understanding, Captain? 
Which understanding ?

Q. The understanding on which you gave your evidence? 
A. No particular time, only it was from the way the questions 
were put to me.

Q. You are quite familiar with the construction of the Sec­ 
ond Narrows bridge and the whole layout up there? A. Yes, 30 
sir, of the water, the channel.

Q. Of the water, and as you are passing by you see the 
whole thing and all the conditions ? A. Yes.

Q. And you were piloting boats up and down there during 
construction? A. Yes, in the middle of the channel.

Q. The channel is not very wide ? A. During construction 
sir—

Q. Wait, it is not very wide, is it ? A. No.
Q. You were up and down there and knew when that fill 

went in? A. No, sir.
Q. Well, now, let us look at that, you did not know when 

that fill went in? A. No.
Q. You were under the impression that the fill went in a 

great deal later than the time the bridge was constructed? A. 
Yes.

40
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Q. How long, a year later? A. I don't know. It was more RECORD 
from the questions that were asked me. BritisiTc^iumbi

Q. I am asking some other questions now. How long would ^miraity £>///. 
you say? A. No time at aU. Defendant's

Q. Still a substantial time in your understanding elapsed Case 
between the building of the bridge and the subsequent building 
of the fill ? A. From the question put to me—

Q. I am asking about your state of mind with the know­ 
ledge you got of the Second Narrows and so on, I am asking, 
when I thought I got from you a statement which was simply 
making a little more definite that you were under the impression 
the bridge was constructed and subsequently in point of time the 
fill was constructed ? A. Yes.

Q. All right, now, then, a certain amount of time elapsed 
according to your idea between the construction of the bridge and 
the fill. That is right. Would you say how long that time was? 
A, No, I cannot answer that because I said in my previous evi­ 
dence I did not notice any difference while I am using the bridge, 
but I did notice a material difference when I commenced to use 

20 the bridge, which was caused by the fill, but I did not know that the 
fill was put in then.

Q. When you noticed the material difference caused by the 
fill you must have known it was put in? A. I did not know. I 
did not know how it was constructed, whether it was built in a 
solid wall or what was done.

Q. How have you readjusted your mind in connection with 
your evidence ? Who have you been discussing it with ? A. My 
friend Captain Brown said "I could not follow your evidence 
about the fill." I asked Mr. Smith about it and he said "I will 
get you a copy of the shorthand report," and I read it over and I 
seen where the difficulty was.

Q. You feel that what you said the other day is on an er­ 
roneous basis because you feel you gave your evidence direct 
towards the building of the fill, subsequently, is that it ? A. More 
or less. You will find that it is not erroneous because it fits in 
with construction.

Q. When did you come to this present conclusion? A. 
Which conclusion?

Q. The conclusion you have got now. When did you change 
40 your idea that the fill was built subsequent to the time of the 

building of the bridge? A. As soon as I got talking with Cap­ 
tain Brown and Mr. Smith.

Q. That was the first time that you changed your ideas ? A. 
Yes, I realized that it was the fill they referred to.

Q. All the time previous to that you were under the im­ 
pression the fill was built subsequently to the time of the con­ 
struction of the bridge ? A. I was not under any impression as 
to that, only the construction of the bridge.
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RECORD Q. The bridge, the fill is part of the construction of the 
British Columbia bridge ? A. Yes, and I called it the construction when Mr. Smith
AJmiral^Dht. asked me what I felt after tne fift wag put ^ J gaid "What fill

are you referring to?"
Q. When giving evidence before you had no idea of the fill 

It was the construction of the bridge ? A. Yes.
Q. Which was deflecting this current? A. Yes, which was 

the fill. I did not call it the fill.
Q. You were not dealing specifically in your mind with the 

matter of the fill at all? A. No. 10
Q. It is the construction of the bridge. And now you are 

explaining your evidence so that you will be certain it will be 
understood, that part, the construction of the fill, is that it? A. 
Yes.

Q. The bridge is one thing, piers, and so on. The effect 
of the piers on the current is quite understood. If this fill affects 
the current in the way you suggest, you could easily see it was 
the fill that did it ? A. No, because I don't know what they have 
done. I have not gone and looked at the bridge particularly so 
far as the deflection is concerned. 20

Q. You don't know what has been done? A. Exactly; the 
first time I used the draw I experienced this terrible current.

Q. You have not tied the deflection to the fill, you see what 
I mean ? A. No, to the construction.

Q. To the fill, simply the construction of the bridge? A. 
Yes.

Q. Did Brown tell you it was the fill that was doing this all 
the time? A. No, he told me that he could not follow my evi­ 
dence.

Q. Then inferentially he did, he indicated to you it was the 30 
fill that was making this deflection, didn't he? A. No.

Q. You are on the fill now instead of the general construc­ 
tion. I want to find out how you got on the fill ? A. I said when 
this fill was put in, that was what was bothering me—I did not 
know that it was at a subsequent date.

Q. You have been up there time and time again and you 
paid no attention to the fill ? A. No.

Q. And now that Brown has explained to you that it was 
this fill that was doing the damage you want to see that your evi­ 
dence is not misunderstood, is that it? A. Yes, am I plain to 40 
your lordship?

Mr. Smith: All right, thank you.
(Witness aside).

NELS SCHRISTIAN SVANE, a witness called on behalf of the 
Defendant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows:
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DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH : RECORD
Q. You are master of the" Eurana"? A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What experience have you had at sea ? A. I have been 

going to sea about 1900, about 27 years. Defendant's 
Q. How long have you had a Master's certificate? A. Since ase _

1919. N. S. Svane
Q. How long have you been in command 1? A. Since Feb- Direct. ruary, 1922. (Contd.)
Q. You were Master of the "Eurana" on the 10th of March, 

10 1927? A. Yes, sir.
Q. Have you ever been through the Second Narrows on the 

"Eurana" or any other vessel prior to the time that you went 
through on the 10th of March, 1927? A. Five times.

Q. Where was the "Eurana" on the 10th of March? A. 
Ac Barnet Lumber Mills.

Q. And she was lying with her head to the southeast and her 
starboard side to the wharf ? A. Yes.

Q. The "Eurana" is a steamer that was built in 1916? A. 
Yes, sir, by the Union Iron Works of San Francisco. 

20 Q. 450 feet long? A. 56 feet beam and 400 feet between 
the perpendiculars, about 420 over all

Q. Her draft when light is what? A. About 14 feet 6 
inches aft.

Q. And when fully loaded her draft is what? A. 27 feet 
3 aft, with one foot drag.

Q. 27 feet 3 inches aft? A. Yes.
Q. Her engines are turbines? A. Yes.
Q. Turbine engines? A. Yes.
Q. Was she completely loaded on the 10th of March or partly 

30 loaded? A. Partly loaded.
Q. And her cargo consisted of what? A. 2,400,000 feet of 

lumber.
Q. What was her draft when she left Barnet that day? A. 

2t feet aft and 23 feet 5 forward.
Q. What officers and crew did she carry on that day? A. 

I was master on the ship, Captain Wingate was pilot, three deck 
officers, one wireless operator, four engineers, one deck engineer, 
three oilers, three firemen, two wipers.

The Court: Never mind that, it is only the navigation we 
40 are concerned with.

Mr. Smith : How many of a crew all told ? A. 36 with me. 
37 with the pilot.

Q. Where were the various officers and crew at the time you 
passed Berry Point? At what stations were they all? A. The 
master, pilot, three officers and the quarter master on the bridge ; 
the chief officer and boatswain were aft on the navigable head, the
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RECORD second officer on the poop, the chief engineer and first assistant
British Columbia in the engineer's room.
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Defendant's 
Case

N. S. Svane 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

Q. What time did you leave Barnet? A. We left Barnet 
we left the wharf at 5:25. Then we had to back out from the 
wharf and we went full speed ahead at 5:35 heading down towards 
the bridge.

Q. What course did you take? A. Mid-channel through 
the Narrows.

Q. Do you remember when you passed Berry Point? A. 
About 5:53.

Q. At what speed were you going at then? A. About 9 
knots, 9£.

Q. Do you remember about then passing a point on the 
North Shore, passing a buoy on the North Shore ? A. A minute 
or two later.

Q. That would be about when? A. 5:55.
Q. Did you happen to notice the state of the tide at that 

buoy ? A. Slack water, so far as I could see.
Q. Did you whistle to have the bridge open? A. We 

whistled to have the bridge opened when we passed the buoy.
Q. Did you alter your speed about then ? A. About a min­ 

ute previous we altered to slow speed, slow ahead.
Q. About what time would that be? A. 5:54.
Q. Why did you alter your speed to slow ahead? A. To 

have the proper speed on the ship at the time that we arrived at 
the bridge opening.

Q. What is the proper speed 1 A. Four knots an hour.
Q. What is your speed, your ship's full speed? A. 10£.
Q. What does she do at half speed ? A. Between 7 and 8.
Q. And slow speed? A. Four knots an hour.
Q. After ringing down slow speed, what was the next engine 

movement? A: Half ahead.
Q. And that was when? A. 6:03p.m.
Q. Where was the ship then? A. A little to the eastward 

of the small wharf on the north side of the Narrows Channel, 
about 1700 or 1800 feet from the bridge.

Q. How far? A. About 1800 feet from the bridge, the bas­ 
cule span.

Q. How were you heading at that time? A. Heading for 
the south pier or bascule span.

Q. What was her speed then ? A. Four knots an hour.
Q. Was there any current. When the ship was in that posi­ 

tion did you see any current ? A. I did not notice any, sir.
Q. What did the surface look like? A. The surface was 

smooth.
Q. Up to that moment we are speaking about now, was there 

any indication you had that an accident might happen? A. No,
sir.
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Q. Who was giving orders to the man at the wheel? A. RECORD 
The pilot, Captain Wingate.

Q. Did you see that all the orders were obeyed? A. Yes.
Q. Were these orders, in your opinion, correct orders ? A. 

Yes, sir.
Q. You say you were heading for the south pier. When did 

she alter that heading? A. When did she alter the head?
Q. Yes, you told me at half speed she was heading for the 

south pier. When did she alter and head for something else ? A. 
10 The pilot set the course for the middle of the draw.

Q. How long was that after the time when you went— A. 
—half ahead?

Q. Yes, do you remember? A. Two minutes afterwards.
Q. About two minutes afterwards. When the ship was 

headed for the centre of the draw, was she then approching the 
draw at right angles to the bridge or otherwise? A. She was 
heading a little to the southward.

Q. A little to the south. So that she would be passing 
through the draw at a slight angle ? A. A little to port. 

20 Q. Yes, so that she would be passing through the draw at a 
slight angle ? A. At a slight angle.

Q. What happened after heading for the centre of the draw ? 
A. About two minutes after that again she took a sudden sheer 
to starboard.

Q. What time then was that ? A. 6:07, sir.
Q. And how far was the ship from the bridge then? A. 

About 700 feet.
Q. And what was done when she took the sudden sheer ? A. 

The engines were put full astern and the port anchors were let go. 
30 Q- What was done with the helm? A. The helm was put 

hard astarboard.
Q. Yes? A. Now, when she took the sheer first we gave 

her full ahead, hard astarboard, but shortly after—
Q. Never mind, I am still talking of the sudden sheer ? A. 

She was put full ahead, hard astarboard to try to break the sheer.
Q. Prior to the moment you put the helm hard astarboard, 

before that time how was she carrying her helm? A. She was 
carrying a little starboard helm.

Q. For what purpose ? A. To prevent the ship from taking 
40 a sheer to the northward.

Q. Did you anticipate such a sheer? A. Yes, I have no­ 
ticed it before going through there. The first time I went through 
from Vancouver to Dollarton, when I was in the middle of the 
draw I noticed that she was being set sideways towards the north 
pier, and the pilot told me at that stage that the ship set to the 
north.
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Q. Then as I understand it, prior to taking this sudden sheer, 
you were heading a little starboard helm? A. Yes.

Q. And that was to offset any possible set to the north that 
you might experience? A. Yes, the ship never got it to the 
south, the pilot told me.

Q. Did the ship carry this little starboard helm, while car­ 
rying this little starboard helm, was she steering a steady course 
prior to this sudden sheer ? A. Yes, headed right for the south 
pier of the bascule tower.

Q. How was she headed just before she took the sheer? A. 
Heading for the middle of the draw.

Q. Did you see the helm put astarboard? A. Yes, I was 
standing alongside the helmsman.

Q. Are you satisfied that she went right over ? A. Yes.
Q. Is your ship a good steering ship ? A. Yes.
Q. When was the steering gear last inspected ? A. About 

20 minutes before we left Barnet.
Q. Was it inspected after the collision? A. Yes.
Q. In what order was it found? A, Found in good work­ 

ing order. Of course we could not use the telemotor gear after 
the collision. We connected up the hand steam gear on the poop 
right away in case the ship should clear the bridge and we would 
be able to steer her.

Q. I am still dealing with the time the ship took the sudden 
sheer ; did the operation of putting the helm hard astarboard and 
full ahead have any effect? A. No.

Q. Did she continue with the sheer? A. She stopped as 
soon as we let go the anchor. She did not take any more star- 
board sheer after the anchors were let go.

Q. By putting the engines full ahead and the helm hard a- 
starboard did that affect the sheer ? A. She continued the sheer.

Q. What did you do next ? A. Put the engines full astern 
and dropped both anchors.

Q. Can you tell me how long the engines were going full 
ahead ? A. Less than a minute.

Q. And how long were they going full astern before you 
struck the bridge ? A. About two minutes.

Q. And when you dropped the anchors, how was the vessel 
heading, when you dropped both anchors? A. For the middle 
fixed span north of the bascule span.

Q. How far was the ship from the bridge then when you 
dropped the anchors? A. About 400 feet, a ship's length.

Q. How long was it after you dropped the anchors and go­ 
ing full astern was it you actually struck the bridge ? A. About 
three minutes.
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Q. What do you think your speed was when you struck the RECORD 
bridge ? A. Not over one mile an hour.

Q. After having struck the bridge did you notice if there 
was any current there? A. I noticed that the current looked 
like it had just started setting to the eastward.

Q. Did you notice that in the bascule draw ? A. Eh ?
Q. Was it in the bascule draw that you noticed the current ? 

A. No, it was right alongside the ship, under the fixed span.
Q. What, in your opinion, was the cause of the ship taking

10 this sudden sheer? A. The flood tide coming in too early and
hitting the south shore just to the westward of the bascule draw
and then setting off in a northerly direction across the bascule
draw.

Q. Did you say that you had ever experienced this northerly 
current before? A. The first tune I went through, from Van­ 
couver to Dollarton.

Q. You told us then that the ship was setting over to the 
north? A. Setting sideways over.

Q. In your opinion is the bridge an obstruction to naviga- 
20 tion? A. Yes.

Q. In your opinion is it a menace to navigation? A, Yes.
Q. Can you tell me in what way you think it is a menace 

to navigation ? A. It is a menace to navigation because it is on 
the south side of the fairway.

Q. What is? A. The bascule draw; also, with the flood 
tide on the south shore and being deflected and running across the 
bascule draw, that would affect the ship more, when the bascule 
draw is over to the south, than it would if it was in the middle of 
the fairway.

30 Q Is there any other way you think it is a menace? A. 
Well, there is a shoal on the south side, to the east of the bascule 
draw and ships coming from the eastward have to go very close 
to that shoal to line up properly for the bridge.

Q. That is owing to the position the bascule draw is now in ? 
A. Yes.

Q. Then if the bascule draw at the time of the accident had 
been in the position you think it ought to be, namely, where the 
fixed span now is, would this accident have been avoided? A. 
Most certainly, sir. 

40 Q. If the fixed span —
The Court: Would you mind repeating that?
Mr. Smith : My last question ?
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Smith: Q. If the bascule draw had been in the posi­ 

tion which the 300 foot fixed span now is, and of similar width 
to the present 300 foot fixed span, then, could this accident have 
been avoided ? A. Yes, most certainly.
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British Columbia of being at the present height, if it had been 45 feet high above 
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A. No.
Q. Would the damage that has been done to your ship have 

been less? A. Yes.
Q. Because in that event the damage would be what? A. 

We would not have damaged the smokestack, nor taken the navi­ 
gation bridge off.

Q. It would have taken the masts? A. Yes .
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N. S. Svane 
Cross-exam.

The Court: 
what?

Mr. Smith: 
The Court: 
Mr. Smith:

You say if the bridge was what, 45 feet from

From high water, that is the fixed span.
Wait now.
I mentioned the height of 45 feet, because that

10

is the height of the bridge given in the plans which are exhibits.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
Q. You mean if the bridge had not been there you would 

not have hit it ? A. That is right.
Q. And if it were 45 feet or 60 feet in height and you were 20 

not as high as that you would not have hit it?
The Court: I did not catch that.
Mr. Burns: Pardon me, my last question was a little face­ 

tious.
The Court: You have your back to me. It is not your fault. 

It is very difficult to hear.
Mr. Burns: Q. If there had been a bascule span at that 

part of the bridge, at the exact spot where your ship landed, you 
could have got through the bascule span ? A. Gone right through 
sir. 30

Q. The point with us is you tried to go through the bascule 
span and landed up at the fixed span ? A. Yes.

Q. Your idea is if the fixed span was a bascule span you 
would have gone through ? A. Q-one right through.

Q. Are you not overlooking the fact that you would then 
be steering for the place where you landed. Our position here, 
Captain, is that you did not navigate it properly. That is our 
suggestion ? A. Navigated as properly as anybody could, in my 
estimation.

Q. I understand. If you had done the same thing, and were 4" 
trying to get through the bascule span where the fixed span is, 
you would not have gone to that place, but to some other place 
and been in trouble? A. No, we would have been right in the 
middle of the fairway.

Q. Possibly I should not take that line with you, but it 
struck me when you said that if there had been a bascule span
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you would have been all right ? A. Yes, we would not have been RECORD 
here today. British Columbia

Q. But the trouble is you would be steering for that part Admiralty Ditt- 
and if there was no difficulty so far as the current was concerned, Defendant's 
you would not land up where you were steering for. See what Case 
I mean? A. No, I did not see what you mean. N s~r~

Mr. Smith: He does not understand that last question. Cross-exam*
Mr. Burns: I do not know as he really needs to. It is more (Contd.) 

argument than anything else. If you desire I will put it again. 
10 Mr. Smith: No, not as long as it is clear that he did not 

understand it, that is all.
Mr. Burns: Q. You have experienced this set from the 

south shore before? A. Yes, sir.
Q. That is to say, coming down at that patricular stage of 

the tide, there is a general set from the south shore in the Second 
Narrows, is that right? A. Yes.

Q. And that particular stage—do you mean it is the com­ 
mencement of the flood? A. That is the commencement of the 
flood, yes, sir.

20 Q- The commencement of the flood. Right at the start of 
how far along the commencement of the flood ? A. I have been 
only through there five times previous to the accident so I cannot 
speak from experience through navigation through the bridge 
opening. I do not know how the current acts at different stages 
of the tide.

Q. You have given evidence that there is a definite set off 
the south shore at this particular stage of the tide? A. I told 
you that I experienced that the first time that I went through 
there. I do not know whether it is there all the time. 

30 Q. I assumed that the time you went through was about the 
same stage of the tide as this time? A. We try to go through 
at dead low water. We waited at Barnet five hours after loading 
the lumber, to time ourselves to go through the bridge at dead low 
water.

Q. Is this the first time ? A. No, the time of the accident.
Q. Leave that. I am trying to get your understanding of the 

current or the tide in the Narrows. You experienced the set be­ 
fore the time of this accident at the same stage of the tide or ap­ 
proximately the same ? A. I could not tell you. 

40 Q- When was that time before ? A. Well, I do not—
Q. Do you know the date ? A. No, sir.
Q. Do you know the time of day? A. It was in the middle 

of the day, but I don't remember what date or what year.
Q. How long before the acicdent? A. About two years 

previous to that.
Q. The bridge was up, was it? A. Eh?
Q. The bridge was there ? A. The bridge was there.
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A.

or

Q. You do not know the stage of the tide, approximately?
It was just beginning to flood when we went through.
Q. Just beginning to flood? A. Yes, sir.
Q. How long had the flood started? A. Maybe five minutes 

so, five to ten minutes.
Q. Was it flooding through the Second Narrows, running on 

the surface ? A. Yes, we experienced a little flood after we got 
through the draw.

Q. Which way were you going, east or west? A. Coming 
from Vancouver going towards Dollarton. 10

Q. Just the beginning of the flood? A. As far as I re­ 
collect. It is quite a long time ago, over three years ago.

The Court: Going east?
Mr. Burns: Yes, just the reverse.
Q. You were going on the flood and when you got east of the 

bridge you experienced a set towards the north? A. Yes.
Q. Going on the flood tide? A. We tried to time on dead 

low water, for ships cannot go through any other tune with safety, 
with any amount of safety.

Q. And you experienced this set to the north going with the 20 
flood tide, is that right? A. Yes, I looked at the chart and I 
saw the current shaping up there and that the bridge was built 
out partly in the water and I figured the incoming current got de­ 
flected by the shore line and that was the cause of it.

Q. But that is all on the surface, you can see that ? A. Yes, 
you can only see the surface. You cannot see what is going on 
underneath the water.

Q. You saw this set on the surface? A. I saw a little set 
on the surface. I saw a little commotion in the water. I could not 
see the set—I saw the whole ship being set broadside towards the 30 
north pier.

Q. Was that in the draw? A. Yes.
Q. Right in the draw ? A. Right in the draw.
Q. You are not talking of east of the bridge ? A. No, talk­ 

ing of right in the draw.
Q. Then so far as this incident is concerned, Captain, your 

experience was this, that in the draw going east on the start of the 
flood you experienced a set ? A. To the northward.

Q. While you were in the draw ? A. Yes, sir, we gave the 
wheel hard astarboard to prevent the ship from running on the 40 
shoal water on the south side to the eastward of the bridge.

Q. You counteracted that and went on, is that right? A. 
Yes, we managed to get through.

Q. And of course you would not experience anything fur­ 
ther after you passed the draw? A. No, after we managed to 
get through the draw we got straightened up and got to Dollarton 
all right.
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Q. Your difficulty there was in the draw itself. That is what RECORD 
I am getting to ? A. We did not get any results by giving her 
starboard helm when half the ship was out of the draw to the east- _ 
ward. We gave a starboard to prevent the stern swinging to the Defendant' 
north pier. The ship did not alter her course by getting hard a Case 
starboard, so that it looked like the bow got out of the current and 
the stern was still in, the ship was being swept northward.

Q. And when the stern got out of the current you were all 
right? A. Yes.

10 Q. And that would occur after you got the ship out of the 
draw? A. Yes, after we got clear of the bascule draw every­ 
thing was fine.

Q. And this was the start of the flood? A. Yes.
Q. And you could see that current that you speak of right 

in the draw, could you ? A. The helmsman was seeing that we 
did not run ashore. I could see the water moving, but which way 
it was moving I could not say.

Q. So that is the extent of the experience you had previous 
to your coming down this time? A. I have been through the 

20 bridge opening five times.
Q. I know, but I am asking you this, was that not the ex­ 

tent of your experience with reference to this set north that you 
have spoken of previous to the accident. A. No, the second time 
I went through I experienced the same thing being set to the north­ 
ward. I noticed that I was being set towards the north pier.

Q. This was twice? A. Yes.
Q. The second time was a similar incident to the first ? A. 

It was just after slack water.
Q. Commencement of the flood ? A. Commencement of the 

flood.
Q. The same place ? A. The same place.
The Court: High or low slack, that is important, you know.
Mr. Burns: I assumed that the witness meant low. That is 

why I said commencement of the flood.
Q. Did I assume rightly that this was low slack ? A. Just 

after low slack.
Q. The commencement of the flood. So it was exactly the 

same stage of the tide as the one we have just been discussing? 
A. Yes.

4o Q. You experienced the same thing in the draw ? A. Prac­ 
tically the same, being set to the northward, just missed hitting 
the north pier with the stern when we passed out to the westward.

Q. That again is the result of the deflection of the current 
while in the draw? A. It must have been, because the ship set 
outside to the northward.

Q. That is right, it was an experience in the draw itself, just 
the same as the first one was ? A. Yes, sir.
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Q. And when you got out of the draw you were all right 
again ? A. Yes.

Q. So far as these two instances are concerned, as I take it, 
at this particular stage of the tide, the commencement of the flood, 
there is some effect on the ship when she is in the draw ? A. Yes, 
sir, it is pretty hard to time slack water there, because it looks like 
the tide turns almost instantaneously in the draw.

Q. So we have exhausted this experience you had which gave 
you the information when coming down on this trip when the acci­ 
dent occurred. You knew the ship would be set to the north, is that 10 
right ? A. Yes.

Q. For that reason 1700 feet from the bridge you were carry­ 
ing a little starboard helm? A. Just for a minute or so we gave 
her a little starboard helm—I heard the pilot tell the helmsman 
"Watch your helm," and the helmsman gave her a little starboard.

Q. Does this ship of yours carry starboard helm or port 
helm ? A. No, generally a little port helm on account of the way 
the propeller goes around.

Q. It is a little port helm, is it? A. Yes.
Q. The ship itself carries a little port helm? A, Yes, a 20 

little port helm.
Q. If left alone she would carry that helm, a bit ? A. Yes.
Q. Did you tell Captain Wingate that, or did he ask you? 

A. No, most ships carry that as long as the propellers go around 
—as long as the propellers are right handed. If the propellers are 
left handed, they would carry it the other way.

Q. You did not tell that to Captain Wingate or he did not 
ask you that ? A. No, he ought to know that as an old master.

Q. Do you know about the axis of your ship, whether the 
axis is forward or aft? A. Where the ship turns? 30

Q. Yes? A. About one third the length of the ship from 
the bow, right about the starboard No. 2 hatch.

Q. Did you discuss that with Captain Wingate? A. No, 
I don't discuss things like that with an old ship master. He ought 
to know that.

Q. Every ship does that? A. That is the average.
Q. Have you heard of different ships having different axis ? 

A. It would not amount to many feet.
Q. Never mind that, I am asking if you ever heard it ? A. 

No, I never discussed that matter much. I heard lectures about it 40 
in 1905 and 1906 when I went to a navigation school in Denmark.

Q. Would you say that every ship has got the same axis about 
one third of the length of the ship back from the bow ? A. Very 
much the same place. It is very hard to determine where the 
axis is. That is only an approximate place.

Q. Have you ever heard of a ship having its axis aft of 
amidships? A. No.
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Q. Or practically amidships ? A. The water makes a ship RECORD
Swing—— Bntish~C^lumbia

Q. Never mind the water. The question of how a ship acts, 
and her idiosyncracies and so on— A. A boat will act the same. Defendant's 
I could scull a boat when I was five years old.

Q. Captain Wingate never asked about the axis of the ship 
nor did you say anything to him? A. No, I did not discuss that Ni 
at all.

Q. Supposing you have a right handed propeller. It carries 
10 naturally a little port helm? A. Yes, very few ships have left 

handed propellers.
Q. Pardon me, just answer my questions. You need not give 

information that you are not asked. I don't care about these other 
ships. Then, isn't she given a little starboard to counteract this 
port. Isn't that the reason she would be given the starboard 
about 1700 feet from the bridge? A. She would carry a little 
port helm when the ship was on the straight course.

Q. Wouldn't she be given apart from necessity or the cur­ 
rent, wouldn't she be given a little starboard helm in order to 

20 counteract that? A. No, if they gave her starboard helm she 
would go to port. Out at sea when you are steering a straight 
course, the ship carries a little port helm. Why should I give 
starboard to combat that.

Q. Just answer my question. If I am in trouble that is my 
matter. I do not want any information except what I ask for? 
A. I am trying to explain it so that you can understand it.

Q. I don't want any explanation if you will pardon me. A. 
All right.

Q. She carries a little port helm? A. When she is on a 
30 straight course.

Q. Now, in order to counteract that, wouldn't you give her 
the starboard helm? A. Why should I, if she is running on a 
straight course. Why should I counteract it. I cannot understand 
your question.

Q. Would you leave her with a little port helm? A. Yes, 
because she is keeping a straight course.

Q. Then, when she experienced this set to the north; we 
are now approaching the bridge, when she experienced this set 
to the north she was given a little starboard helm ? A. Yes.

Q. And that carried her along straight? A. Yes, it looked 
like the flood setting in was affecting the ship a little bit.

Q. And then it came to a point where she sheered? A. 
Yes.

Q. And that was how far from the bridge? A. About a 
ship's length, 400 feet.

Q. 400 feet? A. Yes; no, no, I was figuring on when I 
let go the anchors. About two ship lengths from the bridge.

40
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Q. I want to get the information straight and I do not want 
you to feel that I am trying to get it wrongly. We will take our 
time, so that you will not feel diffident about it. This sheer, ac­ 
cording to your evidence, occurred when she was about 700 feet 
from the bridge ? A. Yes.

Q. Or would you say 800 feet? A. I would say about two 
ship lengths, 700 or 800 feet. 10

Q. At that time; bringing it down to that time, and having 
in view that point then, get into your mind the ship's position 
when she was about 1500 or 1600 feet from the bridge. A. I dis­ 
cussed the set with Captain Wingate at Barnet, and we timed 
ourselves to the minute so that we would be sure that we would 
not have any set.

Q. I am putting the ship 1500 or 1600 feet from the bridge. 
Could you tell me how far you were off the south shore? A. 
About two ship lengths.

Q. Then when you got down to about 1000 feet how fai 20 
would she be off the south shore ? A. I was watching to see that 
the ship was running straight for the draw and standing alongside 
the helmsman to be prepared in case she should take a sheer to 
the north,

Q. Supposing she took this sheer to the north about 800 feet 
from the bridge. At 800 feet to 1000 feet she was running steady ? 
A. Running steady.

Q. So that you would be in a position where you could fix 
in your mind how far you were from the south shore. There was 
nothing bothering you ? A. When you are 1600 or 1700 feet from 30 
the draw and there is a shoal on the south side, sticking out a little 
farther towards the draw—

Q. Then take 1600 or 1700 feet from the draw, how far off 
would you be from the south shore ? A. About two ship lengths.

Q. Coming down to 1300 and 1400 and down to 1000 feet 
would you still continue two ship lengths or less ? A. We would 
be a little closer to the shore.

Q. How much closer? A. Maybe 50 feet, or say 500 or 
100 feet.

Q. You would be near the south shore ? A. Near the south 40
shore.

Q. I am leaving the matter of the sheer for a minute. When 
you got down to, say, 500 feet from the bridge, how far off would 
you be from the south shore? A. I didn't measure it up on the
chart.

Q. If you cannot tell me all right. A. No, I was looking 
straight at the bridge and standing beside the helmsman.
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Q. Could you say how far you were from the south shore ? 
A. I looked at the chart off and on while navigating from Barnet 
and I took the marks off the shore to see that I had plenty of water 
under her.

Q. Could you recollect—if not, say so, how far were you ofi 
the south shore when the anchors were let go? A. I was not 
looking at the south shore. That is something I could not tell yr u.

Q. It was about 800, 700 or 800 feet approximately that you 
were from the bridge when you felt this sheer ? A. Yes, sir. 

10 Q. Was that something—I am going to ask you this, was 
that something, the influence of which was only felt on the bow 
of the vessel and not on the rest of it ? A. The bow was coming 
out, so that the current was hitting the south shore to the west of 
the bascule draw and it would start hitting the bow if the flood 
was just setting in.

Q. Her head paid off? A. Her head paid off.
Q. And, at the time, you were running alongside the south 

shore ? A. Well clear of it.
Q. I am not going to try you on the south shore, do not be 

20 afraid, but I want a detailed discussion of this matter with you. 
At the time you were going along the south shore, heading for the 
middle of the bascule span— A. Yes, sir.

Q. —your bow would be about 800 feet from the bascule 
span ? A. Yes, about 800 feet from the bascule span.

Q. Then whatever influence this undercurrent that has been 
spoken of had, it influenced or affected the bow of the vessel rather 
than the whole of the vessel ? A. Yes, the bow comes out in the 
current earlier than the stern.

Q. And that current came off the south shore? A. That 
30 is my opinion.

Q. Well, the natural tendency would be to send her bow 
to the north? A. Yes.

Q. Whatever that was it came off the south shore, didn't 
it ? A. If it was the flood tide it must have hit the south shore 
before it went to the draw.

Q. Just a minute. Did you see any surface current at all ? 
A. I was too busy to see; no, I did not look over the side. I did 
not see any surface current.

Q. If you were asked the question as to whether the flood 
40 was making or not, if it was on the surface, you would not be 

able to say? A. No, I could only see what was going on on top 
of the water.

Q. That is exactly what I am asking you. Did you see what 
was going on on top of the water? A. I saw that there was no 
commotion on top of the water when she took the sheer.

Q. Did you see any evidence of the making of the flood tide ? 
A. No, but I saw it one or two minutes later.
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Q. We will come to that? A. A couple of minutes later.
Q. Did you, at the time, see any evidence on the surface of 

the flood tide making at the time that sheer was experienced? A. 
I saw the ship take the sheer.

Q. All right, leaving that, did you on the water see any evi­ 
dence of the making of the flood tide ? A. No.

Q. None whatever? A. No.
Q. Then, when you saw the water it was smooth, was it? 

A. Absolutely smooth.
Q. No current on it? A. No current, no. 10
Q. And so far as this sheer is concerned it was brought about 

by some force under the surface of the water ? A. Some under­ 
current.

Q. That was having the effect on the ship's bow, and yet you 
saw nothing on top of the water to indicate that it was present. 
Is that right? A. That is right.

Q. You say one or two minutes, or how many minutes. Do 
you know ? A. It might have been three or four minutes, when 
I looked over the side, when I was about 400 feet from the bascule 
draw. 20

Q. Did you see the flood making then ? A. Yes.
Q. Where did you see it ? A. I looked over the side from 

the forward deck.
Q. Was this after she got in the bridge ? A. Just as soon 

as she struck.
Q. After she struck ? A. Yes, I did not look at the water. 

I made for the anchors right away, to try and heave the anchors, 
because if it was not dead low water, it was close to it, and the 
bridge span was resting on top of the ship.

Q. I understand that, Captain. Just answer some of my 30 
questions. I do not want any information at all, nor does his 
lordship want to be bothered with a lot of information that coun­ 
sel feels it is not necessary to trouble him with. If you want to 
make an explanation afterwards you can do it. Tell me this. 
You never, until your boat was into the bridge, noticed whether 
the flood tide was making—at least you did not see the flood tide 
making ? A. No.

Q. But I understand that you did look and you knew that 
there was no flood tide making at the time of the sheer, that is, 
on the surface ? A. I did not see any sign. 40

Q. Did you look. Could you say whether or not the flood tide 
was making on the surface ? A. I looked. I was standing along­ 
side the helmsman in the wheelhouse.

Q. I don't care where you were standing. I am asking if 
you looked. Just answer my question. Did you look ? A. Yes, 
I looked out through the wheelhouse window, but I could not see 
what was going on close to the ship. I could see what was going 
on five or six hundred feet from the ship.
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Q. And from that distance you concluded that there was no 
flood tide making on the surface, is that it ? A. Yes.

Q. As a matter of fact, you are not satisfied with your in­ 
formation on that point, are you. So far as you could see you 
could not tell much about it ? A. I could not see much then. I 
was—

Q. So that the flood tide might be making on the surface so 
far as you are concerned? A. I don't think so.

Q. At any rate, you are not definite as to seeing the flood 
lu tide making on the surface until after your boat was engaged with 

the bridge? A. No.
Q. Whatever that force was, Captain, it was a force that was 

against the ship's progress, wasn't it? A. Not very much.
Q. Not very much? A. It was more from the side.
Q. To the north rather than the east? A. Yes, from the 

south towards the north in my opinion.
Q. I want you to fix now on the plan as well as you can the 

position of the ship when the sheer occurred. Could you have Ex­ 
hibit 8, please ? A. I am not familiar with that chart. I should 

20 like to have an Admiralty Chart.
Q. We will give you both ? A. Yes, but I am familiar with 

these charts, that is the one I use.
Q. I want it on a large plan if I can ? A. I am not familiar 

with these plans.
Q. You could easily get familiar with it.
Mr. Smith: Give him a moment or two to study it ?
Mr. Burns: Yes. A. The sheer must have been about here, 

somewhere between these two lines.
Q. Those two lines are watermains ? A. Yes.
Mr. Smith: I submit that you should call his attention to the 

scale.
The Court:
Mr. Burns: 

the scale.
Q. Now, work it out. All I want you to do is to work it out 

where you were in fact, and not get you placed some place where 
you were not? A. When she took the sheer, in my opinion we 
were about 400 feet off the south shore.

Q. 400 feet off the south shore ? A. Headed for the middle 
of the draw.

Mr. Smith: Get how far east of the draw he was. Mark it 
to scale.

Mr. Burns: Q. About 800 feet from the bridge, and 400 
feet from the— A. About 1000 feet.

Q. You think you had passed the watermain ? A. I believe 
we had just passed it when she took the sheer.

The Court: The westerly watermain ?

30

Start at the bascule draw.
The bascule draw is the one in red. There is
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Mr. Burns: The westerly watermain.
Q. Put a lead pencil mark there. Hold that and get 400 feet 

to the shore? A. The angle we were coming in on here?
Q. Mark it approximately, the best place you can?
The Court: Take your time with this and get it right. (Wit­ 

ness marks on Exhibit 8.)
Mr. Burns 
The Court 

sheer.
Mr. Burns 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns

On Exhibit 8, the witness—
That is the point where he first met the sudden

Yes, my lord.
First met the sudden sheer at the point marked— 
—with a cross in black lead pencil. You had 

better use a red one.
The Court: Make sure that we do not repeat any letters. 

What letter shall I use. 
Call it "H."
The cross marked "H" in red? 
Yes.
Q. That cross, witness, is fixed more like 500 

A. I might have taken some

Mr. Burns: 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 
The Court:

A.
Mr. Burns: Q. You see what I mean, take those dividers.

A.

I was using it from here, from the end of the scale.
Q. It is a little outside of the 400 feet.
Q. Mr. Griffin: I would like to have it where he wants it.
I was not standing in a place in the ship to be able to judge the 

position of the shore. I was standing on the starboard side of the 
helmsman.

Mr. Griffin: Put it in the place you really want it.
A. That is as near as I can recollect.
The Court: He said that he was standing on the starboard 

side of the helmsman. He could not conveniently see more than 
that.

Mr. Burns: Q. And at the time you felt that sheer, what 
rate do you say you were going, what speed ? A. Four knots.

Q. You have got down to the four knots from the 9? A. 
Yes.

Q. And you had got down to the 4 knots by reducing from 
full speed to half?

Mr. Smith: No.
Mr. Burns: Full speed to slow speed. A. Full to slow.
Q. Whereabouts were you when you brought it down to slow ?

10

Mr. Burns:
feet than the 400 you mentioned ? 
other line for the shore line.

Q. That would be the approximate position and your idea 
from your recollection is that it was about 400 feet from the shore 
line? A. Yes, judging by the angle we were going in towards 
the draw.

Mr. Griffin I would like the witness to correct that.

'20

30
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British Columbia
Q. Going nine to nine and a half knots ? A. Yes. Admiralty
Q. And put it down to slow? A. Yes. Defendant's
Q. And by that time she had got down to four knots, you Case 

say? A. Yes.
Q. Up to the time you got the sheer, were you experiencing N- s - 

any benefits in the ebb tide in going down? A. No, we did not 
notice any ebb tide going down.

10 Q. You did not notice any at all? A Not after passing 
Berry Point.

Q. You had no favourable tide at all? A. No, sir.
Q. And how far is Berry Point from the bridge, do you 

know, about how far? A. About a mile.
Q. Look at the Admiralty Chart.
The Court: We had it, about a mile.
Mr. Burns: Yes, we will make it about a mile.
The Court: Let us get it on the record? A. I little over 

a mile, your honour.
20 Mr. Burns: Q. You gave the time, what was the time when 

your slow down was given ? A. 5:54.
Q. Now, no tide showed on the buoy at all ? A. No, sir.
Q. Absolutely no tide? A. Couldn't see any tide.
Q. All right.
Mr. Smith: That is all, unless his lordship wants to ask 

some questions. Thank you.
(Witness aside.)
Mr. Griffin: The last witness has a ship sailing at six o 'clock 

and would like your lordship's leave to withdraw and leave the 
30 court room. I do not see that he will be needed again.

The Court: Yes.
(Witness excused.)

HORACE W. G. HARRISON, a witness called on behalf of the H. w. G. 
defendant, being first duly sworn testfied as follows: Harrison

' Direct.
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:

Q. Captain Harrison, you live in Vancouver? A. Yes.
Q. And you are now despatcher for the Pacific (Coyle) 

Navigation Company Limited? A. Yes.
Q. And you have held that position since December, 1927? 

40 A. Yes.
The Court: What company?
Mr. Smith: Pacific (Coyle) Navigation Company Limited.
Q. Previous to December, 1927, you were Captain of the tug 

"Pacific Foam?" A. Yes.
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Q. How much tugboat experience have you had in British 
Columbia? A. About seven years.

Q. Where were you on the 10th of March, 1927? A. Com­ 
ing from Port Moody to North Vancouver with two sections of 
boomsticks.

Q. That was in the afternoon? A. Yes.
Q. On the tugboat "Pacific Foam?" A. Yes.
Q. You were planning to get to the Second Narrows at what 

time? A. Slack tide.
Q. And for that purpose you were arriving there early, or 10 

late for the time given on the tide table ? A. A little early, about 
a quarter of an hour.

Q. Do you happen to remember when the tide was slack? 
A. Not the exact minute, but in the neighbourhood of 6:30 p.m.

Q. Do you remember going under the bridge ? A. Yes.
Q. And do you remember when you were under the bridge 

seeing the "Eurana?" A. Yes.
Q. Where was she then? A. About 1000 feet more or less 

east of the bridge.
The Court: Which did he go through, the long or short 20

span?
Mr. Smith: 
The Court: 
Mr. Smith:

The 300 foot span, the fixed span. 
What did he have? 
A tow of boomsticks.

30

Q. That is correct, you went through the 300 foot span? A. 
Yes.

Q. To the north of the bascule span? A. Yes, two sections 
of boomsticks.

Q. When you were going through you saw the "Eurana" 
about 600 feet east? A. Yes, about 1000 feet.

Q. Had you seen the "Eurana" before that? A. Yes, all 
the way from Barnet.

Q. Coming along behind you? A. Yes.
Q. Did you think that you would probably arrive at the 

bridge at the same time ? A. As she was coming down and I had 
the tow, I thought that she would get there the same time and 
I asked the engineer to put on full speed so that we would be ahead 
of her and clear the bridge so that we would not interfere with 
the "Eurana."

Q. When you were going through the bridge how was the 40 
tide ? A. Under the fixed span it was ebbing and looked to be 
slack on the surface in the bascule span.

Q. How was it closer in towards the south shore, or did you 
notice it there? A. No, not particularly.

Q. Now, when you got through the span, what did you do ? 
A. Got clear of the span and I went on the after deck to see how 
the "Eurana" was coming through.
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Q. Did you see the'' Eurana ? " A.
Q. How was she heading then ? A. 

right to go through the bascule span.
Q. Was she coming down on a course such as that followed 

by other ships coming down? A. So far as I could see she was 
making a good shot at it.

Q. You were watching her ? A. Yes.
Q. What did you notice? A. When she was about, some­ 

where about the knuckle she took a sudden sheer to the north. 
10 Q. How far was she from the bridge when she took that 

sudden sheer? A. I could not say exactly, but about two ship 
lengths east of the bridge.

Q. What did she do then when she took the sudden sheer? 
A. The next thing I heard was the anchors going over the side.

Q. Being let go? A. Yes.
Q. What, in your opinion, caused her to take the sudden 

sheer? A. Some underflow, the flood tide meeting her bow.
Q. Have you, in your experience met the undercurrent at 

the first of the flood flowing easterly ? A. Yes. 
20 Q. Was there anything anyone on the "Eurana" could have 

done to avoid the collision? A. I could not see anything they 
could do.

Q. In your opinion, Captain, is the bridge an obstruction to 
navigation? A. It is.

Q. Is it a menace to navigation ? A. Yes.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS: H.W.G.
Q. Could you tell her speed, Captain ? A. No, she seemed cross-exam, 

to be coming quite slowly.
Q. How far were you from her ? A. About 1000 feet ahead 

30 of her.
Q. When I was under the fixed span she was about 1000 feet 

behind me more or less, more, I should say.
Q. Could you estimate her speed from what you saw? A. 

No, other than that she was going slowly.
Q. What do you mean by that, two, three or four knots or 

one knot, or what ? A. Oh, I could not say as to that.
Q. She would be under four knots ? A. She did not have 

any bow wave to amount to anything. She was going slowly.
Q. At that time was there any ebb tide showing on the sur- 

40 face at all ? A. On the north side of the fixed span there was an 
ebb tide.

Q. Was there any flood tide showing on the surface at all ? 
A. Under the bascule span so far as I could see it was slack.

Q. Was there any flood tide showing on the surface at all 
within your vision? A. No.
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Q. Not only that, I mean in the Second Narrows — You were 
going west, were you? A. Yes.

Q- Do you remember when you saw the first indications of a 
flood tide 1 A. Just after I got through the span.

Q. Where did you see that ? A. Oh, about a couple of hun­ 
dred feet in front of the span. There was some drift wood and 
I noticed it started to move east.

Q. Just moving east slowly ? A. Yes.
Q. By that time had the ' ' Eurana " hit 1
The Court: Where was that coming.
Mr. Burns : About 200 feet west of the span ? A. West of 

the bascule span.
Mr. Burns : The witness noticed this drift wood which gave 

to him the first surface indication of the flood tide.
Q. That is what I asked you? A. Yes.
Q. By this tune had the "Eurana" hit the bridge? A. 

This was just about the tune that she was letting go her anchors.
Q. Do you think you were in a position that day and that you 

took sufficient observations to justify you in making a specific 
statement to the effect that that would be the first indications of 
the flood tide ? A. I think so.

Q. Then in that case there was ; up to that point there would 
be no indication on the surface of any flood movement around that 
fill for instance, would there ? A. I was not close enough to the 
fill to say, but I would not say for certain.

Q. It would not be natural to suppose it would be if there 
was no evidence of the flood apart from that. Then it would not 
be shown there. When you looked back at her and saw this sheer, 
how far off would you judge her to be from the south shore ? A. 
I don't think I took any particular notice of that.

Q. Did you take notice how far she was from the bascule 
span ? I think you said about two ship lengths ? A. Yes.

Q. You saw nothing in the actions of the "Eurana" in con­ 
nection with this sheer that would give you an idea what it was 
that made her sheer, did you? What I mean by that, there was 
nothing in evidence ; there was no surface evidence, for instance, 
in the water that would indicate she might take a sheer for that 
reason ? A. No.

Q. Not at all? A. No.
Q. It might have been a helm movement or any kind of 

movement ; you could not say definitely what it was ? A. No.
Q. All right
Mr. Smith : All right, thank you.
((Witness aside.)

GERALD HOLDEN DOUGHERTY, a witness called on behalf 
of the Defendant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows :

10

20

30
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DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:
Q. You live in Vancouver? A. Yes, sir.
Q. And the house you live in is right above the Second Nar­ 

rows ? A. Yes.
Q. Just a little eastward of the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. On the south shore ? A. Yes.
Q. What is your age? A. 18 last August.
Q. You will have to speak a little louder. Do you remember 

the night of the 10th of March, 1927. Do you remember anything 
10 that happened about six o'clock in the evening?

The Court: Just about how far would that be from where 
he lives?

Mr. Smith: Q. How far from the bridge is your house? 
A. About three blocks on a angle.

The Court: Try and speak distinctly to counsel.
The Witness: About two blocks above the Narrows.
Q. Just repeat that, and try and speak intelligibly.
Mr. Smith: Q. About how far is the bridge from your 

house, about two blocks from the Narrows? A. Yes. 
20 Q. From the windows in your house, have you an unobstruct­ 

ed view of the bridge and the approach to the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. About six p.m. on the 10th of March what did you hear ? 

A. I was getting ready for the supper at the time and I heard 
three blasts of the whistle for the bridge and I went out to the 
verandah and I saw the boat to the east of Berry Point and I went 
in and went to the upper verandah with field glasses.

Q. You have a lower verandah and an upper verandah? A. 
Yes.

Q. You first went out to the lower verandah and saw the 
30 steamer at Berry Point? A. Yes.

Q. And from there you went to the upper verandah ? A. Yes.
Q. Did you say that you looked at the steamer through field 

glasses ? A. Yes.
Q. Just about where was the ship then ? A. Just this side 

of Berry Point a little.
Q. Did you continue watching her? A. Yes.
Q. Did you see the bridge open ? A. I watched the bridge 

open.
Q. Have you any idea of the speed that she came along ? A. 

40 I would not say for sure. I was quite a way from it.
Q. Did you see it approaching the bridge ? A. Yes.
Q. How did she approach the bridge? A. Well, how do 

you mean?
Q. To what part of the bridge was her head pointing? A. 

She was getting fairly well over to the south shore.
Q. And how was she heading? A. Heading pretty well in­ 

to the span.
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Q. You mean by that the bascule span ? A. Yes, the centre 
of the bascule span.

Q. Did she approach the bridge in the same way that other 
ships passing down approached it? A. Yes, exactly.

Q. You remember seeing her headed for the centre of the 
open span, do you? A. Yes, I do.

Q. Just after that what happened? A. Well, she seemed 
to be in the same position as other boats over the first watermain 
east of the bridge, and then she took a sudden sheer to the north.

Q. What did you see her do after that 1 A. Well, she seem- 10 
ed to be heading right for the centre.

Q. Did she do anything with her anchors? A. Yes, 700 
feet east of the bridge the anchors went out.

Q. Did you see anything which would lead you to believe 
that she operated her engines in some way ? A. You could hear 
quite a racket. I would not be able to say for sure, because I 
would not be able to see the wash from the back of the boat.

Q. What happened after she dropped the anchors? A. I 
watched her steadily until just before she hit the bridge and I 
threw my glasses in the direction of the tug and then I watched 550 
her going into the fixed span.

Q. Did you notice the tide at that time ? A. It seemed from 
where I was standing it was slack.

Q. Are you in the habit of watching the tide in the Narrows ? 
A. Sometimes I am.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY:
Q. Are you acquainted with where the watermains cross the 

Narrows and touch on the south shore ? A. Yes.
Q. Is there anything to indicate the place, anything that 

you can see along the shore ? A. You can see them where they 39 
come in against the shore.

The Court: See what? A. The watermains.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Is there any mound or standpipe or any­ 

thing there? A. No, there is a little concrete work and some­ 
thing there where they shut it off which shows where it is situated.

The Court: It is noticeable? A. Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Have you observed whether there are 

more places than one where these water mains come across the 
Narrows? A. Yes, there is Esmond Avenue, I would not say 
for sure, but I think there is two points you can see coming in 40 
there. Then at Ingleton Avenue quite a few pipes come across.

Q. Which are the most noticeable? A. The ones furthest 
away from the bridge or at Ingleton Avenue.

Q. At any rate, you seem to have a clear knowledge of the 
pipes. You have seen them frequently ? A. Yes.

Q. And you know where they are ? A. Yes.
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Q. Which of these pipes were you referring to when you told RECORD 
my friend here that when the ship was about at the water pipes British Columbia 
she took the sheer ? A. I would say the ones at Esmond Avenue 
which would be a little over 1000 feet east of the bridge.

(Witness aside.)
Mr. Griffin : Will your lordship hear another witness before

Defendant's 
Case

The Court : 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court:

The next one will take some time ? 
Yes. 

No. We will adjourn.

G H
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.j

(1:53 P.M. COURT ADJOURNED UNTIL 2:15 P.M.)

2:21 P.M. 
(COURT RESUMED PURSUANT TO ADJOURNMENT.)

ROBERT WILLIAM McNEILL, a witness called on behalf of the R- w. McNeill 
Defendant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows : Direct.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:
Q. You live in the City of Vancouver ? A. I do.
Q. And what experience have you had on the British Colum­ 

bia coast? A. 26 years.
20 Q. And what experience have you had as a pilot ? A. Five 

years as a pilot.
Q. And how many times have you been through the Second 

Narrows before the bridge was built? A. As a pilot or master 
of a vessel?

Q. As master of vessels? A. Oh, hundreds of times.
Q. How many times have you been through, as a pilot, since 

the bridge was built ? A. About 150 times, in the neighborhood 
of that.

Q. What, in your opinion, is the proper stage of the tide to 
30 pass through the bascule span with a loaded ship ? A. As near 

slack water as possible.
Q. Is the bascule span in its proper position? A. Not in 

my opinion.
Q. Then in your opinion in what way is it not in the proper 

position ? A. Because it is not in the fairway.
The Court : A loaded ship, slack water.

With a loaded ship slack water. A. SlackMr. Smith 
water.

The Court
Mr. Smith

placed, do you say? A. 
that is the tidal current

Yes.
Q. In what way is the bascule span wrongly 

It is not in the centre of the fairway, 
the main body of the tidal current does



262

RECORD

British Columbia

Defendant's 
Case
R w~McNeill 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

not pass through the bascule span. It passes through the main 
span, the fixed one.

Q. To the north of the bascule? A. To the north of it.
Q. And in what other way is the bascule span wrongly plac­ 

ed ? A. You have to alter your course from the fair current in 
the near vicinity of it. A ship proceeding from west to east has 
to alter her course within a ship's length or so of the bascule span, 
and this gets your ship varying in the steering. Going from east, 
from east to west through the bascule span you have to pass 
through it at an angle, the bridge not being at right angles, and 10 
the angle is increased by reason of the shoals. There is also cur­ 
rents and tides. It is impossible to tell exactly when there is slack 
water by reason—well, there is first the rise and fall of the tide 
then there is the freshets in the Eraser River, they have a big 
effect and the rain in the upper harbour, that affects Seymour 
Creek and all these things tend to make varying currents at the 
bridge, and they would not have had the same effect had the bas­ 
cule been further over.

Q. Further over to the North? A. Yes.
Q. Mid-channel? A. Mid-Channel. 20
Q. Is there deep water all around the span where it now is ? 

A. No, there is shoaler water to the south end. The deeper water 
is not in the centre, the deeper water is under the fixed span of the 
bridge.

Q. You spoke about a shoal to the east of the bridge on the 
south shore. How far does this shoal jut out? A. About two 
to 250 feet from the bridge.

Q. And what is the depth of the water at the outer edge? 
A. About 24 feet.

Q. And where is the outer edge with reference to the bascule 30 
span? A. In line with the centre of the bascule span. The dis­ 
tance east of the bridge is about 300 feet, I should say.

Q. How does this shoal affect navigation of the bridge, ap­ 
proaching from the eastward at low water slack ? A. It makes 
it impossible to line up the draw to get through the bascule span 
without getting your ship veering and when you get a ship veering, 
it is very hard to steady up. The chances are that an accident will 
take place. In fact there is always that danger.

Q. Has the shoal any other effect ? A. It might have the 
effect of deflecting the current more or less; forming an eddy with 40 
an ebb tide. The tide backs up and hits that and it will have a 
tendency to shoot more out to the centre of the channel. In fact 
it would stop the outgoing current and it means that back eddies 
would form. It would increase these eddies until she went back 
through the Narrows.

Q. How can you ascertain when it is slack water at the 
Narrows ? A. It is impossible to ascertain. It might be slack on
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the surface and yet be an undercurrent there that you cannot see.
Q. Are the tide tables accurate or otherwise for the Second 

Narrows'? A. High water and low water may be accurate, but 
in the currents they are not. I have seen them half an hour out.

Q. The period they give for slack water—A. They are not 
always correct.

Q. Apart from the tide table, how can you find out before­ 
hand the length of the period of slack water. A. It is due to the 
rise and fall.

10 Q. Say low water slack, what period of slack is there at low 
water slack? A. If there is a long run out and a long rim in. 
The period is very short, practically none.

Q. Is there any way of telling beforehand how long that 
period will be? A. No.

Q. Is there anyway of telling before hand how long that 
period will be? A. No.

Q. You spoke about the current there. What current may 
be met with say half an hour either side of low water slack accord­ 
ing to the tide table ? A. At which ?

20 Q. Low water slack ? A. According to the surface the cur­ 
rent may be running west to east on the surface, and there may be 
an undercurrent running from the east; at least the undercurrent 
would be running from west to east and that current—

Q. How would the surface current be running ? A. It might 
be running slightly to the west, but would not amount to much.

Q. But there would be an undercurrent running from west 
to east? A. Yes, and it would not be directly west to east, but 
more or less across the bridge, because the shoal is above and the 
fill of the bridge has a tendency to deflect it to the northeast across 

30 the opening of the bascule span. It does not run direct through 
the bascule span.

Q. So that as I understand you, the indications of the sur­ 
face water do not tell you by any means how the undercurrent 
may be flowing ? A. No.

Q. Has Seymour Creek any effect on the current ? A. Yes, 
at slack water it will have a tendency to come almost across the 
Narrows. The slacker the water, the further over this fresh wa­ 
ter body comes. That is when it is in flood. A ship going west 
to east is struck on the port bow by it. You have to take that into 

40 consideration and meet that with your starboard helm.
Q. Did you ever experience surface currents running in op­ 

posite directions at the same time ? A. Surface currents ?
Q. Yes? A. The centre surface current will be well in­ 

dicated. There will be back eddies on both sides, currents running 
both at the same time.

Q. Is it ever possible to estimate the strength of the currents ? 
A. No.
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Q. What effect has the fill at the south end of the bridge on 
the currents ? A. That fill they put in there; previous to the fill 
when the bridge was being constructed I found the current to run 
along the contour of the shore and since the fill has been put in it 
has been diverted strongly to the northeast across the opening of 
the bridge.

Q. Have you yourself had experience with that set?
The Court: Q. Let me have that again, let me have that 

again? A. It diverts.
Mr. Smith: Q. Start at the beginning, how was it before the 10 

fill was put in ? A. Before the fill was put in the current follow­ 
ed the contour of the beach, and since the fill has been put in it has 
diverted it to an angle across the bascule span; across the bridge. 
It strikes that and deflects.

Q. Going from east to west, what is the proper speed at 
which you approach the bridge to go through it? A. Around 
four knots, just enough to give the ship steerage way, that is, until 
you approach near the bridge and then you get through as fast as 
possible.

Q. At what time would you endeavour to make the draw with 20 
reference to slack water in order to get through ? A. Personally, 
I take it a little before the tide is favourable, just a little after it, 
a fair tide.

Q. You prefer going through with an ebb tide in your fa­ 
vour ? A. Yes, in my favour.

Q. Would you prefer going through in the last half hour of 
the ebb? A, Yes, I would, yes, because in my experience the 
nearer you get to the apparent time of slack water this under­ 
current obtains and I want to avoid that. I have not had only the 
experience of people with accidents, but in my own experience I 30 
have had cases where I had to come through the bridge with the 
helm hard a starboard to offset this undercurrent that was not 
apparent on the surface.

Q. That is going from east to west? A. Yes.
Q. That is at low water slack? A. Yes.
Q. You have had to come through the bridge with the helm 

hard astarboard? A. Yes.
Q. In order to counteract the effect of the undercurrent? 

A. Yes, something forces the ship over the centre of the span 
and to offset that I had to go full speed with the helm hard astar- 40 
board to get through.

Q. Have you had any accident at the bridge ? A. No.
Q. Have you had any near accident? A. I call it a near 

accident when you come through hard astarboard. I had one case 
where I had to drop the anchors within 30 feet of the north pier. 
I was going from east to west and fortunately nothing happened. 
I got her stopped in time.
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Q. Before the bridge was built, at what stage of the tide 
did ships pass through the Narrows 1 A. At most all stages with 
the exception of extreme high and low water, say June tides.

The Court: Q. What was that again? A. At the extreme 
spring tides when there is a rise of 14 feet and when the strong 
current is running the ships would wait until within two or three 
hours.

Q. Was that the case before the bridge was there ? A. Yes.
Q. That is what I want to find out. You say before the 

10 bridge at the extreme tides— A. Extreme rise and fall.
Q. Even then ships would not go through the Narrows! A. 

I don't think they would risk it. A heavily laden ship would not.
The Court: Just clear that up.
Mr. Smith: Q. What do you mean by that. Do you mean 

when the tide was running full strength ? A. Yes.
Q. But even on the long run out at the slack water would 

they pass through ? A. Oh, yes, certainly.
Q. So that before the bridge was built, vessels as a rule 

passed through at all stages of the tide ? A. Yes. 
20 Q- Except when they had the full strength of the long run 

in for or against them? A. Yes.
Q. On spring tides? A. Yes.
Q. What is the position now after the bridge has been built ? 

A. You get a thrill pretty near every time you go through. You 
cannot tell what it is going to do. I have studied that tide and 
current and I think I have it down pretty well, and at times I am 
doublecrossed and the boat will take a sheer when I least expect 
it. I cannot guarantee a ship going through there safely.

Q. To what period of time is the navigation cut down now 
30 that the bridge is built? A. About two hours in 24.

Q. High water slack and low water slack? A. Yes.
Q. The bridge can only be navigated at slack water? A. 

Yes.
Q. Either high or low? A. Yes.
Q. Did you hear the Captain of the "Eurana" give evi­ 

dence? A. Yes.
Q. In your opinion was the navigation of the "Eurana" 

proper navigation? A. I should say so.
Q. In your opinion is the bridge an obstruction to naviga- 

40 tion ? A. Certainly is.
Q. And is it a menace to navigation ? A. It is.
Q. All right.
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY:
Q. Captain, I think you said that the time of the turn of 

the current and the change in the tide is from 20 to 30 minutes 
different from the tables, is that what you mean ? A. At times, 
yes. Sometimes it coincides with the tide table.
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Q. What is that ? A. I have known the last five years that 
you cannot be sure that the book time is the correct time to have 
glack water there.

Q. And on a long run out, what have been the facts as you 
found them, in regard to the accuracy of the tide tables as to slack 
water at the end of the long run out ? A. At the end of the long 
run out I always think the time is later than the time given in 10 
the tide books.

Q. You think the tide runs out — A. Longer than the tide 
books indicate.

Q. That is your experience ? A. Yes.
Q. And you are satisfied that it is correct, I suppose? A. 

Yes.
Q. Backed by five years observations in navigation ? A. Yes, 

now just a minute, when I say that, I am not saying the tides may 
be rising, and this undercurrent may be coming back, but the sur­ 
face current is going out later than the book indicates. 20

Q. Are you now speaking with reference to the current 
through the bascule ? A. Yes.

Q. I see. You have known that for some years? A. I 
have.

Q. And any reasonably skilful pilot who has been navigating 
for some years back and who has passed frequently through the 
same channel should know it the same as you ? A. Oh, certainly.

Q. I suppose you take advantage if it and apply it to the 
navigation of your ship and the time you fix to arrive at the 
span? A. I do. 30

Q. And any reasonably skilful pilot would have a duty to do 
the same thing? A. Yes, naturally.

Q. Otherwise he would not be skilful? A. Yes.
Q. Now, you say that the fill at the south shore of the bridge 

deflects the current and causes an under-flow northerly from the 
south shore. At least, you say that is your opinion ? A. Yes, it 
is my opinion.

Q. Do you say that it is your opinion that that condition 
exists at the end of a long run out ? A. Yes, at the end of a long 
run out when there is a back eddy or incoming tide there may be 40 
a run up to the end of the long run continuing that somewhere in 
the channel and the back eddies that I spoke of may be coming in 
and that may be the first of the tide coming up and being deflected 
by that fill across the Narrows.

Q. To put it in plain language it is your opinion at the be­ 
ginning of the new flood on the tail of a long run out you find this 
condition of the fill deflecting the under-current northerly? A.
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There is something there that deflects that current northerly. I 
know the current is there and I presume it is the fill that makes it.

Q. You think it is the fill? A. Yes, because previous to 
that I found the current running with the contour of the shore.

Q. And not deflecting northerly? A. Yes, not to that ex- 
tent.

Q. How did you find that out, the condition prior to the 
building of the bridge? A. I was towing booms and one thing 
and another through there for 16 years previously, booms, barges 

10 and everything.
Q. Boats and all sorts of things? A. Yes, sir.
Q. Then you must have found yourself navigating the chan­ 

nel under the bascule before there was a bascule there ? A. Yes.
Q. How do you explain doing that now seeing that there is 

only one channel to navigate safely, the centre span of 300 feet. 
How do you reconcile that state of affairs ? A. You put the bas­ 
cule there and it is supported by piers and the piers are in the 
road.

Q. What I understood you to say to his lordship here was- 
2(i that the channel before construction is the channel under the 300 

foot span; that is what you say, when the bridge is there? A. 
Yes.

Q. And your evidence as to the channel is that you some­ 
times took, before there was a bridge, you say that you sometimes 
took the channel under the bascule lift, why? I want to know? 
A. There was nothing to prevent us taking any part of the chan­ 
nel.

Q. That is your answer? A. Yes, there was no fill there. 
You had a straight current to go on. 

30 Q. Is that your answer, that there was no fill? A. Yes.
Q. That is your answer, there was no fill. Now, do you know 

approximately, say, how many feet of a fill there is in the water 
at the south end of the bridge at the end of the long run out ? A. 
No, I do not.

Q. It will be interesting to learn that later ? A. Yes.
Q. It would have some effect on your opinion if you knew 

it perhaps? A. I don't know. I am telling you that I experi­ 
enced this current and what it is caused by I don't know.

Q. You need not repeat that. We heard you the first time. 
40 Now, you referred to Seymour Creek? A. Yes.

Q. Is it true that current is principally superficial surface 
current ? A. Yes, and I have so explained it.

Q. And it has only become apparent at the season of the 
year when there is a heavy rain or a heavy thaw in the mountains ? 
A. Yes, and then only at slack water has that any effect on the 
channel.

Q. So for a great portion of the year one would scarcely
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know from the navigating point of view that there was any water 
coming out of Seymour Creek? A. No.

Q. Now, what size of ships have you been in the habit of 
taking through the bascule span in the past few years ? A. Oh, 
ships varying from 360 to the one Captain Brown mentioned this 
morning, 460 feet long, the "Ontariolite," that he is now in com­ 
mand of, and all varying lengths between those two.

Q. And the draft, varying from what figures? A. Light 
ships 12 feet to ships of 29 feet draft.

Q. And beam? A. 60 to 50 and 45. 10
Q. Yes, I see. How long after the bascule was placed in its 

position did you take your first ship through. Approximately, 
the first month or two ? A. Yes, within the first month or two.

The Court: Q. What did you say? A. Within the first 
month or two of the bascule being brought in, I took ships through 
before the bascule was placed and while the bascule was open 
there and under construction. I took ships through that.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. While the piers were there? A. Yes.
Q. That is just the same thing as taking it through now with 

the bascule up ? A. Yes, the same thing. 20
Q. And ever since that you have been taking ships through 

there regularly? A. Yes.
Q. You have never had an accident except this time that 

you speak of when you had to drop the anchors? A. That was 
the near accident I had. That was when I learned of the current 
to the north when the ship was deflected.

Q. Give us the time of that, the year and month and name 
of the ship I A. The name of the ship was the '' El Grillo.''

Q. A big ship? A. Yes, a ship of about eight to 10,000 
tons. 30

Q. Give us the dimensions ? A. 424 or 425 feet long, about 
55 feet beam and loaded with oil, about 28 feet.

Q. And the tide ? A. The tide, low water slack, or at least 
towards low water slack.

Q. A long or short run out? A. A long run out. The 
added precaution—at that time there was a tug boat with us and 
we were proceeding from this side, from west to east.

Q. You were going east? A. Yes, I lined up the draw, 
and I gave her a little, knowing from experience that the current 
followed the contour of the beach, I practically lined up the beach 40 
to go through the draw, and also the shoal on the other side and 
when I got through, I had the ship slow, the tug was drawing her 
and she suddenly took a heavy sheer to the north. Her helm could 
not stop her. I went full astern and dropped the starboard anchor 
and held her and sheered her over. The tug I whistled to stopped 
immediately and backed up until I got back, the anchor pulled 
me back to the centre of the draw and I pulled the anchor up and
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shot her full speed ahead, hard astarboard. There was some- RECORD 
thing there.

Q. You were going to tell us the year and the month ? A. I 
could not tell exactly the year and month, but I know it was while 
the bridge was still under construction and I could probably get 
the year and month.

Q. You were just learning this course then I take it? A. 
Yes, I was learning that that current existed.

Q. And ever since then you have known it? A. I have 
10 taken precautions to avoid such a thing the best I could.

The Court: Q. Did you say that was shortly after the bas­ 
cule was put in operation ? A. No, the bascule I don't think was 
in operation at the time.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. I think you said the bridge was under 
construction? A, The fixed span was put in because I had the 
same ship through the wide span and never had any trouble, but 
this was the second trip or third trip with the same ship going 
through.

Q. How far east of the bascule draw did the current catch 
20 the ship. How far west of the bascule draw did the current first 

catch the ship ? A. That current that I speak of ?
Q. Yes ? A. I could not have been more than two or three 

hundred feet west.
Q. I see.
The Court: Q. What is that again ? A. Between two and 

three hundred feet, half a ship's length, when she was close to 
the bridge she took a sudden sheer.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. I think the statement is that she was two 
or three hundred feet west of the bridge when the current caught 

30 the ship. Is that accurate? A. Yes.
Q. Very good. What, as near as you can judge, was the 

actual state of the tide, the current ? A. The surface current was 
a little against us. The tide was still ebbing a little.

Q. Through the bascule ? A. Yes, the current was. There 
was a slight apparent current in the bascule at that time.

Q. Now is it true that previously to the construction of the 
bridge that undercurrent to the northerly which seized your ship 
two or three hudred feet west of the bascule did not exist ? A. I 
could not say.

40 Q- I thought you made the statement that prior to the fill 
at the end of it the current followed the contour of the shore line 
and there was not this northerly current. Did you make that state­ 
ment 1 A. Yes. I never experienced this northerly cross-set un­ 
til the construction of the fill there.

Q. Now, perhaps you can suggest then how a—by the way 
have you seen the chart with the fill on it ? A. Yes, I have. We 
have it in the pilots' office.
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Q. Have you gone down on to the fill and looked at it too 1 
A. No.

Q. You have not You know that it is underneath the south 
end of the bridge ? A. I know that.

Q. Now, do you suggest then that this undercurrent which 
caught your ship and took it in a northerly direction and seized 
it two or three hundred feet west of the bridge was caused by a 
fill apparently two or three hundred feet up-stream according to 
the undercurrent you have told us about ? A. It may have been. 
Water will bank and throw out. It might be deflected by that fill. 10

Q. I just want to get your theory? A. Yes, I would really 
think so.

Q. Do you think it was the current going east that was de­ 
flected by this fill and caught your ship ? A. Yes.

Q. And you think it may have banked up on the fill and 
caught you ? A. Banked and swung out.

Q. It would have to come back west of the fill to catch you, 
having in view your position, wouldn't it. That is plain, you are 
two or three hundred feet west of it and it caught you there ? A. 
"Well, if it banked, it probably banked back two or three hundred 20 
feet and come back. The current would come out but would be 
deflected by the body of water inside.

Q. It would have to get where the ship was ? A. Yes.
Q. You say that was at the end of a long run out? A. Yes, 

I would not specify that it was a long run out, but I know that 
it was low water slack.

Q. You say in taking a large ship of deep draft out going 
west you go now near the end of a long run out ? A. Yes.

Q. And do you get there earlier or later than the tide tables 
show the slack water at? A. I get there earlier. 30

Q. How much? A. Probably half an hour.
Q. You think that is necessary for safety? A. I do.
Q. Thank you.
(Witness aside).
Mr. Smith: I will call Captain Lewis.

ALFRED ELMER LEWIS, a witness called on behalf of the De­ 
fendant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:
Q. What total experience have you had as a seaman on this 

coast? A. 24years. 40
The Court: Residence.
Mr. Smith: Oh, I beg your pardon.
Q. You live in the City of Vancouver ? A. Yes, since 1909.
Q. How many years' experience have you had on this coast? 

A. 24 years.



271

10

20

30

Q. What experience have you had as a pilot? A. Two 
years.

Q. How many times have you been through the Second Nar­ 
rows before the bridge was built ? A Several hundred.

Q. You were master of the tug "Lome" for a long period, 
weren't you? A. For five years.

Q. Did you draw through the'' Narrows'' with the'' Lome ?'' 
A. Yes.

Q. How many times have you been through since the bridge 
was built ? A 13 times.

Q. What is the proper stage of the tide at which to pass 
through the bascule span ? A. Slack water.

Q. In your opinion the bascule span is in the proper posi­ 
tion? A No, sir.

Q. Why not ? A. It does not allow a big ship to have full 
advantage of the channel. It is too close to the starboard shore.

Q. To which shore? A. To the south shore. It would be 
much better if it was out in the middle of the channel where the 
300 foot span is.

Q. Would you speak a little louder, Captain ? A. It would 
be much better if it was where the 300 foot span is.

Q. Is the bridge itself at right angles to the Narrows or at 
an angle? A. It is at an angle.

Q. Is that another disadvantage or otherwise? A It is a 
disadvantage.

Q. Is there deep water all around the span? A. Off the 
south bank?

Q. Yes, the bascule span. I mean with reference to the shore 
east of the bridge ? A. No, it is shallow on the east side.

Q. There is a shoal there, is there ? A. Yes.
Q. How far out is the outer edge of the shoal with reference 

to the bascule span.
Mr. Donaghy: I think that we agreed upon a plan, and it 

seems to me that we are bound by that, and it is of no use having 
a witness who has not taken soundings taking up the time of the 
court.

Mr. Smith: I am quite agreeable, if my friend agrees on
that.

40
Yes.
Q. How does this shoal affect the navigation 

A. It does not allow the ves-

The Court:
Mr. Smith:

of vessels passing east and west? 
sels to line up for the draw.

Q. Has the shoal any other effect ? A. I believe on the ebb 
tide it would have some effect.

Q. From the point of view of eddies being set up ? A. Yes.
Q. Is there any way of telling beforehand when it is time 

for slack water at the Second Narrows? A. Not outside of the 
tide tables.
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Q. Have you found the tide tables accurate in that respect ? 
A. No.

_ Q. Is there any way of telling beforehand the actual period 
Defendant's of slack water, the length of time slack water may be expected to 
Case last? A. No, none that I know of.

Q. What current may one expect to find half an hour one 
side or other of slack water as stated in the tide tables for slack 
water at the bridge ? A. What do you mean ?

Q. What current would you get there at slack water? A. 
There is quite a surface current there. It is irregular. You can- to 
not depend on it.

Q. Are you speaking now of the last of the ebb ? A. Yes.
Q. And do you meet with any undercurrents? A. There 

is some undercurrent there. You cannot tell which way it is go­ 
ing to set to.

Q. I am speaking now of the bascule span right at the bridge. 
A. Yes.

Q. You expect to find undercurrents do you? A. Yes.
Q. Setting how ? A. Right across the span.
Q. Have you ever experienced this undercurrent when it was 20 

slack water on the surface ? A. Yes.
Q. What effect has Seymour Creek on the current ? A. At 

slack water it has some effect in heavy rainstorms.
Q. How does it flow ? A. Bight across the channel.
Q. Have you ever experienced surface currents flowing op­ 

posite directions at the same time ? A. Yes, I have seen them 
going both ways.

Q. When the tide ebbs ? A. It backs up there, ebbs in the 
main stream and backs up on the south shore.

Q. Is it ever possible to estimate the strength of the current 30 
you may meet at the bridge ? A. No, not that I know of.

Q. What effect has the fill at the south end of the bridge on 
the current ? A. It throws the current across the bridge, right 
across the piers.

Q. How was it before the piers were put in, before the bridge 
was built ? A. The current ran straight through, along the shore 
line.

Q. Were you in court when the Captain of the "Eurana" 
gave evidence this forenoon? A. Yes.

Q. Was the navigation he described proper navigation ? A. 4U 
I think so.

Q. At what time do you plan to make the draw when passing 
from east to west at slack water. Do you try to get there ahead 
of slack water or behind it ? A. I like to be there a little ahead 
of time.

Q. Do you endeavour to go through just at exact slack 
water or when? A. I try to.
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Q. When? A. At slack water. RECORD
Q. Before the bridge was built at which stages of the tide British Columbia 

did vessels navigate the Second Narrows ? A. At all stages, pro- Adm'^'y £>">• 
viding the current is not too strong and I would have to buck it. Defendant's

Q. Now that the bridge is there, at which stage do they navi- Case 
gate ? A. At slack water.

Q. And only at slack water? A. In my experience, yes.
Q. Have you yourself ever had any accident at the bridge ? 

A. No, sir.
Q. Have you ever had any near accident ? A. No, I have 

never had any near one. I have been affected by that current set­ 
ting across the span when I had to counteract for it.

Q. But you always succeeded in doing that? A. Yes, sir.

A. E. Lewis 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY:
Q. Are you engaged during the present time, and have you 

been for some months past as a regular pilot? A. Yes, sir.
Q. And as such you have been in the habit of taking ships 

through the bascule span? A. Yes.
The Court: I did not quite hear that. Just repeat your 

answer. What did you say? A. He asked me if I had been 
taking ships through since I have been a pilot.

The Court: I did not quite catch what you said.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Have you been engaged for the past two 

years in taking ships through the bascule span as a pilot? A. 
Yes, sir, 21 months to be exact.

Q. Will you give us some idea of the varying sizes of the 
vessels you have taken through the span? A. Well, they run 
from 350 to 420 in length and the average is 55 feet beam.

Mr. Griffin: A little louder, please? A. The average is 
55 feet beam and 350 to 420 in length.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. And the draft ? A The deepest I have 
had to take is 27 feet.

Q. Now, apparently you knew the waters along the south 
shore where the south end of the bridge is very well, prior to the 
construction of the bridge? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What were you engaged in when you acquired that knowl­ 
edge ? A. Tow boat towing.

Q. Towing booms? A Towing booms and barges and 
steamers.

Q. And you say, I take it, that during that period the cur­ 
rents ran east and west along the south shore and followed the 
shore line ? A. Yes.

Q. And it was not this northerly current mentioned in the 
suit here ? A. Not that I know of. It did not show oh the sur­ 
face anyway.

Q. Nor did you feel it in the bottom ? A. No.

A. E. Lewis 
Cross-exam.
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Yes.
Q. How far west have you felt it, the farthest west of the 

bridge ? A. I should judge about 200 feet.
Q. I suggest to you that that is some sort of a back eddy at 

that location. What do you say to that ? A. I think there is a 
back eddy there close to the shore.

Q. And it is the same thing too underneath the bascule it­ 
self? A. A back eddy? 10

Q. Yes? A. No, there is no back eddy in the bascule.
Q. Then it is a different thing if it is not the same. That 

follows? A. Yes.
Q. In your opinion the current two or three hundred feet 

west of the bridge is a different thing from the current under the 
bascule. A. The current comes into that bight there.

Q. I did not ask you that ? A. You asked—
Mr. Donaghy: Will you read that last question of mine, 

please? (Stenographer reads: "Q. In your opinion the current 
two or three hundred feet west of the bridge is a different thing 20 
from the current under the bascule ? ") A. No, I don't think so.

Q. Which, then, is the back eddy? A. Well, the tide hit 
that starboard shore, the south shore, and flooded right up to the 
draw.

Q. At which place is the back eddy worst. Is it under the 
bascule or a point two or three hundred feet west of the bascule, 
because you surely said you thought there was. At which place 
would you say there was ? A. I would like to take that statement 
back, because there is no back eddy.

Q. You are at liberty to take anything back. You take that 30 
back? A. Yes.

Q. Now, you say there is no back eddy? A. Yes.
Q. You change your position with regard to that? A. 

When I come to think of it, there is no back eddy there.
Q. Now you are positive of it? A. Yes, I am.
Q. That is very fine. Now, seeing that you have arrived at 

a definite conclusion in regard to the current two or three hundred 
feet west of the bridge, what causes it ? A. The deflecting across 
the Narrows ?

Q. Yes, 200 feet west of the bridge? A. I don't know, I 40 
think that it must shoot off from that fill there. That is all that 
I can account for.

Q. At any rate it was not there before the bridge was built? 
A. No.

Q. You know that? A. Yes.
Q. Now, speaking of this undercurrent, I think I heard you 

say to my friend there as to this cross-current at the bascule span



275

RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

(Contd.)

that you cannot tell which way it will set. Do you recollect say­ 
ing that? A. Yes.

Q. Do you wish to stand by that ? A. Yes. _
Q. What did you mean by that? A. It depends on which Defendant's 

way you are going, coming west, coming down through the bridge. Case
The Court: Speak up.
A. It depends on which way you are coming. If you are

jj j-j -i i i • j j -i i • j -i itcoming east to west it generally hits the ship on the port bow.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. And carries you which way, north or 

10 south? A. To the northward.
Q. Tell us which point of the compass going the opposite 

way? A. It still carries you to north 'ard when going east. It 
hits you on the starboard bow.

Q. That is the same thing ? A. Yes.
Q. Explain the position ; you assumed first that you cannot 

tell which way it will carry you and now you are positive that it 
will always carry you to the north 'ard, explain that? A. You 
never can tell which way it is going to take a sheer.

Q. What do you mean by that ? A. When coming down to 
20 the bridge there is a back ,eddy above the bridge as well as at the 

bridge.
Q. East, you mean? A. Yes, and sometimes it is pretty 

hard to keep the vessel pretty straight coming down there.
Q. I asked you to explain what you mean when you say you 

cannot tell which way it will sheer, having regard to which way, 
what do you mean, northerly or southerly, is that what you mean ? 
A. Yes.

Q. Then I take it, witness, that the sheer will inevitably be 
to the north 'ard ? A. I am speaking from my own experience. 

30 Q. I take it you are speaking from that experience. You 
make the statement that it is not inevitably true that the sheer 
will be to the north 'ard, it may be to the south 'ard ? A. It could 
be.

Q. That is your experience, you say? A. Yes.
Q. All right. And this time when you found by experience 

there was a sheer to the south 'ard, what was the state of the tide? 
A. Practically slack water.

Q. Low slack or high? A. No, high slack.
Q. High slack, yes, and where was the boat with reference 

40 to the bridge ? A. Coming to the westward.
Q. Where was it ? You are giving me the direction, which 

is not the location ? A. Oh, the east side of the bridge.
Q. How far east ? A. Coming west.
The Court: What occasion was this?
Mr. Donaghy : We have not got it yet, a time.
Q. At that time coming west and while east of the bridge 

and when you had the southerly sheer, give the location of the
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T. Manson 
Direct.

ship, when you had that southerly sheer? A. I should think it 
was about 150 to 200 feet away from the bridge.

Q. East of the bridge ? A. Yes.
Q. Will you try to give a statement as to the time, the year 

and month when this occurred? A. It was this year.
Q. What month? A. I believe it was in July.
Q. And what ship had you? A. "Senelseco."
Q. A large vessel? A. About 360 feet long, drawing 25 

feet, and 2000 net tons.
Q. Do you think you were in the back eddy when you got 10 

that sheer? A. No, I don't think so.
Q. You don't think you were ? A. No.
Q. You think the current was setting to the south .shore, did 

you? A. Well, I could not say. There was no current to see 
on the surface.

Q. So many pilots have judged by the effect on the ship. 
Do you judge that way or by what you see on the surface ? A. We 
watch the ship.

Q. You judge by the effect on the ship 1 A. Yes.
Q. What judgment did you form as to the direction of the 20 

undercurrent? A, I figured that something struck around the 
starboard bow.

Q. Going southerly? A. Coining across to southerly.
Q. You are the first one who has spoken in this case of a 

southerly current? A. Yes?
Q. Did that happen only once? A. That is the only time 

that I have had a vessel take a sheer on me.
Q. Have you felt the southerly current there ? A. Not al­ 

ways.
Q. Have you felt it on more than one occasion there? A. 30 

No, that is the only time I have had that.
Q. And that was about 250 feet east of the bridge ? A. Yes.
Q. 150 to 200, was it, or 250, perhaps, you don't know? A. 

No, I will say 200 feet.
Q. Thank you.
(Witness aside.)

THOMAS MANSON, a witness called on behalf of the Defendant, 
being first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY ME. SMITH
Q. You live in Vancouver, Captain Manson? A. I do. 40
Q. What experience have you had on this coast ? A. I have 

been master on this coast for 16 years, and pilot for six years.
Q. Speak a little louder, master for 16 years and pilot for six 

years'? A. Yes.
Q. How many times do you think you have passed through



Defendant's

T. Manson

the Second Narrows before the bridge was built? A. Well, it RECORD 
would be very hard to say, but I should think a few hundred times.

Q. How many times have you passed through since it was 
built? A. Over 100times.

Q. What is the proper stage of the tide at which to pass Case 
under the bridge ? A. Well, with my experience I have always 
tried to pass through there at slack water.

Q. Is the bascule span on the bridge in the proper position ? irect' 
A. Well, to my mind it is not. 

10 Q. Why not? A. Well, it is not in the channel.
Q. Just develop that a little, will you? A. Well, by the 

span not being in the channel, when a ship is passing through, you 
are trying to force the ship against the shore line which the ship 
won't do, that is, when there is not sufficient water there, and that 
forces the ship into deeper water and makes it dangerous going 
through the span.

Q. The span is too near the south shore? A. Correct, it 
is too near the south shore.

Q. Is the bridge at right angles to the fairway ? A. No. 
20 Q. Has that an effect upon the navigation of the ship ? A. 

A very bad effect.
Q. That is because of what, exactly? A. Well, you have 

practically got to change the course of the ship before you get 
clear of the draw, to clear the shallow water going in an easterly 
direction, to clear the shallow water east of the draw. Before the 
ship's stern is clear of the draw you have to change your course to 
clear that shallow water.

Q. That is when you are going from west to east ? A. Cor­ 
rect.

30 Q. Now, when you are going from east to west, what is the 
situation? A. Well, in going from east to west on account of 
the shallow water being east of the draw, you cannot line up the 
draw until you have come abeam of that shallow water, or past 
it, and the consequence is if there is any—if it is near slack water 
or low water, the eddies along the shore line with the fill there seem 
to throw the bow of the ship out of the channel.

Q. With reference to the bridge, and the bascule span in 
particular, what is the outer edge of the shoal you speak about 
in line with ? A. Practically in line with the middle of the draw, 

40 that is for a deep draft vessel.
Q. You mean by that the bascule span ? A. Yes.
Q. Is there any way of telling when it is slack water at the 

Narrows ? A. It is a very hard matter.
Q. Do you find that the tide tables are accurate or otherwise 

with regard to the Second Narrows only ? A. Since the bridge 
had been put there it seems to be a very hard matter to tell exactly 
when the water will be flowing easterly or westerly. The tide
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RECORD tables may be right, but it is a question of what direction the tide
British Columbia will be flowing.
Admirdty^Dist. Q j^ js difficult to tell the length or period of slack water any 
Defendant's time? A. I don't think the period is very long on a large tide. 
Case It is a matter of minutes, I should say.

Q. I think I asked you this before, but if I did, you might 
answer it again, how have you found the tide tables, accurate or 
inaccurate with regard to the Second Narrows? A. Since the 
construction of the bridge they are not as accurate as before the 
construction of the bridge.

Q. Therefore you found them inaccurate? A. Yes.
Q. What is the amount of variation that you have found in 

the tide tables ? A. That lays a lot with our weather conditions, 
that is taking the freshets in the Fraser River, or a heavy fall of 
water up in the Inlet. That will change that. It has the greatest 
effect.

Q. Under average conditions, what is the greatest variation 
now ? A. Probably 15 minutes.

Q. At low water slack? A. Yes.
Q. By that you mean the low water slack might be 15 or 20 

minutes on either side of the time mentioned in the tide tables? 
A. Exactly.

Q. At slack water in the Second Narrows, what eddies or 
currents may one expect to meet with? A. The last of the ebb 
tide going in a westerly direction with the ship, it seems that 
since that fill was put there the current comes up the shore line 
and strikes the fill and throws the current in a northerly direction 
across the channel.

Q. Yes. Now, say with reference to Seymour Creek? A 
Well, when there is a big freshet in Seymour Creek, that also flows 
across the channel across the bridge in a southerly direction.

Q. Did these tides exist before the bridge was built? A. 
The tides existed, yes, but there was not these cross-currents there.

Q. That is to say, the cross-currents you have mentioned as 
striking against the south end of the bridge and being deflected 
across. You say that that was not there before the bridge was 
built? A No.

Q. How did the tide flow before the bridge was built? A. 
Pretty well up and down the channel, the centre of the channel— 
the tide was very true there.

Q. Can you now at any time estimate beforehand the 
strength of the current you might meet in the Narrows? A. I 
myself could not. I would not say for anyone else.

Q. You feel that you could not ? A No.
Q. What time do you usually try to make the bridge when 

passing through with a loaded ship with reference to the tide ? A. 
I always try to pass through the bridge at slack water or slightly

10

20

30
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before. I give myself half an hour to spare so that when approach- RECORD
ing the bridge I can be governed by the conditions I see existing
there when I am approaching the bridge. Admiralty

Q. So that passing through the bridge east to west with a Defendant 
loaded ship, do you try to get through sometime a little before slack Case 
water at the last of the ebb ? A. Yes.

Q. Either the last of the ebb or slack water? A. Yes.
Q. What do you consider is the proper speed for a vessel 

going from east to west to approach the bridge ? A. Well, it de­ 
pends on the speed of the ship. If it is a ship with big power, 
four or five knots are all right, but if it is a slower ship, three or 
four knots.

Q. Before the bridge was built, at what stage of the tide did 
ships pass through the Narrows ? A. They passed through suc­ 
cessfully there for many years almost at all stages of the tide.

Q. Now that the bridge is there at what stages do they pass 
through ? A. Well, if you have only one high water slack in the 
day time, in day light, you have practically only one hour for large 
ships. We have ships going up there, 15,000 ton ships. I have 
taken one up. A ship with 15,000 tons is a large ship, and going 
through, she cannot go through the span very well at low water.

Q. Were you in Court when the "Captain of the "Eurana" 
gave evidence? A. I was.

Q. Was the navigation of the "Eurana" proper navigation 
in your opinion ? A. To the best of my knowledge it was.

Q. Have you had any accidents at the bridge? A. No, I 
have not.

Q. Have you had any near accidents? A. Yes, a good 
many.

Q. Is the bridge an obstruction to navigation ? A To my 
mind it is.

Q. Is it a menace to navigation ? A. I think that is a good 
name for it.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY ME. DONAGHY:
Q. How many years have you been piloting ships through 

the bascule ? A. Ever since it was built.
Q. And the size of the craft has varied somewhat. In what 

directions have you taken them through ? A. I should say from 
10,000 tons down to possibly 2000 or 3000.

Q. And you took one through, you said, of 15,000 tons ? A. 
Yes, that was just before the bridge was built.

Q. Yes, that was before there was any pier there ? A. Yes.
Q. Are there any ships of that size seeking business east of 

the bridge today? A. Yes, the oil tankers.
Q. They go through? A. Yes.
The Court: I cannot hear what you say? A. Yes, these

T. Manson 
Cross-exam.
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Mr. Donaghy: That is something new we have had. Have 
you taken any of them through ? A. No, there has been only one 
that has passed through, 15,000 tons, to my knowledge since it has 
been built.

Q. Are there any over 10,000 passing through there from 
month to month? A. Yes.

Q. Running up to what tonnage? A. I should say around 
10,000. 10

Q. And carrying what draft? A. About 28 feet.
The Court: Learned counsel asked you what ships over 10,- 

000 tons were going through the Narrows now. I did not hear you 
make a clear answer to that question 1 A. The fuel oil tankers.

The Court: The tonnage of the ships, and what their sizes 
are—it is so important to know what these are. You told us that 
you took through one of 15,000 tons, and learned counsel is asking 
you to what extent do ships over 10,000 tons pass through that 
bridge today. Tell us what you know about it ? A. The fuel oil 
tankers pass through. 20

Mr. Donaghy: Is that the name of the ships, or the line of 
ships'? A. A line of ships.

Q. Known as— A. Imperial Oil tankers.
Q. Oh, Imperial Oil tankers! Yes. Have you taken 150 

ships or made 150 passages through the bascule ? A. I said that 
I considered over 100, but I just cannot recall the exact number. 
I could tell you definitely if I had time to prepare it.

Q. You have spoken of a northerly undercurrent under the 
bascule. At what stage of the tide have you found that to exist ? 
A. Just about the first of the flood tide; the last of the ebb and 30 
the first of the flood.

Q. That is the only stage of the tide you have found it to 
exist at? A. That is my experience.

Q. I am asking you that you have found. You understand 
what I mean ? A. Correct.

Q. Yes, all right. That is the only stage of the tide you 
have found the northerly undercurrent under the bascule. Is that 
correct? A. Correct.

Q. Very good. Will you tell why you make it a point to 
arrive at the bridge about half an hour before the turn of the tide 40 
as indicated on the time table or the tide table? A. Well, it 
seems that since the fill was put in at the end of the bridge that 
the first of the flood tide comes along the shore and strikes the 
shore light and runs along the fill and of course when a vessel 
is coming from east to west, that tide strikes her bow and throws 
her over on the north side of the channel. It works vice versa 
with a ship coming from—
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Q. Let me finish with that first, and then you can revert to it. RECORD 
I think the point is cleared that on the young flood — you think 
there is first of all a flood undercurrent ? A. Correct. Admiralty

Q. And you want to get there before the flood undercurrent Defendant's 
starts? A. Yes. Case

Q. And does this undercurrent that we have been speaking 
of indicate — is this undercurrent we have been speaking of in any 
way indicated by the surface of the water in the form of eddies (Comd. 
or anything of that kind? A. When it gets sufficient strength 

10 to show on the surface, there is generally quite a tide there.
Q. Does it show in the earlier stages? A. No, I don't 

think so.
Q. So at any rate you desire to get there before this flood 

undercurrent begins? A. Yes, sir.
Q. And that really means that you have got to get there 

20 minutes or 30 minutes before slack water as shown by the tide 
table ? A. Correct.

Q. And I take it that is what you do when you are navigating 
at the long run out? A. Yes.

20 Q. Have you navigated with deep draft vessels through any 
other bridges in the world ? A. No, sir.

Q. None? A. Not as master.
Q. What other bridges have you navigated in any capacity ; 

important bridges, with deep draft vessels'? A. Well, I have 
been on this coast for 30 years, and I went to sea at the age of 14 
years on sailing ships and my experience with bridges is not very 
much.

Q. Can you answer the question. I did not ask you your 
life history, I just asked you to name the bridges ? A. No, I have 

30 not.
Q. All right. Then I take it you mean you have not navi­ 

gated any important bridges with deep-sea craft in any form or 
capacity as an officer or master or pilot or whatnot ? A. No.

Q. What is your answer ? A. I have been a seaman passing 
through bridges, but not as an officer.

Q. I said in any capacity? A. Yes.
Q. Tell us of those bridges, where they are and what are 

they? A. I have passed up and down the Clyde.
Q. Yes? A. I am not quite clear exactly as to the other 

40 bridges, I cannot recall from memory ; I am not prepared on that 
particular question, but if you wish I could prepare that and give 
it to you.

Q. I don't think that you need a great deal of preparation 
for that? A. No.

Q. I should think so, if you are a seaman. You have men­ 
tioned the bridges on the Clyde? A. Yes.

Q. There are other bridges. Have you been up the Thames 
and the Mersey. A. Yes.
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Q. Where else? A. I have been on the Mersey and the 
Thames at different times.

Q. You have not a very clear recollection of the bridges 
there? A. This is many years ago, but I can prepare that for 
you.

Q. Not if it was so long ago, probably it would not be in­ 
teresting? A. Thank you.

Q. Now, you have ventured the opinion that the bridge has 
made the tide table inaccurate, that is, it has done something that 
changes the tide so that the table is no longer accurate. I take to 
it that was your statement. A. Yes.

Q. What leads you to the conclusion that this bridge could 
hold the tide ? A. It is narrowed at the Second Narrows by put­ 
ting in this fill.

The Court: Turn this way, I cannot hear you. A. It has 
narrowed the Second Narrows by the fill in here, and the piers; 
it has confined the tide to a narrow place and seemingly has 
changed the time of the tide in that way.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. That is your opinion ? A. That is my 
opinion. 20

Q. Did you know or do you know that since the bridge was 
constructed, the channel has been enlarged? A. Yes, there has 
been a cut on the north shore, but that has not affected the present 
span that the vessels are passing through.

Q. It has not affected the bascule span? A. No.
Q. I did not ask you that ? A. Yes, I am aware of that cut 

that was made there.
Q. You are aware that since the bridge was built the channel 

was enlarged for the water in the Second Narrows to flow in ? A. 
I would not be quite prepared to say that it was enlarged. From 30 
the present plan the cut was put there, it is a hole that has been 
dug on the north shore, but you could not say that it enlarges the 
channel.

Q. Can you say that it has not? A. No, I won't.
Q. You are not really qualified to say? A^ No.
Q. Before this bridge was constructed did you take large 

heavy draft vessels through the Second Narrows ? A. Yes.
Q. Name some of them? A. The "James McGee," 15,000 

tons.
Q. You told us of that one, what other? A. The "Mina 40 

Brea," the "Torontolite."
The Court: Counsel is now asking about large ships, is that 

right.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, or large ships. A. The "Montana," 

and different Dollar ships.
Q. Averaging a tonnage of what ? A. 10,000 tons down.
Q. Did you take those large ships through at all stages of
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the tide, or did you select the tide? A. Depending on the size of RECORD 
the ship.

The Court: These are before or after the bridge was built.
Mr. Donaghy: Before.
Q. You understand that ? A. Yes.
Q. These are large ships with a deep draft. Having that

in mind, did you take them under those conditions before the bridge
was built, or did you select the tide? A. On spring tide in the
Second Narrows, I don't like to navigate a heavy draft loaded ship

10 on a spring tide.
Q. Why ? A. Well, it was considered like all other narrow 

channels with a strong tide, it is considered unsafe, like the First 
Narrows.

Q. Thank you.
Mr. Smith: Q. Save and except the long run in at a spring 

tide, is it your opinion that the bridge as to navigation—
Mr. Donaghy: One moment, my friend opened that, and that 

is why I cross-examined. He opened on the question of the navi­ 
gation of the Second Narrows.

20 Mr. Smith: If you object I will leave it. I was clearing it 
up for your satisfaction.

Mr. Donaghy: My learned friend generally does this. I may 
say that this is not the first time.

The Court: Q. Witness, you see, you told the court that be­ 
fore this bridge was built that you had taken yourself a 15,000 
ton vessel through the Narrows ? A. Yes.

Q. Have you taken more than one 15,000 ton ship, or about 
that class through the Narrows? A. To my knowledge there 
have been only two 15,000 ton ships.

30 Q. Never mind, just answer my question. I will come to that 
later. Have you taken more than one? A. No.

Q. Now, since the bridge has been there you have taken none 
of that class through ? A. No, your honour.

Q. Of your own knowledge do you know that ships of that 
class are still running through that bridge? A. Yes, your hon­ 
our, there has been one.

Q. Now you say one, do you mean that that is on a regular 
so-to-speak established run ? A. No, your honour.

Q. Where would this vessel be running to, you say it was 
40 an Imperial Oil tanker? A. Yes.

Q. Is she supplying some sort of an oil depot? A. She 
made one voyage here, but she is used more on the East Coast.

Q. Is there only one vessel here that you know of over 10,- 
000 tons going through that bridge ? 9. Over 10,000, but not 15,- 
000.

Q. Over 10,000. Do you know of any line of vessels, or of
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_ a vessel that actually runs, we will say, customarily? A. Yes, 
British Columbia the Dollar Company's.

Q. Yes, not occasional tramp steamers ? A. Yes.
Q. Do you know of any vessels appreciably over 10,000, say 

12,000 to 15,000 tons running through that bridge now? A. No, 
10,000 is the largest.

Q. At this moment. When I say this moment, just about 
this time, this day or the same month or week, is that bridge being 
used by vessels of that description over 10,000 tons 1 A. It has 
been and is used today for 10,000 ton ships, quite a number.

Q. You understand that is what I am trying to get at. Is 
there an appreciable shipping business carried on above that 
bridge 'by vessels over 10,000 tons? A. Yes, the Imperial Oil 
Company, their ships are continually running there.

Q. 'Over 10,000 tons? A. Yes.
Q. Thank you.
Mr. Smith: Thank you, Captain.
(Witness aside).

C. B. Smith 
Direct.

10

CHARLES BARBER SMITH, a witness caUed on behalf 
of the Defendant, being first duly sworn, -testified as follows: 20

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH
Q. You live in Vancouver? A. Yes.
Q. What total experience have you had on this coast? A. 

Twenty-three years.
Q. And what experience have you had as master in command 

of coast vessels? A. Eight years with the Union Steamship 
Company.

Q. And what experience have you had as pilot? A. Two 
years and a half.

Q. Can you tell me how often you have passed through the 30 
Second Narrows since the bridge was built ? A. Since the bridge 
was built 75 times.

Q. What in your opinion is the proper stage of the tide at 
which to pass through the Narrows. A. Slack water, high or 
low.

Q. Is the bascule span of the present bridge in the proper 
position ? A. No, it is too close to the south shore. It is out of 
the centre of the channel.

Q. Is the bridge at right angles to the fairway or otherwise ? 
A. No, otherwise.

Q. Is this a disadvantage or otherwise? A. A disadvan­ 
tage.

Q. Is there deep water all around the span? A. The bas­ 
cule span?

Q. Yes? A. You mean the draw?
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Q. Yes? A. There is deep water in the draw. RECORD
Q. I mean along the shore line? A. No, on the east shore Brith 

it shallows up, on the bank on the east side. Admiralty
Q. How far is the shoal on the south shore to the east of the Defendant's 

bridge where it juts out? A. It is pretty near the centre of the Case 
span, the bascule span. B~s~'th

Q. Now, JLOW does this shoal affect the navigation of the Direct
bridge? A. Well, coming west you have to line the bridge up 
and naturally you get well over on the south shore to line the 

10 bascule span up, and if the tide is not absolutely slack water, which 
it is impossible to tell, if the tide is flooding at low water slack, 
flooding on the south shore it will set you over to the northeast of 
the draw, and going east, why naturally it will do the same thing. 
It will set your boat over there.

Q. Is there any way of ascertaining when it is slack water 
at the Narrows ? A. Only by the tide book. That is as near as 
you can get to it.

Q. Have you found the tide book accurate or otherwise? 
A. Otherwise.

20 Q. Similarly, is there any way of telling what length of slack 
water there may be ? A. There is no way of telling at all at the 
different tides, small and large tides, sometimes there is fifteen 
minutes slack and at other times no slack at all. It just turns and 
runs the other way right away.

Q. How far have you found the tide tables to be out with 
reference to time, with reference to slack water ? A. The furth­ 
est I have found is twenty-five minutes.

Q. What currents or eddies may be found at low water slack
around about the bridge? A. On the west side the current sets

30 across, right across the draw of the bascule span, northeast, on the
first of that flood, that is the first hour and apparently at slack
water you cannot judge it. The tide may have turned a little.

Q. Was that tide you describe running northeast there be­ 
fore the bridge was built? A. No.

Q. Were there any currents from Seymour Creek ? A. Oh, 
no; freshets in the spring time, but right now, of course, there is 
none.

Q. How does the Seymour Creek current flow? A. That 
sets right across the channel, almost at right angles, until the tide 

40 gets strong enough to carry it through.
Q. Have you had any experience with two surface currents 

running opposite directions at the same time ? A. Yes, that hap­ 
pens right at the span there. On the north shore it will be ebbing 
and on the south shore flooding.

Q. Is it ever possible to estimate beforehand the strength of 
the current that may be met with ? A. Mentally, that is all. You 
just judge it yourself. You cannot with any reliability.

(Contd.)
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C. B. Smith 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

RECORD Q Before the fill in was built at the south end of the bridge 
British Columbia did the current flow right through the Narrows along the contour 
Admiraityj>ist. of the land on the south shore 1
Defendant's Mr. Burns: That is a leading question. 
Case Mr. Smith: Q. Did it or did it not?

The Court: Just ask him how it did flow before.
Mr. Smith: Q. How did the current flow through the Nar­ 

rows before the bridge was built ? A. Through the centre of the 
channel it flowed straight. But on each side of the channel there 
was always these eddies. 10

Q. How did the eddies flow ? A. Away, the opposite way 
to the direction of the tide, and of course we got the whirls there, 
whirlpools on account of the irregular bottom.

Q. What in your opinion is the proper method of navigat­ 
ing through the bridge with a loaded ship going east to west at 
low water slack 1 A. With a loaded ship I would not go through 
the bridge at low water slack.

Q. Not if you could help it ? A. Not if I could help it, but 
if I was forced to go through I would come west as far as—within 
1,000 feet of the bridge keeping midchannel and then I would head 20 
right through the bascule span, that is at slack water. I have done 
it several times.

Q. Since when have you made up your mind you would not 
try to go through at low water slack ? A. Since the trouble with 
the last two ships that have gone through.

Q. Since the "Eurana" accident? A. Yes.
Q. And the "Norwich City" accident? A. Yes.
Q. What do you think is the proper speed at which to ap­ 

proach the bridge? A. That depends on the ship itself. If it 
is a good steering ship why I would approach at about 6 knots; 30 
a bad steering ship I would just practically drift through.

Q. Before the bridge was built at what stage of the tide did 
ships pass through the Narrows ? A. Well, I was only on small 
ships and I used to go through at any stage as long as I could stem 
the current.

Q. At what stages do they pass through now ? A. At high 
water slack, that is a loaded ship. A light ship goes through at low 
water or high water slack.

Q. Have you had any accidents at the bridge? A. Yes, 
I had an accident just after the bridge was built with one of the 40 
Union boats. I was told to go up to loco with a vessel and she 
was light and I went through on the first hour of the flood and the 
tide from the south shore coming out of that bay swept me right 
on to the north pier bodily. She was 150 feet long that ship was 
and I was close to the south span, that is the bascule, the lift span, 
I was right close to there, within 100 feet of the draw and before 
I could get through I was right up against the north pier. That 
ship has about 16 feet beam.
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Q. Did you do any damage to the ship ? A. 32-foot beam, RECORD 
I should say. Yes, it broke the guards, and dented the plates on British 
the starboard side, just about on the quarter. That is the only Adm" 
accident I have had. Defendant's

Q. How long was that ship ? A. Between 150 and 160 feet Case 
long. That was going full speed, trying to get through without r n ~r~-. 
touching. gte

Q. Do you know this notice, the notice No. 76 of 1925 deal- (Comd.) 
ing with the regulations for the bridge. 

10 Mr. Donaghy: Let me see it, please. I have not seen it.
Mr. Smith: (Produces to counsel.)
Q. You are familiar with this notice, No. 76 of 1925? A. 

Yes.
Q. Dealing with the bridge and the regulations for passing 

through? A. Yes.

(NOTICE TO MARINERS, NO. 76 OF 1925, MARKED EX­ 
HIBIT NO. 23.)
The Court: No. what did you say ?
Mr. Smith: 76. 

20 The Court: Of 1925. Yes. He is familiar with that. Yes.
Mr. Smith: Q. I refer you to paragraph 3, section 6, under 

traffic regulations which says this. (Reads.) A. Yes.
Q. Is the effect of that regulation as a matter of fact to 

cause a breach of the rules of the road in the case of deep-sea 
vessels ?

Mr. Burns: Surely, that should not be put that way. That 
is a leading question. What is the effect of the rule.

Mr. Smith: Q. What is the effect of the rule with reference 
to deep-sea vessels going east to west? A. Naturally they will 

30 have to pass on the wrong side of the channel. Rule 25 says every 
vessel in the Narrows channel shall keep to that side of the fair­ 
way which is the starboard side.

Q. Going east to west deep-sea vessels must keep to the south 
side? A. Yes.

Q. For what purpose ? A. To go through the bascule span.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS: c. B. Smith
Q. Do you mean by that, Captain, that a vessel follows— go- ross'exam- 

ing through this span, that is from west to east ? A. No, east to 
west.

40 Q. Has to keep to the port of the channel ? A. Has to keep 
on the port side.

Q. Because the bascule span is to the port of the channel? 
A. Yes.

Q. The vessel has to go through the bascule? A. Yes.
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RECORD Q. what difficulty is there about that? A. No difficulty 
British Columbia but a vessel coming west would have to cross her bows to keep on 

her side. You are breaking the rules of the road.
Q. I understand your point? A. There is no difficulty un­ 

less there is another vessel coming the other way.
Q. And the other vessel knows, the vessel you have referred 

to is coming through that bascule span? A. Yes.
Q. Must do so ? A. Yes.
Q. So that there is nothing difficult about it? A. No, just 

the rules, it breaks the rule, that is all. We often do that. 10
Q. But it is quite plain to any mariner what he has got 

to do. A. Yes.
Q. I thought that the way you were referring to it was 

causing confusion. What is the name of that ship, the one 150 
feet long? A. The "Chilkoot."

Q. You say that you were going up on the first hour of the 
flood? A. Yes.

Q. Going east? A. Yes, the big tide.
Q. What was the size of the tide ? A. About a twelve foot 

tide. 20
Q. When you say the first hour, you mean one hour after it 

started ? A. Yes.
Q. Was she going pretty strong ? A. Running very strong. 

I could not judge the strength of the tide, I know she was strong 
when I got there.

Q. You would naturally expect at the end of the first hour 
of a twelve foot tide she would be going pretty strong. Was she 
established ? A. Yes.

Q. Then you took full speed to get through? A. To try 
to get through without hitting. 30

Q. What I was going to ask about was this, this current 
coming out from that bight on the south shore and into the full 
race ? A. Yes.

Q. That was the one that threw you against the north pier 
of the bascule ? A. Yes.

Q. Or in proximity to it ? A. Yes.
Q. And that current was quite apparent to you. You could 

see it? A. Yes, but it was too late to turn. I had the tide with 
me.

Q. But so far as the state of the current at that time it gave 40 
evidence of itself on the surface. There is no doubt about that? 
A. Yes.

Q. And it would be doing that for some little time? A. 
Yes, it would have been doing that for, I should say, just before 
the slack.

Q. Just before the slack? It would be doing that for some 
considerable time. As a matter of fact, I am going to ask you a
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(Contd.)

frank question. We have been having a lot of evidence with re- RECORD
spect to these currents and this particular current. I am going
to ask you a question and I want you to give attention to it as I
ask it. You know this spit or fill ? A. Yes. Defendant's

Q. You know there was a spit there before the rock was put Case 
on top. You knew that ? A. Just shallow water.

Q. But it ran out in a spit? A. Ran parallel with the 
shore.

Q. Wasn't it as a matter of fact a definite spit running into 
10 the water? A. No.

Q. It was a rounded spit 1 A. Yes, more like a ledge.
Q. And this rock was put on top of it? A. Yes.
Q. Filled in? A. Yes.
Q. And as a matter of fact a very small portion of rock is 

under water at low tide? A. Of course, I cannot tell what is 
under water.

Q. You size it up as that in your opinion? A. I should 
judge that.

Q. And the effect of that as I understand this evidence is that 
20 it has a tendency to deflect the incoming flood tide ? A. Yes.

Q. Across in a northeasterly direction? A. Yes.
Q. Some of the witnesses said northerly? A. Northerly 

or northeast. It varies from time to time.
Q. If you can follow me do not break in. I am coming to the 

question in a minute. Now, would you say, Captain, that at the 
start of that deflection that the deflection is not shown on the sur­ 
face ? A. At the start of it.

Q. Yes, the start of it. Just leave it that way. That is, the
flood tide is coming on; it shows evidence of itself in the bight

30 and then there is a certain amount of deflection as it comes on to go
through the Second Narrows? A. I have never seen it on the
surface at the start.

Q. Have you ever seen any real effect of it when there was 
no indication on the surface? A. Yes.

Q. Tell me when? A. When coming through with ships 
several times, east to west.

Q. I understand, east to west, and without any evidence of
the flood tide having started on the surface you have felt the effect
of that ? A. Yes, without any evidence of the flood tide having

40 started in the channel I have felt the effect when I got up there.
Q. Another question I am going to ask you along the same 

line — are you prepared to say that your experience of that effect 
was not caused by the whirls that you spoke of or eddies in the 
slack water or water between the two tides ? A. No, there is very 
little until after the tide is through the bridge, very few whirls.

Q. Caused by irregularities in the bottom that you spoke of 
a minute ago? A. The tide has got to be very strong to get the 
whirls from the irregularities in the bottom.
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RECORD_ Q. Are you prepared to say this effect you experience when 
British Columbia coming through— A. Eh?
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Q. From east to west, coming down on the bottom of the ebb 
or back of the ebb and meeting the commencement of the flood— 
A. Yes?

Q. —that is not caused by the whirls and eddies in the slack 
water ? A. Yes, I have seen in that bight, I have seen the tide 
run straight back without any whirls at all which would not be 
caused by the—I don't think it would be caused by the whirls.

Q. Are you prepared to give as your testimony that this effect 10 
you experience would not be from whirls and eddies in the slack 
water, but must have been the current coming off that fill? A. 
Yes.

Q. And there was no evidence of that deflection of the current 
on the surface ? A. In the channel, but in the bight there was.

Q. And also coming into the fill there was ? A. No, I could 
not see it coming into the fill, not at the first.

Q. That is perfectly smooth. Now, in the channel the effect 
that you experienced was when you were in the bascule? A. 
Was when I just got through. 20

Q. In fact, it was to the west? A. Yes.
Q. Any deflection of the current there, will you agree with 

this, is more northerly than northeasterly ? A. Yes, about nor '- 
nor'east.

Q. That is about midway, across the channel to the north 
nor-east ? A. Yes.

Q. And its effect would only be felt about the east side of 
the bascule span, or possibly a little further east than that? A. 
Yes, I should say about 100 feet at the most.

Q. Yes, if you are going to give it some portion, or some 30 
distance east of the bascule span to have any effect at all it would 
be the limit when you say 100 feet? A. Yes, it depends on the 
strength of the tide and how long it has been running.

Q. Mind you, we understand this, that the current we are 
speaking of is lost once it is established? A. Yes.

Q. We are only speaking about this current— A. Yes, as 
it gradually increased it is lost.

Q. Dropped away? A. Yes.
Q. At least by the water in the first hour of the flood ? A. 

Yes. 40
Q. So as a matter of fact you just about got the end of it in 

this experience of yours with the "Chilkoot?" A. Yes.
Q. At its greatest force it could only give any effect to the 

extent of about 100 feet east of the bascule ? A. Yes, about 100 
feet.

Q. You said also there were two surface currents right at 
the span? A. Right at the bascule.
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C. B. Smith 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)

Q. Was it the bascule ? I want to clear that up. There were RECORD 
two surface currents at some point of the tide? A. With the British Columbia 
tide, when it was running strong in the centre of the channel there Admiralty pin. 
were two surface currents opposite sides. Defendant's

Q. The tide was going which way? A. Either way in the Case 
bight is where the surface currents are.

Q. I am in the mid-channel now ? A. Yes ?
Q. When the tide is going either way there is a tidal current 

in the middle of the channel and eddies on either side going the 
10 opposite way? A. Yes.

Q. Eddies, that is eddying currents ? A. Surface currents. 
You can notice on them on the surface.

Q. And those obtain any time the tide is running ? A. Yes.
Q. Right away. And those obtain all over the south shore ? 

A. Along the south shore and well over on to the north shore.
Q. This position is a fair one, at the end even of the ebb tide 

while still there is an ebb going on, while still the ebb is running 
out up to the point that it ceased to show as running out in mid- 
channel ? A. Yes.

20 Q. There is a back eddy current on the south shore going 
the other way? A. No, when the current stops running in the 
centre of the channel, then that is the flood tide making.

Q. I am talking about before the flood tide comes in? A. 
You said slack.

Q. No, while it is still ebbing? A. But apparently slack 
you said.

Q. No. What I have in mind, there is a deep current mid- 
channel going out? A. Yes.

Q. While that definite current exists and is flowing, there 
30 is a back eddy current on the south shore ? A. Yes.

Q. As well as on the north shore? A. Well, no, on the 
south shore.

Q. So that is a natural condition, on the south shore it runs 
in and ebbs, running out in mid-channel ? A. Yes.

Q. That is indicated on the surface? A. Yes, you cannot 
get anything else. You cannot get anything but a surface current 
unless you go under the water.

Q. If the surface is running a certain way, the under water 
will be going the same ? A. Yes.

40 Q- When she stops ebbing, when the run out is about 
finished? A. Yes.

Q. Does this eddy current on the south shore stop too? A. 
No, the flood tide starts to make, to run in to the north, to make; 
about half an hour before low water slack the tide starts, to make; 
the tide is rising by the shore line.

Q. While it is still ebbing out? A. Yes.
Q. In that case, then, the tide coming in is only helping that
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RECORD ebb current on the south shore, because that is going the same
British Columbia Way ? A. YeS.
Admiralty Dist.
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(Contd.)

Q. Isn 't this a natural proposition that this eddying current 
on the south shore exists while the tide is ebbing out ? A. Yes.

Q. And the flood coming in must accent and emphasize 
that south shore current? A. No, when the tide is ebbing, it is 
too strong to affect any part of the centre of the channel, and then 
when it slacks up, the force of the flood comes in around the bight 
and increases across by the fill there.

Q. Am I right in this, that the commencement of the flood 
tide that is commencing to overcome the ebb, or slack water, what­ 
ever you call it— A. Yes ?

Q. Must not the effect of that necessarily help the eddying 
current going east on the south shore ? If that is not a proposition 
you accept, then explain to me why it is not ? A. You mean the 
ebbtide?

Q. The ebb tide runs out in the middle of the channel. You 
have given me this ? A. Yes.

Q. And eddying currents run in on the south shore? A. 
Yes.

Q. Now, the ebb is getting lower, and the flood tide is coming 
up ? A. Yes.

Q. Now, in coming up, wouldn't naturally the flood tide go 
to the least resistance and help that eddying current which is in 
its favour on the south shore ? A. Sure.

Q. It wouldn't do any harm? A. Sure, the flood tide helps 
it along.

Q. How do you account for this, these chaps coming here 
and saying that this force or current that met this "Eurana" ship 
was an under-current, and gave no indication of it on the surface, 
when as a matter of fact we have the position now which I think 
you agree with me that the flood tide coming up would naturally 
help the current on the surface going along the south shore, and 
would be on the surface. How do you account for that ? A. The 
undercurrent ?

Q. Yes, that undercurrent and not the surface current ? A. 
I cannot say nothing about the undercurrent. I have never ex­ 
perienced any undercurrent. Anything I experienced I could see, 
bar Seymour Creek.

Q. You are not one that adheres to this idea? A. There 
may be undercurrents there.

Q. If that is so, and we have discussed it to this point, that 
is where the oncoming tide must be helping the surface current 
that already exists? A. Yes.

Q. And it must because it follows the line of least resistance. 
How could there be an undercurrent going that way and not be 
showing on the surface ? A. Well, after the—

10

'20

30

40
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Q. Low water slack on the surface, there is possibly an RECORD 
undercurrent in the middle of the channel? A, It is in the Brith~ 
middle of the channel in the deep water part of the channel. Admiralty

Q. Where does that come? A. The ebb is still running, Defendant's 
that you cannot see. Case

Q. If the ebb is still running, could it run out? A. Yes, c B ~7~-A 
run out, but still this other force may still be coming back strong, cross-exam

Q. If it came back you think it would naturally go to those (Contd.j 
parts not far from the south shore in order to hit the bascule right 

10 about 400 feet off? A. Yes.
Q. How could you figure that there would be an undercurrent 

there coming in and no indication of that on the surface when as a 
matter of fact on the surface there has been running a current 
right in line with it according to your view? A. I cannot tell 
what is under water.

Q. You expect it ? A. Where you encounter those things, 
irregular bottom, you will encounter an undercurrent and under 
tow.

Q. My suggestion is this that that is not an undercurrent, 
20 but this eddy we are talking about, that is, the eddy from the shore 

backing up from the ebb tide ? A. With the '' Eurana ?''
Q. Yes ? A. With the'' Eurana'' no doubt it was Seymour 

Creek and striking that eddy on the bow.
Q. Striking an eddy in this way? A. Yes.
Q. So far as Seymour Creek is concerned, eliminate that? 

A. That hit the stern and the other catches the bow and helps 
it all the more.

Q. And the resulting condition would be also helped by the 
fact that he did not have much steerage way? A. Yes, it would 

30 be helped.
Q. If he did not have much steerage way, that position would 

be helped? A. Yes, but a vessel going slow has a much better 
chance to get through than a vessel with a load if she takes a 
sheer. The vessel is not moving fast and will feel it right away.

Q. If you had a good strong steerage way you would be in 
a better position? A. No, not if she takes a sheer. When you 
are so close to the bridge as that you cannot do a thing. You 
haven't got room.

Q. That is all. 
40 (Witness aside.)

The Court: Well, gentlemen, how many more witnesses 1
Mr. Griffin: Several more, my lord.
The Court: I do not say for one moment that you have not 

been doing very well, because the case has proceeded with com­ 
mendable despatch. It has been a real pleasure to listen to it. It 
has been interesting as well as inf orming. In view of the sittings 
of the Court of Appeal commencing tomorrow, what do you pro­ 
pose?
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RECORD ]yfr Griffin. I am in your hands. I was hoping that your 
British Columbia engagement would enable you to take a day or two more. 
Admiraityjxst. The Court: It is absolutely impossible. The criminal cases 
Proceedings at are first on the list, and the bench has got to be as strong as pos- 
Trial. sible. That is out of the question. Have you discussed with your 

learned friends when is the most convenient time for all concerned 
to resume the hearing ?

Mr. Griffin: No, my lord.
The Court: I would be glad to have the benefit of your 

suggestions. 10
Mr. Donaghy: I would suggest on or about the conclusion of 

the sittings of the Court of Appeal which commences tomorrow, 
unless your lordship found that you could suit your convenience 
at some near date.

The Court: I think that is the only thing to do, because it is 
really impossible to name a date.

Mr. Griffin: I feel with great deference as to the defendant's 
position, we have voluminous evidence before you and adjourn­ 
ing for a lengthy time will not give you the greatest opportunity 
to keep the evidence in mind. 20

The Court: Don't you think it is in the public interest, there 
are other people as well as yourselves.

Mr. Griffin: I appreciate that, therefore the earliest date 
your lordship can give us.

The Court: I appreciate that, that is more satisfactory to me 
than anything else. I don't like the delay.

Mr. Griffin: But delaying it to the foot of the Court of Ap­ 
peal list would be a disadvantage to the defendants. We have 
our witnesses ready and would like to proceed. So the earliest 
date that you can give us is our request. 30

The Court: I do not understand how you could be damnified.
Mr. Griffin: By not being able to get the witnesses again. 

We have sort of lined them up and arranged it all and it is not by 
any means certain that we can get them again.

The Court: How much longer will it take to present your 
case.

Mr. Griffin: I think we could finish tomorrow if we put in 
the day.

The Court: I told you that it is absolutely impossible on 
the opening day of the Court of Appeal. There is the criminal 40 
cases first on the list and those are matters which give us partic­ 
ular concern, and there is the time-honoured and very proper pol­ 
icy adopted in the administration of justice in this court to make 
the bench in those cases as strong as possible. It means that it 
must be adjourned, and I cannot understand why, if it is to be 
adjourned at all, Mr. Griffin, why it will be to your detriment in 
the slightest way to let it stand until the Court of Appeal is over.
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Mr. Griffin: We feel that it would. RECORD
The Court: In what respect, upon what ground ? British Columbia
Mr. Griffin: On the ground that it is humanly impossible to Mmiraity DJSI. 

have the same memory of the evidence. That is my real ground. Proceedings at 
You might remember it a few days, but no human being can re- Trial. 
member it a few weeks. (Comd.)

The Court: You would be surprised if you saw my notes. 
Is there any other misapprehension.

Mr. Griffin: There is the one as to the disappearance of the 
10 witnesses.

The Court: I am vested with a good memory, and I am forti­ 
fied by my notes which would surprise you if you were to see them; 
how elaborate they are. Now, is there any other misapprehension ?

Mr. Griffin: There is the disappearance of the witnesses. 
And then there is the difficulty of presenting the argument after 
a long period. I am afraid that I will not be in shape to remem­ 
ber everything myself.

The Court: This is a case of the first magnitude and what is 
very often done by other counsel, that is to say, if there is any 

20 witness that they are not sure of, any witness' evidence whom 
they are relying upon they can obtain passages of their evidence. 
This will give you time to have that extended, and it is a very 
useful thing to do.

Mr. Griffin: Yes.
The Court: Extended for both sides. Counsel generally do 

that, anything that they are relying upon. I do not ask you for 
a moment, because I am so satisfied with my notes. I am satisfied 
with them, but that is another thing from saying from your point 
of view there is something particular you would like to emphasize, 

30 and if so you would like to have an extension of the notes.
Mr. Griffin: We have some.
The Court: Pick out what you think you may need for 

future reference. It is a matter of public concern. I think that 
the Statute says this is an undertaking that is run for the general 
benefit of Canada. The public are concerned in it. Therefore, I 
think the best thing would be to speak to me again about the mat­ 
ter to arrange for the completion of the hearing so at some time 
towards the end of next month when we can see how the Court of 
Appeal list is progressing we shall be able to fix a date. There 

40 are 49 cases, I understand. We had a large list the last time. By 
that time we will know about it and your learned friends will see 
how many witnesses they will have to call if they have any more. 
That is for them to say. By your telling us you will be able to 
finish tomorrow, it shows the extent of your case.

Mr. Griffin: That is an estimate.
The Court: I should be very pleased to hear you at some
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_ time towards the end of next month if you will communicate with 
British Columbia the Registrar. Just adjourn the court sine die.

(4:50 p.m. Court was thereupon adjourned sine die.)

November 28th, 1928.

PROCEEDINGS AT TRIAL CONTINUED PURSUANT 
TO ADJOURNMENT ON OCTOBER 1st, 1928.

Proceedings at 
Trial.

(Contd.)

20

A. B. MACDONALD, ESQ., K.C.,
appearing for the Dominion Government, 

with a watching brief.
The Court: Mr. Donaghy, do you wish to bring forward the 10 

evidence now that you mentioned before.
Mr. Donaghy: I am hardly ready to bring that forward 

right now, my lord. I have Mr. Swan, the engineer here.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: And we found the Order-in-Council—not a 

certified copy, and there are plans referred to in it. They sent 
us, however, a photostatic copy of the plans instead of certified 
copies. We returned these and asked to have them duly certified. 
We have a wire that they were mailed to us last Saturday and we 
expected them in today's mail. As Mr. Swan has to report on 
these plans, I can't make way on them until I get them and I ex­ 
pect them in today's mail, my lord. I have furnished my friend 
with a copy sometime ago of the Order-in-Council.

The Court: What is the date of the Order-in-Council ?
Mr. Donaghy: It is 20th August, 1925.
The Court: Yes, thank you.
Mr. Donaghy: Number P. C. 1310.
The Court: Then you will proceed to call your witness, Mr. 

Donaghy ?
Mr. Donaghy: I don't know if my friend was through. He 30 

did not announce that he was through on the navigation features.
Mr. Griffin: Oh, no, we are not finished. I am not finished, 

but my friend in the former proceedings asked your lordship to 
postpone the questions that were reserved against him. The limit 
of indulgence surely now has been reached. We have adjourned 
for two months to enable my 'friend to supply himself with certain 
information.

The Court: I do not understand you. You say you were 
producing some evidence, and I was not quite certain of the situ­ 
ation, you see, whether this engineer, Mr. Swan, having come here 40 
—whether his evidence was to be interjected into the proceedings, 
or whether you wished to continue your evidence.

Mr. Griffin: My lord, the position is this—



297

The Court: Being a witness from a distance, I thought there RECORD 
might be some difference in his case, you see. Britis

Mr. Griffin: My lord, I have one witness who wishes to get Admiralty 
away, and I am going to ask your lordship's permission to call Proceedings at 
him; but I say my friend, if he desires to proceed with the matters Trial. 
which your lordship allowed, him to reserve, that is the presenta- (Comd.) 
tion of these matters, one of which was for liberty to call Mr. 
Swan, and I took it that my friend had now made that motion.

The Court: No, he did not say that, because it was really a 
10 mis-apprehension on my part. I thought Mr. Swan was here.

Mr. Griffin: He is, my lord.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, but it is the plans that I need—the cer­ 

tified copies.
The Court: I did not know Mr. Swan was here.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, I have him here this morning.
The Court: Yes, thank you.
Mr. Donaghy: I need the plans as well.
The Court: Would that be quite convenient, really, Mr. Grif- 

•20 fin, because we left at the 17th witness, Charles Baker Smith.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord.
The Court: I understood you to say then at that time that, 

apart from Mr. Swan, you had some others that you wished to 
call.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, that is so, but I want to limit 
my friend to his right to make the motion at the opening of this 
court such as your lordship allowed him to make, and if he is go­ 
ing to make it then I wish to oppose it.

The Court: I did not understand him to make it, do you not 
30 see. Do not mis-apprehend the situation. I heard no motion yet. 

All that has happened is that when the court opened no motion 
was made by anybody, and I simply asked Mr. Donaghy a ques­ 
tion. I do not want you to think by any observation I made that 
I placed anybody in a wrong position.

Mr. Griffin: What I propose to do, my lord, subject to your 
lordship's ruling, is to ask to call this one witness, then take my 
position in regard to Mr. Donaghy's motion.

The Court: Then you will call the witness ?
Mr. Smith: Captain T. L. Higgs.

40 THOMAS LEONARD HIGGS, a witness called on behalf of the g*endant>s 
Defendant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows: e__
The Registrar: Your full name? A. Thomas Leonard T-L. Higgs TT . ° Direct.Higgs.
The Court: Now, I will not hear you here, you see, if you 

mumble in that way? A. Yes, sir.
The Court: Come a little closer now and speak up.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:
Q. I have got to hear you over here too, you see, so speak as 

loudly as you can, Captain. You live in Vancouver, Captain ? A. 
Yes.

Q. You live in Vancouver? A. Yes.
Q. You are captain of the tug "Dauntless?" A. "Daunt­ 

less," yes.
Q. And for quite some time you have been towing through 

the Second Narrows ? A. Yes.
Q. For how long a period ? A. Oh, since 1912. 10
Q. Since 1912, then you have towed through there both be­ 

fore and since the present bridge was built? A. Yes.
Q. And what do you usually tow through? A. Well, logs.
The Court: How many years did he say, Mr. Smith ?
Mr. Smith: Since 1912, my lord.
The Court: Oh, since 1912, yes.
Mr. Smith: Q. You usually tow logs through? A. Log 

booms, yes.
Q. Yes. Before the construction of the present bridge, at 

what stages of the tide or what tides have you usually towed ^o 
through ? A. Well, all stages of a fair tide—of a flood tide.

Q. Yes, at all stages of a flood tide ? A. Yes.
Q. Yes. Now, that bridge has been built—yes, by a fair tide 

you mean a tide behind you ? A. Yes, flood tide, yes, proceeding 
east, of course.

Q. Now you are dropping your voice.
The Court: Now, speak out. You seem to have a cold, I 

know, but that does not assist us. Speak out and speak plainly 
so that everybody can hear you in this big room here. Please 
stand there? A. Yes, my lord. 30

The Court: You seem to be a big man, you know, you ought 
to have a corresponding voice.

Mr. Smith: Q. Then, at all stages of a fair tide before the 
bridge was built you usually towed logs through the Second Nar­ 
rows? A. Yes.

Q. Now, since the bridge has been built, what alteration did 
you find in the tides ? A. Well, it increased in velocity and—

Q. A little louder, please ? A. And it is narrowed down a 
lot from what it used to be, and the tides are much stronger, and 
there is a cross-set—cross-eddies, and a cross-set in the span, just 40 
before we approach the span there is a strong set right across the 
span—across the bridge.

Q. You will have to speak a little louder as I don't hear you 
here. You said that—

The Court: You see it is very annoying, witness. You see, 
for the third time I have asked you, and counsel tells you himself 
that he cannot hear you, and he has told this, surely you under-
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stand what your duty is. Why do you not speak up. Is it impos­ 
sible for you to do so ? A. No, my lord, I will speak as loud as I 
can.

The Court: Just imagine you are on board your ship and 
say you were ordering some more breakfast from the steward.

Mr. Smith: Q. This set that you speak about, where does it 
come from, Captain? A. It sets from the south shore towards 
the north across the face of the bridge.

Q. Yes, and what is the effect of that set? A. Well, it
10 makes it very hard—very hard to line up in the span of the bridge

when we are approaching it. As soon as we strike the set, why
it tends to send us toward the north shore, and makes it pretty
hard to get into the bridge.

Q. Yes. When you speak about the bridge, have you ref­ 
erence to that part through which tugboats and logs pass, namely, 
the 300 foot fixed span? A. Both.

Q. Both that span, and what other span? A. Both the 
bascule—the draw, both the draw and the 300 foot span.

Q. I see. Then you say that both of these spans are affected 
20 by this cross-set ? A. The cross-set runs right across.

Q. Yes, and that cross-set comes from what part of the 
bridge ? A. The south side.

Q. The south side. Well, you mean the south end of the 
bridge, I suppose? A. Yes, the south end.

Q. Yes. You said, too, that the tides had increased in 
strength? A. Quite considerably.

Q. Yes. At what stages of the tide do you tow through logs 
now ? A. Low water slack if it is possible, if we are proceeding 
east.

30 Q. Proceeding east, you must go through at low water slack ? 
A. Low water slack.

Q. I see. So that the navigability of the bridge has been 
reduced too? A. To low water slack.

Q. Yes, to low water slack. Do you know the bascule span ? 
A. Yes.

Q. In your view is the bascule span in proper position or
otherwise ? A. No, I should consider it was too far to the south,
to the south side of the channel. You have got to go too close to the
south shore before you can get into it properly, and you get into

40 shallow water.
Q. Yes ? A. It seems to me it would better if it was where 

the 300 foot span is now.
Q. Yes, is there anything else wrong with it ? A. Well, it 

is an obstruction in the channel, the piers and everything make 
it very hard for us to get through.

Q. Yes ? A. In our particular trade anyway.
Q. Yes, and does the bascule span span the deepest part—
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Q. Before the bridge was built was it customary for tugboats 
in proceeding east against the tide, if they so desired, to hug the 
south shore ? A. If it was a little tow, yes, if you could get up in 
the eddy—you would find an eddy on the south shore.

Q. Is it possible to do that now ? A. No.
Q. In your opinion is the bridge an obstruction to naviga­ 

tion 1 A. Very much so.
Q. And is it a menace to navigation ? A. Yes.
Mr. Smith: Thank you.

A.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
Q. How long have you been in command of the'' Adolphus ?''

A. Since—two years ago 

"Dauntless"

10

20

The "Dauntless."
Q. Oh, it is the "Dauntless?" 

the 12th of May this year.
Q. So that you were not in command of the 

before the bridge was built ? A. No, sir.
Q. Were you in command of any tug before the bridge was 

built? A. Yes.
Q. What? A. The tug "Erin."
Q. When? A. In 1915.
Q. 1915, for how long? A. Well, I reaUy couldn't tell you 

now. I was in command of several boats at that time, the "Jessie 
Mac "and the "Erin."

Q. And the what? A. The "Erin."
Q. The "Erin," yes? A. And the "Jessie Mac" at that 

time.
Q. Those are small tugs? A. Yes, the "Jessie Mac was a 

small tug.
Q. So was the "Erin," wasn't it? A. No, the "Erin"—
Q. Compared with the "Dauntless?" A. No, about the 

same size.
Q. Oh, was it ? Well, then, what were you doing, that is 1915 

to 1926, when you were in command of the "Dauntless?" A. I 
was master of the "North Shore."

Q. That is a tug too? A. The tug "North Shore."
Q. Now, with those other tugs, did you go up and down the 

Second Narrows? A. Yes.
Q. I understood you to say that you would take any stage 40 

of a fair tide in doing it ? A. Yes.
Q. In other words, you would go up and down on the tide, 

would you? A. Yes.
Q." And when you say any stage of the tide, you would make 

use of the tide in connection with your tow and your boat in going 
up and down? A. Quite so.

30
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20

Q. And in fact looked for the tide to help, that is so is it not ? 
A. Well, we couldn't go through unless we had a fair tide, with 
logs.

Q. Well, you could go through in slack water? A. Yes. 
slack water, yes.

Q. If you had power enough and could control your tug, 
couldn 't you ? A. Well, providing it is low water slack.

Q. Well, or high water slack ? A. If you had sufficient tide 
to get clear you could.

10 Q. Well, as a matter of fact it comes down to this, Captain, 
doesn't it, that in slack water, as long as a tug has got power 
enough to move a boom and can control it, that she can go up and 
down there on slack water ? A. Well, slack water is a very short 
period.

Q. Well, that is so, isn't it? A. No, at certain stages—
Q. In short runs it is quite a considerable period, is it not— 

comparatively speaking? A. Well, never over ten minutes.
Q. It was never over ten minutes that slack water occurs? 

A. No, I wouldn't say.
Q. No, then you spoke of that—are you talking about that ? 

You put it ten minutes as a matter of fact? A. No, no, I 
wouldn't.

Q. Well, then, what do you mean ? A. I say on an average.
Q. You wouldn't say never over ten minutes? A. Well, it 

is between that—there is hardly any slack at all at times.
Q. Well, I understand that. What I am talking about, 

when you get short runs in and short runs out you get a longer 
period of slack water in between than in the reverse cases? A. 
Yes. 

30 Q. Isn't that so? A. Yes.
Q. Now, then, when you get those longer periods, I am ask­ 

ing how long could that last or would that last? A. Well, I 
wouldn't like to put a definite time.

Q. Well, you see a minute ago you said it would never be 
more than ten minutes. What do you say with respect to that 
answer now? A. Well, at times I have seen that slack for ten 
minutes.

Q. I know, but don't you see—surely you understand what 
I mean. I was asking—

40 The Court: Turn this way, come a little nearer over this 
way.

Mr. Burns: Q. I was asking you, in your experience—I 
presume you are speaking from your experience, are you? A. 
Yes, my own experience.

Q. What would be the greatest length of the time of slack 
water in between tides which you have seen? A. Well, in my 
experience, ten minutes, I will say ten minutes.

RECORD

Admiralty Dist.

Defendant's 
Case

T. L. Higgs
Cross-exam.

(Contd.)



302

RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Diit.

Defendant's 
Case

T. L. Higgs
Cross-exam.

(Contd.)

Q. And would you say that slack water could not last for 
longer than that period at any time? A. I wouldn't say.

Q. Well, you said a minute ago never more than ten minutes, 
didn't you? A. Yes, that is in my experience.

Q. Well, all right, leave it at that in that way. Now you 
said a minute ago never in my experience, didn't you? A. Yes.

Q. Now, then, you qualify that, do you? A. Yes, that is 
my experience.

Q. That is your experience, that you have never seen slack 
water for a greater length of time than ten minutes? A. No. 10

Q. Now, you spoke of this cross-set, just where does that 
occur? A. Well, about—about 50 feet before you get to the 
bridge, that is proceeding east on the low water slack.

Q. The commencement of this cross-set that you speak of is 
at 50 feet— A. Approximately 50 feet.

Q. Approximately 50 feet ? A. Yes.
Q. On the west side of the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. At low water slack ? A. At low water slack.
Q. And just where is that commencement in relation to the 

channel. You say it comes from the south shore, well, whereabouts 20 
do you see it first ? A. Well, we strike it when we are approach­ 
ing the draw, or it strikes us, I don't know which.

Q. When you say the draw, are you speaking of the bascule 
span ? A. The 300 foot span.

Q. Oh, the 300 feet? A. While we approach the 300 foot 
span, and your boom proceeding, when we get through we pull out 
to the 300 foot span and drop out and back, you see, and then go 
through the bascule span and pick it up on the other side again 
and proceed, you see. The boat is too high to go underneath the 
bridge. 30

Q. Yes? A. So we have to take her through the bascule 
span and the tug boat through the 300 foot span.

Q. Then you put your boom through the 300 feet and you slip 
in and go through the bascule ? A. And pick it up.

Q. And pick it up? A. Yes.
Q. Now, just where do you first get this cross set. I want 

to get the inside of this ? A. Well, approximately 50 feet before 
we reach the bridge.

Q. Well, that would be 50 feet west of the bascule span? 
A. West of the bascule span, yes. 4( ,

Q. And in what direction is it going? A. Well, across the 
channel at the start—at the start.

Q. What is that ? A. There is a sort of eddy.
Q. I know, we will come to that, I am wanting to get your 

understanding of this cross-set pretty much in detail if possible. 
You say that when you hit that cross set first it is at right angles 
to the channel? Al Well, I wouldn't say exactly right angles.

Q. Well, approximately? A. Approximately right angle, 
yes, it is setting across.
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Q. Yes, that is what I mean to say. At first, and then how RECORD 
does it go ? A. Well, it is never really the same always after it British Coium 
goes across, it goes across the bascule span and then it sort of ^d">' 
forms eddies. Defendant's

Q. That is to say, there are no eddies across—in front or Case 
to the west of the bascule span, but they become eddies as the —— 
cross-set goes on towards the 300 foot span ? A. Yes, they sort J: L 
of disperse in the tide.

Q. That is because they become eddies, that is the only reason 
io you say that it is not approximately at right angles to the channel, 

although it is? A. Yes, after.
Q. I understand; and you say you hit this cross-current west 

of the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. Can you see where it comes from on the south ? A. Oh, 

it apparently comes up along the shore, although the bight in there.
Q. Along the bight? A. Yes.
Q. It comes up and along the bight? A. Yes.
Q. And it come out of the bight ? A. Yes.
Q. Simply takes the contour of the shore? A. It follows 

20 the shore, and then there is a fill—there is a fill on the south side 
of the bridge that appears to push it out more than it used to.

Q. That helps it, you think ? A. I think so, yes.
Q. Then how far does that extend towards the bridge, the 

set? A. The cross-set.
Q. Yes, it is the cross-set we are discussing ? A. Oh, it goes 

out and across the 300 foot span anyway.
Q. I know, but I say towards the bridge. Now we have got 

that, that the cross-set goes towards the 300 foot span ? A. Yes.
Q. Then how far does it go towards the bridge, how deep 

30 is it or wide is it ? A. You mean deep—
Q. I mean width? A. Oh, it varies.
Q. Well, give me some idea of it? A. I have seen it 50 

feet—200 feet sometimes. It varies, it is never—you can't say it 
will be the same always.

Q. Well, would you say that there would be a cross-set even 
if aided by this fill that could be 200 feet wide, do you mean that ? 
A. Yes, it will at times.

Q. It might be 200 feet wide ? A. Only when it comes up 
along the shore, the turn of the tide.

40 Q. Then the eastern limit of that 200 feet of this width, if 
that is the width in between, would necessarily be opposite where 
it comes out of the south shore, wouldn't it, or else it would be 
spread out, it wouldn't be a set at all? A. I can't quite follow 
what you mean.

Q. Well, we will take the bight, you say that this cross-set 
is made by this bight? A. Yes.

Q. On the south shore? A. Yes.
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Q- Then it must come out of the lip of the bight—call it the 
lip of the bight, or come across— A. Yes.

Q. Isn't that so? A. Yes.
Q. Now, then, if it is 200 feet wide, the easterly boundary of 

that 200 feet must necessarily be approximately opposite that lip. 
That must be so. Isn't it? A. I don't know.

Q. Well, so far as the current would be straight across the 
channel, it wouldn 't be a cross-set at all, would it, or at least tend 
not to be, isn't that so? A. No, I wouldn't say that.

Q. You don't say; but at any rate, could you say that that w 
cross-set at any time is felt at the bridge itself, that is, within the 
boundaries of the bridge itself? A. Do you mean in the span?

Q. In the bascule span, in the 300 feet? A. I wouldn't like 
to say. I haven't been through there very much.

Q. Oh, you haven't been through there very much? A. I 
haven't taken a tow through—

Q. I thought you were giving evidence here as the result of 
having a lot of experience and knowledge up there? A. I 
haven't taken a vessel through there, only a small boat, that really 
can't stick it. 20

Q. You can feel it with the small boat? A. Not with a 
light boat.

Q. Why, because you haven't got draught enough to feel it, 
or what? A. Well, she is short one thing, the boat is short, 
and you go through so quickly and you hardly pay any attention 
to it. It is only when you have a boat—a heavy boat that you no­ 
tice the tide.

Q. Well, doesn't it amount to this, Captain, although you 
have been through there several times, that you don't suggest—I 
don't know how many times, several times—this current has not 30 
affected you so much that you can tell whether it exists between 
the west side of the bridge and the bascule span? A. Right in 
the span?

Q. Yes? A. I wouldn't say it was right in the span, it is 
before—we feel it before approaching the span.

Q. Before approaching the span ? A. Before going into it.
Q. Then you see it going toward the 300 foot fixed span? 

A. Yes.
The Court: When you say "span" there, Mr. Burns, I sup­ 

pose you mean the 300 foot as distinguished from the bascule? 40
Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord, I am trying to be as careful as I

can.
The Court: I thought that is what you meant. 
Mr. Burns: Yes, the 300 foot.

When you say 300 foot, you say span?
Yes.

The Court 
Mr. Burns 
The Court

the other is the bascule.
That is to say, that will be the distinction, and
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Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord. RECORD
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we all know it is an obstruction, you can't go where piers have Aetm'r^y £>"*• 
been put in, and that is by reason of the piers, for instance; but Defendant's 
isn't it a fact, now, I put this to you, that prior to the bridge being Case 
there you tugboat men could go up and down on a fair tide and _ , rp- 
iei the tide take your boat, and could go up with less power than cross-exam* 
you have to use now, isn't that so? A. Before the bridge was (Contd) 
there?

10 Q. Yes ? A. No, we used to go up with less power; we have 
more now.

Q. Yes, I say you used to be able to go up with less power ? 
A. Yes.

Q. By using the tide as power to— A. No, not by using 
the tide.

Q. But it helped you, didn't it? A. Oh, the tide helped, of 
course.

Q. And isn't it so, even in these days the boom would be 
if not ahead of the tug at any rate alongside of the tug in going 

20 along the tide, isn't that a fact? A. My boom never was.
Q. Well, you have seen that anyway ? A. I have seen them 

go through ahead of the boat, yes.
Q. Of course you wouldn't admit that your boom ever did. 

Now, so far as the bascule span being in shallow water compara­ 
tively speaking, you never sounded anything there, did you? A. 
I see by looking at the chart that is the only thing I can go by.

Mr. Burns: Just by the chart, well we can all look at the 
chart.

Mr. Smith: All right, Captain, thank you. 
30 (Witness aside.)

The Court: I notice, Mr. MacDonald that you appear here ? Proceedings at
Mr. MacDonald: Yes, my lord. Trial.
The Court: And do you wish your appearance to be record­ 

ed?
Mr. MacDonald: I am appearing on behalf of the Depart­ 

ment of Justice—they asked me to appear.
The Court: Oh, yes, a watching brief, I suppose ?
Mr. MacDonald: A watching brief.
The Court: Well, I am very pleased to see you, Mr. Mac- 

40 Donald, and to have the National Government represented in a 
case of this importance, which has its national aspects. I will 
just record you then as a watching brief. What Department do 
you say, Marine?

Mr. MacDonald: Marine and Public Works.
The Court: Marine and Public Works, yes.
Mr. Griffin: Now, if your lordship pleases, I do not desire 

to call any more testimony. The next question I think your lord-
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ship has to decide is whether my friend shall or shall not finally 
close his case. You will remember in the beginning that on the 
last occasion—I have forgotten the date for a moment—my 
friend Mr. Donaghy said at page 78—has your lordship got the 
transcript 1? Your lordship will have the advantage of the tran­ 
script as it has been made. If your lordship will turn to page 
78 about line 15, "Mr. Donaghy: My lord, there remains the 
proof to be brought forward that this bridge has been construct­ 
ed in accordance with these plans and so on. That I had proposed 
to prove by the evidence of Mr. Swan. I shall not attempt to have 10 
any other engineer go over it, because it would be a very lengthy 
and expensive matter, of course, to follow that out, and show in a 
way the detail had been followed out.

"The Court: I understand then what you mean is that— 
what we will call the evidence, the facts, apart from the actual 
manner in which the bridge was constructed, is concluded.

"Mr. Donaghy: Yes.
'' The Court: You now propose to show that you did perform 

—you did erect this bridge in conformity to the plan?
"Mr. Donaghy: Yes, and the engineer is the one who can 20 

do that."
And then my friend goes on at the top of page 79: "Now, 

there is one other thing, my lord, that I wish to mention and re­ 
serve—I wish to have your lordship's leave to reserve the bringing 
of proof of another matter. There is a question as to whether the 
authority which we have produced in the form of an order of the 
Board of Railway Commissioners, authorizing the raising of the 
bridge five feet is made under the proper Section. It says, and it 
is confessed it is made under Section 251—"

Mr. Donaghy: That should be "professed." 30
Mr. Griffin: All right. Then she goes on—my friend then 

proceeds: "There is a further question as to whether or not an 
Order-in-Council had been passed authorizing the raising of the 
bridge five feet. Now we are having further inquiry made, my 
lord, in regard to that. That has to be made in the department 
at Ottawa. In the Privy Council records. I am asking leave to 
bring that in if it is found. Neither of these matters will inter­ 
fere with the course of the evidence for the defence."

And then over the way, after a little discussion, over the page 
at line 10 my friend says "That closes our case, my lord." 40

Now, my friend therefore has reserved, with your lordship's 
consent, the right to move to call Mr. Swan, and the right to move 
to introduce that document—two documents. Now, I therefore 
desire that if he proposes to make these motions he should make 
them now before I call any further testimony. That I think was 
your lordship's direction and intention, that my friend should 
do so at the resumption of this court, just as he would have had if 
the case had then continued straight through to the finish.
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The Court: Mr. Donaghy? RECORD 
Mr. Donaghy: My lord, it appears at the top of page 81 that BritisiTcrtumbia 

your lordship pointed out to counsel " There are two distinct ^mhaity DJSI. 
branches to this case," one was the question of the proper con- Proceedings at 
struction in accordance with the Act of Parliament, of the bridge Trial. 
and the other was the question of navigation. And as a result of (Contd.) 
this discussion I find your lordship reserves to me the right to 
bring any evidence in relation to these technical matter which I 
had then moved for leave to do and your lordship granted me that

10 leave I suggested that my friend should proceed with his evidence 
regarding navigation, which he did, and I notice that at the top 
of page 88, after your lordship had decided on that, my friend ask­ 
ed for fifteen minutes to consider whether he wouuld do so or not 
and he said in the middle of page 88, "My lord, I have decided to 
accept the suggestion made and to proceed on the basis indicated 
by your lordship." So that was the end of the motion and the 
disposition that was made. I would be very happy to interject 
Mr. Swan here, my lord, had it not been that copies of the plans 
which they sent us were only photostatic copies, not certified copies.

20 It seems difficult to get them to understand what is technically re­ 
quired in a court of law, and as I said in opening, these were 
mailed to us on Saturday and they should be in tonight's or the 
morning mail, and then I will be in a position to call Mr. Swan 
and ask him if these plans have been conformed to in the construc­ 
tion that was being built. Now, my friend says—I take it from 
what he said at the top of page 88, that he would proceed with his 
evidence on navigation, that he now wishes to recede from that 
position.

Mr. Griffin: That is not the position at all, my lord, but any-
30 way I might go further and allow my friend to proceed with his 

witness on the basis of the photostatic copies, if your lordship 
allows that evidence at all. I contend that your lordship merely 
reserved to my friend leave to move to introduce these things and 
to introduce the witness. Your lordship then as I understand it 
did not say finally that he has leave, but only leave reserved to 
move, and I desire him to do so at once; otherwise I wish to be in 
a position of saying that any further evidence tendered by him at 
a later date to prove his original case will be objected to, and the 
arrangement merely was that I should proceed as far as I could

40 before the trial was adjourned, that was all, which I did in de­ 
ference to your lordship's desire that I should as far as possible 
continue, but I have not in any way waived or given up my right 
to have my friend close his whole case at the right time except on 
the one thing, that he was to produce this witness if your lordship 
allows that witness. And I wish now if my friend proposes to call 
him that he make the motion now and have it determined whether 
that witness is to be called, because it will affect my conduct of
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my case; and what I say is I will ask your lordship to hear him 
now, and as I say I will waive any argument about the plans, let 
my friend go on with his case with the photostatic copies for the 
present.

The Court: It is really only a matter of what is most con­ 
venient, Mr. Griffin, and, of course, I shall see that you are both 
fully protected so that there may not be the slightest prejudice 
to you. As I say understood it, really it was this—we are getting 
along very nicely, that you should continue to exhaust your evi­ 
dence upon this particular point that you have been directing your 10 
attention to and then take up the other.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, that is quite satisfactory to me. 
I had to in other words accept that position on the previous part 
of the trial by reason of Mr. Swan's absence, but now, I am not 
prepared to do that, so that I would rather have the matter not 
continue now, I desire to have it stand over until my friend is 
finished.

The Court: Well, I rule now, Mr. Griffin, that you had bet­ 
ter proceed with any further evidence you have got upon this 
same line that we have been hearing for several days. 20

Mr. Griffin: Your lordship will then note my objection to that 
course.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Of course, I say that prejudices my position.
The Court: Well, I cannot see what possible way it can. It 

is very apparent to me it will not. So have you any more evidence.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, I have a good deal more evidence.
The Court: Just a moment, please. On the same position 

that we have been hearing for some time, that is the only arrange­ 
ment, that is the convenient one under the circumstances. 30

DANIEL CLINTON, a witness called on behalf of the Defendant, 
being first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH
Q. Now, you will have to speak loudly, Captain, because I 

am a long way from you here. Captain, you live in Vancouver? 
A. Yes.

Q. And you are a pilot? A, Yes.
Q. And what experience have you had at sea ? A. Thirty- 

two years.
The Court: A little bit closer here. 40
Mr. Smith: Q. And how long have you been in command 

of deep-sea ships? A. Fifteen years.
Q. And subsequently to that, how long have you been a pilot 

in B. C. waters ? A. Pour and a half years.
Q. How long or how often have you piloted vessels through
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the Second Narrows ? A. On a average of twice a month during RECORD
that period. Bntisi^luml,ia

That is twice a month for four and a half years ? A. Mmirait? £>/>/.

D. Clinton 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

_ _ Defendant's
<^. In your opinion is the bridge at the Second Narrows an Case 

obstruction to navigation ? A. Yes.
Q. Is it a menace to navigation ? A. In my opinion it is.
Q. Is it a menace to the public safety? A. Well, yes, I 

would say that also.
Q. Is the bascule span at the bridge properly situated ? A. 

No.
Q. Well, what in your opinion is wrong with it ? A. Well, 

I think it has three defects: First if all, it is placed too close to the 
south shore. Second, it is not placed at right angles to the fairway. 
And third, the opening is too narrow. It is only 150 feet wide and 
it ought to be at least 300.

Q. Is there a shoal at the south end of the bridge and just 
to the east of the bridge ? A. Yes.

Q. What effect has this shoal on the navigation of a vessel 
passing through the bridge? A. "Well, it means that a vessel 
passing from east to west has to approach that shoal dangerously 
close in order to line up and get at right angles to the draw before 
entering. That is, I might say it seems to me to be the most 
dangerous position, and it certainly is a time of great anxiety to 
those in charge of the navigation of a ship.

Q. Yes. Now, what currents are to be met with at the 
bridge ? A. Well, the tidal currents at the bridge—

The Court:
Mr. Smith: 

my lord.
The Court: 

Going east.
Mr. Smith:

Which way is he going now, east or west ?
I don't think he is going any way in particular,

Q. You were coming in then—going east ? A.

Q. Yes, going east? A. Well, of course, we 
generally try to get to the bridge as near as possible on slack water, 
but in my experience, I have never found it just exactly slack. 
The tides are very erratic. You may go in there and the surface 
water might be perfectly smooth and yet there is a considerable 
undertow running underneath. I know that on the flood tide, for 
instance, it hits the rock fill at the south end of the bridge there 

40 and it is deflected across in a northerly direction. I know that 
from experience.

Q. Do the piers of the bridge themselves cause any deflection 
or alteration of the tides 1 A. Well, I would say that they are 
bound to cause eddies and cross currents.

Q. Were you through the Narrows before the bridge was 
built? A. Well, yes, the bridge was in course of construction, 
I think, when I started—I started piloting in May 1924.
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Q. Yes? A. But that time we were using the ordinary 
channel.

Q. Yes, and what were the tides like then? A. Well, as 
far as I remember—of course, the tides were strong, but it didn't 
interfere with navigation.

Q. You mean the tides did not ? A. No. Of course, there 
were considerable overfalls at spring tides, but in my experience 
at that time we didn't have any difficulty. Of course, at that time 
we kept to the fairway—the centre of the channel, and now you 
see a vessel has got to hug the south shore in order to pass through 10 
the bascule span, and in that way, of course, she is liable to get 
the effect of that set across the bridge that I referred to before.

Q. Before the bridge was built was it customary to take 
ships through at all stages of the tide ? A. Oh, yes.

Q. Now, in what way has the act of building the bridge 
altered the tides ? A. Well, that rock fill in particular has caus­ 
ed that set to the northward.

Q. Has the strength of the current been increased by the 
building of the bridge? A. Well, I wouldn't say that, but they 
certainly—we have certainly been exposed to numerous cross 20 
currents that were not—we didn't experience before the bridge 
was built.

Q. Can you give any definite cases in which you have ex­ 
perienced trouble when going through the bridge with ships? 
A. Oh, I daresay I could, numerous cases.

Q. You say numerous cases, well, could you just mention 
one or two, Captain? A. I will have to look—I have got some 
dates here, probably to refresh my memory. I have one here, a 
case of the "West Hemrod" in June, 1925, proceeding west, load­ 
ed ship drawing 25.6 from Dollartori to sea. Everything was all 30 
right until we got to Berry Point. After passing Berry Point we 
had considerable difficulty in holding her in mid channel. When 
we got down about—oh, 1500 feet from the bascule we experienced 
a heavy sheer to starboard. The vessel at that time was proceed­ 
ing slow, just lining up the bridge, and when she took this sudden 
sheer I put the engines full speed ahead and the helm hard astar- 
board in order to counteract the sheer, but it did not seem to have 
any effect on her. I then reversed the engines full speed and let 
go the port anchor and veered out cable to 105 fathoms. This 
seemed to break the sheer, but she still had considerable way on 40 
her; let go the starboard anchor and veered out to about 75, and by 
that time she had brought up about 150 feet from the centre span 
of the bridge. At that time there was a tug staioned there—the 
bascule was not, of course, working, although it was in position, 
but there was a tug stationed there that came to our assistance 
and we proceeded through the bridge after heaving up the anchors 
without any further trouble.
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Q. Now, that happened you say about low water slack? A. RECORD 
At low water slack. Britilt Columbia

Q. Of course, you were proceeding west with a loaded ship ? 
A. That is right.

Q. And as I remember, you experienced two sets, the first Case 
set you said was just after passing Berry Point ? A. Yes, that D c.:— 
was towards the south shore. Direct"1011

Q. That was towards the south shore? A. Yes. (Contd.)
Q. And the second set you experienced was what distance 

10 from the bridge ? A. About 1500 feet, I should imagine.
Q. About 1500 feet east of the bridge? A. East of the 

bridge.
Q. And that was set towards— A. Towards the north.
Q. Towards the north? A. Yes.
Q. And then having experienced that you didn't bring the 

ship back—it wouldn't come back with hard starboard helm? A. 
No, and with full speed on the engines. Of course, I didn't have 
sufficient room to manoeuvre to keep her going that way.

Q. And then you said you dropped both anchors and brought 
20 her up ? A. Yes.

Q. What caused that sudden sheer to the north ? A. Well, 
I presume it was that eddy from the rock fill, and the shoal water, 
of course, being so close on the port hand. That is the only thing 
that I can account for it.

Q. Yes; and could you avoid being so close to the shallow 
water on the port hand? A. Oh, no, not at low water slack, you 
can't.

Q. Well, you had to go so close to the shoal for what purpose ? 
A. In order to get at right angles to the draw and line up. 

30 Q. And line up for the draw, yes. Well, that was one case, 
the "West Hemrod," is there any other case that you have in 
mind ? A. Well, then, I had—yes, I had a case coming east on 
July 2nd of that same year.

Q. What ship? A. The steamer "Eldridge."
Q. Yes 1 A. Drawing 22 feet of water, we approached the 

span—the bascule, and there was considerable smoke close to the 
Narrows at that time, construction vessels were around there and 
the place was all full of smoke, so we were going ahead, there were 
no signals on the bridge, the bridge—the bascule was not operating 

40 then either, and when we got close to the bridge—I would imagine 
about 500 feet, all at once we saw a large vessel with two tugs 
emerging out of the smoke. I saw at once that we would both 
arrive at the opening at the same time, so I reversed my engines 
and gave the customary signal; but she was not bringing up in 
time and I let go both anchors again, the vessel swung across the 
channel, but we managed to bring her up just before arriving at the 
bascule. Then the other ship came on—when he heard my sig-
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nal he came on with the tugs and proceeded through; but it de- 
Columbia monstrated to me at that time that it was a very dangerous posi- 
;... r.;,. ti(^n ^o be ^ Q^ course, now, they have established signals at the 

bridge; but nevertheless when there is traffic going in either direc­ 
tion it is very difficult to hold a large vessel up in a small estuary 
like that, where you are exposed to all kinds of currents.

Q. That is the second ship. Have you any other ships in 
mind now where you have had trouble? A. Yes, I had the 
"Montana," April 3rd, 1926, going west, when about 1500 feet 
from the bridge she sheered to starboard, the same as the "Hem- in 
rod" did.

Q. Yes ? A. And on that occasion I put the engines again 
full speed ahead, hard astarboard, and this time she broke her 
sheer all right and gradually came up, and when I saw that I kept 
her going full speed ahead, but not release the helm when I went 
through the draw going full speed and the helm hard astarboard— 
a very dangerous proceeding.

Q. What was that sheer due to, Captain 1? A. Well, that 
was—on that particular occasion it was a high water slack.

Q. It was high water slack ? A. Yes, and I can only—the 20 
only conclusion I come to is that possibly the flood tide hadn't 
spent itself and there was considerable set from the flood tide strik­ 
ing the rock fill on the south side—the south end of the bascule.

Q. Now, was there any other case, Captain, that you have 
in mind also? A. Well, there are several, I think I have here 
the "Diana Dollar"—no, the "Edmore" going west—just a similar 
experience to that of the "Montana."

Q. A similar experience to that of the "Montana?" A. 
Yes.

Q. Well, just describe it quite briefly, will you, going west, 30 
and she arrived at the bridge, and what happened ? A. Well, we 
went—coming down again in high water slack.

Q. Yes? A. When about 1,000 and 1500 feet from the 
bascule we got that sheer again—not such a heavy one, but it was 
necessary to give her full ahead and hard astarboard again. Well, 
she lined up for the centre all right, but you could feel by the ac­ 
tion of the ship that if we had released the helm she would have 
gone over towards the 300 foot span, and it was necessary to keep 
the helm hard astarboard and the engines full ahead all the way 
through the span. 40

Q. Yes, in that case also you went through with helm hard 
astarboard? A. Yes.

Q. And the engines full speed? A. And the engines full 
ahead.

Q. What was the name of that ship at that time ? A. That 
was the "Edmore."

Q. Have you got any other? A. I have the "Stuart
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Dollar," April 1928, going east. On entering the bascule span RECORD 
she sheered heavily towards the north shore, and she was going British Columbia 
full ahead in the span. I immediately put the helm hard aport, Admiralty Dht. 
and she continued going towards the north shore, but after her Defendant's 
counter cleared the north pier she started to come around a little, Case 
but not sufficient for me to release the helm; in fact on that D - — 
occasion we carried that port helm about — I should say half way
— half over all the way up to the black can buoy which lies off 
Berry Point.

10 Q. Now, are there any other ships that you might mention, 
Captain 1? A. No, I don't seem to have any others here that I 
have details on.

Q. Well, do you remember any other ships in which you had 
difficulty or danger in going through the draw, not necessarily 
their names, but were there such cases ? A. Oh, yes, there must 
be quite a few that I really had quite an anxious time, that is to 
say, the idea of going through a small opening like that full speed 
and the vessels helm hard across, as I said before it is a very 
dangerous proceeding, and there must have been several cases 

20 other than those that I have mentioned.
Q. Have you ever experienced the set there caused by Sey­ 

mour Creek on any particular occasion? A. Yes, I have, in 
heavy rains, I have experienced a freshet.

Q. Well, do you remember any ship in which you have ex­ 
perienced that ? A. Well, no, I can't recall any — I have certain­ 
ly experienced the set from Seymour Creek during heavy rains, 
and of course we look out for it at that time ; but I have also been 
on the lookout for it later on and found it having set by the nor­ 
therly set from the rock fill when I expected setting from Seymour 

30 Creek.
Q. Yes. When you pass Berry Point coming westward, did 

you as a rule look at the buoy there to judge the state of the tide ? 
A. Oh, always, always.

Q. Have you passed that position when it was slack water 
and still found a tide running at the bridge ? A. Oh, yes, quite 
often.

Q. And do you remember any case in particular? A. Yes, 
I do, I remember also with the "Eldridge" coming west, and on 
that particular occasion I remember it was only a very — it was a 

40 high water slack, and I think it was only eight-tenths of a foot rise, 
and in a case of that kind, of course, you would imagine it was 
practically slack water. Well, on passing the buoy at Berry Point 
everything appeared to be quite all right, the water was quite 
smooth, there was no ripples, there was no overfalls or whirlpools, 
the surface was perfectly slack, but when we got down within about
— oh, well, in the vicinity of Seymour Creek she took a sudden 
sheer to port, but recovered, of course, with the engines and helm
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_ and we had no further difficulty; but that demonstrated that 
British Columbia there was a considerable set at that time from Seymour Creek.

Q. Yes, and in that case you sheered to port instead of— 
A. Sheered to port instead of starboard, yes.

Q. Now, for what lines do you usually pilot, Captain? A. 
Principally for the American Mail Line and Blue Star Line.

Q. Have you got any special orders from any of these lines 
as to going through the bridge 1 A. Yes, I have instruction from 
the American Mail Line—

Mr. Burns: My lord, I don't think that is a proper thing to 
ask him.

The Court: No.
Mr. Smith: Q. Then I put it this way, Captain: In pilot­ 

ing vessels of any of your lines through the bridge do you aim to 
be going through at any particular time? A. Oh, yes, we al­ 
ways aim—ever since that experience I had with the "Hemrod" 
we endeavoured to navigate going through low water slack or a 
big run out.

Q. I see and you endeavour to navigate at low water slack. 
Do you ever navigate through the bridge during the hours of 20 
darkness 1? A. No, I don't, not with the American Mail Line.

Q. Then is it right to say that with that line in particular 
you only navigate through the bridge at high water slack and day 
light? A. That is right.

Q. And with respect to the other lines for which you pilot, 
do you restrict yourself in the same way? A. Well, I always 
act, of course, in an advisory capacity in the light of this experi­ 
ence that I have had, I always advise the master that it is very 
dangerous at low water slack and I leave it to his discretion 
whether to go through or not.

Q' Yes. Now, in the case of a vessel going through bound 
west at low water slack, at what time should she arrive at the 
bridge? A. Well, when I was navigation at low water slack 
some times I used to aim to get down there—oh, about fifteen 
minutes before low water slack according to tide tables.

Q. Yes, and what was your idea in that, Captain? A. 
Well, my idea that we would possibly get through before the 
first of the flood and avoid that northerly set across the draw.

Q. Yes, so that your idea was to get there early ? A. Yes.
Q. And avoid that set? A. That is it.
Q. Then at that time would you or would you not be getting 

there with the last of the ebb? A. Well, yes, at that time, of 
course, we look for it being pretty well spent.

Q. Yes ? A. But I think that it is the lesser of two evils, 
is to go through even if it was a little ebb in order to counteract 
the effect of the flood, which you might arrive ahead of tune.

Q. Yes, and that is your opinion today as the proper way

30

40
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to navigate the bridge now at low water slack ? A. Yes, I would RECORD
think SO. BritisjTcMim

Q. To arrive early ? A. Yes. Admiralty DJ. 
Q. And go through with the last of the ebb. Now, what tide Defendant's 

or what current would you say—what force of current would be Case 
running through say the last half hour of an ebb tide of an average 
height ? A. The last half hour, well, it is just pretty hard to get 
down to the real thing, but approximately I should not think it 
would exceed a knot. 

10 Mr. Smith: That is all.
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:

Q. What speed of the current on an average height tide—
The Court: Just a moment, you speak so well it has been a 

pleasure to listen to you, but just keep turning this way?
Mr. Burns: Q. At what speed of the current, Captain—at 

least, what speed would the current have on the first hour of the 
flood on an average height tide ? A. The first hour of flood ?

Q. Yes? A. An average tide, I should say three knots.
Q. Well, when would it attain that three knots? A. Oh, 

20 that is very difficult—I have no reason to—I have nothing that 
I can gauge my statement by, but it is only by my experience of 
the tides—

Q. Well, let me put it this way, possibly we will agree: 
It would increase from the start up to the hour? A. Yes, the 
first hour and a half, in my experience it attains its greatest velo­ 
city in a flood tide.

Q. That would be at the end of an hour and a half? A. 
Yes.

Q. Well, then, as far as this water is concerned, its velocity 
30 or speed, would it increase from the start to the end of the first 

hour? A. Yes.
Q. Wouldn't it? A. Yes.
Q. And therefore the three knots, or approximately three 

knots—it is not exact? A. Yes.
Q. —the facts we are dealing with now, but just your ap­ 

proximate idea. The three knots approximately would be at the 
end of the first hour. The first would be imperceptible, it is prac­ 
tically running from imperceptible to three knots at the end of the 
first hour, wouldn't that be so? A. Well, I wouldn't say that, 

40 because the flood tide comes up very strong.
Q. Well, would you say that the flood tide—the start of the 

flood tide has any velocity to speak of ? A. Yes, I would, I would 
say—

Q. How much velocity ? A. It would be a knot and a half.
Q. A knot and a half? A. Yes.
Q. So that the first appearance of the flood in your estima­ 

tion would be a speed of a knot and a half? A. Yes, in the
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Q. Well, we are speaking of that vicinity. So let us put 
that on record now, that your idea of the tide in the Second 
Narrows is that the first appearance of the flood has a velocity of 
a knot and a half? A. Yes, sir.

Q. You would not know that the flood was making at all 
until you saw a speed of a knot and a half? That is what that 
means, doesn't it? A. Yes.

Q. And that is so, is it not, according to your idea ? A. Yes. 10
Q. Now, are you sure about that, Captain? A, Well—
Q. Have you studied the matter ? A. Only from being on 

a vessel and experiencing the sets caused by the flood tide.
Q. You would say that—does that affect you? A. Oh, 

yes, I—you are not studying the water when you are going through 
with a ship, you are studying the ship going ahead.

Q. Yes, you feel the ship do that? A. Yes.
Q. But at the same time you are using your eyes, aren't 

you ? A. Oh, absolutely.
Q. Yes, and at times the eye would be on the surface of the 2° 

water and you would see it in the surface indication of this knot 
and a half at the start? A. Oh, yes, oh, yes, you can see it— 
you can see whirlpools coming along, in fact, you can see the tide 
coming—coming up and approaching.

Q. The water is smooth, the water disappears and these 
whirls occur, isn't that the way it happens ? A. Oh, well, at the 
Second Narrows the start of the water is very often disturbed, you 
know.

Q. I know, but let us stick to smooth slack water. Now, you 
are not saying that that does not occur in the Second Narrows, 30 
do you, at times? A. Oh, yes.

Q. All right ? A. I said before you have smooth water on 
the surface and the current running underneath.

Q. Never mind, we are coming to that, Captain, but let us 
discuss this matter from my point of view for a while ? A. All 
right, sir.

Q. Then at times it must be at slack water whether it is 
high slack or low slack it doesn't matter, that is to say, at times 
there is a smooth surface at the Second Narrows ? A. Yes.

Q. Now, if it is low slack, for instance— A. Yes. 40
Q. —and the surface of that water is disturbed by the in­ 

coming flood, that is what makes the disturbance that occurs after­ 
ward, isn't that so? A. Yes.

Q. All right. Now, the first indications on the surface of 
that incoming flood are these whirlpools, swirls, are they not? 
A. Not necessarily, no.
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Q. The start of the knot and a half of water coming up RECORD 
against the smooth water? A. No.

Q. Well, what is it? A. That current can also come at a 
distance under the surface sometime before the flood tide.

Q. I said the surface, Captain, I said the first indication on 
the surface of the incoming flood are these swirls and so on ? A. 
Well, yes, they are eddies, yes.

Q. Well, these swirls are not the indication of a knot and a 
half tide, are they? A. Why not?

10 Q. Well, are they ? Explain that to me, that is what I want 
to understand ? A. They are moving.

Q. What is that ? A. They are moving.
Q. At a knot and a half? A. Well, that is my estimation 

of it.
Q. Well, then, we have got this, that the disturbance on the 

surface is practically a knot and a half tide ? A. At the first of 
flood.

Q. At the first of flood? A. Yes.
Q. So the first disturbance on the surface, you say, is the 

20 result of a knot and a half incoming flood tide ? A. Yes.
Q. Well, then, we have got that understood. And that is 

the start, absolutely the first commencement of the flood tide ? A. 
Of the flood tide.

Q. Before that it is smooth slack water ? A. Well, it may 
be.

Q. Well, but that is what you have been talking about, is it 
not? A. No. You say the surface may be smooth, yes, but I 
am not going to say that actually at the slack water that the water 
is absolutely still and you have no current, I couldn't for a moment 

30 say that, because I have felt that conditions entirely different from 
that. I have had a vessel sheering at supposed slack water.

Q. Well, I was coming then to that matter of that under­ 
current you spoke of? A. Yes.

Q. But what I have been discussing with you so far is the 
question of the surface indications? A. Yes.

Q. Of the swirling on the surface ? A. Yes.
Q. Disturbing the smooth water, as a sign of the incoming 

flood tide; and that occurs at once at the velocity of a knot and a 
half. We have got that down? A. That is so. 

40 Q. Now, then, what do you say with reference to the under 
current ? A. Well, that is—

Q' Do you say that that undercurrent has been going on for 
some time before the disturbance occurs and is shown on the sur­ 
face? A. Well, as I say—of course, I am not—I think we are 
getting a little mixed, because this—we have first of all to take 
the flood tide coming in.

Q. Yes? A. Well, we are agreed on that, it is a knot and a 
half.
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Q. Yes? A. Now, I agree—
Q. I will not agree, but we have got your evidence on it? 

A. Yes, all right, sir. Well, now, the undercurrent you meet with 
at slack water as indicated by the tide tables.

Q. Well, then, let me ask you this, is this undercurrent that 
you speak of prior to the surface indications or not, that is the 
surface indications of the incoming tide ? A. Well, I would say 
prior—yes, prior to the indications of the flood tide.

Q. Appreciably prior? A. Oh, well, now, I can't tell you 
that, because when I get down—as I said before, we aim to go 10 
out the bridge at slack water, now to get back and tell you just 
exactly when these things occur is a veiy difficult thing for me to 
say.

Q. Well, I am trying to get what you can say, Captain, 
because you are here giving evidence by reason of certain experi­ 
ences you have had in that Second Narrows. A. Yes.

Q. Well, now, we want to understand— A. Well, I will 
say at slack water as indicated by the tide tables I have felt the 
effects of undertow or undercurrent.

Q. Then I ask you again, does that undercurrent exist prior 20 
to the indications of the incoming flood on the surface or not? 
A. Well, it probably is still there when the flood tide comes in, 
and they are both going at the one time.

Q. Well, then, is this what you mean, that as far as the 
undercurrent is concerned, that undercurrent is not necessarily 
prior to the incoming flood on the surface, and they come in, to­ 
gether, is that right? A. Not necessarily, no. I think, and I 
think I am right when I say that at periods—or close to slack wa­ 
ter, in the vicinity of the Second Narrows Bridge, you will have 
two tides or currents. You will have an undertow and surface 30 
current, and both may be going in the same direction, or in con­ 
trary directions.

Q. Well, how if they are going in the same direction can 
there be two currents, Captain? A. Well, you can have an 
undertow.

Q. What do you mean, underneath or something in between ? 
A. No, you can have an undertow setting at a certain angle from 
your flood tide, for instance.

Q. Well, but then you said that they could be both going in 
the same direction ? A. Well, they could be. 40

Q. That doesn't mean a different direction, by the angle? 
A. No, of course, when we get down to that, that is a little getting 
away from the facts.

Q. Well, all right, we don't want to get into theories. I will 
ask you again then, you say that there is an undercurrent by 
reason of, or caused by the incoming flood tide? A. No, not 
caused by that at all.



319

Q. Well, it is the incoming flood, could you put it that way ? 
A. No, I don't know what is the cause of the undercurrent at all, 
I couldn't determine that at all.

Q' You see we have had several witnesses here who have been 
talking that way? A. Yes.

Q. That the incoming flood tide has an undercurrent before 
it is shown on the surface? A. Well, I couldn't testify to that 
at all.

Q. You can't say? A. No.
10 Q. In fact you would not subscribe to that, would you ? A. 

I can tell you that I felt the effect of an undercurrent when there 
was no apparent current on the surface.

Q. Yes, but you wouldn't subscribe to the proposition that 
the incoming flood tide makes in the nature of an undercurrent 
below the surface before it is shown on the surface, would you? 
A. Well, I wouldn't say that it did not.

Q. You wouldn't say that it did not? A. No.
Q. But you wouldn't say that it did? A. No, positively, I 

wouldn't, no.
20 Q. In other words, you would say that the incoming flood 

tide could have an undercurrent before it is shown on the surface ? 
A. Well, the chances are that the incoming flood tide, especially 
when that same tide hits south of the pier, for instance—or any of 
the piers for that matter, it is quite possible that the deflection of 
that tide and the action of that tide under the surface would make 
a contrary undertow.

Q. Well, but the pier comes out above the water, it would 
have the same effect on the surface water as under water, wouldn 't 
it? A. Not—the tide might run under the surface more, you 

30 know.
Q. Well, it couldn't be the pier that would change a body of 

water into an undercurrent against the surface, could it ? A. It 
couldn't be the pier?

Q. Yes ? A. It certainly could be the pier.
Q. How could it be when the pier is meeting all of that water 

in the same way ? A. Yes, well, your surface water might easily 
take another direction there from your undercurrent.

Q. But not by reason of an obstruction which goes against 
the whole body of water, surely, Captain ? A Well— 

40 Q. Can you believe that ? A. My opinion—underwater con­ 
ditions, of course, are something I don't know anything at all 
about.

Q. Well, we will take that. Now, you say that a vessel going 
west, navigating the Second Narrows Bridge at low water slack 
should get there about fifteen minutes before low water slack. 
What do you mean by getting there—at the bridge? A. Well, 
getting in proximity to the bridge.
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RECORD Q. WeU, will you define that proximity? A. Well, I should 
British Columbia say she should get within three ship lengths.

Q. That would be what—about a thousand—1200 feet? A. 
1500 feet, about.

Q. 1500 feet? A. Yes.
Q. She should be there fifteen minutes before low water 

slack? A. Yes, according to the tide tables.
Q. To avoid that northerly set ? A. Yes.
Q. That is your evidence ? A. Yes.
Q. Now, will you explain to me what that northerly set is ? 10 

A. Well, the northerly set as I understand it is caused by the in­ 
coming flood tide striking the rock fill at the south end of the 
bridge and being deflected across in a northerly direction.

Q. Yes, now, then, that is your understanding after your 
experience navigating the Second Narrows Bridge for four and 
a half years, about twice a month ? A. Yes.

Q. Your understanding is that that northerly set that you 
speak of is just caused by the deflection of the water at the fill? 
A. Yes.

Q. Now, that is definite in your mind, is it ? A. Yes. -20
Q. And for no other reason. Mind you, you have got no 

other reason? A. No. No, I don't think so; I think that is the 
most prominent reason anyhow.

Q. You are quite content. So that you get down fifteen min­ 
utes before low water slack in order to avoid that set that comes 
off the fill? A. Yes.

Q. And then how far do you say that set extends ? A. Oh, 
well, in my experience with these ships carrying—for instance, 
going east and being deflected towards the North Shore for the 
distance that we carry the port anchor to recover and come back 30 
into midchannel, I should say that that set extends a quarter of 
a mile.

Q. A quarter of a mile from the bridge east ? A. Yes, east 
of the bridge.

Q. Now, a quarter of a mile? A. Would be about two 
thousand feet.

Q. What—1320 feet, is it not? A. Yes, it is about 1500 
feet. Yes, that is right.

Q. Approximately, the point that you say you should be at— 
where you should be at 15 minutes before low water slack? A. 40 
Yes.

Q. So that your evidence is that this set practically made 
by this fill, extends a quarter of a mile—1300 feet or 1500 feet you 
will accept, will you? A. Yes, 1500 feet.

Q. 1500 feet east of the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. And you have no other explanation for this so-called 

northern set? A. No.
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Q. Or northerly set? A. No. RECORD
Q. None whatever? A. No. MM Columbia
Q. It couldn't be the incoming flood tide underneath, under- Admir^y *>"'• 

current, could it—I mean that is absurd, is it not, when we come Defendant's 
down to cases ? A. Yes, I have seen the—I have seen the average Case 
flood tide striking the rock fill, making a decided eddy across the —— channel. D- clinton

Q. I quite understand that, I am assuming that, so far as " 
your evidence is concerned, so that we can go on. I understand 

10 that, we will deal with that viewpoint later, but for the time being 
in order so that we can understand each other, we have this posi­ 
tion, that this so-called northerly set that runs there occurs round 
1500 feet east of the bridge, or 800 feet or anything like that, is 
caused in your opinion by the deflection of the water from the 
rock fill? A. Yes.

Q. And couldn't be such a thing as an undercurrent caused
by the incoming flood tide before any indication of that flood tide
is shown on the surface. That couldn't be, could it? A. Well,
I wouldn't say that it couldn't be, because you see you can only

20 testify from what you see by the eye.
Q. Well, but surely, Captain, you will say—. You have 

had long experience as a mariner ? A Well, I will say that it is 
possible, yes.

Q. You say it is possible that the incoming flood tide would 
have a strong undercurrent without any indication on the surface ? 
A. Yes.

Q. Say forty or fifty feet depth of water. Would you say 
that? A. Yes.

Q. In the Second Narrows Bridge ? A. I will say that it is 
30 possible, yes.

Q. All right. Well, now, then, assuming then that possibility 
so far as your state of mind is concerned, still your evidence is, 
and I am coming back to it, that with reference to that northerly 
set, that occurs only by reason of the deflection from the rock fill? 
A. That is in my opinion, yes.

Q. Yes, that is in your opinion. Now, then, you say that 
you never found it just exactly the same, that is always irregular, 
when you are speaking of the body of water in the Second Nar­ 
rows. By the way, Captain—you nodded your head; that is right, 

40 that is what you said? A. Yes.
Q. By the way, did you navigate the Second Narrows before 

the bridge was there at any time ? A. Oh, yes.
Q. For how long before? A. Well, I commenced in May, 

1924, now, the bridge was opened, I think, in October, 1925. Of 
course, during that period the bridge was in course of construc­ 
tion and we used the ordinary fairway that was used prior to any 
bridge being ever thought of.
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Q. Yes? A. That is where the 300 foot span is today.
Q. That was the first time you navigated the Second Nar­ 

rows ? A. That was, yes, and I have been through there as ship­ 
master.

Q. What is that ? A. I have been up as shipmaster previ­ 
ous to that, with a pilot on board.

Q. Yes. Then what time do you say that the bridge was 
opened ? A. Well, as far as I remember I think it was October, 
1925—or November, I should say.

Q. November, 1925 ? A. Yes, that is right. 10
Q. So that so far as this—I will just cover that now— so far 

as the "Eldridge" is concerned and the "Hemrod"—A. Yes.
Q. They were all before the bridge was opened, weren't 

they—these two were before the bridge was opened ? A. Yes, be­ 
fore the bridge was opened, yes.

Q. And the time that construction was going on ? A. Yes.
Q. But with the '' Hemrod'' you said you had difficulty hold­ 

ing the ship to midchannel fifteen feet from the bascule, is that 
right? A. No.

Q. I mean 1500 feet, of course 1 A Yes, would you please 20 
repeat that.

Q. That you had difficulty in holding her to midchannel? 
A. No, no.

Q. 1500 feet from the bascule? A That was prior to 1500 
feet it was, that is Berry Point, to a point 1500 feet from the bas­ 
cule we had difficulty in holding her to midchannel, yes.

Q. From Berry Point to the 1500 feet? A. Yes, that is 
where she took the sheer.

Q. Which way ? A. To starboard, to the North Shore.
Q. And you were in midchannel? A. We were in mid- 30 

channel.
Q. What was the state of the tide—the stage of the tide ? A. 

Well, we were coming down, as I said, trying to aim for low water 
slack, and get down—

Q. Never mind that, what was the stage of the tide? A. 
Well, the stage of the tide was approximately 15 or 20 minutes 
prior to low water slack according to tide tables.

Q. That is, you were on the last of the ebb ? A. The last 
of the ebb, yes.

Q. Fair tide? A. Fair tide. 40
Q. And you say—have you got any detail on that particular 

case? A. No, I haven't, I just got dates here, that is all.
Q. Have you got your speed ? A. Yes, we were proceeding 

about three knots.
Q. That is three knots—as far as over the ground, you were 

going faster over the ground, were you not ? A. No, the speed, 
I think we would probably be going three knots over the ground.
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Q. Well, your speed so far as the engine was concerned—A. RECORD
Was SIOW. British Columbia

Q. Was considerably less than that? A. Oh, no, because Mmbaityjyist. 
I don't think the ebb tide had any great velocity at that time, al- Defendant's 
though there was a drain of ebb. Well, I will say three knots, I Case 
don't think she exceeded three knots. 

Q. Engine? A. Yes.
Q. You say you got a sheer to starboard ? A. She took 

a heavy sheer to starboard.
Q. How near were you to Berry Point? A. Oh, we were 

not at Berry Point at all, we were 1500 feet east of the bridge at 
that time.

East of what? A. East of the bascule. 
Yes.
Q. Well, how near were you to the south shore ? 
Q. East of the bascule where it is now. Of 

A. It was in, yes, sir, it was not

The Court
The Court
Mr. Burns
The Court

course, it was not built then? 
going—not operating.

The Court: Yes, I see, I did not quite understand you, when 
20 you were calling that—I don't think Mr. Burns understood that.

Mr. Burns: Yes, I understood that, my lord, possibly I 
should have asked the question more definitely.

Mr. Griffin: Even the piers were in long before, the super­ 
structure.

The Court: Well, I did not understand that, counsel know 
that better than I do, and I have been assuming.

Mr. Burns: I should have brought that to your lordship's 
attention, because I knew that. This was in June, 1925, the bridge 
was opened in November, 1925. 

30 The Court: It must have been there.
Mr. Burns: Q. Even the superstructure was on at that 

time, I presume ? A. Yes.
Q. But they were not operating the bridge? A. That is 

right.
The Court: Yes, I understand.
Mr. Burns: That is right, you corrected me properly, the 

sheer occurred when you were 1500 feet east of the bridge? A. 
Yes.

Q. Then I want to know how near were you to the south 
40 shore ? A. Well we were lined up at that time steering for the 

north span of the bascule—the north pier, I should say of the bas­ 
cule, so that Berry Point was right astern, and I presume we were 
in midchannel.

Q. Would you say that you were between Berry Point— 
wrhen I say between, I mean inside of Berry Point, between Berry 
Point and the bascule pier? A. No, sir, my Berry Point—ac­ 
cording to my bearing, was right astern, that is my mark going.
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down channel. Berry Point was right astern and the north pier 
of the bascule was right ahead.

Q. Well, then, looking from the bascule at your ship and at 
Berry Point they would be in line ? A. Yes.

Q. Berry Point would be behind your ship? A. Berry 
Point was behind the ship, yes.

Q. So that you would in the sense that I use the term be in­ 
side of Berry Point ? A. Not inside of Berry Point, no, not in­ 
side of Berry Point.

Q. Well— 10
The Court: Not from a seaman's point of view.
Mr. Burns: Q. Yes, correct me then, Captain, I want to 

get it right? A. Well—
Q. As I understand it you nave now said that if you were 

standing on a pier—say the north pier of the bascule— A. Yes.
Q. —looking at your ship— A. Yes.
Q. —and then looking beyond you would see Berry Point? 

A. Yes.
Q. In other words, that—what is the term I want to suggest ? 

A. Well, you would have your north pier and Berry Point in line. 20
Q. In line with your ship ? A. To the ship.
Q. And your ship— A. In one line.
Q. Yes, in other words, when I said inside, you mean they 

were right in line, your ship being inside ? A. Yes, if I had been 
inside Berry Point, Berry Point would bear off my starboard 
quarter.

Q. Yes, all right.
The Court: You see that is quite right.
Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord.
The Court: It has a nautical significance when you say with- 30 

in.
Mr. Burns: Yes, I see that, my lord, and the term that I used, 

that it was inside—I understood the term, but I said inside when 
I should not have.

Q. From your recollection you are willing to say that you 
were absolutely in line ? A. Yes.

Q. That is, Berry Point, the north pier of the bascule and 
your ship ? A. The north pier of the bascule, yes, sir.

Q. And you were steering for the north pier at this time? 
A. Yes, at that time. 40

Q. Now, did you change your course? A. No, not—
Q. That was the time of the sheer ? A. That was the posi­ 

tion when she sheered.
Q. Now, can you tell me how far you were from the south 

shore approximately? A. No, I couldn't approximately, all I 
know is that that was the position of the ship.

Q. Well, is this correct, by reference to the chart, placing
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the ship as you have now stated the distance can be obtained? A. RECORD
Oh, yes. Britishl^lumbia

Q. That you were from the south shore ? A. Yes. Admiralty pist. 
Q. And that would be the distance? A. Yes. Defendant's 
Q. Now, to get in that position you must have been steering Case 

south of the north pier, must you not? A. To get in that posi- D _.:—
tion, no, not necessarily. r ' ™°" ' ' T •> AT TIT i , Cross-exam.ty. Y ou mean to say that— A. I could have been steering— (Contd.)

Q. You could have held your course ? A. I could be steer- 
10 ing north—a little north of that position and still be in that posi­ 

tion.
Q' You could. Now, you say that the shoal on the south side 

is something that you can't get dangerously near? A. Well—
Q. And you must not get dangerously near— A. Well, un­ 

fortunately we have got to get dangerously near in order to pass 
through the bascule.

Q. Yes, I was just taking your evidence up so that I could 
get some place to start. A. Yes.

Q. And discuss that reference to this shoal; you say that you 
20 have to be careful not to go dangerously near the shoal on the south 

shore, is that right, or do you have to go dangerously near? A. 
No, we have to go dangerously near.

Q. You have to go dangerously near ? A. That is it, yes, 
sir.

Q. In order to line up with the bridge and get at right angles 
with the draw, is that right ? A. That is right, sir.

Q. In order to do that how near the shoal do you have to go ?
A. Well, I have never placed it on the chart, but I know exactly
from my mind's eye now that it must be pretty close, because the

30 shoal extends out as far as a line with the south pier, that is the
contour.

Q. That is the line of the south pier if it were extended ? A. 
Yes.

Q. It would come to the shoal? A. Quite so, in fact, I 
think it would come inside the shoal, if it was drawn right a 
straight line, I think you would find that the shoal came over the 
straight line or right angle.

Q. Well, when you say shoal, can we define that a bit as to 
the depth ? A. Well, there is 3J to 5 fathoms water in the shoal. 

40 Q. 3£ to 5 fathoms, so the 5 fathom line would be the outside 
edge of the shoal? A. Yes, probably.

Q. I will assume that, I just want to get it now. And you 
would say that if you extended the line of the south pier that 
would cut the 5 fathom line at this point we are speaking of ? A. 
That would cut your shoal water, yes.

Q. Now, then, how near did you have to go to that point in 
the matter of depth, for instance, in order to navigate the bridge ?
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A. Well, as I said before I never actually measured it, but on 
looking at it, we are bound to — we are bound to go within feet of 
the shoal.

Q. What do you mean by feet? A. Well, for instance, we 
must — we will say you must go within 200 feet of it.

Q. 200 feet of the— A. Or 250 feet of the shoal.
Q. Of the shoal or shore? A. Shoal.
Q. Yes, on the 5 fathom line? A. Yes.
Q. I want to put it your way ? A. Yes.
Q. That you have to go 200 or 250 feet— A. Yes.
Q. Near — A. To the shoal water.
Q. To this 5 fathom line? A. Yes.
Q. Now, that you call dangerously near, would you? A. I 

would say so.
Q. In the circumstances ? A. I would say so.
Q. Anything nearer than that would be very dangerous, 

wouldn't it? A. I would say so.
Q. And no captain should have his ship anywhere nearer 

than that, anyway? A. Oh, no, not if he can avoid it.
Q. Not if he can avoid it ; and if he did get nearer than that 

sort of thing, there is such a thing as cushioning off? A. Yes,
Q. Ricochetting off the two piers, off from the field of the 

shallow water? A. You would certainly feel the shock if you 
did that.

Q. Well, you would feel the shock, you would feel the sheer, 
wouldn't you? A. Yes.

Q. Could you say, for instance, taking the vessel the "West 
Hemrod" placed where we were discussing it a minute ago, would 
you say that she was about 200 or 250 feet from that shoal at that 
time ? A. Well, she was on that line between Berry Point and 
that north pier, now if you put that on the chart you will prob­ 
ably get the exact position.

Q. Now, you say that you have to go down there to line up 
and get at right angles to the draw. That draw, you say is 150 
feet wide. That is right, is it not? A. Yes.

Q. In fact, that is your third objection to the bridge? A. 
Yes.

Q. It is too narrow? A. Yes.
Q. Only 150 feet, and ought to be at least 300. Now, you 

are figuring on the basis that the draw is 150 feet, are you? A. 
Yes.

Q. And you don't know that you are wrong there, do you? 
A. Oh, no, I can't be so very far wrong, because I will tell you 
why.

Q. You are coming here and giving this evidence and ready 
to give it in the way you have, and you say that that draw is only 
150 feet wide, that is 150 feet clearance ? A. Yes.

10

20

30
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Q. Well, are you going to be surprised when I say that she RECORD 
has 165 clearance ? A. Yes, I am. British Columbia

Q. 181 Wide? A. lam. Admiralty Dist.

Q. You are surprised? A. Yes. Defendant's
Q. When I say that she has 165 feet clearance ? A. Yes. Case
Q. Would you be also surprised when I suggest to you that -— 

it was made 165 so that that draw would be taken at an angle and *?• amton 
an angle that good navigation would give in coming to that bridge, 
*vouldyoubesurprisedatthat? A. Yes, but I don't think that 

10 putting the draw at an angle is a very—is not a good—it is not a 
good proceeding to have a ship in to an angle, because you nar­ 
row the draw when you do that.

Q. Quite true, that is the immediate result of that narrow­ 
ing, but you have heard suggested or told you that this draw was 
made 165 feet so that there would be that amount of 150 feet clear­ 
ance at the angle that it was taken at? A. Yes.

Q. You have never heard that? A. I have never heard 
that, no.

Q. What is the objection to going straight through the draw 
20 —straight through the draw, mind you, if you have got reasonable 

clearance—at a slight angle. Is there any objection to that? A. 
Yes—well, of course, it is—you naturally want to go straight 
through; and then again if you expose your vessel at an angle, we 
will say, you are exposing the flank of the vessel to any current 
that may be. If you proceed directly at right angles to the stream 
you are not exposing the vessel to so much danger as you would 
be as exposing your flank to the current.

Q. You will agree with me in this, Captain, will you not, 
that supposing 1500 feet east of the bascule, the difference between 

30 going through at an angle there or going away down so that she 
would land up and go through at right angles wouldn 't amount to 
very much, would it? A. Oh, yes, it would, it would be quite 
considerable—it would be.

Q. Now you say that you would not say the current has been 
increased by reason of the bridge, but numerous cross currents 
have been created by the bridge. I asume that is what you meant ? 
A. Yes.

Q. Will you just enumerate these? A. Well, the fact of 
these cylinders being sunk there, you are opposing, of course— 

40 you are obstructing the tides. When the tides strike a cylinder 
they are bound to cause commotion and deflect the water.

Q. So your statement is that these cross currents are causer 
by the cylinders ? A. Yes, sir, that is what I would say.

Q. And to what extent are cross currents caused? I mean 
what kind of cross currents ? A. Well, currents that are—well, 
as I say, it is very—they are very irregular and erratic, these cur­ 
rents, and I can't tell you in which direction they go, but they are 
bound to cause erratic conditions.
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A. Sinclak 
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Q. Well, you mean just around the bridge ? A. Well, I will 
say, too, east and west of the bridge, depending on how—whether 
it is ebb or flow.

Q. Well, to what extent east or west? A. Well, they must 
—they must be at least 300 feet, I would think.

Q. Supposing you get a flood tide, you would get 300 feet of 
cross currents on the bridge, would you? A. I would think that 
you would be liable to get that, yes, and of course, depending on 
the strength of the tide as to the exact direction—

Q. We will say an average tide, we will say, that is the ex- 10 
tent that you will go, and you say that for 300 feet east, the water 
on a flood tide in going to the average height, that there will be 
cross currents caused by the piers at the bridge ? A. Well, that 
is my opinion, yes, that there would be.

Q. Now, then, to what extent do these currents cross? I 
mean, are they right across the channel? A. Well, they possibly 
may not be right across the channel.

Q. Well, when you say possibly would, what do you mean by 
that, does that come from your experience? A. Well, I can't 
tell you, because I say they have had all these cylinders and I 20 
couldn't tell you exactly how they come.

Q. You can't tell me. Would you be surprised to know that 
our evidence on that is that with a flood tide or ebb tide that the 
piers cause no cross currents at all? A. I would be surprised.

Q. You would be surprised to hear that ? A Yes.
Q. And you say that you have seen cross currents ? A. No, 

I don't say I have seen them, I have experienced them, I have ex­ 
perienced the effects of them.

Mr. Burns: That is all.
Mr. Smith: Thank you, Captain. 30
(Witness aside).
The Court: I won't trouble you any more, Mr. Smith, just 

at present—after lunch.
(12:55 P.M. COURT ADJOURNED UNTIL 2:15 P.M.) 

(2:15 P.M. COURT MET PURSUANT TO ADJOURNMENT)

Mr. Smith: Captain Sinclair.

ANDREW SINCLAIR, a witness called on behalf of the Defend­ 
ant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:
Q. Now, I am some distance away, so speak as loudly as you 40 

can, Captain, will you? A. Yes.
Q. You live in Vancouver? A. Yes. 
Q. And you are a pilot? A. Yes.
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(Contd.)

Q. How long have you been at sea ? A. Twenty-four years. RECORD 
Q. How long have you been a pilot on the B. C. Coast? A. Britishc^iumbi

Five years. Admiralty Dist.
Q. And what is the total experience you have had on this Defendant's 

coast? A Twenty-one years on the coast. Case
Q. Twenty-one years. Did you navigate the Second Nar- 

rows before the bridge was there? A Yes.
Q. And you have navigated after the bridge was built? A. 

After it was built.
10 Q. After the bridge was constructed at what stages of the 

tide did you navigate through the Narrows? A. Well, it was 
on coasting vessels and I would — I used to take it any time of the 
tide.

Q. Any time at that time, and since the bridge has been con­ 
structed when did you navigate? A. At slack water approxi­ 
mately.

Q. Approximately at slack water? A. Yes.
Q. Is that during the day and night also ? A. Not now, we 

don't usually navigate the bridge at dark now. 
20 Q. No, so that now your navigation is restricted to daylight ? 

A. Daylight and slack water.
Q. And slack water. In your opinion, is the bridge an ob­ 

struction to navigation? A. Yes.
Q. And is it a menace to navigation? A Yes.
Q. In what way has the bridge, if at all alterated the tides 

or currents since it was built? A. Well, it narrows the place 
altogether, it gives greater velocity to the current, and also diverts 
the current in different ways, the piers and the fill on the side, 
and piling on the north side and the fill on the south side. 

30 Q. Yes, and in what ways do they divert the currents ? A. 
Well, it diverts it angling across the draw of the bridge.

Q. Yes, well, what place— any particular part of the bridge ? 
A. In the draw where the ships go through.

Q' Yes, but what causes the diversion? A Well, the con­ 
tour of the land and the fills that have been made.

Q. Yes, and the site of the fill is where? A. Approxi­ 
mately —

Q. Whereabouts in the bridge. A. At the end of the bridge, 
the south end of the bridge.

40 Q. The south end of the bridge, and the contour of the land 
and the rock fill at the south end of the bridge causes deflection 
of the tide across the draw of the bridge? A. Yes.

Q. You, of course, know the bascule span ? A Pardon?
Q. You know the bascule span? A Yes.
Q. Is it properly situated or otherwise ? A It is not prop­ 

erly situated, it should be in the centre of the channel.
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RECORD_ Q. Well, what various things are wrong with it, in your 
British Columbia opinion ? A. Well, it is too close to the south shore and it is not 

in the centre of the channel where the tide runs straight.
Q. And anything else ? A. Well, I think that is enough.
Q. Well, yes, that is so. Do you know a shoal anywhere near 

the south end of the bridge ? A. Oh, yes.
Q. And what effect has that shoal on the navigation of a 

ship ? A. Well, especially a ship coming from the eastward.
Q. Yes, from the east or west? A. The ship has to be close 

to the shore to line up for to go through the bridge.

Admiralty Dist.

Defendant's 
Case

A. Sinclair 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

A. Sinclair 
Cross-exam.

10
Q. Yes ? A. And that has the tendency of cushioning off 

that shore bodily.
Q. Yes? A. Also the tide is angling across that way, too, 

and has the same tendency.
Q. Yes, in your opinion is the bascule draw wide enough 

for navigation ? A. It is wide enough if there was no current.
Q. Can you give an idea of how often you have been through 

the bridge ? A. Well, I will give you approximate.
Q. Well, say, how many times a month have you gone 

through? A. Well, piloting—since I have been piloting, you 20 
mean?

Q. Yes, since you have been piloting? A. Oh, probably 
from 120 to 150 times.

Mr. Smith: Thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
Q. Did I understand you, Captain, that your experience be- 

for the bridge was there was in coasting vessels? A, Coasting 
vessels, yes.

Q. And you would go up and down any time? A. Any 
time. 30

Q. And in deep sea vessels your own experience has been 
since the bridge has been there? A. Since the bridge has been 
there—well, while the bridge was under construction.

Q. Well, I mean since the bridge has been there in that sense 
that you have had to go through the bridge?

Mr. Smith: Will you speak a little louder, Captain, was that 
yes or no ? A. Yes.

Mr. Burns: Q. Now, when you speak of lining up for the 
span, will you just explain that?

The Court: Did he say to you, Mr. Burns, that before the 40 
bridge he went through there at any time with deep sea ships?

Mr. Burns: No, my lord, in coasting vessels.
The Court: Mr. Smith did not quite catch it, you see.
Mr. Burns: Q. Now, with the deep sea ships you have been 

through the Second Narrows only after the bridge was there? 
A, Yes.
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(Contd.)

Mr. Griffin: And during construction, you see. RECORD 
Mr. Burns : Well, during construction, that is after the piers

Were there.
Q. Now, would you explain what you meant or what you Defendant's 

mean by lining up for the span, that is to say, going from east to Case 
west? A. Yes, always you have the ship in perfect control at a 
reasonable distance from the draw that she is heading through, 
that you don't have to use any great angle of helm.

Q. Well, when you say lining up with the draw, do you 
10 mean lining up at right angles with the draw or not ? A. Well, 

lining up in the position that you would go — that you wish to go 
through, you line up the course you wish to take.

Q. Well, is the vessel at right angles to the draw or not? 
A. It should be.

Q. Well, but is it. I am talking now about a ship going 
from east to west, going out? A. Easterly.

Q. And when you speak of lining your ship up for the draw,
when you have lined her up, is she at right angles to the draw,
that is what I want to know? A, Well, personally I don't go

20 through that way she is not at right angles, she is to the north­
ward of the line of right angle.

Q. To what extent could you say? A. Well, I couldn't say 
for sure, probably —

Q. Five degrees? A. Five — ten degrees anyhow.
Q. Ten degrees? A. Yes.
Q. And when you set that course that will take you on your 

course to go through? A. Yes, if the ship will go straight.
Q. Well, I mean to say, leaving that out? A. Yes.
Q. As far as the course is concerned? A. Yes. 

30 Q- Your course is then direct. About ten degrees to the 
northward of that point, which would make you at right angles 
to the draw ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Yes, speak so we will get it down. And that is your 
usual practice, is it ? A. It has been.

Q. Yes. Then do you say when you are in that position 
that you are near that shoal so that the shoal would bother you? 
A. With a heavy draft ship at low tide it would.

Q. Low slack? A. Yes.
Q. That is when there is a long run out or — A. Yes. 

40 Q. Or an average low ? A. If it was low.
Q. Have you an understanding as to the depth there where 

you would be? A. Oh, yes.
Q. What would you say? A. Under the ship ?
Q. Yes, the depth of water that you are in? A. Oh, I 

would have 65 feet.
Q. About 65 feet. That is to say, when you are lined up in 

the way that you have described for the draw you would have
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Under the—yes, that is 

Yes. Of course, you

about 65 feet of water, is that right? i 
British Columbia f rom the — at low water ?

Q. I am talking about low slack ? A. 
deduct the draft of the ship from that.

Q. Well, I understand? A. Yes.
Q. But that 65 feet of water, your ship is in that 65 feet of 

water, that explains it, doesn't if? A. Yes.
Q. Now, at that point — in that position what point is your 

ship heading for, that is, what point of the draw, north, south, the 
south pier or the centre of the draw ? A. Well, heading for the 
centre.

Q. For the centre and that is the course you keep right 
through? A. Yes, if she doesn't swing.

Q. Well—
Mr. Griffin: Speak up, witness, we can't hear.
Mr. Burns: Q. If she doesn't swing, well, we are leaving 

out her swing? A, Yes.
Q. I mean that course would take you right on the draw? 

A. Yes.
Q. And you are heading for the centre. Would you say that 

it would be any more than ten degrees ? A. No, I wouldn 't say 
because I haven't — I never looked at the compass going through 
there, I am watching the ship's head.

Q. Well, you have been through there a number of times and 
you have got some experience in that connection? A. I would 
say approximately ten degrees.

Q. You know as a pilot and a captain that if you closer to 
a shoal than, say, 65 feet of water that you would be shoved off, 
wouldn't you, the ship would tend to be shoved off ? A. It would 
tend to shove it off, yes, if she was —

Q. At what point would you say — at what depth of water 
would you say that that tendency would be indicated? A. Well, it 
would be pretty hard to say really.

Q. Well, you take 25 feet draft of ship? A. It is not 
really the water under, it is the water — the distance from the shoal 
she is.

Q. Yes, well, the shoal, we say, is at 5 fathoms, and how near 
would you have to get to that shoal to feel the effect of that shove 
off?

That is 25 foot draft.
5 fathoms.
I think you said that.
Yes, 25 foot draft of ship.
Yes, 25 foot, and a 5 fathom shoal — edge of

The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 
The Court: 

shoal.
Mr. Burns: Q. Yes, how near would you say, where you

10

20

30

would feel that shove off? A, You would feel it in five fathoms.
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Q. Of course, I assume that, but how near would you have RECORD 
to get to that 5 fathoms with a 25 foot draft of ship to feel that — British~c^iumbia 
sense that shoving off? A. Well, I couldn't say — just say de- Admiraity &**• 
finitely.

Q. You couldn't say. Now, then, when you are in that posi- Case 
tion that we have been speaking of how are the currents running, 
that is to say, supposing you are coming down on the ebb — it was 
an ebb tide? /Yes

Q. How is that current running in relation to the lay of your 
10 ship, if I am using the proper term. Are they running parallel 

or across the ship in any way? A. Is that right at the bridge 
or —

Q. No. Where you have lined up for the bascule span that 
we have been discussing? A. Well, they vary.

Q. I mean in a perceptible ebb tide? A Well, in an ebb 
tide it runs fairly straight with the ship.

Q. Straight with the ship, when you are in that position ? 
A. Yes.

Q. By the way, when you assume that — at least, whereabouts 
20 are you, in relation to the bridge when you assume that position 

that we have been discussing, about how far, say ? A Oh, approxi­ 
mately 1500 feet east of the bridge.

Q. About 1500 feet east of the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. And you say that the currents are running straight with 

the ship, that is, on a perceptible ebb tide ? A. Up to there — up 
to that position.

Q. Well, then, is there any change of the currents in relation 
to the ship, when you continue that course ? A. Yes, quite often 
feel a set off from the south shore. 

30 Q. A set off from the south shore? A. Yes.
Q. Do you attribute that to the shoal? A. Part of it, and 

part of it from the first of the flood.
Q. The first of the flood? A. Making up on the south 

shore.
Q. You say that the flood makes up on the south shore in the 

narrowest pass, you are still in the narrows, you see, you haven't 
come up to the bridge yet? A. Yes.

Q. You say that the flood makes up on the south shore in 
the narrows then ? A. It will — it will slacken up the ebb current ; 

40 it may not be running up, but it will slacken up the ebb current on 
that shore.

Q. You can see that, can you, in the water? A. Some­ 
times ; sometimes you can't.

Q. And can you feel it without seeing it on the water? A. 
Yes, you can feel it quite often. Sometimes the water looks per­ 
fectly slack on the surface and you will feel a set underneath.

Q. Would you, as the last witness, Captain Clinton, say that
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From the—
Q. Yes, from the shoal? A. The shoal above the bridge?
Q. Yes ? A. No, not necessarily.
Mr. Smith: Captain Clinton never said that, pardon me.
Mr. Burns: I think he did. However, if you don't agree I 

don't care very much.
The Court: Q. Would you repeat what you said there, wit­ 

ness? A. What is that?
Q. Just repeat what you said? 10
Mr. Burns: Q. Well, could you say—pardon me, my lord. 

A. I would say that the set was on account of the contour of the 
land and the fill at the bridge.

Mr. Burns: Well, that is what Captain Clinton said.
Mr. Smith: Yes, that is what he said.
Mr. Burns: Q. Now, you know that that set was due to the 

fill at the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. Now, you add the contour of the land ? A. Well, there 

always was a set off there before. Probably the fill has made it 
greater. 20

Q. Before the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. Well, then, you took that course before the bridge, did 

you, when you went through ? A. Not that course, no, the centre 
channel course.

Q. How did you know that there was a set there ? A. Well, 
I could see it.

Q. You could see it? A. Yes.
Q. On the surface ? A. Yes, you could feel it also.
Q. You would not feel it in midchannel? A. No, but 

you got over that way sometimes—before the bridge was there, 30 
you didn't really follow a direct line sometimes, sometimes you 
would vary your distance off the shore.

Q. And you say that set occurred at the commencement of 
the flood or later on when the flood was making ? A. Yes, when 
the flood was commencing.

Q. And you would also attribute it to the fill at the bridge ? 
A. Well, when the fill was put in at this point on the bridge it 
would certainly set the current off more.

Q. Well, does it or does it not, according to your own obser­ 
vation? A. Well, as far as I can see, I say it does. 40

Q. And that is how much east, how far east of the bridge ? 
A. Well, I would say probably 1500—2,000 feet.

Q. The effect of this fill? A. The effect.
Mr. Burns: That is all.
Mr. Smith: All right, thank you very much, Captain.
(Witness aside).
Mr. Griffin: Mr. Arenberg.
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Mr. Burns: 2,000.
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CHARLES ARENBERG, a witness caUed on behalf of the 
Defendant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows: Case

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Q. Mr. Arenberg, you remember what was said to all the 

witnesses now about speaking out loudly, as best you can. It is 
astonishing how hard it is to hear here. A. Yes.

Q. You are Pacific Coast Marine Superintendent of the Im- 
10 perial Oil Company? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And have occupied that position for about fifteen years'? 
A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you live in Vancouver? A. Yes, sir.
Q. Your company have an oil—
The Court: Q. Did he say superintendent, Mr. Griffin ?
Mr. Griffin: Marine Superintendent.
The Court: Marine Superintendent?
Mr. Griffin: Yes; they may have others.
The Court: Yes, thank you, superintendent for fifteen years. 

20 Mr. Griffin: Q. The premises of the company are at a place 
called loco, that is east and above the Second Narrows Bridge? 
A. Yes.

Q. And there you have a plant where you keep a supply of 
oil? A. Yes, sir.

Q. That is brought there in tank vessels ? A. Yes, sir.
Q. And has been there for a number of years? A. Yes.
Q Now, speaking of conditions before the building of the 

Second Narrows Bridge, your company then were employing what 
large vessels, give them one by one, with the name of the ship. 

30 His lordship asked for it on a previous day.
The Court: Now, this is before the bridge ?
Mr. Griffin: Yes.
The Court: Before the piers were built, Mr. Griffin.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, the conditions before the bridge 

was put in at all.
Q. Justgivethenam.es?
The Court: Yes.
A. We had the following large vessels, the S.S.—
The Court: Just stand a little this way and a little nearer. 

40 That is it, thank you.
A. We had the S.S. " Vancolite," 15,000 tons; the S.S. " Vic- 

torlite," 15,000 tons; the S.S. "Albertalite,"' 12,000 tons.
The Court: There are two vessels at 15,000 ?
A. Yes, sir
Q. One of 10, did you say? A. Twelve.

C. Arenberg 
Direct.
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Q. One of 12,500? A. 12,000.
Q. I beg your pardon 1 A. S. S. " Albertalite'' 12,000 tons.
Q. Yes? A. S.S. "Calgaralite" 12,000; S.S. "Montralite" 

9,000; S.S. "Torontolite" 9,000 tons; S.S. "Mina Brae" 9,000 
tons, and a coasting vessel the S.S. "Imperial," 950 tons.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Now, were all these vessels navigating 
through the Narrows at one time or another before the bridge was 
built? A. Yes, everyone of them.

Q. What trade were they engaged upon ? A. They carried 
cargoes of oil to loco above the Second Narrows Bridge and dis- 10 
charged up there. The S.S. "Imperial" carried cargoes of gaso­ 
line and refined oil to the various coast boat stations.

Q. Now, I am going to lead on unimportant matters unless 
my learned friends object. Your company, I believe, have dispos­ 
ed of all those particular named ships? A. Yes.

Q. The ones you have named? A. Yes.
Q. Except the "Imperial?" A. Most of them.
Q. And have substituted others to a certain extent, having 

the same names, and I will read the names out to you and you may 
confirm these. You now have motor ships instead of steamships ? 20 
A. Yes, sir.

Q. And they are as follows: "C. 0. Stillman" 23,000, the 
"Victolite" 16,000 tons; the "Vancolite" 16,000 tons.

The Court: That first one was how many, Mr. Griffin ?
Mr. Griffin: 23,000, and 3 at 16.
The Court: 23,000,2-16.
Mr. Griffin: 3 16, they are called "Victolite," "Vancolite" 

and "Calgolite." One 15,000 called the "Montralite," 212,000 tons, 
"Reginalite" and "Ontariolite."

The Witness: Pardon me, I think you left out the "Canada- 30 
lite"— M.V. "Canadalite," she is 15,600.

Q. You actually have it, I missed her, yes. Then following 
from that we have smaller classes going down, the "Torontolite," 
now that figures 9,000, and the "Mina Brae," I take it 9,000? 
A. Yes.

Q. The "Imperial" 950 tons; "Fuelite" 500 tons, and a 
chartered ship called the "El Grillo," 10,000 tons.

The Court: 10,000.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord.
The Witness: There is another. 40
Q. Is there another chartered vessel? A. Yes, the S.S. 

" Aledo" 12,000, and there is another coasting boat, the S.S. "Nan- 
aimolite" 650 tons.

Q. Now, your vessels have been in trouble with the bridge 
and have had accidents and near accidents during the course of 
the last three or four years ? A.' Yes, sir.

Q. Have you for the purpose of assisting the evidence pre-
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pared a list of these with, the damages sustained. Have you pre­ 
pared such a list ? A. Yes, I have it here.

(Producing document).
Q. Oh, you have it there, have you? A. Yes.
Mr. Burns: Pardon me, my lord—

Yes, just look at it. For the last few years, you

RECORD

The Court: 
say, Mr. Griffin? 

Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin: 

bit into 1928. 
Mr. Burns:

Yes, my lord, '24, '5, '6 and '7 
Four years. 
Yes, just four years, bringing the last a little

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Defendant's 
Case

C. Arenberg 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

My lord, this is apparently a list or statement 
setting out the names of certain vessels with certain costs against 
them, purporting to be costs of holding and damages sustained by 
vessels owned by the Imperial Oil Limited arising out of the con­ 
struction and operation of the bridge over the Second Narrows. 
Now, unless this witness knows this of his own knowledge I object 
to its use.

The Court: I am afraid, Mr. Griffin, unless this witness
20 could speak like the other witnesses who were examined by Mr.

Smith, as to his own knowledge, knowledge of the respective cases,
that would not be advancing the case, and this might have been
owing to their own negligence.

Mr. Griffin: No, my lord, I am only showing it as showing 
the condition of navigation, and I will ask the witness to so 
understand, that I am asking it from his personal knowledge.

Mr. Burns: Yes, if it is confined to personal knowledge be­ 
cause as a matter of fact the reports might be erroneous.

The Court: Yes, it is his knowledge, you see. It would not 
30 really be profitable, would it, Mr. Griffin, unless it seemed, of 

course, that it was the man's knowledge in each case, otherwise the 
evidence is quite wrong.

Mr. Griffin: We have had most of the figures on the "Mina 
Brae"—

The Court: Of course, some of them you have included.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, some of these, my lord, have already been

given in the evidence, in the testimony others undoubtedly have
not, and I was not going to ask this witness, for instance, the "El
Grille" was dealt with, the "Mina Brae"—the two cases have been

40 dealt with.
Q. Mr. Arenberg, to what extent, taking first the delay 

clams—hours of delay, to what extent are you personally familiar 
with the fact that the vessels were in fact delayed ?

The Court: The vessels were in fact what ?
Mr. Griffin: Delayed by the necessity of going through the 

bridge at specific hours, that is demurrage, my lord, if they are 
held for many hours above the bridge it results in damage due to
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Court : But assuming it is a loss, Mr. Griffin, you are 
quite right, but then don't you see again, of course, on that feature 
Mr. Burns' objection is this, that fact can only be proved by some­ 
body who was on the vessel at the time, who was in command, be­ 
cause of course it may have been due to a number of things. He 
cannot tell unless he was there.

Mr. Griffin : My lord, this witness is in charge of the depart­ 
ment, would be present and see the vessel, he would be right there. 
I had better go into that and see.

The Court : Mr. Burns' point is that he is not right there, he 
is at loco, but he ought to be right there at the bridge, that is his 
point.

Mr. Griffin : No, my lord, the delay does not take place at the 
bridge, the delay takes place at the dock, not at the bridge.

The Court: I understand that, but that is not Mr. Burns' 
point, Mr. Burns' point is that it is really irrelevant to give any 
evidence of this kind unless you can actually bring forward all 
these cases, like you have in the other cases, quite properly, that it 
was owing to some obstruction at that very time.

Mr. Griffin : Well, I am proposing to see if this witness can —
The Court: I mean, I understand this man is not a navi­ 

gator.
Mr. Griffin: No, my lord, he is marine superintendent in 

charge of all navigation.
The Court: I understand that, but that is not Mr. Burns' 

point, his point is that he cannot cross-examine this man at all, 
it would be useless, assuming that the man, in the position in which 
he is employed, he is not actually at the place at that time when 
these vessels were delayed, at the locality, on account of this so- 
called obstruction of the bridge — or the so-called obstruction there.

Mr. Griffin : I was going to ask.
Q. Mr. Arenberg, were you personally present on the occa­ 

sions when these vessels were held up? A. Most of the time.
Q. Most of the occasions you were present ? A, Yes.
The Court: But where, that is the point 1
Mr. Griffin : My lord, I can only ask the questions one by one.
Q. Where were you present ? A. Well, at the wharf where 

the vessels were discharging and loading the oil.
The Court : How far is loco away, how far is loco from the 

bridge 1? A. From the bridge?
Q. Yes? A. About ten miles.
Q. Well, that is ten miles away, you say? A. Yes.
Mr. Griffin : Now, at what hours can these vessels —
A. I would also go aboard the ships in the harbour, when 

they anchor in the harbour before they go through the bridge, and 
frequently go up on them.

10

20

30
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Q. So that you have personal knowledge of the times of their 
arrivals and departures ? A. Yes, we have a correct account of 
the time.

Q. Well, then, are you familiar personally with the causes 
why they were delayed? A. Yes.

Q. What is that cause, stating it—
Mr. Burns: Well, pardon me, my lord.
The Court: Now, do not misunderstand this, because it is

a perfectly clear line of demarcation here, and I propose to see
10 that I do not allow anything of that kind. You have elicited from

the witness that on some occasions he was on board some of these
ships.

Mr. Griffin: Yes.
The Court: Now, if you can show any time he was on board 

these ships at the point complained of, and therefore the delays 
attributed to that of course is evidence, but it must have been at 
that tune. You understand what I say, do you. You do not object 
to that, Mr. Burns ?

Mr. Burns: No, no,
20 The Court: No, but if he does not know about it, he is away 

back ten miles away, not at the First Narrows, or anywhere else, 
why, of course, his evidence is clearly of no value whatever.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, all I can do is ask him.
The Court: Certainly.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Then take the list in your hand, Mr. Aren- 

berg, I am going to deal with the ships one by one and see if you 
can from memory say which of these are the ones on which you 
were personally present and know the facts? A. The "Mina 
Brae"—

30 Q. Now, begin in the year 1924. The first item, the "Mina 
Brae," yes ? A. And the '' Albertalite.''

Q. Yes? A. The"Torontolite."
Q. That is, you have jumped to 1926, haven't you? A. Yes.
Q. The "Torontolite," yes? A The "Ontariolite."
Q. On both occasions the "Torontolite." I see she is there 

twice. A. Yes, I have been on board on both occasions.
Q. The "Ontariolite?" A. The "Ontariolite." I think 

that is all that I have been through the bridge on.
Q. No, but these are the ones—these five are the ones on 

*0 which you were through the bridge on the boat itself ? A. Yes.
Q. But I want to know in addition to that if there are any 

other cases in which by reason of your presence at the place where 
the ship was loading or discharging you became personally aware 
of the reason why she was delayed in leaving?

Mr. Burns: But, my lord, loading and discharging—
The Court: Yes, that is your point, Mr. Burns. Of course, 

you cannot ask that.
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__ Mr. Griffin: My lord, if he was present and in control and 
British Columbia he himself directed the thing he could give evidence of the reason 

that the vessel was not allowed to leave.
The Court: How can he?
Mr. Griffin: But he was there himself and directed it.
The Court: Suppose he was, he was not master of the ship.
Mr. Griffin: No, my lord, but he directs the master, he is the 

master's superior officer.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Well, then, if he is forced to hold back the 

vessel by reason of the fact that the tide won't allow it to leave on 
account of the bridge, then he is the very man that did it.

The Court: How does he know that?
Mr. Griffin: Because he knows the tune of the tide.
The Court: Oh, he may know that, but you have got to lay

C. Arenberg 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

a foundation. 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court:

Mr. Burns 
The Court 
Mr. Burns

titled to say. 
The Court

value.
Mr. Burns:

10

I am endeavoring to do that. 
But you have got to lay your foundation before 

you can ask the question you are asking. You are asking the 
question before laying the foundation, you are reversing it. 20 

Mr. Griffin: That may be, but I can't— 
The Court: I hope this witness is not going to indulge in any 

idle speculation, but if he has anything to tell with regard to the 
actual conditions of this bridge, of course that evidence must be 
received, but if he does not I do not propose to have him take up 
our time in idle speculation.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Who has control or superintendence over 
the department in which the ships come ? A. Well, I have.

Q. In other words, do the captains take their orders from 
you as to when they sail ? A. Yes. 30

Q. Well, then, were those ships—either all or some of them 
delayed in leaving under your orders by reason of conditions ex­ 
isting at the bridge ? A. The orders to our captains are to only 
navigate through the bridge in slack water and daylight.

Q. And daylight, and I suppose such delays as these were in 
consequence of having to wait for slack water and daylight 1? 
A. Yes, sir.

That, of course, I submit—
I beg your pardon?
That, I submit, my lord, this witness is not en- 40

It is not really—it is really of absolutely no

Yes, my lord, I undersand that, but I am simply 
endeavoring to keep the evidence within proper bounds.

The Court: The orders, of course, that he has given—he has 
not yet shown, of course, that he knows anything about it at all,
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at all that I Can See.

Mr. Griffin: My lord, this is the only evidence — 
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whether the reports so made to him are true, and whether the
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Mr. Griffin: But, my lord, in consequence of that — in con- 
10 sequence of these reports, what he told these captains —

The Court : That amounts to nothing at all.
Mr. Griffin : If your lordship thinks that is of no value I 

won't press it any further.
The Court: None at all.
Mr. Griffin : But I would like it noted that I tender the evi­ 

dence as being the conduct of the company —
The Court: That just happens to be that Mr. Burns did not 

object quite as clearly — it is so clear to be of no value whatever 
that I suppose that is the reason he did not object. 

20 Mr. Griffin : Q. Well, Mr. Arenberg, in any of these cases 
were you present yourself at loco when these vessels were in fact 
lying there delayed? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And were you at that tune aware of the cause of their 
being delayed? A Yes, sir.

Q. And were they then held by your orders ? A. Yes.
Q. Now, then, can you pick out these ?
The Court : Now, let me understand, in case we are drifting 

away, you know, in this matter, and I do not propose to do so.
Q. Now, what are you speaking of, witness? Are you talk- 

so ing of something you know yourself, because you were on board 
these vessels when you came through the bridge ? A. Yes.

Q. Now, there is no objection to that, then you see you 
answer the learned counsel; but if you don't know anything about 
it, because you were not at the bridge at the time, you see, don't 
say anything more until a ruling is made, because there is an objec­ 
tion.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Well, we will take the top one, the "Mina 
Brae," 1924, where you claim for a total of hours of delay, 79 
hours ? A. Yes. 

40 Q. Is it a fact that the vessel was delayed for 79 hours ?
The Court: If you don't know you need not answer that. 

Objection sustained.
Mr. Griffin : He knows about that one, that is one of the ones 

he went through the bridge in.
The Court: Is that one of them?
Mr. Griffin : Yes, my lord.
The Court: That was the trouble, if he would just simply
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look at the list, he has got it in his hand now, and say himself, "I 
was on this vessel." That is what he has been asked to do.

Mr. Griffin: He gave these five, my lord, already. Well, I 
will go back and endeavor to follow your lordship's method.

The Court: Yes, pick out the first one. Is that the one you 
refer to, Mr. Griffin?

Mr. Griffin; Yes.
The Court: The "Mina Brae," yes, I see, that is the first one 

he was on.
Mr. Griffin: The "Mina Brae," we got that one. The wit- 10 

ness was on board—you say? A. Yes.
Q. And can you verify the number of hours of delay ?
The Court: I have not got a copy of that list you see, I can­ 

not quite follow it.
Q. Now, you will look at this list you see, and you are saying 

this—you are going to say which one of the vessels you were on at 
the time where you had some cause of delay at this bridge in ques­ 
tion, so that you can give firsthand evidence of the case. Now, 
which are the ones you refer to, counsel has asked you and I want 
to know them? A. Well, the S.S. "Mina Brae" for the year -20 
1924, that 79 hours is the delay for the whole year.

Q. Oh, I see, yes. Well, were you on her then on one of these 
occasions ? A, Yes, I have been on her on one of these occasions.

The Court: Well, just speak to Mr. Griffin, you see—he can 
bring it out.

Mr. Griffin: Q. On how many occasions were you on board 
her, how many trips? A. Well, I have been aboard her every 
time she comes in the harbour out here and anchored waiting for 
the tide.

Q. Then you can verify that all the way through, can you, 30 
personally? A. Yes. I am also at loco when they are there un­ 
loading.

Mr. Burns: He is not on the ship at all, my lord—part of 
the time he is at loco.

The Court: Q. Yes, do you not understand what counsel 
is asking you? —what he understood from you I understood 
from you, that you were actually on board this ship at the time 
she went through this bridge, if you can tell us that. A. I do go 
on them sometimes, my lord.

Q. You see, he is asking you what times. Can you say? 40 
A. It is difficult for me just to remember what times I did go up, 
but I go up very frequently.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Now then, the times that you didn't go up 
on the vessels— A. Yes, there are times when I don't go up.

Q. Well, how do you become aware of the times she arrives 
in the harbour and the time she arrives at loco ? A. Because I 
keep close touch with them and know when they pass Prospect
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Point, and know when they come in the harbour, and we generally 
go out and meet them in a launch, I go aboard them.

Q. Have you checked the hours that you can remember ex­ 
actly at each particular trip? A. No, I can't.

The Court: Now, the result is that he cannot tell us one 
single occasion upon which a ship was delayed for one solitary —— 
hour to his personal knowledge because of this bridge, that is the -•. ArenberS
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difficulty.
Mr. Griffin: No, my lord, he does not mean—he understands 

the occasions but he cannot give the dates.
Q. Now, take the "Mina Brae" then—
The Court: Now, that is it again, you see, because there are 

apparently cross-currents on this examination, you mean one 
thing and he means another and Mr. Burns means still another. 
So let this witness understand, what is meant, one single occasion 
on which he was on board a vessel which was actually delayed at 
this bridge. Now, that is very simple and clear, anybody can 
understand that who has any intelligence at all. Now, just speak, 
if you know it.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Can you remember, witness, any occasion 
upon which you were there presonally, saw the vessel and were 
aware of her having been delayed by reason of her difficulty in get­ 
ting through the bridge. That is what we want, any that you were 
present on when she went through the bridge ?

Mr. Burns: Well, that is the point.
The Court: That is just the very point.

No, my lord, I am asking him that.
No, Mr. Burns is objecting because you did not

Direct. 
(Contd.)

Mr. Griffin 
The Court:

ask him that. 
Mr. Griffin

tunity.
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin

But your lordship is not giving me an oppor-

His objection is sustained. 
I don't suggest that the delay took place at the 

bridge, I say the vessel is held up at a point below the bridge or 
above the bridge by reason of a cause of delay at the bridge. 

The Court: But Mr. Burns' point is the condition is not
known?

Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin:

Yes, but he knows it at the time. 
He does not know, you see. 
Yes, my lord, he knows the tune of the tide. 
Oh, no, he does not you see. 
Yes, my lord, he does; he knows it from the tide 

book like anybody else.
The Court: He has no personal knowledge of it, he must say 

it definitely. 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 

be at the bridge.

But he is there, present.
But he is not there present. The Master might
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Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 

tion, witness. 
Mr. Griffin:

He is present with the ship and the Master.
But he was not present, you see.
But the witness has not said he was.
No, he did not, you see. Now, answer the ques-

Q. Now, go on, witness, that you personally 
were present on these occasions, you know of these ships—

The Court: Just keep Mr. Burns' objection in mind, you see.
Mr. Griffin: Yes.
Q. Were you present at loco when these vessels— 10
The Court: There, you see again, it has nothing to do with 

his presence at loco, the point is his presence at the bridge.
Mr. Griffin: I was not proposing to ask that question, my 

lord; he was not there.
The Court: Of course you are not.
Mr. Griffin: Well then, I think, my lord, I should ask the 

question I am able to.
The Court: Precisely, you have asked it several times and 

Mr. Burns has objected and I have ruled several times it is not 
admissible. 20

Mr. Griffin: Yes, your lordship has ruled on the question—
The Court: The witness himself says that he cannot explain 

in any particular case from his own personal knowledge how the 
ship was delayed at the bridge.

Mr. Griffin: No, he has not said so, my lord.
The Court: Well, you had better ask the question to make 

sure, and we will see, and we will have it a third time.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Have you been up at loco when there has 

been a vessel—
The Court: You see I have made the statement it is no good 30 

at all, that is not the point, that is not Mr. Burns' objection. Mr. 
Burns' objection is, this witness cannot speak of his own knowl­ 
edge, of one solitary occasion upon which this ship was delayed 
for one solitary minute, of his own knowledge, at the bridge in 
question. That is Mr. Burns' objection.

Q. Now, you have heard it, witness, can you answer it ? Do 
you know one solitary instance of your personal knowledge, as 
being present at this point in dispute ? That occasion—anything 
there occasioned delay to this vessel? A- Well, I can't just say 
the exact date, but— 40

Mr. Griffin: Q. Can you remember occasions apart from 
the date? A. Yes.

Q. Well now, then, tell his lordship about that if you can 
remember the occasion of it, without regard to the date ? A. Well, 
the last time the "Ontariolite" was in the harbour.

Q. Yes. A. She was anchored in the harbour.
The Court: Q. Were you on the vessel? A. Yes, sir.
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Q. You were on the vessel yourself? A. Yes.
Q. And it came up through this bridge ? A. Yes.
The Court: Now, that is perfectly good evidence, so proceed.
Mr. Griffin: Q. All right now, how long a time was she de­ 

layed in the endeavour to get through the bridge?
The Court: This vessel was what—what is her name?
Mr. Griffin: The "Ontariolite."
The Court: The what?
The Witness: The "Ontariolite."

10 Q. The "Ontariolite;" yes, I see that. Yes, the "Ontario­ 
lite, '' that is a motorship, in 1926 ? A. Yes.

Q. On one occasion, that is—
Mr. Griffin: I don't think that was necessarily the occasion 

in that list, my lord.
The Witness: I am referring to 1927.
The Court: 1927, yes.
Mr Burns: Q. The last occasion she went through you 

said? A. Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Q. All right. Now, what length of tune was 

20 she delayed by reason of the difficulty of getting through the 
bridge ? A. Well, of course we haven't got it on thelist here, the 
exact number of hours.

Q: No, I am trying you from your memory—how long, to 
the best of your memory, was it ? A. It seems to me it was about 
five hours.

Q. About five hours? A. Yes.
Q. What was the reason that occasioned the delay, what was 

it that she was waiting for? A. Waiting for slack water—high 
slack water.

30 Q. And under whose orders was that? A. It was under 
my orders, or the company's orders.

Q. Well, your orders direct to the Captain? A. It is a 
standing order. It is a standing order to all our Captains.

Q. Now then, give me another occasion when you can re­ 
member the occasion of that happening, a similar kind of thing, 
although you can't remember the date. A. Well, I went up on 
the "Torontolite" in 1927,1 can remember that quite well.

The Court: Q. The "Vancolite?" A. Torontolite."
Q. Oh, the "Torontolite, "yes. A. The "Torontolite, "yes,

40 sir-
Q. And another occasion in 1926? A. Yes.
Q. On the "Torontolite:" yes? A. Yes.
Q. Yes, what happened then? A. That she was delayed, 

anchored hi the harbour here waiting for slack water for as near 
as I can remember, approximately four hours.

Mr. Griffin: Q. All those that you can remember, without
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giving the date ? A. Yes, I went up on various occasions, I can't 
remember just the details very well.

Q. But can you remember that there were other occasions ? 
A. Oh yes, I know that there were several occasions where ships 
—if a ship comes in, that she can just go up to the bridge at slack 
water, why, of course she doesn't anchor, she goes straight on; but 
invariably they have to anchor, and also they had to anchor before 
they can come through for unloading.

Q. Now, I will take you back to loco where the delay had 
been to ships, following the line laid down to you by his lordship, 10 
can you remember occasions, apart from dates, when vessels on 
their downward trip have been delayed under three hours at loco 
by reason of the fact that they could not go through the bridge? 
A. Oh yes, I can remember several occasions.

Q. Now, try and give any of them that you can give from 
memory ? A. I would speak of the same ship, the '' Ontariolite.''

Q. Which year? A. In 1927.
Q. Yes ? A, The second last trip she was in here, she got 

as far as Berry Point and anchored.
The Court: Q. Is this the "Torontolite?" A. The "On- 20 

tariolite."
Q. The "Ontariolite," yes? A. She anchored- 
Mr. Burns: My lord, pardon my interruptions, but I would 

like to ask the witness whether he was aboard her or not.
The Court: Yes, I want to know, precisely.
Q. Were you aboard her ? A. No, I was at loco when she 

left
The Court: Well, that is the objection.
Mr. Griffin: Q. But you saw her leave? A. Yes, and I 

went down to her on a launch when she anchored. 30
The Court: Q. Oh, you went down to her? A. Yes.
Q. When you saw her anchored where? A. At Berry 

Point—off Berry Point.
The Court: Well, that is all right, Mr. Griffin.

Q. The same point ? A. She had to wait untilMr. Griffin 
the next—

The Court 
Mr. Griffin

Q. You followed her down in a launch, yes? 
Q. And she had to wait until when? A. Wait 

until the next slack water.
Q. How long would that be? A. Approximately 6 hours.
Q. Now, that is the first one. Any other one that you can 

remember now ? A. Well, I can't remember any more than that 
I was at loco when they left there and I know of their waiting, 
but I didn't go down on them, nor I didn't follow them down.

Q. Oh then, I will just make that question plain: Can you 
give me the names of any of them on which you can remember that 
they were held up there at loco when you were there and knew

40
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the occasion, even if you didn't follow them down? A. Oh well, RECORD 
they are invariably all held up because—

The Court: Well, that is objected to.
Mr. Griffin: Q. We want you to give them one by one if you 

can, those that were held up going down, the names of the vessels 
when you can remember the occasion, even if you can't remember 
the date ? A. The '' Torontolite'' was held up.

Q. What date—which were those years ? A. In 1927.
Q. Yes. A. Not leaving loco from nine o'clock at till seven 

10 o'clock in the morning.
Q. On one occasion? A. Yes, sir.
Q. Can you remember any others? A. Well, I don't think 

that I can remember any more. As I said before, they are more 
or less all held up.

Q. Now then, the balance of this list is made up from what 
records—what kind of records ? A. It is taken from the ship's 
log book.

Q. Taken from the ships'logs? A. Yes.
Q. Oh well, his lordship has ruled against any that may be

20 from other sources. Now, what do you know about the accidents
to the "Mina Brae," do you know personally anything about
them? A. Well, the "Mina Brae" has had two accidents at the
bridge, one January 9th—

The Court: Now, we will see.
Mr. Burns: My lord, the witness is not answering the ques­ 

tion in the way he was asked, as I understand—whether I "should 
continue to make these objections or not.

The Court: It must be personal knowledge, you know.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Have you any personal knowledge of it, 

30 did you see it, any part of it? A. No, I was not present.
Q. Then how about these others that are mentioned in that 

list, did you see any of them? A. No, I haven't really witnessed 
any of them.

Mr. Griffin: No; then I won't press that, his lordship has 
ruled against it.

The Court: This list can go in as an exhibit, only to the 
extent of identifying it—only to the extent of using it so far as it 
gives a list of the ships, but not of course for the purpose of any­ 
thing to which Mr. Burns' objection has been sustained.

40 (DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NUMBER 24)
Mr. Griffin: Q. Now, do you at the present time operate 

your large vessels, say those of 12,000 tons or more through the 
bridge? A. No, not over 12,000.

Q. What? A. Not over 12,000 tons.
Q. What is the reason for that? A. Well, in view of the 

accidents that we have had there and the danger that exists, our
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company has decided that under no consideration are any of the 
larger vessels enumerated under any circumstances to go through 
the bridge.

Q. What special danger is there in regard to oil cargo ?
The Court: Wait, now. Did I understand him to say, Mr. 

Griffin, that of that list none of the vessels—none of the larger 
vessels on that list now go through, and that all that they allow to 
go through are vessels of five thousand.

Mr. Griffin: No, he said any vessel of 12,000 or more is not 
allowed to go through. 10

The Witness: No vessel over 12,000.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: No vessel over 12,000 is allowed to go through, 

and I was simply wanting to ask him what is the special reason, 
if any, in connection with oil cargoes ? A. Well, what we fear 
most is that one of our loaded vessels will have a serious accident 
going through the bridge and spill a hugh quantity of oil in the 
harbour, and if this oil should take fire, why the results are easily 
to be foreseen.

Mr. Griffin: Yes; your witness, Mr. Burns. 2°

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
Q. I suppose, Mr. Arenberg, that there has been quite a lot 

of delay owing to foggy weather at times? A. There has been 
occasionally.

Q. And owing to snow—snowy weather? A. Of course 
these are not included in this list.

Q. No, I know these are not included in this list, but doubt­ 
less you have another list made owing to foggy weather and so on. 
A. Yes, occasionally.

Q. Other delays? A. Fog, certainly. 30
Q. And you say that foggy weather—in any instance, say 

with respect to any of these ships could you say that foggy weather 
did not enter into it at all, or does not enter into it? A. No, sir, 
not on that list, absolutely.

The Court: Now, I was writing something down and I did 
not get that.

Mr. Burns: He says fog does not enter into that list.
The Court: Oh yes.
Mr. Burns: Of course you don't know yourself, you are 

just giving evidence from information that has been given you? 40 
A. Well, the way we arrive at that is the Captains enter up in 
their port log all delays—

Q. Yes, I see. A. —and they also keep a port log and every 
hour and minute of the day is accounted for.

Q. Yes, that is quite true. A. And when a ship anchors in 
the harbour waiting for the bridge, it is entered in the log book.
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When they are discharging at loco and ready to proceed to sea 
and waiting for the bridge—

Q. It is entered in the log? A. It is entered in the log.
Q. That is the way log books are used ? A. Yes, it is taken 

from the ship's logs.
Q. You don't know from your own personal knowledge 

whether the entries in the log book are correct or not. That is a 
matter of whether the Captain— A. Well, we have—I think 
we have reliable men. 

10 Q. You have got faithful and loyal men, of course ? A. It 
is no object for them to put anything in there that is not correct.

Mr. Burns: No.
Mr. Smith: Q. Speak a little louder, Captain, will you?
Mr. Burns: Q- Now, these large vessels that you speak of, 

the "J. A. Stillman," the "Victolite," the "Vancolite," "Calgo- 
lite," and so on, that you had substituted for the steamship— 
A. Yes.

Q. —when did that substitution take place? A. Well—
Q. I mean, when was this fleet augmented to what it is now ? 

20 A. About two years ago.
Q. About two years ago ? A. Yes.
Q. Since the bridge was installed—well, of course that fol­ 

lows. A. Well, some of them have come out even this year.
Q. Well, but I mean these larger vessels, 23,000, 16,000— 

three of sixteen, and two of 15,600, that are running now, these 
motorships, they came into your service, as far as Vancouver is 
concerned, within the last two years? A. Well, most of them.

Mr. Burns: I understood you to say.
Mr. Griffin: Thank you, Mr. Arenberg. 

30 (Witness aside.)
Mr. Smith: Captain McKay.

EDWARD LEWIS McKAY, a witness called on behalf of E. L. McKay 
the Defendant being first duly sworn, testified as follows: Direct.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:
Q. Captain, you live in Vancouver? A. Yes. 
Q. And you are Master of the "Nanaimolite?" A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And how many years have you been at sea altogether? 

A. About 20 years.
Q. And how many years have you been in command ? 

40 The Court: Master of what ship ?
Mr. Smith: The "Nanaimolite," my lord.
The Court: The "Nanaimolite?"
Mr. Smith: Yes.
A. Approximately a year and a half.
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Q. Did you navigate through the Second Narrows before the 
bridge was built? A. Yes.

Q. How many tunes can you tell me were you through the 
Narrows before the bridge was constructed? A, I couldn't say 
the exact amount—several times I was through.

Q. And how many times were you through during construc­ 
tion? A. While the bridge was being constructed?

Q. Yes, just an approximation? A, Oh, just around two 
or three times.

Q. Two or three times ? 10
The Court: Speak up, you see the learned counsel is speak­ 

ing quite clearly, you ought to do the same.
Mr. Smith: Q. And how many times have you been through 

since the completion of the building of the bridge? A. 1928, I 
have made 180 trips through there—round trips.

Q. That is in the year 1928, this year? A. Yes.
Q. You have made 180 round trips ? A. Yes.
Q. And how many round trips did you make last year? 

A. Approximately about—between 70 and 80 trips.
Q. Seventy and 80 trips? A. Maybe more, I don't know, 20 

maybe less.
Q. And I suppose about the same the year before that? 

A. Yes, about that.
Q. Now before the bridge was built did you navigate through 

the Narrows at all stages of the tide? A. At all stages of the 
tide, yes.

Q. And since the bridge has been built when do you navigate 
through the Narrows? A. We navigate up to—up to ten feet 
in the '' Nanaimolite.''

Q. Now, just what — make that a little clearer, Captain? 30 
A. Ten feet rise—up to ten feet rise.

Q. That is to say, when tEere is a range of— A. When 
there is a range of tide of ten feet high—when there is a run-out 
of ten feet—over ten feet, we don't attempt the bridge.

Q. You don't attempt it, no. By the way, will you describe 
the "Nanaimolite," how long is she? A. She is around 170 feet' 
long.

Q. And what beam? A. Around between 29 and 31 feet, 
I don't know exactly.

Q. What what tonnage? A. She is around 550—between 40 
550 and 600 gross.

Q. So that she is one of the smaller oil boats? A. Yes, 
one of the smaller tankers.

Q. And you are engaged in coasting, I understand ? A. Yes.
Q. Now, what has been the effect of the construction of the 

bridge in the Narrows with respect to the current? A. There 
is always eddies and cross-currents since the bridge was put there.
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Q. Yes, and can you deal with any of the cross-currents in RECORD 
particular ? A. Yes, at all times there is cross-currents — we are British Columbia 
on the lookout for cross-currents and eddies there at all times. Mmiralty Dist-

Q. Yes, and how do the cross-currents run? A\ Well, at Defendant's 
my experience there is liable to be — at any time — no time in par- Case 
ticular do they run the same way, they may set off to the north E -
side or the south side, you have got to be on the lookout for them Direct. 
all the time. (Contd.)

Q. What causes this current ? A. The piers of the bridge 
10 cause them, causing the tide current to strengthen since it is put 

there.
Q. And does anything else cause that ? A. Well, the shallow 

water on the — on the east side of the bridge would cause a certain 
amount, but not so much before as since the bridge was put there.

The Court : What is that ? A. There was always a certain 
amount of current running there before the bridge, but not so 
much as since the bridge has been put there.

Mr. Smith: Q. Has the building of the bridge had any 
effect on the velocity of the current ? A. Yes. 

20 Q. In what way? A. In both flood and ebb, it runs strong­ 
er there.

The Court: The shoal water — do you mean that shoal we 
have been speaking of ?

Mr. Smith. Yes, my lord.
The Court: I suppose so.
The Witness : Yes.
Mr. Smith: Q. How do you pass through the bascule span,

I mean by that, do you go through at right angles to the bridge or
otherwise ? A. On some occasions I do, not always. Personally

30 in navigating through that bridge, westbound, I come down and
line up Berry Point with the Terminal Dock.

Q. Yes. A. And proceed through the draw, but sometimes 
I go to port or starboard to get in the centre with the set of the 
current.

Q. Well, when you are passing down through the bridge 
say at low water slack, or about low water slack, what currents do 
you usually meet with about that time ? A. They vary, sometimes 
there is a set off-shore to the north shore, sometimes there is a set 
to the other side.

40 Q. Now, dealing with the bascule span, is the bascule span 
in the right position? A. No.

Q. Well, what is wrong with it? A. It is too close to the 
south shore.

Q. And what else is wrong with it? A. And it is not wide 
enough.

Q. What else ? A. That shoal that that foundation runs off 
there, it causes the tide to set stronger at that point, too.
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Q. Foundation? A. That fill that they have there.
Q. You refer to the rock fill at the south end of the bridge ? 

A. Yes.
Q. Could you say what effect has that? A. It has the effect 

on the current that it runs stronger.
Q. Yes, in what direction? A. In various directions.
Q. Now, what is the effect on the navigation of the vessel of 10 

having the bascule span too far to the south'ard? A. Well, on 
the last of the flood it has a tendency to set the vessel to the north 
shore on a flood, and not in every occasion, sometimes it will set 
the other way, but as a rule it generally sets to the north shore.

Q. Is it ever possible to tell the period of slack water—or 
rather the time of slack water from the tide tables ? A. It varies 
in my experience from—myself, 25 minutes that I have experi­ 
enced the tide.

Q. Now, you mean by that just what, Captain ? A. Twenty- 
five minutes the book is—the tide is slack water at—is out 25 min- 20 
utes from the book.

Q. I see. There may be a difference of 25 minutes between 
actual slack and the slack as given in the book ? A. In the book.

Q. Now, what about the duration of slack? A. Well, on 
the flood tide I would say around 15—ten—15 minutes.

Q. Have you had any accidents at the bridge ?
The Court: Just wait; I want to get the minutes of that. 

What did you ask him?
Mr. Smith: The last question, my lord, was the duration of 

slack water at the bridge. 30
The Court: Average duration.
Mr. Smith: Yes, the average.
The Court: High or low, did you not say which ?
Mr. Smith: Well, he said slack water generally—I will ask 

him.
The Witness: High water slack.
Q. You mean high water slack? A.. Yes.
Q. And your answer to that question, witness, just give it 

now to his lordship.
The Court: The average duration, you were asked, of high 40 

water slack is what ? A. Is from 10 to 15 minutes, that is some­ 
times.

Mr. Smith: Q. Have you had any accidents at the bridge? 
A. Yes.

The Court: Would you mind asking him—if it is material, 
not otherwise, Mr. Smith—what he says about the average dur­ 
ation at low water slack?
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Mr. Smith: Oh yes, certainly, my lord; thank you very much RECORD 
for reminding me. ~

The Court: We have got high, I would like to know the low.
Mr. Smith: Q. What is the average duration at low water Defendant's 

slack ? A. There is no slack at low water, I have never experi- Case 
enced any slack water at low water slack.

Q. Have you had any accidents at the bridge? A. Yes, I 
dented a couple of plates in the ship on September 5th, 1928.

Q. Yes; what ship ? A. On the S. S. *' Nanaimolite.'' 
10 Q. Well, how were you going at the time 1 A I was going 

east.
Q. G-oingeast? A With a flood tide.
Q. And were you loaded ?
The Court: Was it this year you spoke of there ? A. Sep­ 

tember 5th, 1928. This is a light ship.
Mr. Smith: Q. A light ship, well, just describe what hap­ 

pened? A. Well- 
The Court: Q. What ship? A. The S. S." Nanaimolite."
Q. Oh yes. A. On September 5th. 

20 Q. It was light at the time? A. Light ship at the time.
Q. Yes, but what was her draught at the time ? A. When 

she is light she draws around 8 feet 6 aft, about 4 feet forward.
Mr. Smith: Q. Well, just describe what happened? A. 

At 7:30 a.m., about two hours before high water slack, I was ap­ 
proaching the bridge and I checked for the bridge to open, and 
when I got the centre of the draw there was a northerly set took 
the vessel and she went against the north pier and dented two 
plates in the ship's side.

The Court: Q. And what stage of the water did you say, 
30 again? A. Two hours—seven foot run in—seven foot flood, 

about two hours before high water slack.
Q. And you were going—you were outward bound ? A. I 

was going east.
Q. You were inward then ? A. Inward bound, yes, sir.
Q. This is supposed to be two hours before high water slack ? 

A, Yes, sir.
Q. Inward bound, and what happened to you? A. When I

got near the draw of the bridge I lined the ship up for the draw
and there was a northerly set took the vessel and she went against

40 the north pier of the bridge and damaged—dented two plates in
the ship's side.

Q. A northerly set took you against the north pier of the 
bridge? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was there any occasion for that—how did that happen ?
Mr. Smith: Q. Well, just explain what caused the ship to 

set off to the north like that ? A. The flood tide, the tide running 
in.



354

RECORD Q. Well, how was the tide running 1? A. The tide was 
British Columbia flowing—was flooding, was running in—running east.

Q. Yes, but a flood tide behind you would not cause you to 
go to the north? A. Well, it took—there was a cross-current 
took the vessel when she got in the tide.

Q. Yes; now, what caused the cross-current? A. The tide 
—the flood tide.

Q. Striking what? A. Striking the pier.
Q. What pier? A. Striking that fill that was mentioned 

a while ago.
Q. That is it, yes. Now, is the bridge an obstruction to navi­ 

gation ? A, Yes, in my opinion it is.
Q. Is it a menace to navigation? A. In my opinion it is.
Mr. Smith: That is all.
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CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
Q. Do I understand you, Captain, that you have been Master 

of the "Nanaimolite" for a year and a half? A. Yes, sir.
Q. And before that what were you? A. Mate on the "Im­ 

perial."
Q. Mate on the "Imperial," the "Imperial" is 950 tons 

coasting vessel? A. Yes.
Q. And I suppose before that you would be mate and some 

lower position and so on ? A. On various ships around the coast.
Q. What? A. Various ships around the coast.
Q. All coasting vessels ? A. Yes.
Q. And you have been as such for how long? A. I beg 

your pardon?
Q. How long were you mate for instance ? A. On the coast 

here?
Q. Yes ? A. I have been mate here since 1917.
Q. 1917, on what vessels ? A. I have been on the C. P. R. 

ships, the "Princess Beatrice" and "Princess May" and the 
"Prince George" and "Prince Rupert," I held chief officer's jobs 
on them—on the vessels, that position, and on the "Prince John" 
and the "Prince Albert."

Q. All coasting vessels, mostly passenger? A. Coasting 
vessels running out of Vancouver and up the coast and around.

Q. Yes, previous to that what vessel were you on? A. Be­ 
fore that I was back in Newfoundland on schooners—sailing ves­ 
sels.

Q. I see. Well, then, when did you come here? A. I came 
out here in 1916.

Q. 1916 and started in on a seafaring life here? A. Yes.
Q. Working up to mate ? A. Mate and master.
Q. On those vessels that you speak of? A. Yes.
Q. And then master a year and half ago ? A. Yes.

10

30

40
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Q. Is the "Imperial" the only other cargo vessel that you RECORD 
were mate on? A. Cargo vessels? Briibcd*m

Q. Yes? A. The "Prince Albert" was a cargo vessel, the 
' ' Prince John ' ' was a cargo vessel. Defendant's

Q. Yes, I understand, but they are looked upon as passenger Case 
vessels. Take them as cargo vessels, what other ships now — A.
The S.S."Famous, " I was on her for— rro«

Q. The "Famous?" A. The "Famous," yes. (
Q. Where did she run? A. She' runs up and down the 

IQ coast out of Vancouver, up to the west coast, and north, Skagway 
and all these places.

Q. Any other ship? A. That is the ships I have in mind 
now that I have been on.

Q. You have mentioned them all, have you ? A, Yes.
Q. And then you were transferred from the last one to those 

that you mentioned ? A. The "Famous" to the "Imperial."
Q. From the "Famous" to the "Imperial," when? A, 

1926— the fall of 1926.
Q. 1926? A. I just can't remember the date. 

2» Q. So where you got your experience of the Second Narrows 
was as mate on the ' ' Imperial ? " A. On the ' ' Prince John ' ' and 
"Prince Albert "

Q. The "Prince John" and the "Prince Rupert," what do 
they go up the Second Narrows for ? A. They used to go up to 
loco for oil.

Q. When? A. In 19— all the way from 1918 to— 1917 up 
to 1921.

Q. And how often? A. Well, I couldn't say how often.
Q. It wasn't very often, was it the "Prince John" and the 

30 "Prince Albert?" A. We have been up there several times. 
Sometimes they would go up there twice a month, sometimes 
more than that — three times a month.

Q. Sometimes even fewer times than that, isn 't that so ? A. 
Sometimes they would miss a month and wouldn't go up at all.

Q. But however that is the experience that you have had 
of the Second Narrows, was on the "Prince John" and "Prince 
Albert?" A. Yes, and the "Famous."

Q. Well, how often did the "Famous" go up? A. It was 
when — no, pardon me, I was on there since the bridge was put 

40 there- but the "Prince John" and the "Prince Albert" before the 
bridge was put there.

Q. For how long before the bridge was put there — what 
years? A. Well, in 1917 — running up from in 1917 to 1918 and
19.

Q. When did you go on the C. P. R.? A. I joined the 
C. P. R. in 1916 when I came to the coast

Q. Oh, you went up from the * ' Prince John ' ' and the ' ' Prince
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Albert" to the "Famous," is that right, just when did you go up— 
A. Well, the "Rupert" and "George" after that, various times, 
you see, but from the Grand Trunk Company to the "Famous," 
yes.

Q. After you were on the "Prince John" and the "Prince 
Albert'' then you went to the'' Rupert'' and'' George t" A. Yes, 
and sometimes in the summer time I would go on there, and then 
we would ship back in the winter, you see—some of the ships was 
tied up.

Q. How many tunes would you say, now, that is a fair ques- 10 
tion, how many times would you say you had been through the Sec­ 
ond Narrows before the bridge was there. I want your best an­ 
swer? A. Well, I couldn't say exactly the times I have been 
through them.

Q. Well, approximately? A. Say approximately ten to 
fifteen.

Q. Ten to fifteen times? A. Perhaps a little more, perhaps 
a little less.

Q. Now, then, you say since the bridge has been there that 
eddies have all become—that the water is all eddies and cross- 20 
currents, never running the same way, they have got to be looked 
out for at all times, because of not knowing how they are running. 
That is your evidence, is it not ? A. That is my experience in the 
bridge.

Q. And you say that that is since the bridge was put there 
and as a result of the bridge ? A. Yes.

Q. I take it. Before the bridge was there any time you did 
go up and down the Second Narrows you were mate ? A. Yes.

Q. You were not in command, were you ? A. No.
Q. Will you agree with me that you don't have the same op- 30 

portunity of sizing up currents then as you would have when you 
had your own boat? A. I always took as much notice when I 
was mate of currents as I do since I have been master.

Q. You do, there would be no difference ? A. I always take 
as much notice of the currents.

Q. Well, your answer is you think there would be no dif­ 
ference. A. As far as taking notice of the currents in concerned, 
no.

Q. And you feel that your experience of the Second Nar­ 
rows before the bridge was put there, that you are capable of say- *o 
ing that the bridge has turned the water into cross-currents and 
eddies, never running the same way, whereas before the bridge 
was put there that condition did not prevail ? A. Yes.

Q. And you put that down—at least the cause of that down 
to the piers of the bridge, is that right ? A. Yes.

Q. Added to the shallow water on the east side. You would 
never be there—on the south side, I mean, you would never be over
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on the south side with the "Prince Albert" and the "Prince John,' 
would you, at this particular point ? A. We always—not at that 
particular place, but a little east and west we would.

Q. Well, a little east would be Berry Point, wouldn't it? 
A. No, a little—Berry Point is—

Q. Well— A. We come in the channel about half way be­ 
tween the bridge and Berry Point.

Q. What do you mean by that 1 A. Well, there is a shoal 
on the north side and you can't come down wide to Berry Point 

10 because you would run on that shoal.
Q. Well, you say that the "Prince Albert" and "Prince 

John" would be where the supposition was that you could see the 
shallow water or know something about the shallow water and 
what currents were there at that time? A. You would come 
down in midchannel.

Q. Well, where do you get any experience about the velocity 
of this current on the south side around that shallow water before 
the bridge ? A. About five or six hundred feet east of where the 
bascule span is now.

20 Q. And how near the south shore would you be? A. It 
would be approximately seven or eight hundred feet off.

Q. About seven or eight hundred feet off the south shore be­ 
fore the bridge was there ? A. Maybe a little more than that.

Q. Well, now, then— A. Approximately.
Q. Well, take me right, I would place this so that you could 

see these currents from the'' Prince Albert'' or the'' Prince John'' 
—or this particular current that we are discussing with you now, 
how far off the south shore? A. About—approximately about 
seven or eight hundred feet off.

30 Q. Seven or eight hundred feet, what you said before ? A. 
Yes.

*Q. So that the "Prince Albert" and "Prince George" would 
be at the time we are talking about twelve or fifteen hundred feet 
east of the bridge ? A. Yes.

Q. You have listened to the evidence, that is why I didn't 
take it up with you first—at least, describe it to you—so at that 
point you would be, before the bridge was there, when you were 
on the "Prince Albert" or "Prince George" about 700 or 800 feet 
from the south shore ? A. Yes, something like that. 

40 Q. Going east and west, both ? A. Yes.
Q. And you say the flood and the ebb tide both are stronger 

in velocity by reason of the bridge, is that right ? A. Yes.
Q. And why do you say that ? Did you ever test the velocity ? 

A. Because a vessel—we have navigated that bridge—^-that nar­ 
rows with 11,12 and 13 foot tides, I mean, when the tide is running 
in from minus to 12 and 13 feet.

Q. Yes, I understand you. A. In 10 knot vessels, in 9£ to 
10 knots, whereas we couldn't do it right now.
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Q. What years were those? A. Well, between 1907 and 
1921, during the—

Q. 19 what? A. 1917 to 1921.
Q. 1917 to 1921? A. Yes.
Q. That is as near as you can bring me to it, is it ? A. Yes.
Q. Some place in that time you say that the "Prince John" 

and "Prince Albert," ten knot vessels could navigate the current, 
but later on a ten knot vessel that you were on could not? A. 10 
Yes.

Q. Is that right? A. Yes.
Q. Now, what was the vessel that you were on, the 10 knot 

vessel that you were on later that could not do it? A. The 
"Nanaimolite."

Q. When was that? A. Well, different periods since I be­ 
come master of her.

Q. The "Nanaimolite" has the same speed as the Albert" 
and "John?" A. The same speed as the "John," about that 
speed, or around there. 20

Q. That is the only way you have of testing it—your state­ 
ment? A. Yes.

Q. That you figure there is—is that going east or west ? A. 
That is going east and west.

Q. Both ways? A. Yes.
Q. And the tide is at what stage, you say? A. That is from 

a 10 to 13 foot rise.
Q. That you handled that 10 knot vessel before, or was handl­ 

ed by a 10 knot vessel on which you were before? A. Yes.
Q. And which you handled yourself, a ten knot vessel before 30 

the bridge was there ? A. Yes.
Q. That is all you have got to go on your statement that the 

velocity is stronger—at least, greater? A. Yes, and the tide— 
the tide before the bridge was put there ran straighter.

Q. Well, I wasn't talking about straight, I will come to that; 
but so far as velocity is concerned? A. Yes.

Q. That is all you have to go on, is it? A. That is what I 
have to go on.

Q. All right. Now, then, as far as straightness is concerned 
wherein has it been changed by the bridge ? A. This place— 40

Q. The straightness of the current? A. Those places that 
I have already mentioned.

Q. Well, mention them again? A. About 1200 to 1500 feet 
east and west of the bridge.

Q. 1200 to 1500 feet east and west of the bridge? A. Ap­ 
proximately.

Q. According to what tide it is? A.- Approximately.
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Q. According to whether it is ebb or flood tide ? A. Yes.
Q. And in what way is it changed 1 A. It is changed with 

the eddies and cross-currents.
Q. That is, there are eddies and cross-currents 1200 to 1500 

feet east and west of the bridge according to what tide it is that 
were not existing before the bridge was there, is that so ? Now— 
A. Not so—

Q. I want you to watch your answer to that question? A. 
Not so strong before the bridge was put there. 

10 Q. Not so strong before the bridge was put there. You say 
that 1200 to 1500 feet east and west of the bridge there are eddies 
and cross-currents that made the current crooked, is that what we 
are talking about—a straight current? A. Yes, it is crooked 
since the bridge was put there.

Q. Since the bridge was put there, by reason of the bridge 
being put there, is that so ? A. Yes.

Q. Have you any personal knowledge about the dredging of 
the First Narrows, when it was done? A. I remember, but I 
just can't call the date.

20 Q. You never thought about considering that in the situation 
before—never gave that any consideration before coming to your 
opinion about these cross-currents? A. Well, I can't call it when 
these narrows was dredged, but I remember it

Q. Well, you can answer this question: Have you in coming 
to your opinion that the bridge has caused this stronger current 
and crookeder current in the Second Narrows at 1200 or 1500 feet 
east or west of the bridge taken into consideration at all the pro­ 
position of the dredging of the First Narrows. You can tell me 
that, whether you consider it or not? A. I claim that the fills— 

30 that the foundation at the Second Narrows Bridge cause these 
cross-currents and eddies to run.

Q. I know what you claim and Ms lordship knows what you 
claim? A. Apart from the First Narrows.

Q. Have you given consideration— A. Yes.
Q. —to the dredging in the First Narrows when arriving at 

your opinion that you have given to this court ? A. Yes.
Q. What was that consideration? A Well, that—it would­ 

n't make as much difference if the bridge wasn't there.
Q. But you agree in your mind, do you, that it would make 

40 some difference, do you ? A. No, I have not.
Q. Then you came to the opinion that the dredging of the 

First Narrows would make no difference in the Second Narrows, 
is that right? A. Yes.

Mr. Burns: So that is where we are at.
Mr. Smith: All right, thank you, Captain.
(Witness aside.)
Mr. Smith: Captain Clarkson.
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RECORD CHARLES CLARKSON, a witness called on behalf of the De- 
Coiumbia fendant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows:

Admiralty Dist.

Defendant's 
Case

C. Clarkson 
Direct.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:
Q. Captain, you live in Vancouver? A. Yes, sir.
Q. Yes, speak loudly, Captain. And your present position 

is that of chief surveyor for British Columbia for the San Fran­ 
cisco Board of Marine Underwriters? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And how long have you been at sea? A. Twenty-one 
years, sir.

Q. And how long have you held a position as surveyor with 
the San Francisco Board of Marine Underwriters? A. Five 
and a half years.

Q. Do you know the Second Narrows Bridge? A, Yes, 
sir.

Q. Have you ever been through the bridge on any ship ? A. 
Not with—I have been with small vessels, not with any large ves­ 
sel.

Q. Well, on small vessels? A. Yes.
Q. And you went then, I take it, as a passenger. You were 

not navigating? A. Not navigating, no, sir.
Q. Have you ever watched any vessels going through? A. 

I have seen vessels coming through when I have been watching on 
the bridge or going across the north side.

Q. Yes, have you been interested in various accidents that 
have taken place at the bridge ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And which instance in partciular? A. The small gas 
boat "Chummy," which sank at the Second Narrows Bridge.

Q. And what others? A. The "Eurana" and "Norwich 
City" and—

Q. And I suppose several other small vessels? A. Small 
vessels, yes, that have suffered more or less damage.

Q. Now, you need not go into that. Now, Captain, in your 
opinion as a navigator and as a surveyor, is the bridge an inter­ 
ference with navigation ? A. It undoubtedly is.

Q. In your opinion is it a menace to navigation ? A. It is.
Q. Is it a menace to life? A. It is.
Q. Do you know the position of the present bascule span? 

A. Approximately, yes.
Q. Well, what is your idea of its present position, is it a 

proper one or not ? A. Well, it is a little too close to the south 
shore.

Q. Yes ? A. In my opinion it shoulud be in the centre of 
the fairway.

Q. Yes ? A. Which would lessen the hazard anyway.
Q. Yes, is there anything else wrong with it ? A. It would 

make it safer if it was a little wider.

10

30
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Q. Yes, is there anything else that would help it? A. If RECORD 
it was placed at right angles to the current, probably would help 
it a little. _

Q. Now, dealing with the bridge as a whole, in what par- Defendant's 
ticulars would you say it was an obstruction to navigation ? A. Case 
It narrows up the channel and cross-currents from the piers that 
are built there form eddies and swirls, making it extremely 
hazardous to go through there except on very favourable occasions.

Mr. Smith: All right, thank you.

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

C. Clarkson 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

10 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY ME. BURNS:
Q. Have you studied the currents, by the way, Mr. Clark- 

spn? A. I haven't made an extensive study of them, Mr. Burns, 
since the accident to the "Eurana." I have watched it from time 
to time and I have thrown chips of wood on the south side of the 
pier and watched how they have gone through.

Q. Well, would you say that you had investigated the cur­ 
rents of the Second Narrows to such an extent so that you could 
give expert evidence ? A. I am not trying to give expert evi­ 
dence, no, sir.

2" Q. Well, I don't say you were trying, I was asking you now ? 
A. No, sir.

Q. In other words, you don't suggest for a minute that you 
can speak expertly—as an expert witness on the currents of the 
Second Narrows ? A. No, sir.

Q. And you would not insist on this statement, for instance, 
would you, that the bridge has not had much or any influence on 
the currents'? A. The only way that I can judge that is by tak­ 
ing the chart as any navigator would and knowing the direction of 
the flow that I see. 

30 Mr. Burns: I see. That is all, thank you.
(Witness aside.)
Mr. Griffin: My lord, we have no more evidence available 

this evening. My friend suggested, my lord, that I add that we will 
have some more tomorrow morning, but we actually have nobody 
else here now.

The Court: You mean, Mr. Griffin, that you would like— 
you have another witness, but he is not ready and you would like 
the indulgence of calling him tomorrow morning?

Mr. Griffin: My lord, that would—if he is available, if any 
40 other witnesses are available tomorrow morning we will ask your 

lordship to hear them.
The Court: Well, I will reserve your right tomorrow morn­ 

ing to that effect.
Mr. Griffin: But you see I have gone on expecting not to 

proceed today at all.
The Court: I understand. It is not at all an unreasonable

C. Clarkson 
Cross-exam.
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R. McMurray 
Direct.

10

RECORD request. If there is one you will consider it and I shall entertain 
British Columbia an application to that effect tomorrow if you have another wit-
Admiralty Dist. H6SS.

Mr. Donaghy: Well, my lord, may I suggest that it would be 
as well for the court to adjourn until ten or ten-thirty tomorrow 
morning. We would not then in that way be interjecting or 
interlarding evidence, and we will have it all in systematic form. 
There would be only another half hour before the court adjourned.

The Court: You think it would expedite matters?
Mr. Donaghy: I think it would, my lord, expedite my case.
The Court: Well, of course, you can figure that out. It 

seems to me a very reasonable request. Very well, Mr. Registrar, 
if you would please adjourn the court to half past ten tomorrow.

(3:55 P.M. COURT ADJOURNED UNTIL 10:30 A.M. 
NOVEMBER 29th, 1928.)

Vancouver, B. C., November 29, 1928, 10:30 a.m. 

(COURT RESUMED PURSUANT TO ADJOURNMENT.)

MERVYN S. BRYAN sworn as stenographer.
Mr. Smith: I will call Captain McMurray.
Mr. Donaghy: My lord, I said yesterday that if my learned 20 

friend desired I would call Mr. Swan this morning as soon as the 
plans arrived. I do no not want to interrupt the procedure, but if 
he so desires I will do so.

Mr. Smith: Well, my lord, we have two witnesses here now 
and I would like to proceed with them.

The Court: I think so.
Mr. Smith: Very well.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes.

ROBERT McMURRAY, a witness called on behalf of the De­ 
fendant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows: 30

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:
Q. You live in Vancouver? A. Yes.
Q. And you are the marine superintendent for the C. P. R. 

coast service? A. Yes.
Q. By C. P. R. I mean, of course, the Canadian Pacific Rail­ 

way coast service. Are you familiar with the bridge across the 
Second Narrows? A. Yes.

Q. Have you passed through that bridge ? A. Yes.
Q. By the way, I shouuld say first you are a master mariner ? 

A. lam. 40
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Q. And have been in command of deep sea ships ? A. Yes. RECORD 
Q. You know the position of the bascule span in that bridge ? BritisiTcrfumbi,

A. YeS. Admiralty Dist.

Q. In your opinion is the bascule span properly placed or Defendant's
not? A. No. Case

Q. What is wrong with it? A. It is too close to the south

Q. Is there anything else that could be improved about it ? 
A. It is too narrow.

10 Q. Taking the bridge as a whole, in your opinion, is the 
bridge an interference with navigation ? A. It is a great inter­ 
ference with navigation.

Q. Is it a menace to navigation? A. It is.
Q. That is all.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
Q. Captain, are you familiar with the course that ships took 

up and down the Second Narrows before the bridge was there? 
A. No.

Q. You cannot say then that the ships—the course of ships
20 has been changed by reason of the bascule span ? A. No, I have

no knowledge of what they did prior to the bridge being there.
Q. Have you taken any ships through yourself? A. No.
Q. Then your evidence is based entirely on observations and 

what you would like it to be rather than what it is? A. Yes, 
based on observations.

Q. In other words, it would be far more preferable if there 
was no bridge there at all so far as you are concerned ? A. Quite.

Q. Do you know how far the bascule span is out from the 
south shore ? A. I could not give the exact distance, but I know 

30 it is considerably nearer the south shore than the north.
Q. You don't know the distance? A. Not the exact dis­ 

tance.
Q. Do you know the depth of the channel, in the deepest part 

of the channel ? A. I don't know the exact depth of it.
Q. Do you know the exact width of the channel where it is 

deep enough for deep sea ships to go through ? The width of the 
channel? A. 150 feet, I think.

Q. I don't mean in the bascule span, I mean the channel in 
the Second Narrows itself ? A. Well, I should think it is prob- 

40 ably about eight—
Q. Do you know? A. I don't know the exact distance. I 

have not measured it.
Q. And have you any definite knowledge at all with reference 

to the width of the navigable channel? A. Not unless I consult 
the chart.

Q. That is all your knowledge with reference to that. In

(Comd.)

R. McMurray 
Cross-exam.
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RECORD passing through, you do not know the width of the deep sea navi- 
Columbia gable channel ? A. No.

Admiralty Dist.
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T. Thomson 
Direct.

Q. And you do not know how close in feet, for instance, or 
the distance the bascule span is from the south shore? A. No, 
I do not know the exact distance.

Q. So it comes to this that your evidence is based on what 
you see on the admiralty chart? A. And I have been through 
the bridge to see the conditions. I went through on purpose to 
study the conditions. I went up on one of our ships for the par­ 
ticular reason that I wanted to study the conditions there with 10 
a view to our ships going up there frequently or not.

Q. And you saw that the bascule span is southerly of the 
bridge itself? A. Yes.

Q. You did not do any experimenting so far as depth is 
concerned yourself? A. No.

Mr. Smith: Thank you, Captain.
(Witness aside.)

THOMAS THOMSON, a witness called on behalf of the Defen­ 
dant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH: 
You live in Victoria? A. Yes, sir.

20

Q. And you are a pilot? A. Yes.
Q. How long have you been at sea ? A. About thirty years.
Q. How long have you held command at sea ? A. A little 

over seven years.
Q. A little over seven years, did you say? A. Yes.
Q. How long have you been a pilot in B. C. waters ? A. Six 

years and ten months.
Q. And what ships do you usually pilot? A. Well, any 

ship, for which I happen to be on turn, except, that I handle the 30 
Imperial Oil ships specially.

Q. Are you familiar with the Second Narrows? A. Yes.
Q. You were familiar with the Second Narrows before the 

bridge was built ? A. Yes.
Q. Had you navigated there previously? A. Yes.
Q. Did you navigate through the Narrows during the con­ 

struction of the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. And after it was built? A. Yes.
Q. Can you give us an idea of how frequently you have been 

through the Narrows since the bridge was built, say for any one 40 
year, how often have you been through? A. This year I have 
been through 61 times.

Q. What size of ships do you take through ? A. Anything 
up to 16,000 tons, whatever ships come to the Imperial Oil, ships 
running from 6,000 to 16,000 tons.
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Q. So you navigate the biggest ships through the Narrows 
that come here ? A. I believe so.

Q. Is the bridge an interference with navigation? A. It 
is.

Q. Is it a menace to navigation? A. It certainly is.
Q. You know the bascule span through which deep sea ships 

must pass ? A. Yes.
Q. Is that properly situated or otherwise? A. It is too 

near the south shore. I do not see why it should not have been in 
10 the centre of the channel.

Q. Answer the question first, is it properly situated? A. 
No.

Q. What things in your view are wrong with it ? A. It is 
too narrow and too close to the south shore.

Q. Is there anything else wrong with it, you think ? A. 
The bascule itself?

Q. Yes, I am dealing with the bascule itself. Yes, well, 
never mind. You know the shoal near the south end of the bridge ? 
A. Yes.

20 Q. What effect, if any, has that shoal on navigation ? A. 
Well, a ship coming through, say, from westward has to head on 
to the edge of that shoal to line the draw up.

Q. You are dealing with a ship going east? A. Yes.
Q. And you say what ? A. The ship has to practically head 

on that shoal to come square through the draw.
The Court: Inward or outward ?
Mr. Smith: Inward bound.
Q. You dealt with a ship inward bound ? A. Yes.
Q- Just repeat that ? A. I say a ship coming through the 

30 draw has to be .heading too close to the shoal for comfort and 
safety.

Q. You mean a ship coming through the draw? A. Yes.
Q. Has to head into that shoal too close for what ? A. Too 

close for safety.
Q. What about ships going outward bound? A. You are 

in the same position turned around, you have to get on top of the 
shoal to line the ship up to come through on the westward.

Q. Do the piers of the bridge cause any deflection of the 
currents ? A. The piers of the bridge break up what otherwise 

40 in my opinion would be a straight flowing current.
Q. What were the tides like before the bridge was built? 

A. That is rather a difficult question, Mr. Smith. Before the 
bridge was built I have no recollection of ever being with a ship 
over where the bascule span is now. We used to carry through 
approximately where the tug boat is now and my experience was 
that the tide flowed pretty well with a steady flow through the 
narrows there.
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Q. When I say the tide I mean the current ? A. I under­ 
stand.

Q. Just repeat that, will you. You say before the bridge 
was built you navigated in midchannel ? A, Further out in the 
channel than we have to do at the present tune and my experience 
was that that part of the Narrows where the bridge is the tide 
flowed through with a steady flow and further east, east of Berry 
Point the tide broke up into eddies to some extent.

Q. At that time, before the bridge was built, did you navi­ 
gate the narrows at all stages of the tide ? A. I have no recollec- 
tion of being delayed by reason of the tide. I don't wish to say I 
would take heavily tankers through on an extreme spring tide.

Q. By that you mean with the tide against you ? A. Yes.
Q. With the tide behind you would you have any hesita­ 

tion? A. I don't think I would have any hesitation taking any 
ship through that I have handled through the Second Narrows.

The Court : Does he say, Mr. Smith, any stage of the tide ?
Mr. Smith : Any stage of the tide except in extreme spring 

heavy tides against the ship.
The Court : He had better state what he means by what size 

of ship he speaks about.
Mr. Smith : Q. What size of ships do you mean? A. Any 

ship handled from 6,000 tons up, if loaded.
Q. Up to what? A. Up to 16,000.
Q- Now, that the bridge has been built at what stage of the 

tide do you take vessels through ? A. The Imperial Oil ships, I 
have instructions only to go through at slack water, high water 
slack, daylight, and low water slack if the tide is not too low. You 
understand what I mean by that, on a small run out.

Q. In what way has the building of the bridge interfered 
with the current ? A. Well, there is a northerly set at the bridge 
now that I never experienced before the bridge was built.

Q. And that is caused by what? A. In my opinion, the fill 
underneath the south end of the bridge. That is the biggest dan­ 
ger, I consider that I have to contend with.

Q. Have you had any accidents at the bridge ? A. No, sir.
Q. Have you had any what I might describe as near acci­ 

dents ? A. A great many.
Q. Could you remember one or two now and mention them ? 

A. There were so very many. The first time I was in difficulty 
was with the "Torontolite" going east at low water.

Q. What year and date ? A. It was early in 1927. When 
the ship was about, I should say, 100 to 150 feet of her bow through 
the bridge she sheered badly to the northward.

Q. You were going east ? A. Yes.
Q. Loaded ship? A. Yes.
Q. Drawing how much? A. 28.6. Her general draft.

10

30
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Q. What stage of the tide? A. Low water, but not par- RECORD 
ticularly low tide.

Q. What happened? A. She sheered to port. We were 
going slow and we put the helm hard aport and about the time the 
helm was over went full speed ahead. And before her stern cleared 
the bridge it almost touched on the south pier, she had sheered off _ _,— 
to such an extent that we put the helm hard aport and full ahead. ' omson 
When she straightened up her stern was pointing to the centre 
of the big span, the tug boat span. "We carried the port helm on 

id her pretty well all the way up to Berry Point.
Q. What caused that sudden sheer to the north? A. Well, 

the master of the ship and I blamed it on the fill at the south shore, 
the cross-current. The current was set almost directly north, a 
general set apparently on the surface to the north pier of the bas­ 
cule.

Q. Can you remember any other cases ? A. Yes, there is a 
great many cases. I also got into trouble with the same ship west 
of the bridge about two ship lengths from the bridge. It was 
high water slack, or was supposed to be high water slack, accord- 

2't ing to the tide book and we sheered off to the northward again, the 
same way. I was going east and had not got through the bridge. 
We backed at full speed and backed until we had considerable 
sternway and then came full ahead hard aport and when we came 
to the draw she went through as nicely as I ever saw her go or any 
other ship. There was big boils in the water edging up, and when 
we got to the bridge the surface was still. When we got a couple 
of lengths from the bridge there was eddies and boils caused, I be­ 
lieve, by the tide running out underneath, while it looked slack on 
the surface, and the bridge piers were breaking this water up and 

30 causing these boils and accounted for the sheering.
Q. That was immediately west of the bridge ? A. Yes.
Q. And this time you were again going to the east? A. 

Yes.
Q. That is twice with the "Torontolite." Do you remember 

any others? A. I was in difficulties with the same ship again. 
This time it did not sheer. I was quite close to the bridge, not more 
than 500 feet and the ship set bodily to the north. We were too 
close to the bridge to bring her up by backing. She was generally 
setting to the north, and by the time we got on the bridge she was 

40 heading for the shore. As soon as we got in the draw we put her 
hard astarboard and full ahead and as soon as we got in the chan­ 
nel put the helm hard aport. It is a dangerous thing coming 
through the bridge to give a ship any considerable amount of star­ 
board helm, because they so often sheer to the north. If you catch 
that sheer, if it catches you with a starboard helm you are very 
likely to go ashore on the north shore.

Q. After you get through the bridge ? A. Yes.
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RECORD Q. What is the tonnage of the "Torontolite?" A. She is 
British Columbia a handy ship, about 9,000 tons deadweight.

Q. In the three eases you have mentioned you have experi­ 
enced a set to the north. Do you remember any other ship with 
which you have had trouble? A. Yes, the "Mina Brae," the 
handiest ship of the fleet, extremely handy, and also the "Ontario- 
lite."

Q. And have you handled the "Montrealite?" A. Yes, 
once up and down.

Q. How did she behave ? A. We were given a tug to assist 10 
us in getting us through and the tug being unable to handle herself 
made things worse for us with the result that we were twelve 
minutes late on the tide, according to my figuring, in getting to the 
bridge, and while the water did not seem to be running out much 
on the surface it was my impression it was running out a good 
deal heavier underneath, because there were these big boils west 
of the bridge and the ship sheered to the north. We sort of stag­ 
gered through.

Q. The "Montrealite" is one of the biggest ships? A. Yes.
Q. How large? A. 530 feet long overall, 68 foot beam, I 20 

think. I was told that the cargo was 16,491 tons. I cannot vouch 
as to that, but that was my understanding of the cargo.

Q. In your opinion she carried how much cargo? A. 16,- 
490 tons. That is only hearsay.

Q. Did she have twin screws? A. Yes, sir.
Q. Does the "Montrealite" come to Vancouver now? A. 

No, the policy of the company now is—
Q. You need not go into that, just answer the question ? A. 

No.
Q. Has the "Montrealite' returned to Vancouver since the 30 

trip you have just mentioned? A, No.
Q. You mentioned the "Mina Brae"—I omitted to ask you 

this, what was the stage of the tide when the "Montrealite" came 
through? A. High water.

Q. And you were going to the east? A. Yes.
Q. I think you said you had one tug to assist you ? A. Yes.
Q. You spoke about the "Mina Brae." Have you anything 

to say about that vessel? A. Just a few days ago, I took the 
"Mina Brae" up, a loaded ship, bound east, high water.

Q. A few days ago. Can you remember the exact date? A. 40 
I can tell you the day. (Refers to notes.) Thursday, last Thurs­ 
day.

Q. That would be the 22nd. Well, all right, go on. High 
water, was it ? A. High water, supposed to be ten minutes late 
on the tide. It was foggy coming in and we were a little delayed.

Q. You were going east? A. Yes, before we got to the 
bridge we had to give her the port helm. She started setting north.
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This was close to the bridge, probably 200 feet, and we kept giving 
her the port helm. The master of the ship seemed to be worried 
about it pretty hadly and he stood by the helm himself. We went 
through the bridge with about two-thirds of the helm on her, and 
by the time the stern was clear of the bridge we had to give her 
more helm, and never had the starboard helm on her until we 
were at Berry Point, probably three-quarters of a mile. That was 
something that I never experienced before with that ship at that 
stage of the tide and the master was of the same opinion as myself 

10 that that was a condition he had never seen before. He had been 
on the ship five years.

Q. Never mind what he thought. Had you ever experienc­ 
ed such a set as that at that stage of the tide with any other ship ? 
A. Not to such an extent.

Q. So that this was a new experience, entirely new ? A. A 
new experience.

Q. What made it new was the fact of the set at that parti­ 
cular stage of the tide ? A, Yes.

Q. Ten minutes after high water? A. A set of such an 
20 extent.

Q. And the set you carried with you until you reached where ? 
A. At least three-quarter of a mile from the bridge, almost north­ 
west almost to the point northwest of Berry Point.

Q. And during that tune you were carrying port helm ? A. 
Port helm.

Q. Now, have you had any other experiences you can call to 
mind just now? A. There are so many experiences it is difficult.

Q. If you do not recall any particular ship can you tabulate 
the result of your experience there and what you found with re- 

30 gard to current and tide and bridge? A. The best I can say, 
Mr. Smith, is that I believe I have carried more ships through the 
bridge than any other man up to now. I have never bad an ac­ 
cident, but I feel that with any ship at this stage of the tide, light 
or loaded, bound east or west, I am not certain I am going to find 
any particular condition even at the bridge. I do not know what 
I am going to find.

Q. Then this northerly set you have mentioned that ap­ 
parently is not always there? A. Not always, but most of the 
time it is there to some extent.

40 Q. All right, even if the northerly set is there, is there a 
fluctuation in the extent of it ? A. A great fluctuation.

Q. You have described a number of sheers. Immediately 
when a vessel sheers can you tell me if you can break the sheer 
by giving her the helm ? A. No, you cannot tell. Sometimes a 
sheer will break out in that northerly sheer and generally, some­ 
times, in the first case of the "Torontolite" it carried until I 
thought she was going ashore. We were almost on the beach.
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RECORD_ Q. Do you sometimes experience a condition where you find 
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Q- What tide have you experienced with a slack surface and 
running underneath? A. With a slack surface, high water, the 
^e runnmg wegt. Almost any time at high water, especially if 
there is a big water, by the time the tide gets slack in the bridge 
unquestionably it is running quite strongly underneath.

Q. About that time are there cross-currents? A. Below 
the bridge there is. 10

Q. Does that cross-current extend for some distance east 
and west of the bridge? A Well, east of the bridge, I always 
find, not always, but very nearly always some little degree of set 
north. I have never been set to the south.

Q. But you have described several cases where you carried 
the set almost as far as where ? A. Almost as far as Berry Point.

Q. Is the bridge what one might call a mental hazard to navi­ 
gators? A. Yes, I consider it to be very much of a mental 
hazard.

Q. At low water slack what period of time is the water ac- 20 
tually slack? A. I would not say that the water was actually 
slack at any time on a low water.

Q. Can you tell from the tide table the period when the water 
is nearest slack ? Or the time when it is nearest slack? A. More 
or less, but there are so many things ; the weather in the Gulf of 
Georgia will affect the tide time and you cannot pick it exactly.

Q. Have you found the tide table inaccurate ? A. I would 
not say they are inaccurate. I think they are quite accurate, but 
as I say a heavy westerly in the Gulf of Georgia will bank the 
water up here and make high water slack later than otherwise if 30 
the weather is fine. The tide tables cannot take such a thing as that 
into account.

Q. Was there any difficulty in navigating the narrows at low 
water before the bridge was buUt? A. No, sir, not at low water 
slack.

Q. Is there any way you can fix the time before hand as to 
when it will be slack water ? A. Only by figuring from the tide 
table.

Q. What is the variation you find if any between tide table 
tune and actual time of slack water ? A. Oh, it runs up to easily 40 
twenty minutes.

Q. Twenty minutes, yes. In the case of a loaded vessel pas­ 
sing through the bridge from east to west at low water slack, when 
should she arrive at the bridge ? A. If I was handling her she 
would be at the bridge a few minutes before the time for low water, 
according to the tide tables.

Q. You would be at the bridge before low water. Why would
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you get there early? A. Well, my experience is that the first of 
the flood comes in on the south shore and circles out and cuts right 
across the bridge. I would not like to be there with a loaded ship 
after the flood started even so little.

Q. What in your view is the greater danger in connection 
with the bridge as it is at present built ? A. Well, speaking from 
my own personal viewpoint I handle oil tankers almost exclusive­ 
ly, and I know that if a ship strikes the bridge and it opens any of 
the tanks up and she runs ashore and fills Vancouver Harbour 

10 full of oil, such an occurrence might lead to disaster if there is fire 
in connection with it.

Q. That is all.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
Q. You say, Captain, that east of the bridge you experience 

some little degree of set north? A. Yes.
Q. Just under what circumstances and on what stage of the

tide? A. It does not appear to matter which stage of the tide,
sir. I am only there two stages of the tide, high water and low
water, and at both those stages of the tide I generally experience a

20 set to the north, not always, but generally.
Q. That is going— A. Either west or east. For your in­ 

formation, my ships are all loaded going east.
Q. And they come back light, going west ? A. Yes, in bal­ 

last, coming back.
Q. They are not loaded as they are going up ? A. No.
Q. What did you mean, you said that you were going up to 

the bridge from west to east, going through the bridge and then 
east of the bridge you experienced some little degree of set north ? 
A. Yes.

30 Q. I think the context had reference to a voyage east to west, 
going up. That would be on low water? A. High and low water.

Q. You go up on low water ? A. Yes, if it is not too low.
Q. The average low you go up ? A. Yes.
Q. So that going eastward, whether it is low water, that is the 

average low or high water east of the bridge you would experience 
a set north regardless of whether it was high water or low water ? 
A. Yes.

Q. At what stage of high water or low water would that be, 
or could you define that ? Would that be at the commencement of 

40 high water, you say, or the commencement of low water, or 
throughout high water and low water right up to the end of either 
or not ? A. I do not quite understand you, sir. The commence­ 
ment of high water?

Q. Yes ? A. High water slack is supposed to be at a cer­ 
tain particular moment. If I am going through at high water slack 
I generally figure blowing the whistle fifteen minutes before high
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RECORD water slack. That is about a mile from the bridge, going about 
British Columbia four knots, which would take me to the bridge just about the time 
Admiraityj>ist. of i^gjj water slack.

Q. You don't always hit on high water at the bascule, not 
in the middle of high water slack each time? A. At the actual 
time of high water, no.

Q. This set north you have experienced, whether low water 
slack or high water slack exists throughout both slack periods ? A. 
To some extent.

Q. That is the answer I want When is it greater, at the 10 
commencement of the slack? A. I cannot tell you after the ex­ 
periences I have had. I come there sometimes and I find condi­ 
tions not what I am looking for.

Q. What do you mean by to some extent? A. In the case 
of the "Mina Brae" last week the extent was very great. She is 
a particularly handy ship and is only a small ship.

Q. That was at the bridge ? A. Yes, and east of the bridge 
and clean up to Berry Point.

Q. The same strength of set east of the bridge? A. The 
strength was considerable all the way along. 20

Q. At what stage of the tide 1 A. We were in the bridge 
ten minutes after high water slack, according to the tide table.

Q. Was that the time that you say the tide was running out 
underneath although there was slack water on the surface? A. 
The tide was not slack on the surface that day. The tide was run­ 
ning out past the pier.

Q. We have it there all the way up on the ship you had a 
set north while the tide was running out, ebbing ? A. Yes.

Q. Because before, ten minutes earlier, according to your ex­ 
perience, would you experience the set north? A. Yes, as a gen- 30 
eral thing.

Q. It does not matter whether it is running out or not, you 
would experience a set north, east of the bridge ? A. Yes.

Q. And that would carry to Berry Point? A. Not always 
that far. As a general thing you can feel it one-quarter of a mile 
east of the bridge.

Q. That brings it up to that 13, 14 or 1500 feet east of the 
bridge, that is right?

The Court: Q. Did you say half a mile? A. My lord, as 
a general thing, it runs from one-quarter to half a mile east of the 40 
bridge.

Mr. Burns: Q. Regardless of whether the tide is running 
in or out ? A. In my experience, yes.

Q. So that that set north from the south shore is experienc­ 
ed is there all the time ? A. All the time.

Q. All the time throughout slack water, whether high slack 
or average low slack? A. It is exceedingly difficult for me to be
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entirely specific in answering your questions the way they are put. RECORD
I have already stated that I cannot tell after two and one-half British Coinmbiyears experience in handling Imperial Oil ships exclusively Admiralty Ditt-
through that bridge. I do not know what I am going to find there. Defendant's

Q. I am asking about certain things, this set north, east of Casethe bridge ? A. Yes. T
Q. I understood you to tell me the general rule was that the Cross-exam. 

set north exists whether the tide is running in or out ? A. Yes. (Contd.) 
Limited to the time or period were there ? A. Yes. 
Which is somewhere around average low slack or high 

A. Yes.
Wasn't that your evidence? A. Yes. 
So we have it in your experience as a general rule, 

whether the tide is running out or in there is that set north ? A. 
To some extent.

Q. East of the bridge. Now, then, is that set north right
across the channel? A. I cannot say whether it is across the
channel or not. I know that it carries a ship across the channel.
If it was that way or that way (indicating) it would carry the

20 ship across the channel.
Q. Where would your ship be when you would feel it ? A. 

Sometimes west of the bridge.
Q. I don't mean east and west, I mean as regards the chan­ 

nel, across the channel, north and south. This is a set from the 
south shore? A. Yes.

Q. I want to find out your experience with reference to that, 
so that I will understand what you are saying. How far from the 
south shore is that set felt? A. We will assume that we are 
coming through the bridge going east, then that ship by reason of 

30 the bascule span being where it is, that ship is almost ashore on 
the south side; close over and we have the set there, as the ship 
sets north we port helm to counteract that and whether the set 
would carry her to the flats on the north shore I do not know. I 
never got that far.

Q. You are not answering my question. I am asking if in 
your experience you are able to say how far north across the chan­ 
nel that set can be felt ? A. It can be felt at least in mid-channel.

Q. That is not a responsive answer to my question ? A. I 
am trying to do the best I can. Do not think for a minute that I 

40 do not want to answer you.
Q. I want to get the information, and if I am not giving it 

right you can ask me to repeat it. I think I am clear enough 
in asking that ? A, I am not as clear in understanding.

Q. Let me see if I understand it. You say that the set north 
can be felt as far north in the channel as mid-channel ? A. It will 
set you in mid-channel at least.

Q. Would you say in mid-channel it still has such a degree
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of effect? A. I have been in mid-channel and I still carry the 
port helm going north.

Q. You mean going east? A. Yes. I do not see how that 
can quite be without a set to the north.

Q. You see, we are talking about a definite thing, about this 
definite set north from the south shore. You have stated that it is 
effective for a quarter to half a mile east of the bridge ? A. Yes.

Q. What I want to find out, what is the effect in your ex­ 
perience, that is north, across the channel covering that distance? 
A. I would say it would set you out to the middle of the channel. 10

Q. Would you say this, if you were in the middle of the chan­ 
nel, not being set out there, would you feel it if you came along 
the middle of the channel, would you feel that set north? A. I 
do not know whether I would or not. I know already, being in the 
middle of the channel that I have to carry a port helm, that the 
ship has a tendency for the bow to pay off that way. That might 
be caused by a southerly set on her stern. Wait a minute until I 
see, it may be by a southerly set on one end, or a northerly set on 
the other. I could say, because the ship carries port helm, that it 
is a northerly set. 20

Q. That depends on which way you are going. The thing that 
I am talking about is a set from the south shore ? A. You mean 
body set ?

Q. I mean, you know, a set, I don't care whether it affects 
the bow or the stern; we are talking about a set from the south 
shore ? A. Yes.

Q. I want to know—you say it is there going east and west, 
the times you were there. I want to know if you came along mid- 
channel would you feel that set to the north whether you were in 
the bow or on the bridge? A. Going up on the "Mina Brae" we 30 
had a set on her bow. You must understand if I had a set on her 
bow for a minute that in that short space her stern would come to 
where her bow was and I continued to port my helm.

Q. You have this set then from the south shore ? A. I don't 
know that I have.

Q. Do you feel it at all? A. The ship, her head has a ten­ 
dency to pay off to the north.

Q. Because of this set? A. I do not know that it is.
Q. What is the reason for it? A, I don't know what the 

reason is. 40
Q. Then there may not be this set ?
Q. What is it? A. I don't know, 

helm.
Q. You see, Captain, you have said as you were going along 

east from the bridge that you feel and experience a set from the 
south shore, a set northerly, for a quarter to half a mile east of the 
bridge. You said that, that that continues? A. The ship con-

A. May not be there. 
I have to carry a port
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tinues to sheer to the north. That is a different thing from a ship RECORD 
setting to the north bodily.

Q. I am talking about a water set, that is what we are talk­ 
ing about. We are not talking about the set of the ship. We are 
talking about a set of the water from the south shore affecting the 
ship. Don't you understand that"? A. Yes, I do, but I cannot 
seem to explain it to you. Let me explain it my way.

Q. All right? A. If there is a set from the south shore 
continuing right across to the north shore and if that ship stopped 

10 there she would eventually get ashore on the north side. I am not 
prepared to say there.

Q. I know, because you give her port helm ? A. The fact 
of carrying port helm and keeping a ship heading a certain way, 
that is not to say there is a north set. There might be a starboard 
set, or a south set on her port quarter.

Q. Do we know from whence the set comes, the north or 
south? A. I don't know. When coming through the bridge the 
first movement encountered is the ship's head paying off that way. 
That is decidedly a set to the north.

20 Q. You have said before that particular set to the north 
continued to have effect for a quarter to half a mile east of the 
bridge ? A. Yes, and sometimes further.

Q. You don't know whether that set is from the south or the 
north, from the south on your stern, or from the north on your 
stem? A. There is no occasion—

Q. Do you? A. No, I don't
Q. Now, you say that in your experience the water at low 

water slack, where it is low low water slack, it is never slack at 
any time ? A. No, I don't think I have ever seen it dead slack on 

30 the low tide.
Q. What dp you mean by low tide, define that ? A. We will 

say a tide anything three feet above zero.
Q. Above that there is some period of slack water? A. 

Very little.
Q. Well, some. I am not going to carry you further than 

you want to go, Captain, but below that there never is ? A. No, 
not in my experience.

Q. Now, you said in this case of the surface being slack and 
the tide running underneath that that is a case of still running out 

40 underneath? A. No, it is a case of the ebb tide coming in or 
starting. When the tide is coming in, when it is starting, the ebb 
tide is already started running out strongly underneath while 
there is slack water above.

Q. That is what I said, Captain. I think it would be a good 
idea if you would listen to my question ? A. I am doing the best 
that I can.

Q. There is no trick about it. That is exactly what I said.



376

Defendant's 
Case

T. Thomson
Cross-exam.

(Contd.)

RECORD i j^t want you to define it, so that I could ask you a question 
British Columbia about it. You said that the surface was slack when it was run- 

^j^g out underneath? A. Correct.
Q. That is what I said, ebbing. Now, where was that ? A. 

Pardon?
Q. Where was that ? A. You will see it from the bridge, 

a considerable distance to the westward from the bridge. You 
will see the water welling up all the way from the bridge to four 
or five ship lengths west of the bridge.

Q. If you stood on the bridge you could see that ? A. On 10 
the Second Narrows Bridge ?

Q. Yes ? A. I never stood on it.
Q. You spoke of this from the bridge, you said? A. From 

the bridge, the ship's bridge.
Q. Where was the ship at that time ? A. Anywhere from 

the bridge to four or five lengths west of the bridge.
Q. For what length from the bridge at any time, from the 

ship's bridge, can you see the surface slack and the tide ebbing? 
A. The only way you can tell when the surface is slack is at 
the bridge, and you can see whether or not the tide is running by 20 
the piers.

Q. Yes ? A. I have been there a number of times when the 
tide was absolutely slack at the pier while to the west of the bridge 
there was sufficient current that these boils were welling up, suf­ 
ficient to sheer the ship around very heavily.

Q. You went through the bridge one of these times ? A. 
Yes.

Q. Could you see the same thing on the other side of the 
bridge ? A. No, the tide seemed quite smooth, only as a general 
thing we set away from the south shore. 30

Q. That would be at low slack ? A. No, at high slack.
Q. Pardon me, at high slack? A. Yes.
Q. You say that the tide had started to ebb under the sur­ 

face west of the bridge while it was still smooth at the bridge and 
east of the bridge ? A. That is my opinion, sir.

Q. And the only way that you could tell that it was running 
underneath was because of these boils coming up and swirls? A. 
Yes.

Q. And that, you say, occurred in the case of the "Toronto- 
lite?" A. Yes. «>

Q. Did you ever see that before or since? A. To some ex­ 
tent, yes.

Q. Would you say that it was a regular condition? A. 1 
think it was a regular condition on high tide. The higher the tide 
the more liable you are to notice it. A high tide starting to run 
out to a big low water, extreme tides.
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Q. Could you give me the exact state of the tide then, accord- RECORD 
ing to the tide table ? A. According to the tide table the water British Columbia 
was slack.

Q. When ? Were you right on time when you saw this ? A. 
Yes.

Q. When you were two ship lengths west of the bridge you ~ ~/— 
were at exactly high tide slack water 1 A. We are generally at ' omson 
the bridge five minutes one way or the other. We don't bother 
about a matter of five minutes. 

10 Q. In that leeway? A. Yes.
Q. The other case of the "Torontolite" you were west of the 

bridge 500 feet about and you were setting bodily to the north and 
gave her the starboard helm ? A. I gave her the port helm. It 
would never do to give her starboard helm.

Q. I thought you said that. You were going east? A, Yes.
Q. And were setting bodily to the north? A. Yes.
Q. You were 500 feet from the bridge ? A. Yes, about.
Q. Would you say more or less ? A, We were not far from 

the bridge. It is difficult looking from a ship to estimate distance. 
20 We were about a ship's length from the bridge.

Q. How long is the "Torontolite?" A. About 430 feet.
Q. Where did that set come from? A. It came from some­ 

where, I don't know where. I may say that is the only time I ever 
experienced that particular set to any extent.

Q. You were up to the lip of the bay at that tune, 500 feet 
from the bridge, you must have come out in the open bay? A. 
There is an open bay below the bridge. We were not right up to 
the bridge.

Q. It was not a case of the tide coming out with the contour
30 of the bay and coming across ? A. I would not say that. There

is a circular current forms there and there is a fill under the
south end of the bridge and as that water comes in it is certainly
not going to come out and double under the bridge.

Q. You were not near enough to say it was affected in any 
way by the fill ? A. I cannot say whether it was or not.

Q. How could you, you were not up there that far. The fill 
is right at the bridge itself ? A. Yes.

Q. It continues the contour of that bight or bay ? A. Yes.
Q. How could you reason, Captain, if you can do it right 

40 now, I am asking how could you reason that the bight of the bay or 
the lip of the bay would have any bearing on this set north when 
you were 500 feet from the bridge ? A. The only thing I could 
tell is what the ship did for me under certain conditions. I don't 
know—

Q. You cannot say that the fill had anything to do with it ? 
A. In that particular case I am not prepared to say that it did or 
did not.
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Q. Or the contour of the bay. It came from the open bay if 
it came at all 1? A. It did come. There is no question about that. 
I know that of my own personal knowledge.

Q. Let us say that it came from the open mouth of the bay 
and the lip of the bay? A. I am not prepared to say where it 
came from.

Q. Now, the "Montrealite," you were again bound east and 
you were twelve minutes late and used a tug? A. Yes.

Q. That is, you were twelve minutes after high water? A. 
According to the tide book, yes. 10

Q. How did you find the tide? A. Running out a little in 
the bridge, but did not look to be running out so strong but what 
the ship ought to handle all right. She handled with great diffi­ 
culty. As a matter of fact, we got through without touching the 
bridge which was more than I expected.

Q. Did you have much body set north with her ? A. When 
passing the bridge I generally come as close to the south pier as 
possible, depending on being set to the north.

Q. Don't you do that also to get a proper course east of the 
bridge? A. My idea is to keep— 20

Q. Listen, you can answer the question and give me your 
idea. I am not going to stop you? A. Yes.

Q. Don't you do that for the purpose of getting a proper 
course through that bridge to carry you on east of the bridge ? A. 
No, sir.

Q. Why not ? A. What I do is to carry as close to the pier, 
that is, have the ship angle a bit that way, but I keep the ship 
close to the south pier so that as I carry on east as I get through 
the bridge I won't have to give the ship the starboard helm, be­ 
cause I generally experience a set to the north. 30

Q. You set a little diagonally going through the bridge to 
get away from the south shore? A. Yes.

Q. And you put her over as near as you can to the south 
shore, to do the same thing, in order to keep the course proper? 
A. No.

Q. Do you mean to say that you could go in the centre of the 
south span and set the course the way you spoke of? A, Abso­ 
lutely, I would prefer to.

Q. You would go through the centre and carry through dia­ 
gonally through the span? A. Yes, I would prefer to do that. 40

Ql Let us understand this, Captain, you are saying going 
east? A. Yes.

Q. That you can put your ship mid-channel of the draw and 
from that position you can give her a diagonal course through the 
draw in order to keep off the south shoal ? A. I can do that. I 
generally give her a slight angle which is the common practice, 
and which narrows up the draw, you understand.
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Q. Naturally, there is no question about that, but still you 
can go in there mid-channel of the draw and from that position you 
can give her an angle north 1 A. Yes.

Q. In order to help avoid that south shoal east of the bridge ? 
A. Yes.

Q. As a matter of fact, wouldn't it be natural instead of go­ 
ing mid-channel you go south of mid-channel in order to help her 
more for the same purpose ? A. For the purpose of keeping off 
the shoal? 

10 Q. Yes? A. No.
Q. You would not need to do that. You can get enough angle 

from the ship mid-channel of the draw? A. The nearer to the 
centre of the draw the more angle you can get. If I am a little 
bit south or north I can get less angle, you understand that.

Q. No, I don't. You can get more angle if you go to the 
south, to angle to the north ? A. I would like to illustrate or 
demonstrate that to show you what I mean.

Q. You might demonstrate that? A. We will say that is 
one pier and that is another pier. It is all out of proportion, but 

20 we don't care. Let me have that pen to illustrate with.
Q. Can you draw it? A. I will later. Now, then, do you 

see what I mean ? There is the centre of the draw. If my ship 
is in the centre of the draw, can't I get more angle if my ship is 
here?

Q. It is east and west? A. In the centre this way.
Mr. Smith: This way would be north and south.
Mr. Burns: Q. I am speaking of a ship coming up to go 

through the draw? A. Yes.
Q. I am not placing the ship in the centre, east and west. 

3° The Court: You are going east?
Mr. Burns: Yes.
Q. Now, let us see if we do not understand each other. Your 

ship is coming up to go through the draw? A. Yes.
Q. You have in mind the south shoal east of the bridge ? A. 

Yes.
Q. And you are going to take a course through the bridge 

which will give you the best chance to handle the south shoal ? A. 
Yes.

Q. If you come up to the centre of the draw, that means the 
40 west side ? A. Yes.

Q. I am not talking of the centre east and west. You come 
up to the centre of the draw. My proposition is this you get a 
greater angle to the north if you come up nearer to the south pier 
of the draw than the centre, wouldn't you? A. No, sir, I would 
not.

Q. You would not? A. No, the nearer I am to the centre of 
the draw.
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RECORD Q. Put the centre of the draw there? A. We will put the 
British Columbia ship half way through the draw.

Q. Never mind putting the ship half way through, I am talk- 
ing of coming into the draw? A. This ship must pass through. 

Q. We are in that far ? A. You are not going through. 
Q- ^e are g0*11^ through I hope. Your ship is coming up to 

*ne draw and she is coming up headed on the centre of the draw ?
A. Yes.

Q. You understand that? A. Yes.
Q. Now, then, you say you can from that point as you are 10 

going through the draw make an angle and go through the draw 
diagonally sufficiently off the south shoal? A. I don't make an 
angle there, I make it considerably west of the draw.

Q. When do you make it ? A. It depends, ships don't run 
on rails, but generally one or two ship's lengths west of the draw, 
I have my ship lined clear for Berry Point.

Q. You do make the angle before coming to the draw? A. 
Absolutely.

Q. If you do that do you come up with your ship pointing 
to the centre of the draw when making that angle ? A. Yes. 20

Q. Then you change ? A. No , I come up with my ship 
pointing to the centre of the draw, but from an angle.

Q. From what angle. You mean this way? A. Yes.
Q. Isn 't that right, if you are coming from the south and you 

have got a ship on that angle as you are approaching the draw 
wouldn't you be capable of having a better angle if the ship was 
pointing to the south, the centre of the channel in the draw ? A. 
It makes no difference.

Q. Let us see if we cannot settle this this way: You say 
you put the stern over to the south at least your helm, in order to 30 
meet that set from the north, from the fill? A. Set from the 
south.

Q. From the south, yes. That is what you say ? A. I like 
to have the ship bodily over this way.

Q. To the south? A. Yes.
The Court: What do you mean by that, "over this way?" 

A, To the south. I like to have it to the south, because from my 
experience it sets me north and there is little that a man can do 
with a long heavy ship in the draw except to get speed on her and 
get her going.. 40

Mr. Burns : Q. You like to have the ship to the south of the 
centre of the draw ? A. Yes.

Q. Doesn't that give you a better angle so far as the south 
shoal? A. It depends on the way you are heading. I can go 
quite close and still be heading for the shoal.

Q. But still you can get a better angle ? A. No.
(SKETCH PRODUCED MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 25.)
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Q. Now, with reference to this shoal, Captain, on the south RECORD 
shore, when you come along to Berry Point you can set a course for British Columbia 
the draw without going near that shoal, can't you, and— A. Atimirai'y 
I cannot come from Berry Point down to the draw on one course.

Q. You cannot ? A. It is getting too close to the flats on the 
north shore and getting too close to the north shore. We don't 
come within a hair's breath of the beach.

Q. Which is it affecting most, the north or south shore in 
not being able to take a straight course 1 A. The south shore.

Q. You do go a little bit more to the north. If you went 
a little bit more to the north wouldn't you set a course straight 
for the draw to go through on an angle? A. Yes, I generally 
do go through on a slight angle with a light ship, and if I am com­ 
ing down with a light ship it doesn't matter so much, but with a 
loaded ship you have not sufficient nerve to do it, because with the 
least sheer to the south I am on the beach.

Q. How close to the shore? A. I don't know, I know that 
it is far too close.

Q. How close is it ? A. That channel is sufficiently narrow 
and we ought to be handling through the centre of the channel. 
I cannot answer a question like that.

Q. You have a regular course coming down there, how close 
do you generally come to the south shore? A. From the south 
shore, I am quite certain that it is not more than 100 feet and you 
would often be within 100 feet.

Q. Of the northern edge of the south shoal ? A. Yes.
Q. At what stage of the tide ? A. Low water slack.
Q. That is this average you speak of? A. Yes.
Q. Are you at that time on your course that carries you 

30 through the bridge? A. As nearly as I can hold it.
Q. Never mind about that, you are getting that in every time 

you can. I am discussing this matter as well as I can in spite of 
your attitude. You are on a course; that is my question, at that 
time you are on a course that would carry you through? A. Yes.

Q. Now, you said the shoal near the south end of the bridge 
—what shoal do you mean by that. I took that down? A. The 
shoal east of the south end of the bridge.

Q. How far east? A. It extends practically from the 
bridge. It is just a beach making out—

Q. Is it the shore you mean ? A. Yes, the shore.
Q. You say you have to head on the shoal, that is, on the 

shore, to go straight through the draw? A. Coming from west 
to east?

Q. Yes. A. That is the reason I give it that little angle in 
the draw.

Q. You are not going straight through, but are going through 
on an angle? A. A slight angle, yes.
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RECORD Q_ Now, before the bridge was there did I understand you 
British Columbia to say you went through on extreme high tide ? A. Extreme high 

tide is the best time to go through.
Q- Extreme? A. Yes.
Q. Did you go through on an extreme low tide? A. Yes.
Q. Any tide ? A. Not any tide.
Q. What tide would you not go through on? A. Pardon 

me, extreme high water slack and extreme low water slack, the two 
easiest tides.

Q. Let us take a very high tide, would you go through on 10 
that ? A. Yes, that is the best tide to go through.

Q. This is before the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. Would you go through it any other time besides slack 

water time ? A. Yes, any other tide regardless of whether it was 
ebbing or flooding, except on extreme slack going through with a 
loaded ship.

Q. As far as extreme high tide is concerned you would go 
through any stage? A. You mean an exceedingly strong flood?

Q. Yes ? A. Yes, I would run through those narrows any 
time. 20

Q. No matter what stage the tide was in you would go in 
on the flood? A. Yes, fair tide.

Q. Have you done that? A. I don't know that I have.
Q. That is what I was going to ask you, at least, I am asking 

you now. Have you as a matter of fact before the bridge was built 
gone through on an extreme flood tide? A. 14 feet of a rise, 
that is an extremely big tide. I don't know that I have. I wish 
to say I always felt that if I could handle the First Narrows I 
could handle the Second Narrows.

Q. Have you gone through an extreme high tide, say, a 10 so 
foot tide? A. Probably I have. I cannot recollect it. I could 
not say. In fact it is not usual to go through.

Q. In the Second Narrows, in a heavy flood at any tune? 
A It depends a great deal upon the ship.

Q. I am talking of deep sea ships ? A. For bucking the 
tide—

Q. I mean with a fair tide, a high tide ? A. I think so.
Q. Have you done it? A. Not to my knowledge, I don't 

remember going through with the highest tides in the book.
Q. Now, then, what ships have you taken through the Sec- 40 

ond Narrows recently westward? A. The "Ontariolite."
Q. I want the date? A. I can give you the dates, too. 

Yesterday morning the "Los Alamos."
Q. That was yesterday morning? A. Yes.
Q. Going west? A. Yes.
Q. What stage of the tide ? A. The tide was almost high.
Q. Just average high slack? A. Yes, she is a small ship, 

2,000 tons net register.
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Q. What is her length? A. I could not say, about 300 feet RECORD
Q. What was the one before that? A. "Mina Brae" out 

of loco, Friday, November 23rd,
Q. At what stage was the tide them ? A. I will have to look 

up the tide table.
Q. Give me the time ? A. You can do that—
Q. I thought you could give it from your personal exper­ 

ience? A. Somewhere around 7 o'clock in the morning.
Q. What was the one before that? A. The "Mina Brae," 

10 Saturday, November the 10th.
Q. Do you know the time, or the stage of the tide ? A. No, 

I could not tell you.
Q. That was going west? A. Yes.
Q. The one before that, could you give it? A. The "Mina 

Brae" October 29th.
Q. Do you know the stage of the tide or the time ? A. No.
Q. That is still going west? A. Yes, in each case, except 

the "Los Alamos," I had taken the ship in.
Q. I want the ones going west? A. "Monto Bella," 23rd 

2u of October. That is a Union Oil tanker.
Q. What size? A. 80,000 barrel ship, I think about 10,500 

deadweight.
Q. What length? A. About 430 feet, I should say.
Q, Give us two or three more following on? A. The "Mina 

Brae" out of loco, Saturday, the 13th of October. Any more?
Q. Yes? A. "Ontariolite" on the 26th of September.
Q. That is aU.
Mr. Smith: All right, thank you, Captain.
(Witness aside.)

30 Mr. Smith: I intend to call out, if your lordship pleases, to 
see if there is a witness in court whom I am expecting. Captain 
Stalker ? He apparently is not here, my lord.

Mr. Griffin: My lord, you have asked us to proceed in any 
case, and I would like permission to consider calling Captain 
Stalker later. We may call him and may not. In the meantime 
my learned friend would like to go on with Mr. Swan.

Mr. Donaghy: Very good. I will, my lord, Mr. Swan.

ANDREW DON SWAN, a witness called on behalf of the Plain- Plaintiffs 
tiff, being first duly sworn, testified as follows: Case

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY:
Q. Your occupation, Mr. Swan? A. Consulting engineer. 
Q. And where are your headquarters? A. Montreal. 
Q. How long have you followed your profession ? A. About 

thirty-five years.
Q. Will you give his lordship a short statement regarding

A. D. Swan 
Direct.
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_ your experience and qualifications as an engineer, just along the 
British Columbia lines of what work you have had charge of and in what capacity ? 
Admiralty Dist. ^ ^g j^ js vejy IQ^ my lord, and counsel has it in his hand. 

Might I read it?
Q. Tell us some of the principal ones. What are you engag­ 

ed on at present, Mr. Swan? A. At the moment we have; I am 
consulting engineer for new harbour works in Eastern Canada, at 
Chicoutimi, for the harbour commissioners there and also a large 
bridge across the harbour there and the plans were recently ap­ 
proved, and another harbour scheme on the River St. Lawrence 10 
going on at present and several other minor schemes. I might say 
that in my early days I began harbour work on the Burntisland 
dock works in Scotland and I was there for several years and 
afterwards I went as resident engineer for the Bristol docks in 
England with Sir Benjamin Baker. I was in charge of the work 
there some eight years running into many millions of pounds and 
towards the end of the work; the work there included dredging 
and construction of piers, the construction of docks, miles of con­ 
crete wall, bridges, roads, streets, lanes, elevators and so on. Then 
towards the end of those works I was engaged in England by the 20 
Dominion Government by Sir Wilfrid Laurier personally and 
Lord Strathcona to come to Canada to prepare the design and su­ 
pervise the work for a certain period of years in Montreal Har­ 
bour, which I did, and I carried out about $17,000,000 worth of 
work in Montreal harbour of all sort, including railway terminals 
and any number of bridges up until about a year past the time of 
my official engagement. At that time I was asked to go out by all 
the railways of South America, on the West Coast of South Amer­ 
ica to select sites and report, and to prepare designs and estimates 
for sunk rocks and harbours as I would recommend on the west 30 
coast of South America. After that I returned to Montreal. I do 
not remember if it was just before that, but it was in 1912 that I 
was first sent out to Vancouver by the Dominion Government to re­ 
port on the whole harbour situation here which I did and at a later 
period, 1919,1 think it was, I prepared a further report and was 
appointed consulting engineer to the Vancouver Harbour Commis­ 
sioners and I designed and carried out under the supervision of my 
own staff the Ballantyne Pier and what is called the Wallace Dry- 
dock and supervise for the contractors as their consulting engineer 
the Esquimalt Drydock, and about that time I was called in by the *o 
Burrard Inlet Tunnel and Bridge Company to advise them on cer­ 
tain proposals that had been submitted by an American company 
for the construction of a bridge at the Second Narrows.

Q. Now, what position did you hold and discharge the duties 
of in connection with the present bridge at the Second Narrows in 
Vancouver? A. I acted as consulting engineer.
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Q, I desire to show you exhibit 2 in this matter. I show you 
exhibit 2 being a plan showing the location or site and general out- 
line of the structure erected, the Second Narrows Bridge. You Ada>'r»^y 
have seen this plan before and recognize this ? A. Yes.

Q. Here are others that I am going to put in. I am now pro- 
during some detail drawings. They were referred to in the pro- 
ceedings and one I was about to put in as exhibit 12. My friend 
said that he would let us know if he would want them or not.

Mr. Griffin: My friend is quite incorrect. No such state-
10 ment was made by me. The only thing that was reserved was the

right to put in or discuss the one referred to in the evidience in the
transcript of the previous hearing.. That is, the one referred to
in the previous hearing.

Mr. Donaghy : No, there were two or three plans put up and 
your lordship said that they would stand in the meantime.

Mr. Griffin : I have the citation before me and there waa only 
one plan. That is the one referred to as being —

The Court : I suppose, however, Mr. Griffin, apart from that 
if what the witness puts in now is to explain his construction, from 

20 that view point you would have no objection.
Mr. Griffin Yes, I will ob j ect to any plan being put in except 

the one my friend discussed and which your lordship will have to 
rule on. That one was referred to undoubtedly, but no other leave 
was reserved to my friend and he closed hisr case flatly on the 
material before him except with regard to certain documents which 
he asked leave to refer to again.

Mr. Donaghy : I will meet my friend on that. I will; have to 
refer to where exhibit 12 was put in and read that and it will1 take 
time to get it.

30 Now, my lord, at page 76, Mr. Burns, about line 15: "Mr. 
Burns : Yes, my lord, and I was suggesting to put one; in simply 
as a sample — "

Then Mr. Griffin objects.
"But I might arrange with my friend — not encumbering the 
record if my objection is sustained. Those plans are and 
could only be filed under subsection 2 of section 248 which 
provides as follows:"
Then he reads the section and then goes on: "Now, my lord 
these have to be presented to the Board of Railway Commis- 

4u sioners with the application. They must precede the appli­ 
cation, they must be before the Board before it acts upon them 
and your lordship has before you the fact that the order of the 
Board is dated the 31st July, 1923, and the plan that my 
friend tenders is dated the 2nd August, 1923 ; therefore, it was 
not before the Railway Commissioners when they made their 
order and could not legally be filed afterwards, so that my 
submission is that it should not be received."
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RECORD "The Court: Well, let me see that again, Mr. Registrar.
British Columbia You see, Mr. Griffin, it says these details are to be filed. That
AJmiraityj>ist. js a term in futuro.
Plaintiffs "Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, I concede the order would indi- 
Case cate filing in futuro, but the statute would not permit such. 
A D~Swan ^ne order so far as would indicate futurity is without the 
Djrea statute. The Board must have it before them before they 

(Contd.) make the order of approval. In other words, to put the point 
another way, the Board are not entitled to give their approval 
of a general plan unless at the same time they file details be- 10 
fore that.
The Court: That is what I thought you would come to. 
Mr. Griffin: Yes.
The Court: In other words, it is beyond the power of the 
Board to give an order of this description? 
Mr. Griffin; Yes.
The Court: Now, what do you say as to that? 
Mr. Burns: I say with reference to that, my lord, that I am 
submitting this—or tendering these detailed plans as compli­ 
ance with the order of the Board. Whether that is a proper 20 
procedure or not is a matter of argument, that is, it is a part of 
my case.
The Court: Your position is this, the order they had juris­ 
diction upon—
Mr. Burns: That is what was done.
The Court: You wish to show as a matter of precaution that 
you conformed to it anyway? 
Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord.
The Court: And if they had no power to make it, why, then, 
of course, it is a thing of no consequence at all, but if they had 30 
you are showing you complied with the conditions? 
Mr. Burns: Yes. In other words, I am really following out 
de facto procedure to show what we did. 
The Court: Well, it seems to me from that point of view, 
Mr. Griffin, there cannot really be any objection. It is a ques­ 
tion as to whether—as you say—really whether the Board's 
order is simply a nullity; that he was not bound to conform to 
it is another thing. It will go in for that purpose." 
It was marked as exhibit 12. It was put in as a sample. 

My instructions are, my lord, that following that the solicitor for 40 
the plaintiff in this case wrote a letter to my learned friend stating 
that if he wished any further inspection or any further of these 
plans produced of which 12 is a sample we would be glad to bring 
them in and make that statement.

Mr. Griffin: That may be true that letter was written, but it 
was never replied to by my learned friend and I myself or my 
firm never agreed to anything. I can safely say from memory that
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20

no arrangement was made along the lines he now suggests. If my RECORD 
learned friend is replying on the letter I will produce it, but my BrithiTco 
friend did not finish the citation of the evidence. Admiralty 

The Court: What is it you are relying on? Plaintiffs 
Mr. Griffin: At page 78. Case 
"The Court: Well, it seems to me from that point of view, . D~T~ 
Mr. Griffin, there cannot really be any objection. It is a ques- Direct. ™ 
tion as to whether—as you say—really whether the Board's (Contd.) 
order is simply a nullity, that he was not bound to conform 

10 to it is another thing. It will go in for that purpose."
And the document was put in and marked Exhibit 12. 
The document was tendered and marked and went in and 

that was the end of it. It was put in for greater caution in case my 
friend could only get the benefit of the Railway Board's order by 
filing certain details. He never refers to that again and this is 
what took place afterwards, and it does not relate to that.

"Mr. Donaghy: My lord, there remains the proof to be 
brought forward that this bridge has been constructed in ac­ 
cordance with these plans and so on. That, I had proposed to 
prove by the evidence of Mr. Swan. I shall not attempt to 
have any other engineer go over it, because it would be a very 
lengthy and expensive matter, of course, to follow that out and 
show in a way the detail that has been followed out. 
'' The Court: I understand then what you mean is that—what 
we will call the evidence, the facts, apart from the actual man­ 
ner in which the bridge was constructed, is concluded. 
"Mr. Donaghy: Yes.
'' The Court: Now, you propose to show that you did perform 
—you did erect this bridge in conformity to the plan. 

30 "Mr. Donaghy: Yes, and the engineer is the one who can 
do that."
That ends that and my learned friend then says: 
"Now, there is one other thing, my lord, that I wish to mention 
and reserve. I wish to have your lordship's leave to reserve 
the bringing of proof of another matter. There is a question 
as to whether the authority we have produced in the form of 
an order of the Board of Railway Commissioners authorizing 
the raising of the bridge five feet is made under the proper 
section. It says and it is confessed it is made under section 

40 251."
That is the second thing. My learned friend wants to prove 

the order was made under another section. 
Then he goes on:
"There is a further question as to whether or not an order- 
in-council had been passed authorizing the raising of the 
bridge five feet. Now, we are having further inquiry made, 
my lord, in regard to that. That has to be made in the De-
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partment at Ottawa, in the Privy Council records. I am ask­ 
ing leave to bring that in if it is found. Neither of these 
matters will interfere with the course of the evidence for 
the defence."
Then your lordship speaks of it and my friend proceeds: 
"I wish to have the opportunity of ascertaining if an order 
by the Governpr-in-Council was made under section 248 auth­ 
orizing the raising of the bridge five feet." 
My lord, that ends it in effect. The balance of this goes on and 

deals with other matters. My friend did not ask and did not ob- 10 
tain any leave whatever except as indicated on those pages relating 
to an order-in-council and a certain order which he hopes to show 
was made under a different section and there is no suggestion that 
he wants to file further plans and no leave was given to him. I 
object that the arrangement made, which was a bargain with coun­ 
sel, which led me to go on with my case. No leave was reserved. 

The Court: I do not quite understand what is your objection 
to what is now proposed. It is clear on page 78 that what remains 
for Mr. Donaghy to show is that this bridge was constructed in 
accordance with these plans. I should not assume that the con- 20 
struction of a large plan like that would show that the bridge was 
constructed in accordance with it. You must show detail.

Mr. Griffin; I submit now if my learned friend can show 
without additional plans, perhaps he can, but he cannot introduce 
further exhibits. His case is closed.

The Court: That is not it in the specific statement or a rul­ 
ing given that he could not put in proof of the fact that it had been 
constructed in accordance with the main plan produced. There are 
other subsidiary plans necessary to prove that fact.

Mr. Griffin: My friend distinctly on page 80 closes his case 30 
with certain reservation and he is in the same position as any 
other litigant when he closes his case.

The Court: It all depends on what you mean by closing his 
case. I think perhaps Mr. Donaghy had better proceed to ask this 
witness whether it is possible to prove the construction with 
the big plan. If it is your point is a good one. If it is I shall cer­ 
tainly support your objection, because if we have enough there is 
no use going into the details. I cannot rule on something I do not 
know.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, it is quite clearly left open at page 74, 40 
line 17:

"I do not know any reason particularly for filing them and 
encumbering the record with them, but I state that they are 
available if required." 
The Court: I see, yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Then I reserve with your lordship's permis­ 

sion the right to prove that the bridge was constructed in accord­ 
ance with these plans.



The Court: You had better proceed and see if it really would 
be just to Mr. Griffin to include what seems to be a matter of con­ 
struction detail.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. I show you exhibit 12 which is a sample. 
Will you look at that?

The Court: What is he doing now?
Mr. Donaghy: Looking at exhibit 12, a sample of the detail. 
The Court: He is first looking at exhibit 12. 
Mr. Donaghy: Yes.

10 The Court: And this plan that he is looking at, I know. A. 
I am first looking at 2, my lord.

Mr. Donaghy: We are through looking at 2, that is the gener­ 
al plan.

The Court: Yes, I beg your pardon. 2 is the main one show­ 
ing the whole works as constructed.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, the outline of the site. 
The Court: What we call the locus. 
Mr. Donaghy: Yes.
Q. Will you look at 12, Mr. Swan, which is one of the details ? 

20 A. Yes.
Q. I am getting this material before asking the question. I 

tender now as an exhibit Privy Council Order 1310 dated August 
20th, 1925.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Before your lordship receives that I have cer­ 

tain objections I will make after my learned friend reads it. I 
suppose he will.

Mr. Donaghy: Very good, yes. I made a copy for your lord­ 
ship and if there is going to be any argument on it perhaps your 

30 lordship had better have a copy.
"The Committee of the Privy Council have had before 

them a Report, dated 5th August, 1925, from the Minister of 
Marine and Fisheries, submitting that he has had under con­ 
sideration an application of the Corporation of the Vancouver 
Harbour Commissioners, for approval under the provisions 
of their Act of Incorporation, of plans, specifications and esti­ 
mates, as follows:

SECOND NARROWS BRIDGE (MARINE NO. V-74-25)
For the necessary labour and material to raise all spans 

40 five feet, also the Lynn Creek approach. Estimated cost $100,- 
000.

The Supervisor of Harbour Commissions reports he has 
considered the report of the Board of Consulting Engineers 
called to consider the best means of altering the bridge so as 
to lessen the rapidity of the current of the waters of the har­ 
bour which pass under the bridge, also the technical descrip-
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tion of the work necessary with the estimate of its cost; that 
the Corporation have entered into an agreement with the 
bridge company by which they shall have the right to control 
traffic over the bridge both railway, vehicular and passenger, 
and to route their terminal railway thereover; and in consid­ 
eration of this agreement they have agreed to bear the cost of 
the raising of the bridge.

This officer considers the proposal a satisfactory one and 
that the expenditure may be approved as for work authorized 
in the terms of the legislation providing for advances on loan 10 
to the Corporation for the construction of harbour improve­ 
ments, and he recommends approval of the plans and of the 
carrying out of the work under them; and also of the appro­ 
priation, out of any balance remaining of the total amount 
authorized for an advance on loan to the Corporation by the 
legislation referred to, of the estimated cost of this work, 
amounting to $100,000, providing the cost of the completed 
work amounts to this sum. If not, any balance remaining 
under the total hereby to be approved, to be automatically re­ 
turned to the balance available for further appropriations; 20 
and in these recommendations the Deputy Minister of Marine 
and Fisheries concurs.

The Minister, therefore, recommends approval of the 
plans and of the estimate of $100,000, for the work of raising 
the spans and approach of the Second Narrows bridge in the 
harbour of Vancouver, B. C., on the terms and conditions 
above set out.

The Committee concur in the foregoing recommendation 
and submit the same for approval."
Approved by the Committee and certified. 30 
Now, I do not know what objection my friend has. I cannot 

anticipate his argument.
Mr. Griffin: I will make the objection first and discuss the 

matter afterwards. My first objection is that this document is 
not one which my learned friend got leave to put in after closing 
bis case. The second is that it is not pleaded what the other al­ 
leged authority is and the third is that it is not an order made 
under the Railway Act and does not on the face of it purport to be 
and fourth, no order-in-council was made on the plaintiff's appli­ 
cation, or for the benefit of the plaintiff, or to give the plaintiff any 40 
benefit. It was made after the work referred to was done and 
therefore is irrelevant and immaterial. Lastly it was not supple­ 
mented or alleged to have been supplemented by any order of the 
Railway Board under section 248 which is essential to its becoming 
efficacious.

Page 79 of the transcript of the evidence you will find that 
my friend's request and the leave that he got was a very limited 
one and it was in the following language, line 12:



391

"There is a further question as to whether or not an RECORD 
order-in-council had been passed authorizing the raising of British 
the bridge five feet. Now, we are having further enquiry ^miray 
made, my lord, in regard to that. That has to be made in the Plaintiffs 
department at Ottawa, in the Privy Council records. I am Case 
asking leave to bring that in if it is found. Neither of these . D~ 
matters will interfere with the course of the evidence for the D'irect wan 
defence." (Comd.) 
Then your lordship makes an observation and my learned 

10 friend continues.
"I wish to have the opportunity of ascertaining if an 

order by the Governor-in-Council was made under section 248 
authorizing the raising of the bridge five feet. 

The Court: Order No. 2481 
Mr. Donaghy: Yes."

So that we find the matter very plainly stated, that the leave 
was to introduce if found an prder-in-council under a certain sec­ 
tion of the Railway Act. This one does not purport to have been 
so made. It purports to have been made under the Harbour Corn- 

20 missioners Act of Incorporation and not otherwise. It is, there­ 
fore, not the one my learned friend got leave to introduce later. 
Now, the fact that it is not pleaded is a matter of course of refer­ 
ring to the pleadings, which is the reply. My learned friend filed 
a reply which your lordship will have on the record and it sets out 
with the greatest particularity—I will not read it. It is very long 
and contains references to orders-in-council, one at least, and many 
orders of the Railway Board and it contains no reference to this 
one. That is my second point. Now, then, my lord, thirdly, it was 
not in fact made under the Railway Act and it is not a substantive 

30 point, apart from the leave reserved. It is not an order made 
under the Railway Act and therefore no one can benefit. It can­ 
not benefit my learned friend's client in the slightest degree, be­ 
cause what he had to have was one similar to the order-in-council 
they had before, No. 718, which is exhibit No. 1, the language of 
which is interesting in comparison to this one and reads as follows: 

"That the Department of Justice has stated that the ap­ 
plication has been properly made under Section 248 of the 
Railway Act and the plans having been approved, the Minister 
therefore recommends the approval under Section 248 of the 

40 Railway Act the attached plans of bridge proposed to be built 
across the Second Narrows."
So that we find the other one, which is the best example there 

is under section 248 of the Railway Act dealing with navigable 
waters whereas this one is not so. Then the other question, this 
one is not an order, is not made in or granting any concession or 
or permission or approval to these plaintiffs. It is an order-in- 
council granting permission to a subordinate body of the Govern-
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RECORD ment, or to the Harbour Commissioners giving them an extended 
British Columbia power to lend money to the plaintiffs, but it does not purport to 
Admiralty Dist. consent to or authorize anything to be done by the plaintiff. My 

next objection, No. 5, is that this order-in-council was made after 
the work was done. You have it that the work was completed in 
the month of April, 1925.

Mr. Donaghy: Oh, no, I challenge that. There is not a word 
of evidence of that.

The Court: I understood one of the witnesses to say Novem­ 
ber, 1925. 10

Mr. Griffin: When it was absolutely completed, but the spans 
were in and all completed in the spring of that year. We have the 
evidence of many witnesses that the bridge was closed up in June, 
1925. I will put in one of the interrogatories of the plaintiff man­ 
ager to show that the spans were in place in April, 1925, and the 
witness gave it that it was in place in June, and my learned friend, 
Mr. Burns, stated yesterday that the bridge was completed in the 
sense of the constructive features in the month of June, 1925. 

Mr. Burns: The piers—
Mr. Griffin: My friend said that the superstructure was in in 20 

the month of June, 1925, and the interrogatories of Mr. Ward, No. 
22:

"At what date was the 300 foot span which the 'Eurana' 
struck first put in place?

A The month of April, 1925.
Q. What date was the bridge completed straight across 

from side to side? A 8th September, 1925." 
We have it that the superstructure was in for obstructive pur­ 

poses in June, 1925. This order-in-council was made in August. 
It is, therefore, necessary to read the Railway Act, section 248, to 30 
which reference was made before.

"When the company is desirous of constructing any 
wharf, bridge, tunnel, pier or other structure or work, in, up­ 
on, over, under, through or across any navigable water or can­ 
al, or upon the beach, bed or lands covered with the waters 
thereof, the company shall before the commencement of any 
such work,—" which is the word I wish to lay stress on. " (a) 
In the case of navigable water, not a canal, submit to the Mini­ 
ster of Public Works, and in the case of a canal to the Minister 
for approval by the Governor-in-Council a plan and descrip- 40 
tion of the proposed site for such work, and a general plan of 
the work to be constructed to the satisfaction of such Minister, 
and

(b) upon approval by the Governor-in-Council of such 
site and plan apply to the Board for an order authorizing the 
construction of the work—"
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Paragraph 2:
"No deviation from the site or plans approved by the 

Governor-in-Council, shall be made without the consent of the 
Governor-in-Council."
Then the statute goes on that the Board may make such orders 

in regard to construction as they think fit and make alterations in 
detail which have been so submitted and if your lordship will drop 
down to sub-section 4 you will find the final analysis:

"Upon such order being granted the company shall be
10 authorized to construct such work in accordance therewith."

Therefore, we see that there is no right to build any work until
you have first obtained the order-in-council, supplemented by the
order of the Railway Board, and we find the work done in June
and an attempt to bolster it up with an order passed in the month of
August. To my mind if that is so this objection is sufficient to
dispose of it.

The Court: Why do you say the deviation clause by the Gov­ 
ernor-in-Council is governed by 3 ? The application there surely 
refers to the application to the Board under "B." 

20 Mr. Griffin: The words, "Upon any such application the 
Board may" I take it refer to any application under "B."

The Court: You will have to apply to the Board for an order 
for the construction and you apply under "B." 

Mr. Griffin: Yes. 
The Court: Disregarding 2 for the moment, 3.

"Upon any such application the Board may—" 
That is not the application in 2, but the application in "B." 
Mr. Griffin: Certainly, I agree. It is the application for 

the order authorizing the construction. The order as it results, 
30 which my learned friend put in under 3, is exhibit 5, and reads: 

that it is an order authorizing the construction and that the appli­ 
cant company is authorized and so forth as shown on the plans fil­ 
ed with the Board. That is in effect the language of it. That shows 
that you may not get an order of authorization unless you get it 
before you begin, because the language at the beginning of the 
opening paragraph shows that. You must get your order-in-coun- 
cil before the commencement of any such work.

Mr. Donaghy: No, we did. , 
Mr. Griffin: That applies not only to orders-in-council in- 

40 augurating works, but to orders-in-council authorizing deviation. 
The Court: You see, is that so, Mr. Griffin. Let us see the 

result of that. Look at 4. It says:
"Upon such order being granted the company shall be author­ 
ized to construct such work in accordance therewith." 
That is, upon the application. Then the construction is 

authorized. Now, then, as the work proceeds for a year, out of the 
contemplated three years that they are going to take to do that and

RECORD
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A. D. Swan 
Direct. 

(Comd.)
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RECORD_ having proceeded with the construction for a year they find it 
British Columbia necessary that there be some deviation. That deviation is the one
Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiff's 
Case

A. D. Swan 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

2.
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court.

the statute? 
Mr. Griffin:

approval.
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin:

Yes.
What has the Board to do with that? 
As much as with the original one. 

You say that comes under the requirements of

Not only the Board, but the Privy Council, for

Which section?
I submit that the words "upon any such appli­ 

cation" under 2 means any application for approval of original 
as well as subsequent plans. I can strengthen the argument very 
materially if necessary by showing that my learned friend's appli­ 
cation, even when he got the approval of exhibit 2, was itself an 
approval of an amended plan. In other words, the original plans 
are not exhibit 2, but the plans filed away back in the year 1912 
and they are already in as part of exhibit 1. I have only got a 
copy. If your lordship will consider the first order-in-council it 
has no number on it, yes, 713. If you will take the early order-in- 
council, 1395, that is the one below, you will find there is the order- 
in-council approving the original plan. Now, my lord, turn to 
order-in-council, P. C. 771, the first page of the documents, and 
take the third document:

(Reads) "That the Burrard Inlet Bridge & Tunnel Company
has submitted for approval .... across the Second
Narrows."
So that we find that is the construction and that which my 

learned friends have given their support by following.
The Court: There is no question that they have to commence 

that way.
Mr. Griffin: I am endeavoring to show the commencing 

order-in-council 1395 in the year 1913, that was the original plan 
and my learned friend got leave to file the original plan from Ot­ 
tawa and no doubt has it here and is going to put it in, and then, 
we will have the original plan and then the amended plan, exhibit 
2, and then we have the order of the Railway Board, 31st of July, 
1923, exhibit 5, approving of it, all of it in exact accordance with 
the construction of the statute for which I am contending.

The Court: Of course the question of deviation had not 
arisen.

Mr. Griffin: No, but they were filing the plan as a deviation 
of plan, exhibit 2, which you have before you and which you have 
been regarding as the inauguration of the proceeding. It is in 
itself a deviation plan. The original plan is the one referred to 
in the early order-in-council 1395.

10

20

30

40
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The Court: What is the date of that? RECORD
Mr. Griffin: 1913, ten years before that, the original plan, British 

and exhibit 2 was in 1923, and was not filed as a new original Admira^y 
scheme but as an amendment of the scheme, a plan of variation plaintiffs 
under the very sub-section to which your lordship is now direct- Case 
ing my attention. I submit there can be no serious doubt the sec- A D~7~ 
tion means what I said, that it requires approval of every variation Direct wan 
in the manner indicated. (Contd.)

The Court: You see you may have for some reason unknown 
10 adopted that course, but now you are faced with a different situ­ 

ation and then, of course, we have to fall back upon the statute and 
give it its proper consideration, irrespective of the original con­ 
ception. They now say, "We have gone to the proper person and 
got under sub-section 2 the approval of the G-overnor-in-Council."

Q. But what they got was the approval of the Governor-in- 
Council for work to be done.

The Court: They are going to submit that means deviation, 
because it says altering the bridge and that means deviation.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, but what they got was undoubtedly leave to 
20 do a work.

The Court: What is the difference 1
Mr. Griffin: The difference is enormous if the statute does 

not allow it. I want to read the language of the Order-in-Council.
"This Officer—"
The Court: You are now at the one attached to 1310.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, the language bears on what I say.
"This Officer considers the proposal a satisfactory one and
that the expenditure may be approved as for work authorized
in the terms of the legislation providing for advances on loan 

SO to the corporation for the construction of harbour improve­ 
ments, and he recommends approval of the plans and of the
carrying out of the work under them."
The Privy Council was of the impression that the work had 

necessarily to be done, whereas the fact was otherwise, but it 
shows the whole theory and meaning of the statute. My learned 
friend's conduct all the way through indicates that that was the 
phra&e in the statute on which he was proceeding to make the 
work, that is the language, shall before the commencement of any 
such work govern not only the original, but the plans of deviation 

40 Those are the objections that I have to the introduction of those.
Mr. Donaghy: My friend said that we have not made this; 

my friend said that Privy Council application 1310 had not been 
made on the application of the Bridge Company. It is quite clear 
that it was on the application of the Vancouver Harbour Commis­ 
sioners who were lending money towards the construction of the 
bridge. I do not know why my friend raises the point, because 
there is nothing in section 248 which says that a deviation can
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(Contd.)

_ only be made on the application of the bridge company. Section 
British Columbia 248, sub-section 2, says it is quite immaterial who requests it. If 

the bridge company go ahead and carry it out after the consent is 
obtained that is all that is needed.

Mr. Griffin: My friend is not quoting the statute correctly.
Mr. Donaghy: Subsection 2 of Section 248.
Mr. Griffin: It says distinctly it is the applicant who is to 

submit.
Mr. Donaghy: For the original work. I think you submit­ 

ted that subsection 2 did not come under that. 10
Mr. Griffin: I certainly did not.
Mr. Donaghy: I make the submission that subsection 2 does 

not come under the clause which my friend read there, that is 248,
"The company shall before the commencement of any such
work—"
That is the commencement of the main work, the original 

work. That is quite clear, but as to dealing with deviations, that 
clause cannot be carried on to say that before any deviation shall 
be made or any commencement of it this application shall be made. 
It does not say that. What really happened was that this board 20 
of three engineers, a board appointed by the Dominion Govern­ 
ment was sent out to enquire into it.

Mr. Griffin: I object to that.
Mr. Donaghy: It is all in the evidence.
Mr. Griffin: No, except that an enquiry was held.
Mr. Donaghy: The evidence of my friend that he brought 

out in the beginning was that the Board of Inquiry was ap­ 
pointed to find out what changes were necessary and as 'a result 
of their recommendation the report stated that it should be raised 
five feet and this order-in-council which I am submitting here re- 30 
peats what my friend brought out in his case in chief, that the 
Board of Engineers were appointed and they recommended that 
the bridge be raised five feet, and following that a most solemn 
enquiry was held by a board of competent engineers and the re­ 
port goes into the Government and following that we have order 
No. 1310 referring to the report and setting out the recommend­ 
ation on the deviation and then we have here the most formal ap­ 
proval by the Privy Council of the plan and what this order does 
is to say that the Minister therefore recommends thhe approval 
of the plans and the committee concurs in that recommendation. 40 
That is what is concurred in, the approval of the plans and the 
spending of $100,000.

The Court: You see, Mr. Griffin, it is apparent, you know, 
that the bridge company in the face of this are a consenting party 
and are one who profits by the consent of the Governor-in-Council 
and therefore in that sense, while it might not be the formal im­ 
plementing applicant yet nevertheless in the essential and sub-
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(Contd.)

stantial way of regarding that section it is an applicant in that RECORD 
sense and I find that I cannot take the construction you submit, British Columbia 
Mr. Griffin, that the deviation by sub-section 2 is confined to the Adn>'r^'y 
higher paragraphs (a) and (b) requiring the board—to my mind 
it is something apart that might be exercised any time in the gen­ 
eral public interest.

Mr. Griffin: In regard to your first observation you will 
remember that my friend Mr. Donaghy stated on the first hear­ 
ing of the case that he was not aware of the existence of the order- 

10 in-council and hoped to find one. It can hardly be said that the 
applicant would have been within the contemplation of the order- 
in-council.

Mr. Donaghy: I did not have all the knowledge of the bridge 
company, I was only its counsel.

The Court: We learn as we proceed. Now, nobody could 
hardly look at this order without coming to the conclusion inevi­ 
tably that the bridge company would not have been anything else 
but a consenting party thereto. I regard, therefore, this order of 
deviation which I shall call it, this consent to a deviation being 

20 made by the Governor-in-Council as one within the authorization 
of parliament, in that section.

Mr. Griffin: My objection, of course, is preserved.
The Court: I have your note. The other objections, for that 

reason, I cannot give effect to them. The order-in-council will be 
admitted in evidence.

(ORDER-IN-COUNCIL P.C. 1310 MARKED EXHIBIT
NO. 26)

Mr. Donaghy: As part of that order I am putting in the 
plans that are named in there and referred to in their order. These 

30 are the certified copies.

(PLAN PRODUCED AND MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 27)
Mr. Donaghy: The second plan under that order will be 

marked Exhibit 28.

(PLAN PRODUCED AND MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 28)
Mr. Donaghy: And the third plan under that order will be 

marked Exhibit 29.

(PLAN PRODUCED AND MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 29)
The Court: Possibly it is so near the time that we might ad­ 

journ. 
40 Mr. Donaghy: Very good, my lord.

The Court: It seems an opportune time.



398 

RECORD The Registrar: Court stands adjourned until 2:15.
British Columbia
Admiralty Dist. (12:55 P.M. COURT WAS THEREUPON ADJOURNED 
Plaindffl UNTIL 2:15 P.M.)
Case

. _— (2:15P.M. COURT RESUMED PURSUANT TO AD-
JOURNMENT)

(Contd.) MJ. Donaghy: My lord, I now ask to put in as an exhibit
an order of the Board of Railway Commissioners for Canada,
No. 36137 of March 6th, 1925.

Mr. Griffin: That is the one that was tendered and rejected
before. 10 

Mr. Donaghy: I will have to read the record on that and
what was done. My friend has challenged my right to put it in.
At page 14 of the proceedings, line 16, Mr. Burns tendered this
and he said:

"Mr. Burns: 36137.
The Court: That is another order of the Board?
Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord.
The Court: That will be exhibit 6, Mr. Registrar."
However, it did not turn out to be marked. "If my friend
will kindly read that then I wish to make an objection." 20
My friend proceeds with his objection which takes up the

next page or two and among others there was this that it was not
yet in evidence, this Privy Council order which we dealt with
this morning and it ends up at page 17. I will not trouble to read
all the discussion, but at line 14:

"Mr. Burns: I suggest, my lord, that the exhibit be received 
subject to the objection of my friend. It is a matter that 
requires some argument.
The Court: Well, it is a practice I do not like to give effect 
to, Mr. Burns, unless, of course, there is some really very 30 
grave doubt about it. I would prefer, you see not to admit 
it in at present and give you leave to move to do so after­ 
wards, because unless you can show me now that this is really 
a matter affecting navigable waters I would say at first blush 
I can hardly see the relevancy of this order. 
Mr. Burns: Well, if your lordship pleases, I would rather 
follow that course. 
The Court: Yes."

The top of the page:
"Then we will not mark this document and this is reserved, 40 
Mr. Registrar. It would be together, would it not ? 
The Registrar: Yes, my lord, I think there are three plans. 
The Court: Yes, do not mark it, that is, the Order of the 
Board. This stands, you see, for further consideration." 
I am now at that place, my lord. I do not know whether my
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friend wants to object before going any further. RECORD
Mr. Griffin : Yes, certainly. That document was then ten- British Columbia

dered and objected to, because on its face it is a document which Adm''»iiy
does not purport to be under the section of the Railway Act which plaintiff's
alone is of interest or importance. It does not purport to be under Case
section 248, but only under section 157, 1 think. Yes, it was made . n~~
under section 251 of the Railway Act which does not deal at all Direct. 
in any way with navigable waters and your lordship ruled it out (Comd.) 
for that purpose and that objection is still as effective as it was 

10 before. My objection will be found at the top of page 15 :
"My objection to the introduction of that is one of which 
there seems to be no reasonable doubt. If your lordship will 
turn to the Railway Act and look at Section 251 you will find 
it stated that that section is as follows:" 

And then I read the section.
"Now, that relates, and relates solely to those bridges which
are either in cities or are over highways. The whole subject
of bridges over navigable waters is dealt with in the preceding
section 248 which is in more or less, if not identical language. "

20 And then the discussion continues. I need not read that any
more. Your lordship ruled it out because it did not purport to be
an order relating to navigable waters and that position is not
changed now. The order-in-council in August can have no rela­
tionship to the Railway Board order of March previous, and there­
fore the objection then made is as good as it was before. Further­
more, there was no leave reserved at page 79 where the matter
was finally concluded, there was no leave in respect of that order-
in-council, but only in respect of the present order-in-council and
for those reasons I object.

30 The Court: How does it read, does it purport to be under 
section 251?

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, it does. I have a copy to follow my 
argument and I am also handing you a copy of the order already 
in, the first order of the Board approving the plan, and the one 
submitted now is an order referring to alterations of the plans by 
the Board. First of all, my lord, a perusal of those two docu­ 
ments shows a patent clerical error on the face, that is, in the 
heading of the matter, in the second document it refers to Section 
251 — an obvious clerical error. I think it is correct that Section 

40 251 of the Act contemplates trestles and bridges across a street in 
a city, and that sort of thing. My friend suggests that the Board 
of Railway Commissioners had that in mind. I submit that could 
not be the case, because both orders refer to the bridge over thp 
Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet of which, of course, the Rail­ 
way Commissioners had knowledge that it is navigable water. 
The one submitted now alone accompanying the plan covered in 
exhibit 5 which is headed under section 248 is headed quite prop-
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erly and this one by an obvious clerical error has the wrong sec­ 
tion at the head of it. I am quite free to say that it should be 
headed "section 248."

The Court: Your point really comes to this, that the upper 
part of the order does not depend upon what you say is an obvious 
clerical error in the recital ?

Mr. Donaghy: Yes.
The Court: And the circumstances are such that it is impos­ 

sible that it can have any relation to 251 ?
Mr. Donaghy: Quite right. 10
The Court: And that it shows the upper part of the order as 

applying to a bridge over the Second Narrows which we have no 
evidence of being within the limits of this town and not crossing 
any highway and therefore must of necessity apply to an adjudi­ 
cation under section 248.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, and on the same line both orders refer 
to the same file number, at the end of the recital, at the top. It 
refers to file No. so-and-so, and that is the same file number in 
both orders. Of course, it is the same bridge, the one they had in 
mind over the navigable waters of Burrard Inlet. I submit that 20 
an obvious clerical error in the title of the thing cannot destroy 
what is the substance and the operative part of this order. That 
is my answer to my friend's argument.

The Court: Surely that is so, Mr. Griffin. Surely that must 
be so if there is an order. Supposing this recital was expunged; 
supposing this had been left blank, under section 251 there is no 
doubt at all that the jurisdiction of the court does not depend upon 
the recital.

Mr. Griffin: It is not the recital, it is the statement in the 
application made. An application to the Railway Board must 30 
under the rules of the Railway Board state the section pursuant 
to which it is launched.

Mr. Donaghy: I do not know of any such rule as that.
Mr. Griffin: I am telling my friend.
Mr. Donaghy: I do not accept any such statement as that.
Mr. Griffin: If my friend will look at the rules. In refer­ 

ring to this case before I had the rules of court and I read it when 
the discussion came up. I read the rule and I can in five minutes 
send for it again. The rule stated that the section shall be named 
in the application and then we have the universal practice that 40 
you must also invariably state the section in the order. Every 
single order of the Railway Board states it. So that, what we 
have here is evidence that the Railway Board thought that what 
they were dealing with was an application for a highway crossing 
or some one of the other things which come under section 251 and 
which they had jurisdiction to entertain under that section alone, 
and there is no reason to surmise that the Railway Board made
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£. D- Swan 
/Contd l

the mistake in making the statement as to the jurisdiction under RECORD 
which they were acting. The application if produced will be 
shown to have been made under section 251. If my friend will 
produce it it will be shown that it was made under 251. That Plaintiffs 
seems to be a complete answer to it. My friend has no right to Case 
invite this court to assume that the Railway Board was acting 
pursuant to jurisdiction other than so stated there. If there had 
been no statement of the source from which the jurisdiction was 
drawn this court might be at liberty to give any jurisdiction to 

10 support the order, but that does not apply when they have named 
that jurisdiction. We are dealing with the Board's order of 
March, 1925. In what way can it be suggested that it has any 
reference to work authorized in August following. The situation 
could not possibly be the same.

Mr. Donaghy : As a matter of fact the plans are part of the 
order which your lordship has not got and they show a bridge 
across navigable waters and the raising of it five feet. There could 
not be any misapprehension on the part of the Railway Board that 
they were dealing with the crossing of a street. 

20 The Court: There is no doubt about that, we have to deal 
with the substance of the matter. To my mind it is an untenable 
position because the Railway Board has made an obvious clerical 
error in the recital of its own order. As to that there is no doubt 
whatever and therefore the arbitrary statutory right required by 
me should be taken away. I regard it the same as if this order 
in the recital had left the section blank. To my mind it is un­ 
arguable that the fact that the Railway Board had not conformed 
to its own practice and could deprive these people of a statutory 
right, therefore, I rule the order admissible in evidence. 

30 Mr. Griffin : I want you to have before you, that this leave 
was not reserved.

The Court : It is. I say so at page 18.
"Mr. Registrar, this will be reserved for further consider­
ation."
Mr. Griffin: That means up to the time my learned friend 

closed his case and not after the discussion on page 79.
The Court: I am afraid that is too fine. That is not the 

idea of that. ' ' Further consideration ' ' means what it says. ' ' Con­ 
sideration reserved," and we are justified in having the discussion 

40 on it now.
Mr. Donaghy : This order of the Railway Board 36137 will 

be exhibit —
The Registrar: Exhibit 30.

(DOCUMENT REFERRED TO MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 30)
Mr. Griffin : My lord, I should like even at this stage show 

that the certification on these very plans states them to have been
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RECORD approved of under Section 251, the very plans now tendered to 
British Columbia you. That may affect your lordship's view.

Mr. Donaghy: An obvious clerical error.
The Court: It is simply a continuation. The order recites 

the whole file. Beyond question it does not come within Section 
251.

Mr. Griffin: My lord, I make the further objection that this 
is not the original order, but purports to be a copy.

Mr. Donaghy: A certified copy. I think under the statutes 
that a certified copy—

The Court: Is it certified 1?
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, my friend admits that.

Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiff's 
Case

A. D. Swan 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 

record.
Mr. Griffin 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin 
The Court:

10

The original order would be evidence.
The Railway Board is constituted a court of

The original will have to be produced. 
Isn't that a certified copy? 
Yes.

Take a look at the Act. 
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, get the Canada Evidence Act. 20 
The Court: The Evidence Act will settle that. There is 

no doubt about it, Mr. Griffin. You may proceed.
Mr. Donaghy: Very good. Now, my lord, I would ask to 

have marked as exhibit 30-A the first plan attached to exhibit 30. 
The Board of Railway Commissioners' order is attached to the 
two plans and I ask to have the first one marked 30-A and tht 
second 30-B.

The Court: Very well.

(PLANS REFERRED TO MARKED EXHIBITS 30-A AND 
30-B RESPECTIVELY) 30
Mr. Donaghy: There is another one duly certified and I ask 

to have that marked 30-C, being the third plan referred to in the 
order.

The Court: Yes.

(PLAN REFERRED TO MARKED EXHIBIT 30-C)
Mr. Griffin: Just the same objection to that, my lord, as to 

the others.
The Court: The same ruling.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes. Now, my lord, I ask to put in as an 

exhibit an order of the Railway Board, No. 36996 of the 31st of 40 
October, 1925. I find on page 18 on the record of these proceed­ 
ings that it was placed in the same category as the last order by 
direction of this court. Page 16 at the foot—page 18, I should 
say.
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The Court: It appears to be the same, the same objection RECORD 
and ruling. British co 

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, in the same category. Admiralty 
Mr. Griffin: Yes, except in that case they quote two sections Plaintiffs 

in that order, Sections 251 and 276, and my submission is the Case 
same as before with the exception that they have gone into two A D— 
sections. I make the same objection, that the discussion on page Direct. 
18 was limited in the discussion on page 79 and my friend had (Contd.) 
closed his case and did not obtain leave to put that order in. 

10 The Court: The same ruling.

(ORDER NO. 36996 MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 31)
Mr. Donaghy: My friend, Mr. Burns, gave an undertaking 

in the course of the proceedings, in the initial stage, to produce 
and put in another plan.

The Court: This you are tendering pursuant to Mr. Burns' 
undertaking.

Mr. Donaghy: Mr. Burns' undertaking at the request of Mr. 
Griffin. I will put this in.

(PLAN REFERRED TO MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 32).
20 Mr. Donaghy: It is the old plan of 1913 called popularly the 

Wolfe Barry plan and really was superseded by the other plan. 
We will put it in for my friend's convenience.

Mr. Griffin: If my learned friend would put them all in. 
I think my learned friend had better put in the descriptive speci­ 
fications referred to in the order-in-council of 20th August, 1925. 
In other words, if a document goes in it ought to go in complete. 
I do not withdraw my objection to the order-in-council, only I 
think it should not be in unless it is complete.

The Court: Do you happen to have those ? 
SO Mr. Donaghy: Which order are you referring to?

Mr. Griffin: The order-in-council of 20th of August, 1925.
Mr. Donaghy: They are attached to exhibit 30.
Mr. Griffin: All right, I did not know it was in.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, Mr. Swan, I do not know whether 

you have been able to follow what I have been putting in here in 
the way of plans and so on. You have not had a chance to see 
them all? A. I glanced at them and I see they are all my own 
plans, or plans at all events that I have approved of with the ex­ 
ception, pardon me, the last one which is called the Wolfe-Barry 

40 plans. I had nothing to do with them.
Q. The old plans? A. Yes.
Q. Now, I am going to call your attention to the plans refer­ 

red to in the order of the Railway Board numbered 36137 of March 
6th, 1925. I think these plans are numbered 27,28 and 29. Will you
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RECORD take a moment and look at these. I made a mistake, those are the 
British Columbia plans referred to in Privy Council order 1310 of August 1925. 
Admiralty Dist. That is what I am showing you, the plans referred to in Privy 

Council order 1310? A. Yes.
Q. That is the plan dealing with the raising of the bridge and 

the order-in-council is on it. You see those three plans ? A. Yes. 
Q. Just hold them for a moment. Now, I turn to the plans 

attached to the order of the Board of Railway Commissioners, No. 
36137 of March 6th, 1925. They are marked 30-A, 30-B and 30-C.
1 wish you to look at those as well. A. These are all three plans 10 
relating to the raising of the bridge to five feet and all three plans 
were signed by myself as being approved.

Q. Now, the three plans, 27, 28 and 29, do they relate to the 
same thing, that is, the raising of the bridge five feet ? A. Yes.

Q. Those are the plans approved by the Privy Council. Very 
good. Now, I refer you to exhibit 2, this large plan you see here. 
Generally speaking, and shortly will you state in what way exhibit
2 has been affected by the other three exhibits, by the plans you 
have just looked at ? A. The general line of the bridge, my lord, 
is as shown originally on plan No. 2 and it was in accordance with 20 
this plan that the general lay out was made, but a great many al­ 
terations from time to time were made all of which are covered in 
the other six plans to which I have just been referring, so that it 
might be said generally that the work was carried out in according 
with this plan, exhibit 2, and in regard to the details of construc­ 
tion in accordance with the amended other six plans, and such 
other plans in addition to them as may have been necessary.

Q. And what you have been referring to as the other six 
plans are they in the way of alterations or deviations in some of 
the particulars of exhibit 2 ? 30

Mr. Griffin; That appears from the document itself. If 
that is so it will appear from the documents.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. That appears from the documents, my 
friend says. Is he correct? A. The plans speak for themselves.

Q. Very good. Now, which exhibit shows the location of the 
Second Narrows Bridge, the site? A. Exhibit No. 2.

Q. Has the bridge been constructed on that site ? A. Yes.
Q. The plans, exhibit 2, and the plans, exhibit 27, 28 and 29 

and 30-A and 30-B and 30-C, with relation to this bridge and hav­ 
ing those plans in mind, will you say whether or not the bridge 40 
has been constructed in accordance with those plans? A. Yes, 
it has been constructed in accordance with those plans and further 
detail plans, the detail plans being all embodied in the general plan 
exhibit No. 27.

Q. Will you say whether or not the details of the plan of the 
bridge as constructed had the approval of the engineer of the 
Board of Railway Commissioners for Canada ?
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Mr. Griffin: I submit that the witness cannot be asked RECORD 
whether they had or had not. My friend has to prove if they have British Columbia 
or not, but he cannot get it from this witness.

The Court: He may know something of his own knowledge. Plaintiffs
Mr. Griffin: My objection is based on his making observa­ 

tions on what the Railway Commissioners have done.
Mr. Donaghy: The engineer of the Board.
Mr. Griffin: That is the same thing.
Mr. Donaghy: I ask him then, has he any means of knowing ? 

10 The Court: The engineer of the Board ? You know this bet­ 
ter than I do. I assume, correct me if I am wrong, in the construe 
tion of this bridge there would be of course the general authority 
of the Board, I suppose, I do not know about it, but in the ordinary 
way there would be engineers of each party concerned who would 
be watching this.

Mr. Griffin: I do not know whether there were or were not.
I have not been instructed. Whether that is so or not, there is no
authority remitted to the railway engineers as opposed to the
Board. The statute does not give him any power. Therefore, I

2.0 object.
The Court: Your point is that if it is shown that it is by 

authority of the Board you need not trouble about the engineer.
Mr. Griffin: Yes. And if he has no authority the engineer 

will be of no help.
Mr. Donaghy: However, there is an order here in 1923 of the 

Board. The members of the Board are not technical engineers and 
they adopt the expedient of having their engineers pass on technic­ 
al plans.

The Court: Who is going to satisfy them about measure- 
30 ments?

Mr. Donaghy: Apparently the engineer.
The Court: If your point is that you are not objecting to 

what I might call the carrying out of the quantities and that sort 
of thing—in every work there must be an engineer who has author­ 
ity to supervise and direct the work. Those things are the prac­ 
tical details of construction which are entirely distinct. Of course, 
there may be a scheme for the work. I understand you are not 
objecting to that.

Mr. Griffin: I am in the strongest way. 
40 The Court: Then, how are you going to prove it.

Mr. Griffin: I don't think I should. It would not be reason­ 
able that we should be bound by anything any engineer should do 
unless the statute gives him authority and as the statute does not 
give authority, therefore, anything he does is irrelevant, and if the 
Board's authority is obtained the engineer's does not need to be. 
If it has not been obtained then the engineer's authority is of no 
moment.
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_ The Court: That is what I want to find out, what you mean. 
British Columbia Do you mean that you will have to show that there was, say, a 

certain measurement of stone work actually put in there ? Surely, 
there would be in the practical carrying out of a scheme like 
this somebody there on behalf of the Board.

Mr. Griffin: I submit not. There is no suggestion of it in the 
pleadings, or reference to it any place. It would be an injustice 
to any litigant that such a statement would be made without pre­ 
vious notice, on either side. We could not meet such a suggestion.

The Court: Is it necessary to prove this, Mr. Donaghy ? I 10 
do not see what you propose to prove by this in view of your learn­ 
ed friend's objection. I might be able to rule on it more clearly.

Mr. Donaghy: I notice in the Railway Board's order 33962 
of the 31st of July, 1923, the last part of it refers to the engineer 
of the Board approving the details.

The Court: Yes, I see.
Mr. Donaghy: That is what had I in mind.
The Court: I suppose your point is to show whether they 

were right or wrong in placing those piers and you carried it out
Mr. Donaghy: I submit we carried it out. 80
The Court: It seems to me impossible to say that you are 

not open to show that. In other words, how can they show their 
compliance with the order of the Board. I cannot see why you 
should be prevented from showing that they did carry out that 
provision in the order which came to the Board. As to whether 
the Board had knowledge is a different question, so it is a de facto 
Compliance and on that basis I rule that it is admissable.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. I will put my question formally to you—
The Court: What is the date of the order ?
Mr. Donaghy: The order is dated the 31st of July, 1923, No. 30 

33962 of the Board of Railway Commissioners for Canada. It has 
a clause at the end saying that the detail plans of the substructure 
and superstructure must be filed for the approval of the engineer 
of the Board and I ask whether that was done.

Mr. Griffin: I submit the witness cannot be asked to say 
whether the plans were filed. My lord, he would not be permitted 
to say so. The proof must come from the Board.

The Court: Supposing he knows.
Mr. Griffin: He cannot, in the sense that the only persons 

would be the Board themselves. We cannot take oral proof of 40 
documents on the file of a tribunal.

The Court: I do not see why if the documents have them and 
the engineer says, "I approve."

Mr. Griffin: These details are to be filed. Why should there 
be any further discussion.

The Court: In practically all these words somebody has to 
do it. The Board cannot be on the bridge watching every shovel-
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ful of concrete. If this witness knows that is the fact why should RECORD 
he not say so.

Mr. Donaghy: I have asked you whether that was done or 
not, and if you know? A. I do, my lord. I had innumerable 
meetings in Ottawa, at a great many different times with the chief 
engineer of the Board of Railway Commissioners and the assis- 
tant chief engineer and discussed with him the plans which I found 
in their offices had been logged by the company for approval, and 
later after all these plans had been approved and the bridge was 

10 nearing construction —
Q. Approved by whom? A. The Board of Railway Com­ 

missioners.
Mr. Griffin : That goes beyond your ruling. The other does 

not. How can this witness prove that they were approved.
The Court : Ask him through what officer, the secretary, or 

who was it? A. Pardon me, my lord, I was going to say that 
after these plans were approved of, a very long tune after and the 
bridge was very nearly completed I myself wrote to the chief en­ 
gineer. 

20 The Court: Never mind about writing.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Will you tell about interviews with the 

Chief engineer and the plans in the office — you were telling us 
about that. What took place then ? A. We discussed the plans.

Q. Did he not approve of them and the detail ? A. He did.
Mr. Griffin: Wait a minute, give me a chance to make my 

objection. I submit that he is not permitted to give hearsay testi­ 
mony, that somebody in the Railway Board's office or somebody 
else said that it was approved.

The Court: Not somebody. 
30 Mr. Donaghy: The engineer.

The Court : We are speaking of the nominated officer in the 
order of the Railway Board.

Mr. Griffin: Have they approved of it in writing? That 
would be the meaning.

The Court : I do not see why it should be.
Mr. Donaghy : Q. Did the engineer approve of them or not ? 

A. He approved of them.
Mr. Donaghy: Now, my lord, there is a question of proce­ 

dure here. My learned friend has not stated that he has closed 
40 his case on the defence to the claim and on his proof of the counter­ 

claim. If he will now say that he has I will proceed with the exam­ 
ination of this witness by way of answer to the counter-claim and 
in reply. If he has not, of course, I will withdraw him from the 
box after cross-examination and then will bring him in at the 
proper time.

The Court : What do you say as to that proposal ?
Mr. Griffin : I would not accept that proposal at all. I will
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RECORD submit the issue on the claim and the counter-claim will turn out 
British Columbia to be exactly the same, but he must exhaust this witness if he has 

anything from him on any point and having put him in he cannot 
split the evidence. We have not finished the evidence on the claim 
or counter-claim. We may not have anybody, but this witness 
Captain Stalker, but to that extent our evidence on the claim is 
not closed, and we have other evidence on the counter-claim.

The Court: You would be able to recall him on the counter­ 
claim.

Mr. Donaghy: I take it I would. 10
Mr. Griffin: I want to warn my learned friend that I will be 

opposed to that.
The Court: The situation is very unusual. A good deal of 

latitude is to be given to all concerned. The object I have in mind 
is to see no one is prejudiced and that objective I will see is attain­ 
ed. I think you had better proceed with the examination of the 
witness and then afterwards Mr. Griffin will see what to do. There 
is one other witness that he intimates he is going to call and I am 
quite willing to do that, then I can see after the examination of the 
witness what is in these things and clarify them as well. 20

Mr. Donaghy: I will proceed with the examination on the 
defence to the counter-claim to make myself clear.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, Mr. Swan, you sat here and heard 

the evidence, I take it, this forenoon, in court, did you ? A. I 
did.

Q. The suggestion has been made that the bascule lift in this 
bridge is in the wrong place being too close to the south shore. 
Will you state what if any answer you have to make to that criti­ 
cism and your reason for it. 30

Mr. Griffin: I would like to object to that line of attack for 
this reason, that is on the issue of navigation, on the question of 
negligent navigation. My friend on that point has simply closed 
his case and cannot give evidence in support of it. If your lord­ 
ship does not call on me I will not read from the testimony, but 
that no doubt is correct that he closed his case on the issue of navi­ 
gation. This is clearly a case of trying to support his original 
case. Leave to call this witness was not reserved to my friend on 
that point. Leave was confined to the question of the legality of the 
construction as appears at page 78 of the transcript. 40

"There remains the proof to be brought forward that this
bridge has been constructed in accordance with these plans
and so on. That I had proposed to prove by the evidence of
Mr. Swan."
That is the case on the counter-claim, both of these involve 

that same point.
"I shall not attempt to have any other engineer go over it." 

And then at the bottom of the page:
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'' The Court: You now propose to show that you did perform RECORD
—you did erect this bridge in conformity to the plan."
To that Mr. Donaghy replied: "Yes." Therefore, that issue 

went. It was to show the legality of the construction and on the plaintiffs 
counter-claim the same thing exactly, and my learned friend got Case 
leave to call Mr. Swan, but he never got leave to call him on the 
question of navigation. I submit that it is not a proper question.

The Court: What about the counter-claim? I do not know 
that it is necessary. It might be involved in the same issue. Both 

10 depend on exactly the same thing.
Mr. Donaghy: If your lordship will look at paragraph 8 of 

the statement of defence you will see what I am dealing with.
The Court: The statement of defence?
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, I am endeavouring to meet that.
The Court: Not to reply to the defence on the counter-claim.
Mr. Donaghy: It is there in the defence and I am entitled to 

meet that. He says in paragraph 8 of the defence.
(Reads paragraph 8 of defence.) That is what I am trying
to meet. 

20 The Court: Yes, what has that got to do with navigation ?
Mr. Donaghy: Nothing at all.
The Court: He says that he impeded navigation, that the 

bridge impeded navigation; that this witness is not permitted to 
be called on that issue. Pleading navigation is not the navigation 
of the stream. The navigation of the stream is that which a pru­ 
dent and careful master mariner requires to live up to, which is 
something different, because he had nothing to do with that.

Mr. Griffin: I agree, the impeding of navigation and navi­ 
gation are absolutely different, but the issue raised here is an 

30 issue which deals with the bridge as an interference of naviga­ 
ble waters, that is dealing with navigation. It comes within the 
issue of navigation and not the question of legality. The question of 
whether the bridge is legally constructed is the only thing reserved 
to call Mr. Swan on, and he now proposes to branch out of that 
and deal with navigation in the sense that he has now. He had 
no right to do it.

Mr. Donaghy: I am sorry, but my learned friend has confus­ 
ed my right of examining this witness in reply to his defence, or in 
answer to his counter-claim. He thinks that I am examining on 

40 the case in chief. I wish to remove the misapprehension. I made 
that clear before.

Mr. Griffin: If my learned friend proposes to bring evidence 
in reply he cannot do that, because that is splitting his case, hav­ 
ing gone into it.

Mr. Donaghy: You will see where my friend is landing him­ 
self. I said when I closed the examination, I said, "This finishes 
my examination of the witness on my case," and I said, "I will
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_ stand him aside and bring him in at the proper time to answer the 
British Columbia defence and the counter-claim" and my friend said that he wanted
Admiralty Dist. me £0 do that.

Mr. Griffin: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: And now he complains of that. I complain

bitterly of his attitude.
Mr. Griffin: My friend has already gone into this issue as to

the amount of inconvenience this bridge created.
The Court: I must say, Mr. Griffin, I have not understood

from the course of this case that this issue had been gone into, and 10
why should he go into it on his case ? 

Mr. Griffin: He did.
The Court: He incidentally locked it up in the issue of navi­ 

gation, that you are exonerated from the circumstances of what
they say was negligence, because of the undue burden on you as
a mariner that you could not overcome.

Mr. Griffin; If my friend is anticipating it—
The Court: If you will kindly show me where it is, because

that is something new to me. I never understood that you were
doing that at all. 20 

Mr. Griffin: Page 44 of the transcript. 
The Court: Why should he do that, that is for you to do ? 
Mr. Griffin: Page 41 is where Mr. Burns first embarked on

the topic. It is the line on page 41.
"Q. What do you say as to the "Eurana" passing through 
that bridge under these circumstances, or in this condition, 
with safety if properly navigated ? A. Well, she had a fol­ 
lowing tide, and a following tide is not so safe as slack water, 
or a little tide against you—"

And so on and so forth. He does not answer the question. 30 
The Court: That is not on this point. 
Mr. Griffin: Carrying on to line 25, page 44: 
"Now, you have said if properly navigated in these conditions 
she could safely pass the bridge."

That is raising the question as to whether that place is navigable
with safety.

'' A. The opening of the bridge is perfectly safe under proper
management at the proper stages of the tide."
He deliberately leads into it and discusses it.
'' Then what do you mean by that, Captain ? A. If you don't 40
begin at the proper stage of tide of course there is necessarily
a little risk attached to it with a large vessel, of course."
And then my learned friend says that he could not get the

witness to do what he wanted and then at the bottom of page 45 I
see:

'Having in view the evidence of the witness Tennant, the 
bridge operator, would you say that she was properly navi­ 
gated."



And then he goes on to get the witness to say she was not and RECORD 
then take page 46, line 8: BrtthiTc^iumbi*

"Q. Can you point to any particular in which it was not Adn''"^'y &'"•
properly navigated? A. Yes, I noticed that—" Plaintiffs
The Court: Is it all navigation ? It is for me to say whether Case 

it was properly navigated. You have to show, of course, the locus . D~T~ 
and bring it to the attention of the court and you have to show D'irect *" 
what the circumstances were, and that is an entirely different (Contd.) 
thing from saying you have abused a right given by Act of Parlia- 

10 ment. The leading case on that, the Logan case, was one from the 
Irish Free States a few months ago. That is the great case on that, 
the canal case.

Mr. Griffin: The point I am driving at now is at page 44 and 
there is no doubt the witness was asked to deal with the question 
of navigating that bridge in its present condition with safety.

The Court: It came in in that way.
Mr. Griffin: I submit that it cannot be said to be incidental. 

It is bringing up a certain topic by Mr. Burns pressing the witness 
and not succeeding very well.

20 The Court: You have to regard it as to the course of the trial 
and the way the case presents itself. It never dawned on me until 
you suggested it that there was any intention of anything beyond 
that, so far that there was any attempt made to meet the specific 
defence put up here that they had negligently carried out their 
duties as laid down by Parliament. Those are incidental refer­ 
ences there, that is all they are.

Mr. Griffin: The transcript speaks for itself. My learned 
friend's intentions were to get it and the questions so show.

The Court: Have you anything else ?
30 Mr. Griffin: That is the navigation phase. Now, he is seek­ 

ing to make out a prima facie case and then come in reply and 
strengthen it. My submission is that it cannot be done.

The Court: There is no question that if there is an act—I 
remember having to write a judgment quite recently on an attempt 
to split a case. If you do that and you really do it—it is a thing 
that could not be done and it just happens that I wrote the judg­ 
ment of the Court of Appeal and you may be sure that it is not 
far from my mind.

Mr. Griffin: Then that passage you may be sure that I refer 
40 to is a clear case of doing it.

The Court: I haven't any doubt about the rights in this mat­ 
ter. It is not a case of splitting a case in the true sense of the word 
and it comes as a surprise to me. The suggestion comes as a sur­ 
prise to me that the alternative defence, that is the defence set up 
here in paragraph 8, that the company has negligently in the pur­ 
suance of its statutory power built a bridge which impedes navi-



412

RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiff's 
Case

A. D. Swan 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

gation. That really—if there has been any attempt to do so, I say 
I cannot see it and therefore you may proceed.

Mr. Donaghy: Now, my lord, I want to state a change of 
position that I am obliged to take in view of what my friend has 
said. He has just said that the question addressed to the witness 
was one in reply to the defence, or in defence to the counter-claim. 
I object to it and he having assumed that position I wish now to 
say that the question will be withdrawn from any part of the re­ 
cord, that it be struck out and as I originally submitted, that I 
should not pursue anything further along those lines, but call him 10 
at the present time. I made that position clear to start with, but 
I thought that my friend acceded or urged that I should go into 
the thing, but now he has said that I should not do this and really 
that is my wish as well and I ask now that I have leave reserved 
at the proper time when my friend is through with the defence and 
the counter-claim to call this witness in answer.

The Court: The position is really going into the counter­ 
claim, but it is for you to say, Mr. Griffin. I intimated to Mr. Don­ 
aghy that I wished him to go on, because I did not wish to be 
placed in the position that you would be prejudiced by not knowing 20 
what this witness had to say and I felt, perhaps I had a little ex­ 
ceeded what was incumbent upon Mr. Donaghy to do when I re­ 
quested him. Now, you have raised this question and you say 
that he is splitting his case and therefore is debarred from going 
into this alternative statutory defence you have set up. It seems 
to me the matter can only be safely dealt with by rigid adherence 
to proper procedure and therefore if you still persist in that I 
will not require Mr. Donaghy to go on, but will call upon you to 
proceed with your case.

Mr. Griffin: Are you going to force me to call my expert 30 
witnesses before I hear Mr. Swan's testimony on the whole matter?

The Court: Now, we are only discussing one thing.
Mr. Griffin: Yes.
The Court: The one thing we are discussing is this: That 

the witness here has been asked the question as to whether or not 
this bridge was constructed, of two things, as to whether it was 
constructed so as to improperly impede navigation in violation of 
the statutory right in two respects, that it was placed in the wrong 
way and that the bascule span was too narrow. That is something 
different from a question of navigation that we have been consider- 40 
ing up to now. Therefore, if you persist in your objection which 
you are entitled to do if you think it is proper, then, of course, it 
would not be proper for me to insist on Mr. Donaghy going on 
and I shall then have to ask you to close your case and get him 
to proceed with his evidence to meet the allegation as to the in­ 
fringement of the statute on which you gave a large body of evi­ 
dence, as distinguished from navigation.
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Mr. Griffin : On navigation only. RECORD
The Court : Witness after witness has been examined and British Columbia 

when asked what the trouble was pointed out that the bridge was AJm>ra^ty 
put in the wrong place and that it was made too narrow and in Plaintiff's 
addition to that, a subsidiary thing that they left that rock fill in Case 
the bridge, and that is really only another matter, a question of 
contraction that comes in with narrowing it. That may be not 
right. Were they creating further objections affecting the tide, 
so you have three grounds of complaint and he must be allowed to 

10 meet those. Not one of those are in navigation.
Mr. Griffin : I respectfully take the other view.
Mr. Donaghy. Let that end it. I do not desire to examine 

Mr. Swan in answer to his engineer. I am at a disadvantage in this 
course and ask leave to withdraw this witness after he has called 
his witnesses —

Mr. Griffin : Every witness up to date has been examined on 
both branches. All the evidence has been on both branches, negli­ 
gent construction, illegal construction and navigation together. 
Every single witness has given testimony on both, in accordance 

20 with the regular and proper practice in this court, and the sugges­ 
tion of dividing it is new and novel in every way, and the issues 
being the same in the counter-claim, arising out of the same facts 
as the claim, when a witness is put in the box he must be exhausted 
and if my learned friend attempts later on to examine this wit­ 
ness on another branch of the case I will repeat my objection and 
of course your lordship will rule on it.

The Court : I understand what Mr. Donaghy is going to do is 
to call the witness to answer the claim of improper construction 
of the bridge. 

30 Mr. Griffin : He has no right to do so on anything else.
The Court : He can be called in to show the bridge construc­ 

tion. There is no question about that then, you say.
Mr. Griffin : He cannot call him again.
Mr. Donaghy : He has finished that. Now, it is his opening 

as to the present objection.
Mr. Griffin : You must remember I am relying that you gave 

permission to call this witness on only one issue.
The Court : On the one issue then that you are speaking of.
Mr. Donaghy: The Plaintiff's case in chief.

40 Mr. Griffin : We were dealing with the case of the counter­ 
claim. The witness Jones and Tennant and everybody were called 
on both points and every witness up to that point was called on 
both points, both were put in and both were dealt with.

The Court : You can go on with this witness or proceed as 
you please.

Mr. Donaghy : At the proper time when my friend has closed 
his case.
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A. D. Swan 
Cross-exam.

The Court: You may stand aside, witness, that is the ruling 
of the court.

(Witness aside.)
The Court: Now, Mr. Griffin. It is a difficult matter going 

into the claim and the counter-claim and in the circumstances as 
I said before to try and do what will not prejudice either party 
and it is not a course taken that will prejudice you or anything of 
that kind.

Mr. Griffin: I think I would like to cross-examine Mr. Swan 
right away now. What I will do after that depends on what I de- 10 
cide on.

ANDREW DON SWAN, resumes stand.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Q. Mr. Swan, I take it the bridge does not present any dif­ 

ficult problems to a bridge builder, the Second Narrows Bridge 
does not present a severe problem to a bridge builder ? A, I con­ 
sider the construction of that bridge across the Second Narrows 
the most difficult engineering feature, particularly No. 2 pier, that 
I have had anything to do with in my thirty-five years experience.

Q. The construction 500 feet—the bridge itself is not serious ? 20 
A, No.

Q. Then the depth, 85 feet is the depth roughly, isn't it ? A. 
That is the depth as I remember it from low water down to the 
surface of the mud or bottom of the harbour. It may be high 
water. I know the total height of No. 2 pier was approximately 
123 feet or thereabouts.

Q. Just verify that one fact, if you can? A. May I look 
at this. It is a paper prepared by myself. The total height was 
123 feet and the height below high water is approximately 103£ 
feet, the total height of the pier. 30

Q. The depth of the water is about 85 feet, isn't it, at low 
water. I think that is correct. Yes. That is correct, isn't it? Is 
that correct? A, Do you mean the height from the foundation 
level of the pier to high water?

Q. I mean the depth of the water in which the bridge had to 
be built was 85 feet at low water? A. At what point?

Q. At its deepest point? A. It would be approximately 
somewhere thereabouts.

Q. That is correct, isn't it? I have a plan in my mind that 
was prepared by somebody else, exhibit 18, already in? A. I do 40 
not know. Well, let us assume that it is approximately that.

Q. Let us get it right if you have any doubt? A. I have 
the exact level to an inch of the height of No. 2 pier which is near 
the deepest part of the harbour.

Q. There is exhibit 18. Look at that and verify what I am
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trying to get? A. According to this the depth below high water RECORD 
is about 94 feet. British

Q. Low water 85 feet, isn't it? It says so, doesn't it? Mmb 
A. That is the elevation in relation to the datum. Plaintiff's

Q. That is not the depth of the water ? A No. Case
Q. Then you don't know the depth of the water? A, I am 

telling you approximately
y. i)o not let us waste your time and mine, the datum shows (Contd.) 

it plainly, and these measurements are from it ? A. Yes, but the 
10 datum line is below the bottom of the harbour.

Q. Then the depth of the water is less than 84 feet at low 
water isn't it? A. Yes.

Q. That is near enough for my point. And that, of course, 
is deeper than the place where any of the piers are put ? A. 
Slightly.

Q. So far as the depth is concerned it was a matter of no 
importance in regard to an engineering problem ? A. It was of 
great importance indeed so far as No. 2 pier was concerned.

Q. That was on account of the character of the bottom and 
20 not the depth ? A. And the depth, because you have to take the 

pressure of the water.
Q. That presents an engineering problem of an ordinary 

kind? A. Not in putting a pier into 84 feet of water, or what­ 
ever it may be at low water.

Q. That in your view is a serious matter? A. A very 
serious matter.

Q. The current, so far as the current was concerned was 
that strong in the centre of it ? A. Yes.

Q. It was a difficult work to build a bridge there ? A. Yes. 
30 Q. And would be therefore from the navigation point of 

view f A. Yes.
Q. I suppose a number of spans put in a bridge of that kind 

is a matter of choice of the body building the bridge ? A. It is 
a question of deciding on the number of spans after you have 
ascertained what the nature of the bottom is and what is going 
to be the most economical and most efficient span to adopt.

Q. It is a question of engineering advice in the first place? 
A. Yes, it depends on what you find on the site.

Q. In this particular case there was no reason for the number 
40 of spans that you had, or one more or one less? A Pardon?

Q. You could have built this bridge with the number of spans 
you did adopt or with less or more if you wished? A. It could 
have been done regardless of cost.

Q. You might have built it cheaper by having a larger num­ 
ber of piers? A I don't think so.

Q. You could not have made it cheaper? A. No, because 
that pier was the most extraordinary expensive concrete I have 
ever known.
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_ Q. What I am aiming at is this, the character of the bridge 
British Columbia built depends upon what the employer wants ? A.. Not necessarir 

ly at all. It depends on what price he has.
Q. I will take them one by. one. The width of the open span 

is dictated by two considerations, cost and engineering possibili­ 
ties? A. Yes.

Q. And whether you use a bascule lift or a swing span is 
largely a matter of choice ? A. And cost.

Q. Cost is only one element of the choice?, A, It is an 
element of choice.

Q. I said it was, but it is only one of the elements of choice? 
A. Oh, no.

Q. I think that you agree with me; I am not trying to catch 
you at all. In the consideration that dictates the type of bridge 
cost is one of the elements? A. Yes.

Q. And there are other elements that go into the question 
of choice? A. Yes.

Q. Difficulty of construction is one of the elements? A. 
Yes.

Q. And the needs of the locality is another element in the se- 
lection of the type ? A. Yes.

Q. I take it you were prepared to build any type of bridge 
you were asked to build if you could build it, any type that would 
go there ? A. I certainly was prepared to try at all events to 
build any type of bridge if I had been asked to.

Q. That is all I am asking you. If I ask you to build a sus­ 
pension bridge you would have tackled the proposition? A. I 
would have looked into it

Q. And if you found it practical you would have been willing 
to build it? A. I would have been willing to act as engineer for 
it.

Q. And there is nothing in ttiat particular place that pre­ 
vented it being built if you had been asked and the money provid­ 
ed? A. I don't suppose so. I have never studied that.

Q. So far as; you know there is no> reason why it could not 
have been built? A. I presume not, if you have plenty of money 
to pay for it.

Q. I take it you would be willing to build a bridge any height 
your employer asked you to design it for? A. If he laid down 
any specific height I would have endeavoured to design a bridge 
accordingly.

Q. There is no reason why there should not have been a 
bridge of greater height than was built? A. It was only a ques­ 
tion of cost.

Q. And in the same way the open span could have been, put 
in some other place if the cost had been provided? A, I believe 
that it could.

10

20

3ti
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Q. You agree with me that the fewer piers a bridge is com­ 
posed of the less it obstructs ships. I am speaking now of navi­ 
gable waters ? A Yes, I would say.

Q. And the higher it is the fewer ships it will obstruct going 
under it ? A. If it is sufficiently high.

Q. And the higher you are the larger number of craft can go 
under ? A. Yes.

Q. I suppose you agree with me the shape of the bottom of 
a narrow channel affects the current therein? A. Yes. 

10 Q. And that irregularities in the bottom affect the current 
that runs therein? A. I should think so.

Q. You were retained in the year 1922, were you not ? A. I 
am not quite sure of the date when I was first retained. It was to 
advise the Board in regard to a proposition put forward by an 
American firm of engineers and contractors.

Q. Which one was that, do you remember the one? A. I 
could not say right off. There were two. There was one made a 
proposition first of all and they would not agree to give any hard 
and fast price, beyond a certain level down in the bottom of the 

20 foundation, and they wanted cost plus for the foundation work 
and I advised against theirs being accepted.

Q. Was that before the war ? A. Oh, no.
Q. That was since 1922 ? A. Yes, and then following that, 

probably only a few weeks later another proposition was put for­ 
ward by another company.

Q. You were retained in 1922. Was your retainer a written 
one? A. I presume so, it would be contained in writing.

Q. Then you did get a letter from the bridge company in re­ 
gard to your engagement ? A. Certainly.

30 Q. And your duty and your retainer and what you were to 
get? A. I presume so.

Q. Is that your memory ? A. Yes.
Q. Have you got them with you? A. I think they are a- 

mong my papers.
Q. Then you were retained when you were in Montreal ? A. 

No, I was out here staying for several months at that time.
Q. When you were engaged you were here ? A. Yes.
Q. Then you must have been engaged by somebody, who en­ 

gaged you? A. The Board of the Tunnel and Bridge Company. 
40 Q. Then you went to the Board meeting? A. The first 

meeting I was at was in North Vancouver, at the City Hall there, 
and we met the American contractors and discussed their proposal.

Q. Then you did go to one or more board meetings? A. I 
did.

Q. Were minutes taken ? A. I could not tell you.
Q. Was the secretary there ? A. I could not tell you.
Q. You were then acquainted with the Narrows ? A. I was.
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Q. You knew it anyway? A. I had been there many times.
Q. Had you been given copies of previous plans prepared at 

earlier dates'? A. I was.
Q. In particular you were given one drawing, I believe the 

first one, by Messrs. Waddell and Harrington? A. Not to my 
knowledge.

Q. Did you ever see it at all? A. I have no recollection.
Q. Did you know they had prepared one ? A. No.
Q. You know that firm, Waddell and Harrington? A. Yes.
Q. Dr. Waddell was the man who designed the bridge across 10 

the Fraser at Westminster? A. No.
Q. I notice a pamphlet or circular in connection with the 

bridge in October, 1910, that Waddell and Harrington well known 
engineers, prepared the new proposed plans for the bridge and 
that they recommended the lift span type of structure. Did you 
ever see those? A. No.

Q. I am going to show you this.
Mr. Donaghy: Well—
Mr. Griffin: Does my learned friend want to object to this?
Mr. Burns: Let us have a look at them? 20
Mr. Griffin: Q. I just show you a plan of the Second Nar­ 

rows Bridge purporting to have been made by Waddell and Har­ 
rington. See if you have ever seen that before ? A. Not to my 
knowledge.

Q. Just glance at them and tell me ? A. I have no recollec­ 
tion of having seen them.

Q. Are you familiar with the type of bridge there depicted? 
A. To a certain extent.

Q. You have seen bridges of that type before? A. Yes.
Q. They are in common use in several parts of the world? 30 

A. I presume so.
Q. And there is nothing in the character of the Second Nar­ 

rows to prevent that being adopted? A. Except the enormous 
cost.

Q. This shows a lift span and not a bascule, and has a breadth 
of 400 feet? A. Yes, 400 feet.

Q. And is built on two piers, both of which are in water 
vastly less deep than your No. 2 pier, aren't they? A. Yes.

Q. And therefore piers which should entail far less serious 
engineering features? A. I don't agree with you at all. One 40 
pier on this side is shown to stop on what I know and can vouch 
for is very soft material and following the contour of the rock. 
They would have admittedly found a very great height above the 
solid rock foundation and in order to get the necessary footing they 
would have to build a very large pier right in the middle of the 
harbour.
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Q. But Waddell and Harrington are gentlemen of very good RECORD 
reputation as engineers ? A. I presume so. British Coi

Q. You know of them 1 A. I know the name. Admiralty
Q. And you know of them as people of repute and experi- plaintiffs 

ence? A. Oh, certainly. Case
Q. There is no reason to take it that the bridge could not A D-y 

been built in accordance with their plan? A. Only with regard cross-exam!1 
to the question of the foundation of that particular pier and re- (Comd.) 
gardless of cost.

10 Mr. Griffin: I will tender that plan, my lord, as an alterna­ 
tive suggestion.

Mr. Donaghy: It can be marked for identfication. It is not 
of any information to us.

The Court: It would seem admissible to this extent, that I 
can see no objection to this so far, that is to say, it is not put for­ 
ward as a type of bridge that in certain circumstances the witness 
says is one that is practical, that is, if you have the proper founda­ 
tion and if you have no regard to cost.

(PLAN PRODUCED AND MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 33.)
20 Mr. Griffin: Q. You are unable to tell me now what a 

bridge designed like that would cost ? A. Not the slightest idea.
Q. Were you shown the Sir John Wolfe-Barry plan? A. 

I was.
Q. Those are in evidence and you have seen them since you 

have been here? A. Yes.
Q. They show a double swing span of 250 or 249. Exhibit 

32 is a copy of it. You were shown that, were you? A. Yes.
Q. That shows two swing spans.
The Court: Is this the 1913 plan, Mr. Griffin, the Wolfe- 

30 Barry.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord.
Q. I think they were prepared in conjunction with Cleveland 

and Hammond and Sir John Wolfe-Barry ? A. Yes.
Q. It shows two spans of 239 and 249 feet respectively in 

breadth ? A. 239 is from centre to centre of that pier.
Q. Give the width for practical purposes between piers ? A. 

219.
Q. And the other one? A. 249.
Q. 249 and 219 between piers. And it shows a central pier. 

40 It shows a very heavy pier right in the lowest point of the current ? 
A. Yes.

Q. And another one over on the far side? A. Yes.
Q. A footing in the same gravel bank in which you have 

doubts about the solidity? A. No, it is not there at all. I myself 
mounted my pier on that gravel span. In fact, quite a number of 
them.
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10

Q. Then there would be no objection to that course? A. 
No.

Q. Then it also shows the central span in at right angles to 
the bridge ? A. Yes.

Q. In other words, it shows a bridge pier laid off at an angle 
to the line of contsruction of the bridge, does it not ? A. Do you 
refer to this ?

Q. That sort of central pier on which the swing span rests 
when open ? A. Yes.

Q. And that is laid off in line with the current ? A. Yes.
Q. And in an angular position to the bridge itself? A. Yes.
Q. And, of course, shows the swing span very much further 

to the north than the bascule span and the bridge as constructed ? 
A. No, what I would call the pivot pier in the Wolfe-Barry 
bridge, it is in practically the same position as the bascule as con­ 
structed and that is practically the same position as shown on both 
the American engineers schemes as well.

Q. You are going beyond the question and volunteering 
something. The north channel as shown by Sir John Wolfe-Barry 
is further to the north of the bascule span? A. The great bulk 
is not.

Q. But a large portion is ? A. A certain portion because it 
is wider.

Q. A ship going out in that channel goes in what is now the 
300 foot span of your bridge? A. No.

Q. It does in part ? A. Only a little bit. That is not suf­ 
ficiently wide enough to allow a ship to go through.

Q. Which is ? A. The middle part, the middle.
Q. You are arguing. The span here is 219 feet, I think you 

said; 249 feet centre? A. Yes, and the south side of that span 
is practically in exactly the same position as the south side of our 
span.

Q. We will scale those off in a minute. Were you shown 
the Dominion Bridge Company's original plan; before leaving 
Sir John Wolfe-Barry's, it shows a height of 45 feet above high 
water, that is correct? A. I don't know.

Q. Just verify it? A. Yes, 45.
Q. That scheme was perfectly feasible, was it not ? A. Yes, 

if they had money to pay for it.
Q. You know the money required for that was 2J millions? 40 

A. I was told what the amount was.
Q. Were you told 2J millions? A. I don't think so.
Q. I have a lot of information about it and I will read it in 

a few minutes and I will come back to that. Did you see the Do­ 
minion Bridge Company's plan ? A. Not so far as I recollect.

Q. Were you told of it ? A. Not so far as I recollect.
Q. Were you shown their amended plan or altered design?

30
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A. I never heard they had even submitted a scheme, so far as my RECORD 
memory serves me. British coiumbi

Q. That is the Dominion Bridge Company? A. No. Atmiraity pi,t.
Q. Were you shown the Canadian Bridge Company's plan? Plaintiffs 

A, I had no knowledge that they had ever submitted a plan at Case 
alL Pardon me, am I right in assuming these firms you referred —— 
to submitted alternative schemes of their own when tendering on £' Swan,, -Trr -us -r> __ Cross-exam.the Wolfe-Barry— (Comd.)

Q. Yes? A. Then, I did not see them.
10 Q. Then what you are referring to are tenders on the Wolfe- 

Barry Plan ? A. I never saw their tenders. I was told that the 
lowest tender—

Mr. Donaghy: Never mind what you were told.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Were you informed that the Dominion 

Bridge Company's tender was $2,550,000 ? A. I have no recollec­ 
tion.

Mr. Donaghy: That is an improper question to ask what he 
was told or heard.

Mr. Griffin: I want to get into these figures. You were told 
20 by the Bridge Company's directors, weren't you? A. I have 

no recollection.
Q. You don't remember? A. No.
Q. Were you told about the Canadian Bridge Company's 

tender? A. No, I never knew until this moment that they made 
a tender.

Q. Did you hear of a tender by the Provincial Government 
by Mr. Campbell? A. Not to my recollection.

Q. The only one you know of is Sir John Wolfe-Barry? A. 
And the two American ones.

30 Q. Who were they? A. I don't remember their names at 
the moment.

Q. Were you given any written data ? A^ Not so far as I 
remember. I was to make my own investigations and I did so, 
occupying two months with a big staff of engineers.

Q. You were not given any by the Bridge Company? A. 
Not so far as I remember.

Q. Were you advised that the bridge company had a charter 
that debarred them from impeding navigation? A, Not to my 
recollection.

40 Q. You were at that time acting for the Harbour Commis­ 
sion? A. I think so.

Q. Were you also acting for the Public Works Department ? 
A. I don't think so, except on special occasions from time to time.

Q. Were you told that the Public Works Department had 
insisted on a span 250 feet with a 45 foot clearance? A. Never 
heard of it.

Q. I am referring to an article in the North Shore Press of



422

RECORD

Plaintiff's 
Case

A. D. Swan 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)

_ the 13th of November, 1925, where it states that the government 
British Columbia require a clear height of 45 feet above the water? 
Admiralty Dist. jy[r Donaghy: Why should my friend read newspaper ex­ 

tracts?
The Court: He said he heard nothing about it, Mr. Griffin.
Mr. Griffin: Probably if he heard nothing about it, it would 

be of no special importance.
Q. Were you advised in 1915; I think that is the year that 

the directors of the Bridge Company had arranged to—I do not 
say had accepted, but they had desired to accept the plans of the 10 
Canadian Bridge Company at $1,800,000? A. I never heard of 
it until this morning.

Q. You were not informed that somebody on behalf of the 
Bridge Company had accepted some American plan? A. I was 
advised that they had the American plans under consideration 
and I was retained in the first instance to advise them on the plan.

Q. Were you not advised that there was some form of accep­ 
tance perhaps conditional of the offer of the American concern? 
A. I know that had to deal with this offer.

Q. Were you not informed to a certain extent that the direc- 20 
tors had committed themselves to that design? A. No, they re­ 
tained me for the purpose of advising on the matter.

Q. Were you not informed that some of them already had 
accepted that tender ? A. No, certainly not.

Q. What was the figure they were proposing to pay for these 
plans they were considering, the price? A. Do you mean to 
pay for the contract, for the construction?

Q. Yes? A. $1,250,000 to begin with. That is what we 
worked on for a long time.

Q. Did that scheme involve a lift span? A. In the first 30 
instance we had a swing span.

Q. I am speaking of the American offer, was that for a lift. 
The Americans were proposing to build the bridge the directors 
advised on? A. To the best of my recollection it was a lift of 
the bascule type.

Mr. Donaghy: I doubt if the witness understood my 
friend when he said the cost was $1,250,000? A. I understood 
you were referring to the cost of the present structure.

Mr. Griffin: I was asking what the price was and what you 
understood the price was to be paid to the American Company if 40 
their plans were accepted ? A. I remember that very well.

Q. What was it? A. They asked $1,000,000 and ultimately 
$650,000, but only that was to cover the foundation down to the 
depth shown on their plans, which we knew very well was not a 
proper depth to mount on and they wanted to be paid additional.

Q. You are going beyond my question?
Mr. Donaghy: No, you asked the price.
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Mr. Griffin : My friend should not interrupt I am not going 
beyond my authority.

The Court: The question is whether or not that is a full 
reply to your question.

RECORD

My question is what was the figure quoted.
Quoted for what?
Building of the bridge.
In what circumstances?
I did not ask that. I am entitled to ask what the

Your learned friend can bring that out.
I do not think so. I will not deal with it any

Mr. Griffin
The Court:
Mr. Griffin:
The Court:
Mr. Griffin : 

10 quoted price was.
The Court :
Mr. Griffin: 

further.
The Court : Your question was what was the figure quoted ? 

Then immediately the question comes what for, what kind of a 
bridge, without any foundation, or without superstructure or with 
superstructure. He said that they had the foundation which was 
no foundation, being in soft material and therefore seriously he 
could not consider it.

20 Mr. Griffin : Q. This American proposal had a lift span, you 
said ? A. I think a bascule, I think.

Q. What with ? A. I would not like to say.
Q. Am I right in saying I think it was 185 feet? A. I 

would not like to say.
Q. You would not like to say? A. I do not know.
Q. Was it wider than the one you provided? A. I don't 

know.
Q. You were the man who negotiated with the Northern

Construction Company for this very bridge afterwards built ? A.
30 I do not know whether you would call it negotiating. We prepared

the original plans, sort of in conjunction. I supposed all the en­
gineering assistance.

Q. I asked you a short question, did you negotiate with them 
with a view to their accepting or making an offer to build? Did 
you or did you not ? A. I don't think you could say I did. The 
negotiations were done by the bridge company with my advice.

Q. You were not asked by them to approach the construction 
company yourself? A. I may have been.

Q. Isn't it a fact, I have a note of it here, that you yourself 
40 were the man who went and saw the Northern Construction Com­ 

pany? A. No, the Northern Construction Company's directors 
met the Bridge Company at North Vancouver so far as I remember 
and discussed the terms on which they would begin to look into the 
question with a view of seeing if they could construct a bridge at 
all for the sum of money that was available.

Q. I am instructed otherwise, but I will give you an oppor­ 
tunity. My instructions are this way that you were asked by some-

Brithh Admiralty £>»/.
Plaintiffs 
Case

(Contd.)
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RECORD body in the plaintiff company to open and institute negotiations 
British Columbia with the Northern Construction Company. Is that true ? A. I 

<jo not think that is true. I have no specific recollection.
Q. You did get in touch with their directors? A. Un- 

questionably.
Q. What plan then was the basis of the discussion? A. No 

plan at all. We were to begin a survey of the conditions and find 
out and then prepare plans.

Q. The plans were not in question ? A. Not with the Nor­ 
thern Construction, not for months afterwards. 10

Q. Did you communicate with the Public Works Department 
and ascertain what they were willing to agree to ? A. In regard 
to what?

Q. In regard to this bridge that you were proceeding with ? 
A. I have no recollection of having done so. They had no juris­ 
diction.

Q. Then finally who did you discuss the matter with in the 
Northern Construction, what person? A, The directors.

Q. Who ? A. Mr. Mann, Mr. Cummings, General Stewart, 
Mr. Mercer, in fact all the directors were present, and Mr. Smail, 20 
the chief engineer.

Q. When did their project crystallize into anything in writ­ 
ing? A. I could not give you the date.

Q. Can you remember the occasion? What was the docu­ 
ment? A. I could not tell you.

Q. Was there a letter or offer or contract or what ? A. I 
presume it would be a letter addressed to the Bridge Company 
and not to me at all.

Q. Did you ever see the present contract? A. Certainty.
Q. Am I right in thinking it was on the date of the 26th of 30 

September, 1922 ? A. I have no idea.
Q. Do you remember the document ? A. All the documents 

passing between the contractors and the company practically pas­ 
sed through my hands.

Q. There was a contract, was there ? A. Unquestionably.
Mr. Griffin: I would ask my learned friend to produce it and 

let me see it. It was not introduced in the affidavit of documents. 
My learned friend made two affidavits.

Mr. Burns: I never thought the contract as to the building 
of the bridge had any bearing on the issue. Had I thought so I 40 
would have had it in the affidavit. I am willing to give my learned 
friend anything that will help him in the trial, but I submit, and I 
cannot see where the contract for the building of the bridge has 
any bearing on the matters in question in this action.

Mr. Griffin: I want to see what kind of a bridge the contract 
called for.

The Court: How is that going to help you?
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Mr. Griffin: To show me what kind of a bridge the contract RECORD called for. This is the preliminary one and it was afterwards British Columbia amended. I at least have the right to assure myself that it con- Adm"^ty Dis>- 
tains nothing helpful. Plaintiff'sThe Court: Is>there any objection? Case

Mr. Burns: No objection except the one based upon the pro- A D"^^ per conduct of the case. The only question involved is what kind cross-exam. of a bridge is there. We have them here, long contracts and long (Contd.) 
documents.

10 Mr. Griffin: I will have my learned friend produce it in the 
morning.

The Court: I cannot see the relevancy of it. Do I under­ 
stand you to say that there was a contract that was not effectuated.

Mr. Griffin: It was. I am giving the effect of my instruc­ 
tions. There was a preliminary contract and then a final contract. 
I want to see what the contract was on which they agreed to build 
the bridge.

The Court: What the preliminary contract was.
Mr. Griffin; Both. There was two affidavits of documents 20 made and they were not produced and yet we hear the witness giv­ 

ing figures of all sorts on bridges and prices.
The Court: I must say that it is not clear to me in what re­ 

spect it is relevant.
Mr. Griffin: The description of the bridge in the contract 

would be relevant, it might be.
The Court: It is not a case of what might have been done, 

but a case of what they did.
Mr. Griffin: I can only ascertain by reading it.
The Court: Not what they did not do, but actually what they 

30 did. It is the result of that. You give particulars in the defence 
and counter-claim and say what the result of this was and set 
out your grounds there. Really you are not complaining on that 
head. Now, what has the actual contract got to do with that ? It 
cannot help the question of whether or not the bridge was wrongly 
placed or whether the draw or span was too narrow. How does 
that depend on the contract ?

Mr. Griffin: The contract may contain something helpful.
Mr. Burns: If my friend is serious in desiring to see the 

contract I might say that the notes that the company made up are 
40 in the different municipalities bordering Burrard Inlet and are 

in their offices and are public documents, and the contract connect­ 
ed with the bridge and it seems to me that if my learned friend 
will give a real reason and help the case along I have no objection, 
but I have objections to cumbering up the records in the case for 
no purpose. My learned friend no doubt has had access to these 
documents.

Mr. Griffin: I will assure my friend that I have not.
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Mr. Burns: He never went to the city clerk's office.
The Court: I really think, strictly speaking, it is not rele­ 

vant, but your learned friend, as I understand, has these contracts, 
or one of them at least, and if you think there is anything that 
will help your case in it you can speak to it tomorrow. Can you do 
that?

Mr. Burns: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: We do take the view that production was not 

made of it and there are many instances that I will show you.
The Court: I understand that, but I think as at present ad- 10 

vised, at least, really it is not relevant. Your learned friend is 
going to show it to you and you will see it during the intermission.

Mr. Griffin: I have to go on examing the documents as I 
have to so often.

Mr. Burns: I object to a statement like that.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Did that contract to the best of your recol­ 

lection provide for somebody making a sketch of the proposed 
bridge? A. Yes, I should think so.

Q. That is your best recollection ? A. Yes.
Q. Did someone prepare a sketch of the bridge? A. They go 

did.
Q. Who was the man ? A. The chief engineer of the Nor­ 

thern Construction Company.
Q. That is Mr. Smail? A. Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: In view of the complaint that my learned 

friend has made which I do not appreciate, I hand him these con­ 
tracts.

Mr. Griffin: We will get them and read them overnight.
Mr. Donaghy: Very good. Now, here is one, and here is still 

another. You will have a pleasant evening. 30
Mr. Griffin: Q. Where is the original sketch ? A. I could 

not tell you.
Q. Where did you last see it ? A. I could not say, I have 

no idea.
Q. Was it shown to the directors of the Bridge Company? 

A. I am not trying to hedge, but their first proposal practically 
after going into things at considerable length is really shown on 
exhibit 2 and there it is.

Q. I am asking about something else. There was one before 
that ? A. I could not tell you. Very probably there was a dozen. *°

Q. I don't mean of the same? A. No, but there were quite 
a number of schemes and sketches discussed before arriving at 
eventually what they were going to put forward.

Q. Wasn't the first one put forward a double swing span? 
A. I could not tell you.

Q. Was any proposal put forward showing a swing span? 
A. There was a certain proposed swing span in a plan that went 
before Ottawa.
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Q. That is what I am trying to find out. There was a swing 
span plan made and sent to Ottawa ? A. Yes.

Q. And it was prepared by Mr. Smail? A. I presume so.
Q. Not by you? A. No, but it would be approved by me.
Q. Did you approve of it ? A. I did.
Q. Was it a double swing span? A. I am not altogether 

sure what you mean ?
Q. I mean a swing span with a span on either side of it ? A. 

Yes, a pivot pier.
10 Q. Do you remember what the cost of that was to be ? A. 

No recollection.
Q. Was a cost figure of it supplied, even if you cannot re­ 

member it ? A. It would be later when there was a question of 
substituting the bascule span for it.

Q. What? A. It would be gone into as an item by itself, 
when it came to the question of submitting the bascule for it.

Q. Now, what I want to get at is this, did you send that to 
Ottawa for approval yourself? A. I should think so.

Q. Do you recollect ? A. No.
20 Q. Did you communicate with Ottawa yourself? A. With 

the Board of Railway Commissioners.
Q. And also the Department of Public Works ? A. I have 

no recollection of the Public Works.
Q. But you do recollect writing the Board of Railway Com­ 

missioners ? A. Any number of times.
Q. On this one topic, this first swing span bridge? A. I 

have no recollection of that.
Q. With whom did you communicate with in Ottawa. You 

said you did ? A. I communicated with the Board of Railway 
30 Commissioners, but not necessarily in connection with this swing 

span.
Q. What is your recollection of what was done with this 

one. It was prepared by Mr. Smail and turned over to the Bridge 
Company for your approval and sent to Ottawa? A. Yes.

Q. Did you then support that bridge in Ottawa by your per­ 
sonal communication, written or verbal? A. I have no recollec­ 
tion whatever.

Q. Now, then, what happened to it, what was done with it? 
A. I do not know.

40 Q. You don't know what happened to that proposal? A. I 
know that someone suggested that a bascule should be provided 
instead of a swing.

Q. Would it be fair to say that the Government insisted on 
having a bascule instead of a swing? A They wanted a bascule 
anyway, and it was pointed out that the bascule would cost more 
money than the swing and that we did not have more to pay for it. 
The Government themselves put up the additional cost.
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'The chief engineer of the construction company submitted
a sketch plan to the Board of Directors stating that a copy
of the plan was then in the possession of A. D. Swan, consult­ 
ing engineer of the Bridge Company who was then in
Montreal,"
Q. Is that true? A. I do not know. I presume it is.
"The Board instructed the secretary to communicate with Mr. 

Swan instructing him to proceed at once to submit the plan to the 10 
Department and to wire the Board should any final change become 
necessary."

Q. Did that happen? A. I presume so, I have no recollec­ 
tion.

Q. You have no recollection of communicating with the 
Government in the face of that ? A. I have no recollection what­ 
ever of what was happening in regard to these final matters in 
1922. I have been thousands of times in Ottawa in connection 
with matters that I have been discussing with all the different de­ 
partments and if they say that is so in the paper I unhesitatingly 20 
accept it and presume that it is correct.

Q. Whom did you see in Ottawa? A. I do not know. I 
do not recollect.

Q. Then I take it you are not prepared to say that your 
memory of these things is very good then ? A. Apparently not.

Q. I point out to you that the initial plan, the first proposal 
of the bridge company had received the seal of your approval? 
A. I quite agree with you.

Q. So your real advice to this bridge company was to build 
a swing span? A. Yes. 30

Q. And a double swing span? A. Yes.
Q. With a combined breadth shown in the sketch before us? 

A. Yes.
Q. And which the bridge company had to have? A, I do 

not know what they had to have.
Q. At least, it should be in their possession? A. It would 

be lodged with them.
Mr. Griffin: I ask my learned friend to produce that.
Q. Can you recollect how wide the swings were ? A. I have 

no idea. 40
Q. This swing span bridge of your own made very little im­ 

pression on your memory. You do not know how wide the span 
was or whether you went down to Ottawa about it? A. No, I 
don't remember the plan. When it is produced it will show how 
wide it was.

Q. Did you get that telegram the North Shore Press says 
you got? A. I could not tell you.
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Q. You have your file here with you, the correspondence? RECORD 
A. Part of the file. British ColumbiaQ. Is this a correct statement: Admiralty Dht.

"That on the 23rd of February 1923 a telegram was received plaintiff's
from Mr. Swan advising the Board that the Department En- Case
gineer at Ottawa required that the plan be amended to show . D~T~
a clear span of 75 feet with 25 feet headroom at high tide and cross-exam0
the further suggestion that a bascule span be substituted for (Contd.j
a swing span?" 

10 Did you send that ? A. I presume so.
Q. A swing span 75 feet must be an error? A. I don't re­ 

member.
Q. You would hardly be suggesting a span 75 feet wide? 

A. No, I do not think so. If that paper says so it must be so. I 
think that is a mistake.

Q. Isn't what is meant 175 feet? A. I don't know.
Q. Isn't that your memory? A. I have no recollection.
Q. If you sent that telegram the directors of the Bridge 

Company would have it? A I presume so.
20 Q. I ask my learned friend to produce that. What action 

did the Board take on that ? A. I don't remember. At all events 
the contractors presumably prepared new plans in conjunction 
with my staff and they would be eventually submitted, and I think 
this was the plan, the first one really showing the bascule, so far 
as my memory serves me.

The Court: By this you mean exhibit 2. A. Exhibit 2, my 
lord.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Are you saying that as a matter of memory
or merely in the way of presuming it ? A. I think there is no

30 doubt that was so because I have no recollectiion of any other plan
than this one which showed the bascule in the preliminary stage.

Q. You have evidently forgotten an important matter:
"The Board appointed Mr. Jack Loutet a delegate to proceed
to Ottawa to take up this matter with the Department." 

Did you forget that ? A. I had nothing to do with it.
Q. Did you ever hear of him? A. I have no knowledge of 

what he was doing. If I remember I think Mr. Loutet came to 
my office in Montreal.

Q. And you went to Ottawa with him? A. I may have done 
40 so.

Q. Isn't that your recollection? A. I may have done so.
Q. You have no recollection of seeing the Department about 

it? A. Not the Public Works Department.
Q. Or the Board of Railway Commissioners? A. I don't 

know when I first saw the Board of Railway Commissioners.
Q. You have got to remember you gave very graphic evidence
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10

about your interviews with the chief engineer when advising about 
the plans? A. I cannot give dates.

Q. Those interviews are as big as these in your memory? 
A. I know what happened, but as to dates I cannot tell you.

Q. But you have not been able to tell about this very much 
more important interview, and you won't admit that it took place ? 
A. About what?

Q. About getting the important change and beating down the 
Department in the requirements with the assistance of Mr. Loutet ? 
A. I have no recollection of trying to beat down the Department.

Q. Isn't it a fact that the delegates in the most part suc­ 
ceeded? A. In what?

Q. In getting the Department at Ottawa to modify what they 
had asked for? A. I don't know what they asked.

Q. You did then? A. I presume I did.
Q. And you cannot remember now ? A. No.
Q. It is apparent that they asked that the bridge be a bascule 

one and have 25 feet headroom and a span with a breadth—you 
cannot remember ? A, Yes.

Q. And Mr. Loutet went down to get them to modify that ? «jo 
A. He may have.

Q. You remember him being there? A. A. Certainly, I 
said so.

Q. What else was he there for? A. He might have been 
there for his health.

Q. You went to Ottawa with him? A. I don't know.
Q. I think you are prepared to admit that it is your memory 

that you did go ? A. No, I have no recollection of going to Ot­ 
tawa with Mr. Loutet.

Q. Can you identify this, "Upon his return from Ottawa 
towards the end of April Mr. Loutet reported that the Depart­ 
ment waived all alterations with the exception of the bascule." Is 
that true, that did happen? A. I presume so.

Q. You were informed of that? A. I would certainly be 
informed of it.

Q. Did you get a letter about it from the Bridge Company? 
A. I don't know.

Q. Have you looked in the files for letters? A. No, but 
I will be delighted to do so.

Q. Isn't it a fact a new amended plan was prepared by Mr. 
Smail which was either exhibit 2 or something to the same effect? 
A. I think that is right.

Q. The original design was merely Mr. Smail's, wasn't it? 
A. Yes, in conjunction with my staff and myself.

Q. But the originator of this plan was Mr. Smail ? A. Yes, 
because they had to submit a plan showing what they could do for 
a certain sum of money if they were going to do it at all.

30

40
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Q. Now, after that was done wasn't there another contract 
signed later than the previous one referred to. We have these 
here. A. There were several contracts, my lord.

The Court : We will not trouble you just now.

(4 :30P.M. COURT ADJOURNED UNTIL 10:30 A.M. 
NOVEMBER 30TH, 1928)

Friday, November 30th, 1928, 10:30 a.m. 

COURT RESUMED PURSUANT TO ADJOURNMENT 

ANDREW DON SWAN, resumed the stand.

10 CROSS EXAMINATION CONTINUED BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Q. Mr. Swan, since the adjournment of the Court, have you 

searched in your file of correspondence? A. I have.
Q. Did you find any letters between yourself and the Plain­ 

tiff? A. Yes.
Q. Did you find any between yourself and the Public Works 

Department, or between the Plaintiff and the Public Works De­ 
partment ? A. No, I have no recollection.

Q. I say did you find any in this file? A. No, not — not 
with the Public Works Department, I don't think. I have looked 

20 out for what you asked for yesterday, and that was all.
Q. Have you discovered any letters between yourself and 

the Railway Board? A. Oh, I have quite a number of them.
Q. You have, in regard to this bridge? A Yes, sir.
Q. Written on behalf of the Plaintiff Company? A. Yes.
Q. Did the Plaintiff Company send word to you for the pur­ 

pose of this case to ask you to supply them with copies of the 
correspondence you had that existed, with the Railway Board and 
any other people in regard to the bridge ? A. No.

Mr. Griffin : I submit, my lord, that it is quite palpable that 
30 we have not had a proper opportunity in that respect. I am 

going to supplement this later on. It is quite apparent that a 
proper opportunity to inspect documents has not been provided 
or that a thorough search for them has been made. It would be 
impossible for me at this stage to discuss with this witness letters 
that he may have received. This morning I served my friend with 
further notice to produce, based upon what the witness had said 
yesterday, and I now ask my friends to produce the bridge plan of 
the Northern Construction Company, which was shown to be a 
signed plan and to which the witness referred yesterday. 

40 Mr. Burns: I haven't got it.
Mr. Griffin: Any correspondence between the Plaintiff and 

or their solicitors.

British Columbia Admiralty
Plaintffs
Case

(Contd.)
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The Court: You cannot produce them ?
Mr. Burns: No, I am not producing them. That is to say, 

upon the ground that they are absolutely irrelevant to the case, 
then my friend will have to take his course.

The Court: A little louder, please.
Mr. Burns: On the ground, my lord, that they are absolutely 

irrelevant to the issues in this case.
The Court: Yes. 10
Mr. Griffin: Well, I hope I shall be able to show that they 

are not, and for that purpose I will file the notice to produce. I 
now tender, my lord, notice to produce dated llth September, 
1928; notice to produce dated 26th November, 1928, and notice to 
produce dated 30th November, 1928. Shall they be filed, my lord, 
as one exhibit or three.

The Court: Oh, one, I think, but you do not file them as 
exhibits. They are papers in the case.

Mr. Griffin: They are not proceedings, my lord. The prac­ 
tice is not to file them, my lord, and therefore they are not in the 20 
case in the sense of on the record. I think they ought to be filed 
so as to show notice. Anyway, I tender them for that glasses, 
otherwise there would be no record.

The Court: They are not exhibits, you may refer to them, 
they are in in this case, every one of them.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord.
The Court: Well, they are not exhibits. Exhibits are only 

relating to evidence or to procedure to obtain evidence.
Mr. Griffin: Very well. Then I will deal first of all with the 

last one. My submission is—before I go into that, my friend so 
handed me for perusal yesterday contracts said to have been made 
between the Plaintiff Company and the contractors. Amongst 
these is a contract of the 26th September, 1922, and a subsequent 
one of the 25th July, 1923 and one of 5th March, 1924, which, in 
its turn recites one described as the supplemental agreement num­ 
ber 1 of the 1st February, 1923, which my friend did not produce 
to me, and I now ask it to be produced.

The Court: You see, his point is that they are all immaterial 
and therefore you had better just state to me so that I will be 
able to rule on the matter after you have had an opportunity, defi- 40 
nitely as to what you propose to do with these, whether they are 
evidence in any event.

Mr. Griffin: I only wish then, in the cross-examination of 
this witness, they contain descriptions of the bridge to be built 
and the character of the work. For instance the ones I have got 
already indicate the character of the work to be made, and this 
one, as recollect it, the witness specified—as to the tender of the
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Bridge Company, and therefore will show the kind of bridge RECORD 
which at that time was to be built. This will enable me to tell BritisiTc 
your lordship what kind of bridge was then in contemplation in Admiralty
1^23. Plaintiff's

The Court: You see their point is, that has nothing to do Case 
with the case. They say that it is not what sort of bridge they . D~T~ 
may have contemplated, whether they were contemplating one or cross-exam11 
fifty different kinds, the point is that, in answer to your objection (Contd.j 
that this is an obstruction to navigation, which you have set out 

10 on page 11—there are others, I suppose, that it makes no differ­ 
ence what they contemplated or what their intention was, but the 
test of the matter is what they did.

Mr. Griffin: It seems to me my answer to that is, that as 
alternative forms of bridge construction are clearly relevant as 
showing what other forms might have been built which would im­ 
pede less, if they can be shown to be so, I am entitled to have 
before this court all of these; and it is not a case of whether a 
document can be used in evidence, but whether it is one I am en­ 
titled to see, to decide really on the matters in question and in 

20 view of the issue of the case, one to which my friend himself re­ 
ferred, that the bridge has been built which impedes navigation 
more than it need, that clearly is relevant, and therefore I ask to 
have the documents produced for my inspection.

The Court: In what way can it be material. You see I have 
it here, but you do not point out.

Mr. Griffin; Well, my lord, I must see—
The Court: Suppose they contemplated building, we will

say regardless of expense, one enormous bridge there which would
not interfere with the natural contour of the land at all,—the

50 natural conditions, and then they finally abandoned that, and in
fact built what they did, what bearing has that on the case ?

Mr. Griffin: It might have a great bearing depending upon 
the view that your lordship took of the Statute—the Act which 
the company was operating under. My friend will argue many 
things under that statute, and I have a right to forestall these 
arguments with the evidence in regard to what was available on 
matters of construction. Suppose I could show that there was 
available a design costing no more than the bridge that was built, 
but less of an impediment, I would be entitled to show that out 

40 of the mouth of these plaintiffs; and my submission is that I am 
entitled to this production of these documents, I am entitled 
to see them, if only for the purpose of seeing what they 
are. I submit that I have not been given an opportunity to prop­ 
erly inspect the record. Take some others of these, my lord, the 
building contract itself refers to a plan which has not been put 
in evidence, and as I will show in a few moments from the wit­ 
ness, the building contract itself calls for a bridge to be built ac-
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cording to a plan different from any of these. Well, I want to 
see that. Then I want to press it still further, my friend has pro­ 
duced to me the contract under which the amendments or varia­ 
tions were made, and I find on looking at it it is only a draft or 
copy, and not the original contents in a sense, and I can't be sure 
it was ever signed. My submission therefore is that these docu­ 
ments ought to be produced.

The Court: Well, what do you say, Mr. Burns? From any 
point of view, are you prepared to admit, as your learned friend 
makes his request, that it is a document in the case, that is a matter 10 
of great importance.

Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord, I understand—
The Court: You see it would be unfortunate if by any over­ 

sight, so to speak, any material evidence were omitted. I must 
say that the ground advanced by Mr. Griffin does not seem to me 
to be very strong, but is it worth your while really to resist it ?

Mr. Burns: Well, it really has a basis on the keynote of this 
case so far as we are concerned. That is to say, our position is, 
put briefly, that no matter what was considered, no matter what 
kind of bridge—we are free to confess that a better bridge might 20 
have been built, and built upon certain conditions, and those con­ 
ditions were so as not to interfere with navigation; but in our 
charter we get our tribunal who decided that, and that is the Bail- 
way Board, and that tribunal has decided that question. Now, 
in this case if your lordship would have to go into all the different 
projects in connection with the bridging of the Second Narrows 
and come to a conclusion which would involve an engineering pro­ 
position, assessors and everything, that in order to come to some 
kind of conclusion like that—in order to exhaust it, if my friend 
is endeavouring to get that here, it would take a very long time, 30 
I submit, and it is for that reason that we resist it, and that reason 
only. In other words we have nothing that we would not be willing 
to give as a matter of information, but so far as the bounds of 
this case are concerned, it is entirely without them, I would as­ 
sume, and we are ready to stand on that position, and it would be, 
under these circumstances, a useless proceeding to encumber the 
court's record and take up the Court's time and the business of the 
Court to go into all these matters.

The Court: There is just one distinction, Mr. Burns. Look 
at page 11, you see in the alternative he sets up this: (Beading ^ 
paragraph). Now he is endeavouring to show that it would be 
quite possible for them to build another bridge which would have 
fulfilled those conditions.

Mr. Burns: Well, on what ground, on the understanding that 
there was so much money to be paid—

The Court: Well, you see, of course, that is his difficulty.
Mr. Burns: Yes, it would be.
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The Court: But you see at the same time, would that war- RECORD 
rant the exclusion of it. It is cross-examination, you see, and British Columbia 
the case made for it, I may say, is very slight, and I must also 
say that if I had received this notice to produce that you have, I 
should not have concluded, as apparently you have concluded, that 
it necessitated the production of these documents. It would not 
have occurred to me as being something—I do not think I would 
have considered it necessary to have produced them.

Mr. Burns: Well, I went that far yesterday in turning over 
10 these contracts which I happened to have in court.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Burns: But for my friend's information merely, it was 

not a case of producing them to go into this case. But the point 
really is, my lord, as I see it—as we see it, that here we are build­ 
ing a bridge that we have been permitted to build by the tribunal 
that the Statute says is the one to decide on it. Now, if we are 
wrong in that, of course the investigation that the court would 
have to enter upon is one that is without limit practically—or at 
least there are limits to it, but it would cover an immense field 
and take an awfully long time to exhaust properly. Under these 
circumstances we deem it our duty in this instance to take the 
position now, so that my friend can understand that, and so that 
it can be perfectly understood by your lordship.

The Court: I think it safer in view of the allegation at page 
3 to admit this evidence. I might say that I do not see the real 
importance of it, to attach that weight to it that Mr. Griffin has, 
but that is his responsibility, and he is perfectly entitled to view 
the matter in accordance with his professional opinion, which must 
be treated with proper respect. Therefore you may proceed, Mr. 

30 Griffin.
Mr. Griffin; I cannot proceed, my lord, without the docu­ 

ments.
The Court: No, but you may proceed and if they have the 

documents, you had better produce them.
Mr. Griffin: I have got a list—there is the list, my lord, I 

have written it out and I handed it to my friend in the notice to 
produce.

Mr. Donaghy: My lord, we haven't the documents in Court.
The Court: I beg pardon? 

40 Mr. Donaghy: We haven't the documents in Court.
The Court: No.
Mr. Donaghy: And the notice to produce does not produce 

the documents. My friend knows how to produce a document. 
Notice to produce does not do it, and that is all I have to say on 
that.

The Court: That is true.
Mr. Donaghy: He has a certain remedy.
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RECORD Mr. Griffin: My lord, I may compel the party to produce 
British Columbia what he has, if they are in the possession of the party.

The Court: You cannot wait until the very last moment and 
spring a thing on him like this.

Mr. Griffin: No, my lord, that is not quite fair. I only 
heard of this yesterday.

The Court: Yes, I understand that.
Mr. Griffin: I am not springing anything on him. In other 

words I argue and submit it has been sprung on me. The witness 
goes into the witness box and discloses for the first time the exis- 10 
tence of these documents and gives testimony about them, which 
your lordship has ruled I am entitled to.

The Court: Yes, I know I have ruled on the matter of pro­ 
duction, but I think it is of no use to you whatever.

Mr. Griffin: It may not be, my lord, all I am asking is an 
opportunity to inspect it, and if it be of no effect I may never 
have to ask any of these questions—the point might never have 
come up; but I have been deprived of a proper inspection—

The Court: I do not think you have been deprived of any­ 
thing at all, Mr. Griffin. 20

Mr. Griffin : Very well, my lord.
The Court: Yes, your experience will show that, and I say 

without the slightest reserve that you are not deprived of any­ 
thing at alL You take the extreme view, and it is quite open to 
you, and I do not say it has any effect, I give every effect to it, 
you are taking the extreme view as to the introduction of a lot 
of evidence here, something, as I say again, that your learned 
friends could not have contemplated that would have been neces­ 
sary or material in this case.

Mr. Griffin: Well, my lord, what are we to do. What is 30 
your lordship's direction in the matter?

The Court: What do you wish to do ?
Mr. Griffin: I want now to read it and then perhaps have 

any questions on it.
The Court: Well, what do you wish to do now.
Mr. Griffin: I wish the documents to be produced, and if 

necessary I am perfectly willing to have the matter stand over 
until they are. It won't take an hour.

~ Just say exactly what documents you want—The Court 
specify them. 

Mr. Griffin 
The Court:

40
I have, my lord, in the notice to produce.

Well, you cannot go—will you hand me up that, 
Mr. Registrar—I wish to say you cannot go into the affairs of 
this company ad lib., so to speak.—correspondence between them 
and the Railway Board at Ottawa, of course that is something 
you might have.
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Mr. Griffin: Well, it is one, my lord, that is the last one— RECORD 
the one at the bottom. British Columbia

The Court: That is the 30th. Well, take the 26th, because **™*3 *>"'• 
that is since the action, of course. Of course, you are not entitled Plaintiffs to that. Case

Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, I am entitled to that. My friends —— 
have accepted my view on that and have produced several. Cross

The Court: I know they have, but that is not what you are S 
troubled about 

10 Mr. Griffin: No.
The Court: Then as to the notice of the 26th November, there 

is nothing in that that you want—two contracts relating to the 
construction of the bridge, you have got that?

Mr. Griffin: No, my lord, I have not.
The Court: What is it, you want?
Mr. Griffin: I have not got the contracts.
The Court: Well, tell me which one it is that you want ?
Mr. Griffin: My lord, I can only say that the ones that I 

want are the ones that I have discovered here since, that have been 
20 produced—I did not complete the statements of the contracts. It 

is shown that there are two missing.
The Court: What do you suggest that you have got from 

this witness which would show that there were others which are 
material ?

Mr. Griffin: From the one that has been produced, it recites 
another one not produced.

The Court: Well, which one is it. Let me see it.
(Document handed to Court by counsel).
The Court: Now, which one is it in this that you wish to see. 

80 Mr. Griffin: The one that is referred to there as the sup­ 
plemental agreement Number 1 of February 1923.

The Court: Have you that, Mr. Burns?
Mr. Burns: No, my lord, I was going to say with reference 

to that, we had looked for that, but we didn 't find it in the office. 
I had a look for it this morning, as a matter of fact, knowing that 
I had passed over the other contracts, I thought all of them yes­ 
terday—I didn't look for that for my friend yesterday, and he 
asked for this one this morning—that particular one, I had looked 
for in the office, and we don't apparently have it. Now, I don't 

40 know whether our clients have got it, I don't know anything more 
about it than that. I have no objection to getting it some way and 
turning it over to my friend, because I gave these others to him 
only for that reason.

The Court: Well, Mr. Burns agrees that if he can find it— 
he is going to look for it.

Mr. Griffin: Now, then, take this one, my lord, here is one
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Mr. Burns: We will check anything so far as these contracts 
are concerned, my lord.

The Court: That is simply a draft, is it not?
Mr. Griffin: Now, my lord, undoubtedly the original does 

exist in accordance with that.
The Court: I am not prepared to say so. What does Mr. 

Burns say about it.
Mr. Burns: I don't know, my lord, but if there is such an 10 

original, that I will follow the same course as with reference to 
the contracts, I will find that if I can.

The Court: Now, then, turning to the notice to produce of 
this morning.

Mr. Burns: So far as the rest are concerned, my lord, we 
are not producing anything.

The Court: I beg pardon?
Mr. Burns: So far as the rest of these other matters—all 

these other matters are concerned which are covered in these dif­ 
ferent notices we haven't them here, and we feel that we should 20 
not hand them over.

The Court: Now, we will begin here, the 30th November, 
the first thing that is asked for in this description of the docu­ 
ments, bridge plan of Northern Construction Company showing 
signed plan. What about that.

Mr. Burns: I don't know anything about it, my lord. 
You do not know anything about it? 
I don't know anything about it. 
The witness described it—gave a full account

The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 
Mr. Griffin

of it yesterday. 
Mr. Burns: 
Mr. Griffin: 
Mr. Burns: 
Mr. Griffin:

plans.
The Court:

The witness is not my witness.
Certainly he is my friend's witness.
He was our consulting engineer at a time.
The plans that came into his possession are your

30

Q. What do you wish, witness, the court to 
understand about that? A. I haven't the slightest recollection, 
my lord, what happened to that plan. I presume it will be in the 
records somewhere or other. I was never asked anything about 
it, never asked to produce any document in any shape or form, I 40 
had no correspondence with the lawyers in this case, only had 
telegrams asking me to come here—three telegrams.

The Court: Q. When did you learn of that plan of the 
Northern Construction, showing signed plan? A. It would be 
at the time it was prepared, about 1922.

Q. You cannot say ? A. No, I should say the last time very 
likely I was here it would be in Ottawa, because it was in Ottawa
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it was decided to substitute the bascule for the swing, my lord. RECORD
Q. Yes, I remember you told us that yesterday? A. Yes.
Q. Would there be a copy of that plan in the Department 

of Public Works, for instance or the Railway Board? A I 
question very much, because if it was decided against it was no 
longer any use, it was a scrap plan. It was probably just simply 
thrown aside.

The Court: All correspondence between the Plaintiff and 
their solicitors and A. D. Swan and the Department of Public 
Works and the Railway Board with the engineer at Ottawa in 
regard to centre span. What use is that, Mr. Griffin ?

Mr. Griffin: My suggestion is it would be of great use show­ 
ing the original suggestion of Mr. Smaill of the Northern Con­ 
struction as to the proper bridge to be built.

The Court: In view of what the witness said, I think it is 
irrelevant, and the objection to that evidence will be sustained.

Supplemental agreement "C," Number 1, between the Plain­ 
tiff and the Northern Construction Company.

Mr. Griffin: That is one, we have that already, my lord.
The Court: There is no trouble about that. "D," tender 

of the Northern Construction Company referred to in the agree­ 
ment of the 25th November. What use is that?

Mr. Griffin; 
about.

The Court: 
is it not?

Mr. Griffin :
The Court:

I want to see that tender, what that tender is 

This was after it was carried into an agreement

Yes, and it recites that.
Objection sustained in regard to that then. Plan 

"C," 185 and 547 referred to in the agreement of the 25th July, 
1923. What are these.

These are building plans on which the bridgeMr. Griffin: 
was built.

The Court: 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns:

What?
Building plans on which the bridge was built.
Are those here?
I don't know, my lord, I don't know anything 

about them, my lord.
The Court: Q. Do you know anything about these, witness ? 

A I don't know. It doesn't say what the title is. I don't know 
what the numbers refer to, my lord.

The Court: Where did you get that, Mr. Griffin?
Out of the agreement, my lord, out of the build-Mr. Griffin: 

ing contract. 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin:

Where is it? 
Right here. 
Let me see it. 
I planned to cross-examine the witness on it.
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RECORD The Court: Yes, just let me see it and see if you know any- 
Coiumbia thing about that. It is not for cross-examination, but simply to 
_ enable me to rule on this question. It is a very serious matter to 

Plaintiff's postpone this case again.
Case Mr. Griffin: My lord, I will be perfectly willing—my lord, 

— I don't want to adjourn needlessly for anything, I will be per­ 
fectly willing to go on with the cross-examination of this witness, 
if my friend will institute a search—make a real effort to get the 
documents and give me a chance to see them during the noon hour. 
I don't want to adjourn the trial needlessly. 10

The Court: Just look at that, Mr. Griffin, please, and show 
me where they are—which place you get that from, Plans "C" 
118 and 547.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, they are referred to in the General Con­ 
ditions at the back—right at the top, the first paragraph of the 
description, my lord. (Handing document to court).

The Court: Q- If 7OU would look at that, witness, you see 
there steel spans will be carried to concrete piers, and the locations 
of the bridge and piers are shown on two plans. Location plans 
of the bridge and piers—two location plans, you see, of the bridge 20 
and piers. Just look at that carefully? A. Plans 1815—isn't 
that 1815?

The Registrar: That is Exhibit 2.
The Witness: Yes, but is it not plan 1815. There is one of 

the plans there, my lord.
The Court: That is in, yes, and what does that mean, 547? 

A. I don't know which plan that might be, we certainly have 
them, there shouldn't be any trouble at all in producing it, my lord.

The Court: Yes, so if they are not there—because these are 
location plans of the pier and either that plan or something of a 30 
similar kind must be before you and must be here.

Mr. Burns: I think possibly we can find that one at noon, 
my lord.

The Court: I think so, because it is quite apparent now that 
that plan must be here ?

Mr. Burns: Yes.
The Court: Because it is one of the working plans upon 

which the contract was carried out. Well, we will have no trouble 
about that, Mr. Griffin.

Mr. Burns: I think, as a matter of fact it was here yester- ^ 
day, and was objected to by my friend, by what I am informed now, 
but however—

The Court: Well, you will be able to identify that, because 
there can be no trouble about that. It is quite apparent that 
particular plan 1815 is the one before us.

The Witness: Yes, my lord.
The Court: Yes. Now, then "F," original agreement be-
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RECORDtween the plaintiff and the Northern Construction Company of _
20th February, 1925. What about that. Have you that, Mr. Grif- British Columbia
fin. Admiralty Dist.

What is that, my lord. Plaintiffs
What is that. You see, your notice to produce, Case

Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: Number "F." 
Mr. Griffin The document which I have here forming that Q0^'eSwan 

draft, which I showed your lordship, because I took it that it could 
not be really a draft, but I understand instead of—it has been 

10 covered already, my lord. I will look that up.
The Court: Yes, that disposes of that difficulty and the re­ 

maining one is the original tender of the Dominion Bridge Com­ 
pany, etc. That is clearly objectionable. I will sustain the objec­ 
tion to it. So now we are ready; you may proceed, Mr. Griffin.

Mr. Griffin; Q. Now, then, I was asking you, witness, 
whether you had found correspondence between yourself and the 
Plaintiff relating to the bridge and you said you had ? A. Yes.

Q. Can you show it to Mr. Burns? A. No, I haven't.
Q. Will you show it to him so that I can ask him to produce 

20 it for my inspection.
The Court: A little nearer this way, witness. A. It con­ 

sists of a few telegrams.
Mr. Griffin: Q. All I want you to do for the moment is to 

hand them to Mr. Burns: in order that he may look at them and 
decide whether he is going to produce them for my inspection.

Mr. Burns: My lord, we have no objection to producing any­ 
thing we have; our only objection is based on the matter of going 
afield in this case. I don't know what this correspondence is, if 
your lordship feels that my friend should have this in the matter, 

30 why—
~ What is the general purport of it, Mr. Griffin.

I don't know, my lord, I want to see it. 
Show it to Mr. Griffin, and he can see it. 
I can't do it, my lord, on my feet, it will have 

to wait now. I want to have a chance to speak of it. If my friend 
will give me an opportunity to read it or let my friend read it— 
it may be of no importance.

The Court: Yes, give it to Mr. Smith, let Mr. Smith see it.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Now, did you find any—I don't remember 

40 whether you answered me, did you fund any with the Railway 
Board? A. I have certain correspondence I wasn't asked for. 
I will be delighted to produce it.

Q. You were asked for it yesterday most distinctly, and re­ 
peatedly, and you haven't brought it ? A. I have not.

Q. Did you find any with Mr. Loutet? A, Yes.
Q. Although I don't remember asking for them, because I 

didn't expect you had any, you knew I wanted it if you did have 
it? A. I produce it now.

The Court: 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin;
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Q. Now, did you, having read this over, did you meet Mr. 
Loutet in Ottawa? A. Presumably I did, because I find a tele­ 
gram from him asking me to go to Ottawa.

Q. Have you any recollecion of going there ? A. Yes, I do.
Q. Who did you go and see when you were there? A. The 

engineer—the Chief Engineer of the Public Works Department 
and Dr. King.

Q. So you saw the minister and the Chief Engineer of the 
Department? A. Yes.

Q. And the purpose of your going was to induce them to 10 
give up or abandon the requirements which they had theretofore 
laid down for this bridge, was it not? A. To the best of my 
memory, we went there to find out what arrangement was going 
to be made in regard to the bascule span, which the Department 
had intimated they wished to be substituted for a swing span.

Q. But they did mention more than that, they had insisted 
on a bascule span at that time, hadn't they, as far as it was then 
final ? A. Yes, but arrangements had not been made in regard 
to advancing—

Q. No, no, I was trying to get out of you, if you will give «jo 
it to me frankly, that the stand which the Department then were 
taking and which you went to deal with and as I understand, the 
stand they were taking was a bridge 45 feet high with a bascule 
span, is that right? A. I don't remember about the height, my 
lord, at all.

Q. Very well—what? A. I don't remember any question 
about the height.

Q. I will read this off, because this is where I got the in­ 
formation—this is from this North Shore Press again.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, all right. 30
Mr. Griffin: "Government required that the bridge have a 

clear height of 45 feet above water with an opening span of not 
less than 250 feet wide"—it doesn't say there, but it is apparently 
there some place, clear, that they also require a bascule span. That 
is correct is it not ? A. They certainly required a bascule instead 
of a swing.

Q. And did they require an opening of 250 feet? A. I have 
no recollection of anything—of any controversy whatever about 
the width of the opening.

Q. Isn't it a fact that you went there to get the Government 40 
to minimize or withdraw some of their requirements if possible ? 
A. To the best of my recollection I went there to discuss the 
question of the bascule span and find out if they were to pay for 
the additional cost of the bascule span, because if they were not, 
then the whole thing would be dropped, if they would not approve 
of the swing span and were not prepared to put up the money of 
the aditional cost, the job couldn't go on.
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Q. Was the swing span very much cheaper ? A, Yes.
Q. And was it your original recommendation? A. Yes.
Q. Because you had a limit of cost ? A. Yes.
Q. And that limit was what? A. $1,250,000.00.
Q. I see; and if you could get more money you preferred a 

bascule yourself? A. I don't know.
Q. Well, which did you prefer; I don't know? A. I pre­ 

fer the swing span myself.
Q. You preferred a swing, which Mr. Smail concurred with 

10 you in thinking, did he ? A. Yes.
Q. So that really the bascule was imposed upon you by a 

superior force? A, To a certain extent.
Q. Well, entirely ? A. They stated that they wanted a bas­ 

cule.
Q. That is what I call a superior force fairly enough, is it 

not ? A. I presume so.
Q. And therefore you were overruled in regard to the type of 

bridge by the Department? A. Quite correct.
Q. And am I right in thinking that they did have other re- 

20 quirements, the nature of which you apparently now can't remem­ 
ber? A. Prom your statement, but I have no recollection of 
anything further.

Q. Mr. Swan, tell me, am I not justified in assuming that 
probably the article in the North Shore paper of the 13th Novem­ 
ber, 1925, giving the history of this bridge was giving it in the 
main accurately ? A. I don't know.

Q. Wouldn't you think I was fair in assuming so? A. I 
have no idea who is responsible for the North Shore, or where they 
get their information from.

SO Q- Wouldn't you take it for granted the information came 
from the Bridge Company? A, I don't know where they got it 
from.

Q. I know we don't know positively, but wouldn't you take 
the same view I do, that a supplement specially got out for the 
Bridge Company with beautiful photographs and this article had 
been gotten out with their consent and approval? A, I would 
naturally think so.

Q. Well, that is what I did too. And therefore I take i 4 
that I was justified in saying that the Government had made the 

40 requirements which this paper publicly says that it made, is that 
fair? A. As to that I don't know. That is an assumption.

Q. It is an assumption, but it is a fair assumption, is it not ? 
A. I should think so.

Q. Well, then, tell me this, were you successful in Ottawa? 
A. At a later date— I don't say that I was successful, but the 
Bridge Company was successful in getting the Public Works DC-
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(Contd.)
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Q. Wait a minute, go slowly. And the other requirements 
of the Government, what happened to them? A. I don't know 
what the other requirements were that you refer to.

Q. So far as you know, that was due to the efforts of your­ 
self and Mr. Loutet, was it not ? A, You mean in regard to the 
financing?

Q. No, the successful achievement of this mission to Ottawa, 
so far as you know? A. There was nothing decided at that meet- 10 
ing that Mr. Loutet was at. It was after Mr. Loutet had come 
back to North Vancouver that it was decided, and I wired to him 
the fact that the Department had agreed to what we were trying 
to get, and this is the telegram.

Q. What I am trying to get at is, was it you—were you the 
motive force to go on—to achieve that result, as far as you know? 
A. Yes.

Q. Now, I ask you if it was not a fact that you started ne­ 
gotiations with the Northern Construction. Have you thought 
that over. Have you thought that over? A. What happened in 20 
connection with the—

Q. Is it not a fact that you were asked by the Bridge Com­ 
pany to open negotiations with the Northern Construction Com­ 
pany. That is a simple fact ? A. No, I was asked by the Bridge 
Company after the McClintic, Marshall Company—which I found 
was the name of the people—after they withdrew from the negotia­ 
tions and said they were not prepared to go on, at that same meet­ 
ing I was then asked by the Bridge Company to approach the 
Northern and see if they could be induced to look into the matter.

Q. Well, is this a fair statement from this same article, 30 
speaking of that same McClintic, Marshall meeting when they 
withdrew, it says in the paper:

"Within a few hours after the adjournment of the above 
meeting, however, it was privately intimated to the president 
of Burrard Inlet Tunnel and Bridge Company, Mr. Morden, 
that there was good reason to believe that Northern Construc­ 
tion Company Limited and J. W. Stewart would accept the 
contract to build the bridge on the basis just rejected by the 
McClintic, Marshall Products Company." 
Now was that the way, do you know, that they put it through? 40 

A, They were asking him to look into the matter.
Q. No, but was it privately intimated to the president by some­ 

body that the Northern Construction were prepared to take over 
the McClintic, Marshall plans? A. I haven't the slightest idea 
of what was intimated to the president.

Q. Unless you were told. Well, were you told? A. No, 
it was months afterwards before the Northern and J. W. Stewart
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decided to go into the thing. They said they would investigate it. RECORD
Q. Oh, yes, but not months after you went into it because British Columbia

this is what the paper says— A. I know they began investigat- Mmi
ing it right there and then. Plaintiff's

Q. YOU See, Case
"Mr. Morden immediately got in touch with Mr. Swan, con- A Q
suiting engineer of the Bridge Company, and requested him cross-exam
to accept instructions then and there to open negotiations with (Contd. j
the Northern Construction Company for the construction of 

10 the bridge. Mr. Swan agreed to undertake the commission,
and within a few hours he telephoned Mr. Morden and said
that the company was prepared to take the contract."
Is that true?
Mr. Donaghy: Now, my lord, I desire to interpose an objec­ 

tion to the line of cross-examination and submit it has gone far 
enough. It is quite apparent that it is entirely irrelevant to the 
points raised here as to why this bridge is a menace to navigation. 
I think it is quite immaterial I submit, my lord, as to who opened 
up the negotiations with the Northern Construction Company, un- 

20 less my friend is trying to discredit the witness in some way. Out­ 
side of that I submit that it is entirely irrelevant to the issues here. 
We are not concerned with who opened up negotiations with the 
contractor. It could not affect the case.

The Court: I think there is much in your submission, Mr. 
Donaghy, but at the same time I have very much reluctance in 
interfering with counsel in cross-examination, and I feel it would 
be better to let Mr. Griffin—and I feel sure he will not abuse it 
from his point of view.

Mr. Griffin: No, my lord.
30 The Court: Mr. Griffin, you seem to place a great deal of 

reliance upon that newspaper record.
Mr. Griffin: I know, because it contains a detailed summary 

of the transactions.
The Court: Well, I have been misrepresented systematical­ 

ly by the newspapers for over 30 years, but it does not do you any 
harm if you continue to do your duty.

Mr. Griffin: Oh, I am perfectly willing—if this witness would 
agree to these facts here, that they are correct, then I will be satis­ 
fied.

40 The Witness: My lord, I was doing the very utmost to get 
the Northern Construction Company to take on this work and go 
on with it after they had made an investigation.

Q. Yes, but what I want to get at—
The Court: I am sure you have, witness, but I will leave it 

to Mr. Griffin.
Mr. Griffin: It is very short.
Q. What I am trying to get at is this, did you go to the Nor-



446

Plaintiff's 
Case

A. D. Swan
Cross-exam.

(Contd.)

RECORD them Construction Company and ask them to take on, as the news- 
British Columbia paper says, the McClintic, Marshall project? A. To the best of 
Admiralty Din. my recollection I even telephoned them from North Vancouver to 

say that the McClintic, Marshall plans had moved out of the pic­ 
ture, and would they be prepared to consider investigating it.

Q. On the lines of their project? A. I don't know of any 
particular line, they were to look into the whole thing.

Q. What? A. I don't know what I said to him over the 
telephone.

Q. But I don't mean necessarily on the phone, don't let us 10 
be niggling. Did you then or thereafter ever bring them these 
McClintie, Marshall plans? A- I couldn't tell you, I would na­ 
turally assume that I would, because I had discussed them.

Q. Listen now to a point of substance. That was the basis 
upon which negotiations with them were inaugurated? A. I 
don't think that because they were very very clear that they were 
to thoroughly investigate the whole of the conditions themselves 
before even they would say definitely whether they would go on or 
not.

Q. I am not denying that, but I say the only thing in the 20 
shape of a plan that was before them was this American plan of 
the McClintic, Marshall ? A. It may have been, very likely was.

Q. It is all you know anyway. Wasn't it the only one you 
know of? A, There was that and the other one which had been 
only tentatively produced before.

Q. Whose was that? A. Although I could not remember 
the name of it, and I don't remember the name of it even yet.

Q. Was it Mr. Turner's. I got a name myself out of that 
something— A. It was my first retainer.

Mr. Griffin: If your lordship will show me that notice to pro- 30 
duce.

The Witness: —at that time, to examine the McClintic, 
Marshall plan.

Q. We have got past the McClintic, Marshall. Was there 
one called American Iron Products ? A. Yes, that was the other 
one.

Q. All right. Then that is the two that you discussed with 
the Northern Construction ? A. Oh, no.

Q. Do you mean to tell me that you didn't— A. I wasn't 
discussing those with the Northern Construction. #,

Q. Didn't you refer to the fact that those two plans had 
been already submitted? A. Yes, certainly at that time—a least 
I am not sure about that—that they were mentioned just yet, the 
Products, as to what plans.

Q. The American Iron Products Company? A. I don't 
think that I dealt with them at all, because—

Q. I am asking you a very simple question, Mr. Swan: Did
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you tell them of the existence of those two plans ? A. I have no RECORD
idea. British Columbia

Q. Well, how would they know of them then if you didn't Admir^y 
tell them? A. I don't know that they did know of them. Plaintiff's

Q. And you are leaving it to this court that you went and Case 
inagurated negotiations with this new company — new contractors 
without giving them the proposition that was before the Board of 
the Bridge Company, do you say that? A. I don't say that.

Q. What do you say then? A. I say that I have no re- 
collection of having given them any plans, but in all probability 
and most likely I would tell them all about the McClintic, Marshall 
proposition, which company had backed out and said that they 
didn't want to go on with it.

Q. Now, I find anyway — I now find the provisional contract 
with the Northern Construction Company, and in order to avoid 
encumbering the record with these lengthy documents, and as very 
little of it matters, I will just show it to you and get you to verify 
one or two short facts in this and then we can proceed very rapidly.

Mr. Donaghy : Just a moment. 
20 Mr. Griffin: That is the one you gave me yesterday.

Q. I produce to you agreement dated 26th September, 1922 
between the Plaintiff Company and the Northern Construction 
Company providing for investigations into a bridge. Now, I ask 
you to look at two things, to verify the fact that that calls for a 
clearance of 15 feet? A. In the bridge?

Q. I don't know — I mean you knew of it? A. Oh, yes, I 
know that, — speaking from memory anyway, that was correct.

Q. But just verify this from somewhere ? A. And we found 
in actual construction we were able to increase that, to, I think, 

30 17.2.
Q. Just verify the short fact, that the contractor shall give 

a clearance of 15 feet, is it?" A, Yes.
Q. On the proposed mile and a quarter? A, Yes.
Q. The plans give certain borings and soundings — the con­ 

tractors to make certain borings and soundings? A. Yes, that 
was so.

Q. Now, the detail — and the contract provides, I think it is 
approximately given — they are to go to the plans for their record 
of borings and soundings? A. Yes, if I — again speaking from 

40 memory — if they decided that they were not to go on with the 
proposition they were to hand over free of cost the information 
that we had jointly collected.

Q. Well, I will have to correct you there. Paragraph 2 says,
"Within 60 days from the date hereof, the contractors will
submit to the company without charge, all information and
data secured as a result of the carrying out of said borings
and soundings, together with said general plans."
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That is plain to you, is it not ? A. That is so, and I am quite 
sure that there is a reservation somewhere.

Q. Now, there is a provision that if they do not go on they 
can escape by turning over their borings and soundings without 
further liability? A. Yes.

Q. Never mind, just verify for the present, was the Plaintiff 
Company given the result of the borings and soundings ? A. I 
presume so.

Q. Did you ever see them? A. Oh, yes, they were taken 
under the guidance of one of the assistants, anyway, of my staff 10 
of engineers.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, I would like my friend to produce these 
borings and soundings, because they will enable me to discuss 
with the engineers the question of the engineering questions in­ 
volved. Will my friends produce them?

Mr. Burns: I don't know anything about them, my lord.
Mr. Griffin: Will my friends produce them.
Mr. Burns: I don't know anything about them.
Mr. Griffin: All right, we have got one traced into your pos­ 

session now. 20
Mr. Donaghy: You have not
Mr. Griffin: I think so.
Q. Where did you see them, Mr. Swan ? A, The others— 

they were more or less sketch plans which accompanied a very 
elaborate report dealing with the fact of them trying to drive 24 
inch square piles and so on.

Q. I was asking to see what is in it, because if I don't see it 
it is not worth much ? A. Well, it was a very long report dealing 
with the matter.

Q. I asked you a very simple question, where did you see it? 30 
A. In my office.

Q. And you were then acting for the Bridge Company? A. 
Yes.

Mr. Griffin: Now, if I had that supplementary contract I 
could discuss that; but I can't.

Q. Did you see the Bridge Company's tender? A. I pre­ 
sume that I had.

Q. Do you remember it ? A. No.
Q. Then you don't know what the general plan was which 

they submitted with it? A. It refers to it in the agreement as 40 
being that plan there.

Q. No, that is wrong—you are quite wrong; but still you 
don't remember it, do you ? A. I remember that plan.

Q. I know, but do you remember that that was the one? A. 
Why I don't remember the particular plan that was ready at the
time.

Q. Subsequently anyway a building contract was made,



449

which for the sake of shortness I will now hand you and avoid 
putting it in, in the same way. (Handing document to witness.) 
That is dated 25th July, 1923. Do you recognize that document ? 
A. Yes.

Q. I just want to ask you a couple of questions out of it. 
In page 2 it says that whereas since the tender—that is the Nor­ 
thern Construction Company's tender—was submitted, the parties 
hereto have agreed upon certain structural improvements in the 
said bridge. What iwas the agreement in which they dealt with 

10 these structural improvements ? A. Agreement? I don't know 
that there was any agreement.

Q. As far as you know that is not a correct statement, then? 
A. It does 'nt say that there was an agreement, it says that we have 
agreed.

Q. "The parties hereto have agreed upon certain structural 
improvements," that would be in writing, of course? A. Not 
necessarily at all.

Q. Oh, it might be verbal? A. Oh, most decidedly. We 
did all our discussions orally.

Q. I see.. On page 3 it speaks of additional work called for 
by the Government. What was the additional work called for by 
the Government ? A. Presumably the bascule span.

Q. It provides in paragraph 7 as follows:
"In the event of the Company desiring to substitute—"
The Court: What page is that?
Mr. Griffin: The agreement, my lord, it is page 6 paragraph

20

7.

30

40

The Court: 
Mr. Griffin; 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin:

What is the date of that agreement ? 
The date of the agreement, 25th July, 1923. 
Yes.
It is only a very short paragraph, so it is easier 

to put it in the notes than to put it in—
Mr. Burns: Pardon me, my lord, but I notice in this agree­ 

ment, which is an original document, under-scoring in lead pencil, 
and I produce this—

Mr. Griffin: I didn't do that, I did that other.
Mr. Burns: I would suggest that counsel don't underscore 

it—these original documents at all.
Mr. Griffin; No, I believe I did that one, but I haven't done 

any others, if there are any more. They were done so that the wit­ 
ness could find it.

Mr. Burns: I know, but it is confusing to get some under­ 
scoring there that we don't want.

Mr. Griffin: Well, I don't think you will find that in any 
of the others.

Q. "In the event of the company desiring to substitute a
steel span for part of the timber trestle immediately north of
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(Contd.)
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the 300 foot span as mentioned in the said specifications, the
contractors shall carry out and do such alterations—" 

then the rest of it—that refers to the new span afterwards put in, 
doesn't it? A. To one of the new spans afterwards put in.

Q. Afterwards put in.
The Court: Let me see that, Mr. Griffin.
Mr. Griffin: I have not quite finished, my lord.
The Court: Oh, I beg your pardon, yes.
Mr. Griffin: One more reference and then I am through.
Q. It also provides in paragraph 13—which I will para­ 

phrase the effect of—that if the Government of British Columbia 
does not authorize a certain subsidy, then the span south of pier 4 
is to be eliminated and the trestle re-introduced. Just look at that 1 
A. Yes.

Q. I think that is a correct statement. That is correct, is it 
not? A. Yes.

Q. Just verify that ? A. Yes, I remember all about that.
Q. It is therefore evident from your statement that the plans 

therein referred to, namely C. 1815 and number 547 did provide 
for a 150 foot span south of pier four. A. I can only tell you 
by looking at the plan.

Q. No, but I mean it would be apparent at least from that 
paragraph in the agreement that that is so, wouldn't it. Look at 
it, if you want to ? A. By looking at the plan I can tell in a second.

Q. Please answer my question. I say that clause in the 
agreement, and you will see now—13 ? A. Yes, that is quite clear 
that there was to be a substitution of wooden trestle south of the 
bascule.

Q. Now, if you would listen to the question I put to you: 
It is therefore apparent that plans "C"1815 and 547 to which the 
bridge was to be built in accordance with that agreement, did con­ 
tain that provision for that south 150 foot span? A. I don't 
know, because I remember telegraphing from Ottawa suggesting 
that the plans should be submitted as they were, and that altera­ 
tions could be made from time to time and get them approved as 
required.

Q. Witness, I don't think you are being quite frank with me 
about that. We use this agreement as a basis, and we know that it 
provides for building according to these two new plans, and finding 
it contains a provision that in a certain event one member shown in 
these plans is not to be built, it is apparent that that member must 
be shown on the plans otherwise the provision for its elimination 
would not be in order, would it ? A. The document is quite clear.

Q. In your mind. It is clear the way I put it too, is it not ? 
A. The document is absolutely clear—speaks for itself.

Q. And you agree that it means what I say it means? A. 
No.

10

.20

30

40
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Q. Well, then, i if so, it is not clear? A. Because there RECORD 
might be minor alterations on the plan which were not shown, British Columbia 
but that may be very clear in the document. Admiralty

Q. But you haven't got my point. If a thing is in a certain plaintiff's 
event to be eliminated, it must be there so as to be a basis of elimin- Case 
ation, is that not true? A. No, the information must be there.

Mr. Burns : These plans will show that.
Mr. Griffin: It is a provision that has to be gone into, be- (Contd.) 

cause the plans referred to in the contract are not here. 
10 Mr. Burns : What difference wouuld it make, my lord, for the 

witness' opinion to be given to this court?
The Court : I do not see that it would.
Mr. Burns: I can't follow it.
Mr. Griffin : It is quite palpable, and the witness absolutely 

understanding my question should at once concede it.
Mr. Burns : Well, that is a matter of opinion.
The Court : He can say what he did, he cannot place a con­ 

struction on it, and he is not entitled to do any more than that.
Mr. Burns : Plan number 547 has just been handed me, my 

20 lord. Has been brought in.
The Court : That is not an exhibit yet, Mr. Burns.
Mr. Burns : I don't know — no, I think not. It was attempt­ 

ed to be produced earlier in the trial.
Mr. Griffin : I haven 't had an opportunity of seeing it before 

the discussion arises.
The Court : Yes, hand it to him.
Mr. Griffin: My friend has not given us an opportunity to 

see this.
The Witness : My lord, could I supplement my last answer. 

80 This plan clearly shows a steel span to be in there.
The Court: Q. What do you mean by this plan — 547? A. 

Yes, my lord.
Q. That confirms the statement you say that you made be­ 

fore you saw it? A. Yes, my lord.
Mr. Griffin: I submit, my lord, it shows — the statement of 

the witness was entirely wrong on that.
The Court : Well, you must take what he says.
Mr. Griffin : Well, I just put it to him now.
Q. Doesn't that show that I was right in saying — 

40 The Court: It must go in as an Exhibit now.
Mr. Griffin : Certainly, my lord, I would be very glad to have 

it in.
The Court: Exhibit 34.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 34.) 
Mr. Griffin : Q. Doesn't that show that I was right, that the
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plan referred to in the agreement did call for a 150 foot south 
span ? A. Yes.

Q. That is what I asked you before? A. And if the money 
was not available a timber trestle was to be substituted for it.

Q. Yes, and you denied that a few minutes ago?
Mr. Burns: No.
A. No, I didn't.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Well, I think you did. Now, then, just 

one word more and I am through with this agreement. It increases 
the price to $1,450,000, doesn't it? Do you want to see that, or is 10 
your recollection sufficient ? A. No, I don't remember the figure.

Q. Paragraph "C" there. A. That is quite correct.
Q. That is all I need on that thing? A. That was to cover 

the additional work, but I don't know what the additional work 
was.

Q. Now then, we have—
Mr. Donaghy: Just a moment. I don't like having sum­ 

maries of this paper, it should be read, the whole paragraph, into 
the record, for a proper intimation of it.

Mr. Griffin: I will be glad to do that: 20
"The contract price mentioned in the prior agreement shall
be increased to $1,450,000.00 to cover additional work called
for by the Dominion Government."
The balance only relates to the method of payment.
Q. Now, I show you a subsequent agreement produced by my 

friend dated 5th March, 1924.
The Court: Let me see that contract—the one you have just

finished with. 
Mr. Burns: 
Mr. Griffin 
Mr. Burns: 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin

Is that a signed copy? 
No.
Well- 
011, yes, it shows signatures. 

Where are you reading from?
My lord, I was reading from various places 

amongst others page 2, page 3 and paragraph 13—those that I re­ 
member.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Burns: This contract—is this copy not signed by the 

Northern Construction Company but signed by J. W. Stewart? 
I think it is a copy of the original, but if it proves not to be I 
propose then to prove the original.

Mr. Griffin: My friends gave it to me.
Mr. Burns: Well, I just gave you what I had here yesterday

to save worry. 
Mr. Griffin: 
Mr Burns:

than he does.

Well, the witness will know anyway. 
I don't know—perhaps I know more about it

30

40
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Mr. Griffin: Perhaps you do. RECORD
Q. Well, here is a contract of 5th March, 1924, with the con- British Columbia

tractors providing for a change in the roadway. Admiralty
The Court: Between what persons is this? Plaintiffs
Mr. Griffin : Between the Plaintiff and the contractors. Case
The Court: The Northern Construction Company? . ~

-- The Court : Oh, yes, it is here.
Mr. Griffin : Q. Providing for a change in the roadway so 

10 as to allow 15 ton trucks instead of ten. You remember that ? A. 
Yes.

Q. And, to shorten it up, providing for an increased price 
of $18,306.00, is that correct? X I don't remember the amount, 
but I remember very well the fact.

Q. You might just verify the amount— $18,306.00? A. That 
is correct, according to the document.

The Registrar: That will be Exhibit 35.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 35.)
Mr. Griffin: Q. Finally we have the agreement of the 20th 

20 day of February, 1925, which also is not signed, but it has your 
signature, Mr. Swan, which you can refer to on the bottom of that 
(Handing document to witness.) It is that supplimental agree­ 
ment. Part 1 provides for the extra height of five feet, and for 
two north spans north of Pier 1. Just verify that, will you?

Mr. Burns: This again is a copy, my lord, and while one 
might naturally assume that it is a true copy, at the same time it 
is not the original and I wish to deal with it later if it proves not 
to be a true copy.

The Court: Yes.
30 Mr. Griffin : Yes, if it turns out not to be a correct copy, that 

will be quite fair enough.
Q. You remember the contract? A, Yes.
Q. And that is your signature at the back, is it not? A. 

Yes.
Q. And, shortly put, it provides for an increased price of 

$86,405.00 for this extra height ? A. And for the substitution of 
two 150 's.

Q. Yes, and that is correct, is it, as far as it goes ? A. Yes.
Q. And also it provides for $163,400.00 for the two extra 

40 north spans? A. Yes.
Q. Making a total price to date of $1,718,111.00? A. Yes.
Q. With Lynn Creek alterations still to be provided and paid 

for? A. I don't see that.
A. Oh.
Lynn Creek so they 

had to provide it somewhere else, didn't they? A. Oh, yes, they

(Contd.)
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am only asking that
the price for the Lynn Creek valley is to be in addition to that? 
A. No, that is not correct, it was only partly in addition.

Q. Well, it is partly in addition, that is all I mean? A. Yes.
Q. Then how much were you going to add to this $1,718,- 

000.00 for the Lynn Creek change? A. I couldn't tell you.
Q. Well, haven't you any idea of how much? A. Not the 

slightest. 10
Q. Was it substantially the same? A. It will be in the 

document.
Q. I am asking you about it? A. Honestly I have no re­ 

collection of it.
Q. Was it a substantial sum? A« I have no idea.
Q. I see. You know the nature of the work. It was the in­ 

troduction of a 150 foot steel span for 260 foot spans, was it not ? 
A. Yes, I think so.

Q. Well, that would cost a substantial sum of money? A. 
Certainly, yes. 20

Q. So if I am right, or if it turns out to be the fact and is 
proved that the plans of the Canadian Bridge Company on the 
modified Wolfe-Barry principle were only $1,846,000.00, we have 
come then — you come within a very short distance of that, don't 
you? A. Yes —

Q. Answer that question yes or no : Don't you? A. The —
Q. Will you answer the question, please ? A. No, I decline 

to answer yes or no, because the Canadian Bridge Company's 
tender was made many many years before pre-war prices and 
the time that this matter was being negotiated prices had been in- 30 
creased tremendously — probably nearly 100 percent.

Q. I think I am entitled, even as a matter of politeness to 
your statement, that these figures now approach very closely to­ 
gether? A. They don't bear any comparison.

Q. They dp on their face at least? A, I don't know any­ 
thing about their face, but practically they bear no comparison 
whatever.

Q. Don 't you think, witness, that you are beginning to argue ? 
A. No, I am making a statement of fact.

Q. I know, but you are making a statement of fact in a very 40 
argumentative form. Now, as I say —

Mr. Donaghy: My lord, I ask for the protection of the wit­ 
ness on that. I think he is entitled to explain the difference be­ 
tween prewar and after war prices without being criticized so 
severely for it.

The Court : Oh, yes, the witness is doing very well.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Now, if there had been money available
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as you have already said, you would have originally designed_ro RECORD 
I think you said you preferred swing spans anyway, didn't you? British Columbia 
A. I was rather inclined to the swing span there. Admiralty r~

Q. Swing spans anyway. Would you, if you had had more Plaintiff's 
money available, have made any changes in the general design? 
A. Oh, we would have made a very much better job if we had had 
more money.

Q. Yes, what you were doing was economizing really? A. 
We had to cut according to the money provided just as best we 

10 could.
Q. But if you had had two millions in hand you would have 

made it very much better? A. Oh, we would have given a very 
much better job.

Q. And would this be a fair statement, if the facts are true, 
of course, had the offer of the Canadian Bridge Company to build 
a thoroughly reliable high-level bridge, bridge structure 58 feet 
wide, for $1,846,000 been accepted, there was plenty of money 
then available to defray all the expenses and to construct the nec­ 
essary approaches, which were estimated to cost about $300,000.00. 
Now, if it is a fact that there was plenty of money available, wasn 't 
the Canadian Bridge Company's design, as it shows on its face a 
thoroughly reliable high level bridge? A. I have never seen 
their design, but it didn't include the approaches which you refer 
to, again I emphasize the fact that it has not any comparison what­ 
ever with ours, because ours included nearly a mile of railway ap­ 
proaches on one side and the guiding approaches on the other.

Q. Look at this plan of the Canadian Bridge Company, Ex­ 
hibit 20. That calls for a double swing span similar to the lines 
of the Wolfe-Barry plans, does it not? A. It appears to. 

30 Q. But for a wider span, because the width of this span from 
these centres to these centres—no between piers.—that is between 
piers? A. 225.

Q. 225 on one side, and how much on the other? A. It is 
given parallel to the bridge, on the other side, 292.

Q. One side then 292 and the other 225—correct? A. Yes.
Q. They are a reliable concern, aren't they? A. I think 

so.
Q. Yes, here, this is the best way to get it. Above is the

better place to get it, the width here, 292 on one and 257 on the
40 other between piers, aren't they? A. It says 225 clear opening.

Q. I don't see the difference between that and this—what is 
the difference—not that it makes much difference, but on the pro­ 
file it gives one figure and on the plan the other.

Mr. Burns: Can you make out the date of that plan. Can 
you read the date there ? A. 1914.

Q. No—May 12th, is it? A. May.
Q. May 12th, 1914? A. Yes.
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_ Q. Would that, in your opinion, be a perfectly 
British Columbia proper bridge to build if the money was available? A. I wouldn't 
Admiralty Dist. give an opinion of an engineering nature on a big scheme like that 

after seeing a plan for about half a moment.
Q. Yes, but I am simply asking you, that the Canadian 

Bridge Company project would be one which could be safely re­ 
lied upon if they were behind it, would it not. A, It looks a very 
elaborate and well thought out scheme.

Q. You have also agreed that Sir John Wolfe-Barry's plan 
was a perfectly well thought out and effective and available 
scheme, haven't you? A. Oh, yes.

Q. As that is almost the same, with a very slight change in 
the centre pier and slightly increased width, your recommendation 
of his plan apparently applies also to this? A, I should think 
so, I should think that that was a first class scheme by glancing at 
it. By glancing at it I would say it was a first class scheme.

Q. Then from your point of view there was no possible good 
reason why the bridge should not have been built according to 
these plans in the year 1914, if it is true the money was then avail­ 
able? A, I don't know what the reason was.

Q. No, but as far as you can see, there was no good reason ? 
A. I don't know. They must have had a reason or they would 
have built it.

Q. Now, I don't know that I misunderstood you, but I want 
to be sure that I didn't. You don't suggest, I take it, that gravel 
is not a good foundation for the bridge. You don't make that 
statement, do you? A. On certain occasions it is.

Q. But speaking generally, gravel is not a bad foundation 
for a bridge? A. It would all depend; gravel is very liable to 
scour.

Q. But if it is in a place where it does not scour, then there 
isn't any serious objection to it, is there? A. No, I shouldn't 
think so. We would have to form an opinion in each individual 
case. I have founded piers—several of them, for the Second Nar­ 
rows bridge on gravel.

Q. So that shows at that place you were quite satisfied with 
it? A. Yes.

Q. Now, I think there was some mis-understanding between 
us—I think we had better have before you the Waddell plan, ex­ 
hibit 33, if you can get room for it, and I will just show you for 
convenience Exhibit 27—one of the bridge as constructed.. Would 
you put the plan in front of you so that you can compare them. 
Now, see if you can compare these ? A. Are they the same scale.

Q. I think they are, just verify that yourself? A,, Yes., 
they are the same scale.

Q. They are the same scale, so they are comparable. Now, I 
take it that the bottom of the channel on these two plans could,

10

30
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for all purposes of calculation in this case, be taken to be a com- RECORD 
mon point, couldn't it 1? A. I don't know. I have no idea where British coiumbi they get their soundings from at all. Admiralty £>///.

Q. Well, better get it there. I am saying, for the purposes Plaintiff's 
of any importance in this case, would it not be safe to take the bot- Case 
torn of that channel as being a common point ? A. I don't know. A D~T~

Q. Can you see any reason why it should not, for the purpose cross-exam0 
of a short discussion be so taken? A. I do know that this plan (Contd.) 
is wrong. 

10 Mr. Burns: Meaning what?
Mr. Griffin: Please don't go beyond what the question calls 

for, I only want to discuss a few matters and I ask you if you 
could not take the bottom of the sea—the bottom of the channel as 
a reasonably common point ? A. They are not the same.

Q. Well, they are substantially the same, of course they are ? 
A. Oh, no.

Q. I see, well I will go ahead and try it again. Is it not a 
fact, can you tell from the drawings on these two plans ?

The Court: Just say what the plans are, Mr. Griffin, be- 
20 cause I don't know.

Mr. Griffin: These are exhibits 20—
The Court: You are looking at Exhibit what?
Mr. Griffin: 27, and the other is exhibit 33.
The Court: You are looking at exhibit 27 and also exhibit 

33?
Mr. Griffin: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Yes. A. Well, there is a big difference there. 

Let us see what it is.
Q. I am not speaking of the depth, Mr. Swan, I was only 

30 trying to get the piers—the piers and their position? A. You 
are talking of the bottom of the channel ?

Q. Yes. A. Well, there is a very big difference between the 
two.

Q. Yes, but these piers, that is what I am trying to get at. 
Can you scale off, for example, for the purpose of this case, suffi­ 
ciently well the position of the southerly pier of Mr. Waddell's 
plan and see where it compares with that Number 3.

The Court: Now, the southerly pier is Pier Number 5, is that 
what you refer to, Mr. Griffin? 

40 Mr. Griffin: Pardon me, my lord.
The Court: The southerly pier.
Mr. Griffin: The southerly pier of Mr. Waddell's lift span.
The Court: No, give the number because we have had.
Mr. Griffin: It has no number. He doesn't number them,
Mr. Burns: In Exhibit 33, my lord.
The Court: Well, that is number 5, as a matter of fact, be­ 

cause we had it all through the evidence.
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The Witness: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Are they substantially the same. A. The 

depth shows—
Q. Yes ? A. On the comparison between the depth of this 

pier on Waddell's plan, it is practically the same depth as either 
Number 3 pier—

Q. Then that is a common point, that is quite all right. Now, 10 
I will put that question for his lordship's help.

The Court: Waddell's plan has the same location—
Mr. Griffin: The south pier.
The Court: I beg your pardon—the south pier has the same 

location substantially as the pier on profile plan 33.
Mr. Griffin: It may be the same.
The Witness: It is the depth of the pier that I am saying; 

the depth of the harbour is quite different.
The Court: Just look at that, you see, because otherwise it 

is useless, if you are looking at Waddell's southern pier, look at 20 
Waddell's plan and his south pier.

Mr. Griffin: No, it is the southerly pier—there is where we 
are speaking of, not the southerly pier of the bridge.

The Court: Well, you had better start on the profile.
Mr. Griffin: All right, my lord.
The Court: Exhibit 33, is it not?
Mr. Griffin: He is doing it now, my lord.
The Witness: The foundation level of Waddell's southern 

pier is approximately apparently the same as the foundation level 
of our Number 3 pier.

The Court: Q. As shown on profile plan number 33 ? A. 
Yes.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Yes? A. But the depth of the bottom of 
the harbour on Waddell's plan is very different from ours, and he 
does not show the sinking piece of the pier below the surface of the 
ground at all, whereas we went down a great many feet so as to 
prevent any scour.

The Court: Now, the number of Waddell's plan is what?
Mr. Griffin: Q. I didn 't ask you anything about that at all ? 

A. Yes, you did

30

40
The Court: 

Waddell's plan. 
Mr. Burns: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin:

Yes, but let us understand, what is the number of

33, my lord.
33, and the profile is what?
27. 

Now, there is some mistake there. It cannot be.
There are two, my lord.
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The Court: It is one of these handed down from the bench. RECORD
Mr. Griffin: Yes, 27, my lord. British Columbia
The Court: No, that is wrong. Hand it to the Registrar. Atmiraitj DJH. 

It is not that I am referring to at all. Hand me that other one. plaintiffs 
This is 34. Case

Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, that one is, and this is 27, and A D— 
they are checked in substantially. Cross-exam11

The Court: The footings established then on 27 and 34 are (Contd. j 
the same?

10 Mr. Griffin: No, the only question that I was checking that 
for was for the purpose of my questions so that your lordship can 
get a proper understanding of them. I don't say they are exactly 
checked, but I am trying to get these positions laterally on this 
pier.

Q. I am trying to see if you agree that for the purpose of 
horizontal distance from either shore, that the Waddell pier on the 
south side of his lift span is in substantially the same position as 
your number 3 ? A. No, Waddell's is very much farther out into 
the channel. There are marks on the shore, you see—measuring 

20 from there. Get where the low water mark expression is there, 
there is low water mark—it would be a point somewhere there, 
about.

Mr. Burns: It is only approximate anyway.
The Witness: You can't compare them very well—particu­ 

larly.
Mr. Griffin: I will have to have that done carefully before I 

pursue that.
The Court: Do I understand the witness to day now, Mr. 

Griffin, that they are not substantially the same? 
30 Mr. Griffin: He says not

The Court: Yes, not substantially the same.
Mr. Burns: Obviously they are not.
Mr. Griffin: I will go after that more carefully and consider 

before I pursue it. The northerly pier of Mr. WaddelPs plan is 
in the water far less than your pier number 2, is it not ? A. Yes, 
according to his plan.

Q. That is it, according to his plan, of course. So that so 
far as the mere difficulty of construction is concerned, that pier 
does not represent as difficult a job as the one you undertook— 

40 A. But I know that his bottom is not correct.
Q. Please answer my question, Mr. Swan, if you please? 

A. Yes.
Q. You are becoming an advocate and I want you to be a 

witness.
The Court: Mr. Griffin, that is an answer, you see. You 

asked him was it the same, and he says no, because the bottom is 
not the same. That is also a part of the pier, you know—that pier,
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_ you do not begin in the air, you begin at the foundation. It is not 
British Columbia what it looks like on the top. It is what it is below that counts in 

a pier.
Mr. Griffin: Q. I want you now to take and compare Ex­ 

hibit number 32, which is Sr. John Wolfe-Barry's plan, and I 
want you to measure from low water, marking Sir John Wolfe- 
Barry's plan and tell me how many feet to the north is the north 
end of his swing span? A. About 540 feet.

Q. 540 feet. Now, measure from low water mark on Exhibit 
Number 27 and find where it is. Run that line out? A. About 
385 feet.

Q. And the other one was 540, was it not? A. Yes.
Q. The difference, therefore, is 105 feet? A. Yes.
Q. And you told me yesterday the difference was 50 feet, 

How do you reconcile that? A. Well—I am quite unaware, my 
lord of ever having made such a statement. I may have done so.

Mr. Griffin: Well, I will leave it to my friend.
Mr. Donaghy: I have no recollection of it.
Mr. Griffin: Well, the transcript then will show.
Q. Now, did you give the Harbour Board any advice on any 

of these plans? A. Which plans.
Q. Any of the bridge plans that were made? A. Not to 

my recollection. I may have done so.
Q. I am producing a plan, which was produced here today 

by Mr. D. W. Baker, an official of the Land Registry office here, 
under subpoena in this case. Would you just look at that. 
(Handing document to witness). This purports to have been 
filed by Messrs. Burns & Walkem on behalf of the Burrard Inlet 
Tunnel & Bridge Company on the 24th day of January, 1923, under 
the Navigable Waters Protection—it doesn't say Act, but it means 
Protection Act. Do you recognize that plan ? A. I think I do, 
as being the plan, my lord, that shows the first swing span.

Q. Are you sure even of that? A. Yes.
Q. You are sure? A. It does show a swing span.
Q. And it was made by the Northern Construction Com­ 

pany? A. Evidently.
Q. And bears Mr. Smaill's signature? A. Yes.
Q. And it is a swing span? A. Yes.
Q. Is there any doubt that is the one that was the original 

recommendation of Mr. Smaill? A. I don't think there is any 
doubt.

Q. And that it obtained your approval ? A. Well, that par­ 
ticular plan is not signed by me, but I don't think there is any 
doubt about that either.

Q. I observe that it provides for a double swing span of 150 
feet on each side clear. Is that correct? A. Yes.

Mr. Griffin: I am going to put that in, my lord. I can't
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under the Land Registry Act, ask them to leave it. With your RECORD 
lordship's permission, I will obtain, if I can, another blueprint and British Columbia
put it in. Admiralty Dist.

The Court: Yes. Plaintiffs
Mr. Griffin; Perhaps my friends will assist me in that. The Case

number on it is E-1800. ——
The Court: Exhibit 36. A. D. SwanCross-exam.

(DOCUMENT TO BE MARKED EXHIBIT NUMBER 36). <C°md' )
The Witness: My lord, may I make a correction—I am sorry 

10 —in making these measurements a little ago, the two plans are on 
different scales. I thought they were both the same, my lord.

Q. What is the difference ? A. It would alter the measure­ 
ments.

Mr. Griffin; Q. Well, you have a perfect right to amend 
your evidence on a point like that. You can re-scale it over? A. 
540 feet on one. That remains the same.

Q. Then the measurement on Exhibit 32 stands at 540. Shall 
I make a mark here?

Mr. Burns: Now, wait a minute.
20 Mr. Griffin: I want to wait until the witness says so, of course. 

A. Yes, that is right.
Mr. Griffin; All right. (Indicating.)
Mr. Burns: Now, check that.
Mr. Griffin: Very well, you may.
Mr. Burns: He is a better draughtsman than you are, I think.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Do it yourself ? A I measured that—
Q. What is it? A. The measurement is 463.
Q. And the difference between 463 and 540 is 77, so you 

amend the statement of the 105 to 77? A. Yes. 
30 Q. That is correct, all right. Now, Mr. Swan, it seems to 

me that you have very little to be responsible for in this bridge, as 
I understand it ? The original suggestion—the author of this 
bridge is Mr. Smaill. Is that correct ? A He prepared the plans 
and submitted them to me.

Q. Well, then, you might have answered my question by say­ 
ing that he was the author of the plan originally ? A. Yes.

Q. And the Government changed the type entirely by chang­ 
ing it from a swing to a bascule ? A. Quite correct.

Q. And the Government also changed its height by five feet ? 
40 A. Yes.

Q. And the number of spans was originally 2, and it was in­ 
creased to five, was it not? A. Yes.

Q. As a matter of fact, though we haven't dealt with it yet, 
the kind of piers except 2, 3 and 4, that were dealt with, were six 
different piers? A Entirely,

Q. Now, then, would you mind telling his lordship what f ea-
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ture of this bridge or which features you claim as your own, if any? 
British Columbia A. I had the supervision of it, and I had the approval of it, and I 

prepared the specifications showing how the work was to be car­ 
ried out, and I certified for all the payments to the contractors.

Q. I take it then that you have answered my question by 
saying that the supervision—that you supervised the construction 
and the plan was prepared in the manner that I have indicated ? 
A. Many of the plans—

Q. No, the plan? A. —were altered entirely, and redesign­ 
ed possibly. to

Q. Well, those are the details. Now, I want you to cast your 
eye over this Exhibit 2, again. (Handing document to witness.) 
Answer me this simple question, that no bridge in exact accord­ 
ance with that was ever built? A. No.

Q. And I am going to detail to you the difference between 
the bridge as built and Exhibit 2 and see if you agree. In the first 
place the height is different? A. Yes.

Q. The bridge as built has three more spans than Exhibit 2 
indicates? A. Yes.

Q. It has one more pier, to wit, number 4-A— 20
The Court: You say the original design had three more 

spans to be constructed?
Mr. Griffin. No, my lord, the bridge as built has three more 

spans than were approved of under that Order-in-Council.
Q. Thirdly the bridge as built has one more pier than shown 

on Exhibit 2, to wit, number 4-A ? A. The bridge as built has 
1, 2—3 additional piers more than are shown on this plan.

Q. Yes, I agree> but the other two are involved in the new 
spans? A. Yes.

Q. So that therefore for the purpose—I don't want to give 30 
duplicate criticisms—it has one more pier entirely—apart entirely 
from the new plans—4-A? A. Yes.

Q. And the piers 2, 3 and 4 are not in any way the same as 
built as they are shown on Exhibit 2 ? A. No.

Q. The difference is this, just shortly put, that Exhibit 2 
calls for clusters of cylinder piers ? A. Yes.

Q. And the bridge as constructed has three solid masses— 
piers en masse, has it not? A. Yes.

Q. Solid piers. Fifthly. There is a fill at the south end— 
actually there? A. Yes. 40

Q. Which is not on Exhibit 2 ? A. No, I beg your pardon, 
it is—not very clearly shown, though, my lord but there it is. 
There is the line showing the edge of it.

Q. But, Mr. Swan, you would not suggest for a moment that 
that—that any fill is shown on that trestle? A. I am sure, my 
lord, that it is the intention of that line to show a solid fill.

Q. Why it is not in the position where the fill is even ? A.
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It is in the position that was intended in accordance with that RECORD
Plan- British Columbia

Q. That fill is a long way from that line? A. Well, it is Adm"^y *>»'•
not. Plaintiff's

Q. It certainly is? A. It extends away back there. Case
The Court: Let me see that, Mr. Registrar. A D—
The Witness: It is not very clear, my lord, but there is a line cross-exam 1 

giving the slope—the edge of the fill there. (Contd.)
Q. Now, there is a red lead pencil, just show me what you are 

10 speaking about. The learned counsel was asking you about the 
solid rock fill? A. That line there is supposed to show the edge 
of the rock fill.

Q. Now, you draw it in red lead pencil. It shows the edge 
of the rocky fill, that is the fill that is being complained of so much 
as affecting the currents. That is the one you understand it to be ? 
A. Yes.

The Court: Yes, that is it, thank you.
The Witness: And it is shown on the plan, around there.
Q. What ? A. It is shown on the plan above the line there. 

20 Q. Shown on the plan, that is the one—mark that first one 
—put 1 there and the second one put 2. One within a circle. Now 
put 2 in the circle? A, (Indicating)

The Court: Yes, now put it back again.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Mr. Swan, you put the figure 2 on this 

plan opposite the red line which you have introduced on it ? A. 
Yes.

Q. Is that the line—the white line parallel to which you have 
put the red line, the line of roadway? A. It is both.

Q. It is stated on the plan to be the roadway, is it not ? A. 
30 No.

Q. It says there the word'' roadway'' right there, doesn 't it ? 
A. That is not where my line is.

Q. But it is within a quarter of an inch ? A. This road— 
this is the roadway.

Q. Certainly? A. And the edge showed the edge of the 
embankment as again indicated on the section.

Mr. Burns: Q. Under number 1? A. Under number 1.
Mr. Griffin: Q. I submit to you that it has nothing what­ 

ever to do with the place, it is merely on a bit of timber ? A. I 
4o beg to differ. There is no earthly reason for putting a bit of tim­ 

ber in there.
Q. I say there is a vast difference between that and Exhibit 

27. There is a strange difference between that and the bottom as 
shown on Exhibit 27, isn 't there. (Handing plan to witness.)

The Court: Now, take the red lead pencil.
Mr. Griffin: It doesn't need a red pencil there.
The Court: Take the red lead pencil and mark that number
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RECORD i where you mean the same place to be on the rock fill, as you 
British Columbia marked number 1 on plan 2. You have got it on plan 2, you have 

got Number 1 marked on it and it shows the slope of the rock fill. 
Put 2 within a circle and then mark on 27 so we will know exactly 
the spot that you are speaking of? A. That is the one in com­ 
parison with this one.

The Court: Now, that is very useful in trying to get to one 
thing on these two plans.

Mr. Burns: Are those plans to the same scale.
The Court: Well, make sure, you see. 10
The Witness: 50, 50.
The Court: Just take your time and just get that right.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Are you finished. Have you finished? A 

I want to make a comparison now.
Q. There is no question before you that I know of.
Mr. Burns: He says there is a considerable difference.
Q. Isn't there? A. You say there is a considerable differ­ 

ence.
Mr. Burns: Your last question.
Mr. Griffin; Yes. 20
The Witness: There is only a slight difference.
Q. What is the difference then? A. There is roughly 50 

feet of difference. In the first place on Exhibit 2, the toe of the 
slope is shown at low water; and on Exhibit 27 the toe of the slope 
is shown approximately about 50 feet north of low water.

The Court: Q. About 50 feet or 60 feet you say? A. 50 
feet north.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Q. In the bascule system of bridges you could 

have a wider bascule than 185 feet, couldn't you? A. I should 30 
think so.

Q. Have you ever built one? A. No.
Q. When Exhibit 2 was prepared, was it your intention to 

build the bridge according to it? A. Oh, yes.
Q. And did you advise that such bridge be built? A. No.
Q. What did you advise? A I advised that they should 

put in another steel span north of the 300 foot one if we could get 
the money, and also put in another steel span south of the bascule.

Q. So that that plan as presented to the Privy Council didn 't 
meet with your approval ? A. It did at the time, but I was ask- 40 
ing right then to try and get more money.

Q. In other words it only agreed with your opinion at the 
price that you had got? A. Yes, it was the best we could do 
for the money.

Q. Now, why was the change made on these piers 2, 3 and 4, 
from cylinders to solid piers? A Because I was never quite 
satisfied with the cylinder piers carrying the bascule, particular-
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ly I spent a great deal of time on it, went into it minutely and RECORD 
employed a number of consulting engineers to check me up and British 
gave a great deal of consideration to the whole matter, and even- Mmiraity 
tually we were able to get the contractors to, at their own cost, Plaintiffs 
without any additional — extra, I mean to the Bridge Company, to Case 
substitute —

Q. Now, I didn't ask any of that? A. —the mass— thej.ni'1-j.jgassoon type of bridge instead.
Q. Who decided that, you or they? A. They. They de- 

cided on it.
Q. It was their suggestion then? A. Oh, no, we suggested it.
Q. When was the suggestion made ? A. I couldn't tell you.
Q. Do you know the year ? A. No, I couldn 't tell you that.
Q. Do you say that you made the suggestion or that they 

did ? A. We were studying these piers all the time.
Q. Please answer? A. Every time —
Q. Just say whether you know. It is an absolutely fair ques­ 

tion, if you can answer ? A. I couldn 't tell you.
Q. Did you try sinking cylinders ? A. We did actually sink 

quite a number of cylinders on the north —
Q. Don't you know hundreds of them that were never used ? 

A. No.
Q. Aren't they lying over in North Vancouver now? A. 

They are not lying at North Vancouver, but I certainly didn't 
make cylinders we made no use of.

Q. Isn 't it a fact that you tried to use them and you couldn 't 
use them ? A. No, we never tried to sink cylinders, to the best 
of my recollection, at these places.

Q. Pier 2 and Pier 3 have got nothing to do with the bascule, 
have they? A. 2 had everything to do with it, it takes the casting 
weight of the bascule.

Q. I know, but that is comparatively trifling, is it not? A. 
If you say so.

Q. Well, I am asking you a question, really? A. No, it is 
one of the most important features of the whole scheme.

Q. I know, but I am asking — A. Number 3 works with 
this bascule.

Q. 2 and 4 carry the weight of the bascule ? A. Yes, 3 and 
4 together.

Q. Well, was it in consequence of the weight of the bascule 
that you decided it ? A. No, it was the difficulty really of trying 
to hold any staging from which cylinders could be sunk.

Q. That is what I asked you at the beginning? A. That 
was one of the reasons, and a certain question of stability.

Q. Wasn't the real reason that you found it was difficult to 
sink the cylinders? A, We didn't find that, we assumed that.

Q. You decided that would happen? A. Yes.
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_ Q. So it was because you found out that the cylinders were 
British Columbia going to be hard to introduce that you dropped them and changed 
Aj.s.it. ™,, the kind of construction ? A. To a certain extent, but I never lik­ 

ed the design of cylinders in this particular place if we could 
get something better.

Q. Well, the bridge then was in that sense thoroughly un­ 
satisfactory, in that respect ? A. No, it was not thoroughly un­ 
satisfactory.

Q. Well, then, what you have said, that you always wanted to 
change into solid piers, have you not? A. Yes.

Q. If you could find the money 1? A. Yes.
Q. And you did? A. We got them changed without any 

more money.
Q. Therefore you made a change — A. The contractors 

bore the cost themselves.
Q. You made a change you always wanted? A. Yes.
Q. Yes, you were never in favour of cylinder piers? A, 

Well, I was to a certain extent.
Q. What am I to draw from that, what extent were you — 

A. I would have accepted cylinder piers if we could get the 
money for it.

Q. You did accept them? A. Yes.
Q. And approved of them? A, But we never built them.
Q. You said you built some ? A, Not there. We are talk­ 

ing of 2, 3 and 4.
Q. Yes, and you built this Number 1 as a cylinder? A, 

Yes.
Q. And the real trouble was you couldn't get the cylinders 

down at 2, 3 and 4, was it not ? A, We never tried.
Q. Yes, and you can still answer my question, I think the 

substance of it, that you decided you could not? A. That it 
would be a very very difficult job.

Q. The same thing as not being able to, is it not? Now, I 
want to get some dates from you if you can. You can tell me when 
the various piers were put in, can you? — near enough for the pur­ 
pose? A. No, I could not.

Q. You were here? A. Only a portion of the time.
Q. Well, just in generalities, am I right, then, substantially, 

pier number 1, can you give me the month and the year when that 
was finished? A. No, I could not.

Q. Have you got a record of it? A. Not here.
Q. Where? A. It will be in the office files, I suppose if 

they haven't been destroyed.
Q. Has Mr. James got it? A. I don't know. He might, if 

we have it ; he certainly provided it.
Q. Should there be a record of that kind? A. Yes, certainly.
Q. For instance, I just want to fix roughly the dates, I have
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got them and it would be a very simple matter to fix them if you 
will assist me. Take for example this booklet of North Vancouver, 
is that a fair representation, this photograph on page 12, is that a 
fair representation of the state of construction on the 27th of Feb­ 
ruary, 1925. (Handing document to witness.) A. I presume 
so; it is a photograph.

Q. But does that accord with your memory? A, Why I 
don't know, it is—

Q. What? A. I don't remember dates.
10 Q. You can't remember even the year? A. As to the pro­ 

gress of the different piers. I have been sinking miles of cylinders 
just before that.

Q. I show you page 18, showing the state of construction in 
April, 1925? A. I would be prepared to accept every one of 
these as being correct.

Mr. Griffin: Well, that is all I want to get at. Then I will 
put that in.

Mr. Donaghy: Just a moment, my lord—
The Court: It is not put in; he says he knows nothing about 

20 it. It cannot be put in unless he says it is correct. You can keep it 
and you can identify certain dates that he does not dispute.

Mr. Griffin: We will leave it until we get another witness 
who can fix it exactly.

Q. Now, you were speaking in your opening statement of 
other bridges built by you. Have you built a bridge of any size 
since you built the Second Narrows one? A, I have not built 
that.

Q. Well, I mean building, of course? A. I have designed 
one. 

30 Q. Designed one ? A. Larger than this.
Q. That was built—one that was built? A. We hope to 

start on it in a month or two.
Q. That is the Chicoutimi one you spoke of? A. Yes.
Q. Except for that one that you mentioned, have you designed 

a single one which has been built ? A, Since this ?
Q. Yes? A. No.
Q. Had you ever designed a big bridge before this one ? A. 

I have had a good deal—
Q. Which was built? A. I have had a good deal to do with 

40 other big bridges, but in my previous evidence a few minutes ago 
it was Mr. Smaill designed this bridge.

Q. Oh, yes, you concurred in that. Then I am now asking 
you about bridges you designed before this and you have not told 
me one ? A. Well, I have designed 16 small bridges for Montreal 
Harbour—

Q. I don't want to travel far afield unless you think it is 
valuable. Did you do one comparable to this in any way? A. No. 
nothing like that.
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Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)
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Q. Well, tell me another one, except the Chicoutimi which 
is not started yet ? A. I just mentioned 16 bridges for Montreal 
Harbour, they were small—

Q. They are small bridges ? A. Very small bridges.
Q. Yes? A. Well, a fairly big bridge— —
Q. But I am asking— A. A fairly big bridge, double deck 

swing across the river Avon hi England, I was associated in the 
construction of it many years ago. 10

Q. With whom? A. When I was employed by Sir Ben­ 
jamin Baker.

Q. He was the designer of that? A. No, he was not.
Q. Well, who was? A. Bristol Docks.
Q. Well, that doesn't seem to carry us any further? A. 

I was on the construction.
Q. Oh, yes, granted. What I am asking you is, and I think 

you have answered it once— A. Not designing, supervising 
construction of a big—fairly big swing bridge at Avonmouth.

Q. Was it comparable to this one in any sense. A. It was 20 
a swing span.

Q. Was it comparable, now will you— A, No, it had no 
comparison with this.

Q. So really if you come down to it, to give you another 
chance, you will agree—I think I am being frank with you, this 
is your sole example of building a big bridge, the sole case where 
you ever did it yourself and designed it—or took part in it? A, 
I was particular about these matters of designing it—

Q. I had better put the question better— A. This is the 
biggest bridge that I have had to deal with in the capacity in 30 
which I was employed.

Q. I see. Your real specialty is harbour work, is it not ? A. 
Yes, sir.

Mr. Griffin: That is all. No more questions, my lord.
Mr. Donaghy: My lord, as my questions to this witness were 

addressed entirely to my case in chief—although my friend has 
seen fit to take him into lines which would seem to anticipate cap­ 
abilities of defence and also a defence to his counter claim—I do 
not choose to follow him into that in the case in chief, because that 
is all this witness is on now. When he is in later on, at the proper 40 
period I will pursue that.

Mr. Griffin: Well, I didn't take him anywhere beyond one 
topic—I have not in any way encroached upon the other topic at 
all. I dealt entirely with the question of legality of construction 
and alternative modes of construction.

The Court: When the time comes for having it tendered, I 
shall rule upon it.
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Mr. Donaghy: Yes, very good, my lord.
The Court: That is aU, Mr. Swan.
(Witness aside.)
Mr. Griffin: I should like, my lord, to have my friend now 

definitely close his case so there will be no mis-understanding about 
it now.

The Court: Well, Mr. Griffin, if you wish—Mr. Smith inti­ 
mated that there was another witness, I understood, that he might 
possibly wish to be called, in addition to the other witnesses that he 
called before.

Mr. Griffin: That would be our case, but we now want to be 
sure that my friend has closed his.

The Court: Oh no, I mentioned in regard to the other wit­ 
nesses that Mr. Smith—very largely, very well, if I might say so 
—examined in regard to the navigation question. Did I under­ 
stand you that there was one still remaining?

Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, we intend to call, but we would 
like to have my friend, since he has closed his case, to make that 
statement so we will know exactly where we are without any con­ 
fusion at the finish.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, I did, when I finished my examination in 
chief of Mr. Swan.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: I thought that was clearly understood.
Mr. Smith: Captain Stalker.

JOHN DOUGLAS STALKER, a witness called on behalf of the Defendant's 
Defendant, being first duly sworn, testified as follows: Case

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:
Q. You live in Vancouver ? A. I do.
Q. You will have to speak as loudly as you can. A, Yes.
Q. Because I am quite some way from you. You are the 

manager of the Harbour Navigation Company? A. Yes.
Q. And you have been in the employment of that Company 

for how long? A. Very nearly 12 years.
Q. And at that you have been ten years as manager? A. 

Yes.
Q. And previous to that you were running up and down the 

Second Narrows in boats? A. I was for two years as mate.
Q. Two years, yes; subsequent to that, that is during the time 

that you have been manager, have you been taking trips up the 
Second Narrows also as relieving Captain or otherwise ? A. Yes, 
I have, usually about once a week.

Q. About once a week; how many vessels have the Harbour 
Navigation Company? A., We have four at the present time. 
We had up until recently six—smaller vessels.

J. D. Stalker 
Direct.
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Q. Yes? A. Passenger vessels.
Q. Yes. You operate, I understand, a passenger service up 

the Second Narrows? A. Entirely, practically, passengers and 
mail.

Q. Entirely passengers—passengers and mail you say? A. 
Yes.

Q. And the vessels which you operate are small vessels ? A. 
Yes.

Q. Give his lordship an idea of their size? A. Oh, they 
would average—well, a little under 100 feet in length, and approxi­ 
mately 17 or 18 feet in beam, perhaps about eight or nine feet in 
draught, tonnage probably would be from 40 to 100 tons.

Q. That is the tonnage? A. Yes.
Q. And those vessels for the last several years have been 

engaged in daily service, have they, through the Narrows? A. 
Yes, some several times a day.

Q. Yes. Now, before the Bridge was built did your vessels 
operate at all stages of the tide? A. Oh yes.

Q. Just speak a little louder? A. Yes.
Q. Yes, and had they any difficulty in navigating at that 

time? A. No.
Q. Since the bridge has been built have they found any dif­ 

ference in navigation from the point of view of difficulty ? A. 
Yes.

Q. Well, just how, will you say? A. Well, there is diffi­ 
culty in—on account of the tides, that is when we are going east­ 
ward through the span, or through the bridge, if we are bucking 
the tide, that is an ebb tide, it is difficult going through the souther­ 
ly span which is on the proper side of the fairway—sometimes it 
is impossible to go through that span. The southerly span in low 
water is not safe to go through because there is evidently, from 
our experience, shoal water just easterly of that span. With one 
of the boats it did slight damage to the railing. And with the tide 
running out why you stay over against that pier just to the north­ 
ward of that south span. And then again in flood tide, if you are 
holding that side of the channel there is a tendency to set you to the 
north shore—considerable tendency that way. If you don't stay 
out fairly well in the current it is quite difficult, even with those 
smaller boats, to line your boat for whatever pier you are going 
through—whatever span you are going through, rather.

Q. All right. Now then, in your opinion is the bridge an 
interference with navigation ? A. Yes.

Q. And is it a menace to navigation? A. Yes.
Q. Before the bridge was built how did the current flow 

through the Narrows? A. Well, there was a fairly direct cur­ 
rent flowing through the Narrows either way.
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Q. Did it follow more or less the contour of the shoreline?
A. Exactly.

Q. Since the bridge has been built how has that current been 
affected? A. Well, instead of the current following the line 
of the shore, which was, I would say, the natural line for the cur- 
rent to take, the fill on the south shore has made a sort of — some- 
what of a dam there, and set the current considerably to the north- 
ward.

Q. Before the bridge was built did your vessels occasion- 
ally hug the south shore on going east ? A. Yes, we do that in 
bucking the ebb tide.

The Court: Q. Speak louder you know. A. We do that in 
bucking the ebb tide.

Mr. Smith: Q. Well, when you have the ebb tide against 
you you would go into the south shore to lose some of the force of 
it? A. Yes.

Q. And at these times how close to the south shore would you 
navigate? A., Well, we would come probably within fifty feet 
of the south shore.

The Court: Q. What is that you say? A. Approximate­ 
ly 50 feet.

Q. At all the stages? In which direction, east or west, 
going — A. Going easterly.

Mr. Smith: Q. And at what stage of the tide would you 
do that — what stage of the tide? A We would go any time, 
that is, we were hugging the shore bucking the tide of course.

Q. Yes, and now that the bridge has been built can you go 
so close to that shore ? A. No, we can't many times.

The Court : What stages.
Mr. Smith: Q. At what stage? A. We can go through 

the south span there, if it is practically high water slack, with 
any of the boats, but not any other time with some of them.

Q. Now, by the south span you mean the span to the south­ 
ward of the bascule — the most southerly span of all? A. Yes.

Q. Yes?
I am glad you mentioned that, I did not under­The Court 

stand that. 
Mr. Smith 
The Court

Yes, my lord, these entirely small vessels. 
I suppose as the vessels are so small that he has 

no need to resort to the bascule?
Mr. Smith : No, my lord ; he can go through the span to the 

south of the bascule.
The Court: Yes, thank you.
Mr. Smith : I am just dealing with that.
The Court: That is the same width, 150 feet.
Mr. Smith: Yes, 150,
Q. Now, just see that I get you clear, witness, I understand
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The Court: Yes, now, just to keep that clear, the other is the 
bascule span; now, you call this the south span?

Mr. Smith: Yes.
The Court: So we will know exactly what you mean.
Mr. Smith: Q: Now, you have got that span in your mind's 

eye, have you, that I am speaking of? A. Yes.
Q. South of the bascule? A. Yes.
Q. And I understand you that at high water slack your ves- 10 

sels use that span? A. More convenient to go that way.
Q. More convenient. Now, why do they not use that span 

at any other stage, other than high water slack? A. Well, I just 
mentioned one reason, we can't, if it is very low water, because 
we are in danger of hitting the bottom to the south of that span, 
and naturally we are going through that span on an ebb tide and 
the tide will carry you—force you in an offset towards the north— 
when the tide is apt to carry you over to that pier that the bascule 
rests on.

Q. I see. A. Which is not a very safe proposition when 20 
you have passengers on board.

Q. I see. So then at low water you fear that there is not 
sufficient water there for your vessels? A. For some of them 
there is not.

Q. For some of them? A. And it is not—it is not a safe 
proposition if the tide is running out very strong for the smaller 
ones there, if it is very low water.

Q. Yes, and that is because of what, witness? That is not 
because there is not sufficient water but for some other reason 
that you have already given? A Well, the tide is running out. 30

Q. The tide is running out, and it is running in what direc­ 
tion ? A. It has a tendency to set towards the northward.

Q. Yes, and that is the reason then why you can't use the 
south span when there is any tide running? A. Yes.

Q. Yes.
The Court: Do we understand him to say then, Mr. Smith— 

I did not get it quite clear—what are the principles then that you 
can us£ the south span, let us settle that ?

Mr. Smith: What are the times, my lord ?
The Court: Yes, I understood him to tell you that there were 40 

certain stages of the tide at which he would not venture using— 
it was dangerous to use the south span?

Mr. Smith: Yes.
The Court: Did I understand him to tell you that there was 

sometime when he still could do so?
Mr. Smith: Yes, my lord, he can always use the south span 

at high water slack.
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The Court: Yes, all his vessels?
Mr. Smith: Yes, all his vessels I think.
Q. With all your vessels ? A. Yes, at high water slack.
Q. At high water slack? A. Yes.
Mr. Smith: Then he can't use the south span at low water 

slack because there is not enough water there and he says that he 
can't use it when there is any current running because the current 
deflects to the north—is deflected by the rock fill to the north.

Q. That is as I understand your evidence? A. Yes. 
10 Q. Yes. Now, when you say—

The Court: Just one moment, until I see that I have it. 
What about half tides, he has not quite covered that I see.

Mr. Smith: Q. Yes, what about half tides there ? A. My 
lord, from nearly the top of high water slack until a little after it 
would be all right until there gets to be considerable current in 
that span.

Q. Now, when you don't use the south span, what span do 
your vessels use? A. We go over to the 300-foot span, which 
you are supposed to use.

20 Q. Well, you can go under that span, too ? A. I beg your 
pardon ?

Q. You can go under the other fixed span also ? A. Not 
at all tides, not—with some of the boats, yes, and with some of 
them not.

Q. What boat cannot pass under the span? A. That 
"Harbour Princess" can't go under the bridge at high water.

Q. So that with the "Harbour Princess" you go where— 
through the bascule span at high water? A. At high water we 
blow for the span—just to open.

30 Q. That is the only boat, I might make that clear, and I 
might just as well lead on it—that with one exception all your 
boats can go under the fixed span, that exception is the "Har­ 
bour Princess," and at high water she must go through the bas­ 
cule draw and have it opened for her? A. Yes.

Q. That is correct, is it not? A. Yes.
Q. Now, in order to protect all your vessels going under the 

fixed span did you have their masts hinged? A. Three of the 
boats were hinged.

Q. Yes, and the other boats would go anyway, could they? 
40 A. We cut the mast down so that they could pass under the 

bridge.
Q. Now, in which cases were—in the other cases you cut the 

masts down? Is it an objectionable feature to have your mast on 
a hinge ? A. I think so, to a certain extent.

Q. Why? A. Well, our masthead light is on the mast the 
is hinged, and we have to lower that from sometime above the
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Q. In your opinion, is the current stronger now than it was 
before the bridge was built, or otherwise? A. Stronger now.

Q. In what different respects do you feel that the bridge is 
an interference with navigation ? A. Well, there is one just that 
you have mentioned now, is the piers—the fill on the south shore, 
and the piers that naturally dam the water to a considerable extent, 
made the water run a great deal faster through the Narrows than 
it did previously; and the fill on the south shore has—sets a con- 10 
siderable current off towards the northward. Besides that, those 
piers, after the water has struck them, makes a very great differ­ 
ence in the swirls and eddies that you have on the other side of 
the bridge from which the current is coming. With the smaller 
boats it makes considerable difference.

Q. Did you ever find the condition of things at the bridge 
where you have possibly slack water on the surface and a bit of 
tide running underneath. Have you ever experienced that ? A. 
I don't know that that would affect these smaller boats materially. 
I have noticed the currents, as you say, but I don't know that it 20 
affects us until the tide has passed the slack considerably.

Q. Yes, it doesn't affect you. What is the duration of slack 
water high water at its slackest—at low water slack on a long run 
ou,t ? A. Oh, there is practically nothing to it at all. There is 
just a tide one way or the other almost instantly.

Mr. Smith: I think that is all.
The Witness: Speaking further on the bridge, as far as it 

affects us materially, when carrying passengers—what I have 
never been able to understand is the putting of an obstruction in 
a navigable channel such as those piers without any protection. 30 
We have got to go through that bridge at all times, foggy weather 
and so on, and that is the difficulty that we find, that before that 
bridge was there we had nothing to interfere with us at all. Now, 
the difficulty is to find those piers. We had notice not to go 
through that channel except when it was clear weather, but then 
our business requires that we go through it at all times. If we 
didn't go through, well then, we wouldn't be carrying on any busi­ 
ness; and the difficutly is to find those piers. There is a number 
of them and I often wonder that we don't hit them. There is noth­ 
ing to mark them in anyway. If it was an obstruction to the chan- 40 
nel, I believe the law is there would be a bell or fog horn of some 
sort on it.

Mr. Smith: All right, thank you.
Mr. Burns: I will be sometime, my lord.
The Court: Yes, thank you, Mr. Burns.
Mr. Burns: At least I will be longer than this.
The Court: Oh, yes, you have to take more time.
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(COURT ADJOURNED AT 1 O'CLOCK UNTIL 2:15 P.M. OF
THE SAME DAY.)

2:15 P.M.
(COURT MET PURSUANT TO ADJOURNMENT.) 

JOHN DOUGLAS STALKER, resumed the stand.
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:

Q. How long have you been with the Harbour Navigation 
Company, Captain? A. Nearly 12 years.

Q. You are now Harbour Captain, are you, or Port Captain ? 
10 A. I am manager of the company.

Q. Manager of the company? A. Yes.
Q. How long since you have been manager? A. Nearly 

ten years.
Q. Well then, did you take command or go in your vessels 

yourself? A. Occasionally I go out.
Q. But very occasionally I understand? A. Probably an 

average of once a week.
Q. Whenever occasion requires you would take a vessel out 

yourself ? A. Yes, sometimes it is necessary and I like to go once 
20 in a while.

Q. Yes. Would you say that for the last three or four years 
you have made an average—

The Court: Excuse me, Mr. Burns, did I understand this 
man to say that he was a Master Mariner himself?

Witness: I have an Inland waters certificate, my lord.
The Court: Q. What? A. Inland Water certificate, 

Master Mariner's certificate.
Q. Inland waters? A. Yes.
Mr. Burns: Q. Would you say that in the last three or four 

30 years you have averaged once a week? A, Yes.
Q. That would be not on the daily boats, would it ? A. I 

beg your pardon?
Q. You have some boats I understand running daily—re­ 

gularly? A. Yes.
Q. Others that run intermittently? A.. Well, you see our 

business to a great extent is seasonal, it is summertime—
Q. I know, but take the season of your business. You have

some boats that are on regular runs, I understand, what is it—
"Lo Olbee" and "Fort Langley?" A. Yes, they run every day.

40 Q- Yes; well, those are the boats that take the daily runs,
aren't they? A. Yes.

Q. The other boats that you have take intermittent runs, that 
is when the traffic is heavy, or some special excursions or some­ 
thing of that kind; isn't that so? A. Not exactly, when the sea­ 
son is on they run every day.
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Q. Every day? A, Perhaps two or three times a day.
Q. Which ones of these ? A. All of them.
Q. Which are they? A. The "Harbour Princess," the 

"Scenic," the "Lo Olbee" and the "Fort Langley."
Q. Well, the '' Harbour Princess'' and'' Scenic,'' apart from 

the two that you mentioned? A, Yes.
Q. And the '' Scenic'' and the'' Harbour Princess'' only run 

when the business warrants it, isn 't that so ? A. No, our summer 
season.

Q. Well, do they run every day in your summer season 
throughout? A. Yes, practically every day.

Q. Then you have the whole four boats running every day 
during your summer season, is that right? A. It would aver­ 
age that way I think, running.

Q. It is not a matter of average, every day I understood you 
all during the season ? A. Yes, there are some days they might 
not all run.

Q. Well, there would be quite a number of days I am in­ 
structed? A. No, not—very seldom in the summertime that they 
are not all running.

Q. And as far as you are concerned, since the bridge has 
been constructed you have only taken a trip up here and there— 
once a week you say as an average? A. Yes.

Q. Do you know anything about the accidents that occurred 
to any of your ships owing to fog going through the Second Nar­ 
rows before the bridge was constructed? A. No.

Q. Running aground in fog ? A. No.
Q. Are you in a position to say that because you don't know 

that it didn't occur? A. I don't know of any occasion of any of 
our boats going aground in foggy weather before the bridge was 
there.

Q. Are you in a position to say that because you don't know 
that that didn't occur? A. Yes.

Q. So that you say that none of your boats ran aground in 
the Second Narrows before the bridge was constructed; is that 
your answer ? A. I am safe in saving that, yes.

Q. On account of fog in the Second Narrows ? A. Yes.
Q. Now, one of your boats going up—as a matter of fact we 

will cover this, the "Harbour Princess" is the only one that takes 
the Bascule span, that is, has the bascule span open for her? A. 
Yes, at the present time.

Q. Yes. With the bascule span shut do they run through, 
that is the other boats, other than the'' Harbor Princess " ? A. At 
the present time, yes.

Q. They run through the bascule span? A. I beg your par­ 
don f
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Q. Well, you see, just to test your opinion of the 300-foot RECORD 
span, the bascule span and the south span? A. Yes. British Columbia

Q. Now, do any of your boats, outside of the "Harbor Prin- Admir^'y D"'- 
cess," use the bascule span when it is shut? A. Oh, yes, quite Defendant's 
occasionally. Case

Q. Yes, more often use the 300-foot span? A. "Well, we D ~~ 
have been asked to do that as far as possible. Cross e

Q. Well, never mind what you are asked, but as a matter of (Contd.j 
fact you more often use the 300-foot span? A. Yes. 

10 Q. Yes, I understand you to say the 300-foot span is lower, 
gives you less clearance than the south span? A. That the 
lower —

Q. That the 300-foot span gives you less clearance?
The Court: Call that one the north span, then there is the 

north, the bascule and south.
Mr. Burns : Very well, my lord.
Q. Then you know the 300-foot span? A. Yes.
Q. Now, I will speak of it as the north span? A. Yes.
Q. And the bascule in the middle, and the south span? A. 

20 Yes.
Q. Now, do I understand you to say in your evidence-in- 

chief that the north span gives less clearance than the south span ? 
A. No.

Q. It is the same, is it not ? A. The same, as I understand.
Q. Now, your boats, when it is a fair tide, will take the 300- 

foot span — mid-stream, both ways? Don't they? A. Not al­ 
ways.

Q. Well, explain it then. A. Well, the majority of the time
in a fair tide either way we go that way, but there might be other

30 reasons for us taking the south span or perhaps the bascule span.
Q. Well, but generally speaking they go up and down when 

they are on a fair tide through the north span — or with exceptions, 
is that right? A. We do, with exceptions, yes.

Q. Yes, all right. Then when you are bucking the current, 
going east for instance, bucking the ebb tide, you go up the south 
span? A. Yes.

Q. Go through the south span. Which you did before the 
bridge was built? A. We hugged that shore, yes.

Q. Now, you say that in going through the south span that 
40 there is a certain set to the north when you are taking the ebb 

tide coming out? A. At certain times, yes, there is quite a de­ 
cided —

Q. Well, will you explain what times that there is a set to 
the north? A. Well, when you have nearly slack water of course 
there is very little current in the Narrows.

Q. All right. A. If there is very —
Q. But I mean bucking an ebb tide, you say at certain times,
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now, what do you mean by certain times ? A. Well, if your tide is 
nearly slack you will not have very much under current and there­ 
fore there is not much set to the tide.

Q. If you are not bucking—we are not interested in that, but 
bucking the ebb tide you go up the south span, and you say that 
there is a set to the north. Now, you have told me that it occurred 
at certain times. I want you to explain that. A. It occurs be­ 
tween the high water slack and the low water slack, the worst of it.

Q. The greater strength at the time when the tide is strong­ 
est? A. Yes. 10

Q. That would naturally follow. In other words, the start 
of an ebb tide, it would be very little, it would gradually get up 
on the strength of the tide and then gradually subside? A. Yes.

Q. Is that right! A. Yes.
Q. Now then, do you say that that current comes from— 

what—that set north, what is the cause of it? A. I would say that 
the set of the current there is from the tide hitting against the fill 
that is there and setting off towards the north.

Q. That is to say, the ebb tide you say causes a set to the 
north? A. Yes. 20

Q. What was the name—you spoke of one vessel that hit the 
piers—ran against the pier? A. No.

Q. Didn't you? I thought you said something about a ves­ 
sel that ran against the pier. What did you say with reference 
to that? A. I said that we found that there was a shoal on the 
south of that—of the south span—to the east of the south span.

Q. Yes? A. By one of the boats hitting there.
Q. Oh, there was no boat of yours went against the pier ? A. 

No.
Q. Now, how far east of the bridge is that shoal that you 30 

speak of ? A. It would be 100 to 200 feet east of the bridge.
Q. East of the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. That is, east of the eastern side of the bridge? A. East 

of the—yes.
Q. Yes.
The Court: Q. That is east—of course I suppose he means 

of the south span? A. Yes.
Mr. Burns: Q. Yes, of course I am speaking of the shoal 

on the south shore.
The Court: I had the profile plan here. 40 

Q. What boat was that? A. The "HarborMr. Burns: 
Princess."

The Court: 
Mr. Burns:

Just a moment.
Oh, pardon me, my lord. 

Q. What was the name of that boat? 
Princess."

The Court: Just one moment, if you please, Mr. Burns.

A. "The Harbour
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there as Number 5, which is the south end of the opening for the Mmir 
south span. Now, you have said that that shoal is 100 to 200 feet Defendant's 
east of the bridge. Did you mean that? A. Just east of this span. Case

Q. Now, don't say "this"— A. Of the south span. , D g~fker
Q. The south span, yes. Now, you are looking at pier Num- cross-exam. 

her 5. Look at the number, is that it? Can you see the Number 5 (Contd.) 
immediately there? A. Yes, my lord. 

10 Q. You are looking at pier No. 5? A. Yes.
Q. That is the south pier of the south span? A. Yes.
Q. Now, do you mean that, witness? That it is from 100 to 

200 feet east of that, that shoal? A. East of the center of the 
south span.

Q. Now, get your mind concentrated upon what I told you. 
This is pier No, 5, are you looking at that? A. Yes, my lord.

Q. Now then, how far is that shoal east from that? A. 
100 to 200 feet east of that.

Q. That is it? A. Number 5 pier.
20 Mr. Burns: Q. When you say 100 to 200 feet, would you 

say it was somewhere between 100 and 200 feet, that is what you 
mean ? A. Yes.

Q. Would it be nearer 200 feet or nearer 100 feet in your 
idea? A. Oh, I wouldn't be prepared to say.

Q. What is the draught of the "Harbour Princess"? A. 
Approximately nine feet.

Q. And what was the date of. that occurrence? A. About 
two years ago, as near as I could tell you.

Q. What was the stage of the tide? A. Fairly low tide. 
30 Q. Fairly low tide? A. Yes.

Q. Would you say that it was low tide? A. Yes, nearly, 
a shallow tide.

Q. Did she go through the south span? A. Yes.
Q. Why would she go through the south span when she 

could have gone through the north span as easy? A. Well—
Q. In that stage of water? A. Well, she was bucking a 

certain amount of current I presume, and he would naturally be 
keeping in out of the current.

Q. Were you aboard? A. I was not.
40 Q. Then you are just speaking of a report that was made to 

you about the "Harbour Princess" running aground and you are 
presuming the rest; is that right? A. Yes.

Q. Now, you know of course that the Harbor Board regula­ 
tion is that a fog horn cannot be used on the bridge. You under­ 
stand that?

The Court: Fog horns shall not be used.
Mr. Burns: Shall not be used upon the bridge.
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A. I have never been able to get that very clear.
Q. Well, have you been notified—I think you said you got 

notice—that there would be no fog horn on the bridge. Were you 
notified to that effect? A. Yes, later.

Q. By whom ? A. By the bridge company, and either verb­ 
ally or in writing by Captain Reed.

Q. Captain Reed, who is Harbor Master 1 A. Harbor Mas­ 
ter, yes.

Q. Now, what are you not clear about? A. I beg your par­ 
don? 10

Q. You say you are not clear—you said it was not very clear 
to you? A. Yes. They put a fog signal on there for a time and 
used it and then they discontinued it.

Q. Well then, you got this notice from the Harbor Commis­ 
sioners? A. We were not notified about it at the time that it 
was—it was just stopped without any notice at first.

Q. Well then, you got the notice? A. Yes.
Q. And since that time you have had notice that there would 

be no fog signals on the bridge, that is as far as sound was con­ 
cerned, that is so, is it not? A. "We were just notified that that 20 
signal order would be discontinued.

Q. Well then, you never made it your business to find out 
what the situation was—didn't you, or did you? A. I don't un­ 
derstand you.

Q. Well, didn't you make it your business as general man­ 
ager, or manager, of this Navigation Company, using the Second 
Narrows in your work, to find out about it? A. I, as manager, 
tried to do what I could to have some sort of signal put in that 
place.

Q. Well, but in the meantime you got notification and you 30 
knew that there was no fog horn on the bridge; isn't that so? A. 
Yes.

Q. Now, what are you not clear about? A. Regarding what 
I said before lunch, was why an obstruction should be placed in 
the channel where we had—where we navigated for years before 
without any obstruction without any difficulty, and why these 
obstructions should be placed there at very great risk to our boats 
without any signal of any sort to indicate where those piers were.

Q. Well then, what you mean by not being clear is that you 
complain that there is no fog signal, that is fog horn on the bridge; 40 
is that it? A. Well, to make myself clearer, if I can, if there 
were an obstruction of any sort, any rock or anything of that sort 
in a fair way it would be marked with a buoy—bell-buoy, or some­ 
thing of that sort.

Q. Well, witness, you understand this, don't you, that what 
you mean when you say you are not clear about, is that you simply
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RECORDare complaining that there is no fog signal — fog horn on the 
bridge; isn't that so? A. That is the point. British Columbia 

Q. All right. Now, you have been helped quite a bit by the Admiralty Di«- 
bridge operators, haven't you, in connection with the navigation Defendant's 
of the bridge in fog? A. In what way do you mean? Case

Q. Well, you know, don't you? A. I would say we got no 
help whatever/

Q. No help whatever? A. No.
Q. Then you didn't get light signals, you didn't get that 

10 sounding triangle and so on, helping you through? A. Nothing 
of that sort to my knowledge.

Q. Well, does that mean you simply — it didn't occur with 
you ? A. Nor any of our Masters that I know of.

Q. So far as your direct results —
Mr. Griffin : Well, let him answer.
Mr. Burns : Q. So far as your other Masters arq concerned 

you have received no report to that effect. That is what you 
mean? A. Yes.

Q. Now, have you altered your schedule of sailings in any 
20 way because of the bridge? A. No, I can't say, definitely.

Q. Well, can you say — you can't say indefinitely either, can 
you, Captain, except by your state of mind. You know as a matter 
of fact you haven't altered your schedule of sailings one iota by 
reason — because of the bridge? A. Yes, it has had something 
to do with it.

Q. Well, what have you done, let me have it? A. Where 
a run was not particularly profitable the bridge certainly was the 
deciding factor in discontinuing the boat going up there at night 
or in foggy weather.

80 Q. Do you mean that you took that into consideration when 
you were going to put a boat off? A. Yes.

Q. But as far as your regular sailings were concerned, that 
is what I was getting from you, these haven't been altered in 
anyway because of the bridge ? A. It would be a regular sailing 
that I speak of, but the bridge was the deciding factor in discon­ 
tinuing it.

Q.. Then you mean to say that there have been regular sail­ 
ings of yours that you have called off because of the bridge? A. 
Yes.

*° Q, Will you tell me the ones? A. One — it is the one I have 
in mind, is the boat leaving Vancouver at — I can't say definitely, 
7:30 or 8:30 on a Sunday night.

Q. Is that during the summer season? A. All the year 
around.

Q. All the year round? A. Yes.
Q. When was that running regularly? A. We were run­ 

ning regularly until — I think it was a year ago.

(Contd.)
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Q. Yes, and then you stopped it? A. Yes.
Q. And why did you stop it ? A. Well, it was not a particu­ 

larly profitable run, and going out through that bridge at night 
time, and occasionally fog at night time as well, we didn't figure 
it was—

Q, That was one reason, one of the reasons you had against 
the bridge when you gave me your answer a minute ago, is that so?

Mr. Smith: That is not fair, he did not.
Mr. Burns: Well, isn't it fair—let us see whether it is not 

fair or not. 10
Q. You say now it was not a particularly profitable run, and 

on account of fog and so on you took it off ? Or that you took it 
off because of the bridge? A. I said the bridge was the deciding 
factor. •,••'[. ai^Ma&

Q. Was the deciding factor, all right, we will leave it that 
way. And if the bridge had not been there you would have con­ 
tinued it? A. We probably would have continued for sometime 
at least.

Q. How do you mean sometime—a few months or more? A. 
No, we might have carried on for a year—maybe a year or two 20 
longer. We figured the risk was too much for what we were get­ 
ting out of it.

Q. Well then, when you say "probably would have continued 
it for a year or two longer," then you wouldn't have it running 
now anyway; is that right? A. It may have been running at the 
present time.

Q. You don't know? A. No.
Q. Now, do you know the depth of water under the south 

span at low water? A. I do not.
Q. You said that the current was stronger since the bridge 30 

has been constructed, what did you mean by that? A. Well, it 
can't possibly help but be stronger than it was previously.

Q. What you mean is just what I thought. You meant that 
because of the piers being placed in there, that naturally the cur­ 
rent would be stronger? A. Yes, and then the fill at the south 
end of the bridge acts somewhat as a wing dam, or whatever you 
might call it.

Q. Yes, you said it before. So that you interpret that or 
deduce that from the fact of the bridge being there, that it must 
necessarily make the current stronger? A. Yes, and our experi- 40 
ence with the current.

Q. Well, what experience have you had that will base your 
statement? A. Well, going to and fro up and down the Narrows 
as often as we do—

Q. I don't say that, I want your evidence now—your per­ 
sonal evidence. A. Well, there is no question about it, when I 
am going up and down I could tell before the bridge was there and
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after it the effect it would have—the bridge put right off one end. RECORD 
Q. Where? A. In the narrowest part of the channel where British Columbia

the bridge 18. Admiralty Dist.

Q. Well then, at what part of the bridge, right across the Defendant's 
channel or some particular span? A. No, I would say practically Case 
from the south shore, well over toward the north shore. T D r~r;

Q. Well, you mean practically across the whole of the chan- ctoss-mm 
nel? A. Yes. (Contd.j

Q. That the current is stronger. How much stronger would 
10 you say? A. Well, I—I wouldn't be prepared to just say to the 

extent.
Q. Well, what do you mean by saying that it is stronger? 

Can't you define that in some way? A. Well, I just said as far 
as the average boat going down there, it makes a material differ­ 
ence on it.

Q. Well, how much difference? A. Well, I would say that 
the current was running probably a knot or two knots faster than 
it was before any place in the Narrows.

Q. One knot or two knots faster than it was before ? A. Yes. 
20 Q. That is before the construction of the Second Narrows 

bridge? A. Yes.
Q. Have you given any thought to the dredging of the First 

Narrows in respect of that? A. Not particularly.
Q. You haven't thought about that at all? A. No.
Q. You would think, wouldn't you, that if the First Narrows 

was made a deeper channel that it would have a tendency to in­ 
crease the current at the Second Narrows, wouldn't you? A. I 
suppose it would.

Mr. Burns: That is all. 
30 Mr. Smith: That is all.

The Court: Q. Your evidence is interesting, witness, in this 
way, that you are the first witness that has been heard in behalf 
of the so-called smaller craft. Now, I understand that you are— 
of course undoubtedly, as the whole community is interested, your 
business would be very important for transportation, therefore I 
am glad to hear you. Now, I understand you are operating four 
vessels? A. At the present time, my lord.

Q. Yes. Now, why don't you use the bascule? A. You 
mean, my lord, to have the bascule raised?

40 Q- No, with the present bascule, why don't you use—you see 
you have told us that you used the north span and the south span, 
why didn't you use the bascule span? A. We do occasionally, my 
lord, use that span, but we prefer to use the 300-foot span for 
certain reasons of our own, and because we have been asked to do 
that by the bridge company as much as possible.

Q. Yes, I understand that, but what I mean, is there any— 
your vessels being so small, I understood you to say the largest 
was 100 or about that? A. 110.
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RECORD Q. no, yes. You experienced no difficulty, did you, in using 
British Columbia the bascule if you wanted to? A. Except on a high tide, I believe 

it is a bit lower than the span, my lord.
Q. Oh, I see. A. There is a foot less clearance for—
Q. For your masts? A. Yes, exactly, my lord.
Q. At high tide? A. Yes.
Q. Well now, apart from that, you have no difficulty in using 

the bascule for the moment if you wanted to ? A. Oh, exactly—
Q. Precisely? A. One thing, my lord, is that I believe that 

the tide runs better through the long span than through the others. 10
Q. That may very well be, you see, but what I mean is there 

is np—in a ship of the small size apparently of your ships, you 
see—I am looking now from your point of view? A. Yes, sir.

Q. I say, as I said before, that with the increase of settle­ 
ment the smaller craft are a factor, just as much as anything else, 
so as I say the question of this bridge, by reason of it causing 
obstruction to navigation does not mean something for the big 
ships alone, it means to all concerned? A. Exactly.

Q. So apart from what you might call the convenience of the 
matter, I think a very laudable idea, of not inconveniencing the 20 
bridge company unnecessarily, the only difficulty you would ex­ 
perience in regard to the bascule would be at high tide. You un­ 
derstand it is a foot lower? A. Exactly, my lord.

Q. You are not troubled, as I understand from what you say, 
with the shoal, if you are going through the bascule, the shoal that 
is ah,ead of you won't.trouble you like it would big ships? A. Oh 
no, my lord, that is quite all right, that part.

Q.. Of course, because you can manoeuvre in a short distance ? 
A. That is right.

Q. Yes, I understand so. Now then, what is the height of 30 
your masts? A. Now, I am afraid, my lord, I can't tell you ex­ 
actly that. The "Harbor Princess" is 22 feet to the top of where 
the mast is hinged.

Q. Oh, I see, where it is hinged, to the deck? A. Yes, and 
the mast would probably be about 18 or 20 feet above that again.

Q. Yes. Well, what I mean is, is there really any necessity 
for your having a high mast now. It certainly cannot be except 
for lights, can it? A. Well, exactly, we must carry lights—

Q. I know you must, but that is what I don't quite under­ 
stand you see. You might, instead of having a hinge to your mast, 40 
all you would have to do would be for instance to cut a foot off it. 
What I mean is, what is the necessity for your having the mast so 
high? It is just looks, is it not? A. No, the—

Q. Well, what is the object? A. Well, you see the 22 feet 
I spoke of in the "Harbor Princess," that is really the top of her 
pilot house.

Q. Oh, I see. A. Now, you would have to have your light 
a certain distance above that again to show properly.
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Q. Yes, quite so, you have your side lights and your mast RECORD 
light? A. They are on the boat deck—just at the wheel-house British Columbia
(Jegk Admiralty Diit.

Q. Yes, exactly. A. Now, there would have to he a mast Defendant's 
of such height it would have to be hinged in any case on that Case 
boat. , P. „ .,

Q. Of course, seeing that you cannot give me the exact height cross-exam* 
you see from the water, you see, to the bridge, it is impossible to (Comd.) 
tell whether you are right on that or not. A. Well, at extreme 

10 high water the top of the wheel-house would practically touch the 
bottom of the bridge.

Q. It would? A. Yes.
Q. I see. A. That is why we use the—if the bridge opened 

when we were within a couple of feet, in that case if you got on a 
wash you are liable to catch the bridge from underneath.

Q. Well now, then, of course that does not—as you have 
explained, that does not relate to the bascule. Now, tell me this, 
you have spoken of the difficulty you have experienced with regard 
to obstructions? That is to say, that before the bridge, if there 

20 was any obstruction in the channel you would expect it to be 
buoyed or a light shown or fog signal or something of that kind? 
A. Exactly, my lord.

Q. Now, it has been brought out that there are no fog sig­ 
nals on the bridge because the Harbor Board, which has the juris­ 
diction over these matters, and again presumably in the interests 
of navigation, would permit them. But suppose that there were 
lights on these piers, or in the center of these piers', supposing it 
was illuminated in the ordinary way of any series of lights, not 
red or green, which are the nautical lights, but any lights you like, 

30 a blue light or anything else, would that get over this difficulty? 
A. I think not, my lord. There should be some sound signal of 
same sort.

Q. You think there should be a sound signal ? A. Exactly—
Q. Where would you suggest ? A. Well, it would be imma­ 

terial as long as we knew what pier it was on. At the present time 
I believe that the bascule pier itself would be the best place to 
put it.

Q. Yea; well, it does seem to me, you know, that the way 
you have presented it, with your particular details, you see, seem 

40 to me to be—perhaps with the one exception, and that exception 
of that white light— A. Yes, my lord.

Q. It would seem to me to be relatively simple. That is 
while they are appreciable, what I mean is they could be easily 
overcome. It seems to me more a matter of the illumination of 
the bridge and aids to navigation, you understand what I mean ? 
A. Exactly.

Q. Not that I do not quite appreciate the difficulties you
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mention, but it would seem to me that these might be, so to speak, 
you know, related to any bridge which had piers there of any 
kind. I suppose that would be so, wouldn't it? A. Well, except 
if there was a reasonable span.

Q. Yes. A. The spans in the bridge are narrow, that is 
150 feet, and then 150 feet again, that is 150 in the south span, 150—

Q. Yes, but I was thinking of the north span which is ap­ 
parently a very long one ? A. Of course that is very difficult to 
navigate in fog, because if you are going over on that side you 
will get on the poor water on the south shore.

Q. Precisely. I understand that, but that is owing to the 
natural configuration of the ground apart from the bridge? A. 
Yes.

Q. Even before the bridge you did not resort to that unless 
you had to ? A. No, my lord.

Q. Even before that you hugged the south shore ? A. The 
point I am trying to make clear, my lord, is if it was wider—I am 
speaking now of the piers.

Q. Oh, yes. A. That if we had a wider space between the 
south pier, the fifth pier and the one on the north of the bascule 
pier, where instead of having just 150 feet to go through it would 
give us so much wider space, we would have a much better chance 
of getting through there.

Q. I see what you mean, you mean taking the south span— 
if the south span were wider? You are not thinking of the bas­ 
cule at all, but if the south span were wider it would help you? A. 
Exactly, if it were perhaps twice the width it is. It is very difficult 
to get through this narrow space in foggy weather, even with a 
small boat.

Q. Well, the trouble seems to be fog particularly, that is 
what I am trying to get at. Your main trouble is relief from fog ? 
A. That is part of our difficulty, my lord.

Q. But I mean it really is the most substantial, is it not? 
A. That is perhaps the most serious in our case.

Q. Yes, and it does seem to me that there is a great deal in 
what you say, that fog is very serious where you have piers in a 
bridge, and I was speculating just for the moment as to how that 
could be removed, because that is a very large question. So you 
think then that lights upon the bridge would not assist you ? A. 
No, not to any extent.

Q. But if you had, for instance, a fog signal, would you 
suggest that it should be at the bascule piers 3 or 4 or at the south 
—pier No. 5 ? A. I think it would be better on No. 4, my lord.

Q. Where do you suggest this obstruction to navigation 
should be put f A. I would say—

Q. You see, looking at the bascule pier, there are two to-

10

30
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gether, 3 and 4? A. Exactly, I would suggest here, running — RECORD 
that is going from — British 

Q. You say what you mean by "here." A. Pier 5 there. M™ 
Q. On pier 5 ? A. You are getting very close to shore. Defendant's 
Q. I should think so, too, but I wish you to make the observa- Case 

tion. You think the proper place for a fog signal so it would. _ 
possibly assist you should be at Pier 5 ? A. No, pardon me, my cross.exam. 
lord, on Pier 4, with the other — Pier 5 is the shore pier. (Comd.)

Q. Oh, I see. A. Now, we would be getting too close on 
10 shore.

Q. Too close, yes. A. If the fog signal were here.
Q. That is on Pier 4? A. On No. 4 pier.
Q. Yes. A. It would give us a channel on either side.
The Court: Yes, that seems very sensible. Thank you.
Mr. Burns: May I ask the witness, a question, my lord?
The Court : Yes.
Mr. Burns : With reference to what your lordship was asking 

him.
Q. Did you make any complaint to Ottawa, witness, with 

20 reference to the using of a fog signal — sound signal on the bridge 
by the company? A. Now, if I remember correctly there was 
something done about the Shipping Bureau of the Board of Trade, 
and there was an agreement made about the fog horn on the bridge, 
and then after that fog horn was put on there, for some reason it 
was discontinued.

Q. Well, what I was asking you, did you take it up with 
Ottawa, that the company was using a fog horn improperly on the 
bridge ? A. No.

Q. You did not make any complaint yourself? A. No. 
80 Q. Were you a party to that complaint being made? A. 

No; the only thing that I had anything to do with, as I say, was 
through the Shipping Bureau of the Board of Trade.

Q. Mr. Stalker, I was asking you —
The Court : Turn this way.
Mr. Burns : Pardon me, my lord.
Q. — along that direction, it was along that direction? A. 

As far as I know, the fog signal placed on the bridge in the first 
place was concerned.

Q. No, but I mean the fog signal was there, and then com-
40 plaint was made to Ottawa. Do you know of this, that the bridge

company was using this fog horn improperly, because they were
not — they hadn't the authority to use it. Did you know that? A.
I understood something in connection with that.

Q. Yes; well, you were a party to that, were you not? A. 
That they were using it improperly?

Q. Yes. A. No.
Q. Without authority? A. No.
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RECORD Q it was after that complaint then that they were prohib- 
Columbia ited using it, was it not ? A. I believe it was something of that

Admir^Dut. gort that stopped it.

Defendant's Q. But you didn't have any part in that? A. No.
Case The Court: Do you wish to ask him?
T r. TT Mr. Smith: No, my lord, thank you.
Jr™J±r (Witness aside.)Cross-exam. -j.. 0 .,, '(Comd.) Mr. Smith: Mr. Hermon.

J. w. Hermon JAMES WILLIAM HERMON, Recalled, testified further as fol-
Recalled lows: 10 
Direct.

The Registrar: You are already under oath in this matter, 
Mr. Hermon? He was the second witness called, my lord.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:
Q. You have already told us that you live here and that you 

were a land surveyor in Vancouver, Mr. Hermon? A. Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: My lord, my friend called this witness in the 

early stages in his defence, and he was cross-examined, and I ob­ 
ject to him now being called for further examination. He should 
have exhausted him at the start.

The Court: Are you recalling him ? 20
Mr. Smith: Yes, I wish your lordship's permission to recall 

him on one point of his evidence which was overlooked at the time, 
my lord. I just want to ask a date from him as a matter of fact. 
He gave evidence your lordship will remember the last time, that 
he had made a survey and I omitted to ask him just what date that 
was, when he made the survey.

Mr. Donaghy: Well, if that is all.
The Court: Oh, you may go on.
Mr. Smith: Well, you will see, my lord.
The Court: Yes. 30
Mr. Smith: Q. You remember, Mr. Hermon, making a sur­ 

vey of the bridge? A. I do.
Q. Yes, and you made it at that time, I think with Mr. Don­ 

ald Cameron? A. Yes.
Q. And the effect of that survey is as shown on Exhibit 17. 

Do you remember what Exhibit 17 was ? A. Not off hand; it was 
the—

Q. Perhaps I had better find it for you. You remember this 
result of the survey of the locality made by you and Mr. Cameron. 
(Handing plan to witness.) A. Yes, that is so. 40

Q. And you carried out that survey at what date ? A. No­ 
vember 18th and 19th, 1924.

Q. Yes, and then subsequently you made another survey that 
is shown on Exhibit 19.
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Mr. Smith: No, that is Exhibit 18, Mr. Begistrar. RECORD
Q. Exhibit 18, witness, you remember making that survey. British Columbia 

(Handing plan to witness.) A. Yes, I remember.
Q. What date did you make that one ? A. February 12th 

1925.
Q. February, 1925. So that the first survey was made No- 

vember, 1924, and your second in February, 1925 ? A. Yes. Direct.
Q. And the first survey is as set out in Exhibit 17, and the (Contd.) 

second in Exhibit 18? A. Yes.
1° Q. Now, when you made the first survey in November, 1924, 

do you remember if the rock fill was being built or had they com­ 
menced building it just ? A. No, I don't remember that they had 
commenced it, I don't remember any rock fill there at that time at 
aU.

Q. There was no rock fill there?
Mr. Donaghy: No, he says he doesn't remember.
Mr. Smith : Q. When you returned in February, 1925, was 

the rock fill there then? A. Yes, it was there practically in the 
same form as it is today. 

20 Mr. Smith: That is all.
Mr. Donaghy : No questions.
Mr. Smith: Q. Just one question more, Mr. Hermon. In 

February, 1925, was the state of construction as is shown on this 
plan, namely these piers being in place? A. Yes.

Q. That is Exhibit 18, I refer to Exhibit 18. That was the 
state of construction in February, 1925 ? A. Yes, everything that 
was* there at that time is shown on this plan.

The Court : That is Number 18.
Mr. Smith : Number 18, my lord, yes. All right, thank you. 

30 (Witness aside.)
Mr. Griffin : I will ask my friend to produce a letter which 

I would like to put in, a letter of Messrs. Burns & Walkem to Mr. 
St. Laurent, Chief Engineer of the Public Works Department, 
22nd January, 1923. Just shortly to explain what it is, it is a let­ 
ter of application forwarding the plans for approval.

Mr. Donaghy : You can use that.
Mr. Griffin : I put in certified copy.
The Court : What is that you are putting in ?
Mr. Griffin: Letter from Messrs. Burns & Walkem to Mr. 

40 St. Laurent, Chief Engineer of the Public Works Department for­ 
warding the plans.

The Court : 22nd January, 1922.
Mr. Griffin: 1923.
The Court: 1923.
Mr. Griffin: Forwarding the plans for approval under the 

Eailway Act, and also a telegram of the 16th of February I am 
putting in this too. The first one will be Exhibit Number —
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RECORD The Registrar: ExMbit 37, my lord.
British Columbia
AJmirabyDh,. (DOCUMENT MAEKED EXHIBIT No. 37.)
Proceedings at Mr Griffin: ^^ & further one, being a telegram from

Messrs. Burns and Walkem to the Secretary of the Public Works
Department, 16th February, 1923. 

The Registrar: Exhibit 38.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT No. 38.)
The Court: That is 38, Mr. Registrar, is it?
The Registrar: 38, my lord, yes.
Mr. Griffin: I put in Notice to Mariners number 80 of 1925. 10
The Court: Number 80 of 1925?
Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord. The only passage I wish to call 

attention to is a short one as to duration of slack water: "The 
duration of slack water at both high and low water is brief and is 
ten minutes on the average.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT No. 39.)
Mr. Griffin: I asked my friend to produce a letter of the 

Plaintiff Company to the Vancouver Harbour Commissioners 27th 
June, 1923.

Mr. Donaghy: Did you give us notice to produce. 20
Mr. Griffin: I haven't given you notice about that particu­ 

lar one perhaps—I thought I did. My friend tells me he gave you 
notice to produce.

Mr. Burns: I haven't got it. What is it about.
Mr. Griffin: It speaks of the applications to the Railway 

Commissioners, and P. C. 718.
Mr. Donaghy: Let us see the copy and perhaps we will put 

that in.
Mr. Griffin: Covered by the notice to produce.
Mr. Burns: It isn't really from Burns & Walkem. 30
Mr. Griffin: Oh, I say Burns & Walkem—the Plaintiffs, I 

said, I think.
Mr. Burns: Oh, yes.
Mr. Griffin: I put in this copy with my friend's consent.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Addressed to the Vancouver Harbour Commis­ 

sioners. (Reading.)

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT No. 40.)
Mr. Griffin: The other parts of the letter I don't think are 

of any special importance, my lord, but they can be read if any- 40 
thing turns on them.
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I tender two photographs of the bridge. One of them is made RECORD 
by Mr. Leonard Prank and the other is an air photograph taken British Columbia 
by one of the Airway Companies, and I haven't examined the Adm'rat'y Din. 
takers of them to prove them, but of course they are available and Proceedings at 
can be; but it seems to me that my friends could readily dispense Trial, 
with the calling of the photographer. (Good.)

Mr. Donaghy: That is all right.
Mr. Griffin: I would ask your lordship's attention to this 

one first. 
10 The Court: 41 and 42.

Mr. Griffin: 41 will be the one taken by Mr. Frank.
(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT No. 41.) 
Mr. Griffin: And 42 the air photograph.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT No. 42.)
Mr. Griffin: I would ask your lordship's attention to this 

in connection with the fill, as I think that shows it quite graph­ 
ically.

Mr. Burns: The comment I might make, my lord is that a 
photograph might appear taken from the north shore as well as 

20 the south shore—of course these photographs mean anything on 
the point from which they are taken.

The Court: I understand, of course, this is just to give a 
general idea.

Mr. Burns: Oh, yes, but taken from the south shore makes 
it appear somewhat nearer the south shore, that is all, as a mat­ 
ter of comment.

The Court: Oh, yes.
Mr. Griffin: Very well, in order to oblige my friend, I have 

one taken from the north shore—there are both shores now.
30 (DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT No. 43.)

Mr. Griffin: If your lordship pleases, we do not—
The Court: Just one moment.
Mr. Griffin: My friend will perhaps let me have those acci­ 

dent reports that were produced in the affidavit.
Mr. Donaghy: Just while we are getting them you might 

go on.
Mr. Griffin: My friend who is with me says there may be

some doubt as to whether all the contracts which were referred to
this morning have been put in evidence. I myself did not note

40 that. The learned Registrar will make it plain. We must get
them all in.

The Registrar: There is only one put in, Exhibit 35.
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RECORD jy/[r Griffin ; Better to all go in evidence when one is in, I 
British Columbia think, my lord. I have extracted parts out of them, but I sup- 

p0se {hey j^ better go in pro forma. Then I will put in one of
Proceedings at the 26th September, 1922— Exhibit 44. 
Trial. The Court : A contract of what date, Mr. Registrar ? 

(Contd.) The Registrar; 26th September, 1922. 
The Court: Yes.
The Registrar : That is between the Burrard Inlet Tunnel & 

Bridge Company and the Northern Construction.
The Court : That is 44. 10

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT No. 44.)
Mr. Griffin: Then the one of the 20th February, 1925 —
Mr. Donaghy: Isn't that a draft.
Mr. Griffin : No, it is one that was marked by Mr. Swan. We 

have had that one. It is subject, of course, to my friend's find­ 
ing-

Mr. Donaghy : You see that is obviously a draft. There are 
three copies of that signed, and that must be a draft.

Mr. Griffin: There is one that has Mr. Swan's name on it.
Mr. Donaghy : Just a lead pencil mark. 20
Mr. Griffin : Yes, but identifying it.
Mr. Donaghy : Yes, there it is — that is not a signature.
Mr. Griffin: Wait until you get my point. It was put in this 

morning, identified by Mr. Swan, and shown to have been signed. 
It was put in subject to my friend's showing when he makes his 
presentation it is not the original. If so, of course, naturally, it 
comes to nothing. The witness, Mr. Swan, agreed that it had been 
signed, and it was put in subject to it being shown to be an incor­ 
rect copy.

The Court : Yes, it is a draft as it is now. 30
Mr. Donaghy : Yes, my lord.
Mr. Griffin : It is only a draft as it is now, or a copy — one or 

the other.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT No. 45.)
Mr. Griffin: 26th September. There is the 1st February, 

1923, my friend has not produced that yet. That was to be 
searched for. Did you find that since luncheon.

Mr. Donaghy: No.
Mr. Griffin: Now, the 5th of March, 1924, that was to be 

found. No, that is in. 40
Mr. Donaghy: It is in, is it?
Mr. Griffin: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy : All right.
Mr. Griffin : Yes, that seems to be four.
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The Registrar: There are only three in. RECORD
Mr. Griffin: Yes, as far as appears. British coiumbi*
Mr. Burns: As far as the accident reports are concerned, I AJmiral'j> &«. 

am quite content to have them go in as part of my friend's case, Proceedings at 
but we have them segregated in connection with each witness' evi- Trial - 
dence, the operators of the bridge, and to put them all in and take 
them away from their segregation would lead to quite a lot of 
trouble. Now, they are in my friend's case, and it can be under­ 
stood that his case includes them. 

1° The Court: A little louder, please, Mr. Burns.
Mr. Burns: I say the accident reports we have, they are all 

segregated according to each witness that we propose to call, and 
to take them and put them all in will make quite a bit of confusion 
in connection with our case, and my suggestion is, subject to your 
lordship's idea, that they can be considered in as part of my 
friend's case, but that we will still keep them in a segregated con­ 
dition and give them to the court as the witnesses are called.

The Court: Just as counsel think is most convenient.
Mr. Griffin: Of course I don't think my friend can call any 

20 more witnesses, my lord, on this point, so we are putting them in, 
but for convenience I will put them in in scraps as he has got them 
segregated, and they can be marked in that form.

Mr. Burns: We had better mark them then.
The Court: Whatever you decide is most convenient.
Mr. Griffin: I will put them in in groups so that you would 

not have them mixed up.
Mr. Donaghy: This is one set, if you could have these fast­ 

ened so they won't get separated, because one witness will deal 
with these perhaps.

30 Mr. Griffin: I had better count these—a bundle of 25 of the 
Plaintiff Company's accident reports.

Mr. Burns: There is the next one. That is just one single 
one. (Producing document.)

Mr. Griffin: One single accident report under date 24th 
August, 1926.

Mr. Burns: There is the next one. (Producing documents.)
Mr. Griffin: A bundle of thirteen accident reports. Is that 

the lot?
Mr. Burns: No, there are more there. I understand now 

4° that amongst these we have, there are some reports that are not 
accidents.

Mr. Griffin: Well, I thought they were the ones produced 
and shown to us and examined. So they will have to be inspected 
then. What are they besides that, Mr. Burns ?

Mr. Burns: I don't know.
Mr. Griffin: Because they were inspected by the solicitors 

in the case, and we must take care that they are the same ones.
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RECORD Mr Burns : Well, I say put them in as we have started any- 
Columbia way, we can work it out. There is the next bundle.

Dist. Mr Griffin. i think if your lordship pleases I had better 
Proceedings at allow this matter to stand down until these have been inspected, 
Trial. because they were produced by my friend and inspected by my- 

(Comd.) sejf an(j mv friend, and returned, and they have added to them 
now, and we may have got a different lot to what we looked at.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: And I am going to ask your lordship now to 

allow the case to stand over until Monday so as to give us an 10 
opportunity to consider the expert testimony with our own ex­ 
perts. The position being, that if witnesses had been called — if 
Mr. Swan had been called in due course with the Plaintiff's testi­ 
mony in the ordinary way, we would have had several days prob­ 
ably for calling our testimony on navigation during which we 
could have got ourselves properly prepared. On the contrary, 
as he was held up until the last moment we have not had that op­ 
portunity and have not had a chance to consult with our advisers. 
And in the same way the plans and documents only arrived on the 
very day of the trial opening, although a certain number of them 20 
were shown to us before, some were not. Under these circum­ 
stances, having now one hour to run, I would ask your lordship 
considering adjourning until Monday morning.

The Court : Have you any objection ?
Mr. Donaghy : I have, my lord. Mr. Swan informs me that 

he has a pressing engagement that calls him to the east.
Mr. Griffin : I would like to interrupt my friend by saying 

there would be no chance of finishing tonight. It could not be 
done. I would not make such a request if we could finish, anyway.

Mr. Donaghy : Of course, if that is the case, if you would not 30 
finish in time to call Mr. Swan tonight it doesn't do any harm.

The Court : Mr. Swan will have to be here on Monday in any 
event.

Mr. Griffin : Yes, in any event.
The Court : Well, it seems simply a natural thing that Mr. 

Griffin is asking. He has certainly had a great number of plans 
and that sort of thing to consider and on very short notice, and 
it seems a very reasonable request therefore, Mr. Registrar, we 
will adjourn until Monday.

The Registrar : My lord, will these accident reports be de- 40 
leted?

Mr. Griffin : My friends have agreed to segregate them in the 
proper order.

The Court: You will be able to tell so the Registrar will 
know on Monday 1?

Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord.
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The Registrar: I will strike them off the record now, my RECORD
lord. British Columbi*The Court: Oh, yes. Mmirdty DJSI.

Proceedings at
(COURT THEREUPON ADJOURNED AT 3.30 P.M. UN- Trial. 

TIL DECEMBER 3rd, 1928, at 10.30 A.M.) (OmA.)

Vancouver, B. C., December 3rd, 1928, 10.30 a.m. 
(COURT RESUMED PURSUANT TO ADJOURNMENT.)

Mr. Griffin: We discovered, my lord, that one of the con­ 
tracts that was handed in and is on your lordship's desk was not 

10 marked as an exhibit. That is the contract dated?
The Registrar: The 25th of July, 1923.
Mr. Griffin: It is between the Plaintiff and the contractors. 

That will be Exhibit No. 40 something.
The Registrar: It will be Exhibit No. 46.

(CONTRACT REFERRED TO MARKED EXHIBIT No. 
46.)

Mr. Griffin: I will call Mr. Muckleston.

HUGH MUCKLESTON, a witness on behalf of the Defendant, Defendant's 
being first duly sworn, testified as follows: Case

H. Muckleston
20 DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN: Direct.

Q. You are a civil engineer practising your profession in the 
City of Vancouver? A. Yes.

Q. And you have how many years experience in that prac­ 
tice? A. Thirty-five.

Q. Have you given consideration to the particular study of 
hydraulics? A. Yes, about twenty-seven years experience.

Q. Are you familiar with the Second Narrows Bridge ? A. 
Yes.

Q. Have you been in court during the taking of the evi- 
30 dence? A. Yes.

Q. I would ask you to state in what respect this bridge 
affects the navigation of the Second Narrows ? A. It restricts the 
available width for small height vessel to the 300 foot span and 
the bascule, and there might be some occasions that small height 
vessels could use the span immediately north of the 300 foot span, 
and some of them might use the span immediately south of the 
bascule. Vessels with high masts can only use the bascule and 
before the bridge was built aD vessels had the uninterrupted width 
of the channel. 

40 Q. In any other respect? A. It restricts the vertical clear-
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RECORD ance jn the same way. It forces any large ship which has to use 
British Columbia the bascule to cross the channel twice and violate the rules of the 
Admirdtyj)ist. roa(j twice and also to cross tlie currents, whatever they may be,
Defendant's twice.
Case Q. That would be going west? A. Westbound, yes. 
H Mucideston Q' Then how about the position with regard to traffic pass- 
Direct. in£ through the 300-foot span, small boat traffic ? A. Small boat 

(Contd.) traffic passing through the 300-foot span is interfered with by any 
opposing traffic crossing the channel north to south.

Q. Have you any other suggestions to make ? A. The piers 10 
affects the currents in the Narrows, whatever they may be. In 
addition to the actual physical obstruction which the piers cause 
they create all sorts of local currents. There is a cluster of piers 
under the bascule which affect the currents very materially and 
there is a rock fill at the south end of the bridge which creates a 
cross-current to northward and which—

Q. The cluster piers are those 3, 4 and 4-A, I take it? A. 
Yes, 3, 4 and 4-A.

Q. Might I also invite your attention while looking at the 
plan, Exhibit 41 to a photograph which shows it in a different 20 
form.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Now, what effect has the reduction of the cross- 

section area on the actual velocity of the current? A. It in­ 
creases the velocity over what it would be were the bridge not 
there. The pier themselves offer an actual obstruction and the 
eddies they create are quite as effective as a solid obstruction.

Q. In other words, is it possible to formulate a statement 
as to the extent to which the piers form an effective obstructive 
beyond their actual breadth in the surface ? A. Only by imagina- 30 
tion. The piers themselves at low water, the piers and the fill to­ 
gether at low water offer an obstruction which is about 10 per 
cent, of the total area of the cross-section, but the effect of the 
obstruction probably would not be far from 12 per cent.

The Court: Not far from what? A. 12 per cent., my lord.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Take conditions at high water? A. The 

cluster of piers, 3, 4 and 4-A are more effective at high water than 
low water and the rock fill is much more effective. In addition 
to that the whole of the trestle on the north shore is effective at 
high water and not at low and I believe the effect of the obstruc- ^ 
tion at high water is not far from 15 per cent.

Q. Now, you spoke of this rock fill at the south end and its 
effect upon the current. Could you explain that a little more fully 
how or why it would affect the direction of the tidal current? A. 
Before the fill was there the tidal current had an uninterrupted 
sweep along the shore. Now, that the fill is there that portion of



497

ston
(Contd.)

the current must of necessity be deflected to the north, whichever RECORD 
way the tide is running. British Columbia

Q. At what period of the tide in your opinion would this AJmir^y £»"• 
northerly tendency be most noticeable 1? A. It would be most Defendant's 
noticeable on low water, at the beginning of the flood, but it would Case 
be felt all through both tides.

Q. Have you yourself visited the site? A. Oh, yes, on many 
occasions.

Q. Is the existence of this cross-current within your per- 
10 sonal knowledge? A. I have noticed it.

Q. How far over to the northward in your opinion would 
the influence of such a cross-current be felt ? A. Under the worst 
conditions it might be felt quite a bit to the north of the pier 3STo. 2.

Q. That is directly across the whole of the bascule span? A. 
Oh, yes, and beyond.

Q. Now, does the configuration of the shore itself and apart
from the bridge construction lead you to any conclusion in regard
to the possibility of a tidal current eastward at or about the pres­
ent position of this fill, and if so explain that ? A. Tidal current

20 eastward?
Q. Any tidal current which might flow eastward along the 

shore. I want to get in other words a statement from you as to 
the effect of the general configuration of the shore of the harbour 
apart from the bridge construction as indicated, and as to the 
possibilities of eddies at that point? A. I would expect at the 
beginning of the flood tide that a cross-current would be set up 
from south to north under practically all conditions of the tide ex­ 
cept during a long slack, or practically long slack. The low water in 
the harbour according to the tide table is about thirteen minutes 

80 before low water slack in the Second Narrows, and low water in 
the harbour may be anywhere from two minutes to twenty-three 
or twenty-four minutes before low water slack in the First Nar­ 
rows. The consequence is that at a certain period, about the turn 
of the tide there is actually being poured more water from the 
east into the harbour than is being discharged at the west and 
under such conditions the harbour being actually filled from the 
two ends under either conditions I would expect to find large scale 
circular movements in the east end of the harbour in a counter 
clock-wise direction. As the harbour began to fill up that circu- 

*° larization or eddying, I would expect to find that moving eastward 
and passing through the Narrows and eventually disappearing 
about somewhere at the entrance of the North Arm. As none 
of the eddies reach the Second Narrows it shows as the north cur­ 
rent, the current setting towards the north and as it passed on it 
shows as an eastward set on the south shore and a westward set 
on the north shore, and if the effect is massed by the tide, being
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Defendant's 
Case
H Mucideston 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

RECORD followed by the second cross-current from north to south—but I 
British Columbia don't believe that second cross-current would be noticable.

Q. Is there anything to guide one in forming an opinion as 
to whether that cross-current would necessarily be visible on the 
surface at all stages of the tide ? A. It would only be visible on 
the surface immediately at its inception. As soon as the tidal flow 
is established to any degree at all eastward that cross-current 
shows a tendency to dive under the main current.

Q. What in your opinion would be the general direction and 
method of the flow of the flood tide in the Second Narrows in view 10 
of the configuration of the bottom and side? A. The channel is 
more or less V-shaped and under such conditions the current al­ 
most invariably flows in a spiral direction, turning outward at 
the surface and inward at the bottom and any cross-current estab­ 
lished would show a tendency to go down underneath the main 
current.

Q. I want you to take Exhibit 17. Would you please find 
a position in the exact centre of the bascule draw? A. Pardon?

Q. Would you please fix a position in the exact centre of the 
bascule draw ? A. Have you a piece of white paper. I have the 550 
measuring device, but it does not show very weU unless I have 
some white paper with it.

Q. I have some white paper. Have you marked that posi­ 
tion ? A. Yes, by a short red line across the centre of the bridge.

Q. I would ask, subject to your lordship's direction, that 
that be marked "X." A. (Witness thereupon marks.)

Q. I wish you would draw a line eastward, in a general 
eastward direction 350 feet long and 5 degrees north of a line that 
would be at right angles to the bridge ? A. You mean a line at 
right angles and another five degrees north? 30

Q. No, I want it five degrees north of right angle and a dis­ 
tance of 350 feet.

The Court: This is 350.
Mr. Griffin: 350 feet in length and at an angle of five de­ 

grees northerly? A. How much north ?
Q. Five degrees eastward I want to go? A. I have gone 

350 feet east and you want—
Q. Five degrees north. That is all right. Mark that with 

the letter "Y." A. That is "Y," the line five degrees north.
Q. That is what I am asking. No, that is not what I am 40 

asking. I want you to put the point "Y" at a distance of 350 feet 
east of the bridge? A. Yes. (Marks.)

Q. Now, that at the five degree angle, how far is that point 
"Y" from the 5 fathom line? A. About 170 feet.

Q. Which is the 5 fathom line that you have taken? A. 
This (Indicating).

Q. That is not the five fathom line. Here is "Y". This is
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the five fathom line here, 5.3 fathoms, you see. A. Correct, about RECORD
100 feet. British Columbia

Q. Now, then, for the purposes of the record how far from /1/CT/fd/f> Diit- 
that 5 fathom line would a ship, a ship 56 feet broad be when her Defendant's 
bow reached that point? A. About 72 feet. Case

The Court: Q. What point have you suggested where the —- 
point 350 feet— A. I have marked that point "Y". H. Muddeston

Q. 350 feet at the point "Y"? A. And— (Smd.)
Q. Wait now. Now, then, you say that when a ship what 

10 length reaches that point she is how far from—you need not show 
me, just turn around and say it plainly so that the stenographer 
can get it in the notes. You are looking at Exhibit 17, and you 
say what? A. I drew a line from the centre of the bascule span 
350 feet eastward and making an angle with the centre line of the 
bridge of five degrees.

Q. Yes? A. And I have marked that point "Y".
Q. That is at the end of the 350 feet you mark the point 

"Y"? A. Yes.
The Court: Now, Mr. Griffin, we have him there, what is the 

20 next?
Mr. Griffin: The only two other questions I put are how far 

is that from the five fathom line and he says 100 feet.
The Court: Which is how many feet from the five fathom 

line ? A. 100 feet, my lord.
Q. Yes, I have that.
Mr. Griffin: Then as a mere matter of conclusion a ship of 

56 feet width would have her starboard line within 72 feet of the 
five fathom line?

The Court: What is that?
30 Mr. Griffin: Would have her starboard side within 72 feet of 

the five fathom line.
Mr. Burns: Q. That is going east.
Mr. Griffin: It does not matter which way the ship is going, 

the line is going east.
Mr. Burns: It does matter whether it is the starboard or 

port side. You said the starboard side.
Mr. Griffin: Quite correct.
Q. Now, I think I forgot this question about the other topic.
The Court: Q. You said the starboard side would be 72 

40 feet. What did you say? A. 72 feet, my lord.
Mr. Griffin: Q. One question about the other topic. You 

spoke of this eastward eddy and the current through the Narrows 
and I intended to ask you, assuming that condition to exist, what 
effect is there upon it being created by the fill ? A. It would make 
the northerly setting current very much more pronounced.

Q. Would such a cross-current be constant in direction, lo­ 
cation and magnitude ? A. No, it would vary in every change of
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RECORD condition of the current and wind and any of a dozen different 
British Columbia conditions which might be variable.
MmhrtyDta. Q T would like the registrar to give you Exhibit 2. (Ex- 
Defendant's hibit 2 produced.)
Case _ Q. Comparing that plan, Exhibit 2, with the bridge as actu- 
H. Muckieston ally built, do they correspond? A. No.
Direct. Q. In what respect does the bridge as built differ from the 

(Comd.) bridge as there shown? A. The bridge is five feet higher through­ 
out as built than as shown on Exhibit 2. It contains two more 
spans each of which is 150 feet long at the north end and one 10 
span—

The Court: Wait now. Yes. At present it is higher by 5 
feet. What is the other difference? A. There are two spans at 
the north end each of which is 150 feet long.

Q. You are telling the difference. You mean that the pres­ 
ent bridge has the spans different from that? A. Yes.

Mr. Griffin: It has two new ones, two extra ones not shown 
in the plan.

The Court: That is what I mean, he did not say so. You put 
it better, Mr. Griffin. 20

Mr. Griffin: Q. On the north side 150 feet, with how many 
piers ? A. Two extra piers on the north end.

Q. On the south end.
The Court: For each, two piers each.
A. No, two extra piers.
Q. Two extra spans, two piers to set them on? A. Yes.
Q. Any other difference? A. At the south end there is one, 

150-foot span and two additional piers.
Mr. Griffin: Those are pier numbers— A. 4-A and 5. On 

the other plan. I have not got the other one here. 30
Q. 4-A and 5 on the other plan. All right. A. There is also 

a rock fill existing in the present bridge as built which is not 
clearly shown on Exhibit 2.

The Court: Q. What did you say there was not clearly 
shown? A. Not clearly shown on Exhibit 2.

Mr. Griffin: Q. The character of the piers? A. The de­ 
sign of piers Nos. 2, 3 and 4 is of a radically different kind. In 
addition to that the design of the actual bascule truss is not the 
same.

The Court: The design of what? *°
A. The design of the actual bascule truss is not the same.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Now, I would like you to state whether 

these alterations are variations of the original design or are they 
changes in the details? A. I consider they are all variations in 
the original design.

Q. Now, I would like the learned registrar to give you Ex­ 
hibit 18. You can have any other exhibits you wish. How far
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does the rock fill on the south end of the bridge extend north RECORD 
horizontally from original high water mark ? British coiumbu

The Court: What exhibit are you looking at now ? Admiralty Dht.
Mr. Griffin: Exhibit 18. Defendant's
A. This is not very clear as to where the high water mark is. C«e 

It is hardly printed at all and is very faint. I can draw it. H Muckieston
Q. I would not put anything on the plan if you do not need Direct, 

to. Oh, yes, if you have to you must run it out. I see. You are (Contd.) 
going to run that out; run that out ? A. Do you want low water 

10 mark, too?
Q. Yes, I want low water mark, too ? A. That is not a very 

good plan.
Q. "Would this one make it easier ? A. That is a better one.
Q. That would help. That is Exhibit 27? A. Exhibit 27, 

yes.
Q. How far— A. What was the question?
Q. How far does the rock fill extend northerly from high 

water mark in a horizontal line? A. 260 feet on this.
The Court: Q. You said that the rock fill extends northerly 

20 from the high water mark 260 feet ? A. Yes, my lord.
Mr. Griffin: Q. From low water mark how many feet? A. 

77 feet.
Q. Now, does your personal inspection of the ground, so far 

as it enables you to tell, does it confirm those figures? A. As 
near as it is possible to confirm it.

Q. Does this fill to the horizontal extent mentioned in the 
two questions, that is 260 feet high water and 77 at low water 
constitute an obstruction to the flow of the tide? A. Yes.

Q. At ordinary low water how deep is the water against this 
30 fill measuring vertically from a point on the top of the northerly 

slope of the fill? A. About eight feet.
Q. And measuring, if you did measure it vertically at the 

toe of the slope.
The Court: At high water mark.
Mr. Griffin: At low water mark, at ordinary low water mark.
The Court: Q. Just repeat that until I see what your point 

was? A. Eight feet.
Q. From what point are you taking the top of the fill? A. 

Not from high water, from low water mark on the face of the fill 
40 down to the original bottom of the channel at that point is about 

eight feet.
Mr. Griffin: Q. And measuring vertically from a place 

which would be at the northerly end of the slope and ten feet if 
measured vertically from the toe—

Mr. Donaghy: What is the difference between 8 and 10?
Mr. Griffin: One is taking the toe of the slope in the measure-
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RECORD ment vertically and the other is from the top of the fill measuring 
British Columbia vertically. 
AJmir^oist. ^ There is ten feet of water over the toe of the fill at low
Defendant's Water.

The Court: Ten feet over the toe. That is ordinary low 
— ~ water. A. Low water is given on the exhibit. 

°n Q- On that plant A. Yes, my lord.
(Contd.) Mr. Griffin : Q. Now, I want you to direct your attention to 

exhibit 2 which contains a plan and profile and direct your atten­ 
tion first — I am directing the witness' attention to Exhibit No. 2 10 
again and particularly to the point marked in red with the figure 
2 by the witness A. D. Swan. Does this plan indicate the existence ; 
indicate that a fill is contemplated by that exhibit! A. I see no 
indication on the plan of any fill.

Q. What is the white line to which reference was made by 
Mr. Swan? A. Apparently that is the boundary of the road as 
extending from somewhere up Cariboo Street right across the same 
line going right across the bridge.

Q. If the fill had been called for how would it have been 
shown in the ordinary course? A. It would have extended some 20 
40 feet outside of that line and would have been taken from prac­ 
tically zero at the edge of the C. P. R. bank out to something like 
40 feet at the extreme outer edge.

Q. But at the point marked 2, how far outside the line of the 
roadway would such a fill if it existed show? A. About 33 feet.

Q. Does it in fact — what fill is there in fact outside the limit 
of that roadway at that very point? A. About twelve feet.

Q. What would be the right way to indicate if it was to be 
built? A. lyi order to make it clear the slope of the fill would be 
shown as a hatched surface. 30

Q. Is there any other way of showing it? A. On a plan?
Q. Yes? A. Not on a plan, but indicating on a sketch by 

cross hatching or some conventional sign.
Q. What about the use of words. I observe on many of these 

plans the word 'fill' ? A. The fact that a fill is usually noted as a 
fill, either gravel fill or rock fill.

Q. Turning your attention to the profile, does the profile 
clearly indicate that any fill is in contemplation? A. There is a 
diagonal line marked and outlined in red.

The Court: Q. What are you looking at now? A. At ex- 40 
Mbit 2, at the part marked in red.

Q. Oh, yes, exhibit 2, the point marked 1 in red? A. There 
is a diagonal line marked in red and marked 1 which might indi­ 
cate a fill if there were any other evidence on the plan to back it 
up. There is another diagonal line farther in which might also be 
taken to be a fill. Do you want to mark that one?
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Mr. Griffin: Q. Yes, it might as well be marked. Wait RECORD 
until his lordship rules. Will we mark that with a yellow pencil? British ColumbiaThe Court: Yes. Admiralty Dist.

A. Yes, which I have outlined in yellow and marked 3 which Defendant's 
might also indicate a fill. Case

Mr. Griffin: Q. Giving the consideration to the two docu- —— 
ments now, what considerations are there in an engineer's mind in **•. Muckleston 
reading that plan to enable him to decide whether those lines do or " 
do not indicate a proposed fill? A. The lack of correspondence 

10 between the two would throw some doubt as to what that or either 
of those lines was intended to indicate. There might be a fill, but 
there is no evidence on the plan to show that a fill is intended there.

Q. Does the absence of other indications on the plan negative 
the existence of any fill? A. I should think it would.

Q. Supposing however—we will turn to a suppositious case, 
let us suppose the diagonal mark indicates a fill, what would be 
the extent, the height, and so on and the erection? A. It varies. 
Where would I measure the height?

Q. I only want to get it in general, just a contract with the 
20 general facts.

Mr. Donaghy: He ought to know? A. About 30 feet at the 
maximum.

Mr. Griffin: Can you give an average so that we will not be 
confused by the maximum. There might be a TniniTmim of one. 
Give it generally as an average? A. About 22, an average.

The Court: Q. What is 22 on an average? A. The height 
of this fill.

Mr. Griffin: The height of any fill which that white line calls
for, if it calls for anything at all would be a fill 22 feet high. Now,

30 assuming again this diagonal line does indicate the end of an
embankment of any kind, what is its northerly limits? A. Low
water mark?

Q. Have you seen the fill as actually built? A. Yes.
Q. Does it resemble in any way the one which has been de­ 

posed to as shown on exhibit 2 ?
A. No, it is very much longer, and nothing like as high and 

is very much wider than anything this plan would show.
Q. How much longer is it? A. It goes out to about Pier 

No. 5, say it went out 75 feet further.
40 Q. As to height? A. It is only a matter of four feet above 

high water mark instead of about 20 or 22 as this one shows.
Q. So it is less in height by 17 feet? That would be the dif­ 

ference in height? A. About 18 feet lower.
Q. And considerable difference in the depth? A. It is very 

much wider than anything that can be shown on this plan.
Q. Now, I observe that the highway trestle as indicated on 

exhibit 2 is founded upon a dash line which is supposed to repre-
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RECORD sent what? A. I take it that that dash line is the profile of the 
British Columbia actual surf ace of the ground underneath the roadway as it was 
Admirait^Dist. wnen the survey was made and that it represents the old beach 
Defendant's which lies just below the embankment of the railway and the 
Case trestle is apparently founded upon the beach, but there is no in- 
H Muddeston dica^on on ^ne plan as to whether any piles were to be driven or
Direct. n°k

(Contd.) The Court: Now, you are directing attention to what ex­ 
actly?

Mr. Griffin: To this fill, my lord, which is to the south of the to 
words "No. 3."

The Court: Q> Now, you say you are directing attention to 
what? A. A dash line which I take—

Q. Yes, that is from the south of the yellow line? A. South 
from the yellow line almost to the railway track which I take to be 
the surface of the ground as it was when this survey was made 
immediately under the centre line of the highway.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Therefore, that profile indicates an inten­ 
tion to build the roadway trestle upon the surface of the ground 
as it then existed? A. Yes. 20

The Court: As what?
Mr. Griffin: Q. As it then existed ? As it then was. Do you 

find the highway trestle as actually built, rests upon the fill, as 
actually buSt? A. Yes.

Q. Is there any other valuable conclusion to be drawn from 
the legs and supporting cross braces in that trestle as read from 
the plan? A. I take it that is the way the cross bracing is shown 
on this profile and the way the legs of the trestle are shown, that 
there was no intention at .that time to build any fill, at any rate, 
not under the roadway. 30

Q. And on the ground today do you find one? A. The fill 
extends under the highway right back as far as the junction with 
the railway bank.

Q. Now, I want to direct your attention to a totally new 
topic. Is a high level bridge at the point where this one was built 
giving an unobstructed channel for the full width beyond the five 
fathom line feasible? A. Yes.

Q. Can you suggest any other kind of bridge which might 
have been designed and constructed—

The Court: Excuse me, you are reading, and when you are 40 
reading you are speaking down and it is hard to follow you.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, I am reading these questions from some 
notes that I have.

The Court: I notice that.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Could any other kind of bridge have been 

designed and constructed which would not impede navigation at 
this point at all, or impede it less than the present bridge does.
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If so suggest an alternative design of that kind? A. A bridge RECORD 
could be built at that point which would include a vertical lift span British Columbia 
set where the 300 foot fixed span now is. Admiralty oht.

Q. I show you for consideration exhibit 33 being the plan Defendant's 
prepared by Messrs. Waddell & Harrington. Is that the type of Case 
bridge to which you are referring? A. Yes. ——

Q. Assuming as we have from the evidence that the cost of ' Muckleston 
the present bridge was $1,718,000 or more could a bridge of the 
design such as shown in exhibit 33 have been built for a cost not 

10 unreasonably greater 1 A. Mr. Griffin, this bridge plan submitted 
by other counsel has a far greater carrying capacity than the pres­ 
ent one and is not comparable at all.

Q. I forgot, this bridge carries two railway lines — A. 
And two double sections of water pipe.

Q. Could a bridge of the lift type with piers substantially 
in those places be built of the kind of construction more compar­ 
able to the present one and carry one line of rails and no water 
pipe ; could that have been constructed for a price not unreason­ 
ably greater than $1,718,000 1 A. Yes.

20 Q. Would you care to advance figures which in any event 
would be amply sufficient to cover such additional cost? A. If the 
lift span was made 300 feet long and put in position where the 
present 300 foot fixed span is I believe of that type could be pro­ 
vided for very little more than the one and three-quarter million 
you mentioned. I do not believe it would cost in excess of $100,000 
more.

Q. Was Dr. Waddell an authority on bridge designs? A. 
Yes.

Q. I am speaking of those years 1914-1912, '13 and '14? 
30 A. Yes.

Q. It is a fact that he designed the Fraser River Bridge? 
A. Yes, he designed the Fraser River Bridge and the Granville 
Street Bridge and the Connaught Bridge and the old bridge at 
Westminster Avenue and 19 bridges on the Canadian Northern 
Pacific which is now the Canadian National between here and 
Yellowhead.

Q. I want you to take and compare the location of the north 
pier in Dr. Waddell 's lift span as shown in exhibit 33 with pier 
No. 1 on exhibit 2, and tell me if they are in substantially the same 

40 place. Are they on the same scale? A. Yes, Pier No. 1 on the 
bridge as built would be about 25 feet farther south than the north 
pier as shown on Dr. WaddelFs plan.

Q. So they are substantially in the same place.
Mr. Donaghy: Well, he is giving the measurements.
Mr. Griffin: All right.
Q. Take the southern span of Dr. Waddell 's lift and com­ 

pare it firstly with No. 2 and secondly with No. 2 of the bridge
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RECORD actually built on the location? A. The south pier of Dr. Waddell's 
British Columbia design would come about 125 feet south of Pier No. 2 of the bridge
AdmirdtyDist. ag built an(J abQUt QQ -

Defendant's Q. Now, is there any question as to the foundation at the 
Case point where Dr. Waddell chooses his northerly pier for his lift 
H MmJdeston 8Pan- Are you in any way in doubt as to location. A. It is gravel 
Direct. and boulders, and the glacial drift generally. 

(Contd.) Q. Assuming Pier No. 1 in exhibit 2 is in the proper place, 
as to the other one? A. Practically the same, the foundation 
would not differ materially. 10

Q. And as to the position on the other side, the south side 1 
A. Bock should be within reach there. It was reached at Pier No. 
2 of the existing span and Pier No. 3, and unless there is a rift 
there they would find rock for that pier probably.

Q. Now, could a bridge have been so constructed as to pro­ 
vide an open span of greater width without moving the position 
of the piers of the present bridge and if so what suggestion have 
you along that line ? A. The present fixed span of 300 feet might 
have been made a perpendicular lift without altering the position 
of any of the piers of the existing span, existing bridge. 20

Q. What other suggestion in addition to that change would 
you then suggest in aid of navigation? A. If the pier marked 
zero on the present bridge was removed and a 300 foot span substi­ 
tuted for the two spans of 150 feet it would improve the current 
to some extent, and if Pier Four were removed and the interval 
between Pier 3 and 4-A were spanned it would help and if an open 
span were put in place of the present — where the rock fill is now 
it would help materially.

Q. Could a change have been made in the month of Novem­ 
ber, 1924, at the time when the official enquiry took place? A. 30 
Yes. I am not certain about Pier 4. That was in place while the 
examination was on, but the piers zero and double zero had not 
been built and the rock fill had not been placed.

Q. And the spans had not been put in? A. None of the 
spans were in at that time.

Q. Now, should the designer desire to use the bascule form 
and in order to put it in the centre of the channel how far north 
would it have to be moved? A. Practically its own length, 180 
feet.

Q. That is, you would turn pier 3 into the bascule pier? A. 40 
No, Pier 2.

Q. Pier 2 into the bascule pier and have the bascule drop 
down upon or seat upon the Pier on the far side where No. 1 now 
is? A. No, it would be between No. 1 and No. 2.

Q. A pier built south of the place where No. 1 now is? A. 
It would come at a point on exhibit 2 which I will mark. Any 
letter?
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.. uddeston
(Contd.)

Q. Yes, mark it 4. A. (Witness marks.) RECORD
Q. A question was raised I think yesterday as to whether British Columbia 

or not the present Pier 2 has to bear any great weight from the Adm>r«ity Din. 
bascule span? A. It carries the live load on the bascule span Defendant's 
and a very small dead load. Case

Q. Now, you have to put those on the record clear. I am not
sure that I know the difference between live and dead load. A.
The bascule span is almost completely balanced about the trunnion
which rests on pier 3 and that leaves a small residual load on Pier

10 No. 2, but not by any means the whole weight.
Q. When the bascule span is lowered and drops into place 

is the weight which is thrown on Pier No. 2 a serious or substantial 
one ? A. It is not very great. The live load, any load, a train, or 
vehicles throw the whole of their share of the load on Pier 2.

Q. That is what you mean by the live load? A. Yes.
Q. Is the amount of weight thrown upon the receiving pier 

of the bascule span, is that of great force? A. That is what I say, 
there is the small residual unbalanced load of the dead load, the 
actual weight of the span.

20 Q. Which is enough to hold it in place? A. Yes, it slacks 
down in addition.

Q. The importance is to have it sufficiently on there to hold 
it in its place. A. Yes.

Q. Now, in what way if at all would the discharge of water 
from Seymour Creek affect the current in the Narrows? A. That 
adds one more complication to the current ; the discharge of Sey­ 
mour Creek might on occasion be felt right across. Seymour 
Creek is fresh water and it discharges practically as a stream on 
the surface of the salt and if it was flowing at any great discharge 

30 it might be felt clear across the Narrows on the south shore and 
if it were it would affect the navigation of ships.

Q. In what direction would the set from Seymour Creek be 
at low water? A. At slack water?

Q. Yes? A. Straight across practically.
Q. During the ebb tide? A. It sets towards the west.
Q. Assuming an occasion when the force of Seymour Creek 

would be felt out at least in the middle of the channel or beyond, 
how would it affect a vessel approaching the opening from the east 
at low water slack ? A. It would add complications to the current 

40 as it exists. The fresh water cannot flow over the salt water with­ 
out displacing a corresponding amount of salt water which will 
show up somewhere as subsurface currents. If the discharge of 
Sevmour Creek is felt across, that sub-surface current must be 
felt, too. One vessel might feel it possibly to a greater extent than 
the other, but it would affect her helm one way or the other.

Q. Any irregularities in Seymour Creek? A. No, it is a 
flashy mountain stream. On the 28th of October, 1921, it is shown
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H. Muckleston 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

RECORD in the rep0rts of the Water Power Branch of having a mean flow 
British Columbia of 16,900 cubic f eet per second and that means the maximum flow 

on that date would not be far from twice as great, 30,000. On the 
same date in 1925 the discharge was only 16,000 cubic feet per 
second or something less than half of 1 per cent, that it had varied.

Q. Would a variation of that kind, so great as that be such 
as would upset the calculations of navigators in charge of big 
vessels? A. Oh, yes.

Q. Can you tell me from your professional knowledge or 
experience would the beginning of the ebb or flow of the tide begin 10 
on the surface or below? A. As a general rule all currents start 
as a subsurface flow and the actual surface flow is noticeable an 
appreciable time after the subsurface has started.

Q. Take the case of an oscillating tide or flow where the tide 
is running between two large pools or bodies of water in sequence 
what is the result in that case in regard to where the beginning 
of the flow starts'? A. It depends altogether on the rapidity of 
the current. A sharp turn around between two very long tides, 
the subsurface current might actually reverse before the surface 
current ceased to flow. If there was a long slack such as occasion- 20 
ally occurs—there was one last month—when a run out is followed 
by a period of three hours of no tide at all and it is not impossible 
that the outward subsurface current will persist for the whole of 
the time ajid never actually cease.

Q. So that in such cases as you have spoken of you might 
have a subsurface current flooding underneath and it would be 
ebbing on top? A. That is very common.

Q. At what point in the flow of the stream is the thread 
of the greatest velocity usually found? A. If the channel is 
symmetrical in sections the thread of the maximum velocity is 30 
about one-fifth of the total depth below the surface and in the 
middle of the channel. If the channel is not symmetrical it will 
be about the same distance down, but it may be quite a way from 
the apparent centre of the stream.

Mr. Griffin: Tour witness.

H. Muckleston 
Cross-exam.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY ME. DONAGHY:
Q. Mr. Muckleston, will you state what experience you have 

had and,where you have had it in regard to the actions of tidal 
currents? A. The tidal current is very much the same thing.

Q. I do not want a definition of it. I do not know whether 40 
you heard my question? A. I did.

Q. Please answer. Speaking of your experience, where you 
had it and when you had it? A. In designing the construction 
of large irrigation works, including reservoirs, pools, ponds and 
canals and control of violent, fluctuating rivers.

Q. TeU me where these works were that you were connected
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with so that we may judge of the knowledge that you would ac- RECORD 
quire in regard to tides'? A. They were all in Alberta.

Q. I take it there would be no tides there? A. No lunar
tides- Defeat's

Q. What tides were you talking about? A. "Well, you find Case 
"seiches" as they call them in all reservoirs which is an oscillation —— 
back and forward from one end of the pool to the other. H- Muddeston

Q. And on what waters were you engaged in Alberta? A. 
The Bow River, the Old Man River, and various other small 

10 streams including 3,000 miles of canals of various descriptions and 
sizes.

Q. Now, we will come back to my first question: Tell me 
where and when and in what manner you gained experience in 
tides. Tides have a well known meaning, you know? A. No 
actual experience with tides.

Q. I see. A. Hydraulic experience is much the same any­ 
where.

Q. You probably know more about bridges than you do 
about, tides. You have had some experience with bridges? A. 

20 Experience and designing.
Q. Will you state to us what your experience has been, where 

and when, and of what character in regard to the building of 
bridges, that is of magnitude ? A. 67 bridges on the main canal 
of the Canadian Pacific Railway's large irrigation scheme.

Q. Tell us where that was ? A. The main canal commenced 
about five miles southwest of B^assano and runs about 80 miles 
more or less east, that is, it runs east and south and north and east 
again for about 87 miles. It is crossed nearly every mile by a road 
allowance on which a bridge had to be constructed. 

30 Q. Give us an idea of the location of the bridges, and the 
length? A. The longest would be 187 feet and the shortest about 
67.

Q. Were these bridges for carrying autos, horses and wagons, 
and traffic such as that? A. Yes.

Q. How wide was the stream which they were bridging? 
A. The main canal varies from 160 feet wide to a little over 50. 
It has a slope on the sides two horizontal to one vertical and car­ 
ries 11 to 9 feet of water.

Q. Had this work any aspect comparable from an engineer- 
40 ing difficulty to the Second Narrows Bridge? A. Oh, no, very 

small. Then in addition—
Q. Tell us of other bridges? A. In addition to that I built 

the two aqueducts on the Lethbridge Northern District.
Q. Where is that? A. The main canal of the Lethbridge 

Northern District heads out of the Old Man River 11 miles west 
of the town of Macleod and runs generally in a northeast direc­ 
tion out on the plateau between the Old Man River and the Little
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H. Muckleston 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)

Bow River. It crosses the Old Man River about three miles below 
the intake by an aqueduct.

Q. What was this bridge built to carry? A. To carry an 
aqueduct discharging 800 cubic feet of water per second. That 
is a load about comparable to what is known as E— 50 Railway 
loading.

Q. Were you the chief engineer in charge of that work? A. 
Yes.

Q. Does it carry anything else except this water pipe? A. 
It is not water pipe, it is an open flume. 10

Q. Does it carry anything else except the open flume in the 
irrigation district? A. No.

Q. Carry on. A. That aqueduct is something over 3,900 
feet long and contains 5 spans each 135 feet long founded on piers 
which are carried down 42 feet below the original surface of the 
river to the rock. The Old Man River aqueduct is carried partly 
on steel trestles and partly wooden trestles. The steel trestles 
are carried on concrete piers founded anywhere to 12 feet below 
the original surface.

Q. What is the width of the stream that this aqueduct spans 20 
at the place that it spans it? A. 900 feet.

Q. What is the depth of the stream? A. It varies from 
about 8 inches in the winter time to twenty-seven feet in the sum­ 
mer on a maximum discharge.

Q. What other bridges have you had experience in construct­ 
ing? A. The Willow Creek aqueduct on the same canal. That 
consists of the same type of construction but the spans were only 
100 feet long and there were only three of them. It is founded 
on concrete piers. Some of them go down 30 feet below the sur­ 
face. Then I made eleven designs for the proposed bridge for 30 
the First Narrows in Vancouver Harbour.

Q. You did not build it? A. No.
Q. We will not bother with it just now. A. It is the design­ 

ing, Mr. Donaghy.
Q. Yes, I know. I am talking of your experience, you see. 

What other bridges have you had experience in constructing that 
are of any magnitude, you know? A. The crossing of the Colum­ 
bia and the Kootenay Railway over the Kootenay River at Granite 
which is 13 miles west of Nelson. It is just west of Nelson. There 
is one span there 140 feet if my recollection serves me right. They 40 
are founded on masonry piers filled with rock, and there are a 
great many other spans that I have forgotten, it is so long ago; I 
forget the particulars.

Q. What is that, a railway or traffic bridge? A. Yes, it 
carries the Columbia and Kootenay Railway, part of the C. P. R.

Q. The piers were mounted on exposed rock? A. Two of 
them. are.
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Q. Any sunk under water? A. No, not at low water. It RECORD 
was low water when the work was done. BrithiTc^iu

Q. No. Yes. What is the width of that stream? A. Well, Admiralty 
the 140 foot span takes it all in low water, but it is long since I Defendant's 
built it. It is 30 years since I built it and I do not remember. Case

Q. What other bridges that are important? A. Nine —— 
bridges on the Kicking Horse for the C. P. B., the main line, and }?• Mucklest°n 
two on Eagle Biver, and quite a lot of smaller structures on the 
Beavennouth. 

10 Q. Were you the chief engineer ? A. No, resident engineer.
Q. Who was the chief engineer? A. Of the railway?
Q. No, bridge construction? A. Hotley was the chief en­ 

gineer of bridges and Mr. Heatley the chief engineer of the rail­ 
way.

Q. Any others ? A. That is all that I can call to mind, that 
is, bridges that were built.

Q. That is what I am asking you about. Have you had any 
experience in the dredging of harbours where tidal waters were 
in existence? A No.

20 Q. Have you made any personal test or experiments regard­ 
ing the tidal current at the Second Narrows Bridge? A. No, 
that does not include observations.

Q. I want to know if you made it? A. You did not intend 
to include observations without experience.

Q. No, unless you made some experiments with something. 
Have you made an actual survey or measurement of the fill at the 
south end of the bridge ? A. Just a survey without instruments, 
that is by pacing off a distance and using my own eyes for a level.

Q. Yes. Now, on exhibit 17 you drew a line which you said 
30 was 5 degrees north of right angles to the bridge, and you drew it 

350 feet long to the point "Y"? A. Yes.
Q. And you said "Y" is 100 feet from the five fathom line? 

A Yes.
Q. Will you show me the 5 fathom line where you measured 

that 100 feet from and show me where you did it? A. It is the 
line marked 5 fathom contour on exhibit 17.

Q. Where did you get the 5 fathom line when you measured 
this 100 feet you have just shown me? A. (Witness indicates.)

Q. It was there. It is marked 5 fathoms precisely? A. Yes. 
40 Q. You do not seem to follow it. You see what it is marked? 

A. That is not the line. That is the individual sounding.
Q. Yes, all right, to get the 5 fathom line— A The 5 

fathom line is marked on the exhibit as such.
Q. You know how they get the 5 fathom, by sounding? A. 

Yes.
Q. You know this 5 fathom line is not uniformly 5 fathom 

as they proceed that way. That is why I call attention to the
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RECORD figure. The sounding indicates a variation in the precise depth.
British Columbia What is the precise depth of that line? A. I do not understand
AJmirait^Dist. vour qnesti0n, Mr. Donaghy?
Defendant's Q. Look at that 5 fathom line so called. Follow your eyes
Case along it and do you not observe that it is precisely 5 fathoms as
H Muddeston ^ proceeds? A. Wherever there is a possibility of checking
Cross-exam. tnere ^~

(Contd.) Q. Do you see 5.3 for instance on the line? A. No. It is 
about 10 feet north of the line.

Q. You are not reading the line. That cuts the line. A. 10 
The decimal point is the point of sounding, 10 feet north.

Q. No, that is to indicate the decimal point? A. No, it is 
the point, and they have drawn a ring around the sounding.

Q. That is the way you interpret it? A. That is the way 
soundings are interpreted,

Q. You may be right. The only way of possibly checking 
is the farthest south and on the four lines, that is the only pos­ 
sibility of actually checking, on the whole 5 fathom line. Tell me 
this, this line which you drew to the point "Y" does it follow in 
the same direction as the current there. Can you answer that? 20

The Court: The red line he drew to " Y" ?
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Yes, or do you know? A. No, I think 

the current would set farther north than that.
Q. Do you know? A. No, I do not know.
Q. That is all right. Now, you spoke of ships having to cross 

the current twice if they navigated through the bascule span. 
Now, we will take a ship coming into the harbour going east, will 
you tell me in the first place where it has to cross the current?

Mr. Griffin: That is limited to ships going east. A. Ships 
going west. 30

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Will you tell me in the first place where 
a ship going west would have to cross the current? A. If she 
is to the north of the centre of the channel and is keeping accord­ 
ing to the rules of the road north of the centre line, to starboard 
of the centre line in order to get into the bascule span it has to 
cross to the south side and has the maximum current practically 
through the centre of the bridge as built and must cross the cur­ 
rent and after leaving the bascule span if it is to get back into its 
own position again it must cross it.

Q. Did you hear the evidence of navigators who spoke of 40 
sailing from loco? A. Yes.

Q. And going west? A. Yes.
Q. You heard their evidence. Do you say that those naviga­ 

tors in that course crossed a current so as to raise some objection­ 
able feature or difficulty, slight or great in the navigation before 
getting to the bridge, and where did you learn they crossed a cur­ 
rent under those adverse circumstances ? A. I did not say adverse
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circumstances, Mr. Donaghy. I said that it was an objectionable RECORD
feature. British Columbia

Q. You did jiot state whether you were a navigator or not. Admiralty DJH. 
And you might state that now? A. I am not a navigator with Defendant's 
papers. I don't think I would qualify. Case

Q. I take it when you made that remark in your examina- „ M~ 
tion in chief that you were dealing with the apparent difficulties cross-exam"011 
that this bascule raised in the way of navigation of ships in cros- (Contd.) 
sing currents, and that you were not speaking as a practical 

10 navigator and neither did you mean to imply it was an adverse 
circumstance. What about that? A. I was not speaking as a 
navigator, but I did not mean to say that it did not imply an ad­ 
verse circumstance.

Q. You have a double negative on me now and I do not like 
that. I will meet the. thing directly, did you mean to imply it was 
an adverse circumstance affecting navigation? A. I meant to 
imply in my opinion it was an adverse circumstance affecting 
navigation.

Q. Now, where would you in your opinion point as the place 
2o where this crossing would be an adverse circumstance in naviga­ 

tion, where from loco to the bridge? A. Anywhere, if the current 
is strong enough in dealing with where you are crossing the current.

Q. Now, coming between loco and the bridge do you say 
the ship would get into an unfavourable position in crossing the 
current in the manner you have indicated ? A. It is not a matter 
of position, it is a matter of what other traffic will be in the chan­ 
nel at the time. If a vessel navigating westbound in the Narrows 
and in the bridge and there is eastbound traffic such as logs and 
other craft coming down will have a reasonable chance, but if 

30 they have to cross the. face of the eastbound traffic going some 300 
feet, I would say that would be an adverse circumstance and the 
current going east with the traffic makes it worse.

Q. The width of the channel east of the bridge determines 
whether it is difficult to navigate? A. I do not know, Mr. 
Donaghy. Navigation is outside of my sphere.

Q. Surely you must know that the area of manoeuvering is 
an important thing to consider? A. I presume it would be of 
advantage to have a wide area.

Q. Do you know whether the area is wide enough to permit 
40 of all sorts of manoeuvering for the meeting of ships east of the 

bridge to loco ? A. I could not say.
Q. Then I hadjbetter drop that. You do not know enough 

about it. Now, you spoke of exhibit 2, this general plan we have 
here, and you went on to indicate in what respect the bridge dif­ 
fered from exhibit 2. You said, for instance, it was 5 feet higher. 
Is that correct. The actual bridge is 5 feet greater elevation than 
shown on exhibit 2? A. Yes.
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(Contd.)

Q j £0 not jus|- gee w]jat fjjg point was yOU were trying to 
make. What was it you were trying to convey in giving those 
answers. What was the point in it ? A. I don't really understand 
that question.

Q. We all knew this bridge was 5 feet higher than exhibit 
2 and there was a plan showing it. You knew that? A. I know
ii: f r°m the °ther exhibits filed.

Q- We were t°ld the other day that these plans speak for 
themselves and show the difference, do they? A. Yes.

Q. By looking at them we would get the actual difference? 10 
A. Yes.

Q. Quite so. Now, you spoke of— I do not know whether I 
touched on this or not, on the fill extending 260 feet out from the 
shore line on the south. Will you tell me whether or not in getting 
that distance you are measuring at right angles to the shore line ? 
A. I was taking off the profile which had been handed to me.

The Court : Witness, you are standing with your back to me 
then and I wish you would speak louder, please.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Your answer to the question as to wheth­ 
er you were drawing the line at right angles to the shore line is 20 
what? A. That I scaled off the distance on the exhibit handed 
to me for that purpose.

Q. That is not an answer to my question? A. I don't know 
whether it is at right angles or not.

The Court: Which line is this, Mr. Donaghy? The red line 
to "Y" or the line at the fill?

Mr. Donaghy: I forget what he drew. He said the fill ex­ 
tended 260 feet north from the shore line.

The Court: Exactly.
Mr. Donaghy: I was asking if in measuring that distance he 30 

placed a ruler or drew his line at right angles to the shore line or 
not. You said you did not? A. I don't know whether the profile 
was taken at right angles to the shore line or not.

Q. Now, have you made a cross-section of this fill? A. 
Have I made a cross-section?

Q. Yes. A. No.
Q. Have you made any measurements so you might tell us 

what the area of a cross-section of this fill is? A. No. Do I 
understand you to mean a cross-section taken at right angles to 
the railway or highway?

Q. You know what a cross-section means? A. That is what 
a cross-section is understood to be, a section taken at right angles 
to the structure. I did not take a cross-section of that fill, under­ 
standing it that way.

Q. I understand. When you spoke of a cross-section you 
mean a cross-section taken at right angles to the shore line or the 
railway track? A. A cross-section is normally, in railway engin-
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eering, a cross-section is taken on a plan at right angles to the RECORD 
centre line of the structure and a profile is token on a plane British 
along the line of construction. Admiralty

Q. We will get down to practical work. In order to find Defendant's 
out the area of space that this fill would occupy as an obstruction Case 
to a stream, I might find that out by taking a cross-section of this —— 
fill, might I not? A. I do not understand you. *?• Muddeston

Q. Will you please tell his lordship how you would ascertain " 
just what the area is that this fill occupied so as to form an obstruc- 

10 tion to the stream. How would you proceed to do that? A. I 
would take the plan—

Q. Never mind that, how would you start out? A. I would 
make a survey on the ground to find out exactly how far out from, 
some fixed point if I could find one to the edge of the fill and do the 
toe of the fill, and if it was necessary to be very accurate I would 
sink a shaft down through the fill until I got to the original sur­ 
face of the ground so as to get the height.

Q. You would probably omit the sinking of the shaft there 
under the circumstances there? A. It depends, if the client was 

20 willing to go to the expense. There is no other way of finding 
where the original surface was before the fill.

Q. We have you absolutely on that that you would sink a 
shaft? A. Or idrill a hole.

Q. Did you do these things? A. I did not drill a hole.
Q. Did you do any of th -se things ? A. I found out on the 

ground that the fill extended o it so that the outer limit, of the fill 
was practically level with pier i.

Q. Did ~ou make any of the measurements that you told his 
lordship it was necessary to ans wer the question? A. Not on the 

30 ground.
Q. And to be accurate yoi' say it would be necessary to do 

it on the ground? A. To be absolutely accurate.
Q. And you did none of these things? A. I did not.
Q. Now, we will turn to youi suggestion for other types of 

bridges at this place and we will deal with your suggestion that 
a vertical lift span might feasibly have been placed where the 300 
foot fixed span stands today. Now, having in mind what you were 
contemplating in this way of the 300 foot lift span at this span 
at this point, would you mind telling us what elevation would go 

40 up to? A. 150 feet would be enough, in fact, 135 feet probably 
would be enough.

Q. Now, will you tell his lordship whether or not with a 
structure such as we have spoken of, this lift span there would be 
any difference in the weight which the piers had at the end of this 
300 foot span, would have to carry ? A. They would have to carry 
slightly more.

Q. Slightly more than they are carrying now? A. Yes.
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RECORD Q ^re wiu just analyze that. How much do they carry 
British Columbia now ? A. The nortu pier of the present 150 foot span carries 
Admirait^Di,,. half fl^ weight of the 300 foot fixed span and half the weight 
Defendant's of the 150 foot span lying north of it.
C"6 _ Q. Let us deal with that, and under the lift span scheme 
H Mucideston y°u Pr°P°se wnat e^ that the piers will have to carry 1? A. The 
Cross-exam. towers and the counterweights. 

(Contd.) Q. What would the weight of those he? A. The towers?
Q. And the counterweight, everything in fact that would 

be in those weights? A. The counterweight would be about half 10 
the weight of the span^

"Q. Give us the figure? A. In the neighbourhood of 350 
tons in that bridge.

Q. Yes, what else? A. And the half weight of the machin­ 
ery and the tower would possibly run 80.

Q. 80 tons. Are you satisfied that you have given yourself 
sufficient margin there? A. I think so.

Q. That would be 430 tons extra ? A. I think that you can 
get it a little closer, perhaps.

Q. Take your time, I am warning you fairly that your fig- 20 
ures may be checked, you see. A. The tower would be about 
180 tons in round figures and the counterweight around 350, I 
think.

Q. Yes ? A. The machinery is very small, oh, possibly 
thirty tons.

Q. Now, did you make these estimates yourself of your 
own knowledge, or did you get them from some other engineer? 
A. I made them four years ago.

Q. From your own knowledge or information supplied you 
by someone else? A. From my own knowledge and technical 30 
publications, and with the assistance of Dr. Waddell.

Q. Did you do this through correspondence with Dr. Wad- 
dell or personal conversation? A. Both.

Q. Have you had any experience in building a structure of 
the kind you are now mentioning? A. No.

Q. Then I take it for safety you felt it was well to get in­ 
formation from somebody else to assist you? A. Yes.

Q. Very good. Now, are you quite satisfied that so far as 
your opinion goes you have given us all the total weight that would 
be put on the north pier of the 300-foot fixed span? A. That is 40 
very close to it.

Q. You are satisfied with that? A. Yes.
Q. Now, take the south pier of the 300-foot span, would the 

same additional weight be brought to bear on that pier as the 
north pier? A. Bather more, because the bascule span probably 
would be changed under those circumstances to a fixed span and 
would have half the weight of that span, whatever it is.
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Q. You would say that there would be more weight on the 
south end than on the north end? A. Probably.

Q. How much more probably? A. Whatever that bascule 
span weighs, I have not the figures on that.

Q. You do not know? A. No.
Q. And then you do not know what that would be ? A. No.
Q. It would be well to know before you started to build con­ 

sidering the question of the size of the foundation and the depth 
and all that sort of thing and the piers. What do you say to that ? 

10 A. I mean—
Q. You know what I mean, we will have it read if you do 

not understand. Will you read the question, please. (Reporter 
reads: "It would be well to know before you started to build con­ 
sidering the question of the size of the foundation and the depth 
and all that sort of thing and the piers. What do youi say to 
that?") A. It would be well to ascertain in advance.

Q. Is that putting it precisely from an engineering point of 
view, it is essential to ascertain it in advance ? A. If the knowl­ 
edge is not already in existence.

20 Q. State it in any way you like. I am suggesting to you the 
proper thing and what an engineer would require would be to 
know it in advance. If I am wrong you may tell me? A. Cer­ 
tainly, that is what I meant.

Q. And you do not know it? A. No.
Q. Would you mind telling me as an engineer what else you 

would require to know regarding the north end and south end of 
this 300-foot space before you start in to build? A. I don't 
understand that.

Q. You don't ? A. No, it is necessary to know the loads you 
30 have to carry and I do not know what else—

Q. You don't? A. You wished to get—
Q. Never mind what I wish. State what you as a profes­ 

sional man would require to know? A. The character of the 
foundation I would want to know.

Q. I thought so. Do you know the character of the founda­ 
tion ? A. Not from personal knowledge.

Q. No, then you don't know? A. I know by descriptions 
from men who were actually on the job.

Q. From hearsay? A. No. 
40 Q. What do you call that? A. A published paper.

Q. We call it hearsay here. Do you know from any other 
source ? A. Also from the actual description of the bridge which 
was published in the proceedings of the Institute of Civil Engi­ 
neers.

Q. Now, since you know this perhaps you will state to his 
lordship what is the nature of the foundation at the pier at the 
south end of the 300-foot fixed span? A. The pier at the south

RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Defendant's 
Case

H. Mucldeston 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)
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RECORD en(j is partly founded on rock, that is, No. 2 pier is founded partly 
British Columbia on rock and partly on gravel or drift. The part founded on rock Admiraity^Dist. was g^^ out to a certain amount.
Defendant's The Court: Q. What pier are you talking of now? A.
Case Pier No. 2; the pier is founded on rock. The rock was shot out
H MwJdeston *° a certain extent until the shooting looked as if it was likely to
Cross-exam. damage the caisson and then a cantilever footing was put in under

(Contd.) the north end of No. 2 pier and extended out some five or six feet
and reinforced with 15-inch I beams and after that was done the
pier caisson was filled in the ordinary way. 10

Mr. Donaghy: Q. What proportion of the pier is on solid 
rock and what proportion on gravel? A. Possibly half the area is 
in rock. I would not be certain as to that.

Q. What is the nature of the other material that the foot­ 
ing is on? A. Drift, boulders and gravel.

Q. The part that is on rock, do you know the nature of the 
rock, hard solid rock? A. Sandstone, friable, but good for 100 
tons to the square foot.

Q. What is the depth of the footing of this No. 2 pier? A. 
124 feet, I believe. 20

Q. From what? A. From, I am not certain whether it is 
low or high water. There was 46 pound pressure in the construc­ 
tion as far as I remember.

Q. State to the best of your knowledge the best opinion you 
formed as to the depth of the footing of this pier, say from low 
water? A. About 124 feet, I believe.

Q. 124 feet. Now, that figure you have given us, will you 
tell his lordship whether or not it would be practical for a work­ 
man to work at a footing that deep at No. 2 pier and live? A. 124 
feet? 30

Q. You know what you said? A. Practical?
Q. Yes? A. They have worked at very much greater pres­ 

sure than that. The caisson at the Eads' Bridge was 137 feet deep.
Q. What would the pressure be? A. I would have to work 

it out. I could not say.
Q. What would the pressure be at this 124-foot depth below 

low water ? A. About 46 pounds.
Q. Have you worked that out? A. No, I took that from 

the same paper.
Q. Now, what would the depth be below high water. You #> 

told us that it was 124 feet at low water ? A. 137 feet. It is 124 
feet from low water. I am not certain on that, though.

Q. I am only getting your opinion as an engineer. What 
would the pressure be 137 feet below? A. About half a pound 
more.

Q. What is the ultimate pressure at which it is impossible
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for workmen to work, in an affair of that kind? A. It has never RECORD 
been determined. British

Q. Almost determined, has it not? A. No, divers work Admir^y 
down to 200 feet and more. Defendant's

Q. In a caisson under air pressure? A. No, divers. Case
Q. I am not talking of divers, I am talking about putting H M^g.. 

this caisson down. I might as well state now so as to have it on cross-exam, 
record that these are put down and air pressure is kept in them (Contd.) 
to keep the water out so that the workmen can work. That is at 

10 the pressure.
Q. Yes.
Q. That is not diving ? A. It is the same principle.
Q. No, there is no air pressure ? A. I mean the professional 

deep-sea diver who goes down in a diver's dress.
Q. Are you going to tell me that it is the same thing ? A. 

Yes, they work under exactly the same air pressure.
Q. You go this far, then, I take it, that it would be quite 

feasible to sink this footing some 200 feet below high water, is that 
your answer? A. No.

20 Q. How many feet do you say would be the ultimate limit 
under which a human being could work in sinking this footing? 
A. It comes to the question of cost.

Q. I am not talking of the cost, but human life ? A. If the 
cost is eliminated, divers can work to 200, and 234 feet and it 
enters into the feature of the cost and so on, as to whether it can 
be put down that deep.

Q. All right, we have you on record on that. Now, as to the 
foundations and footings of Pier No. 2 such as would be suffi­ 
cient to carry considerably greater weight on that pier? A. I 

30 could not say without examination.
Q. Then, you do not know? A. Oh, no.
Q. You don't know that. It would be necessary to know that 

before starting out to build a greater weight and heavier struc­ 
ture ? A. But the pier would be designed for the heavier structure.

Q. I am not asking that, I am asking about the footing? A. 
If the footing is there adequate to carry the load on it, an ade­ 
quate footing would carry an extended load.

Q. What extended footing do you mean, to what extension ? 
A. Possibly increase the area 50 per cent. 

40 Q. Are you satisfied that would be ample? A. I think so.
Q. Do you know how much extra that it would cost now ? A. 

Possibly might run to 50 per cent. more.
Q. I suppose you are prepared to state that dredging of the 

channel where the Second Narrows Bridge is constructed would 
compensate to some degree for the action of the piers? A. If 
the dredging extended far enough from the centre line of the 
bridge in an easterly direction it would compensate.
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(Contd.)

The Court : Turn around, I cannot hear you, witness.
A. If the direction extended far enough east and west of 

the line of the bridge it would compensate to some degree.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Will you tell me where the narrowest 

place, approximately where the narrowest place, the narrowest 
channel exists in the Second Narrows ? A. From the chart it is
ab°ut where the Water P1?68 are'

Q- Somewhere about 1500 feet east? A. Yes.
The Court: I think there is a mistake there. The nearest 

water pipe is about 1,000 feet? A. No, 1500 feet, my lord, about 10 
the centre of the group of water pipes. There are nine or ten of 
them, and the 1500 feet I think measures to the centre of the whole 
group.

The Court : There is a place called the knuckle about 1400 
feet from the bascule. We will just see now. The knuckle is 
marked on Exhibit 8 by the letter "A" and that is 1400 feet east 
from the bascule and that is about the middle of the main group of 
water pipes, if you will please look at it.

Mr. Griffin : I did not hear the figures your lordship gave.
The Court : Marked on Exhibit 8 there is a place called the 20 

knuckle and as I scaled it the knuckle is 1400 feet east of the 
bascule. I want the witness to look at that.

Mr. Griffin: And that is the most easterly of the mains?
The Court : No, he pointed out, about the middle, and I think 

that is about right.
A. It is more like 1500 feet to the centre of the group of 

easterly mains.
The Court : Yes, I think that is right. About 1500 feet to 

the centre of the group.
A. The knuckle marked " A" it is possible 100 feet nearer. 30
Q. I think you are right. That is what I would make it. 

The knuckle is about 100 feet east of — you say the centre of the 
group of water pipes is about 1500 feet east of the bascule ? A. 
The south end of them.

Q. 1500 feet reaches about the middle of the main group of 
water pipes projected on a line east from the bascule ? A. Yes.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. We have that located as the narrowest 
part of the channel? A. I spoke from memory. Looking at the 
chart I might change that.

Q. Is it also the shallowest part of the Second Narrows ? A. 40 
I would have to see the chart.

Q. At any rate, it is in and perhaps there is no use having 
you verify it. It is a chart made by engineers.

The Court : Yes, the second group of pipe lines is in quite as 
narrow, is not quite as narrow as the bridge, I understand that you 
say it stands on the very narrowest part. I understand that is so.

A. Mr. Donaghy asked me where the narrowest part of the
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channel was and I said to my recollection of the chart that it was RECORD
east of the bridge somewhere about the water pipes. British Columbia

Mr. Donaghy: We have a survey made of it and have it in. Admiralty Dist.
The Court: I think the witness is wrong. Defendant's
Mr. Donaghy: I think that he is right. Case
Mr. Griffin: I think we are all agreed that the narrowest TT ,7~TT,.,,,,, •,., ° H. Mucklestonpart is east of the bridge. Cross-exam.
The Court: A little east of the bridge, but nowhere near the (Comd.) 

water pipes. 
10 Mr. Donaghy: We had an actual survey made by engineers.

The Court: As I understand what really would actually be 
the narrowest is where the B. C. Electric transmission line 
crosses, as I understand it, just a little east from the bridge. It 
is certainly not the water pipes. The water pipes are much too far 
over to be in the narrowest part.

A. There is no telling, there is not any great difference any­ 
way.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. When you told my learned friend in 
your examination in chief that an alternative plan of the bridge 

20 with this 300-foot lift span could be constructed for a few hun­ 
dred thousand dollars more than what the present bridge cost you 
had in mind that the present bridge cost almost $1,800,000? A. 
I believe that the figures quoted were one million and three-quar­ 
ters.

Q. All right. Yes. Now, do you know how much of that mil­ 
lion in three-quarters in round numbers was expended in works 
starting on the north shore, such as the fill, railway tracks and 
small bridge across Lynn Creek? A. No.

Q. Well, then, in figuring the cost of the proposal for the 
30 bridge which you submitted you were dealing only with the cost 

of the bridge and not including any of these works to the north 
of the harbour, on the north shore, like the fill, the railway track 
and some bridge across Lynn Creek ? A. That would be coming 
to the two propositions.

The Court: Turn around and keep your hand down ? A. I 
was keeping it on my ear.

Q. I see. All right.
Mr. Donaghy: We will see how you split this thing and how 

you make it up. You say it would be coming to both propositions. 
40 What would the bridge proper cost on the plan you have pro­ 

posed, leaving out the fill and the mile of railway track and the 
bridge across Lynn Creek ? A. I have not tackled that.

Q. You have not tackled that yet? A. No, I am dealing 
with differences and not with totals.

Q. Have you any idea of what the cost was of the work north 
of the north shore, the fill, railway track and bridge across Lynn 
Creek? A. No.



522

RECORD Q Not a£ aii Have you any idea what proportion that 
British Columbia would be bearing to the million and three-quarters ? A. No, I Admiraityjxst. would not give an estimate.
Defendant's Q. You haven't even that. All right, Mr. Muckleston. Then
Case it necessarily follows, I suppose, that you have no idea what the
H M~dki con bridge proper would cost? A. No, the figures I gave were the
Cross-exam. difference between the cost of the lift span and the fixed span and

(Comd.) making allowance for the saving in cost of the bascule span, which
is only a rough estimate.

Q. Yes. Have you made a suggestion that the bascule should 10 
be further north than it is in the present bridge 1 A. I did not 
make any such suggestion.

Q. And you do not suggest it today ? A. It would be much 
better if it opened further north than the fixed opening.

Q. What do you mean by the opening? A. The moving 
span would be much better from a navigation standpoint of view 
if it was farther north.

Q. That is the bascule span. Do you suggest that the bas­ 
cule should be farther north ? A. The moveable span should be. 
I would not take the position of putting the bascule further north. 20

Q. You do not suggest that the bascule span should be fur­ 
ther north? A. You mean to move the whole thing bodily, pier 
and all?

Q. Do you not suggest in the construction of the bridge with 
a bascule opening that the bascule opening should have been put 
further north than where it is at present ? A. The opening would 
have been very much better further north.

Q. The bascule span? A. No, I say an opening.
Q. I want to get it plain on the record. I am not dealing 

with all kinds of openings, I am dealing with one, and you may 30 
answer this if you like. It is the last time that I will ask it. Do 
you suggest the bascule span should have been further north than 
it is at the present clearance, yes or no? A. I don't know whether 
the bascule span could have been built further north.

Q. Very good. That satisfies me. Reverting again to the 
fill at the south of the bridge, starting at the toe, the north toe. 
Do you remember stating that that was 77 feet north—

The Court: Just one minute. Yes, Mr. Donaghy.
Mr. Donaghy: Speaking of the fill, and the distance which 

the toe or north end of the fill is from low water mark will you 40 
tell me whether or not you measured that on the ground? A. 
Measured it on the profile handed to me for the purpose.

Q. Did you measure it on the ground? A. There was no 
trace of the low water mark on the ground now. It is covered 
over with the fill.

Q. Could you not find it on the east and west side ? A. No, 
it is filled up on the west side with the fill from the railway track.
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Q. The railway track has not changed? A. Yes, there are RECORD
two additional tracks put in and quite a lot of fill put in there. British Columbia
I don't know whether it is possible to find the low water mark. Admiralty pin.

Q. Did you look about to see? A. I haven't had a chance Defendant's
of looking. Case

Q. Did you look to see? A. No. ——
Q. Why did you teU me that you could not find it? A. I {?• Muddeston•j-rj'j J.J.T--1 i j .o j vi. Cross-exam.said I did not think you could find it. (Comd.)
Q. You have not been there to examine them? A. I have 

10 been there several times, but the times—I have never been there 
at zero, it is only in December.

Q. You don't know whether one can see the low water mark 
line there or not? A. No.

Q. To have it plain you did not measure from the low water 
mark as you thought it existed, to the north of the fill to the toe ? 
A. No.

Q. Neither did you do that measurement from the high 
water mark? A. No.

Q. Did you measure the depth that the bottom of the fill is 
20 below water at low water? A. No.

The Court: The depth of the toe?
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, the depth of the toe as below water at 

low tide? A. No.
Q. Did you measure that at high tide ? A. No.
Q. Now, do you remember telling his lordship that you 

paced the fill to find how far it ran north from low water ? A. No.
Q. And did you pace it ? A. No, I told his lordship I ascer­ 

tained that the last of the fill was even with Pier 5.
Q. How, by pacing ? A. No, by going and looking at it. 

30 Q. Did you do any pacing down there? A. I paced across 
to see how wide it was at one point.

Q. Is that all you did ? A. That was all that was necessary.
Q. I did not ask that. Did you do all that was necessary ? 

A. Yes.
Q. You see you might have done more than was necessary. 

Do you know the height of masts of vessels—
The Court: You are going into a new subject?
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, I close on that.
The Court: We will adjourn then.

40 (12.56 p.m. COURT WAS THEREUPON ADJOURNED 
UNTIL 2.15 p.m. OF THE SAME DAY.)

2.15 P.M. 

(COURT RESUMED PURSUANT TO ADJOURNMENT.)
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RECORD HUGH MUCKLESTON, Eesumed the stand.
Mr. Griffin: My lord, before my friend proceeds with this 

, witness, he had marked his testimony in regard to the fill on 
Defendants another duplicate copy of Exhibit 2, in the form of coloured 

_ marks, and I forgot to ask him about it this morning. I would ask 
H. Muckleston leave now to put it in so that my friend can, if he wishes, take it 
Cross-exam Up jn njs cross-examination. 

(Contd.) The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Witness, I show you a duplicate copy of 10 

Exhibit 2, and on it are two areas which you have marked, one 
of them in red, and the other, is that green or yellow? A. Yel­ 
low.

Q. And the other one in yellow, at the place where the fill is 
which has been in question this morning. Would you just explain 
in your testimony those two marks and what they represent. 

The Registrar: We will mark that Exhibit 47. 
The Court: Yes.

(PLAN MARKED EXHIBIT No. 47.) SO 
A. The area which is hatched in red colour is the area which

is supposed to show the fill as it was intended. The area hatched in 
yellow shows the fill as it actually is, both of them being profiles 
on the line of the—the centre line of construction.

Mr. Griffin: Q. In other words, the red part would repre­ 
sent the suggested fill, if in fact it is indicated by the diagonal 
line referred to by Mr. Swan ? A. Yes.

Q. And the yellow shows what appears on the ground to the 
best of your information? A. Yes.

Q. And the northerly lines of the yellow mark, where is that 30 
with reference to pier five? A. Pier five comes at the crest, 
approximately.

The Court: Q. Pier 5 what ? A. Comes at the crest.
The Court: At the crest.
Mr. Griffin: Of the yellow slope.
The Court: Of the yellow slope ?
Mr. Griffin: Yes.
Q. I think you might almost take that pencil and run in a 

line there and mark it pier 5.
The Court: Yes. .
Mr. Griffin: That would be better—right from here. A. 

(Indicating.)
Mr. Griffin: Yes, thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION CONTINUED BY MR. DON- 
AGHY:

Q. Mr. Muckleston, before leaving the subject we touched
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on this morning, another question has occurred to me : Did you RECORD
state in your examination in chief that the cost of altering that British Columbia
300-foot fixed span to a 300-foot lift span— had the design been Mmirdt, £>///.
altered originally — would be something like $100,000 ? A. No. Defendant's

Q. What was the figure you gave us this morning? A. I Case
gave you $100,000 as the net increase due to a change in design. H "
That means increase in total cost had the one design been substi- cross-exam. 
tuted for the other. (Contd.)

Q. Yes, I see. Now, in your scheme, would the bascule be 
10 eliminated entirely? A. It would never have been built.

Q. No. And how do you propose to take care of the clear­ 
ance of vessels whose masts were higher than the 150 foot clear­ 
ance in the lift span? A. I say very few vessels come in this 
harbour with masts of a clearance of more than that, and very 
much fewer who would ever wish to go up above the Narrows, and 
I estimated that 150 foot clearance would be ample. There would 
be a clearance considerably in excess of that at a lower tide, but 
that is for that extreme high water.

Q. Well, did you propose then to debar vessels of a higher 
20 clearance. I suppose that is obvious, is it not? A. Oh, yes.

Mr. Donaghy: Thank you.

RE-DIBECT EXAMINATION BY MB. GRIFFIN: H Muddeston
Re-direct

Q. Mr. Muckleston, I have one or two questions. A refer­ 
ence was made to the height — the distance between low water mark 
and the bottom of pier 2, and you gave a distance of 124 feet as 
being the possible distance that you got from the pamphlet. Have 
you had an opportunity of checking up those figures from the 
pamphlet? A. Yes, it appears that they are very much on the 
large side. I was speaking from memory of more than a year ago, 

30 but I find from this pamphlet that the elevation is — to the bottom 
of pier 2 is about 87 feet below low water.

Q. And that pamphlet is — who is the author of that pam­ 
phlet? : A. It is an advanced proof of a paper presented before 
the Institution of Civil Engineers by Mr. A. D. Swan.

Mr. Donaghy: We had better have that marked.
Mr. Griffin: I have no objection to it being marked.
Mr. Donaghy : By the way, my lord, I don 't know — Mr. Swan 

has called my attention to the fact that as he says — as the witness 
says it is only an advanced proof, and that is dangerous to put 

40 that in.
Mr. Griffin : Well, don't put that in, that is all right.
Mr. Donaghy: We have the real proof here if you want to 

question the witness on that.
Mr. Griffin: I am not questioning the witness on it. I am 

only just checking up the accuracy of his source of information
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on which he based certain matters that my friend put to him in 
cross-examination. I did not deal with this pamphlet.

The Court: Are you putting in 48 or not?
Mr. Griffin: No, I am not putting it in.
The Court: Do you wish 48 put in?
Mr. Donaghy: No, seeing it is only an advanced proof it 

might not ^reliable.
-^r> Griffin: Q. Just on the same point, you were asked as 

to what you knew of the extent to which pier 2 was founded upon 
a rock basis, and you spoke of it as from the same pamphlet which 10 
you did not then have in your hand. Having referred back to this 
same pamphlet to check the correctness, does what appears on the 
face — what percentage —

Mr. Donaghy: Mr. Griffin, I would suggest that you use-
Mr. Griffin; I am not suggesting that the pamphlet is right, 

I am only saying that the witness's recollection of it in cross- 
examination — he has a right to correct, to what it shows from the 
same source, so as to get the statement accurate, whatever the 
source may have been. It was my friend that brought out the 
reference. 20

Mr. Donaghy: I simply suggest that you do that. Of course 
if you don't want to do that I can't control you.

Mr. Griffin : I don't see any advantage —
The Court: It would be, no doubt, more satisfactory to take 

it from the final proof. He had better look at it and see if it is 
the same.

Mr. Griffin : My lord, I have no wish to utilize the document. 
My friend asked the witness about it, where he got certain informa­ 
tion, and he having stated it on the basis of his memory, I merely 
want to correct the statement as from the same source. It is a 30 
very trifling point, but we might as well be accurate.

The Qourt: On the other hand we ought to know what he 
holds in his hand.

Mr. Griffin : No, I am not asking him —
The Court: You do not want that to go in f
Mr. Donaghy: No, my lord.
The Court: Well, we will not trouble about it then.
Mr. Griffin : I just want to have an answer to that question.
Q." From a perusal of that particular source, what does 

appear to be the correct percentage of the base of that pier which 40 
is founded upon rock?

Mr. Donaghy: Just a moment.
The Court : Of course the source is not here.
Mr. Donaghy : The source is not here
Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, the source from which he drew 

the statement he made in cross-examination is this source.
Mr. Donaghy: You are producing a source —
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The Court: But that document was not produced, no refer- RECORD 
ence was made to it. British Columbia 

The Witness: Yes, my lord, I referred to this same docu- Admiralty DJH.
ment. Defendant's

The Court: You referred generally to it. Case
The Witness: No, I mentioned it by name, sir. ——
The Court: You did not have it in your hand. H. Muddeston
Mr. Donaghy: You didn't have it here. (Sd.)
Mr. Griffin: He was speaking of it from memory, it being in 

10 his pocket, and now I really want to show that he has been some­ 
what inaccurate in his memory of the document.

The Court: I think really the sensible way, really the most 
reliable way to do it of course is when he has got a revised docu­ 
ment before him, is for him to look at it.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, I offered my friend, the copy is here.
The Court: There is the source of information open to him, 

and if he wishes to build anything on that, but of course if he 
deliberately shuts his eyes to it it will carry no weight with me.

Mr. Griffin: Well, my lord, I asked him simply the source 
20 from which he derived his memory.

The Court: There is no trouble about the memory because 
he has himself very clearly displaced the memory by exact knowl­ 
edge, and if you reject that you understand I will pay no attention 
to it. What he has said is evidence for what it is worth, but it is 
worth nothing.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Well, from the same source of information 
upon which you based that statement this morning, what is the 
actual percentage based upon rock foundation? A. It is some­ 
thing less than a fifth.

80 Q. Now, a question was put as to your having or not having 
certain information in regard to the designing of a bridge, and 
you stated you did not have certain information as to weights and 
so forth. Is that information available in professional sources? 
A. Oh, yes.

Q. One other question: Reference was made as to whether 
or no you could give actually with absolute accuracy the length and 
breadth of the fill at the south end of the pier. Was it in your 
opinion, for the purpose of the question of impediment to naviga­ 
tion, essential to give the exact distance which this fill extends 

40 north at low water mark?
Mr. Donaghy: Just a moment before the witness answers. 

My friend went into this in his examination in chief and I took 
it up then. He is dealing again—re-affirming the same subject.

Mr. Griffin: No, I am not.
Mr. Donaghy: He should have exhausted him,
The Court: Yes, it is really not re-examination, Mr. Griffin, 

you are asking him for really this, that what he gives me will have 
any weight with me, that is really your question.
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RECORD MP> Griffin: No, I mean as a matter of professional opinion, 
British Columbia is it necessary to know the exact number of feet of a certain thing 
Admirait^Dist. jn or<ier to be able to express an opinion upon its general effect. 
Defendant's That is properly a professional opinion.
Case Mr. Donaghy: You see, my objection, my lord, to the ques- 
H M^ddeston tion is» ** s^ould naye been asked in chief.
Re-direct The Court: Yes, well the question is objectionable on at least 

(Contd.) three grounds, and I rule it out.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Now, Exhibit 46, being the building con­ 

tract between the Plaintiff and the Northern Construction Com- 10 
pany, I see a reference is made to it. Perhaps you can find that, 
you are more familiar with where to look for it. My memory is 
that this contract provides for the construction of the bridge in 
one large respect in accordance with a loading called Cooper's 
E-50 loading. Would you just verify that.

Mr. Donaghy: My lord, I have an objection to this line of 
examination. It is not an anything that I raised now.

Mr. Griffin: Oh, yes, it is, Mr. Donaghy, excuse me. You 
referred to—

Mr. Donaghy: I did not deal with what the contract said 20 
at all.

Mr. Griffin: ,No, you dealt with another form of loading 
which you called Canadian E-50 railway loading; I just want to 
verify that.

The Court: Since it is objected to, Mr. Griffin, tell me please 
exactly what yjou are asking so I shall see.

Mr. Griffin: I want to find out if the Cooper's E-50 loading 
in the contract is the same as the E-50 loading referred to this 
morning by my. friend.

Mr. Donaghy: I never used the expression. 30
Mr. Griffin: I have taken it down.
The Court: I do not recall it.
Mr. Donaghy: I never used the expression.
The Court: I do not recall it, I must say.
Mr. Griffin: I have taken it down in the beginning of the 

cross-examination, that this bridge was built as most bridges were 
built to E-50 loading.

Mr. Donaghy: I did not ask him that.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, my friend's cross-examination taken down 

by me in my own handwriting from his cross-examination.
The Court: Well, it is really not very material, but I prefer * 

to allow him to explain it, which is the easiest cure of a possible 
lapse of memory, which may be on my part or anybody's else's, 
you see. There is no harm in explaining that—just as a matter 
of precaution.

Mr. Griffin: Then, Mr. Muckleston, is Cooper's E-50 load­ 
ing the same thing as E-50 railway loading? A. Essentially.
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Mr. Griffin: That is all, thank you, on that point. That is all, RECORD
thank you. British ColumbiaMr. Donaghy: No questions. Admiralty ptst.

(Witness aside) Defendant's
Mr. Griffin: Mr. Creer. Case

ALFRED DOUGLAS CREER, a witness called on behalf of the
Defendant being first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Q. Mr. Creer, you are a civil engineer practicing your pro- 

10 fession in the City of Vancouver? A. I am.
Q. Of what Associations are you a member? A. Member 

of the Institute of Civil Engineers, London.
Q. Slower please; Member of the Institute— A. Member 

of the Institute of Civil Engineers, London, England.
Q. Yes? A. Member of the Canadian Society of Civil En­ 

gineers, and Member of the Professional Engineers of B. C.
The Court: If you would stand a little farther back in this 

way, and try and speak clearly. You don't speak very clearly. 
A. And member of the Professional Engineers of British Colum- 

20 bia.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Now, you know the Second Narrows bridge ? 

A. I do.
Q. Have you had occasion in the last two or three years to 

consider it with a view to its effect on the navigation of the upper 
harbour? A. Yes, I have.

Q. In connection with what matter did that arise? A. It 
arose in connection with the joint committee of the Board of 
Trade, the Shipping Bureau and the Merchants' Exchange, I 
was on—

30 Q. To do what? A. I was on that committee as a member. 
There was a good deal of anxiety—

Mr. Donaghy: Well—
Mr. Griffin: Q. Never mind that. The committee's purpose 

was to do what? A. The committee was requested to bring in 
some resolutions—

Mr. Donaghy: My lord—
The Court: Never mind about that now.
Mr. Donaghy: He had better tell his own experience.
Mr. Griffin: Q. What did the committee—what did the 

40 committee investigate, what was the purpose.
Mr. Donaghy.: No, my lord.
Mr. Griffin: To investigate that—
The Court: We have nothing to do with the committee. 

What did this man do himself?
Mr. Griffin: Q. Yes, what did you do then, either alone or
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with the others, in this connection ? A. I was on the committee —
The Court: Q. Never mind the committee, just go on and 

tell your own story of what you did. The committee does not con­ 
trol. this matter, you see. A. I was asked by the committee to —

Mr. Donaghy: Now, my lord —
The Court: Q. Will you please stop. You know perfectly 

well — A. Yes, my lord, I am trying to do what you want.
Q. Well, it ought to be very easy, you see, because it is very 

plain and sensible. Just give the answer to the learned counsel, 
what he wants you to do? A. Yes.

The Court : It is quite clear, what did you do.
Mr. Griffin : Q. Did you make investigations of the condi­ 

tions of navigation which surround the Second Narrows Bridge 1? 
A. No, I did not.

Q. What did you do yourself then? A. Well, I examined 
the plans of the Second Narrows Bridge as the bridge was built.

Q. Yes? A. And I considered —
Q. Wait a minute now. You examined the plans? A. Yes.
Q. Now, then, what did you do on the ground or in con­ 

nection with the harbour. Did you go and look at it? A. I went 
and looked at it, yes, several times.

Q. Yes, you are familiar with the surroundings? A. Oh, 
I am familiar with the surroundings there.

Q. Now, what do you say as to whether that bridge impedes 
navigation, and if so in what respects? A. It certainly is an 
obstruction to navigation. Any bridge is more or less of an 
obstruction, and this bridge being at a particularly narrow part 
of the channel where the velocities are high, the current is chang­ 
ing direction, it is a particularly bad place for a bridge from a 
navigation viewpoint. The height of the bridge, of course, pre- 
vents the free navigation of all sized vessels. There is a fill on 
the south shore which deflects the current into a cross-wise direc­ 
tion; there is a considerable amount of trestle work on the north 
shore which also has the effect of cutting down the area available 
for flow, and increasing the velocity of the flow.

Q. And how about the piers themselves? A. The piers 
themselves are an obstruction to the passage of vessels, of course, 
and if I might look at the plan —

Q. Yes? A. I might mention a particularly objectionable 
feature is that a large vessel navigating in either direction would 
be obliged to depart from the centre of the stream which would be 
her natural place.

The Court: Q. That a large vessel would what, witness? 
A. Would be obliged to depart from the centre of the stream.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Now, did you hear the testimony of the 
previous witness?

The Court : Q. Which do you mean, stream or channel, be-

10

20

30
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cause there is a difference, you know? A. Well, perhaps Channel RECORD 
would be the better expression to use, my lord. British Columbia

Q. Do not say perhaps, because it is the only exact thing we AJmirai'y &"'• 
are considering, it is the thing, because the stream may be two miles Defendant's 
wide and the channel may be anywhere near the centre. Case

Mr. Griffin: Q. Did you hear the evidence of the previous 
witness in regard to percentages whereby the cross-sectional area
by piers, etcetera? A. I did. (Contd)

Q. Do you concur with that? A. Yes, approximately cor- 
10 rect.

Q. Would that have the effect of increasing the velocity of 
the current? A. It certainly would increase the velocity, yes.

Q. Now, take another feature of it, that is, do the piers 
create an obstruction greater than their mere face? A. Well, 
most decidedly they would.

Q. In what respect? A. The turbulance of an eddy set up 
in the current, that would have been minimized if they had been 
streamline piers, but they are not.

Q. In what respect are they not streamline piers? A. Well, 
20 they don't conform to the natural streamline shape.

Q. So that the current strikes them at somewhat of an 
angle ? A. Strikes them — yes.

Q. Now, then, you spoke of the fill, in what way does it im­ 
pede or affect the current? A. It reduces the size of the channel. 
It reduces the area available for water to pass through, and it 
forms an obstruction in the stream in the line of flow. It is jutting 
out into the stream.

Q. What was the condition of tidal flow in the main harbour, 
irrespective of the bridge at that point ? A. The shore line was 

30 practically straight.
Q. Yes? A. Straight right through. There was no obstruc­ 

tion there at that time.
The Court: Q. Are you speaking of the sound end? A. I 

beg your pardon?
The Court : Are you speaking of the south end?
Mr. Griffin: Oh, yes, my lord, the south end.
Q. Was there a tidal current at certain stages of the tide 

in the main harbour below ? A. Yes, unquestionably there was.
Q. What was its direction? A. There was a very marked 

40 current in the harbour in counter-clockwise direction.
Q. Has the tide shifted where that goes? A. Well, that 

would tend to travel up the harbour with the tide.
Q. Now, on reaching the point there where the Narrows 

begins, what would be the result? A. It would effect a cross­ 
current.

Q. It would affect — A. Well, it would form a cross-cur­
rent.
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RECORD Q Now, what effect would the fill, if any, create upon the 
British Columbia otherwise natural eddy or stream? A. It would force the cur- 
Admiraity Dist. rent ou^ from shore across the normal direction of the current, 

there would be a turbulence there, a disturbance in the even flow 
of the current, and there certainly would be a very strong cross­ 
current formed by the fill.

Q. Now, evidence was given this morning, which I will re­ 
peat to you so as to save time— but before doing so, you heard the 
evidence of the witness Mr. Muckleston ? A. Yes.

Q. And that of Mr. Swan? A. No, I didn't hear Mr. 10 
Swan's—at least I don't think—I heard part of it, I don't think 
I heard the whole of it.

The Court: Q. Witness, come a little this way and try and 
speak clearer. You do not speak clearly.

A. I am sorry, my lord.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Now, evidence was given that the bridge as 

built departs from that shown on Exhibit 2 which you have before 
you in these respects, firstly, that it was five feet higher; secondly 
that it had at the north end two 150-foot spans which are not shown 
on Exhibit 2, with two extra piers supporting them, an extra span 20 
on the south end, with two extra piers supporting it, and a fill at 
the south end, and piers 2, 3 and 4 were changed in character and 
design. In your opinion are those changes changes in general de­ 
sign, or changes in mere detail? A. Most decidedly changes in 
design; and I might say that the test I put to that is this, that if 
you can add piers you can subtract piers; and if you admit that 
by adding piers you do not alter the design, you do not alter the 
design by substracting piers, and you might have a trestle bridge 
all the way across.

Q. Now, I would like you to direct your attention to—you 30 
are familiar with that fill on the south side of the bridge, are you 
not—you went and saw it? A. Yes, I stood on it.

Q. I show you Exhibit 47 with the marks made thereon by— 
well, you can take both 2 and 47 together. (Handing plans to 
witness). A. Yes.

Q. First I will direct your attention to Exhibit 2, the plan 
where Mr. Swan has marked that red figure 2 and line. Now, 
does the plan show any fill as being intended to be built? A. Not 
in the slightest degree.

Q. What considerations lead you to that conclusion? A. 40 
There is—iigh water mark is shown coming right through, there 
is no break in high water mark. There is the high water mark 
shown right through there—comes out the other side. There is 
no sign of any—of any bank with the fill to the natural form, and 
the width of the roadway too, there is approximately 25 feet 
which is the full width of the roadway.

Q. Have you been over this recently? A. I have been 
there, yes.
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Q. And the actual fill that exists following the width of the RECORD 
roadway? A. Oh, considerable. British Columbia

Q. How many feet, for example, on each side does it extend Adm"^y &>"• 
beyond the roadway 1? A. Well, I would be guessing— Defendant's

Q. Well— A. —a considerable distance. It is very vari- Case 
able because it is not parallel to the roadway. ——

Q. In order to show it properly on that plan which is before -. D- Creer 
you, how should it have been shown? A. Oh, it should have been 
shown with a hatched line falling down on the top of the bank, 

10 high water would have come round there, low water would have 
come round it if it approached particularly low water, or say any 
other direction in which the water would be shown.

Q. It would be shown by the curved line at least of high 
water extending out toward the surface through a hatched line 
showing the limits of the actual fill and again joining the roadway? 
A. Yes.

Q. Is there any other way commonly used by engineers when 
they wish to indicate a place to be filled? A. Well, if the fill is a 
matter of some importance, it should certainly be labelled. 

20 Q. Wfiat is the common label, what is naturally put on it? 
A. Put the name on it.

Q. The word "fill"? A. "Fill."
Q.. In view of these considerations, does this plan, in your 

opinion, negative any fill? A. The plan absolutely negatives any 
fill at all.

Q. Now, then, will you turn your attention to the profile, to 
which reference has been made, and in particular to the place 
where the witness A. D. Swan has marked in red the figure 1, and 
you will there find a diagonal line. Does this indicate to an en- 

30 gineer reading that plan anything, and if so what? A. To me 
it indicates, in the absence of the plan, it indicates the termination 
of the embanknient carrying the railway. It runs from the top 
level o/the embankment down to about low water mark.

Q. Now, then, there is another line there also, isn't there— 
a diagonal line— A. The 3?

Q. Yes, another diagonal line shown in yellow? A. Yes.
Q. What does that represent, if anything? A. That repre­ 

sents undoubtedly the original ground level of the line of the— 
proposed line of railway. It is a line sloping at an angle down 

40 the bank, that is why it is so long.
Q. Now, then, taking the position that would confront an 

engineer reading that plan, and having read it both as to profile 
and plan, what conclusion, if any, could he be expected to come 
to? A. Well, the conclusion I come to is that the draughtsman 
who put that on, he put it on just to finish off the embankment.

Q. Well, what I am trying to get at is, on reading the two 
together, what conclusion would you come to as to whether the 
fill is proposed or not? A. I wouldn't like to say.
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Q. I show you now exhibit 47 where Mr. Muckleston has 
portrayed in yellow—

The Court: Just right here, Mr. Griffin, what is it exactly 
the witness says he would not like to be positive on.

Mr. Griffin: As to what the red on the plan would be to an 
engineer reading the two together!

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Q. In other words, I think his lordship would 10 

like to know whether it would be possible to form a definite con­ 
clusion? A. Personally I would not care to.

Q. I now show you exhibit 47, where you will find a red 
space marked by Mr. Muckelston as indicating where the fill would 
go if indicated on Exhibit 2 and if made; and in yellow the actual 
fill as actually made and found on the ground. Does that, in your 
opinion show it with substantial accuracy! A. It is very sub­ 
stantially correct.

Q. How far does this rock fill extend north horizontally over 
the original high water mark! A. Which plan would you like 20 
that measured on?

Q. Well, any way that you can feel that it is sufficiently 
accurate to enable you to measure it from. Take Exhibit 2 if you 
can and see if it can be done. You had better use probably Ex­ 
hibit 47, because it has the other space marked on it? A. That is 
apparently—from high water mark?

Q. From original high water mark, yes? A. To the toe of 
the fill or the top of the fill.

Q. Take it to the top of the fill first, original high water 
mark ? A. It shows here about 120 feet.

Q. At high watermark? A. Yes, that is apparently at high 
water mark on the line of the railway. This other line is on the 
line of the road.

Q. The witness Swan said this was low watermark? A. It 
is low water mark.

Mr. Donaghy: What?
Mr. Griffin: I understand Mr. Swan to say that this line was 

substantially at low water mark.
The Witness: Well, it begins—
Mr. Donaghy: I don't remember him saying that.
Mr. Griffin: Well, I will take that back, it is my memory, 

but I don't want to press that.
Mr. Donaghy: No.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Show me where high water mark is on Ex­ 

hibit 47. Where would high water mark be, where would it strike 
the shore? A. High water mark would strike the shore here on 
the line of the railway. On the line of the road—

Q. Yes? A. It would strike the shore there.

30

40
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Q. Oh, I see, that is the distance, that is where original high RECORD
water mark would be—there ? A. Yes, on the line of the road, British Columbiathe original high water mark is there. On the line of railway it Admiralty D'*'-
is there. Defendant's

Q. That must have been on account of the fill then ? A. No, Case 
it is on account—they are two different lines. A D~7~

Q. Can you give me the shore in any place where we can D'jrect reer measure from? (Contd.)
Mr. Burns: I would suggest, my lord, that he state what 

10 there and here are to be useful, so the notes will show, your lord­ 
ship.

The Court: Yes, I was just thinking that.
Mr. Griffin: I will make it plain enough.
The Court: It is very indefinite, what you mean.
Mr. Griffin: I will try and get it plain.
Q. Take exhibit 21.
Mr. Burns: '' There and there'' had reference to this exhibit.
The Witness: The point marked 6—
Mr. Griffin: Q. Yes, we will just mark it first. The point 

20 marked 6— A. Exhibit 47, the point marked 6 is high water 
mark.

Q. Yes? A. On the line of the proposed roadway.
Q. Now, measure from that point—
Mr. Burns: Now, get the other one, too.
Mr. Griffin: I will do them one at a time if my friend please, 

I can only do them one at a time.
Q. Measure from that to the top of the present existing fill ? 

A. About 340 feet.
Q. Now, my friends wanted some other things marked. 

30 Mr. Burns: Well, the other "there," the witness said "there 
and there'' that is high water mark at that—I think it was. I want 
it identified on this or else it won't be intelligible at all. A. 
There is the pencil mark 4, and I marked high water mark about 
10 feet south of the point marked 4 in pencil.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Would this be of any assistance to you, 
exhibit 27, to fix high water mark. (Handing plan to witness). 
A. No, I don't think it would.

Q. Well, now, then, can you tell me what is the distance 
north horizontally from original low water mark to which the 

40 top of the fill extends? A. From original low water mark?
Q. As near as it can be discovered from the plan to the 

end of the fill as built, how far is it? A. About 83 feet deep.
The Court: Q. Which? A, 83 feet.
Q. From original low water mark to the edge of the fill it is 

83 feet? A. 83 feet, that is the bottom edge.
Mr. Griffin: Q. From the toe? A. Toe.
The Court: Q. You say now there are two distinct things.
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RECORD YOU do not seem to realize the difference. The edge of the fill 
British Columbia is the top of it and the toe is that submerged in the water? A. 

xhe figure I gave, my lord, was the toe.
Q. Which do you mean? I thought you must mean that.
Mr. Griffin: Give it from the same sheet and measure it—
The Court: Q. Call it the edge. The edge means the top 

edge. The toe is the lower portion that projects into the stream. 
A. About 40 feet.

Q. From original low water mark to the toe of the fill, it 
is 83 feet. From original low water mark to the edge of the fill it 10 
is what? A. About 40 feet, my lord.

The Court: 40 feet.
Mr. Griffin: Now, does this fill to that horizontal extend at 

the two stages of tide respectively constitute an obstruction to 
the flow of the tide? A. A very decided obstruction.

Q. Then in what direction would it have a tendency to throw 
the current at the bay to the west? A. It would throw the cur­ 
rent across the stream.

Q. Now, you have been on that fill yourself, haven't you? 
A. Yes. 20

Q. To what extent does personal inspection of it enable you 
to verify the distance of the obstruction from high and low water 
mark respectively? A. Well, I saw that the fill extended to 
pier 5.

The Court: Give me exhibit 27, please, Mr. Registrar.
Mr. Griffin; Q. And it is possible then to measure from 

pier 5— A. I didn't measure, but I could see that the fill ex­ 
tended to pier 5. I could see pier 5, standing up at the fill.

Q. Now, does the fill as actually built in any way resemble 
the one that is shown on exhibit 2, if in fact it can be deemed to 30 
be so shown.

A. Not in the slightest degree. The one shown on exhibit 
2 is an embankment—railway embankment. It is a continuation 
—or I might say a branch of the C. P. R., an embankment shown 
to carry the railway. The fill as actually constructed is a rock 
fill running out some distance beyond low water, used as a base 
to carry the trestle construction for both the railway and the 
road.

Q. Now, turning your attention to another topic, is the con­ 
struction of a high level bridge spanning the channel from side 40 
to side—at least from 5 fathom line to 5 fathom line, a feasible 
engineering project? A. It is practical; it can be done.

Q. Leaving that one out, and turning to more modified pro­ 
jects, can you suggest any other kind of design which would 
bridge the Narrows and at the same time impede navigation less 
than the one now built does? A. Well, the important part to 
my mind is to leave the natural centre of the channel open for
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navigation, and the lift span, whatever form it took, should have RECORD 
been in the centre of the channel. British Columbia

Q. Which is the best available form for that design, is it Mmttaity pist. 
determined upon, which kind of lift span; which kind of span? Defendant's A. Well, any information—I am not a bridge engineer, it is not Case 
worth very much, but my opinion is that a lift span would be the —— 
best span to put in there. Direct

Q. Will you just take that other exhibit that is on the desk, " 
No. 17—that is not it, exhibit 33. Is a lift span of that type per- 

10 fectly feasible? A. It is, yes.
Q. Now, that calls for the construction of a very much more 

elaborate kind than the present bridge. It calls for two lines of 
railway and water pipes and so forth, but you might say modify­ 
ing that design to a less ambitious structure— A, That was the 
type of bridge I recommend they should put in in my report—

The Court: What exhibit is that? Will you look at that, 
Mr. Griffin.

Mr. Griffin: No. 33, my lord.
The Court: 33. 

20 A. —on the joint committee of the Board of Trade.
Mr. Griffin: Q. What is your suggestion then as to the 

width of the span? A. 300 feet.
Q. Where the present one is ? A. Where the present one is.
Q. The present 300 foot span? A. I might say at the time 

I made that recommendation I had no idea it had ever been made 
previously.

Q. What height did you recommend? A. 135 feet.
Q. I see this one exhibit 33 is 165 feet? A. 165, yes.
Q. I suppose they are both equally practicable? A. Oh, 

30 both, it is a question of cost.
Q. Now, have you any doubt as to whether or no a bridge 

of that type of 300 foot span only instead of 400 could be built at a 
limit of cost not unreasonably greater than, the present bridge.

The Court: You see this gentleman has told us, you see, Mr. 
Griffin, he is not a bridge engineer. Now, in these highly tech­ 
nical matters is it really of value to have his opinion?

Mr. Griffin: Well, my lord, if I might say so—
The Court: If so, it is perfectly right that he should say so, 

because you know what difference there is in these things. We 
40 know in exercising our own profession we see the difficulties it 

has and the more we realize the impossibility that other able men, 
so to speak, discharge our functions properly. Well, is it not a 
similar thing with our profession?

Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, I was going on the experience 
which the witness has given—

The Court: I will just leave it to you, Mr. Griffin, about 
this witness. You see what I mean, as this is the opinion of an
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A. D. Creer 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

British Columbia able and helpful, but where it is not his particular line— 
Admhaityj)ut. The Witness: Perhaps I might explain that we have a great 

amount of technical matter available in our institution journals.
The Court: Q. What? A. Technical data available in our 

institution journals, and although we may not be experts in that 
particular line we are quite capable of expressing an opinion on 
works of which we have no experience from our reading, our 
knowledge and our knowledge of engineering literature.

Mr. Griffin: Q. In other words, you were associated with 10 
other engineers in the investigation? A. Yes, I was with three 
other engineers.

Q. Did you obtain information from them?
Mr. Donaghy: Now, that is—
The Court: No, please do not do that
Mr. Griffin: My lord, I submit that my friend here is being 

too strict. In estimating the cost of works you get information 
from others. We have it on record already that a large portion of 
the present bridge was obtained from other sources, it was not 
the original work of any one advisor. He got his data from all 20 
sorts of places, and I propose to ask this witness, subject to your 
lordship's direction, what in his opinion would be the additional 
cost of a bridge built on the lift principle instead of—

The Court: If you really conscientiously feel he knows you 
can ask him for what it is worth, but it may be really an injustice 
to all when people embark upon matters which they do not feel 
come within their knowledge. You may proceed—just proceed.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Well, do you feel qualified to express an 
opinion? A. May I state just what happened. If I trespass, 
my lord, it is unwittingly— 30

The Court: Q. Now, that is for you, if you think you really 
know, you see, give us the benefit of it, do not hesitate. If you 
do not know, do not say.

A. My personal knowledge of what happened, I was a mem­ 
ber of this committee—

Q. Can you not get away from that committee. You see, 
you seem to become obsessed with that. Bear in mind that the 
committee has nothing to do with this tribunal, leave that off and 
then start, never mind telling us that you were on the committee, 
concentrate upon your own knowledge and then you will be of 40 
some assistance to me; otherwise you will not?

A. I investigated the possibilities of converting this 300 foot 
draw—fixed span into a draw span. I took out the width of the 
bridge and made rough calculations, very rough calculations, my 
lord, as to the possible ultimate cost. I included for putting in 
additional piers, and I made what might be called an intelligent 
guess at the maximum amount it would cost. The figure I arrived
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at was $400,000. I decided to be safe and I put it at about 5, and I 
said in round figures this alteration can be got for $500,000.

Mr. Griffin: Q. That was on the basis of an alteration at 
the time, in November, 1924, when the enquiry was on ? A. Oh, 
no, that was on the basis of the alteration more than a year ago.

RECORD
British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Defendant's 
Case

Q. Oh, quite recently? A. Quite recently.
Q. That is on the basis of a complete bridge, really, remaking A- D - Creer
— !_.-*! JZ_ _ -A. fo A A 1J- _ _!„ _ _ __ J_J ?_ • _ l • *»J T ior rebuilding it? A. Altering—putting in a lift and towers, 

which will convert that span into a lift span.
10 Q. For that, you say your maximum estimate is $500,000? 

A, I say that can be done for $500,000.
Q. Now, I would like if you can give it to me, what would 

be the figure which you think would be the maximum to reason­ 
ably allow for the additional cost if the lift you say had been put 
into force in the beginning and designed for that purpose? A. 
And abandon—in place of the bascule?

Q. Yes? A. And abandon the bascule?
A. Well, I would say not more than half that—about $250,- 

000, as a safe figure.
10 Q. Mr. Creer, one more question and that will be all. In 

your opinion is the increased extent to which the fill projects 
beyond the point indicated by Mr. Swan in the red line, is that 
in itself an alteration in the design? A. I should say from the 
point of view of the navigator it was a very serious alteration.

Mr. Griffin: All right, thank you. Your witness.
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY:
Q. Mr. Creer, you have been a specialist, have you not, in 

your profession in— A. To a certain extent.
Q. Yes, as engineer on sewer construction? A. No, not 

80 entirely. I have had a lot of experience in waterworks and river 
work.

Q. Yes, how many years have you been practising in Van­ 
couver? A. About ten years, I think—in 1918 I started.

Q. Yes; and when you came here what position did you come 
to assume ? A. I came as resident engineer in charge of the in­ 
vestigations of the Burrard Peninsula Joint Sewerage Committee.

Q. Yes, and then you became engineer for the Board? A. 
I became engineer and consulting engineer.

Q. And held it for how many years? A. Up to about 1922, 
40 I think.

Q. Yes, so you have had a large experience in sewer work— 
sewer construction? A. Sewer and waterworks and river work.

Q. Where are you practising now, Mr. Creer? A. In Van­ 
couver.

Q. Yes, I see. Now, you were very frank and told us you 
were not any bridge engineer, and I take from that that you have

Direct. 
(Contd.)

A. D. Creer 
Cross-exam.
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not been engineer in construction of bridges ? A. No, not to any 
extent. I have put up one or two small bridges, but I would never 
class myself as a bridge engineer—specialist.

Q. Yes. I take it that means also that you had no experi­ 
ence in figuring cost of bridges ? A. Well, I wouldn't go so far 
as that, because figures or cost are available, if you like to look 
them up.

Q. Yes. Well, now, will you go so far as to say that you 
can give us fairly accurate statements as to costs of different 
portions of this Second Narrows, if I take you along that line? 10 
A. No, I won't.

Q. Well, I will not bother then. Now, your estimate of the 
cost of changes in the bridge which you gave to my friend, you 
say they were made as a guess ? A. As an intelligent guess.

Q. An intelligent guess? A. Based on figures.
Q. Yes. Now, will you tell me what figures of your own 

knowledge you base this on and we will just total them up for 
you? A. Well, now—

Q. Yes ? A. I am speaking from memory.
Q. Yes ? A. I haven't got my notes here. 20
Q. Yes? A. But as far as I remember we figured up the 

total weight in the towers that would be required.
Q. Who did that? A. This committee, I was one of them.
Q. But I don't want the committee? A. Well, I did it
Q. You did. Well, confine it to yourself. You figured it 

up, did you? A. I figured up the total weight on both sets of 
towers.

Q. Do you remember approximately roughly in round fig­ 
ures what the total weight of each tower would be ? A. I haven't 
the faintest recollection.

Q. Well, now, how high was it to go up? A. We were go­ 
ing to put a clear span of—& clearance of 135 feet.

Q. Yes, you know the size of the piers and the footings they 
have there ? A. Oh, yes.

Q. Yes, how much additional weight would these piers and 
footings carry at the end of the 300 foot draw? A. Well, I 
wouldn't care to put any additional weight on them.

Q. You would not? A. No. We were going to build piers 
outside these. I don't say they wouldn't stand it, but with the 
knowledge I had then I wouldn't dare to put any additional weight 40 
on them.

Q. Tell me what would be the cost for further excavation 
for the piers you would have, where these piers are? A. What 
would it cost?

Q. Can you give me any idea—yes? A, I should say it 
might cost from $2 to $500.

Q. Can you give us a closer mark than that? A. No, I 
could not

30
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Q. That is rather a wide margin? A, It is. It depends on RECORD
Conditions. British Columbi*

Q. You are not in a position to give us an estimate as an Mmiraity pht. 
engineer on the cost? A. Of what? Defendant's

Q. Of the pier footings ? A. I never gave an estimate on Case 
the cost of the pier footings. A D"^^.

Q. Then you don't know the cost of these piers? A. As cross-exam' 
you like. (Comd.)

Q. Very good. By the way, did you make any personal tests 
10 to ascertain the direction of the currents at the south end of the 

Second Narrows Bridge ? A. At the south end of the bridge ?
Q. Yes ? A. Not for some years. I did make a very elab­ 

orate series of tests in connection with the disposition of the sew­ 
age from the Clark Drive outfall.

Q. Where is that outfall from the bridge? A. It is quite a 
long way farther down, but the floats extended all over the inlet, 
in that part of the bay.

Q. There was no attempt—
Mr. Griffin: Let him finish.

20 Mr. Donaghy: Q. Finish? A. A very elaborate study was 
made.

Q. Yes? A. And I found, as I think I have told you, a 
distinct counter clockwise movement of the falling tide.

Q. Yes, how many years ago did you make this experiment ? 
A, Oh, I suppose about fourteen or fifteen years ago.

Q. Yes, very good. Now, have you made any experiments 
at the site of the Second Narrows Bridge ? A. No, none at all.

Q. None? A. None at alL
Q. And I suppose where you say this outfall of the Clark 

30 Drive sewer was is about a mile and a half away from the bridge, 
is it not? A. I should think so, yes.

Q. Yes, I see. Now, with your lift span with a clearance 
of 135 feet, of course, it would be obvious that would be an abso­ 
lute bar to all vessels having a higher clearance ? A. Naturally.

Q. In other words, it comes down to this, that your design 
would in some respects interfere with navigation ? A. Naturally.

Q. Naturally; and in popular parlance most bridges are 
said by mariners to interfere with navigation? A, All bridges 
are, yes. 

40 Mr. Donaghy: Yes, quite so. That is all.
Mr. Griffin: That is all, thank you.
(Witness aside).
Mr. Griffin: Mr. Young.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Q. Mr. Young, you are also a civil engineer practising your 

profession in the City of Vancouver? A. Yes.
Q. And have been doing so for how many years'? A. Nine 

and a half years.
Q. And before that you occupied I think a position in the 

Provincial Government? A. Yes.
Q. What was it? A. Comptroller of Water Rights. 10
Q. And in that connection I suppose you had considerable 

experience with the effect of waters of some kind, what were they ? 
A. Well, the plans for any development that was being made in 
the Province were generally submitted to me.

Q. A little louder? A. The plans for any developments 
that were being made in the Province were submitted to my De­ 
partment then for approval.

Q. Yes. Now, do you know this Second Narrows Bridge? 
A. I do.

Q. You have been there recently and seen that fill and so 20 
forth down there? A. Yes.

Q. I just draw your attention shortly to exhibit No. 2. You 
might first turn it over and look at the plan. Do you see the place 
where the previous witness has marked in red the figure 2? 
A. I do.

Q. Reading that plan as an engineer do you say whether that 
fill in question is shown at that place? A. None indicated.

Q. What is indicated? A. A roadway on—
The Court: Speak louder, witness. A. A roadway is indi­ 

cated and centre line of railway. 30
Q. What? A. Centre line of railway.
Mr. Griffin: Q. And a roadway? A\ Low water mark, 

high water mark, top of bank.
Q. And does that roadway shown—approximately what 

breadth? A. Approximately twenty-five feet.
Q. Now, if a fill were intended to be shown there what would 

be the proper conventional indication? A. There would be a 
line shown outside of that again to the top or toe of the fill—both, 
probably.

Q. Louder? A, Both would be shown, top and bottom— 40 
or perhaps the bottom alone.

Q. And how would it be indicated as being a fill? A. It 
would be indicated on a plan like this by a single line.

Q. But how would anybody reading it know what it was, I 
am trying to get at? A. They would assume that—unless it was
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designated they would assume that it was the outer line of an RECORD 
embankment.

Q. Is there any other conventional way of making embank- 
ments or fills ? A. Not on a plan like this. It may be designated 
by the word" fill."

Q. Well, by the word "fill." Now, then, what other con- —— 
siderations indicate to you that no fill is there intended? A. The Youns 
other indication is that that original line is carried right from the 
bridge, right clean up from the railway track at the same width 

10 the entire distance of 25 feet, you see, all the way along there.
The Court: Q. You will have to speak louder, witness? 

A. I beg your pardon, sir. The indications are — of these lines 
are — the two lines there, the edge of the roadway carried right 
from the bridge clean up to and across the railway track.

Mr. Griffin : Is there anything else on that plan that would 
assist you? A. Nothing else.

Q. Take for instance, the high and low water, are they any 
help to you? A. Yes, they are of some help.

Q. What do they indicate to you? A In studying the pro- 
20 file —

Q. No, but I mean in the plan, I am dealing with the plan 
now? A. Well, they would be a help in seeing where the low 
water and high water marks were.

Q. What I am driving at is do the high and low water marks 
as appearing on that plan assist you in deciding whether or no a 
fill is there indicated ? A. They would raise the question of a fill.

The Court: Q. They what? A Would raise the question 
of a fill.

The Court: You say they would raise the question of a fill ? 
30 A. Yes.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Do you explain that? A. Well, you see 
here, this — the edge of the roadway is outside of the high water 
contour.

Q. Yes? A. And that one in particular. Well, that is 
along the edge of a bank there.

Q. Yes. A. And if the bents carrying the highway are 
merely laid on the ground then there is a fill, but if they are not, 
the bents are driven in ordinary shape piles there would be a fill, 
so it raises the question of a fill.

40 Q. Aren't you now referring to the profile? A No, I am 
referring to that there.

Q. You don't see any bents there? A« I don't see them 
here.

Q. You can't tell whether it is? A No, it just raises the 
question.

Q. Well, then, turn to the profile, where do you find your 
bents there? A. Shown.
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Q. How do you find them shown there ? A. They are shown 
in solid lines.

Q. And they go down to what point? A. They go down 
to a point—

The Court: What is the profile plan?
Mr. Griffin: No. exhibit 2. It is all the same.
The Court: Oh, yes.
A. —they go down to a point apparently slightly below high 

water mark.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Which would— A. That is on the high- 10 

way. I might say that this profile is a development of the bridge. 
The bridge is on the curve and it is flattened out to give the entire 
length of the bridge—the roadway as it comes off the bridge.

Q. It is a composite profile both of the railway embankment 
and the railway trestle ? A. It is, yes.

Q. Now, following up your argument you were using a min­ 
ute ago, the bents on that trestle are shown footed upon what? 
A, Footed upon apparently solid ground there.

Q. Solid ground, well, then, does the appearance of these 
bents and footings on that trestle negative the existence of any 20 
fill at that point? A. Yes.

The Court: Q. Just repeat what you said, witness, because 
I did not quite grasp it—it is hard to follow you. Just what do 
you say you wish me to understand there ? A* That these bents, 
your lordship are—

Q. These what ? A Supports to the highway, we call them 
bents in engineering terms.

Q. Yes? A These supports to the highway—
Q. Would you mind speaking louder ? A On the highway.
Q. To the highway? Yes? A. Are supported by solid 30 

ground.
Q. The bents for the highway are bedded on solid rock? A. 

Solid ground.
Q. Solid ground, yes. A. It doesn't say whether it is rock, 

earth or anything else.
The Court: No, solid ground.
Mr. Griffin: And also they are portrayed on the plan, the 

witness said, my lord.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Indicates that there is no fill at that place and 40 

thereby negatives it.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: That is the point.
Q. Now, can you from these plans, or from your inspection 

of the ground give this court any idea of how far northerly in the 
horizontal line from original high water mark the present exist­ 
ing fill extends. You can have any plans you like to measure
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from, exhibit 2 or 27. I will give you 27, I think. A. I would RECORD 
like the plan showing pier—

Q. Pier "A?" A. Pier "A."
Q. Pier 5? A. Pier 5.

10

British 
Admiralty Diit.

Mr. Griffin; Could your lordship let me have plan 27 for a Case 
few moments.

Q. Do you want a ruler—oh, you have got it. High water 
now? A. What scale is this?

Q. I don't know? A. 50 feet to the inch. Here is high 
water here; low water.

Q. Now, measure to high water? A. High water. Well, 
it would be just about this.

Q. Please take the high water line? A. Well, it will be 
the same point.

Q. I see, mark there? A. I know. It would appear to be 
about 75 feet. You see it would just be the same at low water as at 
high water, because of the natural angle to which the fin would 
fall off.

I cannot hear what he is saying.
I cannot hear.
If this is supposed to be evidence—I do not

Defendant's

The Court: 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 

know.
The Witness 
The Court:: 
The Witness

I am sorry, your honour. 
There is a sort of whisper going on.

About 75 feet.
Q. About what, 75 feet. A. The extent of the fill north 

from that shown actually as it is from that shown on the plan 
here exhibit 2.

Mr. Griffin: It extends 75 feet farther north? A, About 
that, I wouldn't say that exactly.

Q. As shown by the red line marked with the figure 1? 
A. Yes, the red line marked with the figure 1.

Q. Here is a portrayal of it on exhibit 47 by Mr. Muckle- 
ston where you will see the line indicated by Mr. Swan at the 
figure 2, and the extension of it is shown by Mr. Muckleston in 
yellow. Do you confirm that? A. What is your question again, 
Mr. Griffin?

Q. I just want you to measure that here and see what the 
extent of it is, again at that point. A. On this plan it scales 70 
feet.

70 feet. Well, that is near enough. 
Now, this plan is what—what is the number of

Mr. Griffin: 
The Court:

it?
Mr. Griffin: 47.
The Witness: 47.
The Court: Q. On this plan 47 you say the distance is 70.

Direct. 
(Contd.)

A. It scales as 70, my lord.
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Admirdtyjjht. marked with the red figure 1 does indicate the end of a proposed 
Defendant's embankment, is there any such embankment of the kind, in any 
Case way resembling that ? A. No.

Q. Evidence has been given — you heard the evidence of Mr. 
Muckelston and Mr. Creer— A., Yes.

(Conti) Q- That the bridge as built differs from the bridge as indi­ 
cated on exhibit 2 in these respects : It is 5 feet higher; it has two 
150 foot spans at the north end with two additional piers sup- 10 
porting them; it has one additional span at the south end with 
two additional piers supporting it; the design of piers 2, 3 and 4 
is entirely different, and then there is this fill which we have been 
discussing ; and I wish to ask you whether those changes in your 
opinion are alterations in the general design ? A. They are, of 
the bridge as a whole.

Mr. Griffin: Your witness, Mr. Donaghy.

w. Young CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY :
Cross-exam.

Q. You were looking, Mr. Young, I think, at exhibit 27 ? A. 
Yes. 20

Q. This is it, is it? A. Well.
Q. And you used it in comparing it with exhibit 2 for the 

purpose of making a scale from low water mark — something like 
that, didn't you. Do you remember making use of exhibit 27? 
A,, Yes, I laid it out just —

Q. To supplement your knowledge of exhibit 2? A. We 
were just simply checking on there.

Q. Just checking on there? A. In fact what I was endea­ 
vouring to do —

The Court : Do not speak like that. I cannot possibly hear 30 
you if you mumble in that way.

The Witness : I am sorry.
The Court : Nobody can hear you — anybody can hear you if 

you speak out. A. What I was endeavouring to do when I was 
inspecting these plans was to get the distance from high water 
mark to the shore at all these points here, and from this point here.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Don't say this point. A. This is about
Q. Say that again now? A. From high water mark —
Q. As shown on exhibit — A. Exhibit 27.
The Court: 27? A. 27. 40
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Yes? A And the outer portion—of 

Pier 4. That is 4, is it not— Pier 4. This is 4- A— no, that is 3, is it ?
Q. That is No. 3? A. Yes, No. 3.
Q. They are all numbered? A. And then from there up to 

here, No. 2, that is what I was endeavouring to do.
Q. Yes, and in doing that you were having regard to the
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contour shown on this exhibit 27 where the fill appears here? A. RECORD 
I wasn't concentrating on that at the time. British Columbia

Q. No. A. I was concentrating on the other thing. Admiralty pist.
Q. Now, you say exhibit 27 is a sketch of a curve rolled out Defendant's 

flat, is that right ? A. Well, it would be developed to—you don't Case 
turn out flat in order to show the— ™ y—

Q. Well, between what points on exhibit 27 does the curve cross-°xam. 
appear on the ground? A. Well, have you got a plan here— (Comd.) 
it would depend on this—

10 Q. If you have exhibit 2 there you might follow that? A. 
That would be looking at right angles to the steel portion of the 
bridge.

Q. Yes? A. Which is a straight line.
Q. Yes ? A. This curved portion would be flattened out in 

order to give you the entire profile.
Q. Yes, where is the middle point of the curve, is it at the 

bridge end? A« Point of the curve?
Q. The middle point? A. Oh, I can't tell you that.
Q. You can't tell me that? A. No.

20 Q. Does it embrace the bridge end ? Does the curve embrace 
the bridge end? A. It begins at the bridge end.

Q. Yes. In the measurements you gave of distance of this 
fill did you take the line at right angles to the shore or not in mak­ 
ing that measurement ? A, This is it here. That measurement 
was made along the profile here.

Q. I know? A. It would be along the curve.
Q. Well, now, if you can answer my question I want you to 

do it. You see some importance turns on it. In drawing that 
produced line, you see, from the shore out to the north end of the 

30 fill, did that line run at right angles to the shore or not ? A. I 
measured from the profile and that profile was along the centre 
line of the bridge.

Q. Yes? A. And the measurement would be along the 
centre line of the bridge.

Q. And you tell me this profile is a flattened out curve, you 
see, that doesn't help me a bit. A. Well, your centre line of that 
bridge is flattened out.

Q. Well, can you answer the question. If you can't you can
say you can't ? A. Well, I wish you would put it a little plainer ?

40 Q. I don't know what I can do but repeat it. Was the line
produced from the shore line, what you call high tide or low tide
—the line produced there northerly—the northerly end of that fill
—or the edge of the fill—was it at right angles to the shore line. 
Surely that is a simple question? A» Not .on this plan.

Q. I mean when you drew it and gave it. I am not talking 
of the plan, I am asking—you drew it on the plan, did you draw
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it at right angles to the shore line in making that measurement ? 
A. No.

Q. You did not? A. No, it is along the centre line of the 
profile.

Mr. Donaghy: You didn't draw it that way, all right.
Mr. Griffin: That is all, thank you.
(Witness aside.)
Mr. Griffin: If your lordship pleases, I am not proposing to 

call any further witnesses, and I have made a valiant effort, as 
I see it, to endeavour to get the documents for which I have been, 10 
one might fairly say, clamoring—these particular productions, as 
I see it, from my friends—proper productions; and as they declin­ 
ed to recognize the force of a notice to produce, I then had a sub­ 
poena served upon my friend, Mr. Burns, as solicitor for the 
Bridge Company, and upon Mr. Ward, its manager, to produce 
documents that I wished to see, and I have had handed to me a 
large volume—quite a large block of correspondence which, of 
course, I haven't had a moment to read. It was handed to me in 
court, and for the moment I therefore ask my friends to produce, 
firstly, the applications made to the Railway Board for the four 20 
orders which have been put in evidence. The Board requires ap­ 
plications in writing and the rule I turned up—my friend was not 
prepared to accept my assurance the other day and I looked it up 
in the rules, and I find that rule 3 of the rules of the Railway 
Board, as I say, requires the section to be named in the applica­ 
tion. So that I ask my friends now to produce me those for the 
four orders of the 24th July, 1923; 30th July, 1923; 31st July, 1923; 
and the 6th March, 1925, the four that are put in evidence.

Mr. Burns: Well, so far, my lord, as the subpoena is con­ 
cerned, of course, I am ready to obey it, still with the objection 30 
that these matters that are being asked for are entirely irrelevant 
to this case. I have endeavoured to answer the subpoena and can 
only say I have not had time to do it, because it was just served 
this morning at 10:30, just when I was coming into court, and I 
shall be very glad to look it up and see what we have in answer to 
the subpoena.

Mr. Griffin: The matter of tune is not to my mind an im­ 
portant one, because the notice to produce was long since given,

Mr. Burns: I have taken my position as far as the notice to 
produce is concerned. 40

Mr. Griffin: Very well, my lord, if my friend takes the strict 
standing on the notice to produce that was negatived after it came 
to trial, it was to have been looked up. My friend yesterday didn't 
say he didn't have it, merely that they wouldn't produce it. The 
subpoena is bringing that to a test, so that I ask for it.

The Court: Now, just let me understand exactly what you 
are asking for now, because I have got it down what you are ask-
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ing for. Now, you ask for the production of the applications for 
the four orders that were made by the Railway Board.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, for if the four orders are avail- 
able and are introduced in evidence as they have been, then clearly Defendant's 
the written application on which they are founded is at least the Case 
document I was entitled to see.

The Court : Well, why ? You see they object, first, that they 
are not, you see, why do you say that?

Mr. Griffin: Because, my lord, on the point alone that has
10 come up, that that order was made under a section which your

lordship yourself admitted — and I think your lordship has ruled
it was a clerical error. Now, that could not be so if the applica­
tion made it plain.

Mr. Donaghy : Well, I suggest, my lord, as my friend, Mr. 
Burns here said, he was served at 10 :30 with the subpoena and if 
he can, he says, he will bring all documents called for in the sub­ 
poena, only my friend tries to say some other thing, and we have 
never discussed it and Mr. Burns has had no opportunity to obey 
this subpoena. 

20 Mr. Burns : Twenty-one documents.
Mr. Donaghy : My friend might have gone ahead and served 

this subpoena on Friday or Saturday. He had ample notice of 
our stand on this matter, but he served us at 10 :30 when we came 
into court — delayed a long time.

Mr. Griffin: It wasn't impossible to do it any quicker, but 
you had notice to produce.

Mr. Burns: Well, I will obey this subpoena with pleasure.
The Court : Well, of course, you must give the parties time to 

answer the subpoena.
30 Mr. Griffin : They have had plenty of time to have that affi­ 

davit. Well, my lord, I am applying now —
The Court: Why surely I do not know the reason why you 

did not give them that on Saturday, they would have had no ex­ 
cuse this morning, if they were legally compelled to do so.

Mr. Griffin : Then I also served a subpoena on Mr. Ward, the 
company's manager.

Mr. Donaghy: That is the same position.
Mr. Burns : Yes, when he was coming into court this morn­ 

ing.
40 Mr. Griffin : I desire to see the minutes books, and I have 

asked him to produce some applications for the Railway Board, 
and I asked also for the progress estimates! — I mean the record of 
progress, I want to fix more closely this figuring of the various 
prices. Now, I ask my friend whether this witness will produce 
these or not.

Mr. Donaghy: I said with pleasure we will obey these sub-
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poenae to the utmost of our ability. I don't want to repeat that 
again.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Very well.
The Court: Well, tomorrow morning we will be able to see 

what can be produced.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, my lord. My lord, I would like to make 

a remark now regarding Mr., Swan. He tells me that it is im­ 
perative in his business that he leaves on tonight's train.

The Court: When?
Mr. Donaghy: Tonight to carry out some important engage­ 

ment that he has.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: I have only a few questions to ask him.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: If my friend is through calling his witnesses.
The Court: Oh, yes, that has nothing to do with Mr. Swan.
Mr. Donaghy: Mr. Swan might be called now. It is a very 

short examination.
The Court: Yes, quite so, you may call him.
Mr. Donaghy: He has been cross-examined before. We will 

call Mr. Swan.
Mr. Griffin: Of course, we have not closed our case, but I 

would raise no objection, but I just merely wish to mention that.
Mr. Donaghy: It is an accommodation.
The Court: You see apart from these documents, you have 

closed your case. You told me you had no more witnesses.
Mr. Griffin: No, my lord, but they may produce some.
The Court: Oh, well, that is another matter, I will bear that 

in mind, of course; but subject to that.
Mr. Griffin: And then I may have a number of interroga­ 

tories to put in.
The Court: Yes, that is another matter.
Mr. Griffin: As far as I know, my lord, I have no other wit­ 

nesses unless something develops.
The Court: Yes, I will bear that in mind tomorrow morn­

ing.
Mr. Donaghy: Very good.

10

30

ANDREW DON SWAN, a witness called on behalf of the Plain­ 
tiff, recalled, testified further as follows: 40

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY:
Q. Mr. Swan, did you hear the evidence of witnesses for the 

defence on the subject of the position of the bascule draw in the 
Second Narrows Bridge? A. Yes.

The Court: Yes, just one moment.
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Mr. Donaghy: Namely, to the effect that it is placed in the 
wrong location, being too far south—too near the south shore. 
You heard that? A, Yes, my lord.

Q. Yes, what do you say in regard to that point ? 
Mr. Griffin: Now, before the witness answers that, my lord, 

I want to make plain what I was saying before. My friend is 
evidently now endeavoring to offer evidence in reply, that is re­ 
buttal. My submission is that it is not now permissible—my 
friend is not in a position in which he can now bring evidence in

10 rebuttal, for these reasons: First, this witness, here, as I see it— 
as I remember the transcript on the previous hearing, my friend 
got leave to call this witness on one point only, that was the legality 
of construction. Now, if this point is part of the legality of con­ 
struction he was bound to have given it as part of his case in chief. 
If it is not legality of construction then he has not your lordship's 
leave to call this witness—put him in the box at all. We waited 
for him for the purpose of his giving evidence on one issue and 
one issue only, the case being otherwise concluded. Now, I sup­ 
port that, my lord, by this further, this case involves two issues

20 and two issues only: One is the legality of construction, which in 
effect is nuisance and the other is negligent navigation. This wit­ 
ness, my lord, is not being called on navigation, I understand that 
clearly enough. If, therefore he is being called on the issue of 
illegality of construction, that is founded on four arguments, that 
is to say the test is founded on four arguments: firstly, that the 
bridge as built does not conform to the advice largely—a plan 
of their own largely. Secondly, that the authority under the Navi­ 
gable Waters Act was not obtained. Thirdly, that no proper 
authority was obtained under the Railway Act; and fourthly, even

30 if it was obtained under the Railway Act the bridge by reason of 
its impeding navigation more than it need have done is still unlaw­ 
ful. But, my lord, these four are all arguments that the bridge is 
unlawful, they are simply four reasons why we say it is unlawful 
and a nuisance; but the issue whether it is unlawful and a nuisance 
is upon the plaintiff, and therefore he cannot add to his case. It 
was as much his duty to show that this bridge was unlawful—or 
lawful, to put it from his side, was lawful, permissible, and the 
question as to whether it impedes more than it need as to enter on 
the grounds upon which we proposed to attack this bridge. He

40 had the onus of showing, in other words, that this bridge was de­ 
fensible on the ground that it impeded navigation no more than 
was necessary, he had the onus of that argument as well as of all 
the others. And therefore my submission is that for him to at­ 
tempt to strengthen his case now would be undoubtedly within the 
principle of splitting to which your lordship has referred. I en­ 
deavoured to get the authority which your lordship had indicated, 
but could not find it up to date, the volume being out of the library
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British Columbia that particular case to which you had reference; but I offer a case 
Admiralty Dht. to which I wish to shortly refer, but I don't want, if I can help,

. 1 i •/ 7 / JT7to delay—
The Court: There is no occasion to refer to it, Mr Griffin, 

because that proposition is exhausted, too, that is to say, he can­ 
not split his case, that is so, and you are right. The point that is 
really of importance, has he split his case. I am ready to express 
my opinion that he has not.

Mr. Griffin: I know your lordship has intimated that, so of 10 
course if you do not wish me to argue it now—

The Court: You argued it all before, you argued it very 
elaborately before.

Mr. Griffin: If your lordship feels that the matter is con­ 
cluded I don't want to waste time over it.

The Court: If you wish to add to it anything important, 
as I said before, I would be glad to hear you.

Mr. Griffin: No, I only want if this witness has not much 
time and he ought to be heard not to waste time. I want to get 
your lordship to thoroughly understand that my submission is 20 
that if the issue be legality of construction, and if that depends up­ 
on the exent of interference to navigation, the onus is as much 
upon the plaintiff on that as any other issue, because he must de­ 
monstrate the bridge to be a lawful structure within those statutes 
which he says make it so, and if one of those statutes requires him 
to build a bridge which impedes navigation to the minimum only 
and he goes beyond it, the bridge becomes unlawful, and he must 
establish that, ttow, then, he cannot establish that in my opinion 
by any evidence in rebuttal, which would be splitting.

The Court: It is really unnecessary for me to repeat what I 30 
said before. However, now this being adduced is particularly 
given in this case upon the statement of defence, paragraph 8 of 
it to illustrate one, and the particulars delivered thereunder and 
upon the counter claim. There is nothing that is now being pro­ 
posed which in any respects violates, as I regard the case, splitting 
of the case, or at all inconsistent with the rulings that I have made 
at the opening of the case, which were based of course upon the 
case as then presented that is to say, upon the case that the plain­ 
tiff was making out at the time, that this ship by negligent navi­ 
gation damaged this bridge. That is quite apart from the other 40 
issues which were raised by the defence and by the counter-claim. 
You may proceed therefore.

Mr. Ponaghy: My lord, might I have that question read, 
and the answer.

The Court: Yes, you might just ask him.
(Record read as follows:
"Q. Mr. Swan, did you hear the evidence of witnesses for
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the defence on the subject of the position of the bascule draw
in the Second Narrows Bridge 1 A. Yes.
"Q. Namely, to the effect that it is placed in the wrong loca­ 
tion, being too far south—too near the south shore. You
heard that? A. Yes, my lord.
Q. Yes, what do you say in regard to that point?") 

A. I consider that the bascule is placed in the proper position.
Q. Why ? A. Because we had, if we possibly could, to get 

the bascule piers founded on rock and we went the very limit in 
10 placing No. 2 pier at the edge of the rock, in fact, we went too far 

unfortunately and we overstepped it.
The Court: Give me 27, please. A. —but to the best of 

our ability we endeavoured to get piers 2, 3 and 4 all founded on 
solid rock.

Q. And also to get piers 2— A. 2, 3 and 4, my lord.
Q. You got 2, yes, and also in regard to 2,3 and 4 ? A. Yes, 

my lord.
Q. What did you say about them ? A. Also founded on so­ 

lid rock.
20 Q. What about 4-A. When you say 4 do you mean four and 

4-A 1 A. 4 and 4-A, but it was not so vastly important.
Q. No, 4-A is not so important, yes. You say 4-A then in 

27 is not very important ? A. No, but there was solid rock there 
to our knowledge.

Q. Yes, I understand, but that was not the primary thing 
you were aiming at ? A. No, my lord.

Q. You had first to get your pier 4 and 3, so I understand? 
A. 2.

Q. You first got 2, then it was essential to get 3, essential to 
30 get 4} and A was desirable—4-A but not so essential, you mean ? 

A Yes, my lord.
Q. Is that what you wish me to understand? A, Yes, my 

lord.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, Mr. Swan, do you prepare a cross- 

section of pier 2 showing its footing, so as to give the court an idea 
of what you meant when you said you had gone as far north with 
it as you could have, in fact, a little too far north, that you got 
over the edge of the rock. A. I prepared a drawing—I didn't 

40 prepare it specially for the court.
Q. No, I show you this. Is this drawing which you see here, 

a good representation of the footing of Pier 2 (Handing sketch to 
witness.) A, That is a correct drawing showing the foundation 
of Pier No. 2.

Q. Yes? A. As actually constructed.
Q. Yes.
Mr. Griffin: I again object, my lord. I don't see what that
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Mr. Donaghy: I ask to have this drawing marked.
The Court: Yes, I think that drawing should be put in evi­ 

dence. Mark that particular drawing, but nothing else.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, just the drawing I want marked.
The Registrar: Exhibit 48.
Mr. Donaghy: You might mark it with pier 2 on it, so we 

will know.
The Court: Put a red circle round it. A. (Indicating.)
Mr. Donaghy: Before I proceed further, my lord, I would 

like if your lordship would care to look at the footing. That shows 
the point he is making.

The Court: Yes, let me see it.
Mr. Donaghy: You will see the little edge of rock—well, just 

on the corner of the pier, on the edge of the rock.
Mr. Griffin: My lord, before that goes in, may I interrupt 

to ask the witness a question or two about it—before that docu­ 
ment goes in.

The Court: What do you suggest, Mr. Griffin?
Mr. Griffin: I would like to ask the witness a question or two 

before the document goes in.
The Court: In what connection?
Mr. Griffin: In connection with his knowledge of it, I want 

to ask him if he knows about it.
The Court: Oh, of course, yes, but I thought he said it was

10

20

his own.
Mr. Griffin; 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin; 
The Court:

I want to ask him. 
Well, you looked at it, is that so? 
I had never seen it. 30 
That is a matter of cross-examinaion. He has 

sworn it is, you cannot ask for that now.
Mr. Griffin: Before the document goes in evidence I ought 

to ask him about it, because otherwise it might not go in. 
The Court: I will allow you.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Mr. Swan, were you ever down there? A. 

Yes.
Q. Personally down at the bottom? A. I wasn't in bottom 

of No. 2.
Q. No, that is what I mean. You knew I meant that. A. No, 40 

but my staff of assistants, for whom I am responsible were there 
and made the exact measurements.

Q. And you are speaking from what they told you? A. No, 
not from what they told me, from a correct measurement on the 
ground,

Q. Made by them? A. Made by my staff for whom I am
responsible.
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Q. Yes. That is the reason I am asking this, and you made 
this, I presume, based upon what your staff reported to you ? A. 
Yes, and their measurements.

Q. You were never down in the bottom yourself ? A. I 
wasn't on the bottom.

The Court: Of course, you can understand, Mr. Griffin, I 
have not supposed he was. I suppose that what he was giving us 
here was the plans from which—which as engineer in chief had 
been made for the construction to be carried out upon. 

10 Mr. Griffin: No, this is a statement made—alleged to have 
been made of the conditions as they were made; this is made after­ 
wards.

The Court: Yes, I see what you mean. No, I did not under­ 
stand that.

Mr. Donaghy: That is after having—
The Court: I do not understand that. Of course, you will 

assure me on that point. No, I did not understand that he was 
conveying anything more to me than what you say, Mr. Griffin.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, then it would not be admitted. 
20 The Court: But the only thing now so far as the plans, they 

were his own plans for that work, which he approved and gave 
them.

Mr. Griffin: No, my lord, but that is not what I said. That 
do~T not purport to be a plan by which the work was to be done.

The Court: That is what I say.
Mr. Griffin: No, he does not say it was that, it is a plan of the 

work that it is supposed to have been done ?
The Court: Well, I did not know that. Let us clear that up.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, no doubt about it.

30 The Court: Q. Did you pass upon that, witness ? A. This 
is a plan as actually constructed, my lord.

Q. Yes, but what I mean is did that plan come under your 
observation? Did you yourself approve that plan? A, I ap­ 
proved the carrying out of that plan.

Mr. Donaghy: That is the point, my lord, is it the way the 
work was done.

The Court: I beg your pardon ?
Mr. Griffin: The point is this, did he on the report of his 

engineers order this work to be done? 
40 The Court: That is what I mean.

The Witness: Not only that, my lord, but I had five of the 
very best engineers I knew in the world to advise on that.

The Court: That is not it, that is not sufficient, is this the 
plan you authorized your staff to work upon ? A. Yes, my lord.

Mr. Griffin: My lord, let me ask a few more questions, be­ 
cause I am satisfied that is a misapprehension.

Mr. Donaghy: That is not the point.
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Mr. Griffin: No.
Q. Isn't this a representation, witness, of what you under­ 

stand was in fact done ? A. Yes.
Q. It is not a plan prepared for the work at all, is it ? A. 

It is in accordance with the plan.
Q. Please answer my question? A, Yes, it is in accord­ 

ance—
Q. That plan was not made until the work was finished, was 

it ? This plan here in front of us was not made, never came into 
existence until the work was done? A. Yes, most decidedly it 10 
did, the original of it.

Q. No, this particular piece of paper we have here ? A. Oh 
no, that particular piece of paper, that was done possibly six 
months ago. It is dated when it was done, showing the thing as 
actually constructed.

Q. As actually constructed, but that it was so constructed 
you don't personally know of your own knowledge, do you? A. 
No, as I have endeavoured to state, it is only information from my 
staff for whom I am responsible.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, now, my lord, I think that is plain, that 20 
the fact that it was done that way—

The Court: No, I never supposed in the least, you know, I 
never supposed in the least that it was. That is precisely what 
I said.

Yes, my lord, it is hearsay. 
That plan you have before you, of course, is a 
suppose. 
Yes,

Nobody supposes that was the actual plan that 
he worked from, nobody supposed so at all, I least of all. I under- 30 
stood this witness to say that plans were drawn for the construc­ 
tion of these piers in the manner that is shown there, and that he 
authorized his staff to construct it upon that basis, that is what I 
understand him to say.

The Witness: That is correct, my lord.
Mr. Griffin: But, my lord, these plans are not tendered and 

this one is, and I object to this one on the ground that the witness 
admits that this is a plan of work that was done as he told us on 
the report of his staff but he himself cannot verify it.

The Court: Well, of course, that is not the point, I wish to 40 
emphasize that again, on which he answered, and it is only in re­ 
gard to what he told me in his evidence that I am admitting that 
plan to that extent and no more.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, was there any other reason actuat­ 
ing you in placing the bascule draw where you placed it. A. 
Simply that we thought it was the correct place to put it.

Q. Correct from what point of view ? A. From the engin­ 
eering point of view.

Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 

printed report, I 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court:
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The Court: What do you say, it was what? A. That it was RECORD 
the correct place to put the bascule span, my lord, from an engin- British coiumbi, 
eering point of view. Admiralty Put.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Yes. Did you in settling this question plaintiffs 
have any regard to navigation or acquire any knowledge on that Case 
sub jectr—navigation at this point, and the currents and so on? 
A. I made a complete study—

Mr. Griffin: Excuse me for a moment, I object to that. 
That is navigation again.

10 Mr. Donaghy: No, not about navigation especially, but cur­ 
rents.

The Court: It is obstruction to navigation, this is an entire­ 
ly different thing.

Mr. Griffin: Here is what my friend said yesterday—or the 
the day before:

"I don't desire to examine Mr. Swan in answer to his engin­ 
eer."
That is the same point we had again and again.
Mr. Donaghy: "In answer to his engineer.'' 

20 Mr. Griffin: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: I don't think'' engineer.'' I might have used 

it, but that is not sensible.
Mr. Griffin: I am reading it from the transcript.
The Court: That is one thing, obstruction to navigation is 

entirely—I rule upon a different thing.
Mr. Donaghy: No, I was interrupted on that question.
The Court: Yes. He said this was the correct place from 

an engineering point of view to construct this bascule, and you 
asked him in so deciding did he take into consideration the re- 

30 quirements of navigation.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Yes? A. Yes.
Q. Did you take into consideration the question of currents 

in the channel? A. I did.
Q. Now, will you inform his lordship what you learned in 

regard to that before settling upon this position for the bascule.
Mr. Griffin: I object to that, my lord. Your lordship has 

ruled that I could not get evidence in from a witness of what 
he learned, and I submit the same applies to this witness. He 
cannot tell us what he learned.

40 Mr. Donaghy: Q. I mean from personal actual observation, 
not from hearsay ? A. I observed that many vessels passing up 
and down really hug the south shore of the narrows. It was be­ 
fore there was any bridge there at all. The current was not quite 
so swift there and it was farther to the north.

Q. I beg your pardon? A. The current was not quite so 
swift there as it was farther to the north.

Q. Yes, will you give his lordship some idea of the time and
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RECORD effort you spent in studying this question of where the bascule 
British Columbia opening should be ? A. The total time occupied in preliminary 
Admiraityj)ift. investigations was approximately two months actually on the site. 
Plaintiff's Q- Now have you considered the alternative proposal that 
Case has been made by Mr. Muckleston, namely, that the type of open­ 

ing should be a lift span placed where the 300 foot fixed span is 
in the present bridge ? A, I haven't given it much thought.

Mr. Griffin: Excuse me one moment. This is certain, if my 
friend has any case at all in chief, he is now supporting it. If 
other types of bridge in competition with this are taken in as to 10 
the lawfulness of this one, then a discussion of that was part of 
the case which he must extend in chief.

The Court: That is in conformity with my former ruling. 
You may proceed, Mr. Donaghy.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, my lord.
Q. Have you given any time to consider the proposal Mr. 

Muckleston made here for a limited form of opening span? A. 
Not a very great deal, because we found that the lift type of bridge 
was going to be more expensive than the type we had under con­ 
sideration first of all. 20

Q. How did that come to enter into it—the consideration of 
the matter of expense ? A, Because we were tied down original­ 
ly to a definite sum of $1,250,000 for the whole works from begin­ 
ning to end.

Q. That sum was subsequently augmented to what, again? 
A. I don't remember the exact figures, but it was somewhere 
about one and three-quarter millions.

Q. From contributions from the Dominion and Provincial 
Governments ? A. Yes, my lord.

Q. Yes. Now, on the point of merit, in regard to clearance, 30 
which type of opening for ships has the most advantage? A. 
You certainly want to have sufficient clearance to allow any class 
of vessel passing up east of the bridge. If you didn't have suffi­ 
cient clearance it would have entirely barred certain vessels at all 
events from ever going there.

Q. And is it true that the clearance is unlimited through the 
bascule ? A. It is.

Q. Now, you have already mentioned the point about this 
bascule having been extended as far north as you thought was 
safe, because you came to the edge of the rock. You remember 40 
that? A. Yes.

Q. What do say about putting a bascule where the 300 foot 
span is for instance—the fixed span? A- I have no doubt it 
could be done if you had sufficient money 'to pay for it.

Q. What do you mean by that? A. Some very large—a 
larger amount of money than we had or was available. I haven't 
gone into the actual deails of such additional cost.
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Q. But you say it would be a very large sum of money ? A. RECORD 
A very large sum, I would say. British Columbia

Mr. Donaghy: Your witness, Mr. Griffin. Admiralty Dist.
Mr. Griffin: Now, my lord, it would be quite impossible for Plaintiff's 

me to finish by half past four. Case
Mr. Donaghy: Try and finish, if you can. A n—
The Court: I beg your pardon? Direa.
Mr. Griffin: It would be quite impossible for me to finish by (Contd.) 

half-past four. 
10 The Court: Well, you may proceed as far as you can.

Mr. Donaghy: I might mention here, my lord, I have a certi­ 
ficate from Dr. Nelles here that Mr. Swan ds ill—in fact, he is 
having a hemorrhage and he is actually in court against the doc­ 
tor's orders, as a matter of fact.

Mr. Griffin: Well, all I can say on that question is to do my 
best in this connection.

The Court: Yes, you may proceed.
Mr. Griffin: I do not wish to go over the evidence and take 

up time and if the witness will answer me directly I will be 
20 quicker.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN: A. D. Swan
Q. You do not claim yourself to be a navigator? A. I beg 

your pardon?
Q. You do not claim to be a navigator ? A. No.
Q. Then I take it you will concede that the considered opin­ 

ion of practical navigators should be the right test on what is 
navigable ? A. I would assume so.

Q. Yes. Well, you would consider that a fair test, that is 
what I mean ? A. I would say so, so long as they were experi- 

30 enced navigators.
Q. Yes, I said that. Therefore, if their requirement as a 

minimum is a 300 foot channel you have nothing to say against 
that as to the question of navigability? A. I would say that that 
was much quicker than was necessary.

Q. I :put it to you now, this really is the test, of course, I 
said if the considered opinion of practical experienced navigators 
makes the minimum 300, will you say they are wrong ? A. Well, 
I will say that I don't agree with them.

Q. I know, but will you say—be frank, you are arguing mat- 
40 ters and that will take time; but isn't it a fact that in the engineer­ 

ing world you would expect your opinion to be taken as against a 
seaman? A. I dare say.

Q. I think you would fairly enough. Then I say to you, if 
not only one, but a large body of practical experienced seamen 
said that a certain width of span is required, is that not enough 
for you? A. No.
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Q. I mean enough for you on the navigation question? A. 
I would use my own judgment to a certain extent as ;to whether 
their views were correct or in keeping with other places.

Q. I know, but if you found that their views were substan­ 
tially unanimous, wouldn't that be convincing? A. It would 
depend on the men.

Q. On the men, yes ? A. Yes.
Q. It would. I said they were— A. If they were thoroughly 

experienced I would have no hesitation in accepting their view on 
a purely navigation point of view. 10

Q. I am stating that to you, you can accept that. A. If 
they were thoroughly experienced, I said.

Q. If they were you would agree.
Mr. Burns: Surely that is a matter of comment, my lord, 

anyway.
The Court: It really is not cross-examination. Of course in 

cross-examination—I would say, Mr. Griffin, that in all matters 
there reaches a point where any man would exercise his common 
sense. For instance, you have a man coming here and stating 
that it was necessary to have a span 500 feet wide, he would say 20 
any sensible person knows they are not telling the truth. There 
conies a point, of course where you have to exercise your common 
sense. Suppose the witness thought these men were experienced 
he might say they are drawing a long bow, that is what it means.

Mr. Griffin: Shall I proceed, my lord.
The Court: You may proceed, of course, yes.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Then in regard to the position of the navi­ 

gation channel, I take it you would in the same way accept the 
view of capable and experienced navigators? A. They would 
certainly have a certain amount of influence with me. 30

Q. Would you or would you not, witness—answer my ques­ 
tion directly and frankly, would you accept it if you had it in 
front of you in the form in which it was clear, that capable ex­ 
perienced men were agreed on a certain thing, would you accept it ? 
A. I don't know that I would accept of it, but it would have very 
considerable weight with me.

Q. I was trying to see if you would say that you would put 
your professional opinion as an engineer against their profession­ 
al opinion as navigators in a matter within their sphere, now, 
would you? A. I would want to know what they were putting 40 
forward first of all.

Q. Well, I think I will leave it, because I think it would re­ 
main like that, an argumentative discussion all the way through.

Mr. Burns: You started the argument.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, very welL
Mr. Burns: It is a very proper answer.
Mr. Griffin: My friend has really no right to echo.
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Q. Don't you think for example that a 300 foot span— to RECORD
use a phrase of your own at one place — would involve a revision British Columbia
of shipping methods less drastic than an 150-foot span? A. Yes, Admir<^'y £>»'•
I do. Plaintiff's

Q. You would have given them a 300-foot span if you could Case 
have? A. No, I don't think I would have done that. ——

Q. Well, you have given them more than you did, if you could • D- Swan 
have? A. I might prSbably.

Q. I take it that you have said in effect that you limited that 
10 to this 150 because you didn't have more money? A. Well, we 

were doing the best we could.
Q. That is so, I say you would have given more with more 

money, wouldn't you? A. Oh, we would have given very much 
more if we had more money.

Q. Now, you have done a lot of work for Canada? A. A 
certain amount.

Q. And you have the interests of this port at heart? A. I 
certainly do.

Q. If you were asked by the Government of Canada today if
20 this request of the shipping world for a span in the middle of the

channel was reasonable, wouldn't you say yes ? A. I would have
a thorough investigation by competent men before I came to any
conclusion on the subject.

Q. But as at present advised wouldn't you say yes? A. I 
would not.

Q. Now, I take it the greatest danger that a ship would have 
going through a draw — the greatest single danger is current ? A. 
I would say so.

Q. And of all the worst are cross currents? A. I should 
30 think so.

Q. Now you have agreed, I believe I need not quote too 
much, if not necessary — that the current by the bridge is 7 miles 
an hour? A. Somewhere thereabouts.

Q. And this was even at the time of the first construction 
being increased by the current — by the dredging in the First Nar­ 
rows? A. Undoubtedly in my opinion.

Q. You also agreed in one place — which I can give you if it 
becomes necessary — that the time of slack in the Second Narrows 
is very short? A, Yes, there is no doubt about that. 

40 Q. And very varied ? A. Yes.
Q. And the length that can ever be relied upon is not more 

than one-half to one hour? A. I couldn't put it exactly in min­ 
utes, but I accept your statement.

Q. I am going to find, so as to give you my source, from 
your letter. You knew this bridge, piers and trestles would re­ 
duce the sectional area ? A. Yes.

Q. And that this would be by the bridge piers and trestles,
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RECORD to use a continuation of your letter again, 10£ percent, at low 
British Columbia water and 12 percent, at high water. Is that right ? A- Under 

certain conditions. If there were no additional spans—I am 
speaking from memory now—

Q. Yes ? A. A. That is, if there were no additional spans 
put in to the north of the 300 foot span, and that no additional 
dredging was done.

Q. That would be the position? A. Yes.
Q. That is right. So that in order that the improvements you 

were desirous of getting should result it required this dredging on 10 
the north shore ? A. Yes.

Q. Now, you got that information apparently from the same 
place that the engineers got it for the inquiry in November 1924, 
that is, you got your information from the Bridge Company? A. 
No, I got it from my staff.

Q. I see ? A. And the other people got it from the same 
source.

Q. I see, then it came from the same source—the source was 
your staff? A. Yes, my lord.

Q. Now, you know from the start that this question of currents 20 
was going to prove a serious question? A. Yes.

Q. And in fact it certainly proved so. You have difficulty in 
remembering some of these dates, but probably you have looked 
up some of them, and I will endeavour to assist you with all the 
information I have. The first of the work started in September, 
1923. That was the north trestle, is that right, to the best of your 
belief? A. I told you I don't remember dates.

Q. Is that true to the best of your recollection.
Mr. Donaghy: Well, he says he doesn't remember dates.
Mr. Griffin: Q. I see. Well, that was right, that the first 30 

pier was put in in February 1924? A. I couldn't tell you the 
dates at aft.

Q. Now in any case it is within your knowledge— A. It is 
all on record, I would be glad to let you have it.

Q. I can't get the records in now. In this subpoena I have 
served I asked for them, but they are not here. A. I see.

Mr. Griffin: I have made my objection on that point already 
and don't wish to labour it.

Q. I am going to read from your letter and see if you agree 
with this statement of fact— 40

Mr. Donaghy: What letter ?
Mr. Griffin: Letter of the 3rd April, 1924 from the Secretary 

of the Harbour Commissioners to the District Engineer of the 
Public Works Department.

Mr. Donaghy: Have you got the letter with you, Mr. Griffin ?
Mr. Griffin: I have got a copy of it.
Mr. Donaghy: I haven't seen it.
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The Witness: I don't know.
Mr. Griffin: Q. What is it? A. I don't know.
Q. You don't remember? A. No.
Q. Was this a correct statement of affairs then?
"It appears that the tidal current in the Second Narrows has
very considerably increased lately possibly due to the dredg-
ing of the First Narrows."
Is that correct in fact ? A. I should think so.
Q. Is this correct — A. Pardon me, who is this letter 

10 from?
Q. Mr. Harvey, Secretary of the Vancouver Harbour Com­ 

missioners to Mr. Worsf old, District Engineer for the Department 
of Public Works ? A. Oh, yes.

The Court: The date, Mr. Griffin, you say?
Mr. Griffin: 3rd April, 1924.
The Court: 3rd April.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, 1924.
Q. "If the bridge is constructed according to the present
plans, it is quite possible there will be a further increases in 

20 the force of the tidal current probably to an extent which
will make navigation through the opening span there difficult
and possibly at times dangerous."
Did you feel that was true ? A. I believe so.
Q. I was just drawing to your attention from that letter 

the facts — A. I was the man who raised the point.
Q. What ? A. I was the party who raised the point.
Q. Anyway the fact was brought to your attention, and you 

believed this to be true? A. It was not — I raised the whole 
question myself, because I was then endeavouring to get additional 

30 dredging and additional spans put in.
Q. Well, that is because the Commissioners suggested — that 

is, the Commissioners are suggesting in view of your responsibil­ 
ity under the Navigable Waters Protection Act in matters affect­ 
ing navigation that he should inquire into the points referred to 
above and confer with the engineer for the bridge as represented 
by his resident engineer, Mr. James, so that in the event of your 
concluding that difficulties to navigation would result from carry­ 
ing out the present plans of the bridge you might make what re­ 
presentations were deemed advisable to the Department. Now, did 

40 Mr. James get in conference with Mr. Worsf old on that point ? A. 
I don't know what Mr. James did.

Q. Did he report to you that he had? A. I have no recol­ 
lection, but I myself did.

Q. But you don't know when you did? A. No, I don't 
know the date.

Q. You don't know the date? A. I don't know the date.
Q. It was probably after this letter was written, was it not? 

A. I don't know the date.

RECORD
British Columbia Admiralty
Plaintiffs 
Case

D- Swan
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_ The Court: How long was that after the bridge had been 
British Columbia begun, Mr. Griffin? 
Admirdtyj>ist. Mr. Griffin: The first pier was put in in February, my lord.

The Court: The first pier was put in in February, 1924.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, 1924, that is the first date—1923.
The Court: And that letter was from the Harbour Commis­ 

sioners to whom?
Mr. Griffin; To the engineer of the Public Works Depart­ 

ment.
The Court: Oh, at Westminster, I see, yes. 10
Mr. Griffin: Q. But anyway you were certainly agreed, as 

you say—you were of that opinion yourself pretty strongly be­ 
cause you had written a letter—no, this was shortly after, because 
you were on record yourself, were you not.

Mr. Griffin: Have you produced that letter of the 19th of 
August, written by you to the Burrard Inlet Tunnel and Bridge 
Company. Does my friend produce that letter, please?

Mr. Burns: I don't know anything about it.
Mr. Griffin: 19th August, 1924.
Q. Do you know that letter, Mr. Swan? A. I don't know. 20 

You have it there.
Mr. Donaghy: Show it to him.
Mr. Griffin : I have only got a copy.
Mr. Donaghy: If you are trying to get the letter in the re­ 

cord, the proper thing is to show the witness the document.
Mr. Griffin: I am going to read extracts from it.
Mr. Donaghy: No, what my friend is doing, my lord, that is 

not the proper way to have a letter proved, to read extracts from a 
letter in a brief.

The Court: Of course it should be produced. 30
Mr. Donaghy: However, if he would show it to us or show 

it to the witness we would tell him right away whether it was all 
right.

Mr. Griffin: I have got it out of a document, my lord—this 
is the only way I can get it.

The Court: Has Mr. Donaghy got it here ?
Mr. Griffin: No, my lord.
The Court: Well, show it to Mr. Donaghy.
Mr. Donaghy: Show it to the witness.
Mr. Griffin: Q. I don't want to labor it—there is your sig- 40 

nature—you may recognize the letter of the 19th August. You 
can tell by looking at it. (Handing document to witness.) A. 
Yes.

Q. Well, I just want to ask a few questions on it. That 
letter states that before the bridge can be opened for traffic it is 
absolutely essential that a 150 foot steel span should be substituted 
for the timber trestle immediately north of pier 1, which is neces-
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(Contd.).

sary owing to the increased current at the Second Narrows. Is RECORD
that a true statement? A. I consider it to be so. BriUs/Tcdumbi

Q. It says further, Admiralty DJSI.
"It is further necessary to instruct the contractors that the Plaintiff's
150-foot additional span north of Pier 1 is approved so that Case
they may get the advantage of the reduced price. "
Were they so notified ? A. I couldn 't teU you. I know there 

was a lot of delay.
Q. A lot of delay? A. A lot of delay, that we couldn't ac- 

10 count for it.
Q. What would be the explanation of a statement to them 

that this had been approved of in August 1924, when the earliest 
possible approval in the files of this court is in March 1925 ? A. 
I think that date —

Q. You can't explain that? A. We wouldn't notify the con­ 
tractors that it was approved until we had got the approval from 
someone.

Q. You notice it here, you advised that they be instructed 
it had been approved, did you not. You see here ? A. Sure, I 

20 wanted to advise them.
Q. Now, you say it is further necessary to instruct the con­ 

tractors that the 150-foot additional span north of Pier 1 is ap­ 
proved. Was that true ? A. It was most desirable to do so.

Q. But was it not approved. "Witness, answer my question, 
was it approved? A. Presumably it was not approved at that 
time.

Q. It was not ? A. Presumably not, from the letter.
Q. Then if the letter says so it is wrong? A. No, but the 

letter doesn't say so. I was trying to show the urgency of getting 
30 the thing approved so as to be able to instruct the contractors.

Q. Now, why didn't you produce me your letter among this 
large lot that you have produced here, after the insistence that 
I have been making to get this correspondence ?

The Court : That is not for you to ask him, you see. That 
is not this witness' function.

Mr. Griffin : Yes, my lord, this is his witness.
The Court : The persons responsible for the non-production 

of letters are not the witnesses, but the parties.
Mr. Griffin : Yes, my lord, but this witness wrote that letter 

40 on behalf, you see, of his employer.
The Court: But I am still pointing out to you this man is 

only a witness, he is not the employer. You cannot hold him re­ 
sponsible for the conduct of the case.

Mr. Griffin : Yes, my lord, I ask him if he has this document.
The Court : Yes, you cannot ask him, you must ask the right 

person, and he is not the right person.
Mr. Griffin: Then I won't press that point.
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RECORD The Court: The witness does not control the conduct of the 
British Columbia case, it is the plaintiff's solicitors and the counsel who control it.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Now, another letter of yours—a very in­ 
teresting letter dated the 14th October, 1924, addressed to Mr. 
Johnston, Deputy Minister of Marine. Do you remember that? 
A. I don't remember the date. But I wrote him very fully and 
very often.

Q. And you remember that I was sort of nagging you yester­ 
day, if I might say so, to get correspondence from you, isn't that 
so? A. From— 10

Q. The Public Works Department? A. The Public Works 
Department and the Board of Railway Commissioners.

Q. Yes, and I forgot to mention the Department of Marine 
evidently, didn't I? A. I don't know whether you did or not.

Q. Well, you knew that I wanted letters between yourself 
and the Government of Canada, didn't you? A. On my own 
initiative anyway, thinking that you might possibly ask for them, 
I produced those ones to the Marine and Fisheries Department.

Q. Well, now, don't you think I ought to have had these a 
long time ago? A. I don't know anything about that. I was 20 
never asked for them.

Q. Now in that letter it contained this statement, that you 
discussed—this is the point we were discussing—with Mr. Camer- 
on, the Chief Engineer of the Public Works Department when in 
Vancouver, with Mr. W. G. Swan and the Harbour Commission­ 
ers, and that all agreed that unquestionably this additional 150- 
foot span is essential? A. Yes, my lord.

Q. And further that you agreed that it would be a great ad­ 
vantage if the second 150-foot span could also be arranged for, 
and so permitting the additional dredging being carried out, and 30 
as this letter says, decrease the current through the bascule ? A. 
Yes, my lord.

Q. Then you agree the current through the bascule should 
be decreased if possible ? A. At that date.

Q. Yes, October, 1924? A. Yes.
Q. You wanted it reduced? A. And we did do these things, 

and we did reduce the current.
Q. Now, the Mr. W. G. Swan to whom you are referring— 

the letter that you wrote says this, there is no doubt—this is the 
8th of October, 1924—there is no doubt that the current has been 40 
increased from approximately 7 knots of original current to 8 
knots under the new conditions at flood tide. Is that correct ? A. 
I don't.

Mr. Burns: Yes, the new conditions.
Mr. Griffin: That means the conditions existing on the 8th 

of October.
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Mr. Donaghy: No, the new conditions referred to the dredg­ 
ing in the First Narrows. There is no use concealing that.

Mr. Griffin: No, they don't.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, they do.
Mr. Griffin: No, I don't think so.
The Court: Of course it is obvious that one of your own wit­ 

nesses said so, Mr. Griffin, that undoubtedly the dredging opera­ 
tions in the First Narrows must inevitably cause an increased ve­ 
locity in the Second. 

10 Mr. Griffin: I am not denying it, my lord.
The Court: No, but I mean there is no doubt about it.
Mr. Griffin: I am not denying that, my lord. My friend 

raised a different point. He said that that letter had reference 
to it, I contested his statement that that letter refers to it.

The Court: Yes, well you may be right.
Mr. Burns: Will you give me the date of the letter, please ?
Mr. Griffin: 8th October.
Mr. Burns: And the parties ?
Mr. Griffin: Letter from Mr. W. G. Swan to the secretary of 

20 the Harbour Board.
Mr. Burns: 1924.
Mr. Griffin: Q. As a matter of fact, you had already decid­ 

ed on that one extra span, hadn't you? A. You mean I person­ 
ally?

Q. Well, I am afraid I sometimes mix you up with the com­ 
pany. You had decided to advise it ? A. I had been urging it 
right from very early dates.

Q. Yes; and they had no doubt, under your advice, notified 
the contractor to go ahead and do it, hadn't they? A. Not until 

30 it was approved. The contractors wouldn't have taken it unless 
there was some arrangement about the money.

Q. Now, the criticism that we have been referring to seems 
to have continued straight along, because we find a very strong 
letter in September, 1924 from the B. C. Tug Boat Owners' As­ 
sociation—25th September, 1924.

Mr. Donaghy: To whom ?
Mr. Griffin: To the Vancouver Harbour Commissioners.
Mr. Donaghy: My lord, surely we must have an end to this 

sometime.
40 The Court: Yes, I cannot see why—you know it is really 

not fair to this witness—you make him appear as if he were really 
the employer, and he is not the employer. This man has no status 
except as a servant of this company, now he is being treated as in 
command of the whole affair.

Mr. Griffin: Well, my lord, he took that stand very much—
The Court: Well, of course he was the engineer in charge 

An engineer in charge is a most responsible position, but he is 
not the employer.

RECORD
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(Contd.)
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RECORD Mr. Griffin: Q. Were you informed that several accidents 
British coiumbu had taken place about that time, Mr. Swan? A I don't know. 
Admiraity_Dist. Q. What? A I don't know. If there were any serious 

accidents I presume my staff here would inform me. But I have 
no recollection of any particular information.

Q. Was this brought before you, a letter from the Harbour 
Master, Captain A Hartley Reed to the Vancouver Harbour Com­ 
missioners, 6th October, 1924.

"I beg to place before you my information—" 
Mr. Donaghy: Now, my lord, I have to again object. The 

reading of letters between parties like the Harbour Board and 
some tugboat owners and that sort of thing, they are not even ad­ 
dressed to the Plaintiff, they don't come to our knowledge, and 
all that sort of thing, my friend produces these and reads them into 
the record and then turns to the witness; 

"Now, did you hear of that"— 
Having got the letter spread on the record. 
The Court: It simply means that the witness was forced— 

you can ask him, Mr. Griffin, if he knows anything about it, if it 
came to his knowledge. If it didn't that is an end of it.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Did you become aware of criticism of the 
bridge span from the Harbour Master? A No.

Q. Well, that's that. Do I take it that you are concurring with 
me that his opinion, if confirmatory of that of the mariners as to 
where the span should be, is entitled to great weight? A. It 
would have a considerable weight with me.

Q. And weren't you then asked to re-assure the Depart­ 
ment at Ottawa by reason of this very great bulk of criticism which 
had been raised? A I have no recollection.

Q. Well, then, I will have to remind you— A I certainly 
wrote the Department in regard to the matter, both marine and 
Fishery, I think, and probably Dr. King, who was then Minister 
of Public Works.

Q. You haven't produced that one, but I have been able to 
obtain this one of the 14th of October, 1924, that you wrote to the 
Deputy Minister of Marine in which you say:

"I received a telegram from Mr. Ward, Secretary of the Bur- 
rard Inlet Tunnel and Bridge Company in Vancouver, stating 
that a protest against the construction of the Second Narrows 
Bridge had been sent to the Minister of Marine on September 
26th by various parties, by property and other interests east 
of the bridge on the ground that the project was an obstruc­ 
tion to navigation, and Mr. Ward asked me to communicate 
with you in connection therewith." 
Is that true. Did he? A Undoubtedly. 
Q. Do you remember it now?
Mr. Donaghy: Would you mind putting that letter in? A 

You have the letter.

10

$>o

30
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Mr. Griffin: I am not putting it in. RECORD
Mr. Donaghy: Now, my lord, I am going to ask to put it in. British Columbia
Mr. Griffin: I am going to wait until I come to it.
Mr. Donaghy: My friend has questioned the witness on it 

and read extracts from it and it is essential that the whole informa­ 
tion—that the whole letter should go in.

Mr. Griffin: I am only asking this witness—
Mr. Donaghy: I am going to ask that the whole letter go in.
Mr. Griffin: I want to read that letter to him, but it is not 

10 a document we are producing.
The Court: Well, it is a very fine line you are drawing, Mr. 

Griffin. You are endeavoring to put a lot of evidence in there, 
which you may not wish to put in, because it is not exactly favour­ 
able to the witness, to bring out dates. How does he know that 
there is not more in it.

Mr. Griffin: There may be, my lord.
The Court: Yes, there may be.
Mr. Burns: He is perfectly at liberty to get his own copy 

there—you have got it. This copy was produced there. 
20 The Court: There may be something else that appears to 

have a different construction.
Mr. Donaghy: You see, my lord, the position is this, the 

witness has produced to my friend a copy of the letter, and my 
friend has that copy from this witness.

Mr. Griffin: No, I beg your pardon. That may be in the 
bundle that my friends have handed me today, but I haven't even 
had a chance to look at them.

Mr. Burns: The witness handed these over to you today be­ 
cause you asked for them before. Now, you read part of this let- 

30 ter, and you read it into this record, and you will agree we are 
entitled to call for production of a document at any stage of the 
proceedings when the witness is questioned upon it, and my submis­ 
sion is that my friend should be called upon to produce this docu­ 
ment. This course of reading extracts which may give a very 
wrong impression of the whole document—

The Court: Yes, you see, Mr. Griffin, that is not quite the 
right way to do, to read out extracts, to read specific extracts from 
a document and not leave open the whole thing, or put it all in. 
Really is that quite fair?

40 Mr. Griffin: Yes, quite so, when they reach anything of im­ 
portance, but for the moment all that has been done is, I want to 
know if he was aware of the accidents, that is all I want to prove.

The Court: You see again he has told you so over and over 
again, he has said that is so, and I myself was the person who took 
it up. He has not been endeavouring to deny it, he came right for­ 
ward from the beginning—ab initio, and informed you, he said,

"I raised the question."
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What more do you want? 
Mr Griffin: Very well. 
The Court: I must say he has been exceptionally frank all 

through in this examination in making admissions—more than he 
is called upon in many instances.

Mr. Griffin: Q. The dredging that you were proposing on 
the north shore was substantially where the 300-foot span—where 
the two 150-foot spans were afterwards put in, was it not? A. 
Yes.

Q. What area did you intend to have dredged,—or advise to 10 
have dredged as at the time ? A. I was only concerned with the 
part practically under the bridge. Naturally so as to make it effec­ 
tive it would have to extend some distance on either side, and that 
would come under the Public Works Department.

Q. Was that the dredging that is referred to in a document 
I will turn up in a moment, to be 450 feet wide and 35 feet deep 
and 1800 feet long, referred to in a letter there of W. G. Swan's, 
dated the 8th October—is that the dredging that is referred to ? 
A. I presume so, but I had nothing to do with the actual dimen­ 
sions of that dredging. I was only concerned with the part im- 20 
mediately under the bridge.

Q. But to be effective that would have to extend east and 
west and west of the Narrows. A. Yes, my lord.

Q. As to the breadth, what breadth do you recommend ? A. 
I couldn't tell you now.

Q. Did you put it in writing? A. Not to my knowledge. 
I discussed it all verbally with Mr. Cameron the Chief Engineer 
of the Public Works Department.

Q. Would this be a fair statement of what was required: 
"The only possible way in which the present condition can be 30 
remedied lies, I believe in the eventual extention of the steel 
work by the use of deck spans probably 150 feet in length each 
to a distance inshore of, say, 450 feet from the existing north 
pier. The foreshore covering this 450 foot strip could then 
be dredged to a minimum depth of 35 feet at low tide. Such 
dredging of course would be carried out througout the entire 
length of the Second Narrows, which would mean the removal 
of several millions yards of material." 
Is that what you think ought to have been done ? A. Oh, I 

have never studied how far the dredging should extend at all. 40
Q. Well, anyway, to put it shortly if the dredging was not 

done then the anticipated decrease in current could not be antici­ 
pated? A. Quite correct.

Q. And I suppose you know that substantially speaking it 
has not been done ? A. The part under the bridge for which I 
was responsible has been done.

Q. That is a very small area—extends a very little distance 
east? A. I don't know how far east they carried it.
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Q. You don't know, and you are not in a position to check RECORD 
the statement of one witness who says that it carries on a couple British 
or 300 feet of space before it reaches the B. C. Electric lines of ^miraty 
pipe? A. I don't know. Plaintiffs

Q. When did you decide to add Pier 4-A and 5 to the plan ? Case 
A. I couldn't give the date. . D—

Q. Can you give the year? A. Oh, it was—it was early cross-exam0 
in the negotiations. (Contd.)

Q. Well, take a few dates we have given, was it earlier than 
10 the public inquiry in November, 1925? A. Oh, it was before 

that, it seems to me—quite a long time before that.
Q. And why was it decided on? A. Because I wanted to 

avoid so much timber trestle.
Q. You wanted to avoid trestle? A. Yes, and to get a 

greater opening there.
Q. Then you didn't approve of the plan as originally made 

in that particular? A. Only to the limited extent that we couldn't 
get sufficient money to do something better.

Q. The same argument all the way? A. Yes. 
20 Q. Yes, that was your plan then brought forward because 

you could not offer anything more for that price ? A. That was 
correct, sir.

Q. Isn't it a fact that the bottom proved too hard for piling? 
A. Oh, no, we never tried to pile there. I was after the addi­ 
tional span very early.

Q. Now, I take it that if dredging was advisable on the north 
shore, the same if possible would be desirable on the south shore ? 
A. I don't think so, because we have 35 foot depth at the site of 
the bascule pier.

30 Q. I only mention this as a question of navigation, that if 
dredging on the north shore would be effective to reduce the cur­ 
rent, the same would apply to dredging on the south shore, if 
feasible? A. I wouldn't like to put myself definitely down on 
that.

Q. You would not? A. I never considered dredging over 
on the south shore.

Q. You will go so far as to say that it would not be of any
real value to do dredging on the north shore and put in fills on
the south, would it ? A. Oh, you don't want to do away with the

40 advantage you were reaping by the additional dredging you had
made on the north shore.

Q. That is what I said, you might have said yes and it would 
have been over. And were you consulted before that fill was put 
in? A. Which fill?

Q. The fill on the south shore ? A. That was my original— 
in our original scheme of working out at the time that this Exhibit 
Number 2 was prepared.
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Q. Please answer my question: Were you consulted before 
the work was done at all ? A. Yes.

Q. Who consulted you? A. The Northern Construction 
Company. There is the plan showing it.

Mr. Burns: Q. This one? A. Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Why didn't you come out here at the time 

of the public inquiry in November, 1924 to support this structure 
when it was under adverse criticism? A. Presumably I hadn't 
been asked.

Q. Were you asked? A. I have no knowledge. If I had 10 
been asked I am very sure I would have been here, if I was in the 
country.

Mr. Griffin: Oh, I said 1925 for that inquiry, I meant 1924.
The Witness: All right.
Q. I want to read this statement and see if you agree with 

this:
"During flood tide— 

A. Pardon me, who is the statement from ?
Q. I would be very glad to tell you, but my friend does not 

want me to read from letters. It is from Captain Reed, Harbour 20 
Master, addressed to the Superintendent of the Harbour Commis­ 
sioners, dated 21st April, 1925. I merely want you to know where 
it is and then you can say whether you agree with it:

"During flood tide the current strikes the fill which has re­ 
cently been placed on the south side running out from the
bank, and has deflected" (Reading letter)
Do you criticize that statement? A, I don't know.
Q. This letter adds:
"This condition was not in evidence before the piers were
placed." 30
I suppose you are not prepared to criticise that either? A, 

No.
Q. And he adds the opinion, which is that of a navigator, as 

follows:
"It is in my opinion regrettable that the draw span was not
placed farther north."
Does that opinion carry weight with you ? A. No, because I 

didn't know anything about the engineering end of the thing.
Q. But I mean as a navigator would it carry weight with 

you. I ask you to answer that ? A. No. 40
Q. Is this bridge at right angles to the current ? A. Very 

slightly off, as far as I remember.
Q. Well, then, the answer is it is not at right angles to the 

current? A. No.
Q. Is that right? A. Yes.
Q. Did you advise that this be so, or was this a condition 

forced on you by similar circumstances? A. No, that was my 
own opinion.
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Q. That you should have it in that way? A. That the RECORD 
position in which the bridge is constructed was the correct one. British Columbia

Q. Therefore you are responsible for putting it at an angle, Adm"<dty 
is that so ? A. Well, I agreed with it being put there anyway. Plaintiffs

Q. Is this not true that the size of a pier has an effect on the Case 
distance to which it will throw the water on both sides when the —— 
tide is running? A. Oh, yes. £• D- Swan

Q. Therefore shortly put, the cluster of piers formed by 3,
4 and 4-A will throw an eddy in the water that is deflected by their

10 faces to a farther distance than a pier of smaller size ? A. Yes.
Q. So that in the bascule span it is a fact that the eddy or 

the thrust of water from that side, that is the south side, is greater 
than from the north side, because the pier at the south side is much 
wider? A. I am sorry, I don't take your argument.

Q. Perhaps I might put it, well, I don't claim it to be always 
that way—perhaps many of them. You have agreed that a pier 
with a broad surface throws water farther away when the tide in 
running than one with a smaller surface? A Yes.

Q. Therefore as piers Numbers 3, 4 and 4-A are substantial- 
20 ly one, much broader in the face than pier 2, it follows that they 

throw water farther from themselves than the other pier does? 
A. Oh, no.

Q. You agreed to my proposition, I merely want to get its 
conclusion, that a broad— A. A broad pier will certainly dis­ 
turb the water to a greater extent than a small one, yes.

Q. I agree; therefore, as I see it, the area of disturbance in 
the case of a broad pier, is a larger area of disturbance than with 
a little pier? A. Yes.

Q. Therefore it would obviously follow that if you have an
30 opening in which there is a wide broad faced pier on one side and a

narrow faced pier on the other side, the centre actually of the
current will not be in the centre of the place ? A. Probably not.

Q. That is the only point I was trying to make. The changes 
that were made in 1925 were the result of the inquiry of November 
1924, were they not. A. That is the raising of the bridge and the 
additional two spans and so on?

Q. Yes? A. Yes.
Q. Did you agree that those changes were all desirable ? A. 

Certainly.
40 Q. Did you agree that the increase of height by five feet was 

necessary in the best interests of the community? A. It was 
agreed it was.

Q. Yes; and might have been raised still higher, might it 
not, to advantage? A. Oh, yes, if they had the money to pay 
for it.

Q. Yes, and that business alone of raising, is that a very 
expensive matter or not? A. Oh, you can raise a certain height
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without fundamentally increasing the cost of the remainder of the 
pier, but you can't carry it too far.

Q. To any extent? A. A few feet doesn't make much dif­ 
ference.

Q. Yes, and in the same way you could readily run that 
height up a further 22 feet or 24 feet at a very reasonable addi­ 
tional cost, couldn't you? A. I should think so.

Q. And even to 42 ? A. Oh, I don't know about that, that 
is a very different story.

Q. But anyway, every foot gained is a foot more for ships 
that can go under, is it not ? A. Yes, I presume so.

Q. Therefore less impediment to navigation? A. I pre­ 
sume so.

Q. Do you thing that navigators — I am getting something 
that you can recognize — that navigators are bound to be satisfied 
with conditions which are merely reasonably safe.

The Court: That is a legal question, you know, he is not 
answering that.

Mr. Griffin : No, my lord, I am using words that I think he 
recognizes. A. I don't recognize these words.

Q. You don't recognize those words? A. No. If it is from 
some letter of mine written a long time ago, say so.

Q. Would you state that navigators should reasonably be 
satisfied with conditions reasonably safe for from one half to one 
hour of slack water, is that all they are entitled to.

The Court: This is not the tribunal to decide that.
Mr. Griffin: No, my lord.
The Court : He is not the tribunal to answer these questions.
Mr. Griffin; Well, if your lordship does not think I am en­ 

titled to ask him —
The Court : Do you think that it would help me or anybody 

else. I hesitate very much to try and curtail counsel on cross-ex­ 
amination except where it is apparent that it is of no use.

Mr. Griffin: No, I don't want to press anything beyond 
reason.

Q. Were you advised that in the spring of this year there 
were joint conferences of all interested parties with a view to 
altering or getting an alteration in the character of the bridge? 
A. No.

Q. Were you taken into consultation on this ? A. No.
Q. Were you advised that it was taking place ? A. No.
Q. Do you think that this was the result — was good advice, 

which they finally came to a decision about —
Mr. Donaghy: No, my lord —
The Court : Well, clearly, you need not answer. It is clearly 

irrelevant.
Mr. Griffin : Well, I am going to read from a letter —

10
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30
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The Court : You need not go any further with that line of RECORD 
cross-examination, I rule it out. Clearly, I would not like another 
court to think that I permitted it, in case this case went any 
further. Plaintiff's

Mr. Griffin: Your lordship does not allow me to read from Case 
this letter?

The Court: Nothing of the kind, Mr. Griffin, at all, I am 
speaking of the question addressed to the witness just now as to 
what he thinks of the results of investigations of other parties. 

10 Mr. Griffin : I only asked if certain facts are reasonable, cer­ 
tain facts are true.

The Court : Put your questions then seriatim and I will rule 
on them.

Mr. Griffin : Yes, my lord.
The Court : Just put them one after the other, you see.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Yes, now for instance —
The Court: It is the form of your question, put your ques­ 

tion and I will rule upon it.
Mr. Griffin : Q. "Were you advised that the bridge company 

20 had had their insurance cancelled on account of the alleged risk 
of damage? A. No.

The Court: Now — oh, well. Do not get into social fastidi- 
ties or anything of that kind, Mr. Griffin, because we must end 
somewhere, you know.

Mr. Griffin : Q. Would you be affected by the opinion of the 
Shipping Federation, for example, if they state this bridge is a 
menace to navigation, wouuld that effect your mind? A. No, 
I would listen to what they have got to say.

Q. But you wouldn't think that was final? A. Decidedly 
30 not.

Q. Well, I won't go on with that. Your view was that the 
situation was one where on experienced engineer should be called 
in, I think you said, to advise, is that it? A. When?

Q. Just a few minutes ago, when you were speaking about 
the alterations in the bridge, I think I heard you say that was 
your view ? A. On, I think there should be— if anything was to 
be done, that there should be a thorough enquiry into it by a com­ 
petent man or men.

Q. Have you become aware of the fact that a project is on 
40 foot to remove the bridge and substitute a dam?

Mr. Donaghy: My lord —
The Court : You need not answer.
Mr. Griffin: Does your lordship rule that out:
The Court: I think — the question, I think, rules itself out. 

It is what I call a self -objecting question. It operates automatic­ 
ally to exclude itself, you see.

Mr. Griffin: Q. I notice in one of the telegrams you pro-
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duced me—you produced for my inspection dated 16th January, 
British Columbia 1923—it is a telegram I think addressed to Mr. Loutet and you say; 

"Am in Ottawa with Northern Construction, have instructed 
Vancouver office to help them with all plans and information 
to meet requirements under Navigable Waters Protection Act, 
please instruct your lawyer comply with all requirements 
therein as this must be done by Bridge Company." 
Who in Ottawa gave you the information upon which you 

based that telegram? A. To the best of my memory it was the 
Chief Engineer.

Q. What— A. Of the Public Works Department. 
Q. Of the Public Works Department, so that it was—it was 

the Public Works Department that demanded compliance with 
the Navigable Waters Act ? A. To the best of my memory that 
was so.

Q. I notice—
The Witness: May I supplement my answer, my lord ? 
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, certainly, as far as I am concerned. 
The Witness: Thinking back, I think there is a further tele­ 

gram a few days later saying that the Chief Engineer had changed 
his mind and that it would only be necessary to comply under 
some other act which is mentioned in the telegram. That was two 
or three days afterward, I remember there was that alteration in 
his standpoint.

Q. Well, you didn't show me that one? A, Pardon me, if 
there is one it will be here.

Q. No, there is no such telegram shown here. Now, then— 
Mr. Donaghy: There is a telegram from the Justice Depart­ 

ment giving that ruling, amongst the ones I gave you.
Mr. Griffin: I haven't been shown that, and therefore I 

can't be expected to assume it, if such a telegram exists, it should 
have been produced and you should have let the witness see it. 

Q. Now, the other telegram that you did produce and did 
show me is one dated 18th January addressed to Mr. Loutet, sign­ 
ed by yourself:

"At a further meeting today, the Chief Engineer of Public 
Works says as the bridge site formerly"— 
A, That is it.

Q. That is the one? A. Yes.
Q. Well, that is mixing the two up together. Then to clear 

it all up:
"At a further meeting today the Chief Engineer of Public 
Works says as bridge site formerly approved 10th June 1913 
only necessary now to ask amendment to former approval 
under Section 233 of the Railway Act in accordance with the 
change in the general plan. Please inform James.''

10
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That is the one you refer to ? A. Yes, that is the one.
Mr. Donaghy: You scolded him for nothing, he has given 

you the telegram.
Mr. Griffin: No, he did not, you told me it was from the 

Justice Department, which was not apparently correct.
The Court: It evidently does not assist us at all, you know,

RECORD

in any event. 
Mr. Griffin : 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin

I just wanted to get my question passed upon — 
That is quite irrelevant.
Q. Now, the general plan therein referred to 

is Exhibit 2, is it not? A. I presume so, but I am not positive.
Q. It is plain from that, however — from that telegram, wit­ 

ness, is it not, that it was not filed as a plan of the site, was it? 
A, No, I don't know now.

Q. Is that not plain enough ? A. I don 't know now.
Q. Can you not read this telegram. You wrote it — that the 

Public Works Engineer says that as the bridge site was formerly 
approved in 1913 it was now only necessary to ask an amendment. 
Is that plain enough to you? A. Yes.

Q. Does that not therefore state that the site has been al­ 
ready approved ? A, Yes, it appears so.

The Court : That is a matter of construction, that is not for 
him.

Mr. Griffin : He himself wrote this telegram.
The Court: Yes, that may be so, but that is not the point.
Mr. Griffin : Q. Well, however, what I mean is this, that if 

you have stated otherwise than that in your testimony before is 
it not clear you were wrong ? A. In regard to what ?

Q. In regard to the fact that Exhibit 2 was filed not as a 
plan of site, but as a plan of amendment or variation. Is that 
not plain ? A. It certainly was not the first plan lodged.

Q. No ; and isn't it plain from that telegram that the person 
on whose authority and on whose suggestion — that is the Chief 
Engineer of Public Works — that he told you that the plan of 1913 
was the site plan, didn't he? A. Yes.

Q. And that the plan now to be filed was an amendment or 
variation of the plan, isn't that right? A. Apparently.

Q. And isn't it plain from that that you and he both under­ 
stood there that way, that you were not filing a plan as a location 
plan. Isn't that obvious? A. I wasn't filing a plan that day 
at all.

Q. No, no, the plan that you were discussing, reading this 
telegram, is it not plain that you were discussing either, the filing 
of Exhibit 2 as an agreed plan or amendment, and not a plan of 
site ? A. Well, it was a change in the general plan.

Q. That is Exhibit 2, is it not? A. I don't know.
Q. What other one can you suggest? A. I presume that

Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiffs 
Case

A. D. Swan 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)
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_ it is, but it doesn't say—it doesn't give the number on here, for 
British Coiumbi* instance, but I should think that was quite correct.

Q. Quite correct? A. I should think so.
Q. Well, then, do you not agree with me that the Chief 

Engineer said you did not need to file a site plan? A. Yes, that 
is what he said.

Q. Well, all right. Now, then, I come back to this—I have 
to quote that, if your evidence states something to the contrary, 
then I take it you wish to amend the previous evidence ? A. Yes.

Mr. Griffin: Well, I need not read it. That is all, my lord, to 
I am sorry to have kept you so long.

The Court: Q. Just one moment. What was the object of 
the rock fill, witness, we have heard so much about. What was 
the object of it? A. On the south shore?

Q. Yes, as shown here on 27. We have been told that that 
is a substantial rock fill as at present located. Is that the rock 
fill at present on 27? A. Yes.

Q. We have that position, you assume that that is it ? A. We 
had to put in a fill—

Q. Yes, that is your understanding, is it, of the rock fill as 20 
at present? A. Yes.

Q. Yes ? A. That is correct.
Q. I understood so. A. Yes.
Q. Now, if you would just turn around a little bit like that. 

Now, what was the object of putting in this rock fill about which 
we have heard so much ? A. Because they could not drive timber 
piles into the rocky shore, they had to put some filling through 
there to drive piles into so as to hold them, or if the piles were not 
driven into it, to form a basis for the timber trestles carrying the 
roadway. 30

Q. Yes, I see. It was a pecular condition that was met there 
then, is that what you wish to be understood? A. Oh, yes, we 
intended to put that fill there right from the very start, my lord.

Q. Yes? A. I have a plan there that has not been filed, 
which shows that that was the way it was prepared, at the same 
time as Exhibit Number 2.

Q. Now, which plan is that. Just let us have that ? A. 
That plan shows what we had under consideration at the time, 
and shows that fill—that old plan. That shows the profile of the 
approach, roadway, my lord, going right down, and there is the 40 
fill, but we had to extend it a little farther towards the north when 
it was decided to get the additional steel span in south of the bas­ 
cule and that was why that filling was extended a little bit farther 
than was shown on Exhibit Number 2.

Q. Well, now, what is this Exhibit, what is this plan ?
Mr. Donaghy: It has not been put in.
The Witness: This one has never been put in. I drew it—
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The Court: Is there any objection to this going in?
Mr. Donaghy : None that I know.
The Court: Better show it to Mr. Griffin, because this plan 

may go in.
Mr. Griffin : That is the old plan, (Showing plan to counsel.)
The Witness : That was simply one of our study plans pre- 

pared at the time.
Mr. Griffin: Well, my lord, I object to this on every ground,

especially on the ground of intense surprise. I have never heard
10 of it before, it has never been produced to me, it is not certified,

it does not arise out of my cross-examination, it is all entirely new,
and no opportunity to consult on it, take advice or do anything.

Mr. Donaghy : Then, my lord, let us leave it out.
The Court: Yes, exactly. Yes, I think the objection is well 

taken. The plan will not be admitted.
Q. Now, then, apart from the plan, can you explain to me 

the necessity there was for the building of that rock fill? A. 
Yes, my lord.

Q. Does the rock fill exceed the necessity of the case in its 
2.0 dimensions or extent into the water? A. No, I don't think so.

Q. You have seen it since it was put there ? A, Oh, yes. 
. Q. Is it more in any respect — is it of larger dimensions in 

any respect than it ought to be ? A. No, my lord.
Q. Yes, that is what I want to get at. No, just one more 

question: Some witnesses have referred to the shoal that you 
encounter in the case of big ships when you go through the bascule 
going east, and one witness, I think it was Muckleston, drew a 
plan here projecting the line, at Mr. Griffin's request, 250 feet east 
of the bridge. Have you that plan here ? 

30 Mr. Griffin: Exhibit 17.
The Court: Q. He projected a line — you heard him doing 

that ? A. Yes, my lord.
(Mr. Donaghy produces plan to witness.)

Mr. Donaghy : That is it — the yellow line.
The Court: Q. How far do you understand that the shoal 

begins. You have heard the evidence, how far do you understand 
that the shoal, which some witnesses have complained of, masters 
of these vessels, of those large vessels — how far do you understand 
it begins from the bascule ? A. Oh, I am not sufficiently conver- 

40 sant with the position of that shoal, my lord, to tell you. It is a 
long distance from the bridge. ,

Q. It is, yes. I know that, it is a considerable distance, you 
see here, from the point, but their point is now, when these large 
vessels are of course using the draw that it is— as they say, it 
brings them too close for safe navigation to the edge of the shoal ? 
A. Yes.

Q. Which, of course, seems very plausible? A. Yes.
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British Columbia tion of this bridge, could enlighten me—I mean the surroundings 
Admiralty Dht. there, if anybody to your knowledge from the Department, engin­ 

eers of the National Government, or any officials of the Bridge 
Company, or yourself, had had that state of affairs drawn to your 
attention with a view, you understand of eliminating it by dredg­ 
ing on the south shore just as well as dredging on the north. Did 
the question of dredging on the south shore to remove the shoal 
ever come up? A. I have no recollection of any question of 
dredging on the south shore coming under my—under my observa- 10 
tion.

Q. Would you be in a position to offer any sound opinion 
from what you have heard of this case—naturally, of course, you 
did not hear the early part of it? A. No, I didn't hear any of 
the early part.

Q. Have you heard anything since you came that would en­ 
able you to have a sound opinion upon the question as to whether 
or no the material part of the objections to the bridge could be 
removed by dredging out the shoal on the south side? A. I 
wouldn't like to offer an opinion off hand, my lord. 20

The Court: No. Thank you.
Mr. Griffin: My lord, may I ask the witness—I think your 

lordship has got a misapprehension of one little point.
The Court: It is a very irregular thing to ask the witness a 

question after the court has done it. Now, tell me what you want 
to ask.

Mr. Griffin: I think your lordship is under a misapprehen­ 
sion in regard to the description of the shoal. The shoal, as I 
understand it, and as the plan I think supports me, is a continu­ 
ous condition running straight from the bridge eastward for at 30 
least 1500 feet.

The Court: Oh, that is true, Mr. Griffin, of course—I under­ 
stand that is what you mean, but, of course, the edge of the shoal 
water on the bank of course comes down there, but what I under­ 
stood the witness to mean in the navigation of these large ships, 
that they are brought in this proximity at a point a long distance 
away.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, they begin to have the dangers some dis­ 
tance away.

The Court. Yes. 40
Mr. Griffin: But the actual condition of shoal is continuous 

from that point straight to the bridge—the super-structure. In 
other words it does not begin—

Mr. Donaghy: Close to the shore, the edges, of course.
Mr. Griffin: I am only making a submission, I am not offer­ 

ing to give any evidence, I am only making a submission that the 
plan shows clearly this continuous state of affairs straight along
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(Contd.

shore without any special break, beginning near the bridge. If RECORD 
your lordship will look at 17.

The Court : Oh, yes, I understand that. Admiralty
Mr. Griffin: That is the agreed plan between counsel, that plaintiffs 

it is correct as to soundings and line. Case
The Court : Oh, yes, I think so.
Mr. Griffin: Exhibit 17.
The Court : Yes, but I mean, don 't you see, this, that really — 

as I understand here, you see, in the case of a large ship going 
10 through, we will say, 450 or 500 feet, when they go through the 

bridge they turn in near the shoal, that is the difficulty that some 
masters have explained to us, here, that they were afraid of get­ 
ting over here apparently, setting over toward the shoal.

Mr. Griffin : Yes, my lord.
The Court: Well, that did not occur — of course, so far as 

that is concerned, I am thinking of the big vessels, but you know 
that did not occur when they were, so to speak, near the bascule, 
that occurred farther out.

Mr. Griffin: No, my lord, my submission is that it would 
20 occur the moment the stern of the vessel was near the piers, that 

the position was then, I understand instant.
The Court: That is a matter of argument, but this witness 

has told us he is unable to form any sound opinion, so therefore^— 
in view of his not having heard the evidence, so therefore I will 
not trouble you any more.

Mr. Griffin: No, it was more your lordship's suggestion 
that brought me to inter j ect that.

The Court : I see what you mean, Mr. Griffin, you are quite
right in what you say, I see clearly your point, that they get into

30 difficulty in that distance, but it was more at Knuckle Point that
I was thinking really — I really had Knuckle Point in my mind
more than the other.

Mr. Griffin: "Well, your lordship remembers that Knuckle 
Point is near the place where the ships came in contact with the 
condition which has really been continuous both below and above.

The Court : Well, what I had in mind, Mr. Griffin, I suppose 
Knuckle Point was the point I wanted to ask about the effect of it, 
but he knows nothing about it, apparently.

(Witness aside)
__ (5:25 COURT THEREUPON ADJOURNED TO TUES­

DAY, DECEMBER 4th, 1928 at 10:30).

40
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(Contd.)

Vancouver, B. C., December 4,1928, 10:30 a.m. 
(COURT RESUMED PURSUANT TO ADJOURNMENT)

The Court: Mr. Griffin, did you finish your case, or did you 
wish, I think you intimated to me, did you not, that you had not 
quite made up your mind as to whether you had any further wit­ 
nesses ?

Mr. Griffin: Well—
The Court: I did not know whether you had, Mr. Donaghy.
Mr. Donaghy: I will have if my friend says he is through.
Mr. Griffin: Then I tender one document produced by my 

learned friend, being the contract between the plaintiff and the 
contractors of the 1st of February, 1923, and thus complete the 
series of contracts.

The Court: Yes.

(DOCUMENT PRODUCED MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 49).
Mr. Griffin; Then I ask your lordship to make a note that a 

large number of documents which my learned friend's witness, 
Mr. Swan, produced yesterday were not left with me and I have 
not had a chance even to read them, therefore I cannot tell whether 
they are of any interest to me, or whether I can make any use of 
them at all. Before proceeding I would like to have Mr. Burns 
produce the application for the Railway Board orders in respect 
of which the subpoena duces tecum was served upon him,

Mr. Burns: With reference to the first point the documents 
are here, but I did not know of any express desire on the part of 
my learned friend to look over them. They are Mr. Swan's docu­ 
ments and I have just seen them. This is not voluminous, my 
friend could look at them in a few minutes. We had them in 
court yesterday.

Mr. Griffin; I was on my feet the whole time, and I asked 
for the documents from my learned friend and he did not make 
an offer to get them before.

The Court: Do you wish to see them now? It is the four 
applications that you are asking for?

Mr. Griffin: My friend interjected some remark about Mr. 
Swan's documents. I could not do it without having them to 
read and see what was in them.

Mr. Burns: These are they that I have in my hand. If I 
had known you wanted them you could have had them.

Mr. Griffin: Mr. Donaghy asked for them back and we hand­ 
ed them back.

Mr. Burns: There is nothing to it, my learned friend can 
have access to the papers any time he wants them.

Mr. Griffin: I have asked for access through every means in

10

20

30
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my power and I propose to tender the letters I have written in the RECORD 
hope of getting them. In the meantime— British Columbia

Mr. Burns: Pardon me, before that passes, these papers Admiralty &"• 
now referred to by my learned friend are all papers that he asked Proceedings at 
for. I was only directing attention to the papers produced by Mr. Trial. Swan. (Comd.)

Mr. Griffin: In respect to them particularly, they are the 
plaintiff's papers written on behalf of the plaintiff by the plain­ 
tiff's agent and the plaintiff did not take the trouble to communi- 

1° cate with its agent and produce them on an affidavit.
The Court: I cannot go into these controversies with solic­ 

itors. There are the documents and you may do what you like 
with them.

Mr. Griffin: Very well, I would like the opportunity of per­ 
using them and I shall be glad to have them.

The Court: You made a specific request for the four applica­ 
tions.

Mr. Griffin: I asked for the application for the order of the 
24th of July, 1923.

20 Mr. Burns: As to that, my friend not only subpoenaed my­ 
self but the secretary of the Bridge Company and the subpoena 
011 the Secretary of the Bridge Company includes the four docu­ 
ments that he subpoenaed me for. Why that course was followed 
I do not know. At any rate I see no necessity for me answering 
the subpoena when my learned friend has subpoenaed the secre­ 
tary.

The Court: There was no necessity for it.
Mr. Burns: I simply bring that to the court's attention. So 

far as Mr. Ward is concerned he is here with such of the docu- 
30 ments as he can find.

The Court: He is the secretary?
Mr. Burns: Yes.
The Court: And has copies of the four applications?
Mr. Burns: Yes, he has what the company has, or I have, 

but besides that there are numerous other papers included in Mr. 
Ward's subpoena in addition to the four applications.

Mr. Griffin: Let him produce them now. It makes no differ­ 
ence to me which of the parties produces them.

Mr. Burns: Just a minute. With reference to some docu-
40 ments or some of the other documents covered by Mr. Ward's

subpoena, we of course propose to take the position that they are
inadmissible or irrelevant as they are brought forward by my
learned friend.

The Court: A little louder.
(Mr. Burns: There are a lot of papers covered by Mr. Ward's 

subpoena that we think are irrelevant along the line of what was 
bought to the court's attention before. I would suggest that Mr. 
Ward be called to answer the subpoena.
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RECORD The Court: A subpoena duces tecum.
British Columbia Mr. Burns: Yes.
Admiraityj)ist. The Court: And you say that he,is here with some docu-
Proceedings at ments.
Trial. Mr. Burns: Such documents as he has been able to find. He 

(Contd.) has a large number of them here. Some of them we propose to 
contest that they are not relevant to this issue.

Mr. Griffin: I ask to have produced now without further 
discussion the,other documents, the four applications for the Rail­ 
way Board orders. There is no question that they are produeable 10 
for inspection, and my submission is that if I wish to put them in, 
they become relevant and the order in a case of this kind is equally 
relevant. I therefore ask for the production of those four docu­ 
ments now.

The Court: Could you segregate these now ?
Mr. Burns: Yes, it is the documents other than these appli­ 

cations that we propose to object to.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Burns: My submission is that a subpoena duces tecum 

is an order calling upon the recipient of it to bring the documents 20 
into court. It does not include a right to the other side to inspec­ 
tion except when delivered in court.

The Court: The documents are brought into court and the 
question of whether they are receivable evidence is another thing.

Mr. Burns: Yes, in view of the fact that Mr. Ward's sub­ 
poena covers four applications in respect of the subpoena which 
was served on him I would suggest that Mr. Ward be called. As 
they go on there will be certain objections, but in view of the fact 
that my learned friend has subpoenaed me, the solicitor of the 
company, and the secretary of the company as well, I would ask 30 
that the documentts be produced by the secretary.

The Court: That is the proper person, and you say that 
these four documents are here. You had better let Mr. Griffin 
see them.

Mr. Griffin: That is all I have asked.
Mr. Burns: Then these are produced to the court.
Mr. Griffin: It should be directed that they are produced 

for my inspection for the moment.
Mr. Burns: That is where I quarrel with you.
Mr. Griffin: Produce to me the first one. 40
Mr. Burns: I think, my lord, I would ask that Mr. Ward be 

called under his subpoena. I can deal with this matter.
The Court: It is not necessary. You see, Mr. Griffin, he 

produces them. Is he here?
Mr. Burns: Yes. I submit it is not a proper course for 

counsel to be made the subject of a subpoena in these circum­ 
stances. I am referring to what my learned friend is asking for 
now.
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The Court: If Ward is here just tell him to come forward RECORD 
and bring these four documents in his hands and tender them. British~c^iumbi*

Mr. Griffin: I am not asking him to tender them, I am ask- ^g"Va/<> Dist- 
ing for production to see if I want to put them in. I did not Proceedings at 
summon my learned friend as counsel, I summoned him as the Trial, 
solicitor of the company in whose actual possession these docu- (Contd.) 
ments were, because as I understood the position they were applied 
for by him and as he was very strict about notice to produce and I 
was not going to give him the opportunity of saying that the right 

10 party was not summoned.
The Court: Mr. Burns' position is the right one. He says 

that the proper officer is the secretary and he received a subpoena 
to produce documents before the court and he produces the person 
subpoenaed with the documents. What do you want?

Mr. Griffin: The application of the 24th of July, 1923, to 
be produced, the application for the Railway Board order.

Mr. Ward: There is a letter here dated the 27th of June.
Mr. Griffin: Is that the document I asked for?
Mr. Ward: I have no means of identifying the date. 

20 Mr. Donaghy: I submit that if he is going to be questioned 
he will have to be sworn.

The Court: Yes, if there are any questions asked he must 
be sworn.

Mr. Griffin: Do you produce the documents I ask for ?
Mr. Ward: This document is not identified by the date you 

give me. I cannot produce it.
Mr. Griffin: Then I ask my learned friend to take steps to 

identify it.
The Court: What is the difficulty now? Can you pick out 

30 one document you have there in answer to the subpoena ?
Mr. Ward: Yes, my lord, this first letter gives the numbers 

of the first two Railway Board orders mentioned in the subpoena 
as referring to that.

The Court: This is your copy of it 1
Mr. Ward: This is my copy.
The Court: You did not ask for the original ? 

; Mr. Griffin: No. He would only have what he has here.
The Court: That would be with the Railway Board. 

, Mr. Griffin: You produce this document ? 
40 Mr. Ward: Yes.

Mr. Griffin: Then I want to have a look at it.
(Document produced.)
Mr. Griffin: Then I will tender that document, my lord. It 

is a letter to the Board of Railway Commissioners by P. Ward, 
Secretary of the Plaintiff Company, dated the 27th of June, 1923.

The Court: The 27th of June.
Mr. Griffin: 1923. Will I read it, my lord ?
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RECORD The Court: Yes.
British Columbia
Mmir^rDisi. (LETTER READ AND MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 50.) 
Proceedings at Mr. Griffin. j would ask fOP the production of tthe applica-

(Contd.) tion for the order of *he 30th of Jul7» 1923» No. 33950.
Mr. Ward: It is not in my possession.
Mr. Griffin: Then I would ask for the application for the 

order of the 31st of July, 1923, No. 33962.
Mr. Ward: That is not in my possession so far as I can 

identify it. There are other applications here, but I cannot identi­ 
fy them with those numbers. 1°

Mr. Griffin: My lord, the only comment I make on these, it 
is quite plain that these documents ought to have been produced on 
the affidavit. We ought to have had a chance to see them and I 
want to make it plain that I desire to place a protest on the record 
in regard to that because our case has been ineffectually presented 
by the lack of production. Now, I will go into some other docu­ 
ments. Have you got the minute book of the plaintiff company?

Mr. Burns: That, my lord, we object to producing. This 
has been before the court before at which time it was ruled out on 
the ground of irrelevancy. 20

The Court: Yes, what is the relevancy of that ?
Mr. Burns: I desire to inspect the minute book. The evi­ 

dence indicates that there were directors' meetings dealing with 
the proposal of building the bridge, that tenders were received; 
the price in the tenders, and the change of plans from time to 
time, beginning away back in 1911 and carrying straight through 
and carrying radical changes in the plan from the swing to the 
bascule in the month of April, 1923. I desire to see the book and 
the arrangements the plaintiffs made in regard to that change.

The Court: Objection sustained. 30
Mr. Griffin: I desire to see any plans or proposed changes 

in the bridge across the Second Narrows that the plaintiff has.
Mr. Burns: We are willing to produce these, but the virtue 

and relevancy of this we do not agree with. (Produces). That 
happens to be a set of plans named by a man named Turner who 
did it out of his own free will and there was never any attention 
paid to it or anything else.

Mr. Griffin: My lord, I will tender that document also. This 
is a plan, a general plan of the Second Narrows Bridge submitted 
by the Western Foundation Company and C. A. P. Turner, to- 40 
tether with specifications.

The Court: What is the object of this ?
Mr. Griffin: Showing the other alternative designs available 

for the bridge construction.
The Court: That is not relevant. There may be hundreds of 

different plans like these.
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Mr. Donaghy: I understand that he was a canvesser for the RECORD 
building of the bridge and voluntarily sent some prints to us. British Columbia

Mr. Griffin: My friend should not give evidence. Admiralty Dht.
The Court: There must be some limit to this, about these Proceedings at 

plans. Simply because 'any person voluntarily chooses to draw Trial, 
plans which they thought appropriate to the conditions there and (Comd.) 
voluntarily sent them to the company does not say that they are 
evidence here.

Mr. Griffin: There is no evidence that it was done voluntari- 
10 ly. I produce it from the custody of the party who had it.

The Court: Without any explanation that it has anything 
to do with the case.

Mr. Griffin: It is a plan of the location and it is in competi­ 
tion with the other ones.

The Court: Where is there anything to show that that was in 
competition.

Mr. Griffin: When I say that, it is one deemed to be an al­ 
ternative design produced from the same party.

The Court: It is only deemed to be so if you prove it to be so. 
20 Mr. Griffin: I have had no opportunity to see it before, and 

it has been my objection that it was not produced on the affidavit 
of documents so that I would be prepared with proper proof, and 
my position is that I tender it as a document produced from the 
custody of the plaintiff as being a design of a Second Narrows 
Bridge.

The Court: Objection sustained.
Mr. Burns: There are also other plans, a truss trunnion, 

cantilever swing, innumerable plans of the same character. I say 
innumerablej there are five or six of them.

30 Mr. Griffin: Here is another one that my friend produces, 
the Strouse trunnion bascule bridge proposed at the Second Nar­ 
rows for the Burrard Inlet Tunnel & Bridge Company and design­ 
ed by the Strouse—

The Court: You must not read that.
Mr,. Griffin: That is what it says on the plan.
The Court: You cannot read that into the evidence. It is 

not evidence at all.
JVtr. .Griffin: I must give enough of it to define the document.
The Court: You can look at it and tender it. 

40 Mr. Griffin: I now tender this because—
The Court: You have to tender it and then your learned 

friend has the right to tender his objection. You have no right 
to read anything from it.

Mr. Griffin: Here is a document produced from the defend­ 
ants and on its face it states that it is prepared for them.

Mr. Burns: I object on the ground of irrelevance, the same 
objection as before.
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(Contd.)

The Court: The same objection and the same ruling.
Mr. Burns: I admit to my learned friend that we looked into 

everything. It may be that the admission might cover his diffi­ 
culties.

Mr. Griffin: This that I now produce is also a bridge over 
the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet, produced by this witness 
and identified as the Strouse cantilever swing bridge. This is the 
Strouse people whose cantilever span is in the bridge as built. I 
tender this one.

Mr. Burns: The same position, too. 10
The Court: You tender this?
Mr. Burns: The same position, my lord.
The Court: Yes, the same objection, same ruling.
Mr. Griffin: Are there any more of these ?
Mr. Burns: There is some more.
Mr. Griffin: My learned friend then produces—
Mr. Donaghy: We do not, the witness does.
Mr, Griffin: Yes, the witness produces another Strouse trun­ 

nion bascule bridge over the Second Narrows, stated to be prepared 
for the plaintiff company. A different design and I tender this 20 
also.

Mr. Burns: The same objection, my lord.
The Court: The same ruling.
Mr. Griffin: Then I ask for any correspondence between the 

plaintiff and the engineer employed by them in reference to all the 
various plans, that is to say, to get the advice that the engineer 
supplied the plaintiff in respect of such plans which they had pre­ 
pared or were submitted to them.

Mr. Burns: We object to producing those on the ground of 
irrelevancy entirely. It is the same position exactly as looking 30 
into other plans and getting advice in connection with those plans.

The Court: Let me understand exactly what you wish, Mr. 
Griffin?

Mr. Griffin: I desire the correspondence if any between the 
plaintiff and their own or any other engineer discussing the plans 
which they had asked for from all sources, or even those if any 
tendered to them voluntarily in order, my lord,—for example, to 
give your lordship the assistance of knowing which of the various 
schemes thought to be by professional opinion feasible and prac­ 
tical in order that your lordship will have before you the basis of 40 
the decision as to whether or not the bridge as built is an obstruc­ 
tion to navigation. It seems to me that is a relevant and import­ 
ant thing.

The Court: Is this under the subpoena?
Mr. Griffin: Yes, it is merely a copy of the notice to produce 

that was given long previously. The notice to produce is the one 
referred to long before and therefore my friend had the request,
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and the subpoena was the culmination of the result of the refusal RECORD 
to observe the notice to produce. British Coiumbu 

The Court: You see that is a very broad demand because Admiralty &"*• 
with regard to a number, to begin with, a great number, a very Proceedings at 
large proportion of your demand in any event would not be, could Trial, 
not be given effect to because a large number of the plans to begin (Contd.) 
with had been ruled on and therefore were irrelevant, no proper 
foundation having been shown as to their relevancy and in such a 
case as that could not be accepted. It is difficult to know what you

10 want to give notice of, it is a very difficult thing to apply to.
Mr. Griffin: I appreciate that, but the notice to produce giv­ 

en on the llth of September asks it in the same words and the 
plaintiffs have made two affidavits of document not complete as I 
submit and the result is I cannot be more precise in my mind, not 
having the information to make the basis so I have to go on pre­ 
sumption. I must ask in general terms the effect of the profes­ 
sional advice they had obtained on the designs of the various bridg­ 
es they had considered. If for example in respect of one of these 
plans your lordship ruled out, if the plaintiffs in their turn had

?o taken advice from eminent engineers on it then the plan at once 
would become important, because right with the advice it would 
contain the basis of the proper decision by them as to what course 
they would pursue and therefore it makes the plan and letters at 
once relevant in view of your lordship's ruling. I will now form­ 
ally tender the two affidavits of the plaintiff, the first dated the 
28th day of July. 1928, and the second the llth of September, 1928, 
and the correspondence which has passed between us in my en­ 
deavor to get more fuller production.

The Court: You cannot put that on the record. You cannot
30 exhibit that.

Mr, Griffin: I can exhibit the correspondence in order to show 
the correspondence passed and the reasonable efforts made be­ 
tween solicitors to procure production and it will be necessary to 
tender the correspondence which I do as follows: Letter from 
defendant's solicitor—

Mr. Donaghy: I object to reading this into the record of 
the proceedings. If my friend thought he had not a proper affi­ 
davit of documents his place was to move, and there is no use argu­ 
ing it out by placing correspondence before your lordship.

40 The Court: I do not propose to deal with this, an interlocu­ 
tory matter now, I have heard of no precedent for it before. 
The rules provide that if a notice to produce is not complied with 
properly—what is the effect of it ? You know what the effect of it 
is in general—the other party cannot give it in evidence. You are 
proceeding as if it put them in an entirely different position. I 
think the rule is 357, not of our Supreme Court, but of the English 
High Court, to which the Admiralty Court practice resorts to if
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(Contd.)

10

RECORD there is no specific rule in the Admiralty Court, if I remember it 
British Columbia correctly for the moment. You seem to think that it gives you a 

wider right, but it does not.
Mr. Griffin: I think it gives me considerable right at the 

trial if it turns out, at the trial if it is evidence.
The Court: Let me know what you claim your rights are 

under that rule.
Mr. Griffin: The rule I desire you to impose—
The Court: Where is it, just cite it.
Mr. Griffin: I have no special rule, I do not mean the rules 

of court.
The Court: That is the point, you must have. You seem to 

think that by giving a large number of notices that you can place 
them in a position that I have not heard of opposing litigants be­ 
ing placed in. I want to know on what you rely.

Mr. Griffin: I tender the two affidavits and the correspon­ 
dence.

The Court: I say at this stage that it is not proper to have 
them produced here. If you felt that the rule had not been com­ 
plied with properly you should have applied beforehand and not 20 
leave it to the last moment.

Mr. Griffin: I now ask for the correspondence between the 
plaintiff and the Minister of Public Works in reference to P. C. 
718, the order-in-council of April 1923, meaning thereby corres­ 
pondence with the plaintiff direct, their agents in Vancouver, 
Burns & Walkem, and their agents in Ottawa, Mr. N. G. Guthrie.

Mr. Burns: We have no objection to producing that corres­ 
pondence, my lord. It is a large number of letters and there are a 
lot of detailed things covered by the correspondence. What bear­ 
ing it has we do not understand, because it is only the action of 30 
the different government departments we submit that is to be 
considered here, so far as our legal position, so far as the parties 
concerned, anything leading up to that, correspondence between 
the department and agents of the company we submit that it is 
not relevant.

The Court: Do you require to look at the correspondence to 
see what you wish to produce in evidence ?

Mr.. Griffin: That is all I am asking for the moment, the 
liberty of inspection of inspection.

The Court: And your learned friend is agreeable. 40
Mr. Griffin: Very well, let me have it for inspection.
(Witness produces).
Then I ask my learned friend to produce, if he has it, the 

plaintiff company's duplicate of the Northern Construction Com­ 
pany's plan showing the swing span. That document already is 
in evidence. It is the one produced by the clerk from the Land 
Registry Office, but under the Land Registry Act it has to go back
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to him and I was hoping my learned friends would find one in RECORD 
order to save the expense of having a tracing made. British Columbia

Mr. Ward: We have not got one. Admiralty Dht.
Mr. Griffin: If we can get one from the Northern Construe- Proceedings at 

tion Company it would save the copying. Trial.
Mr. Ward: Possibly. (Contd.)
Mr. Griffin: I ask in addition for the correspondence be­ 

tween the plaintiff and their solicitors and Mr. Swan, all of them 
acting on behalf of the plaintiff with the Department of Public 

io Works and the Railway Commission, either or both, in regard to 
the bridge that was really constructed.

Mr. Burns: I object to anything of that kind. The same 
remarks are applicable. The preliminary acts in connection with 
the construction of the bridge which are merged or absorbed in 
the final act of the Department.

Mr. Griffin: Is that all you produce, Mr. Ward, on that item ?
Mr. Ward: I would like to be clear on that. That is under 

item IS.
Mr. Griffin: 12. 

JO Mr. Ward: Yes, that is all I have.
Mr. Griffin: Then, No. 14, have you got the Northern Con­ 

struction Company's tender.
Mr. Ward: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Let me have a look at that.
(Document produced). If your lordship will bear with me 

While I glance through this. The document produced does not 
seem to be of great interest, except that it refers to the plan which 
accompanies it. I would like to have the plan produced.

Mr. Burns: So far as that is concerned I submit that tender 
80 is merged in the contract which was subsequently drawn and com­ 

pleted.
The Court: That is what I was thinking.
Mr. Griffin: I was not proposing to put the tender in. As 

I'thought, it referred, though, to a sketch plan.
Mr. Burns: The same remarks apply to the plan, because it 

is part and parcel of the tender.
Mr. Griffin: No, because the plan may or may not be the 

same as the one that went in the contract. I want to see what it 
is. I therefore ask for the production of that sketch. 

40 Mr. Burns: As a matter of fact, the plan is not covered by 
the subpoena to commence with.

Mr. Griffin: No, my learned friend, I was going to say, be­ 
ing unreasonably strict, but the suggestion that I must ask for 
documents I do not know the existence of when I ask for them, 
and they are tendered and it turns out that there is a plan, I sub­ 
mit that my request means both.

Mr. Burns: It is not part and parcel of the document we
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(Comd.)

are speaking of, and it is subject to the same remarks I made be- 
Columbia f ore, namely, that it is absorbed in the contract.

Mr. Griffin : I ask for it to be produced.
The Court: What is the object of it? It does seem to me 

that we are becoming submerged with a lot of things that are not 
really helpful.

Mr. Griffin : A lot of the documents I have discarded.
The Court : Were tenders called for publicly.
Mr. Griffin: I do not know.
The Court : When the contract came to be signed, of course, 10 

it was signed upon the plan annexed to it, or it referred to it.
Mr. Griffin : Yes, referred to but not annexed.
The Court : It is the same thing whether the plan is physi­ 

cally annexed or made a part of it. Of course, the contract could 
not be anything without a plan.

Mr. Griffin : I should have an opportunity of deciding as to 
what I wished to do with it.

The Court : You had better produce it if you have it.
I do not know where it is at the moment. I haveMr. Ward : 

not looked it up. 
Mr. Griffin: 
Mr. Ward: 
The Court : 
Mr. Griffin : 
The Court :

20
You have not looked that up? 

No.
Strictly speaking, is it in the notice ? 
That would be unknown to me. 
Of course, there is the difficulty. You did not 

know of the existence and now you are asking for the document. 
You say in one case the contract includes the plan referred to, 
and so it is the case in the tender.

Mr. Griffin: I want the original tender of these other com­ 
panies that made tenders for the construction of the bridge, such 30 
as the Dominion Bridge Company, Canadian Bridge Company, 
Western Foundation Company, American Iron Products, and 
what others there are, what other tenders there were.

Mr. Ward: I made a search until ten o'clock last night and 
I was unable to find anything of the kind.

Mr. Griffin: The agreement between the plaintiff and Mc- 
Clintock Marshall in the month of March, 1922.

Mr. Ward: Here is an unsigned draft of it.
Mr. Griffin: I want to see it
(Document produced). 40
Mr. Griffin: Thank you. I ask for the production of any 

work reports or progress reports of the construction of the bridge 
if there are any in the possession of the plaintiff.

The Court: To what does that apply?
Mr. Griffin : The only thing for the moment is to prove in a 

clear manner the date of the construction of each member, each 
pier or parcel of work.
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The Court: Is that material? RECORD
Mr. Griffin: It may become so. British
Mr. Donaghy: In what way? Admiralty
The Court: When it becomes material you can make the Proceedings at 

motion. It is not material now. Trial.
Mr. Griffin: The argument may develop that it is. In the (Contd.) 

conduct of my case I desire to prove that.
The Court: Quite true, if you propose to prove it. Do I 

understand you to say that you intend to do so. That is another 
10 matter.

Mr. Griffin; I intend to do so.
The Court: If you tell me as counsel that you attach some 

importance to these dates and the proving of these dates that is 
a different matter.

Mr. Griffin: That is what I have had to do ever since I 
called the witness Russell.

The Court: Quite clearly, you know.
Mr. Griffin: Perhaps you will reserve judgment upon that 

until the argument.
20 The Court: That is what I say, if you base it on something 

you can put in the evidence in the order you like.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, then I desire to get these dates.
Mr. Ward: Engineer's reports, engineer's progress esti­ 

mates. (Produces).
Mr. Griffin: Those are all the documents I have mentioned, 

unless there are some produced that I have not named. Those are 
all that I have expressly named.

Mr. Donaghy: Are you through with Mr. Ward?
Mr. Griffin: Yes, thank you. 

30 Mr. Donaghy: Very good.
Mr. Griffin: I desire for a few minutes to recall Mr. Muckle- 

ston on an observation made by Mr. Swan at the conclusion of his 
testimony.

Mr. Donaghy: I object to that.
The Court: Just see what it is.

HUGH MUCKLESTON, RecaUed, testified further as foUows: Defendant's
Case

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN: ——
Q. Mr. Muckleston, in the concluding portion of his testi- Recalled 

mony the witness A. D. Swan stated something to the effect as I Direct. 
40 remember it that the fill at the south end of the bridge had been 

constructed no further to the northward than was required for 
the completion of this work. I ask you whether you concur in 
that statement or if not in what respect you consider that state­ 
ment incorrect ?

Mr. Donaghy: I object to that, because in the examination
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RECORD Of this witness in chief by my learned friend he went into the di- 
Columbia mensions of the fill in every respect and went into the question of 
yDist. -where the trestle was built on it and followed it out on the plan, 

Defendant's and is simply bringing him back to confirm it. It is not anything 
Case new that was raised in the evidence of Mr. Swan. At any rate, 
H Muckieston recalli:nS tnis witness at this stage, at this point, I submit is the 
Direa eS °Q Defendant replying to my reply and it is something that is un- 

(Contd.) heard of. Mr. Swan's evidence was in reply to the defence which 
my learned friend was putting up and he is now calling this wit­ 
ness to reply to the reply. 10

Mr. Griffin: My memory is that it was in reply to one of 
your lordship's questions, you elicited that fact from Mr. Swan 
that had not been brought out before, it was a new idea and was 
not dealt with by me in the evidence.

The Court: Yes, that is so, you may ask the question. 
Mr. Griffin: Q. What do you say to that? A. I do not 

consider that the rock fill is an absolute necessity for the construc­ 
tion of that bridge.

Q. How, in your opinion, would anything otherwise serve 
the top fill, how would it be properly provided otherwise? A. 20 
Pier No. 5 might have been moved in to the low water mark, or 
even the high water mark, and the interval spanned by a truss. 

Q. When you say moved in, you mean extended. 
The Court: Give me that plan.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Your suggestion was to move pier 5 further 

to the south? A. Perhaps I had better say site pier 5 further to 
the south.

Q. Located further south? A. Yes.
Q. In line with the low water mark or even the high water 

mark and extending the span over it ? A. Yes. 30

H. Muckieston CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY: Cross-exam.
Q. Now, I think you told us from high water to the toe of

this fill was about 260 feet? A. High water to the pier 5, yes, 
about that.

Q. Yes, about 260 feet. Now, by lengthening the span that 
you proposed to lengthen and producing it further south you 
would then have a span of what length? A. Well, it would have 
been 75 feet to the low water mark. The original span would 
have been possibly 60 feet more.

Q. That would bring the span on your figures to 210 feet? 40 
A. In round figures.

Q. Yes. Now, have you looked into this very carefully be­ 
fore coming here to give this opinion as to the change? A. No.

Q. You have not looked into it carefully? A. I know the 
situation very well.

Q. Are you prepared as a professional man to state that
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this is a feasible and proper change. I want to know if you have RECORD 
prepared yourself before asking you my next question ? A. It British 
certainly is feasible.

Q. And you understand what it means, do you? A. Yes. Defendant's 
Q. Did you observe that there is a curve in that fill? A. C^e

- A , .,, J „ , . , , ,, ^ j H. Muddeston Q. And wiD you tell me how you are going to handle that Cross-exam.
span with a curve between the piers? A. Very easily. (Contd.)

Q. How? A. Exactly the same way as the bridge at New 
10 Westminster. There is a curve at the north end that is handled 

by a wide span or the span might have been located on the chord 
of the curve.

Q. You state that you are prepared to base your professional 
opinion on the proposition you made that you could produce this 
span. You made no mention of the curve. Had you forgotten alto­ 
gether the necessity of putting a curve on the span produced ? A. 
I knew it at the time. I said that you could put it on the low 
water or even the high water mark.

Q. It would have to be a curved span? A. No, the span 
20 would be straight, but it would be built on the chord of the curve.

Q. You are substituting this span for the trestle work ? A. 
Yes.

Q. And following the same line you would have to have a 
curve ? A. The span is not curved, the span is straight.

Q. But the trestle work is where you are producing the span 
and it takes in a curve, do you know that ? A. I know it. There 
are thousands of bridges built on curves.

Q. Now, have you made an estimate of what the cost would 
be of a produced span 210 feet to take care of the curvature ? A. 

30 The curvature does not add materially to the cost. The mere dif­ 
ference in length would increase the cost of the truss to double the 
cost of the 150-foot span.

Q. Could you tell me what the cost of the 150-foot span is ? 
A. I have not the figures.

Q. Have you no idea? A. I could make a rough guess.
Q. Make a rough guess? A. Of the 150-foot span?
Q. Yes? A. The truss would run to close $10,000 plus the 

floor system.
Q. And what is your total, $10,000? A. Double that. 

40 Q. About $20,000? A. Yes.
Q. It would cost that for the 150-foot span ? A. In round 

figures. That does not include the pier.
Q. What would be the cost of the span produced to 210 feet ? 

A. Possibly $40,000.
Q. That would be the total span? A. I think that would 

cover it.
Q. All right.
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RECORD Mr. Griffin : No further questions.
British Columbia The Court : Do you wish to ask anything more, Mr. Griffin? Atmifaityjust. Mr. Griffin : No, my lord.
Defendant's The Court: Q. Do I understand you to say that excludes 
Case the cost of the pier? A. I said that it did not include the cost of 

the pier.
Q- T11^ is what I said» excludes? A. Yes, the cost of the 

(Contd.) piers for the proposed difference would not be materially altered 
from what they are now.

Q, Now, you wish me to understand that you can build a 10 
span of 210 feet exclusive of piers for around $40,000 ? A. Around 
140,000.

Q. That is all. 
(Witness aside.)
Mr. Griffin: I tender one of .the documents produced by the 

Plaintiff, to wit, a letter from Mr. A. E. James, resident engineer, 
to Mr. Ward, Secretary of the Plaintiff Company, of the 14th of 
January, 1925. That will be exhibit what?

Mr. Burns: Pardon me a moment. I would like to see it. 
Mr. Griffin : It is one you produced. 20 
Mr. Burns : I know, there is no objection to it.

(LETTER READ AND MARKED EXHIBIT No. 51.)
Mr. Griffin : There is a further letter to the same effect dated 

the 19th of March, 1925, from James to Ward as before.

(LETTER READ AND MARKED EXHIBIT No. 52.)
Mr. Griffin : There is one document that I have not had time 

to peruse. We will have to take time to get that at a later date. 
I have one or two interrogatories in those administered to the 
Plaintiff. I will give the numbers. I need not read them for the 
moment. It will not be necessary. Nos. 1 and 2, 10 to 13, 15 to 30 
18, 19 to 22, 37 and 38. I will add also 31 to 34. That, my lord, is 
the case for the defence.

The Court : By that, I suppose you include the counterclaim 
also?

Mr. Griffin: That is also, of course, the Defendant's case on 
the counterclaim.

The Court: That is a different matter, if you wish addi­ 
tional evidence on the counter-claim, if you wish to open that that 
is a different thing.

Mr. Griffin: I understood all along the evidence was ad- 40 
dressed to the claim and the counterclaim at the same time.

Mr. Donaghy : Have you closed your case ?
Mr. Griffin: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy : Is it on the record that my friend says he has
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closed his case. RECORD 
The Court: Oh, yes. British Coiumbi 
Mr. Donaghy: Very good. I now call Mr. Donald Cameron. ^"""^ Dilt-

Plaintiff's
DONALD CAMERON, a witness on behalf of the Plaintiff, being Case 

first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIEECT EXAMINATION BY ME. DONAGHY:
Q. What is your profession, Mr. Cameron ? A. Civil engi­ 

neer.
Q. How many years experience? A. 56 years. 

10 Q. What positions have you held in British Columbia since 
coming here to practice? A. I was first engineer to the District 
of North Vancouver before it was divided up and after that I was 
in partnership with Mr. E. A. Cleveland in carrying out works in 
the city and vicinity.

Q. Before coming to Canada what and where had you had 
experience in your profession ? A. I had a good deal of experi­ 
ence after my apprenticeship in Scotland and then I was ap­ 
pointed City Engineer of the City of Exeter in Devonshire, and 
one of my duties as City Engineer was engineer to the port and 

20 the Exeter Ship Canal.
Q. Had you anything to do with constructing any bridges 

there ? A. The small bridges on the canal, renewals and instead 
of timber built them with steel.

Q. Now, had your firm any occasion to look into the question 
of a bridge across the Second Narrows about the time that the 
Wolf e-Barry plan was mooted. That is the plan that we have in 
here? A. Yes, it was at my suggestion, that is of my firm, Mr. 
Cleveland and myself that Sir John Wolf e-Barry was engaged on 
this work.

80 Q. And did your firm do any work in the way of carrying 
out observations or getting data regarding the site or proper lo­ 
cation for a bridge over the Second Narrows? A. Yes, I was 
principally concerned with the foundation part of it, the boring 
of it.

The Court: Q. The Wolfe-Barry plan was about what 
time? A. 1912-13.

The Court: 1912-13, yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Tell us what you did in regard to getting 

information as a professional man as to the proper place to put 
40 the bridge?

Mr. Griffin: My lord, I cannot see to what issue this is prop­ 
erly directed. Unless my friend indicates, I am entirely in the 
dark as to what issue he is proposing to now address expert testi­ 
mony to.

D. Cameron 
Direct. 

(Contd.)
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(Contd.)

Mr. Donaghy: I am glad to be able to assist my learned 
British Columbia friend in that. The defence set up by my learned friend as has 

been pointed on two occasions by your lordship, and myself, at 
paragraph 8, page 20, of the particulars, says that the opening 
in the bridge is in the wrong place and that the bridge was neg­ 
ligently constructed and that the design was wrong and many 
other things which I just forget right at the moment, but one I 
remember is that the open span is in the wrong place, and I am 
examining in regard to the channel and the course of navigation 
taken by ships would be proper investigation and data for this 10 
witness to speak of, if he knows.

The Court: To show that the bridge is properly constructed ? 
Mr. Donaghy: That it is in the proper place, that the open­ 

ing is in the proper place from an engineering standpoint. My 
friend is attacking that.

The Court: You may proceed.
Mr. Griffin: May I make my point. We are in a different 

position now. My friend is endeavouring to show that the bridge 
was properly constructed under the statute.

Mr. Donaghy: No, surely my friend is not letting his imag- 20 
ination run wild.

Mr. Griffin: There is no need of making observations about 
me like that, keep to the case. My friend's point is that the bridge 
was legally constructed, is of legal construction. Paragraph 8 is 
merely one of the different averments of legality, that is, he has 
exceeded any part he had. That was part of his case, and on that 
part of the case he called Mr. Swan and he gave testimony that 
the bridge was in a certain place, the correct place, and Mr. Swan 
was allowed to swear this in spite of my protests, of course allowed 
in by your lordship's ruling, and Mr. Swan did give testimony 30 
that this bascule span in his opinion was in the proper place. 
Therefore, that point was gone into in my learned friend's case 
in chief. It is the same point on the claim and the counterclaim; 
was the bridge properly constructed ? And my submission is that 
my learned friend cannot add to the case that he was making be­ 
fore. This is plainly set out in the transcript on the original day. 
I said that I could not be asked to go on and your lordship said:

"He has closed his case on what we will call seamanship, 
you see. There are two distinct branches to this case. There 
is one, of course, as to whether or no they have in any event 40 
conformed with the proper construction in accordance with 
the Act of Parliament—that is one thing. The other thing 
is an entirely different thing as to whether or no in the cir­ 
cumstances, however they arise, that it could be said you 
were guilty of bad navigation."

Whether it conformed with the Act of Parliament is another way 
of saying, was the bridge properly constructed if they put no im-
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D. Cameron 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

pediments greater than necessary, it is not authorized. Then the RECORD 
matter goes on:

"Mr. Griffin: He therefore has proceeded with all the 
evidence that he has on all points, reserving the liberty that 
your lordship gave him to apply for the adjournment that he 
thought fit later on; but in the meantime he has to give all his 
evidence.

The Court: Wait now. We will just see. Have you any 
other evidence, Mr. Donaghy, now? Have you any evidence 

10 except Mr. Swan's that you wish to bring? 
Mr. Donaghy: No other witness. 
The Court: That is what I meant. 
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, that is right.
The Court: Now, Mr. Griffin, that simplifies it a great 

deal.
Mr. Donaghy: The only other witness. 
Mr. Griffin: The only other witness ? 
Mr. Donaghy: Yes."

I go on. And I have it clearly in mind that there will be no 
20 witnesses but Swan to be attempted to be called later. My submis­ 

sion is that that applies to evidence of all kind, on both the claim 
and counter-claim.

The Court: What pages are you referring to ? 
Mr. Griffin: Pages 81 to 83,1 read those passages. 
The Court: I notice on page 82 a strange error in the tran­ 

script.
"That simplifies it a great deal and it does seem—I think we 
have got this far in this matter—of really very great import­ 
ance as it is to the public and the bar."

30 "Bar," of course, should be "parties." Make a note of that, 
Mr. Stenographer, thai) is not the public and the "bar." It 
is the "parties." I see how the mistake could arise, the 
and "bar." The meanings are entirely distinct.

Mr. Griffin: I want to emphasize this, I never would have 
consented to go on, to allowing my learned friend to call Mr. Swan 
afterwards if I had not been, as I thought, absolutely sure that no 
other witnesses were to be called at a later stage.

The Court: What dp you say to that, Mr. Donaghy ? You 
see Mr. Griffin's position is that upon this point as to whether or 

40 not you are from page 81 and my observations there, your com­ 
pany, the Plaintiff company, has conformed to the proper con­ 
struction in accordance with the Act of Parliament. I understood 
you to say there alone Mr. Swan was going to be called on that.

Mr. Donaghy: We have it clearly set out on page 78, about 
line 15.

The Court: Yes.

"par"
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Mr. Donaghy: Where I say:
"My lord, there remains the proof to be brought forward that 
this bridge has been constructed in accordance with these 
plans and so on. That I had proposed to prove by the evi­ 
dence of Mr. Swan. That I shall not attempt to have any 
other engineer go over it because it would be a very lengthy 
and expensive matter, of course, to follow that out.

"The Court: I understand then what you mean is that 
what we will call the evidence, the facts, apart from the actual 
manner in which the bridge was constructed is concluded." 10 

This is on my case in chief.
'' The Court: You now propose to show that you did per­ 

form, you did erect this bridge in conformity to the plan.
"Mr. Donaghy: Yes, and the engineer is the one who 

can do that.
"The Court: Yes.
"Mr. Donaghy: Now, there is one other thing, my lord, 

that I wish to mention and reserve—"
And thjen I deal with the question of the orders-in-council. That 
is what I said that I was not calling witnesses on as to whether the 20 
bridge was built in conformity with the plans. I submitted Mr. 
Swan's examination to that and I dropped him at that, explaining 
at the time that I would be free to recall him in reply. Now, this 
whole matter was re-argued when I presented Mr. Swan in reply 
and we had the ruling on that from your lordship and my friend 
read the same extract. The position which my friend is submit­ 
ting at the present time is that I gave an undertaking that I was 
not going to call any witnesses at all in defence and that sort of 
thing. There is not anything to bear out any suggestion of that 
kind. It is very clear what I was saying. I was speaking on my 30 
case and on the question of whether the bridge was built in accord­ 
ance with the plans or not. Mr. Swan was the man to say that and 
I stated that I would not call any other engineer on that point and 
that is all that I did ask him when he came here in support of my 
case in chief and I quit at that Now, my friend goes on and 
mixes the thing up from there on and says that I agreed that I 
would not call any evidence in answer to what he sets up on the 
counter-claim and defence and that we undertook that we would 
not have any witnesses on any subject at all. This matter has 
been proceeding. It is the same thing that I examined Mr. Swan 40 
on yesterday in reply to the defence as to the matters set up in 
their defence that this bridge apart from the plans, that the plan 
of it, and the whole thing is in the wrong place and the wrong 
situation and that the plans are wrong. That is a different ques­ 
tion from proving that we conformed with the plans. The first 
question I asked Mr. Swan was, "You heard the evidence as to 
the plans for the bridge and the location where the plans put the
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bascule are found in order." I propose to go into that subject RECORD 
with this witness as I did with Mr. Swan. It is a straight reply British coiumb 
to the defence raised in paragraph 8 of the defence. Mmhdt, DJH.

Mr. Griffin: My learned friend seems to feel that we are to Plaintiff's 
be governed by what he has stated on page 78. I submit that that Case 
is essentially an unjust way to read the testimony. It is import- D c^"ron 
ant, because it is explanatory of it and that is where he got the Direct, 
chance to make it definitive, and it is boiled down on that account (Contd.) 
to a dangerous alternative. I go on with my two questions, sea- 

10 manship and regularity of construction, a statement which ap­ 
pears on page 79 partly and pages 81 and 82 and finally winds up 
at pages 86 and 87, the bottom of page 86 your lordship wound up 
the discussion in these words:

"Possibly there is this solution of it, it is only documentary
evidence, any witness or witnesses is not open to them at all."
The Court: You read from where ?
Mr. Griffin: The bottom of page 86.
Mr. Donaghy: Read the connection, it is dealing with the 

orders in council.
20 The Court: You must remember, Mr. Griffin, we were not 

considering paragraph 8 at all at that time.
Mr. Griffin: I submit that we were in the sense that we were 

discussing what your lordship very accurately stated the position 
to be on page 81, at the top of the page. That is exactly what I 
am now submitting. There are two issues.

The Court: It now becomes apparent in the progress of the 
case that there are more than that, there is at least, if not four 
issues, that is the point.

Mr. Griffin: They are really subordinary issues under the 
30 main issue.

The Court: You have made three very distinct issues unless 
you choose to abandon one. You have raised three issues. In the 
first place you say your navigation was good and that you are not 
responsible in any event whatever. That is something on which 
you have given a large body of evidence and it is not open to Mr. 
Donaghy to go into that, that is to say, upon that question as to 
whether in going through that bridge you exercised prudent care 
in a competent manner. That is not open, and I understand that 
you do not want to go into that. 

40 Mr. Donaghy: No, I am not attempting to.
The Court: That is Mr. Griffin's first point and the second 

point is as to whether or no as a matter of fact this bridge was 
constructed in accordance with the plans and the Act of Parlia­ 
ment and the plans approved thereunder. That is the second one 
and with regard to that I understand you have given a large 
amount of evidence and called several witnesses to show the varia­ 
tion from the plans as approved by the parliamentary tribunal;
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you say there was no authorization for the details of the varia- 
Columbia tions. In answer to that, Mr. Donaghy said the only person he 

proposed to call to show the construction was in accordance with 
the Act of Parliament was Mr. Swan and he has said so, and he 
now says that he has no further evidence on that. You have then a 
third point which is equally important. You say that in any event 
this constitutes an obstruction to navigation apart from the ques­ 
tion as to whether or no it was built in accordance with the plans. 
Of course, if you say that you put nothing on that basis Mr. Don­ 
aghy will not have to call the evidence.

Mr. Griffin: I do not say so.
The Court : I assumed you would not. I make this observa­ 

tion because my remarks that there were two distinct branches 
of the case were entirely appropriate at that time. Since then you 
have put forward another reason which is a strong position and I 
do not understand that you wish to recede from the position you 
have assumed. That is distinct from the other two and on that 
Mr. Donaghy wishes to call evidence. On what ground can I pre­ 
vent him doing so ? If I were to do so it would mean a new trial.

Mr. Griffin : Then I had better state my view.
The Court : You have. You have gone upon the wrong as­ 

sumption that there were two branches whereas there are three. 
I say for the third time if you wish to clarify the situation and 
say that you are satisfied to rest upon the two branches then I 
will tell Mr. Donaghy that it is not necessary to go into this. I 
do not think that you wish to do that.

Mr. Griffin : I have already said twice that I do not.
The Court : On this third ground on which Mr. Donaghy has 

not given evidence and to which my remarks were never at that 
time directed it would be a legal impossibility to rule that he was 
not entitled to bring forward his evidence. A new trial would be 
granted at once.

Mr. Griffin : Then I understand this what you call the third 
point is merely a branch of the question of the legality of the con­ 
struction and is covered by the ruling, and my friend having 
stated at pages 81, 82, 83 and following it up at 85 and 86 that no 
other witnesses are to be called, I do not mean on mere points of 
fact, I am addressing myself to experts on bridge construction, 
and that no experts are to be called except Mr. Swan and on that 
I stand.

The Court : It is perfectly clear that you are entitled to call 
witnesses and proceed upon the ground I have indicated, the third 
ground. Mr. Griffin may style -it a subsidiary one. Nevertheless 
it is one of great importance and on that evidence must be admit­ 
ted in your defence as well as his attack. Confine yourself to that.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes.
Q. Mr. Cameron, the contention has been put forward in

20

30

40
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this case that the bascule opening in the Second Narrows Bridge RECORD 
is too far to the south. Can you assist his lordship with any in- British 
formation on that subject, or with your views on that subject? 
A. All I can say about that, Mr. Donaghy, is this, that so long as Plaintiffs 
there is sufficient sea room for a ship to straighten up to take the 
passage in the bridge and so long there is sufficient water in the 
open span to prevent the ships at all stages of the tide to prevent 
the ships dragging the bottom.

The Court: Q. Try and speak clear. Your voice is not 
10 quite as clear as it might be. There are so many colds at this sea­ 

son of the year. These gentlemen are entitled to hear as much as 
anybody else.

A. So long as there is sufficient water in the draw span to 
allow the ships to pass without losing steerage way I know of no 
compelling reason why it should be in midchannel.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, at the time you said you made your 
observations—

The Court: Q. How did you express that exactly? You
said so long as there is water at all times and so long there is a

20 sufficient opportunity for proper approach, is that what you said ?
A. Yes, so long as a ship can get in the position of straightening
up to take the passage in the bridge.

Q. You mean also at all stages of the tide ? A. Yes.
Q. You speak both as to the lining up and as to the depth of 

the water? A. Yes.
Q. Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, in your study of the situation in 

1912 and 1913 what did you find that would lead to the justifica­ 
tion of placing the bascule span where it is ? A. It is a difficult 

30 engineering problem to span the Narrows anywhere as the rock 
does not extend further out than midchannel. It is at that point 
the brow of the escarpment or secondary escarpment went with 
a very deep erosion from midchannel north. At low water on the 
north shore the drill did not touch rock at 160 feet down and the 
main reason for putting the open span towards the south was to 
get a good solid foundation. Apart from that, one of Sir John 
Wolfe-Barry's partners who came out to study the situation and 
prepare the layout, he consulted several of the master mariners 
here. 

40 Mr. Griffin: Your lordship is not going to hear that.
The Court: No, you must govern yourself.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. You need not go into that. That is not 

allowable. Did you yourself make any observations regarding the 
practice of mariners navigating there at that time ?

Mr. Griffin: Surely that is a mere question of navigation and 
could not be directed to anything else.

Mr. Donaghy: It is a question of where the channel is and



604

RECORD

Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiff's 
Case
D. Cameron 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

to

not a question of negligence with your ship.
British Columbia Mr. Griffin: It is merely suggesting that the navigation is 

on the south shore and that had nothing to do with the bridge con­ 
struction.

The Court: It is on the issue of the bridge interfering with 
navigation. How can we find out what the impediments to navi­ 
gation are unless we know what the navigation ought to be.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. What did you learn from the observa­ 
tions that you took that navigators took, or their practice at that 
time when you made enquiries and observations?

Mr. Griffin: I submit that my learned friend has no right 
to ask about enquiries.

Mr. Donaghy: Strike that out, when he made enquiries. A. 
I was in one large boat through at that time, but I found—

Mr. Griffin: I cannot hear you. I am sorry.
A. But I always found that boats navigating the channel 

always kept to the south shore.
The Court: Q. TThen you say always. An vmi mean inwards 

or outward bound? A. Pardon?
Q. You told counsel that boats navigating the channel always 

kept to the south shore, do you mean inward and outward bound ? 
A. Both inward and outward.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, Mr. Cameron, I turn to another 

subject. Evidence has been given here of a northward or a nor­ 
therly current setting from the south shore northerly through the 
bascule and also east of the bascule. I ask you whether or not you 
have made any tests to ascertain whether that contention that has 
been set up regarding the northerly current is correct or not ? A. 
I have made only a surface examination, that is, by surface floats. 
The dominant current in the channel is at the deepest part and 
that is more parallel to the north shore than to the south, west of 
the bridge. There is a bay on the south side and the current com­ 
ing up through the bay and around the bay tends to join the domi­ 
nant or main current that is in the middle of the channel and 
therefore you have got a tendency to the north up to where they 
join the strong current in the deep part of the channel.

Q. Now, what experiments did you make and when ? What 
tests did you make? A. East of the bridge the tests were made 
to try and find out what current other than those showing on the 40 
surface existed in the Narrows.

Q. When did you make the test or tests? A. A test was 
made on the 1st of September, last.

Q. What did you do? A. As the tide currents at that time 
were similar to those on the 10th of March, 1927.

Q. Go ahead and tell his lordship what you did? A. I tested 
the currents by using floats, submerged floats.

30
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(ComA)

Q. Will you describe them? A. At different depths, 25 RECORD 
feet, 20 feet, 15, 10 and 5 feet. They were made of batons and the British Columbia 
end of the float was upright in the water. These batons were put AJmiral'y 
down a quarter mile east of the bridge in midchannel about forty Plaintiff's 
minutes before the time of slack water. Case

The Court: Q. High or low? A. Low slack.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. How many feet north of the 5 fathom 

line were they put down? A. They were put between the two, 
the ten fathom line in midchannel. That was the first trial with 

10 floats and they came down the channel in regular order and passed 
tnrough the south half of the 300-foot span, that is, north of 
pier 2.

Q. You put them in midchannel and they passed west under 
the bridge just north of pier 2 ? A. Yes.

Q. All right. A. Four of them were then picked up and 
put down about one-third of the distance of the width of the chan­ 
nel from the south shore, that is, 300 feet from the south side of 
the narrows.

Q. You mean from the shore line ? A. From the shore line, 
20 from the low water line.

Q. How far east of the bridge? A. A quarter of a mile, 
1320 feet or abreast of the water works on the north shore.

Q. All right. A. These came down the channel, the three 
of them almost in perfect alignment, or straight, as if put down 
by a transit, without moving north and south, and passed through 
the bascule span close to pier 2. The shallow float; there was a 
slight breeze blowing across the channel and it affected the shallow 
float more than the other, because it passed on the opposite side of 
the pier to the deep float. The first float was in midchannel at 40 

30 minutes from the time of low water and the current had a velocity 
of 3% knots. On the second trial out in the middle of the chan­ 
nel the current velocity was S1/^ knots.

The Court : What was that first velocity ? A. The velocity 
of the current on the outgoing tide?

Q. Yes, what was that? A. 31/2 knots.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. The first floats you sent out were what 

velocity? A. The first floats in midchannel were at the rate of 
3% knots.

Q. Did you make another test? A. Yes, that was the aver- 
40 age velocity over the course. Objection might be taken to the form 

of floats first used, that is a rigid baton and I had other floats pre­ 
pared.

Q. I show you some others. Are these the kind you had pre­ 
pared? A. Yes.

Q. On the second test ? A. Yes, these are loaded at the bot­ 
tom and are attached by a cord to the surface float.

Mr. Donaghy: I tender one of these as an exhibit, as a 
sample.
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Q. Go on and explain what these are and how you used them ?
The Court: Q. What series of floats are these ?
A. These are the ones used on the 13th of September, on the 

second test.
Mr. Donaghy: These are a little different from the first test. 

A. Yes.
Q. What was the first one? A. The first one was a solid 

baton about that size, a little thicker than that float upright in the 
water lodged at the other end.

Q. Then you had this new device. Why are they this pecu- 10 
liar shape ? A. In order to catch the current in all directions.

Q. How did you use this thing? Just the top of that floats 
in the water ? A. This is the top. This is the one that I used on 
the 13th of September.

Q. Instead of the one we were marking, you find that what 
you really used on the 13th of September is the one you have there 
now ? A. Without this part.

Q. Take it off. Now, we will have this marked. This is 
really what you used in the test on the 13th September ? A. Yes, 
the rate of the tide on that day— 20

(FLOAT REFERRED TO MARKED EXHIBIT No. 53.)
Q. How did you get them down?
The Court: State the tide first, low water slack or high? A. 

The range of the tide on the 13th of September was 8.1, instead 
of 8.7.

Q. But the state of the tide when you put these floats out? 
A. I was going to describe that, my lord. It was at low water 
also.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, describe how you used these? A. 
This is the surface float and this is the weight, and this cord it 30 
takes the real float. This is only to support the real float which 
is this part.

Q. The part with the iron ring attached to it ? A. Yes.
Q. To the depth of the cord? A. Yes, 25 feet, 20,15,10 and 

5 feet.
Q. That is to say, you had five floats like these ? A. Yes.
Q. Of 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25 feet respectively? A. Yes.
Q. Did you put them all in the water? A. They were put 

in the water this time east of the eastern most line of the water 
mains, about 1,550 feet east of the bridge. The trial trip of the 40 
floats, they were placed by preliminary arranged signals with the 
bridge operator in the position that steamers take when approach­ 
ing the bridge.

Q. Approximately how far north of the high water mark on 
the south bank? A. I did not take that. I went by the signal of 
the operator.
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Q. Who is the operator ? A. I am not sure now. RECORD
Q. The location that you took in the channel was what the British Columbia 

operator indicated to you? A. Yes. Admiralty oist.
Q. He was standing on the bascule bridge? A. Yes, and Plaintiffs 

these travelled down in the channel in the same way as the pre- c*86 
vious floats all passing under the bascule span. D Cameron

The Court: Q. You say they all passed under the bascule Direct, 
span? A. Yes. (Contd.)

The Court: Mr. Donaghy, please ask him how they were 
10 placed, whether he placed them in line that way across the cur­ 

rent or with the current.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, just state how you placed them? A. 

The tug was placed in the position indicated by the operator and 
the floats were put in the water this time at half minute intervals 
and there was a space of 100 feet between each of them as they 
passed down the channel.

Q. It would be about the average length of a large ship then ? 
A. Yes.

Q. That gave you a 500-foot line of floats ? A. Yes. 
20 Q. In line, one after another ? A. Yes.

Q. Like a ship coming lengthwise? A. Yes.
Q. I see the point. A. They were picked up and owing to 

some difficulty in picking them up they were put in only eighteen 
minutes off low water.

Q. What happened to this line of floats ? A. They passed 
through the bascule span and out west.

Q. Keeping their alignment or dispersed? A. Practically 
keeping their alignment.

Q. That is what I want to be quite sure of. Yes. A. The 
30 next time they were put down in the same position and it was 

within 18 minutes of the time of slack water low.
Q. Before ? A. Before, and they travelled down in the same 

way giving no indication whatever of any undertow, or cross-cur­ 
rent in the channel. As I would expect to be the case in a narrow, 
deep channel it would be inconceivable that there should be cross­ 
currents.

Mr. Griffin: Well- 
Mr. Donaghy: You are just telling of your experiments.
Q. When next did you make a test ? 

40 Mr. Griffin: I wish to have that struck out.
The Court: Oh, yes, strike it out.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. When was your next test made ? A. I 

should say the velocity of the current shown by these floats was at 
the rate of 2.18, 2^ knots as the speed of the outgoing tide within 
18 minutes of the time of slack water.

Q. Very good. Now, your next test? A. The next test was 
on the 20th of October.
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Q. Explain that. A. If my lord would show me that plan 
there.

The Court: Yes. He is looking at exhibit 27.
A. The cords were lengthened five feet in each case.
Q. The what? A. The cords of the floats, so as to give 

thirty feet instead of 25 and so on up to ten feet. One of the 
floats, the deep float, was placed close to the pier and the next float 10 
was placed in the middle and the other was placed at the south 
end of the open span.

Q. How far to the east of the bridge did you place these 
floats ? A. Right under the bridge.

Q. You mean under the face of it, or the centre of it? A. 
Under the sidewalk of it.

Q. That would be the east front of it? A. Yes.
Q. Under the east front of the bridge? A, Yes.
Q. And across it? A. And across it. The other two were 

placed in the span and near the north pier, and the other— 20
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Near pier 4-A? A. And the other in 

the middle of the span.
The Copt: Yes.
A. This was done as the flood tide began to make and each of 

the floats had attached to them lamps.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. You now produce the kind of float you 

used on this occasion? A. Yes.
Q. Very good. We shall have this marked as the next ex­ 

hibit.

(FLOAT REFERRED TO MARKED EXHIBIT No. 54.) 30
The Witness: Standing on the bridge I was able to watch 

the progress of the floats and they all travelled east in a parallel 
line. The deep float went as far east I think as a quarter of a 
mile east and so did the others, but the southernmost float along 
the south shore at 200 or 250 feet grounded on the south shore.

The Court: Q. What was the depth of that one? A. That 
was a ten foot one and there it remained.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, the others which did not ground, 
how far easterly did they go as you observed? A. I think they 
went a quarter of a mile east. The morning was very dark, my 40 
lord.

Q. Did you then pick them out of the water ? A. They were 
then picked out of the water.

Q. As a result of this did you see anything to indicate a 
northerly cross-current from the south shore ? A. No indication
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Q. At the time you made this last test what was the state of British Columbia 

the tide when you started the floats going? A. We waited until ^»"^£>»<- 
the flood tide began to make, to show a ripple on the piers. Plaintiff's

The Court: Q. When you picked them up. Case__
Mr. Donaghy: When he started the floats. D c"â on
The Court: I understood him to say the tide was beginning Djrect 

to make when he started the floats. Is that right? (Comd.)
The Witness: Yes.

10 Mr. Donaghy: Q. Have you told us what sort of a tide that 
was, what sort of a run out there had been? A. I think the range 
of it was 8.6 or 8.7 or in the region of 8 feet.

Q. Of a run out? A. Yes.
Q. Who assisted you in these tests? A. One of my sons 

assisted me and the boat man.
Q. Now, turning to the question of this fill at the south end 

of the bridge, have you considered that? A. Yes, I watched it 
from low water to—

Mr. Griffin: That is a straight engineering question and has 
20 nothing to do with this matter now.

The Court: It is the same thing, it is one of the principal 
points if not the principal one, the improper placing of the rock 
fill at that place which is part of the construction of the bridge, 
and as to whether it is an impediment to navigation.

Mr. Griffin: That should have been closed up with Mr. 
Swan's testimony, I submit.

The Court: The same ruling.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Go ahead? A. I watched its effect upon

the tide from low water to high water springs. At high water that
30 day there was a lot of oil on the surface of the water and I could

trace the effect of the fill out for a distance of 30 feet from the
front of the fill.

Q. What stage was the tide at then ? A. High water. The 
stream line circled the fill and then went straight up the channel.

The Court: Q. Did you say what the depth of the water 
was at the toe ? A. At the front of the fill.

Q. You mean the front edge of the fill? A. The rounded 
edge of the fill as high as the tide came.

Q. Exactly. A. There is a bay on the east of the bridge in- 
40 side of the fill and the flood tide turned this bay into a whirlpool. 

It was filled with wood, debris, and some of them circling around 
would be caught by the current and carried in and back again, but 
some of them were sufficiently caught to be carried right up the 
south shore of the inlet.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Do you know what the height of that 
tide was when you made the observation? A. I think it was a 
12-foot tide.
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Q. What effect if any did you see this fill had upon the cur­ 
rent at that time ? A. That is the only effect I could see of divert­ 
ing the current. The current simply swept around the fill and 
went straight up the channel. From my observations I am quite 
satisfied that no stream line at that time would go across even the 
land span of the bridge. The stream line went straight up the 
channel and the only effect at that time I thought it had upon the 
current under the bridge was to increase the velocity of the cur­ 
rent, but considering what that increase would be I found it to be 
negligible, because it would be the sectional area without the fill 10 
and the sectional area with the fill. The difference would be so 
small that in the inverse ratio it would be almost negligible. At 
that time I was not aware of the ditching carried out on the north 
shore that offset the reduction in the area of the channel caused 
by the fill.

Q. Did you take in this fill at low water? A. It was not 
affected at low water.

Q. You made that observation and found that? A. Yes, 
but it gives this impression, the kelp, long streamers of kelp just 
east of the fill and the swirling whirlpool leaves the kelp stream- 20 
ers; they lie at right angles just inside the nose of the fill and lie 
at right angles to the current going past and give the impression 
that the current must also go in that direction.

Q. Now, did you make observations at the fill between low 
water and the change to high water ? A. Yes, I have watched it, 
but I did not pay so much attention to that as to the extreme effect 
it had on the tide.

Q. At high and low? A. High and low.
The Court: Q. Just repeat that answer. I was writing 

something down? A. That I made— 30
Q. You said you were not paying so much attention to what, 

as to something else? A. To the half tide effect.
Q. You were not paying so much attention to the half tide 

effect ? A. As to the extreme, the high water effect and low water 
effect.

Q. Yes?
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, from your observations, how far 

northerly from the line of the water on the south shore did the 
fill at any time appear to deflect the water ? A. A distance out of 
thirty feet. 40

Q. From the shore? A. From the shore of the fill and I 
felt at the time that must be the extent of the fill if the line seemed 
to cease at the toe of the fill.

Q. That is, the deflection of the water off the shore line at the 
fill seemed to extend out thirty feet from the shore? A. It is not 
a case of deflecting it, but there is an action takes place, a stream 
line throughout at different directions from the fill.
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The Court: Just one minute. 
Mr. Donaghy: Your witness. 
The Court: Would you prefer to go on now?

There are only ten minutes. I cannot do much.
As you like.

RECORD
British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

10

Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin: 

notes.
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court:

Plaintiff's 
Case

I would just as soon adjourn and make some D carneron
Direct.

Would it be better to adjourn now or— (Contd.) 
I am in your lordship's hand. 
Proceed.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY ME. GRIFFIN:
Q. Wouldn't it have been reasonable to notify the other par­ 

ties of these experiments so that they could observe them? A. 
Well, I did not consider that as part of my duty, Mr. Griffin.

Q. Now, that the matter has come up do you not think it 
would have been reasonable to allow somebody representing the 
ship to see those experiments and take part in them? A. Yes, I 
think it is right, but it did not occur to me at the time.

Q. In other words, it would avoid asking any questions as 
20 to the conditions that then existed ? A. As to the conditions ?

Q. It would avoid having to ask anything about conditions ? 
A. Yes.

Q. And to see that your recollection of this matter was ac­ 
curate? A. Yes.

Q. What was sunk in the water with these weights, is this 
it? A. Yes.

Q. The wooden part was sunk? A. Yes.
Q. And the top thing is this wooden float ? A. Yes.
Q. Now, you were yourself, as you said, a member of the firm 

30 of Cleveland & Cameron? A. Yes.
Q. And you submitted a plan for the bridge yourself, didn't 

you, your firm either alone or in conjunction with Sir John Wolfe- 
Barry ? A. Yes.

Q. Which did you do, submit one by your firm or in conjunc­ 
tion with Sir John Wolf e-Barry ? A. The lay-out was made by 
an engineer in Sir John Wolf e-Barry's firm.

Q. Had you then the subject before him? A. No, I don't 
think he prepared the lay-out then. I had previously prepared 
the lay-out when I was engineer of the district, but that was long 40 ago.

Q. What year was that? A. That would be 1909 or 1908-9.
Q. Was that for a swing bridge or a bascule? A. It was 

swing span.
Q. Was it in substantially the same place as in the sketch, or 

in Sir John Wolf e-Barry's plan? A. Oh, yes.

D. Cameron 
Cross-exam.
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Q. Who was that sketch submitted to, if anybody? A. It 
British Columbia was used when a deputation went over from North Vancouver Mu- 

aicipaiitv to meet the cabinet at Victoria.
Q. Did you have any sketch plan prepared before you ad- 

aged the calling in of Sir John Wolf e-Barry ? A. No.
Q. I take it that this large exhibit 21 is his design ? A. Yes.
Q. Was it concurred in by your firm ? A. Yes.
Q. And approved of by your firm ? A. Yes.
Q. And I take it therefore your view is that it was thorough­ 

ly feasible? A. Feasible? 10
Q. Yes? A. Yes.
Q. And a tender was made upon it, was it not ? A. Yes.
Q. Was that tender accepted? A. No, no, the cost was too 

great.
Q. The cost was about 2^4 million ? A. No, more than that, 

at least 2% millions, did you say?
Q. I thought it was 21/4 millions. A. I think it was over 3 

millions.
Q. The only information I have on it was out of the North 

Shore Press, the famous North Shore Press that I have quoted 20 
before. I want to see if you agree with me. Oh, I see these are 
later modifications.

The Court: Perhaps it would be better to give you a little 
more time. It is so near the time of adjourning now. We will 
adjourn.

(12.55 P.M. COURT WAS THEREUPON ADJOURNED 
UNTIL 2.15 P.M.)

(2.23 P.M. COURT RESUMED PURSUANT TO AD­ 
JOURNMENT.)

DONALD CAMERON, resumed stand. 30

CONTINUATION OF CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. 
GRIFFIN:

Q. Mr. Cameron, I take it that you do not claim to be a navi­ 
gator, do you? A. I beg your pardon?

Q. You are not yourself a navigator? A. No, I am only an 
amateur in the matter.

Q. Now, I gather from the navigation point of view the im­ 
portant thing is the size of the opening and its breadth ? A. The 
opening of—

Q. The draw opening and its place? A. No doubt. 40
Q. And the question as to what would be a reasonable 

breadth and a reasonable place would depend upon these follow-
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ing considerations; the currents to be expected, the winds to be ex­ 
pected— A. What to be expected?

Q. The currents which would be expected? A. Yes.
Q. The winds which one must expect, the size of the ship to 

navigate the opening, and the speed at which they must approach 
that opening ? A. Yes.

Q. Those are, I think, a reasonable statement of the naviga­ 
tion bases, are they not, so far as you yourself know? A. Yes, 
limiting the wind, of course, because it is a very sheltered place 

10 in the Narrows, the Second Narrows.
Q. I was not suggesting that the wind was of importance, 

but I take it in general it must be thought of, for what force there 
might be ? A. Yes.

Q. So, eliminating the wind, we have the currents, the size 
and the speed of the vessel? A. Yes, and the handling of the 
vessel, of course.

Q. I take it you will agree with me that a wider space ought 
to be provided if the current is severe ? A. Take a 60-foot beam 
ship, that would be a 400-foot ship, say, and when it is in the draw, 

20 take the width of this room to be 36 feet, she would have a space 
on each side of her 12 feet wider than this room, between each side 
of the pier.

Q. I was not really going into for the moment the details of 
that. I only want you to concur with me as a basis, if there is a 
current in the place to be navigated you need more space than if 
there is no current ? A. Yes, I agree with that.

Q. And if the current is irregular the same would be true? 
A. He must know what he is doing. The master mariner or the 
pilot must be the master of the situation. He must understand 

30 what he is doing.
Q. In deciding what space he needs an irregular flow of cur­ 

rent is an element to be taken into consideration, is it not? A. 
Yes, it is very much more important still as an estimate of the tide 
he is riding.

Q. I am not trying to argue with you, I am only trying to get 
out certain facts. I say if cross-currents are to be expected then 
you need more space to be reasonably safe, do you not ? A. Yes, 
that is a self-evident proposition.

Q. Yes, and if the time of the slack water is very short— A. 
40 On the low slack?

Q. No, what I only said to you is this: If the time of the 
slack water is very short then in the same way you need more 
space, because you must go through with some tide with you or 
against you, is that right? A. Yes.

Q. Then you will agree that if the vessels are restricted to 
a short time at slack water they are severely impeded for the bal­ 
ance of the daily period? A. I do not know that ships should
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rely upon slack water. As an amateur, if you allow me, if I had 
to take a passage at the bridge, I would wait until there was an 
adverse current and that would give me steering power.

Q. I think you are not quite reasonable to me there. I did 
not ask that. What I asked was a very much simpler question, 
that insofar as the vessels cannot navigate other than at slack 
water, or thereabouts, the balance of the day to them is an impedi­ 
ment, is it not ? A. No doubt.

Q. Now, if it be given in evidence, as to which I will not ask 
you, but if it be proved in the evidence that the time left for the 10 
navigation of big ships at this bridge is confinued to the periods at 
slack water then they are confined to, at the most, four periods 
per day? A. Yes.

Q. And if two of those cannot be used on account of dark­ 
ness that leaves only two periods per day, does it not ? A. Yes.

Q. So far as those navigators are concerned the bridge to 
them is a great impediment the balance of the day.

The Court: You might tell him what is meant by big ships.
A. Unless they used searchlights.
Mr. Griffin; I ask so far as they are limited to two periods 20 

a day? A. I agree with that, unless they use searchlights and 
take the passage at night.

Q. I take it that you will be prepared to agree that the con­ 
sidered opinion of experienced navigators would be the right test 
as to whether they could navigate at night or not ? A. No doubt.

Q. And also therefore the time at each slack water when a 
man can safely navigate that draw is a matter to be properly de­ 
termined on the evidence of experienced navigators ? A. Yes, 
of experienced navigators, yes, experienced in such waters as we 
have here. 30

Q. I mean experienced with conditions there? A. Experi­ 
enced in—not altogether a blue water captain, but a man accus­ 
tomed to narrow waters like we have on this coast.

Q. We mean the same thing by the word experienced, no 
doubt? A. Yes.

Q. Now, another consideration would be this, if as a matter 
of fact it were established that the approach to the navigable draw 
is itself dangerous that would be an element in deciding whether 
the opening is in a reasonable place, would it not 1 A. Undoubt­ 
edly. 40

Q. And on that again we must rely not upon engineers, I 
suppose, but upon navigators, is that right? A. Yes.

The Court: Of course, you have suggested that to several 
witnesses, you know, but I do not think the court can be restricted 
to what he says.

Mr. Griffin: No, but I would be entitled to the benefit of it 
so far as it goes.



615

The Court : It is a peculiar question, it is asking him to say RECORD 
what this court will be guided by. I understand he has some re- British 
luctance doing that. Mmif

Mr. Griffin : I do not want to press it. Plaintiffs
The Court : If it is of any use you may proceed.
Mr. Griffin : I would like to have his opinion.
A. Will you repeat the question, please.
Q. If in the opinion of experienced navigators the approach (Contd.) 

to a certain place is dangerous that should be a powerful argument 
10 in deciding whether it is reasonable ? A. Undoubtedly.

Q. Speaking in general a bridge opening ought to be in the 
channel, should it not? A. Yes, but while I may not realize the 
difficulty of a navigator, I do know the difficulties of an engineer 
and they have, although they may count for very little in your 
estimation, they have their difficulties as well as the mariner, and 
this is one of them.

Q. If you would realize I am for the moment engaged in a
matter which involves the interests of the mariner and I am not
inviting you to express any opinion of an engineering kind, but

20 to give your opinion on a navigation question upon which you
were the first to volunteer it. A. On general principles.

Q. On general principles an opening in the channel would 
be the best ? A. Undoubtedly.

Q. And as you know the rule of the road — do you not ? A. 
I do.

Q. Therefore, one in the middle would be the best? A. I 
do not know that it applies in this case altogether.

Q. Very well, leave that to the judge if the rule of the road 
does apply then one in the middle would be the proper place ? A. 

30 In any case there would be no two ships in the draw at the one 
time.

Q. You are arguing with me now? A. Pardon?
Q. As a matter of fact, a bridge engineer with nothing to 

guide you but the rule of the road you would put the opening in 
the middle ? A. I do not understand why you say that.

Q. If the other considerations were the same would you not 
put your opening in the middle? A. Yes, if it is feasible to do 
it that is the place.

Q. That is all that I want you to agree with? A. But the 
40 feasibility is the difficulty.

Q. Now, there is a certain amount of irregularity in the 
current created by approaching the shore of the Second Narrows, 
is there not ? A. From the west ?

Q. Either way, I am speaking generally, as you approach 
the shore of an irregular body of water you get irregularities in 
the current? A. Well, it is very different on both sides of the 
bridge. If you would select one side I could answer you.



616

RECORD
British Columbia 
Admiralty Dilt.

Plaintiff's 
Case

D. Cameron 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)

Q. I will confine it to the more obvious side, the eastern 
side? A. The eastern side the current I think is most regular.

Q. Where ? A. On the ebb, I mean.
Q. I asked you about the shore. You want to answer in a 

way that I think you are not answering my question so much, but 
you are answering to what you think I am leading to. I mean this, 
the shore of the Narrows though having a general straight direc­ 
tion, it is not of itself regular? A. No, the shores are like the 
ordinary foreshore in such a place as the narrows.

Q. Therefore, I take it you agree that the thread of the 10 
maximum current is more or less in the centre? A. Yes.

Q. And as you approach the shore you get a certain irregu­ 
larity caused by the contour of that shore? A. If sufficient to 
cause an eddy or return current, yes, but if it is not sufficient it 
makes no difference.

Q. Every bend in the shore will when the current is run­ 
ning throw a little thread of current out towards the centre, will 
it not ? A. I have not observed that in the Narrows.

Q. You have not? A. No.
Q. Then it would not be correct that a ship approaching the 20 

south shore at an angle would find any tendency to be thrown out? 
A. If the tide is following her?

Q. Yes? A. Oh, yes.
Q. Why? A. Because of the following current streaming 

down through the Narrows.
Q. That is to say, the configuration of the ground would 

cause a sideways movement of the vessel ? A. I don't say the con­ 
figuration of the ground before the bridge was there, I have in 
my mind's eye, I remember the picture of the ebb tide in the Nar­ 
rows. It came out smoothly and regularly from one end to the 30 
other, and I have never noticed an eddying current off shore. I 
surveyed the narrows as that map will show you.

Q. You surveyed it in conjunction with Mr. Hermon? A. 
Yes.

Q. Do you not agree with me that in approaching the shore 
in not exactly a smooth surface, that it does or does not create ir­ 
regularities in the current? A. I don't think so, because the 
main current is drawing towards itself from the side. If the speed 
of these currents at different points across were plotted, you 
would find that they form a bullet-nosed shape curve and the cen- *o 
tre currents are drawing the other currents after it.

Q. That is all that I meant. Very frequently we agree. It 
comes down to this then, there is a drawing of the current from 
the sides to the centre? A. Yes.

Q. To that extent there is a filament of current towards the 
centre ? A. Yes, if the sides are more irregular, more than they 
are sufficient to cause an eddying current then what you are say-
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ing would be true. RECORD
Q. You have agreed with me on other occasions known to British Columbi 

yourself that there are whirls in the current east of the Narrows ? Admiralty Diit- 
A. I know that there are to the west, but I never saw them to the Plaintiff's 
east. I may not have noticed. There may have been there, but on Case 
the west side there is some evidence, no one passing through could D cameron 
fail to see them. That is on the ebb. Cross-exam.

Q. On the ebb there is a marked counter clock-wise current (Contd.) 
to the west of the bridge ? A. Yes, where the ebb current through 

10 the Narrows strikes the dead water in the bay to the south.
Q. It creates a current circling in the bay or bight to the 

west of the narrows on the south shore? A. Yes.
Q. And that swings across the entrance to the Narrows to a 

certain extent? A. Yes, to a certain extent.
Q. Wait a minute. We will go on with that ? A. I should 

say to the middle of the Narrows.
Q. I did not know that it went that far or not, because the 

tide turns as the flood begins that eddy drifts up the narrows to 
the eastward? A. That eddy so far as my observations go is 

20 spilled.
Q. Would you like to say the observations of others who 

have observed it that it runs up to the south shore is not correct ? 
A. No, I am not saying that.

Q. You to a limited extent in preparing the first plan pro­ 
vided for an opening as near the centre, as you could, did you 
not? A. Yes.

Q. And in fact if you wish to scale this off you may do so.
I have it done two or three times. The north span in the Wolf e-
Barry plans is 110 feet north of the No. 2 pier of the bridge as

30 constructed, is that not correct? A. I never tried it. I suppose
it is correct.

Q. Would you like to check those figures. I take them on 
advice from others. I am advised that they are at least 110 feet. 
A. Yes, that is probably so. At the same time these conditions 
were imposed upon us by the Department of Marine and Fisher­ 
ies.

Q. In fact, if you had your own way you would have de­ 
signed a bridge with the span right in the middle of the regular 
ship channel? A. No, further in-shore. 

40 Q. Still further in-shpre? A. Yes.
Q. Anyway, the Dominion Bridge Company followed your 

view or Sir John Wolfe-Barry's substantially? A. Yes.
Q. And so did the Canadian Bridge Company? A. Yes.
Q. Their plan is in? A. Yes.
Q. The Dominion Bridge Company's is not, but I will show 

you that now to see if you agree. You might please look at that
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RECORD plan. You will probably remember it ? A. This is the same lay- 
tisb Columbia out practically. 

Admiraiiyj3ist. Q j^ js exactly the same, or a modification probably of the 
Plaintiffs Wolfe-Barry plan? A. Very slightly.
Case Q. I am not advising you that I know of any difference my­ 

self. I do not.
I will tender that as another design, my lord.

D. Cameron 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)
(PLAN REFERRED TO MARKED EXHIBIT No. 55.)
Q. So that evidently all these three companies were at one 

in putting the opening as far to the north as they could with the 10 
instructions which they had received ? A. Of course, this way—

Q. Please answer my question and then you can go on with 
your explanation. You really were not listening to my question, 
evidently. I said all these three companies were at one in this one 
respect, that they were getting this opening as far to the north as 
they could with the means at their disposal ? A. Yes, they were 
at one with Sir John Wolfe-Barry's representative.

Q. I take it therefore that swing bridges were the popular 
idea among the engineers in designing at that time ? A. And so it 
is yet. 20

Q. Therefore this bascule idea is not in your opinion the 
best? A. Did you say it was not?

Q. I say in view of the fact that you evidently recommended 
the swing I take it is obvious you prefer that to this bascule type ? 
A. Their representative preferred it and I agreed with him.

Q. Why not say then that you do prefer the swing type? 
A. I would prefer it, yes.

Q. And that type provides for an opening which I think you 
can safely take from me on that point, if you do not remember 
them, running between 220 to 260 feet? A. Sir John Wolfe- 30 
Barry's bridge?

Q. I think the largest one is 260 feet? A. On the square 
of the channel 225 feet.

Q. 225 feet on the square of the channel? A. Yes.
Q. But an actual opening of 259 feet? A. The bridge 

opening is 249 or 250.
Q. And on the square of the channel 225 feet ? A. Yes.
Q. That is considerably more than the bascule that you 

have today? A. As I mentioned that was imposed on us by the 
Department. 40

Q. And therefore you accepted something to which your 
mind as an engineer did not agree? A. Pardon?

Q. You therefore accepted from the Department a restric­ 
tion you did not approve of ? A. You accept that from the De­ 
partment in a different spirit.
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Q. I think you agree with me that you accepted it from 
the Department with reluctance? A. Yes, we thought that it 
was an effort to block the building of a bridge, for that swing 
bridge would be ten feet longer than any bridge built up to that 
time.

. Mr. Donaghy: I do not know whether I understand the wit­ 
ness as to what he said was imposed. Was it the bascule or this 
other swing span. I am not clear on it.

The Court: Q. You said the bascule span? A. No, no, 
10 the opening, the size of the opening.

Q. That is what you meant, the present— A. The width 
of the opening.

Q. The present size? A. Yes, not the bascule.
The Court: Clear that up, Mr. Griffin.
Mr. Griffin: Q. When you speak of something being im­ 

posed on you— A. I meant the condition as to the width of the 
opening to allow for the passage of ships.

Q. Which one are you referring to? Which plan? A. Sir 
John Wolfe-Barry's plan, or the Canadian Bridge Company, 

20 which is the same thing.
Q. You say that that was imposed upon you by the Depart­ 

ment? A. Yes.
Q. So that you really did not approve of that? A. Well, 

we did not approve of them, but we accepted the situation, the ex­ 
pense was very great.

Q. We will turn for a moment to another type. I suppose 
this lift type of bridge is quite feasible? A. That is more ob­ 
jectionable than the bascule.

Q. Answer the question. It is quite feasible? A. It is un- 
30 mechanical to begin with.

Q. Please answer the question, it can be built? A. It can 
be built, but as I say it isn't feasible.

Q. I am not going to shut you off, first answer the question. 
Give me the courtesy of an answer to my question and then I will 
give you the opportunity of adding anything you wish in the in­ 
terest of the bridge company. I do not wish to shut you off, but 
I do think that you ought to give me the politeness of an answer 
to my own question. I said the lift span idea is quite feasible? 
A. Yes.

40 Q. And Dr. Waddell is an engineer of great experience and 
standing. He was, was he not? A. Yes.

Q. I do not want—if there is any doubt about it, you know, 
and I don't. Was he not one of the leading bridge engineers of the 
world in 1914 ? A. I believe he was.

Q. So that his project would be prima facie feasible and 
practical? A. It is feasible, certainly it is feasible, because there 
is one such a bridge.

RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiffs 
Case

D. Cameron 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)
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RECORD Q. There are many that I am told? A. Probably, I know British Columbia of one only.
Q t An(j jf that one is unsatisfactory — well, I won't go into

Plaintiffs 
Case

D. Cameron 
Cross-exam. 

(ContA)

that. They can be substantially any reasonable height ? A. 200 feet? Yes.
Q. Say 175 to 200 feet? A. Yes.
Q. And it may be within reasonable limits almost any breadth, up to 400 feet ? A. Yes, I suppose so.
Q. One of 300 feet breadth is clearly a very practical thing to make ? A. Yes. 10Q. And one of the height of 135 feet clearly is within the realms of practical bridge building? A. 135 feet height.
Q. Yes? A. They would not have that.
Q. Answer my question and leave the argument to the law­ yers. That would be quite practical to build? A. No doubt.
Q. Then I will raise the ante, at 150 feet it is still practical? A. Yes.
Q. And at 175, the limit given by Dr. Waddell, we are still within the realms of practical bridge building? A. Yes, I do not know what the mariners would have to say to all this. 20Q. There you are again, showing a disposition to argue the matter, a matter that could be left to the lawyers. Now, then, such a bridge — may I have the exhibit, the other one? A. I know what it is.
Q. The bridge as designed by Dr. Waddell, the design of which the evidence involves piers less costly than the one central pier of Sir John Wolfe-Barry's plan, does it not? A. I don't think that is possible.
Q. I will just go over the point with you. The pier for such a lift span, the piers are in water less deep for example, than the 30 one which you had concurred in placing on the Wolf e-Barry plan ? A. Yes.
Q. And they are of much less depth, also, than the No. 2 pier of the bridge as actually built? A. Yes.
Q. And therefore they are to be built under conditions very much less costly ? A. Less costly, not very much.
Q. I will leave out the very much, less costly? A. Yes.
Q. And the condition of the foundations is practically the same as those concerning the bridge as built? A. Except that they are larger, of course. 40Q. Except that they would have to be larger? A. Yes.Q. That means larger in area? A. Yes.
Q. They would not have to be as high? A. No.
Q. Because the Wolfe-Barry plan had the highest piers of any? A. Yes.
Q. It involved a clearance of 45 feet above high water? 

A. Yes.
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Q. And that itself is considerable extra cost? A. Yes. RECORD 
Q. And involves, of course, a higher structure, and wider British Columbia 

and stronger piers? A. Yes.
Q. Now, then, from this little discussion it is apparent that Plaintiff's 

a bridge built either upon Dr. Waddell's design or upon that of Case __ 
Sir John Wolfe-Barry would impede navigation less than one ~tbuilt upon the bascule design actually adopted? A. Yes, before cross-exam. 
you pass from the cost of it — (Contd.)

Q. Answer that question first and I will go back to the cost ? 
10 A. There are the towers to be considered.

Q. Answer my question first ?
Mr, Burns : He said yes, but we must do this —
Mr. Griffin: Q. You agree what I said about the impedi­ 

ment to navigation? A. Yes.
Q. I will give you a chance as I said to add anything you like 

in the interest of the Plaintiff ? A. You said it was less costly, 
and the piers and swing in the bridge are more costly. They have 
to have high towers and that has to be considered.

Q. That is not as high. That is not what I asked you. I sub- 
20 mit you are really adding something about towers which has noth­ 

ing to do with the piers? A. They are on top of them.
Q. I know they are, and the bridges in many ways are dif­ 

ferent, the suggestion of Sir John Wolfe-Barry is for a bridge 
carrying two lines of railway? A. Yes.

Q. And Dr. Waddell's is the same? A. Yes.
Q. Whereas the bridge built carries one only? A. Yes.
Q. And either of the other two designs would be adapted 

to that extent, wouldn't they? A. Yes.
Q. You say the dominant current in the Second Narrows is 

30 more parallel to the north shore than to the south ? A. Yes.
Q. Therefore it is not parallel to the south shore ? A. No, 

but is more parallel to the dominant or main current in the deep­ 
est part of the channel.

Q. You said the dominant current was more parallel to the 
north shore than to the south? A. Yes.

Q. And that dominant channel is substatially amidchannel? 
A. It is nearer to the north shore west of the bridge than to the 
middle.

Q. That is a slight difference ? A. Yes.
4U Q. And you agreed in your examination in chief, according to 

my notes, that the contour of the south shore west of the bridge 
leads to or inclines to a cross-current at the entrance of the Nar­ 
rows ? A. I would not call it a cross-current.

Q. What difference does it make. It is the set of the cur­ 
rent to the north. A. It is a current, it is like the neck of a bottle, 
going to the middle.

Q. And that point where it strikes the neck of the bottle is
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RECORD where the two cross-currents meet in the middle? A. No, the 
British Columbia currents are not streaming across each other. Whenever they 

come to the main mouth of the channel they turn into the main 
channel. They curve before they come to the mouth of the chan- 
nel, before coming to the bridge.

Q' ^u* on *ne main basis proposition that the bay to the 
south creates a sweep of the tide along that bay northerly and east- 
erly — that is true, is it not ? A. From my observations the cur­ 
vature is very small.

Q. You have not heard the evidence, have you? A. No, I 10 
have not.

Q. The evidence of many navigators have been given to the 
effect — I am now showing you the admiralty chart, exhibit No. 7, 
and I indicate this bay to the south ? A. Yes.

Q. Is there not a sweep of the tide along this shore northerly 
and easterly? A. Bun your finger along the narrows there. Be­ 
fore that, yes, there are the Narrows.

Q. You assert that it runs closer to the south shore than I 
think ? A. The lay-out runs parallel to the south shore and then 
in the channel. 20

Q. You agree anything that increases the northerly set is at 
least undesirable ? A. Undoubtedly if they are there at that time 
and it is —

Q. Do not argue. You have that dreadful spirit of argu­ 
ing. I ask you as a witness whether it would be undesirable ? A. 
Yes, certainly.

Q. Now, then, you agree that any filling or obstruction at 
that point will have that tendency ? A. To a certain extent, yes.

Q. That is all I said and you agree this one has that tend­ 
ency. You say that? A. Yes, so far, yes. 30

Q. And you saw it only on the surface? A. I saw it from 
low water to high.

Q. I said, you saw it only on the surface ? A. I saw it only 
on the surface.

Q. Correct? A. Yes.
Q. Now, I will put this to you if you could be assured, if your 

mind is in a state in which it could be assured by responsible 
people who had felt it, that it was there, that the cross-currents 
were there on many occasions and your mind was convinced they 
were there, what other cause would you suggest than the fill or 40 
point of land? A. If I did not consider they were mistaken I 
would be bound to accept that statement.

Q. And if you were a navigator and felt in your ship a sheer 
and a very pronounced force in the water taking your vessel to the 
north, would you or would you not conclude that it had come from 
some current in that point ? A. No, sir.

Q. Where would you think it came from as you approached
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this bridge from the east and felt the ship sheering. What cause RECORD 
would you attribute ? A. From the stern of the ship. British coiumbi

Q. How would it do that? A. The following tide. Admiralty £>»/.
Q. Supposing that you found it at every stage of the Nar- plaintiff's 

rows and otherwise, what would you say ? A. I would say then Case 
that such a current existed, but from my observations I would say D ĉ ton
no. Cross-exam.

Q. If I can get you in the position where you would be con- (Coned.) 
vinced of the existence there would be no doubt as to its cause ? 

10 A. I would be convinced against my will.
Q. I see that. That is palpable. I want to say— A. I 

would be bound to go by the best evidence.
Q. What was that ? A. I would be bound to go by the best 

evidence.
Q. The fill at least is the only physical source from which 

it could come, is it not? A. No.
Q. What other physical source? A. No other source that 

I know.
Q. Why not answer the question as put, that the fill is the 

20 only physical force ? A. Not to send it across the channel, sir.
Q. Now, these vessels that you saw navigating on the south 

shore of the Narrows before the bridge was there I take it those 
were the light passenger boats going up and down the Narrows ? 
A. That is so.

Q. I put it to you that they go east on the south shore to 
get the eddy that is there ? A. They go east on the south shore ?

Q. They did before the bridge, to take advantage of the 
eddies up that shore ? A. I do not know the reasons exactly. I 
don't think it is that.

30 Q. That would be a good and sensible reason, anyway? A. 
No, because the strength of the current near the shore is so much 
less than on the middle.

Q. I am speaking of a case of an ebb tide of considerable 
force in the middle or north side and an eddy east on the south 
side. If that condition did exist it explains the boats taking the 
south side? A. I was only speaking of them going against the 
tide.

Q. The same thing there, the tide is a little stronger there 
than further out? A. At the south shore.

40 Q. If the tide is running out in the middle it will be run- 
nig out on the south shore at least less strong? A. Yes.

Q. Therefore vessels stemming the tide would go to one side 
to get less of it? A. Yes.

Q. That explains their conduct if the tide is running out? 
A. Yes, that is on the adverse current.

Q. And if the tide was running out on the north shore and 
the middle and was in the form of eddies on the south shore that
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would furnish still a stronger reason ? A. Yes.
Q. And I suggest that is the real reason ? A. I do not think 

the conditions exist, sir.
Q. The other witnesses have dealt with it. You are aware 

of the fact of the bay to the west of the bridge on the south shore 
and that considerable recent work in the way of improvements 
have been installed, an elevator and a wharf and many things ? A. 
Yes.

Q. Those go to a certain extent to affect the current? A. 
Yes. 10

Q. Therefore, the conditions are not today the same as they 
were in March, 1927, are they? A. They should be easier.

Q. They would not be the same I said? A. No, not the 
same.

Q. It is a fact that there isn't any kelp on the north face of 
this fill? A. Pardon?

Q. It is a fact that there is not any kelp on the north face of 
this fill or only on the east and west faces ? A. The kelp is right; 
is outside, the kelp line is below low water.

Q. I ask is there any in the direction north from the end of 20 
the fill following the line of the bridge? A. Any kelp north?

Q. In a direction from the end of the fill following the line 
of the bridge, or is the kelp that you have been referring to east 
and west of the line of the bridge ? A. It is east of the line of the 
bridge.

Q. You took some experiments away back in 1923, didn't 
you, or thereabouts—1913 ? A. Yes.

Q. Did you not? A. I don't know whether I took any 
part in that. Mr. Cleveland took that.

Q. Your firm at that time? A. Yes. 30
Q. You engaged Mr. Maddison, the diver ? A. Yes.
Q. What is his first name ? A. I don't know his first name.
Q. Has he been in court during this trial ? A. He is in 

court now.
Q. Did he not find conditions there difficult to conduct his 

work in ? A. He reported, sir—
Mr. Donaghy: How can he say what the diver found. I 

propose to call the diver and I am going to ask him that?
Mr. Griffin: Then I will not bother any further with that. 

The court will deal with that then. I had better go on. Was not 40 
a wire set to enable him to do his work? A. A steel wire rope 
was stretched across.

Q. Your experiments recently that you took recently were on 
the 1st and 13th of September and 20th of October? A. The 1st 
and 13th and 20th, yes.

Q. If you want the tide table I will be glad if you have it. 
They are both in evidence, 1927 and 1928? A. I have only 1928.
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Q. Look at it for the purpose of verifying my question. Is RECORD 
is not a fact that on the 1st day of September low water slack in British Columbia 
the First Narrows was 11 minutes after low water slack in the Sec- Atfmirai>y &«• 
ond Narrows ? A. I cannot tell you. Plaintiffs 

Q. Please look? A. At the tide table ? Case 
Q. Yes, at low water slack in the First Narrows, it was 11 -— 

minutes after low water slack in the Second Narrows on that day? r; . J™nA A j>j. o ^ross-exam.A. After? (Comd.)
Q. After, yes. A. What page are you referring to? I 

10 have it here now.
Q. I have the figures right here and I will read them off to 

you. You can find them if you care to. Take the 1st of September ? 
A. The 1st of September?

Q. 1928? A. Yes.
Q. Just verify that fact. I do not want to extend the notes 

unreasonably? A. Slack is at 19.42. Slack on the 1st of Sep­ 
tember would be 19.36.

Q. Am I right that there is 11 minutes difference between 
the Second Narrows ? A. 6 minutes.

20 Q. 13.04 to 13.15 is 11 minutes? A. But wait a minute, 19.36 
and 19.42, that is 6 minutes, isn't it, 6 minutes later.

Q. My instructions are that it is more. We want to get this 
right? A. That is high water slack.

Q. I know. You have got 12.51, have you? A. 12.51, yes.
Q. Haven't you got to add 13 minutes to that ? A. Yes.
Q. What does that make it? A. 13.04.
Q. Now, then, take the other one, you will find it is 13.15, 

isn't it? A. That is the afternoon slack.
Q. No, we are getting the same tide ? A. Yes. 

30 Q. Isn't it 13.15? A. Just a second. That is low slack, 
yes, 13.15.

Q. Then I was right all the time, 11 minutes difference ? A. 
Yes, but we were talking of a different slack.

Q. Now, that we have straightened it out, there was a differ­ 
ence there of eleven minutes. We are talking of the same slack 
to which your experiments relate ? A. Yes.

Q. My proposition comes to be all right. There is 11 min­ 
utes difference ? A. Perfectly right.

Q. Then the proposition I began with, low slack at the First 
40 Narrows is 11 minutes after the Second? A. Yes.

Q. I want you to take the same question on the 13th, the 
same time that you were dealing with. We get a difference of 
15 minutes? A. 11.58 and 11.43.

Q. And that is 15 minutes ? A. The First Narrows is after.
Q. Fifteen minutes after, though? A. Yes.
Q. That is what I said. We are agreed that on the 13th of 

September the tide in question, low slack in the First Narrows
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occurred 15 minutes after low slack in the Second? A. Yes.
Q. Go over to the 20th of October and see if you do not find 

the same exact condition ? A. 3.45 to 4.01,
Q. 4.01 to 4.16? A. 4.16, yes. That is 15 minutes after.
Q. Therefore on all these three occasions to which your ex­ 

periments relate water was running out on the first occasion, on 
the first, eleven minutes, and the second two occasions for fifteen 
minutes after it had commenced to flood on the Second Narrows ? 
A. Yes, you would expect that.

Q. Now, then, take the 10th of March, 1927, and if the to 
learned registrar will give you the tide table for that year wjbich 
is in evidence—to save time there is another copy. Look it up, on 
that day, the 10th of March, 1927? A. 10.48.

Q. The next tide after that, the one at 18.22? A. 10.48 and—
Q. The times are 18.35 for the Second Narrows and 18.20 

for the First Narrows, aren't they? A. Low slack?
Q. That is correct. Now, the result of that was— A. 

Just a second, sir, 18.20.
Q. And 18.35 at the Second Narrows? A.' Yes. 20
Q. It follows from that one condition clearly on that day it 

was not the same as on the three days on which your experiments 
were taken? A. 18.33—

Q. 18.35 I am told? A. Yes, 18.35 and—
Q. 18.20? A. And 18.20, yes.
Q. So that on the occasion of the 10th of March low water 

slack in the First Narrows was 15 minutes before low water, slack 
in the Second ? A. No.

Q. 18.20 and 18.35, the difference between 20 and 35 is 15, 
is it not? A. Yes. 30

Q. And the low water slack in the First Narrows was the 
earlier of the two ? A. Yes.

Q. After that, you agree with me low water slack in the 
First Narrows was fifteen minutes before low water slack in the 
Second Narrows that day? A. Yes.

Q. Therefore the conditions are vastly different, whereas 
on the first of three occasions the water was flowing out of the 
First and Second Narrows at the same time and on the 10th of 
March it was flowing out of the Second Narrows and not flowing 
out of the First Narrows? A. I don't know. 40

Q. Isn't that obvious from those figures? A. Low tide?
Q. The tide had ceased to flow out on the 10th of March 15 

minutes before it ceased flowing in the Second Narrows, didn't 
it? A. Yes. .

Q. Therefore the tide was pouring into the central harbour 
from about, for fifteen minutes after it ceased to outflow in the 
First? A. Yes.
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Q. And the condition the other way on the three occasions 
you have referred to when the experiments were made was the 
case ? A. Yes.

Q. So that the conditions were not the same ? A. Not abso­ 
lutely the same, probably not.

Q. A difference of 30 minutes in the flow? A. 30 minutes?
Q. 15 on each side of the dividing line, is that not right? 

A. Yes, that is so.
Q. And putting it shortly the effect of that would be on the 

10 10th of March that the turn of the tide would be very rapid ? A. 
Probably that is so, yes.

Q. It is a fact, one of your floats on the 1st of September 
crossed right over from the position opposite the bascule span 
and went right out the 300-foot span? A. No.

Q. You said so.
Mr. Donaghy: No, you have that mixed. He started in the 

middle one of the channel east. They all went through the bascule 
except one of them which went out by the north pier.

Mr. Griffin: No, a direction different from that of the other 
20 one.

A. The first trial run, they were put down in the middle of 
the channel and went under the southern half of the 300-foot span. 
The second time—

Q. Never mind the second, on the first occasion, on the 1st 
of September, some of the floats went under the bascule, some 
went through the bascule and some under the 300-foot span? A. 
No, on the first one they went under the 300-foot span.

Q. If you said otherwise you were wrong and if I took it 
down, wrongly— A. Pardon?

80 Q. If you said otherwise you were wrong? A. Divide it by 
two.

Q. If your testimony is the other way on that point then 
you correct it? A. What I said on the first trial, they run in 
midchannel and all went under the 300-foot span, the southern half 
of it.

Q. If my memory is correct that you put it otherwise before 
you change it ? A. No, you are now referring to the second.

Q. No, I am not. All I want to do is to say that if it turns 
out that my recollection is correct, do you wish to change it ? A. 

40 There were two runnings on the 1st of September and what you 
are referring to is the second run.

Q. On the same day? A. Yes.
Q. I see, that is what you mean. Very well, I will not press 

that, because evidently I may have been wrong. Did you make 
any observations under the bridge at dead slack water— A. 
Again—

Q. Did you make any observations under the bridge at dead

RECORD
British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiffs 
Case

D. Cameron 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)



628

RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiffs 
Case

D. Cameron 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)

slack water ? A. As to seeing whether it was slack ?
Q. No, did you do any experimenting at the time when it 

was or appeared to be dead slack ? A. No.
Q. All right, thank you. Are you aware of the fact that 

there are over 300-foot spans in existence as I am instructed? A. 
I was not aware of that.

Q. You are not in a position to deny that ? A. No.
Q. And that the longest one of them is 468 feet ? A. That 

is quite probable, yes.
Q. I want to show you a letter written by yourself to the 10 

Plaintiff company on the 16th of March, 1912. Just look at that 
and just verify the letter and then I will ask you question that I 
want on it. All I want you to do for the moment is to verify if 
that is your letter. You can tell from the contents? A. Yes, 
1912, yes, I do not remember it.

Q. I am going to read out the passage I want and see if you 
agree with it. You speak of the subject of a high-level bridge 
having been abandoned? Whose suggestion was that? A. 1912?

Q. Yes ? A. I cannot recall Mr. Martin Griffin.
Q. Can you suggest any other suggestion of a high-level 20 

bridge than the one of Dr. Waddell's? A. No.
Q. You cannot think of any other ? A. No, I was not aware 

of that, at least, my memory does not carry me back to, it.
Q. Now, you then refer to this question: "That when it 

was demanded to make the open span 250 feet it became necessary 
to review the whole situation. An estimate of the cost of the in­ 
crease in the 50 feet of span was then made and found to be nearly 
$200,000 extra to that of the 200-foot span." Was that a true 
statement of the fact that the difference was something less than 
$200,000 to increase the span from 200 feet to 250 feet? A. My 30 
memory does not help me, Mr. Martin Griffin.

Q. Speaking from this letter am I entitled to take it it is 
true when this was written by you at that time ? A. Yes.

Q. Then the letter adds: "That the tide runs straight 
through the Narrows whirling a considerable distance to the west 
and a shorter distance to the east." Is that true? A. I remem­ 
ber that to the west, but not to the east.

Q. Finally you say, you are satisfied the open span of 200 
feet would give more than ample accommodation for the prospec­ 
tive ships while the bascule bridge gives a clear opening without 40 
overhead obstruction. Was that then your opinion ? A. 'Would 
you mind reading that again ?

Q. "We are satisfied the open span of 200 feet will give more 
than ample accommodation for the prospective ships." Was that 
your opinion at that time ? A. Yes.

Q. Was it not in your opinion that a 200-foot span was what 
the present and future conditions at that time called for? A. 
Yes.
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The Registrar: Are you putting that in ? RECORD 
Mr. Griffin : Not unless my learned friend wants it. British Columbia 
Q. Then it would follow from that if the conditions then ***«,*, DJSI. 

called for a 200-foot span, in your opinion conditions in 1923 Plaintiff's 
would call for at least as broad a span ? A. Yes, on the same rea- Case

^ „ . a . _ D. CaronQ. On the same process of reasoning? A. Yes. Cross-exam.
Q. What would be a fair allowance to allow for increase in (Contd.) 

the span due to the development in this port from 1912 to 1923 ? 
10 A. I cannot answer that question.

Q. Do you agree that conditions in that number of years did 
call for an increased accommodation for shipping over what would 
have been enough in 1912? A. Yes, but at the same time the 
Panama Canal fixed the size of ships on this coast.

Q. You are aware of the fact that conditions are proving un­ 
satisfactory to the shipping world. That is your knowledge, isn't 
it? A. Pardon?

Q. You are aware of course that the shipping world has been 
dissatisfied with the bridge? A. Yes.

20 Q. I will show you another letter. I am going to show you 
a letter written by the President of the Harbour Board so-called 
to the Deputy Minister of Marine and Fisheries of the 30th of 
May, 1928.

Mr. Donaghy : Just a moment. I desire to submit that this 
is not admissible, my lord. It is a letter between parties none of 
whom are our agents. We are not parties to the letter and have 
nothing to do with it in any way. My learned friend was acting 
along this line yesterday notwithstanding my protest. I think it 
is time that it should be brought to an end bringing in correspond- 

80 ence between parties outside the suit and not in any way binding 
us or affecting us.

Mr. Griffin : I propose to give the witness a chance to read 
the letter, and I do not propose to cross-examine on the letter.

The Court : The point is is it fair to the Plaintiff to allow 
letters to go in between parties not interested and —

Mr. Griffin : I want to put it and ask if those are correct.
The Court : You can do it, but not the way you propose to. 

It clearly would not be evidence against your opposite party.
Mr. Griffin: Then I will put this— I will put it differently.

40 Q- Do you consider that an amendment of the present bridge
by making the 300-foot present fixed span into a lift one would,
if carried out, make the bridge less obstructive to navigation ? A.
You are asking my opinion?

Q. Yes, wouldn't that make for an alleviation of the present 
condition? A. Undoubtedly. I prefer a swing span, but —

Q. Yes, I was not asking about a swing span; supposing 
this amendment I suggest was made, that is, a lift— -you say either
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RECORD one or the other would do? A. It would help, no doubt. 
British Columbia Q. Is this a reasonable suggestion to alleviate the present 

condition to make—to dredge the south side of the harbour to a 
sufficient width and depth and length to enable ships to pass 
through the existing draw at right angles instead of as at present 
10 degrees off right angles with the centre line of the bridge. 
Would that suggestion if carried out alleviate conditions? A. 
It might. No doubt any free room would help, but the necessity 
of it is another matter.

Q. That is for his lordship. That is for the court. Do you 10 
consider it from the standpoint of the court it is imperative ?

Mr. Griffin: I will read the extract.
The Court: No, no.
Mr. Griffin: Dredging on the south shore.
The Court: Where is the dredging, where is it you are sug­ 

gesting it to him. I could not make out what dredging he re­ 
ferred to, whether it was dredging at that particular locality or 
the dredging at the First Narrows to get a stronger current.

Mr. Griffin: It is dredging above the bridge.
The Court: That is east of the bridge. 20
Mr. Griffin: Yes. Of sufficient width, depth and length to 

enable ships to pass through the draw at right angles, etc.
The Court: Yes. What did you say, witness, everything 

would help ? It would help.
A. Yes, that would help at low slack, high slack is a differ­ 

ent matter. It would not improve it so much.
Mr. Burns: The witness also said as he was finishing his 

answer before that the necessity of that was another matter.
The Court: Yes, I had not overlooked that. The necessity 

for it, he said, is another thing. 80
Mr. Griffin: That is all, thank you.
Mr. Donaghy: My lord, I think the letter to the—
The Court: One minute, please.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes.
The Court: Yes, Mr. Donaghy.
Mr. Donaghy: I think, my lord, the letter to the chairman 

and directors of the Plaintiff from Cleveland & Cameron which 
my learned friend quoted extracts from should all go in.

Mr. Griffin: There is no reason why it should go in more 
than the others. The extracts are there. 40

Mr. Donaghy: Let me read what was suppressed in the 
thing. That is what I am pointing out, the danger of reading ex­ 
tracts.

The Court: This is the last letter from which he read ex­ 
tracts to the witness.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, he was reading out extracts which were 
helping him and not us. Mr. Cameron writes:
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Mr. Griffin: No, that is not in the same extract. You had _ 
better put it all in, the different pages, the different extracts. Plaintiff's

The Court: Put it in, both counsel agree. Case

10

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

(LETTEE REFERRED TO MARKED EXHIBIT No. 56.)

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY:
Q. Mr. Cameron, mention was made of the new elevator? 

A. Yes.
Q. That was built near the bridge ? A. Yes.
Q. You refer to what is known as the Wheat Pool Elevator, 

I suppose? A. I don't know the name of it, but it is the closest 
one to the bridge.

Q. Where in relation to the bridge does it stand?
The Court: Look at exhibit 27.
A. Southwest of the bridge.
The Court: Exhibit 27 does not show it. It is on the Har­ 

bour Board plan.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. I show you exhibit 15, commonly called

20 the Harbour Board plan. Will you look at it. Just leave that
down for the moment. See if you can locate on exhibit 15 where
the elevator is that you have referred to ? A. The position of it,
sir?

Q. Yes, would you mind marking with a red lead pencil 
where it is. Put an X where the elevator is. A. (Witness 
marks.)

Q. You marked it with a red line? A. Yes, just a red line 
over it.

Q. Now, is there a wharf in connection with that ? A. Yes. 
30 Q. Where is the wharf, will you mark the wharf, too? A. 

That is the wharf.
Q. Will you mark with a circle the building or concrete ele­ 

vator, whatever it is, mark that with a circle in red, the building 
itself? A. (Witness marks.) I believe that is the position, 
Mr. Donaghy. I did not take very particular note of it.

Q. The wharf, what is it supported upon? A. Piles.
Mr. Donaghy: Does your lordship wish to see that ?
The Court: Thanks, yes, let me see that.
Mr. Donaghy: The circle is the building and the straight 

40 line is the wharf on piles.
The Court: Yes, thank you.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, Mr. Cameron, what currents does 

that affect? A. It would affect the flood tide.
Q. In what way and to what degree? A. It would still it.

D. Cameron 
Re-direct
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It reduces the velocity very considerably.
The Court: Does what ? A. Keduces the velocity of the cur­ 

rent. It has to flow among the piles.
Mr. Donaghy: Any other tide? A. On the flood.
Q. Does it affect any other tide? A. No, I don't think so. 

I think the eddies and whirlpools that were caused were outside 
of that line.

Q. Does it affect all stages of the flood? A. At high flood 
most, of course, yes.

The Court: Did I understand him to say it affected the ebb 10 
or flood? A. It affects the speed of the flood current.

Q. Does it affect the ebb tide? A. No.
Q. It affects the flood tide, yes, thank you.
Mr. Donaghy: Now, in this letter that was written by your 

firm to the bridge company, being the last exhibit filed, where you 
referred to 150 feet here, would you mind looking at it?

The Court: The 16th of March, 1912?
Mr. Donaghy: Yes.
Q. Would you mind looking at that paragraph, about 150 

feet. You observe that? A. Yes. 20
Q. Do you observe that you have given there—
Mr. Griffin: I suggest that my friend is leading.
Mr. Donaghy: I am just calling attention to these parts. 

Will you read the part relating to the beam of ships. Get your 
mind on that. A. Yes. " In the list of steamers given below the 
Olympic, at present the largest, would have over 50 feet clear 
space on each side passing through the opening."

The Court: It is all in.
Mr. Donaghy: I want to ask a question on it.
The Court: Counsel has a right to call attention to any par- 30 

ticular paragraph as you have done.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes.
Q. Does that letter express your opinion now and did it do 

so at the time it was written ? A. It did so certainly at the time 
it was written and a 200-foot span in my opinion would be ample 
now.

Q. Yes, very good.
The Court: Just three questions, witness, what do you mean 

by big ships? A. A ship with 400 or 420 feet length.
Q. 420 or 400 feet, did you say? A. 400 or 420. 40
Q. You mean from that size 1 A. Yes.
Q. About what would the tonnage of one of those vessels be 

if you know, such as you have in mind, gross ? A, Running up to 
about 6,000 tons.

Q. Now, next, you gave us three days upon which you took 
tests by these floats? A. Yes.

Q. What was the state of the wind upon those three occa-
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sions ? A. The first occasion there was a southwesterly, what we 
call a nice sailing breeze blowing up the channel.

Q. What about the others? A. The other was dull, moist, 
windless.

Q. By a nice sailing breeze do you wish to convey the idea 
that there was anything strong enough to affect the ordinary tidal 
current? A. No, no.

Q. I did not understand so, but I wished to be sure. A. No.
Q. Third, then you have referred to the difficulty of con- 

10 struction at this particular point, I understand that all, so far 
as you know, from your evidence from the attention you have been 
paying to these matters, do you understand and am I to under­ 
stand that all these bridges that have been before us without any 
exception have been proposed to be built at this identical spot. 
What I mean, within a few feet either way? A. Yes.

Q. So, I mean, all engineers and bridge builders and every­ 
body who has proposed to build a bridge, every one of them, one 
and all, they have proceeded upon the assumption that this is the 
place to build if they were going to build a bridge at the Second 

20 Narrows, is that right? A. Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Will your lordship ask him if that wharf he 

refers to was in place in 1927.
The Court: Yes.
Q. When was this wharf you refer to, the grain pool wharf, 

when was that built ? A. It was only completed a couple or three 
months ago.

Q. It was only completed a couple or three months ago ? A. 
Yes.

Mr. Griffin: The only other question I would ask you to put, 
30 was the site selected by the company who decided on the matter 

and the engineers were only asked to draw the plans.
The Court: My question was much broader than that.
Mr. Griffin: Your lordship's question would leave—I under­ 

stand the engineer who made the plan and the contractors who ten­ 
dered were not given a choice as to the site, but merely tendered 
on a bridge to be built at that site.

The Court: I was not restricting it to that. My question
was much broader than that. What I was asking, and I repeat
it so as not to have any misunderstanding. You have been con-

40 nected since 1912 with these proposals for bridges there. A. Yes.
Q. Put it this way, you have heard from what you tell us of 

numerous proposals to build a bridge ? A. Yes.
Q. Have you ever heard anybody suggest, whether from the 

company itself or any other engineer whether private or one from 
the National Government or any other government suggest that 
the bridge ought to be built in any other place than substantially 
where it is erected today? A. Only on one occasion.
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Q. Mr. Keef er ? A. Yes, he proposed where you see that 
262, just across there.

Q. You had better draw a line on the admiralty chart there 
to make this clear. Draw a line on the admiralty chart where you 
understand where it was ? A. There.

Q. What makes you say that, did you get that from Mr. 
Reefer? A. I have a sort of recollection that I did, but it was 
in conversation with Captain Gates thatr— 10

Q. Do not go into that, you must not, you see? A. I was 
reminded of it by him. I believe it was from Mr. Keefer himself, 
but the first structure proposed across there was by the V. W. & Y. 
Railway, and it is in exactly the same position as this bridge is 
now.

Q. The first proposal you heard was from the V. W. & Y. 
Eailway? A. Yes.

Q. When was that? A. A long way back, I forget how 
many years, my lord, they got the charter for that.

Q. Yes, that was before 1912? A. A long time before 1907, 20 
I think.

Q. That was the first proposal you heard and since that time 
with the exception of Mr. Keefer's suggestion that you should put 
it as shown on exhibit 7, the admiralty chart with the black line? 
A. Yes.

Q. You have heard no suggestion from any other quarter 
other than it should be built substantially where it is now? A. 
Yes, in fact except for Mr. Keefer's suggestion there is no other 
practical line than where it is at present.

Q. How far is Mr. Keefer's suggestion west of the pres- 30 
ent location ? Mr. Keefer was the resident engineer of the Public 
Works Department ? A. Yes, over a mile, my lord.

Q. About when would this suggestion be? A. I believe 
it would be made about 1912.

Q. Thank you. That is all.
(Witness aside.)
Mr. Donaghy : I will call Mr. Ivan Cameron.

IVAN JOHNSTONE CAMERON, a witness called on behalf of 
the Plaintiff, being first duly sworn, testified as follows : 
The Court: I forgot to ask the last witness one question. 40

Just recall him for a moment.

DONALD CAMERON, recalled.
The Court : Q. What would be the width of the water there ? 

You would hardly call it the narrows. That really was not in the 
Narrows, Mr. Keefer's suggestion? A. No.
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Q. What is the width from shore to shore that Mr. Keefer RECORD 
suggests he would cover. Just show him the admiralty chart British Columbia 
again? A. From low water mark to low water mark it would be Admi"d'y Dist- 
5 cables, that is about 3,000 feet, 3,100 feet. Plaintiff's 

Q. Thank you. Case 
(Witness aside.) L j

Direct.
IVAN JOHNSTONE CAMERON, resumes the stand.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY:
Q. What is your profession ? A. Civil engineer. 

10 Q. How long have you been practising as such? A. Oh, I 
should say about twelve years.

Q. The previous witness is your father, is he not ? A. He is.
Q. Did you accompany him on any of the occasions when he 

made tests with floats that he narrated here? A. On all three 
occasions.

Q. Now, will you state just what occurred on those occasions 
starting with the first one. I take it that it was the 1st of Septem­ 
ber this year? A. Yes.

Q, Tell us what was done? A. We got a boat, a gas boat 
20 and I took the floats on a gas boat up the Narrows east of the 

bridge in the first case. We dropped the floats in line with the 
pipe line wharf, that is the Vancouver City Pipe Line wharf in 
the middle of the channel as near as could be judged from the 
bridge. I put the floats in the water for my father to check them 
as they came under the bridge and we synchronized our watches 
to get the time.

Q, You have not told us where they floated? A. They 
floated as near as can be down the middle of the channel and went 
under the bridge.

30 Q. Under the 300 foot span? A. Yes, I could not see from 
the boat until I went below to pick them up. I saw several of 
them going under. I could not swear that all of them went under.

Q. Did you have any indication of a northerly current or 
southerly current or any sort of a current other than the one 
through the bridge ? A. On the east of the bridge ?

Q. Yes ? A. I could see no sign of a northerly set at all.
Q. Did the floats indicate anything of the kind? A. The 

floats carried on in a straight line from the boat to the bridge. 
They may have curved slightly to the north but not more than 

40 two or three feet.
Q. The second test was made the same day? A. Yes, and 

it was made at a point I should say 300 feet north of the south 
shore, that is one-third of the width of the channel from the south 
shore.
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Q. By the way, did you take your position from any direc- 
Columbia tioDs you received from anybody in putting the floats in the water 

#£$ second occasion? A. Yes, we were directed from the bridge, 
waved one way or the other.

Q. Was there a man on the operating part of the bridge 
directing you? A. In this case my father.

Q. The second time you told me, the time of the No. 1 and 
the time of the No. 2 was on the 1st of September? A. Yes, It 
was my father so far as I knew. There was somebody on the 
bridge who waved to us. 10

Q. To put you in position? A. Yes, the correct position.
Q. And gave you the signal when he got you where he wanted 

you? A. Yes.
Q. And you took that position and let the floats out? A. 

Let in the floats.
Q. Tell the order? A. I started in with the 25 foot float 

following at half minute intervals with the 20,15,10 and 5. They 
would float between 60 and 100 feet apart. I put them down tim­ 
ing them instead of estimating the distance. I timed them with 
a watch. 20

Q. What happened to these floats after being put in the 
water? A. That second row sailed down straight, very little 
change in it.

Q. In a line like a battleship arrangement? A. Yes.
Q. Where did they pass under the bridge? A. I could not 

just say where. They passed under the bascule so far as I know. 
When they were set out I started down with the boat to pick them 
up. Theyare not very easy to keep sight of.

Q. Was that made in the daylight or in the dark? A. In 
the daylight. 30

Q. The third time that you put the floats in the water was 
when ? A. I think we are talking at cross purposes.

Q. Maybe we are. I have only had two occasions? A. The 
second trial was on the same day.

Q. Were you talking of another day? A. You mentioned 
the third trial. There was only two trials that one day.

Q. Let us not get It mixed up. There were two trials on the 
1st of September? A. Those were the two.

Q. Have you told me of two? A. Yes.
Q. The third trial was made when? A. On the 13th. I 40 

believe it was the 13th. Yes, September 13th was the third trial.
Q. Tell us what you did on that day? A. We made two 

runs on that day, but from the point that we dropped the second 
trial from, that is 300 feet out from the south shore—

Q. We will take the first trial on the 13th, you put the floats 
in the water? A. Put them in opposite the furthest east pipe 
line, almost one-third of a mile from the south shore of the channel.
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Q. Did anybody signal you to put them in? A. Yes.
Q. Did you put them where you were signalled from to put British Columbia 

them in? A. Yes, we were signalled with the light. Admiralty pist.
Q. That was in the daylight? A. Yes. Plaintiff's
Q. Tell us how you put them in and how they went? A. Case 

They were put in the same way, the 25 foot one first and followed •— 
until we got the 5 foot float, and in this case it was these new floats £>£«* eron 
that were used. (Comd.)

Q. Those are the floats that were put in secondly in your 
10 father's evidence as an exhibit here? A. Yes.

Q. With the new fangled device on the bottom? A. Yes.
Q. How did they proceed with the current? A. Very 

straight. There was no sign of any side way deflection.
Q. And where did they pass under the bridge ? A. I could 

not just say exactly where they passed. I was busy putting them 
out.

Q. Did you see where any of them went under the bridge? 
A. Some went under the bascule.

Q. You did not see them all? A. No.
20 Q. Did you see any passing under the bridge anywhere else 

than under the bascule? A. I would not be prepared to swear. 
One may have gone under the 300 foot span, but I am not sure.

Q. Now, have we covered the two tests on the 13th? A. Yes, 
the same thing obtains in both tests.

Q. Now, what other occasion did you make tests with floats? 
A. This was on October 20th.

Q. What did you do then? A. We set the floats out just on 
the turn of the tide as near as can be estimated, as near as can be 
after slack water as we could see that the tide started to move. 

30 Q. To flood? A. To flood, and the 25 foot float was set just 
south of the north pier of the bascule, the 20 foot one was put in 
the centre of the bascule pier and the 15 foot one was just north of 
the south pier, that is the pivot pier, the big pier in the bascule, 
and the 10 and the 5 were set on the south side of the bascule span, 
that is, of the land span, the south span, and they were set in a 
row just under the sidewalk of the bridge as quickly as I could. 
When I put one in it started away. They went away one at a time 
as quickly as I could put them in they started up the inlet.

Q. What happened? A. So far as I could see they kept 
40 straight up the inlet. The eastermost had a bigger light than the 

others and burned out rather quickly and I did not find that one 
again.

Q. What time did you do the experiment? A. At 3:55 a.m.
Q. It was dark? A. Yes.
Q. On that occasion did you use this tin device with the last 

style of float? A. Yes, there was a little bulb on the top of that.
Q. What did it do ? A. It was just a little flash light bulb.
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RECORD_ Q. So that you could see the floats? A. You could see them 
British Columbia f or quite a long distance. 
Admiralty oist. Q Was there anything to indicate a northerly turn of the
Plaintiff's 
Case

I. J Cameron 
Direct. 

(Contd.)

current ? A. Not that I could see.
Q. This wooden device attached to the floats, this device with 

the flange on it is the one that would be at the bottom of the cord 
you had sunk in the water? A. Yes.

Q. What was the object of putting a flange on? A. So that 
it would catch the current. If there was a cross current it would 
be opposed by the same area if it came at right angles. to

Q. What is your opinion as to whether or not the effect of 
the cross current would be indicated by the direction of the float ? 
A. The bottom wooden piece would catch, would catch the current 
and it would tow that along, when it was put in the current flowing 
and it might take some little time to do that, but when the right 
weight is flowing, it will sail—it sailed away and made quite a 
ripple to get above the other one.

Q. As an engineer what would you suggest as to whether 
there is a northerly current flowing through at the bascule span 
and east of the bascule? A. The floats gave no indications of it. 20

Mr. Griffin: I have not been making any objections to this, 
but you understand I am taking the same objection as before, 
I do not want to keep repeating the objection and interrupting, 
but I make the same objection to this as to all the other testimony 
in reply.

You mean evidfence in general—the generalThe Court: 
character of it? 

Mr. Griffin: 
The Court:

Yes.
Oh, yes, I understand that.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. What is your opinion as an engineer as 
to whether or not this device you used and the things that you did 
were sufficient to test whether or not there was this northerly cur­ 
rent? A. I believe they certainly would show if there was a 
northerly current.

Q. Now in the last test you mentioned, the float that extended 
down a depth of five feet was the one nearest to the south shore, 
you told me ? A. No, I think there is—I think you will remember 
that the floats were lengthened, I made a mistake in that. The 
floats were 30—30, 35, 20,15 and 10.

Q. Yes, all right? A. Yes, I was mistaken on that.
Q. It was 10 feet, the one that was nearest to the south 

shore? A. No, it was 15 feet, the one that was nearest to the 
south shore.

Q. It was 15 feet, the one that was nearest to the south shore ? 
A. Yes. It should have been a 10 foot one, but by mistake I got 
the 15 foot one at the last.

Q. Yes, nearest to the south shore? A. Yes.

40
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Q. Now, it was in the span that is south of the bascule span 1 
A. It was, yes.

Q. What position was it in in that south span? A. About 
the mid-point.

Q. Yes? A. As near as can be, the mid-point.
Q. Now, when these floats proceeded easterly from the bridge,

RECORD
British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiff's 
Case

I. J Cameronwhat formation, if anything, did they take as they proceeded Direct, 
along? A. Well, of course one being started before the other, (Contd.) 
they would go, what they would call in the army, in echelon, al- 

10 most.
Q. Yes? A. That was a distance up the inlet—one was 

considerably ahead of the other, you see.
Q. Yes, what relative distance east or west of each other did 

they maintain, if any. I mean, north or south of each other? 
A. Well, I don't think—they may have been coming together a 
little, but I wouldn't be certain on that point.

Q. You are not sure about that? A. No.
Q. Now, you say that the last test was made at the beginning 

of a flood? A. Yes. 
20 Q. And the hour was what? A. 3:56—3:55a.m.

Q. Yes? Now, to have it on the record, will you give me the 
time that a first test was made—on the first day of September? 
A. On the first day of September.

Q. The first test on that day? A. The first float was dropped 
at 11:08.

Q. A.M.? A. A.M., Yes.
Q. When was the first float dropped on the second test on 

the first day of September? A. On the same date?
Q. The same date? A. At 12:21. 

30 Q. P.M.? A. A.M.—well, P.M. it would be.
Q. Afternoon? A. Yes.
Q. On the 13th day of September what time was the first 

float put in the water? A. On the 13th, about—10:58 A.M.
Q. Yes; and you made a second test that same day, did you? 

A. The second test—
Q. When did you put the first float in on the second test on 

the 13th of September? A. 11:14—11.14i/2 exactly.
Mr. Donaghy: Your witness.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY ME. GRIFFIN:
Q. On the 20th October, did you say you dropped the first 

float at 3:55? A. 3.55,1 believe so.
Q. In the morning? A. Yes.
Q. Was the tide then slack? A. The tide had just started 

to set in.
Q. At that time had it begun to ebb—the main flood? A.

I. J Cameron 
Cross-exam.
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(Contd.)

Just
The Court: Q. 3:55? A. 3:55, my lord.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Have you got the tide table there. At what 

hour was low slack? A. This is 1927.
The Court: Q. What did you say the state of the tide was ? 

A. It just had turned on the flood, my lord.
Q. At high? A. At low slack.
Q. Low slack? A. Just after low slack.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Just look at the tide table yourself and see 

what time low slack was at that tune (handing table to witness). 10 
You understand the tide table, do you? A. Oh, yes, I believe so.

Q. What time was low slack? A. That would be about 4:01, 
I imagine, would it not.

Q. Well, you said you understood it. What is the point, 
what are you calculating? A. I was just looking to see whether 
I was on the right page or not. 401,1 believe—that would give 13 
minutes after Vancouver Harbour.

Q. Now, are you sure of your ground now—satisfied your­ 
self, no thinking now. Do you know ? A. I know as far as that is 
concerned, yes. 20

Q. You are sure of it absolutely? A. As far as I can see, 
that is correct.

Q. But I mean you feel sure, do you? A. Oh, reasonably, 
yes.

Q. Yes, well, then if that is so, then the tide had turned six 
minutes before the tide table time, hadn't it? A. It evidently had.

Q. Yes, it may have been seven minutes before ? A. Quite 
possible.

Q. Or eight? A. Well, I think it would be getting a little 
late at that time. 3°

Q. I ask you, you just tell me when to stop—was it 9. A. 
3:55, 4:01,1 don't—

Q. Well> we don't need any percil calculating, do we? A. 
Call it six minutes.

Q. Six minutes? A. Yes.
Q. Then it may have been ten minutes before 3:55 ? A. I 

am not in a position to answer; it may have been.
Q. You couldn't see below, could you? A. I couldn't see— 

I couldn't see below at_all, no.
Q. Now, you dropped these floats beginning about 3:55 and 40 

they went away with a burst of speed? A. They did, they started 
up the inlet.

Q. Indicating—giving some indication on the surface as to 
what is going on below, indicating a certain strength below? A. 
Undoubtedly.

Q. Yes, right, then wouldn't that indicate to you as a pro­ 
fessional man that there had developed some strength of flood
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below the surface? A. Undoubtedly it would. RECORD 
Now, you were trying to put this down at the exact

moment of slack water, were you not 1 A. Yes. Admiralty ph
Q. You were trying your best? A. Yes. PlaindffT
Q. As far as you now know and believe you did get them Case 

down below at the first moment of slack water visible on the sur- i. j Cameron 
face ? A. No, the tide was visibly moving in when we got them Cross-exam. 
down. (Contd.)

Q. Well, then, it may have turned even on the surface a 
10 minute or two previous? A. It had turned on the surface — it had.

Q. It may have been one minute before, I mean. A. Before 
we put them in?

Q. Yes ? A. Well, that is possible, yes.
Q. Or two? A. Well, it might — I wouldn't be prepared 

to say.
Q. Or three? A. I wouldn't be prepared to say.
Q. Or four? A. I don't think more than four.
Q. Not more than four? A. Not more than four.
Q. You wouldn't like to deny five, would you. Would you? 

jo A. I don't think the question is —
Q. Would you deny it, that it was possibly 5. You are offer­ 

ing testimony under oath? A. Yes, I don't know. I wouldn't 
deny it no.

Q. Then if it is true, and it may be true very evidently, that 
the tide may have turned eleven minutes before the tide table, 
even on the surface — A. Yes, it may have.

Q. And two or three or four minutes still earlier underneath 
the surface? A. Well, that may be an assumption.

Q. Yes, I am making it because you have admitted the exist- 
so ance of a forcible flow which swept away your floats. Didn't that 

occur? A. That did, but I don't see that it makes any difference 
in the actual time.

Q. Well, I just put it to you, you don't suggest that the tides 
start instantly, do you, to their full force ? A. Why not.

Q. Well, do they. If you say they do, that will be all right ? 
Go on ? A. Quite possible.

Q. Well, do they? Do you know? A. I imagine it would.
Q. Therefore it would get to its full velocity in the first five 

minutes? A. What do you refer to as full velocity? 
40 Q. Did the velocity start, its maximum, of course? A. Well, 

it is rather —
Q. I am leaving it to you as an engineer. You were claiming 

vou came here as an expert? A. Well, you say its maximum, no, 
but at very considerable speed in a very few minutes.

Q. Within a very few minutes? A. Yes.
Q. You agree in that connection anyway the tide at the time 

does turn with considerable rapidity? A. It did undoubtedly.
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F. Maddison 
Direct.

Q. I suppose you don't know and can't tell me whether it 
does every day? A. No, I have had no experience.

Q. I suppose you don't know anything about bridges, do 
you? A. Not very much, no. I have had a little to do with bridg­ 
es, but not a great deal.

(Witness aside.)
Mr. Donaghy: Mr. Maddison.

FREDERICK MADDISON, a witness called on behalf of the 
Plaintiff, being first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY: 10
Q. What is your occupation? A. Submarine diving.
Q. How many years have you followed that occupation? 

A. Oh, 25 years or more.
The Court: Turn around this wav and speak louder. Does 

he live here?
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Yes, .'do you live fin Vancouver? A. 

North Vancouver.
Q. North Vancouver.
Mr. Griffin: I make the same objection.
Mr. Donaghy: We will take it for granted. 20
The Court: Q. How many years did you say? A. 25 years 

or more.
Q. 25 years as a diver, marine diver, 25 years, yes? A. 

Marine diver.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. How many of these years have you fol­ 

lowed your occupation in the vicinity of Vancouver City? A. I 
couldn't say exactly—a great many of these years I have follow­ 
ed—most of my time has been in Burrard Inlet and the first and 
Second Narrows.

Q. And that covers how many years? A. It will cover 15 so 
years as a matter of fact—well, 15 or 20 years as a matter of fact, 
off and on.

Q. Do you remember when the Second Narrows Bridge was 
being constructed? A. I do.

Q. Did you act as a diver along the course of that site while 
it was under construction? A. I did, I was employed by the 
Northern Construction Company.

Q. By the contractors? A. By the contractors.
Q. Yes. What places alone: the site and to what extent did 

you go to the bottom of the sea during the construction period? 40 
A. Well, I was to the bottom on most of the foundations and 
where the caisons were set.

Q. Yes? A. And also down to the caisons after they were 
once put into position.

Q. Yes? A. Handling rigging and so forth.
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Q. Over what period of time, roughly, did you carry on such M*»raliy phi. 
operations ? A. Well. I was employed by the Northern Construe- Plaintiff's 
tion on the bridge from February 1925, till July 1925. Case__

Q. In carrying on these different operations? Carrying on F. Maddison 
the different operations at different times, whenever I was needed Direct, 
to dive, you see. (Contd.)

Q. Yes, do you know where the pipe line—the waterpipe line 
of Vancouver City crosses the Second Narr jws east of the bridge ? 
A. I do. I examined—I inspected the location for the first pipe 

i»> line that was laid there.
The Court: Turn around this way and speak up ? A. I say, 

your lordship, I inspected the location for the first pipe line that 
was laid across the Second Narrows.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Have you had occasion in your work to 
learn whe^ier or not the currents of the Second Narrows may flow 
in one direction on the surface and in another direction under­ 
neath? A. I have.

Q. What is your statement in regard to that point? A. 
Well, I say that the currents change almost simultaneously both 

20 on the top and on the bottom.
Q. Yes. Have you ever found them running in opposite or 

different directions at the same time ? A. No, no, I have not.
Q. What is your experience as to whether or not the tide in 

the Second Narrows underneath turns or does not turn simultane­ 
ously with the tide on the surface? A. Well, I think the tide 
turns simultaneously on the bottom as it does on the top, because 
I have several times walked the channel of the Second Narrows 
in connection with my work, and if the tides ran both ways—or 
the tide was ebbing out on the bottom and flooding on top, it would 

30 be impossible for a diver to work at the bottom.
Q.~ I didn't quite follow that out—your reasoning. You 

might explain that? A. Well, if the tide is running two differ­ 
ent directions at the same time it would be absolutely impossible 
for a diver to work on the bottom or go across the channel.

Q. Why? You just make the statement, you don't give a 
reason for that? A. Well, the current would be very great. For 
instance, if you went down at slack water on top.

Q. Yes? A. And you have the current running out on the 
bottom strong—

40 Q. Yes? A. The friction would be so great on you down 
there you wouldn't be able to stay there.

Q. Yes. Well, at what stage of the tide do you work on the 
bottom.? A. We catch the slack tide.

Q.~ Yes, and work till when? A. We go down as early as 
we can on the slack tide, and on arrival at the bottom we stay there 
as long as we can until the tide starts to flow in the other direc­ 
tion.
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Q. Then you come up 1 A. Then we come up. 
Plaintiff's Q. Now, how long would it take you to go down? A. To 
Case__ what depth?
F. Maddison Q- To the bottom? A. In the centre of the channel at the 
Direct. Narrows?

(Contd.) Q, Well, at this place where you were going down, where the 
caisons are in the piers here ? A. Well, we go down pretty quick, 
down in the centre. The quicker you can go down the better it is 
for you say in 87 feet of water or something thereabouts, where the 
centre caison is there, I go down probably in about three quarters 10 
of a minute.

Q. Yes? A. Either that or a minute.
Q. And how long would it take you to come up ? A. I gen­ 

erally took about two minutes to come up.
Q. Have you gone down to the bottom where the bascule 

span is? A. I have.
Q. How long does it take you to go down there? A. Oh, 

drop down there in 20 seconds.
Q. I see, how long would it take you to come up out of the 

water ? A. Just as fast— 20
Q. From the bottom of the sea, in the bascule span? A. 

Just as fast as your man could pull you up, as a matter of fact, 
in there.

Q. That would be how many seconds? A. Oh, about the 
same.

Q. 20 seconds? A. Something like that.
Q. Have you ever been in the bottom of the sea at the bascule 

span at slack water ? A. I have.
Q. Have you remained there until the tide started to flood? 

A. I have. 30
Q. Have you then come to the surface? A. Yes.
Q. And in about 20 seconds? A. Yes.
Q. Yes. Were you able to learn from doing that whether or 

not the tide flooding in the Second Narrows where the bascule 
span is, flooded sooner at the bottom than it did on the surface, or 
later, or have you any experience ? A. In my experience, my lord, 
I have always seen it about the same on the bottom as the top— 
simultaneously.

Q. Did you make any tests lately by going down to the bot­ 
tom of the sea at the Second Narrows Bridge? A. I did. 4u

Q. When? A. On—
Q. What month was it? A. On October 20th, my lord.
Q. October 20th? A. October 20th, 1928.
Q. When did you go down to the bottom of the sea then ? A. 

I arrived at the bridge with my diving apparatus and boat shortly 
after three A.M. in the morning and immediately anchored the 
boat into position about 300 feet east of the bridge, and in line
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with the face of Pier Number 3. RECORD
The Court: Give me plan 27. &&**> Colum
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Which end of the bascule was Pier Num- Admi"dtyDist- 

ber 3 at? A. It is on the south end. Plaintiffs
Q. All right; and you lined up? A, I lined up with the __ 

north side line of the pier 300 feet to the east F- Maddison
Q, To the east of it? A. Yes. Di««- .
Q. 300 feet to the east? A. To the east. (Contd')
Q. What did you do? A. After getting the boat into posi- 

10 tion—
The Court: Wait now. He lined up, he says, 300 feet east 

of the Pier Number 3?
Mr. Donaghy: Yes.
The Court: That is the south pier of the bascule?
Mr, Donaghy: Yes.
The Witness: Correct. After getting into positiion there 

we had an indicator—
The Court: Did you get the exact time he went down. Per­ 

haps I missed that. 
»o Mr. Donaghy: No, 1 will get that—

The Court: He said about three o'clock.
Mr. Donaghy: I am going to ask the exact minute he went 

down.
The Court: Thank you.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. You got all ready then, did you? A. We 

got all ready then, after putting down our indicator.
Q. Now, when did you go down there? A. After we got 

everything anchored and ready for a test, I went down, I left—
Q. Do you know the exact time you went down? A. Yes. 

30 Q. What is it? A. I do, it was two minutes to four.
Q. In the morning? A. In the morning.
Q. Did you go down to the bottom? A. I did.
Q. What did you find there? A. I found that the current 

was practically slack, but I remained on the bottom for two min­ 
utes and then the tide started to flood almost immediately after 
I got down.

Q. Yes? A. After I had been down there two minutes I 
came up to the surface.

The Court: Wait, please. Stayed there a minute? A. Two 
40 minutes.

Q. Two or three? A. Two minutes.
Q. Two minutes, yes; and then you say the tide began to— 

A. Began to flood slowly.
Q. Yes. Yes? A. Then I came up to the surf ace again.
The Court: Pardon me, what is the depth of water exactly?
Mr. Donaghv: Yes.
The Court: From the surface to the bottom of the channel.
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feet.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Yes, tell his lordship the depth? A. 43

Q. 42 feet?
Yes.

A. 43.

10

20

The Court:
Q. 43? A.
Q. Down to the bottom, that is 43 feet from the surface, yes ? 

A. Then I came up to the top again.
Q. Then you say you stayed three minutes—
Mr. Donaghy: Two minutes, he said?
A. I said two minutes.
The Court: Q. Two minutes, yes, that is right, I have that; 

and then the tide began to flood slowly, you said, and you came up ? 
A. I came up to the surface again.

Q. Yes ? A. Just to the surface of the water.
Q. Yes ? A. And then I went down again to ascertain—
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Just wait, I am going to see what you 

found when you came up.
The Court: Yes, that is what I was going to ask him.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. What did you find when you came up to 

the surface? A. When I came up to the surface the tide was 
running just about the same as it was down below, I am referring 
to the tide running to the eastward.

Q. The flood 1? A. But I just came to the surface, I didn't 
come into the boat at all, I just went right down again.

Q. Well, don't go so fast. We want to get this down, you 
see. Well, you came to the surface and found the same state of 
flood that you found on the bottom? A. I came to the surface 
again—

Q. How long did it take you to come up? A. After being 
ilown the second time ?

Q. How long did it take you to come up and go down? 
It took me something like about 40 seconds.

Q. To come up? A. Yes.
Q. All right. You found the same state of tide on the sur­ 

face, and then you went down? A. Then I went down again.
Q. Now, what did you find when you went down again? A. 

Practically the same thing, only the current had increased con­ 
siderably.

Q. How long did it take vou going down the second time? 
A. Just about the same time—I went down very fast.

Q. How long did you stay there? A. I stayed there about 40 
a minute or so.

Q. Yes. You found the tide increasing at the bottom? A. 
It was increasing at the bottom and also at the top as I came up.

Q. Did you come up again? A. I came up.
(J. Came up, how long did it take you to come up the second 

time ? A. Oh, about the same.
Q. What? A. About 40 seconds.

A. 30
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y. Yes, 40 seconds, what did you find when you came up the Mmiral'j o*«- 
second time? A. Well, after I came up I came into the boat then.

Q. Yes. What did you find in regard to the tide? A. The 
tide was flowing— was flooding to the east. F

Q. Yes? Was there any difference between its action at the Direct. 
top — on the surface, and its action at the bottom? A. I couldn't (Contd.) 
tell any difference.

Q. Now, I want to ask you another question : On these trips 
to the bottom of the sea that you have just narrated, did you find 
any evidence of the northerly current? A. No.

Q. What direction did you find the current going in? A. 
Well, in working —

Q. On these trips that you have just narrated? A. Well, 
both east and west.

Q. You have heard in this case evidence about some north­ 
erly set, have you not ? A. I have.

Q. Did it exist when you were there ? A. No. I have never 
known of a northerly set all the time I have been diving.

Q. In all the time you have been down around the Second 
Narrows? A. All the time I have been down around the Second 
Narrows. -

Q. You have never experienced it? A. Never experienced.
Q. Now, you say you climbed into the boat at the end of this 

thing? A. Yes.
Q. What was done there? A. We had an indicator down 

there 24 feet deep.
Q. Let me see if we have it here. Who was with you on this 

boat? A. Well, there was my attendant is the only man that I 
knew was with me.

Q. What was the name of the person with you? A. My 
attendant's name was V. Lander.

Q. Was there anybody else on the boat with you? A. There 
were three more men in the boat.

Q. Do you know any of them? A. I don't know them, not
personally.

Q. What is this that I show you? A. That is a rudder.
What use did you make of that and when? A. On the 
October we used this. 
After vou got into the boat? A. After I got into the

Q.
20th of 

Q.
boat. 

Q. Yes?
The Court: What does he call this? 
Mr. Donaghy: Q. What do vou call it? 

an indicator. I call it a rudder indicator. 
The Court: Indicator, yes. 
Mr. Donaghy: Q. What was this attached to? 
The Court: ' What would this be— Exhibit 57?

A. A rudder or
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(ARTICLE REFERRED TO MARKED EXHIBIT No. 57)
Mr. Donaghy: Q. You used this indicator? A. We used 

this indicator.
Q. What was it connected to if anything, to use? A. It was 

connected—it had got Q length of pipe on it. The indicator itself, 
and then from the bottom of the rudder up to the surface of the 
water was 24 feet and this—

Q. That is to say, you had a pipe attached to this over 20 
feet long? A. A pipe attached to that over 20 feet long? A. Yes.

Q. What did you do with this pipe and rudder and indicator ? 
A. We had a pipe attached to that, and it was made so as it would 
swing easily. It was in bearings—ball bearings.

Q. You had it in ball bearings? A. Yes.
Q. On the edge of the boat? A. On the stern of the boat. 

Yes? A. And then we had a tiller that laid directly

10

Q.
in line. 

Q. Wait until we get the tiller. The tiller is on the end of
a long piece of pipe, is it? A. Yes.

Mr. Donaghy: I won't bother bringing it in, it is too cum­ 
bersome, if your lordship pleases. 20

Q. You put the tiller at the top end? A. The tiller was 
at the top end.

Q. Very good, we will need that? A. The tiller was at the 
top end, arranged directly in line with this rudder, you see.

Q. Yes, in direct line with the flanged indicator ? A. With 
the flange on the indicator.

Q. So that the indicator would move whatever way the cur­ 
rent was flowing ? A. And the tiller on top would tell you exactly 
which way it was down below—the direction.

Q. Then you had this indicator then in what depth of water, 80 
how deep? A. I had it—where I was diving I was in about 43 
feet or 4, and this indicator was down 24 feet.

Q. Yes, now did you proceed to operate it immediately you 
climbed out of the water—on the second time up? A. I did. 
The second time up I didn't notice it.

Mr. Griffin: My lord, one moment—this is information as to 
what took place on a day different from what in question, wouldn't 
be of any real value.

Mr. Donaghy: We have got the tide books to tell the state 
of the tide either way, that is, if you want to get the exact minute. 40

The Court: Yes, this evidence is very important, and very 
practical of course.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, I asked you if you started to oper­ 
ate with this indicator as soon as you got into the boat after you 
came up the second time? A. As soon as I got into the boat the 
second time I immediately called the attention of one of the
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crew—the gentleman who is sitting there now, I don't know his 
name, to take particular care and look—notice and look and see 
which way the tiller was pointing. That is the first thing I done 
when I got the helmet off, was to go and examine that, and I 
asked him to—

Q. Just a moment, is that the gentleman I A. That is the 
gentleman.

Mr. Donaghy: Your name is—Loutet. Mr, Loutet, very 
good. 

10 The Court: What is the name?
Mr. Donaghy: Loutet.
The Witness: —to see that and examine the tiller, and we 

found it was pointing to the eastward the same as it was down 
below.

The Court: Q. It was what 1? A little louder? A. Point­ 
ing to the eastward, it was directed to the eastward.

Q. Yes ? A. Showing the bottom, showing that the current 
was running in that direction underneath.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. At 24 feet below? A. At 24 feet below. 
*0 Mr. Donaghy: My lord, there is something further I have 

got to go on with. Does your lordship intend to sit after the half 
hour.

The Court: This witness will be some time?
Mr. Donaghy: I don't think we can finish with him this 

afternoon.
The Court: No. Well, just for my information, not to hurry 

you in the slightest, because I see every expedition is being made, 
have you many more witnesses, Mr. Donaghy.

Mr. Donaghy: Well, I think probably we may have, my lord. 
30 I hope we will finish tomorrow with the case.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: That we will finish tomorrow, that is my aim.
The Court: Yes, your estimate is that the case at least will 

take all tomorrow, that is your idea of it?
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, I think so, yes.
The Court: Then of course there is the argument to follow.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, my lord.
The Court: Thank you very much. Adjourn the court, Mr. 

Registrar.

40 (CfOURT ADJOURNED AT 4.36, UNTIL WEDNESDAY, 
DECEMBER 5th, 1928, at 10.30 a.m.)

(Wednesday, December 5th, 1928, 10:30 a.m.)
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(Contd.)

(COURT RESUMED PURSUANT TO ADJOURNMENT.)
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F. Maddison 
Cross-exam.

FREDERICK MADDISON, Resumed the stand.

DIRECT EXAMINATION CONTINUED BY MR. DON- 
AGHY:

Q. Mr. Maddison, you said you had walked the channel. At 
how many places had you walked the channel? A. That is, you 
mean at the location of the bridge?

Q. How many locations? A. At two locations.
Q. Where? A. At the bridge and also on the pipe lines.
Q. Yes. Now, have you since the work of installing the piers 

in the bridge, that is, putting down the caisons and so on, for the 10 
work, the so-called obstructions to current, have you travelled the 
distance between each of the piers as they exist today, since? A. 
Yes.

Q. You have. Walked? A. Yes, walked it.
Mr. Donaghy: Your witness.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Q. Now, Mr. Maddison, have you any book or anything giv­ 

ing your diving time, giving you the occasions and times? A. 
During the—

Q. Answer that, have you a record of these times when you g« 
were under water? A. I haven't a record here of the times that 
I was under water, but I have a record here that I worked on the 
foundation before the caison was set.

Q. That is on the Second Narrows bridge? A. On the Sec­ 
ond Narrows Bridge.

Q. But that is the only thing you have brought with you? 
A. That is the only thing I have got with me.

Q. Have you got any record of the times you worked on the 
water mains? A. No, I have no records of the times, in my pos­ 
session. 30

Q. Have you any record anywhere of that? A. No more— 
only I have recommendations, of course.

Q. No, I say have you a record of the hours and dates when 
you were down? A. No, I haven't records of the times and dates 
I was down.

Q. So all you have got is your memory of how often you 
were there and went flown? A. Well, I have times that I done 
diving in the Narrows, in the Second Narrows Bridge.

Q. Yes, you have told me that, I am speaking now of the 
water mains. You have no records of any kind? A. Well, no 40 
records, no.

Q. That is what I mean. Now, what places in Burrard Inlet 
have vou ever done diving. I think you mentioned the First
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Narrows! A. Yes. Admiralty Dist. 
Q. And you referred to the Second. Anywhere else? A. Plaintiff's

Yes. Case__
Q. Where? A. At the Ballantyne Pier, the foundations of F. Maddison 

the elevator adjoining the Ballantyne Pier. Cross-exam.
Q. Yes, anywhere else? A.' And in the C.P.R. pier. (Contd.)
Q. Anywhere else? A. Yes, years ago I done some diving 

in Coal Harbour for McDonald, Marjjole on their bunkers.
Q. Is that aU? A. Wallace Shipyards. 

10 Q. Yes? A. Also on different occasions.
Q. Now, when were you employed by the City last? A. For 

the City?
Q. Yes? A. The last I was employed for the city, I left 

the city at that time, in 1914.
Q. And the last work you did for them was in 1914, was it ? 

A. The last, yes.
Q. And what were you doing on that occasion? A. I was 

employed as a diver.
Q. Where? A. Also running a boat.

20 Q. Where ? A. The First and Second Narrows on the pipe 
lines.

Q. Then the last diving you did for the city was at the Sec­ 
ond Narrows? A. Well, I couldn't say that.

Q. Well, as far as you can remember? A. Well, it might 
have been in the First Narrows.

Q. And you dont remember? A. I don't remember the 
occasion, no.

Q. But 1914 was the year? A. Was the year.
Q. Then you can't tell me what was the last year you worked 

3o in the Second Narrows? A. The last year I worked in the Sec­ 
ond Narrows, it must have been 1914.

Q. You say it was. Then do you say you are not sure even 
of that ? A. Well, that is the time that I left the city, and my work 
was continually up in the Second Narrows and the First Narrows 
also.

Q. But you can't tell which was the last? A. Not definitely, 
no.

Q. Now, how many times did you cross the Narrows for the 
City at the water pipes? A. I couldn't say. 

4(} Q. You don't remember? A. Innumerable times.
Q. But you don't remember how many? A, I don't re­ 

member how many, no.
Q. Was it more than half a dozen times ? A. Oh, yes.
Q. How many more? A. Well, I couldn't say.
Q. Now, what was the method of walking across, did you go 

in at one end and walk straight through to the other? A. I did.
Q. The boat followed you about? A. The boat following 

me about.
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Q. And how long would it take you to do that trip? A. 
Well, sometimes we would make it successfully, and other times 
you wouldn't. Sometimes on a long run the tide would probably 

F. Maddison catch us before we got over. 
Cross-exam. Q. Then your answer to it is, sometimes you did it one time 

(Comd.) and sometimes you didn't? A. That is right, sometimes we did 
it one time and sometimes we didn't

Q. And your job was to see that the pipe was in good order ? 
A. Inspect the pipes and so forth.

Q. Now, what times in the tide did you choose for that work ? 10 
A. For to go across?

Q. What period of the tide ? A. If it was low water slack 
when we were intending for to walk the channel we would catch— 
before the ebb started running out, as soon as possible we would 
go as quick as possible so we could hang on and hold on the side 
at that time until the tide stopped receding—until it stopped flow­ 
ing, just as soon as it would permit we would go straight across— 
I would.

Q. Well, the answer to my question shortly would be that 
you would do your work at slack tide ? A. Well, practically slack 20 
tide.

Q. Or as near as you could get to slack tide ? A. Yes.
Q. And mostly at low tide ? A. Not necessarily.
Q. I say mostly? A. Not necessarily.
Q. I say mostly? A. Well, not mostly.
Q. Well, was it high slack ? A. We would catch that time 

of the tide as a rule—
Q. You haven't caught my point yet. Were you aiming to 

do it at the low water slack or the high water slack? A. We 
didn't aim to do it at either one of those tides, because we can do go 
it at most any time. If it was a tide with a short run, of course 
they have a better chance.

Q. Yes, but you haven't caught my point yet. I wasn't 
speaking of the strength or length of the time, but whether 
you preferred it when it was at its height or at its low point ? A. 
Well, we really preferred it at a medium tide.

Q. You mean half of the run—at half run ? A. Well, say 
about a five or six foot tide.

Q. Well, I get you there—a small tide? A. Well, not a 
small tide, a medium tide. 40

Q. A medium tide, all right, but I am wanting to get it, was 
it when it was nearing its lowest point or nearing its highest point ? 
A. Well, it didn't matter very much in that respect.

Q. Either? A. Either way.
Q. And how long before low water or high water slack would 

you endeavour to go down ? A. Well, we would always be ready 
in lots of time and of course—
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A. I was RECORDQ. But answer the question. It is very simple. 
very short too.

Q. What would be your aim, to go down how many minutes 
before low slack or high slack? A. Well, I couldn't say. We will 
just judge the current accordingly.

Q. Well, you judged it by the eye, did you? A. Well, no, 
we go down and feel the current.

Q. You might answer my question: What was your object, 
before you would start to go down, how many minutes before the 

10 turn? A. Well, I couldn't state definitely, but we used to go 
down—or I would go down—

Q. That is what I am speaking of ? A. In shore, where it 
was quite shallow and the tide doesn't have so much friction on 
you, and wait until such time as the water would get slack enough 
to start out.

Q. Oh, I see. You were just doing it by going in the water 
and feeling the force of it ? A. That is way I do.

Q. And then if it was slack enough you went on your pro­ 
gress across the Narrows? A. Yes.

j0 Q. On the average tide, as you describe it, how long would 
that take you ? A. The average tide, I go across—well, you prob­ 
ably would go half an hour for going from one side to another.

Q. That is half an hour to cross the Narrows? A. Well, 
there is no doubt—probably by the time I had reached the other 
side the tide had changed—probably might get stronger toward 
the centre, of course, but you get gradually going away from the 
strong tide after you get over the centre.

Q. So you could allow yourself for the passage across about 
half an hour? A. Yes.

30 Q. And in that half hour you would find the tide consider­ 
able increased before you passed the centre? A. Oh, yes.

Q. Then under those conditions you would be doing half of 
your journey there with the ebb tide and then half after the change 
with the flood tide ? A. As near as you could get it.

Q. That is, the time of actual slack water proved to be short 
in most cases ? A. Yes.

Q. Now, since that time you have done—that year 1914, you 
have done no diving east of the bridge until you made this experi­ 
ment in October? A. I have never done any diving east of the 

40 bridge since then—nor on the bridge site.
Q. Now, when you came to be employed by the Northern 

Construction, on what piers did you work for the Northern Con­ 
struction? A. I worked on all piers—

Get me 27, Mr. Registrar, please. You were say-The Court: 
ing Mr. Griffin— 

Mr. Griffin: 
The Court:

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiff's 
Case
F. Maddison 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)

I asked him what piers he worked on. 
Yes, we are on the pier now.
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Griffin: Q. Do you know the piers by number? A. 
Well, I — I don't know whether I do or not.

The Court: You had better see this, witness. That is Ex­ 
hibit 27, you may take that.

Mr. Griffin : Q. Put that down here on the desk here so I
can 866 them too.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Q. There is Pier 1, 2, 3, 4, 4A and 5 ? A. Yes.
Q. Now, which ones did you work on ? A. I worked on all 

them piers. 10
Q. What work were you doing on them? A. Well —
The Court: Which ones?
Mr. Griffin : He said he had worked on all piers, 1 to 5.
The Court : On all piers, one to five, yes.
Mr. Griffin: Q. What was the nature of the work? A. 

Well, the nature of the work was in construction and so forth and 
when diving was necessary I dived.

The Court : You are speaking of later on ?
Mr. Griffin: Oh, no, we were speaking — I see we are mis­ 

understanding each other. 20
Q. I was only speaking of diving work. On which piers did 

you do diving work? A. I done diving on all of the piers ex­ 
cepting the Number 5.

Q. Yes, so you dived at 1, 2, 3, 4 and 4A? A. That is cor­ 
rect

Q. Well, now, what was the kind of work you were doing <»r 
the bottom? A. On the bottom, in the cylinder piers, it was nec­ 
essary to go down in the cylinder piers in order to keep every­ 
thing clear from the cutting edges, and also to clean up on the 
bottom so as to get rid of whatever concrete — get them as clean so 
as possible. That is in Pier 1, and Pier — is that Pier 4 with the 
two cylinders?

Q. You know, you can read the plan as well as I can ? A. I 
think so.

Q. Is that Pier 4 that you pointed to? A. Pier 4 — or is 
it 4A, which?

Q. Well, look at it? A. Pier 4A.
Q. Well, you were pointing to Pier 5, though ? A. No, it is 

Pier4A.
Q. Is 4A a cylinder pier? A. It is. 4()
Q. Speak up? A. Yes.
Q. Is Pier 4 a cylinder pier? A. No.
Q. Is Pier 3 a cylinder pier? A. No.
The Court : I cannot hear what you say, Mr. Griffin, or what 

he says?
Mr. Griffin: Yes, he was not speaking loudly.
The Court: Of course when you stoop over and speak over
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a plan, right into the desk, I cannot hear, and then the voice goes Mauralty Ditl- 
into the desk instead of to me. Plaintiff's 

Mr. Griffin: Q. Were you working inside the cylinders or Case__
outside? A. I was working inside and outside both.

Q. Both. Well, I want you then to give me—
The Court: I suppose he means, Mr. Griffin, inside and out­ 

side the cylinders and the caisons.
Mr. Griffin: Yes.
The Witness: I wasn't working inside the caisons, my lord. 

10 The Court: Not inside the caisons.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Were you inside the cylinders ? A. I was 

inside the cylinders.
The Court: You were inside the cylinders, yes.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Therefore that applies to those piers which 

were cylinder piers, which is one, and he says that is 4-A.
Now, get up your record and tell me the days when you worked 

outside. Get out your record ? A. I can only give you the rec­ 
ord—the time that I worked—every time that I worked on the 
foundation, and on Pier 2, probably.

80 Q. That is the only one you have records for? A. That is 
all.

Q. Well, bring them out and give me the dates. Bring out 
your record ? A. In September, 1924, September 4th, 9th, 10th, 
and 14th, I worked at that when they put down several hundred 
bags of sand in order to level the bottom to rest this number 2 
caison.

Q. Keep that book out, keep it right ready for me ? A. And 
it was necessary to go down and level off these bags of sand.

Q. I am only asking for the date, wait for the further ques­ 
tions later. There are four days? A. Four days.

Q. Are those all the dates? A. I couldn't say, I just kept 
a record of these, that is all I could find—that is all I have here.

Q. Tell me, are those all the davs that you know of that 
you worked on Pier Number 2? A. I couldn't say that.

Q. Those are all you have a record of anyway ? A. That is 
all I have down here, ves.

Q. As far as your memory goes those are the only ones, are 
they? A No, not as far as my record goes.

Q. That% as far as the record goes? A. As far as the 
4<, record goes, but not as far as my memory.

Q. How many days can you say from memory you were 
there? A. I can't remember.

Q. And your business was to fix things up where the eaison 
was being set? A. Yes.

Q. Now, how long were you down on any one day A. Well, 
I figured I was down—at the most we could get out of there was 
from 20 minutes to half an hour.

F. Maddison 
Cross-exam. 

<Contd.)
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__ Q. Yes, now as far as my instructions go, these are the only 
Plaintiff's four days you were down. Do you deny that ? A. Sure I deny 
Case__ that because I know I was down more times than that, not prob- 
F. Maddison a°ly on the bags of sand, but on different occasions. 
Cross-exam. Q. No, I mean diving, of course? A, Yes, diving, that is 

(Contd.) what I mean.
Q. At pier 2? A. Yes. 
Q. At pier 2? A. Yes.
Q. And yet you can't specify one of them or tell when it was ? 

A. No, but I was there just the same.
Q. It was in the same month? A. Well, I couldn't say the 

time, even, maybe the same month, or it might not.
Q. What other month? A. Well, it must have been during 

the time of the construction of the pier.
Q. Well, when was that ? A. I couldn't say that. 
Q. Well, was it more or less the same time as these four? 

A. Well, it was previous to that.

also.

tell.

Q. 
Q.

Q.

Both before and after? A. Yes. 
But you can't tell how many times?

10

Q. Previous to that? A. Previous to that and after that

A. No, I can't
20

What were you down there for on the other occasions 
that you have no record of ? A. On the other occasions, well, I 
was down there picking up cables, rigging and so forth that we 
had the caison anchored to.

Q. Well, how long would that take ? A. It would take th£ 
average tides we worked, we didn't take them all off in a day, you 
know.

Q. No, but the same time all the time—about 20 minutes to 39 
half an hour? A. Something like that, yes.

Q. You were employed by the Northern Construction Com­ 
pany, were you not ? A. I was.

Q. Did you go down before slack water on these occasions ? 
A. Well, I went down just as soon as the tide would permit.

Q. Well, that would be just before— A. Just before slack 
water.

Q. And come up as soon as it became too strong? A. As 
soon as it ever became too strong we would come up.

Q. And did you come straight up or were you stopped on the 40 
way up for decompression ? A. I didn't stop on the way up. We 
didn't have time to stop to decompress on the works.

Q. What? A. I say we didn't have time to stop to decom­ 
press on the works, we would stay down there until the tide started 
to flow.

Q. And could you come straight up ? A. Come straight up.
Q. They had a decompression chamber on the scow. A.
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They did.
Q. Did you use it ? A. I never used it.
Q. So when you started up you came straight up? 

did.
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Case
F. Maddison

Q. Were you pulled up, or did you pull yourself up to assist Cross-ocam. 
in getting up ? A. In coming up ? (Contd.)

Q. Yes ? A. I would pull up, and if the tide was going too 
strong I would assist myself and assist the other man to pull me 
up. 

10 Q. Did you have a shotted rope? A. I had a shotted rope.
Q. I suppose down below in the bottom you can't see much 

of anything? A. Yes, you can, you can see in clear water, you 
can see fine.

Q. When it is clear you can see down there ? A. Yes.
Q. You didn't nave a light? A. Not necessary in clear 

water.
Q. But did you have a light ? A. Not on that occasion.
Q. I didn't say that occasion, these occasions, all the times 

you were down? A. All the times I was down I never had a 
SO light. The only light that I was supported by was on the outside 

of the caisons, when we would catch the slack water in the middle 
of the night we would have the lights—they had a derrick there 
that was equipped with lights and they used to shine that over 
the top of the water, and it used to aid us considerably.

Q. Didn't you do some diving in 1912 for Cleveland & Cam- 
eron at the Second Narrows ? A. I did do some diving, I don't 
recollect whether it was 1912 or '13, for Cleveland & Cameron.

Q. It was about that time ? A. Along at that time.
Q. And at that time you had difficulty in keeping on the 

track, hadn't you? A. I did at different times.
Q. And they put a cable across to assist, for that purpose? 

A. No, only put a cable across when taking across the light line.
Q. But it was the cause of keeping you in the right place? 

A. The light line, it was for a guide for the light line.
Q. At that time you had no light there for the purpose of 

helping vou? A. I had what?
Q. You had no electric lights over above to help you on that 

occasion ? A. No, it wasn 't necessary.
Q. So you found it difficult to keep the direction ? A. Well, 

40 in walking if you have no trace, nothing to trace, you have no line 
to keep on, why of course you are liable to drift off your courtee 
the same as you might do with a ship.

Q. How many times were you down on these occasions ? A. 
Well if I recollect right, I think I was down on two different oc­ 
casions.

0. When you were diving at Number 2 pier was there any 
other diver assisting you? A. There was.



RECORD 658
British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist. Q. Or accompanying you—what was his name? A. Fin- 
Plaintiff's negan!
Case__ Q. Mr. Finnegan, is he in town! A. No. 
F. Maddison The Court: Pardon me one moment, Mr. Griffin. What was 
Cross-exam. your last question, Mr. Griffin?

(Comd.) Mr. Griffin: Whether there was any other diver associated 
with him in that work and he said yes, one named Finnegan at 
pier 2.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Didn't you do some diving there near the 

bridge in regard to the tug *' M.T. No. 1," which was sunk ? A Yes.
Q. At Number 1? A. Yes.
Q. You didn't say pier 1. Pier 2? A. Pier 1.
Q. And you went down there to try and find her? A. Yes.
Q, And in the end she disappeared? A. I found her.
Q. What happened in the end. Wasn't she given up?
A. She was given up for the simple reason because we didn't 

have rigging that would lift her. I slung the boat, she had lodged 
in between the piles there, where we had all this work that had 
broken up—

Q. Yes? A And I got the boat, slung the boat with two 
slings, and they had a derrick there, it was very old, and the equip­ 
ment wasn't very good on it.

Q. They didn't get her up? A. Well, I mean that—well 
we raised her up to water line and then the chain broke—was 
broke in the upper pulley of the derrick, and she went down.

Q. Then did you go down again to find her? A. I didn't 
go down on that tide, it was too late by that time, the tide had 
changed.

Q. No, but did you go down again? A. I did, next day.
Q. Did you find her again? A. No.
Q. She had gone then? A. Why, yes.
Q. That is what I understood, that you tried to find her and 

couldn 't. A. Well, I just looked around there, I didn 't look very 
far, just walked around as far as the means would permit, or let 
you go.

Q. And you gave her up ? A Sure I gave it up. I had to 
give it up.

Q. Now, you made a statement that Mr. Donaghy could not 
understand and tried hard to get from you, and I could not 
understand either. Why can't a diver work when the currents 
are flowing in two directions? A. Well, he can't if the current 
is flowing in two directions with any velocity at all, he can't.

Q. Well, then, I understand you; but if the current were 
flowing in two directions gently vou could ? A. Not necessarily. 
If you are down in the bottom of the Narrows, we will say— 

" Q. Yes? A. If you will permit—

20
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Q. Yes, but you might answer my question first, then you can 
give your explanation of it. I don't want to shut you off. Why 
can't you work as a diver, work in the bottom with a slight ebb 
tide even if there is a little flood on top? A. Now, if you will 
give me a chance to explain, I will explain it for you.

Q. First answer the question? A. I can't answer it.
Mr. Donaghy: Let him answer.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Well, answer my question first, will you? 

A. I have to explain it.
10 Q. Will you answer my question, witness? A. Before I 

explain it ?
Q. No, first answer it, and then you can explain it. His 

lordship I think will instruct you it is your duty to answer the 
question.

The Court: Yes, you are perfectly right, 'but it would be 
very much easier to let him go on and tell it, because it is very 
obvious—but answer the question exactly, you see there are strict 
technical rules, answer it exactly. What is it ?

Mr. Griffin: Q. Now, the question is can he not work on the
2d bottom perfectly well with a slight ebb, even if it were a fact that

there was a slight flood on top ? A. Now, what do you call slight ?
Q. Well, now, you understand it the same as I do. A. 

Well—
Q. Do you say you don't know what'' slight" is ? A. Well, 

with a slight ebb down in that depth of water, 'I 'can't, a diver 
can't work with very much current.

Q. I know that myself from what I have been told, he can't 
work with very much, but if there is not very much he can work ? 
A. Well, if there is practically no current then he can work, but 

30 if there is an amount he can't work.
Q. Any current? A. Most any current.
Q. Now, you go on and give whatever explanation you like ? 

A. I will tell you the reason why that is the case, because when 
he goes down to a certain depth, we will say he is down in 80 feet 
of water with the currents coming in, that the friction is so great 
on your lines and with the air inside you have in your dress, that 
it is almost buoyancy and it takes very little current to move you— 
move vou off your work immediately.

Q. So that the whole point is that if the current gets suffi- 
40 ciently severe to take you off your feet then you can't work? A. 

You can't work.
Q. But up to that point you can work ? A. Not necessari­ 

ly-
Q. Well, what is to prevent you up to that point ? A. You

might get down and hang on to something for that matter.
Q. No, I asked a very simple question: Up to the point 

where the tide gets too strong for you keeping on the bottom, then
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you can comfortably work? A. Well, I can't work comfortably, 
you can work more comfortably in slack water, but as the tide 
comes in strong, of course it is less comfortable for you to work.

Q. I know, but with a light current in any direction you can 
work, can you not? A. It has got to be very light.

Q. I see. Very well, we will suppose it is slack at the time, 
then ? A. That is at that depth, it is worse in the depth — if you 
are in 20 feet of water you can stand a lot more current because 
you haven 't got that much friction against you with your lines.

Q. Now, down there on the bottom, we know where you are 
and how deep it was and all that, supposing it is slack down there, 
can vou work? A. Slack water?

Q. Yes? A. Oh, yes.
Q. Now, would it make a bit of difference to your work on 

the bottom in slack water that there was a light tide on the sur­ 
face? A. Certainly it would.

Q. Well, why would it? A. Because you would have the 
friction of your lines against you.

Q. They would float out with the same current — A. That 
would put so much more strain on you.

Q. Would it prevent you working? A. Why certainly it 
would prevent to a certain extent.

Q. It would prevent to a certain extent ? A. Yes.
Q. That is what I was simply asking you, to that extent? 

A. Well, if it is very slow it probably wouldn't show under there 
very much.

Q. That is what I am trying to get, and you have been fenc­ 
ing with me all the time.

Mr. Donaghy: My lord, I protest at such language.
Mr. Griffin : I would protest against the answers that I am

Well, I suppose, Mr. Griffin, the witness will

20

receiving.
The Court: 

protest against the way you put the questions, you see.
The Witness: My lord, I am trying to explain everything as 

good as I can.
The Court: I think you are, witness, I think you are. I 

think vou are perfectly fair. They are very technical questions, 
and it is not very easy for a man to answer them who is not accus­ 
tomed to these refinements.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Now, on the 20th of October, why did you 4,, 
go there at three o'clock when the tide was not slack until four? 
A, Because we wanted to allow ourselves time enough to get into 
the position. If we got there at slack water we would be too late. 

"Q. Well, you have said at three o'clock the boat anchored? 
A. We arrived there at three o'clock.

Q. You had the boat anchored at three o'clock? A. Well, 
we put ourselves in position.
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Q. That is what I mean, anchored. What was your object MmMty Dia- 
in being an hour ahead? A- Well, we are always ahead of time Plaintiffs 
in that respect. C356 __

Q. Please answer my question. What was your object in be- F. Maddison 
ing an hour ahead ? A. Just to get there and not lose time, to Cross-exam. 
be ready. (Comd.)

Q. Did you communicate with the Harbour Master before 
going there 1 A. I did not.

Q. You were down there about — apparently the first time 
10 just about two minutes, when you went down? A. About two 

minutes.
Q. And you were in that case some distance east of the 

bridge, were you not ? A. I lined up 300 feet east of the bridge — 
approximately 300 feet.

Q. How was the distance calculated? A, Distance?
Q. Yes? A. It had been lined out by two line lights ashore.
Q. By somebody else, I suppose ? A. By someone else, yes.
Q. You didn't have a compass down there, did you? A. 

Not necessarily. 
go Q. Did you have one? A. No.

Q. And you have no watch with you, do you? A. Not 
where I can see it.

Q. Not where you can see it, so that the time you were down. 
I suppose you learned from the man on the surface after you 
came up? A. Learned what?

Q. You learned how long you had been down from what they 
told you on the boat when you come up ? A. Oh, yes, I have a 
telephone installed.

Q. What? A. There is a telephone in there. 
M Q. You had a telephone, had you? A, Yes.

Q. I take it that on that occasion then the period of slack 
water was very short? A. Very short, yes.

Q. Apparently not more than a couple of minutes? A. 
Maybe not more than a couple of minutes.

Q. Now I suppose in the same way the depth of water you 
got from the man on the surface who told you? A, Not neces­ 
sarily.

Q. How did you get that ? A. You can measure it, you can 
sound the depth. 

40 Q. You didn't? A. We didn't on that occasion, no.
Q. So that you learned it from someone else? A. I gen­ 

erally notify my man to look at the gauge, and the gauge it gives 
you the correct depth at the time, you see.

Q. Well, you didn't have a gauge there on this occasion? 
A. But it was taken by him.

Q. Well, do you know that ? A. Well, now, I couldn't say 
just for —
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Q. He told you? A. I asked him that, yes.
Plaintiffs Q. He told you? A. Certainly.
Case__ Q. Now, you understand the tide table, of course? A. I
F. Maddison tnink SO.
Cross-oam. Q. Just look at the tide table on that day, will you please, 

(Contd.) there is one. (Handing book to witness) 1928 tide table? A! I 
have one here, 1928.

Q. Well, use your own then, that is all right. Just look up 
there low water slack in the First Narrows on the same tide that 
you were down, the same low water slack that you were down? A. 10 
My lord, we are dealing with the Second Narrows in this case.

Q. I know, will you please do as I ask you, look up—
The Court: Yes, do what the counsel asks you you see. 

There is a reason for it, you know ? A. The First Narrows ?
Mr. Griffin: Q. Yes? A. On October 20th?
Q. At the same tide, say slack tide? A. At the slack tide 

it was 4:16.
Q. 4:16. Now, what was it at the Second Narrows on the 

same occasion? A. In the Second Narrows, that was 3:48, 
starting 13 minutes to the harbour time, that would give you 4:01.

Q. Correct, 12 or 15 minutes? A. 12 or 15 minutes.
Q. So that low water slack hi the First Narrows was 15 

minutes after low water slack in the Second? A. No, no.
Q. So it says ? A. It says it is 15 minutes later on.
Q. Low water slack at the First Narrows was 4:16. A. 

4:16.
Q. And in the Second Narrows it was 4:01. A. Yes.
Q. So that low water slack then hi the Second Narrows was 

first, was it not? A. Yes.
Q. By 15 minutes. 30
The Court: That is what he said.
Mr. Griffin: Oh, perhaps I am reversed, yes, it is so easy to 

reverse them.
Q. So that the current running out through the Second Nar­ 

rows was continuing on through the First Narrows for 15 minutes 
afterwards ? A. The current through the Second Narrows ?

Q. Yes? A. Was running out?
Q. Yes, that is to say, the First Narrows was continuing the 

run for 15 minutes after it stopped in the Second? A. Not 
necessarily, at low water slack, at 4:01, you can't go through all 40 
the time, the tide backs—

Q. What? A. The tide backs up more than any other 
time.

Q. Let us see if I have got the correct result of that. So I am 
right, that the tide continued running out on that occasion through 
the First Narrows for 15 minutes after it had stopped running 
in the Second ? A. 15 minutes later in the First Narrows.
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Q. Please answer my question directly, so we can get it on 
the record? A. Well, I say the tide was 15 minutes later than 
the Second Narrows, 15 minutes later in the First Narrows.

Q. And that means that there would be an outrun at the 
First for 15 minutes after the outrun stopped in the Second ? A. 
I suppose.

Q. Now, that would be quite a different condition than if 
these facts had been reversed, wouldn't it—a difference of tidal 
condition? A. I suppose so.

10 Q. Now, on the 20th October—look at the tide book again? A. 
Yes.

Q. And the run out that we are dealing with? A, Yes.
Q. Just verify for me that the run out on that occasion was 

eight hours and six minutes ? A. From two to five 3:48 to seven 
after four—that is the run out from highwater.

Q. That is what I mean, the runout, that is the figuring there, 
eight hours and six minutes? A. Yes.

Q. That is correct, is it. Please say yes so I can get it on 
the record ? A. 3:48, 4:01—six hours and three minutes— 

20 Q. Am I right about the figures ? A. No, you are not right 
about your first figures.

Q. Didn't it run out from 7:42 p.m., is that right— A. Yes
Q. —to3:48a.m.? A. It ran out from 7:42.
Q. p.m.? A. From 7:42.
Q. In the evening? A. In the evening.
Q. Yes? A. p.m. to 4:01.
Q. Well, get it right ? A. a.m.
Q. 3:48? A, Well, if you look over that there you will 

see where you have it 15 minutes.
30 Q. We are not speaking now of the run in, we are speaking 

of the slack, we are speaking of the run out. These are (correct 
figures, aren 't they. That is the runout, 7:42 to 3:48 ? A. 4:01.

Q. Well, go ahead, add this 15 minutes, it won't affect my 
point a bit. Take it from Vancouver harbour, my friend with me 
says that won't affect it. Say at Vancouver Harbour, we won't 
bother about the 15 minutes, go ahead ? A. Well, practically the 
same thing.

Q. Well, now, do turn it up. I want to get it correct ? A. 
Well, this is Vancouver time, 3:48. 

40 Q. What? A. Vancouver Harbour time it 3:48.
Q. Well, then, just subtract now, and get it right, that 7:42 

and 3:48 is, as I said, eight hours and six minutes. Just verify 
that ? A. It is not eight hours and six minutes.

Q. Yes, it is, that is exactly what it is. There is no use 
wasting the time of the court or mine.

Mr. Donaghy: It is a hard problem in mathematics.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, it is a very hard problem, we can't agree.
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Q. From 7:42 to midnight, that is four hours and 18 minutes, 
is it not.

The Court: Of course you are right, Mr. Griffin, it is eight 
hours, why waste all this time.

Mr. Griffin: It is right, but I must have it on the record.
The Court: Well, your arithmetic is right. He is keeping 

in mind the difference that he mentioned, which he thinks is es­ 
sential, but you are right, it is not.

Mr. Griffin 
The Court: 

not trouble. 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin

No, my lord. 
I see what you mean, for this purpose you need

For this purpose it does not matter. 
That is right.
Q. Now, witness, keep that, don't close it, and 

look at that again, I want to get another confirmation? A. Yes.
Q. Now, the run-in that followed was 8 hours and 11 minutes, 

just see that ? A. That is, the run-in after the low water slack?
Q. Yes, eight hours and 11 minutes'? A. It runs in till 

eleven five—11.5.
Q. Never mind making that calculation, verify these figures ? 

A. Yes.
Q. So it was eight hours and eleven minutes? A. Yes, 

that is eierht hours—
Q. Therefore the total of those two tides is 16 hours and 17 

minutes ? A. Yes.
Q. Now, I want to verify the time of the tide tables of 1927, 

which I have given you, haven't I?
Mr. Burns: There it is.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Now, take the tide table of 1927 on the 10th 

of March, (Handing book to witness) ? A. Yes.
Q. You will find that the run-out that finished at six o'clock 

in the evening was 7 hours and 47 minutes ? A. Of the low water 
slack?

Q. Yes, the low water slack, about six in the evening, you 
have six, I think it was ? A. 6:22 according to this book—the 
figures in this book.

Q. Yes, seven hours and 47 minutes was the run-out, was it 
not ? A. Yes.

Q. And the run-in that followed, 7 hours and 32 minutes? 
A. Yes.

Q. Therefore making a total of 15 hours and 19 minutes? 
A. Let me see.

Q. Which is a difference of one hour from the tide—the run 
of the day that you are speaking of. These tides are not compar­ 
able, are they ? A In which way do you mean ?

Q. I mean they are not the same tide? A Well, they are 
not exactly the same, they are different in time.

10
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30

40
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Q. They are different in time by an hour A. Slight dif- ****> p»/. 
ference in height. Plaintiff's

Q. And they might have a great difference in conditions that Case__ 
day? A. I don't think that that would make very much differ- F. Maddison 
ence, if it was a difference of three or four feet in height, if it was Cross-exam, 
three or four hours in time it might make all the difference—much (Contd.) 
more difference.

Q. What we are aiming at is that the bigger the run the less 
slack water there is ? A. Yes.

10 Q. Isn't that true? A. Yes, the bigger the run the less 
slack you have, that is correct yes.

Q. So that you may have conditions fifteen minutes after 
the turn of the tide on one day quite different from those on an­ 
other day the difference of a run was an hour, might you not? 
A. I don't quite get that.

Q. Well, I am trying to get at this point: That if you have
two tides on two days, Monday and Tuesday, and on Monday there
is a difference of an hour between the run on Tuesday, you might
15 minutes after slack water have quite a different condition on

80 Monday from that on Tuesday? A. In slack tides?
Q. Yes, I mean a different tidal condition 15 minutes before 

slack? A. Yes.
Q. Or after slack? A, You would have a little different 

tidal conditions.
Q. Now, witness, as a matter of fact, you were dismissed 

from the City, were you not? A. Well, I wasn't exactly dismis­ 
sed from the City, I left the City of my own accord, as well as it 
was given that way.

Q. Answer me? A. Oh, I left of my own accord as well, 
from the city.

Q. Did you leave because of dissatisfaction? A. Well, 
there was dissatisfaction. I didn't want to stay any longer.

Q. Give it to me plainly now, were you dismissed, or did you 
leave because of dissatisfaction with your work as a diver? A. 
No, no, it had nothing to do with my work as a diver.

Q. Then it was your not being of temperate habits then? 
A. Not necessarily.

Q. Be fair, answer my question frankly? A. Well, my 
brother at that time was Superintendent of the Water System and 

40 he was in trouble and I left along with him, that was the whole 
thing.

Q. Wasn't it also due to your intemperate habits as a diver? 
A. No, not a bit.

Q. And also to your incompetence as a diver? A. No, no,
Q. Isn't it a fact that you were the principal cause of the 

break in the large water pipe in being pulled across the Narrows ? 
A. I had nothing to do with the water pipe being pulled across the 
Narrows—under supervision.

80
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Q. The First Narrows? A. The First or Second Narrows, 
I say each of them.

Q. Isn 't this the straight true fact, that the pipe being pulled 
across got caught on some obstruction, is that true! A. Not ne­ 
cessarily, as I understand.

Q. But did it in this case. You know the occasion as well as 
I do, or better ? A. Which occasion is that.

Q. An occasion in which the pipe got broken? A. We have 
had several—several pipes have been broken, a lot broken since I 
left there. 10

Q. I know, but this is the one we are speaking of, you will 
remember? A. Well, I can't say as I do remember.

Q. Well, do you remember being asked to try and find out 
what was wrong? A, Well, I was asked to do that on several 
occasions.

Q. But do you remember the occasion in which you told them 
all was right and they could go ahead and pull? A. No, I don't 
remember.

Q. And they broke the wire? A. I don't remember any­ 
thing about it. I have got nothing to do with rigging up water 
mains at all.

Q. And when the pipe came in—was pulled in, it was found 
it was fouled with a black sandstone ? A. Black sandstone ?

Q. In the pipe? A. In the pipe?
Q. Yes, and obstruction in the end of the pipe? A, We 

generally have what you call a pilot on the end of your mains to 
pull it in—

Q. Answer the question, can you, right now, answer the ques­ 
tion, was that true? A. I don't recollect.

Q. And that you were criticised for telling them to pull on 80 
a pipe that was in a position that it could not be pulled? A. I 
never was criticized.

Q. And you have done no diving at this bridge since 1924 
when you made those dives— A, One on the 20th.

Q. That is right, one time ? A. Yes.
Mr. Griffin: All right. That will do, thank you.
Mr. Donaghy: That is all.
(Witness aside.)
Mr. Donaghy: I call, my lord, Mr. James C. Loutet.

JAMES COX LOUTET, a witness called in behalf of the Plain- 40 
tiff, being first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY:
Q. Mr. Loutet, are you employed on the Burrard Inlet Tun­ 

nel and Bridge Company? A. I am.
Q. Yes. Do you recollect the occasion of the 20th October
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A. I was there on the skiff.

and speak louder and

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

last when the last witness was at the Second Narrows making some RECORD 
experiments? A- I recollect it.

Q. Yes, were you with him?
Q. Yes.
The Court: Turn this way, listen, 

clearly.

Plaintiff's 
Case
J. C. Loutet

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Do you remember whether or not on that Direct, 
occasion any officers of the National Government were there ? A. (Corn*!.) 
I couldn't say, no. 

10 Q. No.
Mr. Griffin: I didn't get that date.
Mr. Donaghy: October 20th.
Mr. Griffin: Who were present with him at this place ?
Mr. Donaghy: He was present and the diver.
Mr. Griffin: Oh, yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Were you on the scow or boat that has been 

mentioned ? A, Yes.
Q. By the previous witness? A. The diver's skiff, I be­ 

lieve is the term for it. I was aboard that.
20 Q- Yes. Were you aboard when the last witness first went 

down ? A. Yes, I was.
Q. At this craft ? A. I was.
Q. About where was this craft at the tune he went down? 

A. We were lined up 300 feet east of the bridge, lined by two 
shore lights.

Q. Yes?
The Court: Q. What part of the bridge exactly, witness ? 

A. We were 300 feet east of the bridge, my lord.
Q. Yes, but— A. In line with Pier 2. 

30 The Court: In line with Pier 2. Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Now, you saw this exhibit which has been 

called an indicator ? A. Yes.
Q. A large piece of steel, looks like an indicator, rudder? 

A. Yes.
Q. By the way, I want to ask you, do you know where Pier 2 

is?
Mr. Donaghy: And would your lordship mind if I show Ex­ 

hibit 27 to this witness.
Q. Now, without looking at the numbers of the piers, show 

40 on that map what portion you were lined up opposite ? A. Well, 
to the best of my recollection it was pier 4.

Q. Where you have your finger? A. Of course we got 
our direction from someone on the bridge—I believe Mr. Ward.

Q. Just don't go so fast. What did you point to with your 
finger, down to the portion that you were opposite ? A. I point­ 
ed here.

Q. Yes.
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Mr. Griffin: Witness points to pier No. 2 then.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, all right
Q. That is the best of your recollection? A. That is the 

best of my recollection. We got our direction from the bridge.
Q. All right. Now, do you recollect the rigging up of this 

indicator on the craft, or the skiff as you call it? A. Yes, I do.
Q. That was rigged up in the manner that the last witness 

stated in court? A. Yes, it was.
Q. Now, what did you do there and then? A. Well, I 

watched the—what I call the indicator, that has been referred to K> 
I believe as the helm. I take it as a rudder and indicator, that 
is one of my terms, but if helm has been nsed I shall—

Q. Yes? A. I refer to the short end of pipe at the top, 
that is on the boat.

Q. The handle? A. The handle or helm.
Q. Yes ? A. I pulled that over so that I could find if there 

was free movement in the bearing. It is pulled over on the pipe 
at first, and I wish to see if there was a free movement or if it was 
being interfered with in any way.

Q. Yes? A. And I could observe every movement and it 80 
swung back into the same position, lining up with the drift wood 
which was passing along the stream at that time.

Q. Yes, how many times did you pull over this rudder to see 
whether or not it would respond to current conditions? A. To 
the best of my recollection, three or four times.

Q. And did it on each occasion respond readily? A. On 
each occasion it responded.

Q. Yes, indicating the course of the current ? A. Indicate 
ing the course of the current.

Q. You say there were pieces of wood floating bv at the time ? 30 
A. There were small pieces of wood there which gave me a good 
line-up on the direction of the surface flow.

Q. Yes; how did the rudder point with reference to the sur­ 
face flow? A. Well, the rudder and helm I lined up before—I 
don't know what I might refer to it as—the pipe was put over in­ 
to the water, and I recollect that the two, when we took the pipe 
out of the water, they were still in the same relative position.

Q. That is, the rudder and helm? A. The rudder and helm 
were in the same plane they were lined up in.

Q. They were fixed firmly? A. Fixed firmly. 40
Q. Now, that helm, as we will call it—perhaps I have been 

calling it a rudder, we will call that the helm, that is the top of 
that?' A. Yes.

Q. How did it correspond with the indications of surface 
flow as yon found them bv the driftwood—as you took it by the 
driftwood and found the flow? A. It lined up exactly in the 
same direction as the driftwood was going.
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Q. Yes? A. And I lined with more than one piece of drift­ 
wood, I lined a number of pieces of driftwood as near as I could 
to get the exact direction of flow.

Q. Yes, now this indicator or rudder was how many feet 
down beneath the surface of the water ? A. 24 feet.

Q. What direction did the driftwood show the surface cur­ 
rent to be going in ? A. It showed toward the south shore.

Q. And how much, at what angle? A. It was very difficult 
to get the angle, I would not be prepared to give the angle. 

l" Q. Slight or great? A. I should say a slight angle.
Q. Yes? During all the time that you were watching this 

stream, did it indicate any northerly current by pointing? A. 
No, at no time; when I moved it over it swung back to the same po­ 
sition showing an indication towards the south shore.

Q. What was the general direction of the current on the sur­ 
face? A. I didn't quite get your question—the meaning of it.

Q. Well, what I want to get, was this current flowing east 
or west or north or south that you were anchored in ? A. The 
current was flowing east with a slight tendency to the south. 

20 Q. Very good. How, leaving that subject, did you, on other 
occasions, make any observations of tidal currents at the Second 
Narrows Bridge? A. I did. I made observations between the 
dates of 5th October and 23rd November.

Q. Yes? A. Excluding Sundays.
Q. Every day excluding Sundays? A. No, not every day, 

but on some occasions I might only make one observation!, but 
mostlv made two observations every day.

Q. You might—
The Court: From what date did he say ? A. From the 5th 

3o October, my lord, to 23rd November.
Mr. Donasrhy: Q. This year? A. This year.
Q. Tell how you made the observations, where vou made the 

observations and what you found ? A. I made them from Pier 
" 0 ", Pier 1, Pier 2, Pier 3, Pier 4-A. I had at Pier " O " an d Pier 
1, coloured pieces of wood, pieces about two to three feet long, at­ 
tached to a long piece of marline. These were hanging down into 
the water, fixed from the lisrht standard on these piers. I observ­ 
ed them at the time when the change was likely to take place, and 
I was able to observe them warp themselves around the pier as 

40 they swung with a change of current—change of tide, you see. I 
also dropped in pieces of wood that might give the surface flow, 
and in case that the wind would affect them, I chose water-logged 
nieces also, that is, water-logged enough that they were actually 
under the surface, but stilt could be seen, yet sufficiently much 
water-lowed to sink, and I was able to take my observation from 
them and iudge the wav the current was going.

Q. How did you find the current of the flood tide directed
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which passes under the bascule span. How did it flow, say, when 
the flood began to make after slack? A. At the bascule span?

Q. Yes? A. I didn't—I am afraid I didn't get your ques­ 
tion quite clear.

Q. Now, you took a stand on the bascule span, we will say ?
A —._ 

M. 7 »/

A. Yes.
Q. At the turn of the tide when it is beginning to flood? 

A. Yes.
Q. You understand that? A, Yes.
Q. Did you make any experiments at that time ? A. Yes.
Q. What did you do, and what did you find as a result. What 

current did you find? A. I found an easterly flow of the tide, 
and at the first change-^-very slow change, unless on big runs. It 
just flowed very evenly in, increasing in velocity.

Q. Yes— A. I observed no apparent current or boiling 
at that point.

Q. Now, did you follow the float to see where it went— these 
floats that you put in ? A, Well, I put in a float, that was really 
in the stream. I would put in a float for my observations of the 
tide having turned, I put in a float, pointed wood—

Q. Where did you put it in? A. In the centre of the south 
span.

Q. Yes, I see? A. That is, 75 feet from pier 4-A to the 
south.

Q. Yes ? A, And immediately I dropped it in it would go 
quietly away underneath the bridge toward the eastward, that 
was flowing east gently, which gave me time to go around on the 
C. P. R. tracks and walk eastwards, following up my piece of wood. 
I timed it to the most westerly pipeline and estimated its distance 
off shore, I found with two exceptions that they had flowed nearer 80 
to the shore than the point at which I had thrown it in. On the 
two exceptions there was a fairly strong southwesterly wind, 
which I think had influence on the pieces of wood. The time I 
found, the minimum, for that wood to travel the distance was 20 
minutes.

Q. Yes? A. I would not be prepared to say what the 
maximum was now, because that didn't concern me so much.

Q. How, that is one occasion on which you followed it by 
walking along? A. Yes.

Q. Is that the only occasion you followed in that manner? 40 
A. On every occasion.

Q. On every occasion ? A. Every day I made that test.
Q. By walking along? A. By walking along.
Q. Well, on any of these occasions did you find the norther­ 

ly trend of the current that has been spoken of in this case ? A. I 
wouldn't call it northerly trend. I have given these two excep­ 
tions, where I imagine it was affected by the strong wind.
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Q. Yes? A. But I couldn't see any signs of a current RECORD
there. British Columbia

Q. Now, on each of these two occasions where did the float Mmir<Aty £>"'• 
go ? A. The float went possibly from ten to 15 feet farther to the Plaintiff's 
north than the point at which I had thrown it in, that is relatively Case 
— an equivalent distance from the shore.

Q. Yes. Have you made those tests at the end of a long run 
out when the tide began to make on the return ? A. Yes, I made 
it at various stages of the tide, both long runs and short runs. 

10 Q. And on any of these tides did you find this so-called 
northerly current or any indication of it? A. No, I found no 
signs of it.

Q. Yes. Did you check to ascertain the accuracy of the tide 
tables at the bridge by observing conditions of float-wood and that 
sort of thing which could help you to decide just when the tide 
turned? A. I compared — I compared the time and I observed 
the change that —

Mr. Griffin: My lord, I wish to make an objection — not the 
general one I made, which I am repeating, but the question of ac- 

20 curacy of time tables was -dealt with by the witness Jones in the 
opening of the case, and what is now being dealt with is simply 
confirmation of that further, and on that question we have direct 
confirmation — we have what the witness Jones made himself — a 
positive statement.

Mr. Donaghy: I don't remember Jones on that.
Mr. Griffin: Well, I will read it for my friend with the 

greatest of ease.
The Court : What you are asking him, Mr. Donaghy, or what 

you are proposing to ask him, was as to the difference between the 
actual fluctuations of the tide at the Second Narrows and what is 
recorded in the tide tables ?

Mr. Donaghy : Yes, that is the point.
The Court : I think that has been covered.
Mr. Donaghy : Perhaps so. If it is, we will drop that.
The Court: Your objection is sustained, Mr. Griffin:
Mr. Donaghy : Very good, my lord. All right, your witness.
Mr. Griffin: No questions.
Mr. Donaghy: All right.
(Witness aside.) 

40 Mr: Donaghy: I call, my lord, Mr. Hanes.

GEORGE SAMUEL HANES, a witness called on behalf of the 
Plaintiff, being first duly sworn, testified as follows :

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY: G. S. Hanes
Q. Mr. Hanes, what is your profession? A. Civil Engin- Direct. 

eer.
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Q. Yes, and how long have you followed your profession? 
A. Well, for the last twenty years.

Q. Yes. Where did you graduate from? A. Toronto Uni­ 
versity.

Q. Yes. How long have you been practicing as a civil engin­ 
eer in British Columbia. When did you first commence? A. 
Commenced in—the beginning of 1909.

Q. What positions have you held? A, City Engineer of 
North Vancouver, City Engineer of Windsor, Ontario.

Q. Yes. Now, you have heard the evidence here given in re- 10 
gard to the fill at the south shore of the bridge ? A. Yes, I have.

Q. You know what I am referring to ? A. Yes.
Q. Have you made an examination of that? A. Yes, I 

made a survey of the fill at the south end of the bridge.
Q. Yes, did you make a plan of the survey? A. Yes, I 

made a plan,
Q. Have you it with you? A. Yes.
Q. Produce it. Let me see it? A. (Producing plan.)
Q. Now, now, this is the plan of survey that you made of the 

fill, is it? A. Yes, that is it. a<>
Mr. Donaghy: I produce this to have it marked.
The Court: Exhibit 58.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 58.)
Mr. Donaghy: Q. What is the scale on which this is drawn, 

Mr. Hanes? A, 20 feet to the inch.
Q. 20 feet to the inch? A. Yes.
Q. Would you just take this. (Handing plan to witness). 

Does this plan show the extent of the fill at low tide ? A. Yes, it 
does.

Q. Looking at the plan, will you tell his lordship what the ex- so 
tent of this fill is under water at low tide, if any ? A. Well, at 
low tide on the east line of the bridge the low tide mark comes out 
to the base of Pier Number 5, in other words—

The Court: Just wait now.
Q. At low tide, at— A. At low tide, at the east—
Q. At Pier—we will say at south pier Number 5 what did 

you see ? A. At South Pier Number 5 at low tide on the east line 
of the bridge—

Q. Yes? A. The low tide level comes practically'at the 
base of pier Number 5. In other words, the fill at that point does 40 
not extend below low water.

Q. Yes, that is on the east line ? A. Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Very good? A. On the west line the 

toe of the fill extends probably 20 feet into low water.
Q. Do you mean 20 feet in depth ? A. Horizontal distance.
Q. Horizontal distance. Can you give the depth at the south
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end, and the depth at the north end of this horizontal extension RECORD
at low water ? A. Yes, the depth of water on the west line of the British Columbia
bridge at the fill is about eight feet. Admiralty ptst.

The Court: Wait now, the depth— Plaintiff's
Mr. Donaghy: I am asking him for the depth of the fill in Case

the water at the north end and the depth of the fill in the water at ~ c TTii j-i j x O. a. Hanesthe south end. Direct.
The Court: Yes. (Contd.)
Q. At what stage of the tide, at low water still, now, you 

10 are always speaking of low water ? A. Yes, low water.
Q. Now, then, iat low water at the west line of the bridge 

at the end of the toe there is a depth of how much? A. Eight 
feet

The Court: Eight feet.
Mr. Donaghy: My lord, my question was—
The Court: I beg your pardon ?
Mr. Donaghy: At the south side of the water where it joins 

the fill, and then I was going to ask him at the toe later.
Q. What was the depth of the fill, or what we call the height

20 of the fill there from the bed of the sea to the surface of the water
at low tide at the most southerly contact of low water with the fill ?
A. Well, at the east line of the bridge at the point of contact,
the water is about a foot deep.

The Court: Q. How much ? A. About one foot.
The Court: One foot.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Well, would you mind dealing with the 

west side ? A. On the west side—
Q. We are dealing with the west side? A. About eight 

feet, 
so Q. Eight feet? A. Yes.

Q. In other words there is eight feet of fill under the water at 
low tide? A. Yes.

Q. At that southerly part? A. Yes.
Q. Yes, now go to the northerly part, from the toe, and tell 

me how many vertical feet of fill you find there under water at low 
tide? A. Oh, I referred to at the southerly—

The Court: Yes, I think he has mis-apprehended you.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, you go ahead and explain this to us 

and I will not ask questions at all. You know what we want. I 
40 want to find how much obstruction this fill makes on the current 

at low water on the west side, explain it in your own language.
The Court: Precisely. Begin then at the toe. Begin at the 

toe of the fill, and at low water, above the toe of the fill, vertically, 
there is what depth—eight feet ? A. Eight feet on the west line of 
the bridge, and about one foot on the east line of the bridge.

Q. Wait now. Yes, that is all right, now then proceed. A. 
On the west line of the bridge, where that depth exists, is around
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RECORD the bend into the bay really on the south—on the west of the 
British Columbia bridge, and therefore it does not obstruct the flow of the water 

through the Narrows to any extent.
The Court: Now, wait, that is not the point.
Mr. Donaghy: He doesn't understand.
Q. Would you make a cross-section of this thing so I can 

see it as a picture. It is evidently a triangle— A. Yes.
Q. Where is it ? A. There is a triangle shown on this pro­ 

file.
Q. Show it please. Show us where you have given that 10 

triangle here ? A. At this point.
The Court: Oh, it is there, is it?
Mr. Donaghy. Yes, my lord.
Q. Very well, give me the measurements of that triangle at 

low water, give toe the lines. Take the base first—the base line. 
What is the measurement of the base line 1? A. About 20 feet.

Q. 20 feet is the base line? A. Yes.
Q. Now, give me the vertical line, which would be the south 

line, showing the amount of the fill under low water? A. About 
eight feet. 20

Q, Eight feet is the vertical one. That is the south end, is 
it? A. Yes, on the west line of the bridge.

Q. Yes, we are talking of the west line ? A. Yes.
Q- Now, give me the oblique line, that will be from the top 

of the south vertical line north to the northerly projection of a 
base line, what is the length of that line? A. Oh, it would be 
probably ten feet—about ten feet.

Q. Yes. Now, then, the dimensions of the fill, that is like a 
profile of it looking at the west side, would be a base line extending 
under the water—now many feet again ? A. About 20 feet. 30

Q. About 20 feet. And the vertical line on the south side 
extending up to the top of the fill, how much? A. About eight 
feet.

Q. About eight feet; and then the oblique line adjoining the 
two ends ? A. About 12 or 15 feet.

Q. Well, then I take it that represents the face of the obstruc­ 
tion that this fill would constitute at low water, does it ? A. Yes.

Q. Or am I right in that? A. Yes, that is correct.
Q. That is correct. Now this base, then, we have talked of 

does that come down practically to zero at the northern projec- 4() 
tion? A. Yes.

Q. Yes. You see you mis-apprehended us, as his lordship 
pointed out to you, you said it had an icight foot vertical front 
there. You didn't mean that, did you? A. Well, at the north
end—

Q. Under water at low tide? A. It runs out to nothing. 
Q. Yes, so we have that clear. What do you say the effect
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of this supposed obstruction on the west side would be upon the RECORD 
tide at low water, or upon the current? A. Well, I say that it BritishcMum 
has absolutely or positively no effect on the tide or current at low ^mjraity p/v/. 
water either before or after low water slack. The current is im- plaintiff's 
perceptible, and the water being so shallow, it does not in any way Case 
whatever deflect the current that is flowing through the Narrows 
at that particular time.

Q. Yes ? A. The effect is not appreciable at all.
Q. Yes. Now, have you on this plan a profile showing the 

10 extent of obstruction on the west side at high tide for instance. 
Can you give that from this plan ? A. Well, the plan itself shows 
no fill.

Q. Yes ? A. The nature of the fill extends along westerly 
into the bay—westerly and southerly into the bay; it was always 
there before, and the fill simply parallels the original shoreline.

Q. Yes, well, I suppose at high tide the difference in dimen­ 
sions, I take it, speaking as an amateur mathematician, that would 
raise the vertical line ? A. Raise it—

Q. By the amount of the tide ? A. Raise the vertical line 
20 by the height of the tide.

Q. That is all the difference there would be to that. Now, 
will you describe the contour of the ground at the place where this 
fill is, under a state of nature, or prior to the fill being put there ? 
A. The nature of the ground or the foreshore was simply level 
—a fairly level plane sloping gently from high tide to low tide 
in a uniform surface.

Q. And you have shown the course of it. Have you shown on 
this plan the curve of this location prior to the fill being placed 
there? A. Yes, it is shown on this hatched line. 

80 Q. Let me see.
The Court: Q. Shown on the hatched line at the foot of the 

plan? A. Shown on the hatched line.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. On the hatched line, and marked "fore­ 

shore?" A. Yes.
Q. That is in the lower right hand corner of this plan ? A. 

As shown on the profile in the lower right hand corner.
Q. You have shown on this the high tide level and the low 

tide level at this point, have you ? A. Yes.
Q. You have shown that as well. You have marked the toe of 

40 the slope and you have marked the rock "rip-rap" on its face ? A. 
Yes.

Q. On the slope? A. Yes.
Q. And then you have marked the fill'' earth fill.'' A. Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Does your lordship wish to see it. It is 

rather an interesting plan.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: The lower right hand corner shows the fill.
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_ The Court: It would be well, witness, to supplement—you 
British Columbia can do it adjournment—add the measurements that you give there, 
Admtraityjjist. yOU see? a£ thg cross-section, out there, put your measurements in 

there which you were giving.
Mr. Donaghy: During the adjournment, my lord?
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Yes, you can make them accurately dur­ 

ing the adjournment. A. Yes.
Q. Now, take it even at high tide, in your opinion would this 

fill—I mean approaching high tide on the average, or at any time 10 
while the flood tide is making, or at any time during its course from 
its inception to its height, would this fill have any effect ion the 
current say 600 feet east of the bridge, or 500 feet east of the 
bridge ? A. No, it wouldn't have any effect in the slightest. Its 
effect is only local—purely local.

Q. Have you made any observations regarding the direction 
of currents passing through and under the bridge ? A. I have.

Q. What have you done? A. Well, I took the soundings 
about every six months since the bridge was constructed, all the 
way across the Narrows on both sides of the bridge and therefore ao 
have had a chance to observe the currents.

Q. How did you take the soundings? A. With a lead 
sounding line—heavy lead from the deck of the bridge.

Q. Yes ? A. Standing on the deck of the bridge.
Q. Yes, how long have you been doing that and how often ? 

A. Well, every six months since the bridge was built.
Q. Yes? A, And these soundings were taken every 20— 

25 feet.
Q. Yes ? A. Across the Narrows.
Q. Yes. 30
The Court: Since when does he say he was doing this ?
Mr. Donaghy: Since the bridge was built, every six months 

since the bridge was built.
The Court: Yes, what year?
The Witness: Well, any time- 
Mr. Donaghy: That is in 1925 it was opened, November 1925 

the bridge was opened.
The Court: I think we have it that it was opened in Novem­ 

ber, 1925, was that before it was opened?
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, November 7th was the day I have a re- 40 

cord of.
Q. Ever since then you have done this ? A. Yes.
Q. Now, have you been doing anything else to ascertain the 

direction of currents passing under the bridge ? A. Well, then 
I made observations of the directions of the current passing under 
the bridge with a transit, taking the directions and marking them 
on a plan.
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Q. How would you observe the direction to line up with the 
transit? A. By dropping pieces of wood in the water and watch- British~c^iumbi» 
ing the direction that they were flowing and reading the angle with AJm'ral'y 
the transit.

Q. Yes. Have you done that at all stages of tide ? A. No, 
not at all stages.

Q. What stages have you done it at? A. Well, medium 
tide.

Q. Medium tides? A. Yes.
10 Q. Now, at what stage of medium tides have you done that? 

A. Well, it is what I would call a medium current, that is, about 
half way between high and low.

Q. Oh, yes, at all sorts of tides you have done it at about 
the medium ? A. That is what I have done, about the medium.

Q. Yes. Then you lined that up with the transit, did you? 
A. Yes.

Q. Did you make any sketch to see the result of these obser­ 
vations? A, Yes, I did.

Q. Let us have that? A. (Producing sketch.) 
20 Q- Is this the sketch you made showing the currents as the 

result of your 'observations ? A. Yes.
Q. Now, does that accurately show the result of your obser­ 

vation made by you in the manner you have indicated ? A, Yes, 
this shows the observations I made of the ebb tides and of the 
flood tides.

Q. Yes; and the lines indicate the directions of tide cur­ 
rents. How do you describe the lines ? A, The red dotted lines 
represent the direction of ebb tides, and the black lines represent 
the direction of flood tides.

30 Q- Well, you mark here blue dotted lines, is that what you 
call black lines ? A. The blue dotted lines show the direction of 
flood tides.

Q. The depth of water shown in the plan which you produce, 
where are those records taken from? A. The depth of water 
are the depths as shown on the—what has been called the Pari- 
zeau plan.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, your lordship has that, that is in already. 
We will have this marked.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 59.)
40 Mr. Donaghy: Does your lordship desire to see this map?

The Court: Yes, thank you.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. You know where the bridge operator's 

stand is on the bascule span? A. Yes.
Q. Approximately how many feet above the deck of the 

bridge ? A. About 25 feet.
Q. Yes. Do you know of an instrument there which is called
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an indicator or something of that kind? A. Yes, there is an in- 
Columbia dicator established at that point which they used for finding direc- 

Admiraityj)ist. tions—vertical angles.
Q. Yes, it is fixed permanently on the iron work of the bridge 

there where the operator stands? A. Yes, it is fixed permanent­ 
ly on the span, and it is constructed so as to show the horizontal 
angles and vertical angles.

Q. Yes; has degrees marked in a circle, has it ? A. It has 
degrees marked on the circle.

Q. On the circle? A. Yes. 10
Q. And a pointer—revolving pointer? A. And a pointer 

so that they can point it at any object, and clamps for clamping 
it so that—

The Court: Q. A little louder, please? A. They have a 
pointer on this indicator so that it can be pointed at an object, and 
then clamped so as to show the horizontal angle with the bridge 
and the vertical angle.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Yes. "With this indicator can one tell 
the number of degrees out from a line say east of the bridge? 
A. Yes, the position of the object can be definitely determined. 20

Q. Yes, the number of degrees with reference to the line of 
the bridge? A. Yes, the number of degrees can be ascertained 
in reference to the line of the bridge.

Q. Yes. Now, did you examine and make any test of this 
indicator to ascertain whether it is correct — tells correctly or 
scientifically ? A. Yes, I think the instrument registered correctly.

Q. Yes. Now, did you make any observations yourself by 
means of this instrument on the bridge? A. Well, no—not ob­ 
servations, but I made a plan showing the angles—showing the 
lines at certain angles from that indicator. 30

The Court: Q. A little louder. Speak a little clearer, you 
are dropping your voice and mumbling. It is hard to follow you ? 
A. I made a plan showing the angles—showing the lines at cer­ 
tain angles from the indicator position with reference to the chan­ 
nel to the east.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Yes. Now, you showed these lines, I 
take it, at right angles to the centre line of the bridge, did you, or 
what ? A. Well, the lines start with—show from six degrees to 23 
degrees from the right angle to the bridge.

Q. Are these degrees north or south of the right angle? 40 
A. They would be degrees to the north.

Q. Of the right angle? A. Of the right angle.
Q. Now, you made a plan of these observations you made in 

that way, did you? A. Yes.
Q. Is this the plan? (Handing document to witness) 

A. Yes, that is the plan.
Mr. Donaghy: Just a moment. I will have this marked, if 

you please.



679

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 60.)
Mr. Donaghy: Perhaps your lordship would like to follow 

this while I question him about it.
The Court: Yes, thank you.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, the red lines starts-take it from 

the bridge, do they then start from the bridge going east ? A. Yes, G. S. Hanes 
the red lines start from that indicator— Direct.

Q. Easterly? A. Location, and go easterly. (Contd.)
Mr. Griffin: What is that?

10 Mr. Donaghy: These red lines start from the indicator on 
the bridge and are produced easterly.

Mr. Griffin: Oh, yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, at the extremity of these lines you 

have certain degrees marked there, like five degrees, seven degrees, 
ten degrees and so on up to 26 degrees. A. Yes.

The Court: Up to 23.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Up to 23 degrees, is it? A. Yes.
Q. Yes. How far is that projection from the bridge and 

where is it? A. At the—eastward about 600 feet to the— 
20 Q. Where is that with reference to the most westerly pipe 

line—these degrees ? A. It shows there to the westerly pipe line.
Q. Well, these degrees are marked, is that where that pro­ 

jected red line would intersect the most westerly pipe line? A. 
Yes.

Q. I see, the degrees are marked where the projected red 
line intersects the most westerly pipe line crossing the channel.

The Court: What is the black line supposed to be, Mr. Dona­ 
ghy $

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Yes, what is the black mark, Mr. Hanes. 
30 The Court: The black line, is that the right angle line of 

the bridge or what ?
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Yes, just tell us what the black line is. 

Look at it there.
The Court: What is the black line there indicating?
Mr. Donaghy: What shows the bridge line. Is the word 

"Bascule" marked where the bridge is shown? A. The black 
line—

The Court: No, you see there is the black line.
Mr. Donaghy: There is the black line at the centre. 

40 The Court: Projecting from the centre.
Mr. Donaghy: From the word "bascule," yes.
Q. What is that ? A. The black line is a line at ten degrees 

from the right angle of the bridge.
The Court: Yes, I see. Now, what I want you to do is this, 

during the adjournment, to draw a line—you say that is ten de­ 
grees from the line, to draw a line which would be at right angles 
to the bridge line.



680

RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiff's 
Case

G. S. Hanes 
Direct 

(Contd.)

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, very good, my lord.
Q. You will remember that, Mr. Hanes? A. Yes.
Q. Now, the depth of water is shown—
The Court: Draw it in blue lead pencil so we will know which 

it is—a blue lead pencil right angle line to the bridge line.
The Witness: Yes, sir.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, the depth of the water is shown 

on this last exhibit ? A. Yes, the depth of water is shown on this 
plan.

Q. And these depths of water are the same as shown on the 10 
Parizeau plan, and which is in as an exhibit? A. Yes.

Q. Yes, very good.. Now, did you make any plan showing 
the cross-section of the channel? A. Yes.

Q. East of the bridge? A. Yes, I did.
Q. Is this the plan snowing the cross sections of the channel 

of the Second Narrows? (Handing document to witness.)
The Court: Just one moment.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, my lord.
The Court: Just before you do that.
Q. Now, you drew this black line. That is so, is it not wit- 20 

ness, that is your line? A. Yes.
Q. This black line? A, Yes.
Q. That is superimposed on the official survey of the Depart 

ment of Marine, Mr. Parizeau? A. Yes.
Q. The surveyor. Now, just before you leave it, why did 

you draw that black line. What is it intended to convey? A. Well, 
I understood, my lord, that there is some—it is to be used in con­ 
nection with some matters.

Q. Oh, I see, you just drew it to anticipate any observations 
which could be made upon it? A. Yes, my lord. 30

The Court: Yes, thank you. I was just wondering.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Is this the plan you made of cross-sec­ 

tions of the Second Narrows. (Handing plan to witness.) A. Yes.
Q. Well, look at it. The lower part of the plan shows a 

cross-section of the Second Narrows how many feet east of the 
bridge? A. 600 feet east.

Q. The lower part of the plan ? A. The lower part of the 
plan shows a section of the Second Narrows 600 feet east of the 
bridge.

The Registrar: Exhibit 61, my lord. 40

(PLAN MARKED EXHIBIT NUMBER 61.)
Mr. Donaghy: My, lord, part of the plan shows a cross- 

section of the Narrows, in there.
Q. Is that right, Mr. Hanes? A. The middle part of the 

plan shows the cross section 1100 feet east of the bridge.
The Court: Q. The middle part, some kind of cross section
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Mr. Donaghy: Q. Yes, and the top part of the plan shows BrithiTc^iumbi 

what ? A. The top part of the plan shows a cross section 700 Adr»»*iti Din. 
feet east of the bridge. Plaintiffs

Mr. Donaghy: Perhaps your lordship wishes to follow this Case 
while I examine him.

Q. Now, we will take the lower one—the lower cross-section, 
600 feet east of the bridge, what is the area in that cross-section of 
the channel there at low water ? A. It is 34,000 square feet. 

10 Q. Is that the smallest area of the cross-section shown on the 
plan? A. Yes, that is the smallest cross-section shown.

Q. Yes.
The Court: Q. How many square feet ? A. 34,000 square 

feet.
The Court: Square feet at low water? A. At low water.
Q. Now, what is the cross-section area at low water at the 

site of the bridge ? A. 50,000 square feet.
Q. That cross-section is not shown on this plan? A. No, 

but I—I measured the cross-section and took it to be 50,000 square 
20 feet.

The Court: Now, you see I didn't quite get that, cross-sec­ 
tion, what ?

Mr. Donaghy: The area under the bridge is not shown on 
this last exhibit.

The Court: No.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Where did you get it from? A. From 

the plans of soundings which I have made at the bridge and plot­ 
ted.

Q. Yes. Have you them with you? A. No, I have not. 
30 Q. Could you get them during the adjournment? A. Y<\;

Q. Will you bring them, then. That is three things you have 
to attend to ? A. Yes.

Q. Now, the difference in area, of course, is quite apparent, 
that is 16,000 square feet between these two areas we are consider­ 
ing—cross-sections.

Now, what is the cross-section area of <the piers that are in 
this channel where they are supporting the bridge? A. 5,300 
feet—5,300 square feet at low water.

Q. Yes, so taking that from the cross-section area at low 
4d water under the bridge, and getting the remainder that is left, 

what do you get as a remainder that is left for the cross-section 
area of water? A. 44,700 square feet.

Q. Yes ? As compared with 34,000 feet at the 600 line east 
of the bridge? A. Yes.

The Court: Q. Give me that again, therefore what, do you 
say, under the bridge what is the net? A. Therefore the net- 
cross-section under the bridge at low writer would be 34,700 square 
feet.
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feet
The Court: 44,000, yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. That is 10,700 square feet greater in area 

—greater in net area than what was the area at the 600 foot line 
east of the bridge? A. Yes.

Q. Now, having in hand these two things, what is your opin­ 
ion as an engineer as to whether or not the maximum velocity of 
the current of the Second Narrows has been increased by reason of 
the construction of the bridge ? A. Well, in my opinion the veloc- 10 
ity has not increased becau.-'e the same amount or volume of water 
has to pass through the 34,000—through the narrow part of the 
600 feet east of the bridge, and it is not going through at any 
greater velocity than it did before, because the tides govern that.

Q, Then the velocity at the 600 foot line east of the bridge, 
you say that is not affected of course by the bridge ? A. That is 
not affected by the bridge, because the tide has to go through the 
same as it ever did.

Q. The same as always.
The Court: Q. Now, don't drop your voice. You have got 20 

a very bad habit of beginning very well and then dropping away 
into a sort of indistinct murmur. Please do not do that. It is 
very difficult to follow you. These figures and things you have 
given have got to be followed with exactitude, and that is why we 
have to have you explain twice about it? A. Well, the velocity 
at the 600 feet—at that point 600 feet east of the bridge would not 
be changed in any way, because the same volume of water has to 
pass through that channel as usual, before or after the construc­ 
tion of the bridge.

Q. But now would the velocity there be greater or less than 30 
at the bridge ? A. The velocity would be greater.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. At the 600 foot point ? A. Yes.
Q. Because it is narrower? A. Because it is narrower.
Q. That is a narrower area, smaller area—cross-section area. 

Well, then, having that in mind, I asked you whether the construc­ 
tion of the Second Narrows Bridge would increase the velocity 
of the current of the Second Narrows at that bridge ? A. There 
would be a slight increase between the piers, but for no appreci­ 
able distance on either side.

Q. Just what is your process of reasoning when you arrive 40 
at the statement you make, that this narrow cross-section 600 feet 
east of the bridge in some way controls or has something to do with 
the increase or decrease or standing or velocity under the bridge, 
what is your process of reasoning on that, from a scientific stand­ 
point ? A. Well, the velocity 600 feet east of the bridge remains 
the same, and the water going through under the bridge, if in­ 
creased slightly would only be for that very—just for the portion
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between the piers, but then it would immediately slack off again RECORD 
to the velocity that it would naturally have at any other tide.

Q. Is that by reason of it having a larger cross-section than 
the upper 600 feet away east ? A. Yes, it ha,< a larger cross-sec­ 
tion under the bridge.

Q. Yes, I see. Did you make any mark on the last plan— 
that last Exhibit, cross-section plan, on the cross-section at 700 
feet east of the bridge. That is the upper cross-section >,of the 
plan, did you make any mark there at the 700 feet. No, the 1100 

10 foot one, did you make any mark on that cross-section showing the 
cross-section at 1100 feet east of the bridge, showing a boat on the 
five fathom line? A. Yes, I have.

Q. How was that marked there, so we will get it on the 
record, show it to me? A. I have shown on—

Q. Show it to me with your finger ? A. (Indicating.)
Q. Yes. Now, in the middle of the plan, this middle portion 

containing the cross-section of the 1100 foot distance— A. Yes.
Q. You have— A. Shown the location of a ship over the 

five fathom line.
The Court: Ship's hull under water, is it ? A. I show the 

ship's hull—the portion under water.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Yes, it is between— A. It is immediately 

over the figure 200.
Q. And 200 at the top ? A. And 200 at the top, yes.
Q. Yes. Now, that boat that you have marked there, how 

did you come to place that there, and what scale did you use, and 
what is it for, and how many feet is it, and how many feet is it 
from the five fathom line and so on ? A. Well, I was requested 
to show the boat in that position so that it could be referred to at 

30 another period.
Q. Tell us what that position is. Give the position so it can 

be intelligently understood ? A. The scale of the plan is 40 feet 
to the inch.

Q. How many feet north of the five fathom line, that is the 
south shore five fathom line, is the ship shown? A Well, the 
location of the ship as shown—the centre line of the ship is shown 
on the five fathom line.

Q. The centre line of the ship ? A. The centre line of the 
ship. 

40 Q. Is shown on the five fathom line ? A Yes.
Mr. Donaehy: Yes, all right. Very good, your witness.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Mr. Griffin: Well, if your lordship pleases, I would like to 

adjourn the cross-examination of this witness until after lunch 
until I can get a chance to look at these plans. I haven't seen any 
of them, and I am only seeing them now—

G. S. Hanes 
Cross-exam.
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Mr. Donaghy : Just pardon me, I want to deal with another 
cross-section here. We were dealing with the 1100 foot one.

Q. By the way, I see you have another ship shown on this.
The Court: Oh, I was just wondering about that.
Mr. Donaghy : Yes, I forgot about that.
Q. There is another ship shown on there, isn't there? A. The 

location, of a ship is shown on the cross-section 700 feet east of the 
bridge.

Q. Yes, it is shown by a design of the hull in the same way.
Q. Shown by a design of the hull, the portion below water.
Q. Yes, and where is that location? A. That — the centre 

line of the ship is shown 150 feet north of the five fathom line.
Mr. Donaghy : All right, your witness.
Mr. Griffin : As I say, my lord, of course these are all brand 

new facts, we haven't heard a word about this.
The Court : Have you any other witness you can go on with, 

Mr. Donaghy? Mr. Griffin says he would like if it is convenient 
to you, to have a little time to look over these plans ; it seems very 
very reasonable.

Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord, we have.
Mr. Griffin : And the witness has something to add.
Mr. Burns : Yes, he has to do some work at the adjournment. 

It will be a little out of the way this, but it doesn't matter about 
the order. I will call Mr. A. L . McNaughton.

ALEXANDER LORNE McNAUGHTON, a witness called 
on behalf of the Plaintiff, being first duly sworn, testified as 
follows :

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
Q. You live in the City, Mr. McNaughton ? A. I do.
Q. What is your occupation? A. I am employed by the 

Dominion Water Power Reclamation Service as assistant power 
development engineer.

Q. Would you turn more toward his lordship and speak a 
little louder.

The Court : What is the name of that company, Mr. Burns.
Mr. Burns : Q. Would you repeat that, witness ? A. I am 

employed by the Dominion Water Power Reclamation Service 
as assistant power development engineer.

Mr. Griffin: Can you get all that cluster, Mr. Burns?
The Witness: Assistant power development engineer.
The Court: Q. You don't mean the National Government? 

A. Yes, sir.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, the Dominion Water Power Reclama­ 

tion Service of the Department of the Interior of Canada — it is 
rather long.

10

20

30
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The Court: Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Take your time, witness, while you are giving 

your evidence. And how long have you been—
The Court: I might say this—I mean about the names, I am 

following1 indeed a very good lead, I am following a very good 
authority in referring to the Government as National because it 
was mentioned by Sir Richard McBride not so many years ago, 
and I thought it was a very good example, so there is no doubt 
about it, it is the National Government he is now representing— 
I mean is now employed by. What is exactly his position, Mr. 
Burns.

Assistant power development engineer.
Yes.
Of the Department of Interior of the National

RECORD

Mr. Burns: 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 

Government. 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns:

Yes.

What Pier? 
Mr. Burns:

4-A.
The Court: 
Mr. Burns:

Q. Of what pier? A. 25 feet south of Pier

South of Pier 4-A? A, Yes. 
Q. Yes, that would be 25 feet south of the
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Q. For how long have you been engaged on that 
work, Mr. McNaughton ? A. 13 years.

Q. And in connection with that work did you have occasion 
to test, investigate and look into the matters of tidal velocities at 
any time? A. No, not tidal velocities. I have never had any 
experience with tidal velocities before, but—

Q. With water velocities particularly ? A. Water velocities.
Q. Generally ? A. Fresh water, streams.
Q. And the matter of investigating or getting1 records of 

tidal velocities would be of the same nature ? A. It would.
Q. Now, did you make any investigation of tidal velocities 

of the Second Narrows recently? A. I did,
Q. When? A. On the morning of October 20th last.
Q. And where, in the Second Narrows? A. At the two 

points, at the centre of the bascule span and 25—
Q. Speak louder, please—at the centre of the bascule span ? 

A. At the centre of the bascule span and 25 feet east of Pier 4-A,
Q. Two different points? A. Yes.
Q. Now, when you say the centre of the bascule span, that 

is the centre north and south ? A. That is what I mean.
Q. And how about the bridge, what would be the centre 

east and west, or would it be the east front of the bridge or west 
front of the bridge ? A. On the east front of the bridge.

Q. On the east front of the bridge ? A. Yes.
Q. In the centre of the bascule span? A. Yes.
The Court: He said 25 feet east, what from, Mr. Burns?
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south span ? A. Yes.
Q. And that again would be at the east front of the bridge ? 

A. Yes.
Q. Now, when was that done. Would you just explain what 

you did in the way of your investigations? A. The velocity 
measurements at the centre of the bascule span were started at 
2:10 A.M., and were taken at ten minute intervals at one foot be­ 
low the surface and 25 feet below the surface until 3:40 A.M.

The Court: Q. You say one minute to two minute intervals ? 
A. Ten minute intervals. 10

Q. I beg your pardon, ten minutes? A. Yes.
Q. Yes ? A. Approximately ten minute intervals.
Mr. Burns: That continued from 2:10 until 3:40f A. From 

2:10 to 3:40.
Q. A.M. ? A. Yes. There was no measurement made be­ 

tween 3:40 and I think 4:01. From 4:01 measurements were con­ 
tinued at approximately ten minute intervals until 4:30 and at 
half hour intervals thereafter until ten o'clock in the morning.

Q. That was with reference to this point in the bascule span 
which I call point "A?" A. Yes, the centre of the bascule span, 20 
yes.

Q. Well, then would you give the same information with 
reference to point "B?" A. At Point "B" measurements were 
taken starting, I think at 4:01 or 4:02 and continuing until 4:30, as 
many measurements as possible were taken at one foot depth and 
at 25 foot depth.

The Court: Q. At Point "B," now what point—the point 
"B" you mean is that point you gave us before, 25 feet south of 
Pier "4?" A. Yes, my lord.

The Court: What depth, Mr. Burns, has he given us. 30
Mr. Burns: One foot and 24 feet.
The Witness: 25 feet.
The Court: Q. From one to 25 feet ? A. No, just the vel­ 

ocities at one foot depth.
Mr. Burns: Q. And at 25 feet? A. And at 25 feet.
Q. I will get you to explain — will you please explain the 

method there, just giving the history if you will.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Burns: Q. You say these experiments and investiga­ 

tions were made from 4:01 till 4:30, up to that time ? A. Yes. 40
Q. 4:30 at this point "B?" A. Yes.
Q. Now, then, would you explain to his lordship just 

how these experiments are done or how do you take the measure­ 
ments of the tidal velocities at that point? A. The measure­ 
ments were made with a Gurley-Price current meter.

Q. What is that, speak a little more slowly ? A. The Gur- 
lev-Price current meter is a standard instrument that is used—
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Q. Gurley-Priee, is that the name of a man ? A. No, it is K*COF 
the name of the firm.

Q. Of the firm, Ghirley-Price, just what is the next words ? 
A. Current meter.

Q. Current meter ? A. Yes.
Q. You see we have to understand everything that is said, 

Mr. McNaughton ? A. Yes.
Q. Go on? A. This instrument is extended in the water, 

with a rod of steel with six cone-shaped buckets which is revolved 
10 by the course of the current, which is greater—naturally greater 

on the concave side of the cone than the convex. The velocity is 
proportionate to the speed of the water, roughly. The rate of vel­ 
ocity is taken with a stop watch in conjunction with an electric 
device for counting the revolutions.

Q. A wheel? "A. Yes.
Q. Is that the regular method of getting the velocity of 

water—running water? A. That is the standard method of our 
service, and also of the United States Geological survey.

Q. Well, then, how do you apply that to these two points 
20 you speak of near the surface, one foot and 25 feet. A. The 

meter is attached to a hanger, the weight of the hanger is 15 pound 
or 30 pound in this case, 30 pound lead weight. The whole of this 
is extended from the bridge by a wire cable, and it is let down in 
the first case until it is one foot below the surface—until the meter 
itself is one foot below the surface. The velocity is then ascertain­ 
ed as I have described.

Q. Yes ? A. And in the case when one meter is used, it is 
then let down to 25 feet below the surface; but mostly we were us­ 
ing two meters, and one was kept about 25 feet below the surface 

30 and the other at one foot below the surface.
Q. Oh, you did two simultaneously? A. Practically.
The Court: Q. Now, I understand you to say that you used 

two meters simultaneously in this case ? A. Not altogther simul­ 
taneous.

Mr. Burns: Q. Oh, well, then—
The Court: I do not know that he wishes us to understand 

that he was conducting his operations with two meters or with one.
Mr. Burns: Q., Well, just to what extent did you use two 

meters ? A. We used three meters altogether. 
40 The Court: Q. Three ? A. I might say there were two of us 

conducting these experiments.
The Court: Yes, I see.
Mr. Burns: Q. Who was you assistant ? A. Mr. White- 

house.
Q. Mr. Whitehouse? Then at times you used one meter 

and other times you used two in order to get the one foot and 
twenty-five at the same, is that right ? A. Yes.

Q. Now, what was the range of tide that you were working
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on? A. I have the tide tables here myself. The ebb tide—the 
height of the ebb tide was 10.4 from the tide table.

Q. Yes ? A. And at slack water the height was 2.5; and at 
the succeeding—

Q. That is giving a range of 7.9 ? A. Yes.
Q. Yes ? A. At the suceeding high water the tide tables 

give a height of 11.5.
Q. Yes ? A, That giving a range of 9 feet.
Q. A range of 9 feet. Now, did you observe the currents of 

slack water at that time, that is, the actual occurrence of it? A. No, 10 
I didn't. At the time of slack water we were busy getting ready 
for operations at point "B."

Q. Yes, that is the reason that you did'nt take any observa­ 
tions from what point—from three— A. From 3:40-—

Q. 3:40? A. To 4:01.
Q. To 4:01? A. Yes.
Q. Now, did you compile a report of your work ? A. I did.
Q. Is this it? (Handing document to witness.) A. That 

is it.
Q. Now, will you just give this information with reference 20 

to the report: You took certain observations and Mr. Whitehouse 
took certain observations? A. Yes, that is right.

Q. Is that shown in the report as to which did which ? A. It 
is, yes.

Q. That is under the column headed "observer" the figure 
"M" is for you? A. Yes.

Q. I understand; and the figure "W" is for Whitehouse? 
A. Yes.

Q. So to the extent of your own personal observations this 
report is your work? A. It is. 30

Q. And to the extent of Mr. Whitehouse's personal observa­ 
tions it is his work. It is a compilation between the two of you ? 
A. My own part of the report is given in there. I don't think 
Mr. Whitehouse was there at that; time, until it was made up.

Q. I see, you completed the report, but Mr. Whitehouse took 
these other observations, which you got from him? A. Yes.

Mr. Burns: I ask to have that put in.

(DOCUMENT MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 62.)
Q. Now, taking this report, Mr. McNaughton (handing docu­ 

ment to witness)—you might state as a result of that work, what 40 
conclusion ?did you come to with reference to any question of 
difference between the surface currents and undercurrents in vel­ 
ocity ? A. Dealing first with point'' A "—

The Court: What is this he is looking at ?
Mr. Burns: Q. What is that, witness? A. I am looking 

at my chart of velocities.
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The Court:
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report, my lord.
The Court:

That is the chart, my lord, accompanying the RECORD

That is accompanying the report, that will be 63. 
Well, it is part and parcel—it is bound with the

Oh, I beg your pardon, yes. He is dealing now— 
he says that is the conclusion as shown in the velocity chart, is that 
it?

Mr. Burns: Q. You were referring to your velocity chart ? 
10 A. Yes.

Q. And what is your evidence. Explain it? A. Dealing 
first with point "A," the velocities at the surface before low water 
slack are higher than the velocities at—I mean if the velocities 
at the surface—the velocity of one foot depth was higher than that 
at 25 foot depth by probably an average of 33 per cent.

Q. Yes?
The Court: Now, just repeat that, you see. You speak in­ 

distinctly and you have got your back turned to me.
Mr. Burns: Would you move over towards his lordship. 

20 The Court: Q. Just repeat that clearly. A. I said, my 
lord, that—

Q. Just turn around., You must have a really good voice, 
you have to learn you are in big room like this. A. Yes. Defil­ 
ing first with point "A," the velocities at the surface, that is at low 
water slack are greater than the velocities at 25 feet depth by 
approximately 33 per cent.

Mr. Burns: Q. That is 33 per cent, of the velocity at 25 
foot depth—to 33 per cent, of the velocity at one foot ? A. Yes, 
33 per cent, of the velocity at 25.

30 Q. That is 33 per cent, of that velocity greater? A. Yes. 
That is just a rough estimate.

Q. Just wait now, just wait. You are now at the surface, 
at point "A," and you say that—just exactly what time is this? 
A. This—the observations previous to low water slack.

Q. And how much previous to the low water slack when you 
began? A. From 2:10 to 6.

Q. Yes, but I don't want exact figures, I want the time. How 
long was it ? A. For about an hour and forty minutes previous 
to low water slack. 

40 The Court: Yes.
Mr. Burns: Q. You spoke of the one foot below the surface 

as being the surface? A. Yes.
Q. In these remarks? A. Yes.
Q. Yes? A. After low water slack—
The Court: One foot below the surface—what?
Mr. Burns: He speaks of as the surface.
The Court: Q. Very well, then, one foot below the surface;
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Q. Yes, previous to low water slack. You have two meters 
in operation, is it I A. Yes, we did at that time and at that 
point.

Q. Yes, that is what I mean, at that point? A. Yes.
Q. Yes, No. 1 was submerged one foot below the surfaced 

A. Yes, my lord.
Q. Also one was submerged 25 feet below the surface? A. 

Yes. 10
Q. Now, what is the difference in velocity, your own idea, 

between the upper and the lower, which is the greater, and by how 
much ? A. The velocities at one foot below the surface are great­ 
er than the velocities at 25 feet below the surface.

Q. Yes, by how much ? A. By approximately 33 per cent.
Q. Yes? A. Of the lower velocities; the upper velocity 

at 25 feet.
Q. Both going the same way? A, I can't say that abso­ 

lutely, my lord.
Mr. Burns: Q. I didn't hear, What is your answer to that? 20 

A. I can't say that absolutely at all stages, that is only the veloc­ 
ity going very slow, I have no means of knowing what direction 
the current is at 25 feet below the surface.

Q. Well, but at the stage where the velocities are quite cap­ 
able of being measured are you able to say whether they were 
going the same way or not, both of them ? A. Down to a velocity 
say of 1 foot per second.

Q. Yes ? A. I would be able to say from the angle of in­ 
clination of the meter—

The Court: That is what I was thinking of. A. Yes, with 30 
the velocity at 25 foot depth—the velocity of direction at 25 foot 
depth was approximately the same as the direction on the surface.

Mr. Burns: Q. Yes; that is down to a point of 1 foot per 
second, do you say? A. About 1 foot per second, it must be by 
about one foot per second.

Q. I understand that and below that, on account of the slow­ 
ness of the current you are not able accurately to make a state­ 
ment, is that what you mean ? A. That is right. The cable makes 
it nearly vertical, that there is no observed inclination.

Q. Yes, but still that instrument is so fine that the velocity 40 
could still be recorded below one foot per second? A. Velocities 
are recorded, but not with the same accuracy.

Q. Well, then, coming on to slack water, what is the position 
with reference to the surface and under the surface? A. Well, 
I didn't observe the water surface from 3:40 a.m. to about 4:01.

Q. Well, when was slack water? A. As nearly as I can 
judge from the convergence of the lines of velocity it was about
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3:50 a.m.
Q. About3:50a.m.? A. Yes.
Q. At that time, at 3:50 a.m. was there any perceptible move­ 

ment of the water on the surface and the water underneath ? A. I 
wasn't observing it-at that time.

Q. Well, then, when the tide commenced to make, what was 
the position? A. After low water slack the velocities—

The Court: Perhaps this would be a good time to adjourn.

(COURT ADJOURNED AT 1 P.M. TO 2:15 P.M. OF 
10 THE SAME DAY.)

Vancouver, B.C., December 5,1928, 2:15 p.m. 
(COURT RESUMED PURSUANT TO ADJOURNMENT.)

Mr. Burns: If your lordship pleases, shall I proceed with 
the witness we left at the adjournment or will the cross-examina­ 
tion of Mr. Hanes proceed?

The Court: Just as you prefer, if you would like to finish 
with this witness.

Mr. Griffin: That would be all right.

ALEXANDER LORNE McNAUGHTON resumes the stand.

20 DIRECT EXAMINATION CONTINUED BY MR. BURNS:
Q. Now, Mr. McNaughton, you were dealing with the tide, 

ebbing towards low slack? A. Yes.
Q. Do you wish this? A. Yes, I would like to have the 

report. It is on the desk there.
Q. And you stated that the surface velocity during that 

time was greater than the 25 foot velocity. Would that obtain 
throughout the whole time of the ebb down to low slack ? A. Well, 
I could not say before the time of my observations.

Q. No, I mean during your observations, of course ? A. Yes, 
30 during my observations.

Q. Would you say that would obtain down to the point where 
there was no perceptible velocity, or would that 33 per cent, vary ? 
A. The 33 per cent, is an average. It is quite variable.

Q. Could you give more definite evidence with reference to 
that then ? A. On the last observation which I have at 3:40 a.m. 
the velocity one foot below the surface is half a knot per hour and 
the velocity 25 feet below the surface is 22/100ths of a knot per 
hour.

Q. And then that works up to what in order to get the aver- 
40 age working back ? A. My average is taken from an inspection 

of this plan and I do not intend it to be very accurate.
Q. It is an approximate average? A. Yes.
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Q. Then could you say as to whether at any time there was 
any perceptible velocity, as to whether you could size up whether 
the current was going the same direction or not. Did you see any 
evidence of the current below at the 25 foot point going in any 
other than the same direction, than the current at the 1 foot point 1 
A. I did not.

Q. Then after passing through slack water what is your 
evidence as to the difference between the surface current and the 
25-foot current, from 4:01 or whatever that point was ? A. Yes, 
4.01 is the time of the first observation. At that time the velocity 10 
at the 25 foot depth was greater than the velocity one foot below 
the surface.

Q. To what extent ? A. The velocity at one foot below the 
surface was 82/100ths of a knot, no pardon me, the velocity at 
one foot below the surface was 48/100ths of a knot per hour and 
the velocity at 25 feet below the surface was 7/10th knots per hour.

Q. How does that proceed to the end of your observation? 
A. On the other observations the velocity at 25 foot depth was 
the greater, at others.

Mr. Griffin: I cannot hear you. A. At other observations 20 
the velocity at 25 foot depth was the greater and at some observa­ 
tions of the velocity at the one foot depth it was the greater. They 
alternated throughout the range.

Q. Alternated? A. Well, alternated is not the word, the 
line of velocity crossed several times in the chart.

Q. How long did those particular observations continue? 
A. Until 10 a.m. That is approximately 6 hours and 10 minutes 
after what we observed as low water slack.

Q. And your report gives the details of what you are now 
stating? A. Yes. 30

Q. What, have you to say as a result of your observations 
as to a comparison of the last hour of the ebb with the first hour of 
the flood tide with reference to velocity generally speaking? 
A. The velocity of the last hour of the ebb decreased more slowly 
than the velocity of the first hour of the flood increased.

Q. To what extent would you define that. Is the difference 
greater or not? A. The velocity at the first hour of the flood is 
about two and one-half knots an hour. The average velocity at 
one hour before the water is slack is approximately two knots per 
hour, so that there is about 25 per cent, difference. 4<)

Q. You say that the average of the first hour of the flood 
would be 25 per cent, greater than the last hour of the ebb. Is 
that what you are stating? A. The velocity attained the first 
hour of the flood is 25 per cent, greater than the average velocity 
one hour before.

Q. You have not the average of the first hour of the flood ? 
A. No.
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Q. So that the ebb tide would diminish at a lower rate ui 
some kind as compared with the increase in the flood tide during 
the first hour of the flood ? A. Yes.

Q. Could you figure that from your deductions, 25 per cent, 
or what? A. Yes, considering only the velocity attained one 
hour before and one hour after.

Q. Now, then, as to the rate of this velocity, what do you say 
as to the velocity, the speed of it, or the rate of the velocity say 
at slack tide and fifty minutes, 25 minutes each way from slack? 
A. What are the velocities ?

Q. I mean what speed; I mean the rate of velocity, what 
would it be; what would be the greatest rate? A. 25 minutes?

Q. Each way ? A, Yes, 25 minutes before low water slack 
taken at 3:50 a.m. the velocity on the surface is approximately one 
knot per hour and the velocity at the 25 foot depth is approximate­ 
ly \ knot per hour, a little less than 4/10ths I should say from the 
plan.

Q. That is on the ebb? A. Yes.
Q. Then, on the flood, take it for the 25 minutes? A. At 

25 minutes the velocity attained would be approximately one knot 
and a quarter per hour on the surface and the same at the 25 foot 
depth.

Q. Now, then, will you give the same figures for the hour 
each way? A. One hour before low water slack the velocity on 
the surface is approximately 2 1/3 knots per hour and the velocity 
at the 25 foot depth is approximately one and one-half knots per 
hour.

Q. Yes? A. One hour after low water slack the velocity 
on the surface is approximately 2| knots per hour and the velocity 
at a depth of 25 feet is approximately 2 4/10ths knots per hour.

Q. When did the maximum velocity of that tide; when was 
that reached after the tide had turned. I am speaking of the 
flood? A. Yes, the maximum recorded velocity was reached at 
3 hours and 40 minutes after the tide had turned.

Q. And what was that ? A. 3.6 knots per hour at a depth 
of 25 feet and 3.5 knots per hour at a depth of 1 foot.

Q. Would you let me see that book for a minute, please. 
Possibly you could give me the information. How many observa­ 
tions did you make at the point "A?" A. Ten observations be­ 
fore slack, that is ten observations at one foot below the surface 
and ten at twenty-five feet below the surface.

Q. Yes, speak up ? A. Seventeen observations at one foot 
below the surface after slack.

The Court: Where, at "B" or "A." A. At the point "A."
Mr. Burns: "A" we are at, my lord. A. And 14 observa­ 

tions at 25 feet below.
Qv 17 at 1 foot below and 14 at 25 feet below the surface? 

A. Yes.
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British Columbia A. Mr. Whitehouse took all the observations at "B." He took 
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Q. I understand that is already covered. That is all.Plaintiff's 
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A. L.
McNaughton
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G. S. Hanes 
Direct

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Q. Mr. McNaughton, I think I have only one question. I 

think you found that low slack to the best of your observation was 
3:50? A. Yes.

Q. And I got it from another witness that low slack on the 
tide table was 4:01. I will not bother checking that 1 A. I have 
done that.

Q. In other words, the tide turned at eleven minutes before 
the tide table time ? A. Yes.

Q. Thank you.
(Witness aside.)

GEORGE SAMUEL HANES, resumes the stand. 
The Registrar: You are still under oath? A. Yes.

10

CONTINUATION OF DIRECT EXAMINATION 
BY MR. DONAGHY:

Q. Mr. Hanes, on exhibit 60 you were requested to draw a 20 
line during lunch time to make it blue, produced easterly at right 
angles (to the bridge. Have you done that on this exhibit 60? 
A. Yes, I have drawn a line at right angles to the bridge and 
marked it shown in blue.

Q. You were likewise requested during lunch to show on 
exhibit 58 the dimensions of the obstructive cross-section of the 
fill, that is, that would obstruct the easterly current to show the 
base and perpendicular and the angle. Have you done that on 
exhibit 58 ? A. Yes, I placed the figures on that.

Q. Just state what they are at low tide—the base— A. 25 
feet.

Q. The base of the fill under water is 25 feet ? A. Yes.
Q. Yes? A. And the depth at the outer edge is about 8 

feet.
Q. The depth of the fill or the water? A. Yes, well,'the 

depth of the fill.
Q. All right. How low is it below low water, the toe below 

the surface of the water? A. 8 feet.
Q. I just thought you were confusing yourself again as you 

did this morning. Does it run to practically zero at the toe? 40 
A. It runs to zero at the toe.

Mr. Griffin: I did not hear that.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Does it run to zero at the toe, at the toe of

30



695

the fill? A. Yes. RECORD 
Mr. Griffin: What does zero mean, I do not understand this. British Co

I wish you would enlighten me. Admiralty 
Mr. Donaghy: I know what it is. Get a dictionary. Plaintiffs 
Mr. Griffin: You might make it plain to me. There is no Case

object of leaving it in the dark. „ 0 -77--\r T-V i? rr • J.T. • G. S. HaneSMr. Donaghy: Zero is nothing. Direct.
Mr. Griffin: You were speaking of the water. Perhaps his (Contd.) 

lordship knows.
10 The Court: The toe of the fill runs to nothing in the bed of 

the stream.
Mr. Griffin: I catch the point now.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. The south portion of the fill under low 

water, to what depth is it under low water ? What is the perpen­ 
dicular line of the fill under low water at the south part ? A. Eight 
feet.

Q. At the south end. Is that shown here. Check me, as
you know this is going in for the last time as accurate. What is
the perpendiculuar line? A. It runs to zero at the south end.

20 Q. You are talking of the fill ? A. Yes, eight feet running
to zero.

Q. Where is the toe of the fill, I thought it was at the north 
end? A. The water is eight feet deep at the north end.

Q. Where is the toe of the fill at the north end or the south 
end? A. The north end.

Q. Do not confuse anything for goodness sake. You have
told us that is zero. It becomes thicker or deeper as you go from
the south ? A. I understood the question, the toe of the fill runs
out to zero. It runs out to eight feet of water at the north end.

30 Q. We are no asking for the depth of the water out there.
Mr. Griffin: Do not cross-examine you own witness.
Mr. Donaghy: I am only correcting it so that it will be 

understood.
The Court: Listen to what counsel is asking you. It is per­ 

fectly clear what he is asking you.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. I do not want to know the depth of the 

water north of the fill, I have no desire to know. Where the low 
water line is on the south shore, how high up the fill does the water 
line run perpendicularly, vertically ? A. Eight feet. 

40 Q. That is clear. Is that shown here? A. Yes.
Q. Where is the figure ? A. Where my finger is.
Q. Where is the low water mark on this fill ?
The Court: Put the letter L. W., so that we will know. A. It 

is marked already L. W.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. The perpendicular line is about eight feet 

at the south end? A. Yes.
Q. What is the base line of the fill under water ? A. Twenty-
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five feet.
Q. Read what you have shown here so we will have it on re­ 

cord. Read the figures marked in red showing the dimensions? 
A. I have shown the dimensions on the part of the fill under water 
on the foreshore as it was at 25 feet. I have shown the vertical 
depth of 8 feet of water at the toe of the fill at the south end and I 
have shown 20 feet as the—at the low water mark, of a distance 
where the low water intercepts the foreshore to the outer edge of 
the fill.

The Court: Yes, we have it now. 10
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Have you made this computation at high 

water ? A. Yes.
Q. All right give that. A. At high water the fill measures 

155 feet from the high water mark to the pier cylinder, the south 
cylinder of Pier No. 5. That measurement is taken on the top of 
the fill.

Q. What is called the edge? A, Yes, the edge of the fill.
Q. Very good. Now, go on and give these dimensions, show­ 

ing the face of the obstruction to the current going east ? A. Well, 
at the south end of the fill at high water— 20

The Court: Q. Yes, yes, the south edge, call it that, that is 
what you mean? A, Yes, it would start at zero and running 
northerly the depth increases 13 feet, that is, from low water to 
high water 13 feet. In other words there would be a triangle 13 
feet high and 150 feet long on one side and approximately the 
same on the other running out to zero.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. That would be the dimension of the ob­ 
struction 1? A. Yes.

Q. Now, to a westerly current, would those obstructions be 
as large in dimensions, thai is, obstructing water, obstructing the 30 
westerly current which of course would strike the east bank of 
the fill ? A. A current flowing west.

Q. Yes? A. The current flowing west—
Q. I take it if it was the same size of a tide it would be the 

same obstruction ? A. No, to a current flowing west the obstruc­ 
tion is practically nothing, because the low water mark comes to 
a pier on the east side of the bridge and at low water the obstruc­ 
tion practically—

Q. In other words, it shows the sweep a little more northerly 
as going east there on the fill, the high water mark naturally? 40 
A. The low water mark strikes the east side of the fill at Pier No. 
5 and then it swings to the south of the bay west of the bridge.

Q. Are you talking of the natural low water mark ? A. Yes.
Q. Regardless of the fill? A. Well, the fill follows the low 

water mark around with the bay.
Q. I am talking of the original shore line, please confine 

yourself to that regardless of the fill ? A. Yes, I was speaking
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of the original shore line.
Q. Have you shown on this plan the original shore line? 

A. Yes.
Q. Where ? How was it marked ? A. It is marked low to 

the level—
Q. It is rather interesting, my lord.You might care to see 

that.
The Court: Yes, thank you.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. You are, I take it, the engineer for the 

Bridge Company, too, are you ? A. I am civil engineer for the 
Bridge Company.

Q. And what uses is this bridge put to. What use is made 
of it since it was built? A. The bridge is used for a railway 
bridge, a vehicular traffic bridge and a pedestrian bridge.

Q. Connecting the— A. Connecting the south shore The 
City of Vancouver, with the north shore, the District of North 
Vancouver, and then the City of North Vancouver and District of 
West Vancouver.

Q. Is this bridge connected up with any railway ? A. Yes, 
the south end of the bridge is connected up with the C. P. R. and 
the north end of the bridge is connected with a line of railway 
which runs westerly into the City of North Vancouver and is being 
connected with the Pacific Great Eastern Railway by the construc­ 
tion of a subway which is practically finished.

Q. Is the bridge made use of for railway traffic and freight ? 
A. Yes, the bridge is made use of for railway traffic for hauling 
grain cars over to an elevator which has been constructed on the 
north shore and for handling lumber from the sawmills and tim­ 
ber—

Mr. Griffin: I cannot see to what issue this is relevant and 
therefore I take objection.

Mr. Donaghy: It is on an issue that comes up on a point of 
law and I do not want to argue the point of law now.

The Court: He says that it is being used for railway traffic 
for the purposes of laying a foundation for an argument at law.

Mr. Griffin: My point is that it is not on any of the issues 
raised.

The Court: It is exactly what was called to mind yesterday 
and he gave assurance that it is directed to that, and I take coun­ 
sel's assurance. A. For handling timber to the timber export 
docks and for handling general merchandise and coal and other 
public necessities.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. And the grain which is taken across to 
the elevator on the north shore, do you know whether that grain 
is being exported out of the harbour? A. The grain is exported 
on ocean going ships.

Q. Will you state to Ms lordship a general description of
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RECORD_ the traffic, of the vehicular traffic that goes over the bridge? A. 
British Columbia The vehicular traffic is quite extensive and is rapidly increasing. 

Qn busy days the number of autos crossing the bridge is as high 
as 7,000 automobiles.

The Court: Q. You must speak louder. You do mumble. 
I have spoken to you several times about it? A. On busy days 
the vehicular traffic amounts to about 7,000 vehicles a day, about 
20,000 passengers.

The Court: The vehicular traffic is how much a day? A. On 
a busy day it is up to 7,000 vehicles per day.

Q. Yes ? A. And about 20,000 passengers.
Q. 25,000 passengers? A. About 20,000 passengers.
Q. About 20,000? A. Yes, my lord.
Mr. Donaghy: Your witness.

Plaintiff's 
Case

G. S. Hanes 
Direct 

(Contd.)

G. S. Hanes 
Cross-exam.

10

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY ME. GRIFFIN:
Q. Mr. Hanes, were you ever at any time a director of the 

Bridge Company? A. Yes, I was.
Q. What year? A. 1913,1915 and 1916.
Q. All of the earlier years ? A Yes.
Q. Are you now? A. No. 20
Q. You were, were you, an officer of the Bridge Company— 

were you an officer of the Bridge Company at any time, an official 
like the president, the secretary or the manager? A. No.

Q. You have been their engineer, I suppose, right from the 
start ? A. No, only since the bridge was constructed.

Q. Now, just for the purposes of the record I just want to 
show you—you remember the official opening of the bridge in 
1925? A. Yes, I do.

Q. I suppose this little book is familiar to you? A. Yes.
Q. This is a little book commemorating the opening of the 30 

bridge. I just show you this picture on page 12 purporting to 
show the condition of the construction on February the 27th. Is 
that a correct representation?

Mr. Donaghy: You should ask him if he remembers the date.
A. I do not remember the date of February 27th, but that is 

a photograph taken of the work.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Using the photograph, so far as it does to 

assist your memory, does that portray the state of the construction 
on or about that date? A. I could not say that it does on or 
about that date, but that is a photograph of the work carried out. 40

Q. Could you place the date? A. I could not, I do not 
know.

Q. See that embankment there. Is that part of the rock fill 
that we have been discussing? A. Yes, I think it is.

Q. I will just tender this to show that rock fill. I will mark 
it rock fill right on the bottom? A. That rock fill as shown is
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around the bay to the west and south of the bridge. RECORD
Q. Yes, I see that. A. It is a long distance from the bridge. British coium
Q. It is the one that we have been discussing, merely a con- Admir^y £>>

tinuation of it? A. Yes. Plaintiff's
Mr. Donaghy: That is on page what? Case
Mr. Griffin: Page 12. ——
The Court: What exhibit is that? G. s. Hanes 
The Registrar: This will be exhibit 63. Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)

(PAGE 12 OF BOOKLET MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 63)
10 Mr. Donaghy: That is only page 12. The whole book is not 

going in.
Mr. Griffin: I am not trying to get it in.
Q. Here is another one, page 18, showing the condition of 

the construction purporting to be on the 28th of April, 1925. 
Does that to your recollection show the state of the construction 
about that date ? A. I could not say as to the date, but it is a 
photograph showing the construction.

Q. In November, 1925, were you familiar with this book? 
A, I possibly have seen the book, but I had nothing to do with 

20 preparing it and perhaps I did not read it through.
Q. I am asking you as a public member of North Vancouver 

whether or not you are familiar with it ? A. I had a copy of the 
book at that time.

Q. Did you find it to be correct in the obvious important 
details as to the dates of construction? A. I never gave it a 
thought because I was not interested in it.

Q. Have you the slightest doubt that these photographs taken 
by Mr. L. Frank and published in the book show the state of the 
construction on the dates that they bear date ? A. I think they 

30 show the construction at some period of the construction.
Q. Have you any doubt that the dates are correct? A. I 

could not offer an opinion on that. I do not know.
Q. I am asking if you have any doubt on it.
Mr. Donaghy: I submit that that is hardly a fair question.
The Court: He says that he does not know anything about 

it.
Mr. Griffin: Very well, my lord, I will leave it at that.
Mr. Donaghy: Pages 12 and 18 are the exhibit.
The Registrar: Yes.

40 Mr. Griffin: Q. I am now showing you a survey plan that 
has been put in as exhibit 58. On what day was the survey made 
which is the foundation of this plan ? A. September 29th, 1928.

Q. All made on that day? A. Yes.
Q. During what hours? A. The surface measurements 

were made on that date in the afternoon.
Q. Between what hours ? A. Between noon and five o 'clock.
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Q. The surf ace measurements ? A. Yes, the soundings were 
taken at another time.

Q. When were the soundings taken ? A. I have been taking 
those soundings for years.

Q. To what soundings are you now referring to ? A. The 
depth of the water at low water.

Q. With the exception of these soundings I see indicated 
here the balance of it, the whole survey was made on that one day? 
A. Yes.

Q. Did you take the low water contour ? 10
The Court: What is the date he said, Mr. Griffin?
Mr. Griffin: The 29th of September, 1928.
Q. Was the low water contour shown on this plan plotted 

on the ground with a rod and level ? A. No, I had the marks of 
it on the rocks.

Q. Was it down with a rod and level? A. Low tide mark 
was taken with a rod and the depth of water was taken by sound­ 
ings and levels.

Q. Did you plot the contour on the ground with a rod and 
level ? A. I did it with a rod. 20

Q. How about levels? You would need a level to do that, 
wouldn't you? A. I did not run a level over the top of the fill, 
because it is above high water now and always has been.

Q. Take the plan part, did you mark this contour of the 
low water line on the ground, ascertain it and fix it with a rod and 
level? A. No, not with a rod and level but I visited those por­ 
tions at low water and marked the point where it came in contact 
with the fill.

Q. Then you did not do it in the way that I described, and 
you did not put any pegs in? A. No. 30

Q. Shortly put you did it by tracing the direction with the 
eye on the ground? A. Your low tide mark indicates the rock 
fill.

Q. Just with the idea, by the eye? A. At that point, yes.
Q. And was its horizontal position then fixed by you with 

a transit and tape? A. The horizontal position was fixed by 
tape and measurement.

Q. Where was the point of measurement then from which 
you made your measurement ? A. I produced the east line of the 
bridge back to high water mark and took the measurements from 40 
that.

Q. Have you got your measurements back to high water 
mark ? A. I haven't it on the plan—

Q. Have you got them anywhere, these measurements? A. 
I have them in the original note books.

Q. Where are they? A. In my office.
Q. Where was the point from which you started on this
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bridge! A. I produced the east line of the bridge back to high RECORD 
water mark and measured that distance and fixed the point and British Coiumbi» 
measured east and west from that to get the width of the fill. Admiralty DJSI.

Q. You measured the approach, started from this corner of Plaintiffs 
the bridge. I will mark that "A." You started from the point Case 
"A?" A. Yes. —

Q. And measured straight south along the line of the bridge cross-exanT 
to high water mark? A. Yes. (Comd.)

Q. And then from there you made the points in the fill where 
10 they join the high water mark north, east and west and you meas­ 

ured from those? A. Yes, a distance of 75 feet this direction. 
The distance is scaled this way.

Q. Having found that out you fixed the low water mark in 
relation to the high water mark? A. I got a point on the fill 
on the west side where the low water mark intersected the rock 
fill.

Q. From where did you measure that, so as to see if this
plan is correctly laid out ? A. I measured from this place where
the low water mark intersected the rock fill at the back of the fill.

20 Q. Where are those measurements? A. It is drawn to
scale.

Q. You have not the measurements there ? A. They are in 
the note book. You don't put the measurements on the plan. The 
plan is drawn to scale.

Q. What was the state of the tide that day that you made 
these measurements, do you know?

Q. The low tide mark was fixed on a different day from the 
measurements on the surface.

Q. What day was the low tide mark fixed then ? A. The 
30 last day of October, Wednesday, October 31st at 1:30 in the morn­ 

ing I visited that site and located that point.
Q. Wednesday, the 31st of October? A. Yes.
Q. At what hour, in the morning? A. Yes.
Q. That was dark then? A. Yes.
Q. How low was the tide that morning ? A. It was .5 tide.
Q. You had the survey made previously on the 27th and 29th 

of September? A. Yes, I had checked it again on October 30th 
and everything was certainly correct.

Q. You take this low tide level as being what height? A. 
40 At elevation 84.77 that is the usual elevation taken at low tide.

Q. How did you fix it on the ground, mark it ? A. That is 
the point that the elevation of the low tide intercepts the rock 
fill. The level is where it is on the rock fill.

Q. What way did you mark it on the ground so that it could 
afterwards be measured? A. I did not drive stakes to measure 
the same point again.

Q. So that when the tide came up to the place marked men-
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tally it was all covered? A, Yes.
Q. When you made the survey the place selected as low 

water mark was under water? A. Yes.
Q. And it was only a matter of memory how far north it 

was from the place where you were standing on the 29th of Sep­ 
tember? A. Yes, there were no marks fixed to measure it. It is 
the same point again.

Q. I want you to answer the question to my satisfaction. It 
was only a matter of memory how far north to place it ? A. Yes.

Q. You will agree with me that the slightest error in placing 10 
the low water mark effects this question very vitally? A. No, 
if there is five or ten feet difference, it would make no difference 
whatever.

Q. What is the percentage of the slope on that shore from 
high to low water, do vou know? A. Yes.

Q. What is it? A. There is a slope of 13 in 130 feet.
Q. You are quicker at figures than I am, \vhat percentage is 

that ? A. About 10 per cent, or 11 per cent.
Q. Therefore, it is a 10 to 1 drop ? A. Yes, roughly.
Q. Am I right in thinking on a 10 to 1 foot drop, every foot 2') 

of level would make a difference. Would that only make 10 feet 
of a difference north to south on a 10 to 1 slope ? A. Yes.

Q. So that we take it this way that every foot of difference 
in the level might put this out by 10 feet more or less ? A, Yes.

Q. The day that you made the survey how long was slack 
water? A. Well, I was not surveying slack water particularly.

Q. I know. You could not .give it to a moment, but it was 
a very short time? A. I could not answer that.

Q. Was it not a very short period of time ? A. I could not 
answer that. I would presume so. 30

Q. So would I. It was quite a long run? A. I was not 
observing the peculiarities of the tide that day.

Q. Am I right in thinking the plotting of the fill had all to be 
done during the period when the tide was low? A, The only 
point—

Q. I wish you would please answer my question. I did not 
interrupt you a bit. You were nearly all morning and Mr. Burns 
had a free hand and now I want you to let us have our points out.

A. The point that I fixed in my mind as the intersection of 
the low tide with the fill naturally was done at low water. 40

Q. That was fixed 011 a different day. A. Yes.
Q. Please give your undivided attention to the next question. 

The day that you made your survey the toe of the fill was under 
water ? A. That is the day that I made the surface measurement. 
I visited this site several times to arrive at the point to find out 
where the point of low water intersected the rock fill.

Q. You are not answering my question. I say this, am I
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right in saying the day that you made the survey around the toe RECORD 
of the fill you had to do it, if you did it accurately, you had to do British Columbia 
it at low water? A. The date I speak of, the 29th, I made the Admiralty Dil>- 
measurements at the top of the fill. Plaintiff's

Q. This surface measurement at the top which is marked Case 
"toe of slope" that would have to be done when it was visible? A. 
Yes, but not that day.

Q. When was it done ? A. I visited that site several times.
Q. When, what days were they? A. I have not the date. 

10 I dated the plan the 29th because that is when I finished the plan 
and put my name on.

Q. They must have been earlier dates ? A. Yes.
Q. Then the culmination of all these days you had to go at 

low water or you had to guess where the toe of the fill was ? A. 
Yes, I went at low water.

Q. You do not know the dates and I cannot check the tides ? 
A. I have not the dates.

Q. So no matter what the days were you made no marks 
from which you could delineate on the plan the distance out from 

20 the pier to the toe ? A. No, I did not make any marks.
Q. Now, check me for a moment, take your measuring ruler, 

and run from low water out on exhibit 27, the length of the fill 
from north to south ? A. Well, this—

Q. Now, do as you are asked. You have had a good oppor­ 
tunity to have your side of it out. Is that not right? A. This 
is not right.

Q. I am not suggesting that it is right or wrong. You have 
had your chance to make your point? A. I have answered any 
questions that I have been asked.

30 Q. Run off a horizintal line of the fill on exhibit 27 and tell 
me how many feet it is? A. This profile was made in an en­ 
tirely different place.

Q. Would you please do as you were asked ?
Mr. Donaghy: Speaking of exhibit 27.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Horizontally I want it. You are not doing 

it horizontally? A. That would be 250 feet.
Q. Even, I do not contend for so much as that. I think you 

are still wrong ? A. This scale is 1 inch to 50 feet.
Q. Now, then, if you do as I ask, which is all you need to 

40 do—this is a much better ruler than that one of yours. Yours is 
not quite straight. I want it on the low water level. Run it off 
until you strike the low water line to the best of your ability and 
bring it out about there. Put your measure there and run the 
line out until you strike the white line along the level of low water. 
How far is that? A, That distance that you indicated to me 
would be 50 feet.

Q. Isn't it 75 feet. Do it again. It is an inch and 3/5ths,
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isn't it? A. No, it certainly is not.
Q. From the toe of the fill, measure out from the toe? A. 

From the toe?
Q. Yes, certainly? A. That is an inch and a quarter.
Q. Well, we are not far apart. That represents how many 

feet ? A. About 62 feet, but that profile is made not in the line 
of the bridge, but along the roadway which angles off to the west.

Q. You gave the distance, measuring along a straight line 
of the bridge 155 feet to high water mark? A. Yes.

Q. And of course if—you did not measure that to the toe, but 10 
to the south cylinder of Pier 5, didn't you? A. Yes.

Q. So that it would be longer if it was measured to the toe 
of the fill? A. Yes.

Q. And if you measured it following the slight curvature 
underneath the roadway, if you make your measurement along 
that line it would be still longer ? A. Yes.

Q. In other words, it would reach the figure of 250 feet given 
by another witness ? A. No, certainly would not. That 260 feet 
is the lill made in the bay to the west and to the south of the bridge. 
The roadway for vehicles curves around with the original shore 20 
line of the bay and that 250-foot rock fill is in the bay.

Q. It runs into high water mark? A. The fill that was 
made runs half a mile around the bay and is not shown on the pro­ 
file.

Q. At the point where you strike high water mark following 
the line of the roadway it would reach 250 feet ? A. Yes.

Q. That is all that I am asking you. Now, some discussion 
came up—you have been down there dozens of times and have seen 
that place? A. Yes, several times.

Q. And when you are looking westward at high tide at least 30 
there is a heavy wash against that fill, waves and splashing ? A. 
If the wind is blowing.

Q. And if there isn't any wind blowing? A. There is no 
wash.

Q. You get an obvious current against it? A. When the 
tide is running the tide strikes there.

Q. And it is also obvious to anybody from your own plan 
that the same thing will occur with an ebb tide with that rock fill 
there along the southern shore, won't it? A. When it is about 
low, to the mark, about low tide level. 40

Q. And at low tide level it is there to the extent that you have 
said, 25 feet, it is there just the same ? A. Yes.

Q. And it is a question for his lordship to decide how much 
it affects the current? A. Yes, I have been at the east side of 
the bridge and the low tide level comes on the face of the pier, 
and farther west it amounts to 25 feet at the westerly pier.

Q. The low tide level on your own plan only comes and



705

touches the backward or southerly pier of three cylinders which RECORD 
form Pier 5, is that right 1 A, No, the low tide level comes in British Coiumbi 
line from the east, in line with the pier for all practical purposes. Admiralty Dist-

Q. But that surely is the fill where the low tide crosses be- Plaintiff's 
hind these piers—it crosses according to your own survey just Case 
on the very south margin of the south No. 3 cylinder, on the south G s ~ n̂es 
of those three cylinders? A. That is correct. Cross-exam*

Q. At any stage of the tide according to you except extreme (Contd.) 
low tide there is an obstruction of the current there ? A. Yes. 

10 Q. Now, a word more about the other plan that you have 
drawn. That is exhibit No. 60. Just hold that in your hand for 
a moment. Before I start on that, has any material been dumped 
over the C. P. R. embankment to the west of the bridge since 
March, 1927 ? A. From my knowledge I think a fill was made to 
hold the foundation for the Alberta Pool Elevator.

Q. Has there been throwing over of dirt and material over 
the railway embankment between that and the bridge? A. No, 
I know of nothing that has been put in the Inlet except the founda­ 
tion and work in connection with the Pool Elevator. 

20 Q. Is it not a fact that the low water mark west of the bridge 
is the same now as in March, 1927 ? A. I think so.

Q. In your opinion has the elevator and the elevator wharf 
made any difference in the tides ? A. Well, I never studied that 
question at all.

Q. Then you don't know if that is right? A. No, I have 
never studied that situation.

Q. Now, just take that exhibit 60 in your hand for a moment.
I want you to measure along your 10 degree angle line to the north
of right angles. Am I right at a distance of 300 feet from the

30 centre of the bascule a ship progressing along that line will be
within 100 feet of the 5 fathom line?

The Court: What, the black or the blue line?
Mr. Griffin: This will be the black line.
Q. Measure along your own black line 300 feet from the 

centre of the bascule?
The Court: On exhibit what ?
Mr. Griffin: It is 60, my lord.
Q. Is that right ? A, This rule is not to the scale of the 

map so I am just a little puzzled for the moment. 
40 Q. I think for this purpose you will find that the dividers 

will help. We are not doing calculations for astronomy, but only 
for navigation. See if I am correct that it is 100 feet off the 5 
fathom line? A. Yes, I think that is correct.

Q. Now, then, go out to 600 feet and see if you don't get 
exactly the same result? A. Yes.

Q. And at 900 feet you get only 90 feet off the 5 fathom line ? 
A. Well, I would say 90 to 100 feet.
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feet it is 100 
Well, I will

_ Q. And at 1200 you still only get 100 feet? A. Well, 
British Columbia roughly 100 feet. 
Admirait^Diit. Q ^M even when you get Out to 1500 feet you have got 140
Plaintiffs feet.
Case The Court: At 1200 feet it is less than 100. A. I said 

roughly 100 feet, sir.
Mr. Griffin: That is aU I contend for. 1200 

feet and 1500 feet 140. He is verifying that. A. 
say 200 feet at that distance.

Q. There must be a mistake. I will have to correct that. I 10 
want to see. I do not want any mistake about the distances. We 
have agreed on them up to date. Now, witness, I think you are 
wrong again. There is 500 feet? A. Yes.

Q. There is the black line, 1, 2, 3 times. Now, take the 5 
fathom line. That is not the 5 fathom. Are you measuring from 
the 25 feet all the time ? A. No, it is right there.

Q. Is that right? Agreed? A, Yes, 150 feet.
Q. Even at the 10 feet I am right? A. Well, about 140.
Q. You would like to even fight for about 5 feet difference ? 

A. 140 feet is the measurement. 20
The Court: Q. At 1500 feet you say that it is 140 feet ? A. 

Yes.
Mr. Griffin: I will not bother any more along that line.
Q. I want you to measure along the right angle line, the blue 

line to which his lordship referred and tell me whether this is 
correct that a ship along that line will cross the 5 fathom line at 
625 feet from the bridge ? A. Will you please state the question 
again ?

Q. At 625 feet on the blue line, that is the line at right angles 
to the bridge, is that correct? A. What is the last part of the 30 
question ?

Q. The question was, does the ship strike the 5 fathom line at 
that point ? You see clearly it does, witness. A. Yes.

The Court: 600 and— A. At 625 feet.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Now, one more. I want to carry this dis­ 

cussion along the blue line to 1100 feet from the bridge. Am I 
right that the water there is 15 feet deep ? A. Yes.

Mr. Griffin: All right. No further questions, my lord. This 
does not seem to be a cross-section of the fill at all.

Mr. Donaghy: No, he was ordered, or at least I asked him 40 
and your lordship concurred that he should bring back after lunch 
the plan of the cross-section of the Second Narrows at the bridge 
site. I asked him if he had the plan and he brought it.

Q. You brought it ? A. Yes, that is the plan showing the 
cross-section from which I arrived at the area of the cross-section.

Q. Under the bridge ? A. Yes, under the bridge.
Mr. Griffin: Is my learned friend putting this in?



707

Mr. Donaghy: Yes. RECORD 
Q. This is the plan showing the cross-section of the area at British coiumb 

the Second Narrows at the bridge? A. Yes. Admiral,, DJ«.
Plaintiffs

(PLAN PRODUCED MARKED EXHIBIT NO. 64) Case
Mr. Griffin: Q. Just a word about this document and the G. S. Hanes 

other one exhibit 61. These cross-sections on exhibit 61 are taken Cross-exam, 
simply from the soundings on Mr. Parrizeau's plan? A. Yes. (Contd.)

Q. They are not your own work?
The Court: Q. Mr. Parrizeau's plan, that is the marine 

10 chart? A. Yes, my lord.
Q. That is the marine chart? A. Yes, known as the Par- 

rizeau plan.
Mr. Griffin: Now, the further one put in as exhibit 64 that 

is made from your own soundings with a lead along the bridge 
line? A. Yes.

Q. Does it include the area dredged out under the bridge on 
the north side? A. Yes.

Q. Do you know the cross-section area at 1100 feet east of 
the bridge? A. No, I did not figure it at that point. 

20 Mr. Donaghy: Thank you.
Mr. Griffin: Thank you.
(Witness aside).
Mr. Burns: I will call Mr. Whitehouse.

ARTHUR CECIL WHITEHOUSE, a witness called on behalf 
of the Plaintiff, being first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS: A. c.
Q. Mr. Whitehouse, you are the Whitehouse mentioned by Direct 

Mr. McNaughton in giving evidence here today? A. Yes.
Q. You were assisting him in connection with this investi- 

80 gation as to tidal velocity at the Second Narrows ? A. Yes.
Q. You heard his evidence? A. Yes, I did.
Q. With reference to that report, being exhibit 62, what part 

of those observations or that investigation did you do. Take the 
point "A" first? A. I took all the 25 foot velocities from 2:10 
a.m. to 3:40 on the ebb tide and the surface or 1 foot velocity and 
the 25 foot velocity from 5 a.m. to 7 a.m. at the point "A" and 
both the surface and 25 foot velocity at the point "B" from 4:02 
to 4:34 a.m.

Q. The point "B"is25 feet— A. 25 feet south of pier 4-A. 
40 Q. You did all that yourself at the point " B ?" A. Yes.

Q. How many ? A. There are five surface velocities and 5 
20-foot depth velocities.

Q. Was the depth there 20 feet? A. The surface and 25.



708

RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Disl.

Plaintiff's 
Case

A. C.
Whitehouse 
Direct 

(Contd.)

A. C.
Whitehouse
Cross-exam.

Q. 25? A. Yes.
Q. Did you use one meter or two meters, do you remember 1 

A. I think I used two meters there, I am not sure.
Q. At any rate, the times of the respective readings or ob­ 

servations are set out in that report? A. Yes, varying about two 
minutes.

Q. Wouldn't that tell you? A. Yea, the times are set out 
there. I can tell you whether there were two meters there or not. 
Yes, there were two meters used at that point.

Q. Now, you did all of point "B" and as I understand it 10 
where the observer's initials are set out at the point "A" the 
"W" refers to you? A. Yes.

Q. You corroborate Mr. McNaughton with reference to the 
accuracy of the work, do you? A. Yes, I do.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Q. Mr. Whitehouse, there is only one question I want to ask, 

did you hear the evidence given by Mr. McNaughton ? A. I did.
Q. He gave the evidence as you remember that at 4:01 the 

surface tide was running at a speed of .48 knots and at 25 feet at 
.70 knots. 20

A. At point "A" was that?
Q. I have forgotten which place. You might look it up ? A. 

Yes.
Q. Have you got those two places? A. Yes.
Q. In other words, the sub-surface current runs double at 

that time almost as the surf ace current? A. Well, not double as 
fast.

Q. But the relationship shows that it is very much faster? 
A. Yes.

Q. I suppose the proper inference from that is that the sur- j0 
face current began first? A, Not necessarily, the lower velocity 
was probably taken several minutes after the surface velocity. 
The time is not noted.

Q. It might have been the other way. It may have been 
taken first? A. I hardly think so. It may have been.

Q. But, you were using two meters there ? A. At that point 
there was one meter used.

Q. Therefore it might have been before or after? A. It 
might have been.

Q. And therefore as you had only one meter and that item 40 
is first, you cannot draw any deduction? A. I did not take those 
velocities at that point and I cannot say.

Q. All right. Thank you.
(Witness aside).
Mr. Burns: I will call Mr. Hayden.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
Q. Mr. Hayden, you were or are in charge of the tidal cur-

Plaintiffs 
Case

rent surveys for the national government on the Pacific Coast? s- c- Hayden 
A. Yes. Dire«-

Q. What experience have you had in tidal work? A. Prac­ 
tically thirty years.

Q. How long have you been on the Pacific Coast? A. 
10 Twenty-three years.

Q. I understand that your work consists of your obtaining 
and recording records of tides in the different harbours of British 
Columbia ? A. Yes.

Q. And working up the tide tables? A. Yes.
Q. With reference to the Second Narrows you are familiar 

with the Second Narrows ? A. Yes, I know the Second Narrows.
The Court: Did I understand you to say that you had charge 

of the compilation and issuing of the tide tables ? A. Yes.
Mr. Burns: Q. And you had investigated the Second Nar- 

20 rows in connection with your work from time to time ? A. Oh, 
yes, at different periods.

Q. Have you taken observations there in relation to the 
surface and undercurrent, if any ? A. In 1919,1 did.

Q. In 1919? A. Yes.
Mr. Griffin: My friend is limited to what this witness knows 

personally.
Mr. Burns: I have led up to it on that basis.
Q. You have taken personal observations there in 1919 in re­ 

spect to that particular matter? A. Yes, I think myself person- 
30 ally.

Q. What observations were they? Will you describe what 
you went through? A. I used what we call a deep fan about 5 
feet, with four sides to it so that it will catch the current at four 
different angles and I weighted it and lowered it over the side of 
the boat 'on a small sounding wire. I would start as soon as I 
could comfortably anchor the boat there in the Second Narrows 
about three-quarters before low slack.

Q. Towards the end of the ebb tide ? A. Towards the end 
of the run out and we would lower it over and take the inclination 

40 of the water with the clinometer and continue about every five min­ 
utes until it become plumb, straight up and down, and we would 
call that slack water until the inclination of the wire was reversed 
the other way and I would still measure it up to such a point until 
I had to get away when it had too steep an angle.

Q. Would you say what time that would be on the ebb tide 
and what length of time on the flood tide that you could do the
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RECORD work. It depends on the range of the tide? A. Yes, I took these 
British Coiumbi* on the big tide, practically zero tide or near abouts.

Q. That is the long run out? A. Yes, and you could not 
take more than thirty minutes on each side of slack water.

Q. Did you confine your work to the long run out or did you 
take medium tides or less than medium? A. I made it on three 
different days, on the long run out, and then on the opposite side 
of the month when the tide was fairly even, when the moon was on 
the equator, when the run is equal, and I also took that for three 
days.

The Court: It is hard to follow you. You drop your voice. 
You took observations for three days on the long run out? A. 
Yes.

Q. And corresponding observations on the long run in ? A. 
No, the long run out and run in would be the same time, and then 
the opposite side of the month when the rim was equal I measured 
it on three different days.

Mr. Burns: As a result of this work, Mr. Hayden, 'did you 
come to a conclusion as to the relative directions of the current, 
the surface current and the undercurrent, if any ? A. Yes.

Q. What was the result ? A. The surf ace and undercurrent 
at the time I made these observations was practically the same.

Q. With your knowledge of the Second Narrows and waters 
of that nature have you ever known of an undercurrent preceding 
the surface current in the turn of the tide, that is, the making of 
the flood ? A. Personally I never made any observations of the 
undercurrent in any other test. Oh, yes, I should not say that. I 
did at the First Narrows. The First Narrows and Second Nar­ 
rows are the only two passes on which I made any tests on the 
coast.

Q. Did you meet that any time in your work, that phenom­ 
ena ? A. No.

Q. What is your opinion of narrows, such as the Second Nar­ 
rows, as to whether that is possible or not ? A. No, I don't think 
it is possible.

S. C. Hayden 
Cross-exam.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Q. Mr. Hayden, as a matter of fact, what would your view 

if it was established to you by an investigator whom you believed 
that he did find conditions of, we will say, flood on the bottom and 
ebb on the surface?

Mr. Donaghy: I submit that is not a proper question, what 
would you conclude if it was established by an investigator whom 
you believed. He cannot proceed to give us any evidence.

The Court: It is not a very ethical question.
Mr. Griffin: The witness may be able to establish a theory 

for me.

10

30

10
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The Court: You say that if a man establishes something to RECORD 
the contrary to what he thought what would he think ?

Mr. Griffin: If you say that it cannot be put I bow to it. _
The Court: It is a self evident question. I am not going to Plaintiff's 

stop you. If you think for a moment you will see that it is not Case 
going to help you.

Mr. Griffin: We have the evidence that it occurred.
The Court: It is much simpler to have you ask the question if 

you think it is of any use. 
10 Mr. Griffin: I want to see the theory behind it.

Q. I am pointing out the diver Bruce who did dive on the 
bottom deposed that he found that condition. Can you give any 
explanation of it ? A. Well, I was never down diving, therefore, 
I do not know.

Q. Therefore, so far as you are concerned it might occur, 
and as far as you know to the contrary it could occur? A. These 
observations that I took were at 4 fathoms. I presume that he was 
speaking from the very bottom.

Q. Certainly. So what he says might be correct in spite of 
20 what your tests show? A. That may be.

Q. In the tidal current, in the main, when the flow starts 
it does start below the surface? A. Not always.

Q. I did not say always, I am only trying to get general in­ 
formation, but the tidal flow frequently starts below the surface. 
Isn't that an axiom in tidal work? A. No, not always.

Q. I am not saying that. I am saying in some channels it 
will occur? A. I daresay.

Q. And in others it will not occur? A. I daresay.
Q. What is the consideration to make it occur in one and not 

30 in the other? A. If you take a narrow channel open at both 
ends, such as we have many on the coast—

Q. Lots of them? A. And then take a narrow channel 
which is closed on one end the condition is not the same.

Q. The Second Narrows would be quite a different waterway 
when the First Narrows was flooding, then when the First Narrows 
was ebbing? A. I don't know that it makes any difference.

Q. That would close the end of the waterway? A. No, if 
you take Active Pass as an example it is open at both ends and the 
tide ebbs and flows from the sea, in and out.

40 Q. Take another one? A. At the Second Narrows it can 
only flow to Port Moody and up the Arm, and, therefore, the upper 
end is landlocked and the tide is not the same. The tidal condi­ 
tions will not be the same in these two waters.

Q. And you can have a condition in which the tide is station­ 
ary on the surface and still flowing below ? A. Yes, such things 
have happened.

Q. To reverse it, it may be stationary below and overrunning
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Q. But the velocity slacks down near the end of the run very 
rapidly? A. Fairly rapidly, gradually.

Q. Rapidly, or gradually it drops down? A. Yes.
Q. So that this condition of overrunning of part of the 

stream can occur ? A. Can occur if the discharge of fresh water 
is running out on top.

Q. I was asking could it occur without any of that. It can 
occur that a stream may stop, one portion of it ? A, I have seen 10 
that occur on the St. Lawrence River, because in one place we have 
a constant current. I have seen an example of that on the St. 
Lawrence River.

Q. Your own personal investigations in the Second Narrows 
are confined to those six days ? A. Exactly, in 1919, sir, and for 
those three days, on one occasion and three on another.

Q. And of those, three days obviously were as you say very 
severe runs 1 A. Yes.

Q. The period of slack time was very short? A. The period 
of slack would not be over ten minutes. 20

Q. Did you have two of these instruments out at the same 
time or only one? A. Two.

Q. What were the depths that you used? A. Well, for 
the surface, eight or ten inches below, so that it would be submerg­ 
ed and the other was four fathoms, 24 feet.

Q. Just following up what you were saying about the upper 
harbour, that is beyond the bridge, you say that is closed at the 
end, therefore, it would affect the condition of the flow ? A. No, 
I did not say that it would affect the condition of the flow. I said 
that the condition of the flow might be different from a narrow pass 30 
that was opened at both ends.

Q. It creates a difference, from another kind of channel ? A. 
Yes.

Q. I want to get this, if I am right, you know there is a con­ 
dition in which you get a flow from the Second Narrows, ebbing, 
that continues for fifteen minutes, after low slack in the First 
Narrows ? A, Certainly, because the Second Narrows are in no 
way related as regards the time.

Q. For that fifteen minutes the main harbour is filling from 
above through the Second Narrows, is it not, to a certain extent ? 40 
A. A very small extent, because in the last fifteen minutes of the 
run out there is very little discharge.

Q. Whatever discharge there is it would be filling up the 
lower harbour? A. Yes.

Q. And there is no run out at the First Narrows when the 
tide is slack ? A, Not when the tide is slack, I don't suppose there 
is. Slack water is a sort of indefinite period. It is not regu-
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lated clockwise. RECORD
Q. It is only an argumentative point. After slack the tide British 

in the First Narrows starts to flood in ? A. Yes.

40

Dist.

G. S. Hanes 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)

Q. For that period of fifteen minutes during which the run Plaintiff's 
continues from the Second Narrows, the First is either closed or Case 
running in, too, either stopped or running ? A. It may be stop­ 
ped running in or running out.

Q. I am speaking of the tune that it is slack in the Second 
Narrows or the tide is starting to run in. If slack water arrives 

10 at the First Narrows for fifteen minutes it is running at the Se­ 
cond, then clearly the central harbour is filling from above for that 
period? A. I presume so.

Q. Therefore isn't that condition exactly the same for that 
fifteen minutes as prevails in the upper harbour on the flood ? A. 
No, I do not say that it was.

Q. I don't mean to say for the same length, but it is the 
same point. It is coming into a reservoir so to speak in which the 
other end is closed? A. Yes, but the First Narrows are not 
closed.

20 Q. Surely you agree with me that it is closed so far as the 
flow is concerned if the tide is slack in it ? A. Yes, I guess per­ 
haps it is.

Q. Now, as you think that over am I not right in saying that 
the condition is analogous for that particular period ? A. I can­ 
not say. I do not know.

Q. I submit they are, because I cannot see a bit of difference 
in the situation where the end of a reservoir is stopped by the 
land and there is no flow out, and the condition where it is stopped 
below, where it is stopped by a body of slack water in a narrow 

30 place, which effectually prevents the flow out I A. The land end 
is solid, but the other end is not.

Q. No, but if there is dead water it is the same as slack 
water? A. If you could assure yourself that it was absolutely 
dead water I would say yes.

Q. But if it was flowing in the First Narrows the situation 
would be stronger? A. Yes.

Q. You know better than I do that phenomena does occur ? 
A. It does.

Q. Often, too ? A. Yes, frequently.
Q. Now, can you really distinguish or see any essential dif­ 

ference between those two in that short period ? A. It is a very 
fine point.

Q. You cannot bring yourself to agree with me on that ? 
Well, I do not disagree with you at all.

A.

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS : s c Hayden 
Q. In the circumstances, Mr. Hayden, or the circumstances Re-direct



714

Plaintiff's 
Case

S. C. Hayden 
Re-direct 

(Contd.)

RECORD such as related to you by my learned friend that during that short 
British Columbia period such as he has been speaking of that the harbour is being 
Admiralty Dist. poured into by a large body of water from the Second Narrows, 

a large volume? A. No, the last fifteen minutes there is a very 
small run out in the Second Narrows.

Q. It comes down to the consideration to what it is doing 
in that respect in that particular period, in the way of the move­ 
ment of the water ? A. I should think so.

Q. From your knowledge what would you say the character 
of the movement would be in the last fifteen minutes? A, As 10 
regards velocity?

Q. Yes, and volume? A. The last fifteen minutes of the 
run out from what I know would not be more than one-half knot.

Q. One-half knot? A. Yes, I don't say exactly.
Q. And it would be disappearing ? A. Gradually lessening 

off.
Q. When you speak of the slack tide, about ten minutes 

slack tide, you mean by that absolutely dead water ? A. I mean 
the period when it stops running east and it starts to run wtest, 
or vice versa. 20

Q. There is a certain amount of dead water? A. What 
we term in hydrography as slack water, the nearest approach you 
can come to it is if you put a lead over board and a sounding wire, 
if it will stay plumb, I consider when it is plumb it is slack.

Q. You spoke of the current in the St. Lawrence, that that 
had a bearing on the matter of the undercurrent going one way and 
the overcurrent the other way ? A. On the Gtaspe Coast there is 
a current 12 miles wide and 60 miles long where it is running out 
and when the tide floods up the St. Lawrence River the tide runs 
underneath, because the current is running the one direction, but 39 
the flood tide decreases the velocity.

Q. What is the reason for that? A. It is hard to say, we 
spent two years in a survey ship investigating it. Of course, the 
river is very deep at that point, 100 to 200 Jcathoms deep.

Q. The river discharging— A. Yes, the discharge of the 
river reaching that far down in the St. Lawrence the incoming tide 
has to run underneath it.

Q. Is that the only instance that you met in your observa­ 
tions "? A. That is the largest undercurrent I ever experienced, 
12 miles wide by 60 to 70 miles long. 40

Q. Apart from that, are there any other instances of the 
same character that met your observations ? A. I have seen a 
slightly or smaller example in the Strait of Belle Isle.

Q. Any others ? A. In the Bay of Pundy. I do not quite 
recollect. We might have in the Bay of Fundy, but I cannot quite 
recollect.

Q. But experiencing such a condition would fasten itself in
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your memory ? A. That is a well known example, what is known RECORD 
as the G-aspe current and it is greatest example of an underflow British 
that I know of.

Q. And these are the only ones you can speak of in your ex­ 
perience? A. The only ones I can speak of having any im­ 
portance. „ r — ,

The Court: Did you tell us, witness, at what part of the Re-direa
"A. No,

Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiff's 
Case

(Contd.)stream you took these observations ? A. No, sir, I was not asked.
Q. Where were they taken? A. They were taken amid- 

10 stream half way between where the bridge now stands and the 
water pipes, the water works.

Q. In midchannel ? A. Yes.
Q. Yes. A. Midway between where the present bridge 

stands and the water pipes.
Q. You mean the first water pipe or the main cluster of 

water pipes? A. The first water pipe.
Q. Would you say about a cable length from the bridge ? A. 

Oh, no, it is the other water pipes where they run ashore and go 
up, the easterly water pipes.

20 Q. Yes, I mean how far from—there is a place called Knuckle 
Point ? A. Yes, I took them in the very narrowest part of the 
Second Narrows.,

Q. How far do you say just roughly speaking that would be 
in feet east of the bridge? A. I should say probably 600 feet.

Q. I thought that was the narrowest part. That is why I 
suggested a cable. A cable is 600 feet. A. Yes.

Q. Yes, thank you.
(Witness aside.)
The Court: I must say fortunately the witness has cleared 

30 up a question that was asked yesterday about what was the narrow­ 
est part of the Narrows. He gave it to us as one cable east of the 
bridge.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes. I am calling Captain Batchelor.

ROBERT ALEXANDER BATCHELOR, a witness called on be­ 
half of the Plaintiff, being first duly sworn, testified as fol­ 
lows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY:
Q. Mr. Batchelor, have you followed the sea most of your Direct 

life ? A. Yes, since I was fourteen years of age. 
40 The Court: Does he live here or North Vancouver? A. I 

live out at West Vancouver, sir, at Altamont, your lordship.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. What certificates dp you hold? A. 

Well, I hold a master's certificate from the British Board of Trade 
for mast and steam. I was licensed in May 1910 as a Vancouver 
pilot under the Vancouver Pilotage Authority of those days.
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Direct. 
(Contd.)

RECORD Q. YOU were licensed in 1910 1 A. I was given a provisional 
British Columbia license then and taken for six months on probation and in Novem- 
Admirdtyjjist. ber, igiQ I was given my other license and I put in twelve months 
R. A. Batchelor as a third-class pilot, then two years as a second-class and then I 

became what they call a senior pilot after three years of service.
Q. Prior to the construction of the Second Narrows Bridge, 

have you piloted ships through the Second Narrows ? A. I was 
up there very frequently up to Port Moody and around that way 
and loco.

Q. Will you tell his lordship what channel you took on that 10 
course? A. Going up through the Second Narrows?

The Court: What size of ship ? A. The ships that were 
going up then, the majority of the ships going up then were oil 
tankers, carrying in those days probably, six, seven and eight 
thousand tons deadweight capacity. In making our course up to 
Port Moody or loco we followed up our harbour here and main­ 
tained, generally maintained the south shore from there on, fol­ 
lowing around the contour of the south shore. The reason for that 
is that the north shore is a mass of shoals and is flat and the edges 
were not marked or indicated to us and we always steered by fol- ^ 
lowing the south shore exactly where we were, especially on a dark 
night when there were heavy shadows that created conditions 
where we could not tell the land from the shadows we then found 
by following the south shore and using the whistle for the echo we 
could tell that we were safe in deep water.

Q. In using the expression 'following the south shore' where 
is that in relation to the 300 foot fixed span of the bridge? A. 
The 300 foot fixed span?

Q. Yes ? A, The 300 foot fixed span is north of where we 
would generally follow. ' 30

The Court: Let me see exhibit No. 27.
Mr. Donaghy: Just a moment, Captain.
The Court: You were asking him about which one ?
Mr. Donaghy: Where his course lay with reference to the 

300 foot span.
The Court: Look at exhibit 27? A. This is the 300 foot 

span I understand you are ref erring to.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, that is right. A. Well, we generally 

followed the shore to the south of that. We followed the contour 
of the shore line along there. 40

Q. Look at the numbers of the piers there? A. As near 
as I could give the line we passed the position where the bascule 
span is at the present time, your lordship.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Why did you not keep further north than 
that ? A. There was an erection there carrying the poles, carry­ 
ing the power line for the B. C. Electric, and where that was there
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20

30

40

was a spit that ran out. RECORD
Q. On the north shore ? A. On the north shore, probably British 

built up in time by the piling and construction itself, or probably 
a snag that rested there and built up an embankment. The ex- 
tent of that embankment to us was very indefinite. We knew 
that it ran out a considerable distance and we knew that it would

Plaintiff's 
Case

be extended by the freshets from the Seymour and that it would be ~.A' Batchelor 
adding to it and we always kept away from it so far as possible. irect '

Q. Now, in regard to vessels of deep draught being taken 
10 through the Second Narrows prior to the construction of the 

bridge, what do you say whether such passage was negotiated by 
such vessels at all stages of the tide or not ? A. We used to take 
them up on a very small tide when the tide is running probably 
anything under two knots an hour. Anywhere around in there and 
when the tide was running heavy we always tried to make it about 
slack water, as near as we could, so that we would not have more 
than a knot an hour, one way or the other. That is for ordinary 
ships that were quite safe for handling for safe navigation.

Q. You are speaking of the practice before the bridge was 
built? A. Yes.

The Court: Am I right in this, do I understand that you 
waited for slack water. Did you mean both slack, low and high ? 
A. Yes, slack water or low water when the tides were running 
heavy.

Q. Yes.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, have you navigated the Second 

Narrows since the bridge was constructed? A. Never since the 
bascule was put into operation. I made four trips through since 
the piers were completed with ocean going ships. I have made 
frequent trips up and 'down for observations, but I have only 
handled three ships or four ships since the bridge was completed. 
I made three passages through the piers where the bascule now 
stands. Most of my work is in handling regular ships and they 
do not go up there, and that is why I do not go up there often.

The Court: Four ships when the piers were completed ? A. 
Yes.

Q. But not the bascule ? A. No, the bascule was not com­ 
pleted on the last ship that I took through.

Mr. Donaghy: Very good.
The Court: What was the size of these ships? A. Ships 

running up to probably seven or eight thousand tons, 9,000 tons 
at the maximum. That is the dead weight capacity, your lordship.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, from your observations of those 
piers and from your observations made since what is your opinion 
as to whether or not this bridge is a menace or hazard to naviga­ 
tion?

Mr. Griffin: I will not repeat my objection, your lordship, 
keeping in mind that the question was dealt with in chief.

(Contd.)
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RECORD The Court: Call it an impediment to navigation, that is the
British Columbia WOrd.
Admirdty^oist. ^fa Griffin: That question was put in the examination in 
Plaintiffs chief of the expert witness.
Case The Court: These overlap. The nature of it is such that 
R. A. Batchelor there are two of three main questions inevitably overlapping and 
Direct. it i§ one °f the peculiarities of this case that it is impossible to 

(Contd.) draw an exact line. The witness is entitled to say what you expect 
him to say from the drift of the question. A, Providing the 
bascule lift is up in time for the ship arriving there I can see no 10 
menace to navigation in the Second Narrows. I never heard of a 
pier being a menace to a ship but a ship is a menace to a pier.

Q. Do you know how the bridge is equipped with signals or 
lights? A. I do.

Q. What is your opinion of the signals and lights'? A, I 
had quite a lot of communications with regard to the placing of the 
lights there with the management of the Harbour and we all 
thoroughly endorsed the system at present in vogue.

Q. Can you speak of its effect in comparison with the condi­ 
tions prior to the erection of the bridge ? A. As I say, I have 20 
not navigated up there since the bascule was used, but as regards 
the Narrows and really since the piers are there and they have been 
lighted you have a clear dividing line to navigate and steer for, 
that did not exist in the old days when there was nothing but dark­ 
ness and blackness and you had to find your position off the land 
on the echo of the whistle. Today you have something to steer for. 
What you lose in the width of the channel you gain in a well de­ 
fined route.

Q. Now, reverting again to your course of navigation which 
you say was practically over the waters under the bascule span 30 
have you on any of your trips through there felt or had any reason 
to suspect a northerly current at that place either surface or under­ 
neath ? A. No, sir, never did, and I have spent many hours tak­ 
ing observations from the shore lines and from boats and from the 
bridge itself to watch and study the direction of the current there. 
All through 1924 when the piers were being built a great lot of my 
spare time was being spent on the Second Narrows on the north 
shore and the south shore, and both back and forward purposely in 
my spare time. I did that believing I would be handling ships up 
there, handling the ships that I am doing now and believing that 49 
I would have to navigate that channel I was making myself wholly 
conversant with the conditions that were going to exist.

Q. Have you met with any such undercurrent in the Second 
Narrows? A. No, never with any cross-current either.

Q. Your witness.
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CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN: RECORD

10

20

30

40

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiff's 
Case

Q. You spoke of your three trips that you took there. I do 
not know whether it was three or four ? A. Four trips before the 
bascule was completed, as the piers were completed.

Q. Exhibit 18, I think is the best one that shows the condi- _ 
tions then. I am showing you a plan that gives it exactly, because R. A. Batchelor 
this is a plan of conditions as they were about the time of the con- Cross-exam, 
struction. Now, on those trips that you made during construc­ 
tion.

The Court: Now, let me understand. I want to know what 
you are doing. You started with exhibit 27.

Mr. Griffin: No, I started with 18.
The Court: He has with him exhibit 27. He illustrated with 

exhibit 27 his idea of the channel from that exhibit. Now, you 
are putting before him exhibit 18. This is for my own informa­ 
tion. Is that different from 27 ?

Mr. Griffin: No, not a bit. The piers are the same ones.
The Court: This is for my own convenience, if we have what 

is ample on exhibit 27 let us not go over to 18. It makes it so 
much more difficult when you are trying to follow a witness on two 
exhibits, when really it is only necessary to follow one exhibit.

Mr. Griffin: All right.
If there is any point in it, do not regard my con-The Court: 

venience.
Mr. Griffin: 

bascule or span ?
Here it is before theUse the two together. 

A. Right.
Q. Which is the one that you used going up. As my memory 

serves me it was the 300 foot that was used during construction ? 
A. That is right, when the pier was completed the barges and 
scows were moved away from here where the bascule is, this was 
open and the first ship that went down, that I went down with, I 
came back from Port Moody, and I came through this way pur­ 
posely to have a go at it and see how it was.

Q. You had been up and out ? A. I have been up and down 
twice after that.

Q. Have you been up and down through the 300 foot span ? 
A. I went up frequently while the bridge was under construction. 
I was in this quite frequently before that.

Q. During this construction, did you bring ships up and 
down through the 300 foot span ? A. Yes.

Q. You really tried both of them 1 A. Yes.
Q. I take it in the prior bridge days you took ships up to 

what is now the bascule span and brought them out through what 
is now the 300 foot span 1 A. I beg your pardon ? No, the only 
time I went through the 300 foot span was going up during the 
construction days when I had to go through there. We were forc­ 
ed to go through there.
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RECORD_ Q. Pre-construction days, before construction? A. Before 
British Columbia any piers were there ?
Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiflf's 
Case

R. A. Batchelor 
Cross-exam. 

(Contd.)

Q. Yes. Before those days I judge from your testimony 
that a pilot would take a ship up east to what is now substantially 
the bascule span and he would bring it down through the 300 
foot span ? A. No, always followed the south shore for safety, 
especially on a dark night.

Q. I will take it in daylight, did you cross over in daylight ? 
A. There is not much crossing to do in a 300 foot channel if you 
are going at all. 10

Q. Did you do it? A. No, I did not do any crossing. I 
have never gone at all with a ship that did.

Q. Did you keep to the north side of the centre ? A. I may 
have been on one side of the channel or the other, but I always 
managed to get through safely.

Q. The rule of the road requires you to be north of the centre 
line of the channel ? A. It is not necessary, only passing ships.

Q. Don't you understand that the rule of the road requires 
you to keep to the north of the centre of the channel? A. You 
are reading part of the by-laws of the Harbour of Vancouver, 20 
put in force by the Vancouver Harbour Board, for the First Nar­ 
rows.

Q. No.
The Court: He is right, unless the regulation covers both 

channels. Do the harbour regulations cover the Second Narrows 
the same as the First ?

Mr. Griffin: I do not know for the moment.
The Court: I know all about it for the moment. It was the 

great case of Bryce vs. C. P. R. which led to that change. That is 
why there is a peculiar situation which I think is not repeated in JQ 
any port on the Pacific Coast in the waters of Canada. It compels 
you always to do that. The rule of the road does not.

Mr. Griffin: The rule of the road, the general rule, is that 
ships keep on that side of the channel.

The Court: That relates to incoming ships.
A. Passing ships, sir.
The Court: The man is quite right.
Mr. Griffin: I thought the reading was the other way.
The Court: No, what you have not got in mind is the special 

regulation passed as to the First Narrows owing to the terrible 40 
disaster that took place in Bryce vs. C. P. R. Do not treat that 
as a general case. The witness is right, that is a special case and 
it is the one and only exception that I know of. It is a rule of the 
Harbour Board and I do not know if they have passed a similar 
rule in regard to the Second Narrows. If it is so you are right, but 
I do not think you are. Is it the case ?

Mr. Griffin: I do not know.
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The Court: You were misleading the witness then quite in- RECORD 
nocently. British coiumbi

Mr. Griffin: No, I was only asking about the International Admirtl'y Dist- 
Rules of the Road. Plaintiff's

The Court: Then the witness has given the proper answer, Case 
really, as he says himself that he knows of no regulation of the 
Harbour Board requiring you at all times to keep to the north side 
of the channel., The rules of the road do not require any such 
thing.

10 Mr. Griffin: The rules of the road are not involved in what I 
was going to ask.

Q. As a matter of fact in the practice before the bridge was 
built did shipmasters as a matter of habit go down with their 
starboard on the north side going west? A. Always, we main­ 
tained the south side of the channel going and coming.

Q. How far off the south shore? A. Oh, we kept from
100 to 200 fathoms, what we knew was not shoal water. That
would take us sometimes 200 feet, 250 feet, not quite so far as
that. I could not tell you right" here at the present minute, but if

20 you and I went up to the Narrows I would let you know.
Q. That is not with a heavy draft ship? A., I have had 

ships with 28 feet draft.
Q. Is this a correct statement:
"We never take our heavy big draft ships through because
the contour is irregular."
Is that correct? A. That is why we never steer a straight 

course. You are steering the same course through the bascule 
bridge as in the early days before the bridge was there. You never 
ran in a straight line, you followed the contour of the shore line. 

30 Q. Is that a correct statement that you don't take heavy draft 
ships through because of the irregularities of the shore? A. 
How do you mean?

Q. Through the Second Narrows? A. We took them 
through.

Q. Is that statement correct ? A. Where do you get that ?
Q. That is a statement taken out of your testimony at the en­ 

quiry? A. I never said that we never took heavy draft ships 
through the Second Narrows.

Q. That is the way that I read it. All right. Now, I suppose 
40 the fact is that a ship approaching that draw from the east I am 

speaking now, you have to take into consideration several matters 
and one of them would be the tide ? A. Yes.

Q. And then the question as to whether it was the same flow 
as showing on the surface, that is right, isn't it? A. Yes.

Q. Then we have a possible complication created by Seymour 
Creek if it is running at all strong? A. Yes.

Q. Then you have heard, you have been sitting right along
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RECORD in this case, there is an arm of water created in some way over 
British Coiumbt* near the pole line extending south — pardon an arm of land ? A.
Admiralty Dist.

(Comd.)

20

R. A. Batchelor Q. And that throws a current in a southerly direction at 
Cross-exam. certain stages of the tide, does it not ? A In the main channel.

Q. it throws it off the north shore to a certain extent ? A 
From the flat off the north shore. If you get off the main channel 
you will get those easily enough, but in the main channel, it fol­ 
lows the south contour and gives you a very good course.

Q. The main channel is 600 feet wide? A Yes. 10
Q. From the 5 fathom line to the 5 fathom line ? A Yes.
Q. The deep water is about half way ? A. Yes, about that.
Q. The deep part of the channel is just as near to the north 

side as the south side? A Yes.
Q. I suggest if there is any tide running from the west that 

arm of land extending out south will have a tendency to throw it 
out south ? A. You may get surface water when Seymour is run­ 
ning hard and with a big freshet you would. It would flow on the 
surface and may affect the ship. A man, a pilot has to take that 
into consideration and make allowance for it.

Q. There is a shoal along the south shore for 1800 feet east 
from the bridge ? A Yes.

Q. And roughly speaking about 250 feet broad, north to 
south? A. From high water mark to 5 fathoms —

The Court : Let me have that again. The shoal from higli 
water mark to the 5 fathom line is what ?

Mr. Griffin : 250 feet is the width of it. A I am not sure, 
but it would be about 200 feet.

Q. There is not one individual point sticking out, but there 
is more or less a considerable shoal sticking out on the south shore ? 30 
A. Yes.

Q. What is described as Knuckle Point is the beginning of 
it? A. I would call the Knuckle or Point a little bit west of 
where the water mains cross.

The Court : Yes, that is right. We have established that.
Mr. Griffin : I am asking this witness if he agrees with me, 

that that point west of the mains is a protruding point of the 
land. A Very generally there is a slight curve out.

Q. It is the beginning of the shoal, coming on west? A. 
Yes, well, it runs west. 40

Q. Of course, it is not general to approach too near that 
shoal. It is not a desirable thing in navigation ? A. No.

Q. Is there in your opinion any effect of the shoal directly on 
a ship, assuming that it does not touch it? A. Not unless you 
touch the shoal, I don't think there is anything.

Q. And the only thing is that from the deck of the ship, the 
bridge, you cannot see its exact edge ? A No.
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Cross-exam. 
(Comd.)

Q. So that you would desire to give it a safe line in the water ? RECORD 
A. Yes, fair enough. British coiumb

Q. And I suppose it would be hard to say, that you or any Admiralty Dist- 
one man would define exactly how far off it would be safe to take Plaintiff's 
any particular ship ? A. It was very difficult before the bridge 
was there, but now with the bridge and the lights you can definej i i i i j *_»•/the channel and steer.

Q. Even in the day time you do not want the chance of being 
too near? A. No.

10 Q. And it is hard to know how many feet on the port side 
the shoal water is? A Unless you have got the exact bearing 
to Berry Point.

Q. You can only do it by keeping set on Berry Point? A. 
Yes.

Q. And the only thing a man can do is to line up from Berry 
Point to the bascule ? A. Yes.

Q. And later on to starboard ? A. Draw in.
Q. And then port helm for the draw ? A Yes.
Q. And the point really — and the fact really is how close

20 does a navigator feel safe in going before he ports helm for the
draw? A, It all depends on the ship and the answer you get.
You want to know a ship's turning moment and no man tell un­
less he is handling the vessel.

Q. And a pilot does not get a chance of handling it every 
day ? A. If you do not have a vessel sized up in half an hour 
you should not be there.

Q. And it depends on his ability to size that up ? A That 
is what a pilot is employed for, local knowledge and ability.

Q. And he has to have ability to size up a strange ship in half 
30 an hour? A. Yes.

Q. If he has taken it out he will probably be taking it in? 
A. Sometimes not.

Q. It is a question really of the handling of that vessel ? A. 
Yes.

Q. And we can all agree that all pilots are not as good as the 
best ? A. There are all kinds.

Q. And conditions ought to be made safe for all qualified 
men ? A. Well, of course, if you make conditions safe then you 
don't need pilots at all.

40 Q. I think I can meet you there. That sounds a reasonable 
statement, you have to make them reasonably safe for the men 
that have to do the work. A. Remove all possible menaces ?

Q. I was leading to this point. It does not mean every men­ 
ace for the very best pilot of the whole body, but to remove them 
sufficiently for the whole body of pilots? A Yes, not for any 
qualified men, for the benefit of the ship really and truly, and not 
for the benefit of the pilot.
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Q. Yes? A. No, they are aU different.
Q. Vastly different. Of course, to put on record ships when 

their helm is moved, they move from the stern sideways with the 
helm movement and not the bow ? A. Yes.

Q. I was relating this to ships going west in this particular 
draw, if it has to have a helm movement to get to the north that 
throws the stern into the shore to that extent? A. You are go­ 
ing which way ? 10

Q. Inbound? A. Yes.
Q. The helm movement takes you into the shore ? A. Yes.
Q. By that I mean that it turns the stern to the shore ? A. 

The stern draws to the southward, yes.
Q. If as a matter of fact there is any tide in the draw span 

wherever it be that makes conditions for the navigator difficult? 
A. Yes, of course, some ships, of course, you may handle them 
over a considerably heavier tide and other ships you could not do 
it. You have to know your ship and what you are doing with it.

Q. And if you did find a cross current in the draw the con- 20 
ditions would become dangerous? A. A cross current would 
create trouble.

Q. And the same way if it were true if you had a cross wind 
the same conditions would prevail? A. Yes.

Q. For example, if you had to go through a draw in such 
a way as to have the tide sidways on the bow of the ship on either 
side? A. Have the wind?

Q. If you had to go through so that the tide struck you ? A. 
Yes, that is what you find in docking ships in the harbour, a cross 
tide and a cross wind and there is a greater hazard there than in 30 
the Second Narrows Bridge.

Q. There is no doubt about this, we will leave out all other 
considerations except passing through the draw if the opening was 
out in the middle of the channel—just cast your eye on this plan 
which I show you. I am showing you exhibit 18. There you see 
the point where we have the middle of the channel ? A. Yes.

Q. And that is north of the bascule draw? A. Yes.
Q. There is a height that is shown of 33 feet ? A. Yes.
Q. And that is a little below the bottom of the channel, the 

water there roughly is 30 feet deep? A. Yes. 40
Q. Roughly thirty, at the 5 fathom line? A. Yes.
Q. We can put the 5 fathom line here in much the same 

place? A. Yes.
Q. That therefore is the channel in the sense of the 5 fathom 

line ? A. There is the bottom of the channel here.
Q. I will mark that "X" and "Y" on exhibit 18. That de-
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lineates roughly speaking the channel, using it from side to side 
within the 5 fathom line 1 A. Yes. British 

Q. The lowest point in the bottom is almost to the middle of AJm'r^'y

Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin: 

the witness. A.

those two points, isn't it? A. Yes.
Q. Now, then —
Mr. Donaghy : Has the accuracy of this plan been sworn to ?
Mr. Griffin : Yes, Mr. Hermon. This is the same as the other 

exactly.
Q. Mr. Donaghy : Yes, except that the depths are given on 

10 that one. I still ask the question if the depth of the water in plan 
18 has been verified. I have no recollection of that being done.

Mr. Griffin : It matters not at all.
Mr. Donaghy : Yes, because you are showing the depth at a 

certain point on that plan.
Mr. Griffin: My friend is needlessly interrupting because 

we can scale them on any one of the plans.
The Court : You are coming to 18. 

Yes.
What is the object of going to 181 
Because some depths are given which will aid 
You can begin it up there. This is good enough. 

(referring to exhibit 27.)
Q. I am satisfied to change the discussion to this plan ? A. 

Yes, all right.
Q. You might measure the 5 fathom line yourself. That is 

the trouble. Here is the datum line, the C. P. R., and here is ele­ 
vation 84? A. Yes.

Q. You can measure off the 5 fathom line yourself with the 
greatest of ease? A. Yes. 

30 Q. Do it now yourself.
Mr. Donaghy: There was an official map put in as to what 

the 5 fathom line was. I would prefer that my learned friend 
use that because we agreed upon it.

The Court : I understood that it was agreed upon. I under­ 
stood both counsel agreed upon that. There was a plan exhibited 
to me which showed all that, a special survey.

Mr. Donaghy: By two engineers agreed upon.
Mr. Griffin : This does not give the line along the bridge, but 

only along the shore. 
40 Mr. Donaghy : It shows how far the 5 fathom line was.

Mr. Griffin : I am not going to discuss that with the witness.
Mr. Donaghy: Then exactly what are you discussing?
The Court: This man is not a draftsman.
Mr. Donaghy : No, it is not fair.
Mr. Griffin : I am going to draw it myself, my lord, and the 

witness can check it and I '11 be quite happy.
The Court: Exactly what are you asking, so that I will 

understand it, Mr. Griffin?

Plaintiff's 
Case

(Contd.)
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Mr. Griffin: I have not got the question in yet. I want the 
witness and I to agree where the channel was apropos of the piers 
using the 5 fathom line which he understands perfectly.

Mr. Burns: You cannot place it in the bascule.
The Court: What question is it you propose to ask the wit­ 

ness. What is the necessity for this, you see ?
Mr. Griffin: I want to direct his attention to the middle line 

of the channel apropos of the 5 fathom depth on each side.
Mr. Donaghy: I object, because we have agreed on that. We 

have both agreed on the 5 fathom as outside the draw. 10
Mr. Griffin: I don't care where it is, but it is only the posi­ 

tion relative to the middle.
Mr. Donaghy: Don't put it inside the bascule draw, it is 

outside.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Where? I have it now? A. You have 

that bridge upside down. I am not accustomed to that.
Q. There is the 5 fathom line? A. Yes.
Q. There is one here? A. Yes.
Q. We will mark that'' X " and " Y," and my learned friend 

is correct. I am taking the centre of the deep water substantially 20 
half way, you see. Not exactly, there is a slight difference, see? 
A. Yes.

Q. So that now the point I was going to give you was this, 
we had a navigable channel substantially divided in the middle by 
the deepest water. A. Yes.

Q. If you could have your navigable channel in the middle, 
in the deepest water, as a navigator you would prefer, that is, the 
tide would run there with more certainty in a straight line ? A. 
I don't know. I find the tide running through here all the examin­ 
ations I have made that the tide runs through as true as you could 30 
make it.

Q. Where, here? A Right through the bascule. I have 
been at that time and time again, and I cannot find any flow, any 
run of the tide—if I could have I would have because I would have 
pointed it out long ago. I could not find it.

Q. Is it also true that the safest and more certain place to 
find the regular tide is in the middle ? A. Generally.

Q. And there is no reason to think it would not be true in 
the Second Narrows ? A. This may not be true in this case be­ 
cause you were drawing attention to the spit that ran off the B. C. ^ 
Electric Pole Line, and if there was a turn out, as you say there 
was, it would be striking in here and not affecting this part.

Mr. Donaghy: Striking in where? A Towards the 300 
foot span and not into the bascule.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Any set from the north shore would affect 
the 300 foot span more than the bascule ? A. Yes.

Q. And any set off the southern shore would affect the bas­ 
cule more than the 300 foot span? A. But there is no set.
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RECORDAnswer the question fairly ? A. I say there is no set.
If there were? A. I don't know anything about if. British
You won't take any if? A. No. Mm**,

Q. Taking another topic, as a navigator, I take it you would Plaintiff's
rather have the widest channel you can get ? A. Yes.

Q. If it could be achieved, wherever they put it, you would
rather have 300 feet than 170? A. That is right, yes.s\ i i -i • j_- r> • • j. i i T Q. And it is a question 01 opinion as to how much you need,
navigator's opinion, I mean? A. Yes.

10 Q. And you would, I take it — you know, you have been listen­ 
ing here and you know that navigators clearly are not unanimous ? 
A. No.

Q. You have heard opinions given here in the witness box 
which differ from yours ? A. Yes.

Q. And I take it you respect those opinions as you expect 
your own to be respected ? A. I don 't know two pilots who will 
handle the same ship the same way. Each man handles his case 
differently, the same as you in your profession would handle your 
case differently from another.

Q. And each of them is seeking his own ship's safety? A. 
Yes.

Q. And if in any walk of life you found the vast majority of 
the professional men of the some opinion and one out, you would 
think that he was like the soldier who was out of step with his 
regiment ? A. Oh, yes.

Q. All right. I would like to have exhibit 7. I show you 
exhibit 7 which is the admiralty chart. I would like you to plot 
on exhibit 7 the course which you say was taken by yourself from 
Barnet into the main harbour of Vancouver before the bridge 
was contsructed ? A. What are those for ? You are not running 
on a railway line. You have to follow the contour of the shore.

Q. From where? A. From Bamet.
Q. Yes? A. Right from the oil dock here?
Q. Yes? A. I have gone past "B." That is about the 

rough course.
Q. Put "Wat the far end of it so we can tell. A. (Wit­ 

ness marks.)
Mr. Griffin: The witness has marked the course "W" at the 

east end past the point "B" already marked at the other end. 
40 Q. Thank you. No further questions.

Mr. Donaghy: Let me see that, please.
Q. I take it this is an approximate line that you have mark­ 

ed ? A. Approximate. That is a very small chart and you could 
not do anything else than give an approximate line. You could 
not do anything else but that.

Q. That is all.
The Court : Just one minute. These ships you were mention-

Case

rvm Cross-exam.
(Contd.)
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RECORD ing, witness, that you were taking through the bascule piers? A.
British Columbia YeS.

Q They varied you said from seven, to eight, to nine thou- 
sand tons. What would be the length of the ships, the length of 
the shortest and the length of the longest ? A. Well, I had been 
£o:m£ UP w^b- ships while the bridge was under construction, ves- 
gels from 380 to 460, 470 feet as near as I can recollect. That is 
about the approximate length.

Q. Give me that again. A. From 380 to 460 or 470 feet.
Q. Now, one other question. I do not think we have had it 10 

exactly in regard to the lift bridge, but what would a big ship, 
you understand, a really big ship we will say running to well 20,- 
000, what would the height of their spars be from the water ? A. 
They don't require to be high. The ship in ballast, her bridge deck 
is about 68 feet — about 130 feet would be ample and sufficient 
headroom for any craft of that kind.

Q. Then that would be the height of the tallest spar of an 
ordinary ship up to 20,000? A. Yes, the spars are purely and 
simply for headlights.

Q. Yes, I understand that, of course, conditions have so 20 
changed. In modern ships you would say? A. Yes.

Q. Up to 20,000 you would not have to provide for a greater 
height than 135 ? A About 130. They come in ballast.

Q. Yes, all right. Thank you.
(Witness aside.)
The Court: Now, there is — have you any more witnesses, 

Mr. Donaghy?
Mr. Donaghy : Yes, we have three or four more. I think they 

are going to be short witnesses.
The Court : Yes, for the purpose of my own information. I 

am not at all suggesting that the time is being wasted, it has not 
been. It is desirable to have the fullest investigation.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes.
The Court : There is one matter that ought to be cleared up 

and that is this in regard to this channel, this Second Narrows, 
because I notice this is the second time this has cropped up in the 
evidence and some stress has been made on the fact that apparent­ 
ly there is some special rule in regard to the Second Narrows. 
One of your witnesses referred to it as saying that it was neces­ 
sary to cross that channel twice and so we ought to have the har- 40 
bour regulations before us, if you will kindly do so, because those 
are public property. If they are here so much the better. They 
ought to be obtained so that I will be able to decide whether the 
navigation of this particular bridge is governed by special rules or 
special regulations the same as those in regard to the First Nar­ 
rows.

Mr. Donaghy : I will be glad to procure those tomorrow.

30
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The Court: Nothing has been said about it. You will see RECORD 
from what Mr. Griffin has said and one of his witnesses there is British Columbia 
the assumption that it is governed by the same rule. If so I must Adm>r^'y Dist-
be apprized of it. Proceedings at

Mr. Burns: There is a harbour by-law which we will pre- Trial, 
sent, having to do with the passage of the Second Narrows. The 
by-law itself is No. 127.

The Court: We will just see as to the necessity for the pass­ 
ing of that special by-law. The ruling as to the special navigation 

10 arose out of the fact that a peculiar condition was caused at the 
entrance of the First Narrows, caused by the presence of Burnaby 
Shoal.

Adjourn.
The Registrar: The court stands adjourned until 10:30 a.m. 

tomorrow morning.

(5 P.M. COURT WAS THEREUPON ADJOURNED UNTIL 
10:30 A.M. DECEMBER 6, 1928.)

Vancouver, B. C., December 6,1928,10:30 a.m. 
(COURT RESUMED PURSUANT TO ADJOURNMENT)

20 Mr. Burns: My lord, I wish to put in by-law 127 of the 
Vancouver Harbour Commissioners that I spoke of last evening, 
containing the regulation governing the conduct, management and 
operation of the bridge and regulations governing the conduct, 
management and operation of vessels passing thereunder.

The Registrar: Exhibit 65, my lord.
Mr. Griffin: If your lordship pleases, this by-law was not 

in force at the time of the accident. It does not state so on its face, 
but it is marked No. 18 of 1928 which would be quite sufficient in­ 
dication. And yet another copy of the by-laws, which I have, it 

30 is quoted as having been passed or approved of by the order-in- 
council of the 31st of August, 1927, so that it would not appear to 
be relevant in any case, being after the date of the accident.

Mr. Burns: The one that is previously in force is already 
in, my lord, I am just putting this in, so that the whole matter 
would be plain.

The Court: Let me understand now. Are there in now all 
the by-laws or regulations of the Harbour Board governing the 
navigation of this channel ?

Mr. Burns: Yes, my lord. 
40 The Court: We have everything in ?

Mr. Burns: That's what I understand.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, that is exhibit 23, already in.
The Court: Well, as long as counsel are agreed that every­ 

thing is before the court, that is all I want, because it is necessary 
to know what they are.
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Mr. Griffin 
lord, I take it. 

The Court: 
Mr. Griffin 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 

my lord—
The Court: 
Mr. Burns

This other document does not go in then, my

This one need not go in. 
No, it doesn't apply at all. 
Very well. 
I didn't hear that.
Mr. Griffin seems to think it is not necessary. 
Well, then, I will consider the necessity of it,

Let me see it.
I thought that it might, as being in vogue— 

whether it was in vogue at the time of the accident or not might 
be a matter of comment, but it covers the regulations that have 
been at all times in force in connection with the bridge, but I shall 
consider it, my lord, and speak to it later.

The Court: Yes, you may do that, because one of the witnes­ 
ses spoke, so to speak, in the present tense, as though there was still 
some extra difficulty occasioned by what he called the double cross­ 
ing of the channel there, but so long as it is understood these re­ 
marks are not directed to what is the case at present, but only at 
the time mentioned, well, of course, strictly speaking it is not re­ 
levant. What is the position, Mr. Griffin ?

Mr. Griffin: I can't quite follow you, my lord. The regula­ 
tions are simple and plain enough in exhibit 23.

The Court: Are they the same?
Mr. Griffin: I haven't compared them, my lord.
The Court: Well, but you understand what I mean. I under­ 

stood one of the witnesses, speaking, you see, in the present tense, 
as though there were some regulations covering the Second Nar­ 
rows Bridge, what I want to be sure of is that his remarks then— 
if nothing subsequent to the collision is to be considered in regard 
to the regulations, of course, his evidence must be confined to that; 
his remarks, though, you see, when I say that his remarks seemed 
to be including the present situation.

Mr. Griffin: I don't recollect that.
The Court: Well, you might just look at this.
Mr. Griffin: Here then as a matter of fact is the regulation 

then in force if we speak according to these regulations we have 
—coming in force after the accident, they wouldn't be of any value 
in the decision of the case.

The Court: Well I do not really quite see—it would be better 
to be excluded. I just wish counsel to understand that if for any 
reason they want to put them in, I see no reason to exclude them, 
because it has a general bearing upon the situation.

Well, Mr. Donaghy or Mr. Burns, any more witnesses ?
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, I will call Mr. Tracey.
The Court: Exhibit 65 is tendered, Mr. Registrar and Mr.

10

30

40
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Stenographer, the Harbour Commissioners' Regulations, but ow- RECORD 
ing to objection they were ruled out, you see. British Coivmbi

Admiralty Dist.

CHARLES FRANCIS TRACEY, a witness called on behalf of Pkintlffl 
the Plaintiff, being first duly sworn, testified as follows : Case

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY:
Q. What is your occupation, Mr. Tracey ? A. An operator.
Q. Of what? A. Of the Second Narrows Bridge.
Q. Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Bridge operator? 

10 Mr. Donaghy: Yes.
Q. Were you on the bridge any time when the steamship 

"Norwich City" went through? A. Yes.
The Court: Come this way, witness, and speak louder and 

clearly? A. Yes, I was on the bridge when the "Norwich City" 
came through — came to the bridge — hit the bridge.

Q. When she hit the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. Yes, what date was that ? A. That was in April.
Q. This year ? A. Yes, this year.
Q. Yes. That is the incident that has been related here in 

court in the previous evidence, as you understand it, is it? A. 
Yes.

Q. The same incident, yes. Now, what if anything did you 
observe in connection with the approach of the "Norwich City" 
on that occasion towards the bridge?

Mr. Griffin : Wait a minute. My lord, my friend is not pro­ 
posing to go into the various other collisions that have taken place 
with the bridge. I submit that that is not relevant in this case at all, 
because they only arise incidentally, we could not embark upon all 
the other accidents. That arises merely incidentally in the wit- 

30 ness' testimony as indicative of the conditions, but it could not be 
possible for your lordship I submit to embark upon a contest as 
to these individual cases. In other words, they are merely side 
issues in the evidence of the navigator. He refers to thm, not for 
the purpose of proving them in this action, demonstrating the par­ 
ticular accident, but merely to illustrate his testimony, and my 
submission is that they are irrelevant and would force this trial 
into an enormous extent, if you were to go into all the particulars 
of each collision. I therefore desire to make objection.

The Court : Do you mean then that as a result of what you 
40 say that your evidence is to be wiped out that was obtained in 

that manner?
Mr. Griffin: No, my lord, I don't say that, but I say that 

that evidence is only to be given that weight which its setting re­ 
quires. It is incidental matter arising to explain the witness'
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The Court: I understand it is not any attitude or opinion at 
all, it is either brought forward, I understand, as a specific instance 
of defects in construction of this bridge—an obstruction to navi­ 
gation, it is brought forward for that reason or it is brought for­ 
ward for nothing.

Mr. Griffin: It is brought forward to show the conditions 
under which the navigator navigates, and these conditions may 
result in an accident or they may not, but it is merely showing the 10 
conditions that arose on certain occasions.

The Court: Your position then you say, Mr. Griffin, is this, 
that you can give a concrete illustration of defects in the construc­ 
tion of this bridge, yet the other side is not to be allowed to explain 
them.

Mr. Griffin: My lord, I do not recall these instances as in­ 
stances of defective construction, but instances only in which any 
navigator approaching difficulties have been met.

The Court: Well, they are brought forward for one purpose 
and one purpose only, that is to say, they are brought forward to 
affect the decision of this court, and if you attach no importance 
to them, say so, and then I shall tell Mr. Donaghy that I do not 
wish to hear him; but if you do attach importance to them, then, 
of course, it is his right to give concrete illustrations.

Mr. Griffin: Then, my lord, I have no further submission to 
make.

The Court: You may give these concrete illustrations in face 
of the evidence which has been given against you.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, my lord.
Q. What, if anything, did you observe in regard to the ap­ 

proach of the "Norwich City" toward the bridge on that occasion? 
A. It was my opinion that she was too close to the south shore 
as she approached.

The Court: That is the '' Norwich City.''
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, my lord, the "Norwich City."
Q. At what point did you first notice that she was too close 

to the south shore I A. I should judge it was about—round about 
1500 yards—1500 feet.

Q. From where? A. From the bridge.
Q. East of the bridge? A East of the bridge.
Q. Yes. In making the statement that you thought she was 

too close to the south shore, will you state as a matter of compari­ 
son how her position in that respect was in reference to the course, 
other vessels have taken in coming towards and through the bridge 
as you have observed them.

The Court: With reference to what?
Mr. Donaghy: With reference to their position—relative

30

40
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(Comd.)

position of nearness to the south shore and giving the course this RECORD 
vessel was on as a course, her nearness to the south shore, and com- British coiumU 
paring that, you see, with the course other vessels have taken in Mminity £>«<. 
coming on the outward bound trip through the bridge ? A. The Plaintiff's 
average deep sea vessel lines up for the draw at about 14 — an Case 
average of 14 degrees —

The Court : Q. Yes, lines up to the draw, what do you say?
A. At an average of about 14 degrees —
Mr. Donaghy: Q. You mean 14 degrees as shown on the 

10 indicator that has been spoken of ? A As shown on the indicator 
on the bridge.

Q. Yes, the indicator that is on the bridge. A. Yes.
Q. That is the one Mr. Hanes spoke of in his testimony yes­ 

terday? A, Yes, 14 degrees north.
Q. 14 degrees north as shown by that indicator? A. Yes.
Q. Yes, I see. You say the average deep sea vessel lines 

up on that course ? A. Yes.
Q. Coming to the bridge ? A. Yes.
Q. Yes. How far away, east of the bridge do they line up 

on that course ? A. That is usually taken at about 1,000 feet.
Q. Yes? A. Distance.
Q. Have you been observing the course as shown by this 

indicator of vessels coming out? A. Yes, we make a record of 
that.

Q. I beg your pardon? A We make a record of that.
Q. You make a record of that ? A. Yes.
The Court : Q. Yes, I see. How long has that practice been 

carried out of observing this through the indicator? A. It has 
only been recorded for about a couple of months.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, how long has it been practised? A. 
Well—

Q. Some time ? A. No, we always do it, although we didn't 
record it.

Q. Oh, yes, I see. Was it, for instance, practised for more 
than two months then? A. Yes.

Q. Taking that observation ? A Yes.
Q. Yes, and observing for more than two months, is that 

right? A. Yes.
Q. Observing for more than two months, yes, I see. Then 

40 the statement you make is that the "Norwich City's" position ap­ 
proaching the bridge was — A. She was then 6 or 8 degrees 
north only.

Q. Then 6 or 8 degrees north only, yes. That is your opin­ 
ion ? A. Yes, that is my opinion.

Q. Did you test it on the instrument at the time ? A. No, 
not at the time.

Q. No, not at the time, you didn't test it at the time, that
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Q. I see. Where were you that day ? A. I was collecting.
Q. You were collecting? A. Yes.
Q. Where is your stand for collecting ? A. It is down on 

the level of the bridge—the deck level of the bridge.
Q. Yes, at which end? A. At the south end.
Q. At the south end of the bridge, at the deck level? A. 

Yes.
Q. Yes, would you have a good view of the approach of the 10 

"Norwich City" from there? A. Yes, I was—within 1500 feet 
of it.

Q. Have you worked very long on that bridge? A. Yes, 
since the bridge opened.

Q. That is November, 1925? A. Yes.
Q. Have you made observations from time to tune as to the 

current that passes through the bascule? A. Yes.
Q. Yes ? A. I notice that daily.
Q. Yes. From your observations did you form any opinion 

or draw any conclusion as to whether or not there was a northerly 
trend of the current through the bascule or east of the bascule ? A. 
Well, the drift wood goes as straight as it can, at right angles to 
the bridge through the Narrows.

Q. Through the bascule ? A. Yes.
Q. Yes, did you see any evidence of a cross current in a 

northerly direction? A. No.
Q. In your opinion is there such? A. I don't think so— 

not visible on the surface.
Mr. Donaghy: That is all, your witness.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN: 80
Q. Mr. Tracey, this ticket collecting station is—I am speak­ 

ing now from memory and you will correct me—it is some little 
distance south of Pier No. 5. Perhaps you know that point, do 
you? A. Yes.

Q. Well, take for instance—you know the first span you 
come to on the bridge there, the south end is the 150 foot span, 
that is quite near the shore ? A. Yes.

Q. Now, how far south was your ticket collecting station 
from the south end of that first span? A. Oh, round about 75 
feet, I should judge. *°

Q. Well, then, that is what I mean; therefore you were 75 
plus 150, that is 225 feet south of the bascule pier? A. Yes.

Q. Yes, more than that—260 feet, because you have to add— 
no, I was correct. That was correct, 225 feet south of the bascule 
span itself? A. Yes.



735

Q. That would make it 150 plus 75? A. Yes. RECORD
The Court: How much, Mr. Griffin ? British Coiunn
Mr. Griffin: 225 feet. Admiralty DJS
Q. And therefore, of course, you would be 90 feet more south plaintiffs 

of the central point of the bascule draw ? A. Yes. Case
Q. That would be your position. In other words, 350 feet _ F — 

or thereabouts south of a position in the middle of the bascule cross-exam 7 
draw? A. Yes, that is right. (Contd.)

Q. The result would be that ships at a considerable distance 
10 to the east would be quite within your view, that is, their course 

would be within your view? A. Yes.
Q. But as they approached the bridge closer and closer your 

opportunity to get their exact course would become gradually 
less ? A. No, after they pass a distance of about 1200 feet from 
the bridge the view would be becoming clearer.

Q. I know, the ship is coming nearer to you; I am speaking 
of the vessel being closer on her course, if you get my point. That 
is, the direction—the exact direction in which she is heading be­ 
comes gradually worse and worse for you as the angle gets worse ? 

20 A. The angle is harder to judge, you mean.
Q. Yes, that is what I mean, that is the point exactly. Now, 

you therefore were not in a position to say at east what place the 
''Norwich City" would be say when she was in fact headed for 
the centre of the bascule span, you could not tell that"? A. I 
don't think she was headed for the centre of the bascule span at 
any time.

Q. Well, but all I am trying to is, were you in a position to 
tell if she was or was not ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Well, how could you be when you were 300 feet away 
30 from the point that she would be aiming at ? A. Well, one reason 

is the excitement on board, she wouldn't be coming—they couldn 't 
have been coming under normal conditions owing to the excite­ 
ment there was on the boat.

Q. Is that what you judge from? A. A good deal.
Q. So that really you actually didn't see how she was head­ 

ing 1? A. I saw, but at an angle, of course, as you say.
Q. I am only driving at this, that from the angle, as you 

say, you can't teH*within a few feet where the vessels head would 
be aimed at? A. No, I couldn't tell exactly to a foot or two. 

40 Q. Therefore I take it that it would be impossible for you 
to know exactly where she began to sheer to the north ? A. Well, 
no, I could tell as soon as she began to sheer to the north, but 
couldn't tell how much.

Q. You couldn't tell how much, and in fact I think you will 
agree with me that you couldn't tell that she was sheering at all 
until her sheer had become pronounced? A. Well, of course, I
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(Contd.)

F. G. Tennant
Recalled
Direct.

wasn't in as good a position collecting as I would have been if I 
was operating.

Q. Arc you a navigator yourself? A. No.
Q. Now, it seems to me that you were in no position to get 

the angle of her position on the bridge, you will agree, possibly, if 
you were south so far from the bascule, am I right ? A. Well, 
I used the position finder on the bridge to prove what I thought 
was her position afterwards.

Q. Yes, I see, but at the moment when you saw her you 
were south at your ticket taking station with no instrument 1 A. 10 
Yes.

Q. And when you went to test that out with this indicator 
you had to make a guess back at her position from memory, hadn't 
you? A. Yes.

Q. Well, that certainly would be an inaccurate way of get­ 
ting at her position, wouldn't it? A. Well, I don't know.

Q. Well, would you like to be positive as to the degree of 
angle that ship had been in some time before, when you have seen 
it from a different position? A. Well, all that ground is very 
familiar for us, we are looking at it for eight hours every day 20 
and judging—

Q. Yes, I am not denying that, 'but I want your idea of my 
view, I am asking you as a witness to agree with me that when 
you get to testing out angles possibly 1500 feet away, a difference 
between angles of 6 to 8 degrees is very small, is it not ? A. It is 
a matter of about 40 feet I understand.

Q. Yes, in 1500? A. Somewhere about that.
Q. It is a very trifling amount, is it not ? A, It is not very 

big.
Q. Impossible therefore for a man to give any positive testi- 30 

mony, is it not ? A. Well, that is just my opinion.
Q. How long after the accident did you make this test with 

the indicator ? A. I don't just remember the date that I made it.
Q. It was some days, was it? A. Yes.
Q. Weeks? A. It might have run to weeks.
Q. Oh, I see, a long time then? A. It is quite a consider­ 

able time.
Mr. Griffin: All right, thank you.
Mr. Burns: That is all.
(Witness aside). 40
Mr. Burns: Frederick George Tennant.

FREDERICK GEORGE TENNANT, a witness called on behalf 
of the Plaintiff, recalled, testified further as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
Q. You are already under oath. You are one of the oper­ 

ators on the Second Narrows Bridge, witness ? A. I am.
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Plaintiff's 
Case

Mr. Burns : 
The Court: 
Mr. Burns: 
The Court : 
Mr. Bums:

Q. You will remember the occasion in connection with the 
difficulties of the "Mina Brea" on Saturday, January the 9th, British 
1926, evidence of which has been given in this court? A. You 
mean when she went aground 1

Q. Yes?
The Court: Turn around.
Mr. Burns : That is my fault, my lord.
Q. Do you remember that occasion? A. I do.
Q. Were you operator? A. I was operator on duty at that 

10 time.
Q. Will you explain that?
The Court : What is the name of this vessel ? ' ' Mina Brea. ' ' 

Date?
January 9th, 1926. 
January 9th, 1926. 
1926.

Q. Will you explain that incident? A. Well, I had a boat
blow for the bridge from the east and I gave her the proper sig-

20 nals, which is red, while we are operating — opening the bridge
and as soon as I had the bridge opened I gave her the green, which
is a come ahead signal, turning out the red.

Q. This was with reference to a boat coming from the east ? 
A. From the east.

Q. That is outward bound ? A. Outward bound.
Q. How far was she from the bridge at the time you gave 

her the signal to come on ? A. Well, the visibility from the east 
was very poor and I couldn't see the vessel.

The Court : What time of day ?
30 Mr. Burns: Q. What was the time of day? A. Well, let 

me see, I just don't remember the exact time.
Q. Approximately, daytime or — A. Oh, it was daytime, 

it was somewhere in the morning, I think.
Q. You say the visiblity was not good? A. The visibility 

was very poor to the east, but was just a little better to the west.
Q. And when you gave her the signal to come on, this vessel 

on the east, what is your opinion as to the distance she was from 
the bridge, approximately ? A. Well, I didn't see the outline of 
the vessel until after a boat which was the "Mina Brea" from the 

40 west had blown, and as soon as I got the bridge opened and turned 
the green light on immediately the "Mina Brea" from the west, 
which boat I could see, blew for the bridge.

Q. Now, wait just a minute. You say that you got a signal 
from a boat coming out ? A. That was the "Harold Shang."

Q. Well, she turned out to be, but keep the sequence, if you 
will, witness, please. You got a signal from a boat coming from 
the east? A. From the east.

Q. Which boat you on account of want of visibility or lack of 
visibility could not see ? A. Could not see.

RECORD

pi,t.

^

(Contd.)
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(Contd.)

Mr. Griffin: You have covered that already, haven't you?
Mr. Bums: I am just covering what is covered already. *
Mr. Griffin: If it is covered already why go over it.
Mr. Burns: Q. And I understood you to say before you 

saw the ship coming from the east that you got a signal from the 
"Mina Brea" that was coming from the west, is that right? A. 
That is right.

Q. Well, explain then what you did? A. Immediately I 10 
got the signal from the "Mina Brea," which was coming from the 
west, I gave her a series of flashes on the red, which is our stand 
off signal, at that time.

Q. And could you see the "Mina Brea?" A. I could see 
the "Mina Brea" quite plain.

Q. How far from the bridsre was she? A. Well, she was 
about the elevator.

Q. Well, how far approximately from the bridge? A. 
About a mile away, a little less than a mile perhaps, about a mile 
I would say. 20

Q. How do you account for the visibility being better on the 
west side of the bridge than the east side, as you have stated ? A. 
Well, it is often that way, it is often reversed. This morning it 
is reversed, the visibility was a little better in the east and it was 
very poor to the west.

Q. Now, you say you gave a signal to the "Mina Brea" not 
to come on, just explain what that signal is.

The Court: The stand off.
A. Just the stand off signal, which is a series of flashes on 

a red light. 30
Mr. Burns: Q. And then what happened? A. Well, the 

"Mina Brea" didn't recognize my signals, gave no answer. I 
just continued flashing it a few moments and then I—continued 
the flashing, she still came on, giving no signal that she got my 
red flashes. As soon as the boat from the east hove in sight and 
gave a blast, why the "Mina Brea" immediately knew the bridge 
was not—the bascule was not opened for her, and turned her nose 
towards the south shore, gding aground.

Q. Which way was the tide running? A. The "Harold 
Shang" had the right of way, the tide running out at that time. 40 
time.

Mr. Burns: That is all.
Mr. Griffin: No questions, thank you.
(Witness aside).
Mr. Donaghy: My lord, we are just seeing if my next wit­ 

ness is present.
Mr. Griffin: While my friends are waiting, I have just been 

reading this notice to mariners, April 19th, 1928. I can't see any
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20

difference in effect — the language may be different, but I can't 
see any difference in effect. I have no objection to it going in for 
the purpose of illustration of the present conditions. Admiralty

The Registrar : That will be exhibit 65, my lord. Plaintiff's
Mr. Donaghy: My lord, my next witness is an operator of Case 

the bridge. As these men are on duty we did not keep then in F G ~^~ 
court all the time, but he is on the way here and should be here Dircct ennant 
very shortly. I just want to state that to your lordship. (Contd.)

The Court : Is that your last witness ?
10 Mr. Donaghy : If your lordship felt you would like a short 

adjournment while he is coming, because he is coming from the 
north shore ; but he is an important man and we could not keep 
him here all the time.

The Court : No, I understand it is an important matter, you 
could not entrust this to an ordinary person.

Mr. Donaghy : No, we could not, my lord — only trained men.
Mr. Griffin: Have you any more?
Mr. Donaghy: No.
The Court : That is the last witness then.
Mr. Donaghy : Just two, yes, they are both coming, my lord.
The Court : I understand he will be here in a few minutes.
Mr. Donaghy : A few minutes, if you please, my lord.
The Court: After that, of course, subject to anything else 

that may be said, we will take up the argument.
Mr. Donaghy: Yes, my lord.
The Court: Then I will adjourn for a few moments, Mr. 

Registrar.
(Recess 11 :19 to 11 :39 a.m.)
Mr. Donaghy: My lord, I call Mr. Johnson.

30 ROBERT HUBERT JOHNSON, a witness called on behalf of R. H. Johnson 
the Plaintiff, being first duly sworn, testified as follows : Direct

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY:
Q. Mr. Johnson, are you an operator of the Second Narrows 

Bridge 1? A. Yes.
Q. Yes, were you on duty on the 24th April last at the time 

the Norwich City approached the bridge? A. I was.
Q. By the way, the place where you were would be, about 

how many feet from the deck of the bridge? A. From the ship?
Q. From the deck of the bridge? A. Oh, about 25 feet. 

40 Q. In the position in which the operator stands what are 
the facilities for lookout? A. Very good.

Q. Now, will you just tell what happened on that occasion 
after you saw the Norwich City coming towards the bridge. It 
was coming out of the harbour, I take it ? A. No, she was coming 
down from Port Moody.
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RECORD Q. That is coming out of the harbour? A. Yes. 
British Columbia The Court : Turn this way and speak louder, you see. 
Admir«ityj3ist. Mr. Donaghy? Q. Yes, all right, just tell us ? A. She was 
Plaintiffs coming down from Port Moody, and after passing Berry Point 
Case she blew for the bridge to open, and I opened up in four minutes 

an(^ was wa^inS f°r him to come through, and he got about 6R HTohnson , Dhea. nSOn degrees on the south shore — on the south shore. 
(Contd.) Q. That is — A. 6 degrees north.

Q. 6 degrees north ? A, Yes.
Q. Is that by that indicator? A. By the indicator on the 10 

bascule ?
Q. That is fixed permanently to the bridge? A. Yes.
Q. And she was about 6 degrees north? A. 6 degrees she 

was — about that.
Q. Where was she with reference to Berry Point at that 

time? A. Well, she was inside.
Q. Inside Berry Point? A. Half way between Berry Point 

and the bridge.
The Court : Q. And — you drop your voice ?
A. Half way between Berry Point and the bridge. 20
Mr. Donaghy : Q. Yes, where was she with reference to a 

line projected from where you stood on the bascule to Berry 
Point? A. She was inside the line.

Q. You mean south ? A. South.
Q. Now, how did her course compare with the course gener­ 

ally taken by large vessels of about the same size as this Norwich 
Qity? A. No comparison at all.

Q. What course — having observed the course by this indi­ 
cator on the bridge that vessels take in approaching the bridge 
from the east ? A. Well, on an average about 14 degrees north. 30

The Court : Q. You speak up, you see you drop your voice ?
A. An average about 14 degrees north.
Mr. Donaghy : Q. You see I asked you if you observed the 

course. Did you ? A. That is the general run.
Q. Would you mind directing your mind to my question. I 

asked you if you observed — noticed this course that they generally 
take ? A. Yes, we take the course of each vessel.

Q. Well, that is what I want to get.
The Court: Q. Just repeat that. You see, you will insist 

on dropping your voice? A. We take the course of each vessel as 40 
they approach.

Mr. Donaghy : Your witness.

joss-exam.
i. H. Johnson CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:

Q. Witness, when you said you took a record, you didn't 
keep any record except in the last two months, did you ? A. Oh, 
I couldn't say it is just the last two months, but—
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Q. Well— A. It may be a little longer than that.
Q. You were not keeping any record in April, 1928, were 

you, of the courses ? A. Yes.
Q. Where is the record then. Have you got that? A. No.
Q. Well, do you know there was one kept? A. Well, the 

indicator was there before that date, I believe.
Q. Oh, yes, you didn't catch me, but I am saying that no 

written note or record was made of the courses of the ships as they 
came down up to April, 1928? A. No, I couldn't say there was. 

10 Q. I am only quoting from the last witness, that is the wit­ 
ness Tracey, your predecessor on the witness stand. He would 
know, wouldn't he? A. Certainly.

Q. Well, have you any doubt about this, or are you wanting 
to Create a doubt about it ? A. No, I can't say I am.

Q. So that when you give any testimony about April, 1928, 
you are merely speaking from memory? A. Well, the indicator 
was there and I took—

Q. But, listen to my question. I have the same objection 
that Mr. Donaghy voiced to you, you are not attending closely to 

20 the question put to you? A. No—
Q. I say, you are giving what took place in April last, merely 

from memory, are you? A. Well—
Q. Louder? A. Yes.
Q. Is that correct ? A. Sure.
Q. Then this course that you say the Norwich City took is 

merely what you can recollect back to last April, is it not? A. 
Certainly.

Q. And you didn't write it down then? A. What, the 
course ? 

30 Q.
Q.

sure.
Q. But you said it was about 6 ? A. Yes, certainly.
Q. So that you are not sure, positively, what it was? A. 

Well, I couldn't be much more, it may be—
Q. Answer my question frankly, witness, if you like. You 

don't actually recollect what it was? A. What the degrees were?
Q. Yes, that is it, that is what I am asking. A. No, of 

course not. 
40 Q. What? A. Of course not.

Q. Now, then, the same with the courses of the other ships, 
you have no independent recollection of the courses of any one 
particular ship, have you? A. Before that time?

Q. That is what I am driving at? A. No.
Q. So that this average that you speak of is a composite pic­ 

ture from your memory? A. Sure.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, that is all, thank you.

Yes? A. No, I didn't write the course down.
You are not sure exactly what it was today? A. Pretty
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RECORD RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY:
Q. Is it though, have you got no written record, as my friend 

.. suggests, of the courses of any of these vessels ? A. Before AprilPlaintiff s Qyi-j-'u 9
(~ ^rUl I

__ Q. No, since April? A. Since April? 
R. H. Johnson Q. Yes? A. Why certainly. 
Re-direct Q. Have you got your written record with you ? A. Well—

Q. Well, we will see? A. My records have gone in, you 
see, at the time of the reports.

The Court: Q. I wish, witness, you would keep speaking 10 
up, because if you keep mumbling in that way I cannot under­ 
stand you. Can you speak ? A. Yes, my lord.

Q. Well, what do you say? A. At the time of my reports 
f tia,t I put in each day.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. What are these? Are these your re­ 
ports? (Handing document to witness.)

Q. Have you any written record there of the courses of ves­ 
sels?

Mr. Griffin: My lord, I never asked about written records 
before April, my friend— 20

Mr. Donaghy: You asked about April.
Mr. Griffin: I confined my question entirely to the position 

earlier than April, never asked a question about the written rec­ 
ords since April.

The Witness: That is what I understood, my lord.
The Court: Keep quiet for just a moment.
Mr. Griffin: The witness agrees with me, my lord, the wit­ 

ness concurs with me.
Mr. Donaghy: I don't care what he concurs in.
The Court: I understood you asked him, Mr. Griffin, you 30 

were testing his memory and you said to him, have you records of 
any one single vessel.

Mr. Griffin: Before April, 1928.
Mr. Donaghy: No, you didn't say that.
The Court: You did not put that in.
Mr. Griffin: No, my lord—
The Court: I noticed that you did not put that in.
Mr. Griffin: But the witness understood it from the previous 

questions.
The Court: Well, did he ? 40
Mr. Griffin: Ask him, my lord.
Mr. Donaghy: I don't propose to ask the witness—I know 

what you said and my memory is exactly as his lordship has stated 
it to be. The notes will establish that.

Mr. Griffin: The transcript will show. I am quite clear that 
I did not discuss with this witness a period that has no concern
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with us, but that of April, 1928, might be of some interest, and the 
period when the Norwich City was there — that is my submission.

The Court: Well, it is a peculiar situation, you see, Mr. 
Griffin, and unfortunately you said one thing and then you meant 
another and I do not feel disposed really, so to speak, that you 
should be penalized for that. Do you think it is necessary then?

Mr. Donaghy : Oh, I really think so, my lord. You see I had 
asked the witness the question as to whether he had observed 
ships and what courses they took, and he said yes to those diff er- 

10 ent courses. Then my friend — stating no time at all, you see, it 
was broad — then my friend took that up and said, Now, your 
statement as to the previous occasions is just from memory, sort 
of general, it was made perfectly clear. Now, I want to meet that, 
he says he has records here. The records are there, then we want 
to clear up as to whether he is speaking of the record, or whether 
he is speaking in the vague way that the cross-examination would 
suggest, you see.

Mr. Griffin : And I desire to have the notes turned up, my 
lord. It won't take a moment.

20 The Court : Yes, just read, then we will see if you did con­ 
fine your question in the way you think you did, Mr. Griffin. If 
you did, then this evidence is not admissible. If you did not, it is 
admissible. Just read, Mr. Reporter, what Mr. Griffin asked this 
witness — beginning at the beginning.

(The complete cross-examination of Mr. Johnson by Mr. Grif­ 
fin was then read.)

The Court: What do you say to that, Mr. Griffin. It is 
really very involved. I cannot quite make out whether you in­ 
tended the witness to understand that you did refer to it in that 

30 way now.
Mr. Griffin : My lord, if it is not plain to your lordship — it 

seems to me to read with the greatest clarity on that point. It 
goes on straight through, right back to April and stops, and the 
question I put to him was, these courses that you mention as aver­ 
age are not taken from records, they are only memorized from 
memory, showing as plain as day I am not dealing with courses 
since April but up to April and I mentioned April a dozen times 
and never referred to the period after. The testimony that has 
just been read — it is plain, I think.

40 Mr. Donaghy: Yes, well, I submit, my lord, that the state­ 
ment which he made in regard to the average was clearly not given 
on an average of courses before April, because he told me that 
that was the average course that the vessels took in Vancouver 
Harbour.

The Court: That is just the difficulty, there is the uncer­ 
tainty as to how far that can be done. I think it is safer not to 
allow it.
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RECORD Mr. Donaghy: Very good, my lord.
The Court: The testimony, I think though it was unfor-British Columbia

Admiralty Din. tunate that it was not a little more definite.
Plaintiff's 
Case

B. Watson 
Direct.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, very good, my lord.
(Witness aside.)
Mr. Burns: Bruee Watson.

BRUCE WATSON, a witness called on behalf of the Plaintiff, 
being duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BURNS:
The Registrar: Is you full name Bruce Watson ? A. That 10 

is my business name.
Q. What is your full name ? A. Well, I have never used it 

since in British Columbia. My full name is John Ogle Bruce 
Watson.

The Registrar: Bruce Watson is the name, my lord.
Mr. Burns: Q. You are an operator for the Bridge Com­ 

pany, Watson? A. Yes, sir.
Q. Were you on duty on September 5th last, when the 

"Nanaimolite" dented some plates? A. Yes, sir.
The Court: What is that date, Mr. Burns ? 20
Mr. Burns: September 5th.
The Court: September 5th, the "Nanaimolite."
Mr. Burns: The '' Nanaimolite,'' yes.
Q. What were the circumstances of that accident, just ex­ 

plain them to his lordship. How did it come about? A. Well, 
it was in the morning, it was foggy, and the ship was blowing fog 
signals along the north shore coming towards the bridge, and he 
came within possibly half a mile, by judging his whistle, and he 
blew for the bridge. I opened the bridge, waited for him, and 
when I just saw him he was headed for the north shore, about 300 80 
feet north of the north edge of the bascule opening. There was a 
tide running with him and I saw that he was going to have trouble, 
and I picked up—

The Court: Q. When you saw him he was where ? A. He 
was heading for the north shore about 300 feet north of the north 
edge of the opening.

Mr. Burns: Q. And how far from the bridge? A. He 
would be 500 feet.

Q. East of the bridge? A. West.
Q. West of the bridge ? A. He was going east. 40
Q. Going east, yes? A. Well—I took the megaphone and 

shouted for him to take a turn out of her. I thought he was go­ 
ing to have trouble, and he was turning at that time. As he turned 
the tide naturally was against him when he started to turn, and 
before he got around so that he could properly handle the ship the
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stern of his ship caught the west point of the pier, that is the RECORD 
bascule—the bascule and 300-foot pier, too, I think it was; and it British Coiumtt hung there. Mmhdty Put.

The Court: Q. Do not say think, you know. Plaintiff's
A. Well, I believe that is— Case _
Q. Well, do not believe or think, just say. You say pier 2 ? B w~n 

A. Pier 2, yes. Direct
Mr. Burns: Q. When you say you believe you are speaking (Contd.) 

as to this one pier ? A. Yes. When he turned the tide carried 
10 him and the stern—about 25 feet from the stern of the ship caught 

on the point of the pier and he hit pretty hard on the point of the 
pier, and his nose stuck into the tide, and he didn't clear this 
stern, it hung there. The tide carried him round and he slipped 
off there on his stern and he went through the bascule opening 
broadside, and he turned with the tide and went on through.

Q. Now, what was the reason for that, what was the cause 
of it ? A. He was too far to the north shore.

Q. In approaching the bridge? A. In the fog, it was due, 
I think, mostly to the fog, his position. The fog was fairly heavy. 

20 y. Now, you are familiar with this indicator that has been 
spoken of ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. That is established on the bridge. Vessels coming from 
the east, what is the general or usual course they follow, having 
reference to the indicator, in approaching the bridge? A. Oh, 
14,15, just around there, an average, I suppose, around 14.

Q. You mean 14 or 15 north? A. North—degrees north, 
yes.

Q. Have you their records of the different angles ? A. Yes.
Q. Of degree angles— A. Yes. 

30 Q- Degrees of angle? A. Yes.
Q. Have you it in your reports? A. They are all on the 

reports, these last—
Mr. Burns: That is all.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN: ? WatsonCross-exam.
Q. Just when did you begin to keep these records? A. I 

couldn't tell you the date.
Q. Well, as near as you know. The witness Tracey who was 

here said it was about two months ago they began ? A. I think it 
was a little longer than that possibly. 

40 Q. Well, three months? A. I don't know the date.
Q. You don't know the date. Was it since April, 1928? A. 

That we have been writing them in our reports, yes.
Q. Yes. Are you a navigator yourself? A. No, sir.
Mr. Griffin: That is all.
Mr. Burns: Thank you.
(Witness aside).
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Mr. Donaghy: My lord, that finishes our evidence.
The Court: Mr. Griffin ?
Mr. Griffin: If your lordship pleases, as your lordship has 

held against me that evidence in rebuttal was permissible to the 
Plaintiff, I having taken the view that it was not, and the issues be­ 
ing the same that the same ruling, of course, would apply to claim 
and counter-claim, but subject to that view, that is to say, subject 
to my objection and subject to your lordship's view on that objec­ 
tion, I desire on my part in that event to call a little evidence in 
rebuttal of the counterclaim, and I so propose to call two or three 10 
pilots, and Mr. Muckleston to be recalled, and that will be all.

The Court: Rebuttal on the counter-claim ?
Mr. Donaghy: I don't understand my friend on that.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, well, the same issues are on the counter­ 

claim as on the claim, and if my friend can rebut them as to the 
claim, I can rebut them as to the counter-claim.

The Court: You say the same issue is on the counter-claim ?
Mr. Griffin: Yes.
The Court: As on the claim.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, every issue that is in one is in L>O 

the other, except, of course, negligent navigation; and I think 
therefore if my friend can rebut that for the purpose of his case, 
I can rebut that for the purpose of my case.

The Court:
same.

Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin:

well.
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin:

tiff would not be. 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin:

Your defence and your counter-claim are the

Yes, my lord. 
They are the same? 
Yes.

The same issues in them. 
Certainly, as I say, they are on the Plaintiff as

In such case you are not entitled to call rebuttal.
My lord, then, of course, if I am not, the Plain- 
We would be both in the same boat. 

That is quite different.
My submission, my lord, is that it is not. In

30

other words, if there is an issue we will say as to whether or no 
the bridge was constructed with the least possible impediment to 
navigation, if my friend can give evidence in rebuttal for the pur­ 
pose of his claim on that point, I on my part, when dealing with 
the same issue in the counter-claim may give evidence in rebuttal.

The Court: But the issues in the counter-claim are the same 
as the other, you say?

Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord. Of course, I am not abandoning 
my position, but as your lordship has held against me on that 
position, then it seems to be highly logical that I must have the

40
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right of rebuttal, since the counter-claim goes in rebutting the RECORD
isSUe—— British Columbia

The Court: Well, just tell me exactly what you propose to Mmiral'y Dist- 
do, because I must say I do not understand it when you say the Plaintiff's 
issues are the same. Case _

Mr. Griffin: I say the issues are the same—I take firstly, the B Watson 
issues of legality of construction are the same both for the claim Cross-exam, 
and counter-claim. (Comd.)

The Court: What issue is it on which you ask to give rebut- 
10 tal?

Mr. Griffin: I ask to give rebuttal testimony on the issue 
that the bridge was illegally constructed and therefore a nuisance.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: And on that issue, which brings up all these 

questions of the conditions of the Narrows, I desire to call rebut­ 
tal. I propose to call—

The Court: You ask to give rebuttal evidence on what issue, 
just give it to me, so I can write it down.

Mr. Griffin: On the issue as to the legality of the construc- 
20 tion of this bridge.

The Court: On the issue as to the legality.
Mr. Griffin: The legality of construction and the extent of 

impediment.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Which is the same thing in my view.
The Court: Yes, which is the same thing.
The Griffin: Which I argue is the same.
The Court: Now, you ask to give rebuttal evidence as to the 

legality of construction of the bridge, that is to say, in pursuance 
30 of parliamentary powers.

Mr. Griffin: Yes—
The Court: Wait now. Yes, and also—
Mr. Griffin: The extent of the impediment, which is only a 

branch of that.
The Court: And also the allegation of—
Mr. Griffin: The allegation of unnecessary impediment.
The Court: Of unnecessary impediment, yes. Now, both 

those were issues the onus of which was upon you.
Mr. Griffin: No, my lord, both issues on which the onus was 

40 upon the Plaintiff originally. The issue of legality of construc­ 
tion was always on the Plaintiff, and he assumed it, assumed it and 
carried it from the very beginning, and asked your lordship's 
leave to bring evidence—

The Court: Yes, you say the issue—you use the words, 
"legality of construction," I use pursuance—that is the expres­ 
sion. I think, but I use it in pursuance of the powers.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, I mean the same thing.
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The Court : You mean the same thing.
Mr. Griffin: Yes, I use the shorter word there, I endeav­ oured to get one word to cover it.
The Court : Now, that, of course, was for Mr. Donaghy.
Mr. Donaghy : Yes.
Mr. Griffin : Oh, yes.
The Court: There is no question about that.
Mr. Donaghy: Quite correct, that onus was on me in my case in chief.
The Court : Yes, he assumed that onus, and he said in regard to that there was just one witness he was going to call, and that was the engineer, Mr. Swan, and that ends that as far as he is concerned. Now, your point that you wish to open that question up on is the proper construction — due construction. You wish to call evidence?

Mr. Griffin : Yes, my lord, I want to call some evidence in rebuttal in reply to the defence to the counter-claim.
The Court : What is the nature of the evidence you propose to give?
Mr. Griffin : I propose to call Mr. Muckleston, civil engineer, to discuss the survey made by Mr. Hanes.
The Court: To do what?
Mr. Griffin: To discuss the survey of the fill made by Dr. Hanes ; and I propose to call two or three pilots to discuss the evi­ dence given by Captain Batchelor as to the course of ships anterior to the building of the bridge.
The Court : Then there are two things, one is the actual con­ struction, quite apart from the theory of navigation. We will take up one thing at a time. You now propose to call evidence in rebuttal to that of Mr. Swan, and the other witness who gave his dimensions yesterday in regard to the actual size and that sort of thing of the fill.

That is it.
I think you are entitled to do that. 
Yes, I will call Mr. Muckleston. 
The reason for that ruling is that that was cast upon the Plaintiff, the onus was upon them to show that it was duly constructed pursuant to parliamentary powers.

Mr. Griffin: Would your lordship allow me to make this interjection — I would like your lordship to rule on the other one first.
The Court: No, I won't rule until it comes.
Mr. Griffin : I have a seaman here —
The Court : There shall be no ruling until I get this. It is a very nice question and I propose to keep it different — I am only going to give one ruling at a time, and you will submit this wit-

Mr. Griffin: 
The Court: 
Mr. Griffin: 
The Court:

10

30
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ness who will now go into the box, and there will no other finding. MCORD 
This case is one which is very easy to confuse and I do not pro- British Columbia pose to confuse it. Mmh^Dto.

Defendant's
REBUTTAL TO DEFENCE TO COUNTER-CLAIM. Case

HUGH MUCKLESTON, a witness for the Defendant, recalled
in rebutttal of counter-claim, testified further as follows: Direct

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Q. Mr. Muckleston, I show you—
The Court: Just one moment. Yes, Mr. Muckleston is re- 

10 called, yes.
Mr. Griffin: I direct your attention to exhibit 58, being the 

survey plan made by Mr. Hanes, engineer witness for the Plain­ 
tiff. In your opinion—

The Court: The plan, Mr. Griffin, is what number 1
Mr. Griffin: Exhibit 58.
The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Is it in your opinion possible to make an 

accurate—
The Court: This is Hanes, is it not ? Is it Hanes' plan ? 

20 Mr. Griffin: Yes, my lord, H-a-n-e-s.
The Court: H-a-n-e-s, yes, Hanes' plan, exhibit 58, yes.
Mr. Griffin: Q. Is it in your opinion possible to make an 

accurate survey of the low water mark without actually locating 
it on the ground, either by level and rod, or by selecting a time 
when the water stood at the actual level, and in either case estab­ 
lishing a line on the ground by sticks—

The Court: Turn round, witness. What is that again? Try 
and make your question—your question is long, and it seemed to 
be two or three.

30 Mr. Griffin: Q. Is it possible to make an actual survey of 
the low water mark without actually locating it on the ground by 
some physical mark? A. No.

Q. What is the right way then, if you have to locate it on 
one day and make your survey on another when the water will 
cover the low water mark, and what is the right way of marking 
it? A. With some physical object, such as a permanent stake or 
monument of some sort.

Q. And from this particular case, a line of stakes ? A. A line 
of stakes, yes.

4() Q. It has been deposed that the survey upon which this plan 
is based was made on the 29th of September last between noon and 
5 p.m. What was the stage of the tide between those times ? A. 
There was a 3.7 tide, which is—

Q. 3.7 tide, yes? A. That is 7 minutes before noon.
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RECORD Q. yes? A. And a tide of 11.1 at a few minutes after 6 in 
British Columbia the evening.
Admtraityj3ist. ]yfr Donaghy : Yes, my lord, so my friend will be under no 
Defendant's misapprehension, the actual statement was that Mr. Hanes said 
Case that is the day he finished —

Court : A little louder.IT \\ADirect St°D Mr- Donaghy: Mr. Hanes said that was the day he finished 
(Co'ntd.) his investigation, but that he had been working at it several days, 

so my friend will be under no misapprehension.
The Court : No, I remember that, that is the day he said he 10 

finished the plan.
Mr. Griffin: But you will remember — I understood him to 

say, my lord, and it is my recollection, that all the survey was 
made on that —

The Court : Well, I did not understand that.
Mr. Griffin : That is my recollection, and if it is correct this 

testimony will meet it ; if it is not correct it will do no harm.
The Court: I understood that was the evidence, he said, I 

finished the plan on that day after I had done work on it before.
Mr. Griffin: No, my lord, I think not. He made, I know, 20 

visits before, I am aware of that, he had made physical visits be­ 
fore, presumably some time before, but he had never made any 
survey before.

The Court: Well, you may proceed, Mr. Griffin, because, 
subject to that, of course, it would seem, this evidence being ex­ 
tended — we will have his evidence extended later and then we will 
have the full effect of the evidence, you see. In the meantime it 
will be really safe to allow this witness to answer.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, just a very few questions.
Q. Would the ordinary line of low water be seen or reached 30 

between those times mentioned — that you have mentioned about? 
A. Not without waiting.

Q. How deep would the water be above ordinary low water 
between those hours? A. At least — it would be 2% feet deep at 
the beginning of the period, and over seven feet at the end.

Q. Now, if the low water mark as appearing in fact on the 
ground on the 31st October was used, how much lower would this 
be than ordinary low water mark ? A. About a foot.

Q. Now, what effect would that have in regard to the posi­ 
tion of low water mark? A. It would be considerably farther 40 
out depending on the slope of the beach.

Q. And that in turn would have what effect upon the longi­ 
tudinal measurement of the fill ? A. It would make it very much 
shorter.

The Court: Q. It would make it what, witness, did you 
say? A. Correspondingly shorter.

Mr. Griffin : Q. In other words, if I might do the same as
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my friend, it creates an appearance of a shorter fill than if ordi­ 
nary low water mark had been used ? A. Yes.

Q. Now, following what I understood the witness to say— 
the witness Hanes to say, that he had located low water mark on 
some previous occasion before the 29th September, in the sense of 
having observed it on the ground, but had not marked it, and had 
come back on the 29th of September to make his survey, would it 
be possible for him to accurately portray on his plan the position 
of the end of this fill at ordinary low water? A. Not without 

10 some physical mark.
Q. Would it be possible for any one to tell with accuracy 

how far out that low water mark would be ? A. No.
Q. Now, have you visited this site with the idea of making 

such survey as purports to be represented on exhibit 58 ? A. Yes,
1 made a special visit there on Saturday, November the 7th, at
2 p.m.

Q. And what conditions did you find on that occasion? A. 
The tide was ebbing, it had been 12.6 at 10.41, and ebbed to 9.6 at 
15.43.

20 Q. Yes? A. There was no great degree of current visible, 
although a slight eddy was visible around the rock fill, which is at 
Pier 5.

Q. What did you find in the conditions as to the shore which 
relate to the question of the original low water mark ? A. There 
had been a great deal of material dumped over the Canadian Pa­ 
cific Railway embankment for the purpose of laying additional 
tracks for the elevator.

Q. Yes f A. And at the time I was there this material was 
at least awash, and I don't know how far down below the water 

30 mark it had extended, but I estimate that it was at least two or 
three feet of it awash. If that was the case, a good deal of that 
material will be carried down by the wash and spread over the 
beach, and I would expect to find that the level of the beach had 
been raised generally by quite a considerable amount—possibly 
a foot.

Q. And what effect would that have on the apparent low 
water mark? A. It would move the apparent high water mark 
out a corresponding distance—possibly ten feet from where it was 
before that material had been put there. The fill as it is a groyne 

40 standing out on the beach, and it would arise in the lateral drift 
that might occur and it would pile up against it. You see an ex­ 
ample of that action on the pier—on the west side of the pier at 
English Bay.

Mr. Griffin: That is all. Your witness.

RECORD
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H. Muckleston 
Direct 

(Contd.)
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RECORD CROSS-EXAMINATION BY ME. DONAGHY:
. Q- When was the fill back of the C.P.E. track deposited, that 
is> in tne fill at the elevator 1 A. They were depositing it there 

eenants back in june_May and June of this year.
— Q. Yes. That is on the farther south shore — the indenta- 

H. Muckleston tion just west of the Second Narrows Bridge, is it not? A. It 
Cross-exam. begins about— not more than 100 feet west of the bridge.

Q. West of what, the bridge pier or— A. Yes, the axis of 
the bridge I should say, about 100 feet west.

The Court : Taking the west face, the west line, you see. 10
Mr. Donaghy: Yes.
The Witness : The line is on a curve there, my lord, and pro­ 

ducing the axis of the bridge straight south from that it would 
possibly be 100 feet.

Q. How many feet is this fill away from the most southerly 
concrete pier of the bridge? A. I should say about 100 feet.

Q. Yes. How far is it from the concrete pier to the bridge 
that. crosses the C. P. E. tracks, for instance. You know that 
bridge over the C. P. E. tracks, a continuation of the highway of 
the Second Narrows Bridge, don't you? A. Yes. 20

Q. How far is that from the most southerly concrete pier? 
A. Well, they are not comparable. If you produce the axis of 
the bridge straight south you get a line, you get a measurement 
there.

Q. Yes, you see I am not doing that. I just asked you how 
far this concrete pier immediately south, how far that was? A. 
200 feet, perhaps.

Q. 200 feet, that is from the most southerly concrete pier? 
A. Well, the pier is so far out in the stream —

Q. I don't care how far out in the stream it is? A. I never 30 
measured it along that line.

Q. Well, it is taking a straight line, the nearest point be­ 
tween two points? A. I couldn't tell Mr. Donaghy, because I have 
never estimated it along that line, I was estimating it as near as I 
could from the axis of the bridge.

Q. Will you please give that information along a straight 
line? A. I couldn't —

Q. Is it over 100 feet? A. Oh, yes, I think so.
Q. Yes, and isn't the fill that I spoke of, or the continuation 

of that straight line another 100 feet at least? A. I wouldn't say, 40
I couldn't.

Q. It is more than 10 feet, is it not, from that bridge? A. 
Well, we are not running along parallel courses.

Q. But I am going to ask you about a straight course ? A. 
I don't know your course.

Q. You refuse to take the shortest distance between two 
points, do you? A. I couldn't estimate it unless I was there at
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20

30

you

the time and estimated at the time. Speaking from memory, I 
have no recollection of the situation on which I could estimate.

Mr. Donaghy : All right, if you have no recollection of any- 
thing there is no use talking to you.

Mr. Griffin: That is all, thank you.
(Witness aside.)
Mr. Griffin: Now, my lord, my next point is, I want to call 

one or two seamen.
The Court: Just wait. That is all the evidence then 

10 have on that aspect of the matter — on that issue.
Mr. Griffin : Yes, my lord.
The Court : Now, then, what is it you propose to do ?
Mr. Griffin: I propose to call one or two seamen to discuss 

some o f the things in the evidence of the witness Batchelor, as to 
the coarse commonly taken by ships in the Narrows before the 
bridge was built. If that testimony given by the company could 
have teen material it could only be material on an issue relating 
to whuther the bridge was or was not a needlessly great impedi­ 
ment.

The Court: What you are now proposing to do is to give 
f urth er evidence on the question as to whether or no this bridge — 
the bridge constitutes an impediment to navigation?

Mr. Griffin: Yes, more than it need have been.
The Court: Now, just repeat that, I did not catch that.
Mr. Griffin: I say I am proposing to call testimony in re­ 

buttal of the issue as to whether this bridge does or does not 
constitute a needlessly great impediment.

The Court: Yes.
Mr. Griffin: On the point — the particular point relates to 

a condition before the bridge, on which the witness Batchelor was 
allowed to testify.

RECORD

The Court: 
your defence. 

Mr. Griffin : 
The Court : 
Mr. Griffin:

Yes, now, that issue clearly was upon you in

My lord, I submit with some confidence, not. 
Very well.
Because it is, as I submit, it is merely a form 

of turning the question in conformity with the law. If the bridge 
in other words could be built by my friend providing it interfered 
with navigation to a minimum extent, and otherwise would be un- 

40 lawful, it was for him to show that it came within the realm of 
those bridges which are of a minimum impediment, and that is one 
of those elements, and therefore I have a right to rebut on that 
point. That is my submission.

Mr. Donaghy: I think, my lord, my friend had better call 
his witnesses and ask his questions so we will deal with it when 
he puts his question to the witness. 

The Court: I beg your pardon.

Defendant's 
Case

Muckleston
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T. S. Guns 
Direct

Mr. Griffin: I think, probably, my lord, the safer way would 
be for my friend to call his witness and when he puts his question 
it can then be discussed.

The Court: I think that would be the best way, Mr. Griffin, 
then we will get a concrete question and a concrete ruling, that is 
what Mr. Donaghy says at present. He may or may not object to 
it; so you may call your witnesses.

Mr. Griffin: All right, Captain Guns.
The Court: Then we will see if Mr. Donaghy has any objec­ 

tion. Of course if he has no objection, I have no objection; it is ^ 
nothing to me.

THOMAS S. GUNS, recalled in rebuttal, as a witness on behalf 
of the Defendant, testified further as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
The Court: He has been on before, what is the name 1?
The Registrar: Your name is— A. Thomas S. Guns.
Mr. Griffin: I won't repeat, my lord, this gentleman is a 

pilot, has been for many years, and his qualifications were all 
given before.

The Court: Yes. 20
Mr. Griffin: I have to repeat this one statement only.
Q. You have navigated through the bridge on many many 

occasions with large vessels before the bridge was built? A. 
Fifty—one moment, sir. 54 times previous to the construction of 
the bridge.

Q. And I am now going to ask a question or two relating to 
what I shall for this question describe as big ships, say those over 
300 feet long. I show you admiralty chart exhibit No. 7, and ask 
you what was the common course for navigators of big ships in 
relation to the south or north shores of the Narrows before there 30 
was any bridge built, and speaking of ships going west? A. In 
the—

Mr. Donaghy: My lord, just a moment, I object to this ques­ 
tion, my lord. This matter was gone into by my friend in evidence 
which he called in support of his defence and his counterclaim. 
It has been rather hurried, to look up the thing, but probably 
there is more in my brief.

The Court: Yes, just refer to it.
Mr. Donaghy: Page 324, at the bottom of page 324 of the 

record, T. S. Guns, that is the present witness, at the bottom of 40 
page 324, this witness was asked this, when he was examined in 
chief bv my friend, this question:

'' Q. Where was the fairway before the bridge was built I
A. In the centre of the channel."
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Page 352, at line 14, the witness Brown whom my friend called RECORD 
was asked this question: Britis~ 

"Q. What position is the bascule span of the bridge Admiralty 
with reference to the fairway through the Narrows? A. Defendant's 
Well, I don't consider it is in the fairway at all. The proper Case 
fairway for deep-loaded ships has been closed up. I traded —— 
tnrough the narrows before the bridge was built. I always 3:. S' Guns 
had control of my vessel, and on the 22nd of April, 1925, there ir(G>ntd \ 
was a 300-foot span of navigable channel and I had to go 

10 through that bascule span."
There may be some more of this, my lord, too, but—a ques­ 

tion further:
"Q. You found the ordinary fairway up the channel 

was closed? A. Was closed."
He is referring to the 300-foot span closing. There may be 

more of these things, I would like a little time to look this up, 
because it is quite a job to turn up a matter of this kind, my lord, 
in such a tremendous volume of evidence.

Mr. Griffin: I will admit there ar.e several more just like this. 
20 Mr. Donaghy: In other words, will my friend admit—that 

will save me a lot of labour—that in the evidence which he called 
in defence and in support of his counter-claim, that he brought 
out evidence showing the course which vessels used to take in 
going easterly or westerly or both through the Second Narrows I 

Mr. Griffin: No.
Mr. Donaghy: My friend won't admit that, that is what I 

want to look up, you see.
The Court: That is true, I think, Mr. Griffin. 
Mr. Griffin: No, my lord, that is not correct, I am making no 

30 admission on the point. You see the distinction I draw, I have 
agreed there are several passages similar to those my friend has 
read, because that is my memory, and they don't meet the point 
at all. You see, I was not really thinking of this question that my 
friend has raised, that is all that the witness Guns has said—he 
was being examined and asked whether the position of the bridge 
is south of the channel, that is, as a matter of construction, that 
proposition. He was placing the bascule span in its relation to 
the centre of the channel. He was not discussing the question of 
the practice of shipmasters before the bridge was built, he was 

4() merely discussing the position of the bridge. True, incidentally, 
he did make some remarks about that, but it was not directed to 
that, and I don't think, as far as I am concerned, that I even 
thought of it. What he says is this:

"Q. The bridge is not right across the Narrows, but
runs at an angle. Where is the bascule of the bridge with
reference to the fairway of the Second Narrows? A. It is
entirely away. It leads a man directly into the south shore.

Q. Is it to the north or south of the fairway that was
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used by vessels navigating the Narrows before the bridge was
built? A. On the south side."
You see the fact that vessels commonly navigated to the north 

is purely an incidental matter. The thing that was being discussed 
was what was the position of the bascule. Now, then, my friend 
raised by his witness' testimony the distinct question as to what 
navigators had done. I am instructed it is entirely wrong. In 
other words, if the practice of navigators has anything to do with 
it, I ought to be allowed to reply to it. If it has not, then the 
evidence should not have been admitted, and on that view your 10 
lordship decided to allow that evidence in, and it would be in the 
interests of justice that we should be able to tackle it as a point 
by itself, that we certainly did not do before.

The Court: There is something in that, Mr. Donaghy. You 
see, Mr. Griffin, what he suggests is that while at large he says that 
he did—of course, there is no question about it—but he says in 
order to establish his point that there has been no doubt interfer­ 
ence—that is the word he used—impediment to navigation, then 
to meet that, that is his case, and he produced on that competent 
evidence unquestionably in support of that, and it is not open to 20 
him, of course, to confirm that evidence, but he says this, that there 
is in that aspect of it something that he should have an opportun­ 
ity to add just now, that is to say, that the general course of 
navigation was as marked upon that admiralty chart. I think 
that is the very admiralty chart that was mentioned.

Mr. Griffin: Yes, that is the one.
The Court: I think it is therefore open to him to make that 

one point, as far as that goes. There may be others, but I will not 
reject that evidence.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes, I would quite concede that, my lord, if 30 
he. has not gone into it, you see.

The Court: Yes, he may have incidentally gone into it, but 
I do not think he has gone into it—though he has gone into it in 
the sense of endeavouring to establish that it was the general 
course, the ordinary and recognized course of navigators, but he 
did not pin himself down to anything of that description.

Mr. Donaghy: My lord, I really had the impression that he 
led evidence to show that we put the bascule span in the wrong 
place, because the course taken by navigators had always been 
farther north. 40

The Court: Well, my recollection of it did not go quite that 
far, Mr. Donaghy.

Mr. Donaghy: No, I see.
The Court: There is no question about it from several aspects 

but I do not think that particular aspect—at least, it was not so 
emphasized as to—we will say this—impress itself very strongly
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upon my memory, and it has been a very long case and I think it RECORD 
better to allow that question to be asked.

Mr. Griffin: Q. Well, have you got the question before you. Admir^y £> 
The Court: I think in the circumstances it is clearly rebuttal. Defendant's 
A. Would you please repeat it. Case 
Mr. Griffin: Q. Well, the question is only one question T — 

really. Firstly, what was the regular course for navigators to ' 
take with big ships going west through the narrows within, say, 
1,500 feet, we will say, for the sake of shortening it, east of the 

10 bridge to the point where the bridge now is with regard to the north 
and south shores? A. Absolutely in midchannel.

Q. Is it correct—if testimony has been produced that the 
common custom of pilots and navigators was to utilize the south 
shore and more or less hug the south shore, is that correct? A. 
No, it would be absolutely dangerous with a deep ship. 

Mr. Griffin: Your witness, Mr. Donaghy.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY: T. s. Guns
Q. Were you taking deep ships up through the Second Nar­ 

rows prior to the commencement—
20 The Court: Just one moment, if you please, Mr. Donaghy. 

Yes, all right.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. For how many years prior to the com­ 

mencement of the work on the Second Narrows Bridge had you 
been navigating large vessels up through the Second Narrows? 
A. From—

The Court: Since the work?
Mr. Donaghy: Since the work commenced—before the work

commenced on the bridge, you see, how many years before the
work commenced on the bridge had you been navigating through

30 the Second Narrows with large ships? A. From the 27th of
February, 1917, till the 3rd of December, 1921.

Q. Yes.
The Court: Q. You had been navigating large ships from 

When? A. The 27th February, 1917, to the 3rd of December, 
1921.

Mr. Donaghy: Yes. Now, did you hear Captain Batchelor's 
evidence ? A. I did not.

Q. You didn't hear his evidence? A. I wasn't here.
Q. Well, what have you to say regarding this statement that 

40 he made, that there was an objection to going up the middle chan­ 
nel, like through that 300-foot span where it is now, always had 
been an objection because there was a spit which projected from 
the north shore southerly east of the bridge, and that the extent of 
that spit extension was somewhat indefinite, and as a matter of 
precaution navigators did not take that mid channel in the 300- 
foot span of the bridge, but preferred to keep farther south, so
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RECORD ag £0 ^i^ no c]jance Of ground on the spit. Now, what do you say 
British Columbia as to the statement he made in that respect? A. I can't agree 

with it, for the simple reason that we tried to keep in the middle—
The Court: Turn around now.
A. I can't agree with it, for the simple reason that we tried 

to keep in the middle line of the current, which was more or less 
in midchannel. With a deep loaded ship you had to follow the 
current or head the current to keep her under control.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Well, have you any regard for the possi­ 
bility of going on shoals, if it is true there was a shoal as he says 10 
there? A. Mid current—

Q. A spit standing out? A. Mid current would not be 
where there was a shoal, there couldn't be a shoal there if the main 
current was in mid channel.

Q. Well, I take it you say there is no such spit as that ex­ 
tending out— A. Not—

Q. —which might possibly be dangerous? A. Not at the 
mihchannel.

Q. Now, this midchannel is not defined by walls or buoys is 
it? A. No. 20

Q. No. Well, then, coming east, we will say, if you went 
through that 300-foot span what course would you take, would 
you take the straight east course at right angles to the 300-foot 
span and keep on it? A. Almost, with Berry Point slightly a 
point on the port bow.

Q. Yes? A. I would have the ship heading on Berry Point 
a little bit ahead.

Q. Yes, and you would have no danger, you think, of hitting 
any spit ? A. No.

Q. Or projection, if you did that? A. No, not from the 30 
centre span.

Q. No. However, if you kept a little more southerly, you would 
still be safer, as regards hitting any indefinite spit that might come 
out there? A. Well, then, you are getting nearer to a rocky 
shore, too.

Q. Yes, which is quite visible. A. No, there is kelp that 
sticks out a long way.

Q. And high banks, and railway embankment? A. There is 
kelp in the water, the banks are not in the water.

Q. But it is easy to see within a safe limit? A. No.
Q. No? A. No, there is a big ledge comes out there on the

south side.
Q. You can't see the edge of the water then? A. No.
Q. Hard to see, is it? A. You can see the edge of the water 

marked on the water, you can't see the edge of the deep channel.
Q. Oh, no, I never suggested you could, oh, no, but you can 

see the shore line, where the water and the land join? A. Yes.
Q. Very easily? A. Yes.

40
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Q. Do you know that railway embankment right along there ? RECORD
' Brilish Columbiai ,,.,,, „Q. And high banks? A. Yes. Admiralty

Q. High banks, yes. Now, that is what Captain Batchelor Defendant's 
pqinted out to this court was an advantage to a navigator, because Case 
he had that to go by. Is that of some advantage to go by? A. —— 
We will have smoky nights when you can't see the embankment — s - Guns

Q. Just answer my question, you see. Would you mind 
answering the question. You don't know what it is. Shall we 

10 have it read to you? A. You say it was an advantage. I say it is 
not much advantage that I can see.

Q. No, I suppose music is no good to a deaf man, nor scenery 
to a blind man, but would you mind answering the question. I 
put this bona fide to you, it was Captain Batchelor 's sworn state­ 
ment, and I certainly treat it seriously, you see. Now, what is 
your answer to his statement? A. That the embankment was an 
advantage?

Q. Yes, these defined banks were an advantage to a navi­ 
gator, because he said they are something that he can go by, it is 

20 a defined mark, very prominent, and he can go by that and judge 
distances and so on. A. Very correct, if you know how far the 
shallow water extends from that bank, but if you don't know the 
distance the shallow water extends from that mark the mark is 
not much use.

Q. No, I say Captain Batchelor gave this statement, and he 
is wrong in. your opinion? A. I don't see much advantage in 
it — in his statement.

Q. Very good. Now, that is your opinion, you see, as against 
his.

30 The Court: Q. Just what do you say, witness? A. I don't 
see much advantage in his statement about the embankment.

Q. You do not think that the embankment is any use to 
navigators? A. No.

Mr. Donaghy: Q. Now, that is your opinion, on oath, we 
have got you there. Now, I will take you to the north shore, from 
the centre of the channel spreading north you have marshy land, 
flats, that the tide spreads away over for hundreds of feet north­ 
erly? A. Yes.

Q. Yes, no defined mark at all to go by? A. No. 
4o Q. None at all? A. No.

Q. And at high tide that shallow water extends a thousand 
or two thousand feet? A. Yes.

Q. Northerly of midchannel? A. But we had the mark of 
the power line — the pier of the power lines, which was our mark 
on that side.

Q. Yes? A. Just as good as the embankment on the south
side.
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RECORD Q yes. What good would it be to you, if the embankment 
British coiumbit was no good on the south side? A. Well, it is no more good than 

$£$, embankment—one is as good as the other, the mark you had, 
you could judge from the north side.

Q. But you have already stated that the embankment on the 
south side is no good, you swore it under oath. What good was 
this mark then on the north side? A. It was no good in that case 
if you couldn't see it.

Q. Just answer— A. It was no good.
Q. You don't want to treat this as a funny proposition. It 10 

is a serious proposition. A. I am not.
Q. Is it a fact that it was any good or wasn't any good? A. 

The mark on the north side?
Q. Yes? A. It was good when you could see it, just as good 

as the embankment.
Q. Now, that is just at one spot, that mark on the north 

side? A. Yes.
Q. While this embankment that Captain Batchelor spoke of 

runs all the way along the shore line? A. Yes.
Q. And as you go on east to this mark that you say, the 20 

power line, out on the north shore, after you leave it and proceed­ 
ing east at high tide, you still have on the north all this thousands 
of feet of shoal water? A. Yes.

Q. Without any mark? A. Yes.
Q. That is what Captain Batchelor was distinguishing, as 

compared with the south shore, when he gave his evidence here. 
Do you disagree with him? A. Not if you have a clear view, and 
you could see the embankment, if you could see it it might be an 
advantage to a man—or a navigator, but to a man who is directing 
his course down straight there from that position should not re- 30 
quire that.

Q. Now, witness, let me tell you this, he said it was an ad­ 
vantage at night. A. At night you can't see it, it is under the 
shadow of the land.

Q. Now, he said you could? A. No.
Q. And he said it was an advantage? A. You can't see it.
Q. He said also you could get echoes from it? A. I have 

tried—you get echoes from cliffs not from the railway embank­ 
ment.

Q. He spoke of these high banks as well as the railway em- 4° 
bankment? A. Well—

Q. Now, is he right or wrong in that, that it was a safer 
channel to take at night, was he right or wrong? You need not 
laugh about the thing. Captain Batchelor gave this evidence very 
seriously? A. We used those echoes to get along, to get our posi­ 
tion in.midchannel.

Q. I am asking you, was he right or wrong in the statement
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he made that he preferred this southerly course—the course along RECORD 
the south shore at night also because it was a guide to him, while British Coiu 
on the north he had no guide, it was simply steering in the dark, Ad»liral'y 
you see, no guide, he had no mark. Now, was he right? It seems to Defendant's 
me he was, you see, but maybe both he and I are wrong. What Case 
do you say? A. You are speaking of going farther east now, or —— 
are you speaking just in the narrows? Cross-exam

Q. Going east of the bridge. Going east of the bridge? A. (Contd.j 
Going east— 

10 Q. From the bridge on east? A. From the bridge on east.
Q. Now, what is your answer? A. I can't find it—can't 

agree with it. You might get into bad difficulties in that bank 
and get locked in there with a big ship, it would be very awkward 
to get out.

Mr. Donaghy: Well, we have you on record. That is all I 
want to know.

Mr. Griffin: That is all, Captain. Captain McNeill.
ROBERT WILLIAM McNEILL, recalled in rebuttal, as a wit- R w. McNeill 

ness on behalf of the Defendant, testified further as follows:

20 DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Q. Captain McNeill, have you been in the room during the 

testimony just given by Captain Guns? A. Yes.
Q. I suppose my friend will not object—I will say, do you 

agree with his testimony? A. With Captain Guns?
Q. Yes? A. With the majority of it, yes.
Q. Well, then, if I have to distinguish I will have to do it 

all over again. What do you say was the general practice of 
navigators, pilots in particular, or other navigators sailing big 
ships, say, ships of 300 feet or more, navigating the narrows be- 

30 fore the bridge was built in regard to the position in the channel 
adopted by them with reference to the north and south banks from 
the bridge east? A. Well, as long as—in my own practice I have 
always kept midchannel. I had this position defined in my own 
mind, where midchannel was. And as to the banks, there is a bank 
in on the south shore is high and you can see it—at least, on the 
south shore it is high; on the north shore it is marshy and it is 
not as clearly denned; but midchannel at high water would not 
be midway between the banks, but it would be nearer the south 
shore at high water. At low water it is clearly defined and you 

40 can follow midchannel well.
Q. What was your common point of laying your course from, 

what physical points did you lay your course from? A. Coming 
west—

Q. Coming east—going east, that is? A. Going east.



762

RECORD Q From the line of the bridge, say, for the next 1,500 or 
British Columbia 2,000 feet? A. Oh, I would have been almost in the centre of 
Admiraityj3ut. wnere the mid span is there, that is, my position would be, where 
Defendant's my ship was, and from there I would follow a little inside of Berry
Case __ Point.
R. wTMcNeill Q- Now, inside is not a very good way? A. Well, with 
Direct. Berry Point bearing on the port bow less than a point. 

(Comd.) Q. That would be going east? A. Going east, yes.
Q. And then at a later date you changed course when you ap­ 

proached Berry Point? A. Yes. 10
Q. Now, I want to ask another question and I am finished: 

Was that the general practice of navigators as you have indicated? 
A. Yes, of all, that is fjom my observations it was. 

Mr. Griffin: Thank you, your witness.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DONAGHY:
Q. By the way, have you ever had a licence as a pilot for 

this harbour? A. Only one issued by the Vancouver Pilots who 
had power to issue licences.

Q. Yes? A. Yes.
Q. When did they issue a licence? 20
The Court: Turn around, witness, so I can hear you.
A. In January, 1922.
Mr. Donaghy: Q. January, 1922? A. Yes.
Q. Yes, what was the certificate that you received, and what 

was the official status of that body that bestowed it upon you? A. 
Well, they were merely given this power from—I don't know— 
from the government, we had a company—the company was 
licensed for it to license pilots.

Q. And what form of certificate did you get? Did you get 
a junior certificate or master pilot or what was it you got? A. 30 
It was just as a pilot, it wasn't indicated junior, senior or other­ 
wise.

Mr. Donaghy: I see, thank you.
(Witness aside.)

A. E. Lewis ALFRED ELMER LEWIS, recalled in rebuttal, as a witness on 
Direct- behalf of the Defendant, testified further as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. GRIFFIN:
Q. Captain Lewis, have you been in court during the testi­ 

mony just given by Captain McNeill, the last witness ? A. Yes, sir.
Q. Will you speak up. Do you concur in what he said? A. *° 

Yes, sir.
Mr. Griffin: All right, thank you. Your witness.
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CROSS-EXAMINATION BY ME. DONAGHY:
Q. Did you navigate large ships through the Second Nar- 

rows prior to the commencement of the work on the Second Nar- 
rows Bridge? A. No, sir. Defendant's

Mr. Donaghy: All right. Case _
Mr. Griffin: Well, but—my friend perhaps misunderstood A. E. Lewis 

the point. Cross-exam.
Mr. Donaghy: Oh, no, my friend cannot go on again surely. 

I have been very short, of course, in my cross-examination. 
10 Mr. Griffin: No, my friend misunderstood me. I was invit­ 

ing the man, simply asked him, as Captain McNeill, including 
what he had seen as well as what he had done—

Mr. Donaghy: I haven't asked 'him.
Mr. Griffin: All right, that will be all.
Mr. Donaghy: I am through cross-examining.
Mr. Griffin: Thank you, Captain.
(Witness aside.)
Mr. Griffin: No further evidence, my lord, I have to tender 

in rebuttal. 
20 The Court: We will adjourn, Mr. Registrar.)

(THE COURT THEREUPON ADJOURNED AT 12.54 
P.M. UNTIL 2.15 P.M. OF THE SAME DAY.)

2:15 p.m., Thursday, December 6,1928. Proceedings at
(Argument by Mr. Smith, 2:18 to 3:30). TriaL
(Argument by Mr. Griffin, 3:30 to 4:30).
(Court adjourned at 4:30 p.m. until 10:30 a.m., December 7th, 

1928.)
10:30 a.m., Friday, December 7,1928.
(Argument by Mr. Griffin, continued, 10:30 to 11:54.) 

30 (Argument by Mr. Donaghy, 11:54 to 1 p.m.)
(Court adjourned at 1:00 p.m. until 2:12 p.m.)

2:15 p.m.
(Argument by Mr. Donaghy, continued, 2:15 to 3:03.)
(Argument by Mr. Burns, 3:03 to 4:52.)
(Argument by Mr. Griffin.)

C. A. V.
The Court: Do counsel agree upon that distance I asked 

them, across the Narrows?
Mr. Burns: I take it, my lord, that that should really be 

40 given with accuracy. The only thing we can do is to have it 
determined.

The Court: It is simply a matter to be agreed upon. It can 
be measured on the chart.

Mr. Burns: We will have that done, my lord.
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RECORD The Court . you will have no trouble about that, Mr. Griffin, 
British Columbia will you ? I will have to scale it off myself, because the scale is 
Admvait^Dist. g[yen on the chart, but it is always more satisfactory if you can 
Proceedings at agree upon it. 
Trial. ]y[r Griffin : Your lordship means on the chart?

(Lontd.) The Court: Yes, that is aU I mean. I only mean that you 
can scale it on the chart.

Mr. Burns: I was under a misapprehension also, my lord. 
I understood you wanted it measured.

The Court: Oh, no, I only mean to take the marine chart and 10 
use a scale, from high water to high water mark, what is the dist­ 
ance across the water from shore to shore.

Mr. Burns: On that understanding of the matter, my lord, 
I would make this remark. If the difference between high water 
and low water on one side, for instance, taking it at the narrowest 
part, is much greater than the difference between high water and 
low water on the other side,—at high water there is not that con­ 
finement that would apply possibly to half tides.

The Court: Well, give it both high water and low water.
Mr. Griffin: I find, my lord, that Mr. Smith has scaled that 20 

to the best of his ability on this chart.
Mr. Burns: I would rather we both do it.
The Court: The distance across the surface of the water from 

shore to shore at high water and low water at the point where the 
bridge is located, and then at the narrowest point. Go east about 
a cable, we are told it is, to find out what it is, go east about a cable 
and find that second position, both high and low.

Mr. Donaghy: Did I make it plain to your lordship that 
Exhibit 27 was the one that showed the extent of the fill; Exhibit 
27 is the one which governs? 30

The Court: Yes, I made a careful note of what you and Mr. 
Griffin have said on that point. I wish to say it has been really 
a pleasure to preside over this case. It is one of very exceptional 
importance, to this Court and to the public as well, and I feel, 
although it has been a very long one, I wish to say it has been 
very well-conducted and it has really been a pleasure to preside 
over it. And I take this opportunity, as I shall not see you before 
New Year or Christmas, to hope that you may all have indeed a 
happy Christmas and a prosperous New Year.

The Registrar: May I mention that Exhibit 25 has been 40 
missing, and it has not turned up ? I wish to have it on the record.

The Court: Exhibit 25 is missing?
The Registrar: Yes, my lord.
Mr. Burns: That is an exhibit which really has no value. 

It was a drawing made by a witness in cross-examination, and I
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paid no attention to it at the time because it did not even show RECORD 
what he was trying to say, as I remember it, so it is not an exhibit BntisiTc^iumbia
Of any Value. Admiralty Dist.

The Court: Do you attach any importance to it, Mr. Griffin ? Proceedings ac 
Mr. Griffin: I have never seen it myself, so I know it is not Trial. 

of any importance. (Contd.) 
The Court: We can call it negligible, then. 
(4.20 p.m.—Court adjourned sine die.)
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RECORD N0 13
British Columbia __ 
AdmirdtyDht. JUDGMENT
No. 13

BEFOEE: , VANCOUVEE, B. C., MON­ 
DAY, the 22nd day of 
APEIL, A.D. 1929.

April 22nd, THE HONOUEABLE ME.
1929

JUSTICE MAETIN.

The Judge having on the 26th, 27th and 28th days of Septem­ 
ber, 1928, the 1st day of October, 1928, and 28th, 29th and 30th 
days of November, 1928, and the 3rd, 4th, 5th, 6th and 7th days of 
December, 1928, at Vancouver, B. C., heard Mr. Dugald Donaghy, 
Esq., K.C., and Mr. W. E. Burns, Esq., K.C., of Counsel for the 10 
Plaintiff, and Mr. Martin Griffin, Esq., K.C., and Mr Sidney 
Smith of Counsel for the Defendant and having heard evidence as 
well for the Plaintiff as for the Defendant, directed that this cause 
should stand for judgment, and this cause coming on this day for 
judgment, the Judge dismissed the action with costs and dis­ 
missed the Counter-Claim with costs and directed that the costs 
of the Counter-Claim be set off against the costs of the action.

BY THE COUET.
"J. F. Mather." 

DEPUTY DISTEICT EEGISTEAE. 20



767

No. 14
British ColumbiaREASONS FOR JUDGMENT OF MARTIN, Lo. J. ADM. ***»*, Dig.
No. 14EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA—IN ADMIRALTY Reasons for 

B. C. ADMIRALTY DISTRICT utS^io. j.
(Vancouver, B. C., 20th April, 1929). " 2°th>

THE BURRARD INLET 
TUNNEL & BRIDGE COM­ 
PANY

vs. 
10 THE S.S. "EURANA."

JUDGMENT OF
THE HONOURABLE 
MR. JUSTICE MARTIN

This is an action by the Plaintiff Company (incorporated by 
Can. Stat. 1910, Cap. 74) against the S.S. "Eurana." Length, 
339.7 feet; beam, 56.21; gross tonnage, 5688; regtd. 3516; draught 
as then loaded, 25 ft., aft 23.5 for'd; single screw, h.p. 2500, Nels 
Svane, master) to recover $7,887.00 damages done to its bridge 
across the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet on the 10th March, 
1927, shortly after 6 p.m. by said ship, owing to the alleged negli­ 
gent navigation thereof, in colliding with the E. side of the bridge 
while attempting to go through its 150 foot bascule span with a 

20 full cargo of 4,200,000 feet of lumber when the tide, a fairly big 
one, was apparently at the last of low water slack, outward bound 
from Barnet. Several charges of faulty navigation are set up but 
those substantially relied upon are that the ship did not set and 
keep a course true for the centre of the span opening, and that she 
made the attempt to go through it at a wrong stage of the tide, 
i.e., on the ebb, instead of at slack or slight flood, and failed to 
observe the unfavorable set of the same, and delayed in taking 
proper manoeuvres.

The Defendant ship disputes the title of the Plaintiff to the 
30 bridge and the land it is built upon and its right to construct and 

maintain the same, and alternatively alleges that the Plaintiff has 
not obtained the approval of the Governor-General-in-Council 
under the Navigable Waters Protection Act for its undertaking, 
and that in consequence the bridge is an unlawful obstruction 
to navigation; and also that even if the statutory power to build a 
bridge which impedes navigation has been duly conferred yet the 
Plaintiff—

negligently and wrongfully constructed a badly designed
bridge which impedes and interferes with the navigation of

40 said Second Narrows to a greater extent than is necessary
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RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist,

No. 14 
Reasons for 
Judgment 
Martin, Lo. J. 
April 20th, 
1929

(Contd.)

for the proper exercise of the Plaintiff's said statutory pow­ 
ers and the Defendant says that the collision between the S.S. 
"Eurana" and the said bridge was occasioned by the fact 
that the said bridge was badly designed and constructed and 
impedes and interferes with the navigation of said Second 
Narrows to a greater extent than is necessary to enable the 
Plaintiff to exercise its said statutory powers and that there­ 
fore the Plaintiff is not entitled to recover damages in respect 
of said collision.

The Defendant ship also, on the facts of the collision, denies any 10 
bad navigation and alleges alternatively, par. 14, that it was caused 
by

circumstances of wind and current over which those in con­ 
trol of the "Eurana" had no control and which they could 
not anticipate or guard; against and the collision was an 
inevitable accident for which the Defendant is not respon­ 
sible.

And it further alleges that at the time in question the tide turned 
and began to flood earlier than the hour fixed by the tide table, 
and the northerly set of the tide was of abnormal force, and that 20 
the span opening is not in the middle of the channel, and is too 
narrow, and that the unnecessary number of short spans and a 
rock fill on the south shore creates strong and varying currents 
which make navigation unusually difficult even at the most favour­ 
able times.

The Defendant ship further sets up a counter-claim against 
the Company for $77,064.00 as and for damages to her caused by 
the said collision based upon the allegation that the Plaintiff 
wrongfully and illegally erected the said bridge and maintains it 
as a public nuisance as being an "obstruction" which "impedes 30 
the free and convenient navigation of the said Second Narrows by 
ships having lawful occasion to navigate said waters," and which 
"Obstruction" was the cause of the damage to the ship while she 
was "endeavoring to proceed past or through (it) without collid­ 
ing with it."

To this the Plaintiff replies that the bridge has been duly con­ 
structed in accordance with powers conferred by the said Statute 
and the Railway Act and certain recited orders of the Governor- 
in-Council and the Board of Railway Commissioners, and, in gen­ 
eral, joins issue with the other said allegations of undue inter- 40 
ference with navigation and nuisance by obstructions and wrong­ 
ful or negligent construction in any respect, and denies that the 
same were the cause of the collision, and that it was due to abnor-
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mal conditions which could not have been anticipated and guarded RECORD
agaiQSt. BrithbColnmbia

Admiralty Dist.
Upon these issues forty-two witnesses were called and a vast N ~— 

amount of evidence taken upon all aspects of the claim and R^s0ns for 
counterclaim, much of which evidence is applicable to both distinct judgment 
causes of action though not all of it, and it would be easy to con- Martin, LO. j. 
fuse the issues were not their distinct nature kept in mind because APril 20th' 
the relevant facts are largely interwoven. 192(Contd)

Taking up, then, the Plaintiff's claim first, and assuming in 
10 its favour all questions of title and that the bridge has been only 

constructed in accordance with statutory powers and plans author­ 
ized by the proper authority, it is nevertheless necessary to con­ 
sider the effect of this authorized obstruction upon the naviga­ 
tion of the channel when an action is brought against a vessel for 
damaging the bridge in passing through it. In other words, if the 
effect of its construction is to make navigation even at proper 
times more difficult than theretofore it would not be reasonable 
to expect that mariners so using the channel could avoid injury 
to themselves or to the bridge as easily as they could if the chan- 

20 nel had been left in a state of nature, even though they use all the 
skill and caution that should be required of a prudent and skilful 
navigator. It must follow that the more difficult the passage is 
made the more must accidents be expected, just as the easier it is 
the fewer should there be. Obviously it would not be reasonable 
to expect the same results in such very different circumstances, 
because though the standard of the mariner's navigation is always 
the same, yet as his task is rendered more difficult the more must 
it be expected that reasonable human effort and precaution can­ 
not always guard against accident when the margin of safety is 

30 substantially reduced in what at the best of times is, now at least, 
a channel which presents increased difficulties in navigation for 
larger deep sea vessels, over 300 feet in length, to navigate.

It is not necessary, on this branch of the case, to consider to 
the fullest extent what the effect of the construction of the bridge 
has been upon such navigation by ships of the class now in ques­ 
tion, but it is sufficient to say that in three respects the natural 
difficulty has been substantially increased thereby, viz., in con­ 
tracting the space in which it is necessary for such ships to line up 
in passing through the bascule span outwards, and in manoeu- 

40 vring after passing through inwards; in addition to the naturally 
very uncertain conditions of tidal currents in the immediate vicin­ 
ity of the bridge; and in increasing the force of the current 
through it at said span in particular. Though a great mass of 
evidence was given upon these main points it would be practically
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impossible to review it adequately in these reasons, and the sub­ 
ject is further complicated by the important unquestioned fact 
that the extensive operations which for a long time have been 
carried on (and are still in progress) in deepening, widening and 
straightening the outlet channel at the First Narrows have had an 
appreciable effect upon the currents at the Second Narrows, which 
indeed is obvious from the mere inspection of the charts of Bur- 
rard Inlet, because the contracted run-in of a great volume of 
water to the lower basin (between the bridge and Brockton Point) 
through the Second Narrows must inevitably be affected by the 
facilities of run-off to sea through the First Narrows, and vice 
versa with incoming tides which bring the water back through the 
First and Second Narrows to the much larger upper basin above 
the bridge. But upon the extent of the undoubted substantial 
effect of these First Narrows operations upon conditions at the 
Second there is no evidence of any weight, which is not indeed to 
be wondered at, because to obtain any reliable information upon 
the point a series of long and doubtless very expensive observa­ 
tions, and also researches into prior conditions, would have to be 
undertaken, which the parties hereto have not attempted and 20 
could not reasonably be expected to do so. Nevertheless the 
absence of exact information upon substantial changes in naviga­ 
tion which are not due to the bridge at all (and yet which will con­ 
tinue to increase as the First Narrows channel continues to be 
widened) renders it impossible to determine satisfactorily the 
extent of the degree to which the bridge alone has added to the 
natural difficulty of navigation, and it is not necessary on the 
present point to say more than that the bridge has, apart from 
the said First Narrows operations, increased in the said three 
ways the said natural difficulty to a substantial extent, though 30 
undefinable upon the insufficient evidence before me. At the same 
time, however, the increase is not as great as many witnesses 
deposed to and it is very probable that one of the reasons why 
there was so much conflict between apparently credible witnesses 
(as I am pleased to say most of them appeared to be) as to the 
difference between former and present conditions at the Second 
Narrows is that they failed to appreciate the far-reaching effect 
of the First Narrows operations upon present conditions of the 
tide and current at the Second and merely regarded the latter in 
the light of what they see now at that spot. 40

It is further alleged that the difficulty of navigating larger 
vessels through the bridge has been increased by the fact that the 
bascule span is not placed at right angles to the centre of the main 
current, and that it is appreciably to the South thereof. That 
such is the case to some, and an appreciable, extent there is little 
if any doubt because the presence of a shoal on the South shore of
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the channel extending Eastward from the bridge for about 700 feet to a protuberance called The Knuckle tends to cramp such vessels in their passage inwards and outwards. It is not, in strictness, for this Court to suggest a remedy for this condition but in a case of this exceptionally wide public importance I cannot shut my syes to the fact that the evidence suggests that it would be well for the proper authority to cause careful observation and investigation of the shoal to be made to ascertain if it would not be possible to reduce, materially at least, the obstruction it causes, by dredging 10 operations, as in the First Narrows.
These questions of the proper construction of bridges and their proper position as regards the current are always difficult and there have been several of them before this Court, the last being The Attorney General of British Columbia vs. The Pacific Foam (1928) 40 B.C. 100, but they all depend upon the particular and always varying circumstances of each case. The present one, in view of its exceptional importance and difficulty, has caused me long and anxious reflection, with the result that, bearing in mind the conditions the Defendant ship was confronted with in80 attempting to pass through the span at the time in question, I can only reach the conclusion that the said allegations of negligence against her are not sustained by the evidence, either with respect to the time of making the attempt or of the manner in which that attempt was carried out, despite the able manner in which Mr. Burns presented his argument to the contrary. The accident was, I can only conclude from the evidence, caused by a very strong incoming sub-surface current setting northeasterly across the bridge and not visible on the surface, which continued to indicate slack water, and which undercurrent at a distance of 500-600 feet30 from the bridge suddenly and unexpectedly greatly increased in strength and took control of the ship causing her to sheer sud­ denly from the proper course she had been on and was still holding at a proper speed, and which in ordinary circumstances would have taken her safely through the bascule span. No fault is to be found in the measures taken by the ship to extricate herself, though ineffectually, from the imminent danger in which she suddenly found herself and which she had no reason to anticipate. It is true that those in charge of her expected, and were in fact prepared to meet ordinary changes in the undercurrent there40 (caused largely by the fact that the change of the tide at the bas­ cule span is very quick, almost instantaneous at times, and slack water usually is only for a few minutes) but not one at all ap­ proaching the abnormal strength encountered on this occasion, which her pilot, Wingate, describes as "tremendously stronger" than he had ever experienced there, and his evidence is confirmed
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in essentials by that of the Master, Svane, and also largely by Cap­ 
tain Harrison of the "Pacific Foam" and Captain Payne of the 
"Farquhar," and W. Tamburino, independent eye witnesses.

Being then of opinion that this collision "could not possibly 
have been prevented by the exercise of ordinary care, caution and 
maritime skill" on the part of the ship, the case becomes one of 
"inevitable accident" as so defined by the Privy Council in The 
Marpesia (1872), L.E. 4 P.C. 210, wherein it is also said:

"Here we have to satisfy ourselves that something was done 
or omitted to be done, which a person exercising ordinary 10 
care, caution and maritime skill in the circumstances, either 
would not have done or would not have left undone, as the 
case may be."

This definition was also adopted by the English Court of Appeal in 
The Schwan (1892), P. 419; and lately applied by this Court in 
its New Brunswick District in the similar case of The King v. The 
Woldingham (1925), Ex. 85, to include a sudden "yaw" in pass­ 
ing through a narrow bridge; cf., also Marsden's Collisions at Sea 
(1922), 18, and Bevan on Negligence (1928), 1291.

It is to be noted that in certain aspects there is also a simil- 20 
arity between this case and the very recent one of The Vectis 
(1929), 45 T.L.R. 385, wherein a collision—"bumping" took place 
between two barges in a narrow creek owing to "a sudden swell of 
the incoming tide," as Lord Merivale describes it. A new trial 
was ordered in the circumstances, but speaking of the expectation 
of "bumps" in narrow places Mr. Justice Hill said, P. 387:

"Apart from knowledge of the dangerous position of the
anchor, I can see no reason for saying that there is negligence
in not preventing a harmless bump between barges, such
bumps are frequent in the ordinary working of barges, and 30
in this narrow creek were probably incidental to the ordinary
use of the creek. They involve neither damnum or injuria."

Seeing that the case is one of inevitable accident the Plaintiff's
claim must be dismissed, and formerly it was the practice to make
no order as to costs in such circumstances, but the present practice
as laid down by this Court in "The Jessie Mack" vs. The "Sea
Lion" (1919), 27 B.C. 444, is that costs should follow the event
in the absence of special circumstances requiring a departure
from that rule; to the cases there cited I add The "Cardiff Hall"
(1918), P. 56, and as the defence of inevitable accident was 40
pleaded herein and there are no special circumstances which
would justify a departure from said general rule the disposition
of the costs will be in accordance therewith.
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Then as to the counterclaim of the ship against the bridge. RECORD 
This depends largely on different considerations because if the British Columbia 
bridge has been duly built in accordance with the permission given AdmhdtyDht. 
by the proper authority, the fact that it does actually obstruct No ~^ 
navigation more or less imposes no liability upon it for damage Reasons for 
to vessels caused by the increased difficulty in navigating the judgment 
natural narrow channel, which it has restricted and impeded sub- Martin, Lo. J. 
stantially as already indicated; it is beyond reasonable doubt that APril 20th> 
if the bridge had not been there on the day in question the ship 192/Q>ntd \ 

10 would not have suffered any damage. The right, therefore, of the 
Plaintiff Company to build and maintain the bridge in its present 
state and position is what is really in question on this branch of 
the case.

It is first objected that the Plaintiff has no title to the lands 
upon which the bridge is built and therefore cannot maintain this 
action and that its National Crown Grant (dated 9th May, 1924) 
of the lands "as part of a public harbour" is invalid in that no 
order-in-council authorizing it has been put in evidence though 
the Grant recites "that it is made under and by virtue' of the

o(( statutes in that behalf and pursuant to authority duly granted by 
our Governor-in-Council." This objection, in my opinion, is not 
one of weight in the case of a Grant made under the great seal of 
Canada, even assuming that an order-in-council is necessary, be­ 
cause, in brief, a recital in such an instrument of the greatest sol­ 
emnity and duly recorded, i.e., enrolled (on 31st May, 1924) is 
sufficient to establish a prima facie cases of the existence of such 
an order if necessary, or at least to bring into operation the maxim 
omnia praesumuntur rite esse acta, nor on long-established and 
well-known principles has a stranger any status to rely upon the

30 effect of the non-performance of any conditions which might, e.g., 
result in a forfeiture to the Crown—Canadian Co. vs. Grouse 
Creek Flume Co. Ltd. (1867) 1 M.M.C. 3, and cases noted at p. 8.

Then as to the application of the Navigable Waters Protec­ 
tion Act, cap. 115, R.S.C. 1906, and amendment, cap. 33 of 118, 
now cap. 140 R.S.C. 1927; it is in my opinion excluded by the 3rd 
section thereof in and for the present circumstances and purposes, 
not being "rebuilding or repairing," as will later appear.

The Plaintiff Company by its said act of incorporation (cap. 
74 of 1910) is authorized by sees. 8 and 9 thereof not only to build 

40 a bridge but also to operate (and does in fact operate) "one or 
more lines of railway" across said bridge and into adjacent terri­ 
tory as part of its undertaking as a connecting line with certain 
of the other railways specified in Sec. 14, and by Sec. 2 that whole 
undertaking is "declared to be a work for the general advantage
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of Canada" and Sec. 16 declares that "the Railway Act shall apply 
to the Company and its undertaking." The effect of these pro­ 
visions is to read into the Act of Incorporation, which is a public 
Act (Interpretation Act, R.S.C. cap. 1, s. 13) all apt provisions 
of the Railway Act and the two acts must be read as one so as to 
carry out the intention of Parliament to legislate for the "public 
good" (advantage of Canada) and, as the said Interpretation Act, 
Sec. 15, declares it—

"shall accordingly receive such fair, large and liberal con­ 
struction and interpretation as will best ensure the attain- 10 
ment of the object of the Act . . . according to its true intent, 
meaning and spirit."

Approached in this light no real difficulty is to be experienced 
from the words much relied upon by the ship in Sec. 8, that said 
undertaking may be constructed, operated and maintained "from 
some convenient points on the South shore in or near the City of 
Vancouver to points on the opposite shore of Burrard Inlet so as 
not to interfere with navigation. That the general location of 
the bridge is at the most "convenient points" of the Second Nar­ 
rows is not disputed; in fact it is unquestionably at the best points, 20 
and except in its immediate neighborhood the construction of a 
bridge across them (the Narrows) would not in reason be con­ 
templated, and even where it is located the evidence is clear that 
for many reasons its construction presented several problems of 
exceptional difficulty to overcome. It would be impossible in the 
present stage of human effort to build a bridge there which would 
not in some substantial degree interfere with navigation within 
the decisions which are conveniently collected in a leading case in 
this Court. Kennedy vs. The Surrey (1905) 11 B.C. 499, to which 
may be added Attorney-General v. Terry (1874), 9 Ch. at p. 423, 30 
and The King vs. The Woldingham, supra.

To escape the literal consequences of those decisions and to 
allow unimpeded navigation for the whole of the space at all 
stages of this tide it would, as one example only, be necessary to 
have a span of at least one thousand feet without supporting piers 
and that fact alone shows that Parliament, which must be assumed 
to be informed upon the subject of the public harbour with which 
it was dealing, could never have contemplated anything of the 
kind, and to hold that Parliament intended to grant a charter 
which ostensibly conferred powers to be exercised to the "general 40 
advantage of Canada" and yet at the same time rendered them 
incapable of execution is a conclusion which a Court of justice 
should be intractably driven to before accepting because it would 
"lead to a manifest absurdity." The Privy Council in City of
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Victoria vs. Bishop of Vancouver Island (1921), 2 A.C. 384, thus Admiralty Din.
laid down the principles which should govern the construction of NQ ~—
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"There is another principle in the construction of statutes j^^™^ T 
especially applicable to this section. It is thus stated by Lord Aprii 2'oth, 
Esher in Reg. v. Judge of the City of London Court (1892), 1929 
1 Q.B. 273, 290)—'If the words of an Act are clear, you must (Comd.) 
follow them, even though they lead to a manifest absurdity. 
The Court has nothing to do with the question whether the

10 legislature has committed an absurdity. In my opinion, the 
rule has always been this:—if the words of an Act admit of 
two interpretations, then they are not clear; and if one inter­ 
pretation leads to an absurdity, and the other does not, the 
Court will conclude that the legislature did not intend to lead 
to an absurdity, and will adopt the other interpretation.' 
And Lord Halsbury in Cooke vs. Charles A. Vogeler Co. 
(1901), A.C. 102, 107, said: 'But a court of law has nothing 
to do with the reasonableness or unreasonableness of a provi­ 
sion, except so far as it may help them in interpreting what

20 the legislature has said.' Which necessarily means that for 
this latter purpose it is legitimate to take into consideration 
the reasonableness or unreasonableness of any provision of a 
statute. Again, a section of a statute should, if possible, be 
construed so that there may be no repugnancy or inconsist­ 
ency between its different portions or members?"

Applying both these most appropriate principles to the present 
case, Parliament, in my opinion, intended that the said two acts 
must be read together and practically applied in such a way as to 
arrive at the only possible reasonable result in the circumstances, 

30 viz., that the words "not to interfere with navigation" mean not 
more than is necessary to carry out the undertaking in the man­ 
ner authorized by the special tribunal created by Parliament in 
the incorporated Railway Act to determine that very question, i.e., 
the Board of Railway Commissioners for Canada. And it must 
not be overlooked that, since the granting of the charter and the 
construction of the bridge thereunder, the National Government 
itself has materially increased the difficulty of navigation at this 
bridge by its large operations at the First Narrows already noted.

In the Railway Act (cap. 68 of 1919) itself there is a much 
40 more pronounced "repugnancy or inconsistency" than in the 

Plaintiff's Act (Sec. 8) because the group of sections, 245-8, en­ 
titled "Respecting Navigable Waters," begins by a general pro­ 
hibition s. 244 against "any obstruction in .... the free naviga­ 
tion" of such waters, but nevertheless proceeds immediately and 
necessarily to provide for inevitable obstruction by bridges and
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"other structures" to be constructed (under sees. 247-8) as to 
the said "Board may seem expedient for the proper protection of 
navigation" by proper openings in spans and due provision for 
draws and swings where necessary. What is the "proper protec­ 
tion of navigation" in the particular circumstances is for the 
Board to decide before granting an order in accordance with the 
specified procedure, for construction, and subsec. (5) of 248 finally 
provides that:

"Upon the completion of any such work, the company shall, 
before using or operating the same, apply to the Board for an 10 
order authorizing such use or operation, and if the Board is 
satisfied that its orders and directions have been carried out, 
and that such work may be used or operated without danger 
to the public, and that the provisions of this section have been 
complied with, the Board may grant such order."
This brings the case to a question of fact as to whether the 

Plaintiff has procured the necessary orders from the Board under 
said sections, as to which a long contest arose but no useful pur­ 
pose would be served by here considering it in detail. It is suffi­ 
cient to say, therefore, that in my opinion all statutory conditions 20 
were fulfilled which are necessary to support the validity of the 
various orders of the Board that the Plaintiff relies upon, and 
that it has in fact and without negligence constructed the bridge at 
the site and in accordance with the plans and specifications duly 
authorized originally and later by alterations in certain particu­ 
lars validly approved. Such being the case no liability attaches 
to the Plaintiff for the consequences of the proper "construction, 
operation and maintenance" of its undertaking under its act of 
Parliament. Can. Pac. By. vs. Boy (1902), A.C. 220; and Quebec 
Railway, etc., Co. vs. Vandry (1920), A.C. 662, at 681. 80

The final point requiring particular consideration is that the 
bridge is in fact not constructed in accordance with the said statu­ 
tory authorization but has substantially departed therefrom in a 
way that has materially increased the difficulty of navigation even 
beyond the degree of obstruction that the said authorization per­ 
mitted, and on this question a large amount of evidence was given 
but with the result that such allegation has not been established 
in proof. The only feature of it that created any doubt in my 
mind was in regard to the rock fill on the S. shore, the extent 
of which was not as clearly defined as I should wish by either party, 40 
doubtless owing to its nature and the unavoidable obliteration of 
the original contour of the land and tidal marks at that point. 
But I have no doubt that even if it could be clearly proved that 
the said fill is greater in extent than authorized nevertheless that 
excess in size is "an encroachment of so trifling a nature that this
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Court would not interfere" as was said by Lord Chancellor Cairns 
in Attorney-General vs. Terry, supra, p. 431. That case has been 
unanimously adopted by our National Supreme Court in The 
Queen vs. Moss (1896), 26 S.C. 322 at 332, as "settling the law," 
and it approves the judgment below of Jessel, M.R. The Court 
said, per Chief Justice Strong:

"Even if the bridge now in question was of very great public 
benefit, whilst the prejudice it caused to the public as an ob­ 
struction to navigation was of the slightest possible degree, 
it nevertheless would have been an illegal structure amount­ 
ing to a public nuisance, which, as such, the Crown might 
cause to be removed unless for other reasons it was not to be 
treated as a nuisance."

In the case at bar there is no evidence to justify a finding that any 
"prejudice" has been occasioned to the navigation of the bridge 
by the excess in size (if such there be) of the rock fill beyond what 
was lawfully authorized as aforesaid.

In conclusion the following illustration given by the Master 
of the Rolls (in the course of his valuable remarks upon the way 

20 obstructions in public harbours should be regarded in the light of 
changing conditions) in Terry's case may appropriately be cited 
as some indication of how the difficult situation at the Narrows 
was doubtless viewed by the Board of Railway Commissioners in their attempt to deal with conflicting public interests in a practical 
way which would best secure the greatest benefit to the public as 
a whole:

"Suppose you have a navigable river, and it is necessary to 
cross it by a bridge, and the river is too wide to allow of a 
bridge of a single span, you must then put one or more piers 
into the middle of the river, and, of course, according to the 
extent you introduce bridge piers or bridge arches into a nav­ 
igable river, you to some extent diminish the waterway, and 
to some extent, perhaps to a more or less material extent, 
obstruct the navigation. But it is for the public benefit at 
that spot that a public road should be carried over the river 
by the bridge, and that benefit may so far exceed the trifling 
injury, if injury it be, to the navigation, that on the whole a 
Court of justice may fairly come to the conclusion that a pub­ 
lic benefit of a much greater amount has been conferred on the 
public than the trifling injury occasioned by the insertion of 
the piers into the bed of the river. In that case also it would 
be a public benefit that would counter-balance the public in­ 
jury."
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It follows that upon the whole of this branch of the case the 
counter-claim must be dismissed and with costs in accordance with 
the general rule.

I feel that I should not leave this case of exceptional import­ 
ance and difficulty without adding a few words in appreciation of 
the highly creditable manner in which it was handled by the coun­ 
sel concerned therein, their able work has been of great assistance 
to the Court.

ARCHER MARTIN,
J. Adm. 10
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Notice of

TAKE NOTICE that this Honourable Court will be moved 
on Tuesday, the 10th day of September, 1929, or so soon there- Appeal after as Counsel can be heard on behalf of the above named June 15th, Defendant (Appellant) that that part of the judgment of the 
Honourable Judge in Admiralty for the Admiralty District of 
British Columbia made herein and dated the 22nd day of April, 
1929, and entered the first day of June, 1929, dismissing the count- 10 erclaim of the Defendant with costs may be wholly set aside and 
reversed and that the damages claimed by the Defendant in its counterclaim may be awarded to the Defendant and that the costs 
of this appeal and of the said counterclaim before the said Judge 
in Admiralty may be paid by the Plaintiff to the Defendant.

DATED this 15th day of June, AD. 1929.

"W. Martin Griffin,"
Solicitor for the Defendant 

(Appellant).
To the above named Plaintiff; 

so And to Messrs. Burns & Walkem, its 
Solicitors.
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In the 
Exchequer 
Court of
Canada IN THE EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA
No. 16

I
7th

Jhe ISem ON APPEAL FROM BRITISH COLUMBIA ADMIRALTY
DISTRICT.

SATURDAY THE 7th DAY OF DECEMBER, A.D. 1929.

PRESENT: 
THE HONOURABLE THE PRESIDENT

BETWEEN :
THE S. S. "EURANA,"

Appellant (Defendant), 10
AND

BURRARD INLET TUNNEL AND BRIDGE COMPANY,
Respondent (Plaintiff).

The appeal of the above named Appellant and the Cross- 
appeal of the above named Respondent from the judgment of the 
Honourable Mr. Justice Martin of the British Columbia Admir­ 
alty District pronounced in the above cause on the 22nd day of 
April, A.D. 1929, having come on to be heard before this Court 
at Vancouver, British Columbia, on the 1st, 2nd and 3rd days of 
October, A.D. 1929, in the presence of Martin Griffin, K.C., and 20 
S. A. Smith of Counsel for the Appellant and Dugald Donaghy, 
K.C., and W. E. Burns, K.C., of counsel for the Respondent, 
whereupon and upon hearing what was alleged by Counsel afore­ 
said, this Court was pleased to direct that the said appeal and 
cross-appeal should stand over for judgment, and the same com­ 
ing on this day for judgment, this Court did order and adjudge 
that the said judgment of the Honourable Mr. Justice Martin 
should be and the same was affirmed and that the said appeal 
should be and the same was dismissed with costs, and that the 
said cross-appeal should be and the same was dismissed with costs. 80

By the Court,

(Sgd.) ARNOLD W. DUCLOS,
Deputy Registrar.
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BETWEEN :
BURRARD INLET TUNNEL AND BRIDGE COMPANY,

Plaintiff (Respondent), 
AGAINST :

THE S. S. "EURANA," 
10 Defendant (Appellant).

MACLEAN, J.

JUDGMENT RENDERED 7th DECEMBER, 1929.
This is an appeal from a judgment of Mr. Justice Martin, L.J.A., for the Admiralty District of British Columbia, in an action brought by the Respondent against the Appellant, for dam­ ages arising from a collision of the steamship Eurana with a rail­ way and traffic bridge owned by the Respondent company and crossing the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet, a navigable water, in the Province of British Columbia. The Appellant counter-20 claimed for damages occurring to the Eurana in consequence of the same collision. The learned trial Judge dismissed the Re­ spondent's action against the Eurana holding that there was no negligence on the part of that ship, and that the collision was one of "inevitable accident;" he dismissed the counterclaim upon the ground that the bridge was lawfully authorized and erected and did not constitute a public nuisance as alleged. The shareholders of the Respondent company, as I understand it, are, The District and City of North Vancouver, The District of West Vancouveer, and The City of Vancouver. Money subventions in aid of the30 undertaking were granted by the Government of Canada, by the Government of British Columbia, and by the Corporation of the Vancouver Harbour Commissioners.

As stated by the learned Judge, the case is one of exceptional importance and difficulty. Inasmuch as I have reached the con­ clusion that the judgment appealed from should be maintained, it is not necessary that I should discuss at length all of the grounds upon which the learned trial Judge based his conclusions, all of which are, I think, very comprehensively and forcibly set forth in the judgment appealed from.

No. 17 
Reasons for 
Judgment of 
the President 
Dec. 7th, 
1929
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Broadly speaking, the Appellant's case is, that the Respond­ 
ent company without lawful authority erected and now operates 
the railway bridge in question; that this bridge interferes with 
the public right of navigation over a navigable water and thus 
constitutes a public nuisance. If this contention is established, 
then I apprehend that the Appellant should, in the absence of neg­ 
ligence, succeed generally. The Appellant's position is sought to 
be maintained inter alia, upon the following grounds: that the 
Respondent has not title to the lands upon which the bridge is 
built; that the plans of the bridge were not approved under the 10 
provisions of the Navigable Waters Protection Act which is 
claimed to be here applicable; that the bridge was constructed in 
violation of the Respondent company's charter which required 
that the bridge should be so constructed as "not to interfere with 
navigation;" and that in any event the Respondent company did 
not secure the necessary approval required by statute, of the 
plans of the bridge as constructed, by the Governor in Council and 
the Board of Railway Commissioners. I shall usually refer to the 
latter body as the Railroad Board. Alternatively, the Appellant 
says the collision was not attributable to its negligence, but that 20 
the same was due to "inevitable accident," and it is not therefore 
liable in damages to the Respondent upon the assumption that the 
bridge was lawfully erected and operated. From this, the sub­ 
stance of Respondent's cause may be inferred; chiefly it is, that at 
the time material here, the ship Eurana collided with and dam­ 
aged the bridge by reason of negligent navigation.

Alluding now, briefly, to the contention that the Respondent 
does not possess a valid title to the lands upon which the bridge 
was erected, because though a grant therefor issued from the 
Crown in the right of the Dominion, yet, as required, no Order- so 
in-Council authorizing the issuance of such grant was ever passed 
by the Governor-in-Council, and that in consequence thereof the 
grant is void and the Respondent is a mere trespasser. In re­ 
spect of this point, it seems to me that the conclusion reached by 
the learned trial Judge is the correct one, and I agree with the 
reasons advanced by the learned Judge in reaching such a conclu­ 
sion ; there is very little, if anything, I can usefully add. Pre­ 
sumably the Respondent Company is in possession of the land in 
question, at least by license of the owner, and the Appellant has 
not, in my opinion, any status to attack such occupancy. Further, 40 
if the bridge constitutes a public nuisance, it is because it inter­ 
feres with navigation, and not because the valdity of the Respond­ 
ent company's title is perhaps open to question as alleged.

Then it is urged that the plans of the bridge required ap­ 
proval under the provisions of the Navigable Waters Protection
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Act, cap. 115 R.S.C. 1906, which was not done, and that therefore 
the bridge was unlawfully erected and is in law a public nuisance. 
Upon the argument, I was impressed by this contention of Appel­ 
lant's counsel, but upon a more careful consideration of the mat­ 
ter I have reached the same conclusion as the learned trial Judge, 
but, as he dealt very briefly with the point, and as it was strongly 
urged upon the hearing of the appeal by Mr. Griffin on behalf of 
the Appellant, it might be appropriate to make a more extended reference to this phase of the case. The question is whether a10 company authorized by statute to construct a bridge over a navi­ 
gable water, should, prior to construction, have its plans approved under the provisions of the Navigable Waters Protection Act. 
Upon a careful perusal of Sec. 3 of that Act, it would seem clear 
that its provisions do not apply "to any work constructed under 
the authority of any Act of the Parliament of Canada." If a 
special Act of the Parliament of Canada authorized the erection of a public work over a navigable water, such as in this case, and 
that Act stipulated that the work was to be subject to the terms 
of the Navigable Waters Protection Act, then the latter Act would80 of course apply; but that is not this case. Here the Respondent 
company's charter authorizing the work, cap. 74 Statutes of Can­ 
ada, 1910, expressly provided by Sec. 16 thereof, that the Railway 
Act should apply to the company and its undertaking. Therefore, the Navigable Waters Protection Act not having been made ap­ 
plicable to the undertaking, and it having been enacted that the 
Railway Act should apply to the undertaking which itself was 
authorized by an Act of the Parliament of Canada, there can, I 
think, be only one conclusion, and that is, that the Navigable 
Waters Protection Act does not apply and was not so intended.30 The fact that the undertaking was primarily to be a railway 
bridge, at once suggests that appropriateness of subjecting the 
undertaking to the provisions of the Railway Act, so far as ap­ 
proval of plans was concerned; further, the work when completed 
was to be subject to the jurisdiction of the Railway Board. It 
would therefore seem clear that Parliament intended that the 
Railway Act, and nothing else should apply to the undertaking. To obtain approval of the plans of a work under the Navigable 
Waters Protection Act, involves practically the same procedure 
as is necessary under the Railway Act, that is, there must be40 secured the approval of the Governor-in-Council upon the recom­ 
mendation of the Minister of Public Works; there is just this dis­ 
tinction, that under the Navigable Waters Protection Act, public advertisement if the proposed work is required, whereas when the 
Railway Act is applicable to the work, as here, no public advertise­ 
ment is necessary; a formal order of approval of the detail plans and profiles by the Board of Railway Commissioners is required, 
following approval by the Governor-in-Council of a plan and de-

RECORD
In the 
Exchequer 
Court of 
Canada

No. 17 
Reasons for 
Judgment of 
the President 
Dec. 7th, 
1929

(Contd.)



RECORD

In the 
Exchequer 
Court of 
Canada

No. 17 
Reasons for 
Judgment of 
the President 
Dec. 7th, 
1929 

(Comd.)

784

scription of the proposed site and a general plan of the work to be 
constructed. It therefore appears manifest to me that it was not the 
intention of Parliament that the Navigable Waters Protection Act 
was to be applicable to the work in question.

Before entering upon a discussion of another important point 
in the Appellant's case, it might first be convenient and useful to 
state chronologically, the steps taken by the Respondent company, 
in securing from time to time the approval of the plans of the 
work by the Governor-in-Council, and by the Board of Railway 
Commissioners. The Appellant claims that the bridge as actu- 10 
ally constructed, was unauthorized and not approved of by the 
authorities, designated by the Railway Act, and was therefore 
erected contrary to the terms of the statute made and provided 
for in such cases; I shall indicate, as I proceed, the several grounds 
upon which this contention is based. The site and plans of the 
bridge, as originally projected, were first approved by the Gov­ 
ernor-in-Council on June 10th, 1913, upon the recommendation of 
the Minister of Public Works. No further step was apparently 
taken in respect of the undertaking for nearly ten years; the rea­ 
sons for this prolonged delay need not be enquired into. On April 20 
25th, 1923. amended plans (Exhibit 2) were approved of by the 
Governor-in-Council upon the submission and recommendation of 
the Minister of Public Works; the principal departure from the 
original plans was that the amended plans contemplated a bascule 
lift span with 150 feet horizontal clearance and 15 feet clearance 
above high tide, instead of another type of opening span shown in 
the first plans of 1913. The recommendation of the Minister was 
made with the concurrence of the Vancouver Harbour Commis­ 
sioners and the Acting Chief Engineer and Deputy Minister of the 
Department of Public Works. On the 31st of July, 1923, the 30 
Railway Board by Order sanctioned, under section 248 of the Rail­ 
way Act, the amended plans of the bridge (Exhibit 34), and on the 
same day authorized the company to proceed to construction of the 
bridge according to such amended plans, but directed that detail 
plans of the sub-structure and super-structure be filed for the 
approval of the engineer of the Board. It is to be mentioned here 
that the Appellant contends that the plans just mentioned as being 
approved of by the Railway Board, differed from the plans 
(Exhibit 2) approved previously by the Governor-in-Council, in 
the following respects: the latter provided for two spans and four 40 
piers, the former for three spans and five piers; the piers in each 
case were to be composed of a different number of cylinders; the 
length of the bridge varied in the two plans; and that the grade 
at the south end of the bridge was different in the two plans. By 
reason of the variations, in the plans .approved by the Railway 
Board from those approved by the Governor-in-Council, the Ap-
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pellant urges that the Order of the Railway Board was made with- Exchequer out jurisdiction and is a nullity. Subsequently it appears, fears Court of were expressed by the interested public, that if the bridge was Canada constructed as contemplated, it would increase the rapidity of the No ~ current of the water passing under the bridge, and a Board of Re° sons for Consulting Engineers was set up, I think, at the instance of the judgment of Government of Canada, to consider, inter alia, the best means of the President altering the structural plan of the bridge so as to diminish the D̂ - 7th> rapidity of the current of the waters of the harbour passing under /c0ntd)10 the bridge. The Board of Consulting Engineers eventually recom­ mended that the spans of the bridge be raised five feet and also the Lynn Creek approach; that two additional spans be con­ structed and that certain changes be made in the piers; that cer­ tain of the framed trestle super-structure be dismantled and re­ constructed. These changes were apparently suggested with a view to reducing the structural impediments to the free flow of the current at this point. Plans embodying these several changes were submitted to the Governor-in-Council for approval, on the recommendation of the Minister of Marine and Fisheries. It is20 probable, as suggested by counsel for the Appellant, that this recommendation emanated from the Minister of Marine and Fish­ eries, because the Board of Harbour Commissioners for the Port of Vancouver, were proposing to assist the company financially in carrying out certain of the proposed alterations in the structural plans of the bridge, and this board was under the administration of the Department of Marine and Fisheries. At any rate, the plans of the bridge as finally completed were approved by this Order-in-Council. No explanation was given as to why the recom­ mendation to the Governor-in-Council for the approval of the last3o amended plans was not made by the Minister of Public Works, but I shall later refer to this. The amended plans were approved by the Governor-in-Council on August 20th, 1925. The Board of Railway Commissioners had apparently given its approval to the amended plans on March 6th, 1925, prior to the approval by the Governor-in-Council. The Appellant contends that the changes made by the amended plans were "deviations," which, under the Railway Act, required the approval of the Governor-in-Council, and before any Order of approval of the same was made by the Railway Board, and that therefore, the Order of the Railway40 Board was a nullity because it preceded the approval of the "deviations" by the Governor-in-Council. The changes involved in the amended plans were doubtless of a very substantial char­ acter. The Appellant also contends that the Order-in-Council of August 20th, 1925, was not one such as contemplated by the Railway Act, but rather an approval of the advance of public funds to the Vancouver Board of Harbour Commissioners to assist financially the Respondent company in elevating the spans
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of the bridge and one of the approaches. It is also alleged that the 
Respondent company, without justification, proceeded with the 
construction of the bridge prior to the approval of the last 
amended plans, by either the Governor-in-Council or the Board 
of Railway Commissioners. The bridge was completed under the 
plans approved of in 1925 as just stated. An Order of the Rail­ 
way Board permitting the use and operation of the bridge was 
passed on October 21st, 1925; the bridge was formally opened for 
traffic on November 7th, 1925, and has been continuously in opera­ 
tion since that date. 10

It is appropriate next to refer to the provisions of the Rail­ 
way Act which are applicable to the work in question. First, it 
should be stated that the Respondent company was incorporated 
in 1910, cap. 74 Statutes of Canada, 1910, and, inter alia, was 
authorized to construct and operate a bridge over the Second Nar­ 
rows of Burrard Inlet, for railway and other purposes, but "so as 
not to interfere with navigation." Sec. 16 enacted that "the Rail­ 
way Act shall apply to the Company and its undertaking." The 
company was also empowered by Sec. 14 of the Act, to construct 
one or more lines of railway to connect the bridge with the lines of 80 
other railway companies operating in that locality. The under­ 
taking was also declared to be a work for the general advantage 
of Canada. The provisions of the Railway Act, cap. 68, Statutes 
of Canada, 1919, which are relevant here, might be quoted at 
length; they are as follows:—

245. "No company shall cause any obstruction, in or im­ 
pede the free navigation of any river, water, stream or canal, 
to, upon, along, over, under, through or across, which its rail­ 
way is carried."

80
247. (1) "Whenever the railway is, or is proposed to 

be carried over any navigable water or canal by means of a 
bridge the Board may by order in any case, or by regulations, 
direct that such bridge shall be constructed with such span or 
spans of such headway and waterway, and with such opening 
span or spans, if any, as to the Board may seem expedient for 
the proper protection of navigation."

248. "When the company is desirous of constructing 
any wharf, bridge, tunnel, pier or other structure or work, in, 40 
upon, over, under, through or across any navigable water or 
canal, or upon the beach, bed or lands covered with the waters 
thereof, the company shall, before the commencement of any 
such work:
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"(a) in the case of navigable water. . . . submit to the Min­ 
ister of Public Works. . . . for approval by the Gov­ 
ernor-in-Council, a plan and description of the proposed 
site for such work, and a general plan of the work to be 
constructed, to the satisfaction of such Minister; and

"(b) Upon approval by the Governor-in-Council of such site 
and plans, apply to the Board for an order authorizing 
the construction of the work and with such application, 
transmit to the Board a certified copy of the Order-in- 

10 Council and of the plans and description approved there­ 
by, and also detail plans and profiles of the proposed 
work, and such other plans, drawings and specifications 
as the Board may, in any such case, or by regulation, re­ 
quire.

" (2) No deviation from the site or plans approved by the Gov­ 
ernor-in-Council shall be made without the consent of the 
Governor-in-Council.

" (3) Upon any such application the Board may:
(a) Make such order in regard to the construction of 

2d such work upon such terms and conditions as it may deem 
expedient;
(b) Make alterations in the detail plans, profiles, draw­ 
ings and specifications so submitted.

"(,4) Upon such order being granted, the company shall be 
authorized to construct such work in accordance there­ 
with.

"(5) Upon the completion of any such work the company 
shall, before using or operating the same, apply to the 
Board for an order authorizing such use or operation, 

30 and if the Board is satisfied that its orders and directions 
have been carried out, and that such work may be used 
or operated without danger to the public, and that the 
provisions of this section have been complied with, the 
Board may grant such order."

The alleged defaults of the Respondent in complying with the 
provisions of the Railway Act in respect of the securing of ap­ 
proval of the bridge plans have already been stated. Now, start­ 
ing with the plans approved of by the Governor-in-Council in 
1923, and assuming even that the plans approved of by the Rail- 

40 way Board in July of the same year, deviated, as alleged, in sub­ 
stantial particulars from the plans approved of by the Governor- 
in-Council, Sec. 248 (2) of the Railway Act, enacts that "no devia­ 
tion from the site or plans approved by the Governor-in-Council
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shall be made without the consent of the Governor-in-Council." 
Any deviation from the plans approved of by the Governor-in- 
Council in 1923, was, however, sanctioned by the Order-in-Council 
made in August, 1925, approving of the final plans. The fact is, 
that the plans of the bridge as completed and put into use and 
operation were approved of by the Governor-in-Council and by 
the Railway Board; when all is said and done, the fact remains, 
that the bridge as constructed had such approval. If the Respond­ 
ent company proceeded, as alleged, with construction, according to 
the deviations to be recommended by the Board of Consulting 10 
Engineers—and it is not unreasonable to assume that it had knowl­ 
edge in advance of what such recommendations were to be—and 
chose to take the risk of securing subsequently the formal ap­ 
proval of such deviation by the Governor-in-Council; if the plans 
approved by the Railway Board in 1923 in fact constituted "a 
deviation" from the general plan approved of by the Governor- 
in-Council in the same year, or, if such approval was prematurely 
obtained, that is, prior to the approval by the Governor-in-Coun­ 
cil; still, I do not agree with the contention, that therefore the 
approval made by the Governor-in-Council and the Railway Board 
in 1925 of the ultimate plans of the bridge as actually constructed 
is a nullity, and not a compliance with the spirit of the statutory 
conditions. It seems to me that all the requirements and condi­ 
tions which the Legislature sought to impose for the purpose of 
protecting public rights in navigable waters, was in the end ob­ 
served. There may have been laxity on the part of all having to 
do with the matter, in observing from time to time the precise di­ 
rections of the statute, but all such procedural defaults, if any, 
were, in my opinion, waived in the final sanction of the plans of 
the bridge as completed. The fact that the Order of the Railway 
Board made in 1925, preceded the approval of the same plans by 
the Governor-in-Council, is not, I think, of importance; their 
combined effect was a sanction, as required by statute, of a bridge 
proposed to be carried over a navigable water. Neither does Sec. 
248 (2) of the Railway Act make it imperative that consent to 
such deviations by the Governor-in-Council should be made upon 
the recommendation of one particular Minister; the consent of 
the Governor-in-Council is all that is required, and the statute 
does not say that this consent must be obtained upon the recom­ 
mendation of any one Minister. The changes effected by the plans 40 
approved of in 1925 were evidently designed for the further assur­ 
ance of the protection of navigation; it is to be assumed that the 
protests made against the plans approved in 1923 were, that the 
bridge had not sufficient height above high tide, and that the sub­ 
structure of the bridge offered too many obstructions to tbe nor 
mal flow of the water at the Second Narrows. Probably it was 
with the Department of Marine that public protests were regis-

30
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tered against the plans approved in 1923, and which brought about the enquiry made by the Board of Consulting Engineers. Particularly would it be the function of the Department of Marine to safeguard the public rights in navigable waters, in Canada. That possibly was one reason why the recommendation to the Governor-in-Council was, in this instance, made by the Minister of that Department of Government, in addition to the other rea­ son I have already assigned. I do not therefore think there is substance in the contention that the approval of or consent to the 10 deviations of August, 1925, made by the Governor-in-Council, was a nullity because it was not made on the recommendation of the Minister of Public Works; in fact, I think it matters little by what Minister that recommendation was made so long as the ap­ proval was made by the Governor-in-Council. Further, I think, it is to be presumed that the recommendation in question to the Gov­ ernor-in-Council carried the approval of the Minister of Public Works. I therefore reach the same conclusion as the learned trial Judge, that the statutory conditions relating to the approval of the site, the general plans and the detail plans, of the bridge were complied with within the spirit and intent of the Railway Act.
There remains to consider, upon this aspect of the appeal, the effect of the words "so as not to interfere with navigation," as found in the Act of Incorporation of the Respondent company. It is contended that Parliament having enacted this limitation in respect of the power of the company to construct and operate the undertaking in question, that neither the Governor-in-Council or the Railway Board had power to authorize the construction of a bridge which interfered with navigation; that the Act falls short of authorizing a nuisance; and that if the bridge as constructed30 does in fact interfere with navigation, it is a work erected con­ trary to the statute and constitutes a public nuisance. Upon this point I agree with the reasoning and conclusion of the learned trial Judge, and there is little further that I need say. The Leg­ islature committed to the Governor-in-Council and to the Board of Railway Commissioners, the power to determine the plan of bridge that might be constructed. Having exercised the discre­ tion resting in them, and having approved of the site, and the gen­ eral and detail plans of the work, as one not reasonably calculated to interfere with navigation—and they must have meant that —I40 think it is now too late to say that the bridge was one erected con­ trary to the provisions of the Respondent company's Act of In­ corporation. Possibly an error in judgment was made in approv­ ing the structural plans of the bridge; it may be that the bridge has left navigation at the Second Narrows more difficult and dangerous than theretofore; yet, the site, and the general and de­ tail plans of the bridge having been approved by those to whom
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such power was specially delegated by Act of Parliament, the 
work having been in good faith completed according to such plans, 
and the completed work having been put into operation by leave of 
the Railway Board, I do not think the same can now be declared 
to be an unlawful work and a public nuisance, even if it does in 
fact, in some degree, render navigation at this point more hazard­ 
ous than prior to its construction. Fundamental errors in con­ 
structed public works, inimical to public interests, are frequently 
discovered after completion, but if the statutory authority and 
conditions applicable to the work were complied with, I hardly 10 
think it practical to say, that if damages result from the construc­ 
tion of the work, the party using it is responsible for any such 
damages, if occurring without negligence. In this case, I think, 
as the learned trial Judge held, that the words "so as not to inter­ 
fere with navigation," mean not more interference than is rea­ 
sonably necessary to carry out the undertaking as authorized, and 
as approved by the Governor-in-Council and the Board of Bail- 
way Commissioners. What the Governor-in-Council and the 
Board of Railway Commissioners did, was the equivalent of a pos­ 
itive legislative act authorizing the erection of the bridge, accord- 20 
ing to the plans under which it was in fact erected. If I am cor­ 
rect in this view, then the Appellant fails because the work as 
constructed was one authorized by the Legislature. Thus, Black­ 
burn, J., in the course of his judgment in Hammersmith Railway 
Co. vs. Brand (1869) L.R.I.H.L.C. 196, says:

"I think it is agreed on all hands that if the Legislature 
authorizes the doing of an Act (which if unauthorized, would 
be a wrong and a cause of action), no action can be maintained 
for that act, on the plain ground that no Court can treat that 
as a wrong which the Legislature has authorized, and conse- 30 
quently the person who has sustained a loss by the doing of 
that act is without remedy unless in so far as the Legislature 
has thought it proper to provide for compensation to him."

The learned trial Judge has discussed this point in his reasons for 
judgment, at great length and with clearness, and his finding, 
which I adopt, should not, in my opinion, be disturbed.

It was also contended that a rock fill on the South shore was 
greater in extent than authorized and was responsible for definite 
difficulties in navigating the bascule span. I do not propose dis­ 
cussing this point as I fully concur in the disposition of the same 40 
made by the learned trial Judge, and his reasons therefor.

Now as to the cross-appeal in respect of the Respondent's 
claim against the ship "Eurana" for damages caused to the bridge 
in consequence of the collision. In his reasons for judgment the
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learned trial Judge discussed with great care the effect of the con­ 
struction of the bridge upon navigation at the Second Narrows, 
the natural difficulties of navigation at this point, the peculiar sub­ 
surface tidal currents obtaining at the time material here, the 
effect of dredging operations at the First Narrows upon the Sec­ 
ond Narrows tidal currents, the navigation of the "Eurana," and 
other alleged facts relevant to the ^Respondent's claim that the 
damages caused to the bridge was by reason of the negligent navi­ 
gation of the "Eurana." He concluded, that upon the evidence,

10 he could not find that the allegations of negligence against the 
"Eurana," as to the time of making the attempt to pass through 
the bridge or the manner in which the attempt was carried out, 
had been sustained, and that it was a case of inevitable accident. 
After a careful perusal of the evidence, and upon a consideration 
of the reasons given by the learned Judge, I cannot see any 
grounds for disturbing the conclusion which he reached, and I 
think the same was justified by the evidence. I do not think that 
negligence has been established against the "Eurana." At the 
time and place in question, conditions prevailed that undoubtedly

20 made navigation through the bascule span extremely difficult, and 
I think with the learned Judge that the "Eurana" attempted to 
navigate the open span with reasonable care, caution and mari­ 
time skill, and left undone nothing that could have been done to 
avoid the accident.

Accordingly I am of the opinion that the appeal and cross- 
appeal should both be dismissed, and with costs in each case.
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IN THE EXCHEQUER COURT OF GANADA.
IN ADMIRALTY.

BETWEEN:
Appeal to
Pri^y Council THE BURRARD INLET TUNNEL & BRIDGE
Jan. 4th, 1930 COMPANY,

Plaintiff (Respondent), 
AND:

THE 8. 8. "EURANA,"
Defendant (Appellant). 10

TAKE NOTICE that the Planet Line Inc., the owners of the 
8. 8. "Eurana" the Defendant (Appellant) in this action, appeals 
to His Majesty in Council from the Decree of the Judge of the said 
Court made the 7th day of December, 1929.

DATED this 4th day of January, 1930.

W. MARTIN GRIFFIN,
Solicitor for the said Defendant 

(Appellant).
whose place of business and address for service is Rooms 609-613 
Bank of Nova Scotia Building, 602 Hastings Street, West, Van- 
couver, B. C.

To: the Plaintiff (Respondent); 
And to: Messrs. Burns, Walkem & Thomson, 

their Solicitors.
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IN THE EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA
No. 19 
OrderAPPEAL FROM THE BRITISH COLUMBIA ADMIRALTY Granting
and approving 
securityBEFORE THE HONOURABLE, THE PRESIDENT, March nth, 

IN CHAMBERS. 193°

BETWEEN :
THE BURRARD INLET TUNNEL & BRIDGE 

COMPANY,
10 Plaintiff (Respondent), 

AGAINST :
THE STEAMSHIP "EUR ANA,"

Appellant (Defendant).
UPON the application of the Appellant and upon hearing 

read the Notice of Motion, and the affidavit of Benjamin W. 
Greer, filed, and the Appellant having filed a Bond for Fifteen 
hundred dollars ($1500.00) as Security for costs, and upon hear­ 
ing Counsel for the Appellant and the Respondent :

IT IS ORDERED that the Appellant be at liberty to Appeal 
SO to His Majesty in Council from the Judgment of this Court, deliv­ 

ered on the 7th day of December, A.D. 1929, dismissing the Appeal 
of the Appellant from the Judgment of the Honourable Mr. Jus­ 
tice Martin, Local Judge in Admiralty for the British Columbia 
District, dated the 22nd day of April, A.D. 1929.

AND IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that all proceedings 
herein, be stayed pending the said Appeal to His Majesty in Coun­ 
cil, save and except the entry of the Judgment of this Court.

AND IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the costs of this 
Application be costs in the Cause.

30 DATED at Ottawa, this 17th day of March, A.D. 1930.

ARNOLD W. DUCLOS,
O.K. Deputy Registrar. Henderson & Herridge.
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British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiff's 
Exhibit 
No. 56 
Letter
Cleveland & 
Cameron to 
Plaintiff 
March 16th, 
1912

PART II. 
EXHIBIT No. 56

COPY.
506 Winch Building,

Vancouver, B. C.
16th March, 1912.

To the Chairman & Directors,
of the Burrard Inlet Tunnel & Bridge Co., 

Vancouver, B. C.
Gentlemen,—

SECOND NARROWS BRIDGE, OPENING SPAN. 10
After the project for a high level bridge had been abandoned 

we considered the position and width of opening required for a 
draw span.

We found the opening width required to easily pass a boom 
of logs in a tideway to be 95 feet, but as the proposed bridge will 
have sufficient headroom for the largest tug frequenting the har­ 
bour, and that a boom tow could take the opening span or either 
of the 220 foot spans, we eliminated boom towing as being pro­ 
vided for in any part of the fairway.

An examination of the beam widths of the largest ships now 20 
frequenting the harbour, shewed a range of from 51 to 61 feet as 
the following list will show:—

C. P. R. Empresses............................................51'.2
Craftsman ..........................................................52'.5
Makura................................................................5T.7
Blue Funnel Boats............................................61\0
Keemun (China Mutual) ................................58'.2
Ocean Monarch ................................................48'.5
The Olympic at present the largest ship
afloat is ................................................................92'.5 »<>
The widest boat now plying to Port 
Moody the oil tank steamer Roma is..............40'.5

Considering the dimensions, we concluded that an opening 
of 150 feet would be ample and in this we were confirmed when we 
found the approved opening span for the V. W. & Y. Railway 
bridge to be a swing bridge with opening spans of 150 feet.

We still consider any width over 150 feet to be superfluous.
The question of opening span becomes doubly serious in view 

of the difficulties in placing the piers in such a great depth of 
water and we deprecated increasing the span to 200 feet, the 40 
width on which Mr. Cruttwell's estimate was based. When it was 
further demanded to make the opening span 250 feet, it became
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necessary to review the whole situation; and estimate of the cost of the increase of 50 feet in the span was then made and found to be nearly $200,000 extra to that of a 200 foot span, and to add to the difficulties, the opening span was required to be in mid chan­ nel, notwithstanding the fact that craft passing the Narrows always keep to the South shore in both directions.
In the list of steamers given below, the Olympic at present the largest, would have over 53 feet clear space on each side in passing through a 200 foot opening, widths 4/5ths of a 66 foot 10 street on both sides.
The increase of beam in steamers is a matter of a few inches when compared with feet increase in length.
We may have boats up to 112 feet beam, but such a boat could not use the Panama Canal.
As it happens the stream through the Narrows at all tides, runs straight, whirling a considerable distance to the West and a shorter distance Eastwards, but in both cases clear of the Nar­ rows.
It may be taken that the dimensions of the Canal Locks will 20 govern the size of ships trading to this port, and the largest ship that can pass the Canal will still leave 45 feet on each side with a 200 foot opening span at Second Narrows; the largest ships at present are still about 200 feet short of the permissable length in the Canal.
The bridge piers at the opening span will be properly pro­ tected and in a manner to facilitate the passage of ships, the handiness of the opening span for quick opening is of great im­ portance, to be ready on the approach of the ship for a clean run through in her course.

30 Decisions in the Courts makes it certain that even small ves­ sels will not attempt to pass in opposite directions, even were the opening 350 feet in width.
We are satisfied that the opening span of 200 feet will give more than ample accommodation for the prospective shipping while the Bascule bridge will give a clear opening without over­ head obstructions.
We are,

40

Yours respectfully,
Sd. - CLEVELAND & CAMERON.

D.C.
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__ EXHIBIT No. 11
British Columbia
Admiralty Dist. EXTRACT FROM

Plaindff7 RECORD OF PILOTS
Exhibit (Book) 
No. 11 v
Pilotage Cert. VANCOUVER PILOTAGE AUTHORITY
Capt.
H R. Jones July 1st 1892, — FEBRUARY 1st, 1916. 
Feb. 1st, 1916 RECORD OF PILOT H ROBSON JONES.

Date of No. of Height Complex- Color Color 
License License Age Ft. In. ion of of

Hair Eyes 10 
July 1st, 4 and 
1892 2 36 5. 6% Blond Brown Blue

During these 24 years Capt. H. Robson Jones was first rate 
Pilot under jurisdiction of the Vancouver Pilotage Authority and 
not once during that time had he the slightest mishap or accident 
to any vessel he was in charge of.

This record he held during all weathers and at all times of the 
year while piloting.

CERTIFIED CORRECT:
"C. GARDNER JOHNSON" 2« 

Secretary, Vancouver Pilotage 
Authority.

Defendant's EXHIBIT No. 44
Exhibit
?°- 44 MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT made this 26th day of 
pr0eparraSion September, 1922, between BURRARD INLET TUNNEL AND 
plans of bridge BRIDGE COMPANY, incorporated under Chapter 74 of the 
Sept. 26th, Statutes of the Dominion of Canada, 9-10 Edward VII, herein- 

after called the "Company" of the one part, and NORTHERN 
CONSTRUCTION COMPANY LIMITED, a body corporate 
carrying on business at the City of Vancouver in the Province of 30 
British Columbia, and J. W. STEWART, of the said City of 
Vancouver, hereinafter called the "Contractors," of the other 
part.

WHEREAS the Company has been incorporated for the pur­ 
pose, inter alia, of undertaking the erection of a joint traffic and
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British Columbiarailway bridge across the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet, to- Admiralty DM. gether with connecting lines of railway on the north and south _ c ~~~, shores of Burrard Inlet: {j£Sjant s
AND WHEREAS the Contractors have offered at their own JJmract re expense to carry out the necessary borings and soundings and preparation thoroughly test the f oudations at the site of the proposed bridge, plans of bridge and to prepare general plans of such bridge and connecting lines Sept. 26th, of railway in accordance with the terms hereof and under the 192(2C supervision and to the satisfaction of the Engineer of the Com- ( m '' 10 pany, Mr. A. D. Swan, upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, and the Company has accepted such offer:
AND WHEREAS it is the intention of the parties hereto that in the event of the Contractors finding the said foundations to be such that they can build the said bridge for the sum of one million 

two hundred and fifty thousand dollars ($1,250,000), they are to be given the contract for so doing, subject to the terms and condi­ tions hereinafter mentioned:
NOW THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH that in pursu­ 

ance of the premises the parties hereto hereby mutually covenant 80 and agree together in manner following, that is to say:
1. The Contractors will forthwith at their own expense pro­ ceed to carry out borings and soundings and thoroughly test the 

foundations at the site of the proposed bridge over the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet under the supervision and to the satis­ faction of the engineer of the Company, Mr. A. D. Swan, and will also at the like expense and to the like satisfaction prepare general 
plans of the said proposed bridge being a road and railway bridge to cross the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet from a point on the shore in the City of Vancouver at Cariboo Street to a point30 in the Municipality of the District of North Vancouver on the Indian Reservation as shewn on a plan of the Harbour Commis­ 
sioners of the City of Vancouver as the site of the proposed bridge, 
the said bridge to be designed of standard railway construction of the type known as "Cooper's E-50 Loading" plus one hundred pounds (100 Ibs.) per square foot for roadway allowance and floor system capable of carrying a ten ton truck; the bridge to have standard railway clearance between trestles of about seventeen feet (17') and provided with ten feet (10') roadway for vehicular traffic on each side of bridge; the design to provide a bacute of one40 hundred and eighty-five feet (185') swing giving one hundred and fifty feet (150') channel clearance opening; the bascule bridge to be of the Strauss standard design somewhat similar to the new bascule bridge at Johnston Street in the City of Victoria, B. C., also the Strauss bascule bridge recently completed for the Bur­ lington Channel for the Department of Public Works of Canada
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Admiralty Dist. at Hamilton, Ontario, or other equally as good design approved 
by the engineer of the Company. In addition there shall be one 
three hundred foot (300') more or less through-fixed span on the

No. 44 north side of the bascule. The remaining portions of the bridge to 
Contract re consist of steel girders, creosoted piling and timber work and 
preparation solid embankment as may hereafter be decided and approved by 
SeT 26th the Engineer of tne Company. The roadways at south side shall 
!922 ' be timber trestles with steel girder designed subject to above load- 

(Contd.) ing requirements. There shall also be three (3) sets of railroad
girder spans of approximately sixty foot (60') length across Lynn 10 
Creek on the North Vancouver end. The steel spans shall rest 
on piers of such size and construction as will suitably carry the 
loads. The bridge is to have a centre clearance above high tide of 
fifteen feet (15') with a clearance over the Canadian Pacific Rail­ 
way tracks of twenty-three feet (23'). There shall be the con­ 
struction of a single railroad track from the shore connection on 
the North Vancouver end as above mentioned to Block two hun­ 
dred and seventy-two (272) in the said District of North Vancou­ 
ver or in the said Block two hundred and seventy-two (272) suffi­ 
cient to cross the said Lynn Creek. The foundations of all bridge 20 
piers and abutments to be carried to such suitable level as ap­ 
proved by the Engineer of the Company. All rails to be standard 
eighty-five pound rails.

2. Within sixty (60) days from the date hereof, the Con­ 
tractors will submit to the Company without charge all informa­ 
tion and data secured as a result of the carrying out of said bor­ 
ings and soundings, together with said general plans. IT IS UN­ 
DERSTOOD HOWEVER that if at any time during the said 
boring and sounding work the Contractors should come to the con­ 
clusion that they cannot construct the said bridge for the said 80 
figure, then they are to be at liberty to cease all further work, and 
their only obligation then under this contract will be to submit to 
the Company without charge all such written information and 
data and plans then in their possession.

3. In the event of the said data and information and the 
said plans being approved by the Engineer of the Company, and 
being accompanied by a tender on the part of the Contractors for 
the construction of a bridge and connecting railway lines in ac­ 
cordance therewith for the sum of one million two hundred and 
fifty thousand dollars ($1,250,000) payable as hereinafter men- 40 
tioned, the Company shall

(a) Forthwith request the Municipal Council of the City of 
North Vancouver to cause to be submitted for the approval of 
the electors and to be authenticated a by-law authorizing an 
issue of debentures for the sum of two hundred and twenty
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thousand two hundred and twenty-two dollars ($220,222.00) payable at fifty (50) years from the date of such by-law and bearing interest at six per cent. (6%) per annum and payable as to principal and interest at the option of the holder at the City of Vancouver or at the City of New York or at the City of London, England, at the par of exchange; and that the said by-law shall provide that the said debentures shall be deliv­ ered over to the Company in exchange for shares in the cap­ ital stock of the Company.
10 (b) Forthwith create a bond issue of the sum of six hundred and thirty thousand dollars ($630,000.00) in aid of the con­ struction of a bridge over the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet under the powers set out in Section twelve (12) of the said Chapter seventy-four (74) 9-10 Edward VII, the bonds of which issue shall be designated as "Series A" as mentioned in said Section twelve (12), said bonds to bear interest at the rate of six per cent (6^>) per annum payable half yearly and to be payable as to principal and interest at the option of the holder from time to time at the said City of Vancouver or at2o the said C,ity of New York or at the said City of London at the par of exchange, and to contain a provision that the prin­ cipal of the said bonds shall be met by the setting aside of a certain specific sum in each year over a term of fifty (50) years; PROVIDED that such bonds may be issued subject to the condition that further like bonds may be issued not ex­ ceeding the amount of the limit fixed by said Section twelve (12) to rank in pari passu with the issue of six hundred and thirty thousand dollars ($630,000.00) aforesaid.

(c) Forthwith request the Municipal Council of the said 30 City of North Vancouver to cause to be submitted for the ap­ proval of the electors and to be authenticated, a by-law enabling the said City of North Vancouver to guarantee the said Series "A" bonds up to the amount of two hundred and fifty-seven thousand five hundred dollars ($257,500.00) and arrange for the completion of the said guarantee.
(d) Forthwith request the Municipal Council of the District of North Vancouver to cause to be submitted for the approval of the electors and to be authenticated a by-law guaranteeing the said Series "A" bonds up to the amount of three hundred 40 and seventy-two thousand five hundred dollars ($372,500.00) and arrange for the completion of such guarantee.
(e) Forthwith request an arrangement with the said Dis­ trict of North Vancouver whereby the said District shall in payment for shares in the Company provide for and turn over to the Company the sum of two hundred and ninety thousand
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dollars ($290,000.00) in the following manner, that is to say, 
the sum of thirty-five thousand dollars ($35,000.00) in cash 
and the sum of two hundred and fifty-five thousand dollars 
($255,000.00) by the delivery of the five per cent (5%) 
bridge debentures of the existing issue of three hundred 
thousand dollars ($300,000.00) on a six per cent (6%) basis; 
and request the Municipal Council of the said District to 
change the place of payment as mentioned in the said deben­ 
tures so that the said debentures will be payable as to prin­ 
cipal and interest, in addition to the places now specified at 10 
the City of New York or at the City of London, at the option 
of the holder from time to time, at the par of exchange.
(f) Forthwith but subject to compliance with legal require­ 
ments, make calls upon the City of Vancouver for the balance 
of one hundred and seventy thousand dollars ($170,000.00) 
due by the said City to the said Company upon the shares in 
the Company held by the said City and collect the same in 
cash as soon as reasonably possible.
(g) Forthwith take steps to submit the said general plans 
for the approval of all and every governmental authority 20 
whose approval is a condition precedent to the proceeding 
with the construction of the said bridge, and both parties 
hereto shall use their utmost endeavours to obtain such ap­ 
provals.

4. The validity and legality of all of the above mentioned 
by-laws, municipal bonds and company guaranteed bonds, ar­ 
rangements, agreements and calls upon the City of Vancouver 
shall be subject to the approval of the Contractors' solicitors, and 
for the purpose of avoiding any doubts as to the propriety or 
legality of any steps taken in connection with any of the said 30 
matters, the Company's solicitors shall submit for the approval 
of the Contractors' solicitors all steps proposed to be taken in con­ 
nection with all of said matters and things.

(Rest of Exhibit not relevant to this Appeal.)



801

EXHIBIT No. 37
__ British Columhi* 

BURNS & WALKEM. Admiralty Dist.
BARRISTERS & SOLICITORS. Defendant's

Exhibit
VANCOUVER, CANADA. No. 37

•^ «. -.~^ Letter toJanuary 22, 1923. Bums &
A. St. Laurent, Esq., Waikem

Chief Engineer, Public Works Dept., Jan 22nd>OTTAWA. 1923
Dear Sir:—

10 We enclose herewith linen tracing and four blue prints of the 
location and profile of the Second Narrows Bridge, Burrard Inlet, 
Vancouver, B. C. We understand that plans of this proposed 
structure were approved on the 10th June, 1913 and we now ask 
for amendment under section 233 of the "Railway Act" to cover 
the plans that we are now depositing. We understand that Mr. 
A. D. Swan has discussed this matter with you recently.

Yours truly,
(SGD) BURNS & WALKEM.

EXHIBIT No. 49 Defendant s 
- A TT -rv i Exhibit20 A. H. Douglas No 49

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT made this first day of cuj£ental 
February, 1923 : Pkhuiff and 
BETWEEN:

BURRARD INLET TUNNEL AND BRIDGE COMPANY, Co.
hereinafter called "the Company," Feb lst) 1923

OF THE ONE PART. 
AND

NORTHERN CONSTRUCTION COMPANY LIMITED 
and J. W. STEWART, hereinafter caUed "the Contractors,"

30 OF THE OTHER PART :
IS SUPPLEMENTAL to an Agreement dated 26th Septem­ 

ber, 1922, (hereinafter referred to as "the Principal Agree­ 
ment"), between the parties hereto.

WITNESSETH that the parties hereto have mutually agreed 
in manner following : —
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1. The parties hereby confirm that the Contractors have deliv­ 
ered to the Company a tender for the construction of Bridge and 
connecting railway lines as mentioned in the Principal Agree­ 
ment, for the sum of One Million, Two Hundred and Fifty Thous­ 
and Dollars ($1,250,000), payable as mentioned in the Principal 
Agreement.
2. The said tender is made by the Contractors and accepted by 
the Company subject to the following conditions, and the Prin­ 
cipal Agreement is to be read as if the following conditions were 
contained therein : — l°

(a) That all matters referred to in paragraph 4 of the Prin­ 
cipal Agreement shall be subject to the approval of Mr. E. G. 
Long, Barrister, of Toronto, Ontario, whose fees shall be pay­ 
able by the Company and the Contractors in equal shares.
(b) That agreements will be entered into between the Com­ 
pany and the City of North Vancouver, and also with the Dis­ 
trict of North Vancouver, providing that a sinking fund will 
be set aside each year out of tolls, sufficient to redeem the 
Company's bonds at maturity, and that in the event of the 
tolls being insufficient in any year to set aside said sinking 20 
fund, the said two Municipalities will provide the deficiency 
in their proper proportions, namely, in the proportions in 
which they have respectively guaranteed $630,000.00 par value 
bridge bonds mentioned in the Principal Agreement.
(c) That the Trust Deed securing the Company's bonds will 
contain a covenant on the part of the Company that it will 
not issue bonds in excess of $750,000.00 par value, ranking 
pari passu with said $630,000 Bonds, and that the Company 
will not apply to Parliament to give to it greater borrowing 
powers in respect to the Second Narrows Bridge ranking pari 
passu with said $750,000.00 bonds.

(Best of exhibit not relevant to this appeal.)
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Exhibit 
No. 38 
Letter 
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..,,,

EXHIBIT No. 38

CANADIAN PACIFIC R'Y CO'8 TELEGRAPH.
VANCOUVER, B. C. FEBY. 16-23. R. C. Desrochers,

Sec'y. Public Works Department, 
OTTAWA, Ont.

Application for approval Second Narrows Bridge Vancou­ 
ver is made on behalf Burrard Inlet Tunnel and Bridge Company. 4( ,

(SGD) BURNS AND WALKEM.
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EXHIBIT No. 1.

P. C. 718.

CERTIFIED COPY OF A REPORT OF THE COM­ 
MITTEE OF THE PRIVY COUNCIL, APPROVED 
BY HIS EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR GEN­ 
ERAL ON THE 25TH APRIL, 1923.

5781—12 SEP.—8.

The Committee of the Privy Council have had before them a 
Report, dated 20th April, 1923, from the Minister of Public 

10 Works, submitting as follows:—
That an Order in Council was passed on June 10th, 1913, ap­ 

proving, under Section 233 of the Railway Act (now Section 248) 
of the plan of a bridge proposed to be built by the Burrard Inlet 
Tunnel and Bridge Company across the Second Narrows of Bur­ 
rard Inlet, B. C. The bridge has not been built;

That the Burrard Inlet Tunnel and Bridge Company has 
submitted for approval, under Section 248 of the Railway Act, 
Chapter 68,1919, the attached amended plan of a bridge proposed 
to be built across the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet providing 

20 a bascule lift span with 150 feet horizontal clearance and 15 feet 
clearance above high tide;

That the Department of Justice has stated that the applica­ 
tion has been properly made under Section 248 of the Railway 
Act;

That the District Engineer has reported that the Vancouver 
Harbour Commissioners have approved of the amended plan;

That the Acting Chief Engineer has advised that the amended 
plan No. 1815 be approved, and in this recommendation the Dep­ 
uty Minister has concurred;

30 The Minister therefore recommends the approval, under Sec­ 
tion 248 of the Railway Act, Chapter 68, 1919, of the attached 
plan of a bridge proposed to be built across the Second Narrows 
of Burrard Inlet, B. C., by the Burrard Inlet Tunnel and Bridge 
Company.

The Committee concur in the foregoing recommendation and 
submit the same for approval.

E. J. Lemain 
Clerk of the Privy Council.
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P. C. 1395.
CERTIFIED COPY OP A REPORT OF THE COM­ 
MITTEE OF THE PRIVY COUNCIL, APPROVED 
BY HIS EXCELLENCY THE ADMINISTRATOR 
ON THE 10TH JUNE, 1913.

On a Memorandum dated 5th June, 1913, from the Minister 
of Public Works, submitting that the Burrard Inlet Tunnel & 
Bridge Company has applied, under Section 233 of the Railway 
Act, for approval of the annexed plans of bridge which it pro­ 
posed to construct across the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet, 10 
B. C.;

That the District Engineer of the Department of Public 
Works has recommended that these plans be approved as the in­ 
terests of navigation will be sufficiently safeguarded, and in this 
recommendation the Chief Engineer of the Department of Public 
Works has concurred.

The Minister recommends that authority be granted for the 
approval of the annexed plans submitted by The Burrard Inlet 
Tunnel & Bridge Company of its proposed bridge across the Sec­ 
ond Narrows of Burrard Inlet, B. C. 20

The Committee submit the same for approval.
E. J. Lemain, 

Clerk of the Privy Council.

Defendant's
Exhibit
No. 40
Letter
Plaintiff to
Vancouver
Harbour
Commissioners
June 27th,
1923

EXHIBIT No. 40

27th June 1923.
To the Vancouver Harbour Commissioners, 

VANCOUVER, B. C.
Gentlemen:—

The Governor-in-Council has under date of 25th April 1923 
and No. P. C. 718, approved of plans of a bridge and railway to 30 
be built across the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet.

Application has been filed with the Board of Railway Com­ 
missioners under Sections 167 and 168 of the Railway Act for their 
approval of the route of the railway.

On June 12th 1913 by Quit Claim Deed (numbered Chief 
Engineer M & F. numbers 32839 and 33483) the Deputy Minister
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of Marine & Fisheries transferred certain foreshore and land at
the bottom of Burrard Inlet to my company for construction pur- British
poses.

RECORD

As there is a variation in the location of the plans referred to 
above and in plans for which the above mentioned foreshore was 
obtained my company has caused to be prepared plans of the land 
and foreshore required for the present project.

I submit this plan in quintuplicate and I am instructed by 
my directors to request your approval of them and that they be 

10 forwarded by you to Ottawa with your recommendation that sub­ 
ject to the lands referred to in paragraph 3 above being returned 
my company may receive title to the foreshore and lands therein 
described.

P. Ward.
Secretary of Burrard Inlet Tunnel 

& Bridge Company.

Admiralty Dist.
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EXHIBIT No. 50

68, Fairneld Building, 
27th June, 23.

20 The Board of Railway Commissioners for Canada, 
At Their Sitting on the 29th June, 1923, 
At the City of Vancouver.
Gentlemen,

The Burrard Inlet Tunnel & Bridge Company was incorpor­ 
ated under Chapter 74, 9-10, Edward VII, Statutes of Canada, 
for the purpose, inter alia, of constructing a bridge over the Sec­ 
ond Narrows of Burrard Inlet.

Under Section 248 of the Railway Act, the Company has, 
under date of 25th April 1923, and Number P.C. 718, secured the 

30 approval of the Governor in Council to the plan and description 
of the work to be constructed.

Plans, in accordance with Section 167, of the location of the 
line, and a plan profile and book of reference in duplicate, in 
accordance with Section 168, are submitted herewith for your 
approval.

By Order of the Directors.
P. WARD,

Secretary Burrard Inlet Tunnel and 
Bridge Coy.

Defendant's 
Exhibit 
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June 27th, 
1923
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EXHIBIT 3

ORDER NO. 33948.

THE BOARD OF RAILWAY COMMISSIONERS 
FOR CANADA.

IN THE MATTER of the ap­ 
plication of the Burrard Inlet 
Tunnel and Bridge Company, 
hereinafter called the "Applicant 
Company" under Section 167 of 
the Railway Act, 1919, for ap­ 
proval of the plan dated June 20, 
1923, showing general location of 
proposed Second Narrows bridge 
and approaches, from Yale and 
Cariboo Streets, Hastings Town- 
site, to Brooksbank Avenue D.L. 
272, District of North Van­ 
couver, in the Province of British 
Columbia; a copy of said plan be­ 
ing on file with the Board under 
file No. 15732,—

TUESDAY, the 24th day of 
JULY, A.D. 1923.

S. J. McLEAN, 
Asst. Chief Commissioner.

A. C. BOYCE, K.C., 
Commissioner.

10

UPON hearing the application at the sittings of the Board 
held at the City of Vancouver in the Province of British Columbia 
on the 29th day of June, 1923, in the presence of counsel for the 
Applicant Company, the City of North Vancouver and the Can­ 
adian Pacific Railway Company the evidence offered and what 
was alleged, and upon the report and recommendation of its Chief 
Engineer.

THE BOARD ORDERS that the general location of the pro­ 
posed Second Narrows bridge and approaches, as shown on said 30 
plan dated June 20, 1923, filed with the Board under file No. 
15732, be, and it is hereby, approved.

(S'G'D) S. J. McLEAN,
Assistant Chief Commissioner, 

Board of Railway Commissioners for Canada.
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EXHIBIT No. 46
British Columbia

ARTICLES OF AGREEMENT made this 25th day of July Mmh^oist. 
1923, between NORTHERN CONSTRUCTION COMPANY Defendant's 
LIMITED, a body corporate carrying on business at the City of Exhibit 
Vancouver in the Province of British Columbia, and J. W. No - 46 
STEWART, of the said City of Vancouver, hereinafter called the ^Slm 
"Contractors" of the one part, and THE BURRARD INLET Northern 
TUNNEL AND BRIDGE COMPANY, incorporated under Construction 
Chapter 74 of the Statutes of the Dominion of Canada, 9-10 Co. 

10 Edward VII, hereinafter caUed the "Company" of the other part.
WHEREAS the parties hereto entered into an agreement in 

writing dated the 26th day of September 1922, (hereinafter re­ 
ferred to as the principal agreement), whereby the Contractors 
agreed to carry out certain borings and soundings and testings as 
to the foundations of the site of a proposed bridge and approaches 
across the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet and prepare general 
plans of the proposed bridge and approaches and connecting lines 
of railway, subject to the approval of the Engineer of the Com­ 
pany:

20 AND WHEREAS upon the Completion of the said work and 
general plans the Contractors delivered to the Company a tender 
for the construction of the said bridge and railway in accordance 
with the provisions of the said agreement for the sum of one mil­ 
lion two hundred and fifty thousand dollars ($1,250,000.00) pay­ 
able as therein and hereinafter mentioned:

AND WHEREAS by the terms of the said agreement the
Company agreed to accept the said tender, and by a Supplemental
agreement dated first February 1923 between the parties hereto
the Company accepted the said tender and the principal agree-

30 ment was varied as therein appears:
AND WHEREAS the principal agreement provided that the 

parties hereto should enter into a building contract:
AND WHEREAS since the said tender was submitted the 

parties hereto have agreed upon certain structural improvements 
in the said bridge and the contract price has been increased as 
hereinafter appears:

AND WHEREAS the parties hereto are desirous of now en­ 
tering into the said Building Contract, being this agreement, mak- 

40 ing the same subject to the fulfilment of the conditions set forth in 
the schedule hereto which by the principal agreement are made 
conditions precedent to the execution of the Building Contract 
and which at the date of the execution hereof have not yet been ful­ 
filled:
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NOW THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH that the par­ 
ties hereto hereby covenant and agree together as follows :

1. The Principal Agreement is amended in manner follow­
ing:

(a) The time limit mentioned in Clause 10 is hereby en­ 
larged so that the Contractors shall have two years from and 
after the time when the Contractors are directed to proceed 
with the work as hereinafter mentioned.
(b) The $300,000.00 bonds of the District of North Van­ 
couver mentioned in paragraph 3 (e) will not be issued, but 
in lieu thereof the Company will give $251,000.00 six per cent 
bonds of the District of North Vancouver, to be taken at par, 
and a further $4,000.00 cash.
(c) The contract price mentioned in the Principal Agree­ 
ment is hereby increased to one million four hundred and fifty 
thousand dollars ($1,450,000.) to cover additional work 
called for by the Dominion Government, and the amount of 
the increase shall be payable in cash by the Bridge Company, 
such cash to be deposited with the Trustee with the other 
moneys as hereinafter provided. 20
2. The Contractors shall execute in a sound, proper and 

workmanlike manner with the best materials of their several 
kinds (unless otherwise specified) and find and provide all mate­ 
rials and plant permanent and temporary, and pay all fees, costs 
and expenses and do all work and labor incidental to and necessary 
for the construction and completion of a road and railway bridge 
to cross the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet from a point on the 
shore in the City of Vancouver at Cariboo Street to a point in the 
Municipality of the District of North Vancouver on the Indian 
Reservation, as shown on a plan of the Harbor Commissioners of 30 
the City of Vancouver as the site of the proposed bridge together 
with approaches and a single railway track from the shore con­ 
nection on the Vancouver end as above mentioned and crossing 
Lynn Creek to and upon District lot two hundred and seventy- 
two (272) in the City of North Vancouver, in accordance with the 
said general plans and further detailed working plans and draw­ 
ings made or to be made as hereinafter set out and the general con­ 
ditions of contract and specifications and the schedule of quanti­ 
ties and prices hereto annexed and with the terms and conditions 
hereinafter set out 40

7. In the event of the Company desiring to substitute a steel 
span for part of the timber trestle immediately North of the three
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RECORDhundred foot (300') span, as mentioned in the said specifications, _ 
the Contractors shall carry out and do such alteration as an extra. British Columbia

Admiralty Dist.

10

11. The Company shall pay to the Trustee for the purposes 
of this contract the moneys arising from the one hundred thous­ 
and dollar ($100,000.00) subsidy passed by the Parliament of 
Canada at its last session, as and when the same shall be received, 
and covenants that the said moneys or failing them or any portion 
thereof other moneys to be provided by the Company to the extent 
of the deficiency shall be paid into the Trustee in time so that no 
delay in payments under this contract shall occur. If any default 
in payment to the Contractors hereunder shall occur by reason of 
the moneys aforesaid or any portion thereof not being in the 
Trustee's hands as aforesaid, then and in such case the Con­ 
tractors shall be entitled to stop work under this contract and to 
receive payment in full for all work then done and performed by 
them notwithstanding any provision herein contained as to reten­ 
tion of moneys until completion of this contract, and shall also be 
entitled to retain possession of the works notwithstanding such 

20 stoppage until the necessary moneys are provided by the Company 
so as to permit the Contractors to proceed with the performance 
of the remainder of the work to be carried out by them hereunder, 
and the time limit within which all the works shall be completed 
shall be deemed to be extended by the period of time during which 
the works shall be stopped by reason of said default.

Defendant's
Exhibit
No. 46
Contract
Plaintiff to
Northern
Construction
Co.
July 25th,
1923

(Contd.)

13. In the event of the Legislature of British Columbia at 
its next session not authorizing a grant to the company in aid of 
the said works of the sum of One Hundred Thousand Dollars 

30 ($100,000.00) and in the event of the company not providing the 
sum of One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00) in lieu 
thereof and depositing the same with the trustee for the purposes 
of this contract at or before the termination of the said session of 
the said Legislature then there shall be a substitution of wooden 
trestles in lieu of the 150 feet of steel span south of the bascule.

14. It is understood and agreed that the Engineer of the 
Company as mentioned herein and in the conditions attached 
hereto shall mean A. D. Swan, and that in the event of his death 
or becoming incapacitated in any manner, it shall mean E. H. 

40 James, his present assistant, and in the event of his having ceased 
to be the assistant of the said Swan at the time of the death or 
incapacity of the said Swan or in the event of the death of the said 
James or his becoming incapacitated in any manner, it shall mean 
any other engineer who shall be agreed upon by the parties hereto
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16. This agreement shall not come into force until and unless 
the conditions precedent as set out in the schedule hereto shall 
have been fulfilled on or before the thirty first day of December 
1923, and shall be subject to such fulfilment, but the Company 
hereby covenants that it will do all acts and things in its power, 
and will use its utmost endeavours to obtain the approvals set out 
in the condition numbered One in the said schedule, and will l° 
promptly comply with all the reasonable requirements of Mr. E. 
G. Long, K.C., in respect of condition numbered two in the said 
schedule, and upon the approvals under the first two of the con­ 
ditions in the said schedule being obtained, will forthwith make 
the deposit of the bonds with the Trustee under condition num­ 
bered three in the said schedule, whereupon this agreement shall 
come into force and the Engineer shall give the notice to begin 
the works mentioned in the conditions hereto annexed.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the corporate seals of The Bur- 
rard Inlet Tunnel and Bridge Company and Northern Construe- ^o 
tion Company Limited have been hereunto affixed and J. W. Stew- 
art has hereunto set his hand and seal the day and year first above 
written.

The corporate seal of The Burrard 
Inlet Tunnel and Bridge Company 
was affixed in the presence of

President 
Vice-President

Secretary \

The corporate seal of Northern 
Construction Company Limited 
was affixed in the presence of 30
Signed, sealed and delivered by J. 
W. Stewart in the presence of
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CONDITIONS PRECEDENT REFERRED TO IN _ , . .Defendant sANNEXED AGREEMENT. Exhibit
No. 46 

—————— Contract
Plaintiff to

1. Under Railway Act. 1919: NorthernJ Construction
Section 166 etc. Approval of general location. Co.

July 25th,Section 168 etc. Sanction and deposit of plan profile and 1923
book of reference. (Contd.)

10 Section 248 Obstruction of navigable waters.
Section 249 (a) Approval of Bridge over Narrows.

(b) Approval of Bridge over Lynn Creek.
2. Mr. E. G. Long, K.C., of Toronto, to approve validity of fol­ 

lowing bonds:
$220,222 City of North Vancouver Bonds.
$251,000 District of North Vancouver Bonds.
$630,000 Guaranteed Bridge Bonds.

3. Foregoing bonds to be deposited with the trustee with the in­ 
structions mentioned in the principal Agreement and in this 

20 Agreement.

(Balance of this exhibit not relevant to this Appeal).
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EXHIBIT No. 4 

ORDER No. 33950.

THE BOARD OF RAILWAY COMMISSIONERS FOR
CANADA

MONDAY, THE 30th DAY OF 
JULY, A.D. 1923.

S. J. McLEAN, 
Asst. Chief Commissioner.

A. C. BOYCE, K. C., 
Commissioner.

IN THE MATTER OF the 
application of the Burrard In­ 
let Tunnel and Bridge Com­ 
pany of Vancouver, in the 
Province of British Columbia, 
hereinafter called the "Appli- 10 
cant Company," under Section 
168 of the Railway Act, 1919, 
for approval of plan, pro­ 
file and hook of reference 
dated June 22, 1923, showing 
proposed Second Narrows 
Bridge at Vancouver, File No. 
15732.4—

UPON hearing the application at the sittings of the Board 
held in Vancouver in the Province of British Columbia on the 21 
29th day of June, 1923, in the presence of counsel for the Applicant 
Company and the Canadian Pacific Railway Company; the evid­ 
ence offered and what was alleged, and upon the report and re­ 
commendation of its Chief Engineer.

THE BOARD ORDERS that the said plan, profile and book 
of reference dated June 22,1923, showing proposed location across 
Second Narrows at Vancouver, Sta. 10-5 to 71-12.2, be, and they 
are hereby, approved; Provided: that this Order is without pre­ 
judice to any application the Canadian Pacific Railway Company 
may make in the matter of its connection with the tracks of the 30 
Applicant Company.

(S'G'D.) S. J. McLEAN,
Assistant Chief Commissioner, 

Board of Railway Commissioners for Canada.
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EXHIBIT No. 5

ORDER No. 33962.

THE BOARD OF RAILWAY COMMISSIONERS FOR
CANADA

TUESDAY, the 31st day of 
JULY, A.D. 1923.

10 S. J. McLEAN,
Asst. Chief Commissioner.

A. C. BOYCE, K.C., 
Commissioner.

IN THE MATTER of the
application of the Burrard In­ 
let Tunnel and Bridge Com­ 
pany of Vancouver, in the 
Province of British Columbia, 
hereinafter called the "Appli- 

< cant Company," under Section 
248 of the Railway Act, 1919, 
for approval of the proposed 
bridge across Second Narrows 
at Vancouver, as shown on plan 
on file with the Board under 
file No. 15732.4,—

RECORD
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Plaintiff's 
Exhibit 
No. 5 
Order of 
Railway 
Commissioners 
No. 33962 
July 31st, 
1923

UPON reading the Order-in-Council, P. C. 718, dated April 
25,1923, approving the said plan, and upon the report and recom- 

2Q mendation of its Chief Engineer,—

THE BOARD ORDERS that the Applicant Company be, and 
it is hereby, authorized to construct the proposed bridge at Sec­ 
ond Narrows at the City of Vancouver in the Province of British 
Columbia as shown on said plan on file with the Board under file 
No. 15732.4; detail plans of the sub-structure and super-structure 
of said proposed bridge to be filed for the approval of an engineer 
of the Board.

(S'G-'D.) S. J. McLEAN,
Assistant Chief Commissioner, 

30 Board of Railway Commissioiners for Canada.
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EXHIBIT No. 35

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT made the fifth day of 
'March nineteen hundred and twenty-four
BETWEEN:

BURRARD INLET TUNNEL AND BRIDGE COMPANY
hereinafter called "the Company,"

of the one part; 
AND

NORTHERN CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, LIMITED,
and J. W. STEWART, 10 

hereinafter called the "Contractors,"
of the other part;

SUPPLEMENTAL to an Agreement dated 26th September, 1922 
(hereinafter referred to as "the Principal Agreement"), to an 
Agreement dated 1st February, 1923, (hereinafter referred to as 
"Supplemental Agreement No. 1"), and to Articles of Agreement 
dated 25th July, 1923, (hereinafter referred to as "the Contract"), 
between the parties hereto:

WHEREAS by the above-mentioned agreements the Contractors 
have agreed to construct across the Second Narrows of Burrard 2o 
Inlet a bridge which shall be of standard railway construction of 
the type known as "Cooper's E-50 Loading" plus one hundred 
pounds (100 Ibs.) per square foot for roadway allowance and 
floor system capable of carrying a ten ton truck upon the terms set 
out in the said agreements:

AND WHEREAS it has been arranged that the said roadway 
allowance and floor system shall be so constructed as to be capable 
of carrying a fifteen ton truck gross loading and that the sidewalk 
shall be constructed as hereinafter defined:
AND WHEREAS at the 1923 Session of the Legislature of 
British Columbia an Act was passed authorizing the Lieutenant- 
Governor-in-Council to make a grant in aid of the said bridge, up 
to an amount not exceeding $120,000, which includes the $100,000 
mentioned in Paragraphs 4 (c) and 13 of the Contract:

AND WHEREAS it has been agreed that $18,306.00 of the remain­ 
ing $20,000 of said grant in aid shall be earmarked for and applied 
in payment of the extra works hereinafter mentioned:

30
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NOW THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH that the parties *BO>RD 
hereto mutually agree in manner following: British Columbia

Admiralty Dist.
1. The roadway allowance and floor system of the bridge as Defendant's
described in the Principal Agreement in paragraph No. 1 Exhibit
thereof and in the Contract in Paragraph No. 2 thereof and No. 35 
in the general description and specifications thereof, shall be
so constructed over the whole length of the bridge as to be pntiff and
capable of carrying a fifteen ton truck gross loading instead Northern
of a ten ton truck gross loading and the said agreements and Construction

10 all plans thereunder shall be amended accordingly wherever Co- , ,npcpsaarv March 5th> necessary. 1924
2. From a point at the south end of the crossing over the (Comd.) 
Canadian Pacific Railway to the North end of the trestle 
work on the North Shore, the Contractors will construct a 
sidewalk of a width of three feet six inches (3' 6") to the 
specifications and to the satisfaction of the Engineer of the 
Company.
3. The contract price shall be and is hereby increased to one 
million four hundred and sixty-eight thousand three hundred 

20 and six dollars ($1,468,306.00).
4. The Company covenants and agrees with the Contractors 
to pay to the Trustee for the purposes of the Contract and this 
Supplemental Agreement, the sum of $118,306. from the here­ 
inbefore mentioned grant from the Province of British Co­ 
lumbia, as and when the same shall be received, and further 
covenants and agrees with the Contractors that the said 
moneys, or failing them or any portion thereof, other moneys 
to be provided by the Company to the extent of the deficiency, 
shall be paid to the Trustee in time so that no delay in pay- 

30 ment under the Contract or this Supplemental Agreement 
shall occur. The provisions contained in Paragraph 11 of the 
Contract as to the rights of the Contractors in the event of 
default in payment of the moneys arising from the subsidy 
from the Parliament of Canada, mentioned in the said para­ 
graph, or in the payment of moneys in substitution thereof, 
shall apply to the said sum of $118,306.00 to the same extent 
and with the same effect as if the said provisions had been 
included in this paragraph.
5. The Principal Agreement, Supplemental Agreement No. 

40 1 and the Contract shall remain in full force and effect save 
as hereby amended or varied.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the corporate seals of the Bur- 
rard Inlet Tunnel and Bridge Company and Northern Construc­ 
tion Company Limited, have been hereunto affixed, and J. W. 
Stewart has hereunto set his hand and seal the day and year first 
above written.

The corporate seal of the Burrard 
Inlet Tunnel and Bridge Com­ 
pany was affixed in the presence 
of:

President.
Secretary.

The Corporate seal of the North­ 
ern Construction Company, Lim­ 
ited was affixed in the presence 
of:

10
(SEAL OF NOETHEEN) 
( CONSTEUCTION CO. )

"A. E. Mann"
President

Signed, sealed and delivered by 
J. W. Stewart in the presence of: 

"Nan Dwyer"

"J. W. Stewart" 
By his attorney.

"D. McLeod"

Plaintiff's 
Exhibit 
No. 6 
Grant from 
Crown to 
Plaintiff 
May 9th, 
1924

EXHIBIT No. 6

James F. Crowdy, 
Deputy Governor. 
(L.S.)

CANADA

GEOEGE THE FIFTH, by the Grace of God, of the United 
Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland and of the British Domin­ 
ions beyond the Seas, KING, Defender of the Faith, Emperor of 
India.

TO ALL TO WHOM THESE PRESENTS SHALL COME, 30
GEEETINGS:—

WHEEEAS the lands hereinafter described form part of a 
public harbour vested in His Majesty as represented by the Gov­ 
ernment of Canada.

AND WHEEEAS the said lands are not required for public 
purposes, and under and by virtue of the statutes in that behalf
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and pursuant to authority duly granted by Our Governor in Coun­ 
cil, the said lands or the interest therein which is or may be vested 
in Us for the uses of the Dominion of Canada, have been sold to 
the Burrard Inlet Tunnel and Bridge Company of the City of 
Vancouver in the Province of British Columbia hereinafter called 
the grantee, in exchange for certain other lands which have been 
duly conveyed to Us by the grantee;

NOW KNOW YE that We do by these presents grant, bar­ 
gain and quit-claim unto the grantee, its successors and assigns, 

10 all the right, title, interest, claim, property, estate, and demand 
both at law and in equity, and as well in possession as in expect­ 
ancy, which We or Our Successors have, or may have, for the use 
of or in the right of Our Dominion of Canada, of, in, and to all 
and singular those certain parcels or tracts of land, covered with 
water, situate, lying and being in the bed of the Public Harbour 
of Vancouver, at the Second Narrows of Burrard Inlet, Province 
of British Columbia, which may be more particularly described as 
follows, that is to say:

(Description of Parcels omitted)

20 * * * * as shown outlined in red on plan attached hereto; saving, ex­ 
cepting and reserving unto Us and Our Successors the free uses, 
passage and enjoyment of, in, over and above all navigable waters 
that shall or may be found on, or under, or be flowing through or 
upon any part of the lands hereby granted or intended so to be.

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the said lands unto the grantee, 
its successors and assigns forever.

PROVIDED that nothing in these presents shall be held to 
absolve the grantee, its successors and assigns, or any of them, 
from fulfilling in all respects the requirements of Part I of the 

30 Navigable Waters' Protection Act, Chapter 115, Revised Statutes, 
1906; and it is an express condition of this grant that no "work" 
within the meaning of said Part I shall be undertaken or con­ 
structed on the said lands by the grantee, its successors or assigns, 
or any of them, or shall be suffered or allowed by them or any of 
them, to be constructed thereon until as regards such work the 
provisions of said Part I shall have been fully complied with.

AND PROVIDED FURTHER, and it is hereby declared, 
and this grant is accepted by the grantee upon the express condi­ 
tion and understanding that these presents are issued for the pur- 

4() pose of passing to the grantee only such estate, title and interest 
in and to the said lands as We in light of Our Government of 
Canada have power to convey; and that the grantee, its successors
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(Contd.)
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or assigns shall have no recourse against Us or Our Successors or 
against Our Government of Canada should Our title to the said 
lands be found to have been defective, or should these presents 
be found ineffectual to pass such title.

PROVIDED ALWAYS and it is a condition of the grant 
hereby made that the grantee, its successors or assigns, shall con­ 
struct on the said lands a railway and Traffic Bridge to the satis­ 
faction of the Minister of Marine and Fisheries, within five years 
from the date hereof, and that should there be default on the 
part of the grantee, its successors and assigns in so constructing 10 
such work within the said period or if the grantee, its successors 
and assigns shall at any time hereafter fail to maintain the said 
work these presents and everything therein contained shall there­ 
upon become and be absolutely null and void to all intents and 
purposes whatsoever and the said lands hereby granted shall revert 
to Us or Our Successors and We or they may re-enter upon the 
said lands and the same have again repossess and enjoy as of Our 
former estate therein.

Given under the Great Seal of Canada—Witness: James 
Fuidge Crowdy, Esquire, B.A., M.V.O., Deputy of Our Eight 2-1 
Trusty and Well-beloved Julian Hedworth George Baron BYNG 
OF VIMY, General on the Retired List and in the Reserve of 
Officers of Our Army, Knight Grand Cross of Our Most Honour­ 
able Order of the Bath, Knight Grand Cross of Our Most Dis­ 
tinguished Order of Saint Michael and Saint George, Member of 
Our Royal Victorian Order, Governor General and Commander- 
in-Chief of Our Dominion of Canada.

At Ottawa, this ninth day of May, in the year of Our Lord 
One thousand Nine hundred and twenty-four, and in the fifteenth 30 
year of Our Reign.

BY COMMAND.

Thomas Mulvey, 
Under-Secretary of State.

E. L. Newcombe, 
Deputy Minister 
of Justice 
CANADA.

A. Johnston,
Deputy Minister of Marine 

and Fisheries.

40
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EXHIBIT No. 23
British Columbi* 

DOMINION OF CANADA Admiralty Put.

Plaintiff's
NOTICE TO MARINERS Exhibit

No. 23
—————— Notice to 

No. 76 of 1925 Mariners 
______ No. 76

1925
(Pacific No. 19) 

BRITISH COLUMBIA

(203) Burrard inlet—Vancouver harbour—Second Narrows— 
10 New Bridge built.

A new bridge with a bascule span has been built across Sec­ 
ond narrows, Vancouver harbour.

Latitude N. 49° 17' 40", Longitude W. 123° 01' 25".
The width of the channel through the bridge is 150 feet, the 

height between high water mark and bottom of span when the 
bridge is closed to navigation is 22 feet.

The following regulations govern the operation of this 
bridge:—

1. EQUIPMENT
20 The following equipment shall be installed and maintained on 

the bridge.
(a) At the east end and the west end of Pier 2, and at the east 

end and the west end of Pier 4a:
One gauge with clear painted figures showing in feet 

distance between water level and the lowest chord of the steel 
span.

(b) At the east end and the west end of each pier:
A white light so arranged as to make the outline of the 

end of the pier clearly visible at night, and so shaded as to 
30 prevent direct rays of the light from shining outwards from 

the pier.
(c) At each side of, and in the center of the lowest chord of each 

steep span:
A red light having a visibility of not less than two miles.

(d) On the east side and the west side of the bascule tower:
A red light and a green light having a spread of not less 

than 15 degrees and a colour visibility of not less than two 
miles in bright daylight.
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Note- 
All street and other lights to be installed on the bridge, or 

plans and specifications thereof, shall be submitted to the 
Harbour Master for approval.

2. SIGNALS—
(a) By Vessels—

Bascule required to be opened—
Three prolonged blasts on whistle. Bepeat until answer­ 

ed.
(b) By Operator on Bridge— 10

Signal heard and vessel seen—
Red daylight signal lamp in bascule tower. 

Bascule is opening—
Daytime, visible; Night time, arc described by red lamp 

on centre of lowest chord as span opens.
Bascule fully open—

Daytime, visible; Night time, red light on centre of low­ 
est chord extinguished automatically. 
All clear for passage—

Red signal light in bascule tower extinguished and re- %o 
placed by green signal light.
Warning not to approach bridge—

Series of long flashes on red signal lamp continued until 
operator is certain that signal has been received and is under­ 
stood.

Vessel to acknowledge this signal by a short blast of 
whistle.

Note—
This signal will be used in the event of the bascule becoming 

unworkable or there being an obstruction in the way of the vessel 30 
desiring to pass.
Obstruction Removed—

Series of short flashes on green signal lamp.
Note—

This signal will be used in the event of vessel still waiting to 
approach after anchored or otherwise having ceased to approach 
in response to the warning not to approach bridge. On receiving 
this signal the vessel desiring to pass will give three long blasts 
of whistle and follow the procedure as heretofore laid down.
Warning— . 

There will be no sound signals at any time.
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3 TRAFFIC REGULATIONS— IKOKD
(1) Vessels proceeding with the tide shall have the right ocf way

but no vessels shall pass through the opened span until signal- _,, . . _,i j i j Plaintiff sled to do so. Exhibit
(2) Vessels are cautioned against attempting the passage of the No. 23 

bridge when the visibility is less than one cable. Notice to
Manners

(3) Vessels towing logs, scows, etc., are warned that it is danger- NO. 76 
ous to attempt the passage of the bridge when proceeding with 1925 
a tide having a velocity exceeding the speed at which the ves- (Contd.) 

10 sel or vessels and the tow can travel in still water.
(4) No boom of logs or other tow shall be towed either under or 

through the bridge unless under complete control of the vessel 
or vessels in charge.

(5) Vessels which can be equipped with lower able stacks and masts 
shall not signal for the span to be opened.

(6) Vessels able to pass under the bridge when towing logs, scows, 
or other vessels must keep to the northward of the movable 
span. Other vessels must comply in the strictest terms with 
Rule No. 25 of the International Rules of the Road.

20 A. JOHNSTON,
Deputy Minister.

EXHIBIT No. 39 Defendant's
Exhibit

DOMINION OF CANADA NO. 39
Notice to

NOTICE TO MARINERS Mariners 
——————— No. 80

No. 80 of 1925 1925

(Pacific No. 20) 
BRITISH COLUMBIA

30 (214) Burrard inlet—Vancouver harbour—Second narrows
bridge—Time of slack water

The following results giving the tune of slack water at Sec­ 
ond narrows bridge have been obtained by the Tidal and Current 
Survey Branch of this Department, from observations made dur­ 
ing 1925.
High Water Slack.—The time of High Water slack for naviga­ 

tion purposes is practically simultaneous with the time 
of High Water in Vancouver harbour, as given in the 
Tide Tables.
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RECORD LOW "Water Slack. — The time of Low Water slack may be found
British Columbia by adding 13 minutes to the time of Low Water in Van-
Admirdty^Dist. couver harbour as given in the Tide Tables.
Defendant's Duration of Slack Water. — The duration of Slack Water at both
Exhibit High and Low water is brief and is 10 minutes on the^°-. 39 average.
MarinerT Seymour Creek. — When Seymour creek is in freshet this water
NO. so extends across the Narrows towards the south shore.
1925 Care should be taken when navigating this point during

(Contd.) the freshet season. 10
(Rest of Exhibit not relevant to this appeal)

Defendant's EXHIBIT No. 51
Exhibit
No- 5i North Vancouver, B. C.
H"? ja.es to Jan. 14th, 1925.
?laintiff SECOND NAEROWS BRIDGE,

MONTHLY REPORT NO. 16.
P. Ward, Esq.,

Secretary,
Burrard Inlet Tunnel & Bridge Co.

Fairfield Building, 20
VANCOUVER, B.C. 

Dear Sir:
I beg to report that the struts conecting Piers No.'s 3 and 4 

have been concreted and Pier No. 3 has been completed to grade 
and the grillages for the steel tower span set in position.

Rapid progress is being made with the building of the shaft of 
Pier No. 2 and it is expected to complete this Pier by the end of 
January.

One of the two cylinders for Pier No. 4A has been sunk and 
the other is in process of sinking. 30

The gravel hearting for the Rock and gravel fill on the South 
shore is making satisfactory progress and also the grading work 
for the South roadway approach.

The Dominion Bridge Co. have started operations in prepara­ 
tion for the erection of the steel spans and it is intended to start 
assembly on Feb. 5th, according to their schedule. Every effort 
is being made to push this work ahead. The first span to be 
erected will be the 150' span between Piers 4A and 5.

Yours truly,
E. A. James, 40 

Resident Engineer.
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EXHIBIT No. 45 IKXXD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Ditt.

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT made this Twentieth day
of February, nineteen hundred and twenty-five
BETWEEN: ^0.45 ,

Supplemental
BURRARD INLET TUNNEL AND BRIDGE COMPANY, Contract 

hereinafter called "the Company," Northern10
Of the One part, Co°nstmaion

AND Co.
NORTHERN CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, LIMITED, 

10 and J. W. STEW ART,
hereinafter called the "Contractors,"

of the other part:
SUPPLEMENTAL to an agreement dated 26th September 1922, 
(hereinafter referred to as "the Principal Agreement"), to an 
agreement dated 1st. February, 1923 (hereinafter referred to as 
"Supplemental Agreement No. 1"), and to Articles of Agreement 
dated 25th July 1923, (hereinafter referred to as "the Contract"), 
and to an agreement dated the 5th day of March, 1924, (herein­ 
after referred to as "Supplemental Agreement No. 2"), between 

20 the parties hereto:
WHEREAS by the above mentioned agreements the Con­ 

tractors have agreed to construct a bridge across the second Nar­ 
rows of Burrard Inlet and approaches, upon the terms set out in 
the said agreements, the said bridge and approaches now being in 
process of construction:

AND WHEREAS the Company has entered into an agree­ 
ment with the Vancouver Harbour Commissioners whereunder 
the said Commissioners have agreed to provide the moneys for 
the raising of the height of the said bridge an additional five (5) 

30 feet, the said moneys to be advanced upon progress certificates of 
the Engineer of the Company.

AND WHEREAS the Contractors have agreed to raise the 
height of the said bridge and approaches as now being constructed 
an additional five feet (5) feet as an extra for the price and upon 
the terms hereinafter set out:

AND WHEREAS the Government of Canada has agreed to 
provide by subsidy estimates at present before Parliament the 
additional moneys required for the substitution of two (2) one 
hundred and fifty (150) foot steel spans for the timber trestle 

40 immediately north of the three hundred (300) foot steel span as 
shewn in the present plans and specifications of the said bridge:



824

Defendant's
Exhibit
No. 45
Supplemental
Contract
Plaintiff to
Northern
Construction
Co.
Feb. 20th,
1925

RECORD AND WHEREAS the Contractors have agreed to make such British~c7iumbia substitution as an extra for the price and upon the terms herein-Admiraity Diit. af ter Set OUt:

NOW THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH that the par­ 
ties hereto mutually agree in manner following:

1. The Contractors shall raise the height of the said bridge and approaches an additional five (5) feet over the height of the said bridge and approaches now being constructed, such work to be executed in conf ormance with the plans thereof settled and executed by the parties hereto and with such 10 specifications as the engineer of the company may require, for the price of eighty-six thousand four hundred and five dollars (f 86,405.00) additional to the contract price as shewn by the said agreements, and the said agreements and all plans and specifications thereunder shall be amended accordingly wherever necessary.
2. The Contractors shall substitute two (2) one hundred and fifty (150) foot steel spans immediately north of the pres­ ent three hundred (300) foot steel span, for timber trestle at present in place, such work to be executed in conformance 20 with the plans thereof settled and executed by the parties hereto and with such specifications as the engineer of the com­ pany may require, for the price of one hundred and sixty- three thousand four hundred dollars ($163,400.00) additional to the contract price as shewn by the said agreements, and in addition, and as part of the said price, the Contractors shall be entitled to as much of the timber forming part of the said timber trestle as will be rendered unnecessary by reason of such substitution, and the agreements, and all plans and speci­ fications thereunder, shall be amended accordingly wherever 30 necessary.
3. The contract price shall be and is hereby increased to one million seven hundred and eighteen thousand one hundred and eleven dollars ($1,718,111.00).
4. The Company shall pay to the Trustee for the pur­ poses of the said agreements and this supplemental agreement the sum of eighty-six thousand four hundred and five dollars ($86,405.00) as and when the same shall be received from the Vancouver Harbour Commissioners, and the sum of one hun­ dred and b^xty-three thousand four hundred dollars ($163,- 40 400.00) as Mid when the same shall be received from the Gov­ ernment of Canada, and further covenants and agrees with the Contractors that the said moneys, or, failing them or any portion thert of, other moneys to be provided by the Company
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to the extent of the deficiency shall be paid to the Trustee in RECORD 
time so that ^o delay in payment under the said agreements British Columbia 
or this supplemental agreement shall occur. The provisions Admiralty Dis<- 
contained in Paragraph 11 of the Contract as to the rights , 
of the Contractors in the event of default in payment of the E^ ît ant s 
moneys arising from the subsidy from the Parliament of NO. 45 
Canada or in the payment of moneys in substitution thereof, Supplemental 
shall apply to t'he said sums of eighty-six thousand four hun- Contract 
dred and five d, liars ($86,405.00) and one hundred and sixty- 

10 three thousand four hundred dollars ($163,400.00) to the
same extent and with the same effect as if the said provisions Co. 
had been included in this paragraph. Feb. 20th,

1925
5. The tinu limit within which the construction of the (Comd.) 

said bridge and approaches shall be completed shall be and the 
same is hereby extended so that the said bridge and ap­ 
proaches shall be completely constructed on or before the 31st 
day of October 1925, provided that the Company shall notify 
the Contractors in writing on or before the 31st day of March, 
1925, to proceed with the construction of the bridge across 

20 Lynn Creek forming part of the northern approach to the 
said bridge, either in accordance with the present plans 
thereof or with any amended plans mutually agreed upon by 
the parties hereto.

6. The Principal Agreement, Supplemental agreement 
No. 1, the Contract and Supplemental agreement No. 2 shall 
remain in full force and effect save as hereby amended or 
varied.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the corporate seals of the Bur- 
rard Inlet Tunnel and Bridge Company and Northern Construc- 

30 tion Company Limited, have been hereunto affixed, and J. W. 
Stewart has hereunto set his hand and seal the day and year first 
above written.

The corporate seal of the Burrard 
Inlet Tunnel & Bridge Company 
was affixed in the presence of:

The Corporate seal of the Northern 
Construction Company Limited, 
was affixed in the presence of

Signed, sealed and delivered by 
40 J. W. Stewart in the presence of

1
} 
!
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British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiff's 
Exhibit 
No. 30 
Order of 
Railway 
Commissioners 
No 36317 
March 6th, 
1925

EXHIBIT No. 30

RL. ORDER No. 36137.

10

THE BOARD OF RAILWAY COMMISSIONERS FOR
CANADA.

IN THE MATTER OF the 
application of the Burrard In­ 
let Tunnel & Bridge Company, 
hereinafter called the "Appli­ 
cant Company," under section 
251 of the Railway Act, 1919, 
for approval of Plans Nos. 
V-147, V-148, and V-149 show­ 
ing proposed changes in the 
bridge over the Second Nar­ 
rows, Burrard Inlet, involving 
the construction of two addi­ 
tional spans on the north end 
of the bridge and the raising 
of the bridge five feet,—the 
said plans being on file with the 20 
Board under file No. 15732.4:

FRIDAY, THE 6th DAY OF 
MARCH, A.D. 1925.
S. J. McLEAN, 

Asst. Chief Commissioner.
A. C. BOYCE, K.C.,

Commissioner.
HON. FRANK OLIVER,

Commissioner.

UPON the report and recommendation of its Chief Engin­ eer—

THE BOARD ORDERS that the proposed changes in the Applicant Company's bridge over the Second Narrows, Burrard Inlet, in the Province of British Columbia, as shown on the said plans on file with the Board under file No. 15732.4, be, and they are hereby, approved.

(S'GTX) S. J. McLean,
Assistant Chief Commissioner, so Board of Railway Commissioners for Canada.
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EXHIBIT No. 52 RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.North Vancouver, B. C., ^ , -— ,Defendant s

March 19th, 1925. Exhibit
No. 52

SECOND NAEEOWS BRIDGE. fi James to 
MONTHLY REPORT No. 18. ?Jain»ff n .March 19th, 

1925P. Ward, Esq., 
Secretary,

Burrard Inlet Tunnel & Bridge Co.,
Fairfield Building, 

10 VANCOUVER, B.C.

Dear Sir: —

I beg to report that all the original Pier work is now com­ 
plete with the exception of the upper diagonal struts between 
Piers 4 and 4A which are held back on account of the raising of 
the Bridge.

The work of raising is now well in hand. The two additional 
cylinders for Pier 1 are now sunk and the work of setting the steel 
and filling these cylinders is in progress. The pedestals have been 
poured on Piers 3, 4, 4A and 5 and the forms are in place for the 

20 lower diagonal struts between Piers 4 and 4A which will be poured 
in a few days. The trestle approach at the South end has been 
completed to Pier 5 and the. track is now laid as far as Pier 4.

The 150' span between Piers 4A and 5 was floated into place 
on the 6th inst. The 300' span is now completely erected and the 
riveting in progress. A start is being made with the erection of 
the bascule tower span and the 30' span between Piers 4 and 4A is 
in place, being supported on a temporary bent on Pier 4.

Work has been started on the raising of the gravel embank­ 
ment on the North side and the dismantling of the trestle super- 

30 structure has been commenced.

Yours truly,
E. A. James, 

Resident Engineer.
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EXHIBIT No. 26
British Columbia 
Admiralty Dijt.
m . — IH/2. P. C. 1310.Plaintiffs
Exhibit CERTIFIED TO BE A TEUE COPY OF A MINUTE OF
g°de;6in A MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE PRIVY
Coundf COUNCIL, APPROVED BY THE DEPUTY OF HIS
No. 1310 EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR GENERAL ON THE
f9u2g5 2°' 20th AUGUST, 1925.

The Committee of the Privy Council have had before them a 
Report, dated 5th August, 1925, from the Minister of Marine and 
Fisheries, submitting that he has had under consideration an IQ 
application of the Corporation of the Vancouver Harbour Com­ 
missioners, for approval under the provisions of their Act of In­ 
corporation of plans, specifications and estimates, as follows :
SECOND NARROWS BRIDGE, (MARINE No. V-74/25) 

For the necessary labour and material to raise 
all spans five feet, also the Lynn Creek approach, 
Estimated cost ............................................................$100,000

The Supervisor of Harbour Commissions reports he has con­ 
sidered the report of the Board of Consulting Engineers called to 
consider the best means of altering the bridge so as to lessen the 
rapidity of the current of the waters of the harbour which pass 20 
under the bridge, also the technical description of the work neces­ 
sary with the estimate ofjts cost ; that the Corporation have enter­ 
ed into an agreement with the bridge company by which they shall 
have the right to control traffic over the bridge both railway, 
vehicular and passenger, and to route their terminal railway 
thereover ; and in consideration of this agreement they have agreed 
to bear the cost of the raising of the bridge.

This officer considers the proposal a satisfactory one and that 
the expenditure may be approved as for work authorized in the 
terms of the legislation providing for advances on loan to the 30 
Corporation for the construction of harbour improvements, and 
he recommends approval of the plans and of the carrying out of 
the work under them; and also of the appropriation, out of any 
balance remaining of the total amount authorized for an advance 
on loan to the Corporation by the legislation referred to, of the 
estimated cost of this work, amounting to $100,000, providing the 
cost of the completed work amounts to this sum. If not, any bal­ 
ance remaining under the total hereby to be approved, to be auto­ 
matically returned to the balance available for further appropria­ 
tions ; and in these recommendations the Deputy Minister of Mar- 40 
ine and Fisheries concurs.
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The Minister, therefore, recommends approval of the plans 
and of the estimate of $100,000, for the work of raising the spans 
and approach of the Second Narrows bridge in the harbour of 
Vancouver, B. C., on the terms and conditions above set out.

The Committee concur in the foregoing recommendation and 
submit the same for approval

E. J. Lemaine, 
Clerk of the Privy Council.

SECOND NARROWS BRIDGE.
10 DESCRIPTIVE SPECIFICATION OP RAISING

BRIDGE 5' 0".
The general specification covering the construction of the Bridge 
will apply to the work of raising and to the additional spans and 
piers.

The raising of the Bridge by 5' 0" will be carried out as 
follows:—

The gravel embankment forming part of the North approach 
will be raised and the original grade of six tenths per cent, retained. 
As the two additional spans are being held to a level grade this 

20 involves raising the embankment an amount of 6.8 ft. at the outer 
end, the six tenths grade being retained until it joins the level part 
of the fill. The length of embankment affected being about 2,200 
ft., the additional amount of gravel required is approximately 
21,000 c. yds.

The existing framed trestle superstructure on the North side 
will be dismantled and rebuilt with new posts of 6.8 ft. greater 
length. All timber other than the posts being used again. The 
girts connecting the substructure pile bents will be lifted and 
moved to accommodate the wider bases of the framed bents.

30 Two additional piers in accordance with the accompanying 
drawings will be constructed between the South end of the trestle 
and the existing Pier No. 1. These piers are numbered 0 and 00 
and two 150' 0 steel spans will be provided similar in design to 
the 150' 0" span at the South of the Bascule span, these spans being 
set at a level grade. The foundations of the two new piers will be 
carried to a depth sufficient to permit of dredging beneath the spans 
to a depth of 35' below low water, the top of the dredge cut at its 
Northern edge to pass through the centre of Pier 00 and to slope 
downwards to the South at the natural slope of the gravel.

40 The existing Pier No. 1 will be strengthened by the addition 
of two additional cylinders heavily reinforced and will be raised

RECORD
British Columbia 
Admiralty Disl.

Plaintiff's 
Exhibit 
No. 26 
Order-in- 
Council 
No. 1310 
Aug. 20, 
1925

(Contd.)
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RECORD

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiff's 
Exhibit 
No. 26 
Order-in- 
Council 
No. 1310 
Aug. 20, 
1925

(Contd.)

5' by means of concrete pedestals of a size as shown on the draw­ 
ings, the bridge shoes being mounted on these pedestals. The 
foundation bolts will be lengthened to carry them up through the 
pedestals.

Piers No's. 2, 3, 4, 4A and 5 will be raised by means of con­ 
crete pedestals as in the case of Pier No. 1, the foundation bolts 
being lengthened in the same way. Additional horizontal diagonal 
bracing composed of 24" I beams encased in concrete will be placed 
between Piers 4 and 4A for the purpose of strengthening Pier 
No. 4A. 10

The trestle work on the South side will be raised an amount 
of 5' 0" at its junction with the steel work, this raising running 
into the original grade at the overhead crossing of the C. P. B. in 
the case of the highway trestle and at the junction with other tracks 
at C. P. R. grade in the case of the railway.

As instructions could not be given to the Dominion Bridge Co. 
with reference to the raising before they had completed their 
temporary work there is a sum of $4,000.00 required to reimburse 
them for reconstruction which has to be included in the cost of 
the raising. 20

Details of cost of the raising are attached hereto.
If the two additional spans were set on the same grade as the 

trestle work which they replace as was contemplated in the esti­ 
mate presented by the Committee of Enquiry the embankment at 
the North end would only be required to be raised 5' 0" involving 
only an additional 13,000 c. yds. of gravel or a reduction of 8,000 
c. yds., with corresponding reduction in cost.

E. A. JAMES, 
RESIDENT ENGINEER.
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EXHIBIT No. 31
RL. ORDER No. 36996.

RECORD

British Columhia 
Admiralty Dist.

10 SATURDAY, the 31st day 
of October, A.D. 1925.

HON. H. A. McKEOWN, K.C.,
Chief Commissioner.

S. J. McLEAN, 
Asst. Chief Commissioner.

20 A. C. BOYCE, K.C., 
Commissioner.

THE BOARD OF RAILWAY COMMISSIONERS FOR
CANADA.

IN THE MATTER OF the
/ application of the Burrard In­ 

let Tunnel & Bridge Company, 
hereinafter called the "Appli­ 
cant Company," under Sec­ 
tions 251 and 276 of the Rail­ 
way Act, 1919, for authority to 
use and operate the bridge over 
the Second Narrows of Bur­ 
rard Inlet, in North Vancou­ 
ver, British Columbia; and to 
Open for the carriage of traf­ 
fic that portion of its line of 
railway from its temporary 
connection with the siding of 
the Canadian Pacific Railway 
Company on the South shore 
of Burrard Inlet, Station—1- 
50 to Station 20-50 on the north 
shore of Burrard Inlet, a dist­ 
ance of 2200 feet: File No. 
15732.4.

UPON the report and recommendation of its Chief Engineer, and the filing of the necessary affidavit—
THE BOARD ORDERS that the Applicant Company be, and 3u it is hereby, authorized—
(a) to use and operate the said bridge over the Second Nar­ rows of Burrard Inlet, in the Province of British Columbia; and
(b) to open for the carriage of traffic that portion of its line of railway froni its temporary connection with the siding of the Canadian Pacific Railway Company on the south shore of Bur­ 

rard Inlet, Station 1-50, to Station 20-50 on the north shore of Burrard Inlet, a distance of 2200 feet.
BOARD OF RAILWAY 
COMMISSIONERS FOR 

40 CANADA. Examined 
and certified as a 
true copy under Section 23 
of "The Railway Act."

"A. D. Cartwright."
Sec'y. of Board of Railway Commissioners 
for Canada. OTTAWA, OCT. 31,1925.

Plaintiff's 
Exhibit 
No. 31
Ofder of

No 36996 
Oct. 3ist, 
1925

(Sgd) H. A. McKeown,
Chief Commissioner,

Board of Railway Commissioners 
for Canada.
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British Columbi* 
Admiralty Dist.

Plaintiff's 
Exhibit 
No. 65 
Notice to 
Mariners 
No. 18 
April 21st, 
1928

*ECORD EXHIBIT No. 65

DOMINION OF CANADA 
NOTICE TO MARINERS

No. 18 of 1928

(Pacific No. 3) 
BRITISH COLUMBIA

(57) Burrard inlet — Vancouver harbour — Second narrowsbridge—Regulations governing the conduct, management 10 and operation of the bridge and Regulations governing the conduct, management and operation of vessels passing thereunder.

BY-LAW No. 127, VANCOUVER HARBOUR COMMISSION Interpretation.
(a) The expression "vessel" includes every kind of boat, barge, dredge, floating elevator, scow or other floating craft, and includes house-boats.
(b) "Raft" includes any raft, crib, drag or bag boom of logs, timber or lumber of any kind and logs, timber or lumber 20 boom being towed.
(c) The "Company" means the Burrard Inlet Tunnel and Bridge Company, its successors or assigns, and includes its agents, servants or employees.
(d) The "Bridge" means and includes all tfee structure bridging the Second narrows in Burrard inlet in the territorial limits of Vancouver harbour.

1. Equipment.
The following equipment shall be installed and maintained by the company upon the bridge:— 30
(a) At the east and west end of the piers 2 and 3, and at the east end and the west end of pier 4, one gauge with clear painted figures showing in feet, the distance between water level and the lowest chord of the steel span.
(b) At the east end and the west end of piers 0, 1, 2, 3, 4A and 5 a white light so placed as to indicate the height of the clear headroom under the bridge.
(Light so arranged as to make the outline of the ends of these
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piers visible at night may also be provided if not visible at a 
higher elevation than the white lights described above.)

(c) On the east and the west side of the bascule tower: a 
red light and a green light having a spread of not less than 15 
degrees and a colour visibility of not less than three to four miles 
in bright daylight.

RECORD

10

2. Signals.
(a) By Vessels—

Bascules required to be opened— 
Three prolonged blasts on whistle, 

swered.
(b)

British Columbia 
Admiralty Dist.

Repeat until an-

Plaintiff's 
Exhibit 
No. 65 
Notice to 
Mariners 
No. 18 
April 21st, 
1928

(Contd.)

By operator on bridge—
Signal heard and vessel seen—
Red daylight signal lamp in bascule tower.
All clear for passage—
Red signal lamp in bascule tower extinguished and re­ 

placed by green signal light.
Warning not to approach bridge— 
In daytime, a semaphore arm in horizontal position. At 

20 night a fixed red light of same power as that specified under 
"Equipment" (c), and ten feet distant vertically from that light.

3. Traffic Regulations—
(1) The bascule span shall be attended at all times by a com­ 

petent person or persons who shall promptly answer the signals 
of vessels requiring the span to be opened.

(2) Vessels proceeding with the tide shall have the right of 
way but no vessel shall pass through the opening span until sig­ 
nalled to do so.

(3) Vessels are cautioned against attempting the passage 
30 of the bridge when the visibility is less than one mile.

(4) Vessels towing rafts, scows and/or other vessels, are 
warned that it is dangerous to attempt the passage of the bridge 
when proceeding with a tide having a velocity exceeding the speed 
at which the vessel or vessels and tow can travel in still water.

(5) No boom of logs or other tow shall be towed either under 
or through the bridge unless under complete control of the vessel 
or vessels in charge.

(6) Vessels equipped with lowerable masts, funnels, der­ 
ricks and/or other equipment, which, by means of lowering same, 

40 can pass under a fixed span, shall not signal for the bascule span
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Plaintiff's 
Exhibit 
No. 65 
Notice to 
Mariners 
No. 18 
April 21st, 
1928

(Contd.)

RECORD to be opened provided, however, that such prohibition shall not 
British Columbia aPplj to vessels which although having such equipment are pre- 

Dist. vented by circumstances from using same.
(7) Vessels able to pass under the bridge when towing logs, 

scows, or other vessels must, when safe and practicable, keep to 
the northward of the movable span. Other vessels must comply 
in the strictest terms with Article No. 25 of the International Rule 
of the Road.

(8) Any vessel signaling for the bridge to open when it can 
be proven that such vessel could, without risk, have passed under a 10 
fixed span shall be deemed to have committed a breach of this 
by-law.

(9) No person shall attempt the passage of the bridge in
an unskilful, careless or reckless manner.

4. The Harbour Master shall have the right, at all times, to in­ 
spect the method of opening and operating the bridge, and to be 
supplied with any information relative to the passage of vessels 
or other information as may be required.

The Harbour Master shall have authority to inspect the lights 
and signals on the bridge, which are for the guidance of vessels, ao 
and to require them to be maintained in a state of efficiency.

5. All street and other lights to be installed on the bridge or 
plans and specifications thereof, shall first be submitted to the 
Minister of Marine and Fisheries for approval.

6. The company shall, prima facie, be deemed to be a party to 
any breach of this by-law by its servants, agents, or employees, 
and liable to penalties prescribed for the offence as a principal 
offender, notwithstanding the offence was committed by a servant, 
agent or employee of the company who is not proved to have been 
acting under the instructions of the company, or within the scope 30 
of his authority as servant, agent or employee of the company, 
in doing or omitting to do the act complained of.

Nothing contained in this section shall relieve the person 
actually committing the offence from liability therefor.

Everyone commits a breach of this by-law who,—
(a) In whatever capacity he is acting, fails or neglects to 

comply with, violates, infringes, or in any other manner contra­ 
venes any provision of this by-law; or

(b) Is the master, owner or person in charge of any vessel 
in the navigation, conduct, management, operation, piloting, un- 40
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skilful, careless and/or reckless handling of which any breach is RECORD 
committed, whether or not such breach is known to, acquiesced in, Brhhh Columbia 
or allowed by such master, owner, or person in charge. But noth- Admiralty 
ing herein contained shall relieve the person actually committing plain^~ 
the offence from liability therefor. Exhibit S

No. 65NOTE: Notice to Mariners No. 75 (203) of 1925 is hereby Notice to
Cancelled. M.rincrs

N. to M. No. 18 (57) 21-4-28.

A. JOHNSTON 192(Contd.) 
10 Deputy Minister.

(The rest of exhibit not relevant to this appeal.)
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STATEMENT SHOWING COST OF DELAY TO AND DAMAGES SUSTAINED BY VESSELS OWNED AND/OR OPERATED 
BY IMPERIAL OIL LIMITED ARISING OUT OF THE CONSTRUCTION AND OPERATION OF BRIDGE OVER SECOND

NARROWS, VANCOUVER, B. C
COST OF DELAYS.

YEAR. 
1924.

1925.

1926.

VESSEL
S.S. "Mina Brea" 
S.S. "El Grille" 
S.S. "Albertolite" 
S.S. "Imperial"

S.S. "Mina Brea" 
S.S. "Calgarolite" 
S.S. "El Grille" 
S.S. "Imperial"

S.S. "Mina Brea" 
S.S. "Vancolite" 
M.S. "Reginolite" 
M.S. "Trontolite" 
M.S. "Trontolite" 
M.S. "Ontariolite" 
S.S. "Imperial" 
S.S. "Fuelite"

1927. S.S. "Mina Brea" 
to June 30th M.S. "Trontolite" 

M.S. "Ontariolite" 
S.S. "Imperial" 
S.S. "Fuelite" 

COST OF DAMAGES
S.S. "Mina Brea"

S.S. "Vancolite" 
S.S. "Fuelite" 
S.S. "Fuelite"

DEADWEIGHT
TONNAGE

5950
10358
11917

938

5950
11942
10358

938

5950
15100
12001
15559
9150

12033
938
500

5950
9150

12033
938
500

NO. OF HOURS
DELAYED

79.43
78.20

3.26
101.13

173.82
29.86
56.17
91.29

287.59
29.20

9.20
15.10
20.44
15.40
81.05
44.14

205.72
69.69
11.30
18.58

192.55

RATE PER
HOUR

$40.00
55.00
57.50
15.00

40.00
57.50
55.00
15.00

40.00
67.50
60.00
67.50
52.50
60.00
15.00
15.00

40.00
52.50
60.00
15.00
15.00

Accident of January 9, 1926. 
February 25, 1926. 
February 25, 1926.
February 5, 1927.
January 12, 1928.

COST OF
DELAY
$3,177.20

4,301.00
208.15

1,516.95
—————$

6,952.80
1,716.95
3,089.35
1,369.35

11,503.60
1,971.00

552.00
1,019.25
1,073.10

924.00
1,215.75

662.10

8,228.80
3,627.23

678.00
278.70

2,888.25

32,382.75
24,459.44

47.66
22.10

1,400.00

-$ 9,203.30

3=1

H 
M
W 00

18,820.80

58,311.95 

$115,265.48
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No. 20

IN THE PRIVY COUNCIL
ON APPEAL FROM THE EXCHEQUER COURT

OF CANADA

In the 
Privy Council

No. 20 
Registrar's 
Certificate 
June......... 1930

BETWEEN :

BURRARD INLET TUNNEL AND BRIDGE COMPANY
Plaintiff (Respondent),

AGAINST :

10
THE S. S. "EURANA"

Defendant (Appellant).

I, the undersigned Registrar of the Exchequer Court of 
Canada, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing printed 
document from Page 1 to Page 837 inclusive (together with 
accompanying folder of plans, photographs and tide table therein 
referred to) constitutes the Record of Proceedings in the above 
cause.

DATED at Ottawa June 1930.

Registrar of the Exchequer Court.


